New Contributions to the History of the Ukrainian Language

Peter Jacyk Centre for Ukrainian Historical Research

Monograph Series Number seven

New Contributions to the History of the Ukrainian Language

Michael Moser



Canadian Instituteof UkrainianStudiesPressEdmonton2016Toronto

Canadian Institute of Ukrainian Studies Press

University of Alberta Edmonton, Alberta Canada T6G 2H8 University of Toronto Toronto, Ontario Canada M5T 1W5

Copyright © 2016 Canadian Institute of Ukrainian Studies ISBN 978-1-894865-44-9 (pbk.)

Library and Archives Canada Cataloguing in Publication

Moser, Michael, 1969-, author New contributions to the history of the Ukrainian language / Michael Moser.

Includes bibliographical references and index. ISBN 978-1-894865-44-9 (paperback)

1. Ukrainian language--History. I. Title.

PG3815.M67 2015 491.7'909 C2015-906050-8

The translation and publication of this book has been funded by the Austrian Science Fund (Fonds zur Förderung der wissenschaftlichen Forschung, START prize project Y-271 "1,000 Years of Ukrainian Language History in Galicia") and by a generous grant from the Ukrainian Studies Fund, Cambridge, Massachusetts, USA. A grant for this publication was also provided by the Canadian Foundation of Ukrainian Studies. This book has also been published with financial support from the Cosbild Investment Club Endowment Fund and the Julian and Savella Stechishin Endowment Fund at the Canadian Institute of Ukrainian Studies.

All rights reserved.

No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, or otherwise, without the prior permission of the copyright owner.

Printed in Canada

Table of Contents

_

Acknowledgments	vii
Preface	xi
Part I: Instead of an Introduction: Does Ukrainian Have a History?	1
Contemporary Anti-Ukrainian Myths about the History of the Ukrainian Language, or: Does Ukrainian Have a History?	3
Part II: Ukrainian in Contact: The Early Modern Period	37
Phonetic Polonisms in Lavrentij Zyzanij's Slavonic Grammar	39
Too Close to "the West"? The Ruthenian Language of the Instruction of 1609	64
Was Ivan Uževyč's Розмова-Бесѣда Really Not Based on a Polish Model?	77
Some Phonologically Marked Meta-Polonisms in Kyrylo Trankvilion- Stravrovec'kyj's <i>Перло мног</i> wцѣнноє	90
The <i>Synopsis</i> and Maciej Stryjkowski's <i>Kronika</i> : Ruthenian Ways of (Re)Translating Rus'ian History from Polish	105
A Linguistic Analysis of Ivan Mazepa's Universals and Letters	121
How It All Began: Ukrainian-Russian "Surzhyk" in Eighteenth-Century Sources from the Hetmanate	138
Part III: The Long and Winding Road: Ukrainian Becoming a Standard Language	169
"Ruthenians" and the "Ruthenian Language" in Galician Grammars Dating from the First Half of the Nineteenth Century	171
Ukrainian Dialectal Materials in Galician Sources of the First Half of the Nineteenth Century	219
The Slavic Idea among Galician Ruthenians (Ukrainians) in the Przemyśl Eparchy (from 1830 to 1848–49)	229
"Austro-Ruthenian"? The Vienna <i>Вѣстникъ</i> as a Newspaper "for the Ruthenians of the Austrian State"	245
Some Notes on Code-Switching in Taras Ševčenko's Letters	299
Pantelejmon Kuliš, the Galicians, and the Ukrainian Language (1863–1876)	305

vi NEW CONTRIBUTIONS TO THE HISTORY OF THE UKRAINIAN LANGUAGE

Ukrainian "Language-Building" in Light of Ukrainian Nation-building —Critical Remarks on the Historiography of the Ukrainian Language	337
Populists Editing "Old Ruthenians": "Ruthenian" (Ukrainian) Textbooks for Galician Primary Schools	350
The Linguistic Legacy of the Galician Russophiles (Based on the Works of Ivan Naumovyč)	377
Part IV: Challenges to the Standard Language: Ukrainian in the Twentieth and Twenty-First Centuries	409
The "Mirror from Overseas": The History of Modern Standard Ukrainian as Reflected in the North American Ukrainian Newspaper <i>Svoboda</i> (The Early Years: from 1893 to the 1930s)	411
Ivan Pan'kevyč's G <i>rammar of the Ruthenian Language</i> and the Galician Ukrainian Language in Subcarpathian Rus'	445
Rusyn: A New-Old Language between Nations and States	471
"Ukrainization" and the Ukrainian Language	482
Colonial Linguistic Reflexes in a Post-Soviet Setting: The Galician Variant of the Ukrainian Language and Anti-Ukrainian Discourse in Contemporary Internet Sources	585
Language Politics in Contemporary Ukraine (25 February 2010–25 February 2011)	601
Bibliography	620
Index	658

Acknowledgments

Contemporary Anti-Ukrainian Myths about the History of the Ukrainian Language, or: Does Ukrainian Have a History? Translated from the German by Michael Tauchmann. Extensively revised by the author for this volume. **Originally published as:** "Antiukrainische sprachgeschichtliche Mythen der Gegenwart" in *Wo liegt die Ukraine? Standortbestimmung einer europäischen Kultur*, ed. S. Höhne and J. H. Ulbricht (Cologne, Weimar, and Vienna: Böhlau, 2009), 197–226.

Phonetic Polonisms in Lavrentij Zyzanij's *Slavonic Grammar*. Translated from the Ukrainian by Marta Olynyk. Originally publisahed as: Фонетичні полонізми у Граматиці Лаврентія Зизанія. Іп: Українська історична та діалектна лексика. Збірник наукових праць, вип. 5. Львів: Інститут українознавства ім. Івана Крип'якевича 2007, 111–143.

Too Close to "the West"? The Ruthenian Language of the *Instruction* of 1609. Originally written in English. Forthcoming in a conference volume edited by Serhii Plokhii (Harvard University), Marko Pavlyshyn (Monash University, Melbourne, Australia), Giovanna Brogi (University of Milan), and Giulia Lami (University of Milan).

Was Ivan Uževyč's Розмова-Бестьда Really Not Based on a Polish Model? Translated from the Ukrainian by Michael Moser. Originally published as: Чи «Розмова – Бесѣда» Івана Ужевича написана під впливом польських зразків? Іп: Писемні пам'ятки: сучасне прочитання. Редколегія: Г. Дидик-Меуш (відп. ред.) – Н. Багнюк – Ю. Осінчук. Львів: Інститут українознавства ім. Івана Крип'якевича 2011, 16–27.

Some Phonologically Marked Meta-Polonisms in Kyrylo Trankvilion-Stravrovec'kyj's Перло многwцѣнное. Translated from the German by Michael Tauchmann. Originally published as: "Einige phonologisch markierte Metapolonismen in Kyrylo Trankvilion-Stavrovec'kyjs "Перло многwцѣнное"". In Bibel, Liturgie und Frömmigkeit in der Slavia byzantina. Festgabe für Hans Rothe zum 80. Geburtstag, ed. Dagmar Christians, Dieter Stern, and Vittorio S. Tomelleri. Munich: Otto Sagner, 2009, 430–447.

The Synopsis and Maciej Stryjkowski's Kronika: Ruthenian Ways of (Re) Translating Rus'ian History from Polish. Originally published in: *Translation and Tradition in "Slavia orthodoxa,"* ed. Boris Gasparov and Valentina Izmirlieva. Münster, Vienna, and Zurich: LIT Verlag, 2012, 141–158. A Linguistic Analysis of Ivan Mazepa's Universals and Letters. Originally published in: *Poltava 1709: The Battle and the Myth*, ed. Serhii Plokhy. Cambridge, Mass.: Harvard Ukrainian Research Institute, 2012, 391-411. Reprinted with permission. © 2013 by the President and Fellows of Harvard College.

How It All Began: Ukrainian-Russian "Surzhyk" in Eighteenth-Century Sources from the Hetmanate. Originally written in English for this volume.

"Ruthenians" and the "Ruthenian Language" in Galician Grammars Dating from the First Half of the Nineteenth Century. Translated from the Ukrainian by Marta Olynyk. Originally published as: "Русини" й "руська мова" в галицьких граматиках першої половини XIX століття. Іп: Українська мова в Галичині: історичний вимір (Серія "Історія мови"). Відп. ред.: Ярослав Ісаєвич – Міхаель Мозер – Наталія Хобзей. Львів: Інститут українознавства ім. І. Крип'якевича НАН України 2011, 9–54.

Ukrainian Dialectal Materials in Galician Sources of the First Half of the Nineteenth Century. Translated from the Ukrainian by Marta Olynyk. Originally published as: Українські діалектні матеріали в галицьких джерелах першої половини XIX століття. In: Лінгвістичний атлас: від створення до інтерпретації. Відп. ред.: Наталія Хобзей – Павло Гриценко. Львів: Інститут українознавства ім. Івана Крип'якевича, Київ: НАН України 2006, 71–81.

The Slavic Idea among Galician Ruthenians (Ukrainians) in the Przemyśl Eparchy (from 1830 to 1848–49). Translated from the Ukrainian by Marta Olynyk. Originally published as: Слов'янська ідея в середовищі галицьких русинів (українців) перемиської єпархії (1830–1848/49 rr.). In: *Amoenitates vel lepores philologicae (Festschrift for Wacław Twardzik)*, ed. Roman Laskowski and Roman Mazurkiewicz. Cracow: Instytut Języka Polskiego PAN – Wydawnictwo "Lexis," 2007, 416–427.

"Austro-Ruthenian"? The Vienna Въстникъ as a Newspaper "for the Ruthenians of the Austrian State." Translated from the German by Michael Tauchmann. Originally published as: ""Austroruthenisch?" – Der Wiener "Вѣстникъ" als Zeitung "für die Ruthenen des österreichischen Staates," in Die Ukrainer (Ruthenen, Russinen) in Österreich-Ungarn und ihr Sprach- und Kulturleben im Blickfeld von Wien und Budapest, ed. Michael Moser and András Zoltán. Vienna: LIT Verlag, 2008, 29–100.

Some Notes on Code-Switching in the Letters of Taras Ševčenko. Originally published in: Жнива. Essays Presented in Honor of George G. Grabowicz on His Seventieth Birthday, ed.Roman Koropeckyj, Taras Koznarsky, and Maxim Tarnawsky. Special issue of Harvard Ukrainian Studies 32–33, Part One (2011–14): 543–49. Cambridge, Mass.: Harvard Ukrainian Research Institute, 2015. Reprinted with permission. © 2015 by the President and Fellows of Harvard College.

Pantelejmon Kuliš, the Galicians, and the Ukrainian Language (1863–1876). Translated from the German by Michael Tauchmann. Forthcoming in conference proceedings edited by Alfred Sproede (Münster).

Ukrainian "Language-Building" in Light of Ukrainian Nation-building—Critical Remarks on the Historiography of the Ukrainian Language. Translated from the German by Michael Tauchmann. Originally published as: Die Ukrainer auf dem Weg zur Sprachnation – kritische Anmerkungen zur ukrainistischen Sprachhistoriographie. In: *Die Ukraine. Prozesse der Nationsbildung*, ed. Andreas Kappeler. Vienna: Böhlau, 2011, 97–110.

Populists Editing "Old Ruthenians": "Ruthenian" (Ukrainian) Textbooks for Galician Primary Schools. Translated from the German by Michael Tauchmann. **Originally published as:** "Ruthenische" (ukrainische) Volksschullesebücher der galizischen Volkstümler ("Narodovci"). In: *Die slavischen Grenzen Mitteleuropas. Festschrift für Sergio Bonazza*, ed. Stefan Aloe. Munich: Otto Sagner, 2008, 149–166.

The Linguistic Legacy of the Galician Russophiles (Based on the Works of Ivan Naumovyč). Translated from the Ukrainian by Marta Olynyk. Originally published as: Дещо про мовну спадщину галицьких москвофілів (на прикладі творів Івана Наумовича). In: *Studien zu Sprache, Literatur und Kultur bei den Slaven. Gedenkschrift für George Y. Shevelov aus Anlass seines 100. Geburtstages und 10. Todestages*, ed. Andrii Danylenko and Serhii Vakulenko. Munich and Berlin: Otto Sagner, 2012, 154–180.

The "Mirror from Overseas": The History of Modern Standard Ukrainian as Reflected in the North American Ukrainian Newspaper *Svoboda* (The Early Years: from 1893 to the 1930s). Originally published in English. In: *Slavic Languages in Migration*, ed. Michael Moser and Maria Polinsky. Vienna et al.: LIT-Verlag, 2013, 43–80.

Ivan Pan'kevyč's *Grammar of the Ruthenian Language* and the Galician Ukrainian Language in Subcarpathian Rus'. Translated from the Ukrainian by Marta Olynyk. Originally published as: "Граматика руського языка" Івана Панькевича та галицька українська мова в Підкарпатті. In: *Studium Carpato-Ruthenorum – Штудії з карпаторусиністікы 2009*, ed. Kvetoslava Koporová. Prešov: Prešovská univerzita v Prešove, 2010, 68–93.

Rusyn: A New-Old Language between Nations and States. Originally written in English. **Forthcoming** in a volume on "Borders and Languages," ed. Tomasz Kamusella and Motoki Nomachi.

"Ukrainization" and the Ukrainian Language. Originally written in English for this volume.

Colonial Linguistic Reflexes in a Post-Soviet Setting: The Galician Variant of the Ukrainian Language and Anti-Ukrainian Discourse in Contemporary Internet Sources. Originally published in: *Contemporary Ukraine on the Cultural Map of Europe*, ed. Larissa M. L. Zaleska Onyshkevych and Maria G. Rewakowicz. Armonk, NY: M. E. Sharpe, 2009, 316–335. Copyright © 2009 by M. E. Sharpe, Inc. Used by permission. All rights reserved. Not for reproduction.

Language Politics in Contemporary Ukraine (25 February 2010–25 February 2011). Originally written in English. **Forthcoming** in a Slovak volume on Ukraine to be edited by L'ubor Matejko.

х

Preface

The idea of this volume was born on the eve of the 150th anniversary of the Valuev Directive (Valuev Circular), when a couple of colleagues and friends decided to join me once again in demonstrating that, contrary to the well-known phrase from that Russian imperial document of 1863, Ukrainian is certainly not "a language that did not, does not, and cannot exist" but in fact a language with an intriguing past, present, and future. One of the projects we envisaged was a collection of my more recent articles that would in a way continue and build on my Ukrainian-language *Pryčynky do istoriji ukrajins'koji movy* (Contributions to the History of the Ukrainian Language). That collection of articles, first published in 2008, has been reissued twice, thus vividly confirming that interest in Ukrainian philology and linguistics remains vital, in Ukraine and elsewhere.

In the present volume, I raise a variety of new issues in the hope that they will help develop our understanding of the past and present of one of the world's largest languages, which deserves to be studied more carefully than hitherto.

In the first part of the book, I discuss the question of whether the Ukrainian language has a history at all. My arguments are built upon responses to various widely held beliefs—myths, actually—about the history of the Ukrainian language as frequently encountered in a variety of scholarly works, on the Internet, and in everyday conversation (as frequently witnessed by myself). Although my New *Contributions*, just like the *Pryčynky*, do not dwell particularly on the study of the medieval Slavic languages of Rus', I offer some new arguments to suggest why the term "Old Russian" is ultimately no less anachronistic than "Old Ukrainian" and why both terms can still make sense, although in most cases one should, admittedly, speak rather of "Old Rus'ian" or "Old East Slavic" (nota bene, these terms are largely anachronistic as well). This introductory article also strongly maintains that although the glottonym "Ukrainian language" is in fact of quite recent origin, we have little reason to doubt the value of studying the "Ukrainian" language of earlier periods, even if it was not fully standardized (what language was?), because variants of Ukrainian have, of course, always been Slavic dialects, but we have no reason to describe them as dialects of Russian, Polish, Belarusian, or any other language. As soon as we allow ourselves to speak of "Old Russian," "Old Polish," or "Old Belarusian," we are fully entitled to employ the term "Old Ukrainian," even if variants that were only later termed "Ukrainian" served as a basis for shared written traditions within a medieval "Rus'ian" and, later, an early modern "Ruthenian" framework.

Part II offers a couple of articles that examine the essence of Ruthenian and, more particularly, Ukrainian contacts with Polish, Ukrainian, and Church Slavonic in the early modern period. They highlight the fact that, as in other languages, genetically different forms coexisted in early modern Ukrainian texts and contributed their share to the makeup of an admirably developed Ruthenian written language. What I also wish to demonstrate is that the impact of Polish on some variants of early modern Ruthenian was in fact enormous, but that this obviously was not considered problematic in early modern times, as opposed to later periods. The influence of "Russian" increasingly gained ground during the eighteenth century, the path having been paved initially and primarily by common Church Slavonic traditions, as demonstrated in my paper on the language of Ivan Mazepa's chancery and the earliest traces of "Surzhyk." Finally, the studies in this section on the early modern period attempt to shed some light on the multifaceted textual history of some key texts of early modern Ukrainian written culture, which is in fact one of the richest written cultures of early modern *Slavia ortodossa*.

"The Long and Winding Road—Ukrainian Becoming a Standard Language" is the subject of Part III. Here I examine a variety of issues in an effort to contribute to a better understanding of this crucial period. First, I shed light on some illstudied Galician grammars of the first half of the nineteenth century that were typically Galician in many ways but obviously influenced by the conviction that the "Ruthenians" of Galicia and the "Little Russians" of the Russian Empire constituted one nation speaking one "Ruthenian or Little Russian language." In two briefer studies, I revisit the problem of what can be regarded as a "dialectal" element in the nineteenth century against the background of these grammars and the language practice of the period. I then turn to autobiographical and biographical materials that shed some light on the question of how Ruthenians from the westernmost periphery of the Przemyśl eparchy came to an awareness of their Slavic and Ruthenian national and linguistic identity. In a lengthy article, drawing on the evidence of a Vienna-based newspaper for the Ruthenians of the Austrian Empire, I discuss the question of whether there ever existed an "Austro-Ruthenian" language. As for developments in the Russian Empire, I concentrate on the puzzling language of Taras Ševčenko's personal letters, which seem at first glance to switch between Ukrainian and Russian for no apparent reason but in fact reflect quite comprehensible mechanisms of code-switching. I then discuss Pantelejmon Kuliš's encounter with the Galician Ukrainians, which was extremely important for the history of the Ukrainian language and anything but unproblematic. In a more general study, I briefly summarize what I regard as the most important shortcomings of traditional Ukrainian language historiography of an important subject-nineteenth-century Ukrainian. Subsequently, I examine what Galician "populists" of the early 1870s were actually doing when they edited "Old Ruthenian"-oriented textbooks in the new, Ukrainian spirit. Finally, I elaborate on the important observation that the boundaries between "populists," "Old Ruthenians," and "Russophiles" were often blurred, as demonstrated by Ivan Naumovyč, who wrote several works in impeccable vernacular Ukrainian even though he denied the very existence of that language.

Part IV begins with a look across the Atlantic Ocean, where the language of the oldest (still existing) Ukrainian newspaper, *Svoboda*, intriguingly reflects the dynamic development of Ukrainian in Europe even as it increasingly adopts its own, North American approach. I then delve into the history of the Ukrainian language in interwar Subcarpathian Rus' (today's Transcarpathian oblast), where Ivan Pan'kevyč's *Grammar of the Ruthenian Language* exerted great influence on the dissemination of the Ukrainian standard language, although it could not be written in that language itself. In the next study, I offer a critical assessment of modern efforts to standardize a separate Rusyn language and conclude that any reasonably selected variety of Rusyn capable of bridging the significant differences between existing variants would probably be extremely close to Ukrainian. A lengthy article on the so-called "Ukrainization" period compensates for my lack of attention to the intriguing early Soviet period in the *Pryčynky*; having promised there to produce such a study, I wrote it especially for this volume because I am convinced that the subject is appropriate to the present collection. My last two articles demonstrate how politicized the Ukrainian language still is, both as an object of discourse and as an object of language policy itself.

The very fact that this book has come into being makes me very happy.

Some of the articles collected here were originally written in Ukrainian or in German. Marta Olynyk translated several studies from the Ukrainian and my Viennese student Michael Tauchmann from the German, as indicated in the Acknowledgements section. Tauchmann's and my own English have then been made significantly more readable by Myroslav Yurkevich. My sincere thanks to everyone mentioned here.

This book either would not have come into existence at all or would look very different were it not for my START prize of 2005. This prize, awarded by the Austrian Science Fund (Fonds zur Förderung der wissenschaftlichen Forschung, FWF) on behalf of the International Wittgenstein and START jury for my research project Y 271 "1,000 Years of Ukrainian Language History in Galicia," has not only enabled me to work in the most relevant libraries and collect valuable scholarly input during a considerable number of talks, conferences, and research stays all across Europe and North America but has also provided considerable funds for Michael Tauchmann's translations and for the editing and printing of this book.

Between March 2006 and February 2014, my START award project gave me the opportunity to work with a team of young scholars who often made valuable contributions to my work. The last remaining team member, Kathleen Beger, compiled the bibliography out of the various articles. In previous years, Philipp Hofeneder, Marina Höfinghoff, and Katarzyna Hibel often provided me with materials or asked questions that ultimately brought new insights to all of us. My thanks go to all of them.

Coincidentally, the START prize has also enabled me to travel repeatedly to Toronto, one of my favorite cities, where I have been in close contact with several important people, particularly the staff of the Toronto office of the Canadian Institute of Ukrainian Studies, whom I regard as my dear personal friends. Frank Sysyn, Roman Senkus, Marko R. Stech, and Andrij Makuch have ultimately made Toronto one of my scholarly homes. To my great delight, this first book of mine to be published originally in North America has now become part of the history of that wonderful institution. Once again, I am pleased to add my sincere thanks to the Ukrainian Studies Fund and to its director, Roman Procyk, who have generously supported this project both morally and financially, as well as to the Canadian Foundation of Ukrainian Studies which provided a generous grant for this publication.

I dedicate this book to Ukrainians living in the diaspora, who, although I am not Ukrainian, have in fact made me a member of their community.

Vienna, 26 January 2015

Michael Moser

Part I

Instead of an Introduction: Does Ukrainian Have a History?

CONTEMPORARY ANTI-UKRAINIAN MYTHS ABOUT THE HISTORY OF THE UKRAINIAN LANGUAGE, OR: DOES UKRAINIAN HAVE A HISTORY?

1.1. "Wie es eigentlich gewesen ist" in the history of the Ukrainian language

Leopold von Ranke's venerable demand that historical writing should tell "wie es eigentlich gewesen ist" ("how it really was") can have only limited application in the postmodern age. Historiography (as we realize now more than ever) is part of a string of experiential and communicational mechanisms whose parameters themselves are historically contingent. For a variety of reasons, this relativizing world view has been acknowledged in the study of the history of languages only reluctantly, owing, among other things, to increasing isolation from the historical disciplines and a gradual reduction of the subject to so-called "modern grammar theories." Above all, events of the recent and most recent past, such as attempts to establish new regional languages (for instance, "Rusyn" in our particular context, discussed below), manifestly put the traditional discourse of historical linguistics to the test. The need for a reconsideration of traditional paradigms is evident. It is becoming increasingly obvious that not only languages themselves but also conceptions of historical linguistics and narratives developed by them have been and are now being instrumentalized for various purposes, and that there are more perspectives than that of the predominant master narrative. In this context, Ukrainian and its language history may, perhaps, even be especially instructive.

1.2. "Experts" and "laymen"

The working basis for the following observations consists predominantly of materials from the Internet. The data analyzed in the present paper and in a related one ("Colonial Linguistic Reflexes in a Post-Soviet Setting: The Galician Variant of the Ukrainian Language and Anti-Ukrainian Discourse in Contemporary Internet Sources," Moser 2008b; see pp. 585-600 in this volume) is the result of a Google search for the collocations галицкий язык (Russian) and галицька мова (Ukrainian), both meaning 'Galician language,' which I conducted on 20 March, 2 July, and 4 July 2007 and revised with checks between 11 and 20 July 2007 (as far as the sources analyzed here are concerned, the last checks date from 5 December 2007). My original aim was to gain a quick general impression of the contemporary evaluation of the Galician variant of Ukrainian and its history. For both the Russian and the Ukrainian search items, the first 150 to 200 entries, respectively, were taken into account. Among them, there are contributions by alleged experts (generally also issued in printed form, but most of these publications are unavailable in Vienna) as well as numerous opinions voiced by laymen in important new genres of text, such as contributions to Internet forums and weblogs. The length of the examined contributions varies greatly, from short sentences in blog entries less than one printed page in length to rather substantial material, some of which is in fact available in monograph form.

The following analysis cannot lay claim to universal validity. Our findings offer no more than a general impression of specific language attitudes that become

apparent in a particular segment of reality—the Internet, perhaps the most important medium of communication in our day—and pertain to a particular, quite ephemeral period of time. These Internet sources are not, of course, detached from modes of communication outside cyberspace.

One of the most striking findings of this research is that almost all sources concerned with Galician Ukrainian also refer to the Ukrainian language in general. To be more precise, they are predominantly characterized by markedly negative language attitudes toward Galician Ukrainian in particular, which soon turn out to extend to the modern Ukrainian Standard Language in general. Blog contributions by laymen are quite frequently (though not always explicitly) based on the authority-highly questionable, as a rule-of articles and books. These publications, written by alleged experts, are available on the Internet. One of the most important alleged authorities is Nikolaj Ul'janov (1904–85), a Russian exile author whose book История украинского сепаратизма (A History of Ukrainian Separatism) was first released in the West in 1966 and reprinted several times in recent years by the Russian Academy of Sciences (Ul'janov 1966/1996/2003; there are more editions). Another is Aleksandr Karevin, a comparatively young historian from Kyiv (b. 1966), whose work Русь нерусская (Как рождалась «ридна мова») (Non-Russian Rus': How the 'Mother Tongue' Was Born) was first reprinted in 2006 by the Moscow publisher "Имперская традиция" (Imperial Tradition) (Karevin 2006).

Many comments made by Ul'janov, Karevin, and others clearly demonstrate that they have no understanding (or only very limited understanding) of the history of languages, yet this does not prevent them from posing as experts in linguistics, and they are obviously accepted as experts by a certain community.¹

In "Colonial Linguistic Reflexes in a Post-Soviet Setting" (see pp. 585–600 in this volume), I deal only with sources relating to the most recent history of the Ukrainian language since the collapse of the Soviet Union. In the present article, I will focus on a historical line of linguistic argument that looks back farther into the past. In contrast to the "synchronic" article, here I draw almost exclusively on "expert" accounts—mostly because, with regard to older language history, laymen are entirely dependent on information provided by alleged "experts."² Virtually all segments of

Incidentally, the same applies to the archaeologist Petro Toločko of the National Academy of Sciences of Ukraine in Kyiv, who is fondly advanced as a leading authority by numerous laymen and 'experts,' although a whole series of major errors in his often-quoted paper of 1998 (Toločko 1998) demonstrates that he definitely cannot be considered a reliable source in linguistic matters (see pp. 596–597 in this volume).

² In a review of the volume in which this paper originally appeared, the young historian Grzegorz Rossolinski-Liebe harshly attacks me for "differentiating between experts and laymen" with respect to "scholars examining the Ukrainian language" (Rossolinski-Liebe 2010). Rossolinski-Liebe forgets to mention that none of those who in fact present themselves as Ukrainophobes in these lines is either a linguist or has ever actually examined the Ukrainian language. The only exception is Andrej Zaliznjak, a distinguished Russian linguist whom I quote with utmost respect, although I allow myself to disagree with him regarding some details. Indeed, most of the Ukrainophobes who pose as experts in the sources quoted below—with the exception of Petro Toločko, who is a professional archaeologist and whom I do not label a Ukrainophobe, although I have strong reservations regarding most of his non-scholarly pronouncements about Ukrainians and the Ukrainian language—are no scholars at all.

the "expert discourse" introduced in the following lines are also extensively quoted or documented in lay contributions to Internet forums and weblogs.

2.1. "Old Russian" Kyivan Rus'?

As expected, the thesis of "Old Russian" linguistic unity, still widespread generally and among Slavists as well, is regarded as completely beyond question in the contributions with which we are concerned. Naturally, the experts encountered in our materials highlight the Russianness of this unity with utmost emphasis. These authors also occasionally mention that there may have been dialects in Kyivan Rus', but at the same time they stress that the language was nevertheless completely uniform in its capacity as the "Russian" language of Kyivan Rus'. Aleksandr Karevin (2006) formulates this thesis, seemingly so universally valid and irrefutable, as follows—in context, incidentally, he draws heavily on Toločko (1998):³

As is known, all East Slavic tribes inhabiting Kyivan Rus' used the same Russian language, and a Galician coming to Suzdal, Smolensk, or Novgorod did not need an interpreter.... The linguistic schism [*sic*] resulted from political separation.⁴

The Kyivan political scientist Andrej Vadžra (2007a) clarifies this alleged state of affairs even more drastically:

You will not find anything even remotely resembling the Modern Ukrainian language in any of the written monuments of Ancient Rus'.... There are no traces or even allusions to the existence of a Ukrainian language prior to the second half of the nineteenth century.⁵

The Ukrainophobes often utilize the work of older philologists from the Russian Slavophile camp, such as Boris Ljapunov's programmatic essay "The Unity of the Russian Language in Its Dialects" (Ljapunov 2006), which can now also be consulted on several websites. They virtually ignore more recent linguistic scholarly literature, primarily those works that run counter to their views.

In fact, the assumption of a "uniform Old Russian language," which has always had to be analyzed against the background of its "dialectal differences" in any event, can be sustained only as long as one is prepared a priori to elevate the assumption of a "uniform Old Russian language" to an axiom. This axiom, however, is itself paradoxical from the outset, for a language, like anything else, can theoretically be either uniform or (dialectally) differentiated, but not both at once. Aside from that,

³ Since almost all texts were available to me only on the Internet, no page numbers are indicated.

^{4 &}quot;Как известно, все населявшие Киевскую Русь восточнославянские племена пользовались одним русским языком, и приехавший в Суздаль, Смоленск или Новгород галичанин в переводчике не нуждался. [...] Начало языковому расколу положило разделение политическое."

^{5 &}quot;Ни в одном письменном памятнике Древней Руси вы не найдете ничего, хотя бы отдаленно похожего на современный украинский язык. [...] Нет никаких следов и даже намеков на существование украинского языка глубже второй половины XIX века."

who is to say—even more so with regard to the Middle Ages—what distinguishes a Slavic dialect from a Slavic language? And what precisely makes the non-Church Slavonic elements of Kyivan medieval texts more "Russian" than "Ukrainian"? How many elements "even remotely resembling" the Modern Russian language would one encounter in the texts of medieval Rus', leaving aside Church Slavonic elements and those that Russian shares with Ukrainian? Are Andrej Vadžra and his colleagues aware of the apparent existence of a language called "the Rus' language" in the Middle Ages, although there is no evidence to suggest that, prior to the Mongolian onslaught, this language was anything other than the language of the Scandinavian Varangians, i.e., a Germanic language? What do the most ardent adherents of "Old Russian linguistic unity" actually know about the spoken language(s) of medieval Rus', by no means only the Slavic ones? Why are they so unexpectedly certain that, for example, an eleventh-century traveler from the Principality of Halych could have managed without an interpreter in Novgorod but would have been in desperate need of one in, say, Cracow or Prague, or anywhere else in the Slavic-speaking world?

Admittedly, the rejection of the traditional axiom of a "uniform Old Russian language" by no means entails the assumption that a fully developed Ukrainian or Belarusian language already existed in Kyivan Rus' in a sense corresponding to the modern concept (of a standard language). Precisely the same, however, also applies to the Russian language, the linguistic past of which is certainly no deeper or more prestigious than that of Ukrainian, Belarusian, or any other Slavic language.

2.2. A more realistic view of the Slavic dialects of Rus'

Ironically enough, it is primarily the work done in Russian linguistics over the past decades that has provided the most convincing evidence undermining the assumption of linguistic unity in Kyivan Rus' as never before. The study of medieval birchbark letters in particular, the first of which were unearthed only in the 1950s in the northern Russian city of Novgorod, has shown definitively that the language of the Novgorod and Pskov regions of Rus' differed significantly from that in the regions of Kyiv or Halych. The careful examination of these documents has established that the so-called "dialectal specifics of Old Russian" can by no means be reduced to a few footnotes. On the contrary, the specifics of the language of the Russian north actually require a detailed monograph, which has in fact been published (Zaliznjak 2004).

What we know today, with less doubt than before, is that the language of the Novgorod and Pskov lands of northern Rus' differed significantly from that of the south on all linguistic levels, and that the differences concerned very important and very old features:

- the so-called second (chronologically third) palatalization of velars, which obviously did not take place in the Novgorod region, as opposed to the south: see Novgorodian κħλe 'whole' as opposed to μħλb in the rest of East Slavic territory; see also, in *kv-, *gv- groups, Novgorodian 28ħ3∂a 'star' as opposed to 38ħ3∂a etc. (ibid., 41–45; see also Moser 2011: 7–9);
- the so-called third (chronologically second) palatalization of velars, which

did not take place regarding *x and *g but did take place regarding *k in the Novgorod region, as opposed to the south, where all velar sounds generally underwent the third palatalization: see Novgorodian *baxo* 'all' as opposed to *bbce* in the south, Novgorodian *He Aezo* 'is not allowed' (as opposed to modern Russian *HeAb3R*), etc. (ibid., 45–46; see also Moser 2011: 9);

- Novgorodian and Pskovian *cokan'e* (merger of č' and c') and Pskovian šokan'e (merger of š'/ž' and s'/z'; see Novgorodian dialectal ц' 'ucmo 'pure,' пътиц' 'a 'bird' (< чисто, пътица), Pskovian здуци (< жъдучи) 'wait' ([adverbial] participle) (ibid., 52; see also Moser 2011: 14);
- the results of *tj, *dj, *sj, *zj may have been quite specific for the Pskov region, as modern dialects feature forms such as *pozámb* 'bear' instead of *poxamb*, *Béxamb* 'hang' instead of *séwamb*, *sáqusamb* 'transport' instead of *saxusamb* (Zaliznjak 2004: 47–48), although some scholars suggest that these forms may be recent innovations. As for the Ukrainian side, one should add that southwestern Ukrainian dialects in particular feature another specific reflex of *dj, which is not known in other East Slavic areas, namely dž (and not ž). As Jurij Ševel'ov (George Shevelov) convincingly argued, if the reflex dž in Ukrainian and Belarusian deverbative forms such as *xodwy/xadwy* has often been dismissed (though unconvincingly) as a result of morphological analogies, this is impossible for southwestern Ukrainian dialects, which feature forms of the type *ypodwaŭ*, *medwa*, *ïdwa*, *vydwuŭ* (see Moser 2011: 11);
- the results of **stj*, **zdj*, with Pskovian [š'k'], [ž'g'] and Novgorodian [s" c"] (< Cokan'e), [ž'dž'] as opposed to southern [š'č'], [ž'dž']; see the written forms *∂bж2b* 'rain,' *Haħx2AA* 'ride toward, attack' ([adverbial] participle) (ibid., 47–49; see also Moser 2011: 12);
- the reflexes of *tl*, *dl*, with *kl*, *gl* in the Pskov region and simplified *l* in all other realms of Rus' (and the Slavic south); see the Pskovian written forms блюглиса 'were guarded, past tense masculine plural,' повегле (for повель in other Rus' territories) 'led, past tense masculine singular,' сустръкли (for -стръли) 'encountered, past tense masculine plural' (ibid., 49; see also Moser 2011: 6–7);
- the development of the groups **CъLC* etc., which yielded **CъLъC* in the western Novgorod and Pskov region; see Novgorodian *жълътое* 'yellow' (as compared to *жълтое*), *смъръди* (as opposed to *смърди*) 'peasants,' or **CLъC*, see Novgorodian *мловила* (< *млъвила*) 'said, past tense feminine singular,' and many dialectal forms (ibid., 49–52);
- the sound *ě* (expressed by the Cyrillic letter ₺) was variously pronounced on the territory of Rus' (ibid., 52–53);
- as for the sound *e*, it should be observed from the non-Novgorodian side that in the Kyiv-Polisia zone, the front nasal vowel apparently yielded different results depending on intonation; see northern Ukrainian *désemb* along with *des'ámuŭ* (< *devet*-) (Ševel'ov 1979: 132–42);
- the retention of the plosive consonant *g* (typical for the entire northern area of those Slavic dialects that later developed into Russian), as opposed to the spirantization into γ or *h* in the southern area (of the dialects that later

developed into Ukrainian, Belarusian, or southern dialects of the Russian language); hence [g]opodb 'town' in the north, as opposed to [γ]opodb or [h]opodb in the south (ibid., Zaliznjak 2004; 39; see also Moser 2011: 15);

- It is precisely the careful study of Novgorod birchbark letters that has demonstrated that even so-called pleophony, which is widely regarded as the most striking feature shared by all East Slavic languages, is not as uniform as it seemed earlier. In fact, it is very likely that on the territory of northern Rus' there were some dialects with reflexes resembling those of Polish; see early Novgorodian spellings such as *cpovькa* 'fur, a currency' (genitive singular, insted of *copovьк-*), *norpodьe* 'a tax for town dwellers' (instead of *noropodьe*), etc. (ibid., 40–41; see also Moser 2011: 9–11).
- In the sphere of morphology, probably the most important and oldest typically Novgorodian feature is the nominative singular form of ŏ-stems ending in -e (see хлѣбе 'bread,' брате 'brother' for хлѣбъ, братъ; ibid., 99–102), which, incidentally, caused a major delay in the development of the category of animacy in Novgorodian dialects for the simple reason that the coincidence of o-stem nominative and accusative forms, typical of all other Slavic dialects, did not occur in the Novgorodian realm; moreover, *u*-stems continued to represent an autonomous morphological type in the Novgorodian realm longer than in other territories of Slavdom (ibid., 147-151). Another striking Novgorodian and Pskovian feature in the sphere of noun morphology is the genitive singular of *a*-stems in -*ě*; see Novgorodian *жен* ^{*b*} 'woman, wife' (ibid., 146–147). As for pronominal declension, the genitive singular masculine/neuter ending -oza (as in Southwest Slavic languages, i.e., Slovenian and Bosnian-Croatian-Montenegrin-Serbian) is noteworthy (ibid., 152). The prevailing verbal ending of the first person plural indicative and imperative in the Novgorod area was -me (as in some southwestern Ukrainian dialects, in Czech, Slovak, and Bulgarian), while -mo, the prevailing ending in southern Rus' (also used in Slovenian and Bosnian-Croatian-Montenegrin-Serbian), was alien to the Novgorod region (ibid., 153). In the Novgorod realm, participles of the type $u\partial_A$ 'go,' hec_A 'carry,' река 'say' with softened verbal stems (see Old Serbian несе, моге < неса, мога) were used, while other Rus' dialects used forms of the type ида, неса, река (see Czech *jda*, *nesa*, *buda*, and Old Polish *rzeka* as a participle from *rzec*) (ibid., 153). The most striking syntactic feature that was well known in Novgorod, Smolensk, and Polatsk, but not in the south, was the use of the object in the nominative if dependent on an infinitive form (of the type *boda numu* 'to drink

water') (ibid., 156–157).

As for those developments that produced the varieties of Slavic speech in Rus' during the earliest period of written culture, they continued to share some common tendencies but not to coincide completely (the same may be said with reference to the entire Slavic-speaking area). Precisely for this reason, many scholars speak of Late Common Slavic at least until the so-called reduction of *jers* (i.e., the development of the Late Common Slavic ultrashort vowels v, v). Although the reflexes of so-called strong *Jers* were basically identical on the territory of Rus' (*cbHb* > *COH*, *dbHb* > *deHb*),

important differences evolved as well. One of the major differences is older than the reduction of *jers*. In the eastern Novgorod region, as well as in most dialects that evolved into Russian, strong *jers* in front of *j* behaved like other *jers* and developed *-vjb*, *-vjb* into *-oj*, *-ej* (hence genuine Russian $\partial o \delta p o \ddot{u}$ 'good,' *cuHeŭ* 'blue' nominative masculine singular); the same applied to weak *jers* before *j* if developed into full vowels, as in Modern Standard Russian $M \delta w$ 'I wash.' In all other Slavic languages, *jers* before *j* developed a character of their own as "tense vowels" that yielded *-vjb*, *-vjb* > *-yj*, *-ij*. The western Novgorod region was apparently a transition area, with reflexes of *-vjb* ranging from *-yj* and *-ej* to *-oj* (ibid., 66–67; see also Moser 2011: 13–14). The treatment of *TrvT* groups differed as well; see Ukrainian *kpusabuŭ* vs. Russian *kposabuŭ*, etc. As Jurij Ševel'ov has demonstrated, even the Russian (and Novgorodian) development e > o (see ibid., 69–70) has little in common with partly similar developments on Ukrainian language territory, etc.

East Slavic dialects had some other ancient common features but shared them with other dialects as well; see the reflexes of liquid groups such as *ol'kbtb'elbow' > North Slavic *lokbtb*, South Slavic *lakbtb*) (Zaliznjak 2004: 39). Even the development of initial (*j*)*e*- > *o*-, which applied only to a limited group of words of the type East Slavic *osepo* vs. reflexes of *jezero*, or the reflexes of the denasalization of the nasal vowels (front nasal vowel > \ddot{a} > 'a, back nasal vowel > u), are not limited to East Slavic territory only (ibid.). East Slavic dialects differed with regard to very important features whose age is also uncertain, including *akan'e*, that is, the qualitative reduction of unaccentuated vowels in Belarusian and South Russian dialects, but not in North Russian and Ukrainian dialects (apart from a small northern zone transitional to Belarusian dialects; see Moser 2011: 14–15).

The distinguished Russian linguist Andrej Zaliznjak asserts that, ultimately, only the development of the groups *Telt*, *TblT* > *Tolt*, *TblT* (see *melko* > *molko* (> *молокo*) 'milk,' *vblkb* > *vblkb* (> *волкb*, Modern Standard Russian *волк*, Modern Standard Ukrainian *вовк*, Modern Standard Belarusian *воўк*) stands out as a "phenomenon shared by the bulk of Old Novgorodian dialects with other Old East Slavic dialects" and not attested elsewhere (Zaliznjak 2004: 39). This can, of course, hardly be regarded as a solid basis for the assumption of "Old Russian linguistic unity."

It is thus first and foremost our new insights into the medieval language of Novgorod that ultimately confirm that the language area on the territory of medieval Rus' is to be conceived of primarily as a segment of the Slavic language territory, and that it should not be delineated in terms of any national languages. The varieties spoken in the realm of Rus' were dialects of Slavic, definitely not dialects of Russian or, ultimately, even of the "Rus'ian" language.

Of course, the above does not imply that Slavic dialects spoken on the modern Ukrainian language territory of medieval Rus' had nothing in common with those spoken on the modern Russian language territory. To begin with, it is reasonable to assume that much of the ethnically Slavic medieval population of the "Russian territories" of Rus', or their ancestors, had in fact migrated to those areas from the lands of modern Ukraine (see Goehrke 1992), mixed there with the local Finnic or Baltic population, and ultimately assimilated most of the inhabitants. Moreover, as soon as "Rus'" as such was established as a polity, its lands were politically united—sometimes tightly, but much more often very loosely—as a realm governed by representatives of the ruling Varangian "Riurikid" dynasty, whose members increasingly adopted, along with their Old Germanic mother tongue, the Slavic varieties spoken by their servants and, in time, became primarily speakers of Slavic. Finally, Kyiv and Novgorod were economically linked by the north-south trade routes leading from Scandinavia to Byzantium, and "Rus" warriors from various regions made war together or against one another, etc.

It is thus unsurprising that certain elements more or less characteristic of most Slavic dialects spoken in the realm of medieval Rus' did exist, and that in certain spheres a quite uniform language was used. It is this very fact that has motivated linguists generally to preserve the notion of an "Old Rus'ian" or "Old East Slavic" language, even if they have decided to reject the term "Old Russian" in the outdated sense. Apart from certain features that the dialects of Kyiv and Novgorod shared because of common innovations, the decision to accept the operational term "Old Rus'ian" or "Old East Slavic" results, inter alia, from the fact that all realms of Rus' shared something more than the adoption of the South Slavic-based Church Slavonic language as the predominant medium of writing, which they increasingly adapted to the dialects of Rus' in partly similar ways. That decision is also based on the notion that Slavic literacy on the territory of Rus' was held together at the same time by the use of a ("Rus'ian"-based) supradialectal written language in the secular sphere. It is precisely this supradialectal "Rus'ian" variant that initially gave rise to the very notion of an "Old Rus'ian" or "Old East Slavic" language—a notion that prevailed until the Novgorod birchbark letters ultimately confirmed that below the level of written high culture, in everyday communication, the Slavic dialects of medieval Rus' were even more varied than previously assumed.

As for this supradialectal written variant, Andrej Zaliznjak (2004: 3 et al.) called it a "supradialectal form of Old Russian" (наддиалектная форма древнерусского языка) or, more briefly (and a bit less carefully), "supradialectal Old Russian" (наддиалектный древнерусский язык). As Zaliznjak correctly emphasizes, the component *русский* of the term he suggests must be read in this case as "belonging to the Rus'," and definitely not as "Russian." This important remark shows yet again that in the terminological sphere, the Russian adjective *русский* is in urgent need of revision because of its ambiguity, and that the existing terminological mess should by no means be transferred to any other language.

As for this supradialectal "Old Rus'ian" language, Zaliznjak (2004: 5) plausibly characterizes it as a language formation characterized by high social prestige that was most probably in use among literate elites on the whole territory of Rus':

It is precisely this variant that is usually denoted simply by the term "Old Russian language" in historical courses. In the Novgorod land, this language variant was used mainly for the composition of official documents, political (treaties, etc.) and juridical.⁶

^{6 &}quot;Именно эта форма обычно описывается просто под именем древнерусского языка в исторических курсах. В Новгородской земле данная форма языка употреблялась главным образом при составлении официальных документов – политических (договоры и т. п.) и юридических."

While for the most part this supradialectal Old East Slavic variant has hitherto been wrongly interpreted as an almost immediate reflection of the vernacular pertaining to all parts of Rus', including Novgorod, it is now very clear that this language was not actually based on Novgorod speech but, in all likelihood, on the Slavic dialect spoken in Kyiv, the capital of Rus' (as Zaliznjak himself argues, ibid.).

Although, as Zaliznjak himself specifies, this assumption is more a hypothesis than a well-founded theory, it is, again, obvious at the very least that the supradialectal form of Old East Slavic is certainly *not* based on the dialects of Novgorod or Pskov, nor is it based on the narrower local *koiné* that Zaliznjak identifies for the region of Novgorod and Pskov. Since, in the first decades of literacy, other Rus' territories did not yet have any cultural significance comparable to that of Kyiv,⁷ it is first and foremost highly likely *ex negativo* that the supradialectal Slavic language of medieval Rus' was based precisely on the language of Kyiv, which remained the leading cultural and political center of medieval Rus' at least until the mid-twelfth century.

Zaliznjak (2004: 7) further writes:

It must be taken into account, however, that such labels as "Old Russian language," "Old Czech language," etc. reflect above all the perspective from present-day languages (Russian, Czech, etc.).⁸

Nevertheless, if one is prepared to accept this important argument, the conclusion to be drawn is quite different from the one suggested by Zaliznjak, to wit, that if supradialectal Old East Slavic can deliberately be given an anachronistic

Elsewhere, Ključevskij argues that in the twelfth century the *Zalěsbje* area, the source of the ethnogenesis of Russia proper, was still populated more by non-"Russians" than by "Russians": "Великорусское племя вышло не из продолжавшегося развития [...] старинных областных особенностей, [...] причем в краю, который лежал вне старой коренной Руси и в XII в. был более инородческим, чем русским краем" (ibid., 293). The region was then increasingly colonized by Slavic-speaking settlers from the Rus' realms, including those of the south.

8 "Следует учитывать, однако, что такие названия, как древнерусский язык, древнечешский язык и т. д., отражают в первую очередь взгляд современных языков (русского, чешского и т. д.)."

⁷ As for the territory of modern Central European Russia, the so-called Zalěsbje area grew to become one of the more important regions of Rus' only under Jurij Dolgorukij's son, Andrej Bogoljubskij, in the mid-twelfth century, a few decades before the ultimate collapse of medieval Rus'. Little is known about medieval written culture from these realms (the chronicles emphasize, for example, that Jurij Dolgorukij provided one of the churches he had established in his realm with books and relics of the saints; see Stökl 1983: 114). The eminent Russian historian Vasilij Ključevskij wrote, already in the nineteenth century: "Prior to the mid-twelfth century, nothing is known about a direct connection between Kyivan Rus' and the remote Rostov-Suzdal' land. The settlement of this northeastern periphery of Rus' began long before the twelfth century, and its Russian colonization ["русская колонизация"] initially took place from the northwest, the Novgorod land, to which this land belonged under the reign of the first princes. Here, even before the twelfth century, several Russian towns emerged, such as Rostov, Suzdal, Yaroslavl, Murom, etc.... Interestingly, when a prince from Rostov or Murom had to go south to Kyiv, he did not travel there directly but made a long detour" (Ključevskij 1956: 286–287). The detour went by way of Tver and Smolensk. Ključevskij also writes about the dense forests between Zalěsbje and the Kyiv realm (ibid., 287–288) and mentions that a better connection between Rostov and Kyiv was not established until the mid-twelfth century (ibid., 288). It is these very circumstances that account for the lack of genuine transitional dialects between Russian and Ukrainian.

name derived from modern Slavic languages, then the appropriate name would be "Old Ukrainian," not "Old Russian." What can still be called "Old Russian" are, for example, the dialects of Old Novgorod and other lands that became part of the Russian language territory, but, again, it is reasonable to use such a name only if one is fully conscious of its deeply anachronistic character.⁹

It is thus in all likelihood the language of Kyiv that became the primary language of expansion within Rus', but it did not suppress other Slavic dialects in such a way as to make the country's linguistic landscape regionally uniform (except for the Finnic, Baltic, or Turkic variants spoken in the Rus' realm). To be sure, the *koiné* that presumably had a Kyivan basis is very different from Modern Standard Ukrainian, as those who deny the Ukrainian language its medieval history are fond of asserting with such emphasis. What these critics forget to mention, however, is the obvious fact that the very same applies to Modern Standard Russian as well.¹⁰

While Modern Standard Russian may seem at first glance to be more closely associated with the written languages of medieval Rus' than Modern Standard Ukrainian, this is due primarily to the former's very significant and definitely non-Russian Church Slavonic linguistic layer. The eminent role of that layer in the Russian language reminds us that Church Slavonic has no particularly deep roots in the Russian vernacular but is much more solidly based on the tradition of an originally imported ecclesiastical language that was used for decades mainly by a rather narrow circle of elitist Orthodox clerics. Needless to say, this is by no means to belittle the Russian language. These facts should be remembered, however, upon encountering notorious assertions about the "artificial Ukrainian language" (see pp. 590–591 in this volume).

Ukrainophobic authors such as Nikolaj Ul'janov or Aleksandr Karevin, who regard anything associated with Rus' as "Russian," minimize or completely disregard the overwhelming role of genuinely non-Russian Church Slavonic as by far the most important written language of Kyivan Rus'. If these authors claim simultaneously that nothing even remotely similar to the modern Ukrainian language can be found in even a single written monument of ancient Rus', then that claim is simply inaccurate. Medieval Rus' texts definitely exhibit features that are characteristic of contemporary Ukrainian, while certain others reflect genuinely Russian features in the actual meanings of words. Aside from the Novgorod birchbark letters, only a handful of which have been found on the territory of modern Ukraine, the "Russian" language of medieval Rus' is no more apparent in the written sources than the "Ukrainian" one.

Persistent terminological inaccuracies in Slavic studies unfortunately continue to favor the Russocentric view of the languages of Rus' in the Church Slavonic sphere as well. Even some scholars who have already rejected the term "Old Russian" in its traditional sense continue to employ the term "Russian Church

⁹ The argument that the Russian language is widely used in present-day Kyiv is of course irrelevant, as this is the result of much later periods of Russification.

¹⁰ This passage is partly derived from Moser 2005: 267ff.

Slavonic" with reference to the variant of Church Slavonic used in the Rus' realm. This is inconsistent, however, in that the so-called recensions of Church Slavonic are primarily defined by their vernacular-based deviations from classical "Old Church Slavonic." But in this context as well, it is highly inappropriate simply to apply the label "Russian" to the vernacular features in a Church Slavonic text from medieval Halych or Kyiv. To repeat, variants of Church Slavonic used in Kyiv and Novgorod were undoubtedly quite similar, but vernacular intrusions must have differed at least to some extent, given that the variants of the vernacular were themselves different. For that very reason, philologists and linguists have the wherewithal to establish more about the local origin of many "Rus'ian" Church Slavonic texts than their mere "Rus'ian" provenance. There is no reason, for example, to call the Dobrylo Gospel of 1164 (Dobrylove Jevanhelije 1164/2012) "Russian Church Slavonic" unless one has better arguments than its recent editors, Vasyl' Nimčuk and Jurij Osinčuk, who have convincingly confirmed the view that this manuscript derives from the southern territories of Rus', most probably from the Kyivan realm (Dobrylove Jevanhelije 1164/2012: 7–34). In reference to the language of younger texts such as the Jevsevij Gospel of 1283 (Jevsevijeve Jevanhelije 1283/2001), a document that derives from the Galician-Volhynian Principality and features a number of Ukrainian-based vernacular elements, the label "Russian Church Slavonic" is even less justified.

As in the above-mentioned discussion concerning the vernacular sphere, it must be realized that any term for the early medieval recensions of Church Slavonic is anachronistic from the outset. In full awareness of this anachronistic approach, one could apply the term "Ukrainian Church Slavonic" or "the Ukrainian recension of Church Slavonic" to texts such as the Dobrylo or Jevsevij Gospels with much less problematic implications than those produced by any Russocentric label, although in many cases, when one cannot be certain about the actual origin of a particular manuscript (which, more often than not, has a history of having been copied in various places), the term "Rus'ian Church Slavonic" or "the Rus'ian recension" of Church Slavonic seems quite appropriate, as opposed to the outdated Russocentric labels. In the late Middle Ages and in early modern times, Church Slavonic as used on the territory of modern Ukraine and on that of modern Russia diverged even more, so that in reference to these later periods the label "Russian Church Slavonic" is even less appropriate.

Neither scholars nor non-scholars from outside the Ukrainian context are used to applying the term "Ukrainian" to the Middle Ages, but many of them somehow use the label "Russian" as if it were unproblematic. Ukrainophobes usually take this practice to the extreme. They stubbornly adhere to the assumption of the quasieternal, largely static existence of the Russian language but summarily dismiss the assumption of a centuries-long evolution of the Ukrainian language, developing in the course of more than a thousand years, as nationalistic and absurd. Pavel Baulin (2007), a member of the Writers' Union of Ukraine and, incidentally, a people's deputy of the Communist Party of Ukraine, does not purport to be a scholar but applies his understanding of historical linguistics directly to current language policy: The language problem of Ukraine: political myths and reality: One such myth is precisely that of the quasi-millennial history of the Ukrainian language. If anyone thinks that these myths play nothing but the harmless role of allowing the ruling regime to indulge in self-congratulation, he is profoundly mistaken. For it is precisely these myths that serve to justify practical actions in the struggle against political opponents, and the language problem is a striking confirmation of that.¹¹

Nikolaj Ul'janov's line of reasoning (Ul'janov 1966/1996/2003) perpetuates the tone and content of traditional nineteenth-century all-Russian nationalist discourse, according to which the Ukrainians began "arrogating" a centuries-old history to themselves only with the development of their national movement in that same century. Along with Myxajlo Hruševs'kyj, the Galician intellectual Omeljan Ohonovs'kyj is said to have been crucial to this development, inasmuch as he allegedly established the "pattern of Ukrainian literary history." According to Ul'janov, however, Ohonovs'kyj came up against the fact that "Old Russian" literature has nothing to do with Ukrainian literature, whereas "the direct genetic link between the written culture of the Kievan state and the later Common Russian literature is apparent even to the untrained eye."¹²

Availing himself of traditional paradigms, Aleksandr Karevin (2006) explains the linguistic schism that took place in the course of the collapse of Kyivan Rus' as a consequence of nothing other than the process of Polonization in western and southwestern Rus':

From the times of Kievan Rus', the Russian language alone existed throughout its territory (in the southwest as well as in the northeast). This language began splitting into dialects (Little Russian, Great Russian, and Belorussian) after the temporary breakup of the unitary state and the seizure of its individual parts by foreign enslavers. The Great Russian dialect developed on the basis of the language of the former Rus'—that of Kiev. This can be explained by the relatively free cultural development of the northeastern Russian lands (the area of dissemination of the Great Russian dialect).¹³

^{11 &}quot;Языковая проблема Украины: политические мифы и реальность: Одним из таких мифов и является миф о якобы тысячелетней истории украинского языка. Если кто-то думает, что эти мифы играют всего лишь безобидную роль самоукрашательства правящего режима, он глубоко ошибается. Ибо как раз они, мифы, служат обоснованием практических действий в борьбе со своими политическими противниками. И языковая проблема является этому ярким подтверждением."

^{12 &}quot;Нельзя, в то же время, не заметить доступную даже неученому глазу прямую генетическую связь между письменностью киевского государства и позднейшей общерусской литературой."

^{13 &}quot;Со времён Киевской Руси на всей её территории (и на юго-западе, и на северо-востоке) существовал один русский язык. Этот язык стал разделяться на наречия (малорусское, великорусское, белорусское) после временного распада единого государства, захвата отдельных его частей иноземными поработителями. Великорусское наречие развивалось на основе языка прежней Руси - Киевской. Это объяснялось относительно свободным культурным развитием северо-восточных русских земель (области распространения великорусского наречия)."

Interestingly, Karevin depicts the "Tatar yoke," which is usually bitterly lamented in Russian national discourse outside Eurasian circles, as a liberating phenomenon. According to his outline, Russian culture thus remained largely untouched during this period; in southwestern Rus', by contrast, Polish influence allegedly led to a situation in which the "Little Russian vernacular dialects" had by then already turned into a "colorful Russo-Polish mixture." This Polonization is said to have ended only after the reunification of "Little Rus" with "Great Rus'."¹⁴ Afterwards, according to Karevin, there began the "natural process of purifying the vernacular of Polonisms" (Karevin 2006).¹⁵

It is thus apparent that the history of language, an entirely different field from the one in which Ul'janov, Karevin, and similar authors operate, is not the actual subject of their accounts. They use pseudolinguistic arguments to pursue a sociopolitical goal, namely, the perpetuation of the Common Russian idea in the traditional, ultimately Russian nationalist, setting. In most cases, their presuppositions are fully concordant: Russia and its cradle, Kievan Rus', have always been morally and culturally pure, mighty and, of course, destined for unity since time immemorial. The same applies, by extension, to the "Russian" or "Common Russian" language. Unfortunately, this quasi-natural ideal is forever threatened by external, invariably Western, enemies, most notably Poles and Germans (as well as Austrians). Galicians, being notorious—perhaps non-Russian or even non-Slavic traitors to Rus', have been their inseparable allies.

In Oles' Buzyna's (2007) obtuse account, this discourse is taken to the utmost extremes. Not only does he hold Roman and Danylo, two rulers of the medieval Principality of Galicia, personally responsible for the destruction of Kyivan Rus', but, in accordance with post-1945 Soviet paradigms, he also consistently associates any alternative interpretations of history with the ideology of the followers of Stepan Bandera, a leader of twentieth-century Ukrainian nationalists. According to Buzyna's absurd line of reasoning, the medieval Principality of Halych was the center of "local separatism" in the twelfth century, although he finds it necessary to note that, allegedly, no Slavs had lived in this part of Rus' at all, as the medieval inhabitants of the Galician realm were, "in essence, Slavicized Moldavians."¹⁶ The latter differed "in every respect" from true Rus'ians: "in psyche, in anthropological type, and (most important) in their non-Slavic origin."17 Nikolaj Ul'janov (1966/1996/2003), too, emphasizes—although with reference to constant waves of immigration to Galicia-that "no little alien blood flows in the Galicians' veins"18 and ultimately manifests the true nature of Slavophile "anti-nationalist" discourse (to be sure, if an alternative approach seems desirable in a different context,

^{14 &}quot;[...] после воссоединения Малой Руси с Великой."

^{15 &}quot;Начался естественный процесс очищения народной речи от полонизмов."

^{16 &}quot;[...] галичане — это по сути славянизированные молдаване."

^{17 &}quot;Таличане отличались от настоящих русичей всем — психологией, антропологическим типом и, (что важнее всего!) неславянским происхождением."

^{18 &}quot;[...] в жилах галичан течет не мало чужой крови."

Ukrainophobic authors and their colleagues find it appropriate to emphasize the deeply "Russian" nature of the Galicians).

Dmitrij Skvorcov (2007), finally, delivers the epitome of eccentricity when, on the occasion of the 750th anniversary of the city of Lviv, he transposes the Principality of Galicia-Volhynia and its annexation by Poland into current parameters in remarkably absurd fashion:

How Danylo Romanovyč built a town for the Europartners

As a result of Daniil Galickij's "farsighted" Eurointegrationist policy, the Poles spent 250 years exterminating the "local element (Hruševs'kyj's term)" as best they could: they introduced the Magdeburg Law (the then equivalent of the WTO [World Trade Organization], with privileges for Polish-German goods and the suffocation of the "local producer"), a pale of settlement for natives of Lvov, and every conceivable type of discrimination according to religious affiliation.¹⁹

The Ukrainophobic authors are agreed that contrary to nature, the virulent seeds of separatism (including linguistic separatism) bore fruit time and again precisely in Galicia. Here, they either bring into play an additional external source of discord or present Galicia itself as the alien aggressor.

These authors do not wish to acknowledge that the political unity of Rus' was almost always fragile. They do not want to recognize that there is considerable evidence against the thesis of a "Common Russian language," and that the Slavic dialects spoken in the regions of present-day Ukraine steadily developed away from their proto-Slavic basis and from neighboring dialects on every linguistic level, just as those neighboring dialects themselves did and as languages generally do, both independently and under the impact of contacts with neighboring languages. Moreover, these authors disregard the fact that in Ukrainian dialects, numerous structural features have developed that are not inherent in any dialect of Russian. Their reason for doing so is, ultimately, that they do not wish to acknowledge that the Ukrainian language and its dialects exist at all. After all, these authors have not ceased to dream of the "one and indivisible" (imperial) Russia (be it tsarist, Soviet, or whatever else), where only the "great and powerful" Russian language is spoken.

In contrast to these authors' views, the question of whether Ukrainian has a history might be answered as follows: if, say, Russian or Polish have a history, then there is no reason why Ukrainian should not have a history. Aside from loans, minority languages, or adopted second languages, all autochthonous Slavic linguistic phenomena on what is now Ukrainian language territory remain Slavic, but they also become, in a sense, Ukrainian from the outset. First and foremost, there is no compelling reason to assume that these linguistic phenomena are either

^{19 &}quot;Как Данило Романович для европартнеров город построил

В результате «дальновидной» евроинтеграционной политики Даниила Галицкого поляки 250 лет, как могли, изводили во Львове «туземный (по Грушевскому) элемент»: вводили магдебургское право (тогдашний аналог ВТО с привилегиями для польско-немецких товаров и удушением «отечественного производителя»), черту оседлости для коренных львовян и всевозможные виды дискриминации по религиозному признаку."

Russian or Polish or anything else (again, apart from loans, minority languages, or adopted second languages). The history of the Ukrainian language is as deeply rooted in the past as that of any other Slavic language.

2.3. The Common Russian project as an antidote to Polonization?

In the Ukrainophobic discourse we are concerned with, the history of the Ukrainian language in the early modern period is summarily dismissed as a period of Polonization, which is depicted as uniformly negative. Although leading Russian intellectuals of very different ideological attitudes have time and again studied the Polish impact on the cultures and languages that developed after the breakup of medieval Rus', the Ukrainophobes completely exclude from their discourse any mention of how remarkable and fruitful late medieval and early modern contacts with Polish were. This applies not only to the Ruthenian (Ukrainian and Belarusian) sphere, but also, especially during the late seventeenth and early eighteenth centuries, to Muscovite culture and the history of Russian language and literature. At the same time, our authors do not even ask whether any Ruthenian (Ukrainian and Belarusian) developments might have occurred independently. In their minds, an ideal and uniform Rus'/Russia is opposed to a noxious Poland: with regard to language, this translates into a mere opposition of "Russian" to "Polish." Surprisingly, our Ukrainophobic authors not only overlook the impressive early modern development of Ruthenian (Ukrainian and Belarusian) but also pay almost no attention to the extremely important role of Church Slavonic both in Muscovy and in the Ruthenian lands. This is due to their unwillingness to admit that not only was Ruthenian (Ukrainian and Belarusian) Church Slavonic an integral part of Ruthenian (Ukrainian and Belarusian) culture, but that the lands of the Kingdom of Poland and the Grand Duchy of Lithuania-and not Muscovy-were precisely those where the Church Slavonic language developed most powerfully in early modern times. That development is evidenced by the first complete printed Church Slavonic Bible, which appeared in the Volhynian town of Ostrih, and the first grammars and dictionaries of Church Slavonic, which were written by learned men from what are now Ukraine and Belarus and originally appeared in Vilnius, Lviv, or Kyiv (Moser 2011: 40–74, 162–222).²⁰

Paradoxically, our Ukrainophobic authors readily recognize the important role that the Ruthenian (particularly Ukrainian) elites played in Russian cultural history beginning in the second half of the seventeenth century. Indeed, these authors even especially underscore the significance of those elites, representing their role as an alleged return of Ukrainians to the all-Russian sphere. But in light of the aforementioned preconditions for these developments, such a return is incomprehensible, and the question must arise: How could the Kyivan intellectuals become so overwhelmingly important in Russia if the Ruthenians had been mere victims of an ongoing noxious Polonization?

²⁰ Needless to say in light of the above remarks, the still widespread practice of applying the name "Russian Church Slavonic" to the early modern Church Slavonic language of the Kingdom of Poland and the Grand Duchy of Lithuania is highly questionable.

Of course, our authors emphasize that the "southwestern Russians"—their preferred term for the Ukrainian group of Ruthenians—participated in the development of Common Russian culture of their own free will, and that precisely because of the large proportion of "southwestern Russian" scholars in Muscovite culture, especially in the late seventeenth and early eighteenth centuries, something depicted as the development of a new, truly Common Russian language set in (Ljapunov 2006 was already making such a claim). In this regard, Nikolaj Ul'janov (1966/1996/2003) also mentions Jepyfanij Slavynec'kyj, Arsenij Satanovs'kyj, Dmytrij Tuptalo (Rostovs'kyj), Stefan Javors'kyj, Teofan (Feofan) Prokopovyč, and Simjaon Polacki (the latter hailed from what is now Belarus). He writes:²¹

As time went on, the southwestern bookmen took an increasing part in the formation of the Common Russian literary language.... Under Peter [the Great], the influx of Little Russians might have inspired the notion of the Ukrainization of Muscovites, but by no means of the Russification of Ukrainians, about which the *samostijnyky* [an ironic appellation for adherents of Ukrainian independence] frequently complain.... This "Great Russian" language was, of course, that Common Russian language in whose elaboration the Little Russians took an equal part with the Great Russians, if not a greater one.²²

To be sure, it is only in the Russian imperial context that Ul'janov discusses the role of Meletij Smotryc'kyj's Church Slavonic grammar of 1619, "from which Hryhorij Skovoroda and Mixail Lomonosov" learned, while "it would not have occurred to either that they were not learning their own but a foreign literary language." As "secular poetry and prose" developed, seemingly out of the blue, both Russians and Ukrainians allegedly had "no other literary tradition than the one beginning with Nestor, Metropolitan Ilarion, Volodymyr Monomax, the Ihor Tale, the Lives and the missives; the tradition to which Maksim Grek, Andrej Kurbskij and Ivan Groznyj, Ivan Vyšens'kyj and Isaja Kopyns'kyj, Meletij Smotryc'kyj and Petro Mohyla, Jepyfanij Slavynec'kyj and Simjaon Polacki, Inokentij Gizel' with his *Synopsis*, Sil'vestr Medvedev and Dmytro Tuptalo (Rostovs'kyj)" all belonged.²³ As

²¹ Incidentally, even the highly appropriate Ukrainian or Belarusian spellings of these names are enough to unsettle many contemporaries of the all-Russian persuasion, as if this admittedly anachronistic practice were not in fact universal.

^{22 &}quot;Чем дальше, тем больше юго-западные книжники принимают участие в формировании общерусского литературного языка [...]. При Петре наплыв малороссов мог навести на мысль об украинизации москалей, но никак не о руссификации украинцев, на что часто жалуются самостийники. [...] Этот ,великорусский' язык был, разумеется, тем общероссийским языком, в выработке которого малоруссы приняли одинаковое, если не большее участие вместе с великоруссами."

^{23 &}quot;В Московщине и на Украине, это развитие представляло один общий процесс. Когда стала зарождаться светская поэзия и проза, у писателей тут и там не существовало иной литературной традиции, кроме той, что начинается с Нестора, с митрополита Иллариона, Владимира Мономаха, Слова о Полку Игореве, 'житий', 'посланий', той традиции, к которой относятся Максим Грек, Курбский и Грозный, Иоанн Вишенский и Исаия Копинский, Мелетий Смотрицкий и Петр Могила, Егифаний Славинецкий и Симеон Полоцкий, Ин. Гизель с его 'Синопсисом,' Сильвестр Медведев и Дмитрий Ростовский."

Ul'janov contends, what happened at the turn of the eighteenth century continued later, when Ukrainian authors contributed substantially to the development of Russian literature. Particularly notable in this regard was Nikolaj Gogol'/Mykola Hohol', who, according to Ul'janov, also did not write in Great Russian but, naturally, in the "Common Russian literary language" ("общерусский литературный язык").

With regard to all these classic elements of the all-Russian master narrative, it must be admitted that not everything is completely wrong; it is merely oversimplified. Most importantly, the unspoken assumption that the Eastern Slavs in Poland-Lithuania and the Great Russians had no literary or written tradition other than that of Church Slavonic is certainly wrong. We shall not deal here in detail with the situation of early modern Russia, where the written traditions beyond the Church Slavonic sphere were indeed quite weakly developed as compared with those in Poland-Lithuania or other cultural communities, but where a certain corpus of secular manuscripts existed. Their more vernacular-based language is very remote not only from the Church Slavonic writings of the time but also from the Modern Russian Standard Language. As far as the Ukrainian sphere is concerned, we cannot go into details here either, but mention must be made of the extraordinarily rich early modern Ruthenian corpus written in the so-called "common Ruthenian language" ("простый языкъ рускій" or, as it is usually termed in contemporary linguistic literature, "prosta mova"), a language that was indeed powerfully influenced by early modern Polish but can by no means be dismissed as "Polish" (cf., for instance, Moser 2002).

Contrary to the all-Russianist discourse, it should furthermore be noted that the Ruthenian impact on the development of the Russian language at the turn of the eighteenth century did not immediately apply to any "Common Russian" or merely "Russian" literary (or standard) language for the simple reason that such a language did not yet exist. Therefore, the above-mentioned Ruthenians who worked in Muscovy or the Russian Empire during that period could not have written in the Russian language even if they had wished to do so. Rather, they all contributed more or less successfully to the modernization and, in fact, to the later partially reversed Ruthenization of Russian Church Slavonic (see, e.g., Uspenskij 2002). The fact is that Ruthenized Russian Church Slavonic then became the most important basis for the development of the modern Russian literary language in the further course of the eighteenth century, as stated above, and that Ukrainians and Belarusians also took an active part in the development and expansion of that language without being forced to do so. But their impact soon ceased to be as important as it had been during the reigns of Tsars Aleksej Mixajlovič, Fedor Alekseevič, and Peter I. In the long run, the Ruthenian impact at the turn of the eighteenth century left significant traces on the elevated style of the eighteenthcentury Slavic language, which was still primarily based on late Church Slavonic and had little in common with Russian per se. As the Russian standard language was increasingly nationalized by nineteenth-century Russian authors who increasingly distanced themselves from the lofty, "un-Russian" language of imperial high-style eighteenth-century literature, the "Little Russian" elites of the Russian Empire began to react with their own project-the elaboration of Modern Standard Ukrainian.

Incidentally, it is quite true that Ukrainian philology (much more than, for instance, history) denies itself a holistic perspective if it merely takes note of such developments but does not study them because, given their "non-Ukrainian" character, they have been largely excluded from the Ukrainian master narrative.

In the same vein, but even more so, it is a traditional error of Russian studies to downplay the properly Ukrainian elements of the "Little Russian" element of imperial Russian culture. This becomes particularly apparent when (as frequently happens) developments such as those described here are used as an argument against the nineteenth-century Ukrainian national and linguistic movement, as if the active contribution of some Ukrainians to the development of imperial Russian culture, including the Russian language, constituted proof that the elaboration of the Modern Ukrainian Standard Language was an artificial and, indeed, superfluous endeavor from the outset.

The fact that the elites of many peoples took an active part in the development of various imperial projects, including the elaboration of imperial languages, in no way detracts from the legitimacy of those peoples' distinct nation- and languagebuilding efforts, not even if those cultures and languages are as closely related as Russian and Ukrainian. In our particular context, this means that the increasing adoption of Russian by some Ukrainians, primarily the "Little Russian" elites, who began regarding it as their own language from the eighteenth century, cannot serve as an argument against the legitimacy of the elaboration of Modern Standard Ukrainian. Many similar imperial situations confirm the fallacy of such an argument, but Ukrainophobes may find the following formulation even more helpful: the fact that some Russian (and Ukrainian) elitist circles increasingly adopted French as their preferred language of culture, beginning in the eighteenth century, does not delegitimize the elaboration of Modern Standard Russian.

2.3.1. Modern Ukrainian nation- and language-building—a matter of Polish and German/Austrian-motivated separatism?

Unsurprisingly, the Ukrainophobes' view of the development of the Modern Standard Ukrainian language differs significantly from the one that predominates in Ukrainian studies. At times, however, the Ukrainophobes offer a perspective that, regardless of its biased contextualization and occasionally absurd elements, is of some use in helping us examine rarely questioned elements of the Ukrainianist master narrative.

Attempts to relate everything "Little Russian," "Ruthenian," or "Old Rus'ian" to Russian alone, accompanied by insistence on the comparatively short history of the ethnonym and glottonym *Ukrainian* in its present-day meaning, are of course unconvincing. While scholars in Ukrainian studies are perfectly aware that national activists introduced and disseminated the name *Ukraine* and the corresponding adjective *Ukrainian* in their modern meaning very consciously, they have every reason to ask whether a phenomenon can really be only as old as its name, and then go on to ask whether the continuous use of a particular name necessarily entails the continuity of the notion to which it refers.

While some Ukrainianists occasionally make the mistake of looking at all things "Little Russian," "Ruthenian," or "Old Rus'ian" through an exclusively "Ukrainian"

lens from the outset, the Ukrainophobes tend to label anything Ukrainian, especially the Ukrainian language, as artificial and Polish-motivated, and in fact inadmissible outside the "Little Russian" context, with all its imperial Russian connotations. In this vein, Andrej Vadžra (2007a) writes:

Neither Kotljarevskij nor Ševčenko had ever heard of any "Ukrainian language." They did not write in the Ukrainian language but in the Little Russian dialect.²⁴

Mixail Smolin (2007) joins in:

Kotljarevs'kyj's and Ševčenko's Little Russian variant of the literary language is a local dialect.... Any people can have only one literary language; hence the Little Russian dialect was not and cannot be [cf. the Valuev Circular of 1863, noted below] equated with the Common Russian Literary language, which had already been brought into existence and developed by Lomonosov and the great classics of the nineteenth century.... [T]he "Ukrainian language" is an artificially invented jargon imbued with Polish, particularly in the spheres of terminology and phraseology. It is a conscious attempt to distance the Little Russian population from the Common Russian language and from Church Slavonic language roots in general.²⁵

Leonid Sokolov, having initially (2005) emphasized the allegedly Common Russian character of the Russian language, even praises Taras Ševčenko for his "superb elaboration" of the "Little Russian vernacular" but still finds it necessary, citing deliberately selected quotations (in this case, from Myxajlo Drahomanov), to question the legitimacy of the autonomous Ukrainian Standard language:

But neither Kotljarevskij nor his successors, including T. G. Ševčenko, in whose works the Little Russian vernacular found superb elaboration, had any notion of creating a wholly autonomous Ukrainian literature, as emphasized, in particular, by the Ukrainophile M. P. Dragomanov, who remarked that no such idea had prevailed among all Ukrainophiles in Russia until the 1890s.²⁶

^{24 &}quot;Ни Котляревский, ни Шевченко и слухом не слыхивали про «украйинську мову». Они писали не на украинском языке, а на малорусском наречии."

^{25 &}quot;[...] малорусская разновидность литературного языка Котляревского и Шевченко — это областной диалект [...]. Литературный язык в одном народе может быть только один, поэтому малорусское наречие и не было, и не может быть поставлено рядом с общерусским литературным языком, уже рожденным и развитым Ломоносовым и великими классиками XIX века. [...] 'украинский' язык есть искусственно изобретенный жаргон, пропитанный польским языком, особенно в области терминологической и фразеологической. Он является сознательной попыткой увести малорусское население от общерусского языка и от церковнославянских языковых корней вообще."

^{26 &}quot;Но ни у Котляревского, ни у его последователей, в том числе и у Т.Г.Шевченко, в произведениях которого малорусский народный язык получил прекрасную обработку, не было мысли создавать совершенно самостоятельную украинскую литературу, о чем писал, в частности, украинофил М.П.Драгоманов, отмечая, что такая мысль к 90-м годам XIX в. еще не овладела всеми украинофилами в России."

According to such authors, anything Ukrainian can thus only be regarded as "Little Russian" or, alternatively, as a betrayal of Russia stemming from a purely and simply "artificial" endeavor. Nikolaj Ul'janov (1966/1996/2003) remarks that Ivan Kotljarevs'kyj's *Enejida* was composed as a "literary curiosity" ("литературный курьез"). According to him, the works of Kvitka-Osnov'janenko or even Marko Vovčok were nothing more than "essays" with no pretensions to "great literature,"²⁷ the latter being limited, in Ul'janov's view, to Russian literature alone. As Ul'janov would have it, all these authors were first and foremost "Russian-speaking," while their contribution to the development of the Ukrainian language would appear to lack any further significance.

Aleksandr Karevin (2006) expressly reduces the linguistic and national identity of the early protagonists of Modern Standard Ukrainian to an explicitly Russian one:

...Kotljarevskij, Grebënka [Ukr. Hrebinka] and Kvitka-Osnov'janenko regarded themselves as Russian and Russian as their native language. They had no intention of creating yet another literary language or "reviving Ukrainian literature" but used the dialects of simple folk (in this case, the dialects of the Poltava and Kharkov gubernias), for the better rendering of local color or for comic effect.... I. P. Kotljarevskij, incidentally, only came to be regarded as a contributor to the "renaissance" of Ukrainian literature in the late nineteenth century, when the activists of the Ukrainian movement found it necessary to prove that the "Ukrainian renaissance" they were propagating was not inspired by the Poles. Until then, Ivan Petrovič [Kotljarevskij] was not considered such a figure....²⁸

According to Karevin, the characters in the above-mentioned authors' works simply had to communicate with one another in "Little Russian dialects" for literary reasons, just as characters in the works of Great Russian writers from the Viatka, Riazan, or Pskov oblasts interacted in a regionally colored language. Karevin is either unaware of or chooses to remain silent about the very simple and obvious fact that in the works of Ukrainian literature he is attempting to categorize, the use of the Ukrainian language is by no means limited to the characters' speeches.

Not surprisingly, Ukrainophobes find Taras Ševčenko (on his language, see Moser 2008a) a particularly controversial figure. In a particularly provocative turn, Andrej Vadžra (2007a) depicts his achievements as something like the maximum that can be accomplished in the Ukrainian language, which is based on a beautiful but ultimately primitive dialect:

^{27 &}quot;[...] не более как 'опыты', не претендовавшие на большую литературу и не отменявшие ее."

^{28 &}quot;[...] Котляревский, Гребенка, Квитка-Основьяненко считали себя русскими, а русский язык – родным. Создавать ещё один литературный язык, «возрождать украинскую литературу» они не собирались, а простонародные говоры (в данном случае диалекты Полтавской и Харьковской губерний) использовали в своем творчестве для лучшей передачи местного колорита или для комических эффектов. [...] Кстати сказать, в «возродители» украинской литературы И.П.Котляревский попал лишь в конце XIX [sic] века, когда деятелям украинского движения потребовалось доказать, что пропагандируемое ими «українське відродження» происходит не от поляков. До этого Ивана Петровича таковым не считали. [...]."

The Little Russian dialect is what we denote nowadays with the derogatory label "surzhik." The dialect of the Little Russian peasants of the Poltava and Chernigov regions is the highest standard of the Little Russian vernacular. It is very beautiful and melodious, but, as you understand, too primitive to be a language of literature, scholarship, etc. The poetry of Taras Grigor'evič Ševčenko is the maximum that could be "squeezed out" of the folk dialect on the literary level.²⁹

Like many other Ukrainophobes, Mixail Smolin (2007) also seeks to create the impression that he thoroughly appreciates the "Little Russian dialect" in general and Ševčenko in particular, but he adds that this holds true only as long as this dialect, in his words, remains in the "primitive" sphere.

Other authors are more aggressive in questioning Ševčenko's literary merits. Nikolaj Ul'janov (1966/1996/2003), for instance, offers the following evaluation:

He was neither a poet "of genius" nor a great one; three-quarters of his verses and poems are epigonic, tasteless, and provincial; their whole significance comes down to the fact that they are a tribute to the Little Russian language. Even a significant part of the last quarter was appreciated not by lovers of poetry but by the revolutionary intelligentsia.... Many who preceded and followed Ševčenko have written in Ukrainian, often better than he, but he alone is acknowledged as the "prophet." The reason is that he was the first to revive the Cossacks' hatred of Moscow and eulogize Cossack times as national.³⁰

In a further emotional escalation, Andrej Vadžra (2007a) also describes Ševčenko as "abominably provincial," while Aleksandr Karevin (2006), in a spiteful gesture, points out that Ševčenko's language has been adapted to the modern Ukrainian standard in modern Ukrainian editions. He seems not to notice that this method is also common practice in Russian editions of Russian authors (and not by any means in such editions alone).

Allegedly, however, not all Ukrainophobes have a serious problem with Ševčenko's language as such: after all, they regard his language as still quite close to Russian and, ultimately and notoriously, as a "Little Russian" dialect. What these authors frequently add is that in their view, the Modern Ukrainian Standard language is fundamentally different from the language of Ševčenko and the Little Russian vernacular, given that Modern Standard Ukrainian allegedly represents an artificial concoction produced by the Galicians.

^{29 &}quot;Малорусское наречие — это то, что сейчас у нас называют презрительно суржиком. Говор малоросских крестьян Полтавщины и Черниговщины является эталоном малоросского наречия. Он весьма красив и певуч, но, как вы понимаете, слишком примитивен, чтобы быть языком литературы, науки и т.п. [...] Поэзия Тараса Григорьевича Шевченко это тот максимум, который можно было «выжать» из народного говора на литературной ниве. [...]"

^{30 &}quot;Поэтом он был не 'гениальным' и не крупным; три четверти стихов и поэм подражательны, безвкусны, провинциальны; все их значение в том, что это дань малороссийскому языку. Но и в оставшейся четверти значительная доля ценилась не любителями поэзии, а революционной интеллигенцией. [...] Многие до и после Шевченко писали по-украински, часто, лучше его, но только он признан "пророком." Причина: - он первый воскресил казачью ненависть к Москве и первый воспел казачьи времена, как национальные."

Andrej Vadžra (2007a) remarks in this regard:

Why do the Kobzar's offspring not wish to speak Ukrainian to this day? Because in its current condition, it is a mixture of a Galician-Polish dialect and a newspeak invented in the nineteenth century.³¹

Pointed statements of this kind recur with particular frequency in several Internet forums (cf. Moser 2008b and pp.585–600 in this volume). In this context, Nikolaj Ul'janov (1966/1996/2003) writes as follows:

From the end of the [18]70s, Lvov becomes the headquarters of the movement, and the character of Ukrainianness is defined by the Galicians.... Even the hastily created "literary language" that was declared to be "Common Ukrainian" cannot conceal the existence of two languages linked only by orthography."³²

Andrej Vadžra (2007a) actually goes so far as to specify the "so-called Galician mountain dialect" (whatever that may be) as the basis of the Modern Standard Ukrainian language.³³

Georgij Geraščenko (2007), too, emphasizes that the "Galician language" is fundamentally different from true Ukrainian:

It turns out that in late nineteenth-century Austrian Galicia...Ukrainophile writers did not write in the Ukrainian language, as we were taught to think, but in the "Galician language." ...in Russian Ukraine—more precisely, in Little Russia—people spoke and wrote in a language that was quite remote from the "Galician language."... As a matter of fact, even in the late nineteenth century the absolute majority of the inhabitants of Austrian Galicia did not know that they were, as it turned out, Ukrainians!... Throughout those five centuries, the inhabitants of Austrian Galicia regarded themselves as Rusyns [Ruthenians?], and they spoke and wrote in the Rusyn [Ruthenian?] dialect, which was close to the Russian language, and they gravitated toward the Russian Empire.³⁴

- 33 "На самом деле, в основу современного украинского литературного языка положен т.н. подгорский галицийский диалект."
- 34 "Оказывается, в австрийской Галиции конца 19-го века [...] украинофильские писатели писали не на украинском языке, как нас приучили думать, а на «галицькій мові». [...] в российской Украине, точнее Малороссии, говорили и писали на языке, достаточно далеком от «галицької мови». [...] Дело в том, что даже в конце 19 века абсолютное большинство жителей австрийской Галиции не знали, что они, оказывается, украинцы! [...] Все эти пять столетий жители австрийской Галиции считали себя русинами, говорили и писали на русинском диалекте близком к русскому и тятотели к Российской империи."

^{31 &}quot;Почему же потомки Кобзаря до сих пор не желают говорить на украинском? Да потому, что он в своем современном виде – смесь галицко-польского наречия и новояза, придуманного в 19 веке."

^{32 &}quot;С конца 70-х годов, Львов становится штаб-квартирой движенія, а характер украинизма определяется галичанами. [...] Даже наспех созданная 'литерацка мова' [the expression літерацький, which Ul'janov introduces with polemical intent in order to characterize the Ukrainian language as a Polish intrigue, is in fact uncommon in Modern Standard Ukrainian and in most former variants of Galician Ukrainian], объявленная общеукраинской, не способна скрыть существованія двух языков, объединенных только орфографіей."

According to Geraščenko, most representatives of the Little Russian elites defended themselves against the "Galicianization" of "Little Russian." As one would expect, Ivan Nečuj-Levyc'kyj is cited as the most important source, given that in his publications devoted to the criticism of language he polemicized with particular zeal against Galician elements in Ukrainian (see Moser 2011a: 124–135). Nečuj-Levyc'kyj's often unconvincing explanations are not only cited with utmost delight by most of our Ukrainophobic "experts" but also fondly featured in various Internet forums.

Other materials important to these "experts" are selected quotations from Pantelejmon Kuliš, who took quite a variety of attitudes to the Ukrainian language in general and the Galicians and their language in particular in the course of his multifaceted life (Moser 2008b; Moser 2011: 84–93), or from the works of Mykola Kostomarov, such as his famous assertion that "there was much artificiality in the desire to elevate the Ukrainian language to the level of the fully developed literary languages." Sokolov (2005) and Karevin (2006) in particular regard Kostomarov's words as proof that after their first, modest attempts at emancipation under the influence of Polish intrigue, most "Little Russians" in the Russian Empire soon came to their senses. According to the Ukrainophobic authors, the process of Ukrainian nation- and language-building would ultimately have failed at that time if the Galicians, instigated by the Poles and Austrians, had not persisted in it.

According to "Rusyn" (2007), a contributor to an Internet forum, the "whole might of the Austrian Empire was dedicated to" support for the Ukrainian movement. He adds that the Austrian Empire "did not recoil even from the *physical extermination* of Rusyns [or Ruthenians?] who resisted 'Ukrainization.'³⁵ This odd allegation is apparently inspired by the blogger's anticipation of developments in the course of the First World War, when the Austro-Hungarian imperial administration detained numerous Galician Ruthenians of various ideological backgrounds in internment camps, most notably in Thalerhof (near Graz), on collective suspicion of Rusyn" follows "Rusyn" historical master narratives, generally derived from the Russophile camp of the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries, and attempts to describe the entire Austrian period in Galicia as a consistent campaign against the "Russian" language and the "Russians."

With regard to the latter, as noted above, the Ukrainophobic authors are not always in full agreement. Ul'janov (1966/1996/2003) and others find it important to disseminate the view that much alien blood flows "in Galician veins," and that the Galicians are not even of Slavic descent. Others of this persuasion, such as Karevin (2006), are eager to emphasize the ultimately "Russian" identity of the Galicians an identity allegedly oppressed by Austrian nationality policy (needless to say, Karevin does refer to Count Stadion, who supposedly invented the "Ruthenians"...). As Karevin notes:

^{35 &}quot;Для этого была использована вся мощь Австрийской Империи, которая не остановилась даже перед физическим уничтожением сопротивлявшихся «украинизации» русинов."

It is hard to imagine today that even in the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries the indigenous population of the western Ukrainian lands (Galicia, Bukovyna, Transcarpathia), which were then part of Austria-Hungary, did not yet distinguish itself in national terms from the Great Russians and regarded Russian as its native language.... In a word, Austrian policy was entirely dedicated to the mission of forcing the inhabitants of Galician, Bukovynian, and Hungarian Rus' (Hungarian Rus' was the name of Transcarpathia) to forget their Russian origin. This continued up to the year 1848.³⁶

According to Andrej Vadžra, Myxajlo Hruševs'kyj, who initially did not even know the "Little Russian dialect," as he himself admitted in his diary, began learning the "mother tongue" [the Ukrainian expression "ридна мова" spelled in Russian characters]—notably, the Galician variety—only when he moved to Lviv (Vadžra 2007a).³⁷ Then, as "Rusyn" (2007) notes, Hruševs'kyj supposedly attempted to disseminate the heavily polonized Galician dialect in the central and eastern territories [of Ukraine], where that language was not really understandable (Vadžra 2007a). Smolin (2007) joins in, adding that it was only Hruševs'kyj who successfully managed to disseminate the Ukrainians' new name, in the "invention" of which he had been significantly involved. The essence of the Ukrainian project allegedly consisted in eliminating Church Slavonic words and replacing them with Polish elements (which, according to Smolin, were often themselves derived from Latin, French, or German), although Smolin does at least admit that these words were pronounced in a "Little Russian" manner.³⁸

For the Ukrainophobic authors, Galicia thus remains the breeding ground of "artificial" and noxious modern Ukrainian identity. In the nineteenth-century Galician context, Germans and speakers of German are presented for the first time as major enemies of the unity of the Rus'. The blog contributor "Rusyn" (2007), for example, finds it particularly important to emphasize that Josyf Levyc'kyj composed his grammar of Ruthenian (1834) in German (in this regard, again, he follows Russophile authors of the nineteenth and twentieth centuries). To be sure, "Rusyn" does not add that in the course of the history of the languages of the world, a great many grammars have been written in languages different from those described in their body text for various reasons, including the simple fact that they were not always written only for speakers of the language described. What is more

^{36 &}quot;Сегодня трудно представить, что ещё в конце XIX - начале XX веков коренное население западноукраинских земель (Галиции, Буковины, Закарпатья), находившихся тогда в составе Австро-Венгрии, в национальном отношении не отделяло себя от великороссов и признавало родным русский язык. [...] Одним словом, вся австрийская политика была направлена на то, чтобы заставить жителей Галицкой, Буковинской, Угорской Руси (Угорской Русью называлось Закарпатье) забыть о своем русском происхождении. Так продолжалось до 1848 года."

^{37 &}quot;[...] (Надо заметить, что малорусского наречия Грушевский не знал (он в этом сам признавался в своём дневнике). «Ридну мову» в галицийском варианте профессор стал изучать, переехав во Львов."

^{38 &}quot;На совести Грушевского лежит также большой вклад в изобретение особого "украинского" языка: отказавшись от церковнославянских слов, он заменил их польскими (через польский язык он ввел много латинских, французских и немецких слов), но с соблюдением малорусского произношения."

important to "Rusyn" is to promote the impression that anything coming from the West is an evil anti-Russian plot, as is the "invention" of Ukrainian.

In this latter regard, the so-called "(Second) Alphabet War" of the year 1859 in Galicia is of utmost significance to the Ukrainophobic authors, who usually take no notice of the so-called "(First) Alphabet War" of 1834. As for the so-called "(Second) Alphabet War" of 1859, it is a well-known fact that the Czech official Alois Jireček and the Polish count Agenor Gołuchowski were in charge of that project, which sought to replace the Cyrillic alphabet with the Latin one in Galician "Ruthenian" written culture. The initiators of that endeavor did indeed regard it as an attempt to counter the Russophile movement in Galicia. With reference to the events of 1859, "Rusyn" (2007) remarks:

And in fact, what could be more humiliating: an Austrian, a Czech, and a Pole got together and debated in which language the "Ukrainians" should speak and in which letters they should write. In this regard, no one had any thought of asking those very "Ukrainians," who were simply expected to be patient and await their fate.³⁹

What these emotional lines definitely do not reveal is the simple truth that the so-called "(Second) Alphabet War" came down to the following: the Austrian authorites submitted a written request for a statement to the Ruthenians (the term "Ukrainians" was never used in the Austrian imperial context at that time, which makes "Rusyn"'s polemical turn even less convincing). Since the Ruthenians were not in favor of the proposal, the Latin alphabet was not introduced.

Thus the Ukrainophobic authors even find the Austrian government guilty of replacing etymologically oriented orthography with phonetically oriented orthography, although in actual fact the Austrian authorities insisted on the traditional Cyrillic alphabet and etymological spelling until the 1890s. It was only the Ukrainians who insisted on the "phonetic" orthography, which the Russophiles opposed with such vehemence as a particularly blatant expression of the autonomous status of Ukrainian vis-à-vis Russian.

In this context, Andrej Vadžra (2007a) finds it important to state that the "Russian" orthography was "raped"⁴⁰ when the "phonetic" orthography replaced the "etymological" one, and that the "modernized alphabet" was imposed on the "Russian schools of Galicia, Bukovyna and Transcarpathia" by simple fiat of the Austrian authorities.⁴¹ Vadžra does admit elsewhere that the so-called "phonetic" Galician orthography ultimately derives from the one developed by Pantelejmon Kuliš in the Russian Empire (the so-called "Kulišivka"), but he emphasizes above

^{39 &}quot;И в самом деле, что могло быть более унизительным: собрались австрияк [a derogatory term, used polemically instead of австриец], чех и поляк, и провели диспут о том, на каком языке говорить и какими буквами писать «украинцам». При этом самих «украинцев» никто и спрашивать не собирался, они были должны просто терпеливо дожидаться своей участи."

^{40 &}quot;[...] было изнасиловано русское правописание [...]."

^{41 &}quot;Этот модернизированный алфавит был приказом австрийских властей навязан русским школам Галиции, Буковины и Закарпатья."

all that at a certain point Kuliš distanced himself from his own orthography, while overlooking Kuliš's continued use of the very same orthography despite his own reservations about it.⁴²

Ul'janov (1966/1996/2003) makes similar observations. In the process, he remarks that the Russian government and Russian society, which allegedly did not understand the nationality issue and never looked into it, would never have meddled with such "trifles" as an alphabet.⁴³ Ul'janov is perhaps unaware of the very wellknown fact that the "Kulišivka" was explicitly banned in Russia in the context of the Ems Ukase of 1876. Perhaps he also does not know that in 1859, the very year of the "(Second) Alphabet War" in Galicia, the Russian government had already prohibited the use of the Latin alphabet for writing in Ukrainian, but whether we are dealing with ignorance or prevarication, Ul'janov's inaccurate information, particularly as regards the regulations of 1876, confirms the impression that his remarks on Ukrainian language history are mere propaganda disseminated by an individual lacking expertise in this field. Since Ul'janov does not refrain from equating the largely phonetically oriented spelling of modern Ukrainian orthographies with a "phonetic transcription," and then contends that such "phonetic transcription" is otherwise only applied "either in a scientific research paper or in language teaching,"⁴⁴ he shows in the final analysis that he has no idea of what he is talking about.

As one would expect, the Ukrainophobic authors notoriously downplay the significance of the Cyrillo-Methodian Brotherhood, the Ukrainian patriotic society of the mid-1840s with which Taras Ševčenko and Pantelejmon Kuliš, among others, were affiliated. They also prefer to pay little attention to the question of how the society was discovered and disbanded by the tsarist police in 1847. Moreover, these authors deliberately attempt to create the impression that the infamous bans on the Ukrainian language, the Valuev Circular of 1863 and the Ems Ukase of 1876, were of very limited significance. Ul'janov (1966/1996/2003) and, inevitably following after him, Karevin (2006) as well, find it particularly important to emphasize that Valuev's famous words "that an autonomous Little Russian language never existed, does not exist, and can never exist"⁴⁵ in the Valuev Circular did not reflect Valuev's personal opinion, but that the minister merely reported the opinion of "most of the Little Russians." Even if one acknowledges that this passage in the circular (and the denunciatory document to which it refers) actually does make such a claim, one is left wondering whether the passage could possibly be interpreted in a more naïve manner.

⁴² Incidentally, according to Vadžra (2007a), Kuliš condemned his own orthography "in a letter to the Ukrainophile Didyc'kyj"; in fact, he did so in a letter to the Russophile Jakiv Holovac'kyj. Moreover, Didyc'kyj was not a Ukrainophile but one of the leading Galician Russophiles.

^{43 &}quot;Русское правительство и русская общественность, не понимавшие национального вопроса и никогда им не занимавшиеся, не вникали в такие 'мелочи', как алфавит."

^{44 &}quot;Фонетическая транскрипция употребляется, обычно, либо в научно-исследовательской работе, либо в преподавании языков."

^{45 &}quot;[...] что никакого особенного малороссийского языка не было, нет и быть не может."

Also as expected, our Ukrainophobic authors make up Austrian bans on the Ukrainian language, although they never existed in that form. Ul'janov (1966/1996/2003) remarks:

There have been countless indignant outcries about Valuev's ukase on the Ukrainian language, but no Galician has ever reacted appropriately to the conclusion of an Austrian governmental commission of 1816, according to which the Galician dialect was entirely inappropriate as a medium of instruction in the schools....⁴⁶

In reality, the official correspondence of those years merely determined that "Ruthenian" was inadequately developed for use in comprehensive education (quite a reasonable assessment at the time). Nonetheless, language education in "Ruthenian" for a few hours per week became widespread in the elementary schools of Galicia, especially after 1816 and, even more so, after 1848, when the "Ruthenian" language was also introduced into secondary education (Moser 2011: 402–404). By contrast, "Little Russian" was not used at all in the schools of the Russian Empire, except for private Sunday schools during the brief period between 1859 and 1862, but that is a story Ul'janov prefers not to tell his readers.

It is important to note that the Ukrainophobes' unanimous efforts to depict the Galician Ruthenian language- and nation-building endeavors in the period before March 1848 as a purely "Russian" movement (see especially Pašaeva 2001) bear little relation to the facts. The Galicians were definitely concerned with the creation of a new written language on the basis of their own vernacular; in this phase, they did not intend to write in Russian but demonstrably thought in "Ruthenian" and not in Common Russian parameters. In their writings, they declared more than once that in their view, the Ruthenians were the same people as the "Little Russians" of the Russian Empire and spoke the same language (Moser 2011c). Although these Galician intellectuals occasionally included the Belarusians in their "imagined community" according to early modern parameters, Russians were generally regarded as different.

Admittedly, before March 1848 the language used by the Galician Ruthenians was not based primarily on the "Little Russian" developments in the Russian Empire. It was still rooted first and foremost in the specifically Galician dialects and traditions of writing. Ukrainian language-building in the Russian Empire did not develop strongly enough to convince the Galicians that it might have made sense to use a vernacular variety not ultimately based on Galician dialects of Ukrainian.

In highly stereotypical fashion, A. Ju. Suvorov (2006), a functionary of the Party of Regions, sums up the "long" nineteenth century as a period of Austro-German-Polish intrigue intended to "break the ties between the two fraternal

^{46 &}quot;Нет числа возмущенным возгласам по поводу указа Валуева об украинском языке, но ни один галичанин не отозвался соответствующим образом о заключении правительственной австрийской комиссии, высказавшейся в 1816 г. о галицийском наречии, как совершенно непригодном для преподавания на нем в Школах [sic] [...]."

peoples" and "separate Ukrainian culture from the enormously rich heritage of Great Russian culture."⁴⁷

Advancing this thesis of an intrigue orchestrated by foreign powers, many Ukrainophobic authors blame the Soviet policy of "Ukrainization" for the ultimate dissemination of the supposedly artificial new Ukrainian written language from Galicia to "Little Russia." Their account is even more interesting, as there can be little doubt about the pro-Soviet ideology of many of the Ukrainophobes.

As Ul'janov (1966/1996/2003), a Russian émigré author, tells the story, the "Bolshevik Revolution in Russia…openly took the side of the anti-Russian minority aiming at independence."⁴⁸ According to his narrative, which is also to be encountered in many other Ukrainophobic sources, as well as in the Internet forums, the artificial Galician-based Ukrainian language was forcibly imposed on the population of the Ukrainian Soviet Socialist Republic in the era of "Ukrainization" against all resistance and, indeed, against nature itself.

In this context, one is particularly struck by the importance that Ukrainophobes attach to emphasizing the role of Jews, as in the following quotations:

Jews played a particularly remarkable role in the "Ukrainian" movement.... All activists of "Ukrainianism," including Gruševskij himself, were revolutionary socialists by political conviction and collaborated closely with the international Jewish revolutionary movement. (Smolin 2007)⁴⁹

"Jewish officials took Ukrainization most seriously," wrote [Serhij Jefremov] in his diary in October 1924. At that time, remarked S. A. Jefremov, Ukrainians ("me-too Little Russians" [as Jefremov contemptuously referred to those Ukrainians]), following the example of Great Russians, resisted Ukrainization in all possible ways and stubbornly refused to learn the *ridna mova* [Ukrainian for "native language"]." During the implementation of "Ukrainization," this situation forced the authorities to rely to a significant degree on Jews.... [The Soviets] increasingly "purged" the institutions of Russian specialists (Great Russians and Little Russians "lacking national consciousness" [Karevin's comment]). Their places were taken "first and foremost by Ukrainians ("nationally conscious ones" [Karevin's comment]), and partly by Jews."... "The Jewish element⁵⁰ began to break its way into Ukrainian literature itself. The Jews A. Xvylja, I. Kulyk, and S. Ščupak dictate pathways and norms to Ukrainian writers," muttered one of the Ukrainian patriots [here Karevin uses the contemptuous expression HehbKofiatpHoffs] with dissatisfaction [Who and when, in what context?]....

^{47 &}quot;Но в XIX веке при поддержке Австрии, Германии и Польши радикальные украинские националисты пытались разорвать узы двух братских народов и обособить украинскую культуру, разом лишив ее всего богатейшего наследия великоросской культуры."

^{48 &}quot;[...] большевицкая революція в Россіи, открыто принявшая сторону самостійническаго антирусскаго меньшинства."

^{49 &}quot;Весьма заметную роль в >украинском<движении играли евреи. [...] Все деятели >украинства<, как и сам Грушевский, по своим политическим убеждениям были социалистамиреволюционерами и тесно сотрудничали с еврейским мировым революционным движением."

⁵⁰ It is important to note here that in Ukrainian, as in Polish, the word foms жид, жидівський "Jew, Jewish" bore no pejorative connotations prior to the twentieth century, as opposed to the Russian жид, жидовский. Karevin obviously chose the Ukrainian word for his Russian translation in order to create the false impression that Serhij Jefremov used a swearword directed against Jews.

"The 'Little Russian' type has not died out and exists in Ukraine to this very day," wrote an ardent supporter of Ukrainization, the well-known Ukrainian literary critic V. Korjak (Blumštejn).... And another ardent Ukrainizer, the Ukrainian poet and first head of the Writers' Association of Ukraine, Izrail' Judelevič Kulik (who adopted the first name and patronymic Ivan Julianovič in response to Ukrainization), [did this and that]. (Karevin 2006)⁵¹

The alleged experts, as well as contributors to the Internet forums, are very keen to emphasize the Jewish ancestry of Lazar Kahanovyč, the Stalinist politician who played a leading role during the period of Ukrainization. Accordingly, they refer to him as "Lazar' Mojseevič" (as do Karevin 2006 and "Enals-Pilugina" 2007).

The anti-Semitic turn in the Ukrainophobic sources is indeed remarkable. With regard to the late nineteenth century, "Vpichatinec'," another contributor to an Internet forum, finds it important to note that the Ukrainian movement spread from "Lvov, this ancient, age-old Russian city, which was in the hands of Poles and Jews."⁵² This anti-Semitic gesture marks the nadir of Ukrainophobic vulgarity.⁵³ Other, particularly aggressive authors allude to Joseph Goebbels with reference to the Ukrainian national movement, outside any perceivable context. Finally, they do not even balk at calling the creation of the Modern Standard Ukrainian language a Ukrainian "Jihad" against Russian culture (Geraščenko 2007).

^{51 «}Наиболее серьезно к украинизации отнеслись служащие – евреи [...]» – записал он [Serhij Jefremov] в своем дневнике в октябре 1924 г. В то же время, замечал С.А.Ефремов, украинцы («тоже малороссы») вслед за великороссами всячески противились украинизации и упорно не желали учить «рідну мову». Подобное положение вынуждало власти при проведении украинизации в значительной мере опираться на евреев. [...] Постоянно усиливалась «чистка» учреждений от русских специалистов (великороссов и «несознательных» малороссов). Их места занимали «в первую очередь украинцы («национально сознательных» малороссов). Их места занимали «в первую очередь украинцы («национально сознательных» – Авт.), отчасти евреи». [...] «Жидовский элемент начал вдираться в саму украинскую литературу. Жиды А.Хвыля, И.Кулик и С.Щупак диктуют украинским писателям пути и нормы» – недовольно бурчал один из ненькопатриотов. [...] «Тип «малоросса» не умер и до сих пор на Украине» – писал ярый сторонник украинизации, известный украинский поэт, первый глава Союза писателей Украины, Израиль Юделевич Кулик (переименовавшийся по случаю украинизации в Ивана Юлиановича)[...]."

^{52 &}quot;[...] во Львове, в этом древнем, исконно русском городе, находившемся в руках поляков и евреев [...]." "Vpichatinee"s contribution dates from 20 April (Hitler's birthday), and one might well ask whether this is a coincidence.

⁵³ In his above-mentioned review, Grzegorz Rossolinski-Liebe (2010) reacts very nervously to the obvious fact that some of the anti-Ukrainian authors published on the Internet turn out to be anti-Semites as well. Here is his comment: "The confrontation-driven search for and finding of countless 'Ukrainophobes' on the Internet...as well as in the scholarly literature, whereby some of them turn out to be anti-Semites who also detect Jews behind the 'Ukrainian movement,' indicates not only the detection of a 'Ukrainophobic' conspiracy theory, but, owing to its triumphant unmasking of 'Ukrainophobias,' always in the name of scholarship, makes the article itself look like an outmoded practice resembling a conspiracy theory." Rossolinski-Liebe's comment is incorrect: as I stated clearly in the introduction to this article, I do not refer here to any sources other than those discovered by my search engine. Incidentally, it is remarkable that Rossolinski-Liebe is so astonished to encounter anti-Semitism in a Ukrainophobic context. The combination of Ukrainophobic hate speech in the cause of all-Russian unity and militant anti-Semitism has had a long tradition ever since the Slavophile movement and its militant offspring, the Black Hundreds, eagerly welcomed or took a leading role in the Jewish pogroms in the Russian Empire (see Dzjuba 2011).

2.3.2. Audiatur et altera pars?

Can a historian of the Ukrainian language possibly make use of at least some isolated fragments of this generally absurd and often downright abominable discourse "from the other side"? Which elements might potentially motivate us to revise the master narrative of Ukrainian language history, which, like any master narrative of Slavic—and not only Slavic—language history, tends to be primarily a success story replete with teleology and anachronism?

One might note, for instance, the Ukrainophobes' emphasis on the significance of Galicia, whereas most historians of the Ukrainian language have not yet taken due account of Galician developments, despite the widely acknowledged role of Galicia as a Ukrainian "Piedmont" during the bans on the Ukrainian language in the Russian Empire from 1863 to 1876 and 1905 (see Moser 2011 and pp. 337–349 in this volume), and despite a certain awareness of the Galician contribution to the formation of Modern Standard Ukrainian, which was particularly highlighted in some of Jurij Ševel'ov's studies (see especially Ševel'ov 1966). Regarding the early stage of Ukrainian written culture in the Russian Empire, many studies on the history of the Ukrainian language do not sufficiently clarify an obvious fact that the Ukrainophobes consider particularly important: that early Ukrainian literary efforts were indeed still embedded in the Russian imperial context, and that in all likelihood those engaged in such efforts did not in fact intend at the outset to create a polyfunctional and autonomous Ukrainian standard language. The Ukrainophobes' allegation that Ivan Kotljarevs'kyj did not regard himself as a national awakener or creator of a new written language would appear to be correct, and even the claim that some early nineteenth-century writers were mainly experimenting with the use of "Little Russian" in specific literary genres cannot be completely dismissed. The well-known assessment that Myxajlo Maksymovyč made in a letter of 1840 to Denys Zubryc'kyj was presumably quite correct at the time: "Little Russian" written culture was generally still interpreted as a regional variety of Russian (Moser 2011a: 79–84). And even if this began to change as soon as Taras Ševčenko appeared on the scene with his *Kobzar* (1840), neither Ševčenko himself nor his contemporaries managed to create a full-fledged Modern Standard Ukrainian language in the course of the following decades.

All this, however, is not to question that Kotljarevs'kyj's literary work was a clear expression of the richness and beauty of the Ukrainian language; that folksong collections, most of which merely featured songs of the "Little Russian" people, confirmed those qualities; that provincial "Little Russian" literature as written by Jevhen Hrebinka or Hryhorij Kvitka-Osnov'janenko continued to prepare the ground for Taras Ševčenko and further literary developments; and that even if Ukrainian in the Russian Empire had not yet developed into a full-fledged modern standard language, its stage of elaboration had already approached that level quite closely, despite the lack of any institutional support, when further work on the Ukrainian language was seriously hampered by the imperial language bans of 1863 and 1876.

The Ukrainophobes' suggestion that Ukrainian became a full-fledged, truly polyfunctional language only in Austrian Galicia is thus not completely untrue.

In the Russian Empire, modern Ukrainian written culture was still mainly limited to the sphere of belles lettres when the first modern Ukrainian-language primers appeared in the second half of the 1850s; the bilingual journal Osnova (1861–62) featured several Ukrainian-language contributions of a non-belletristic character; and Pylyp Moračevs'kyj completed his Ukrainian translation of the Gospels. The Galicians had faced the challenge of developing a polyfunctional language at least since the revolution of 1848–49, when they had already gained the opportunity to publish newspapers and journals in their language, to read the imperial Austrian laws in their language, and so on (Moser 2008: 667–683; see pp. 337–349 in this volume). They had made good use of those opportunities, but, under the impact of growing Russophilism, remained much less successful regarding the elaboration of their own language. From the early 1860s, when powerful impulses from the Russian Empire reached Galicia, the Galician populists ("narodovci") took up the challenge. In the following decades, in collaboration with Ukrainians in the Russian Empire, they managed to create a truly polyfunctional Modern Ukrainian Standard Language.

Moreover, one should frankly admit that some representatives of the Ukrainian movement in the Russian Empire who came closest to the Galicians in their attempts to create a full-fledged Ukrainian standard language wavered precisely at those moments when firmness on their part would have been particularly desirable, as did Pantelejmon Kuliš in the years 1863 and 1876 (Moser 2011a: 84–93 and pp. 305–336 in this volume).

But all this is by no means to imply that the Modern Standard Ukrainian language is a Galician creation *sui generis*. The foundations of Modern Standard Ukrainian are ultimately supradialectal, but it is definitely not based on southwestern Ukrainian dialects. Even so, a certain genuinely Galician layer in the Modern Standard Ukrainian language cannot be denied, and it is not limited to vocabulary alone (see Ševel'ov 1966; on vocabulary and phraseology, see Tkač 2007).

Most important, the Modern Standard Ukrainian language ultimately appears to be the product of constant dialogue between the "Ruthenians" of Galicia (subsequently, Galicia and Bukovyna) and the "Little Russians" from various regions of the Russian Empire. As an addendum to the master narrative of Ukrainian language history, one might single out the following major steps in the development of "Ruthenian"-"Little Russian" cooperation. In the first half of the nineteenth century, the Galician "awakeners" initially advanced their linguistic movement mainly on the basis of their own, Galician foundation, but they did so in full awareness of the achievements made in the Russian Empire. In their writings, the Galicians expressly referred to the folk-song collections published there, as well as to the most popular works of Ukrainian literature from the Russian Empire, accepting them without hesitation as part of their own literary heritage. In the wake of the revolution of 1848–49, the Russophiles became powerful in Galicia for many reasons, including the fact that the Ukrainian movement in the Russian Empire had little to offer after the dissolution of the Brotherhood of SS. Cyril and Methodius in 1847. Beginning in the 1860s, soon after the revival of the Ukrainian movement in the Russian Empire in the mid-1850s, the Galician

"Ruthenians" not only continued to adhere to the view that the "Little Russian" language was their own but also deliberately associated themselves with "Little Russian" language traditions and increasingly tried to write in a language that was expressly not based on Galician dialects (even though it retained certain Galician elements on all linguistic levels). In this regard, the poetry of Taras Ševčenko was of decisive significance. It was under the impact of Ševčenko's works, which became well known in Galicia only from the early 1860s, that the Galicians began increasingly to distance themselves from their own literary traditions (Moser 2007; Moser 2008a: 63–82; 426–431). Nevertheless, they made a weighty contribution to the development of the Ukrainian language, particularly in the last decades of the nineteenth century, and primarily in the sphere of vocabulary. Their ongoing success in that regard was due not only to the absence of language bans, which allowed them to develop the Ukrainian language freely, but also to their ability to draw on the experience of other Slavic and non-Slavic peoples of the Austrian Empire, who clearly demonstrated that in nineteenth-century Europe, a language had to be fully codified and fully functional in all spheres of society if it was to gain international status, and that all this could only be achieved by consistent, well-organized work. Galician collaboration with outstanding Ukrainians from the Russian Empire, such as Pantelejmon Kuliš, Myxajlo Drahomanov, and Myxajlo Hruševs'kyj, proved highly fruitful in that regard. True, some Ukrainians from the Russian Empire, such as Borys Hrinčenko and Ivan Nečuj-Levyc'kyj-and even Pantelejmon Kuliš and Myxajlo Drahomanov, who nevertheless adopted many Galician elements into their own language-continued to criticize the Galicians for allegedly using an artificial language (Ševel'ov 1966, Moser 2011a). Most of their reproaches were certainly unjustified, but the dialogue proved useful nevertheless: the Galicians continued to bring their language closer to that of Ukrainians in the Russian Empire, while the latter accustomed themselves to a number of (apparently or genuinely) Galician elements that subsequently became integral elements of the Ukrainian language as such.

The Ukrainophobes' notorious claim that the period of "Ukrainization" was a leap in the development of the Ukrainian standard language is undoubtedly quite correct as well.⁵⁴ It is also quite true that Jews had a lively and significant share in this development. In this connection, however, it is not enough to mention Stalin's watchdog, the political functionary Lazar Kahanovyč, who played a leading role in the policy of Ukrainization after 1925. More attention should perhaps be paid to such influential scholars as Olena Kurylo, Leonid Bulaxovs'kyj, and Ijeremija Ajzenštok, who made signal contributions to the development of the Ukrainian language in those years. Their contributions were much less ambiguous than those of Kahanovyč, who supported the process of Ukrainization while simultaneously undermining it by his political measures against the most resolute proponents of

⁵⁴ Since 2004, complaints about the "Ukrainization" of the 1920s have often been advanced with an eye to the new "forcible Ukrainization" that allegedly took place under the "Orange" rule of President Viktor Juščenko.

Ukrainization (see the article "'Ukrainization' and the Ukrainian Language" in this volume). The same Ukrainophobic authors who frequently point out the role of Jewish politicians in implementing the Ukrainian version of *korenizacija* forget to mention that, for example, individuals of Jewish origin were disproportionately represented among leading members of Stalin's secret police who then prosecuted the "Ukrainizers" (see Šapoval–Prystajko–Zolotar'ov 1997: 531–581). Once again, while anti-Semites claim to know what further implications can be drawn from the Jewish background of one person or another, normally thinking people merely observe that in the process of Bolshevik "Ukrainization" both Jews and Gentiles were represented in very different social groups and camps.

The silence of our Ukrainophobic authors about the Stalinist terror against promoters of the Ukrainian language and against the Ukrainian language itself is hardly surprising, since it does not fit their narrative. As opposed to them, no serious historian of the Ukrainian language can remain silent about the farreaching consequences of the Stalinist onslaught on the Ukrainian language and its speakers, which actually began during the period of Ukrainization itself.

As for a final and very important element of the basic repertory of Ukrainophobic authors, namely the allegation that in the post-Soviet period, particularly since the "Orange Revolution" of 2004, the Galician variant of Ukrainian or, even worse, the mostly Galician-based variety of Ukrainian spoken by the North American diaspora has been forcibly imposed on the Ukrainian population, while the Russian language has been forcibly suppressed, I address it in some detail in my "Colonial Linguistic Reflexes in a Post-Soviet Setting" (Moser 2008b, included in this volume).

The approach to the history of the Ukrainian language generally shared by Ukrainophobic authors is perfectly summarized by Aleksandr Karevin (2006), whose magnanimous toleration of that language comes down to lip service:

It is worth reiterating: what has been said above does not mean that the Ukrainian language should be discriminated against. But it should not be forgotten that the native language of most Ukrainians is Russian; that Ukraine is a wonderful land with its own character, but that it is only a part of historical Rus⁵⁵.

Karevin ultimately confirms that whether we like it or not, the notorious Ukrainophobes, who still play an important role in modern Ukraine, turn discussion on the history of the Ukrainian language into a highly politicized issue. With regard to its demands in the sphere of language policy, however, the Russian-speaking population of Ukraine needs better-qualified creative advocates than those whose unconvincing assertions have been discussed here and who simply continue to break elementary rules of democratic conduct. If one refers, on the one hand, to the

^{55 &}quot;Стоит повториться: вышесказанное не означает, что украинский язык нужно дискриминировать. Но нельзя забывать, что родным для большинства украинцев является всё-таки язык русский, что Украина - прекрасный, самобытный край, но она – только часть исторической Руси."

European Charter for Regional and Minority Languages in advocating the rights of an allegedly suppressed minority language of Ukraine (see pp. 601–619 in this volume), it is inadvisable to persist in stubborn adherence to deeply intolerant attitudes and continue denying the legitimacy of Ukrainian identity, including the legitimacy of the Ukrainian language as such.

Part II

_

Ukrainian in Contact: The Early Modern Period

PHONETIC POLONISMS IN LAVRENTIJ ZYZANIJ'S SLAVONIC GRAMMAR

1. Some comments on the language of Lavrentij Zyzanij

Lavrentij Zyzanij's *Slavonic Grammar* (Грамматїка словенска) was published in Vilnius in February 1596. This text is a remarkable example of early modern Ruthenian and, more precisely, Ukrainian written culture in many ways. First, it is of outstanding importance for the history of the Church Slavonic language and its recensions, especially for the codification of Church Slavonic. Second, the Ruthenian-language sections of this text clearly demonstrate that this very symbiosis of the Church Slavonic and Ruthenian languages is crucial to the understanding of early modern Ruthenian culture in general. Third, this work confirms the generalization that as far as the Ruthenian language is concerned, local and supraregional aspects interact, and that contact with Polish is of great significance.

Given that Zyzanij, who was a native of Galicia, arrived in Vilnius in 1595 "probably with a completed manuscript" of his grammar, "which drew on his many years of teaching Church Slavonic in Lviv and Berestja (Brest)," and that the texts featured in his grammar contain certain dialectal elements that are especially characteristic of the southwestern dialects of the Ukrainian language (Nimčuk 1980: 10–11, 37), it is my contention that this monument is by and large closely associated with the Galician Ruthenian/Ukrainian sphere. According to Vasyl' Nimčuk (1980: 10-11), "Lavrentij Zyzanij's Slavonic Grammar was the first original attempt to grasp and consistently elaborate the morphology of the Church Slavonic language and normalize it. At the same time, it is the first systematic school textbook on the grammar of this language." It should be remembered that Zyzanij had already played a part in compiling the first Greek-Slavonic grammar, the Adelphotes, which was published in Lviv in 1591. I concur with the view advanced by Kyrylo Studyns'kyj (Studyns'kyj 1911: 26-32) that "in its definitions and translations alike, [the Adelphotes already contains many] characteristics of the living Ukrainian language, above all its southwestern dialects" (Nimčuk 1980: 10–11). See, e.g., the adjective *дурнейкій* (fol. 49) with $j < \mu'$ and the degrees of comparison of adjectives, such as крълчаншій (C/No. 47), ближаншій, внъшнъншій, and моудрѣншій (C/No. 48), along with цѣломудрѣйшій. These forms can hardly be explained as typographical errors, as Studyns'kyj did (1911: 31), if only because they appear so often. The most likely explanation is that these are hypercorrect forms attesting to this particular development of $j < \mu'$ and to their confusion. In addition to these forms, the *Adelphotes* records, for example, a hard *p* in the words uaps and ops (Studyns'kyj 1911: 26–32). The same characteristics are also typical of Zyzanij's grammar, which contains $\lambda u \delta o u$ (fol. 82^v) with $j < \mu'$ and *mbop*, and many other forms with a hard p (several times in fols. $56-56^{\circ}$). As for $j < \mu'$, it is worth noting that Sevel'ov (2002: 876) lists the very same example from the *Slavonic Grammar*, along with the appropriate form of *lyboy* (which appears in the writings of Jakub Gawatowicz), and confirms that the change $\mu' > j$ is first attested in sixteenth-century monuments.

As for the hard p, in the chapter of his grammar titled "Канонъ д, w ю," Zyzanij writes: "Се \$потреб'лаетса¹ в'мѣсто \$. ако, зр\$, ю. цр\$, црю" (fol. $\$8^v$), which apparently indicates that he even regarded the hard p in this position as a characteristic of the classic Church Slavonic language. In *Leksis, бор*\$c_A and *жр*\$are listed as Church Slavonic and Ruthenian ("prosta mova")² forms: "бор\$c_A, воюю, бор\$c_A," "*жр*\$, заколюю, зар\$3\$ю, оф\$роване" (Nimčuk 1964: 28, 47) et al. A considerable number of other words typical of the Ukrainian language are encountered both in the *Adelphotes* and in Zyzanij's *Slavonic Grammar*.

As is known, Zyzanij's grammar and the translated sections of the *Adelphotes* were written in the "Ruthenian" recension of the Church Slavonic language. However, texts that were published before and after the *Slavonic Grammar* are written in "Ruthenian," or the "prosta mova" of the second half of the sixteenth century and the first half of the seventeenth, and even some Church Slavonic sentences from Zyzanij's grammar appear in "Ruthenian" translation as well. In those sections, the model of the Polish language plays the same significant role as in other classic "prosta mova" texts of this era: phonetics and inflectional morphology are largely "Ruthenian," while the lexical stock most often either corresponds to the Polish lexis of the time or is taken directly from it. To a great degree, the syntax and phraseology correspond to Polish syntax and Polish phraseology of the early modern period. Besides the above-mentioned characteristics, the Cyrillic script indicates particularly clearly that, despite all the Polonisms, these texts are written in "Ruthenian."

The "Ruthenian" language of this text is marked by a distinct degree of supraregionalism, although certain dialectal features are to be encountered.

In general, the letters \mathfrak{F} and e are used quite consistently in accordance with etymology. The only interesting examples of e instead of \mathfrak{F} are \mathfrak{u} *nweek* \mathfrak{b} , a word that Voznjak (1911: 62) already characterized as "unquestionably a Polonism," and the word *obeuaючи*. Next is the form *meлесный*.³ There is no ultimate scholarly consensus on this word (cf. differing views in Nimčuk 1980: 26). It would appear, however, that Ševel'ov is correct in saying that the root vowel e in the expanded stem is an early proto-Ukrainian feature. Ševel'ov (2002: 151) points out that "Zyzanij legitimized this usage in his grammar [1596]" when he wrote the following in the chapter entitled "Канонъ w, \mathfrak{F} " (87–87°):

"Се ѣ, оу нѣких въ мѣсто е приемлетсѧ, егда тѣлесный глаголют въ мѣсто телесный, и w христе, // въ мѣсто w хрїстѣ. и w господе, спасѣ, и прочаѧ. нелѣпо же естъ их оупотребленїе. оуподреблѧетжесѧ [*sic*] въмѣсто ѧ, ѧҝо, о́ѣхϑ, бѧхϑ, и прочаѧ. и се естъ блголѣпно оупотребленїе."

¹ For technical reasons, letters written in superscript in the original printed text are not rendered in italics in this book.

² On "prosta mova," see Moser 2011: 75–31.

³ Сf. also "цѣлость телесе, здорове, свѣжость" in the Leksis (Nimčuk 1964: 87).

As Sevel'ov convincingly argues, "the most natural thing would be to see, in forms with e, positional truncation, which occurred within a syllable before a stressed syllable in three-syllable forms." Furthermore, "with the exception of certain early Novgorod monuments, these forms with e are exclusively Ukrainian" (ibid.). It would thus appear that only the ending -e instead of -b in the phrase b' nome λuua Hauezo must be explained by a non-Galician basis. In this regard, it is entirely possible that what we are dealing with here is the result of intrusions on the part of the Belarusian printers in Vilnius.

Meanwhile, there are other features that are characteristic of Zyzanij's *Slavonic Grammar*, namely, southwestern Ukrainian dialectal features. Several of them have already been discussed in an excellent article by Natalja Netreba (2004), who does not, however, give due consideration to the fact that orthography sometimes fails to reflect the phonetic reality of a language⁴ and is also based on tradition. The author also underrates the significance of literary borrowings.⁵

A typically Ukrainian feature of the *Slavonic Grammar* is the reflex *i* from the original *ѣ*, as attested, on the one hand, by the words *мнйе* instead of *мнѣе* (82), *или* (= *ïли*, 91) and, on the other, *нѣ*- in "Бъ́ не искоушаетъ нѣко́го" (twice on 92^v) and *мѣзерного* (91) (cf. also "мѣзерный," "мѣзерность" (Nimčuk 1964: 86). The reflex *ἑ* [i] is occasionally encountered in Zyzanij's *Leksis* in a newly closed syllable, cf. *намѣть* (Nimčuk 1964: 233; cf. Netreba 2004: 233) and cf. *намīоть* in the *Slaveno-Ruthenian Synonyms* (Синонїма славеноросскаѧ) (Nimčuk 1964: 130).

Another important feature of this text is the writing of *ys*- in the word *оувесь* cf. "а w мі́рѣ зас пишеть // в пер'шом листѣ своем, в главѣ е́. иж оувес свѣтъ в злости естъ" (92–92^v; this form is not mentioned by Myxajlo Voznjak, Vasyl' Nimčuk, or Natalja Netreba), and "в' вес свѣтъ" in the *Leksis*—and *y* instead of *s*; cf. "прото бŷ приписуетса в'вожене в напасть. не иж бы бъ оуводилъ, але иж дїаволу оуводити допущает. так же тыж и тѣло къ искушенїю нас приводит" (92^v). (This form, too, is not mentioned in the three above-cited works.)

Examples of confusion between u and \mathfrak{F} definitely occur, but this incidence pertains most often to the position following p—cf. *которим* (instrumental singular (90^v) and *puxлo* (90^v), etc.—and only rarely to other positions, cf. *дны древнаа* (85). The text contains frequent occurrences of o after sibilants, cf. "без доп8щена и дозволена божого нвчого не может" (92^v), etc., but *нашего* (91^v) and *w слов* $\mathfrak{b} \ \overline{\mathcal{K}emb}$ (91^v), etc. (forms with *e* can hardly be regarded as a direct reflection of the living language, since traditional ways of writing are at issue here; it should be noted, however, that Galician dialects of Ukrainian do sometimes retain *e* instead of *o* after sibilants).⁶

⁴ For example, the use of the ending *-mb* in such words in the *Leksis* as *cnumb*, etc. cannot be regarded as direct evidence of the hard pronunciation in its native dialect (Netreba 2004: 233) because this usage also corresponds to Church Slavonic norms. The same applies to the writing of full-form endings of adjectives and pronouns (Netreba 2004: 235).

⁵ For example, with regard to the forms *xopo6a* and *xopy10* or the presence of the particle *Hexaü* (Netreba 2004: 233, 236).

⁶ See Netreba (2004: 233), who, in citing the examples *πepho* and *чephuu*μħ, writes that "the preservation [of e] after sibilants before long-standing hard consonants" is typical of Zyzanii.

The language of the *Slavonic Grammar* is marked by such typical Galician characteristics as, for example, the above-mentioned forms with a hard p (cf. also Netreba 2004: 235)—the hard p is a very ancient feature of many Ukrainian dialects—and the form $\lambda u \delta o \ddot{u}$ with $j < \mu'$ (this form is not mentioned in Netreba 2004). Moreover, the forms $\delta \aleph Hmn A u u$ and $\delta \aleph Hmn \Lambda u \delta o common (see below), and the hypercorrect <math>o$ instead of ϑ in $\partial pozozo$ ("n eqeh Apororo [sic] $Ao \delta poq A transition (the mention of such ukannia forms in the three works cited above; cf., after all, only the forms <math>\delta \circ Hmn \Lambda u, \delta \circ Hmn \Lambda u \delta \circ$

There are examples in the *Leksis* of a soft μ' , cf. *каган* μ_{A} (Nimčuk 1964: 46) and *молоди* μ_{A} (Nimčuk 1964: 89), along with hardened *оузданица* (Nimčuk 1964: 27); at the end of words, only - μ_{b} occurs, cf. *wmeu*_b (Nimčuk 1964: 23), *посланецъ* (Nimčuk 1964: 24), etc. (cf. also Netreba 2004: 235).

Also noteworthy is the form *wмана*, which appears in the *Leksis*—cf. "призрачїе, привиденье, кукглар'ство, wмана" (Nimčuk 1964: 71; Netreba 2004 does not mention this form).⁷ This form does not necessarily reflect a simplification of the *-bm-* group; cf. also the old Polish form *oman*, which corresponds to *omam* in the contemporary Polish language.

Also striking is the form $3 \ eec \ baam}$ (91) with 'a < e in the suffix -bj (e), which also occurs in the Leksis: " $3 \ bec \ baam}$ [sic, i.e., $3 \ bec \ baam$]," "Ha HOB $\ barbon mathbf{Total}$ " (Nimčuk 1964: 34-35; cf. also Netreba 2004: 233-34) along with e in the forms " $3 \ barbon mathbf{barbam}$ ", " $3 \ category$ of nouns is first recorded in the sixteenth century: the first example of $3 \ ambum mathbf{barbam}$, which is listed in the Morphology (Morfolohiia 1978: 96–97), comes from the Peresophysia Gospel of 1556–61.

One more characteristic of Zyzanij's *Leksis* deserves particular attention: old pleophony in the verb *noжepemu* (92) versus the newly introduced form "пожерта" (Nimčuk 1964: 69) from the *Leksis*, cf. the contemporary Ukrainian *жеретія* (Ševel'ov 2002: 371). According to Ševel'ov, forms such as *жерти* (Ševel'ov 2002: 135, 372) were introduced only in the seventeenth century; hence Zyzanij's *Leksis* apparently contains one of the earliest examples.⁸

⁷ Netreba (2004, 236–37) indicates several dialect words and the construction μa off cmopoμf in the dual number, which today "is typical of the dialects spoken in the territories along the Sian and Dnister Rivers" (Netreba 2004: 236). Theoretically, the dual number could also be regarded as a nod to written tradition, but it is most probably to be explained as an authentic archaism typical of many Galician dialects (after all, the form reads cmopoμf, not cmpaHf).

⁸ Ševel'ov (2002: 135) singles out the form *умерти* in the *Palinode* (Palinodiia) of 1621 as the first example of this phenomenon. As regards *жерти*, he cites an example from the early eighteenth century. Later (2002: 135), he writes: "Today pleophonic forms have been preserved in certain southwestern dialects (*умерети*, *терети*, *подерети*, *заперети*, *зачерети* '*зняти черпаком*'— Drohobych, Sambir; *умерети*, *сперети*, *дерети*—Eastern Lemkos [Uhertsi], as well as the dialects spoken in territories situated along the Sian River [Nadsiannia] and Transcarpathia."

Interestingly, Zyzanij writes: "се ти есть оупотребленїе, тоеты [*sic*, i.e., тое ты] звык чинити" (Nimčuk 1964: 63), which indicates that he did not use the personal endings *-м*, *-сь*, *-смо*, *-сте* when an explicitly expressed pronoun functioned as a subject.

Zyzanij's linguistic characteristics show unequivocally that he was a native of Galicia. It is still uncertain, however, whether he was born in the village of Potelych in Zhovkva raion, Lviv oblast (Netreba 2004: esp. 237).

2. The Polish language among sixteenth-century Ruthenians

During the sixteenth century, Ruthenian writers distinguished increasingly clearly between the "Common Ruthenian language" (*prosta mova*) and the Church Slavonic language, with the result that over time, beginning in the last quarter of the sixteenth century, texts written in the "prosta mova" contained fewer and fewer Church Slavonic elements, apart from certain ecclesiastical words and quotations and other, mostly lexical, impregnations. Meanwhile, the more these authors moved away from the Church Slavonic language, the more readily they made use of the Polish model, a language in which the Ruthenian elites were, as a rule, perfectly fluent. Ruthenians wrote in the Polish language, at the same time increasingly using it as a source of borrowings, particularly on the lexical and syntactic levels. Ruthenians must have been aware that Polish had developed into a full-fledged early modern written language only recently, largely in the second half of the sixteenth century (the "Golden Age" of Polish culture).

The "Common Ruthenian" language and Church Slavonic are of course unmistakably distinguished in Zyzanij's grammar as well. True, some vernacular elements also occur in its Church Slavonic sections. It is doubtful, however, whether one can truly explain these impregnations as a manifestation of Zyzanij's "aspiration...to bring the Church Slavonic language closer to the living East Slavic languages" or "to bring the Slaveno-Ruthenian language closer to the literary East Slavic languages," as Vasyl' Nimčuk asserts (1980: 38, 55). It is more likely that these intrusions actually "reflected the state of the Slaveno-Ruthenian language in Ukraine in the late sixteenth century" (Nimčuk 1980: 55), but, it would appear, only in the sense that not every author in every case knew exactly which element corresponded to Church Slavonic norms, and which did not. It is interesting to note that this applies even to Zyzanij, who was unquestionably one of the preeminent specialists in the Church Slavonic language of his era.

Meanwhile, it would seem that Polonisms in a text written in "Common Ruthenian" did not perturb either authors or readers. They were perceived as "Common Ruthenian" elements, so much so that, as mentioned earlier, the lexis of model texts written in "Common Ruthenian," with certain exceptions, fully corresponds to the lexis of existing Polish originals or potential Polish originals, which may be reconstructed without difficulty on the basis of texts written in "Common Ruthenian." As a rule, in translations from Polish into "Common Ruthenian," not only words common to both the Polish and the Ruthenian language but also a number of genuine Polonisms were often adapted to the rules of the "Ruthenian" language, and this was done so flawlessly that the Polish derivation of those words cannot be established on the basis of phonological rules, since these were aptly borrowed according to the morphological, not the phonological, principle, particularly in those cases where their etymology was completely transparent (Moser 2007a). Meanwhile, certain words occuring in texts written in "Common Ruthenian" reveal their Polish derivation through Polish reflexes of certain sound changes. This article will focus on those particular words.

In his classic article on Lavrentij Zyzanij's *Slavonic Grammar*, Myxajlo Voznjak compiled a "small dictionary of the more interesting words that Lavrentij used in his exposition, introduction, and certain explanations of Church Slavonic definitions" (Voznjak 1911: 63–67), adding: "I am not excluding Polonisms" (Voznjak 1911: 63). Unfortunately, Voznjak neither specified nor researched those Polonisms. Vasyl' Nimčuk (1980: 28) cited certain "living language…characteristics, including western Ukrainian folk [characteristics]" in his work on Zyzanij's grammar, but he did not study the question of Polonisms.

In the present work, all the Polonisms that appear in Zyzanij's Slavonic Grammar have been researched on the basis of the Dictionary of the Old Ukrainian Language of the Sixteenth and Seventeenth Centuries (SUM XVI–XVII) and the dictionary compiled by Jevhen Tymčenko (Tym). Later, I checked Zyzanij's Leksis, published in Vilnius in 1596 (Nimčuk 1964), which contains many more Polonisms than the Slavonic Grammar. Finally, I consulted the Dictionary of the Old Ukrainian Language of the Fourteenth and Fifteenth Centuries (SUM XIV–XV) in order to verify whether the Polonisms in Zyzanij's grammar already occur in documents dating to those centuries.⁹

3. Lavrentij Zyzanij's Polonisms

3.1. Modern Ukrainian has preserved "a comparatively small group of adverbs ending in *-e*, which are related to hard-declension adjectives, e.g., $\partial o \delta pe$, *3лe*, *марнe* (also *марнo*), *навмиснe* (*навмиснo*), *певнe* (*певнo*), etc." (Morfolohiia 1978: 379). In the "Ruthenian" language of the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries, these adverbs occur rather frequently (and in nineteenth-century Ukrainian, they still occur more often than they do today). Linguists have concluded that adverbs ending in *-e* are either derived from adverbial forms of the accusative singular of contracted forms of full-form neuter adjectives or can be regarded as phonetic variants of adverbs ending in *-*# (Morfolohiia 1978: 379–81). In all likelihood, they should be considered Polonisms; Lukijana Humec'ka and other scholars, including Jurij Ševel'ov (2002: 550), all concur on this point.¹⁰

Admittedly, the change of the unstressed b > e in northern Ukrainian dialects, as well as the concatenation of b and e in the Belarusian language, could have fostered the dissemination of adverbs ending in -e in the "Ruthenian" language, which was

10 Ševel'ov points to an earlier example in a document of 1422 from Sambir.

⁹ Only the word *napmamu* was checked in the card file of the Lviv-based Ivan Kryp'jakevyč Institute of Ukrainian Studies during a conference at which this paper was presented.

proved by Humec'ka. If, however, we consider Zyzanij's *Slavonic Grammar* to be first and foremost a Galician text, the most likely point of departure should be that adverbs ending in *-e* are Polonisms. At the same time, borrowings of Polish forms with *e* without palatalization of the preceding consonant should be explained as a consequence of an already established tradition (Morfolohiia 1978: 379–81).

The following adverbs ending in -e occur in Zyzanij's grammar:

<u>Епїграмма На Грамматїк8</u>

латве (II): "Грамматїка писма всѣх на8чает, чтырма частми латве 8раз8млѧет." The stem as such undoubtedly derives from the Polish language, but there is no certainty based on historical phonology. Tymčenko (Tym) lists entries for *латве, -o, латвость* and *латвый*; he offers an example of *латве* from the *Apocrisis*. The *латв*stem does not appear in SUM XIV–XV.

власне (II): "По которой власне акъ по в'сходѣ пойдетъ, каждый если хочет всѣх на%к дойдет." The stem, which came into Ukrainian from Polish, derives from the Czech language (*vold- with a Czech metathesis, cf. 3.4.). SUM XVI-XVII records the following examples under the entry for *власне*: 1. In the sense of "actually": from a document from Zhydychyn dated 1540 (Archiwum książąt Lubartowiczów Sanguszków w Sławucie IV [1535-47]: 247); other examples date from the seventeenth century. 2. In the sense of "correctly, literally": The first example is taken from Zyzanij's Leksis of 1596 (!), while the second example, from the sixteenth century, occurs in the margin of the text titled *The Appearance* of Saint John the Theologian (Зълвлене Ивана светого теолога: fol. 618), which is found in the Krekhiv Apostol; other examples date to the seventeenth century. The word *BAACHE*, performing the function of an emphatic particle in the sense of "precisely, exactly," occurs in a Vilnius monument dated 1546; other examples date to the seventeenth century. SUM XVI-XVII also lists many examples of the use of the adjective власный. The word власный, together with the purely Polish form влостный, already appears in SUM XIV–XV, but not the form власне. Zyzanij's Leksis also includes the genuinely Czech Polish lexeme "владза" (Nimčuk 1964: 39) with a Czech metathesis, as well as the adverb власне, cf. "так згрец'ког власне выкладаетса" (Nimčuk 1964: 88).

<u>Посланїе сп8дешмъ</u>

добре (III): "добре са на&чивши, добре читати." The use of the adverb *добре* already appears in SUM XIV–XV and very often in SUM XVI–XVII.

зле (III^v): "зле естъ не&чившиса читати." Here the form *зле* does not, in fact, function as an adverb but as a predicative adjective in an impersonal construction. In SUM XIV–XV forms of *зле* are not yet recorded, whereas SUM XVI–XVII lists many examples, the earliest of which comes from Herasym Smotryc'kyj's *Key* to the Heavenly Kingdom (Ключ царства небесного, 1587). In Leksis, Zyzanij writes "злѣ ч&етъ" (Nimčuk 1964: 45) with genuine ѣ; the form *зле* occurs only in the phraseological unit "за з'ле маю," "зазле маючій" and the derived noun "зазлемане" (Nimčuk 1964: 58–59). Here *зле*, however, again functions as an ordinary neuter adjective; the ending is rather the result of the Polish contraction

than of the Ukrainian truncation, since the phraseological unit as such is most likely a Polonism.

Топограф Младенцемъ

добре (IV^v): "добре писати и добре читати."

Грамматіка словенска

добре (1): "Грамматїка єсть пев'ное вѣдане, жебысмы добре мовили и писали." Here, the adverb *добре* is a translation of the Church Slavonic word благw ("блгw").

праве (83°): "Каѧ суть [значенїѧ] величанїѧ. или распространенїѧ; ѕѣло, всѧкѡ, праве докуска." The stem with this very meaning ("almost") is probably a Polonism, although this cannot be established with any certainty on the basis of historical phonology. SUM XIV–XV has no entry for *npaвe*, but Tymčenko (Tym) lists an example, among others, from the *Apocrisis* (1597–99).

Толкованїе Молитвы

охотне а досконале (91): "W двѣ речи туть просими. w едну, абы нам дал бъ́ ведле волѣ своеи всѣ добродѣтели чинити. и ккъ онъ хочетъ все wхотне а досконале шправовати. ккъ и стыи аггли Єго на нбѣ з весѣлѧм Єму служать." Both stems are most likely of Polish origin. As for the word *досконалый*, there is no evidence based on historical phonology. However, the derivational structure, specifically the formation with *-л-*, very likely indicates Polish origin (cf. also *несталое богатство* [91]). Use of the word *досконалый* is not recorded in SUM XIV– XV, and it appears infrequently in SUM XVI–XVII; the latter dictionary, in fact, lists an example from the 1596 grammar. The word *охотный* is not recorded in SUM XIV–XV or by Tymčenko (Tym). Tymčenko lists examples of the use of the words *охота* and *охочій* beginning only in the seventeenth century. Russian *охотно* is probably also of Polish origin. The coordinative conjunction *a* may, after all, also be considered a Polonism or at least an indication of the author's Galician origins (Morfolohiia 1978: 451).

порожне (91–91°): "Т8т нас 8чит хс. ... абысми са молили ... толки и хлѣб без' которого са не можем обыти, и тот же быхмы не порожне или, але // в' поте лица нашего." SUM XIV–XV records entries for *пороженъ, порожнии* (with the genuinely East Slavic form of the stem), and *прожний* (with the Polish stem form), but there are no forms of the adverb. Under the entry for *порожне,* Тутčenko (Tym) cites examples from Zyzanij's *Leksis* (!), the works of Ivan Vyšens'kyj, etc. He offers more examples from the sixteenth century under the entry for *порожний*. Listing entries for *порожноване, порожновати, порожность,* each time Tymčenko indicates Polish equivalents, cf. also *прож'ни* (3.4.) (with the Polish stem). The *Leksis* contains the form *порожній* in the locution "плац' порожній" (Nimčuk 1964: 55), as well as the adverb *порожне,* cf. "тще тоще порожне," "т8не, надаремне, порожне" (Nimčuk 1964: 80).

власне (91^v): "бо вкъ тѣло ѿ того хлѣба насущного кор'митсѧ и посилокъ берет, такъ власне дша словом бѫ҃їим кор'митсѧ измоцнѧетсѧ."

годне (91^v): "просими тыж т&т w хлѣбъ насоущный, w покармъ тот которїй есть з нашего с&щества. w пречистое и животворащее тѣло и кровъ хъб, абы

нам далъ годне его прїймовати." SUM XIV–XV records the word годныи, but there are no forms of the adverb. Under the entry for годне, SUM XVI–XVII lists examples from Vilnius (Archiwum książąt Lubartowiczów Sanguszków w Sławucie III [1432–1534]: 235) and from a document from Volodymyr dated 1569 (*The Life of Prince Andrej Mixajlovič Kurbskij in Lithuania and in Volhynia;* Жизнь князя Андрея Михайловича Курбского в Литве и на Волыни II: 198). Other examples date to the seventeenth century. Тутčenko (Тут) lists later examples, noting the Polish word *godny.* Zyzanij's *Leksis* contains the word "негодный" as a translation of the word "недостойный" et al. (Leksis 1964: 62). It is hard to say how Zyzanij himself pronounced this word. If he pronounced it with the unchanged *o*, then one could speak of a phonetic Polonism; cf. also *згодний* 'ладний' and *згідний* 'відповідний' (Ševel'ov 2002: 920). There is, however, no reason to assume that Zyzanij pronounced Polish [g] in this word, so that the stem form as such is definitely not merely Polish.

зле (92): "але зле в' искушенїах изнемагати и упадати." Here, too, we are dealing with a predicative adjective in an impersonal construction.

годне (92^v): "щасливыиж тыи которїи годне моват т8ю молитв8."

вдачне (92°): "Прїймѣте др8зи мои въз'люблен'нїи вдачне, тоую мою малоую прац8." The stem is of German origin and, according to scholars, was borrowed through the Polish language. Under the entry for вдячне, SUM XVI– XVII records several examples from the sixteenth century (cf. also the entry for вдячне, -o in Tym). In SUM XIV–XV, the stem вдячн- appears only in one adverbial form: вдячно. Zyzanij's Leksis also contains the phrase "блгу въспрїемлю, вдачне прїйм8ю."

It is worth noting that adverbs ending in *-e* are not predominant in the text of the *Slavonic Grammar*, and even obvious loans from or via Polish, such as $c\%nme\lambda'\mu w$ (91^v), have the ending *-w*.

3.2. In other instances, *e* < *b* as a result of Polish influence occurs in a few words: <u>Посланїе сп8деwмъ</u>

речъ (II^v): "потребняю речъ тольки знати." With regard to the modern Ukrainian form *piч* (*peчi*), Ševel'ov (2002: 555) writes that "oblique cases were refashioned in the Polish manner, yet the nominative was semantically assimilated to the Polish word [i.e., it adopted the meaning "thing"] but phonetically formulated in Ukrainian." He goes on to mention dialects in which forms with i (< \pm) are still used to the present day. Nevertheless, in the example from the *Slavonic Grammar* we see that even in the nominative singular, the form with e appeared, at least in Zyzanij. SUM XIV–XV gives entries for *p±vb*, *pevb*; both forms also coexist in oblique cases. Tymčenko (Tym) also cites entries for *pevb* and *p±vb*. Examples of *pevb* date only from the seventeenth century, as do examples of *p±vb*.

<u>Епіграмма На Грамматік</u>

речь (II^v): "розумѣлемъ заре́чъ [sic, i.e., за речъ] пилни потребную."

<u>Посланїе сп§дешмъ</u>

вырозумена (III): "кутому [*sic*, i.e., ку тому] тыж без неи єсли кто и читает. многокрот вунтпачи вырозумена певен не бывает." Most likely, the *e* instead of the *ѣ* here must be explained as the result of Polish or Belarusian influence. SUM XIV–XV does not record this word or its direct verbal derivative base. Tymčenko (Tym) includes entries for *вырозумѣнье* and *вырозумѣти*, indicating their Polish equivalents in both cases (*wyrozumienie*, *wyrozumieć*); moreover, all his examples are cited with *ѣ*. Zyzanij's *Leksis* also lists the word form "выроз§мѣване" with *ѣ* (Nimčuk 1964: 57).

Грамматіка словенска

чливекъ (27^v): Genitive plural "члкивъ, и чливекъ." Surprisingly (and, ultimately, erroneously), the genitive plural forms "члкивъ, и чливекъ" (cf. above) occur in Church Slavonic paradigms. SUM XIV–XV lists an entry for чловѣкъ; only ₺ appears in all forms, while the form *człoweczyj* appears only in a later, unreliable transcription (SUM XIV–XV). Tymčenko (Tym) lists an entry for чловѣкъ with ₺ from the *Diary* (Diariusz) written in 1646 by Hegumen Atanasij Filipovyč of Berestia. Zyzanij's *Leksis* contains the form "чловечества," which the author calls an example of the "Common language," while the form "въчловеченіе" is deemed a Church Slavonic one. The latter word is explained by the word "оучолвѣченье" [*sic*] with ₺ (Nimčuk 1964: 39–40). Elsewhere, Zyzanij writes: "зѣница, зѣнка, чоловѣчокъ" (Nimčuk 1964: 49) and even "пристосов&ет свой голосъ до чоловѣчого" with pleophony and a ₺ (Nimčuk 1964: 64; cf. чле́чій from the *Adelphotes*; Voznjak 1911: 62). Thus, apart from the lexical borrowing чловекъ < *człowiek*, forms with ₺ are preserved throughout.

чловека (85): "Единственны а значитъ. ко, чловека спаща, съдаща." In most cases, the noun is written with a diacritic; cf. члкъ (84), съ члки, члкъ (87).

Толкованїе Молитвы

речъ (90^v, 3x; 92): "А третал речъ … А четвертал речъ … А патал реч"; "а w дру́гую речь просимо абы нас выбавилъ й злого ворога ниего шатана, которїй нас хочетъ потлу́мити в тых искушенїах."

реч (90^v): "Т8тъ w едн8 реч просимо."

речи (90^v-92, 4x): "Т8тъ w три речи просим»," "W двѣ речи ... просимо w три речи," "Т8т w двѣ речи просимо."

речах (90^v): "w нбсных речах мыслити."

обецаючи (91^v): "Не кажет тыж са нам роспростирати на том свѣтѣ много лѣт собѣ обецаючи жити але толко поки ннѣпній днъ єстъ." SUM XIV–XV records entries for *обецати* ("see *обѣцати*"), *обецѣти* ("see *обѣцати*"), and *обещати* with the instruction "see also *обицовати, обицоватиса, обѣцати, обѣчовати, обѣчати са, обѣщевати,* and *объщати са.*" Thus, all possible reflexes of both ₺ and *tj occur; forms with the Church Slavonic reflex $u_i < *tj$ are also recorded. Tymčenko (Tym) lists an entry for *обетница* along with *обѣтница*; an example with *e* comes from the Lutsk Castle Record-Book of 1571 (fol. 34). Tymčenko then lists entries for *обѣцаный, обѣцати* (*обѣцовати*), and *обѣцоватися* only with the ₺, indicating their Polish equivalents each time. All examples of the use of all the listed word forms date to the seventeenth century. Ševel'ov (2002: 550) also writes that "the verb *oбецати* was a very widespread Polonism," indicating the Commentaries of the *Instructional Gospel* (Учительне Євангеліє) written in 1585 in Lviv, documents of the Lviv Stauropegion Brotherhood dated 1609, and the works of Ioanikij Galjatovs'kyj.

3.3. Reflex of the Polish *é* (*"e* pochylone"):

Посланїе сп8дешмъ

тыж (III): "кутому [sic, i.e., ку тому] тыж без неи єсли кто и читает. многокрот вунтпачи вырозумна певен не бывает." In connection with this form, Ševel'ov (2002: 400) writes: "The form of $ti\check{z} \sim ty\check{z}$ (contemporary mex, but mix in the Lemko dialect), which is prevalent in Middle Ukrainian, may also recreate the Polish sound é." The first examples of the use of *mux* cited by Sevel'ov appear in Moldovan documents dating to 1421 and 1495; the first examples of the use of *mux* appear in a document of 1549 from Odrekhova and the *Instructional Gospel* (1585). SUM XIV-XV has entries for mexb ... muxb, mbix ..., mbxb, max Tymčenko (Tym) does not provide an entry for either *тиж* or *тыж*. The word form *теж*, also recorded by Tymčenko, may have sounded like *mbix* or something similar when the *u* in certain western dialects changed into a sound similar to *e* in the seventeenth century (Ševel'ov 2002: 847). In the *Leksis, тыж* occurs frequently (cf. Nimčuk 1964: 24); *meж* is also used (Nimčuk 1964: 27). However, the word "аптыка" also appears in the *Leksis* (Nimčuk 1964: 36), but this is not evidence of the confusion of e and uin the Ukrainian language, since the form *aptyka* is also vernacular Polish (Brückner 1989).

<u>Толкованїе Молитвы</u>

тыж (90^v–92^v, 8x): "Пристоит теды абы едины над др8гих не подносилис а нѣ о собѣ болше роз8мѣли, так кролеве акъ и пнве над подр8чных своих. ...акъ тыж и м8дрїи и 8ченыи в' писмѣ над простакwв [е ученыи]"; "в'згладом того же тыж и члкъ єстъ двоакій ..."; "Т8т нас 8чит хс избавител нашъ. абысмw са молили не w панства тогосвѣтнїи, анѣ w жадныи преложенства. анѣ тыж w несталое богатство мѣзерного свѣта того"; "Не кажет тыж са нам роспростирати на том свѣтѣ много лѣт собѣ обецаючи жити але толко поки ннѣшнїй днъ єстъ"; "просимw тыж т8т w хлѣбъ насоущный"; "наоучаемо тыж са ижъ бгъ барзо милосердный естъ, которїй кающихса и наигрѣшнѣших прїйм8еть. наоучаемо тыж са тоут иж онъ справедливым б8дучи, немилосер'дным и злопомнителным, а не каючимса выст8пwв ихъ не ѿп8стит"; "прото б8 припис8етса в'вожене в напасть. не иж бы бъ оуводилъ, але иж дїавол8 оуводити доп8щает. так же тыж и тѣло къ иск8шенїю нас приводит."

3.4. Polish (or Czech) metathesis occurs in the following words:

прож'нw (I): "Прож'нw Тыса [*sic*, i.e., Ты са] к&сишъ писмо оумѣти." Сf. *порожне* above, with East Slavic pleophony. Тутčenko (Tym) lists entries for *прожно, прожноване, прожномовство*, and *прожный*, indicating equivalents with the stem *порожн-*. Zyzanij's *Leksis* contains these forms: "плац' порожнёй" (Nimčuk 1964: 55), "тще тоще порожне," "т&не, надаремне, порожне" (Nimčuk 1964: 80) (i.e., *порожне* translates the Church Slavonic forms in both quotations) and, on the other hand, the compound form "прожнохвалца" (Nimčuk 1964: 80), which is, in all likelihood, a lexical loan as such (see the suffix *-ca* for a masculine *nomen agentis*). Cf. *порожне* (3.1.).

Епіграмма На Грамматік8

предреченьное (II): "А предреченьное еи wпаство, подаеть певное иск8ство." The prefix *nped*- may be of Church Slavonic or Polish origin. The word *npedpevenhый* may be a Polonism, like several other words beginning with *nped*-listed by Tymčenko (Tym: 211–12). However, the entry for *np*±*dъpevu* with the word form *np*±*dъpevenbuu* also occurs in the Church Slavonic context, e.g., in Sreznevskij's *Materialy*, which contains an example from the *Life of Stefan Permskij* (Srez). SUM XIV–XV gives an entry for *npedpevenüu*, which is often recorded in Ukrainian documents, along with *напреdъpevenbuu*, *npepevenbuu*, and *npopevenbuu*, as well as *nepedъpevenbuu*, *напереdpevenbuu*, *npexepevenbuu* and, finally, *nepsopevenbuu*.

преправый (II): "Ключем бо есть wтворѧючи всѣм оумъ, къ познанію въ преправый páз&мъ." The prefix *npe*- is either from Church Slavonic or from Polish. This word is most likely a Polonism (Polish *prawy* "right, correct, fine, etc."). The prefix *npe*- is prevalent in many southwestern dialects of the Ukrainian language. SUM XIV–XV and Tymčenko (Tym) record quite a few Polonisms with the prefix *npe*-.

власне (II), see 3.1. The word features the Czech metathesis; see above, cf. the equivalent from the Church Slavonic language on fol. 48: "[имена] властная. вко, царскїй, її цара" with властная (< власть) "referring to power."

Посланїе сп8дешмъ

потребное (II^v): "вѣдати што естъ потребное, потребную речъ тольки знати, роз\$мѣлемъ заре́чъ пилни потребн\$ю." In theory, this word could also have come from Church Slavonic, but most likely it was adopted from Polish, cf. Ševel'ov 2002: 398. SUM XIV–XV lists many examples of the use of the nouns *потреба, потребизна,* the predicative forms *потребно, потреба, потреб,* and *потребизна,* etc., while the adjective *потребный* occurs much more rarely. Forms with \$, including *потр*\$*бизно,* are rarely encountered. Tymčenko (Tym: listed under the entry for *потребный*, etc.) also lists only examples with a root of *e*, not \$.

потреба (II^v): "потреба єм и иным wповѣдати." Неге *потреба* functions as a predicative form. The *Leksis* renders the translation of the Church Slavonic *требованїе* with the Polonism *потреба* (Nimčuk 1964: 80).

прац&ючи (II^v): "и тыи с&тъ два ск&тки на&ки, в' которой и в прац&ючи роз&мѣлемъ заре́чъ пилны потребн&ю. …" Here we are dealing once again with a Czech metathesis, cf. Machek (1997: listed under the entry for *práce*), and the Old Polish form *proca*. SUM XIV–XV lists only one example of the use of the noun *npaцa*; no verb is given. Tymčenko (Tym) features quite a few entries with the root *npaц-*; under the entry for *npaцosamu* he cites an example from Zyzanij's *Leksis*, which records the noun "праца" (Nimčuk 1964: 66, 81), "коханьесъ впраци [*sic*, i.e., в праци]," "кохаючійсъ впраци [*sic*, i.e., в праци]" (Nimčuk 1964: 81), the verb "прац&ю" (Nimčuk 1964: 81), the deverbative noun "працоване," and the adjective "працовитый" (Nimčuk 1964: 71).

-крот (III): "кутому тыж без неи єсли кто и читает. многокрот вунтпачи вырозумна певен не бывает." Cf. the Church Slavonic -крать. SUM XIV–XV does not list any entries for кроть, многокроть, от двакроть, etc. Тутčenko (Тут) lists only later examples under the entries for *кроть*, *кроть* and also records *многокроть*; he also cites one example from the *Palinode*.

працею, працу (III^v): "и еден дрогого [*sic*] добродѣтел'ною працею переходѣмо. преч завистъ и ненависть ѿложивши, мою малую працу любезно пріймѣте...."

Толкованїе Молитвы

кролеве (90°): "Пристоит теды абы едины над др§гих не подносилис а нѣ о собѣ болше роз§мѣли, так кролеве акъ и пн́ве над подр§чных своих. ... акъ тыж и м§дрїи и §ченыи в' писмѣ над простакѡв." This word is frequently encountered with a Polish metathesis, which is not unusual, since the $\kappa p \delta n b / \kappa p i n b$ was first and foremost a Polish institution in the Ruthenian context. According to SUM XIV–XV, Ukrainian documents very rarely record the Church Slavonic form $\kappa p a \Lambda[b]$, whereas the pleophonic form occurs 333 times, and the form with a Polish metathesis (the word $\kappa p y \Lambda b$ is one of the recorded forms) 172 times (all figures are doubtful, however, as the word was often abbreviated, while editors tended to interpret these forms as pleophonic). The *Leksis* contains the examples "Царь, кроль," "царество, кролевство," "цареств§ю пан§ю кролюю" (Nimčuk 1964: 87), i.e., exclusively forms with a Polish metathesis.

кролевства (90^v): "Т8тъ са тыж нао8чаеми перебачати кролевства и панства тогосвѣтнїи." According to SUM XIV–XV, the word *кролевство* is recorded 18 times, whereas the pleophonic form *королевство* occurs only 8 times. This word does not appear in Tymčenko's dictionary (Tym).

преложенныи (90°) "those who rule": "ТУть са тыж нао8чаемw перебачати кролевства и панства тогосвѣтнїи, и богатства несталыи. Просачи и жадаючи о вѣчныи и нетленныи заплаты. Которыи то заплаты на мысли маючи богатыи и преложенныи не могоутса гордити." SUM XIV–XV lists an entry for *преложити*, but with other meanings. Tymčenko (Tym) lists entries for *преложенство*, *преложити*, and *преложоный*, each time appending Polish equivalents. The word *преложоный* with a Polish o after π is taken from Galjatovs'kyj, and the word *преложенство* is from the *Apocrisis* (1597–99). The prefix *nepe-*, cf. *переходѣмо* (3°), *переп&щаеть* (92), etc., occurs more frequently in verbal stems, in the "Common Ruthenian" parts. The *Leksis* lists Polish and East Slavic forms of the prefix, cf. "гоненїе, пренаслѣдована" (Nimčuk 1964: 41), but "перемочи," "перешкода" (Nimčuk 1964: 62, 69), etc.

потребы (91): "жадаеми не толко и самый хлѣб але и и всѣ тѣлу нуждныи потребы."

працѣ (91), працв (92): "з' своеи працѣ живитиса"; "Прїймѣте дрвзи мои въз'люблен'ніи вдачне, тоую мою малоую працв."

преложенства (91): "Тут нас учит хс избавител нашъ. абысми са молили не и панства тогосвѣтнїи, анѣ и жадныи преложенства."

потреба (91^v): "и што на тепер потреба w тое кажет просити а не w болше."

власне (91^v): "бо акъ тѣло ѿ того хлѣба насущного кор'митсѧ и посилокъ берет, такъ власне дша словом бѫ҃їим кор'митсѧ измоцнѧетсѧ."

-крот (91°): "припоминаемо тых т8т бгоу мовлчи, акъ мы шпоущаемо дол'жниким своим, которїи многокрот против нас выстоупоуют, так и ты нам шпоусти." потреба (92^v): "Потреба нам вѣдати w искоушенїи, иж бъ не искоушаетъ нѣко́го." Again, the word is used as a predicative form.

власный (92^v): "а дїлволъ есть власный искоуситель."

3.5. The Polish reflex of the early tj/kt' occurs in the following examples (cf. also the above-mentioned word forms with the root *npaų*- < portj-, without any non-West Slavic equivalent in the Ruthenian context):

Посланїе сп8дешмъ

моцно (III^v): "за Наўкў моцно са имаймо, и еден дрогого [*sic*] добродѣтел'ною працею переходѣмо. преч завистъ и ненавистъ ѿложивши, мою малую працу любезно пріймѣте." According to SUM XIV–XV, the adverb *моцне, моцнѣ* occurs 5 times in Ukrainian documents, and the adverb *моцно* 10 times. The noun *моц* is recorded 30 times, the noun *моч* 5 times, and the adjective *моцный* 7 times. Tymčenko (Tym) lists entries for *моцарскій, моцарство, моцарь, моцно, моцность, моцный, моцованіе, моцоватися,* and *моц,* providing Polish equivalents each time. Under the entry for *моцно,* his earliest example is taken from the works of Vyšens'kyj, and under the entry for *моцный*, from the *Apocrisis*. The *Leksis* contains the word *моць* as a translation (in fact, an interpretation) of the Church Slavonic *мощи* ("relics"), cf. "мощи, сила, моцъ нѣакаа, и тыж тѣла стых называютса" (Nimčuk 1964: 56); cf. also "могутство, моцарство" (ibid.). This same mechanism is repeated elsewhere, cf. "немоц'ный, немоц'явана statis.

Толкованїе Молитвы

обецаючи (91^v): "Не кажет тыж са нам роспростирати на том свѣтѣ много лѣт собѣ обецаючи жити." See 3.2.

змоцнаетса (91°): "бо вкъ тѣло \ddot{w} того хлѣба нас\$щного кор'митса и посилокъ берет, такъ власне дша словом бжі́им кор'митса измоцнаетса." According to SUM XIV–XV, змоцнити and змоцняти are recorded once each in early Middle Ukrainian documents. Тутčenko (Тут) lists entries for змоцненье, змоцнитель, змоцняти/змоцнити, змоцнитися, etc. The Leksis contains the words "змоц'наю" and "змоцънене" (Nimčuk 1964: 66).

3.6. The Polish reflex *e* < *v* occurs rather frequently:

<u>Епїграмма На Грамматїк8</u>

певное (II): "А предреченъное еи wпаство, подаетъ певное иск&ство." SUM XIV–XV records 14 examples of the use of the adjective *певный* in early Ukrainian documents, while Tymčenko (Tym) lists only later examples under entries for *певне, певность*, and *певный*. The stem also occurs often in the *Leksis*, cf. "въдати певне," etc. (Nimčuk 1964: 33).

Посланїе сп8деммъ

певен (III): "к§том§ тыж без неи єсли кто и читает. многокрот в§нтпачи выроз§мена певен не бывает." Only the vowel in the root comes from v. SUM XIV–XV still does not list any example of the predicative use of the short form (see the entry *певенъ, певный*). еден дрого́го [with hypercorrect *o* in the initial syllable, see above] (III^v): "за На%к% моцно сла имаймо, и еден дрого́го добродѣтел'ною працею переходѣмо." SUM XVI–XVII records an example of *єденъ* from a document of 1597 from Kremianets, one example from Ivan (Ioan) Uževyč's *Conversation (Розмова) (29^v)*, and some examples from the seventeenth century. The word *єденъ*, in the sense of a numeral, appears in the Ostrih Chronicle of 1509–1633 (130^v), while the pronoun *єденъ другого* is recorded in Stefan Zyzanij's popular *St. Cyril's homily about the Antichrist* (Казанье стто Кирилла Патрїаръхи іерслимъского, w антіхристѣ) of 1596. SUM XIV–XV lists 243 examples of the use of the numeral and pronoun *єден;* the nominative case is recorded in this form only in a Kyiv document, that is, in a region where the form *єденъ* (concerning these forms, cf. also Ševel'ov 2002: 218–19).

преч (III^v): "преч завистъ и ненависть йложивши, мою мал8ю прац8 любезно пріймѣте." Although, as Ševel'ov (2002: 330) writes, "the existence of the form **prъčь* raises doubts," there is hardly any doubt that the form with the *e* in the root is a Polonism. According to SUM XIV–XV, the word *npeub* does not appear in any early Ukrainian documents, but it is recorded by Tymčenko (Tym: 215), although he cites only later examples.

Типограф Младенцемъ

певным (IV^v): "досконалым и певным быти а нѣ в' чом непартати."

Грамматіка словенска

певное (1): "Грамматіка єстъ, из'въст'ное въж'ство, єже бліт глати и писати. Толкованіе. Грамматіка єстъ пев'ное въдане, жебысмы добре мовили и писали." The word *певное* is used here as a translation of its Church Slavonic equivalent *us'sъст'ное*.

ведлугь (78°): "Єсть же Предлогив зі (17). Въ, Къ …, чрезъ, по, ведлугь ради, дѣлма, дѣлѧ, въмѣсто." Although this preposition does not appear in early Ukrainian documents (SUM XIV–XV), it occurs in sixteenth-century sources. SUM XVI–XVII lists an example from a document of 1540 from Vilnius (Archiwum książąt Lubartowiczów Sanguszków w Sławucie IV [1535–47]: 262), while Tymčenko (Tym) cites only later examples pertaining to *ведлугь* under the common entry for *ведле, ведлугь*. Zyzanij cites *ведлугь* among Church Slavonic prepositions; meanwhile, the Polonism in his work elucidates only one of the meanings of the Church Slavonic preposition *no*. The *Leksis* contains numerous Polish ъ reflexes, cf. "вев'лошехъ," etc. (Nimčuk 1964: 58).

ведлугъ (80–80°): "По, ведлугъ, или, по. По съчинаетса дателному. // ако, по пав'лѣ оучит, по дѣлу мзда, по тебѣ пойду." Here, the Polonism also serves to explain one of the meanings of the preposition *no*.

ведле (89): "Если хочешъ Вѣршѣ Складати, Ведле тых Метръ Складай Грец'ким Поетим послѣд&ючи." SUM XIV–XV does not list this preposition, but SUM XVI–XVII provides an example of the use of *ведле* from the *Description of Kremianets Castle* (fol. 149) of 1552. Tymčenko (Tym) records its use in the Lutsk Castle Record-Book of 1571 (fol. 291). The preposition *ведле* also appears in the *Leksis*, cf. "чиновнѣ, ведле порѧдк&" (Nimčuk 1964: 88)

Толкованїе Молитвы

оупевнаемо (90): "В той точцѣ замыкаетса е́. речїй. Першаа кгды молимо ю́че. Тым'са оупевнаеми же будеми выслухани." According to SUM XIV–XV, this word is recorded twice in early Ukrainian documents, beginning in the midfifteenth century. Tymčenko (Tym) lists entries for *yneвнене, -нье, yneвняти*, and *yneвнятися*, indicating their Polish equivalents. The words "оупевънаю" and "оупевненье" also occur in the *Leksis* (Nimčuk 1964: 50, 63).

шлахетство (90^v) (with a secondary *e* in the root, see its loan source Old High German *gislahti*, Middle High German *geslehte*): "всѣ маемw един заровнw и тот же титул и шлахетство нбсное." In addition to the noun *шляхта*, SUM XIV–XV lists the forms *шляхотныи* and *шляхотне* (with inserted *o*, as expected in the Ruthenian context), which are recorded rarely, but with somewhat greater frequency than the forms *шляхетныи* and *шляхетне*. Тутčenko (Tym) already includes entries for *шляхетне*, *шляхетность*, *шляхетный*, and *шляхетство* with inserted *e*, indicating their Polish equivalents each time. His example of the use of the word *шляхетство* is taken from Galjatovs'kyj.

теды (90°): "Пристоит теды абы едины над др§гих не подносилис а нѣ о собѣ болше роз§мѣли, так кролеве ккъ и пн́ве над подр§чных своих." SUM XIV–XV offers only one example of the use of this form, but it comes from a highly unreliable source. Tymčenko (Tym) gives only one example, from Galjatovs'kyj. Cf. the Ukrainian *moгды* elsewhere in the *Slavonic Grammar* (91; occurs several more times): "W телесном тогды хлѣбѣ мыслачи просимо w три речи."

ведле (91): "W двѣ речи твтъ просимw. w еднв, абы нам дал бъ ведле волѣ своеи всѣ добродѣтели чинити."

3.7. Polish reflexes of syllabic *l*:

Грамматіка словенска

мовили (1) (< **mblv*-): "Грамматїка єсть, из'вѣст'ное вѣж'ство, єже блтw глати и писати. Тол'кованїе. Грамматїка єсть пев'ное вѣдане, жебысмы добре мовили и писали." "In the case of the word мо́ва, strong Polish influence (also indicated by the stress) facilitated the rapid spread of a form without *l'* (Ševel'ov 2002: 529). SUM XIV–XV lists 40 examples of the use of the verb *мовити*. Tymčenko (Tym) gives examples of the use of the words *мова, мовити*, etc., beginning in the sixteenth century. The words *мова, мовленїе*, etc., are also frequently encountered in the *Leksis* (Nimčuk 1964: 29). Elsewhere in the *Leksis*, one encounters genuine East Slavic forms of *молва* and *молвити*, which are listed as Church Slavonic, along with new forms (Nimčuk 1964: 56–57), cf. "мол'ва, гомонъ, r&k ѿ мовы людскои, окрик итыж трвога," "мол'влю, гомоню r&ч&."

ведлугь (78^v) (< -**dъlg*-). See 3.6.

ведлугь (80–80^v) (< -**dъlg*-). See 3.6.

Толкованїе Молитвы

мовими (90^v) (< **mъlv-*): "кгды мовими нашь тое значит ижъ єсми всѣ братѧ." The verb features the Ukrainian ending.

потл§мили (91^v) (< *tьlm-): "w тое кажет просити а не w болше. абысмы стараньем завтрешним и печалми житейскими роз§м§ нашего не потл§мили. и любве противкw ба не нар§шали." SUM XIV–XV does not provide any entries for *потлумити, тлумити, затлумити*, or *тлумокъ*, while Tymčenko (Tym) lists entries for *потлумене* [-нье], *потлуменый*, and *потлумляти*, providing their Polish equivalents each time. All his examples date from the seventeenth century. Several later examples are given under entries for *тлумити* and *тлумокъ*. The *Leksis* contains the words *потл§млаю* and *потл§млене*, cf.: "оупражнаю, зглажаю, потл§млаю, нищ§" (Nimčuk 1964: 66), "скорбъ оутискъ потл§мленье" (Nimčuk 1964: 78).

мовачи (91^v–92) (< **mъlv*-): "припоминаемо тых т8т бгоу мовачи, акъ мы ѿпоущаемо дол'жникум своим, которїи многокрот против нас выстоупоуют."

3.8. Polish reflexes of syllabic *r*:

<u>Епіграмма На Грамматік</u>

непа́ртали (II) (< **pъrt-*): "Которїи прагнят быти досконали, в писмѣ и в' словах абы непа́ртали." The word *partać* does not appear in the *Słownik Staropolski*, but it is recorded in the *Słownik Polszczysny XVI w*. (Słownik XVI), which states the following: "*partać*, prawdopodobnie *haftować*: kiedy nie s∫tawa Háwtarzowi Złotá / Y iedwabiem nie wádzi byle szłá robotá. Lecz ie∫liby y tego nam nie do∫tawało / Więc lnem pártáć áby sie wżdy nie prożnowáło" (Historia prawdziwa ktora sie s∫tała w Lándzye Kraków, 1568, attributed to Mikołaj Rej). Consequently, the word appears here in a different meaning. SUM XIV–XV also has no entry for *napmanu.* Tymčenko (Tym) only has an entry for *napmaчъ*, citing an example from the seventeenth century. Brückner (1989: under the entry for *part*) lists, along with *part*, entries for *partacz, partanina*, and *partać*, and comments: "o lichej, tandetnej robocie." Zyzanij's grammar features one of the truly rare occurrences of this word; the card file of the *Dictionary of the Old Ukrainian Language of the Sixteenth and Seventeenth Centuries* of the Ivan Kryp'jakevyč Institute of Ukrainian Studies does not list more examples either.

Посланїе сп8дешмъ

в'згарда (III^v) (< -*gbrd-): "кгдыж акъ Катwн пишет. то што читати а не роз8мѣти естъ в'згарда и смѣх, до чого абысмы з себе причины не давали, за На8к8 моцно са имаймо, и еден дрогого [sic] добродѣтел'ною працею переходѣмо." Although SUM XIV–XV does not include any entries for *взгарда*, *взоржатися*, etc., SUM XVI–XVII lists examples of the use of the word *взгарда* from texts dating to 1591 from Volodymyr (*Arxiv Jugo-Zapadnoj Rusi* 1/I, 313) and from the 1599 *Anticrisis* from Vilnius (861), while other examples date from the seventeenth century. Under the entry for *взгарда*, Tymčenko (Tym) gives an example from the *Palinode*, indicating the Polish equivalent *wzgarda*, and another entry, *взгорда*, under which he lists an example from a later source, as well as entries for *взгарда*. In his *Leksis*, *Zyzanij* uses the Ukrainized word form "в'згоржати" (Nimčuk 1964: 41). It is highly likely that Zyzanij pronounced *вз*[h]*арда*, not *вз*[r]*арда*; see Polish *hardy*, where *h* is widely regarded as proof that the word is a Czech loan into Polish. Типограф Младенцемъ

партати (IV^v) (< *psrt-): "досконалым и певным быти а нѣ в' чом непа́ртати." A second example of this word occurs in a context very similar to the first.

Толкованїе Молитвы

покармъ (91^v) (< **kъrm*-): "бо акъ тѣло ѿ того хлѣба насущного кор'митса и посилокъ берет, такъ власне дша словом бѫ̈́іим кор'митса измоцнаетса. просими тыж тут и хлѣбъ насоущный, и покармъ тот которій естъ з нашего существа." The verb *кор'митса* is used in its original Ruthenian form twice, in close vicinity to the noun, which appears in its genuinely Polish form. SUM XIV–XV does not have any entries for *покармъ*, while Tymčenko (Tym) lists several examples under the entry for *покарм*, one of which comes from the *Apocrisis* of 1597–99. The noun *покарм* also occurs in the *Leksis* (Nimčuk 1964: 28): "брашно, покарм, идло"; used along with this lexical borrowing are genuinely Ruthenian reflexes in the words "накормлюю," "накормлене" (Nimčuk 1964: 60).

барзо (91^v-92) (< **bъrz*-): "наоучаемо тыж са ижъ бтъ барзо милосердный естъ." This word does not appear in SUM XIV–XV but is frequently recorded in various sources beginning in the sixteenth century. Tymčenko (Tym) points to a Polish source. The word *барзо* also appears in the *Leksis*, cf. "... когоды барзо смачны с&тъ" (Nimčuk 1964: 58).

3.9. The Polish initial *e*- instead of *o*-:

Толкованїе Молитвы

едины над других (90°): "Пристоит теды абы едины над других не подносилис а нѣ о собѣ болше розумѣли." Under the entry for *єдинъ*, SUM XIV–XV lists the forms *єдиного*, *єдинои*, etc. Under the entry for *єдинъй*, SUM XVI–XVII gives examples from the *Instructional Gospel* of 1571 from Volodymyr: 61); a document of 1591 from Berestia (Documents of the Lviv Stauropegion Brotherhood, MS, late sixteenth–mid-seventeenth centuries: 188); and the Ostrih *Apocrisis* (1598–99: 84°). This word, in the sense of "one of many," is recorded in a Lviv document of 1588 (Documents of the Lviv Stauropegion Brotherhood, MS, late sixteenth–mid-seventeenth centuries: 93, 4), while other examples date from the seventeenth century. Attention should be paid to the stress (cf. Ševel'ov 2002: 218). The *Leksis* also contains this form with the very same stress, cf.: "трой рwд пелекан'скїй, едины высокw, другій середне, третій низки лѣтаютъ" (Nimčuk 1964: 61). The form *єдинъ* may also have been adopted from Church Slavonic.

едн\$ (90°, 91, 2х): "Т\$тъ w едн\$ реч просимо"; "W двв речи т\$тъ просимw. w едн\$, абы нам дал б $\overline{ь}$ ведле вол\$ своеи всв добродвтели чинити. …" SUM XVI–XVII gives many examples of the use of *една*, *единъ*, etc. This form is also prevalent in many southwestern dialects. The *Leksis* also lists an example of the word "едностайне" (Nimčuk 1964: 65).

еди́н $\mathscr{G}(91^{v})$: "Т \mathscr{G} w еди́н \mathscr{G} речъ ба млсрдного просимо." The *Slavonic Grammar* lists the form *един\mathscr{G}* (42) with a stress on the final syllable, but here the stress matches the Polish one.

едино́го (91^v-92): "навчаемоса тоуть иж нѣ едино́го члка нѣмаемъ на свѣтѣ без грѣха. наоучаемо тыж са ижъ бгъ барзо милосердный есть, которїй

кающихса и наигрѣшнѣших прїймветь." Zyzanij's grammar lists the form єдина́го (41°) with this stress. Here the Ruthenian stress corresponds to the Polish one. In the expression "анѣ, ни (нѣ, не) єдиный," the first example in SUM XVI–XVII comes from a work written by Ivan Vyšens'kyj in 1608–9 (229); other examples derive from the Peresopnytsia Gospel of 1556–61 and a Lviv document dated 1587 (Documents of the Lviv Stauropegion Brotherhood, MS, late sixteenth–midseventeenth centuries: 188, 89).

едину (92): "Түт и двъ речи просимо. w едину [*sic*], абы нас не в'водилъ в покушенье, то естъ абы нам не далъ зведеным быти покусами, шатан'скими и розмаитыми бъдами, которїи перепущаетъ на нас дла пробы. а w другую речь просимо абы нас выбавилъ \ddot{w} злого ворога ншего шатана, которїй нас хочетъ потлумити в тых искушенїах." The stress does not correspond to the preceding form of *edúhy*. Zyzanij's grammar also gives the form $\epsilon duhy(41^v)$, with the stress on the final syllable.

еднак (92^v): "тотъ бо вѣм нас покушаетъ, кгды нас албо через ро́скоши \ddot{w} ба \ddot{w} водит, албо через трудности къторіи нам задает \ddot{w} страшует. еднак же мы и тое покушене причитаемо бу, бо и мі́ръ нѣчого не может оучинити над волю бжі́ю. щасливыиж тыи которіи годне моват тую молитву." The conjunction $\epsilon \partial h a \kappa b$ 'however' does not occur in early Ukrainian documents (SUM XIV–XV), but, according to SUM XVI–XVII, it appears in the Peresophysia Gospel (265) and Uževyč's *Conversation* (34; additional examples come from other seventeenth-century sources). The variant $\epsilon \partial h a \kappa o$ occurs in Herasym Smotryc'kyj's *Key to the Heavenly Kingdom* (1587). Other examples appear in seventeenth-century sources.

3.10. The Polish g ($<\kappa z >$):

Грамматіка словенска

кгды (5–6^v, 2x): "Слогъ єсть, снитіе гласнаго съ съгласнымъ. ако. ба. или оуєдиненіе Глас'наго. // ако, а и о. ...Слогъ єсть кідыса зыйдять двѣ писмѣ, єдино съгласное а другое гласное. акъ то, па. Ал'бо хот єдино писмо гласное, или двогласное. акъто, а 8 и"; "Ким' же образом двовременны; Егда 🗓 двовременныхъ писмен слогъ дол'іїй, или крат'кій, съставленъ бывает, произволеніем Твор'ца. ... А двовремен'ный єсть, кіды 🖗 двовремен'ныхъ писмен бывает слогъ доліїй ал'бо короткій." SUM XIV–XV lists entries for гды, кгды, and кды, all of which are rarely recorded. SUM XVI-XVII offers examples of the use of 10b1 from the Ostrih Chronicle of 1509–1633 (131^v), a Cracow document dated 1583 (Archiwum książąt Lubartowiczów Sanguszków w Sławucie IV [1535–47]: 154), and other sources. In his Leksis, Zyzanij translates the Church Slavonic ezda with the Polonism Kzdbi (Nimčuk 1964: 45). Tymčenko (Tym) records this word in the form $2\partial u$ —he does not provide any entry for *kzdu*—and gives an example from the *Palinode*. Morfolohiia (1978: 459, 461) also lists the conjunctions кгды, кгдыбы (кгдижь, кгди) as Polonisms and indicates examples from Ukrainian documents written ca. 1400. The conjunction KZDbl (from Polish $gdy < *k_{\mathcal{D}}dy$, in the first example, appears here instead of the nominalized construction; in the second example, it serves as a translation of the Church Slavonic conjunction erda.

Толкованїе Молитвы

кгды (90–92° бх): "В той точцѣ замыкаетсѧ е. речїй. Першаѧ кгды молимо ѿче. Тым'сѧ оупевнѧемѡ же будемѡ выслухани"; "А третѧѧ речъ кгды мовимѡ нашь тое значит ижъ єсмѡ всѣ братѧ"; "А пѧтаѧ реч, кгды мовимѡ …"; "Ѡ першоую кгды мовимѡ …"; "кгдыж и они кормѧтсѧ, але не своим хлѣбомъ. анѣ словом бжіим, але прелестю шатан'скою. бо вкъ тѣло ѿ того хлѣба насущного кор'митсѧ …"; "тотъ бо вѣм нас покушаетъ, кгды нас албо через роскоши ѿ ба ѿводит, албо через трудности къторій нам задает ѿстрашует."

It is worth noting that in the *Slavonic Grammar* the letter *z* occurs in the word $\Gamma peu'\kappa uM$, not $r(\kappa z)$ (e.g., fol. 89), as in numerous other texts dating to the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries.

3.11. The Polish combination of a vowel and a nasal consonant:

Посланїе сп8дешмь

без вонтпливости, в&нтпливости, в&нтпѧчи (III) (see Polish wątpić, wątpliwość [vont-]): "которои кождый добре са навчивши, может книги словен'скаго азыка добре читати, и без вонтпливости розумѣти. поневаж она естъ ключем вырозумѣню. ѿвораючи, и wказуюли всакій вунтпливости ... кутому тыж без неи єсли кто и читает. многокрот вунтпачи вырозумна певен не бывает." The stem occurs three times on one page. This word is not listed in SUM XIV-XV. SUM XVI–XVII has an entry for *вонтити … вунтити* and records an early example dated 1568 (Archiwum ksiażat Lubartowiczów Sanguszków w Sławucie VII [1554–72]: 306). As for the form *b&hmnumu* with *y*, Zyzanij's *Leksis* gives an example of $BS(H)mn\lambda \omega$ (59–60). However, almost immediately after the form "в8нтплю," the noun "вонтпленье" occurs with *o*, cf. "недо8мѣваюсѧ, зд8мѣваюсѧ, в%нтплю. Недо%мѣнїе, вонтпленье." In addition, the Leksis lists Polonisms, such as "дзвьенкъ" (see Polish *dźwiek*) as a translation of the word "звук" (Nimčuk 1964: 49) and "нендз'ный" (Nimčuk 1964: 86). Under the entry for вонтпливость, SUM XVI-XVII lists examples from a Lutsk document dated 1583 (AIuZR 8/III), etc. Apparently, *ukannia* in this word indicates Lavrentij Zyzanij's Galician background.

3.12. The Polish -*ę* > Ukrainian -ы in the word заправды [?]:

<u>Толкованїе Молитвы</u>

за правды (92^v): "нехай такъ б&детъ. и за правды так єстъ." SUM XIV–XV does not list the word form *заправды*, and under the entry for *правда* there are no equivalent examples. Instead, the locution *no npaвдъ* is given. SUM XVI–XVII records examples from the Peresopnytsia Gospel (1556–61), Herasym Smotryc'kyj's *Key to the Heavenly Kingdom*, and Uževyč's *Conversation*, and later examples from an *Instructional Gospel* from the Boiko region, which dates to the late sixteenth century (135^v). The *Leksis* records: "амин, заправды албо нехай такъ б&детъ" (Nimčuk 1964: 24), "заправды" (Nimčuk 1964: 38), and others. In connection with this form, Ševel'ov (2002: 668) writes: "If this word *заправди* 'справді' (Trostianets Commentaries on the Gospel, 1560) is borrowed from the Pol. *zaprawdę* (pronounced as -[de]), then the presence of *y* in the Ukrainian language is explained by the fact that none of the inflected forms of nouns with *-a* end in *-e."* Another (perhaps more likely) possibility is, however, that *3a npabdu* merely copies Polish *za prawdy*, i.e., *za* + genitive case.

3.13. The Polish \check{s} < Old German \check{s}' (< s):

Топограф Младенцемъ

кош'том (IV^v): "Т8ю вы w сп8деи малымъ кош'том собѣ набывайте." In the Middle Ages, the German *s* was usually pronounced like \check{s}', \check{z}' , which was adopted in Polish, Czech, and other borrowings from Old and Middle German; as a rule, Latinisms also feature *x* and *u*. SUM XIV–XV lists one example of the use of the word *коштъ* from a document dated 1459. Tymčenko (Tym) lists an entry for *коштъ*, indicating the Czech *košt*, the Polish *koszt*, and the German *kost* (see Modern German *Kosten*). The first example comes from the Lutsk Castle Record-Book of 1564. Later, Tymčenko lists entries for *коштован*[*b*]*e*, *коштовати*, *коштовность*, and *коштовный*.

Грамматіка словенска

Вѣршѣ (89): "Если хочешъ Вѣршѣ Складати, Ведле тых Метръ Складай Грец'ким Поетим послѣд&ючи." SUM XIV–XV does not have this word (German *Vers* < Latin *versus*), but SUM XVI–XVII records examples of the use of the noun *вѣршъ* from Maciej Stryjkowski's work of 1582, *Kronika Polska, Litewska, Żmódzka i wszystkiej Rusi* (33[°]) and Ipatij Potij's *Reply* to the Ostrih Cleric (Volodymyr, 1598– 99). Other examples are from the seventeenth century. SUM XVI–XVII records this word in the sense of 'рядок, строфа, розділ' from a text dated 1595 (AIuZR 1/I, 483). Tymčenko (Tym) lists only seventeenth-century examples. In his *Leksis*, Zyzanij surprises us by writing "крае гранесïе, початокъ стїха, ал'бо строки" (Nimčuk 1964: 42), avoiding the word *вѣршъ*. The phrase "рекло слововѣрш" occurs elsewhere (Nimčuk 1964: 73).

Толкованїе Молитвы

шатан'скою, шатан'скими, шатана (91°–92): "кгдыж и они корматса, але не своим хлѣбомъ. анѣ словом бжі́им, але прелестю шатан'скою. …" "Тут w двѣ речи просимо. w едину̀, абы нас не в'водилъ в покушенье, то естъ абы нам не далъ зведеным быти покусами, шатан'скими и розмаитыми бѣдами, которіи перепущаетъ на нас дла пробы. a w дру́гую речь просимо абы нас выбавилъ ŵ злого ворога ншего шатана, которій нас хочетъ потлу́мити в тых искушеніах." SUM XIV–XV does not list any entries for *camaнъ* (< Greek *satanās*) or *шаmанъ* (< Middle High German *satān* < Latin *satanās*). Тутčenko (Тут), however, lists entries for *шатанъ* and *шатанскій* and offers examples from the *Apocrisis*. Besides this form, Zyzanij's *Slavonic Grammar* lists the word *слово w сатанъ* (92), сf.: "Мкъ пишет стый апслъ павелъ къ галатум в главѣ е. иж плот въюеть на дхъ. a w сатанѣ стый апслъ петръ пишетъ, в пер'вомъ посланіи, в' главѣ е. будте трез'выми, бо неприатель ваш діаволъ вкъ левъ рікаючи. кроужает кого пожерети."

зашкодилъ (92^v) (< Old High German *scado*): "акъ маемо на приклад Іова праведнаго. которому аж \ddot{w} ба взавши допущене зашкодилъ, прото бу приписуетса в'вожене в напасть. не иж бы бъ оуводилъ, але иж діаволу оуводити допущает. так же тыж и тъло къ искушенію нас приводит." The rare use of this verb is already recorded in SUM XIV–XV. SUM XVI–XVII gives an example from a Cracow document dated 1524 (Archiwum książąt Lubartowiczów Sanguszków w Sławucie III [1432–1534], 260); other examples date to the mid-sixteenth century. Tymčenko (Tym) lists entries for зашкода, зашкодный, зашкоженіе, зашкожовати, and зашкодити. Most of the examples are from the seventeenth century; one example occurs in the Lutsk Castle Record-Book of 1562 (fol. 62^v). Tymčenko also records entries for шкода, also indicating the German scado: шкодити, шкодливый, шкодник, шкодно, шкодовати, шкодца and listing many early examples. The stem шкод- occurs frequently in the Leksis, cf. "вредитель, шкодца" (Nimčuk 1964: 36), "перешкодца" (Nimčuk 1964: 69), and "оушкоженїе" (Nimčuk 1964: 85).

3.14. Polish Mazuration:

Грамматіка словенска

зычимо (52°): "Молитвен'ный образ есть, им'же нѣчто быти желаемъ. (зычимо) ако, да оуч8, да бію." Here, the word зычимо is a translation of the Church Slavonic form желаемъ. SUM XIV–XV gives examples of the use of зычими only from a letter written by King Casimir of Poland to the bishop of Vilnius and other individuals in connection with negotiations with the Master of the Crusaders; no forms of жичими are recorded. Tymčenko (Tym) lists entries for зычими, зычливецъ, зычливость, and зычливый; the examples date to the seventeenth century. He, too, has no entry for жичими. On the etymology, see Brückner 1989 and Vasmer 1986– 87. The *Leksis* includes the forms "заемлю, позычаю" i "заемленіе, позычанье" with the root зыч-, and "заемник, пожичаючиі" with the root жич- (Nimčuk 1964: 48). All the forms are listed one after the other. Citing this example, Netreba (2004: 233) mentions the "presence [of ж] in place of [3]" in Zyzanij's *Leksis*. But she mistakenly gives this word in the form "пожираючій," whereas it is actually written as *пожичаючій*, where *ж* is the original sound.

3.15. The Polish *tylko*:

Толкованїе Молитвы

тыл'кw (91, 91^v-92, 2х): "W двѣ речи т&тъ просими ... а w дроугоую абы не тыл'кw в нас самыхъ, але и по всемъ свѣтѣ вола Єго стаа выпол'наласа"; "Дол'ги тогды // т&т не иншее што маемо роз&мѣти тыл'ко грѣхи, то естъ выст&пки." This typical Polish form occurs twice, along with *тол'кw*, cf. 91–91^v: "T&т нас &чит хс избавител нашъ. абысмw са молили не w панства тогосвѣтнїи, анѣ w жадныи преложенства. анѣ тыж w несталое богатство мѣзерного свѣта того. але толкw w хлѣб без' которого са не можем обыти, и тот же быхмы не порожне или, але // в' поте лица нашего." The Polish origin of this form is also indicated by Ševel'ov (2002: 764): "Monuments that have forms with i only in the words *kilka* and *tyl'ko* are probably direct borrowings from the Polish." SUM XIV–XV records one example of the use of *тылько* from the fifteenth century. Tymčenko (Tym) also lists an entry for *тылко* and provides examples from the seventeenth century. The *Leksis* contains the form *толкw*, сf. "токмw, точїю, толкw" (Nimčuk 1964: 80).

3.16. Polish *ku*:

Посланїе сп8дешмъ

к\$ (III): "к\$том\$ [sic, i.e., к\$ том\$] тыж без неи єсли кто и читает. многокрот в\$нтпачи выроз\$мѣна певен не бывает." Ševel'ov (2002: 318) is convinced that the form κy is a Polonism. According to SUM XIV–XV, this word often appears in early Ukrainian documents. Tymčenko (Tym), however, does not give any entries either for κy or for κb . The form $\kappa \vartheta$ frequently appears in the *Leksis*, cf. " $\kappa \vartheta$ вечер ϑ " (Nimčuk 1964: 41) et al.

4. Conclusions

With the exception of the forms of чливекь (чловека)—a Polonism that Zyzanij apparently did not recognize as such-all the phonetically marked Polonisms of the Slavonic Grammar occur in a clearly "Common Ruthenian" context. Polonisms in the body text of the grammar are usually translations of Church Slavonic words: the verb зычимо is a translation of the verb желаемъ (52^{v}); on two occasions, the preposition *Bedayzb* explains one of the meanings of the preposition *no* $(78^{v}, 80-80^{v})$. In the well-known translated definition, "Грамматіка єсть, из'въст'ное въж'ство, єже блгw глати и писати. Тол'кованїе. Грамматїка єсть пев'ное вѣдане, жебысмы добре мовили и писали" (fol. 1), all the Polonisms are also translations of Church Slavonic words and constructions, and the same pertains specifically to Polonisms from the rather inconsistently translated *Interpretations* ($To\lambda' \kappa o BaH \ddot{B}$) (5^v-6) in the chapter titled "W Просмдїи." There, in one place, the conjunction кгды replaces a nominalized construction, while in another it is a translation of the conjunction егда (see 3.10.). Finally, the "Common Ruthenian" sentence "Если хочешъ Вѣршѣ Складати, Ведле тых Метръ Складай Грец'ким Поетим послъдуючи" (89) appears in the middle of purely Church Slavonic sections, but it is a separate piece of advice addressed to the reader.

Thus, when Zyzanij wrote in "Common Ruthenian," he was always conscious of the fact that he was departing from the Church Slavonic language in the first place. With the exception of the word forms unweekb, unobeka, all the Polonisms occur in a purely "Common Ruthenian" context. At the same time, the Polonisms are used in the "Common Ruthenian" context without any additional characteristics that would indicate that these are foreign words. They simply occur as fully adopted "Ruthenian" lexemes.

It should be noted that the Polonisms in Lavrentij Zyzanij's *Slavonic Grammar* display a certain variability. Various word forms occur in his grammar and in the *Leksis*, or in other Middle Ukrainian texts. Occasionally, obvious Polonisms coexist with original Ukrainian or more consistently adopted forms. The adverbs *nopoжнe* $(91-91^{\circ})$ vs. *npoж'нw* (1) are indicative in this regard. The former features a Ukrainian form of the root but a Polish ending, the latter a Polish form of the root but a Ruthenian ending; both forms are perfectly "Common Ruthenian." As concerns the word *peub*, it is very likely that Zyzanij's contemporaries were already transforming this paradigm into the contemporary one with alternation of the vowel *piu*, *peui*, but only forms with a root *e* occur in Zyzanij's work.

As for the persistence of the genuinely Polish forms in Ukrainian, it is worth noting that the word unober is common to many southwestern dialects; the word людина occurs in other Ukrainian dialects, while the authentic Ukrainian form чоловік acquired a different meaning. The word обецати was adapted further to the Ukrainian language (Modern Ukrainian *obiusmu*): the form with *b*, which yielded *i*, became dominant in accordance with etymology and the vocalism in the Church Slavonic word. Instead, the *u*, as in words with the stem *miu-*, *mou-*, has been preserved (the word *MOUD* in the *Leksis* is a translation of the Church Slavonic *mouu*). The word form *mu* (*mbu*) has not been preserved in this spelling in Modern Standard Ukrainian, although it should be noted that in many dialects the Ukrainian mex may sound the same way or in an approximately similar fashion. Words with the prefix npe- are still prevalent in southwestern Ukrainian dialects. Words with the Czech metathesis, such as власний with the adverb власне and words with the stem npau'- (пpauя, npauювати, etc.), still exist in the contemporary Ukrainian literary language; the word *порожній*, in contrast, occurs only in this genuinely Ukrainian form, while the genuinely non-Ukrainian word form *nompeбa, nompiбний* acquired the alternation *i:e* similarly to the word *piч*. The obvious Polonism - *kpom* no longer exists in the Ukrainian literary language but occurs in many southwestern dialects. Instead of the Polonism *кроль* (*кріль*), the pleophonic form *король* is used in literary Ukrainian, but the genuinely Polish form is still used in southwestern dialects. The word *nebeh* and its derivatives are treated as purely Ukrainian forms, whereas the word form *eden*, or *iden*, in contrast to the word form *єдиний*, which is also based on the Church Slavonic model, is used only in the southwestern dialects of the Ukrainian language. The prepositions *Bedays* and *bedae* were frequently used in nineteenth-century Galician sources (along with partly Ukraininized *BODAY2*), but they did not enter the lexicon of Modern Standard Ukrainian. Today, the adjective шляхетний is treated as a common Ukrainian form, although in older Ukrainian documents it still coexisted with the better adapted form шляхотный. The adverbial form medu-the purely Ukrainian mordы appears alongside it in Zyzanij's Slavonic Grammar-is used only in certain southwestern dialects. The words *мова*, *мовили*, and *тлумити* became fully established in Modern Standard Ukrainian. Already by the seventeenth century, the verb napmamu occurs rarely; the example given in Zyzanij's grammar is also extraordinarily important, for even in Polish sources, at least until the late sixteenth century, there are no definite records of this Polish word in the sense listed by Brückner-"o lichej, tandetnej robocie"—cf. the contemporary Polish form *partacz*. Instead of the Polish form *B32apda*, many other sources contain the better adapted word forms *B320pda*, взгоржатися, etc., but that word did not enter the vocabulary of Modern Standard Ukrainian. The noun *nokapm*, which did not enter Modern Standard Ukrainian either, was still frequently used in Galicia as late as the nineteenth century. The adverb *bapso* often occurs in some southwestern dialects of the Ukrainian language. The numeral and pronoun *edeh*, *edha* are prevalent in southwestern dialects, as is the conjunction $\epsilon \partial \mu a \kappa$. The conjunction $\beta \partial u$ did not enter the Ukrainian literary language, but it is still frequently encountered in certain southwestern dialects; so are the words *вонтиши*, *вонтиливість* and the adverb *заправди*. The words *кошт, вірш*, and *шкода* are widely used in the Ukrainian literary language in this very form. It is interesting to note that in Zyzanij's grammar, too, the contemporary form *camaн*, which arose without Polish mediation, exists along with the Polonism *шатан*, which is predominant in the grammar. The verb *зичити* exists in Ukrainian in this very form to the present day; however, the original Polish form *жичити* is well-known in Galicia. Along with the Polish form *тыл'кw*, the *Slavonic Grammar* uses the Ukrainian *толкw* (> *тілько*, cf. *тільки* in Modern Standard Ukrainian). The form of the preposition *кs*, which is largely alien to the Ukrainian language (Ševel'ov 2002: 318), exists only in its westernmost dialects.

Most of the Polonisms that appear in Lavrentij Zyzanij's Slavonic Grammar were already encountered in Ukrainian documents in the fourteenth and fifteenth centuries, and nearly all of them are used in his *Leksis* as well. With the exception of the word *napmamu*, all these words are also to be found in other early Ukrainian sources. It would appear that the forms *s&HmnAuBocmb* and *s&Hmnumu* with an *ukannia* reflex are typical of Zyzanij. Other forms, meanwhile, are typical of the entire "Common Ruthenian" language of Zyzanij's age. Some of these Polonisms forever entered the Ukrainian language or its dialects, either during the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries or earlier.

TOO CLOSE TO "THE WEST"? THE RUTHENIAN LANGUAGE OF THE *INSTRUCTION* OF 1609

0. Early modern Ruthenians (Ukrainians and Belarusians) in Europe

Within the Slavic Orthodox world, early modern Ruthenian (Ukrainian and Belarusian) culture occupies an exceptional position. In the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries, no other Orthodox group was as strongly affected by European religious reformation and counterreformation, Renaissance and then baroque culture as the Ruthenians of the Kingdom of Poland and the Grand Duchy of Lithuania.

For the Ruthenians of the time, the encounter with European culture usually occurred via Polish mediation. As far as language as an integrative element of Ruthenian identity is concerned, the intense encounter with Poles and other Europeans yielded a multitude of new loan concepts and corresponding loan words from Western languages. Owing to the spread of early modern information technologies (the art of printing) and the reformation of the educational sphere, the "common" language (*Gemeinsprache* = "prosta(ja) mova"/" prostyj jazyk"; see Moser 2011: 76-81) that had gradually emerged in the preceding decades soon turned out to be more widely disseminated and more refined than ever before. Not least, this language served as a powerful instrument for defining oneself and one's group.

At the same time, the encounter with European culture constituted a challenge and even a threat to Ruthenians. In terms of language, not only was it obvious by the second half of the sixteenth century that more and more representatives of the Ruthenian elites had adopted the Polish language and culture, but even the high-variety Ruthenian written language itself had become extremely similar to the Polish language of the Polish elites. Ruthenians felt the threat and stood up for the religious and economic rights of the "Ruthenian nation" in the multinational and multilingual settings of the Kingdom of Poland and the Grand Duchy of Lithuania. They did so, however, in a language that clearly betrayed Polish cultural predominance. Perhaps no document illustrates this better than the *Instruction* and *Lament* of 1609.

1. The Instruction and Lament

On 2 January 1609, the Ruthenian burghers of Lviv issued a document titled Λ *именть, албо Мова до Кр Его Мл* (Lament, or a Speech to His Grace the King). This well-known text was integrated into a so-called *Инъстркцив* (Instruction 1609), a certification of authority for the burghers' envoys to the Warsaw Diet (Sejm). The *Instruction* dates from a time when Lviv had about seventeen to twenty thousand inhabitants, with a share of about 20 percent Ruthenians/Ukrainians (Kapral' 2003: 249–50). The Ruthenian representatives claimed in this document that "we, the Ruthenian nation of the Greek religion" (*Hapod росски релъи Кгрецкое*), "voice a controversy with the Polish nation regarding the same liberty, use of trade laws,

and all kinds of business that have been guaranteed by the Polish Kings of holy memory to Lviv, to us, the Ruthenian [nation] on a par with the Polish nation" (Конътроверт8емо, З Народом Полским W ровную волность, И 8живане Правъ ремеслъ. И ибходовъ Вшелаких Лвовови ü стое Памати Кролевъ Полских, Намъ Веспол заедного члка З Народом Полским р8ском8 ф8ндованых) (Instruction 1609, fol. 1). The spirit of the text is quite well represented by the nine occurrences of the possessive pronoun нашъ. The following examples are cited in order of appearance:

1) Просити Его Кр мл, Абы насъ ведле Процес релъи Нашое Кгрецкое / И въ волном Уживаню Процесы З Сакраменты. И иншими ѡбрюды / В рынку, И въ Улицахъ Уживати волно Заховати рачилъ (1); 2), И дотого Просити, Абы Прешкрипцию На добрахъ Стоючих / Наших р8ских Небыла (1); 3) and 4) Если бы кто z Народу Нашого руского, Хотълъ Ново примовати / Мъсцъкое Право, албо цехи Мкиеколвекъ, То ибы непрезъ инших / Нацыї Люде, Але През самых Старшихъ Наших р&ских Мещанъ / И Предмещанъ бывалъ Залецанъ (1v); 5) А претожъ Просити Кр Его Мл, Абы [...] до ровныхъ волносте хрстимнъских Такъ / дховных, ведле Процесу релѣи Нашое Кгрецкое Мко И свѣцких, / Уживана Припустити рачилъ (1v); 6) Понекондъ суд Полски кривды Нестерпимые выг блаючи / нас Спотомствы Нашими Намъ Народ рускому Чинат, / И Бъды Неслыханые, Котрими Утажени Естесмо / Над Мрмо Египъскои Неволѣ (2v); 7) То ест Напрод / наветъ, Божницѣ, Напрод / Старожитны Натуралны Народ Нашъ руски мает свое въчум, / И црковъ Набоженства своего воЛвовѣ (3); 8) and 9) 🞖 КсєєндЗа Фѣрлеа референдара Его Кр Мл W Певномъ / А неwмылномъ Часу Приволанаса Справы тоеи Нашеи / до СУдУ Кр довъдовати Бы Тежму едно даровати. / А др8гое юбецати. Асамым Завше Пилновати (3v); Шстатокъ лепшости вшелако Буд вседержителю вруки Его Стые / И Пилности Посломъ Нашим<ъ полецае>мъ (4).

Along with "our business" and "our envoys," the burghers mention not only "our real estate" and "our elder Ruthenian burghers and dwellers of the suburbs" (as opposed to "other nations' people"), but also less "pragmatic" aspects such as "our Greek religion" and "our ancestry." Most notably, the document even speaks of "our ancient natural Ruthenian nation." Elsewhere in the *Lament*, the burghers complain that the Ruthenians lack rights "in their own native Ruthenian land, in this very Ruthenian Lviv" (*Чим бы толко Члкъ Живъ быти моглъ. Того Неволенъ р8синъ / Наприрожоно zемли свое р8ско 8живати, втомто р8ском / Лвовъ (3)*).

The *Instruction*, and particularly the *Lament*, have often attracted the attention of scholars (a historically contextualized interpretation of the text can be found in Kapral' 2003: 124–127). The entire document was already published in 1904 in Amfrosij Krylovskij's classic study on the Lviv brotherhood (Krylovskij 1904: 35–7 (appendix)). The *Lament* was reprinted several times, for instance by Myxajlo Hruševs'kyj in the sixth volume of his *History of Ukrainian Literature* (which came out only after the breakup of the Soviet Union; Hruševs'kyj 1995: 705). Finally, a few years ago, Jaroslav Isajevyč published a facsimile of the first page of the *Lament* in his study of the Lviv brotherhood (Isajevyč 2006: 72).

In the present study, I want to analyze the language of the *Instruction* and the *Lament* on the basis of a facsimile of the entire manuscript.¹ This is necessary because Krylovskij's edition, which was adopted by his successors, is not entirely reliable. As is typical of many older editions of Middle Ruthenian texts, it includes some questionable interpretations. Among others, the following readings should be amended:

[до Права] Шкотрое [...] [Конътровертвемо] (1), пот в которое (Krylovskij 1904: 32), [Его] Кр [Мл] (1), пот [его] кор. [милости] (Krylovskij 1904: 32; several times), А [звласча] (1) with the conjunction, пот звласча (Krylovskij 1904: 32), $w \delta \omega (1^v)$, пот абы (Krylovskij 1904: 33), Нань (1^v), пот пань (Krylovskij 1904: 33), 86 ±жають (1^v), пот уб ±жають (Krylovskij 1904: 33) (cf. Polish uwiedzać 'seduce', релѣи (1^v), пот релѣе (Krylovskij 1904: 34), ф8ндыши (2), пот фундуши (Krylovskij 1904: 34), Статиса (2^v), пот остатися (Krylovskij 1904: 35), Египъскои (2^v), пот египетьскои (Krylovskij 1904: 35), Переста (2^v, read: Перейста), пот перестя (Krylovskij 1904: 35), Члкь (3), пот человѣкъ in the Russian or Church Slavonic shape (Krylovskij 1904: 36), Горчары (3) much rather than гончары (Krylovskij 1904: 36), зацнѣшого (3), пот зачнѣйшого (Krylovskij 1904: 36), Кашталане (3), пот каштеляне (Krylovskij 1904: 36), Лимѣтации (3^v), пот лимитации (Krylovskij 1904: 37), Ксюндза (3^v) rather than ксяндза (Krylovskij 1904: 37).

In my brief study, I shall not elaborate on more general views concerning the early modern Ruthenian or "Middle Ruthenian" language (which, in this particular case, can also safely be called "Middle Ukrainian," since Belarusian aspects play no role in our text).² The *Instruction* is quite close to a more or less prototypical Middle Ruthenian high-variety language. This idiom, which has often been called "Prósta(ja) mova," although contemporaries usually just called it the "Ruthenian language" (which would be "p&ckũ IA3bikb" or "p&ckũ IA3bikb" according to the orthography employed in the Instruction), served as a polyfunctional and highly normalized idiom of Ruthenian high culture, possessing virtually all the features of a modern standard language except full-fledged codification (this was, however, a widespread situation in early modern European language communities; see Moser 2011: 40–161). From a later (and clearly anachronistic) point of view, this language suffered from at least two "vices." First, records of other varieties of Ruthenian, as in occasional renderings of contemporary oral speech (in short humoristic plays called Intermediae or in chronicles and charters, etc.), clearly demonstrate that this Ruthenian high variety was quite distant from the language actually spoken by Ruthenian (be it Ukrainian or Belarusian) "commoners." Second, this high-variety Ruthenian language was extremely close to the Polish language of its time. As I have argued elsewhere, the prototypical "Prosta mova" differed from Polish only inasmuch

¹ I would like to express my sincere gratitude to Professor Roman Šust of the Lviv National University, who kindly offered me a CD with photographs of the original document. I would also like to thank Professor Frank Sysyn of the Canadian Institute of Ukrainian Studies and the Ukrainian Free University in Munich for several discussions on Middle Ruthenian.

² As regards my own views on Middle Ruthenian, see Moser 2011: 40–161. Cf. also Bunčić 2006 and Rabus 2008, etc.

as it was written in the Cyrillic alphabet and retained Ruthenian phonology as well as inflectional morphology. Both the vocabulary and the syntactic organization of the texts were, however, virtually identical to Polish models of the time (ibid.). In the following, I want to demonstrate that the language of the *Instruction* is characterized by an extreme closeness to Polish that partly exceeds even that of the prototype variety. The relative brevity of the corpus allows for a statistically based approach. It is precisely the statistical aspect that will yield a clearer picture of the true relationship between the more or less prototypical "Prosta mova" and Polish, two languages that were beyond doubt mutually intelligible almost without constraint.

2. Ruthenian and Polish

The most striking feature of the language of the *Instruction* is its extreme closeness to Polish. In the following, I offer my own tentative translation of the first lines of the *Instruction* into the Polish language of the time:

Инъстрвкциа	Instrukc(y)ja ³
Пленѣпотенцию, То есть З8полную моць. албо пор8ченство вшелакое	Plenipotenc(y)ję, To jest zupełną moc, albo poruczeństwo wszelakie
Мы всѣ весполъ еденъ Заедного Народ росски релѣи Кгрецкое Мещане	My wszy(s)tcy wespół jeden za jednego naród ruski reli(j)i greckiej mieszczanie
И Предмещане, wбога 8рюдовъ И юрисдицыи замковое И мъсцкое	I przedmieszczanie, obojga urządów i urysdykc(y)ji zamkowej i miejs(c)kiej
Будучие Люде Лвовкане. Подаемо Посланцом своимъ [] (Instruction, fol. 1)	Będące ludzie lwowianie. Podajemy posłańcom swoim

The exercise of "translating" the entire text of the *Instruction* into Polish yields the following results: If one transfers the Ruthenian morphemes into Polish by changing them only according to the strict rules of historical phonology and some other, less regular developments (e.g., Ruthenian *kompoe/Komopue* vs. Polish *który*), then only a handful of stems (not roots!) are not to be encountered in the Polish language of the early seventeenth century: $sc \pm (1)$, sce (1); $\Pi p u munu (1, Pol.$ przyjąć); $[\kappa pu a b a]$ *Hecmepnumble* (2^v); $s \pm u 8 M (3)$; $H a \delta o n b ue (1^v)$ (Pol. *najwięcej*), $[u \phi c b]$ *Bonuozo* (3) along with $u \phi c Bonuozo$ (3) (Pol. cos większego); $[Ecnu \delta b \Pi po k 8 pamop$ $Hexom <math>\pm \lambda$, $a n \delta o w m b n a \alpha \lambda$] $M nu[ca Had pa a \alpha \Lambda Hecmasa \lambda]$ (3^v); $[n \infty u d o a b c k N]$. *Muu* $[\Pi o Capauencks]$ (1^v); sce dep mumeno (4) (the form is not Polish; if translated, it is rendered as wszechdzierżyciel); $[s b \delta \delta u p \pm] C u ue Hau ue c k om (1^v)$. As for the first three forms, however, identical roots are also to be found in Polish. Regarding wsz-y(s)tek, Middle Polish (and, in some phrases, even Modern Polish) has preserved only unexpanded stem forms of the type wszech, wszego, wszemu, wszej, wszej, wszeh, wszemi; moreover, along with the stem s(e)c-, one also encounters so mucmkom

³ I have slightly modernized the orthography.

(1) in the text. Regarding Примити, its imperfective aspectual partner in the text is *примовати* (as Polish *przyjmować*), not *примати*. As for the adjective Сщенническом, it should be pointed out that it refers to an Orthodox priest. The present passive participle *Нестерпимые*, finally, occurs with *кривды*, which is likely to be a Polonism.

Apart from that, it should be noted that one should read $[Ha] \kappa o \varkappa \partial \tilde{b} [po \kappa b]$ (1^{v}) in the text, yet *o* occasionally looks like *a* elsewhere in the manuscript (one would also read ϕ *amomu* rather than ϕ *amamu*, e.g., see below). Elsewhere, a can clearly be read in the same root: Каждого ремесла (2), Каждому wколичныхъ Панствъ *HenputameAebu* (3). The morphemic structure more or less coincides with that of the Polish vocabulary of the time. To give just one example, deverbative nouns occur with the reflexive particle са, as in [А неwмылномъ Часу] Приволанаса [Справы moeu Haueu] (3^v) (cf. Polish przywołania się). The syntax is more or less identical to the Polish syntax of the time. This can be exemplified by the use of topical o + accusative case (Права Wkompoe Пред Его Королевъскою Млстю Конътроверт8емо (1)), comparative nad + accusative case (Ятажени Естесмо мы Народ Р8ски, ШНарода Полского, Mрмомъ над Египъскую Неволю (3)), the omission of p Бчъ/rzecz in To CS posa И Нехрстивнска (1^v), or the use of the Polish-Latin accusativus cum infinitivo in А зажъ Панове цехМистрове [...] цос зац-нѣшого wcoбѣ НадВоска Вш Кр Мл быти *розумѣют* (3). Constructions like these are not necessarily genuinely Polish—they were common in Ruthenian and Polish and partly originated elsewhere. A study of the phraseology, especially the juridical phraseology, would in all likelihood reveal full coincidence with the Polish language of the time (see phrases such as Пленѣпотенцию [...] Подаемо (1); до Права Шкотрое [...] Конътровертвемо (1), Дла лепшое въры Печат При Ложилис́мо, И рвками Подписали (1), etc. Again, this obviously does not mean that all these elements are genuinely Polish. As is well known, such phrases often find their origin in Old and Middle Czech, and in many cases the Czech loans are in turn loan translations from Latin or German.

As mentioned above, the language of the *Instruction* is very close to the typical high-variety Ruthenian language as employed in a broad range of literary and nonliterary genres around 1700. It is still not clear to what degree this language might reflect the spoken language of the Ruthenian elites of the time. It is quite obvious, however, that the bookish syntactic organization of such texts was very remote from everyday speech, even that of the elites, and it is even more obvious that this language was very remote from the idioms spoken by the absolute majority of the Ruthenian (Ukrainian and Ruthenian) commoners (see Moser 2011: 75–161).

3. What remains Ruthenian?

In light of the above observations, one might ask what precisely remains largely "intact," that is, "truly" Ruthenian in the Ruthenian high variety of ca. 1600. As I have argued earlier (Moser 2011: 112–131), the elements that remain are: 1) the Cyrillic script, 2) the phonological structure of all morphemes, and 3) inflectional morphology. Each of these aspects deserves to be studied against the background of the *Instruction*.

3.1. The Cyrillic script

The Cyrillic script is such an important symbol of Ruthenian identity that in the *Instruction* even a fragment written in Latin is rendered in Cyrillic according to Ukrainian rules (as exemplified by the elements in boldface in the first two lines; # means [i], [g] is rendered with κ_{2} , and Latin *l* is rendered with soft *l'*). Only toward the end does the author render two words in Latin letters:

Анно домѣнѣ, а ӯ п҄ӟ, Електи С&нть фамоти, Домѣнѣ	
Нъкола8съ Зарокговски, Мнес Валах, Гемрги8съ Раихъ.	
Нѣкола8съ Домплах, Станѣсла8съ Клепар етъ Леонасъ	
Лѣнднер, Инъ консулес резидентесъ.	
Сенѣwресъ Механѣкор8м	
Инъ квор&м wмнѣ&мъ кград& примо конт&бернѣи Сартор&мъ,	a
Сенѣwресъ с8нтъ, Петр8съ, Етъ Стецко.	
Итем, субъ, А́о. 86. Сенѣwрес Сарторум, Андрис, етъ Стецко,	B
Итемъ Инъфери8съ, Ãо 1510 Сенѣwрес Сартор8мъ,	Г
Андрисъ, етъ Мѣхно	
Итемъ С&бъ Ãо, Мѣлезимо Квѣнъентезимо Сартор&мъ	Ā
Стецко К&мъ Сенѣwресъ Андреи Р&тенѣ.	
Итем, а ў ч́г Мѣхно етъ Матыс, етъ алѣбѣ Локор8м.	ē
Итем, Ао а ў чг. Іоанъ расъ, Стецко Кампѣамъ.	
С&бъ имо квокве Анно с&нтъ Церти Консулес, кви hic non	
С&нть скрипти. (2; emphasis mine, M. M.)	

3.2. Phonological structure

In general, the Ruthenian phonological structure also remains intact in the *Instruction*, but, as always, comparatively recent loans (recent with regard to early modern Ruthenian) should be analyzed separately.

3.2.1. Polish loans

In most cases, it is impossible to establish whether an element common to Ruthenian and Polish is a loan from Polish (or vice versa) or not, since inter-Slavic loans were often adopted according to morphological rules, not phonological ones (Moser 2007a). One does, however, find some phonologically marked Polish stems in the *Instruction* (in the following list, I treat Bohemisms as Polonisms because I have no doubt that they were adopted into Ruthenian via Polish):

- c < *tj, *kt': моць (1), Шбецуем (1), ибецати (3^v), Злецаем (1), Залецань (1^v),
 <полецае>мь (4: the manuscript is damaged here, yet Krylovskij's reconstruction is perfectly convincing), [Аньдре] бѣлдаговиц (4: that is, the surname has the Polish reflex, although Polish surnames of the type Mickiewicz have the Ruthenian reflex) = 7 word forms;
- š < 3rd palatalization of velars: вшелаки (1^v), вшелакое (1), Вшелаких (4x: 1, 2, 3, 3), вшелакие (1), вшелакого (2^v), вшелако (4), вшистком (1), Завше (3x: 3, 3^v, 4) = 13 word forms;
- e < ъ: весполь/веспол (4х: 1, 1, 3, 3) ведле (6х: 1, 1, 1^v, 1^v, 2, 3^v), Мѣстечку (1^v), Городецки (1^v), зе [Лвова] (1^v), тераз (3), Певномъ (3^v), [Натом] Семѣ (3^v), НаСемѣ (3^v), Сему (3^v), насем (4^v)= 19 word forms;

- (*j*) *е*-, not *o*-: *еденъ* (3x: 1, 1^v, 3), *едного* (4x: 1, 1, 1, 3), *Едно* (2x: 2, 3^v), *Еднако* (1), *еднак* (2) = 11 word forms;
- *g*, **not** *h*: *Кгрецкое* (3x: 1, 1, 1^v) = 3 word forms;
- metathesis of Polish origin: Крола (1v), Кролевь (2x: 1, 1), Кр as in [Ezo] Кр [MA], Кр [Ezo MA], [Bu] Кр [MA], etc. (22x: 1 (5x), 1^v (5x), 2^v (2x), 3^v (9x)); along with only one occurrence of the pleophonic form in [Пред Еzo] Королевьскою [Млстю] (1),⁴ Брон [Бе] (5x: 2^v (4x), 3^v), Брон [нас Пастыр8 добры] (3^v; along with more occurrences of Боронать (1^v), etc.), Насамы Прод (1), НаПрод (3x: 2^v, 3, 3) = 35 word forms;
- metathesis of Polish much more probably than Church Slavic origin: Предмещане (1), Предмещаномь (1), Предмещань (2х: 1^v, 4^v), Пред (3х: 1, 1, 1^v), Предскажь (3^v), презь (3х: 1^v (3х)), пренасватьшим (1^v), презыски (1^v), Презысковь (2^v), Преложеньствь (3, along with Za переводомь (1^v), дла Перестороги (3^v)), древы (3, in connection with Уквѣчены́), Потреба (2х: 3^v (2х)), кУ Потребѣ (3^v) = 20 word forms;
- Czech metathesis as used in Polish loans from Czech: звласча (1), Власные (1)
 = 2 word forms;
- (reflexes of) nasal vowels: Понекондъ (3х: 1, 2^v, 3^v), менъжне (3) = 4 word forms;
- Polish vowel contraction: ІАна (1^v), [рады НатоНѣ]машъ (2^v; this form can hardly be regarded as the reflection of a dialectal contraction) = 2 word forms;
- *e* instead of *o* in *meжъ*, *npe* (*prze*-) instead of *npo*-: *meжъ* (10x: 1, 1^v (2x), 2 (3x), 3, 3^v (3x)), *npemoжъ* (1^v, along with *Пpomoж* (1)) = 11 word forms;
- reflexes of syllabic liquids: Барзо (2); мовити (2х: 1, 1^v), Мова (3) = 4 word forms;
- retained *dl*: быдло (3^v) = 1 word form;
- reflex of *kъń* (and reflex of nasal vowel): *Ксюндза* (3^v), *& КскендЗа* (3^v) = 2 word forms;
- Polish co: sa uo (1^v), uoc (2x, 3 (2x)) (along with umo (1, 2, 3^v (2x)), and uo (1^v), uoc (3)) = 3 word forms;
- lack of epenthetic *l*: постановене (2, along with выгублают (3) etc.) = 1 word form;
- **Polish Latinism and Bohemism** *Kocmentel* (*< castellum*) (3) = 1 word form.

In sum, this makes up to 139 quite indisputable loans from Polish. Some slightly less certain loans from Polish are:

- nouns in -ен(ь)ство: Набоженства (3, confirmed by ES 1982ff.), поряченство (of Czech origin, see *u* from the back nasal vowel) (1) = 2 word forms;
- **a Bohemism in Polish:** $HaCnpoch\tilde{b}uue$ (with *s*-) (1^v) = 1 word form.
- other items that are most likely to be of Polish origin: wбога (2x: 1, 2), хорых (2x: 1, 1^v, against the background of Ukrainian *хворий* with preserved v),

⁴ This kind of variation of Polonized and non-Polonized forms is all but atypical for early modern Ruthenian: see Keipert 1988 and Moser 2009b and pp. 90–104 in this volume.

колвекъ (4x: 1 (3x), 1^v), Звполную (1), Поневаж (3x; 1, 1^v, 3^v), А зажъ (3x: 1^v, 3 (2x), treated as 1 word, cf. Polish azaż), поне (3x: 1, 2^v (2)), Посполитое (2x: 1, 3^v), Приходнемъ (2v), Шкрвтне (1^v), Иле (2), Пане (2^v), Пану (4x: 1 (4x)), Панове (4x: 1^v (2x), 3 (2x)), Панов (2x: 3^v (2x)), Паны (instr. pl.) (1^v), до Паньствъ (2^v), Панствъ (3) (Polish source of Ukrainian pan confirmed by ES 1982ff.), Переста (despite the pleophony) (2^v), Лечъ (2x: 2^v, 3), Чти (loc. sg.) (2), зацнѣшого (3), вчтиве (1), Же (5x: 1, 3 (4x)), шбы (1^v) = 49 word forms.

Altogether, this makes 52 more, for a total of 191 items that are probably of Polish origin.

3.2.2. Latin loans

The following loans from Latin are used in the text (I exclude ancient loans such as *жидове* and *костель* [the latter has been treated above as a Polonism, whereas жидове is not counted at all]): Привиле (1^v), Привилеа (2x, 1 (2x)), Привилеим $(1^{v}), \Pi pubureuwb (1^{v}), \Pi pubureky (1^{v}), dekpem (2^{v}), dekpem (2^{v}), dekpem (2^{v}), dekpem (2),$ Здекретован (2), et[u]/emu (4x), ϕ 8ндованы (1), ϕ 8ндованых (2x, 1 (2x)), ϕ 8ндацыа (2), ф8ндацы (2х: 1, 2), ф8ндыши (2), релѣи (3х: 1 (2х), 1°), 3 Сакраменты (1), з Сакраментамы (1), Сакраментом (instr. sg.) (1^v), Маестать (3), маестату (gen. sg.) (3), юрисдицыи (2x: 1, 2), Прок&ратор (3^v), Прокураторовъ (3^v), Процес& (2x: 1, 1^v), Процесы (1), Процесиах (1^v), Протестацие (1^v), Протестацыю (3^v), Гонер (1^v), Whepa (3, honera was used along with onera in Latin itself), Инъ конт8мацые (2), Инъ контумациам (2), [Акта] Електовые (2), [книгь] Електовых (2), Конътроверт Уемо (1), контроверъсии (3^v), Евангелика (3^v), Евангелицких (3^v), Приформовавши (1^v), Инъформацыю (3^v), Инъстр8кцию (1), мунѣмента (1), статус ка8зы (1), пропоноват (1), 8нъи (1), Лавде (1^v), Прешкрипциа (1), Нацы (1^v), Казциа (1^v), Копѣю (1^v), Автентице (1^v), Акта [Електовые] (2), в Канъцеларыи (3^v), картѣ (2), С 8мы (2), Скасовали (1^v), колациами (2), Бестии (1^v), Адверсаромъ (2^v), Ламентъ (3), Нат&ралны (3), екземплю (3), Пленѣпотенцию (1), Сенаторов (3^v), Сенаторскихъ (3), Инстанцые (3^{v}), Лимѣтации (3^{v}), Паписта (3^{v}), мандатом (3^{v}), референдара (3^v), [Неприателев] Коронных (3), Кашталане (3), Генвар (4) (cf. a Greek stem in *K*леросом). These items make up to 88 word forms (uhb is counted separately, like all prepositions; in *cmamyc ка8зы* (1), two word forms are counted).

It is highly likely that most of the cited Latinisms entered Ukrainian through Polish. Some of the loans exhibit Polish features that support this view, namely: *j* in *Привиле* (1°), *Привилеа* (2x, 1 (2x), *Привилеика* (1°), *Привилеика* (1°), *Привилеку* (1°), *релѣи* (3x: 1 (2x), 1°), *ы* in *юрисдицыи* (2x: 1, 2), *Нацы* (1°), *ф8ндацыа* (2), *ф8ндацы* (2x: 1, 2), *Процесы* (1) along with *Процесиах* (1°), etc., *š* < Latin and German *s*: in *ф8ндыши* (2), *Прешкрипциа* (1), *Кашталане* (3). Moreover, some Latin loans behave morphologically in the same way as in Middle Polish: *Привиле* (nom. sg.) (1°), *Привилеа* (nom. pl.) (1°), *Привилеиив* (gen. pl.) (1°), *декретв* (gen. sg.) (2°), *декрета* (nom./acc. pl.) (3), *мунѣмента* (1), *екземпла* (3) (acc. pl.), *Паписта* (nom. sg.) (3°), *статус ка8зы* (1), *Автентице* (1°). As for Инъ конт8мацые (2), Инстанцые (3°), see below.

3.2.3. Words based on German roots

Most German words (I again exclude ancient loans such as -*kyn*-, *король*-, *лихва*, as well as loan translations such as *мѣсто*) were also probably adopted via Polish. In the text, the following elements occur: *Завдачне* (1), *Печат* (1), *Печатю* (1^v), *рынок* (1^v), *B рынку* (2x: 1 (2x)), *в ринку* (1), *Скринку* (2), *до скринки* (2), *рады* (2^v), *рацы* (instr. pl.) (2x: 1^v, 3), *Ha ратśшś* (1^v), *Под ратśшемъ* (1), *мśсимо* (1), *Примśшають* (1^v), *Крамов* (1), *шац§нкомъ* (1), *цехъ* (1^v), *С цеху* (1^v), *цехове* (2x: 1^v, 3), *цехи* (2x: 1^v, 2^v), *цеховъ* (2x: 2 (2x)), *цехов* (2^v), *в цехах* (3), *цеховою* (1^v), *цехмистры* (1^v), *цехМистрове* (3), *цехмистровъство* (2), *Поб§нтовали* (1^v), *решты* [, *албо wстатокъ*] (2^v), *шкод* (gen. pl.) (2^v), *Жарть* (2x: 2^v (2x)), *в* [*самом*] *М§рѣ* (3, originally from Latin), *наветь* (3), *Ротмистрѣ* (3), *фортельми* (3^v), *ратунку* (3^v), *Гетмани* (3), *са дожебрати* (3^v), *Гроше* (3^v, originally Latin), *Папежнику* (loc. sg.) (3^v), *Гарбаръскую* (3^v), *шпетна* (4^v).

Some of these 48 loans from German are phonologically marked as Polonisms: $\check{s}, \check{z} < \text{German } s$: *Ha pamsuus'* (1^v), Под ратяшемь (1), решты (2^v), шкод (2^v), шпетна (4^v), Гроше́ (3^v), Жарть (2^v), са дожебрати (3^v), Папежнику (3^v); $j < d\check{z}c$: ра́цы (1^v, 3); y after r: рынок (1^v), B рынку (1, along with s ринку (1); cf. only soft pu in Скринку (2), до скринки (2) as Polish skrzynka with rz ([\check{z}] < [r']); ra < re, ar < er: ратунку (3^v), Гарбарьскую (3^v).

3.3. Inflectional morphology

Although Ruthenian inflectional morphology is largely intact, one does find some counterexamples.

3.3.1. Nouns

3.3.1.1. Polish acc. sg. -е

In the following example, one finds a genuinely Polish inflectional ending of a noun ending in *-a*: *Cnpaße пропоноват мають* (1). The noun apparently reflects the Polish accusative form *spraw-ę* with a denasalized ending. In two other cases, the same ending occurs after [j], cf. *Haщo И Протестацие Показ&емь* (1^v), along with the intact Ruthenian ending in *Протестацыю Гарбарьскую* (3^v), cf. the Polish form *protestac*(*y*)*ję*); *Инстанцые Чинити* (3^v), cf. the Polish form *instanc*(*y*)*ję*. These three forms may be regarded as obvious Polonisms. The form *Cnpaße* must be added to our list of clear Polonisms (the other elements have already been counted as non-Ruthenian because of their lexical stem).

3.3.1.2. Polish masculinum personale

In three fragments, the text seems to demonstrate a Ruthenian reflection of the Middle Polish tendency toward the development of the new gender category *masculinum personale*: 1) *B* котрых то босках видимо же бывали и с8ть / Гетмани, Ротмистрѣ, Полковники, Сотники, Дестатники em[ų] (3). In this fragment, the form *Гетмани* (Polish *Hetmani*) and, even more, the form *Ротмистрѣ* come into play, although the letter *u* of the ending in *Гетмани* is always problematic in Ukrainian, and the ₺ in *Ротмистрѣ*, which certainly renders ['i], could perhaps be explained by

the fact that, in accordance with Polish *rotmistrz* (nom.pl. *rotmistrzy*), $Pom_{\mathcal{M}ucmp(b)}$ might have been adopted as a soft stem altogether; Tymčenko (Tym), however, has no entry for $pom_{\mathcal{M}ucmpb}/pom_{\mathcal{M}ucmpb}$, and records mucmpb only with the hard stem. The retained k in the last three noun stems demonstrates, of course, that they are not treated as *masculina personalia*.

Two other sentences reveal even more likely candidates for this Polish gender category: 2) А зажъ Панове цехМистрове И ремесницы Лвовские / Шевцѣ Кравцѣ, рѣзники, Поворозники, Горчары, етц етц етц / цос зацнѣшого wcoбѣ НадВоска Вш Кр Мл быти роз&мѣют (3); 3) А того Заживати Намъ Боронатъ Панове Полацы (1^v). On the one hand, the nouns with the nom.pl. ending -ove come into play; the ending is widely considered to be of wholly Polish origin. On the other hand, the forms *ремесницы* and Полацы with the reflex of the second palatalization of velars are of even greater interest: in all likelihood, they are motivated by the Polish model and can hardly be treated as either Ruthenian archaisms or Church Slavonic elements. At a minimum, I add the two latter forms to the list of clear Polonisms.

3.3.1.3. Latin endings

The form вѣч&м with the Latinized ending (instead of вѣче) seems to be a hapaxlegomenon—neither the historical dictionaries nor the card file of the Dictionary of the Old Ukrainian Language of the Sixteenth and Seventeenth Centuries at the Institute of Ukrainian Studies in Lviv have an entry:⁵ Старожитны Нат&ралны Народ Нашъ р&ски мает свое вѣч&м, / И црковъ Набоженства своего воЛвовѣ (3). The use of the Latin ending seems to be a mere idiosyncrasy.

A special case is the Latin loan phrase *in contumatiam* as rendered in Cyrillic script in *Hapod pscrũ aбы был wcsжонъ Здекретован, албо / Инъ контумациам здан* (2). Elsewhere, the Polish ending is used with the same stem in *Если бы теж Заносили декрета Мкие, албо Инъ контумацые* (2) (see 3.3.1.1). The latter forms have been counted as Latinisms before. Owing to its ending, the word form *въчSM* must be added to our list of clear Latinisms.

3.3.2. Verbs

3.3.2.1. 1 pers. pres. sg. pl. -my

This ending, as encountered once in Π онекондъ маемы домы свои дъдичные в рынку Π од рат \mathfrak{Suemb} (1), was in all likelihood adopted from Polish. Elsewhere, one finds the ending -*м*о as in *м* \mathfrak{Scumo} (1) along with -*м* \mathfrak{b} , as in Π оказ \mathfrak{Semb} (1[°]). Because of its ending, the form *маемы* is listed as a Polonism (although the phonological shape of the lexical stem is intact).

3.3.2.2. естесмы and 1 pers. sg. pl. -смы

Polish *естесмы* occurs once; the ending *-смы* is used with the past tense or the conditional mood five times. These are the relevant fragments: Поневажь Естесмы и

⁵ I would like to thank my colleagues in Lviv for allowing me to consult the card file during my stay there in October 2010.

мы Понекондъ добро речи Посполитое (3^v), Илесмы змогли доти (2), Просити, абысмы *шикод*, Презысковъ И Накладовъ / Адверсаромъ Неплатачи. Волни Были (2^v), Бысмы были И немотное быдло, Альбо ивцы акие / Предсажъ до Вш Кр Мл Волатибысмы Мусѣли (3^v), Просим Справедливости Стое И ратунку, Абысмы доровных / Волносте Знародом Полским Были Припвицени (3^v). Along with Естесмы, the form Естесмо оссигs three times (1, 2^v, 3): here the stem structure is also genuinely Polish. The genuinely Ruthenian personal ending *-смо* is used once with a past tense form in *Дла лепшое въры Печат При/Ложилис́мо, И рвками Подписали* (1). These six forms must be added to the list of Polonisms.

3.2.2.3. становши

The most plausible interpretation of this form is that it is motivated by the Polish model (*stanowszy* is an irregular form of *stanąć* in Polish): И w еден бокъ 3 Народом Полскимъ становши, Завше вѣрне / И менъжне вшелаких Неприателев Коронных, И маестату / Вш Кр Мл громатъ (3).

3.3.3. Adjectives and deadjectival forms

3.3.3.1. Polish comparative suffixes

The suffix -š- instead of -i(j)š- is used in [C] пренасватьшим [Сакраментом] (1^v), cf. Polish przena(j)świętszy. The Polish form of the comparative suffix -ejš- occurs twice in a form of address that is most probably a loan from Polish itself: see Haracheuuú Млстивы Kp (3) and Haracheuuú Mл Kp (3^v). Elsewhere, genuinely Ruthenian \mathfrak{F} аppears in $\mathfrak{ha}/Cnpoch\mathfrak{Fuue}(1^v)$, зацн \mathfrak{F} шого (3), cf. also гор \mathfrak{F} (3).⁶

3.3.3.2. Middle Polish superlative prefix на-

Preceding [j], the prefix *ha*- (instead of *ha*- [read: *haŭ*], cf. Middle Polish *naj*- along with *na*-) is encountered in *Hatachewu MAcmus* Kp (3) and *Hatachewu MA* Kp (3^v). Once more, it occurs in a different context in *npehacBtambwum* (1^v), cf. *habonbwe* (1^v) and *ha/Cnpochbwue* (1^v).

⁶ It should be added at this point that the scribe distinguishes *ξ* and *e* quite consistently (see also 3.3.3.3.). The *e* in *μεмотноe* (3^v) might reflect a Polonized pronunciation; it should be taken into account that this adjective is used together with a genuinely Polish word in *μεмотноe* (3^v). The *e* in the root of the stem *μεщαμ*- is written consistently—obviously, the burghers of Lviv did not "Ukrainize" the *e* in this loan—whereas all forms with the stems *Μξαμ*- and *μξαμ*-reveal the etymologically correct Ukrainian: see *Μεщαμe* (1), *Πρεdμεщαμe* (1), *Μευμανω* (1), *Πρεdμεщαμωω* (1), *Μρεdμευμαμωω* (1), *Μρεdμευμαμωω* (1), *Μρεdμευμαμωω* (1^v), *μξαμωω* (1^v), *μξαμωω* (1^v), *μξαμωω* (1^v), *μξαμωω* (1^v), *μευμμ* (4^v), *μρεδμ*/*μμμαμ* (4^v), *μμεδμωω* (2^v), *μξαμωω* (1^v), *μξαμω* (1^v), *μξαμωω* (1^v), *μξαμωω* (1^v), *μξαμωω* (1^v), *μξαμωω* (1^v), *μξαμω* (1^v), *μξαμωω* (1^v), *μξαμω* (1^v),

3.3.3.3. Adverbs ending in -e

Adverbs ending in *-e* occur often, cf. 3abd мчне (1), Mahe (1^v), Ckpume (1^v), WkpSmhe (1^v), $b \pm phe$ (2x: 3 (2x)), $Meh \pm whe$ (3), etc. Adverbs ending in *-e* are widely considered to be of Polish origin (which does not apply to adverbs ending in *-b*). As regards the use of $b \pm and e$, see 3.3.3.2. Those four word forms, which have not yet been listed for other reasons (Mahe, Ckpume, $b \pm phe$ (2x)), will be added to the list.

3.3.4. Numerals

The ending of the numeral $4m\omega pe$ (read: $4m\omega peu)$ in $4m\omega pe$ $Hapodos \, scamom \, M8pt$ $Mtcma \, \Lambda sosa \, c8m \, \phi 8HdosaH\omega$ (3) is obviously adopted from Polish *czterej*. The shape of the numeral seems to be genuinely Polish in every respect. It will be added to the list.

3.4. General Statistics

The text consists of 1,722 word forms.⁷ If one extracts the Latin fragment, which has 93 words, a corpus of 1,629 words remains. Altogether, 347 out of 1,629 forms or 21.3 percent are very probably (non-ancient) loans of Polish (191 + 19 morphological), Latin (88 + 1 morphological), or German (48) origin. If the Latin fragment is included, 440 out of 1,722 forms make up as much as 25.55 percent. The following indicator is even more impressive: out of 1,629 word forms (including many frequent prepositions, conjunctions, and even the separately counted reflexive particle, etc.), only 11 stem occurrences (0.68 percent) have no immediate equivalent in Polish that is not identical, apart from the rules of historical phonology (or some other, less regular changes of the type $\kappa omopuit/który$).

⁷ As in other documents (especially manuscripts), spaces between alphabetic strings do not necessarily coincide with word boundaries. For merely technical reasons, I count letter combinations as symbols for numbers as one word form. Although some numbers in the Latin text are also rendered with Cyrillic letters, I treat them as Latin words because, in all likelihood, they were meant to be pronounced in Latin. Other forms that are questionable with regard to word counting are treated as follows: The reflexive particle *cm* is always counted separately (because it is mobile, see *Ecnucm* / Где сним покаж m_{b} (1^v)). The same applies to the mobile endings c_{Mbl}/c_{M0} and even to the particle бы: При Λ ожили с мо (1), Бы смы были (3^v), Если бы (1^v), Волати бы смы (3^v), but Икобы (1^v) and Абы (1^v). The pronominal form *my* is counted separately: *Tex my edho daposamu* [...] (3^v). The particle то is also counted separately, cf. въ том то рвском Лвовѣ (3). The particle колвекъ is also counted as a separate word form: ито колвекъ (1). Prepositions are treated as separate forms not only in З народом Полским (1), с потомствы (2v), but also in вст весполь едень За едного (1), дла того (1^v), sauo > sauo (1^v) (all prepositions are clearly written together) and even Πo xpucmutanckomy (1) (in this case, the preposition is written separately). The forms $\Pi pomow$ (1), npemowb (1°) (cf. Polish przecież), and Asawb (3) (cf. Polish azaż) are, however, counted as one word (although A sawb is obviously written separately), and the same applies not only to $3ac(3^{\nu})$ (cf. Polish zas) and $N \lambda ucm [...] > N \lambda u$ cm [...] (3^v), but also to Hacamon Ipod (1, though written together and paralleled by Hanpod (2^v etc.), cf. Polish naprzód and nasamprzód). Less problematic is the negation particle, which I always count separately if it negates a verb, although the particle is usually written together with the verb; I thus treat *Hexomtamt*₀ (3) as *He xomtamt*₀ (2). I am perfectly aware that other approaches are also feasible in all these cases. I should also add that, in general, the solutions I propose tend to generate more word forms than others. The percentages would also change correspondingly. The general picture would, however, probably remain the same.

4. Conclusion

The *Instruction* of 1609 (including the *Lament*) clearly attests that the Ruthenian burghers of Lviv struggled to maintain their separate identity (in fact, a national identity in a prenationalist expression). On the other hand, the Ruthenian language of the text again demonstrates the tremendous impact of Polish models on the Ruthenian higher culture of that time. Since the language of the *Instruction* differs only slightly from the prototypical high variant of the Middle Ruthenian language (which tends to avoid such forms as acc. sg. *cnpaße*), this strong Polish impact was obviously not due primarily to the fact that the *Instruction* was addressed to the Warsaw Diet and to the Polish king but reflects a general trend. Apparently, early modern Ruthenians did not regard the closeness of their language to Polish as problematic as long as the Cyrillic alphabet, the Ruthenian phonological structure of the morphemes, and the Ruthenian system of inflectional morphology were preserved. At the same time, it is quite obvious that people capable of using a language such as the one encountered in the *Instruction* would be able to switch to Polish very quickly.

In the age of nationalism, a language like that of the *Instruction* could not serve as a successful immediate model for the elaboration of a modern national written language. Language had by then become an important symbol of the nation. As a typical *Abstand* language (Kloss 1967), modern Ruthenian or, as it was renamed, modern Ukrainian (and modern Belarusian) was to be shaped as a language equally remote from Polish and from Russian.

WAS IVAN UŽEVYČ'S *PO3MOBA-БЕСѢДА* REALLY NOT BASED ON A POLISH MODEL?

1. Розмова-Бесѣда in a multilingual context

Some years ago, the distinguished philologist Helmut Keipert proved that the formerly somewhat mysterious Ruthenian-Church Slavonic *Po3MoBa-Eec&da* was written by Ivan Uževyč, who is well known as the author of a Ruthenian grammar (*Grammatica sclavonica*, extant in two manuscripts of 1643 and 1645) (Keipert–Bunčić 2006: VI), and that the text is a supplement¹ to a very popular multilingual conversation book originally written by Noël de Berlaimont (Keipert 2001). De Berlaimont wrote his conversation book in the 1620s to teach French to students and merchants in Antwerp (Bunčić 2006: 14). It was subsequently translated into several languages, and a number of text variants emerged. There are several Slavic versions: Czech (Leipzig, 1602 and 1611), Polish (Warsaw, 1646), Russian (a manuscript preserved in Copenhagen), and translations into Ruthenian and Church Slavonic (ibid., 15). It is in fact astonishing that prior to Helmut Keipert, no one detected that *Po3Mo8a-Eec&da*—a truly unique Middle Ruthenian text—is a translation of Berlaimont's name is even mentioned in Uževyč's manuscript!²

As Helmut Keipert and his former disciple Daniel Bunčić have demonstrated in their studies, Ivan Uževyč's version is one of those that almost literally translate the Latin text. In particular, Latin *Petro detur iste locus* is rendered as *Петрови дайте moê мѣстице* in the Ruthenian version, as compared to *Piotrowi niech to będźie dáne mieysce* in the Polish text (which, in this case, holds even more accurately to the original). Other versions usually offer a free translation: for example, they do not try to find an equivalent for Latin *locus*: see English *let Peter sit theare* (seventeenthcentury spelling), German *lasst Petern dort sitzen*, French *laissez Pierre seoir la*, Czech *nechažt' tu Petr sedne*, or Russian *Вели тудый Петру сѣсть* (Keipert–Bunčić 2005: XXVII–XXVIII).

In their recent publications, Helmut Keipert and Daniel Bunčić draw a conclusion that looks quite surprising in light of the typical pattern of the early modern period. According to these two scholars, Uževyč did not use the Polish version (Keipert–Bunčić 2005: XXV–XXIX; Bunčić 2006: 126–127). In my review of Keipert's and Bunčić's excellent four-language edition (Latin, Polish, Ruthenian, Church Slavonic) of Berlaimont's conversation book, I already expressed my doubts about this conclusion and promised to return to the topic (Moser 2006c).³

¹ With regard to *Розмова-Бесъда*, it has not been established whether it belongs to the Ukrainian or the Belarusian tradition (see Bunčić 2006).

² Nonetheless, as late as 2007, the Cracow Slavist Adam Fałowski had every reason to state that "perhaps only a small group of specialists in Ukraine [and not only there] are aware of the source of *Розмова-Бесѣда*" (Fałowski 2007: 435).

³ This article has been written for the express purpose of fulfilling that promise. I will not discuss the Church Slavonic version of the conversation book here, although it is undoubtedly of great general interest. The Church Slavonic version does not, however, contribute anything to the discussion of our major question, for Uževyč obviously translated it from the Ruthenian version.

In my view, there is little doubt that Uževyč worked with the Polish translation of Berlaimont's conversation book.

2. Arguments against the dependence of the Ruthenian version on the Polish one—and counterarguments

In his excellent monograph on *Po3MoBa-Bectada*, Daniel Bunčić himself quotes some sections in which the Ruthenian and Polish text versions are strikingly similar indeed. With reference to those sections, he argues that "such passages" inspire the belief that the Polish version was at least "available to Uževyč" (Bunčić 2006: 125), and that "One might contend that Uževyč translated from the Polish original but consciously wanted to distance himself from it in order to demonstrate how different Ruthenian was from Polish" (ibid., 126).⁴ Nonetheless, both Bunčić and his former mentor Keipert consider this hypothesis unfounded and are convinced that Uževyč did not know the Polish text. I offer a discussion of their most important arguments below.

2.1.1. Argument 1

It is allegedly obvious that if Uževyč had used the Polish original, he would have been unable to translate those sections that do not appear in the Warsaw printing (e.g., 4^v , 5^v , 13^v , 34^r – 35^r , 36^v , 67^v – 71^r).

2.1.2. Counterargument 1

One does not necessarily have to agree with this argument. Daniel Bunčić himself concedes that Uževyč could have used more than one version: why could this not have been the Warsaw printing and another version? The author could easily have translated the parts omitted in the Warsaw printing from the Latin text of his other version, and he might in fact have known only the Polish section of the Warsaw printing, for example, as a handwritten excerpt.⁵ He was certainly prepared for such an eventuality, as he knew Latin well enough to correct or amend the Polish translation in numerous instances. See, for example, the following section, where the Ruthenian version literally renders the Latin original (RB: 4–5):

nemo enim est	Zadnego bowiem / nie	Жаденъ бовѣмъ не -е̂ сть
vel in Gallia []	mász we Fráncyey/ []	Любъ ве Франџии []
vel in Italia []	we Włoszech [],	любъ ве Влошехъ []
quin []	żeby []	которыйбы []

^{4 &}quot;Solche Stellen legen die Vermutung nahe, Uževyč habe bei seiner Übersetzung die polnische Version zumindest vorgelegen [...] Man könnte annehmen, dass Uževyč aus der polnischen Vorlage übersetzte, sich aber bewusst von ihr absetzen wollte, um zu zeigen, wie sich das Ruthenische vom Polnischen unterscheidet."

78

⁵ I developed this last part of my counterargument in the course of an e-mail discussion with Daniel Bunčić.

2.2.1. Argument 2

The editors emphasize that Uževyč indicates eight languages into which Berlaimont's conversation book had been translated, although the Warsaw printing features only six language versions. Uževyč even lists these eight languages but does not include Polish.

2.2.2. Counterargument 2

One can disagree with this argument as well. First, Uževyč might simply have referred to an eight-language version without paying particular attention to the fact that a Polish version existed as well. Second, he might consciously have sought to mislead his potential West European readers, who were not necessarily aware that he was well acquainted with the Polish version, and most of whom probably would not have known that a Polish translation existed at all. The Ruthenian version is often so close to the Polish one that anyone with a good command of both languages would immediately have treated Uževyč's achievement as a translator with considerably more reserve than a reader unaware of the Polish text. It is in fact obvious that in the course of his work with the Polish text, Uževyč made many changes. He did so not only to bring his Ruthenian version closer to the Latin text but also to distance it from the Polish one. As the first lines of the text demonstrate (RB: 4–5), he occasionally changed word order (*Łaskáwy Czytelniku* > Чителнику ласкавый, [...] pożyteczna y użyteczna jest > такъ есть пожитечная), morphemes of almost identical word forms (e.g., prefixes: wychwalona > похвалено), and some word forms ($bárzo > ma\kappa_b$, y > ahi, $\dot{z}e > u\kappa_b$).

Amice Lector,	Łaskáwy Czy/telniku.	Чителнику ласкавый
hic liber	Tá Kśiążka bár-	Тая книга
adeò commodus est	zo pożyteczna y	
<i>et</i> utilis,	użyteczna jest/	такъ есть пожитечная
eiusque usus ita necessarius, ut non satis ne à doctis quidam laudari	a jey záżywánie ták potrzebne/ że nie dosyć y od uczonych wy- chwalona bydź	 И-юнои уживанê такъ есть потребноê ижъ не-досыть ани ѿ учоныхъ похвалено быти

Many of Uževyč's changes to the Polish text can be regarded as genuine amendments. In the above-quoted passage, however, Uževyč could provisionally have translated Latin *commodus...et utilis* with the single word *noжumeчная* under the influence of the Polish text, which offers two all too similar forms. Uževyč had good reason to adopt only one of them.

2.3.1. Argument 3

Bunčić further contends that the Polish version cannot have been available to Uževyč, as he would then have used that version in those individual cases where the Latin version had become "completely incomprehensible" in the Denhagen or Derft printing of 1613, which Uževyč undoubtedly used (Bunčić 2006: 126).⁶

2.3.2. Counterargument 3

At first glance, this argument seems very convincing, but it is important to check the relevant sections in detail:

a) In the following fragment, the fine Polish translation was based on the original Latin version (Keipert–Bunčić 2005: XXXI):

quid tibi tantum pr o sit stuferus unus aut alter	coż ći za pożytek da/ jeden grosz y drugi
---	---

The Latin version with which Uževyč worked was actually corrupt, but Uževyč simply translated as if that were not the case (RB: 116–117]:

quid tibi tantum presit stuferus unus aut	POPULARIS: чемужъ тобѣ такъ панует
alter	штибръ е̂динъ або другии
	(SACRA: почто убо та́ко царствует ти штибръ единъ и́ли другии)

What does this imply? Even though the Latin version with which Uževyč worked was corrupt, it made sense anyway. On the basis of several inaccurate Polish translations of the Latin text, Uževyč may have believed that in this case as well, his Latin text was fine, but the Polish translation was bad. As mentioned above, the fact that Uževyč knew the Polish version does not necessarily imply that he was acquainted with the Latin text of the Warsaw printing. Most importantly, however, Uževyč had no reason to believe that his Latin text was corrupt at all.

b) At first glance, the following example seems convincing (Keipert–Bunčić 2005: XXXII). The Polish version renders the original and correct Latin version very well:

80

^{6 &}quot;[...] Uževyč hätte bei einigen durch Abschreibfehler völlig unverständlich gewordenen Stellen in der lateinischen Vorlage die gut verständliche polnische Übersetzung zu Rate ziehen müssen."

In this instance as well, the Latin version with which Uževyč worked was corrupt: the gerund form *disceptandi* had changed into *dispectam dic*, so that the form *disceptam* did not make sense.

ut disceptam [sic!] dic fine <i>m</i> faciamus	POPULARIS: повѣжъ абысмы конец учинили (SACRA: а повѣжъ да конец сотворити возможем)
--	---

Uževyč simply ignored the incomprehensible word (*disceptam*) but translated every other word accurately. He could do so with no problem because the word *disceptam* adds almost no information in this particular context, where it is obvious that a deal is being made (RB: 222–223):

[] percontemur	[] spytaymy jeżeli	[] спробуймы
si quadraginta solidos	zá czterdźieśći / szelągów	если сорокъ солдовъ
velit decidere.	będźie chćiáł / puśćić.	хочет wпустити
Num eam acceptari sumus?	czy go mamy / wziąć?	если wныи wзмемъ?
C. Ita prorsus si quam mihi	C. Zgołá ták	такъ згола
fidem habes	jeżeli mi / wierzysz/	если ми вѣришъ
neque	áni	ани
te pœnituerit.	będziesz żáłował	будешъ жаловати.
[]	[żałowął!]	[]
	[]	
B. ecquid placent	á podobać się / wźiąć	подобает ли ся
triginta libræ	trzydźieśći libr	тридцат золотыхъ
pro ambabus partibus	zá obie sztuce?	за обѣдве штуце
ut disceptam [???] dic	abysmy kończyli	повѣжъ абысмы конец
fine <i>m</i> fa-		учинили
/ ciamus ?	/ targ	
argentum	tálárámić	гроши
tibi numerabitur	odliczemy.	тобѣ ѿличимъ.

If Uževyč did not see the original Latin text, then he was not necessarily aware that the Polish version was "better" in this case. As he understood it, the Polish version could simply have been a perfectly appropriate free translation of a corrupt Latin fragment. Proceeding from this assumption, Uževyč would have been quite right to contend that his solution was no worse than that of the Polish translator. After all, he did not know that this Polish translator had had the opportunity to work with a non-corrupt Latin text. c) The last fragment that is of interest with regard to Bunčić's final argument (Bunčić 2006: 126–127) features the locution *cognata lustrica* in the Latin version. Bunčić argues that Uževyč did not know that expression, hesitated to translate it, and decided to fill the empty space in his manuscript later (as in other instances, by the way) (RB: 96–97):

C. Precor tibi feli-	Zyczęć dniá	Жычу Тобѣ щасли-
cem hunc diem	tego szczęsliwego	вого сего дня
cognata lustrica,	kmoszko/	
et tuis sodalibus.	y temu / towárzystwu.	и твоимъ товарышомъ.
M. Et ego tibi	M. Y ja też tobie	М. и га тобъ
Cognata lustrica.	kmoszko.	

Bunčić argues that the Polish version would have helped Uževyč, who, as Bunčić assumes, simply did not know the Latin expression. However, Uževyč may equally well have hesitated over the most appropriate translation of *cognata lustrica* into Ruthenian; he could also have had difficulty with the translation of the Polish word *kmoszka*. Simply adopting the Polish word would not have been a good decision: although the early modern "Common Ruthenian" language is characterized by a very large number of Polish loans, this word in particular was either used quite rarely or not used at all, as witness the fact that not only the historical dictionaries of the Ukrainian language but also the card file of the *Dictionary of the Old Ukrainian Language of the Sixteenth and Seventeenth Centuries* at the Ivan Kryp'jakevyč Institute of Ukrainian Studies in Lviv have no such lexical entry as *KMOUKA*. Uževyč might have postponed a decision on how best to translate *cognata lustrica* for many reasons. One of them might have been that the Polish translation was of little help to him in this particular case.

To sum up, we are not finally convinced by any of the arguments against the assumption that Uževyč used the Polish translation of Berlaimont's conversation book.

3. Arguments supporting the assumption that Ivan Uževyč worked with the Polish version

3.1. Mistakes and corrections

As one comes to the conclusion that the intriguing and serious arguments put forth by Helmut Keipert and Daniel Bunčić are anything but irrefutable, the general impression emerges that Uževyč was perfectly well acquainted with the Polish version and in fact made extensive use of it. Occasionally, however, Uževyč obviously wanted to offer a better translation than his predecessor. Moreover, he wanted to conceal his acquaintance with the Polish text.

82

Two examples are of particular interest in this regard. In both cases, Uževyč, temporarily lacking concentration, initially used the same word forms as in the Polish version but subsequently corrected them.

a) In the first example, Uževyč had already written the Polish word form in one line but then replaced it with a Ruthenian form in the new line, when he noticed that he had just continued as in the Polish version and, moreover, in the wrong line (the translation was as interlinear as possible):

P. Quid hominis est?	P. Co zá czło/wiek jest:	Р: што за чловѣкъ е̂сть
I. Non novi	I. Nie znám	I: не-знаю юиче
Pater	oycze/	Ѿче [RB: 58–59].

b) In the second example, Uževyč had already written the word form οδο3^b but eventually rejected it, although this word and even some derivatives of it were widely used in early modern Ruthenian (see οδο3^b, οδο3Hu&, οδο3OBHU, οδο3HUW, οδο3OBHU, οδο3HUW, οδο3OBHU, οδο3HUW, οδο3HUW, οδο3HUW, οδο3HUW, οδο3HUW, obviously, this replacement could have been made quite independently of the Polish text, since Uževyč was obviously looking for the best translation of sive castra sequitur, sive iter faciat and reached the perfectly appropriate conclusion that these Latin phraseological units should not be translated literally (as far as I know, no early modern Ruthenian phraseological units such as cxboosamu οδο3aMb or uuHumu/∂bAamu/po6umu dopozy existed). Accordingly, Uževyč made a rather successful attempt to create a better translation than his Polish predecessor:

nam sive quis	Abowie <i>m</i> / luboby	албовемъ любо кто
mercaturae intentus sit sive in Aula versetur sive castra sequatur, sive	kto kupecki hán/del prowádźił/ lub ná Dworze się báwił/ lub w oboźie służył/ lub w drogę já-	купецтвомъ-ся бавить любо при-двору-се знайдуеть любо в ю на войнѣ зостаеть любо
iter faciat, opus esset interprete aliquo, saltem alicuius harum linguarum.	chał/ potrzebáby Tłu- mácza jakiego/ przynamniey któ rego tych językow.	в'-дорозѣ потреба бы было тлумача не¤кого принамнеи которогоколвек з' тыхъ ¤зыковъ [RB: 6–7].

My last argument in this section is based on the following example, where Uževyč had already decided to translate the Latin word form *aperito* literally and had already begun to write *шапку* as an equivalent of Polish *czapkę* but then noticed that he had already used the verbal form *шпкрый*, which required another noun one that differed from that of the Polish version, with its rather free translation:

aperito caput	czapkę zdym	Ωткрый ш голову [RB: 30–31]
---------------	-------------	---

3.2. Common deviations of the Polish and Ruthenian versions from the Latin original

In the following fragment, the Latin original makes no mention of God, but in the Ruthenian and Polish versions "Jan" (i.e., a person bearing the Polish equivalent of the name *Ioannes*) asks God for his blessing:

Ioannes,	Jáśiu,	Ине
consecra mensam.	przeżegnay stoł.	прежекгнаи столъ
I. Libenter mea mater.	I. Chętnie / moja mátko/	хентне пани матко
Felix faustumque sit	Day ći Boże szcę/ście	богъ благословит вамъ
vobis pater,	Oycze/	вамъ ѿче
ac mea mater,	y mátko mojá/	и матко
totique sodalitio.	y wszytkiemu towárzystwu.	и всему-товариству [RB: 40–41]

Interestingly, Uževyč used the Polonism *прежекгнати* in this fragment. Although the verb *жекгнати*, *жегнати* does occur elsewhere in early modern Ruthenian sources (SUM 16–17 IX: 138; Tym I : 249), there is no entry for *прежекгнати* in Tym I: 212). Neither is there an entry for the Polonism *хентне* (< Polish *chętnie*) (ibid., 461) in Tymčenko's dictionary (Tym), and Uževyč himself almost consistently translated *chętnie* with other Ruthenian equivalents such as *wxomhe* (RB: 26–27), *з*-*wx*оты (ibid., 38–39), etc. elsewhere. The verb *прежекгнати* occurs twice in *Po3Mo8a-Бесѣдa* (Bunčić 2006: 486), whereas the simple verb *жекгнати* is not used (ibid., 432). In both cases, the Ruthenian forms are used as equivalents of Polish *przeżegnać*. Likewise, Uževyč uses the adverb *хентне* thrice; in two cases, it renders Polish *chętnie*; in the third case, it is used instead of Polish *z chęcia* (ibid., 518). There are many more striking parallels between the Ruthenian and Polish versions of the text that can hardly be explained as mere coincidence.

3.3. Parallels that can hardly be explained as mere coincidence

Needless to say, any translator always has several options at his or her disposal, even if the translation is meant to be a literal one. Choices have to be made from among several synonyms or quasi-synonyms at the lexical level, and choices have to be made among various constructions on the level of syntax. Translations from Latin prepared in Austrian gymnasia are usually of very limited esthetic value because the students are primarily obliged to render the Latin text as accurately as possible. Nonetheless, if any two translations show particularly striking coincidences, a good teacher will often manage to deduce that one of his students has copied his or her test from another. If an imaginary teacher of Latin were to have reviewed the Ruthenian and Polish translations from Latin quoted below, it would be astonishing if he did not conclude that the Ruthenian student had copied from the Polish one, sometimes translating even better than the Pole but obviously depending on the latter's work.

Quam rem nobiscu <i>m con</i> siderantes, non sine magno nostro sumptu, tuo vero magno commodo has linguas ita coniunximus ordineque disposuimus	Ktorą rzecz z ná- mi uważając/ ne bez wielkiego nászego kosztu/ twego zaś wiel- kiego pożytku/ te języki ták zlą [так!] czylismy y po- rządkiem położyli	Которую речъ сами в-собѣ уважаючи не безъ вели́кого нашого кошту твое̂го зась великого пожитку тыи вазыки такъ злучилисмо и порядкомъ положилисмо
ita	czylismy y po-	
	5 551	
ordineque disposuimus		положилисмо
ut	iż potym tobie	абысь
post hac tibi	żadnego nie po-	напотымъ
nullo sit opus	tzreba będźie	жадного непотребовал
interprete,	Tłumáczá/	тлумача
sed facilè	ále łátwie ony-	лечъ латво
iis ipse loqui possis	mi sam mowić/ możesz	ωными самъ мовити моглъ
tibique commodare,	y tobie	и тобѣ выгодити
observata tantum	być pożyteczny/	упатрывъши тылко
varia	upátruy tylko	розмаитую
diversarum nationum	rożne rozmái-	· ·
/pronunciatone.	tych Narodow /wyrażenie.	розныхъ наций вымову [RB: 6–9].

The fragments are strikingly similar indeed.

The fact that Uževyč, for example, repeatedly used the leave-taking expression $\delta y \partial b \lambda ac \kappa a \beta$ (five times, not four, as stated in Bunčić 2006: 450), and that this expression always corresponds to Polish b a d z' t a s k a w, looks like more than mere coincidence (see the following example, where $\delta y \partial b \lambda a c \kappa a \beta$ only seemingly renders Polish $b a d z' z d r \delta w$):

Vale	Bądź łáskaw	мѣйся добре
<i>et</i> salve.	Y zdrow.	и будь ласкавъ [RB: 262–263].

As elsewhere, Uževyč changed the word order; nevertheless, Ruthenian *бyдь λacκaвь* is again based on Polish *bądź łáskaw*.

The indefinite numeral *use* does not belong to the most widespread lexical Polonisms in Early Modern Ruthenian texts, although it was used occasionally (Tym I: 347). Since Uževyč uses this word thrice in his grammar, it is obvious that he used it even independently of Polish models. In *Posmosa-Бесѣдa*, however, the word form occurs twice, and in both cases it corresponds to Polish *ile*. Polish *ile*, in turn, is used seven times, and Uževyč translates it four times with *akcb Geze*, and once with *akcb*. In the following examples, Uževyč uses the word *use*, which is undoubtedly a Polonism (although no sound law allows full confidence):

Estne in poculo tuo ce- revisia? F. Est mater, quantum satis est.	á jestże / w twoim kuflu piwo? F. Jest mátko ile potrzebá	Есть ли в' кубку твоем пи́во Пиво е̂сть матко иле потреба [RB: 56–57].
ne huic parcas hospitio quoties hac iter habebis nam no <i>n</i> minus commodè ac libteraliter hic excipieris, quam in quovis diver- sorio Antverpiano.	nie mijay tey gospody ile rázy tędy po/jedźiesz/ ábowiem wcze/snieć tu usłużą/ y choynie ucze/strują ániżeli w inszey gospodźie / Antwerpskiey.	не wмиаи тоии́ господы иле-крот сюды поѣдешъ кгдыжъ не-мнѣй вчасне и достатечне ту будешъ чостованыи анижли в-которомъ дому антверпским [RB: 256–257].

The adjective unemhbili was quite frequently used in Early Modern Ruthenian (see Tymčenko II: 501), but its use in the following fragment is very probably based on the Polish version (the word occurs in *Posmoea-Бесѣдa* only once: see Bunčić 2006: 523). Moreover, the appearance of the Polonism iox(b) in combination with the mobile personal ending of the first person singular -*ens* in combination with the verb *mosuna* was definitely not the only option to translate Latin *iam dixi* (*tibi*). Uževyč merely replaced the clitical dative form of the second person pronoun (*ći* > *moбѣ*):

iam dixi tibi plus vicies,	Jużemći mówił więcey nád dwá/dźieśćiá rázy/	южемъ мовила тобѣ венцей нижъ двадцать разовъ
nihil addiscis valde turpe est	nic nieumiesz/ bárzo szpetna / rzecz jest	ничого не-учишъ-ся барзо есть шпетне [RB: 26–27].

The past tense form with the personal ending also occurs in the following example. That is not astonishing, as this past tense form is in common use, and there is little reason to assume that it is a Polonism as such (the model is used in southwestern Ukrainian dialects to this day). In the example quoted below, however, the only difference between the Ruthenian and Polish versions is that Uževyč moved the reflexive particle from the modal auxiliary to the infinitive form to which it belongs. Moreover, it is worth noting that the form $\partial_A y xe \tilde{u}$, which occurs in *Po3Mosa-Bectada* eight times (along with $\partial o_A xe \tilde{u}$ (2), Bunčić 2006: 427), does not occur in the same line as Latin *diutius* but leans toward the Polish model. Uževyč temporarily forgot to "improve" the Polish translation:

Non audivi,	Niesłyszałem	не-слышалемъ
non possum	nie mogę się / dłużey	не-могу длужей
diutius morari	bawić	бавитися [RB: 22–23].

In the following example, Uževyč adopts the Polonism *semu* "dessert" without hesitation but replaces the Polish conjunction *oraz*, which—as *wpa3b*—occurs in Uževyč's grammar but not in *Po3Mo8a-Бесѣдa* (Bunčić 2006: 470). If Uževyč translated from Latin only, why does he offer three equivalents of Latin *unà*? Was this not the result of a desperate search for a better, more literal translation of Latin *unus* "one, common"?

adfer bellaria	przynieś / wety	принеси ве́ты
unà com caseo	oraz y z serem	посполу/веспол/заедно з' Сыром (RB: 86–87].

Uževyč's use of modal verbs, particularly his use of $Myc \pounds mu$, supports the impression that he used the Polish version. In "PosMoba-Bec \pounds da," one often reads about what people should or must do, which is usually expressed with gerundives in Latin. In the Polish and Ruthenian versions, it is above all the predicative form $(no)mpe \delta a/(po)trzeba$ that is used in such cases, in which Uževyč followed the Polish

version in some instances but not in others. More revealing is the use of $Mycumu/Myc{zmu}$, for this modal verb is used only twice in $Po3Mosa-Bec{z}da$, and in both cases it corresponds to Polish musi(e)c (cf. Bunčić 2006: 458; Polish musi(e)c is used twice as often as Ruthenian $Mycumu/Myc{zmu}$; in both other cases Uževyč translated it with nompe6a; see ibid., 559). Although $Mycumu/Myc{zmu}$ was used quite often in Early Modern Ruthenian (Tymčenko I: 440; see also Modern Standard Ukrainian Mycimu/Mycumu), it does not appear to have been one of Uževyč's favorite verbs. Where the Polish version has the predicative forms potrzebá (17 examples) or trzebá (14 examples), or the modal verb miec (Bunčić 2006: 563; 566; 559), Uževyč never uses the German loanword.⁷

In the first example, Latin gerundives are identically translated with *mycumu/ myc*^{*}*mu* and *musi*(*e*)*ć*:

F. Morare paulisper,	F. Poczekay / trochę /	F: забавъ-ся трошку
bibendum tibi est.	Muśisz pić.	мусишъ пити
H. Abeundum mihi est.	H. Potrzebá mi / odeyść.	Н. потреба-ми ѿиити [RB: 64–65].

The second example confirms that Uževyč often wanted to find some better equivalents of Latin words than his Polish predecessor, with whose translations he was not always satisfied. Uževyč did, however, adopt the use of *mycumu/mycѣmu*:

G. Nunc certe mihi pe-	Zaprawdę u / mnie	Теразъ заправды гро-
cunia non est ad manum,	teraz skąpo pie/niędzy	шеи не-маю в-рукахъ
expendi quicquid	wydałem / com tylko	роздалемъ штоколвекъ
pecuniæ habebam,	pieniędzy miał/	грошии мѣлемъ
expectandum tibi erit	muśisz / czekáć	мусишъ почекати
etiam octo dies.	lub z ośm.	wсмъ днии [RB: 124–125].

For more parallels that can hardly be explained as mere concidence, see also the last example in section 3.2.

⁷ The verb mieć occurs 108 times in the Polish version, but not only in the modal meaning; in two cases, it occurs where the Ruthenian version uses nompe6a (ibid., 559). I would like to use this opportunity to thank my friends from the Ivan Kryp'jakevyč Institute of Ukrainian Studies for allowing me to check several word forms in the card file of the Dictionary of the Old Ukrainian Language of the Sixteenth and Seventeenth Centuries during my stay in Lviv on 1–10 October 2010.

4. Conclusion

Helmut Keipert and Daniel Bunčić, the editors of *Posmoba-Бесѣda*, have repeatedly argued that Ivan Uževyč made this translation of Noël de Berlaimont's conversation book independently of its Polish version. As demonstrated in this paper, it is more likely that Uževyč made ample use of the Polish version.

Unfortunately, not much is known about Ivan Uževyč's life, but it is very likely that he was born between 1610 and 1620 and passed away before 1678 (Bunčić 2006: 86). Regarding the question of when and where Uževyč wrote his *Po3Mo8a-Bect∂a*, Helmut Keipert and Daniel Bunčić have concluded that it was written "in the mid-seventeenth century" (ibid., 95) or "in the 1640s," most likely in Paris (Keipert–Bunčić 2005: VII). If we are correct in assuming that Uževyč worked with a copy of the Polish version of the conversation book from the Warsaw printing of 1646, then the year 1646 can now be considered a new *terminus post quem*.

SOME PHONOLOGICALLY MARKED META-POLONISMS IN KYRYLO TRANKVILION-STRAVROVEC'KYJ'S ПЕРЛО МНОГШЦѢННОЄ

1. Kyrylo Trankvilion-Stavrovec'kyj and his Перло многwцѣнноє

In 1985, Nikolaos (back then, Hartmut) Trunte published Перло многwu внное, one of the most important works of Middle Ruthenian literature, as a volume in the series "Bausteine zur Geschichte der Literatur bei den Slaven" (Building Blocks for the History of Slavic Literature). In a second volume, he discussed this work extensively (Trunte 1985). Kyrylo Trankvilion-Stavrovec'kyj most likely hailed from the western Ukrainian region of Volhynia. His Перло многицинное was first printed in 1646 in the northern Ukrainian town of Chernihiv and reissued in the Belarusian town of Mahilioŭ in 1699. It was one of the works that gained broad distribution among all Eastern Slavs: outside Poland-Lithuania, these included not only Ruthenians in the Kingdom of Hungary but also Muscovites. Regarding the latter, the work became widely known even though Patriarch Ioakim of Moscow branded it heretical in January 1690, as Trankvilion-Stavrovec'kyj had converted to the Union (Trunte 1985: 5). The fact that the language of Перло многwцѣнное is very remote from the "pure" Church Slavonic of the East Slavic recensions did not impinge on the popularity of the book. But neither can its language be identified in its entirety as "prototypically" representative of the early modern Ruthenian written language, the so-called "Common Ruthenian" language ("prosta mova"), as is the case of the language of Kyrylo's equally prominent contemporary Ioanikij Galjatovs'kyj. There are only some passages of Перло многицивнное that, as in "prototypical 'Common Ruthenian," correspond to early modern Polish on the lexical and syntactic levels but differ from it on the levels of phonology, graphemics, and inflectional morphology (Moser 2011: 112–131).

Nonetheless, elements explicitly marked as Polonisms are anything but rare in *Перло многwutbnhoe*. This article deals only with those words and morphemes that co-occur with genetically differently marked equivalents as free or stylistically or metrically marked variants. The basis is a selection of all phonologically marked Polonisms in the work (on not phonologically marked Polonisms in general, cf. Moser 2007). Drawing on Dean S. Worth (1974: 22), who once defined "metaslav(on)isms" as "a variant (or potentially variant) morpheme or word whose constituents form (real or potential) ChSI-ESI [Church Slavonic–East Slavonic] pairs" (for a more detailed discussion of metaslavisms, with reference to a Ruthenian text, cf. also Keipert 1988), this article will use the term "meta-Polonisms."

2. Polonisms in Ukrainian and in PM

Despite the obviously important role of Polish elements in Ukrainian, they have not been sufficiently researched. Rosemarie Richardt's doctoral thesis of 1957 (Richardt 1957) delivered quite a valuable account, but it is now outdated in many ways. Since then, some essential articles on the subject of Polonisms have been published and discussed, for instance, by Michał Łesiów (2000). There has been no larger up-to-date study. As Łesiów correctly noted, a new stage of research on Polish-Ukrainian relations should begin, at the latest, when the new etymological dictionary of Ukrainian is completed.¹ Another essential resource is now available as well, namely the first comprehensive etymological dictionary of Polish that corresponds to the contemporary state of research (Boryś 2005). Historical dictionaries of Ukrainian, such as SUM XVI–XVII,² published in 1994, or Jevhen Tymčenko's two-volume work, published in 2002–3 (Tym), are no less important for this endeavor.

The present work will examine those elements of $\Pi epilon MHOZOUIBHHOE$ (hereafter PM) that are explicitly marked as Polonisms on the phonological level. The word pool of PM attests almost all phonological characteristics of Polonisms in the East Slavic languages, but only some of the lexemes or morphemes exhibiting those features function as meta-Polonisms. Generally, Polonisms in PM are by no means concentrated only in specific text passages, which means that those Polonisms do not occur merely as a result of some kind of code-switching from Church Slavonic to "Common Ruthenian." Polonisms are also frequently used in an otherwise entirely Church Slavonic context, as the following citation shows: here, the Germanism *nex/pumcmba*, which was integrated into Polish, is used in close proximity to the marked Church Slavonism *znadHSvo* and the dative absolute *Ud8ug8 mu do upcmba mboezo* (which in turn contains the Polish or, rather, Ruthenian non-limitative do):³

[...] простри гойн&ю Р&к& свою / Насыти гладн&ю д&ш& мою. / На п&ти пелгримства твоего. / Ид&щ& ми до црства твоего (35, 262–263).

In the following citation, which otherwise tends to use Church Slavonic forms, the morphologically marked Polonism ecmec(b) (< Polish *jesteś*) is used (the form mbi M' we is also marked as Ruthenian):

Ты в лижеснахъ Мтрнихъ; Дхомъ стымъ исщенна / Тым'же Дхом' стым', и в' Рождествѣ єстес просвѣщенна (64, 14–15).

По wномъ вѣку страшномъ, и кривавомъ, // непокойномъ; показанw Іwанови стому; вѣк′ теразнѣйшій; настоащій вѣкъ покоа, и всакои

¹ Volume 6, extending to the letter *s*, came out in 2012.

² The comprehensive card file of the Ivan Kryp'jakevyč Institute of Ukrainian Studies in Lviv could not be consulted for this article.

³ See also гойный, which is a Czech loan in Polish (hojny < Czech hojný).

роскош^{",4} в' достатку Пшеницъ, Вина и wливи. Але той въкъ; тмою черности покритїй, а то въкъ власный нашъ; теперъшный [...] (214, 203–207).

In the following example, the gloss is remarkable, as the term вѣншвемъ as well as зычимw (on the latter, cf. Ševel'ov 1979: 695) were borrowed from Polish and adopted into Ruthenian:

Вѣнш¥емъ и зычимѡ вашимъ милwстамъ; дост¥пити всѣхъ wнихъ добродѣйствъ предреченныхъ. А на знакъ зичливости нашеи, Заспѣваемѡ; вам Пѣснь веселїа Вѣчного (99, 189–191).

In other instances, a Church Slavonic or Ruthenian synonym sometimes occurs instead of a marked Polonism without being glossed, cf. κλαματιβο and λοκτ in the first two as well as *nomemnion-*, *npokλam-* and others in the remaining examples (in the last example, both lexemes are in turn located in close proximity to each other):

Прето стый Павелъ, Апслъ Хвъ, розбивает кламство геретицкое, и показуетъ асни, аки с посродку üctyncтва Антихристъ вийдетъ з орды геретицко^н (218, 320–321).

Подможъ єще; до купцивъ тоги свъта, какиваа тма тамо и черность; при вазъ ихъ; невинныи клатвы, кривоприсазтва, фалше, ложъ правдъ мъсце засъла, неправедное зобрана; тмою // черности покрито (215, 235–239). [...] таковый идетъ на въчное потемпена, мукъ въчныхъ (193, 9).

А щожъ тобѣ поможетъ сватный мїролюбче; твоа проклатаа гордына, и прожнаа слава, и роскошъ мі́ра сегw. сладкі^и покарми, и напwu, свѣтлыи

ризы, и перфwми твwи (203, 221–204, 223).

Але вы моцно по всей силѣ бѣсwвскои потоптали. / и Ча́ртwвъ до вѣчнои тмы проклатихъ загнали (83, 74).

[...] и поженуть их въ море геенское; wгнемъ сърчанимъ горащеє; и димомъ смродливимъ и горкимъ покритое, тогда ѿ проклатихъ; и потемпюнымъ грѣшникwвъ (244, 21–23).

The noteworthy fact that the toponym *MockeBckux* 'Muscovite' (locative plural) in *b KPAAX npSckux, u MockeBckux, u pSckux* (6, 108) appears as a marked Polonism (because of its e < b) shows how heavily the author's view of Eastern Europe is influenced by the Polish perspective.

The impact of Polish even extends far into the grammar. The following Ruthenian examples primarily confirm the state of affairs of Polish grammar, namely the notion that the temporal suffix l in word final -dl had already become silent in Polish preterite masculine singular—at least in the variety of Polish with which Kyrylo Trankvilion-Stavrovec'kyj was familiar. Interpreting these as archaic participles appears to be practically impossible in the selected examples:

⁴ Here, I invariably render the *κeHduMa* (κέντημα) (``) as superscript *u*, even when it may well represent *ũ*.

А єсли той вѣкъ кривавый прешед, але памѧть єгѡ; нехай буде при насъ навѣки (214, 194–195).

А по семъ штворена третам Печать; тайных судебъ Бжіїихь; и вишедъ Конь черный, а той що сидѣл' на немъ, маетъ Ваґу в' руцѣ своєй (214, 198–201). [...] и оу великой жалости начнет скаржити пред Бгомъ на грѣшника; акw той не слухалъ ради єгw; гды в' совѣсти невидимо оупоминалъ єгw; // абы ш грѣха пересталъ и що найпрудше шед на покамнё, а грѣшникъ таковою радою Агглскию погордѣвъ: и не послухалъ єгw ради; доброгw предводитела своєгw, але за радою бѣсовскию пошедъ навѣки мучитиса (238, 914–918).

In other instances, even the entirely Polish substantive ending *-e* in the nominative-accusative singular of masculine substantives with a soft or historically soft stem occurs, cf. κpae and $\phi a \lambda we$ in the following two examples taken from prose works, which means that they certainly cannot be explained by constraints due to rhyme:

Той Палемон' Либа, зебравшиса с килку товаришивъ, маючи при собъ килка сет члбка; заихалъ wкрутами: в тыи полничны^и крає, ицїанем Нъмецкимъ (5, 76–79).

Подможъ єще; до купцивъ тоги свѣта, какиваа тма тамо и черность; при вазѣ ихъ; невинныи клатвы, кривоприсазтва, фалше, ложъ правдѣ мѣсце засѣла, неправедное зобрана; тмою // черности покрито (215, 235–239).

3. Meta-Polonisms in PM

This part will be concerned solely with meta-Polonisms in PM. Among these, we will also encounter inflectional suffixes that, in contrast to those mentioned earlier, can only be set in relation to their Church Slavonic or East Slavic equivalents on the phonological level.

1) The agent noun *wбронцо*, which exhibits the Polish metathesis of liquid consonants, is also marked by the Polish suffix -c(a). Elsewhere, the action noun *wборон s* occurs with full East Slavic vocalization.⁵ The Church Slavonic form of the root occurs without a prefix in *Ид8щ8 из звътмазтвомъ ш браны*, / и всъ Стыи тамо с нимъ събраны (109, 29–30):

Прето не wстави насъ Пастыру предобръйшій, / Сну Бжій мбронцо нашъ милостивый и престъйшій (110, 84). Прійми ласкаве дібу мою. / у въчную твою мборону (42, 473).

2) The stem *прожн-*, which can also be encountered as *првжн-* with the Polish reflection *u* from long *o* (*o pochylone*), occurs alongside Church Slavonic *празн-*

⁵ Tymčenko (2002–2003: s.v. *оборона* and *оборонца*) records only the pleophonic forms, such as in the lemma *оборонца*. In the Middle Ruthenian texts, forms with the Polish metathesis are to be encountered quite frequently.

(not *праздн-*); East Slavic *порожн-* is missing (here, we have original **porzdьnъ* and **porzdьnjo-*_cf. Vasmer 1986–1987: s.v. *порожний*—of course, the Ruthenians of the early modern age certainly were not aware of these relationships):⁶

Свата; сватстввй, всаческаа света, прожност' и марность, всѣ речи под слнцемъ, нѣчого; певногw; все бѣжитъ бѣгомъ непостоаннім' (197, 19–20). А щожъ тобѣ поможетъ сватный мїролюбче; твоа проклатаа гордына, и прожнаа слава, и роскошъ міра сегw. сладкі^и покарми, и напwи, свѣтлыи ризы, и перфwми твwи (203, 221–204, 223).

[...] и не можешъ поймати, свата бо сватствъ; всъ речи под слящемъ; прожность и марность (199, 95–97).

[...] вса тънь и димъ; лацво развѣющїй, нѣчтоже; тилко свата светствъй; всѣ речи тогw свѣта првжность (200, 104–105).

[...] тамъ w дѣлех злых страшно прубуетъ [sic!, with $u < \delta$ in the vicinity of the u], и за слива празнїи; // згоршителнїи; не фолгуетъ (194, 49–50).

[...] той сътворить судъ з нами; w всѣх' дѣлехь нашихъ; злыхъ и добрыхъ, и w сливахъ празныхъ; згоршителныхъ (238, 906–907).

3) The root *сром*- occurs alongside Church Slavonic *срам*-; East Slavic *сором*- is missing:⁷

Прето лѣпше єст' спѣвати дхвны пѣсны; анѣжли свѣцкїи сромотны^и бѣсовскїи (10, 57).

Абы твоа слава Нбсногw Пана, / Не была сромотнею смертю потоптана (121, 116).

Не жаловалесь безгрѣшногw Живота твоег<w> / на Крстѣ сромотне положити, / А мене ѿ вѣчнои смерти избавити (138, 13).

[...] wчи вашѣ плачливыи на падол земный wбратѣте, / А на сромотную смрть Цра вашегw пилно смотрѣте. / Кривду и зелживость єгw сами бачте, / А вы дщерѣ сиwнскии горкw плачте (146, 270–273).

А ннѣ та вижду в' незаапу мртва и нага [...] на Крстѣ // сромотномъ висаща; посредѣ злѡдѣевъ (152, 46–47).

[...] пилны смотрѣте, кривду и зелживыст єгы; сами бачте, И сромотнои и невиннои смрти єгы (153, 79–81).

Ты мчнкwвъ сты́хъ; м8жествомъ wбдарила, И презъ тыхъ діавола; с тырани побѣдила. / И презъ нихъ; власти темныа посрамила (132, 176–178).

Ако до Распатїа Хва ишла срамота: а ѿ распатїа наступаетъ слава Хва (150, 9–10).

⁶ Tymčenko (2002–2003) lists evidence from different sources under the lemmas *прожный*, *прожно*, *прожноване*, *-нне*, *прожномовство* (*пружн-* is missing). Similarly, one can find some lemmas that show the root with full vocalization.

⁷ Tymčenko (2002–2003) verifies lemmas for the derivations сромота, сромотный and сромотне; сромъ as well as the Church Slavonic root form срам- are missing. The root with full vocalization is represented by numerous lemma entries (сороматися, соромота, соромотити, соромотне, соромъ, соромътися, соромъжливый, соромяжливость).

4) Besides the regularly used genuine Polish root form *cmpod-*, the Church Slavonic root form *cmpad-* also occurs; East Slavic *cmopod-* (in Modern Ukrainian *cmopid*) is missing:⁸

Радуетъ сѧ праведникъ; акw виходитъ з дому темницѣ; з грѣховногw тѣла, смраднои темници (204, 248–250).

The root forms can also be found in close proximity to each other:

Несподѣванне зо всегwсь ма wбнажила, / И межи смрwдливыи ТрУпы положила, Прїателѣ мwи; далеко ѿ мене стали, / И нwсы свwи; пред смрадwмъ моимъ позатикали. Вчера в дому моемъ было гойне весела, Музыкwвъ играна; / А спѣвакwвъ веселое спѣвана (189, 25–30).

5) *3λom*- belongs to the earliest documented Polonisms in East Slavic. In PM, the more commonly used Polish form occurs alongside the Church Slavonic form *3λam*-; East Slavic *30λom*- is missing:⁹

Где мwи ннъ замки коштовне мурованій / и Плаци мwи свътне и сличне малювани / А шкатулы злотомъ нафасованіи, / Възники под злотомъ цугованіи (189, 8–11).

Коруна то не зе злота тлѣнногw; але з // дару бозкои свѣ//тлости Коруна оуведбе́на тѣлъ ихъ: ѿ тлѣнїа премѣненїе (256, 201–202).

Где богатирwвъ тогw свѣта, замки мицныи, м8рованыи, / и палаци спаналы^и, сличне малюваныи, / и шкат8лы злотом' нафасованїи (197, 29–31).

Где ннъ скарбы бытатырей; приходом смерти в'незаапу разсыпани, и зебран<ы>. Где шкапы в' злото оубраны^и; // вса съ шумом погибе (199, 88–90).

Тогда забивалъ wтецъ поганин; власногw сына своегw хрестїанина правовѣрногw [...] и тогди са найдовало; злато и wлово вѣрныи и зловѣрныи, которыи дла смерти дочаснои; ѿрѣкалиса Хрс́та (213, 169–173). А гды wтворилесь пред нимъ; Перв&ю Печать, Тогда вып&стилесь през ню; Кона бѣлогw; и тогw що на немъ сидѣлъ; в' Коронѣ златой з л&комъ (211, 117–212, 119).

6) Polish-based *MΛοθe*Heu, which occurs in a pragmatic instruction, can be found along with Church Slavonic *MΛαθe*Huwe, while the context is strongly marked by Church Slavonic only in the second example for the Church Slavonicism (but cf. also the Polonism *naHüehcmba*):¹⁰

⁸ In Tymčenko (2002–2003), one can find the lemmas *смродъ* and *смродливый*, but neither the Church Slavonic nor the East Slavic root form (!).

⁹ As expected, all three root forms are well represented in SUM XVI–XVII.

¹⁰ Тутčenko (2002–2003) has the lemmas млоденецъ, младенецъ, младенческій as well as some forms with the pleophonic root, as in молодецъ, молодикъ, молодиця.

А при тыхъ wтрwкахъ, и Вършах'; маетъ вкїй Млоденец, мовити wpaцїю сі́ю до слухачwвъ, поважне (97, 124–125).

А то покладаю в'згладwм младенцwв; жебы wxwтними были до на8ки; бозкои: и людскwи (127, 5).

Ты младенцемъ возрастъ, и Красwта, / Ты панїенства съкровище и высота (129, 64–65).

7) The root *cpo∂-/cpe∂*- can regularly be encountered in the Polish-motivated form (cf. Polish *środ*- < *śrzod*- with *o* < *e* before hard alveolars owing to Polish "umlaut" or "przegłos polski"), but at the same time also in the Church Slavonic form and, in fact, especially in prefixed forms.¹¹ The Church Slavonic root can be found above all (but not only) in *nocpe∂*[‡] ending in -[‡], the Polish root predominantly in the suffixed form [*c*] *nocpo∂κS*:

А той Антихристь; маеть повстати и вийти с посродку üctyncтва, тоесть с посрод геретикwвъ, часу своегw повстане Антихристь (217, 293–295).

[...] и з самыхъ поганwвъ нѣкотwрыи старалиса w добрую славу и несмертелную [...] ако wный презацный и славный мужъ [...] Палемwнъ Публиусъ Либа; абы моглъ быти в' посродку: межи славным^и Богатырами свѣта сегw, чогw и доступивъ (4, 56–61).

[...] добримъ концемъ, и веселою д8шею преходит, праведній, й // мїра сеги; с плачливоги падола [...] с посродк8 дѣмонскоги множества (204, 242–245).

Прето стый Павелъ, Апслъ Хвъ, розбивает кламство геретицкое, и показуетъ асни, аки с посродку йступства Антихристъ вийдетъ з орды геретицко^и [...] (218, 320–321).

Павелъ стый повъдаетъ; же антихристъ вийде; с пwсред ѿст8пнихъ сынwвъ геретицкихъ (219, 347–350).

А що а мѣлъ; посредѣ нечистихъ бѣсwвъ и немилwстивыхъ катwвъ, оумирати вѣчною смертю; то Снъ Бжій за ма оумръ; посредѣ Разбwйниковъ и злwдѣевъ (20, 228–231).

Насъ покидаешъ [...] / Малwе стадце свое; немwщнихъ wвечwкъ своихъ, / Посредѣ гнѣвливыхъ, и ненависныхъ врагwвъ твоих (110, 75–78).

Посредѣ лѣтъ; познан' будеши, єгда въ гнѣвѣ авишиса (208, 27–28).

А ннѣ тѧ вижду в' незаапу мртва и нага [...] на Крстѣ // сромотномъ висѧща; посредѣ злѡдѣевъ (152, 46–47).

8) Besides Polish *Hanpod-*, one can also encounter *Hanp8d-* (or *Bnp8d-*, respectively) with *u* as a Polish reflex of long *o*; alongside these, one can also find Church Slavonizing *Hanped-* (the root also occurs elsewhere as *nped-*; for instance, it may occur as a simple preposition):¹²

¹¹ Тутčenko (2002–2003) verifies the forms сродков, сродковати, сродковне as well as средокъ and средземный; тогеоver, посредокъ, посредь (as prepositions) as well as посродокъ. In the lemma entries, one encounters съ посредку as well as съ посродку (but not посредъ).

¹² Under *Hanpydb*, Tymčenko (2002–2003) refers to *Hanpedb*; Church Slavonic *Hanpedb* as well as Polish *Hanpodb* without the *u*-reflection of long *o* are missing.

Прирожена гріфа хто хоче познати, / Впроуд м8сить Фізеліоикшмь Вър8 дати (2; 16–17).

А напрод то потреба вѣдати; правовѣрном' хрстїанским' риду. кки Б́гь єст' непостижимы[#] (22, 8).

И напрод мѣсто тое стое залужили / А сами сѧ за фундамента єгу положили (80, 99–100).

Але то потреба вѣдати, напрод' кождому члякови; вкw троакаа Премоудрость; купоименнаа то єсть; под єднымъ именемъ (127, 7–9). Ласкавый Чителнику; подобает' вам напрудъ то вѣдати, длачогw авторъ важилъ са подыймовати; такъ великую и тажкую працу (9, 6).

Напредъ покладаю казана w двwакихъ добродъйствах бwзкихъ (13, 16).

9) Although it occurs quite often in Early Modern Ruthenian, the form of the preposition *se* with e < v (< *sv* [+ instrumental and + genitive] and < *izv*) deserves particular attention. It occurs along with Ruthenian *so* as well as Church Slavonic *cv* ([so]- is also written as *cv*-, cf. also *cvbpanu* in the penultimate example in this section and *cvbpahu* in the last example in the following section, where, in all likelihood, *co* was read as well):¹³

[...] и такъ въскрситъ праведныхъ; и върныхъ свwихъ, в' цълыхъ тълахъ, без'рукогw зе двъма рукама; и нигами, єдношкоги; зе двъма ичима (233, 762–765).

Автше тебѣ з однимъ wкомъ, и з одною рвкою, внїйти до живота вѣчногw; и до црства моегw, анѣжли зе двѣма wчима и рвкама; въверженв быти въ геенв; идеже wгнь не вгасаетъ (245, 39–42).

Коруна то не зе злота тлѣнногѡ; але з // дару бозкои свѣ//тлости Коруна оуведбе́на тѣлъ ихъ: ѿ тлѣнїа премѣненїе (256, 201–202).

Але выбавъ ннъ душу мою; зе встыду спросноги, / Ѡдъй нагоги в' Рызу безсмртїд свътоносноги (177, 128–129).

Зо всѣмъ змїевимъ и Аспидскимъ родwмъ, / Мі́ра сегw з бѣсwвскимъ смродомъ (185, 138–139).

[...] и зо всегось ма ннъ юбнажила, / и межи смрюдливїи тр8пы положила (198, 51).

[...] абы събрали избраннихъ егw; с под чотырохъ вѣтрwвъ поднбсных, и зо всѣхъ чтирохъ частей тогw свѣта (231, 741–742).

Сеги ради радуйса съ мною рабе смутный, / Южъ та тамо не постыгне фараинъ икрутній (186, 148–149).

10) *3e*- also occurs in prefixes, as in *зебран<ы>*, along with Church Slavonic *събраны* and Ruthenian *зобраны* (in the third example in this section):¹⁴

[...] зебравшиса с килку товаришwвъ, маючи при собѣ килка сет члвка (5, 77–78).

¹³ SUM XVI–XVII contains a whole range of examples s.v. *se*.

¹⁴ S.v. *seбpanu* only a small number of examples are mentioned in SUM XVI–XVII; among others, it lists examples taken precisely from PM.

Где ннѣ скарбы бwгатырей; приходом смерти в'незаапу разсыпани, и зебран<ы>. Где шкапы в' злото оубраны"; // всѧ съ шумом погибе (199, 88–90).

Подможъ єще; до купцивъ тоги свѣта, какиваа тма тамо и черность; при вазѣ ихъ; невинныи клатвы, кривоприсазтва, фалше, ложъ правдѣ мѣсце засѣла, неправедное зобрана; тмою // черности покрито (215, 235–239). Идущу из звѣтазтвомъ ѿ браны, / и всѣ Стыи тамо с нимъ събраны (109, 29–30).

The reflex e < b is documented in prefixes of other lexemes, cf. $\partial Sua 3e3bonumb$ nokasamuca (258, 263), 3e3bonum (11, 76), 3e3bonunb ecu (46, 47–51), 3e3bonub (94, 47)¹⁵ alongside unmarked nosbonum' (235, 819–820); cf. also ∂o posepbaha (4, 63–65) without any primary underlying *jer* in the prefix.

11) The adjective *nowumeuhoe* with e < v is also a meta-Polonism, as it is backed up by its Ruthenianized derivational basis *nowumok*' (instead of its "real" derivational basis *nowumekv*):¹⁶

Ты въ Египтъ Імсифови пожитечное радишъ, / и паки Цръ́ своегw; из' Египта до Назарета провадиш (74, 166–167). Все оу твоем' самивластїю, и твоей моци: але не все на пожиток' д8ши твоей; що надъ замъръ то смерть (17, 125).

12) In a context that is substantially influenced by Polish (it is in this passage that the above-mentioned substantive ending *-e* of κpae occurs, and the oblique case of the numeral *cem* with e < v is encountered), the Polish-based ending -em(v) occurs in the instrumental singular of a masculine hard-stem substantive in w u a HeM. In all other contexts, *-owb* occurs, especially in phonologically marked Polonisms such as *Ibaлmomb* (5, 71; 18, 182; with g):

Той Палемон' Либа, зебравшиса с килку товаришивъ, маючи при собѣ килка сет члбка; заихалъ wкрутами: в тыи полничны^и крає, wцїанем Нѣмецкимъ (5, 76–79).

13) The root of the adverb *suare*, with Polish $a < \check{e}$ due to Polish "umlaut," can also be classified as a meta-Polonism, contrasted repeatedly by the unmarked form of writing *utar*. In both examples, the use of the Polonism can be explained by constraints due to rhyme:

¹⁵ S.v. зезволити, some further examples can be found in SUM XVI-XVII.

¹⁶ In Tymčenko (2002–2003), both пожитечный and пожиточный can be found as separate lemma entries, but only пожитокъ, not пожитекъ, which is also not included in the dictionary of fourteenthand fifteenth-century language (SUM XIV–XV).

Тылко знаетъ Триперсоналние Бжестви / Досконале, / Бтъ поставилъ лѣчбу вцале (71, 94–72, 96).

w Бже мой каки оу скарбници твоей. Положи их вѣчне вцале, / даже зрю в' них каки въ зерца ́ле (169, 130–132).

w Бараночку мо^н пречсты^и и пренастѣйшій, то єстесь за грѣхи мои, барзо израненный; ѿ Главы и до ногу нѣсть цѣлости (164, 93).

и такъ въскрситъ праведныхъ; и вѣрныхъ свwихъ, в' цѣлыхъ тѣлахъ, без'рукогw зе двѣма рукама; и нwгами, єдноwкогw; зе двѣма wчима (233, 762–765).

14) In the case of μ 8 ∂ ный with Polish-based $\mu < *tj$, one is also dealing with a meta-Polonism, which is contrasted by numerous examples of East Slavic μ 8 ∂ -:¹⁷

Ты ако косаръ ннѣ неросудный, / Под ниги свии крадешъ, цвѣтъ барзо цудный (192, 113–114).

А таковый плод жизни вѣчнои, аболи роскоши Нбснои; ако гроно вина чудноги (262, 382).

А шестій Аітль; виліе Чашу гнѣву Бжегw, на рѣку великую Ефрать реченную; абы висхла рѣка, и дала пре^ити вwйску; великому Бжію чудовному, из востока; на слугь антихристовихь за правди вко ес // то войскw чудное и страшное; войскw то wrненное, без' лѣчбы (223, 480–224, 484).

15) In both the following cases, the ending of the first person singular present *-e*, which can only represent denasalized Polish *-e*, appears as a curiosity. Both verb forms can be encountered in the introductory parts, which are especially heavily influenced by Polish, the first form in the acknowledgments and the second in the epigraph. As expected, this ending is mainly contrasted by East Slavic *-*8' in these and other parts of the text. Concerning the form *BOHNAE*,¹⁸ we must bear in mind particularly that non-Polish epenthetic *l* occurs in it despite the entirely Polish appearance of its root and ending:

[...] а оубог<їй> законикъ; и лѣнивый работник Винограда Хыа, а богомолца твой оуставѣчный: не вонпле в' Мил<ости> лас<ки> твоей [...] (8, 159–161). Єсли що нестройноги Поєта моудрый ибачить, / Про́ше нехай ми пребачить (12, 2-3).

Прето а плачливый гласъ в' Нбо подношу, / А тебе Ѿче стый ннъ w ратунокъ прошу (39, 393–394).

А ё ннъ ктому; w васъ въдати не хочу, и даремна буде предо мною плачливаа прозба ваша: не оуслышу вас; бы и в наболшихъ бъдахъ, и тажкихъ мукахъ вашихъ; не оузрите над собою млсрдїа моегw въвъки (242, 1026–1029).

¹⁷ In Tymčenko (2002–2003), only the adverb *μy∂μe* is encountered as a lemma entry with *c*-; as expected, *uy∂*- is thoroughly represented, for example, under the lemma *uy∂b*, under which Tymčenko refers—not without reason—to Polish *cud*.

¹⁸ In SUM XVI–XVII, the example that will be cited in the following is registered s.v. *вонтишии*. Analogous examples cannot be found; instead, one comes across the expected *вонтилю*.

16) Only in those Ruthenian texts that exhibit a particularly heavy Polish impact would one find a stem form such as Kciohkehu(')-, with the Polish shape of both the root and the suffix (see Polish *książęć-*).¹⁹ Elsewhere, these forms are contrasted multiple times by Kha3u, in etymological analogy also by suffixed Khkam:

[...] асне Велмож<ному> Пан8 а Пан8 Сам8елїови Кар8лювичови; Ксїонженцю Корецком8 [...] (3, 1–2).

[...] м\3ики сп\u00c4baaku, не тилко в' Кр\3левских' д\u00f5ме, и Ксюн\u00c4eнци\u00f3\u00e5, оу пан\u00f6bs\281\u00f5ks\3n\u00f8bs и б\u00e4cs\3n\u00f8bs, оу Митрополит\u00f5\u00e5 наш\u00e4\u00e5, и Владык\u00e4bs\2012, 221-222).

Не тилко Крулеве, и Кнази преможныи, але и стителъ реченныи; в' гордости; въ тщеславїю и сребролюбію, в' роскош^и тогw свѣта; потонули (215, 212–215).

[...] дѣд' [...] Мхимъ Кназ Кор<ецкій> [...] (6, 120–121).

[...] то єст власны^и продокъ [...] всеги дому презац<нои> Фамил<їи> Кн<ѧ>ж<атъ> Кирецкихъ (6; 115).

17) Only once, in the acknowledgments, does one encounter the form w *Me3mb*[‡] with denasalized *e* in the root, cf. Polish *męstwo*, cf. in turn also κ*cioμж*- with a nasal diphthong in the position before the fricative. As expected, the underlying root morpheme (Polish *męstwo* < *mężstwo*) is elsewhere contrasted by East Slavic *M*⁸*жa* and *M*⁸*жecmbowb*²⁰

а w славѣ Рицерску и w мезтвѣ Самоечѧ Мхі́мовича [...] кто не вѣдаеть [...] (6, 122 – 7,124).

и блюзнать на невинногw мужа ст<огw> намъсника Петрова верховног<w> Апстола, подаючи въ гиду, ложную потваръ на негw оукладаютъ (218, 318–320).

Ты мчнкwвъ стыхъ; м8жествомъ wбдарила, И презъ тыхъ дїавола; с тырани побѣдила. / И презъ нихъ; власти темныа посрамила (132, 176–178).

18) The form of the stem of *noüsp*8 (cf. also *npeŭspe* μ ν) with *-j*- is based on a Polish rule of sound change, which is elsewhere contrasted by phonologically discrete ΠOsp beau (*sic*, two capital letters in word-initial position), in which, contrary to spellings of the type *noüspe* μ μ λ ν , b is written correctly in the stressed position as far as etymology is concerned, as one would expect from the Ukrainian perspective:²¹

¹⁹ In Tymčenko (2002–2003), one finds the lemma entry κ*cioh*æ with a reference to its model *książę*; however, examples for oblique cases are missing. The East Slavic root form is encountered in the lemmas κ*h*яжa and κ*h*яжaчiŭ.

²⁰ Tymčenko (2002–2003) verifies the forms *сродокъ, сродковати, сродковне* as well as *средокъ* and *средземный;* moreover, *посредокъ, посредъ* (as prepositions) as well as *посродокъ*. In the lemma entries, one encounters *съ посредку* as well as *съ посродку* (but not *посредъ*).

²¹ In Tymčenko (2002–2003), one can find the lemmas *позрѣнье* and *пойзрене* [-нье]; surprisingly, references to the corresponding form are missing in this case.

Аще пойзру въ адъ; ту дїавола и силы єги воюешь (57, 93). На правицу єсли пойзришь; але туть тебѣ; стыи Атгливе посмѣваютса [...] (202, 175). Але пойзри но Школо себе (215, 225). Въ мнизѣхъ грѣсехъ оутопленныи, / И блоуднимъ пойзренамъ искверненныи (168, 95–96). Сами же будучи срогого и страшноги по^изрена, игнемъ дышущи; и глющи, и Пламенное иружїе имущи, на страх нечестивымъ члыѣкимъ (237, 876–877). [...] оу предвѣчномъ прейзреню своемъ бизкомъ (15, 80). ПОзрѣвши на прешлый вѣкъ (3, 6).

19) The stem *чловек-*, which is formed according to Polish and shortly afterwards contrasted by the Church Slavonic form *человѣк-*, was used quite often in Middle Ruthenian writing:²²

[...] w Члове́че²³ правовѣрный; и на сп́снїе вѣчноє двшѣ тво^и. Гласъ жалосный прїйми и реци: Слава тебѣ Хе́ Бже́ мой человѣколюбивый (138, 7–8).

20) The verb $w \delta e u a \lambda b$ with c < *tj also represents a meta-Polonism, because elsewhere, and once in close proximity to the meta-Polonism, one encounters Church Slavonic $w \delta f m o B a HH 8 io$ (this latter form does not, however, allow for any genetic specification based on its phonological structure):²⁴

Аще землю wбѣтованн¥ю в' радости wгладаю. / Котор¥ю намъ Б́гь wбецалъ за терпенїе дати, / Тылко росказалъ вѣрою тогw щаста ждати (183, 86–184, 88).

[...] ты заповѣдал' єси тѣмъ згордителюмъ твwимъ, бы твою волю творили: не акw дармо; wбецалесь имъ зато животъ вѣчны^и и црство Нбсное, а мы имъ нѣчогw иногw не wбецали (239, 943–946).

21) In the case of $\kappa Bum-H$ - with preserved kv- instead of cv- (as a reflex of the second palatalization), which occurs twice in the acknowledgments, one might as well be dealing with a meta-Polonism, for elsewhere one encounters $u_{\beta} Emb$ (how the kv- and/or cv-forms were originally distributed in the language area of Ukrainian is disputed, as is well known):²⁵

²² In Tymčenko (2002–2003), one encounters *чλοβ*±κъ only with ±; additionally, one can find Ukrainian *чολοβ*±κъ. Only the lemma entry *черовеченьство*, whose model (which Tymčenko does not note) is most likely Polish *człowieczeństwo*, contains the Church Slavonic form.

²³ Here, for once, I carry over the stress as given in the source text, because in Ruthenian, the penultimate stress of the nominative form *człowiek* could also have been transferred to the oblique cases.

²⁴ Tymčenko (2002–2003) only verifies объцати, объцовати; the forms with *e* are missing. Additionally, one encounters обътованье, but not its verbal derivational basis.

²⁵ In Tymčenko (2002–2003), one finds the lemmas κσυπηνμικ κσυπηνμικ (keumnyujů (here, Tymčenko refers to Polish kwitnący), κσѣmнymu, κσѣmнyuiŭ und κσѣmъ. With cv-, one finds only μσυλιά and

Также слава квитне Кар&лѧ Кн<ѧ>з<ѧ> Кор<ецкогw> [...] (7, 128).

[...] иж ми на самой Персонѣ Ваш<еи> К<назкои> мос<ти> не сходить, котораа высокою начкою бозкою: и людскчю [sic] оукрашона; и побожностю Квитнччаа [...] (8, 167–169).

Ты ако косаръ ннъ неросудный, / Под ниги свии крадешъ, цвътъ барзо цудный (192, 113–114).

22) The form *nokapmb* with the Polish reflex of the **CbLC*-cluster occurs quite often. By contrast, the verb shows the East Slavic reflex, as here in the imperative $Hakopmu:^{26}$

Всѣхъ ннѣ заровни берешъ / и до темноги гробу ведеш, / И на покармъ рибацтву кладешъ, / ѿ смерти гнѣвлива; / Сила твоѧ страшлива (192, 124–128).

[...] же ма в' темный гробъ положили, / на покармъ робацтву, и тажкою землею; кwсти мwu покрили (199, 66–67).

[...] гды ты смутный и страшный пойдешъ нагъ; в' темный гробъ смердѣти, и рwбацтву покармwмъ быти. Прето даремне гордишъ са и хвалишъ (203, 225–227).

А щожъ тобѣ поможетъ сватный мїролюбче; твоа проклатаа гордына, и прожнаа слава, и роскошъ мі́ра сегw. сладкі^и покарми, и напwи, свѣтлыи ризы, и перфwми твwи (203, 221–204, 223).

[...] не потребующи телесног<w> покарму (234, 700).

Прето їїче нашъ стый мою млєть твою, / Накормы хлѣбомъ Нбєнымъ гладную душу мою (36, 300).

23) The term mamahb is often encountered with the reflex \check{s} (Trunte 1985: 242), as characteristic of Polish loans rendering Old High German and early Middle High German s (in medieval German, as is known, s was most likely pronounced similarly to \check{s}' , and the same applied to Latin as pronounced by speakers of German). The form occurs along with *camaha* (and *yapmb*, which is also Polish-marked):²⁷

Буде то шатанъ що найпред'нъйшій; оу правдивом, тълъ // людском то^в будет в' wчах людских, wманивши ихъ показоватиса розмаите (217, 297–299).

Дай намъ днесь хлъба сегw Нбсногw. / в' Днь сей лютый и страшливый / Где шатанъ хитрїй и злосливый. Гладу въчногw намъ зычливый (35, 270–272).

[...] л8кавый шата́нъ [...] показуеть преслест' свою [...] (195, 64).

[...] свободити тѣхъ; ѿ темнои wбласти шатанскои (44, 527).

[...] ѿ шатанскои неволѣ (105, 181).

Избавъ насъ ü настоящоги И градущого всего злог<w> / ü тмы царства сатаны̀ лестивоги (30, 111).

цвисты, but not цвѣтъ.

²⁶ In Tymčenko (2002–2003), one finds the lemma *покармъ* alongside Ruthenianized *покормъ* (!); one finds no entry for *карм-*, but *кормитель* and *кормля* are well represented.

²⁷ In Tymčenko (2002–2003), one finds only *шатанъ* and *шатанскій*, while neither *сатана* nor its derivations are documented.

Да прі́йде царстви; не мира сеги лестивоги, [...] Анѣ тѣла грѣхолюбивого, Анѣ сатаны зрадливого (31, 127–129).

Тилко са сами за Хрстомъ до Нба поспѣшаймѡ, / А сатану зрадливогѡ; з грѣхами єгѡ минаймѡ (102, 76–77).

Часть втораа тогожъ Казана, w власном' приходѣ Антихристовѣм'. Которогw приход; будетъ по дѣйству сатанинскому (217, 283–285).

The root forms occur in close proximity to each other in:

Зизанѣй²⁸ ложный оучитель; сатанинъ слуга [...] духа шатанскогw (218, 315; 317).

4. Conclusion

Kyrylo Trankvilion-Stavrovec'kyj's Перло многwцѣнноє displays a whole range of meta-Polonisms. In part, the Polish-based morphemes are represented in specific words that were borrowed as lexemes or lexematic collocations (cf. покармъ²⁹ and кормити, wбронца and wборона, вцале and цѣлый, с ог въ посродку and посредѣ; perhaps this also applies to квитнути and цвѣттъ, but квѣттъ, which is not documented in PM, would also be possible). These loans then gathered in shared word clusters with other lexemes that possessed Ruthenian or Church Slavonic roots. Consequently, this results in heterogeneous word families.

In other cases, it is not only single morphemes that differ from each other, but whole word forms only on the basis of rules of sound change (cMpodb and cMpadb, 3nomo and 3namo, ugdhbuü and ugdhbuü, Kciohkkehuw (dative singular) and Khkam(genitive singular), Mesmeo and Mgkecmeo, noŭspemu and nosptmu, unogektb and uenogtkbb, cb nocpedb and cb nocpodb, hanpodb opposite hanpgdb and hanpedb). Within limits, this applies to npokhlüu and npasdhbuü, since one was derived from the other by way of opaque stem extension; in general, this could also apply to *cpomomhbuü* and *cpamoma*, as one was derived from the other with the help of a derivational suffix that is widespread throughout the Slavic realm. With a different limitation, this is also true of the substantives uamahtb and camaha, because they differ in their inflectional morpheme (O vs. a) and, as a consequence, in regard to their stem class. Similarly, the corresponding adjectives uamahcküu and camahuhcküu are peculiar, as the latter features the actually redundant suffix -uh- (one would rather have expected *camahuhb* only or *camahcküu*).

Even prepositions and prefixes occur in the Polish, Ruthenian, or Church Slavonic-based form, although the motivation for choosing them is not always clear (cf. 3e(-), 3o(-), cb(-)). The same applies to suffixes such as -bk- in *nowumeuный* and *nowumowb*, although Ruthenianized *nowumouthый* is encountered quite frequently in Middle Ruthenian texts. It would appear that even Polish inflectional endings, as in wujähem, *npowe*, *bohmnae*, occur without a specific motivation, although this

²⁸ This is of course the same Lavrentij Zyzanij with whom we dealt in the previous study.

²⁹ I normalize here for once-the actual forms are recorded in the text.

happens only sporadically, and only in those text fragments that are especially heavily influenced by Polish.

Most of the encountered meta-Polonisms, as well as most Polonisms in general, were by no means used only in the versified parts of PM, where one might also explain them by metric constraints. With few exceptions—such as, apparently, the Polish inflectional endings that only occur sporadically—the author (and his contemporaries) most likely interpreted them as an integral part of the Ruthenian language.

THE SYNOPSIS AND MACIEJ STRYJKOWSKI'S KRONIKA: RUTHENIAN WAYS OF (RE)TRANSLATING RUS'IAN HISTORY FROM POLISH

1. The main source for the "first textbook of Rus(s)ian history"

First published anonymously in 1674 in the Kyivan Cave Monastery under the auspices (rather than the authorship) of Abbot Innokentij Gizel'1 and soon reissued in two revised and augmented versions in Kyiv, the Synopsis was to become the most influential contribution to early modern East Slavic historiography and one of the most important books ever produced in the Slavic East. By 1836, the text had appeared in at least seventeen new editions, not to mention several printed versions of certain excerpts, manuscript copies, and translations into Greek and Latin (Rothe 1983: 46-49; 126-127). Even though the Synopsis had originally been written first and foremost as a local chronicle of Kyiv, with its strongest emphasis on an even narrower topic-the historical role of the Kyivan Cave Monastery-it would soon be used primarily as a tool for the historical legitimization of imperial Russian history (Sysyn 2003: 120). It thus comes as no surprise that the vast majority of new editions came out in St. Petersburg during the eighteenth century, beginning with the rule of Peter I. The Synopsis had a tremendous impact on forging an all-Rus'ian, ultimately Russocentric East Slavic identity, which was called "Slavenorus(s)ian" in the Synopsis (cf. Kohut 2003, Sysyn 2003, Plokhy 2006: 258-266).

The *Synopsis* was written originally in Ukrainian Church Slavonic, with sporadic vernacular interference on all linguistic levels. Although the language was increasingly cleansed of this interference and de-Ukrainianized in the later editions, it retained some markedly Ukrainian elements even in the Russian editions of the late eighteenth century (Moser 2007c, 2001: 223–279). The *Synopsis* can thus be interpreted as a perfect symbol of the Ukrainian-Russian encounter in the sphere of high culture between the late seventeenth and early nineteenth centuries.

Yet, in terms of both content and language, the *Synopsis* is of no less interest with regard to its standing in the Ukrainian-Polish cultural and linguistic encounter of the early modern period. Despite its primarily Orthodox foundations and scope, the most important immediate textual source of the *Synopsis* is not a historical work from the Orthodox world but the *Kronika Polska, Litewska, Żmódzka i wszystkiej Rusi,* a work written by the Polish humanist Maciej Stryjkowski and originally published in Königsberg in 1582. Although Stryjkowski not only compiled older historical works from the realm of the Western churches but also relied on various Rus'ian chronicles, it is nevertheless a matter of fact that the "first textbook of Rus(s)ian history," as the *Synopsis* has often been called, is based primarily on a work written by a Polish Catholic.² Moreover, despite the fact that many of Stryjkowski's references to Rus'ian history were either omitted or significantly abbreviated (cf. Peštič 1958:

¹ Like other scholars, I believe that the *Synopsis* is not the work of a single author but a collectively written work coordinated by Gizel'.

² The author(s) of the *Synopsis* frequently indicate their main source in the margins, but the *Kronika* was even more important to them: in many more cases, they refer to other works when their true immediate source was the *Kronika*.

291–292), a closer comparative look at the *Synopsis* and the *Kronika* soon reveals that with regard to many passages of the *Synopsis*, it is no exaggeration to speak not merely of an adoption (on the sources of the *Synopsis* and on Stryjkowski's sources, see Rogov 1966) but of an eclectic, sometimes abbreviated and sometimes expanded *translation* of Stryjkowski's *Kronika*.

The following passage "On Oleh's rule in Kyiv and his death" (" $W \ {\it GAAD \ BH}$ " (" $W \ {\it GAAD \ BH}$ ") CARECOGOND BD KIEB U W CMEPMU G2W") can be used to demonstrate that we are in fact dealing with a translation.³

[] A gdy <u>po</u> zwycięstwie <u>wesela używał</u>	[] и [пото ^М] єгда <u>w</u> побѣдѣ <u>веселашеса</u>
w Kijowie,	въ Кїевѣ.
kazał <u>do</u> siebie przywieść konia, <u>w ktorym</u>	Повелѣ <u>пре^Δ</u> себе <u>любимагw</u> [своегw]
<u>się nawięcey kochał</u> ,	Кона привести
y wezwawszy wieszczkow pytał ich,	и призвавъ Вwлсвы вопроси их',
<u>coby</u> o tym koniu <u>rozumieli</u> ,	<u>чтобыса имъ мнѣло</u> w томъ конѣ?
<u>ktorzy</u> [przyszedszy] rzekli,	<u>Ониже</u> ѿвѣщаша [см§],
iż tobie [wielki Kniaziu] od tego Konia	акw ѿ тогw кона смерть <u>има^T</u> тебѣ <u>быти</u> ,
śmierć <u>podiać</u> ,	сегw ради повелѣ Wлегь <u>кона онатw</u>
przeto <u>go</u> kazał od siebie odwieść y osobno	ѿ себе ѿвести и блюсти [єгw] wсобъ.
chować. (115)	(170–171)

Most passages of the *Synopsis* are much more freely translated from Stryjkowski's *Kronika* than this one, but they remain translations nonetheless. The corresponding passage from the Hypatian Chronicle (cf. Hyp: 28–29), for example, clearly demonstrates that the medieval Rus'ian chronicle did not serve as an immediate source:

и приспѣ wсень и поману Wлегь конь свои . иже бѣ поставилъ кормити . не всѣда на нь . бѣ бо преже въпрошалъ волъхвовъ кудесникъ . ѿ чего ми єсть оумьрети . и ре [*sic*] єму wдинъ . кудесникъ . кнаже конь єго же любиши . и ѣздиши на нем^ѣ . ѿ того ти оумрети . Wлегь же приимъ вь оумѣ си рече николи же всаду на конь . ни вижю єго боле того . и повѣлѣ кормити и . и не водити єго к нему [...] (Нур: 28–29).

2. Translated language

2.1. Vocabulary

2.1.1. Founding towns and building castles

The following sketch is based on an analysis of selected passages on Rus'ian history prior to the rule of Volodymyr I: passages on "the Roxolanian (Rus'ian) people and its dialect," on Kyj, Šček, and Xoriv; on Askol'd and Dyr; on Oleh's death; on Ihor's death; and on Ol'ha's revenge.

³ As in the following passages, underlining is used to mark forms significantly deviating in meaning and/or form, whereas bracketing and small caps mark untranslated forms in Stryjkowski's text and forms freely introduced into the *Synopsis*, respectively.

The fragment cited above is all quite typical of the general relation between the original and the translation, inasmuch as it shows the translators striving to maintain a Church Slavonic language generally as remote as possible from the Polish original, particularly in terms of vocabulary. Although the frequently used word *pokb* 'year,' for example, marks the *Synopsis* as a text originating in the Ruthenian (and not the Russian) sphere, Polonisms occur in it rather sporadically. Even though learned Ruthenians of the seventeenth century were for the most part perfectly familiar with these Polish words and even adopted and integrated almost all of them into their own Ruthenian secular written language, the translators were quite consistent in translating Polish lexemes in the *Synopsis* (*noofbda* for *zwycięstwo* or *noseлbmu* for *kazać*, among other examples in the fragment cited above). They also replaced Polish idiomatic expressions, such as *kochać się w czymś*, *używać wesela*, *tobie* [...] *śmierć podiąć*, with often laconic and simple Church Slavonic forms (the present passive participle *любимый*, the simple verb *seceлumuc*, and *cmepmb имат meofb быти*, respectively, for the same idioms).

Nevertheless, some non-Church Slavonic elements that are likely to be of Polish origin do occur in the *Synopsis*. As in other related cases, the fact that we are dealing largely with a translated text adds interesting force to the study of these elements, for the analysis must not be reduced to the simple question of their occurrence but should also consider their relation to the original text.

Polish (z)budować and zamek, for example, are consistently rendered in the Synopsis with Church Slavonic co3(u)damu or cozpadumu and Church Slavonic zpadb or East Slavic zopodb (note, however, that 3amok is a perfectly integrated calque in all East Slavic languages!), respectively. Polish *miasto*, however, is most often either omitted in the translation (similarly, Polish *mieszczanie i grodzanie* yields only zpamdahe in the translation) or rendered with a related term such as cmonuqa, although elsewhere it yields mbcmo with the non-Church Slavonic meaning 'town.' Similarly, Polish założyć/zakładać 'to found' is perfectly translated in some fragments by ochobamu or rendered with quasi-synonyms such as co3(u)damu or cozpadumu/ cozpamdamu, while the non-Church Slavonic calque 3anomu or corpadumu/ cospamdamu, while the non-Church Slavonic calque 3anomu, third person singular), which is clearly marked as a Church Slavonic grammatical element in seventeenth-century East Slavic. Consider the following passages:

A tak Holha [] dobywszy wszystkich Zамкоw [inszych] Drewlańskich (118)	И тако […] Олга ѿмсти ^в ши М&жа своегw смерть, прїать въ свою wбла ^{ст} вса Грады древланскїа (178)
Wtory Brat Scek niedaleko od Kiiowa zbudował. Zamek [y Miasto] na gorze <u>Sciekawice</u> od swego imienia. (111)	Вторый брат' [Щок' или] Щекъ, созда недалече Кїева Градъ на горѣже, [и нарече егw] Щекавица [или Шковица] ѿ своегw имени, [иже Гора и до нн҃ѣ тако именветсѧ.] (162–163)

y posłała do [MIESZCZAN Y DO] GRODZAN, mowiąc, iużem się pomściła śmierci męża swego, wszakże od was nie odstąpię, aż mi iaką taką dań postąpicie (118)	И посла къ [всѣмъ] Граждано ^м гл́а: акw оуже ѿмстила єсмъ смерть М&жа своегw, ѡбаче не ѿст&плю ѿ васъ, дондеже ми к&юлиб&дь дань дасте (177)
A ci panuiąc nad [Ruskimi] narody Мілята у Zамкі [ku obronie zakładać y] видоwаć poczęli. (111)	идеже владѣюще нарwдами [и поланскою землею] начаша Грады и мѣста [note the different order of appearance], [ради тишайшаго житїѧ и прибѣжища] созидати. (162)
Sinaus [zaś albo Syniew] osiadł krainy Ruskie nad Białym Jeziorem_[] <u>Nad_</u> <u>tymże</u> [Jeziorem] Zамек <u>swoy stołeczny</u> <u>y miasto</u> zbudował (113)	Сі́не§съ wб'атъ страны Рwссі́йскі́а на ^д Бѣлымъ озеромъ, <u>на^д нимъ же</u> [себѣ] <u>Городъ и столиц</u> у созда. (167)
Kyi [albo Kig starszy], ZAMEK Y MIASTO Kijow [od swego imienia] nad rzeką Dnieprem założył, [gdzie potym była głowa y sławna stolica Jedynowładstwa Ruskiego.] (111)	[Первѣе оубw] старѣйшїй брать Кїй, wснова [и согради] Городъ и мѣстw, [на Гwрѣ] надъ Рѣкою Днѣпромъ, [нарекши erw] КЇЄВЪ (162)
Drewlanie będąc temu radzi, [iż iuż wszystkie Xięstwa Ruskie ich Xiążęciu, z tak wielką Małżonką będą podane, za ktorym powodem nad Rusaki wzaiem, będąc pierwey poddanemi Pany być mieli,] wnet w CHORESTENIE GŁOWNYM MIEŚCIE [swoim], [Miody y tak] <u>wielkie dostatki</u> na <u>sławne</u> wesele zgotowali. (118)	Древланеже сему [паче] рады быша, и абїе <u>вса</u> оуготоваша <u>изшби⁴но</u> , къ <u>нарочитом</u> веселїю, въ главнѣмъ мѣстѣ Коростенѣ, [или по ннъвшнему званїю Искорести]. (175)
A Siostra ich Libeda nad rzeką Libiedą osady swoie ugruntowawszy, tamże Zамек Libiec <u>albo Lubiec</u> zвидоwała na kopcu wyniosłym. (111)	Сестра же ихъ Либедь, надъ Рѣкою Либед'ю свои осады положши тамwже и Городъ на пригорку высокомъ, согради [ѿ своего имени] Либедь. (163)
[Także też] Korewo trzeci Brat [ich] Korewicę [w udzielnym swoim Xięstwie] założył, <u>ktory</u> potym Wyszegrodem zwano. (111)	Третій брать Коревъ, [или Хоревъ] <u>созда</u> [Град' тако ^ж де її своего имени] Хоревицу, <u>а</u> по томъ Вышгородъ прозвасѧ. (163)
Rurik starszy Xięstwo Nowogroda wielkiego wziął w udział, á Stolicę swoię na wyspie Jeziora Ladogi [] założył. (113)	старѣйшій Рурикъ воспрї₄ть себѣ Кнаженіе Великwновгоро ^д скwе, а столицу свою на Островѣ Єзера Лагоды заложи. (167)
[Trzecie Xiążę Warackie] Truwor [albo Trubor] wziął Xięstwo [Pleskowskie albo] Pskowskie w udział [], <u>á</u> stolicę swoię <u>ZAŁOŻYŁ</u> w Sworcech albo w Izborku (113)	а Тр§воръ воспрїать Кнаженїе Псковское, Столиц§ <u>же</u> свою <u>заложи</u> , въ Свwрцахъ или въ Изборск§. (167)

[tak] każdy gołąb do swego domu [y gołębińca], á wroble w strzechę [albo pod dachy zwykłe] z ogniem [nazad z woyska Ruskiego] przyleciawszy, w <u>kilkudziesiąt</u> mieyscach ZAMEK [y MIASTO] zapalili [zarazem]. (118)	Гол&бже всакъ къ своем& дом&, и врабїи къ стрѣсѣ съ огнемъ, прилетѣвши на <u>многихъ</u> мѣстах' Градъ зажгwша, (177– 178)
---	---

As we have seen, the translators adopted the non-Church Slavonic meaning of $M \hbar cmo$. The last example demonstrates, however, that they hesitated to introduce the suffixed form $M \hbar cmb \mu e$ < Polish *mieśćce* (> *miejsce*), which took the neutral meaning 'place' after the semantic change of *miasto/M \hbar cmo*. Consequently, $M \hbar cmo$ appears in the *Synopsis* with both the traditional meaning 'place' and the new meaning 'town.'

2.1.2. Weddings and other delights

Another remarkable element that occurs several times in the *Synopsis* is *Becenie* with the meaning 'wedding,' which is adopted from Polish *Wesele*. Most Polish terms with a related meaning are meticulously translated by their Church Slavonic elements:

poiął sobie w małżeński stan Olchę (116)	сочетаса [] съ Олгою (172)
za ich xiążę [] w małżeński stan poszła	кназю их [] жена б§де ^т (173)
(117)	въ брачное сочетанїе Кназю вашему не
waszemu się Xiążęciu w małżeński stan	ѿрицаю (Syn: 174)
niezbraniam (117)	пришествїе [] въ с§пр§жество (174–
chcąc być małżonką (117–118)	175)
według ślubu swego (118)	прежде [втораго] брака (174–175)

The translators not only adopted Polish *swadzbę* (*swadźbę*) (acc. sg.; Stryj: 118) as *csadós* (Syn: 176)—as we would expect, since the word (*< svat-bba*) is as much Church Slavonic as it is Polish—but also introduced Polish-based *wesele*. Once introduced, the word appears even when it is not used in the original. Yet even after the first independent use of *secenie*, the word *wesele* is "explained" in the translation as *брачно веселіe*. Elsewhere, the translators avoid the polysemy of Polish *wesele* and translate *z wielkim weselem* 'with great joy' with *c' велією радостію*. The following examples are given in order of appearance:

Drewlanie będąc temu radzi, [iż iuż wszystkie Xięstwa Ruskie ich Xiążęciu, z tak wielką Małżonką będą podane, za ktorym powodem nad Rusaki wzaiem, będąc pierwey poddanemi Pany być mieli,] wnet w Chorestenie głownym mieście [owoim] [Miody w tak] wielkie dostatki pa	Древланеже сему [паче] рады быша, и абїе <u>вса</u> оуготоваша <u>изшби^дно</u> , къ <u>нарочитому</u> веселїю, въ главнъмъ мъстъ Коростенъ, [или по ннъшнему званїю Искорести]. (175)
[swoim], [Miody y tak] <u>wielkie dostatki</u> na <u>sławne</u> wesele zgotowali. (118)	

Holha też <u>iako obiecała</u> , z [Kijowską Slachtą,] mężami do bitwy przebranemi, na czas naznaczony, do Chorościenia przyiachała (118)	[Великаѧ Кнгинѧ] Олга <u>по ѡбѣщанїю</u> <u>своему</u> со оуготованными [многими] людми [не тако къ веселїю, ҩко] къ бою на оурочное времѧ пойде до Коростенѧ. (175)
á Holha zakrywszy [y zmyśliwszy] gniew w sercu [zamilkła, á] ubrawszy się w <u>świętne</u> szaty, iako na wesele, (118)	[Тогда] Олга сокрывши въ ср ^д цы [своемъ] [жалость и] врость, wблечеса въ <u>цвѣтныа дорогоцѣнныа</u> wдежды, аки на [брачно] веселїе (176)
A tak Holha [] wrociła się do Kijowa z wielkim weselem z Synem swoim Swentosławem [Czarewicem]. (118)	И тако [м ⁴ раѧ и храбра ^ѧ Кнгинѧ] Олга [] и во ³ вратисѧ въ [напрестwлный свой Градъ] Кїевъ с' велїею радостїю, съ сынwмъ своимъ Свѣтославомъ. (178)

2.1.3. More non-Church Slavonic lexemes

The fact that the translators treated Polish non-Church Slavonic forms inconsistently is evident from the following example. Polish $dot (d\delta t)$ is first integrated into the Church Slavonic text as $\partial \partial \lambda b$ but soon afterwards perfectly translated as pos':

<u>Ktorych</u> ona wysłuchawszy, kazała DOŁ	<u>Шна</u> же [посланїе] слыша ^в ши,
głęboki we dworze wykopać, y <u>wszystkich</u>	повелѣ [нарочиты ^х ради сватwвъ, и
<u>onych Posłow</u> [weń żywych] wrzucić,	ч ^с ть нарочитв оустроуити, сирѣ ^ч ,]
(117) // [] [potym] sama nachyliwszy się	долъ глвбокъ, въ дворѣ ископати, и
nad DOLEM, pytała ich, iako się tam macie	<u>ихъ</u> въ врещи, (173) // [] самаже
<u>nad DOŁEM, pytała ich, iako się tam macie</u> <u>Panowie Swatowie</u> y kazała [ich] ziemią żywych zawalić. (117)	<u>ихъ</u> въ врещи, (173) // […] самаже прекло ^н шаса <u>над ров' вопрошаше</u> <u>свато^в w здравїи</u> , и повелѣ живых землею загреб ^{ст} и. (173–174)

As in the cases above, no formal feature marks the word $\partial of pobol(b) h b i tilde{}$ 'of one's own will' as a non-Church Slavonic calque from Polish (for Russian $\partial of pobole h b i tilde{}$ see Witkowski 2006). The translators were probably unaware of the origins of this word and, in all likelihood, found it highly appropriate because its compound structure made it look so Church Slavonic. Polish *dobrowolny* is thus simply calqued as $\partial of pobolhit i makes sense in this latter context only in the word's literal meaning 'of good will':$

[A gdy przyiechali do Ruskich granic] z	[Р&рикъ, Сїне&съ, и Тр&воръ,] прїати
wielką <u>chęcią</u> od wszech <u>stanow</u>	бывше її всѣхъ <u>Рwcсовъ</u> , с' великою
<u>Rosieyskich</u> byli przyięci,	<u>ралостію</u> , ⁴ [и блгодарствїемъ],
á zaraz państwo Ruskie	абїе и Гсрдствw Р8ское
dobrowolnie od ludu wolnego	доброволнw <u>ѿ Нарwда доброво∆нагw</u>
podane na trzy części [trzey bracia)	поданое на три части межд8 собою
Xiążęta] miedzy się podzielili. (113)	раздѣлиша (167)

Elsewhere, the Ruthenian calque *дорогоцѣнный* < Polish *drogocenny* occurs independently of Stryjkowski's text (for Russian *драгоценный* see Witkowski 2006), notably with the pleophonic form in the first component of the compound noun:

[á] Holha [] ubrawszy się w <u>świętne</u> szaty, iako na wesele (118)	[Тогда] Олга []
---	-----------------

Finally, the form *Монарха* is worth mentioning. It is used in the *Synopsis* as a masculine noun ending in -*a* in perfect accordance with Polish *monarcha*. Interestingly, whereas *nampïapxa*, used in the first edition of the *Synopsis*, was usually replaced with *nampïapxb* (Moser 2011: 200), this did not apply to *Монарха*. This Polish-based form of the word was even used by Teofan Prokopovyč in Petrine times, which might be explained by the fact that the *Монарха* for the Ruthenians was above all the Polish *Монарха*, whereas *Монархъ* was not a Church Slavonic word. It was therefore glossed by the translators of the *Synopsis* as *uли Самодержец*':

И не акw Женскъ сос\$дъ <u>немощенъ,</u> но аки <u>крѣпчайшій</u> Монарха [или Самодержец', всѣми Кнженіи Руссйскими
Самодержец', всѣми Кнженіи Риссйскими блгоразумнш] правлаше (173)

Obvious non-Church Slavonic elements shared with Polish occur rather sporadically. Examples are $\kappa b \, cmp \, b c \, b \, (177-178)$ for $w \, strzech \, e \, (118;$ as a loan from German), which refers to a concrete object lacking a Church Slavonic equivalent, or *nocencmbo* (Syn: 299 et al.; with Polish e < b) as a diplomatic term, or *nocenonumbi* (Syn: 393) from the concluding parts of the *Synopsis* (which have no parallel in the *Kronika*).

4 In the margin there is a reference to Stryjkowski and Miechowita.

2.2. Idiomatics

Moreover, some words are used in the *Synopsis* according to their idiomatic potential in Polish rather than in Church Slavonic. This applies particularly to Polish *leżeć* with the meaning 'to be geographically located somewhere,' which is simply rendered by Church Slavonic *Aemanu* in the *Synopsis*:⁵

Po śmierci Olechowey Ihor [albo Igor]	По смерти Шлговой, [Великій Кніз'] Игор'
Rurykowicz począł panować na Kijowie,	Руриковичъ нача [самъ] Кнажити въ
wielkim Nowogrodzie, na [Pleskowie	Кїевѣ, на великшть Новгородѣ, Псковѣ, <u>и</u>
albo na] Pskowie, na Białymiezierze, y na	на бѣломъ изери, и на всѣхъ Кнаженїахъ
wszystkich Xięstwach y Ziemiach Ruskich,	и землахъ Риссїйскихъ, <u>Восточныхъ</u> [!],
w <u>zachodnich</u> , pułnocnych y na południe	Полунощныхъ, и на Полуднѣ лежащи ^х .
LEŻĄCYCH, (116)	(172)

Elsewhere, the *Synopsis* laconically translates the Polish idiomatic phrase *podbić* [...] *pod moc* into perfect Church Slavonic as *покорити*, but the Polish phrase is very likely to be the source of *подъбива подъ Власть*, which appears two lines above:

<u>wiele</u> krain [przyległych] mocą y <u>fortelami</u> [do posłuszeństwa swoiego y Ihorowego] przypędziwszy. []] [<u>Ciagnał potym z</u> woyskiem Olech na Drewlany z Ikorem, ktorzy też byli narodu Ruskiego, y] <u>PODBIWSZY ich POD Moc swoię</u> , hołd na nich ułożył (115)	<u>подъбивал подъ Власть [себѣ и Игфрови]</u> <u>всакїа</u> страны силою и [<u>различны</u> М] промыслом'. <u>Покорившиже</u> [Древланы], возложи на них' да ^н (170)
---	---

Another idiomatic expression whose appearance in the *Synopsis* is probably due to its occurrence in Stryjkowski's text is $\varkappa usomb cmepm"iio npemthumu$. Note, however, that in Polish $zywot z \ smierciq \ przemienic$ the preposition z is used, as opposed to the version in the target language:

trzey Bracia [przerzeczeni] Xiążęta Ruskie,	Кназїе Рwccїйскїи Трїе братїа, Кїй, Щекъ,
Kyi, Sciek, y Korewo żywot z śмiercią	и Коревъ [, или Хоревъ] [] животъ
przemienili (111)	смеРтїю премѣниша (163–164)

The idiomatic phrase seems to be typical of sixteenth-century Polish: a Google search for "żywot z śmiercią" with this exact word order yields two examples of the phrase *żywot z śmiercią przemienić* in two sentences from the sixteenth-century "Kronika mistrzów pruskich."

112

⁵ Note also the use of Slavonicized but not really Church Slavonic *пол*8нощныхъ and на Пол8днѣ instead of traditional Church Slavonic сѣверный and на юзѣ.

2.3. Ruthenian elements in the Kronika and their echo in the Synopsis

The Polish-Ruthenian cultural and linguistic encounter has never been a unilateral process. This applies particularly to our context, inasmuch as Stryjkowski's text reveals a number of Ruthenian elements (most of which were already discussed and analyzed by Maria Karpluk; see Karpluk 1977). The most important question in our context is how the translators dealt with the Ruthenian elements in Stryjkowski's text.

If Stryjkowski repeatedly uses Ruthenian name forms such as *lhor*, *Olech* (with x < Ruthenian h), *Holha* (with the Ruthenian prothesis and Ruthenian h) (see the examples above) or even Ruthenian-based titles such as *Kniaź* (Stryj: 116–117), *Kniaziowie* (Stryj: 115) < East Slavic *KHA3b* (along with *Xiąże*, Stryj: 116–117, *Xiążąt*, Stryj: 115, etc.) and, curiously enough, *Kniaźinia* (Stryj: 117; without an equivalent in the *Synopsis*),⁶ then the translators, as might be expected, decided to ignore these peculiarities and simply chose the traditional East Slavic forms, namely *Uzopb/Uzopb*, *OAezb*, *OAbza/OAza*, or *KH3ïe* (Syn: 170), and so on. They certainly read these names according to their Ukrainian pronunciation in Kyiv (whereas the Muscovites would have read them according to their Russian rules or, at a certain historical stage, according to the Ukrainian rules as well).

Furthermore, if Stryjkowski used the appellative noun [*ostatki uciekaiących*] poboiscza (Stryj: 118) instead of pobojowiska, the translator was, of course, unconcerned about this East Slavic element in Stryjkowski's text and also simply translated it as [$\emptyset \, \delta \pm \varkappa a \mu u^{\chi} \, \ddot{w}$] nobouuga (Syn: 176).

In one particular case, the translators were faced with a greater challenge. At a certain stage of his narrative, Stryjkowski puts into the *Derevlianes'* mouth a piece of invented direct speech that was obviously meant to be as close as possible to sixteenth-century Ruthenian. Interestingly, the translators followed their source in translating this passage as direct speech, but they entirely ignored the Ruthenian language of Stryjkowski's text and rendered it in Ruthenian Church Slavonic as follows:

y rzekli <u>iey</u> Drewlanie, Hospodze Knieinio,	а Древлане рекwша къ ней: М&жа твоегw
Muża twoieho zabilijesmo, iż on był	оубихом', акw онъ небѣ мл ^с рдъ къ намъ,
NIEMIŁOŚCIW, KAKO WOŁK <u>DRAPIEŻUJ</u> OWCE,	[не аки Г ^с дръ съ По ^д даными,] но к ко
(118)	волкъ съ овцами <u>оуправлашеса</u> . (176)

Stryjkowski writes *hospodze* not only with *h* (Karpluk 1977: 56) but also with *dz*, which might be explained by Polish morphonology, but perhaps also by a Belarusian source (as in, for example, Old Polish *gospodza*). The vocative form *knieinio* reveals not only the change $\emptyset < h < g$ but also the change '*a* > '*e* (Karpluk 1977: 48–49), known from many Belarusian dialects. The noun *muża* is marked as East Slavic owing to its *u* instead of *e*, and the pronominal form *twoieho* is marked as

⁶ As for the Ruthenian forms in Stryjkowski's work and the astonishing variety of Ruthenian-based name forms, see Karpluk 1977, particularly the index.

Ruthenian because of its *h*. Of greatest interest is the preterital verb form *zabilijesmo* (no entry in Karpluk 1977), which is marked as Ruthenian by the component *jesmo* (though not *smo*) instead of Polish *-śmy*. The form *niemiłościw* may be interpreted as both Belarusian and Polish, whereas *kako* (no entry in Karpluk 1977) is East Slavic (compare, however, Ukrainian and Belarusian *jak*(*o*)), and *wołk* (no entry in Karpluk 1977) reveals the East Slavic reflex of **vblkb* (cf. Polish *wilk*). All other forms in the direct speech are not marked as Ruthenian but are either genuinely Polish (*iż, drapieżuj*)⁷ or indeterminately Polish or Ruthenian.

The translators paid no attention whatever to the fact that Stryjkowski's text switches from Polish to Belarusian-based Ruthenian. They translated the Ruthenian phrase into Church Slavonic and emphasized their choice by introducing forms of the aorist and the imperfect into the *Derevljanes'* speech.

2.4. Syntax

With regard to syntax as well, the translators often demonstrated that they were striving to produce a language particularly remote from Polish.

Polish non-delimitative ∂o + genitive case is quite consistently rendered with a Church Slavonic construction, as in the following example with κb + dative case:

In the following instance, the translators avoided the use of the predicative instrumental case. Although it could have been used in this context according to the rules of Church Slavonic (Moser 1998: 77–108), the translators were perfectly right in assuming this case to be much more typical of Polish than of Church Slavonic.

á Olha zaraz Posłow [swoich do	и паки посла Олга гонца, из'авлаа
Drewlanow] posłała, opowiadaiąc <u>iż iuż</u>	скорое свое пришествїе къ древланомъ
do nich iedzie, chcąc być <u>Małżonką</u> ich	въ супружество Кнізю ихъ, а имъ въ
Xiążęciu, ś im Panią, (117–118)	Г ^с дриню, (174–175)

In the following passage, the translators aptly replaced the markedly Polish temporal prepositional phrase *za* + genitive case with a dative absolute construction:

⁷ The form remains unclear to me. The most widespread form of the verb is *drapieżyć*, not *drapieżować*. Perhaps, in any case, the form renders reduced *drapieżuje*. On the reduction of *e*, see Karpluk (1977: 76–77), who nevertheless cites no forms with -*uj* < -*uje*.

		£
<u>á</u> ieszcze za żywota Olechowego	Єще <u>же</u> живу сущу Шлегу <u>сочетаса</u>	
[opiekuna swego] <u>poiąl sobie w</u>	Игоръ съ Олгою [прем ^д рою и красною	
małżeński stan Olchę Prawnuczkę	вицею], Правн&кою Гостомысловою ѿ	
Gostomiselowę ze Pskowa. (116)	Пскова. ⁸ (172)	
		L

Elsewhere, however, the syntactic organization is clearly influenced by the Polish original. In the following example, the use of the conditional form in the indirect speech does not follow the rules of Church Slavonic but those of (Middle) Polish. Although this use is widespread in Middle Ruthenian owing to the influence of Polish, it is in all probability the original version that evokes the use of the conditional in this particular context of the *Synopsis*:

y wezwawszy wieszczkow pytał ich, <u>coby</u> o	и призвавъ Вwлсвы вопроси их', <u>чтобыса</u>
tym koniu <u>rozumieli</u> , (115)	<u>имъ мнѣло</u> w томъ конѣ? (170)

As many examples cited in this study show, the translators did not necessarily adopt Polish word order, as in the following passage, where the second clause largely accords with Polish word order, whereas the first clause does not:

Rurik starszy Xięstwo Nowogroda wielkiego wziął w udział, á Stolicę swoię na wyspie Jeziora Ladogi [ktorego iest wszerz mil 60. á wzdłuż sto, iak Herberstein pisze] trzydzieści y siedm mil od Nowogroda wielkiego] założył. (113)	старѣйшій Р&рикъ воспрїать себѣ Кнаженіе ВеликwновгороАскwe, а столиц& свою на Островѣ Єзера Лагоды [!] заложи. (167)
--	--

As regards Stryjkowski's organization of participial and adverbial participial constructions, as well as of complex sentences, the translators quite often followed his model. Adverbial participles tend to be replaced with congruent participles:

A ci panuiąc nad [Ruskimi] narody Miasta y Zamki <u>ku obronie</u> [zakładać y] budować poczęli. (111)	идеже владѣюще нарwдами и полѧнскою землею начаша Грады и мѣста, <u>ради</u> <u>тишайшаго житїѧ и прибѣжища</u> созидати (162)
<u>A</u> Siostra ich Libeda nad rzeką Libiedą	Сестра же ихъ Либедь, надъ Рѣкою
osady swoie ugruntowawszy, tamże	Либед'ю свои осады положши тамwже <u>и</u>
Zamek Libiec [albo Lubiec] zbudowała na	Городъ на пригорку высокомъ, согради
kopcu wyniosłym. (111)	[ѿ своего имени] Либедь. (163)

<u>wiele</u> krain [przyległych] mocą y <u>fortelami</u> [do posłuszeństwa swoiego y Ihorowego] przypędziwszy. []] [<u>Ciagnał potym</u> <u>z woyskiem Olech</u> na Drewlany z Ikorem, ktorzy też byli narodu Ruskiego, y] <u>podbiwszy ICH POD MOC SWOIĘ</u> , hołd na nich ułożył (115)	<u>подъбивал подъ Власть [себѣ и Игwрови]</u> <u>всакїа</u> страны силою и [<u>различныМ]</u> промыслом'. <u>Покорившиже</u> [Древланы], возложи на них' да ^н (170)
[Potym] gdy trzey Bracia [przerzeczeni] Xiążęta Ruskie, Kyi, Sciek, y Korewo żywot z śmiercią przemienili, synowie y potomkowie ich po nich długi wiek każdy na swoim udziale [spokoynie] panowali, aż po tym ⁹ na ich mieysca [Oskald,] Askołt y Dyr Xiążęta z ichże narodu nastąpili. (111)	Єгда <u>же</u> Кназїе Рwccїйскїи Трїе братїа, Кїй, Щекъ, и Коревъ [, или Хоревъ, по дово ^л ном' Кнаженїи своемъ надъ Рwccами,] животъ смеРтїю премѣниша, [], сыны и Наслѣдники ихъ по нихъ долгій вѣкъ, всак' на своемъ оудѣл8, Госпо ^д ствоваша. Даже по томъ на ихъ Мѣста Осколдъ, и Диръ Кназїе ѿ ихъ же народа наст8пиша. [w них'же б8детъ нижае.] (163–164)
[Potym] Drewlanie zhardziawszy	Древлане же велїю дерзость [ѿ оубїенїи
[w wolności] y [urągaiąc Kiiowianom iż ich	Г ^с дра своегw Игwpa] воспрїемше,
Pana zabili], posłali do Olhy dwadzieścia	послаша къ Олзѣ [Кн́гинѣ] двадесатъ
osob zacnych, namawiaiąc ią łagodnie, á	нарочиты ^х Мሄжей [въ Лодїах'],
potym grożąc y chcąc ią do tego przymusić,	оувѣщевающе ю доброхо ^т нw, а потом'
aby za ich Xiążę Drewlańskie Niskinię,	и претаще, да [и по нሄждѣ] Кназю их
[á według niektorych Maldita]	древланску Низкинѣ [оубїйцѣ Игорову]
<u>w małżeński stan poszła</u> (117)	<u>Жена буде^Т.</u> (173)
A gdy <u>po</u> zwycięstwie <u>wesela używał</u>	и [пото ^м] єгда <u>w</u> побѣдѣ <u>веселашеса</u>
w Kijowie, kazał do siebie przywieść konia,	въ Кїевѣ. Повелѣ пре ^д себе <u>любимагw</u>
<u>w ktorym się nawięcey kochał</u> , (115)	<u>своегw</u> Кона привести (170)
y posłała do [Mieszczan y do] Grodzan,	И посла къ [всѣмъ] Граждано ^м гл́ѧ: ѩҝѡ
mowiąc, iużem się pomściła śmierci męża	оуже ѿмстила єсмъ смерть М&жа своегѡ,
swego, wszakże od was nie odstąpię,	ѡбаче не ѿст&плю ѿ васъ, дондеже ми
aż mi iaką taką dań postąpicie (118)	к&юлиб&дь дань дасте (177)

There are, however, also many deviations. The *Synopsis* tends to be much more laconic than Stryjkowski. Consequently, the clause structure is considerably simplified, as in the following example:

A [zebrawszy większe woysko] [z ziem Ruskich] <u>ciągnął</u> [wodną armatą [przez czarne Morze] do Konstantynopola, [ktorego wielką mocą dobywał, ustawicznie morzem y ziemią na basty y na mury sturmuiąc.] (115)	По семъ ходи Wлегъ войною <u>въ [дву</u> <u>тысащу] Кораблей</u> къ Ц́риграду (171)
---	--

The same applies to the following examples, where the translators skipped one level of subordination by omitting entire subordinate clauses of the Polish original. In the first fragment, two coordinated infinitives are translated by a construction with a participle and the infinitive; in the second, the translators introduced a matrix sentence much earlier than Stryjkowski by replacing one of two coordinated participial constructions with a paratactic clause:

Oni <u>będąc tey wdzięczności radzi</u> , szli do łaźniey, [Á GDY SIĘ PŁOKAĆ, Y WINNIKAMI AIEIE woch woch woch [note the expressivity avoided in the translation] chwostać poczęli,] kazała łaźnią słomą y chrostem w koło <u>otoczyć y zapalić, tak</u> iż <u>wszyscy</u> , [y z sługami swoimi ogniem gwałtownym] zgorzeli, (117)	wниже <u>съ веселїемъ</u> внїйдоша в' баню, а [Олга] повелѣ соломою и хврастїемъ баню <u>wболкши запалити</u> , и исгорѣша [с' банею] <u>всѣ Послы</u> . (174)
A tak Holha pomściwszy się śmierci męża swoiego [znacznie], y dobywszy wszystkich Zamkow [inszych] Drewlańskich [, ktore się iey za tym strachem, y przemysłem Niezwykłym ani słychanym, dobrowolnie podawały], wrociła się do Kijowa z wielkim weselem z Synem swoim Swentosławem [Czarewicem]. (118)	И тако [м ^д раа и храбра ^д Кнтина] Олга ѿмсти ^в ши Мужа своегw смерть, прїать въ свою мбла ^{ст} вса Грады древланскїа, и во ³ вратиса въ [напрестwлный свой Градъ] Кїевъ с' велїею радостїю, съ сынwмъ своимъ Свѣтославомъ. (178)

In other cases, the translators simply began new sentences instead of adopting Polish subordinate constructions:

A Holha [też] <u>w ten czas do sturmu</u>	а Олга [<u>горащ& Град&] абїе всею силою</u>
ze wszystkich stron, [z ogromnym	<u>нача прист&пати</u> ѿ всѣхъ странъ [под
krzykiem y hukiem] <u>przypuściła</u> , <u>gdzie</u>	Городъ]. <u>Тогда </u>
<u>z zapalonego [119] Zamku</u> uciekaiących	бѣжащих' <u>велїе множествw</u> Древланъ
<u>wielkość</u> Drewlanow <u>pobito, posieczono, y</u>	<u>побиша</u> , (178)
<u>potopiono</u> , (118–119)	

The translators particularly avoided a number of Polish subordinate constructions with *który*. Instead of relative clauses or constructions with "relativer

Anschluss,"	one	typically	finds	paratactic	translations	with	anaphoric	онъ	же	or
without any	pror	noun:								

Y wyzwał do siebie <u>na rozmowę</u> <u>przyiacielską</u> Oskołoda y Dyra [Xiążąt Kijowskich], <u>KTORZY nic</u> się <u>nieprzyiacielskiego</u> [od swoich] niespodziewaiąc, w małym poczcie wyiechali [do obozu Olechowego y Ikorowego nad Dniepr]. (115)	[и достигши Града Кїева ста по ⁴ нимъ,] и вызва [лестію] к' себѣ [на станъ и ³ Града], Wсколда и Дира, <u>аки бесѣды ради</u> <u>прїател'скїа, ониже никакwва зла</u> [себѣ] чающе, изыйдоша к' нему малолюднw. (169)
<u>ктогг</u> [przyszedszy] rzekli, iż tobie [wielki Kniaziu] od tego Konia śmierć <u>podiąć</u> , (115)	<u>Ониже</u> ѿвѣщаша [ємɤ], ҝҝѡ ѿ тогѡ кона смерть <u>има^т тебѣ <u>быти</u>, (170)</u>
<u>KTOREGO</u> [wielkiego gwałtu] Cesarz Konstantynopolski niemogąc wytrzymać, [á pomocy na odsiec zniskąd się niespodziewał,] <u>przeiednał</u> [Olecha wielkimi] darami, odkupuiąc pokoy, [á prosząc aby od oblężenia odstąpił:] (115)	<u>егоже</u> КесаР Ґрецкїй [Лев' прем ^д ры ^Й] немогій стерпѣти, <u>оумагчи</u> дарами <u>и</u> <u>миръ купи</u> . (171)
<u>KTORY</u> usłyszawszy, iż Oskołod y Dyr wrocili się do Kijowa <u>straciwszy Armatę</u> <u>pod Konstantynopolem przez potop</u> , zaraz [w naczyniu wodnym] wziąwszy z sobą Ikora Rurykowica, przyciągnął do Kijowa [Dnieprem rzeką] (115)	и оуслышавши <u>Шлегь</u> акw Шсколдъ и Диръ <u>ходивше къ Цриграду войною,</u> возвратистаса в' Кїевъ <u>посрамленны в'</u> <u>мало^й дружинѣ</u> , абїе в'зе ^м ши съ собою Игора Руриковича, пойде къ Кїеву (169)
<u>Ktorzy</u> gdy <u>do Kijowa</u> przyiechali [w łodziach y naczyniu wodnym rozmaitym Rzeką Dnieprem], kazała [Kniaźinia Holha] dla <u>nich</u> łaźnią [wielką] nagotować (117)	<u>и єгда</u> <Ø> прійдоша <u>къ Олзъ</u> , повелѣ [толикихъ] ради <u>гостей</u> [и подорожна тр&да] баню оуготовати (174)

Much less often, relative clauses with *ktory* are rendered as relative clauses with Church Slavonic *uxe*:

Potym się wrocił <u>z Carygroda do Kijowa</u>	Єгда же Шлегь возвратись її Цр́играда
Oleh [czasu Jesieni], y wspomniał na	[, и прійде] <u>в' Кіевъ</u> , воспоману w
onego Konia swoiego, <u>od ktorego</u> mu	конѣ своемъ: wне ^м же Вулсвы єму
Wieszczkowie <u>śmierć podiąć praktykowali</u> , [y kazał go przywieść do siebie.] (116)	<u>провозвѣщаху</u> . (171)

This last sentence is also interesting inasmuch as it represents one of the rather rare cases of a subordinate clause with $\epsilon z \partial a$ independently of the original.

In the following example, the temporal clause is omitted, but the first paratactic clause of the original is translated with a participial construction:

[A gdy przyiechali do Ruskich granic] z wielką <u>chęcią</u> od wszech <u>stanow</u> <u>Rosieyskich</u> byli przyięci, á zaraz państwo Ruskie dobrowolnie od ludu wolnego podane na trzy części [trzey bracia Xiążęta] miedzy się podzielili. (112)	[Р&рикъ, Сіне&сь, и Тр&воръ,] прїати бывше й всѣхъ <u>Риссовъ</u> , с' великою <u>радостію</u> ¹⁰ , [и блгодарствїемъ], абїе и Гсрдстви Р&ское доброволни <u>й</u> <u>Нарида доброво^днаги</u> поданое на три части межд& собою раздѣлиша
(113)	(167)

Elsewhere, temporal clauses are quite frequently translated as participial constructions:

á <u>gdy mu powiedziano</u> , iż <Ø> iuż był zdechł [w iego niebytności], <u>kazał się prowadzić</u> do kości iego, <u>aby ie</u> uyzrzał (116)	и <u>прїемши вѣ^{ст}</u> акw оуже Ко ^н той издше, [абїе] <u>пойде</u> смотрѣти косте ^й єго (171)
---	--

In a number of cases, the translators avoided nominalizing constructions with deverbal nouns; in the following example, they achieved their aim by replacing the deverbative noun *zabicie* with the much less specific noun *cmepmb*:

<u>Po zabiciu [od Drewlanow]</u> Małżonka	[Великаа] Кнагина Олга, <u>по смерти</u> мужа
swoiego Ihora Rurykowica Xiężna Holha z	своего Игора Руриковича [wcта ^в шиса]
Synem [iedynym] Swentosławem Państwa	з' сыно ^м своимъ свѣтославомъ
Ruskie <u>Wielkonowogrodzkie y Kijowskie</u>	Игоровичемъ [вдовою] ¹¹ , <u>всѣ</u> Г ^с дрства
wzięła w swoię sprawę, (117	Рwccїйскїи въ свою власть прїа ^т , (173))

Much less often, nominalizing constructions appear in the translation independently of the original:

To sprawiwszy, zarazem Gońca do	Сїе содѣлавши, абїе посла Гонца
Drewlanow wyprawiła, dzięкuiąc iм [za	къ древланѡ ^м [<u>с' чолом'битїе</u> ^{м]} к'
to], iż się <u>o nię iako o Wdowę osierociałą</u>	блг ^д арствїе ^м . ако <u>w Вдовствѣ єа и</u>
staraią, (117)	<u>сиротствѣ</u> попеченїе имѣють (174)
	· · ·

While space limitations allow us only to hint at some aspects of the relationship between the *Kronika* and the *Synopsis*, the syntax in particular deserves considerably

¹⁰ In the margin there is a reference to Stryjkowski and Miechowita.

¹¹ In the margin there is a reference to Stryjkowski.

more attention. It is very likely that translations from Polish into Ruthenian Church Slavonic such as the *Synopsis* (which was an extremely popular book in the Russian Empire at least until the late eighteenth century) played a major role in Europeanizing Church Slavonic syntax in the East Slavic area on a broader scale, particularly at the turn of the eighteenth century. Inasmuch as the most important point of departure for the development of Modern Standard Russian was Late Church Slavonic, particularly the heavily Ruthenianized Late Church Slavonic of the turn of the eighteenth century, a more careful study of the syntax of texts such as the *Synopsis* against the background of their sources is not only desirable but truly necessary.

3. Conclusions

In this brief analysis I have tried to demonstrate that the language of the *Synopsis* can be studied seriously only against the background of Stryjkowski's *Kronika*. In conclusion, I would like to emphasize that the interplay between the original and the translation is no less important on other levels of cultural history. Namely, since the late sixteenth century, Ukrainian clerics had "learned about Slavic unity and the joint claim of Muscovites and Ruthenians to ancient Rus¹⁷ primarily from Polish authors, and, in particular, from Stryjkowski (Kohut 2003: 64). The following passage shows this even more clearly:

A [potym] <u>drugie</u> NARODY RUSKIE SŁAWAŃSKIE po rożnych się krainach [rospostarli y] rosproszyli, ktorzy rozmaitymi imionami od Rzek, [Kraiow] y Xiążąt swoich [rożno] są nazwani, (111)	Ибо <u>тыажде</u> Нарwды Славенорwссїйскїи, [по времени оумнwжающеса, и] по различныхъ мѣстехъ вселающеса, [єще и иными] различными имены ѿ рѣкъ [Лѣсовъ, Примѣтовъ, Поль, ѿ Дѣлъ,] и ѿ Кназей своихъ [Именъ, и Нарѣчїй,] прозваны быша: (153)
	npoobania ominar (100)

Even "Slavjanorus(s)ianism," this highly influential ideological key concept of early modern East Slavic cultural history, ultimately echoes Stryjkowski's *Kronika* in its own way and thus turns out to be another perfect example of translated traditions.

A LINGUISTIC ANALYSIS OF IVAN MAZEPA'S UNIVERSALS AND LETTERS

Ukrainian as the official language of the Hetmanate under Hetman Ivan Mazepa In terms of both functionality and language status, it is obvious that the sphere of administration is a particularly important domain of any written language. Studies on the history of languages, however, often pay scarce attention to administrative documents, especially if they deal with periods when other domains, in particular those of belles lettres, are already represented in the corpus quite well. As for the Ukrainian case, earlier documents, such as the charters of the late fourteenth century and early part of the fifteenth, have been rather thoroughly analyzed by linguists, and their significance for the study of the Ukrainian language is widely acknowledged. Philological and linguistic research on the language of later official documents, including those of the Hetmanate in Left-Bank Ukraine, has been much less intense, though, and information on this topic is usually reduced to a few remarks in textbooks (see, e.g., Rusanivs'kyj 2001; 90, and the scarce information in Peredrijenko 1979: 55–56).

As a result, little is known about Ukrainian as a chancery language during the Hetmanate. However, a general look at the Ukrainian situation in the eighteenth century makes it plausible to assume that it was not a new formation but a continuation of earlier Ruthenian traditions. Like other varieties of Ukrainian, the language of administration was still exposed to the rather strong impact of the Polish language despite the political divide, while the role of Russian as a contact language gradually became more important during that period, too.¹

Although we are not dealing with Ivan Mazepa's personal language but with that of his chancery, a brief look at Mazepa's own linguistic profile is apropos here. Born on 20 March 1639 in Mazepyntsi near Bila Tserkva, Mazepa, a descendant of émigrés from the more western parts of Ukraine, studied at the Kyiv Mohyla College and the Jesuit College in Warsaw. After spending some time in the German and Italian lands, the Netherlands, and France, he became a royal courtier in Warsaw before returning to Ukraine in 1663. Based on these biographical data, it is safe to assume that Mazepa was fluent in both Ukrainian and Polish and that he knew Church Slavonic and Latin well; his excellent command of Latin was praised by his contemporaries (Tairova-Jakovleva 2007: 15–16).² Back in Ukraine, Mazepa forged an impressive career. After being captured during one of his many diplomatic missions to the Crimean Tatars by the Zaporozhian Cossacks in 1674, he was

See Ševel'ov 1979: 570: "The prestige of the P[olish] language in those areas which severed their political ties with Poland was not undermined. P[olish] was continuously used in writing, often even by the Orthodox high clergy (e.g., Lazar Baranovyč), and Polonisms were still fashionable in the language written and spoken by the educated. The main novelties were twofold: the vernacular... was broadly reintroduced in the records of the local and central government, often comprising features of local dialects.... The second novelty was increased contacts with R[ussian]."

² Orest Subtelny's edition of Ivan Mazepa's letters to Adam Sieniawski gives a good impression of Mazepa's command of Polish and Latin (Subtelny 1975).

handed over to the Left-Bank hetman, Ivan Samojlovyč. From that time onward he "quickly gained the confidence of Samojlovyč and Tsar Peter I, was made a "courtier of the hetman," and was sent on numerous missions to Moscow.... In 1682 Mazepa was appointed Samojlovyč's general osaul (Ohloblyn 2008), and in July 1687 he was elected the new hetman. From then on, Mazepa was in continuous contact with Muscovite officials and their Russian language, but this does not necessarily mean that Mazepa had a very good active command of Russian. If Oleksander Ohloblyn maintained in his fundamental book that, "along with Polish, Muscovite, and Tatar, he had a command of Latin, Italian, and German, and knew French" (Ohloblyn 1960: 19), this might seem to be too bold an assumption. However, Tat'jana Tairova-Jakovleva, obviously relying on the memoirs of Mazepa's French contemporary Jean Casimir de Baluze, partly agrees that Mazepa , "along with Ukrainian, Russian, and Polish, knew Latin perfectly...and spoke Italian and German," adding that it was Pylyp Orlyk who maintained that Mazepa also knew the Tatar language "very well" (Tairova-Jakovleva 2007: 15–16).

The sources

One of the crucial problems of studying the language of Ivan Mazepa's chancery becomes evident very quickly: only a few texts have been edited in a way that can be called more or less satisfactory from a philological or linguistic perspective. As for the many editions of Mazepa's letters, for example, even the most fundamental matters of text tradition often remain unclear. Time and again one cannot be certain whether the edited text is based on an original manuscript from the Hetmanate's chancery, a copy, or simply another edition, and very often it is not even clear if the edition is based on the version that was issued in the hetman's chancery or on a translation made for Russian addressees.

Fortunately, questions like these have not been neglected by Ivan Butyč in his editions of Mazepa's universals (*MU*, *MU II*) or by V'jačeslav Stanislavs'kyj in his edition of Mazepa's letters of 1687–91 (*ML*). Since a number of important documents from the Hetmanate, particularly the universals, have been recently edited more carefully than ever (*XU*, *HU*), one might be quite optimistic. New studies could significantly deepen our knowledge of the official Ukrainian language of the Hetmanate in the second half of the seventeenth century and the beginning of the eighteenth (although, admittedly, a closer look soon reveals a considerable amount of dubious or clearly erroneous renderings in some of these recent editions, too). After all, the importance of this topic for Ukrainian historical sociolinguistics is obvious. In the end, we are dealing with an idiom that represents the last historical variety of Ukrainian functioning as a vital official language prior to the first new steps that were taken in the Austrian Empire after the Revolution of 1848 (see Moser 2011: 687–683).

My present small contribution focuses on one major question: to what extent did the Muscovite official language already exert an influence on the language of the Hetmanate's chancery under Ivan Mazepa? My tentative answer will be based on an analysis of two universals from Mazepa's chancery, dating from different periods of his hetmancy, and a comparison with the language of some official letters to Muscovite addressees. While Mazepa's universals represent the internal official written language of the Hetmanate at the turn of the eighteenth century and offer an answer to the question of whether the Hetmanate's linguistic traditions remained intact, Mazepa's external correspondence with Muscovite addressees is situated in a rather different context because this communication constellation is multilingual from the very outset. Against the background of upcoming developments it is the factors of Russian-Ukrainian linguistic adaptation and comprehension that are of significant interest: Was the language of the hetmanate's official language maintained on the Ukrainian side but translated in order to be understood by the Russian side? Or did the Hetmanate's chancery adapt its correspondence with Muscovites to Russian linguistic traditions already at this rather early stage?³

Two universals

In Butyč's edition one of the first universals, which is based on an original manuscript, was issued by Ivan Mazepa on 9 October 1687 in Baturyn:

Іоанъ Мазепа, гетманъ з Войскомъ ихъ царского пресвѣтлого величества Запорозским.

Всей старшинѣ и чернѣ Войска ихъ царского пресвѣтлого величества Запорозского, а меновите пану полковникови прилуцкому, обозному, суди и осаулом полковым, сотником [sic] атаманом, войтомъ и кождому, кому колвекъ о том въдати надлежит, ознаймуем: ижъ заховуючи мы права манастиреви Густинскому Прилуцкому от бывшыхъ антецесаровъ нашихъ наданые симъ нашимъ унѣверсаломъ оные ствержаемъ и позволяем превелебному в Богу отцу Авксентію Якимовичю, ігуменови монастира мененного Густинского Прилуцкого и по немъ будучым отцем ігуменом и всѣмъ тоей обители законником для уставичной в[аших] милоствах⁴ щоденных хвалы Божой и для вспартя всегдашных росходовъ манастырских селом Деймановкою владъти и з млыновъ Давыденкового о двох каменях в селѣ Валкахъ и под мѣстомъ Варвою Івана Точеного и Івана Ляшка о двохъ каменях з ступами на рецѣ Удаю, а в селѣ Деймановцѣ Хвескового и Костиного жителей тамошнх, же о двохъ каменях з ступами на ръчцъ Лисогорцъ стоячихъ вшеляких розмърових и [sic] приходячых пожитковъ зъ козацкого ведлугъ волностей козацких половину, а з

³ For a general outline of eighteenth-century developments, see Moser 2011: 280–302 and Moser 2009: 289–322. It should not be forgotten at this point that the late seventeenth and early eighteenth centuries were a period of time when Ukrainian and Belarusian employees of the Department of Foreign Affairs as well as leading clergymen fostered the spread of numerous Ruthenian loan words, many of which were of Polish or Western European origin, into Russian. At the same time, the Church Slavonic language of the Muscovite recension was heavily influenced by the Church Slavonic language of the Ukrainian recension (for a discussion of these developments, see Moser 1998: 9–46, and the literature cited there.

⁴ In the edition the word is rendered as *munocmbax*, which seems to be a mistake.

мужицкого двохъ частей заживати. Теды абы ему, отцу ігумену, из всъм законником манастыра Густынского з [!, probably instead of в] держаню оного села и в отбъраню з помененных млиновъ належатых [*sic*] пожитковъ жадная не дъялася ни от кого з старшины и чернъ перешкода и трудност, мъти хочем, а войтови и всей громадъ села Деймановки прыказуем, жебы без спротивенства вшелякое помененной обытелъ належитое оддавали послушенство, варуемъ однакъ, жебы козаки в том селъ мешкаючие при своихъ козацкихъ волностяхъ ненарушне зоставали, не узнаючи жадной от преречоного отца ігумена и братий долегливости.

Данъ в [sic] Батуринѣ, октобрія 9, року 1687.

Звишъ менованый гетман, рукою власною. (MU: 97–98)

At a time much closer to the Battle of Poltava, on 20 April 1708, Mazepa issued another brief universal in Bila Tserkva, close to his original homestead:

Пресвѣтлѣйшого и державнѣйшого великого государя его царского [sic] величества Войскъ Zапорожскихъ гетманъ славного чина святого апостола Андрея и Бѣлого Орла Кавалеръ Іоанъ Мазепа.

Пану полковникови переяславкому, старшинѣ полковой, сотникомъ и всѣмъ старшимъ и меншимъ войскового и посполитого чину в полку томъ знайдуючимъся обывателемъ и кождому, кому бы колвекъ о томъ вѣдати належало, симъ унѣверсаломъ нашимъ озмаймуемъ [*sic*], ижъ панъ Денисъ Деркачъ, сотникъ бобновскій просилъ нашого такого респекту, абисмо къ вспартю домовихъ его потребъ надали ему село Сушку в полку Переяславкомъ в сотнѣ Бубновской знайдуючоеся. Мы прето гетманъ и кавалеръ респектуючи на роненые его и теперъ ронячіеся в Войску Zanopoжскомъ услуги, а и впредъ до оныхъ заохочуючи, а до того углядаючи и на тое, что онъ панъ сотникъ бубновскій чрезъ певное время неволю швецкую терпѣлъ и тымъ самымъ до крайнего на субстанціи своей пришолъ знищеня, надаемъ ему, пану Денису, сотникови бубновскому преречоное село Сушки в зуполную поссесію зъ всъми кгрунтами, добрами и угодіями здавна и тепер [sic] туда приналежачими, позволяючи от людей посполитих [sic] належитое послушенство и повинности аз [sic] грунтовъ и добръ тамошниых [sic] користи всякіе и пожитки отбирати, за чимъ абы панъ полковникъ переяславскій, тепер наказный, а впред совершенный, старшина полковая, сотники и нихто згола, не важился, ему пану Деркачу, в том жадной чинити перешкоды, пилно приказуем и грозно варуем, войт засъ тамошній съ посолствомъ, опрочъ самих козаковъ [?],⁵ повинны въсей послушенство и повинности ему, п. Деркачу, отдаватъ [sic].

Данъ в Бѣлой Церкви, апреля 20, року 1708.

Звишъменованний гетманъ и кавалер, рукою власною. (MU: 533)

Basically, the two documents—both editions are based on original documents are written in the same language. It is the typical Ukrainian chancery language of the period, with its significant amount of genuinely Polish elements and lexical loans from Latin (mostly via Polish), but still almost no loans from Russian. The substance

5 This bracketed question mark was introduced by the editor.

of this language is clearly Ukrainian with some elements of a North Ukrainian dialectal character, both in terms of phonology and inflectional morphology.

The following phonological and orthographic features make the text typically Ukrainian:

- The treatment of etymological ĕ, which is usually used etymologically correctly but is sometimes confused with y: cf. 1687: cy∂u (dative singular) or ₺ for etymological i in yнъверсаломъ; as is typical of North Ukrainian dialects, ĕ appears as e only in unstressed syllables, as in на peut ₺ along with на p₺чu₺ // 1708: yнъверсаломъ; see also в Бълой Церкви (the noun is probably formed from the nominative form церква, so -u is likely to be the reflex of ₺ here);
- The mixing of *u* and *ы*: млыновъ, обытелѣ, Звишъ, Густинскому along with Густынского, прыказуем, розмѣрових, бывшыхъ, будучым, приходячых; 1708: користи, Звишъменованний, абисмо, домовихъ, посполитих;
- The reflex C(C)'V < *CbjV: 1687: вспартя (genitive singular); 1708: вспартю (dative singular), знищеня (genitive singular), but 1708 with the Church Slavonic reflex: угодіями;
- The treatment of **j*ьzъ and sъ: 1687: з млыновъ, з мужицкого, з ступами, из
 [= *i*з or *i* з?] всъм законником, з старшины и чернъ, зоставали; 1708: зъ всъми
 кгрунтами, знищеня (genitive singular), знайдуючимъся, знайдуючоеся, згола,
 зуполную;
- The loss of **j*ь-: 1687: мѣти, мененного, з помененных, менованый; 1708: Звишъменованний;
- The spelling "o" after sibilants: 1687: Божой (genitive singular feminine); 1708: Пресвътлъйшого, державнъйшого, нашого, знайдуючоеся;
- The hardening of *r*, which is typical of North Ukrainian (and partially Southwest Ukrainian), but not Southeast Ukrainian dialects: 1687: манастыра, 1708: теперь, but: 1708: государя;
- The spelling "що": 1687: щоденных; but 1708: что;
- The spelling "ο_A-": 1687: *ο∂∂aвали* (in this case the Russian pronunciation rules could also have yielded the spelling "_A" due to the regressive assimilation of *∂*-);
- The spelling "менш-" (not меньш-): 1708: меншимъ;
- The spelling "кг-": 1708: кгрунтами; but 1708: грунтовъ;
- The spelling "запорозским, запорозского" instead of etymologically oriented запорожского, which would have been preferred in the Russian documents of the time.

As for morphology, the following elements are noteworthy:

- The frequent use of the dative ending *-ови* with masculine nouns: 1687: полковникови, манастиреви, войтови, et al.; 1708: полковникови, сотникови;
- The hard stem in всегдашных;
- The soft-stem masculine locative ending -[u] in в отбъраню;
- The conjugation of *xomъmu*: 1687: *xoчем*;
- The personal endings in past tense and conditional forms of the verb: 1708: абисмо [...] надали;

- The instrumental singular form *тымъ*: 1708: *тымъ*;
- The instrumental singular form чимъ: 1708: чимъ;
- The inflectional form двохъ: 1687: о двох каменях, о двохъ каменях, двохъ частей.

At the syntactic level, the noun phrase o + locative case with a qualitative meaning, which is typical of older Ukrainian (and Polish) sources, is noteworthy ($o \, dbox \, \kappa ame H \pi x$).

Only a few elements come into play if the question of a possible impact of the Russian tradition is raised. In the universal of 1687 it is virtually only the Church Slavonic form *владѣти*, which is not typical of older Ukrainian chancery texts (see SUM XIV–XV and Tym), but is widespread in Middle Russian secular sources; in the universal of 1708 it is the Church Slavonic form *время* (which is combined in one nominal phrase with the Polonism *певное*) and, as another Church Slavonic form, *совершенный*. None of these elements is genuinely Russian,⁶ and all of them were well known from the Ukrainian Church Slavonic traditions. Still, Church Slavonic does not play a particularly important rule in these or any other universals from Mazepa's chancery. Even in the tsar's epithets the adjectival ending of the genitive masculine singular quite consistently reads *-ozo* in the original documents, not *-azo* (*ихъ царского пресвѣтлого величества*).

On the other hand, genuinely Polish elements occur in both texts rather frequently. To name only those that are phonologically marked:

1687: колвекъ, вспартя, варуемъ, вшелякое, вшеляких, ведлугъ, теды, перешкода, преречоного, власною [from Czech]; adverbs in -е: меновите, ненарушне. 1708: колвекъ, вспартю, варуем, певное, перешкоды, впредъ (cf. Polish wprzód), преречоное, власною [via Polish from Czech], кгрунтами.

Function words often coincide with their Polish equivalents, too: the conjunctions $u \varkappa b$, $\varkappa e$, $\varkappa e \delta b l$, and the negative pronoun $\varkappa a \partial h a \beta$ in the document of 1687 or the conjunction $u \varkappa b$ (along with u m o), the coordinative causal conjunction n p e m o, the negative pronoun $\varkappa a \partial h o \tilde{u}$ and the particle 3a c b in the universal of 1708.

Both universals are, to wit, perfectly representative for the whole corpus of Ivan Mazepa's universals, which continued the Hetmanate's linguistic traditions without any disruption.

⁶ The form *upe3b* from 1708, on the other hand, is not necessarily marked as a Church Slavonic form. It is also sporadically encountered, perhaps as an allegro form, in other Middle Ukrainian chancery documents (*SSUM* vol. 2, s.v. "upbcb"). The prefix *npe*- with the metathesis may be of Church Slavonic (*npecs bmλbiŭ*) as well as Polish origin in Ukrainian (Polish pre-adjectival *prze*- is again likely to be an early loan from Church Slavonic).

Two early letters to Muscovite addressees

The status of the Hetmanate as a Muscovite protectorate had already been established for more than three decades when Ivan Mazepa became hetman, but the Hetmanate's chancery still did not compose its letters to Muscovites in Russian. In fact, a crucial caveat must be added here. Both earlier and more recent editions contain a lot of Russian documents that were issued by Mazepa, but a closer look reveals that virtually all these texts are mere translations. Very often they are introduced by remarks such as "Bo "B-M" квеликимъ гсдремъ / гетманскомъ лист8 поимя /нованиї їтитлахъ написано" (ES: 122) or "список с листа белоруского письма" (see *ML*: 248, 270, etc.), and a comparative look at the language of these "списки" and other documents makes it clear that "список" does not mean "copy" here but "translation."⁷

The following two letters to Muscovite addressees are apparently based on original documents.⁸ The first letter was written by Mazepa to Count Vasilij Golicyn in Baturyn on 10 January 1689:

Божїею милостію пресвѣтлѣйшихъ и державнѣйших великих государей царей и великих князей Іоанна Алексѣевича Петра Алексѣевича и великіа государини благовѣрніа царевны и великіа княжны Софіи Алексѣевны, всея Великія и Малія и Бѣлыя Россіи самодержцевъ, и многих государствъ и земел восточныхъ и западныхъ и сѣверныхъ отчичей и дѣдичей и наслѣдниковъ и государей и облаадателей ихъ царского пресвѣтлого величества ближному боярину и Болшого полку дворовому воеводѣ, ясневелможному князю Василію Василевичу Голицину, царственніа болшия печаты и государственных великихъ и посолских дѣлъ оберегателю, и намѣстнику новгородскому, моему велце ласкавому господину, приятелеви и милостивому благодѣтелеви, низкое мое засылаю чолобитье.

Толмача сѣвского Диниса Лихининиа по указу великих государей и великое государини, сполне з толмачомъ отъ мене з Переволочной вынайденымъ до Криму посыланого, и в Казикерменѣ через бея казикерманского насилно назад заверненого, и ко мнѣ в Батуринъ генвара 8 прибылого отпустилемъ я к царствующому великому граду Москвѣ 3 листом моимъ до их царского пресвѣтлого величества, о насилномъ заверненю их писаномъ, з которого листа все мое донесенье вашой княжой велможности вѣдомо будет. А же тот толмач Денисъ Лихининъ а з ним и от мене выправованый другий толмач в Кримъ проѣхати не возмогли, и способъ тот о провѣдованніи [sic] кримъского поведеніа не восприялъ желаемого совершенъства; теды развѣ з языковъ, яких Господь Богъ подати намъ изволилъ поведеніе и намѣреніе неприятелское вѣдомо будеть, о

⁷ Izmail Sreznevskij, however, does not list the meaning "translation," "translate," etc., s.v. "съписати," "съписъкъ" (Srez). It should be noted that Ukrainian was still consistently called *Belarusian*, while the term *Little Russian* was applied as a toponym but not yet as a glottonym in these texts.

⁸ Unfortunately, the editor is ambiguous here. He states: "€ кілька україномовних копій і ряд оригіналів" (There are a few Ukrainian-language copies and a number of originals) and lists the two cited documents among several others. It is thus not entirely clear in each case if one is dealing with original documents or copies.

якїе языки я ватагу полевому Іосипу Куликови з великим прилежанїемъ старатися приказалемъ; и вперед всяко кому годно прикажу. При сем оддаюся милостивой вашой княжой велможности благодѣтелской ласце.

3 Батурина генвара 10 року 1689.

Вашой княжой велможности зычливый всего добра приятел и низкий слуга

Іванъ Мазепа гетман Войска ихъ царского [*sic*] пресвътлого величества Запорозкого. (МL: 273–74)

The second letter is dated the very same day and was addressed to the Russian tsars, Ivan and Petr Alekseevič, and Tsarina Sofja Alekseevna:

Божїею милостію пресвътлъйшимъ и державнъйшимъ великимъ государемъ царемъ и великимъ княземъ Іоанну Алексѣевичю, Петру Алексѣевичю, и великой государынѣ благовѣрной царевнѣ, и великой княжнъ Софіи Алексъевнъ, всеа Великія и Малыя и Бълыя Россіи самодержцемъ, московскимъ, киевскимъ, владимерскимъ, новгородскимъ, царемъ казанъскимъ, царемъ астраханъскимъ, царемъ сибърскимъ, государемъ псковскимъ, и великимъ княземъ литовскимъ, смоленъскимъ, тверскимъ, волынъскимъ, подолскимъ, югорскимъ, пермскимъ, вятцкимъ, болгарскимъ и иныхъ, государемъ и великимъ княземъ Новагорода низовскіе земли, чернѣговскимъ, резанъскимъ, полотцкимъ, ростовскимъ, ярославскимъ, белоозерскимъ, удорскимъ, обдорскимъ, конъдийскимъ, витепъсимъ, мстиславскимъ и всея съверныя страны повелителемъ и государемъ иверскія земли, карталинъских и кгрузинъскихъ царей и кабардинъское земли, черкаских и горских князей и иных многих государствъ и земел восточных, и западных, и съверных отчичемъ и дъдичемъ, и наслъдникомъ, и государемъ, и облаадателемъ, вашему царскому пресвѣтлому величеству.

Іванъ Мазепа гетманъ з Войском вашего царского пресвѣтлого величества Запорожскимъ падъ до лица земного пред пресвѣтлымъ вашего царского величества маестатомъ, у стопы ногъ монаршихъ смиренно челомъ бю. По преможномъ вашомъ царского пресвѣтлого величества указу, яко я первѣе по предложенъю ближнего боярина и Болшого полку дворового воеводы ясневелможного его милости князя Василїя Василіевича Голицына, царственъные болшие печати и государственъных великих и поселских дѣлъ оберегателя и намѣстника новгородского, по вѣрной моей ку вамъ великимъ государемъ и великой государынѣ службѣ прилѣжное мое прикладалемъ старанъе, о высланъю в Крымъ такового посылщика, который бы о всякомъ тамошнемъ повоженъю вывѣдатися моглъ: якожъ тимъ моимъ прилѣжнымъ старанъемъ и вынашол и выслалъ былъ толмача Данила переволочанъского который до такого дѣла былъ способенъ; такъ и потомъ по милостивой вашой царского пресвѣтлого величества грамотѣ з присланнымъ з Съвска толмачемъ Денисомъ Лихининымъ, тоежъ мое ложилемъ прилѣжное старанъе: же оного переволочанъского толмача в одностайную посылку совокупивши выправилемъ былъ обоихъ оныхъ до Сѣчи Запорозкой, якожъ власне на Сѣчь а некуда инуда тотъ путь надлежитъ, и писалемъ до атамана кошового, и до всего Низового Войска, пилно вашимъ царского величества монаршимъ указомъ приказуючи, абы

они з Сѣчи ихъ обоихъ толмачовъ выслали до Казикермена, и жебы от себе писали до бея казикерменъского, чтоб бей ихъ толмачовъ не задержаючи, пропустилъ до Перекопу и внутръ Крыму. Где атаманъ кошовый и Войско Низовое (:любо нъкоторыи тамъ же упорними голосами своими в томъ перешкожали:) ихъ толмачовъ з Сѣчи Запорозкой до Казикермену порядне при провожатыхъ отпустили и до бея казикерменъского о отпускъ оных до Крыму писали. Которыи толмачь когда прибыли до Казикермену, и дѣло свое о иску и розмѣне и окупу неволниковъ обявили, теды тотъ бей казикерменъский списавшися о томъ з беемъ перекопскимъ, не допустилъ имъ толмачамъ ехати в Кримъ но насилно ихъ завернулъ назадъ до Сѣчи, отколь атаманъ кошовый и Низовое Войско отпустили ихъ в городы малоросийскіе и прибыли они толмачь в Батуринь генваря 8 числа, где о своемъ поездѣ и о насилномъ з Казикермена поворотѣ такъ словесно сказали, яко вышей туть написалося. Я теды толмача съвского Дениса Ликонина з симъ листомъ моимъ для повнъйшого и обширнъйшого о томъ донесенъя к вамъ великимъ государемъ и великой государынѣ отпускаючи листь от атамана кошового ко мнь о повороть ихъ толмачовъ писаный, и листь бея казикерменъского на Запорожье писаный, и з Запорожя з ними ж толмачами ко мнѣ присланый, в приказ Малыя Россіи посылаю: и при семъ яко найпокорнъй отдаю мене премилосердной вашего царского пресвѣтлого величества благостинѣ. З Батурина генваря 10 року 1689.

Вашего царского пресвѣтлого величества вѣрный подданый и найнижайший слуга,

Іванъ Мазепа гетманъ Войска вашего царского пресвѣтлого величества Запорозкого. (ML: 271–73)

It is immediately clear that the language of both documents is still very different from the Russian chancery language of the time. But what makes these documents typically Ukrainian?

In trying to answer this question, one should certainly not focus on the introductory or closing parts, with their Church Slavonic-based official epithets and titles of the tsars, which were clearly adopted from Russian. It is noteworthy, however, that typically Ukrainian traits can be found even in these formulae. Thus, the letter to Golicyn features the spelling *i* and *u* instead of ы in государини, благовѣрнїа, Малія; in the remainder of the address, the spelling *w* instead of *u* in *nevamw*; the spelling *o* after the sibilant in *чолобитье*; the hard stem in *ближному*, the dative singular ending in приятелеви and благод втелеви; and the typically Ukrainian epithets ясневелможному (with the interfix -e-, not -o-), велце ласкавому (in combination with the Russian form of address *господину*), and *милостивому* (in the secular sense, in combination with the lexical neutral noun, *приятелеви*, and the Church Slavonic form благод в телеви). In the address of the letter to the tsars and the tsarina, toponyms are spelled with an e instead of an u in владимерскимь, b instead of u in сибbрскимь and чернbговскимь, and *kz* in *kzpy3uHbckuxb*, whereas the spelling of *e* and not *o* after the sibilant in вашему, челомъ (бю) and вашего and particularly the adjectival ending of the genitive singular feminine -big confirm the considerable Slavonicization of this part (cf. also the etymological spelling of *Запорожскимъ*).

The closing paragraph of the letter to Vasilij Golicyn is also written in keeping with Ukrainian traditions: при сем оддаюся милостивой вашой княжой велможности благод втелской ласце (with the North Ukrainian -e as a reflex of ě in the unstressed ending). The rendering of place and time in the subscription shows 3 < *jbzb in з Батурина, again генвара with hardened r and the markedly Ukrainian form року, while in his signature Mazepa uses the typically Ukrainian adjective зычливый and the phonetically oriented spelling *Запорозкого*. In the closing paragraph of the letter to the tsars, the *e* after the sibilant is again encountered in *Bauezo* (*uapckozo*) пресвѣтлого величества), while the Ukrainian background of the text is confirmed by the spelling δ *narocmun* \mathfrak{b} (dative singular) with *u* instead of \mathfrak{b} , although this is again only an orthographic peculiarity, while place and time in the subscription are also clearly rendered in Ukrainian with $3 < *j_b z_b$ in 3 Батурина and the Ukrainian form року (this time генваря does not show hardened r). Instead of зычливый всего добра приятел и низкий слуга in the signature of the letter to Golicyn, whom Mazepa obviously regarded as an equal, one now finds the particularly humble вѣрный подданый и найнижайший слуга, whereas запорозкого is now surprisingly written according to phonetics, as opposed to the above-mentioned spelling of Запорожскимь in the address.

The narrative parts of the two letters are much less bound to formal prescriptions. The letter to Golicyn is characterized by numerous markedly Ukrainian features. The following spellings are of interest: *u* instead of *ы* in государини and Кримъ, *Криму, кримъского, и* instead of unstressed *e* in *Диниса* (along with *Денисъ*), *o* after sibilants in царствующому, вашой, княжой, з толмачомъ, hardened r in генвара, 3 (< *jbzb) in 3 языковb and 3 которого листа as well as 3 (< cb) in front of vowels, voiceless consonants, or sonorants, as in з Переволочной (сь + genitive case), з великим прилежанйемъ, з листом, з ним. As for inflectional morphology, the following elements are noteworthy: the personal endings in the past tense forms as in *отпустилемъ* and *приказалемъ*; the dative ending in *Куликови*; the locative ending in -[u] with a soft-stem neuter noun, as in *о насилномъ заверненю*; and the genitive feminine singular ending of the adjective in *Benukoe* and the genitive form of the personal pronoun *MeHe*. Two prepositional phrases are of syntactic interest: the Ukrainian ∂o with the genitive case in a directional, non-terminative meaning, as in до Криму посыланого ог отпустилемъ...до их царского пресвътлого величества, and the Ukrainian *uepess* with the accusative for the expression of agency, as in через бея казикерманского насилно назад заверненого.9

Several lexical elements, some of which are genuinely Polish, confirm the Ukrainian character of the letter to Golicyn, such as the form of address *велможности* (dative singular) and the lexemes *сполне* (note the adverbial *-e*), *вынайденымъ*, *выправованый*, *лист*(ъ) (з листом, з которого листа), способъ (which functioned as a quite recent loan from Polish and Ruthenian also in the Russian language of the time), the relative pronoun $як\ddot{i}$ (якie, якиx), and the conjunction жe and its markedly Polish correlative element *medы*.

⁹ This construction was adopted into Russian at that time; see Moser 1998: 245-60

The letter to Golicyn also contains a few elements that are likely to have been adopted from Russian and Russian Church Slavonic. Apart from the abovementioned titles and epithets, it is the construction no ykasy великих государей и великое государини with Russian указь (the word is not attested in SUM XIV-XV or Tym) and the local adverbial к царствующому великому граду Москвѣ with the Slavonic participle and the Slavonic metathesis in *zpady*, whereby it is noteworthy that both phrases immediately refer to elements of Muscovite rule, either to the tsars themselves or to their residence. But more Church Slavonic elements are encountered in the text: возмогли, восприяль, and совершеньства, with the vowel in the prefix according to the rules of the Second South Slavic Influence; the spelling -ia in nobedehia, also according to the rules of the Second South Slavic Influence; the form *изволилъ* with the Church Slavonic prefix *из*- (which probably cannot be interpreted as 3 with a prothetic *i*- here; cf. Polish *zwolić*); the present passive participle желаемого (ending in -ого, not -аго, though); the form развь with Church Slavonic pas- instead of the North Slavic (including East Slavic) pos-; and, finally, the spelling forms with the Church Slavonic *i* from the $*C_{bj}V$ -group in *nosedenie*, намѣренїе and прилежанїемъ. At the same time, no markedly Russian elements, such as the spelling ebo instead of ezo, the adjectival ending -oŭ in the nominative masculine singular, etc., occur in documents like these.

The narrative part of the letter to Ivan and Petr Alekseevič and to Tsarina Sofja Alekseevna (ML: 271–73) is basically written in Ukrainian, too, as attested by the following orthographic and phonological elements: *u* for *bi* in *b Kpumb*, *ynophumu* and *тимъ* (rather [tym] than [tim] < $m \not a m \not b m b$); *e* for unstressed *u* in *некуда*; $\not b$ for *i* in *moxmav* (several times); and *e* for *b* only in an unstressed position, as in *o* [...] розмѣне or after *j*, as in *examu*, *о своемъ поездѣ*;¹⁰ *о* after sibilants, as in *вашомъ*, *вашой*, кошовый, кошового, толмачовъ, повнѣйшого и обширнѣйшого, вынашол (although o was often written phonetically in this last position in Middle Russian, too), з < **jbzъ* in з Сѣвска, з Сѣчи (several times), з Казикермена, as well as з for съ in front of voiceless vowels and sonorants, as in з присланнымъ [...] толмачемъ, з симъ листомъ, з ними; finally, hardened r in внутръ, but retained soft r' in генваря. Even *в* for etymological *l* occurs in the spelling of *повнъйшого*. East Slavic continuants of the **CbjV*- group are reflected in the spellings *старанье*, Запорожье, донесенья (genitive singular), по предложенью, о высланью, о [...] повоженью, стараньемь; the typically Ukrainian spelling is encountered in 3 Запорожя, while the Church Slavonic reflex *i* occurs exclusively in the Russian name *Bacunïa Bacunïeвичa*. The word *ide* is written with *-e*, not *-t*. The following morphological features are noteworthy: the locative ending -u of the soft neuter stem in о высланъю and о... повоженью (some hard-stem masculine nouns show the locative singular ending -*u*; cf. *o* ucky with a velar consonant and $o \dots o ky ny$ in the same syntagm);¹¹ the short adjectival form *cnocobeHb* in the predicate (which was in general already quite rarely used in Late Middle Ukrainian texts); the comparative form вышей (but not выше; see Morfolohija 1978: 377; cf. Polish *wyżej*); the forms of the personal pronouns

¹⁰ This spelling is typical of North Ukrainian; see Ševel'ov 1979: 432.

¹¹ As for the locative of hard-stem masculine nouns, see Morfolohija 1978: 98–101.

мене and *ceбe*; the long neuter form of the pronoun *moe*(π ъ) and its instrumental form *mumъ* [tym]; the personal form in past tense verbs, as in *прикладалемъ*, *ложилемъ*, *выправилемъ* былъ, *писалемъ*, etc.; and the remote past tense form, as in *вынашол и выслалъ* былъ and *выправилемъ* былъ. Two prepositional constructions are noteworthy at the syntactic level: the frequent non-limitative *дo* + genitive, as encountered in *до такого дѣла былъ способенъ*, *писалемъ до атамана кошового* and *выправилемъ былъ обоихъ оныхъ до Сѣчи Запорозкой, и до всего Низового Войска*, as well as *o* + accusative case with the meaning of topic, as in *до бея казикерменъского о отпускъ оныхъ до Крыму писали*.

A number of lexemes are characteristic of the Ukrainian (and often Polish) traditions, such as: преможномъ (locative singular masculine); the title ясневелможного его милости (genitive singular) and the epithet милостивой (genitive singular feminine); and о...повоженъю, вывѣдатися, вынашол, способенъ (cf. the remark for способъ above), одностайную, выправилемъ, пилно, перешкожали, неволниковъ, листъ, обширнѣйшого, донесенъя. Markedly Polish forms are поселских $(\partial \mathbf{b}_{\Lambda \mathbf{b}})$ (genitive plural, along with *посылщика*, *посылку*, cf. *посолских* $\partial \mathbf{b}_{\Lambda \mathbf{b}}$ in the letter to Vasilij Golicyn), medu, and ky. Along with the genuinely Czech Polonism власне, порядне is encountered as another adverb ending in -e. The conjunction яко(жь) seems to be rather based on the Polish $jako(\dot{z})$ than on Church Slavonic яко (*же*) here, and the use of the conjunction любо corresponds rather to that of the older Polish form *lubo* than to the older Russian *любо*. The genuinely Polish conjunctions *we* and *webbi* occur along with *abbi*, which was also used in Polish, but not in Russian, and *umob*, which was encountered in Ukrainian as well as in Russian. Finally, the noun *uckb* as in *o ucky* might be a loan from Russian (there is no entry for искъ or even noucкъ in SSUM or Tym).

Russian and Church Slavonic elements occur sporadically in the narrative part of the letters to the tsars. Along with the already encountered titles, the syntagm $\mu apcmsehblue$ болшие печати from Vasilij Golicyn's title with the Slavonicizing adjectival ending -be (but not -bi3) and *в приказ Малыя Россіи*, with the Church Slavonic ending -bi3, are noteworthy, but these forms are quotations of Russian terms. More interesting are the verb *совокупивши*, which is marked as a Church Slavonic form by the vowels in the prefixes according to the rules of the Second South Slavic Influence, and the form of the conjunction *когда*, which was (and still is) widely used in Russian, but not in Ukrainian. The lexeme *посылщика* (genitive singular) is likely another genuinely Russian form. Finally, not only the lexeme *указ*(b) but also the prepositional phrase по *преможномъ вашомъ царского пресвътлого величества указу* are probably based on the model of Russian.¹²

Apart from the adoption of some ready-made formulae and isolated lexemes of the Russian chancery practice both letters are, however, still virtually unaffected by the official language varieties of their Muscovite addressees.

¹² The context is ambiguous, though, because Russian *no yka3y* renders *no* + the dative case, while the adjectival forms in the present Ukrainian context suggest the interpretation as locative. The syntagm *no предложеныю князя Василія Василівича Голицына* is less problematic; cf. Polish *po przedłożeniu* with an unambiguous form of the locative case.

Later letters to Muscovite addressees

As evidenced, e.g., by Tat'jana Tairova-Jakovleva's original-based edition of Ivan Mazepa's letters to Aleksandr Men'šikov from the years 1704 and 1705, the language of the letters to Muscovite addressees remained basically the same (Getman 2007). Elements of Russian or Church Slavonic still occur only sporadically in typically Ukrainian texts of the time. Especially as regards the letters to the tsars—or, from 1696, to Tsar Peter alone—most of the documents that can be found in the editions are still not based on original texts from the Hetmanate but on their translations into the Russian chancery language.¹³ This confirms, first and foremost, that Mazepa's letters to the tsars were still written in a language that was alien to Muscovites and usually had to be translated.

On the other hand, those few editions that seem to be based on the original documents demonstrate that the language of Mazepa's letters to the tsars changed right on the eve of Poltava. The following letter, from a collection of copies of originals that once belonged to the historian and writer Orest Levyc'kyj, was written in September 1706. Although the edited version is thus not immediately based on the original text, it is representative of a number of Mazepa's letters to Peter I from the latter years of his hetmancy:

Пресвѣтлѣйшій Державнѣйшій / Великій Государь.

Неточію веселыми устами, но й сердцемъ идушею / радостно цѣлую богомъ украшенный, восвояси воз/вратившийся, ваши Ц. Пр. В. монаршіи стопы, / которій ради предидущей славы и помножения / всему православному россійскому государству / пожитку, и далечайшіи страны земнымъ / и воднымъ путемъ влеій [*sic*, for велій?—MM] подаша трудъ, все/сердечною убо подданскою вѣрностію, благопривѣт/ствую вамъ велик. госдрю В. Ц. Пр. В. премилос/тивѣйшому моему собладателю, того щасли/вого иблагополучного, на свои высокіи ипреславныи / монаршии престолы возвращенія; и желаю все/цѣло истиннымъ рабскимъ желаніемъ дабы вы / великій государь благосердый ипремудрый Монарха / въпремногіи лѣта, благодатію божіею, добре здравствовали // и благополучное вовсемъ преславного ибогохрани/мого своего царствія имѣли правленіе.

Покорственно осемъ вамъ В. Г. доношу, же по/милостивомъ вашемъ Ц. Пр. В. указу, посылалъ / янарочно человика [*sic*] своего въ Мултянскую и / Волоскую землю, для досмотрѣнія при брегу Чор/ного моря приличныхъ пристанищъ и сладкихъ водъ, / который чрезъ немалое бытія своего время, добре / положеня краевъ тамошнихъ досмот/рѣвшися, возвратился назадъ, и отповѣдалъ / мнѣ, гдѣ есть отъ гирла Дунайского, до устя рѣки / Днѣстра, а отъ того устя до рѣки Богу и до самого / Днѣпровского Лиману, таковыи утого Чорного мо/ря пристанища и сладкіи воды. Также и зем/ нымъ путемъ чрезъ увесь Буджакъ къ Волоской и / Мультянской землѣмъ,

¹³ Usually this information is found at the beginning or end of documents. See the edition of a letter to Peter I dated 13 October 1705 in DM: 216–18, where a supplement to the document reads as follows: "В верху писма написано: 'К великому государю в листу гетмана и кавалера Ивана Степановича Мазепы, каково принято в Тикотинѣ, чрез курiера Кабринского, октября в 18 денъ [sic] 1705-го году, написано:" (ibid., 218). Obviously, this is a note by the translator.

гдѣ обрѣтаются выгодныи / станы иночлеги. Которого человѣка любо на/ лежало мнѣ послати въ царствующій градъ / Москву однако тую оного посылку отложилемъ // радитого же владитель Мултянскій по моему / предложенію тамошнихъ странъ искуного [sic, for искусного?—MM] и во всемъ / того морского состоянія вѣдомого квамъ В. Г: / выправилъ человѣка, который отихъ всѣхъ до извѣстія надобныхъ вещехъ достаточные вамъ / В. Г. донести можетъ. А якии тотъ мой по/сылный человѣкъ принеслъ мнѣ от владѣтеля мул/тянского письма, тыи я тутже посылаю / квамъ В. Г. его же премилосердно монаршой / благостынѣ всепокорно мя вручаю.

В. Ц Пр. В. / върный подданный / и нижайшій слуга / Иванъ Мазепа Гетманъ.

зъ Батурина септемврій. (ES: 147-48)

It is obvious at first glance that this language is much closer to Late Church Slavonic than the language of any other text that we have analyzed up to now, as confirmed by the heavy use of forms like имѣли (not мѣли), точію, возвращенія (accusative plural), благопривѣт/ствую, здравствовали, богохрани/мого (but still not -*azo*), *обрътаются*, *дабы*, the aorist *подаша*, etc. Owing to the archaic character of the language, it is reasonable to assume that the prevailing conservative orthography of the edited text widely corresponds to the original. Some deviations are, perhaps, more questionable, but the spelling *macru/6020* is very well known from the East Slavic and, in particular, the Ukrainian traditions. The spellings of человика and владитель might be explained as a Ukrainian-based rendering of *u* for *b*, and the spelling of yBecb is also well attested in Late Middle Ukrainian (cf. the Modern Standard Ukrainian ybecb), while other spellings, such as *npemunoc/mubbutomy* and монаршой ог положеня and устя (2x) have already been encountered in the abovecited documents.¹⁴ A number of word forms seem to confirm that we are dealing with a text that was originally written by a Ukrainian: cf., inter alia, nowumky (genitive singular), Монарха (nominative singular, cf. Polish monarcha), выгодныи, належало;¹⁵ the twice-occurring adverb $\partial o \delta p e$ (ending in -e); the locative ending -u after the velar consonant in *брегу* (instead of *брез*ѣ); the pronominal forms *тыи, тую* and *тихъ*; the pronoun якии; the use of the non-limitative do in o всѣхъ do извѣстія надобныхъ *Beuuexb*; the twice-occurring conjunction (not particle!) *we* and the past tense form отложилемь with the personal ending; and, finally, the rendering of the place of origin in this letter as зъ Батурина.

Owing to the unfortunate fact that the history of this text is not entirely clear, one might still be tempted to question its authenticity, and the fact that Mazepa's later letters to Tsar Peter are still marked as translations (cf. "Квеликому гсдрю влист» гетман ікавалера / івана степановича мазепы / ...написано," *ES*, 149) might even confirm these doubts. It should be noted, however, that the language

¹⁴ The spellings *BARINI* and *UCKYCHOZO* are, however, likely to be mere typographical errors.

¹⁵ These words were adopted into Russian at the turn of the eighteenth century from Polish, Belarusian, and Ukrainian. There is, e.g., no entry for *выгодънь* оr *належати* with the present meaning in Sreznevskij, *Materialy*, but both words are included in Witkowski 2006.

of this document is very far from the typical language of the translations, which reveal only comparatively few residua from the Ukrainian originals and are not characterized by such a strong and rather archaic Church Slavonic layer. Moreover, the language of the September 1706 letter does not stand alone in the corpus of Ivan Mazepa's official documents. In Serhij Pavlenko's collection of documents from the period of Ivan Mazepa's hetmancy (DM) one finds more letters with a similar language, both letters to Muscovite officials of more or less equal status, e.g., letters to Gavriil Golovkin (23 April 1706, etc.), Vasilij Dolgorukij (4 February 1707), or Aleksandr Men'šikov (30 January 1708, etc.) (all in DM: 222-48), and letters to Peter I dated 11 February 1706 (DM: 221-22), 22 April 1706 (DM: 223-24), 23 September 1706 (DM: 224–25), 24 February 1708 (DM: 233–34), and 9 March 2008 (DM: 237). Some of the letters to Peter, particularly those dealing with the affair of Vasyl' Kočubej and Ivan Iskra, are written in an even more archaized Church Slavonic language, as represented by a letter dated 30 April 1708 (DM: 238–39) and another one bearing the date of 16 July 1708 (DM: 243–44). Although both letters are based on clearly unreliable editions, the following fragments with their particularly archaic forms, such as nosep? (as a past active participle), yuedpaeuu, нетребѣ, еже, видѣста, воспріяша, etc., give a fairly good impression of the language that was actually used in these texts:

Божіею милостію Пресвѣтлѣйшему и Державнѣйшему Великому Государю, Царю и Великому Князю Петру Алексѣевичу, всеа Великія и Малыя и Бѣлыя Россіи Самодержцу, и прочая.

Иван Мазепа, гетман и кавалер з Войском Вашего Царского Величества поверг себѣ пред Пресвѣтлѣйшим Вашего Царского Величества маестатом, у стопи ног монарших смиренно челом бію. На праведеном мѣрилѣ высокодержавною своею десницею содершишъ, Ваше Царское Величество, милостъ [*sic*] и суд, когда правдою себѣ служащих и вѣрно работающих милуеши и ущедраеши, неправеднѣ же напаствующих и клеветущих лжу судиши и отмщаеши [...] Нетребѣмнѣздѣ, ко утвержденію того, еже пишу, искати многих доводов, видѣста бо очи мои, како Ваше Царское Величество [...] праведным своим судом смирил клеветником моих, Кочубѣя и Искру [...] воспріяша по дѣлом своим смертную кончину [...]. (DM: 243)

It can thus be observed that around 1706 the language of Ivan Mazepa's correspondence with Muscovites changed significantly, inasmuch as at least in some letters it was increasingly Slavonicized. One might ask, therefore, what happened in Mazepa's chancery in 1706, and then find that something substantial changed precisely that year, namely, that Pylyp Orlyk was appointed as Ivan Mazepa's new general chancellor (*heneral'nyj pysar*).¹⁶ The later hetman, who in this function was responsible for the hetman's internal and external correspondence as

¹⁶ Between 1687 and 1699 Vasyl' Kočubej had been one of his best-known predecessors, while under his own hetmancy Semen Savyč was to become one of his most famous successors.

well as for the universals,¹⁷ had not only studied at the Kyiv Mohyla College but also worked for some time as a secretary of the consistory of the Kyiv metropoly, where he must have acquired considerable experience in corresponding in Church Slavonic with the church authorities of Muscovy. Obviously, Orlyk subsequently transferred this ecclesiastical practice into the Hetmanate's secular correspondence with Muscovites, whereas the internal official language of the Hetmanate remained widely untouched by this development. Orlyk's famous letter to Stefan Javors'kyj of 1 (12) June 1721 (Orlyk 1862: 1–28), which was written in a very similar, archaizing Church Slavonic language, substantially supports our thesis.

Conclusions

As an analysis of Ivan Mazepa's universals demonstrates (and as a study of his letters to Ukrainian addressees would confirm), Ukrainian remained widely intact as a language of internal administration until the end of Mazepa's hetmancy. Letters to Muscovites were usually written in essentially the same Late Middle Ukrainian language and then translated into the Russian chancery language of the period by translators on the Muscovite side. Although the accessibility of reliable source materials is still not satisfactory, and our picture must therefore remain rather tentative, it seems that a shift occurred in the practice of the Hetmanate's correspondence with Muscovy only in 1706. At the time that Orlyk became Mazepa's general chancellor, letters to Muscovite authorities were increasingly composed in Late Church Slavonic, while other documents were still written in a language that had to be translated in Muscovy "from the Belarusian script"—that is, from Ukrainian. It thus appears that not only in the sphere of ecclesiastically oriented high culture but also in the sphere of official secular correspondence it was Late Church Slavonic-and not the Russian chancery language-that Ukrainians initially regarded as the primary source for a common language with the Muscovites, despite the fact that numerous loans from Ukrainian and Belarusian, most of which were of Polish or Western European origin, increasingly entered the Russian language during the second half of the seventeenth century and the beginning of the eighteenth.

The Hetmanate and its linguistic practices underwent substantial changes in the decades after the Battle of Poltava, when the Ukrainian language temporarily lost its century-old functions as an official language, while Modern Standard

¹⁷ Based on Pylyp Orlyk's diary, Tairova-Jakovleva describes how Orlyk wrote one of Mazepa's letters (Tairova-Jakovleva 2007: 195): "16 сентября 1707 года произошло событие, обозначившее перелом. Мазепа по-прежнему был в Киеве, наблюдая за строительством Печерской крепости. Орлик, находясь в доме гетмана, по его приказу писал длинное послание к Петру. Работа эта затянулась до ночи. Гетман проявлял нетерпение несколько раз выходил из своей внутренней комнаты, спрашивая, скоро ли конец, и объясняя, что есть еще другое дело..." (On 16 September 1707 an event took place that signified a turning point. As before, Mazepa was in Kyiv, overseeing the construction of the Pechersk fortress. Orlyk, who was at the hetman's home, on his order wrote a lengthy letter to Peter. The work dragged on into the night. The hetman showed impatience, left his inner chamber several times asking whether it would be finished soon, and explained that there was still another matter.)

Russian evolved and spread throughout the elites of the empire, including those of Ukraine. Generations later, however, when late nineteenth- and early twentieth-century awakeners began to reestablish the functionality of Ukrainian in the sphere of administration, they were able to do this in full awareness of the former status of their language, a status that had been fully granted for the last time during the hetmancy of Ivan Mazepa.

HOW IT ALL BEGAN: UKRAINIAN-RUSSIAN "SURZHYK" IN EIGHTEENTH-CENTURY SOURCES FROM THE HETMANATE

1. Approaches to "Surzhyk"

In his quite detailed and convincing entry on "Surzhyk" for the new edition of the *Encyclopedia of the Ukrainian Language*, Oleksandr Taranenko (2004: s.v. *suržyk*) defines "Surzhyk" as

a colloquial name for the non-normative individual speech of a certain person or the sociolect of a certain group that is based on the mixture and *interference* of two or more languages,...yet 'Surzhyk' is most frequently interpreted as a certain structural and functional component of Ukrainian *prostoriččja* with a considerable admixture of *Russianisms*, which became the colloquial language and, as a matter of fact, the dominant means of communication for the majority of the Ukrainian-speaking population of the country owing to the enduring Ukrainian-Russian language contact and *bilingualism* in its asymmetric (diglossic) form.

The eighteenth century is regarded as the first period during which the foundations for the development of "Surzhyk" were laid, and Taranenko emphasizes that these first manifestations of more intense language contacts occurred primarily among representatives of the administration, with the Orthodox Church, schools, and the army also playing a considerable role in the process. In his article, Taranenko also differentiates between several varieties of "Surzhyk" according to its relation to the Ukrainian or the Russian standard language, respectively:

- 1) "Surzhyk" as a language used quite spontaneously by speakers without a satisfactory knowledge of Ukrainian or Russian;
- "Surzhyk" as a language used quite consciously by individuals who generally know standard Russian and Ukrainian but lack the ability to make active use of those languages, particularly Ukrainian, in concrete communicative situations (in their "pure" form);
- "Surzhyk" as a result of insufficient knowledge of one of the two languages (Taranenko 2004).

At any rate, according to this model, "Surzhyk" is characterized as a language that is used by default, as a language that comes into play only when another language—a standard language such as Ukrainian or Russian, in our case—is not mastered perfectly. Oleksandr Taranenko's article demonstrates how significantly linguists' attitudes toward "Surzhyk" have changed in recent years, especially if one compares it with the entry on "Surzhyk" in the first edition of the *Encyclopedia of the Ukrainian Language*. That contribution consisted of only about twenty short lines, in which "Surzhyk" was roughly defined—and judged—as

...a language in which elements of different languages are artificially combined without adherence to literary norms. [The expression is] used mainly with reference to Ukrainian *prostoriččja*, which is needlessly adulterated with borrowed Russian elements (as a result of Ukrainian-Russian interference)....

This is an impoverished language, lacking national color, beauty, and expressivity (Lenec' 2000).

In the period between Lenec's and Taranenko's definitions, Michael Flier presented his study on "Surzhyk: The Rules of Engagement," which was based on materials from Oleksandra Serbens'ka's well-known publication "Anti-suržyk" and some belletristic materials. This study fostered a significantly better understanding of and a less biased attitude toward "Surzhyk." Certainly, one may "like" the Russo-Ukrainian variant of "Surzhyk" or not, but obviously "Surzhyk" as such is not merely a "bad" linguistic phenomenon to be condemned and combated by linguists. Actually, as Flier (2000: 129) points out, "the essence of 'Surzhyk' is neither arbitrary nor artificial." A merely puristic approach to "Surzhyk" prevents us from reaching a true understanding of this linguistic phenomenon and, in the long run, of the actual linguistic situation in Ukraine today.

On the other hand, one might argue that the purists' attitude is not necessarily based merely on false assumptions. Speakers of "Surzhyk" without a sufficient command of the standard languages are nowadays-as the Ukrainian standard language gains ground again, while still competing with Russian (in its Ukrainian variety)-very likely to be exposed to various forms of linguistic discrimination because speakers of both Ukrainian and Russian look down on "Surzhyk" if they recognize it as such. Moreover, most "Surzhyk" speakers themselves realize that their language lacks prestige and that their linguistic behavior appears to be problematic outside their particular "Surzhyk" speech community. The Ukrainian purists' efforts to work out possible ways of replacing "Surzhyk" with Modern Standard Ukrainian can therefore also be understood as advice on a long-term strategy for moving out of spheres of low linguistic and, consequently, social prestige in order to acquire a more useful and more powerful linguistic tool. Moreover, those speakers who come to realize that their frequently rebuffed language must be exchanged for a "cultivated" one and that "Surzhyk" is inappropriate for them in many social contexts are precisely the ones who constitute an ideal target audience for those actively involved in Ukrainian language planning and language management. Those linguists who suppose that "Surzhyk" can also be characterized as a historically conditioned result of a certain language policy that has led to the suppression of the development and spread of the Ukrainian standard language might now, under the new political circumstances, feel the need to promote the Ukrainian standard language. Many of those linguists know from their own experience that in the past, loyalty to the Ukrainian standard language could often be maintained only at a high price, whereas nowadays the tables may be turned. They also realize that "Surzhyk" still testifies to a certain degree of either Ukrainian language loyalty on the part of those speakers whose ancestors once departed from Ukrainian or, alternatively, of a certain interest in mastering the Ukrainian language on the part of those speakers whose ancestors once departed from Russian. Still, "Surzhyk" is not Russian, no matter how heavily it might be Russianized or even based on Russian, so that "Surzhyk" speakers may be able to acquire standard Ukrainian with less effort than, for example, those who are exclusively Russophone. From the Ukrainian perspective, this would definitely be a positive development, whether or not speakers of "Surzhyk" speakers continue to use it in situations that they deem appropriate (with family members, friends, and so on).

At present, it is virtually impossible to predict the future of "Surzhyk" or, as I would rather express it, of the whole broad spectrum of Ukrainian-Russian "code mixing" and "code switching" (Auer 1999) that is labeled "Surzhyk," although some assumptions might seem to be more realistic than others. As for contemporary "Surzhyk," we can be quite certain that Ukrainianists are beginning to attain a far better understanding of its structure(s) and functions than ever before because they have begun collecting original data. On the other hand, an aspect of "Surzhyk" that has remained almost a matter of mere speculation is the question of its rise and dissemination during the early decades of the Ukrainian-Russian encounter.

2. "Surzhyk" in the eighteenth century?

It is probably quite reasonable to assume that the Russo-Ukrainian encounter as such has always yielded a range of individual varieties of "Surzhyk" over time whenever speakers of Russian and speakers of Ukrainian have tried to find a common language, whatever the reason may have been in any particular case. Needless to say, the sphere of oral communication will always remain a matter of speculation as regards past centuries, and the eighteenth century in particular. Certain written sources of that period do, however, offer at least certain possibilities of reconstructing some aspects of oral communication.

We know, of course, that many contemporary linguists regard "Surzhyk" as merely a matter of oral communication. Other linguists disagree, however, and tend to regard any variety of Ukrainian-Russian code-mixing as "Surzhyk," whether oral or written, regardless of the degree of mixing. Moreover, one could argue that "Surzhyk" need not necessarily be defined against the background of wellestablished standard languages or only with reference to a situation in which both the Ukrainian and the Russian standard languages are fully established. During the period that will be discussed here, there was no Ukrainian standard language, although spoken and written varieties of Ukrainian had existed for centuries. The Russian standard language was just being elaborated, and it had not yet been disseminated among the population of the Russian Empire, not even among ethnic Russians. The Russian language as such, however, is as old as Ukrainian.

As was correctly pointed out by Taranenko (2004), "Surzhyk" is rather a "colloquial name" than a well-defined linguistic term. Consequently, I take it as fundamental that not only a number of linguists but also most ordinary speakers of Ukrainian (and of Russian) are basically inclined to label any sort of Ukrainian-Russian code-mixing as "Surzhyk." If a "glottonym" is "colloquial" by origin, and if its colloquial meaning is widespread in the speech community, then the "colloquial meaning" of the "colloquial term" should be taken seriously. Accordingly, if certain varieties of Ukrainian with a certain admixture of Russian elements, as encountered, for instance, in some contemporary newspapers, are considered "Surzhyk" by ordinary speakers of Ukrainian, then the label would appear to be perfectly justified. To be sure, I do not disagree with those linguists who believe that the "colloquial"

name" "Surzhyk" covers a fairly wide range of Ukrainian-Russian varieties and that these varieties should be differentiated from the linguistic point of view. Yet, if some of these linguists argue that "true Surzhyk" 1) belongs exclusively to the sphere of oral communication, and 2) can be regarded as "true Surzhyk" only if certain additional criteria are met, such as a certain degree of mixing extending to certain linguistic levels and the existence of well-established standard languages, then one should be aware of all the dangers that could arise from such an attempt to redefine a "colloquial name" rather arbitrarily. Thus, the label "Surzhyk" should either be used in its traditional meaning or dismissed¹ and replaced with more appropriate terms in the scholarly context. One of the necessary consequences would be the introduction of several terms for "Surzhyk" according to its different meanings, but their general meaning would remain "a mixture of Ukrainian and Russian," according to the popular meaning of the popular term.²

Thus, once we accept that any kind of Ukrainian-Russian code mixing can ultimately be labeled "Surzhyk," we can argue that a certain kind of Russo-Ukrainian "Surzhyk" is already to be found, for instance, in translations prepared in Muscovy from various languages—very often, from Polish—by Eastern Slavs from Ukraine, beginning at least in the second half of the sixteenth century (cf. Moser 1998 and the literature cited there), regardless of the fact that neither the Ukrainian nor the Russian standard language had yet been created at that time. The mixing of Russian and Ukrainian elements (as well as Church Slavonic and Polish elements, respectively) in such texts occurs at all linguistic levels, including syntax (ibid.).

With regard to our focus, the situation in the Ukrainian-speaking area is of greater interest. The Ukrainians' need to find a common language with the Russians increased as ties with the Russian administration grew closer in the years after 1654, and even more after 1667. When the Russian impact proved enduring in certain territories of Left-Bank Ukraine —a process that began generally in the course of the eighteenth century, when the Russian standard language as such was being formed and slowly gaining ground, whereas the traditions of Ukrainian as a written language significantly declined—some elements of "Surzhyk" may already have taken on a significantly more stable aspect than those merely individual varieties that had occasionally been developed in earlier times.

Whenever Ukrainianists thought about examples of earlier stages of "Surzhyk," they were very likely to recall Ivan Kotljarevs'kyj's character Voznyj in *Natalka Poltavka* (cf. Masenko 2004: 105, among many others), whose speech behavior essentially reminds us in many respects of that of contemporary "Surzhyk" speakers (the quotation is rendered in modernized Ukrainian orthography according to its source; the spelling is therefore extremely unreliable!). As an example of Voznyj's language, one might quote the following words:

¹ Elsewhere, I have put forward several arguments for dismissing the "pseudo-term" "Jazyčije" (Moser 2011: 641–666).

² Many of my arguments are a reaction to the lively discussions during the International Symposium on "Trasyanka and Surzhyk. Products of Byelorussian-Russian and Ukrainian-Russian Language Contact" organized by Gerd Hentschel at the University of Oldenburg on 15–18 June 2007.

Бачив я многих – і ліпообразних, і багатих, но серце моє не имієть – теє то як його – к ним поползновенія. Ти одна заложила єму позов на вічнії роки, і душа моя єжечасно волаєть тебе і послі нишопрной даже години (Kotljarevs'kyj 1982: 220).

To be sure, Voznyj's language is above all a result of literary stylization, no matter how realistically it might reflect the language of certain strata in early nineteenth-century Ukraine. Moreover, this stylization dates from a time when the influence of Russian in some Ukrainian-speaking areas had already become rather intense, at least among those in steady contact with Russian, such as representatives of the administration or of the army.

Trying to look back a bit further, it may be appropriate to remind the reader that our knowledge of eighteenth-century Ukrainian language history admittedly remains rather limited, despite Vitalij Peredrijenko's (1979) important study. In his book, Peredrijenko focused on elements of the vernacular in various texts but paid only scant attention to other topics important for this period, such as the Russian impact on Ukrainian. Moreover, in a classic volume devoted to *Kul'tura russkoj reči na Ukraine* (Ižakevyč 1976), the eighteenth century is not discussed at all. In striving to come to grips with the crucial question of Ukrainian-Russian language contacts in the eighteenth century, one might recall that we have at our disposal a particularly interesting corpus of eighteenth-century chancery documents from such areas as the Hetmanate (Moser 1998a).³ In this realm, Ukrainian had been established as the lingua franca of the Cossack polity in the previous decades and had developed all the qualities of a full-fledged chancery language.

It was mainly during the seventeenth century that Late Middle Ukrainian became considerably emancipated from Polish influence in the Cossack polity. A look further back into the late sixteenth and early seventeenth centuries, however, provides evidence that Ukrainian-Russian "Surzhyk" is definitely not the first or the only mixed code in the history of the Ukrainian language. Other language contacts, such as those resulting from the equally intense Ukrainian-Polish encounter, had certainly also yielded various "Surzhyks" in the course of time-suffice it to mention the so-called "prosta mova" (Moser 2011: 75-131). During the eighteenth century, it was Russian that increasingly penetrated certain communicative spheres previously dominated by the Ukrainian (or "Ruthenian") language of the time. Speakers of Ukrainian varieties loosened their ties with Polish in the Russian Empire and established new ones with Russian. One of the results of this Ukrainian-Russian contact was the rise of new Ukrainian-Russian mixed codes. Initially, these mixed codes were most probably limited to social strata exposed to more or less intense contacts with Russia and the Russian language, as partly reflected in the sources. But as the Ukrainian elite began to adopt more and more elements of Russian, Ukrainian commoners were most likely to follow them, to

³ In another study, I discussed a different corpus, namely private letters written by eighteenth-century Cossack wives. The discussion followed lines similar to those of the present article and yielded similar results (cf. Moser 2009).

some extent at least, after a certain time. A number of abstract terms that they heard from the elite would become part of their vocabulary, and whoever came into contact with the elite would try to accommodate to their language at least to a certain degree, according to the complex rules of "politeness" (which did not permit one to address a notable person in the same language as one would use to address a peer). Because of the growing prestige of the newly formed Russian language, Russian spread in the environment of the Cossack elites and in the towns, where Ukrainians soon constituted only a minority of the population. Subsequently, a range of Russian elements could spread from town to countryside, thanks largely to those peasants who regularly spent time in the towns, where they sold their products at market and engaged in other business. The eighteenth century laid the foundations for these processes.

3. Charters from the Hetmanate as sources of eighteenth-century Ukrainian-Russian "Surzhyk"

After the Battle of Poltava, it was only a matter of time until the administration of the Hetmanate began to be Russified. An important first step was the establishment of the first "Malorossijskaja kollehija" in 1722, which was led by Russian officers until it was closed in 1727. Thereafter, the process of Russification intensified until the liquidation of the Hetmanate in 1764 and in subsequent years, when the second "Malorossijskaja kollehija" was created (it was closed in 1786) (Ohloblyn 1962/1996). Moreover, from the end of its second decade, the eighteenth century witnessed other events that increasingly deprived the Ukrainians of their cultural traditions. The Chernihiv printshop was closed in 1721, and only the printing of canonical church books was permitted at other printshops. At the same time, a range of ukases issued by Peter I and the Holy Synod banned the use of Ukrainian Church Slavonic in favor of Russian Church Slavonic (Jefremov 1924: 268–274;⁴ Ohijenko 1995: 119–127; cf. also Moser 1998a: 379–387).

It has already been pointed out by various scholars, such as Larysa Masenko (2004: 105), that a number of eighteenth-century manuscripts from Left-Bank Ukraine can be regarded, in a way, as "Surzhyk" documents. It seems, however, that the language of these texts has not been thoroughly studied until now. In 1998, I analyzed a corpus of several dozen eighteenth-century chancery documents (DM 1976, DD 1993) and concluded that up to 1722 the Ukrainian chancery language was still in use, and Russian loans occurred only rarely, if at all. Between the establishment of the first "Malorossijskaja kollehija" and the creation of its successor institution in 1764, the chancery language of Left-Bank Ukraine was gradually Russianized, so that by the 1740s the language of many chancery documents was already quite close to Russian. After 1764, hardly any documents deviated significantly from Russian, except for some orthographic peculiarities (Moser 1998a).

⁴ Cf. Peter's famous ukase of 1720 (quoted from Jefremov 1924: 268): "вновь книгъ никакихъ, кромѣ церковныхъ прежнихъ изданій, не печатать; а и оныя церковныя старыя книги съ такими же церковными книгами справливать, прежде печати, съ тѣми же великороссійскими печатьми, дабы никакой розни и особаго нарѣчія въ нихъ не было."

In the course of a gradual process that started in 1722, the emerging Russian literary language, which was based on Church Slavonic to an extremely high degree, had obviously become the target language of the scribes in Left-Bank Ukraine. This shift was also supported by a specific policy concerning the leading chancellors of the Hetmanate. The general chancellors often studied at the Kyivan Academy, where Church Slavonic and then the emerging Russian literary language were taught, before taking up their posts in the Hetmanate (Panašenko 1993: 7; see also pp. 135–136 in this volume). Still, it should be added that virtually no document written by a Ukrainian scribe in Left-Bank Ukraine during this period is written in a language that could be identified as "pure Russian." Moreover, one should not forget that the newly emerging Russian literary language was itself, to a considerable degree, a mixed language, or, in other words, a kind of "Surzhyk." In this respect, not only does Church Slavonic come into play, but also many other languages that had a strong impact on Russian in the eighteenth century or that had influenced Russian and Russian Church Slavonic primarily in the second half of the seventeenth century and the first two decades of the eighteenthlanguages such as Polish and Ruthenian, that is, Belarusian and-Ukrainian! As a consequence, analyzing eighteenth-century "Surzhyk" in Ukraine turns out to be a rather complicated task.

As for Ukrainian-Russian "Surzhyk" in Ukraine in particular, it would appear that the most interesting chancery documents date from the period between 1722 and 1764, when the Ukrainian-born scribes of the Hetmanate chanceries gradually tried to master the new Russian literary language (as did their Russian counterparts) while simultaneously contributing to its formation. This was also the period in which they increasingly Russianized their texts, while still adhering to some of the older Ukrainian linguistic traditions.

The following observations are based on the assumption that most of the texts from the following corpus reflect the scribes' incomplete command of Russian and that the outcome is some kind of "Surzhyk," which in all likelihood triggered the rise of certain oral varieties of "Surzhyk" in the Hetmanate because of its status as a prestigious language of the Ukrainian elite.

During the initial phase, the scribes of the Hetmanate added some Russian elements to their Ukrainian texts, thereby signaling the authority of Russian tsarist state power through the adoption of certain elements of that language. The linguistic foundation of the texts, however, was still Ukrainian, especially in those parts of the documents that could not be enriched by too many chancery formulas, which many scribes had already acquired by that time, that is, in the narrative passages of the texts. Obviously, these scribes, who did not know Russian equally well, tried to enrich their texts with Russian elements to varying degrees. But from the 1720s onward, the situation began to change significantly. Thereafter, many chancery documents were written in Russian, although they still contained many Ukrainian features. The scribes found it both attractive and necessary to learn Russian, but it was still virtually impossible for them to adopt Russian and master it perfectly,

given the poor schooling in the Russian Empire at the time. Most likely, it would be reasonable to assume that the language of these scribes reflects that of their linguistic milieu to a considerable degree. These scribes were professionals: when they wrote their chancery documents, they certainly did not choose a linguistic code according to their own taste alone. Their language was more or less the one in which they were expected to write, the language whereby the authorities of the Hetmanate officially emphasized their status. The more this language differed from the commoners' Ukrainian, the better it might seem to be, all the more so under the specific historic and societal circumstances of the eighteenth century. This language was obviously not that of the Ukrainian peasants, nor was it the language used by the Russian peasants. It was a rather highbrow language, the emerging official language of the Russian Empire and its elites—a language with its own legacy, its own rules, and its own structure. The Cossacks of the Hetmanate wished to be part of this new imperial Russian elite culture, while their senior representatives strove to be recognized as noblemen and wanted to share the new state language with the other elites of the Russian Empire. In the end, however, these people always maintained their Ukrainian-or, as contemporaries put it, "Little Russian"-local peculiarities, both consciously and unconsciously. Precisely the same appears to hold true for their language as well.

In the following, the language of three Hetmanate charters dating from 1726, 1746, and 1760 will be discussed in detail. In our conclusions, we summarize these materials in a table.

3.1 A report from 1726

The first charter that we will look at was written by a certain Petro Janovs'kyj in an unknown place in the Hetmanate in 1726:

Сияте(л)ному графу Петру Петровичу То(л)стому <,> ве(л)мо(ж)но(му) его млсти

Донося(т) жителѣ тиницкіе козаки со(т)ни Ба(х)мацко(й) [...] о обида(х) свои(х), чинячихъся w(т) Гарасима чигири(н)ця старости Кочубейского того жъ села Тиницѣ, а в че(м) ихъ доношеніе, тому слѣдую(т) пункти:

1. Сего 726 году априля 13 дня заняль оной староста статокь нашь обивате(л)скій на жита(х) и де(р)жаль в запе(р)ть в дворь то(м), где живеть.

2. И когда хто з козаковъ пришолъ проси(т) своей ста(т)чини просити <,> то онъ вкидалъ козаковъ в кухню мѣсто ту(р)ми и мнѣ накидалъ козаковъ <,> а по(д)кома(н)дни(х) его не було з на(ми) бо свои(м) статокъ ворочалъ.

3. Да того жъ дня оной староста упившися <,> поеди(н)це(м) хотѣлъ би(т) виводи(т) <,> и ти(л)ко вивели Па(р)хома Павле(н)ка, и покладалъ бити киями <,> да писаръ соте(н)ний на то(т) часъ находи(в)ся, и договоровалъ к старостѣ, что не изволь бить козаковъ, буди ихъ вина е(ст) <,> нехай атаманъ вибетъ, и онъ писара бранилъ и вдаривъ в сѣнця(х) палицею <,>. На тое писаръ видя его пяно(г)[о], випустилъ з(ъ) кухнѣ всѣхъ насъ не бити(х) <,> а ему говорили ми всѣ: "Де(р)жи худобу нашу, а насъ не бий." И пошли безъ сору з двору о(д) его. А онъ тогди жъ порвалъ писара за волоси <,> и киемъ затялъ кидкома.

4. Того ж дня пото(м) приказалъ староста дворови(м) свои(м) поимати Клима Савче(н)ка <,> и, приведши в дво(р), бивъ дово(л)но киями и вкинувъ в ту(р)му.

[...] По се(м) доношении прося(т) вашего сияте(л)ства учини(т) рѣшеніе.

Мѣсто атамана и козаковъ тиницкихъ по прошению и(х) я, Петро Яновскій, писаръ соте(н)ни(и) ба(х)мацки(й), руку приложи(л) (DD 1993: 70).

Petro Janovs'kyj uses several Russian expressions at the beginning (Cusme(x)) HOMY графу Петру Петровичу $To(\lambda)$ стому <,> ве(λ)мо(x)но(My) его $M\lambda$ сти) and at the end (По ce(m) доношении прося(т) вашего сияте(л)ства учини(т) ръшеніе). The subscription Mвсто атамана и козаковъ тиницкихъ по прошению u(x) я, Петро Яновскій, писаръ come(н)ни(и) ба(х)мацки(й), руку приложи(л) includes the construction *no npoweruw* u(x), which might be of Russian or, just as likely, of Polish origin (cf. Polish po proszeniu), but also contains Ukrainian orthographic interferemes such as the reflection of the hardened r < -r' in *nucapb* or the use of *u* instead of u in $come(\mu)\mu u(u)$; moreover, in Russian, nuceu(v) rather than nucap (-v)would have been used. The letter ω is not attested at all in this document—other texts testify to the fact that this orthography without *b* or with its extremely limited use is quite typical of many Hetmanate documents of this period, cf. a report from Kozelets dating from 1748 (DD 1993: 77). In *miscmo* one might note the missing is quite commonly used in both Russian and Ukrainian dialects, yet in the Middle Ukrainian context the legitimization of its use by the Polish standard form miasto 'instead of' is probably of greater relevance.⁵

The document itself is labelled *dohouehue*, which is a Russian word (although it exhibits the derivational suffix *-hue*, which is not typical of vernacular Russian and, furthermore, renders the suffix in its genuinely Church Slavonic form, with i as a reflex of the "tense jer").

The scribe continues: $\Delta ohocs(m) \approx umen \equiv muhuukie \kappaosaku co(m)hu Ea(x) \approx (i)$ [...] $o \ ofuda(x) \ cbou(x), \ uuhsuvbcs w(m) \ Fapacuma \ uurupu(h)us \ cmapocmu \ Kouyőeŭckoro moro <math>\approx b \ cena \ Tuhuutb, \ a \ b \ u(m) \ uxb \ dohoumehie, \ momy \ cht dy (m) \ nyhkmu. Here, the Russian influence is particularly apparent in the verb <math>\ dohocs(m)$ and again in its derivation $\ dohoumehie$, and further in the noun $\ ofuda(x)$ (loc. pl.), in the pronoun moro $\approx b \ (gen. \ sg. \ masc.)$, and in the verb $\ cht dy (m)$. As in the spelling $\ b \ u(m)$ instead of $\ b \ u(m)$ (cf. also $\ bauero \ cusme(n) \ cmba \ from the Russian formula above), which would have been common in earlier Ukrainian chancery documents, those elements that correspond to Church Slavonic should most likely be treated as loans from the new Russian literary language rather than mere Slavonic elements. Still, Ukrainian orthographic interferemes testify not only to differences from Russian orthography, as in <math>\ mumeht \ mummeht \ mumeht \ mumeht \ mumeht \ mummeht \ mumeht \ mummeht \ mummeht \ mumeht \ mummeht \ mummeh$

⁵ All less frequently used Polish words have been checked in SJP.

which testifies to the softness of c', and to the genitive singular form $Tuhuu_b$, where b renders [i] and reflects the palatalized character of the preceding [c'], whereas the emerging standard Russian language, and most dialects of Russian, required hard [c] and bl.

At the beginning of his "narratio," the scribe continues: Cero 726 rody anpuna 13 дня заняль оной староста статокь нашь обивате(л)скій на жита(х) и де(р)жаль B sane(p)mb B dbopb mo(M), zde живеть, where the pronoun ending $-o\ddot{u}$ in oho \ddot{u} (as opposed to $o \delta u Bame(\lambda) c ki \tilde{u}$ clearly demonstrates the degree to which the scribe tried to compose his text in Russian⁶ whenever he felt safe in doing so, although the word *cmamokb*, on the other hand, is encountered in Russian only on the western periphery (Dal' 1880–1882/1978: s.v. *cmasámb*) and is likely to be a Ukrainianism here. Furthermore, the scribe selects the hard ending -mb in *живетb* and the other corresponding word forms in the document, which again underlines his willingness to adopt Russian forms. For the same reason, Janovs'kyj introduces his second numbered paragraph with the Russian conjunction \mathcal{U} korda [...] (cf. his parallel use of *mozdu*, not *mozda*), not with И кгди, И коли or other conjunctions that were usually chosen in previous Middle Ukrainian documents. The spelling *xmo* is not only typical of Ukrainian but also appears in older Russian chancery texts because many Russian dialects have also dissimilated κm - > xm-. The spelling 3 of the preposition (< **jbzb*), on the other hand, can be regarded as a Ukrainian element. In *npuuonb проси(m) своей ста(m)чини просити,* one of the mistakenly doubled infinitive forms with the unshortened ending -mu seems at first glance to be written in contravention of the rules of Russian, but it should be kept in mind that in the eighteenth century some Russian writers still used *-mu* when they wanted to signal high style, which was always associated with Church Slavonic to a considerable degree, while on the other hand shortened -mb is also typical of many Left-Bank dialects of Ukrainian. Now we also find *cma*(*m*)*чини*, a derivative of *cmamoκъ*—the ending of the genitive singular again demonstrates the Ukrainian coincidence of *u* and *w*.

Other elements occurring in this text may be of Russian or of Ukrainian origin. We note that the past tense suffix in *npuuo*_{Ab} shows the etymological spelling of the past tense suffix, while *o* after the postdental in the same verb form was also frequently written in the Russian literary language of the time. In [...] *mo o*H_b *bkuda*_{Ab} *ko3akobb b kyX*H*i0 Mbcmo my*(*p*)*Mu u M*H^b *HakudaAb ko3akobb*, the word *Mbcmo is* again used as a preposition; here we also find the traditional Ukrainian and Belarusian spelling *my*(*p*)*M*- (cf. Polish *turm*- < German *Turm*) instead of Russian *miopbM*- (Vasmer 1987/1950–1958: s.v. *miopbMa*). Subsequently, in *a no*(*d*)*koMa*(*H*)*dHu*(*x*) *ezo He бyAo 3 Ha*(*Mu*) *bo cbou*(*M*) *cmamokb bopvaAb*, we find at least three clearly Ukrainian elements: first, *бyAo* instead of *bolAO*; second, the spelling *3* instead of *c*(*b*) (in front of *H*-); and third, the conjunction *bo* in the initial position of the sentence (cf., however, Church Slavonic and Russian *ubo* in a document of 1751 from Hlukhiv—DD 1993: 74–75). Again, *cmamokb* is used. The word *bopvaAb* instead of its genuinely Church Slavonic

⁶ The genuinely Russian -oũ ending was still widely used in eighteenth-century documents until it was replaced by -bιũ, but only in the unstressed position.

cognate (803) вращать may be of either Ukrainian or of Russian origin. In *Да того жъ* dня оной староста упившися<,> поеди(н)це(м) хот \mathfrak{b} ль би(т) виводи(т) <,> и ти(л)ко вивели $\Pi a(p)$ хома Πa вле(H)ка, и покладаль бити киями, the first part of the sentence is written in accordance with Russian, whereby OHOU shows the Russian ending again, and the Russian pronoun moro wb (gen. sg. masc.) is used. The conjunction *da*, on the other hand, may be of Ukrainian dialectal (cf. Modern Standard Ukrainian ma) or of Russian origin. The adverb поединцемь (with retained je-) is Ukrainian, although it seems to be derived from Polish *pojedynkiem* (Russian *noeduhok* is likely to be a loan from Polish, cf. Witkowski 2006: s.v. *noeduhok*), and the spelling $mu(\lambda)\kappa o$ with i < o (or should it render *tyl'ko*, which would have meant a Polonism?) is Ukrainian, not Russian. As for покладаль, Dal' (1880–1882/1978: s.v. покладать) notes that this verb is widely used only in the southern and western regions of the East Slavic linguistic area, that is, in Ukrainian and Belarusian. In *da nucap*b come(н)ний на mo(m) часъ находи(в)ся, the pronoun mo(m) seems to be a loan from Russian-the reduplicated form is usually encountered only in the westernmost Ukrainian dialects. On the other hand, in *nucapb* we find hardened r again. Moreover, *Haxodu(b)cs* can hardly be interpreted as a gerund form—quite clearly, we are dealing here with the phonetically orientated spelling of the past tense suffix. In *u договоровалъ к старостъ*, the verb is most probably a Ukrainian element with the seemingly traditional spelling -ova- of the imperfectivizing suffix -'uva-, cf. Ukrainian договори́ти, догово́рювати 'to keep on and on at someone' (there is no entry for *dorobopobamu* in SRJa XI–XVII or in SRJa XVIII, cf. Russian *dorobápubamb*).

The indirect speech rendered in this document is certainly of particular interest because it may contain vestiges of the original oral speech. It is introduced by the conjunction *umo* in the traditional spelling, just as in Russian, and the first part of the indirect speech is still written mainly in Russian, as may be reflected in the word form *usboab* with *us*- (the usual preconditions for Ukrainian *is*- instead of *s*- are not fulfilled), by the infinitive *bumb* (with the preserved etymological *u* and the shortened infinitive ending), and the conditional conjunction *bydu*, which is typical of the older Russian chancery language (Russian *byde(mb)*) but seems to have been adopted in corrupt form owing to phonetic interferences here. Still, one might ask how this latter word was actually pronounced: [búd'1], just as in Russian, or [búdye], as it might have been pronounced in a Ukrainized form?

Subsequently, in *Hexaŭ amamahb вибеть, и онъ писара браниль и вдаривъ в* c $\mathcal{B}\mathcal{H}\mathcal{U}_{\mathcal{H}}(x)$ *палицею*, the imperative of the third person is introduced by the Ukrainian particle *Hexaŭ*, yet the hard verb ending *-mъ* in the third person singular form *вибеть* is again selected according to the rules of Russian. On the other hand, in Russian the spelling *выбьетъ* with the use of *b* as a signal for the pronunciation of (C')*j* in the old *-bj-* group and in Church Slavonic *uзбіеть* would rather have been expected. The genitive-accusative form of the Ukrainian lexeme *nucapa* testifies to the hardening of r' > r not only in the final position but also before *-a*, which is indeed typical of many Ukrainian dialects, especially those of the Hetmanate region. In *бранилъ*, the scribe chose a Church Slavonic word that had already been fully integrated into Russian but not into Ukrainian. On the other hand,

the prefix $\beta - \langle y - \rangle$ and the tense suffix in the masculine singular past tense form $-\delta \tau < -\lambda \tau$ in $\delta dapu \delta \tau$ are spelled in accordance with Ukrainian phonological rules. The noun in $\beta c \mathcal{B}Hu\beta(x)$ is Ukrainian, which is also reflected by the notion of soft c' (cf. Modern Standard Ukrainian $ciHu\beta$). As for $na\lambda uu \in \omega$ (inst. sg.), it should be noted that the ending, which is preserved in most Ukrainian dialects and in the Ukrainian standard language, was still much more common in Russian high-style documents of the eighteenth century than today.

In the following sentence, the long ending in the demonstrative pronoun *moe* and again the form *nucapb* are noteworthy.⁷ Immediately afterwards, the gerund *suda* is used in the markedly Russian form—the interpretation as an archaic nominative singular masculine participle referring to *nucapb* is highly improbable—whereas in the following fragment, *sunycmuxb* 3(b) $\kappa yxhB$ scExb hacb he $\delta umu(x)$, we again find, along with several Ukrainian orthographic interferemes (-B-[i] in the genitive singular masculine form $\kappa yxhB$ and u instead of ω in $\delta umu(x)$), the Ukrainian form of the preposition 3(b). The next fragment *a emy zosopunu mu* scB is "neutral," if we ignore the orthographic peculiarity in *mu*. As in other cases, however, it is difficult to establish whether *scB*, for instance, was spelled [fs'e] as in Russian or [ŭs'i] as in Ukrainian. The same holds for *emy*—Ukrainian *ŭomy* had also previously been rendered most often in exactly this conservative spelling *emy*.

Basically, the direct speech in $Ae(p) \times u \times y \partial o \delta y Hauy$, a Hacb He $\delta u \tilde{u}$ " seems to be rendered authentically in Ukrainian. It contains the Ukrainian word $xy \partial o \delta y$ (acc. sg.—Dal' (1880–1882/1978) remarks that the word is used in the "southern and western" regions) and the phonologically Ukrainian form $\delta u \tilde{u}$ (instead of Russian $\delta e \tilde{u}$), which is highly unlikely to be a Church Slavonic word form in this context. In *U* nounu best copy 3 deopy $o(\partial)$ ero we note the phraseological unit best copy, cf. Russian $\delta e s copy \delta e s copy$, but afterwards we see the Ukrainian form of the preposition in $s (< *j_{bzb}) s \partial e o p y$, whereas it should be remembered that the [u]-ending in the genitive of the masculine noun can of course also be found in older Russian without any quantitative meaning. The syntagm $o(\partial) e \sigma$ with $e \sigma$ as a personal and not a possessive pronoun after the preposition is particularly interesting: first, it contains the spelling $o(\partial)$ in a position in which voiced ∂ can by no means be explained as a consequence of assimilation processes, and second, there is no prothesis in $e \sigma$ after the preposition, which is quite typical of a range of Ukrainian dialects.

As for the fragment *A* онъ тогди жъ порваль писара за волоси <,> и киемъ затялъ кидкома, it should be noted that the adverb *morдu* (along with *когдa*) as such is widespread in Ukrainian as well as in several Russian dialects (in the form *morдu*). The verb затялъ is Ukrainian—it is not attested in Dal' (1880–1882/1978, where neither затять nor *mять* occurs); the adverb *кидкома*, which is a genuine dual form, is not attested in the Russian dialectal dictionaries (SRNG) either, whereas *кидькомá* has even been integrated into the Ukrainian standard language.

⁷ In Russian, mo predominates. Kiparsky (1963–1975/2: 146) writes: "Eine mit je erweiterte Form moe muß im 17. Jh. häufig gewesen sein, denn Ludolf kennt nur die letztere." Yet Ludolf is not always reliable. Some Russian dialects use moe, but the form is not widespread in Russian.

In *Того* ж дня nomo(м) приказаль староста дворови(м) свои(м) поимати Клима *Савче*(н)ка <,> и, приведши в дво(р), бивъ дово(л)но киями и вкинувъ в ту(р)му, the Russian pronoun occurs again in *Того* ж дня. On the other hand, the Ukrainian spelling of the tense suffix in бивъ and the Ukrainian form of the stem of в ту(р)му are noteworthy. Incidentally, the meaning of directions is usually expressed by prepositional phrases with въ + accusative case, not by do + genitive case, as was quite common in Middle Ukrainian sources and as is still widespread in some varieties of Ukrainian today.

The charter from 1726 is written neither in Ukrainian nor in Russian but in a mixed code that most likely reflects a certain type of chancery "Surzhyk" of the time. Russian elements occur even in fragments that render the indirect speech of Ukrainian witnesses of the time.

3.2 A report from 1746

The next charter of interest was issued in Chyhryndubrova (*Чигриндуброва*) in 1746, that is, more or less one generation after the previous report, by the *sotnyk* (captain) Oleksandr (Aleksandr) Butovs'kyj:

В полковую Лубенскую канцеллярию

Покорное доношение

В(ъ) битность мою сотнъ мое(й) в мъстечку Еремъевцъ по случаю опредѣле(н)но(й) закрития Днепрови(х) границъ дистанции Лубенского полку о стоящой под мѣстечкомъ Еремѣевкою мнѣ кома(н)ди <,> усмотрѣлъ в ономъ мъстечку Еремъевцъ чинячиесь абшитованни(мъ) прилуцкимъ полковнико(мъ) Gаладаномъ нестерпимие козакамъ сотеннимъ обиди <,> а именно: собравъ всѣхъ еремѣевски(х) курѣнчиковъ <(:> которие били отобрани по силѣ ея імператорскаго величества указу по(д) сотню <:)> зъ ружемъ, какъ надлежитъ воинскому человѣку, не дожидаетъ слѣдствия <,> посилаетъ по дворамъ козачимъ и ихъ двори разорае(т), скоть береть, <,> лѣси рубаеть <,> з хать дверѣ и вѣкна вибираеть <,>. [...] и что ему понадобилось, в дворъ сво(й) возить приказуетъ <,>. И хто с того принуждения ему, Ganagaнy, бить по(д)даннимъ подпишется <,> тое все забратое вертаетъ <,> что видя, многіе козаки подписали(с) <,>. Також сѣна в(ъ) прийдучую зиму козацкие заготовленние на и(х) дъдовски(х) и о(т)цевскихъ грунта(х) ради своихъ лошаде(й), которими службу ея імператорскаго величества нинѣ и всегда о(т)правують, брать приказуеть <.>. Риболовль и всь плавль козачие себь о(т)няв <,> и сами(х) ихъ козаковъ, если которо(й) природное свое козацство,> албо грунть, на которомъ живетъ, козачо(й) свѣдителствуетъ, не смотря на то, принуждаетъ, чтобъ били по(д)даними ему <,> – чего я не токмо зде в(ъ) християнствъ, но и по инши(х) земляхъ будучи не видалъ <,>. Чтобъ противъ зѣми козаковъ о(т) всего ихъ добра вигонено без жадного указу з суда било <,> или писать наси(л)но в по(д)данство <,> о(т) якого разорения намъ не безопасно, чтобъ тъ еремъевские козаки (если Днепръ станеть) по и(x) древнему обикновению яко побережние не токмо по ини(x) места(x), но и за Днепръ // в(ъ) полскую область чтобъ не учинили побегу <,> и чрезъ то в службѣ ея імператорскаго величества учинится можемъ умаление, какъ уже за о(т)нятемъ еремѣевски(х) и липовски(х) многи(x) козаковъ насилиемъ себъ въ по(д)данство в нарядахъ козачи(x)

в(ъ) здешней Чиргриндубровско(й) сотнъ касаючи(х)ся к службъ ея імператорскаго величества немалая остановка учинилась <,>. И козакамъ крайнее разорение <,> с чего видимое его, Gаладана, старание, что(б) всѣ еремѣевские и липовские козаки били ему по(д)данними <,>. А понеже в(ъ) козачо(й) службъ интересъ ея імператорскаго величества состоитъ <,> а зъ мужиковъ <(> кромѣ консистенско(й) дачи (:)> токмо една по(д) даническая приватная робота происходить, в грамоть же всемилостиви(й) шей, которою ему мъстечко Еремъевку жаловано мужиковъ, <(:) кроме козачи(x) волносте(й) <:)> якъ и в протчиихъ жалованнихъ грамота(x) все волности козачие виключаю(т)ся <,>. А онъ полковникъ самъ през себе тое дѣлаетъ <;> Того ради даби мнѣ за умолчание иногда не о(т)вѣтствовать <;> а паче за разорение козаковъ нимъ, Gаладаномъ, не подпасть штрафу <,> чрез сие тое доношение полково(й) Лубенско(й) канцеллярии покорно прошу <(:) не пишучи к нему, Gаладану, понеже к(ъ) нему, якъ и нинъ дово(л)но извъстно <,> нъсколко разъ писано било <,> такожъ и я с писмами посилавъ – то того онъ не слушается <,> и чинить не переста(в) <;)> о недопускании впредъ явленнимъ полковникомъ Gaлagaномъ ихъ въ обиду и разорение до учинения о томъ слѣдствія к тамошнему атаману еремѣевскому Якову Бардасю с товариствомъ з полковой Лубенско(й) канцеллярии указомъ предложить.

Сотникъ чигриндубровски(й) Алеξандръ Бутовский (DD 1993: 73-74).

The headings of this document are all written in Russian, cf. *В полковую Аубенскую канцеллярию*, *Покорное доношение* (in a document of 1751 from Hlukhiv we read Поко(p)нѣйшое доношение with o after the postdental, cf. DD 1993: 74). Ukrainian elements are still present in the whole text, but they have apparently shifted into the background as compared with the previously analyzed report.

The Ukrainian origin of the text is mainly apparent in certain orthographic deviations. Apart from the use of the Latin letter g for [g] in Ganagan- owing to the general pronunciation of z as $[h]_{,8}^{,8}$ we see this in u instead of ω in *bumhocmb*, закрития, Днепрови(x), нестерпимие [...] обиди and the like (the scribe does not use ы at all!), в for *i* in *comн*в (gen. sg.), дверв (acc. pl.), and *u* instead of в in кома(н)ди (loc. sg.!). Among the orthographic peculiarities that reflect more serious deviations from Russian in pronunciation, the following deserve attention: вѣкна with the Ukrainian reflex i of o in the new closed syllable and the prothesis,⁹ всемилостиви(\ddot{u})шей (loc. sg. fem.) with u in the superlative suffix instead of \mathfrak{B} , стоящой (loc. sg. fem.) and козачо(\check{u}) (loc. sg. fem.) with o after postdentals (along with *всемилостиви*(\check{u})*шей* (loc. sg. fem.), but compare *сіяте*(Λ)*нѣшо*(\imath)[o] in a document of 1751 from Hlukhiv (DD 1993: 74), the phonetic spelling of the past tense suffix in o(m) HAB, He nepecma(β), and the preposition 3b (< cb) preceding voiceless *p* in this spelling. Another interesting spelling is found in o(m)_{H,Я}*me*_M*b*_{*i*}, along with pymemb (instr. sg.). In most cases, nouns of this type are spelled according to the Church Slavonic traditions, as in доношение, насилиемъ and the

⁸ As far as I know, there are no such orthographic traditions in southern Russia, where *g* changed to the velar fricative [g].

⁹ The prothesis of *o*- is also widespread in many Russian dialects.

like. Furthermore, we find the preposition $3 < *j_{bZb}$ in 3b *мужиковъ*, 3 *хать*, 3 *суда*, and 3 *полковой Лубенско*(\tilde{u}) *канцеллярии*—if the preposition precedes a voiceless consonant, it can also be spelled *c* as in *c moго принуждения*, which might look like perfect Russian at first glance but is not—because in a Russian text of the same period we would rather expect u_{3b} and not cb (in a report of 1748 from Kozelets we already find u $u_3(b)$ *cebe* [...], but along with 3(b) *moй Генералной канцеляріи*—DD 1993: 77).

The nouns $\kappa osaucmeo$ and mosapucmeomb (instr. sg.) are written according to the rules of Ukrainian, not those of the emerging Russian standard language, for which forms of the type $\kappa osauccmeo$ and mosapuuecmeo, respectively, were usually already selected in the eighteenth century. The verb cebdumeaccmeyemb (cf. also ocebdumeaccmeosaeb in a document of 1748 from Kozelets—DD 1993: 77) is written according to the Ukrainian traditions: it does not read ceudbmea(b)-, since it was introduced into Russian on the basis of the wrong etymologization of sb-ved- as sb-vid-.

As for morphology, we note the locative singular ending -[u] with velar stems such as in *m&cmeuky* or the long ending of the demonstrative pronoun in *moe* (several times, cf. its use in a document of 1751 from Hlukhiv—DD 1993: 74–75, along with *mo*). The genitive or accusative of the reflexive pronoun is always *cebe* (as in Ukrainian and in Church Slavonic) and never *ceba*—it should be noted, however, that *cebe* was still in use in Russian high-style documents of the eighteenth century, where it appeared because of Church Slavonic traditions. The masculine personal pronoun is used with the prothesis, although it is not preceded by a preposition, cf. *a nave за разорение козаковъ нимъ, Gaлagaномъ, не подпасть штрафу*, in accordance with Ukrainian but not Russian rules. Futhermore, we note that the present stem of the corresponding verbs always ends in *-uj-*, not in the markedly Russian *-yvaj-*, cf. *приказуетъ* (in a report of 1748 from Kozelets, the infinitive form *npucma(m)pusa(m)* already occurs—DD 1993: 77).¹⁰

In the vocabulary, we note the Ukrainian adjectivized present active participle *прийдучую* (acc. sg. fem.), the Ukrainian noun *грунта*(*x*) (loc. pl.), the Ukrainian verb o(m)*правують* (cf. Witkowski 2006: s.v. *отправовать*); the pronouns *инши*(*x*) (along with *ини*(*x*), but not *други*(*x*)), *жадного* (gen. sg. masc.), *якого* (gen. sg. neut.; along with *какъ*, cf. also a report of 1748 from Kozelets with *какіе возмо*(*ж*)*но способи*— DD 1993: 77); the adverb *такожъ* (which could be interpreted as a combination of Church Slavonic *тако* + East Slavic shortened *-жъ*, and not as Ukrainian); the conjunctions *албо* (along with *или*) and *якъ* (along with *какъ*); and, finally, the preposition *през*. Interestingly, the numeral *една* appears in the genuinely Polish form, which was widespread in Ukrainian. One of the Ukrainian loans is *хатъ* (gen. pl.), cf. Vasmer's (1987/1950–1958) remark that *хата* is of "western and southern" origin. Another element most probably taken from Ukrainian is *волности*, as in *волности* (cf. also Witkowski 2006: s.v. *вольность*). Again, we find the

¹⁰ The form npukasobamu is—obviously, very rarely—attested in older Russian sources as well (cf. SRJa XI–XVII).

dissimilated initial group in *xmo*, which is not only typically Ukrainian. Whereas in the previous document we could read *sopoyaxb*, we can now find the typically Ukrainian form *sepmaemb*, which has only been attested for the Smolensk area in Dal' (1880–1882/1978: s.v. *sopoyamb*). In other documents from this period, we can find still more intriguing Ukrainian features. In a report of 1748 from Kozelets, for example, *y* is written instead of *sb* as in *y cuxb*, and in *nodxbhhozo* we find *b* for etymological *u* in a word that the scribe must have considered to be a Russian element (DD 1993: 77).

We can now proceed to discuss the Russian elements of this text. Probably the most striking features are the elements of Russian chancery phraseology of the time, namely expressions such us *nokophoe dohouehue*; b(b) *bumhocmb mow* (Russian *bumhocb* is itself, however, a loan from Polish, cf. Witkowski 2006: s.v. *bumhocmb*); *no cлучаю* + gen. case; *ycmomp*h*zb* [...] *чинячиесb* [...] *нестерпимие* [...] *obudu*; *a именно*: [...]; *no cuл*b *es iмператорскаго величества указу*; *какъ надлежить*; *не doжudaemъ cл*b*dcmbus*; *c того принуждения*; *И хто ему* [...] *bumь no(d)daнимъ nodnuuemcs*; *что видя* + a description of the action given by the eyewitnesses; *службу es iмператорскаго величества нин*b *и всегда* [*o*(*m*)*npasyomъ*—the verb is Ukrainian]; *не смотря на то, принуждаетъ, чтобъ били no(d)daними ему*; *писать насu*(*л*)*но в no(d)daнство*; *o*(*m*) *якого* [the pronoun is Ukrainian] *pa3opeния намъ не безопасно*; *no u*(*x*) *dpeвнему обикновению*; *чтобъ не учинили побегу*; *чрезъ то* (causal *чрез* is a loan from the neighboring Western languages to Russian, but by the eighteenth century it had become quite common in Russian as well, cf. Moser 1998: 245–259); or *в служб*b*e я iмператорскаго величества*.

Other formulas and elements of the Russian chancery language are: *3a* [...] насилиемъ себ \pm въ по(д)данство; в нарядахъ козачи(x) [...] касаючи(x)ся к служб \pm ея імператорскаго величества with (касаться + къ + dative case); крайнее разорение; видимое его, Xgen, старание, что(б) [...]; furthermore A понеже в(ъ) [...] службѣ интересь ея імператорскаго величества состоить; токмо една [the numeral is a loan from Polish] *no(d)dahuveckas приватная робота* [not genuinely Church Slavonic работа] происходить; в грамоть [...] всемилостиви(й)шей; якъ [the conjunction, however, is used in the Ukrainian form, along with $\kappa a \kappa b$ elsewhere $u \beta n pom uuxb$ жалованнихъ грамота(x); все волности козачие виключаю(m)ся [not genuinely Church Slavonic исключаются, as would have been more common in eighteenthcentury Russian]; того ради даби [...] не подпасть штрафу; чрез сие тое доношение X_{dat} покорно прошу; якъ [!] и нинѣ дово(λ)но извѣстно; нѣсколко разъ писано било; с писмами посилавъ [instead of посылалъ]; то того онъ не слушается <,> и чинить не переста(в) [instead of пересталь]; о недопускании впредь Х-омь ихь вь обиду и разорение; до учинения о томъ слѣдствія к X_{dat} с товариствомъ з X_{gen sg} fem (adjective referring to a place name) канцеллярии указомъ предложить.

This scribe had obviously already acquired considerable experience in the Russian chancery language before he wrote this report. He had also become perfectly used to numerous Russian elements at all linguistic levels. As for phonology, there is now a hard *c*, as reflected in *zpahuų*_b, or *e* after the postdental, as in *челов bky* or *чего* (more than once; this also corresponds to Church Slavonic

traditions). Moreover, *e* instead of # is particularly interesting because this spelling reflects a phonetic and not an orthographic Russian influence—in the Russian literary language, # and *e* had to be differentiated until the orthographic reform of 1917/1918. In the stressed position, as in 3deumen (loc. sg. fem.; cf. 3d#cb, 3d#umuxbin a document of 1751 from Hlukhiv—DD 1993: 74), *BCE* (*BOAHOCMU*), and *Amenpb*, the *e* instead of the # is indeed most likely to be of Russian origin, whereas in the unstressed position, as in *Mecma(x)* (loc. pl.) 'places,' *nobery* (cf. Ukrainian *nobic*), and *kpome* (along with *kpom*#) (cf. also *3acedameAb* in a document of unknown origin from 1785—DD 1993: 84), the spelling could also have occurred because of the northern Ukrainian merger of unstressed ě and *e* (but *Mecma(x)* in the meaning 'places' is probably based on Russian).

The spelling *3EMu* may be a true curiosity: here, the scribe might have wanted to reflect the Russian spelling [*z*'im]- instead of the Ukrainian spelling [*zy*^em], yet note Ukrainian dialectal *3iMa* along with standard *3uMa*. In another document of 1748 from Kozelets, we can only read *3uMy* (DD 1993: 77), as also found elsewhere in the present document).

Soft adjective endings, as in *крайнее* (with the full pronominal ending) or *древнему* or *тамошнему*, are spelled as in Russian, but also according to the older Ukrainian traditions (spellings such as *-нёму* or *-ньому* were previously uncommon). The suffix of the present active participle is either genuinely Church Slavonic, as in *стоящой*, or genuinely East Slavic, as—rather surprisingly—in the Russian loan *касаючи(x)ся*.

In old and new Church Slavonic words, the spelling is usually chosen in accordance with the emerging rules of the new Russian literary language, cf. for the prefix co- as written according to the traditions of the "Second South Slavic Impact" cocmoumb, and for the reflection of the assimilation of Church Slavonic prefixes *npoucxodumb*. The spelling of the reflex of jer preceding *j* based on Church Slavonic occurs not only in deverbative nouns but also in the pronoun cue. Attention should also be paid to the conservative spelling *B npomyuuxb*. Some of the metathetic forms, such as *впредъ*, *предложить*, *чрез*, are not necessarily to be treated as Church Slavonic word forms: it can be observed, for instance, that in Ruthenian translations from Polish, *Bnpedb* was often used as an equivalent of Polish *wprzód* (which, by the way, might also explain the hardness of the final consonant), while предложити often "translated" Polish przedłożyć, and, finally, чрез often functioned as a Ruthenianized equivalent of Polish przez, if the latter was not merely rendered as *презъ*. The past passive participle is written with -нн-, as in абшитованни(мъ), no(d)даннимъ, заготовленние, явленнимъ, опредѣле(н)но(й) (genuine participle, gen. sg. fem.) and the like.

Turning to morphology, we always find the hard verb ending -mb where it is encountered in Russian, cf. $\partial o wu \partial a emb$, wu Bemb and the like. All infinitives end in -mb, none in -mu, cf. Bosumb, o(m)BBmcmBoBamb, uuhumb, cf. also nodnacmb and the like. The reflexive particle is always shortened after vowels, as in uuhauecb, yuuhunacb or nohadobunocb. With the reflexive particle, the spelling is -mca as in yuuhumca, just as in Russian (the jer of the infinitive ending could sometimes be omitted in such cases), whereas in a report of 1748 from Kozelets the infinitive form *sersmucb* occurs (DD 1993: 77). The genitive case of masculine nouns in -[u] without a partitive meaning is used again—as mentioned above, it was also quite common in earlier Russian sources. In *s cyda*, the ending *-a* seems to be motivated by Russian, whereas *-u* would have been expected in Ukrainian. Again, the clearly Russian adjective ending *-oũ* of the nominative masculine singular case occurs in $\kappa omopo(\tilde{u})$ and in *cpyhmb* [...] $\kappa osaqo(\tilde{u})$. We find the form $co\delta pabb$, which in this case is likely to be a gerund referring to a masculine singular subject (the interpretation as a mere Church Slavonic past active participle is highly improbable), not a past tense form; and we find the obvious gerund suda, which refers here to a plural noun (cf. also the idiomatic expression *He CMOMPS Ha mo*, but also another gerund in the form *nuwyuu*, as was common in both Ukrainian and Russian).

Incidentally, the Russian gerunds are already quite typical of Hetmanate documents of this time, cf. also a report of 1748 from Kozelets (in DD 1993: 77). The genuinely Church Slavonic adjectival and pronominal genitive endings occur in *iмператорскаго* and in *eя*, both times with reference to the empress (!). The past passive participle reads *вигонено*, not *виженено* ог *вигнано*, as in most Ukrainian dialects. As noted above, the prefix *ви*- in *виключаю(m)ся* is used instead of *uз-/uc-*, as in Church Slavonic-based Russian *исключаются*.

The past tense form of 'to be' is било, били, not було, були (and not было, были). The dative form of the reflexive pronoun *ceбѣ* was selected in accordance with Church Slavonic and the emerging Russian literary language.

In syntax, we find no + dative case in no cлучаю, in no u(x) древнему обикновению (Ukrainians might also have regarded both nouns as locative forms in -u, and even the adjective ending -emy could have been interpreted as a locative form in Ukrainian), and, unambiguously, in no дворамъ козачимъ (along with the clear locative in no инши(x) земляхъ).

With respect to the vocabulary, Russian elements predominate; many of them occur within the quoted chancery phraseologisms. Among the Russian elements, some of which originate in Church Slavonic, we find: всемилостиви(й)шей (loc. sg. fem.), величества (gen. sg.), покорное, доношение, случаю (dat. sg.), указу (dat. sg.), опред ѣле(н)но(ŭ) (gen. sg. fem.), усмотр ѣлъ, лошаде(ŭ) (gen. pl.—cf. Ukrainian лоша́, лоша́к), обиди (acc. pl.), именно, ружемъ (instr. sg.; cf., however, the spelling), надлежить (not на-), воинскому (dat. sg. masc.), дожидаеть, слъдствия (gen. sg., occurs more than once), понадобилось, принуждаеть and принуждения (gen. sg., with Church Slavonic $\mathcal{R} \partial \langle *dj \rangle$, заготовленние (past passive participle), імператорскаго, свъдителствуетъ (as for the suffixation), не видалъ, безопасно, древнему (dat. sg. masc.), обикновению (dat. sg.), mecma(x) (loc. pl., with e instead of etymological b, cf. Ukrainian мѣсто 'town,' but мѣсце 'place'), область (with the Church Slavonic metathesis), $\kappa a ca \omega u(x) c \pi \kappa$ + dative case, $o c m a h o B \kappa a$, B u d u M o e (present passive participle), *cocmoum*^b (with *co-*, as if it were based on the Second Church Slavonic influence in this word), $no(\partial) \partial a h u v e c k a with - u v e c k -)$, n p o u c x o d u m b, жаловано (in the Russian meaning) and жалованнихъ грамота(x), дълаетъ 'does, makes,' о(т)вътствовать, извъстно, слушается, недопускании (loc. sg.). Instead of с писмами, we would rather have expected з листами in a Ukrainian document.

In this document we find *ckomb*, which coincides with the Russian form, and not $\delta u \partial \lambda o$ (< Polish *bydło*), as widely used in Middle Ukrainian (cf., however, archaic Polish *skot*). Western loans such as $a \delta uumobahhu(Mb)$ (instr. sg. masc.) and $umpa \phi y$ (dat. sg.) or *uhmepecb* and *npubamhaa* are not at all surprising in eighteenth-century documents from the Russian Empire. It should be kept in mind that many of them had been adopted into Russian via Polish and Ukrainian or Belarusian prior to Peter I.

The adverbs *BCE2Da* and *UHO2Da* are noteworthy—above, we encountered *mO2Du*. Another non-Ukrainian form is *npomyuuxb* (loc. pl.). Among the prepositions, we find *He CMOMPR HA*, *padu* (which is also used as a postposition); among the numerals, *HBCKOAKO*; among the conjunctions, *KAKb* along with *AKb*. The conjunction *eCAU* is a Polonism in Russian that was also frequently used in Middle Ukrainian (Moser 1998; in a report of 1748 from Kozelets, *eKEAU 6b* is attested, DD 1993: 77). Among the archaic forms that were still common in eighteenth-century Russian, *moKMO* (occurs more than once, cf. *MUAKO* in the previous document, but *mOAKO* in a report of 1748 from Kozelets –DD 1993: 77), *noHeKE*, and *da6u* are of interest. The same holds for *naye*, which is, however, still frequently used in Russian and Ukrainian in the phraseologism *meM naye*.

3.3 A report from 1760

A further report, from 1760, is a particularly remarkable document in many respects. Apart from its linguistic significance, it provides invaluable information on schooling in the Hetmanate:

Ясневелможному высокоповелителному гпдну гпдну Малія Россіи обоихъ сторонъ Днепра и Во(и)скъ Запорожскихъ гетману ея імператорскаго величества дѣйствителному камергеру императорской Санктпѣтербургской Академіи наукъ президенту <,> лейбъ гвардіи Измайловского полку подъполковнику и обоихъ Россійскихъ императорскихъ ординовъ святихъ Апостола, Андрея и Алеξандра Невского <,> також полского Белого Орла и голстинского святия Анны кавалеру <,> Россійской имперіи графу Кириллу Григоревичу его сіятелству Разумовскому.

Покорнѣйшій репорть

Еще до получения¹¹ в(ъ) аппробацію моего представления высокого w(т) вашей ясневелможности ордера и о виборѣ в виборних козаковъ и можнѣйшихъ подпомощниковъ о(т) двена(д)цяти до пятнадцяти лѣтъ дѣтей, и о о(т)дачи понятнѣ(й)шихъ ко изобучению грамоти в школи <;> во всѣ полку Лубенского сотнѣ к сотникамъ и сотеннимъ ста(р)шинамъ з полковой Лубенской канцеляріи предложено <,> почему в нѣкоторихъ сотняхъ до тисячи трохъ сотъ малчиковъ <;> какъ сотники и ста(р)шини полковую канцелярию репортовали <;> вибрано и в(ъ) школи о(т)дано <,> а в другихъ сотняхъ, яко-то: Чигриндубровско(й) <,> Жовнинско(й) <,>

¹¹ In DD 1993: 79, this form reads получення. This is almost certainly a misprint.

Городиско(й) <,> Смѣлянско(й) и Костантино(в)ско(й) // к приведению дѣйствителному высокого вашей ясневелможности повелѣнію исполненія вибираются <;>. Обучатся те дѣти, по мнѣнию моему, должно ниже слѣдующимъ порядкомъ:

1 <.> Первоначално имѣють учитись букваровъ <,> а потомъ ча(с) ловцовъ <,> а какъ распознаетъ литери и слоги гора(з)дъ <;>, то что(б) не доку(ч)но имъ над одними тѣми книжками было <;>, будуть до обѣдъ учитись читать <,> а по обѣдѣ навикать помалу писать.

2 <:>. Между тъмъ сискивать такихъ людей, которие хотя не совсъмъ <,> однакъ о(т)части въдають исчисление на бумаги <,> и онихъ опредълить к показаннимъ дѣтямъ помалу изучити сколко мощно того щисления <,> а особливо с полковихъ канцеляри(ст)ъ и сотеннихъ писарей.

3 <:> В воскресние и празни(ч)ние дни на заутреню литургию и вечерню онимъ дѣтемъ велѣть ходить в(ъ) церкви и изучатись пѣть и примѣчать, кто с онихъ имѣтиметъ хорошие голоси <,> такихъ замѣчать до имѣющаго впредь быть случаю о виборѣ в пѣвчие к двору ея імператорскаго величества <,> или к до(му) вашей ясневелможности.

4 <:> Которие с вибран(н)ихъ дѣтей к грамотно(й) науки являтся не понятние, тѣхъ всѣхъ опредѣля на(д) всяки(ми) двадцятью четирма едного атаманомъ <,> велѣ(т) онимъ атаманамъ имѣть у себе именній ихъ списокъ и во всякие воскресение и праздни(ч)ние дни // собирать онихъ в едно мѣсто и обуча(т) воинско(й) легкихъ коммандъ и артилерійско(й) эξерциціи. А како(й) именно первие тѣхъ атамановъ изобучи(т) зде при персоналномъ моемъ на(д)сматриваніи, оной и одпусти(т) по со(т)нямъ, что(б) по тому обучали дѣте(й) <,>. И какъ по нѣсколко изобучатъ <,> то тѣ и другихъ будутъ изобучатъ <,>. И такъ всегда едни другихъ имѣютъ еξерцѣтова(т).

5 <:>. Понеже при такой эξерциціи дѣти ружемъ дѣйствова(т) не могу(т), да и по ихъ малолѣтству ружа к тому употребля(т) не надобно <,> для того онимъ подѣлани будуть для той еξерциціи деревяние саблѣ и ратища з нашитими на концѣ во мѣсто копіовъ волняними булавками, что(б) оними еди(нъ) другого разить не моглъ <,> и деревка во мѣсто ружа подобиемъ тѣмъ, какъ дѣлаются при гарнѣзонахъ салдацкимъ в обученіи еξерциціи находячимъ ся дѣтямъ.

6 >:>. Что(б) тѣ дѣти едни в школа(х) ежеденно, а другие в воскресние и праздни(ч)ние дни еξерциціи военно(й) обучани, того на(д)сматривать в селахъ атаманамъ <,> и самимъ со(т)ника(м) и сотеннимъ старшинамъ <,>. И что в томъ буде(т) происходить, атамани должни сотника и ста(р)шину понеделно <,> а сотник полковую канцелярию помѣсячно репортовать. И тако оние дъти помалу часъ од часу обучаясь воинской // и артилерійско(й) еξерциціи з молодихъ лѣтъ, ежего(д)но умножатся будуть <.> и когда той доспъють пори <,> что в дъйствителную вступлять службу <;>, тогда несумнителная по нихъ можетъ быть надежда <,> яко оние противъ другихъ козаковъ то(й) еξерциціи не обученнихъ в военнихъ дъйствияхъ буду(т) горазда исправнъйшие и въжливъйшие – з чего може(т) быть не толко отечеству малороссійскому похвала <,> ис того ожидается по(л)за <;>. Но и происходимие w(т) коммендующихъ в разнихъ мъстахъ енералътетовъ и другихъ штапъ-офицеровъ на малороссійскихъ козаковъ наръкания и биваемие к ви(ш)шимъ командамъ о негодности козачей предста(в)ления могутъ быть о(т)вращени <;> всенижайше вашу ясневелможность репортую.

Полковникъ лубен(с)кий Іванъ Кулябка. 1760 года мая 4 <:> дня (DD 1993: 79–81)

To all appearances, this text is basically written in the new Russian literary language and contains numerous elements of Russian chancery phraseology of the time. All in all, the author did a good job-he obviously met the requirements he was exposed to (as for the Russian vocabulary, cf. the table in the conclusions). Still, this does not mean that no Ukrainian elements whatever are to be found in this document. If we take a look at the introduction first, Ukrainian features are apparent primarily on the level of orthography. One of the most important features is again the mixing of *u* and *w*, although this scribe clearly strove to use the letters according to the Russian rules in some instances. Again, AHenpa is written with *e* instead of *b* in the unstressed syllable, where the reflex *e* is authentic in northern Ukrainian dialects, while it is noteworthy that in *Белого Орла* (genitive singular), the e appears instead of \mathfrak{F} in the stressed position in a common Slavic word—in the name of this institution, the pronunciation apparently had to be "as Russian as possible." In Санктпѣтербургской (gen. sg. fem.) we find t instead of e, which obviously reflects the sound value [i] as и in "Russian" Питер (cf. also з Санктивтербурга in a document of 1751 from Hlukhiv–DD 1993: 74).¹² The adjective ясневелможному is explained by Dal' (1880-1882/1978: s.v. ясный) as "почетъ малороссійскихъ гетмановъ или польскихъ пановъ," yet of course it appears there in the Russianized form ясновельможный, that is, above all with an *o* instead of the Polish *e* in the position of the interfix—the *e* can be explained by the fact that *sche*- is originally an adverb here; the word is a mere combination ("Zusammenrückung," "сращение") of *ясне* (adverb) and *вел(ь)можный* (adjective) (cf. also the derived form ко ясневелможности in a document of 1751 from Hlukhiv— DD 1993: 74–75).

The name of the addressee of this document [...] *графу Кириллу Григоревичу его сіятелству Разумовскому* (in a document of 1751 from Hlukhiv, we read *Кирила Григоріевича* [...]) is an excellent indication of what had been going on among Ukrainians in the Hetmanate in the meantime. Their leaders had started trying to become Russian. They adopted patronymics and Russianized their family names. Part of this Russification process consisted in Slavonization, and that is why *Розумовскій* (modern Ukrainian *Розумовський*) became *Разумовскій*. But who was he now—[razumófsk'ij], [гәzumófskəj]—or, according to Ukrainian orthoepic rules, [razumóŭs'ky^ej][...]? Most likely, all these forms occurred, depending on the person actually pronouncing his name.¹³

The Покорнъйший репорть (cf. the form panopmь in a document of unknown origin from 1785—DD 1993: 82) is also basically written in Russian. In fact, we are dealing here with a rather highbrow variety of eighteenth-century Russian with

¹² It might be worth noting that the use of the genitive plural form *obouxb* instead of *obbuxb* with the feminine noun *cmopoHb* is nothing unusual in older Russian sources: the forms were used *promiscue*.

¹³ For the eighteenth-century history of the Hetmanate, cf. Zenon Kohut's (1988/1996) study, which has already become a classic.

quite a complicated syntax and a wealth of idiomatic expressions that are highly typical of the chancery language of the time.

Ukrainian elements, however, still occur at all levels. As for orthography, the spelling of the prefix *od*- before a voiceless consonant in *odnycmu*(*m*) and the spelling of the locative ending in $o o(m)\partial a u$ (here, the ending could also theoretically be explained as Church Slavonic), as well as the still more intriguing notion of the locative ending in *Ha бумаги* and, shortly afterwards, in *Kb* [...] *Hayku* without the second palatalization, should be noted.¹⁴ On the other hand, in *в виборних козаковъ и* можнѣйшихъ подпомощниковъ, the letter в is erroneously used instead of y according to the rules of Ukrainian,¹⁵ and odhakb instead of odhako seems to be a Ukrainian element as well (there is no entry for odHak in SRNG). As another Ukrainian element of interest, the epenthetic l' in the third person plural present form *являтся* is noteworthy. The adjective можный, which is most probably a Polonism (cf. Witkowski 2006: s.v. можный), was quite common in eighteenth-century Russian (although мощно is found here as the predicative form). The adjective понятн $\mathfrak{K}(\check{u})$ шихъ can also be regarded as a (morphologically based) loan from Polish (Witkowski 2006: s.v. понятность). In двадцятью, soft c' is rendered again. Instead of the dative with the noun derived from учить, in ко изобучению грамоти we find a form that should most probably be interpreted as genitive singular, which is more typical of Ukrainian than Russian (another-less probable-possibility would be the interpretation of the ending as *u* instead of *b* in the dative case). In *usyuumu* the full ending *-mu* occurs, whereas otherwise -mb is used almost exclusively.

Perhaps surprisingly, we can still read 3 instead of изь in 3 полковой Лубенской канцеляріи, cf. also the spelling c in с полковихъ канцеляри(ст)ъ и сотеннихъ писарей and in many more instances. Interestingly, the masculine noun канцеляри(ст)ъ ends in $-\emptyset$ in the genitive plural, which could still be a remnant of the original Polish a-stem-noun kancelarzysta (cf. also Middle Ukrainian канцеляриста), but, on the other hand, we also find the genitive plural form of the which seems to confirm that the scribe avoided -06b for the sake of -b (i.e., the zero ending) in order to Slavonicize his text. The genitive plural form *nucapeŭ* might demonstrate that the scribe had become accustomed to noting that "good Russian" obliged him to use the soft-stem-ending -eŭ here (cf. Modern Standard Ukrainian nucapia, but of course a more complicated situation in both Ukrainian and Russian dialects; cf. also букваровь below), yet he still did not write писцовь. In this document, we find several examples of ∂py_{2-} 'other,' as in *b* $\partial py_{2}ux_{b}$ comhax_b (cf. uhuu(x) above). In a Russian source of the time, we might not expect the use of *sko-mo*, which seems to be modeled after Polish jako to but, from the Russian perspective, could have been interpreted as a mere combination of Church Slavonic *яко* and the pronoun *mo*.

¹⁴ Cf. also *при кладовой драбинки* along with *в постро(й)ке* in a document of 1751 from Hlukhiv (DD 1993: 74–75) and *к явки, в иски* in a document of unknown origin from 1785 (DD 1993: 82, 84).

¹⁵ The spelling *μμελεμus* with the phonetic notion of the initial syllable and the spelling *mpoxb* with *po* for [r'o] could also be found in Russian sources.

In Oбучатся те дѣти, по мнѣнию моему, должно ниже слѣдующимъ порядкомъ, the spelling me, just like все previously, demonstrates that the pronunciation was orientated toward Russian [t'e]—the Ukrainian form would have been [t'i], which would usually have been rendered as mь (as in literary Russian until 1917/18). Most interestingly, the author used an erroneous construction: by the eighteenth century, the predicative form долженъ was usually used with a subject in the nominative. If, however, it was used as an impersonal form, then the subject had to be in the dative form (me дѣти cannot be interpreted as an accusative form because of the verb form обучатся instead of обучат(ь)). If the scribe had written должни/должны instead of должно, the sentence would have been well formed. On the other hand, the expression no мнѣнию моему is perfectly consistent with the emerging Russian literary language.

In имѣють учитись букваровъ <,> а потомъ ча(c)ловцовъ, the form имѣють is used as an auxiliary verb in the meaning 'ought to,' as it was most probably adopted from Polish, Ukrainian, and Belarusian in the two previous centuries (Moser 1998: 330–335). Many third-person verb forms are used with the ending *-mb*, not *-mb*, as is the case with umbiomb, bydymb, bbdaiomb-we trust the editors here (but forms with -mb occur as well, cf. pacnoshaemb, изобучать, имвють, могуть). It is most likely that this palatalized ending is in fact based on Ukrainian morphology and not on a mere scribal error, since in other positions there is no use of -b instead of -b. The ending of the genitive plural in *букваровъ* is not typical of the emerging Russian literary language, as we are dealing with an original soft stem here (cf. Modern Standard Russian букварь—букварей, Modern Standard Ukrainian буквар букварів, cf. *писарей* above)—in Russian dialects, however, -овъ or -евъ is used much more frequently than in the literary language. As for the form $4a(c)\lambda 06406b$, it should be kept in mind that *-obb* was often used after *c* in the emerging Russian literary language, even if the ending was unaccentuated. Again, yumucb is used with the genitive, not with the dative case-this time there can be no doubt about it. The infinitive form is also noteworthy-instead of yumbcs we read yumucb several times (later *usyuamucb* is also found; cf. however, the infinitive form *oбуuamcs*).

Turning to the following fragment, the noun $\lambda umepu$ is a loan from Polish—in Russian $\delta y \kappa \delta b would have been used. It is interesting that the diminutive form$ $<math>\kappa hu \# \kappa a m was most probably not meant to be diminutive at all, just like Ukrainian$ $<math>\kappa hu \# \kappa a [kny'^e ž ka]$ as opposed to Russian $\kappa hu \# \kappa a [kn'iška]$. The expression nomany is likely to be a western element in Russian—Dal' (1880–1882/1978: s.v. nomane'hbky ili nomany [...]) notes that it is used in the Pskov area—and the form $ocoof \lambda u bo is also to be explained as Ukrainian interference (cf. Witkowski 2006: s.v.$ $<math>ocoof \lambda u bo is also to be explained as Ukrainian interference (cf. Witkowski 2006: s.v.$ $<math>ocoof \lambda u bo is also to be explained as Ukrainian interference (cf. Witkowski 2006: s.v.$ $<math>ocoof \lambda u bo is also to be explained as Ukrainian interference (cf. Witkowski 2006: s.v.$ $<math>ocoof \lambda u bo is also to be explained as Ukrainian interference (cf. Witkowski 2006: s.v.$ $<math>ocoof \lambda u bo is also to be explained as Ukrainian interference (cf. Witkowski 2006: s.v.$ $<math>ocoof \lambda u bo is also to be explained as Ukrainian interference (cf. Witkowski 2006: s.v.$ $<math>ocoof \lambda u bo is also to be explained as Ukrainian interference (cf. Witkowski 2006: s.v.$ $<math>ocoof \lambda u bo is also to be explained as Ukrainian interference (cf. Witkowski 2006: s.v.$ $<math>ocoof \lambda u bo is also to be explained as Ukrainian interference (cf. Witkowski 2006: s.v.$ <math>u be evep ho o humb d form be abo is also to be explained be abo is also to be abo is also is also is also is also is also to be abo is also is a constructions with the dative and the infinitive in the modal meaning—according to the Ukrainian traditions, the use of modal verbs or predicative forms would have been much more common. On the other hand, his Russian routine did not prevent the scribe from introducing an unexpected markedly Ukrainian element in *ummumemb* with *-memb* as a Russianized version of the Ukrainian temporal marker *-My*, *-Meu*, cf. Modern Standard Ukrainian *MamuMe*. Even so, the ending is Russian.

The gerund *onped* has is an example of the not very frequently used gerunds in -'*a* of the perfective stem, in addition to the more familiar gerund *oбучаясь*. If the spelling *воскрес'ние* [...] *дни* cannot be explained as a misprint, then it is an intriguing scribal error resulting, perhaps, from the fact that *воскресенie* and *воскресный* (a hard stem) are not known as meaning 'Sunday' in Ukrainian. In this passage, we also note the spelling *празни*(*ч*)*ниe*, whereas shortly afterwards the etymological spelling *праздни*(*ч*)*ниe* occurs. The genuinely Polish stem *eдн*- occurs repeatedly as the numeral in the meaning '1,' and the reciprocal pronoun is *edu*(*нъ*) *другого, едни другихъ*—most probably, the scribe thought that this solution would correspond to Church Slavonic, but he was mistaken: in Church Slavonic, the numeral is *jedinъ*, *jedina* [...].

The scribe who produced this charter has already adopted the use of the letter *θ*, as in *θξεριμιμ*¹⁶ However, this very stem is spelled in several different ways, cf. once more эξерциціи, but also еξерциціи and еξерцѣтова(m) with Ukrainian ѣ for [i]. In the bookish participial form $Ha(\partial)$ сматривании, we find the formation of the secondary imperfective verb in precise accordance with the rules of Russian. The noun *ружа* (gen. sg.), *ружемъ* (instr. sg.)—the word itself is Russian—is spelled according to the rules of Ukrainian; *j* is not rendered here at all. One might note the Slavonicized form *BO MECTOD* (cf. *MECTOD* above) and, on the other hand, the Russian vernacular genitive plural form of the neuter noun *konioeb* (cf. Russian *konbë*, Church Slavonic копие [...], but Ukrainian спис). In волняними булавками (instr. pl.) the stem of волняними seems to be taken from Ukrainian—Dal' (1880–1882/1978) notes s.v. во́лна "стар. и юж."—булавка is widespread in both Ukrainian and Russian. The past tense form MOZAD is written in a traditional way, with $-\lambda$. In *zaph* both solution (loc. pl.), and later in *ehepanthmemosb* (gen. pl.), the spelling of β for [i] is typically Ukrainian again, whereas in *caλ∂aukumb* the rendering of Russian *akan'e* occurs. The reflexive particle is treated as a segment of its own in the spelling Haxodayumb ca, but it always occurs after the verb ending. Interestingly, in *moго на(д)сматривать* [...], the complement is used in the genitive—a noun phrase, $Ha\partial b$ + instrumental case, would rather have been expected here. In the next sentence, the scribe signals that he is perfectly aware of the personal use of *долженъ*, so he writes *атамани должни* [...] *penopmosamb*, with the ending *-u* according to the Church Slavonic tradition. The adjective понеделно 'weekly' is not only a Russian word (cf. Russian неделя, Ukrainian *тиждень*) but also reflects the Russian phonetic development *e* < *ѣ*.

¹⁶ As opposed to Russian, Ukrainian has very few words beginning with *je-*, almost all of foreign origin. The same holds for *e-* in the initial position. The use of the letter *a* was clearly triggered by Russian in this case (although the letter *a* was already used in Middle Ruthenian texts of Belarusian origin, such as the Lithuanian Statutes).

In the subsequent fragment, the scribe writes *mako* (and, a bit later, also *якo*), just as in Church Slavonic, but he continues with some Ukrainian elements: *nomany*, the spelling *od* instead of *omv* before a voiceless consonant, and the use of the preposition *3* in *3 молодихъ лѣтъ* (*uc* occurs below in *uc mozo oжидается no(л)за*). Then he even writes *вступлять*, which should most probably be interpreted as a third person plural present form of *вступити* with an epenthetic *l'*, which occurs in Ukrainian, but not in the Russian literary language in this context (*cf. являтся*). The deverbative noun *нарѣкания* (acc. pl.), which has also been integrated into Modern Standard Russian, is most probably a Polonism (*cf. Witkowski 2006: s.v. нарекание*), and the same holds for *негодности* (loc. pl.) (*cf. Witkowski 2006: s.v. годность*).¹⁷ Here, the scribe already writes *козачей* (loc. sg. fem.), not *козачой*. He also selects the Church Slavonic form in the past passive participle *o*(*m*)*вращени*.

The ending of the adjectives in the nominative masculine singular form is always $-\omega \tilde{u}$ (/- $u\tilde{u}$) here, as in $\lambda y \delta e H(c) \kappa u \tilde{u}$, not markedly Russian $-o\tilde{u}$. In the adverb *copa3da*, on the other hand, *akan'e* is again reflected in the ending, whereas *pa3Huxv* can only be interpreted as a reflex of the Church Slavonic metathesis in the initial syllable, since *a* is stressed.

Finally, it should be emphasized that in this document we find the expression *omeuecmby малороссійскому* (dative singular) '(to) the Little Russian Fatherland.' Thus, although the language of this document testifies to the Russification of the Hetmanate, the text can still be interpreted as a witness of "Little Russian" patriotism.

4. Conclusions

In our analysis, we paid particular attention to a number of elements that are summarized in the following table (cf. the commentary in 3.1–3.3):

Orthography and phonology

Ukrainian *g/r*: 1726: no relevant word forms. 1746: *Gалаgаномъ*. 1760: no relevant word forms.

Russian *э* (purely orthographic): 1726: no relevant word forms. 1746: no relevant word forms. 1760: *эξεριμιμίu*, but *εξεριμιμίu*, *εξεριμѣmosa(m*).

¹⁷ In a report of unknown origin from 1785, we still find the loan *IBAAMBA* (acc. pl.) (DD 1993: 84).

Ukrainian mixing of *u/ы*:

1726: come(н)ни(и) (nom. sg. masc.), пункти, бить (быть). 1746: закрития, бить (быть). 1760: виборних, литери.

Ukrainian mixing of *n*_b[i] and *u*:

1726: житель (nom. pl.), Тиниць (gen. sg.).

1746: зѣми (!, cf. Russian and Ukrainian dialectal [z'im]-), *comнъ* (gen. sg.), дверъ (acc. pl.), кома(н)ди (loc. sg.), всемилостиви(й)шей (loc. sg. fem.).

1760: Санктпѣтербургской (cf. Russian Питер), еξерцѣтова(т), гарнѣзонахъ, енералѣтетовъ; (о о(т)дачи), на бумаги, къ [...] науки.

Russian mixing of *n* and *e* [also northern Ukrainian, if unstressed]:

1726: no relevant word forms. 1746: все (волности), Днепръ, здешней [unstressed: места(x), побегу, кроме (along with кромѣ)]. 1760: Белого Орла, те (дъти), понеделно [unstressed: Днепра].

e (as in the emerging Russian literary language) vs. *o* (according to the Ukrainian traditions) after postdentals:

1726: в че(м), вашего сияте(л)ства. 1746: стоящой, козачо(й) (loc. sg. fem.), but человѣку, чего, всемилостиви(й)шей (loc. sg. fem.). 1760: вашей, козачей, почему.

"Ukrainian" [c']/ "Russian" [c]:

1726: чигири(н)ця, Тиницѣ (genitive singular), сѣнця(x). 1746: границъ. 1760: двадцятью.

*"*Ukrainian" *r* < *r*′:

1726: *писаръ, писара.* 1746: no relevant word forms. 1760: *букваровъ,* but *писарей*.

"Ukrainian" *v*-prothesis:

1726: no relevant word forms. 1746: вѣкна [v'ikna]. 1746: no relevant word forms.

Ukrainian *i* < *o*:

1726: *mu*(*л*)ко (or < Polish *tylko*?). 1746: вѣкна. 1760: no relevant word forms. Ukrainian в/у: 1726: вдаривъ. 1746: no relevant word forms. (Kozelets 1748: у силъ). 1760: в виборних козаков.

Ukrainian vs. Church Slavonic (> Russian) reflexes of *-*bj*- with *b* in a weak position:

1726: вибетъ, but доношение.

1746: за о(т)нятемъ, ружемъ (instr. sg.), but доношение, сие.

1760: Григоревичу, ружа (Russian ружья), ружемъ but сіятелству.

Russian *akan'e*:

1726: no relevant word forms.

1746: *pasopeнue* (or Church Slavonic reflex, cf. *poбoma*).

1760: *салдацкимъ, горазда* (adverb), *Разумовскому* (the latter form is rather to be interpreted as Slavonic, though).

Russian vs. Ukrainian and Church Slavonic reflexes of *-*bj-/-bj-* with jers in a strong position:

1726: оной, but обивате(л)скій, бий!
1746: которо(й), козачо(й), but чигриндубровски(й), Бутовский.
1760: по -ой, but лубен(с)кий.

Ukrainian rendering of the temporal suffix in the masculine singular form -65:

1726: находи(в)ся, вдаривъ, бивъ, but predominating -ль. 1746: о(т)няв, переста(в), посилавъ, but predominating -ль. 1760: only -лъ.

Ukrainian з < **jъzъ*:

1726: з occurs frequently ($_{3(b)}$ кухн $_{B}$ et al.), по $_{3b}$ as preposition (but as prefix, cf. $_{u360\Lambda b}$). 1746: з occurs frequently ($_{3b}$ мужиков $_{b}$), по $_{3b}$ as preposition (but as prefix, cf. $_{u36}$ сстно). 1760: з occurs frequently ($_{3 n 0\Lambda ковой}$ Лубенской канцеляріи), but uc moго ожидается $no(\Lambda)$ за.

Ukrainian од(ъ): 1726: о(д) его, по отъ. 1746: only о(т) всего, о(т)нятемъ. 1760: одпусти(т), but отобрани.

"Russian" literary/"Ukrainian" -чество/-цтво, -шество/-ство, -ческій/-цкій, -шескій/скій:

1726: [ба(х)мацки(й)]. 1746: козацство, товариствомъ / по(д)даническая. 1760: отечеству.

Genuinely Polish *edn-*, as in Middle Ukrainian:

1726: (поеди(н)це(м)). 1746: една. 1760: еди(нъ) [!] другого, едни другихъ.

164

Morphology

Ukrainian ending -[u] in the locative singular of velar masculine nouns: 1726: no relevant word forms.

1746: мѣстечку (twice). 1760: no relevant word forms.

Russian lack of the second palatalization in the paradigm of *a*-stems:

1726: no relevant word forms.

1746: with second palatalization: *Еремѣевцѣ* (loc. sg.). 1760: науки (dat. sg.).

"Ukrainian" moe:

1726: *moe*. 1746: *moe* and *mo*. 1760: no relevant word forms.

Russian pronoun *mom*(ъ) же: 'the same':

1726: *того жъ*. 1746: no relevant word forms. 1760: no relevant word forms.

Ukrainian було:

1726: було (yet бить instead of быть). 1746: only били (instead of были), било (instead of было). 1760: only было, быть, биваемие (instead of бываемые).

Ukrainian epenthetic *l'* in 3rd person plural present tense forms:

1726: no relevant word forms.

1746: no relevant word forms.

1760: являтся, вступлять.

"Ukrainian" 3rd person present tense ending -mb:

1726: only живетъ, вибетъ.

1746: only дожидаеть, живеть.

1760: имѣють, будуть, вѣдають (along with могутъ).

Russian verbal present stem suffix -yva(j)-:

1726: does not occur, instead: *договороваль*. 1746: does not occur, instead: *приказуеть*. 1760: in the bookish form *нa(д)сматриванiи*.

Ukrainian infinitive form + -му etc.:

1726: no relevant word forms.

1746: no relevant word forms.

1760: имѣтиметъ.

NEW CONTRIBUTIONS TO THE HISTORY OF THE UKRAINIAN LANGUAGE

Russian gerund ending in -'a:

1726: видя. 1746: видя, не смотря, but also пишучи. 1760: опредѣля, обучаясь.

Russian shortened vs. Church Slavonic and Ukrainian unshortened infinitive endings (Ukrainian shortened infinitives also exist):

1726: *npocumu*, unclear *npocu(m)*.

1746: only бить, возить, о(т)в ѣтствовать, чинить (подпасть).

1760: изучити (Church Slavonic word), but велѣть, ходить [...].

"Un-Russian" infinitive of reflexive verbs -mucs:

1726: only учинится [sic]. 1746: only учинится. 1760: учитись, изучатись/обучатся, умножатся.

Ukrainian *нимъ* without preposition:

1726: no relevant word form. 1746: нимъ. 1760: no relevant word form.

Ukrainian *od eго* (without *н*- after the preposition):

1726: *o*(*д*) *его.* 1746: only к нему 1760: no relevant word form.

Syntax

no + Russian dative(/"Ukrainian" locative case):

1726: по прошению u(x) (could also be po + locative case as in po proszeniu). 1746: по случаю, по u(x) древнему обикновению, по дворамъ козачимъ (along with no инши(x) земляхъ).

1760: по мнѣнию моему.

"Ukrainian" genitive government of yuu-:

1726: no relevant contexts.

1746: no relevant contexts.

1760: изобучению грамоти, учитись букваровъ [...] ча(с)ловцовъ [...] only with gen.

Vocabulary (actually used word forms are cited)

1726: Elements of the emerging Russian literary language (including Church Slavonic): доношение, слъдую(m), обида(x), когда, буди (буде) 'if,' бранилъ [...].

// Ukrainian (and Polish) elements: писаръ, статокъ, ста(т)чини, ту(р)ми, бо (initial position, cf. ибо in a document from 1751), поединцемъ, покладалъ, нехай, худобу, (тогди), затялъ, кидкома.

166

1746: Elements of the emerging Russian literary language (including Church Slavonic): покорное доношение, обиди, принуждения, принуждаеть, какъ (but якъ), или (but) албо, свъдителствуеть (yet not свидъ-), именно, случаю, опредъле(н)но(й), усмотрълъ, лошаде(й), места(x) 'places,' указу, дожидаетъ, слъдствия, всегда, иногда, безопасно, древнему, обикновению, остановка, касаючи(х)ся, видимое, состоитъ, происходитъ, жалованнихъ грамота(x), извъстно, нъсколко, слушается, надлежить (not на-), не видалъ [...], область, дълаетъ 'does, makes,' (o(m)вътствовать, токмо, протчиихъ, какъ, того ради даби, понеже), [...].

// Ukrainian (and Polish) elements: *прийдучую, грунта*(x), o(m)*правують*, инши(x)/ини(x), жадного, якого, якъ, албо/или, през, хатъ, волности, вертаетъ, якого, (виключаю(m)ся).

1760: Elements of the emerging Russian literary language (including Church Slavonic): покорнѣйшій, получения, обучатся (изобучению), почему, нѣкоторихъ, какъ, повелѣнію, исполненія, дѣйствова(т), дѣйствияхъ, дѣйствителному, мнѣнию, слѣдующимъ, первоначално, должно, должни, распознаетъ, доку(ч)но, между тѣмъ, исчисление, изучити, опредѣлить, воскресние, замѣчать, случаю, пѣвчие, опредѣля, мѣсто 'place,' како(й), на(д)сматриваніи, именно, нѣсколко, ружа, ружемъ (cf. Russian ружьё), употребля(т), происходить, надобно, подѣлани, дѣлаются, ратища, копіовъ, о(т)вращени, понеделно 'weekly,' умножатся, когда, тогда, доспѣють, надежда, вѣжливѣйшие, отечеству, ожидается, по(л)за, другихъ 'other' (исправнѣйшие, мощно, понеже, ежеденно).

// Ukrainian (and Polish) elements: ясневелможному, (можнъйшихъ), литери, (nondiminutive (?)) книжками, однакъ, помалу, особливо, (волняними), наръкания, негодности, понятние.

If we now pose the crucial question of what these data can tell us, we might conclude first and foremost that these documents, composed by the literate elite of the Hetmanate, were written in a language that differed significantly from the Ukrainian chancery language of previous centuries and became quite close to the emerging Russian literary language of the eighteenth century. Quite obviously, these scribes increasingly sought to adopt the new Russian chancery language of the Russian Empire as best they could. During the period under discussion, however, the scribes did not achieve their goal and produced an imperfect variety of Russian still characterized by plenty of Ukrainian interferemes at all levels. Among the factors contributing to this result were the inadequate codification of the modern Russian literary language, which was just beginning, and the inability of the schools available to the scribes of the eighteenth-century Hetmanate, including the Kyivan Academy, to improve the situation significantly.

The new Russianized chancery language created in the Hetmanate was certainly regarded as a linguistic symbol of this polity and its structures of power. After the elite of the Hetmanate had adopted various elements of the Russian chancery language—which at this stage, to be sure, was also quite new to the Russians themselves in its eighteenth-century form—it is most likely that provincial officials and, subsequently, peasants became accustomed to a range of abstract terms no longer borrowed from Polish or from Church Slavonic itself but from the emerging Russian literary language, which bore so many striking resemblances to the language that they heard in the Orthodox liturgy. As the documents demonstrate,

the language used in the Russian administrative system was characterized by *akan'e* or the pronunciation of *ě* as *e* and the like, even among Ukrainian scribes in the Hetmanate. When the inhabitants of the Hetmanate realized that the new Russian literary language was also to become the literary language of their society, they increasingly added elements from this Russian "high variety" to their written— and, certainly, spoken—languages and began mixing codes.

Elites always serve as models for their societies in some way—a role that actually defines their status, even in the sphere of language. In our particular case, this might have led to the following scenario: when the elites of the Hetmanate began using *nonyuunu* instead of *odepжanu* or *ompumanu*, among many other non-Ukrainian words, others probably tried to adopt these forms in the same period (the eighteenth century), at least in contexts where they thought that these higher-level expressions would be appropriate. When the elites, generalizing from the Russian pronunciation of words such as *nonyuunu*, subsequently even began striving to imitate Russian *akan'e* as a phonological rule, more and more speakers of Ukrainian followed them as well. As a result, many speakers from Central and Eastern Ukraine tend to apply *akan'e* rules even when speaking Ukrainian (unless they make a conscious effort to avoid it), and their language is characterized by many more elements of Russian origin at all linguistic levels.

In any case, as long as schooling did not provide opportunities for learning "proper Russian," the commoners' Ukrainian roots were strong enough to preserve the Ukrainian language quite well. Consequently, Ukrainian was still vital when the representatives of a new elite found their way back to their national roots in the nineteenth century and dedicated themselves to the elaboration of a modern Ukrainian standard language. From then on, Modern Standard Ukrainian competed with other idioms, including "Surzhyk." In a certain sense, this process is still going on.

Part III

The Long and Winding Road: Ukrainian Becoming a Standard Language

"RUTHENIANS" AND THE "RUTHENIAN LANGUAGE" IN GALICIAN GRAMMARS DATING FROM THE FIRST HALF OF THE NINETEENTH CENTURY

1. How many millions of whom?

Just as historians to this day have not ceased questioning the identity of Galician Ruthenians¹ of the first half of the nineteenth century, neither can linguists base their work on the assumption that Galician texts of this period are always grounded in a linguistic awareness that is simply to be equated with modern-day categories. Included among Ukrainian linguistic materials are valuable sources that reveal substantial data on how Galician Ruthenians perceived their language as well as their national identity.

Some of the best sources for the study of the linguistic awareness of the Galician intellectual elites are nineteenth-century Galician grammars, the introductions to these publications, and other texts that emerged alongside the grammars or in connection with them. Of course, these texts contain not only information on matters of grammar but also data pertaining to the imagined prevalence of the Ruthenian language as well as its history and all its varieties.

It is worth recalling that in 1848, when the Supreme Ruthenian Council (Головна Руська Рада) sent its well-known appeal to the Austrian emperor, which included these words: "We Galician Ruthenians belong to the great Russian people, which speaks one language and constitutes 15 million, of whom two and a half million reside in the Galician land" (Zorja Halyc'ka 1848: 1),² the original version of this text mentioned only the 2.5 million figure instead of 15 million Ruthenians (Hrycak 1996: 52). Should one infer from this that in 1848 the Galician Ruthenians still imagined only some sort of "Ruthenian people of the Austrian state...who speak the same language"—some kind of Austrian Ruthenians with a separate national identity? Or can one simply identify these 15 million mentioned in the second version of the appeal with the Ukrainian nation in the contemporary sense?

With regard to the first question, existing sources confirm that those Galicians who pondered the linguistic and national identity of the Ruthenians did not usually have the Austrian vista in mind. It is worth recalling the famous definition of the Ruthenian space in the introduction to *The Dnister Nymph* (Русалка Дністровая): "The Ruthenian people are one of the main Slavic branches, in the midst of them, extending throughout grain-producing areas from the foothills of the Beskyd Mountains to regions beyond the Don" (Rusalka 1837: ix).³ The sources listed in

Since the term "Ruthenianness" in the present context clearly does not encompass the Great Russian space but is not yet firmly established with regard to Belarusian-Ukrainian issues, in this article I use the terms "Ruthenians" (*русини*), "Ruthenian language" (*руська мова*) et al. Of course, in various contexts one could also use the later terms "Ukrainians" (*українці*), "Ukrainian language" (*українська мова*) et al.

^{2 &}quot;Мы Русины Галицки належимо до великого руского народу, котрый однимъ говоритъ азикомъ и 15 мїлѣоно̂въ выноситъ, зъ котрого по̂лтрета мїлѣона землю Галицку замешкує."

^{3 &}quot;Нарід Руский оден з головних поколѣнь Славяиньских [sic], в серединѣ меж ними, роскладаєся по хлѣбородних окрестностьох з ноза [sic] гір Бескидских за Дон."

The Dnister Nymph reinforce the impression that at issue here was the very same nation that today we call Ukrainian,⁴ but that is not necessarily the case. Although in his 1836 article "Azbuka i Abecadło" Markijan Šaškevyč wrote about "the more than eight million" (Steblij 2004: 561) Ruthenians, in another (German-language) article, titled "The Ruthenians" (Die Ruthenen), he confirmed that the Ruthenian space extended "all the way to the boundaries of Lithuania" ("bis an Litauen") and that the Ruthenians number "up to fourteen million" ("bis auf 14,000,000") (cited in Steblij 2004: 569).⁵ Obviously, this number, "like the 15 million and more in [the writings of] other authors, also included the Belarusians (nearly 3 million)" (Steblij 2004: 561). Although there is a view according to which "ethnography in those days did not distinguish Belarusians from the general mass of Ruthenians, and their language was perceived as a dialect of Ruthenian (Ukrainian)" (ibid.), nonetheless, Pavel Jozef Šafařík [in Slovak: Pavol Jozef Šafárik], the most influential Slavic ethnographer of his time, distinguished between Belarusians and "Little Russians" (Ukrainians) in his book *Slovanský národopis* (Slavic Ethnography): in the chapter titled "Nářečí maloruské" (Little Russian Dialects), he writes of "13,144,000 people, of whom 10,370,000 are to be found in Russia, and 2,744,000 in Austria, and 2,149,000 in Halyč [Galicia] and 625,000 in Hungary" ("13,144,000 duší, z nichž 10,370.000 do Ruska, a 2,744.000 do Rakauska, a sice 2,149.000 do Haliče a 625.000 do Uher, padá") (Šafařík 1842: 26). However, in the chapter titled "Nářečí běloruské" (Belarusian Dialects), he claimed that the number of Belarusians stood at 2,726,000 (ibid., 30). Finally, even if the Belarusian and Ukrainian linguistic

Here is the relevant passage from The Dnister Nymph: "Енеида на малороссійскій язык переложенная 4 М. Котляревским; тричи виданая 1798, 1808 и 1809 в С. Петербурзъ; Князя Цертелева: Опыт собранія старинных малороссійских пъсен, С.П. 1819; Малороссійскія пъсни, изданныя Михаилом Максимовичем, Москва 1827; тойже издаў: Украинскія народныя пъсни Моск. 1834; Запорожска старина, Харков 1833–1834. IV. Части; Малороссійскія повѣсти изд. Основяненьком в Моск. 1834; Малороссійскія пословици, Харков 1833; Приказки малороссійскія изд. Гребеньком, С. Петерб.; Войцеховича малороссійскій словарь помъщенний в трудах моск. общества любителей Россійской словесности, Ча. III, 1818; В извъстіях росс. Акад. в книжцъ 7, читаєм що Академієў куплений словарь "Малороссійскій поручєн от Академіи Господину члену оной Николаю Ивановичу Гнѣдичу, и при нем двум любителям словесности, знающим малороссійскоє нарѣчіє и согласившимся из усердія к общей ползѣ содѣйствовать в сем предпріємлемом трудѣ а имено Господину Капнисту и Князю Цертелеву" [In the proceedings of the Russian Academy, book 7, we read that "the Little Russian dictionary purchased by the Academy was commissioned by the Academy to Mr. Nikolaj Ivanovič Gnedič, one of its members, and, along with him, to two amateur writers who know the Little Russian dialect and who agreed out of zeal for the general welfare to assist in this undertaken work, namely Mr. Kapnist and Prince Certelev"], М. – Пѣют також хорошо руским язиком (["[The following persons] also sing well in the Ruthenian language:] Че. Гуляка Артемовскій, Тома Падурра, – и инши. – Про маленько мъстця лише набилиняєм о Грамматиках Павловского (Моск. 1818.) Лучкая (Slavo-Ruthena в Будимѣ 1830.) Левъцкого (в Перемишли 1834)—о дълах (Wacława z Oleska Pieśni polskie i ruskie ludu Galicyjskiego (у Львов в 1833) и Лоз вныского: Ruskoje wesile (в Перемишли 1835.)" (Rusalka 1837: IV-VI).

⁵ Steblij notes that "...V. Kopitar, in his censor's findings on the manuscript of the almanac Zoria (1834), estimated the number of Ukrainians at 9–10 million; there are nearly 3 million of them in the Austrian monarchy; an anonymous author (1835) and Ja. Holovac'kyj in his letters to H. Petrovyč (1837) and K. V. Zap (1848) at 15 million; P. J. Šafařík (1842) and, following in his footsteps, I. Levyc'kyj (1843) and Ja. Holovac'kyj (1848) at 13,144,000; I. Lozyns'kyj (1846) and I. V. Terlec'kyj (1849) at 15,870,000..." (Steblij 2004: 561).

space was considered to be one and the same, the Belarusian language could not be considered a dialect of Ukrainian: the Belarusian and Ukrainian languages were supposed to function as dialects or variants of one common Ruthenian, that is, Ukrainian-Belarusian, language. Since the parameters of the Ruthenian language were not clear-cut, it is all the more important to determine the notions of the prevalence of the Ruthenian language that appear in the works of Galician grammarians.

2. On the linguistic community in Galician-Ruthenian grammars

2.1. The first scholarly grammar of the Ruthenian language was created by Ivan Mohyl'nyc'kyj in Przemyśl/Peremyshl in the early 1820s;⁶ he wrote in the language that he regarded as the literary variant of Ruthenian. The grammar remained in manuscript form until 1910, but its introduction, titled "Report on the Ruthenian Language" (Βѣдомѣсть ο рускôмъ дзыцѣ), was published several times during the first half of the nineteenth century, although only in Polish and Russian translations.

In this introduction (as earlier, in the official letter on the defense of Metropolitan Myxajlo Levyc'kyj's pastoral letter), Mohyl'nyc'kyj argued:

The Ruthenian language (dialect) was always separate and independent of other dialects, particularly from Slavonic, Polish, Russian (Muscovite, long ago)...at all times the Slavonic dialect was different from common Ruthenian (Mohyl'nyc'kyj 1910: 25, 27).⁷

Mohyl'nyc'kyj was the first authority to provide scholarly substantiation for the independence of the Ruthenian language from Polish, Russian, and Church Slavonic. His argumentation is based mostly on historical examples confirming that these languages were considered different at least from the beginning of the early modern period.

As for the prevalence of the Ruthenian language, Mohyl'nyc'kyj writes:

In all the Ruthenian lands, known at one time under the names Little, White, and Red Rus', there was one and the same Ruthenian dialect...it may be decisively asserted that in White and Little Rus' alike they speak that same dialect. Anyone who has listened well to Ruthenians from Kyiv, Chernihiv, Bratslav (Little Russia), Lviv, Peremyshl (Red Rus'), Berestia Lytovske, Smolensk, and Polatsk (White Rus') must recognize that truth (Mohyl'nyc'kyj 1910: 37, 39).⁸

⁶ Correspondence with the censorship bodies took place in 1823 (Voznjak 1911: 8–9).

^{7 &}quot;Отдѣлный и самостоячій языкъ (діалектъ) рускій все бывалъ от инныхъ діалектовъ а меновите славенского, полского, россійского (московского давнѣйше) различаный [...] діалектъ славенскій от народного руского по всѣ часы различанымъ бывалъ."

^{8 &}quot;Во всѣхъ земляхъ рускихъ, негдысь подъ именами: малои, бѣлои, червонои руси знаныхъ, сденъ и тотъ самъ былъ діалектъ рускій ... смѣло твердити можна, яко на бѣлой и малой Руси сднако и тымъ самымъ діалектомъ говорятъ. Хтося єно добрѣ прислухавъ Русинови от Кієва, Чернигова, Брацлава (Малороссія), Лвова, Перемышля (Червона русь), Берестя Литовского, Смоленска, Полоцка (Бѣла русь), тотъ правду тоту вызнати муситъ."

Regardless of the (rather interesting) question of whether Mohyl'nyc'kyj himself had really heard speakers from Berestia Lytovske, it turns out that when he wrote about the Ruthenians, he too did not mean only the Ukrainian people according to their traditional name but "Ruthenians" according to perceptions of the early modern period,⁹ meaning the Ruthenians of the former Polish-Lithuanian Commonwealth. This may explain why his list includes no references either to the Transcarpathian Ruthenians or to the Ruthenians of Sloboda Ukraine ("Slobozhanshchyna," a historico-geographic region in northeastern Ukraine that bordered on the Ukrainian Hetman state to the west). Instead, there is explicit mention of the inhabitants of White Rus', who were regarded as belonging to this same people, like all other Ruthenians.¹⁰ After all, in this description White Rus' also extends all the way to Smolensk.

In the "Report," Mohyl'nyc'kyj wrote unambiguously: "Terms: the *Ruthenian language* (*dialect*) is entirely identical to the terms Little Russian and Belarusian" (Mohyl'nyc'kyj 1910: 25).¹¹ That is why he championed the use of the term "Ruthenian" (*pyckiй*), which he also calls the "characteristic name *common Ruthenian* without any kind of epithet" ["*npocmopyckou* безъ всего придомку"] [ibid., 4]. Nevertheless, he titled his grammar book not simply a "Ruthenian" grammar but a grammar of the Slavonic-Ruthenian language ("Славено-р%скогw дзыка") [Voznjak 1911: 12]. As regards the history of these linguonyms, Mohyl'nyc'kyj noted briefly:

⁹ In fact, although Belarusian and Ukrainian are commonly regarded as separate languages, to this day Belarusians and Ukrainians understand each other perfectly. But criteria of this kind are by no means decisive factors in determining individual languages.

Elsewhere, the author writes that "Ruthenian writing or the bookish language...was one and the same 10 in the diverse Ruthenian lands, as in Vilnius in Belarus, in Ostrih in Volhynia, in Little Russia, that is, in Ukraine, in Podilia as well as in the Galician Principality, in Kyiv, Lviv, Univ, Striatyn, and Zabłudów" ["писма рускіе або мова книжна […] въ розмаитыхъ земляхъ рускихъ, якото на Бѣлоруси въ Вилнѣ, на Волиню въ Острозъ, на Малоруси то естъ на Украинъ, Подолю, также королевствъ Галицкомъ, въ Кіевѣ, Лвовѣ, Уневѣ, Стратинѣ, Заблудовѣ выходила, єдна и тота сама была"] (Mohyl'nyc'kyj 1910: 48). Voznjak cites chapters from "Vidomist" to the effect that the "Ukrainian" and "Belarusian" languages are identical (Voznjak 1911: 64-67). In fact, he explains this view merely by indicating the narrow range of knowledge of the Belarusian language on Mohyl'nyc'kyj's part and that of the entire scholarly world. He adds: "As early as 1880, Omeljan Ohonovs'kyj, in his Studien auf dem Gebiete der ruthenischen Sprache, made the same mistake as Mohyl'nyc'kyj before the year 1829, calling the Belarusian language a dialect of Ukrainian. Among Great Russian scholars, such errors in favor of their own language were encountered very often. Therefore Mohyl'nyc'kyj should not be attacked for not having a clear understanding of the Belarusian language and its differences from Ukrainian." ["Ще в 1880 року Омелян Огоновський у своїх "Studien auf dem Gebiete der ruthenischen Sprache" зробив таку саму похибку, як Могильницький до року 1829, й зачислив білоруську мову як діялєкт до української. Поміж великоруськими ученими такі помилки в користь своєї мови лучали ся дуже часто. Тому й не можна накидати ся на Могильницького, що він не мав ясного розуміння білоруської мови й її ріжниць від української"] (Voznjak 1911: 67–68). Later, Voznjak nonetheless writes about Mohyl'nyc'kyj's "great error" ["велику похибку"] (Voznjak 1911: 70). Voznjak is mistaken where Ohonovs'kyj is concerned. Ohonovs'kyj notes: "With regard to the Belarusians, the descendants of the Slavic tribe of Krivichians, they are nonetheless closer to the Little Russians than to the Great Russians" ["Was schliesslich die Weissrussen, die Nachkommmen des slawischen Stammes der Kriwičen betrifft, so stehen sie jedenfalls näher den Kleinrussen, als den Grossrussen"] (Ohonovs'kyj 1880: 18) and expresses the view that the Belarusians were at first only "a branch of the Little Russian people" (ein Zweig des kleinrussischen Volkes) (ibid.). However, he says nothing further on this subject.

^{11 &}quot;Назвиска: языкъ (діалектъ) рускій суть тосамо значные съ назвисками малорускій, бѣлороссійскій."

That language was called *Ruthenian* without any kind of epithet...and not one word was said about *White and Little Russian* (Mohyl'nyc'kyj 1910: 39–40).¹²

On this basis, Mohyl'nyc'kyj expresses his objection to the separation of the "Little and Belarusian" languages in rather witty terms:

If, however, the custom of dividing the Ruthenian language into *Little Russian and Belarusian* has become so common nowadays ("Custom is law by another name") that one can hardly expect it to be neglected; if the Ruthenian expression '*one's house, one's truth*,' is already accepted in our language, then, on citing authentic historical evidence, I simply advise the reader that, if I yield to the examples and to my esteem for more recent Authors (for no Hercules can prevail against a multitude) and retain *Little-White Ruthenian* as the names of the dialect, then those terms should be taken to mean *the same* as the *Ruthenian* tongue or language (Mohyl'nyc'kyj 1910: 48).¹³

It should be mentioned that the term *Ukraine* in its traditional, regionally restricted sense appears in Mohyl'nyc'kyj's grammar. For example, as regards the adverb *nak*, the scholar writes that

the above-mentioned dialect [occurs] in White Rus', in the Czech and Serbian dialects, and in the common language among the Ruthenians of the Carpathian Mountain chain, in Red Rus', in Podilia and Ukraine, and then commonly throughout Little Rus' (Voznjak 1911: 45).¹⁴

With regard to the terms *Russnaken*, *Russnakische Nation*, and *Russnakische Sprache*, he writes that these terms were "unknown until now" ("незнанными до тыхъ часъ"), and, in passing, advises avoiding "names that express disdain of some kind" ("погарду яковусь выражаючихъ именъ вароватися") (Mohyl'nyc'kyj 1910: 4, 68). The fact that he considered the term "Rusnak" offensive links him to another Peremyshl-based philologist of that period, Ivan Lavrivs'kyj, who wrote a letter in 1823 to the Russian statistician and bibliographer Petr Keppen (Köppen) in which he mentioned the title of Keppen's grammar, which, unfortunately, is no longer extant: "I dare not use the terms Rusnjak or Rusnjak language, for both may be regarded as contemptuous" (Voznjak 1911: 4).¹⁵ Clearly, neither Mohyl'nyc'kyj nor

^{12 &}quot;Языкъ тотъ безъ всякого епиθета рускимъ звано ... а о діалектѣ бѣло и малорускомъ ани слыху не было."

^{13 &}quot;Коли єднакъ звычай дѣленя мовы рускои на мало- и бѣлоруску такъ ся въ теперешныхъ часахъ сталъ посполитымъ (consuetudo altera lex), же трудно и надѣятися, абы го понехано, коли уже приповѣдка руска: "чія хата, того правда" и на нашой мовѣ ся полнитъ, то по приведеню историческихъ автентичныхъ доказателствъ читателя єдинѣ остергаю [sic], же єсли прикладомъ и повазѣ новѣйшихъ Авторовъ улегаючи (бо nec Hercules contra plures), назвиска діалекта малобѣло-руского заховую, то имена тые за то само, ще имена: языкъ або мова руска, брати належитъ."

^{14 &}quot;[...] поманутое наръчїє ... на бълой руси, въ діалектъ ческомъ, сербскомъ и въ просторъчїи межи Русинами її пасма Карпадскихъ [sic] горъ, въ червоной Руси, на Подолю и Оукраинъ, а затымъ въ цълой Малой руси посполито."

^{15 &}quot;Die Ausdrücke: Rusniak, Rusniakische Sprache, darf ich nicht gebrauchen, indem sie beide hierlandes eine Verachtung hindeuten."

Lavrivs'kyj knew that a number of Ruthenians/Ukrainians used that ethnonym as a self-description and continued to do so. This confirms that during the period in question the Galicians still knew comparatively little about the people of Transcarpathia: although Mohyl'nyc'kyj singles out the "Slovaks in the Kingdom of Hungary" in this context, he says not a word about the Rusnaks of Transcarpathia.¹⁶

2.2. The next important Galician grammar of the Ruthenian language, written by the cultural figure Josyf Levyc'kyj, was published in German in 1834. Although Myxajlo Voznjak, for example, engages in a vigorous polemic with the author of this grammar¹⁷ and unjustifiably criticizes Levyc'kyj for extensive borrowing not only from grammars of the Russian language (Voznjak 1911: 92–109) but also from the then unpublished manuscript of Ivan Mohyl'nyc'kyj's grammar, Levyc'kyj's grammar also deserves attention.

In the introduction to his grammar, Levyc'kyj cites the following data on the prevalence of the Ruthenian language:

The eastern side of the Carpathians and the plain between the rivers Sian, Viar [Vihor], Dnister, Buh, Boh, Dnipro, and Prypiat [in a footnote: Санъ, Вѣ́горъ, Днѣ́стеръ, Бу́гъ, Бо́гъ, Днѣ́пръ, При́пецъ] are inhabited by a Slavic tribe that calls itself Rusyn in its native language (Rusyn, the Ruthenian people, Rus', the Ruthenian land) [in a footnote: Russininn oder Reussinn: Ру́сска, Ру́сскаѧ] but calls its land Rus¹⁷¹⁸ (Levyc'kyj 1834: i).¹⁹

- 16 "Unaware at the time of that people, based on the writings of the above-mentioned authors alone, I could easily have judged that in Galicia, besides the people known in Polish as *Rusini*, in Latin as *Rutheni*, and in German as *Ruthener*, there was some other kind of branch of *Rusnaks*, perhaps like the *Armenians* or the *Karaites*, or the *Slavonians* and *Slovaks* (*Slavonier*, *Slovaken*) in the Hungarian Kingdom and in Slavonia, which is dependent on it" ["Несвѣдомый теды народа того, ено съ писмъ помянутыхъ авторовъ, легкобы судити моглъ, яко въ Галиціи кромѣ людей, по полску Rusini, по латинѣ Rutheni, по нѣмецку Ruthener званыхъ, ещеся якоесъ иншое поколѣна Руснаковъ, може такъ, якъ Ормяновъ, Караимовъ, а въ Королевствѣ Угерскомъ и завислой от него Славонии Славеновъ и Словаковъ (Slavonier, Slovaken), найдуе"] (Mohyl'nyc'kyj 1910: 66).
- 17 See the following passage: "Levyc'kyj did not write a grammar of this people, only a grammar of some kind of Great Russian-Belarusian-Church Slavonic-Polish-Ukrainian macaronic language, which, it appears, the author himself never spoke. Levyc'kyj combined into one the errors of Mohyl'nyc'kyj and Lučkaj, besides introducing Great Russian words, aspects, and even syntax into the Ukrainian language" ("Не написав Аевицький граматики сього народу, тілько граматику якогось великорусько-білорусько-церковно-славянсько-польсько-українського макаронїзму, яким, здаєть ся, і сам автор ніколи не говорив. Аевицький злучив в одно похибки Могильницького та Лучкая, впроваджуючи до того в українську мову великоруські слова, види, навіть складню") (Voznjak 1911: 107).

18 "Der östliche Theil der Karpathen, und die Ebene zwischen den Flüssen: San, Wiar, Dniester, Bug, Boh, Dnieper, Przypiec [in a footnote: Санъ, Въ́горъ, Днъ́стеръ, Бу́гъ, Бо́гъ, Днъ́пръ, При́пецъ] werden von einem slavischen Stamme, der sich in seiner Muttersprache Russyn (Ру́ссинъ, На́рöдъ Ру́сскій, Ру́сь, Кра́й Ру́сскій [in a footnote: Russininn oder Reussinn: Ру́сска, Ру́сскаѧ]), das Land aber selbst Rus nennt, bewohnt."

19 Some incidental etymological commentaries are rather curious: "The word Rusyn is abbreviated from Russian; in the plural it should be Russians and abbreviated as Rusyns; but because the pronunciation of the vowel e in common usage is interchangeable with ы, it is thus difficult [to tell] whether an e or ы will be heard, and since we pronounce it rather as ы than as e and all substantives that in the singular come from ъ become ы in the plural, I also write Rusyny." ["Das Wort Руссинъ ist abgekürzt аus Руссанинъ; in der vielfachen Zahl sollte es haben: Руссане und abgekürzt Руссине; da aber die

If this definition is taken literally, then it is striking that the expanses between the rivers north of the Carpathians enumerated in this passage fail to encompass not only Sloboda Ukraine but also the Kuban and Left-Bank Ukraine. In this description, then, Josyf Levyc'kyj effectively restricts "Ruthenian" (linguistic) space to the eastern Carpathian region and to the boundaries of the Kingdom of Poland as established after the wars of Hetman Bohdan Xmel'nyc'kyj, although he does subsequently mention Ukraine in the broader meaning of the term. Among his sources are Ivan Kotljarevs'kyj's *Eneïda*. With regard to the Ruthenians of Galicia, Levyc'kyj also cites rather detailed additional information (for example, the first known mention of the "Lemkos"):

At present, the Rusyn language (dialect) in Galicia [is spoken] in the entire Sianok area by more than 91,848 [inhabitants]...by 165,282 inhabitants of Stanyslaviv, by 167,669 inhabitants of Stryi (Boikos)...by 108,594 inhabitants of Chortkiv, by inhabitants of Kolomyia (Hutsuls)...in all, by two million. This dialect, with a few small variations in tone and endings, and some expressions that are closer to Slovak, is spoken in Jasło and the Nowy Sącz area of the mountain region by more than 121,939 inhabitants (Lemkos). In the Rzeszów district, however, in Kańczuga and Leżajsk, which to this day is not completely Polonized, there live 10,000 Ruthenians who have preserved little more of their dialect than the church language. In other areas...this dialect is entirely unknown because these extensive lands are populated by Masurians, who constitute a branch of the Poles and speak the Masurian dialect, which, together with Polish, is almost the selfsame language [!] (Levyc'kyj 1834: iv).²⁰

Levyc'kyj then offers some brief information about the "Ruthenian dialect" of Zamostia (Zamość) and Kholm (Chełm), as well as about other Ruthenian-speaking territories of the Russian Empire: "In Russia, this dialect extends through Podilia, Volhynia, Kyiv, and Ukraine, where it is spoken to this day by more than five million inhabitants" (Levyc'kyj 1834: vii).²¹ It is hard to say what the author considers to be the boundaries of the region that he calls "Ukraine," especially when he is mindful

Aussprache des *e* als Vokal im gemeinen Leben mit *bi* verwechselt wird, so, dass es schwer kommt, ob *e* oder *bi* gehört wird, und da wir es mehr mit *bi* als mit *e* aussprechen, und alle Substantiva, die in der E. Z. auf *b* ausgehen in der V. Z. *bi* bekommen, so schreibe ich auch P&ccuhaf"] (Levyc'kyj 1834: xxi–xxii).

^{20 &}quot;Gegenwärtig wird in Galizien die russinische Sprache (Dialekt) im ganzen Sanoker Kreise von mehr als 91848, ... Stanislawower 165282, Stryjer 167669 (Бо́йки) ... Czortkower 108594, Kolomaejer (Гу́цқлы) ... im Ganzen bey zwey Millionen. Auch im Jasloer und Sandezer Kreise in den Gebirgsgegenden, von mehr als 121939 Einwohnern (Ле́ики) wird diese Mundart mit wenigen kleinen Veränderungen im Tone und Endungen, und einigen dem Slowakischen sich nähernden Ausdrücken gesprochen. Im Reszower Kreise aber bey Kańczuga und Leżajsk, der bis auf heutigen Tag noch nicht ganz polonisiert ist, leben 10000 Ruthenier, die ausser der Kirchensprache wenig von ihrem Dialekte beybehalten haben. In den übrigen Kreisen ... ist dieser Dialekt ganz und gar unbekannt: weil diese Strecke Landes von Mazuren bewohnt ist, die einen Zweig der Polen ausmachen, und den mazurischen Dialekt, der mit dem Polnischen fast die nähmliche Sprache ist [!], sprechen. ...)."

^{21 &}quot;In Russland erstreckt sich diese Mundart über Podolien, Volhynien, Kijow und die Ukraina, wo sie von mehr als 5 Millionen Einwohnern noch heutigen Tages gesprochen wird."

of his above-cited description of the "Ruthenian-speaking" space: to what extent does Levyc'kyj perceive Sloboda Ukraine or at least Left-Bank Ukraine?

Levyc'kyj knew more than Ivan Mohyl'nyc'kyj about the inhabitants of Hungary: living in Vienna, he most certainly associated with them in the milieu of St. Barbara's Greek Catholic Church:

It is also worth recalling the Hungarian inhabitants of Mukachiv, Uzhhorod, and Priashiv (according to the newest diocesan data, they number over 500,000), who speak a Rusyn dialect, very strongly mixed with Hungarian and Slovak words, call themselves Rusyns (Ruthenians), and are called Oroszemberek (Russi homines) by the Magyars... (Levyc'kyj 1834: ix).²²

Levyc'kyj offers the following ethnonymic footnote about the Hungarian Ruthenians:

These Hungarian Rusyns sometimes call themselves Rusnaks, but we Galicians are, and call ourselves, Rusyns, [and] our language is Ruthenian (Levyc'kyj 1834: ix).²³

Emulating Ivan Mohyl'nyc'kyj, Levyc'kyj declares here and there that there is no basis for the term "Russnak oder Russniak (Russnaken)" (Levyc'kyj 1834: xxii), "which term is completely unsubstantiated," and adds that it sounds unflattering and shameful when applied to a Ruthenian (ibid., xxv): "it sounds evil to the ears of the Ruthenians (Rusyns) and implies contempt."²⁴ Unlike Mohyl'nyc'kyj, Levyc'kyj knew that the Ruthenians of Transcarpathia "called themselves" *Rusnaks* of their own accord ("sich selbst nennen") and may therefore have been aware that this name had no offensive coloration for them.

Levyc'kyj mentions the idiom that he calls the "Belarusian (Minsk) dialect" only in a footnote, claiming that Łukasz Gołębiowski's work *Lud polski* contained "examples of Minsk (Belarusian) dialects that are spoken in Lithuania to this day" (ibid., 7).²⁵ Unfortunately, no information is provided about the contemporary association of this "dialect" and its bearers with the general "Ruthenian" space (see section 3.2.). Since Levyc'kyj writes only about the eight million bearers of this language (ibid., ix) and in fact names only Ukrainian regions of the Ruthenian-speaking space, it may be assumed that he most certainly did not consider the Belarusian language a variant of the Ruthenian, or "Little Russian," language. It is

^{22 &}quot;Auch der ungrischen Bewohner von Munkács, Unghvár, Eperies (nach den neuesten Diöcesan-Angaben über 500000 an der Zahl), darf hier wohl erinnert werden, die einen wiewohl sehr stark mit ungrischen, slowakischen Wörtern vermischten russinischen Dialekt sprechen, sich selbst Russinen (Ruthenier) nennen, und von den Magyaren, Oroszemberek (Russi homines) genannt werden."

^{23 &}quot;Diese ungrischen Russinen nennen sich zuweilen Russnaken; wir Galizianer aber sind und heißen Russinen Ру́ссины, unsere Sprache мзы́къ Ру́сскїй."

^{24 &}quot;[...] welcher Ausdruck keineswegs gegründet ist" [...] der in den Ohren eines Rutheniers (Russinen) übel klingt, und eine Verachtung in sich fasst."

^{25 &}quot;Beyspiele des Minskischen (weissrussischen) Dialekts, welcher in Lithauen noch heutigen Tages gesprochen wird."

worth recalling that Levyc'kyj often uses the expression *russinisch* in his Germanlanguage text. On the eve of the Revolution of 1848, this name was quite widespread and was gradually superseded by the term *ruthenisch* only in later years.

2.3. As early as 1836 Ivan Vahylevyč, a former member of the "Ruthenian Triad," had already informed Mixail Pogodin, the prominent Slavophile and professor of Russian history, about a dictionary that he was planning to publish. It would be similar to the one written by the Serbian linguist Vuk Stefanović Karadžić, "together with a grammar and a description of the rituals and beliefs of the people, with the difference that he analyzes some words philologically and indicates their similarity to the words of our fellow countrymen" (Voznjak 1911: 143).²⁶

In the brief introduction to his not very successful grammar, Vahylevyč writes about the geographic distribution of the Ruthenian language:

The Little Russian language is divided into two dialects, Galician and Kyivan; the boundary between the two is formed by the Seret and Buh Rivers. There is a third dialect, the Carpathian, in the mountainous parts of the Stryi, Sambir, Sanok, Jasło, and Nowy Sącz administrative districts in Galicia and, in Hungary, in the Sáros, Ungvár, Bereg, and Zemné [Zemplén] districts; however, because this dialect does not have any center, and because elements of the first two dialects appear in it, differing only in admixtures from related languages, the term 'dialect' can have no place here, and I have used it only for reference (Vahylevyč 1845: i).²⁷

Even compared to the descriptions of his predecessors, Vahylevyč's notions of the boundaries of the Ruthenian language and its bearers were still rather hazy. To the two "dialects" of the "Little Russian language" he adds a third, "Carpathian" dialect that extends past the Carpathian Mountains. As for the "Kyivan dialect," no detailed information is offered about its prevalence: among the cited materials on "Kyivan dialects," examples from the Chernihiv region are listed.

In another Polish-language text, titled *Treatise on the South Russian Language* (Rozprawy o języku południowo-ruskim), which is extant in manuscript form (see Section 3.3), Vahylevyč notes:

I called the language South Russian instead of the standard Little Russian and Russian, just as it is called in Rus' to some extent, in order to avoid all misunderstanding, for the adjective Little Russian is too particular, proper to Ukraine; but the others—Latin *Ruthenicus*, German *Russniathisch* [*sic*] and

^{26 &}quot;[...] разом з граматикою, описом обрядів і повірок народу з тою ріжницею, що він якібудь слова розбирає фільольогічно та вказує на подібність їх зі словами наших однородцїв."

^{27 &}quot;Język małoruski dzieli się na dwa narzecza: halickie i kijowskie; granice obu tworzą rzéki Seret i Bug. Jest trzecie narzecze karpackie w górnych częściach obwodu stryjskiego, samborskiego, sanockiego, jasielskiego i sandeckiego w Galicii; w Węgrzech zaś w szaryskiej, uchwarskiej, bereskiej i zemneńskiej stolicy; że zaś narzecze to niema żadnéj średnicy i z powodu, że żywioły obu piérwszych narzeczy w niém się pojawiają i tylko różnicę stanowią przymieszki z pobratymczych języków; więc nazwa narzecze, tu miejsca właściwie mieć nie może, i tylko użyłem ją dla przeglądu."

Russinisch—may be appropriate in those languages, but in any Slavic language they are illogical and even bizarre (Voznjak 1911: 147; cf. Svjencic'kyj 1866: 163).²⁸

It is hard to say where Vahylevyč found the term *Russniathisch*, but it is interesting to note that, unlike his predecessors, he associates the term *Little Russian* only with "Ukraine" in the former restricted sense but uses the term *South Russian* as a general name for the Ukrainian language.

In a letter to the Russian philologist Aleksandr Vostokov, dated 1845, Vahylevyč admitted that he was not very satisfied with his introduction to the grammar, declaring that "one article, 'On Dialects' (О нарѣчіяхъ)" among his articles "about the South Russian language (о Южнорусскомъ языкѣ)...is published in abbreviated form instead of a foreword to the Grammar" (cited in Voznjak 1911: 171).²⁹ Myxajlo Voznjak notes that Vahylevyč drew all his examples from Platon Lukaševyč's collection of songs and other works of "Little Russians" (ibid.).

Vahylevyč's description of the "Little Russian language" is quite atypical. Whereas other grammars usually seek to emphasize the superior status of the languages they describe, Vahylevyč not only declared that the "Little Russian language" is a "separate, intermediate language in Slavdom" and "as such has greatly influenced the Polish and Russian bookish languages" but also asserted that "it could be regarded as a subdialect of both, understanding by this that it is subordinate in relation to both" (Vahylevyč 1845: ii).³⁰ It is worth noting that Vahylevyč, who subsequently became a supporter of a pro-Polish group, proceeds from the premise that the "pure Ruthenian language" ("чиста руська мова") had been "corrupted" as a result of Polish influence:

For the fact that in ancient times it was written in Ruthenian, and not in Polish-Ruthenian, as certain scholars have fancied, and that this bookish language is pure Ruthenian and only began to be corrupted later, need not be argued (ibid., xxii–xxiii).³¹

2.4. Arguably, the best Galician-Ruthenian grammar dating from before the Revolution of 1848 was written by Josyf Lozyns'kyj in the early 1830s³² but finally

^{28 &}quot;Nazwałem język południowo-ruskim, zamiast używanego mało-ruski i ruski, tak jak go po części nazywają na Rusi, aby uniknąć wszelkiego niodorozumienia [sic], bo przymiotnik mało-ruski jest za szczególny, właściwy Ukrainie; inne zaś: łaciński: ruthenicus, niemieckie russniathisch [sic] i russinisch, mogą mieć miejsce w tych językach, lecz w każdym słowiańskim są nielogiczne a nawet dziwaczne."

^{29 &}quot;[...] въ сокращении напечатана мъсто предисловія въ Грамматикъ."

^{30 &}quot;[...] osobnym środkowym językiem na Słowiańszczyznie [...] jako taki wiele wpłynął na języki xiążkowe, polski i ruski [...] możnaby go uważać jako podrzecze obu, rozumiem przez to, że w stósunku [sic] do obu jest podrzędnym."

^{31 &}quot;Bo że w dawnych czasach pisano po rusku, a nie po polsko-rusku, jak o tem marzyli niektórzy uczeni, i że ów język xiążkowy jest czystym ruskim i dopiéro później psuć się zaczyna, niepotrzebuję dowodzić."

³² The first version was sent to the censors in 1833, the second in 1837, and the third in 1843 (Voznjak 1911: 109).

published in revised form in Peremyshl only in 1846. This is how Lozyns'kyj describes the Ruthenian-speaking space:

If the differences between two or three dialects can be subsumed under the common rules of a single grammar, then they should not be considered different dialects, even if some words are pronounced differently and others have a different meaning, says Dobrovský. According to that principle, the Ruthenian (Little Russian) language extends from the middle of northern Hungary and Galicia through all of southern Russia all the way to the Kuban River. Little Russia in the broadest sense of the word encompasses the following gubernias in Russia: Volhynia, Kyiv (Ukraine), Chernihiv, Poltava, Kharkiv, part of Voronezh, Katerynoslav, Kherson, Tavriia with the lands of the Black Sea Cossacks, Podilia, and part of Bessarabia; in the Kingdom of Poland, part of Podlachia and Lublin counties; in Lithuania (White Rus'), the gubernias of Białystok, Hrodna, Minsk, Mahilioŭ, Vitsebsk and, partly, Vilnius; in Galicia and Volhynia (Red Rus'), the districts of Peremyshl, Lviv, Zhovkva, Zolochiv, Ternopil, Berezhany, Sambir, Sanok, Stryi (Boikos), Stanyslaviv, Kolomyia (Hutsuls), Chortkiv, and part of Rzeszów, Jasło, Nowy Sącz, and Chernivtsi, or Bukovyna; in the Kingdom of Hungary, the komitats (counties) of Bereg, Ungvár, Ugocsa, and Máramaros with a larger and Zemplén and Sáros with a smaller proportion of inhabitants. In addition, there are Ruthenian settlements in other Hungarian komitats, in Muntenia and Wallachia.³³ Altogether, that nation may be estimated at 15,870,000. (Here I also calculated the Belarusians, whom P. Šafařík tallies separately.) Of that number, 2,149,000 fall to Galicia, 625,000 to Hungary, 216,000 to Poland, and the rest, 12,880,000, to Russia. All of them are of the Greek confession, but in Galicia and Hungary there are only 2,774,000 Uniates (united with the Roman Church), and 216,000 in the Kingdom of Poland (Lozyns'kyj 1846: vii–viii).³⁴

It is obvious that Lozyns'kyj already had a more comprehensive grasp of the Ruthenian-speaking space than his predecessors, thanks to the availability

³³ A reference to Šafařík's Slovanský národopis (1842).

³⁴ "Jeżeli odmjany w dwóch albo trzech narzeczach pod wspólne prawidła jednej Grammatyki podciągnione być mogą, to ich nienależy za różne narzecza uważać, chociażby się niektóre słowa inaczej wymawiały, a niektóre inne znaczenie mjały, mówi Dobrowski. Według tej zasady rozciąga się język ruski (mało-ruski) od środka północnych Węgier i Galicyi przez całą południową Rossyję aż do rzéki Kubani. Mała Ruś w obszérniejszém znaczeniu słowa obejmuje w Rossyji gubernije: Wołyńską, Kiowską (Ukrainę), Czerniechowską, Półtawską, Charkowską, część Woronezkiej, Jekaterynosławską, Cherzońską, Tawrycką z ziemją czarnomorskich kozaków, Podolską i część Bessarabii; w królestwie polskiém część powjatu Podlaskiego i Lubelskiego; na Litwie (Bjała Ruś) gubernije: Bjałostocką, Grodnieńską, Mińską, Mohylewską, Witebską i po części Wileńską; w Galicyi i Lodomeryi (Czerwona - Ruś) cyrkuły: Przemyski, Lwowski, Żółkiewski, Złoczowski, Tarnopolski, Brzeżański, Samborski, Sanocki, Stryjski (Bojki), Stanisławowski, Kołomyjski (Hocuły), Czortkowski i część Rzeszowskiego, Jasielskiego, Nowo-Sandeckiego i Czerniowieckiego czyli Bukowiny; w Królestwie Węgierskiém komitaty (hrabstwa: Bereg, Unghvar, Ugocza i Marmarosz z większą, a Żemplin i Szarosz z mniejszą częścią mieszkańców). Prócz tego znachodzą się osady ruskie i po innych komitatach Węgier, w Multanach i na Wołoszczyźnie. Ogółem można ten naród na 15.870,000 liczyć [Policzyłem tu razem i Bjałorusinów, których P. Szafarzyk oddzielnie liczy], Z tej liczby wypada na Galicyę 2.149.000; na Węgry 625.000; na Polskę 216,000, a reszta 12.880,000 na Rossyję. Wszyscy są wyznania greckiego; lecz Unitów (złączonych z kościołem rzymskim) niéma tylko w Galicyi i na Węgrach 2.774,000, a w Królestwie Polskiém 216,000)."

of Šafařík's *Slovanský národopis* (1842). It is worth emphasizing, however, that Lozyns'kyj, unlike Šafařík, considered the Belarusians to be constituents of one Ruthenian nation.³⁵ Like his Peremyshl-based predecessors, he rightly maintained that Little Russian ("małoruski") was another name for the Ruthenian language, which emerged quite late owing to the need to distinguish it from Russian.³⁶ He does not mention the term *Russnakisch* and makes disparaging remarks about the newly created words *rusiński/russinisch* (Lozyns'kyj 1846: xvii). As regards the Belarusian language, Lozyns'kyj agrees with Mohyl'nyc'kyj: "Judging by certain variants of it in so-called Lithuanian or White Rus', it was divided again into Little and White Russian."³⁷ But "those insignificant changes," as he maintains, "are not sufficient grounds for claiming that those two dialects are different" (ibid.).³⁸ Elsewhere, Lozyns'kyj once again notes briefly that "the names Little-[Russian] and Belarusian mean one and the same dialect" (ibid., xxiii).³⁹

The fifteen million Ruthenians who, according to Josyf Lozyns'kyj, constituted a larger nation than "the numerically smaller Poles, Czechs, and Serbs" ("mniéj liczni Polacy, Czesi, Serbowie"), were supposed to create a new literary language "so that the people would advance in civilization" (ibid., xxix).⁴⁰ At the same time, Lozyns'kyj notes that there is "a need to take language from the mouths of the common people" (ibid., xxiv).⁴¹ Indeed, he himself adhered to this view more consistently than many of his contemporaries.

2.5. Here, finally, I turn to some interesting descriptions of the Ruthenianspeaking world that feature in the early works of the first professor of "Ruthenian language and literature," Jakiv Holovac'kyj,⁴² particularly in the text of his *Treatise* on the South Russian Language and Its Dialects (Розправа о мзыцѣ южноруско̂мъ и его нарѣчіяхъ) (Holovac'kyj 1849), which was published in the same year as his *Grammar of the Ruthenian Language* (Грамматика Р&ского Азыка) (Holovac'kyj 1849b). For purely chronological reasons, both the *Treatise* and the *Three Introductory Lectures on Ruthenian Language and Literature* (Три вст&пительніи предподаваніа о руско̂й словесности) may be read as a supplement to the grammar, since the

- 39 "[...] nazwy mało- i bjało-ruski jedno i to samo narzecze oznaczają."
- 40 "[...] aby naród w cywilizacyi postępował."
- 41 "[...] potrzeba brać język z ust ludu prostego."

³⁵ Myxajlo Voznjak held Lozyns'kyj in high regard. He alludes without comment to the fact that Lozyns'kyj regarded Ukrainian and Belarusian as identical languages (Voznjak 1911: 111).

^{36 &}quot;Język ruski prócz właściwej nazwy swej, otrzymał jeszcze nazwę mało-ruskiego, a to dla tego, że pisarze widząc go różnym od używanego na północy narzecza (wielkoruskiego), i chcąc go osobno oznaczyć, nazwali go według nazwy kraja (Mała-Ruś), w którym jest używany" (Lozyns'kyj 1846: xvii).

^{37 &}quot;Sądząc po niektórych odmjanach onegoż w tak zwanéj litewskiej czyli Bjałej-Rusi, podzielili go znowu na *mało-* i *bjało-ruski*."

^{38 &}quot;[...] te nieznaczne zmiany nie są dostatecznym powodem do twierdzenia, jakoby te dwa narzecza różne były."

⁴² For his earlier views, see the chapter in Myxajlo Voznjak's book titled "The Development of Views on the Ukrainian Language in Jakiv Holovac'kyj before the Appearance of the *Treatise on the South Russian Language*" (Voznjak 1911: 205–17).

latter work contains no information on the prevalence and history of the language described in it.⁴³

Relying on schemas based on the tradition established by Josef Dobrovský and citing, in particular, his colleague, the distinguished Russian linguist Izmail Sreznevskij, in his *Treatise* Holovac'kyj divides the Slavic languages into two "halves" comprising four categories. According to this schema, the Ukrainian ("South Russian") region occupies an extraordinarily important place:

- "A. The East Slavic or Russian Half
 - I. Category: South Russian or Southeastern
 - 1. The South Russian language, with two main dialects (variants): Ukrainian or Little Russian, and Red Rus' [language]
 - II. The North Russian or Northeastern Category
 - 2. The Great Russian language, with four dialects: High Russian, Low Russian, Middle Russian, and Muscovite
 - 3. The Belarusian or Lithuano-Ruthenian language
- B. The West Slavic Half
 - III. Category: Southwestern or Trans-Danubian
 - 4. The Church Slavonic language, or known before all (mostly) as Slavonic (Slavic)
 - 5. The Bulgarian language, with several dialects
 - 6. The Serbian language, with several dialects
 - 7. The Croatian language
 - 8. Carinthian or Wendish, called Carniolan, with two dialects
 - IV. Category: Northwestern
 - 9. The Polish language, with several dialects, to which the Pomeranian language belonged
 - 10. The Lusatian language, or Serbian, also called Sorbian and Wendish, with two dialects: Upper Lusatian and Lower Lusatian; the former is closer to Czech, the latter to Polish
 - 11. The Czech language, which includes the Moravian dialect
 - 12. Slovak" (Holovac'kyj 1849: 12).44

⁴³ As Myxajlo Voznjak notes, the grammar was based on Holovac'kyj's university lectures given in 1849 (Voznjak 1911: 217).

^{44 &}quot;А. Восточно-словенская або руская половина. І. Розрядь: Южнорускій або юговосточный. 1. Языкъ южнорускій съ двома головными нарѣчіями (видоизмѣненіями) Украинскимъ або Малорускимъ и Червонорускимъ. П. Розрядъ Сѣвернорускій або сѣверно-восточный. 2. Языкъ великорускій съ чотырьма нарѣчіями: верхнерускимъ, нижнерускимъ, середнерускимъ и Московскимъ. 3. Языкъ бѣлорускій або литовскорускій. Б. Западно-словенская половина. ПІ. Розрядъ: Юго-западный або задунайскій. 4. Языкъ церковно-словенский, або такъ передъ усѣма (преимущественно) названый Словенскій (Славянскій). 5. Языкъ болгарскій съ килькома ро̂знорѣчіями. 6. Языкъ сербскій съ килькома нарѣчіями. 7. Языкъ хорватскій. 8. Корутанскій або виндскій, зовемый краинскій съ двома нарѣчіями. И. Розрядъ: Сѣверозападный. 9. Языкъ польскій съ килькома нарѣчіями, до котрыхъ належавъ и языкъ Поморянъ. 10. Языкъ лужицкий або сырбскій, зовемый такожъ сорабскимъ и вендскимъ съ двома наречіями: верхнелужицкимъ и нижнелужицкимъ; перше близше ческому, друге польскому. 11. Языкъ ческій до котрого належитъ и моравскій яко нарѣчіе. 12. Словацкій."

Although Holovac'kyj's schema requires more extensive commentary, I shall limit myself here to reviewing only the most important points.

1. The East Slavic languages (the "East Slavic" or "Russian" half) make up half of this description, including two of its four categories: (I. The South Russian language, with two main dialects; II. The North Russian or Northeastern category); the second half is comprised of all the West and South Slavic languages (Southwestern or Trans-Danubian; Northwestern). The importance of the group that Holovac'kyj called the "East Slavic or Russian half" is quite considerable, as it also pertains to the Ukrainian language, called the South Russian language, which is assigned first place in this schema.

2. The Belarusian language is clearly distinguished in this classification from the "South Russian category." On the contrary, the "Belarusian language, or Lithuano-Ruthenian," is part of the "Northern" or "Northwestern category," along with the Russian language (see also the author's interesting remarks on the Russian dialects). Here and there, Holovac'kyj explicitly objects to the fact that "some writers erroneously assign [the Belarusian language] to the South Russian [category]," citing Josyf Lozyns'kyj (Holovac'kyj 1849: 54).⁴⁵

3. According to Holovac'kyj, the "South Russian language" ("Языкъ южнорускій") has "two main dialects (variants), Ukrainian or Little Russian, and Red Rus'."⁴⁶ In the *Treatise*, however, the terms "Ukrainian language" ("языкъ украинскій") and "Little Russian language" ("языкъ малорускій") signify not only variants of the "South Russian language" ("языка южноруского") but also the "South Russian language" in general.

About its prevalence, Holovac'kyj writes as follows:

The South Russian, Little Russian language (or, as they say in our parts, "Ruthenian") extends along both sides of the Carpathians, through all of southern Russia on both sides of the Dnipro; from the Ondava and Poprad [Rivers] in Hungary and the Wieprz River in Poland to the middle Don, even as far as the Kuban near the Caucasus, from the mouth of the Dnister and the Dnipro, from the Black Sea all the way to the Prypiat and not far from the sources of the Desna, Seim, and Donets.... In Russia, the area of the Little Russian language encompasses the Volhynia, Kyiv, Chernihiv, Poltava [sic], and Kharkiv gubernias, approximately one-quarter of the Voronezh, Katerynoslav, Kherson, and Tavriia gubernias, and the land of the Black Sea Cossacks, Podilia, and part of Bessarabia; in the Kingdom of Poland, it encompasses part of the Podlachia and Lublin gubernias; in the Principality of Galicia and Lodomeria, the districts of Peremyshl, Lviv, Zhovkva, Zolochiv, Ternopil, Berezhany, Sambir, Sanok [sic], Stryi, Stanyslaviv, Kolomyia, Chortkiv, and part of Rzeszów, Jasło, Nowy Sącz, and Chernivtsi, or Bukovyna; in the Kingdom of Hungary, the districts of Bereg, Ungvár, Ugocsa, and Máramaros, as well as most of Zemplén and a lesser part of Sáros, not to mention settlements scattered throughout

^{45 &}quot;[...] декотри̂ писателѣ до южноруского хибно причисляють."

^{46 &}quot;[...] съ двома головными наръчіями (видоизмъненіями) Украинскимъ або Малорускимъ и Червонорускимъ."

other districts. Beyond that border, the Little Russian language can be heard throughout Hungary in scattered villages of Rusyns located in districts before and beyond the Tysa (two villages: Kucur and Kerestur as far as Bačka, and one [village of] Šid as far as the Srem district beyond the Danube), in Moldavia, Wallachia, Bessarabia, and Tavriia (Holovac'kyj 1849: 14, 17–18).⁴⁷

It turns out that Jakiv Holovac'kyj knew the geographic extent of the Ukrainian language better than Josyf Lozyns'kyj. From his description, one learns not only of the existence of Ukrainians in the Kuban and Voronezh regions but also about the Ruthenians/Ukrainians beyond the Tysa and Danube Rivers.

The boundaries of the "Little Russian" language are also described in rather thorough detail:

In the east, the Little Russian language is adjacent to the Great Russian along the boundary of her river all the way to Khotsimsk on the Beseda River; in the west and north, to the Belarusian language along the boundary from the Liumonov as far as the junction of the Priseka with the Buh in the Białystok district; in the west, to the Polish language along the boundary from the Buh to Szlatowa and Północna, then to the Hungaro-Slovak language as far as the junction of the Trnava with the Ondava; in the south, to the Hungarian language along the boundary from the Ondava as far as Holm (Kholm), and to the Wallachian language as far as the Dnister estuary into the sea, then to Turkish, German and Greek settlements, and finally to Circassian settlements in the Kuban and Turkish settlements from the Kuban as far as the Eia River (Holovac'kyj 1849: 18).⁴⁸

⁴⁷ "Языкъ южнорускій, малорускій (або якъ у насъ кажутъ "рускій") розширяєся по обохъ убочахъ Карпатовъ, по цълой южной Россіи зъ обохъ сторонъ Днъпра; отъ Ондавы и Попрада въ Уграхъ а Вепря ръки въ Польщъ по середій Донъ, ба ажь по Кубань подъ Кавказомъ, отъ устья Днѣстра и Днѣпра, отъ Чорного Моря ажъ по Припеть та не далеко къ жереламъ Десны, Семи и Донця. ... Область Малоруского языка займає въ собѣ, въ Россіи: губерніи Волынскую, Кієвскую, Чернѣго̂вскую, По̂втавскую [sic], Харько̂вскую, около четвертины Воронъжскои, Єкатеринославскую, Херсонскую, Таврическую и землю Чорноморскихъ Козаковъ, Подольскую и часть Бесарабіи; въ царствъ польскомъ часть губ. Подляскои и Люблинскои; въ Королъвствъ Галицко-Володимірско̂мъ, округи: Перемышльскій, Льво̂вскій, Жовковскій, Золочевскій, Тернопольскій, Бережанскій, Самборскій, Сяноцкій [sic], Стрыйскій, Станиславскій, Коломыйскій, Чортковскій, и части Решовского, Ясѣльского, Новосяндечского и Черновецкого або Буковины; въ королевствъ Угорско̂мъ: столицъ Бережскую, Угварскую, Угочскую, и Мармарошскую въ большой части и Земненскую и Шаришскую въ меншой части, не упоминаючи уже о селеніяхъ по другихъ столицяхъ розметаныхъ. За тою границею Малорускій языкъ чути можна по Угорщинѣ въ розкиданыхъ селахъ Русиновъ, въ столицяхъ передъ и за Тисо [sic] знаходящихся (два села: Куцура и Керестура ажъ въ Бачьской, а одна Шидъ ажъ въ Сремско̀й столицъ за Дунаємъ), въ Молдавіи, Волощинъ, Бесарабіи и Тавріи."

^{48 &}quot;Малорускій языкъ стыкаєся на востоцѣ исъ великорускимъ по чертѣ о̂тъ рѣки єѣ ажъ до Хотымска на Беседѣ; на западѣ и сѣверѣ съ бѣлорускимъ по чертѣ о̂тъ Люмонова ажъ до устья рѣки Присѣки въ Бутъ въ области Бѣлостоцъко̂й; на западѣ съ польскимъ по чертѣ о̂тъ Бута до Шлятовы и Пивничнои, пото̂мъ съ угорско-словацкимъ ажъ до устья Тернавы въ Ондаву; на юзѣ съ мовою мадярскою по чертѣ о̂тъ Ондавы ажъ до Голма (Холма), пакъ съ волосъкимъ языкомъ ажъ до устья Днѣстра въ море, пото̂мъ съ турецкимъ, та нѣмецкими и грецкими поселеніями, наконецъ съ черкескимъ на Кубани и турецкимъ о̂тъ Кубани ажъ до Єѣ)."

Holovac'kyj emphasizes:

The people inhabiting southern Rus', Galicia, and the northeastern corner of the Kingdom of Hungary within the boundaries described above speak one and the same language, which they and their neighbors call Ukrainian, Little Russian (South Russian), or Ruthenian (Holovac'kyj 1849: 27–28).⁴⁹

His description speaks definitely and unequivocally of a people who can be identified as Ukrainians in the present-day sense and of the Ukrainian language, which is occasionally mentioned by its present-day name.⁵⁰

3. On the history of the language and the linguistic community

3.1. Apart from references to Cyril and Methodius (Mohyl'nyc'kyj 1910: 94), Ivan Mohyl'nyc'kyj's historical description seems to begin with the tenth century. Yet Volodymyr the Great is mentioned only in passing, and the author focuses mainly on the disintegration of Kyivan Rus':

Founded by Volodymyr the G[reat], the Rus' monarchy, whose capital was the city of *Kyiv*, disintegrated because of the constant disunity and discord of the Rus' princes into two most eminent parts, that is, the *northern* and *southern* parts, the northern *Great Rus'* (*Russia*) part, the southern *Little Russia* (Russia minor) part, as it was called.... A substantial part of *Little Russia*, also known by the name of *Red Rus'* (Russia rubra), remained under the rule of the Rus' princes,

^{49 &}quot;Народъ заселяющій южну Русь, Галичину и съверо-восточный закутокъ угорского королъвства въ вышеописаныхъ границяхъ, говоритъ однымъ и тымже языкомъ, котрый называєся у себе и у сусъдовъ Украинскимъ, Малорускимъ (южнорускимъ) або таки Рускимъ (Руськимъ)."

⁵⁰ It is interesting to see how Holovac'kyj connects the geographic aspects of this language with praise for it: "Simply by virtue of the geographic location of the people, the Little Russian (South Russian) language occupies the middle position among the northern, southern, and western Slavs; in linguistic features as well, it holds the middle position among them. In pleophony, it corresponds to the Great Russian and Belarusian languages; the median bl, and λ , and β inst[ead] of λ is reminiscent of southern Slavdom; c(h) inst[ead] of g and b = i puts it closer to Czechoslovak. The South Russian language is mellifluous, full, dignified, strong, and free. I think it occupies the happy middle ground between hardness and excessive softness among northern, southern, and western Slavdom...it is not partial to narrow vowels, like Great Russian, but to broad ones (except for the Galician dialect). There are seven vowels (a, e, i (ô), μ (μ), o, y, μ , (i), of which five are refined (μ , ϵ , μ (μ), io (ϵ), io). Its distinctiveness among all the Slavic languages is the transitional character of the sound i, which passes from a flat (coarse) ы all the way to a very soft 🕏 after various changes." ["Малорускій (южнорускій) языкъ уже по землеписному положѣнью народа займає середину меже съверными, южными тай западными Словенами: и по языкословныхъ примътахъ держитъ онъ середину меже ними. Повноголосностію сходится исъ великорускимъ и бълорускимъ; посередне b_i , и λ_i та β зам. λ_i пригадує южну Словенщину; c(h) зам. g_i и b = i закидає на ческословенске. Языкъ южнорускій є краснозвученъ, новный [sic], поважный, сильный, свободный. Онъ, думаю, держитъ тоту щасливу середину меже твердостію и злишною мягкостію, меже съверомъ, югомъ и западомъ Словенщины ... онъ не любує собъ въ вузкихъ самогласныхъ якъ великорускій але въ широкихъ (опрочь галицкого наръчія). Самогласныхъ є сѣмь (a, e, i (ô), и (ы), о, у, ѣ, (i), изъ сихъ пять изъощряєтся (я, є, ѣ (ji), io (є), ю). Особливостью его меже всѣма языками словенскими є поступенно̂сть звука і, котрый переходить о̂ть глухого (грубого) ы ажъ до мягесенького & по ро̂зныхъ перемѣнахъ"] (Holovac'kyj 1849: 30–31).

whose capital was the town of *Halych*. The present-day principality of *Galicia* takes its name from that town (Mohyl'nyc'kyj 1910: 8).⁵¹

Mohyl'nyc'kyj, who actually equates Little Russia with Red Rus' ("Маларусь, властивѣ Червона Русь") (ibid., 9), emphasizes that Danylo Romanovych bore "the name of the Galician king" (ibid.) but adds that "the Grand Principality (*Kingdom*) of Galicia and part of the Podilian land, which fell by destiny to the Kingdom of Poland, did not comprise all of *southern Rus*'" (ibid.).⁵² He places even greater stress on the subject noted in the heading of this chapter: "The Rus' people comprised a substantial part of the former Kingdom of Poland" (ibid., 7).⁵³

Mohyl'nyc'kyj then names the lands that, "later known under the names of *Ukraine, Podilia*, and *Volhynia*, as well as *White* and *Black Rus'*, conquered by the Lithuanians along with *Kyiv*, were annexed to the Kingdom of Poland along with Lithuania" (ibid.),⁵⁴ in order to express loyalty to the Austrian monarch at the conclusion of this description:

Through God we owe the liberation from those calamities to the rule of the *Austrian Monarchs!* For that liberation and the unceasing paternal solicitude for the welfare of the Ruthenian people, from generation to generation we show and will continue to show unwavering gratitude and loyalty to the *Austrian Emperor* felicitously ruling over us and to his most illustrious *House* (Mohyl'nyc'kyj 1910: 25).⁵⁵

When Mohyl'nyc'kyj writes that the "[s]eparate and independent Ruthenian language (dialect) was always distinct from other dialects, to wit, Slavic, Polish, Russian (previously Muscovite)" (ibid.),⁵⁶ it might be suspected that he is speaking as a genuine "primordialist," but that is by no means the case, for he adds the following:

^{51 &}quot;Заложена Володимиромъ В. монархія Руска, которои столицею было мѣсто Кіевъ, чрезъ неустанный дѣлъ и незгоду княжатъ рускихъ роспалася на двѣ знакомитшіе части, то есть; на часть полуночну (сѣверну) и полудневу, часть полуночна Русь (Россія) Велика, часть полудешна Мала Русь (Russia minor) звана была. ... Знакомита часть Малои Руси, также подъ именемъ: Червонои (Краснои) Руси (Russia rubra) звана, осталася подъ панованемъ княжать рускихъ, которыхъ столиця была мѣсто Галичъ. Отъ того мѣста нинѣшное королевство Галиціи имя веде."

^{52 &}quot;[...] имя короля Галицкого носилъ [...] припалое реченымъ способомъ до короны полскои Великое Княжество (*Королевство*) Галицкое и часть землѣ подолскои не цѣлу *Русь полудневу* складало."

^{53 &}quot;Рускій народъ складалъ знакомиту часть бывшого Королевства Полского."

^{54 &}quot;позднѣйше подъ назвискомъ: Украины, Подоля и Волиня, также Бѣлои и Чорнои Руси знаные, вразъ съ *Кіевомъ* чрезъ литовцовъ завоеваные, съ Литвою до Короны полскои вошли."

^{55 &}quot;Освобождене то и непрестанное отеческое старане о благосостояніи народа руского серца нашіе отъ рода и въ родъ непорушеновъ вдячностію и върностію ку пануючому намъ щасливе Императору Австрійскому и преславному Домови его займуе и займовати буде."

^{56 &}quot;Отдѣлный и самостоячій языкъ (діалектъ) рускій все бывалъ от инныхъ діалектовъ а меновите славенского, полского, россійского (московского давнѣйше) различаный."

In the eleventh, twelfth, and thirteenth centuries, all the ancient Slavic dialects, that is, those spoken and written by the peoples now called *Russians, Ruthenians, Czechs, Moravians, Poles, Serbs, Bulgarians*, and *Carniolans*, were not identical but more similar to one another than they are today. The more closely we approach antiquity, the lesser the difference and the greater the similarity we observe among the dialects of those peoples (Mohyl'nyc'kyj 1910: 37).⁵⁷

In this context, Mohyl'nyc'kyj cites the Russian writer and historian Nikolaj Karamzin, whom he also regards as a distinguished authority on linguistic questions. But he resolutely polemicizes against a view that was prevalent in this period (and, to some extent, even nowadays), according to which the Ruthenian language is a mixture of Polish and Russian:

Some *Polish, Russian*, and *Czech* writers assure us that the *Ruthenian* language (present-day and bookish) allegedly owes its current status and linguistic form to Polish and the influence of the Polish language and literature on the Ruthenian language and literature, or, in other words: the Ruthenian language is a mixture of a Polish dialect and some kind of (God knows) simple, barbarous dialect, a Ruthenian dialect that is not used anywhere today.... At the time, the Ruthenian dialect existed *alongside* Polish. Having said that, I do not deny by any means that at that time and subsequently the Ruthenian language, just like other languages, was to be formed and perfected (Mohyl'nyc'kyj 1910: 48–49).⁵⁸

The grammarian from Peremyshl, who focused his attention only on the level of lexical stock, indicates that words common to Poles and Ruthenians often exist in other Slavic languages as well (ibid., 51). Noting that other European languages can hardly be called "pure," he cites in passing foreign borrowings from Karamzin's *History of the Russian State* ("Исторія государства Россыйского," as Mohyl'nyc'kyj calls it)—words that "are by no means used in ancient Slavic scripts and are proper only to Ruthenian or Polish dialects" (ibid.).⁵⁹ Finally, although some of Mohyl'nyc'kyj's arguments are less than convincing, his conclusions are entirely correct:

In the close union in which the Polish nation abided for 400 years with the Ruthenian nation, the Ruthenians adopt certain Polish words from the Poles

^{57 &}quot;Всѣ давные діалекты славенскіе, то єсть которыми народы, теперь назвиска: Россіанъ, Русиновъ, Чеховъ, Моравцовъ Поляковъ [sic, without a comma], Сербовъ, Булгаръ, Краинцовъ носячіе, въ XI. XII. XIII. столѣтіи мовили и писали, не ровнѣ бол'ше, нежели теперъ, собѣ подобные были. Имъ вышшеся къ старожитности посунемо, тымъ менше разницѣ а бол'ше подобенства межи діалектами тыхъ народовъ постережемо."

^{58 &}quot;Нѣкоторые писатели полскіе, россійскіе, ческіе увѣряютъ насъ, якобы мова руска (поточна и книжна) нынѣшное свое состояніе и форму мовѣ пол'ской и впливовы словесности полскои на словесность руску винна, або, що то само значить: мова руска естъ мѣшаниною діалекта полского съ яковымсь (Богъ знае) діалектомъ простымъ, варварскимъ, теперъ уже нигде неуживанымъ діалектомъ рускимъ ... Языкъ теды рускій обокъ пол'ского существовалъ. Тое мовячи, никусъ не перечу, абыся тогды и потому языкъ рускій такъ, якъ инные языки, не мѣлъ формовати и досконалити."

^{59 &}quot;цѣлкомъ въ давныхъ славенскихъ писмахъ не уживан[ыи] и рускому або полскому тылко діалектови властив[ыи]".

living among them, and the Ruthenian language became enriched. But the Poles, too, through associations and diverse alliances with the Ruthenians, could enrich their language with Ruthenian words, and the Polish language was perfected... (Mohyl'nyc'kyj 1910: 54).⁶⁰

This description does not actually contain any information about the linguistic history of Kyivan Rus', but with regard to later periods Mohyl'nyc'kyj stresses that the "Ruthenian language existed in the Ruthenian lands subordinate to the Kingdom of Poland, not only as the common spoken language of the people but also as the language of government, and as the court language at the court of the Lithuanian grand dukes and distinguished Ruthenian families" (ibid., 14).⁶¹

In particular, Mohyl'nyc'kyj notes the "Statute of the Grand Duchy of Lithuania, originally written *in Ruthenian*" (ibid.), and points out that "trials in the Ruthenian lands were held in the Ruthenian language" (ibid., 16).⁶² He writes that the reader of a "history of the fatherland" ("отечественной исторіи")⁶³ might find "ample [sources] in public *book repositories, offices, and private homes*" (ibid., 20).⁶⁴ As concerns the decline of the Ruthenian language, the scholar identifies the following causes:

The fate of the Ruthenian language under Polish rule, until the collapse of the Kingdom of Poland itself, was indivisible from the fate of the Ruthenian people. The events that the Ruthenian people experienced from the times of Sigismund III also had an impact on the folk language. It reached the point where *highborn Ruthenians* began to *deny* their own tribe and *be ashamed* of their fathers' language" (ibid., 24).⁶⁵

According to Mohyl'nyc'kyj, the decline of the Ruthenian language paralleled the decline of Poland.

On the one hand, the grammarian devotes an entire chapter to the proposition that "the Polish language owes its current purity, abundance, and linguistic structure to the Ruthenian language" (ibid., 54), while on the other he emphasizes that "in truth, the *Little Russian* dialect greatly fostered the growth, richness, and

^{60 &}quot;Въ стисломъ овомъ союзъ, въ яковомъ народъ полскій черезъ 400 лътъ съ народомъ рускимъ зоставалъ, могли пріймати русины отъ осъдаючихъ межи ними поляковъ нікоторые слова полскіе и богатилася мова руска. Но могли также поляки чрезъ переставаня и розмаитыи соузы съ русинами свой языкъ богатити словами рускими и досконалилася мова полска [...]."

^{61 &}quot;[...] языкъ рускій бывалъ въ земляхъ рускихъ, Коронѣ полской подлеглыхъ, не тылко просторѣчіемъ народа, но также языкомъ правленія, а на дворѣ великихъ Княжатъ Литовскихъ и знакомитыхъ фамилій рускихъ языкомъ дворскимъ."

^{62 &}quot;Статутъ Вел(икого) Княжества Литовского, оригиналнъ *по руски* написаный [...]. Суды въ земляхъ рускихъ языкомъ рускимъ отбывалися."

⁶³ Mohyl'nyc'kyj may have borrowed this expression from Karamzin's Istoriia gosudarstva Rossiiskogo. He also writes quite frequently about "national history" (народна історія) (Mohyl'nyc'kyj 1910: 23).

^{64 &}quot;[джерел] подостаткомъ въ публичныхъ книгохранилищахъ, канцелларіяхъ и домахъ приватныхъ."

^{65 &}quot;Доля языка руского подъ панованемъ полскимъ ажъ до упадку Королевства Полского нераздълна была от долъ народа руского. — Пригоды, яковыхъ народъ рускій отъ часовъ Зигмонта III досвъдчалъ, и на языкъ народный впливали. Пришло было до того, же родовитые Русины власного племене запиратися и мовы отцей своихъ встыдатися почали."

beauty of the *Russian* language" (ibid., 63).⁶⁶ With regard to the Russian language, he adds that

Some contemporary Russian writers, imitating foreign ways, particularly French ones, have begun to corrupt the *Russian* language, rich, expressive, and suited to all branches of scholarship, whose power and perfection we admire to this day in *Lomonosov's* writings⁴⁷ (ibid., 63).⁶⁸

Ivan Mohyl'nyc'kyj was already acquainted with early achievements in the creation of a new Ukrainian written language in the Russian Empire: among the texts that were said to demonstrate the continuity of the Ruthenian language since the days of the Lithuanian Statute, from Pamva Berynda's *Slavic-Ruthenian Lexicon* (Аексиконъ славеноросскій) and the Pochaiv *Bohohlasnyk* of 1790 to Mohyl'nyc'kyj's own times, he mentions the 1808 edition of Ivan Kotljarevs'kyj's *Eneïda* and the 1818 edition of Oleksij Pavlovs'kyj's grammar (ibid., 44). Unfortunately, there are no comments about them in Mohyl'nyc'kyj's work, with the exception of some critical remarks about Pavlovs'kyj's orthography.

3.2. In his grammar, Josyf Levyc'kyj asserts that from the eleventh to the fifteenth century, the "literature" of the "Ruthenian nation (or tribe)" was identical to that of the Russians (Levyc'kyj 1834: x).⁶⁹ He adds, however, that "both tribes used the so-called church language" (ibid.),⁷⁰ and among the exemplars of that particular "church language" he names "Nestor's chronicle" ("Chronik von Nester, einem Basilianer-Mönche russinischen Stammes") (ibid., xi), along with the Ostroh Bible of 1581 (ibid.) [!]. Levyc'kyj calls Volodymyr the Great the ancestor of the Ruthenians (ibid., i) and later mentions the Principality of Galicia-Volhynia⁷¹ and the beginning of the Polish-Latin age (ibid., ii) but says not a word about other regions of Kyivan Rus'. The issue of linguistic continuity remains blurred, especially as Levyc'kyj sees no trace of a "non-ecclesiastical" linguistic stratum during the Middle Ages. In raising this question, Levyc'kyj goes only as far as the early modern period, beginning with

^{66 &}quot;Мова полска свою нынѣшную чистость, обфитость и складъ мовѣ руской винна [...] вправдѣ причинялся діалекть малороссійскій купа до возрасту, богацтва и красоть діалекта россійского."

⁶⁷ Mohyl'nyc'kyj was familiar with the 1813 edition of Aleksandr Šiškov's *Opinion regarding the Old and New Style of the Russian Language* (Разсужденіе о старомъ и новомъ слогъ *pocciüскаго языка;* St. Petersburg, 1803). In the debate between Šiškov and Karamzin he inclines toward the views of the conservative admiral from St. Petersburg.

^{68 &}quot;[...] богатый, добитный, до всѣхъ отраслей наукъ способный языкъ россійскій, которого силѣ и досконалости до днесь дивимося (! дивуемося [this notation was clearly added by Myxajlo Voznjak]) въ писмахъ Ломоносовыхъ нѣкоторые нынѣшные писатели россійскіе наслѣдованемъ чужоземщины, меновитѣ зась францущизны, псути почали."

^{69 &}quot;[...] die Literatur dieser Nazion (oder dieses Stammes) war ... mit der Literatur der Hochrussen, die nähmliche."

^{70 &}quot;Beyde Stämme bedienten sich in der Schrift der sogenannten Kirchensprache."

⁷¹ On "Kyivan Rus' in the works of the western Ukrainian Romantics," see Naxlik 2000.

Francysk Skaryna, as though writers in the sixteenth century had grasped that the "scholarly bookish language" could not be introduced to the "common people" and therefore began to adapt it to the "folk dialect" of their own regions. It was only then, claims Levyc'kyj, that "literature"—apparently "Ruthenian literature" as the common literature of the Ruthenians and the Russians—was "divided": "But when the scholars of those centuries proved unable to introduce the scholarly bookish language to the people in spite of all their endeavors, various writers began to draw closer to the folk dialect of those regions in which they wrote. The basis for the division of literature was thus laid" (ibid., xii).⁷²

Levyc'kyj switches from writing about "literature" to language per se only in discussing the second half of the seventeenth century.⁷³ But there he also asserts that the one and only "Ruthenian dialect" ("der Russinische Dialekt"), which also encompassed "Lithuania," was renowned for its use in the highest strata of society earlier than the seventeenth century: "Until the seventeenth century, the Ruthenian dialect was the language of all the nobles and most eminent houses in Lithuania, Volhynia, Podilia, Ukraine, and Galicia; subsequently, all court proceedings were held and all privileges for the above-mentioned lands granted in this dialect"⁷⁷⁴ (ibid., x).⁷⁵

Further in his grammar, Levyc'kyj writes about sixteenth-century Ruthenian works, and, as compared with Mohyl'nyc'kyj, his rather considerable grasp of eighteenth-century Ruthenian sources is striking. Unlike Mohyl'nyc'kyj, Levyc'kyj cites several collections of Ukrainian folk songs (ibid., xix). He also cites Ivan Kotljarevs'kyj's *Eneïda* as one of his Ruthenian-language sources but offers no comment on it. Clearly, Levyc'kyj was not very impressed by the work, although his short reader (twenty selections), which begins with two charters of Lev Danylovyč, the ruler of the Principality of Galicia-Volhynia (1292 and 1302), includes brief excerpts from *Eneïda*.

3.3. Ivan Vahylevyč's grammar contains no information on the history of the Ruthenian language and its speakers, but in the introduction he mentions a text titled "Treatise" ("Rozprawa"), which, as he claims, he began writing in 1841 and had nearly completed (Vahylevyč 1845: i). The work was never finished, and it refers to events that took place after 1848 (cf. Svjencic'kyj 1866: 164). Myxajlo

^{72 &}quot;Als aber die Gelehrten jener Jahrhunderte unter dem Volke die gelehrte Büchersprache, ungeachtet aller Bemühungen nicht einführen konnten, fingen verschiedene Schriftsteller sich mehr dem Volksdialekte jener Gegend zu nähern an, in welcher sie schrieben. Hiermit wurde der Grund zur Theilung der Litteratur gelegt."

⁷³ Unfortunately, the author provides no information on the early part of this period.

⁷⁴ As is generally known, this is not entirely correct where Galicia is concerned.

^{75 &}quot;Bis zum 17. Jahrhunderte war der Russinische Dialekt, Sprache aller Fürsten und vornehmsten Häuser in Lithauen, Wolhynien, Podolien, Ukraina und Galizien; dann wurden in diesem Dialekte alle Gerichtsbarkeiten abgehalten, und für genannte russinische Länder alle Privilegien ertheilt."

Voznjak cites the contents of this text, which also contains a chapter titled "Southern Rus'" ("Południowa Ruś") (Voznjak 1911: 147).⁷⁶ Vahylevyč eventually refers to this chapter, calling it a "chronicle of southern Rus'"⁷⁷ (ibid., 148). Vahylevyč's idealization, in the spirit of the times, of the medieval past of Ruthenian-speaking culture is manifested in his works in *The Dnister Nymph*, his Polish-language translation of the "Tale of Ihor's Campaign" (Слово о полку Игоревѣ), and other works. In his "Treatise," Vahylevyč emphasizes the singular role of medieval "Southern Rus'" as compared with "Northern Rus'" (see Brock 1996: 400–401). However, the grammar contains sentences with significant historical content,⁷⁸ such as the following:

Volodymyr the Great transformed expansive Rus'.... St. Volodymyr expanded, enlightened, enriched, and glorified Rus'.... The immortal Volodymyr and Jaroslav.... our Kyiv and Halych were destroyed by Batu... Lviv was founded...by Danylo Romanovyč.... The Galician castle, an ancient, majestic edifice, collapsed... Bohdan, Konaševyč, and Xmel'nyc'kyj were famous commanders.... Xmel'nyc'kyj was courageous.... There are many beautiful verses in the tragedy *Pereiaslav Night*.... Maria Theresa was wise.... Joseph II gave the Galician Ruthenians a new life.... Part of Little Russia belongs to the Hungarians... The Principality of Galicia belongs to the Austrians⁷⁹ (Vahylevyč 1845: 135–38, 143, 155; the order of these extracts differs from that of the original).⁸⁰

Clearly, Vahylevyč's historical conception encompassed Kyivan Rus' as well as the Principality of Galicia-Volhynia and the Cossack period, as well as Austrian times. Particularly noteworthy are the words "our [!] Kyiv and Halych" ("нашь Кїевъ и Галичь"). Vahylevyč emphasizes that "now there is no south Russian upper class; it belongs to the Polish or the Russian people"⁸¹ (Voznjak 1911: 148)⁸² and

⁷⁶ On the Treatise, see Svjencic'kyj 1866; Voznjak 1936; Dzendzelivs'kyj 2000; cf. Brock 1996: 412.

^{77 &}quot;Uprzednio podałem kronikę południowej Rusi."

⁷⁸ This is correctly noted by Hryhorij Dem'ian (Dem'ian 1996: 53), who offers a somewhat different selection of examples in contemporary Ukrainian translation.

^{79 &}quot;Володимиръ великій преобразовалъ обширную Русь ... Володимиръ сватый роспространилъ, просвътилъ, обогатилъ и возвеличилъ Русь ... Безсмертные Володимиръ и Мрославъ ... нашъ Кіевъ и Галичъ были разбиты Батіемъ ... Львовъ заложеный ... Даниломъ Романовичемъ ... замокъ галицкій, стара велична будовля народнои славы, розвалилса ... Богданъ, Конашевичъ і Хмельницкій были славны началники ... Хмельницкій хоробрый ... Въ трагедіи Переаславскаа ночъ много прекрасныхъ стиховъ ... Марїа Тересїа была мудра ... Іосифъ вторый далъ галицкимъ Русинамъ новое бытіе ... часть малой Руси приналежитъ къ Оуграмъ ... кнажество галицкое приналежитъ Ракузамъ."

⁸⁰ Cf. also "Peter was great" (Петрь быль великъ) (Vahylevyč 1845: 138).

^{81 &}quot;[...] teraz niemasz południowo-ruskiej wyższej klasy; należy ona do narodu polskiego lub ruskiego."

⁸² However, it is interesting to note what Vahylevyč did with the examples from his original model, the grammar written by Nikolaj Greč: "The author replaced Tsarina Catherine with Empress Maria Theresa, Tsar Peter the Great with Prince Volodymyr, the military commanders Rumjancev, Suvorov, and Kotuzov [sic] with Ukrainian figures in the sentence 'Bohdan, Koneševil' [Konaševyč], and Xmel'nyc'kyj were glorious military leaders,' Great Russian cities with Ukrainian ones or, at the very least, with Austrian ones, but not always consistently and aptly." ["Царицю Катерину замінив автор цїсаревою Марією

criticizes Russophile linguistic usage, particularly in the milieu of the Galician-Ruthenian Matycja, the then increasingly Russophile literary and educational society (Svjencic'kyj 1866: 164).

3.4. Compared to his predecessors, Josyf Lozyns'kyj also provides exhaustive information about the past of the Ruthenian-speaking community. Although his history of the Ruthenians reaches back to the age of the East Slavic tribes, his catalogue encompasses only those tribes that lived on Ukrainian territories. It excludes the Viatichians and Ilmen Slavs as well as the "Belarusian" Polochane and Krivichians:

Our ancestors, under diverse names, such as Polianians (from the fields of the Kyiv gubernia), Radimichians, Derevlianians (from the forests of Volhynia), Dulibians, Buzhanians (from the Buh River), Lutichians and Tivertsians (on the Dnister), the White Croats (near the Carpathians in Galicia), the Siverians, etc., inhabited the above-mentioned lands (Lozyns'kyj 1846: viii).⁸³

Lozyns'kyj then provides a narrative of medieval history, emphasizing "Red Rus', the southeastern part of Rus' under the name of the Principality of *Halych*, so called after *Halych*"⁸⁴ (ibid., viii–ix).⁸⁵ With regard to the history of the Polish-Lithuanian Commonwealth (*Rzeczpospolita*), Lozyns'kyj concentrates notably on ecclesiastical aspects, and in connection with the linguistic history of the early medieval period he mentions the Lithuanian Statute of 1588 (ibid., xiv). The scholar places significantly more emphasis on the linguistic consequences of the Union:

Concerning that period, much has been written for and against the Union. The result of the various oppressions was the conversion of many Ruthenians to the Latin rite and the abandonment of their ancestral language; the Polish language became widespread, and the Ruthenian language was exiled to the thatched roofs of the common folk, the petty nobility, and the Greek-rite clergy. Those oppressions also helped increase the ranks of the Cossacks in Ukraine, who were already well known around the year 1516. Their origins go back to the

Тересою, царя Петра Великого князем Володимиром, полководцёв Румянцева, Суворова й Котузова [sic] українськими особами в реченню: Богдань, Конешевиль и Хмельницкій были славны началники, великоруські міста українськими або що найменше австрійськими, та не всюди консеквентно й щасливо."] (Voznjak 1911: 167).

^{83 &}quot;Przodkowie nasi pod rozmaitemi nazwami jako to: Polanów (od pól w Gub. Kijows.), Radymiczów, Drewlanów (od lasów na Wołyniu), Dulibów, Bużanów (od rzéki Bug), Lutyczów i Tywirców (nad Dniestrem), bjałych Chorwatów (w bliskości Karpatów w Galicyi), Siewierzanów i t.d. wspomnione kraje zamieszkiwali."

⁸⁴ However, Lozyns'kyj also frequently refers to Karamzin's History of the Russian State (see, e.g., Lozyns'kyj 1846: xiii).

^{85 &}quot;Czerwona Ruś, południowo-wschodnia część Rusia pod imieniem Księztwa Halickiego tak nazwana od Halicza."

thirteenth century. In the year 1627, the first Slavic dictionary appeared in Kyiv (Lozyns'kyj 1846: xv-xvi).⁸⁶

Lozyns'kyj mentions Bohdan Xmel'nyc'kyj's wars and states that in 1656 Tsar Aleksej Mixajlovič was already being titled "Autocrat of all Great and White Russia" ("всеѣ великїѧ и бѣлиѧ [sic] Росиї [sic] Самодержецъ"). He adds that "here we already have the division of Rus' into Great, Little, and White Rus'" (ibid., xvi).⁸⁷ At one point, the scholar mentions the Battle of Poltava and the abolition of the Hetmanate in 1784, and, further on, the partitions of Poland.

It is worth noting that Lozyns'kyj also discusses the Transcarpathian Ruthenians, and his information tallies with some historical myths about contemporary Ruthenians:

The Ruthenians lived in Hungary even before the arrival of the seven Princes or Scythian chieftains (854), and their numbers were increased by the newcomers at Alma (886). They adopted the Christian faith when SS. Cyril and Methodius preached in Pannonia (867). In the times of the Greek schism under Cerularius (1053), they also fell away from Rome, but in 1252 they united once again. That union was lasting and weakened only later, under the Rákóczi princes, but in 1649 it was consolidated again and for all time. These Ruthenians were forever united with the Hungarians and shared their lot with them (Lozyns'kyj 1846: xvii).⁸⁸

Citing another of Šafařík's works, *Geschichte der slavischen Sprache und Literatur nach allen Mundarten* (History of the Slavic Language and Literature in All Dialects), Lozyns'kyj correctly notes:

It is an incontrovertible truth that at one time there was only one Slavic language, but whenever a people multiplied and spread, often encountering or mixing with other peoples, *various dialects* of it emerged; accordingly, the closer those dialects were to their fountainhead, the less they differed, and only with time did those changes become as significant as we see them nowadays (Lozyns'kyj 1846: xviii–xix).⁸⁹

^{86 &}quot;O tém czasie pisano wiele za—i przeciw Unii. Skutkiem ucisków rozmaitych było przejście wielu Rusinów na obrządek łaciński, i porzucanie mowy ojczystéj; język polski upowszechniał się, a język ruski wygnany został pod strzechę ludu prostego, drobnej szlachty i Duchowieństwa obr. greckiego. Te uciski posłużyli także do pomnożenia Kozaków na Ukrainie, których imję około r. 1516 głośne już było. Początek ich sięga 13. wieku. W r. 1627 wyszedł w Kiowie pierwszy słownik sławjański."

^{87 &}quot;[...] tu już jest podział Rusi na wielką, małą i bjałą Ruś."

^{88 &}quot;W Węgrzech mieszkali Rusini jeszcze przed przyjściem siedmiu Książąt czyli wodzów scytyjskich (854), a przez przybyszów pod Almą (886) zostali pomnożeni. Wjarę chrześciańską przyjęli wtedy, kiedy SS. Cyril i Methodiusz w Panonii uczyli (867). Za czasów schismy greckiej pod Cerulariuszem (1053) odpadli także od Rzymu, lecz w r. 1252 znowu się zjednoczyli. Unia ta trwała ciągle i tylko poźniej [*sic*] pod książętami Rakockimi była nadwerężona, ale w r. 1649 na nowo i na zawsze utwierdzona została. Ci Rusini zawsze z Węgrami złączeni byli i ich losy dzielili."

^{89 &}quot;Niezaprzeczoną jest prawdą, że kiedyś tylko jeden był język sławiański, a gdy się naród rozmnażał i rozchodził, często z innymi narodami stykał lub mieszał, powstały *rozmaite narzecza* jego; im bliżej więc były te narzecza źródła swojego, tém mniéj się różniły, a z czasem dopiéro stały się te zmjany tak znacznemi, jak ich teraz widziémy."

The grammarian says the very same thing about the Ruthenian language and the "church dialect" ("narzecza cerkiewnego"). The latter, according to Lozyns'kyj, became the "model for Ruthenian writers" ("wzorem dla pisarzy ruskich"). But Lozyns'kyj concludes incorrectly that "Nestor himself also wholly imitated it" ("i sam Nestor naśladował go zupełnie") (ibid., xix). He continues: "thus all writers followed the rules of the church dialect or Old Slavic, and from that moment we had two languages: *bookish*, which was used for writing, and *vernacular*, which the common people spoke" (ibid., xix).⁹⁰ Referring once again to Karamzin, the scholar asserts that "the oldest monuments of the Ruthenian language" ("najdawniejsze pomniki języka ruskiego")-here he singles out the Primary Chronicle, "Pravda Rus'ka," and the Tale of Ihor's Campaign—"cannot reveal the true *vernacular* to us" ("nie mogą nam wykazać prawdziwej mowy narodowej") (ibid.). However, according to Lozyns'kyj, Ruthenian words were nevertheless being used increasingly often, although it was only in the sixteenth century that "more writing began in the Ruthenian vernacular in connection with the Union."91 But "that language was losing its purity, and in almost all writings a great admixture of Polish is to be seen" (ibid., xix-xx).⁹² Of course, Lozyns'kyj also indicates the formerly high status of the Ruthenian language:

In Lithuanian Rus' it was the language of the court, the scholarly, judicial, legal, and diplomatic language; it was used for the conduct of all affairs. The Lithuanian Metrica is proof of this.... It is also witnessed by many chronicles and other documents, privileges, and sundry writings. Nevertheless, a multitude of Polonisms can be seen everywhere (Lozyns'kyj 1846: xx).⁹³

According to Lozyns'kyj, the sixteenth century was "the golden age of the Polish language" ("wiekiem złotym języka polskiego"), while the Ruthenian language was "exiled...to the thatched roofs of the common folk" ("wygnany...pod strzechę wiejską") (ibid., xx–xxi). His argument that the influence of Polish and Russian in the Russian Empire was far more dangerous to Ruthenian than to other languages because Polish and Russian were always understandable to Ruthenians deserves attention (ibid., xxi).

Lozyns'kyj notes that "we also have various collections of Ruthenian songs:... Certelev's of 1819, that of Wacław of Olesko of 1833, Maksymovyč's of 1827 and 1834, Sreznevskij's of 1833, Vahylevyč and Holovac'kyj's of 1837...tales (stories)...

^{90 &}quot;[...] tym sposobem trzymali się wszyscy pisarze prawideł narzecza cerkiewnego czyli starosławjańskiego, a tak mieliśmy od owej chwili dwa języki: *księgowy* w którym pisano, i *narodowy* którym naród mówił."

^{91 &}quot;[...] zaczęto także z powodu Unii pisać więcej w narodowym języku ruskim."

^{92 &}quot;[...] ten język utracał swą czystość, i we wszystkich prawie dziełach widać wielką mieszaninę polszczyzny."

^{93 &}quot;Na Rusi litewskiej był on językiem dworu, językiem naukowym, sądowym, prawniczym i dyplomatycznym; w nim odbywały się wszystkie sprawy. Swjadectwem tego jest Metryka litewska ... Swjadkiem tego jest także wiele kronik i innych dokumentów, przywilejów i pism rozmaitych. Wszędzie jednak widać mnóstwo polonizmów."

the Little Russian stories of Hr[yhorij] Osnov'ianenko.... Little Russian proverbs publ[ished] by Hrebinka...." (ibid., xli).⁹⁴ He also mentions the activities of several "admirers" of the Ruthenian language from the Russian Empire:

It is consoling to our language that even in Russia it is not being neglected, and here it behooves me to cite the names of some of its admirers, who are as follows: Maksymovyč, Sreznevskij, Hrebinka, Kvitka (Osnov'ianenko), Zabila (Topolja), Metlyns'kyj (Mohyla), Kostomariv (Halka), Borovykovs'kyj, Špyhovs'kyj [Špyhoc'kyj], and many others⁹⁵ (Lozyns'kyj 1846: xxi).⁹⁶

But Lozyns'kyj was quite skeptical about the achievements of Ukrainian literature as of the first half of the nineteenth century, commenting that "a few minor works do not make a literature. Meanwhile, literature to which one can refer from the grammatical standpoint should include works that are exemplary and classical, but we do not yet have such works for the Ruthenian language" (ibid., xxxv).⁹⁷

3.5. With regard to the early history of the written Ruthenian language, Jakiv Holovac'kyj noted that "we adopted already existing Slavic liturgical books that were completely understandable to the people" (Holovac'kyj 1849: 20),⁹⁸ even though they were written in what Holovac'kyj calls the "old Bulgarian or Church Slavonic bookish learned language" ("книжнообразованый языкъ староболгарскій або церковнословенскій") (ibid., 19). Further on, he writes that "our first writers (ecclesiastical, for the most part) utilized it in religious works and translations" (ibid., 20).⁹⁹ At the same time, Holovac'kyj, unlike his predecessors, notes that "the vernacular was also penetrating it, not so much in writing of religious content but especially in secular, civil, and legislative works, chronicles, charters, contracts, etc." (ibid.).¹⁰⁰ He emphasizes that "even old Church

^{94 &}quot;[...] mamy także już rozmaite zbjory pieśni ruskich:...Certelewa 1819, Wacława z Oleska 1833, Maksymowicza 1827 i 1834, Srezniewskiego 1833, Wagilewicza i Głowackiego 1837...kazki (powieści)...Малороссійскіа повъсти Гр. Основаненька.... Приказки малороссійскіа изд. Гребенькомъ...."

⁹⁵ Thus far, there is no reference to Taras Ševčenko, although the first edition of the *Kobzar* had already appeared in 1840.

^{96 &}quot;Pocieszną jednak dla naszego języka jest rzeczą, że i w Rossyi nie jest w zaniedbaniu, i tu niechaj mi się godzi przytoczyć imjona niektórych czcicieli jego, a te są: Maksymowicz, Śrezniewski, Hrebinka, Kwitka (Osnowjaneńko), Zabila (Topola), Metliński (Mohyła), Kostomariw (Hałka), Borowikowski, Szpyhowski [Шпигоцький], i wiele innych."

^{97 &}quot;...kilka dziełek nie stanowi jeszcze literatury. Literatura zaś, na którąby się we względzie grammatycznym odwołać można, powinna zawiérać dzieła wzorowe, klassyczne, a takich dzieł dla języka ruskiego jeszcze nie mamy."

^{98 &}quot;[...] мы приняли уже готовіи книги богослужебни словенски, котри совсъмъ понятни были народови."

^{99 &}quot;[...] першіи нашû писателѣ (по бо̂льшо̂й части духовніи) управляли го въ духовныхъ сочиненіяхъ и переводахъ."

^{100 &}quot;[...] при нимъ проколювався и народный языкъ не такъ въ писъмахъ духовного содержанія, но особенно въ свѣтовыхъ, горожанскихъ, законодательныхъ дѣлахъ, лѣтописяхъ, грамотахъ, договорахъ и пр."

Slavonic manuscripts of Scripture written in Rus' were not free of the Ruthenian language" (ibid., 21).¹⁰¹ The scholar adds, not without a hint of local patriotism, that "as is generally known, all scholars agree that the Carpathian Mountains are the cradle of the Slavs" (ibid., 49).¹⁰² To be sure, he is not satisfied to describe only the territory that he calls "our Galician-Peremyshlianian Rus'" ("наша Галицко-Перемышльская Русь") (ibid., 23). Among the written sources from Kyivan Rus', he cites not only "southern" texts but also those from Novgorod, albeit with special emphasis on the Hypatian, or Volhynian, Chronicle (Ипатьевская або Волынская лѣтопись) (ibid., 20).¹⁰³ As for the guestion of the autonomy of the Ruthenian language vis-à-vis Polish, Holovac'kyj cites the 1829 Polish-language edition of Ivan Mohyl'nyc'kyj's *Report*, noting that "the Polish language did not transform the south Russian language and did not exert an influence on its formation; on the contrary, the Polish language owes its formation, correctness, and rapid growth to Ruthenian influence" (ibid., 21–22).¹⁰⁴ Furthermore, he asserts that "Rus' was more educated in previous ages even before the Tatar invasion" (ibid., 23).¹⁰⁵ And, in the fifteenth and sixteenth centuries, "when Rus' entered into a closer alliance with Poland, the latter also...did not exert much influence on the vernacular" (ibid., 24).¹⁰⁶ Instead, "the annexation...of Galician Rus' and, later, of White (Lithuanian) [Rus'] with all of southern Rus' strongly influenced the development of the Polish language and literature" (ibid.).¹⁰⁷ According to Holovac'kyj, at that time there took place "a convergence of three Slavic dialects, Polish, south Russian, and Belarusian" (ibid.)¹⁰⁸ that also isolated the Polish language from the powerful influence of the Czech "language...to which it is so similar" (ibid., 25).¹⁰⁹ Holovac'kyj concludes: "[T]hus, that convergence and union of the Slavic peoples always had a good, salutary influence on the formation of the Slavic languages and literatures" (ibid., $25)^{110}$

Holovac'kyj remarks inadvertently that "it is generally known how southern and White Rus' later influenced Great Russian literature, the youngest among

- 107 "[...] натомість прилученьє ... Галицкои Руси а потомъ бълои (литовскои) исъ цълою южною Русью сильно вплынуло на розвитьє польского языка и словесности."
- 108 "[...] сближеньє трехъ нарѣчій словенскихъ польского, южноруского и бѣлоруского."
- 109 "[...] съ котрымъ такъ схо̂дный бувъ."

^{101 &}quot;[...] даже старіи церковнословенскій рукописи священного писанія писанû на Руси не слободнû отъ рущины."

^{102 &}quot;[...] звѣстно всѣ ученіи на то згаджаются, що Карпатскіи горы суть колыскою Словянь."

¹⁰³ The *Treatise* also contains information about a trade agreement dated 1351, purportedly written in a "mountain dialect" (гірським наріччям) (Holovac'kyj 1849: 44).

^{104 &}quot;[...] языкъ польскій не перетворивъ южноруского языка и не вплывавъ на образованьє его, але на отворотъ польскій языкъ виненъ своє образованьє, правильность, и свой борзій [sic] взростъ вплывови рускому."

^{105 &}quot;Русь була образованъйша въ давныхъ въкахъ ще до нашествія Татаръ."

^{106 &}quot;[…] коли Русь въ близшій союзъ прійшла исъ Польщею, такожъ сія … не богато вплывала на народный языкъ."

^{110 &}quot;[...] такъ то сближенъє и полученъє Словенскихъ народовъ мало завсъгди добрый спасительный вплывъ на образованъє словесностей словенскихъ."

the Rus' [literatures]" (ibid.),¹¹¹ although he gives no detail about the association between the "southern Rus'" ("ισжноруської") and Belarusian languages on the one hand and Russian on the other. He says, however, that "the bookish Ruthenian language began to change under the influence of Polish, which had begun to penetrate and root itself ever more deeply since the seventeenth century" (ibid., 26);¹¹² meanwhile, the Peresopnytsia Gospel and other texts (of the common folk tradition) were written, he claims, in a "mountain dialect" (ibid., 45).

Holovac'kyj was the first Galician grammarian to pay special attention to the "glorious" Cossack period. Commenting on the Cossacks, he writes that "those martial societies of knights gathered from all of southern Rus' spread Cossack liberty throughout, imposing one coloration on the people of southern Rus' as a whole" (ibid., 29).¹¹³ He was also the first Galician grammarian to write a deferential description of recent achievements in the creation of the modern Ukrainian language:

In short, this is a natural, pure, full-voiced language, strong in a manly way, expressive (laconic) in the mouth of a well-to-do farmer or a young Cossack, and, under the pen of Kotljarevs'kyj, Topolyns'kyj, and others, soft, warm-heartedly tender, caressed in maternal conversation, girlish song, or under the pen of the warm-hearted Osnov'janenko.... In most recent times, some writers have undertaken a bookish reworking of this dialect and started publishing their works written in the pure vernacular. Kotljarevs'kyj was the first to point the way, having refashioned the *Aeneid* and written several operas; after him, this field was successfully worked by Osnov'janenko in the tale, Artemovs'kyj and Hrebinka in the fable, Mohyla, Halka, Ševčenko, and Zabila in dumas and ditties, etc.; everyone knows what our writers have accomplished in that regard (Šaškevyč, Ustyjanovyč, Mox, Levyc'kyj et al.) (Holovac'kyj 1849: 31, 39–40).¹¹⁴

Finally, among the protagonists of the Ukrainian language movement Holovac'kyj mentions Taras Ševčenko, although he does not attribute any independent or leading role to him.

In his *Three Introductory Lectures*, the scholar places even greater emphasis on Kotljarevs'kyj than he does in the *Treatise*. He characterizes the turn of the eighteenth century as follows:

^{111 &}quot;[...] звъстно, якъ познъйше вплывала южна и бъла Русь на великорускую словесность наймолодшу меже рускими."

^{112 &}quot;[...] зачався переробляти книжный языкъ рускій подъ вплывомъ польщины, котра отъ XVII въка зачала все глубше въъдатися и вкорънювати [...]"

^{113 &}quot;тотů воинственніи товаришества лицаровъ собранныхъ зо всеи южнои Руси, розширяли всюда козацкую волю, накидали одну барву на народность цълои южнои Руси."

^{114 &}quot;Словомъ є то природна, чиста, повноголосна мова, мужеско-сильна, выразиста (лаконическа) въ устахъ статного господаря або козака-молодця, тай подъ перомъ Котляревского, Тополинского и др, а мягка, сердечно-нѣжна, пещена въ бесѣдѣ материнской, дѣвочой спѣванцѣ, або подъ перомъ сердечного Основяненька. ... Въ найновѣйшихъ часахъ зачали декотрû писателѣ книжно обрабляти сесе нарѣчіє и выдавати свои сочиненія чистонароднымъ языкомъ писаниû. Котляревскій первый показавъ дорогу перелицевавши Єнеиду и написавши килька оперъ; за нимъ щасливо управляли сю ниву Основяненько въ казцѣ, Артемовскій и Гребѣнка въ байцѣ, Могила, Галка, Шевченко, Забѣла въ думахъ и думкахъ и пр; що напий писателѣ въ тôмъ взглядѣ учинили (Шашчевичь, Устіяновичь, Мохъ, Левицкій и др.) всѣмъ вѣдомо."

In the meantime, there was a great struggle in Russian and Polish literature between the so-called classicists and romantics.... Little Russia did not need to take part in it, for Kotljarevs'kyj had already defined it as a folk [literature], and he himself showed the way. Great individuals always precede important epochs and, according to a superior spirit, as it were, they show the people the way toward which it should aspire.... All that will remain forever in its beauty, in its freshness, because it is of the people. (Holovac'kyj 1849a: 26)¹¹⁵

One way or another, in 1849 Holovac'kyj was still a representative of the first generation of early Galician Ukrainian populists.

4. On the dialectal division of the Ruthenian language

4.1. Ivan Mohyl'nyc'kyj distinguished the *"spoken* vernacular of the common people and the vernacular in written works from the dialect known as *bookish*" (Mohyl'nyc'kyj 1910: 38).¹¹⁶ According to him, the latter had remained *"almost identical* from the thirteenth century to the present" (ibid., 39),¹¹⁷ whereas *"certain minor alterations are entering popular speech, but they are so unremarkable and so rare that one may boldly assert that in White and Little Rus' one and the same dialect is spoken" (ibid.).¹¹⁸ The regional differences in the Ruthenian-speaking space boil down only to <i>"two or three letters in the current language of that same people"* (ibid.);¹¹⁹ the Belarusian merge of *e* with *b* is singled out (see also ibid., 82), but there is generally no *"notable grammatical alteration"* (*"Знакомитои граматическои перемъны"*). The dialectal division of the Polish language, according to Mohyl'nyc'kyj, is much stronger:

Therefore, whoever is aware of the recesses of the Polish language must certainly acknowledge that the current language in the former palatinates of *Great Poland*, in the *Cracow* palatinate, in *Samogitia*, and in *Kashubia* shows greater differences than the Ruthenian language in *Lithuania*, *Podilia*, *Ukraine*, and *Galicia* (ibid., 47).¹²⁰

^{115 &}quot;Тымъ часомъ переборола ся въ літиратурѣ [sic] россійской и польской великая борьба такъ названыхъ классиковъ съ романтиками. [...]Малорусь не потребовала участвовати въ нѣй, бо єи Котляревскій вже рѣшивъ за народную, и самъ дорогу показавъ. — Великіи люди заєдно предшествуютъ важнымъ епокамъ и указуютъ якбы вѣщимъ духомъ направленіє народови, куда му стремити ся належитъ. ... Все то позостане завсѣгды въ своєй красѣ, въ своєй свѣжости, бо є народне."

^{116 &}quot;[...] діалектъ народный *устный* народа посполитого (Volkssprache) и діалектъ народный въ писмахъ, діалектомъ *книжнымъ* (Büchersprache) званый."

^{117 &}quot;от XIII стольтія ажъ до теперъ праве єднаковый."

¹¹⁸ *"въ просторъчіи* заходять нъкоторые малые перемъны, но такъ незнакомитые, такъ ръдкіе, же смъло твердити можна, яко на Бълой и Малой Руси еднако итымъ самымъ діалектомъ говорять."

^{119 &}quot;[...] двѣ або три писмена въ мовѣ поточной того самого народа."

^{120 &}quot;Хтоколвекъ бовемъ свѣдомый єсть закутовъ языка полского, тотъ запевне признати мусить, же мова поточна въ давныхъ воеводствахъ великополскихъ, въ Воеводствѣ Краковскомъ, на Жмуди, Кашубахъ далеко болше єдна отъ другои, нежели мова руска въ Литвѣ, Подолю, Украинѣ, Галиціи розличаеся."

Further on, the scholar also mentions the considerable dialectal differentiation of the German language compared, as he believed, to the uniformity of the language spoken by the people "living in Lithuania and in Volhynia, Podilia, Ukraine, and Galicia" ("въ Литвъ, на Волиню, Подолю, Украинъ, въ Галиціи мешкаючихъ") (ibid.). There is, of course, no information about dialectal phenomena in the Ruthenian-speaking space either in Mohyl'nyc'kyj's *Report* or in his grammar. Quite often, instead, purely southwestern forms are simply cited as being "Ruthenian," for example, when the grammarian comments that -osъ, the ending of feminine nouns in the instrumental case, is used "in Ruthenian popular speech" ("въ просторъчи ръском") (cf. Voznjak 1911: 18; this ending is also cited in paradigms in the grammar: Mohyl'nyc'kyj 1910: 225 and elsewhere), or when he lists the form of the numeral one (єденъ) without comment (ibid., 126). It is also interesting to note what Mohyl'nyc'kyj wrote about the reflex of the suffix and ending with *-*bje*:

In the Ruthenian dialect that ending is customarily expressed in *two ways*. In popular speech and even some ancient writings [it is expressed] by *HR*. To this day, the Ruthenian says: Be3eHR, CTAPAHR, MEIIKAHR. Those words have similar endings in the translated Go[spel] written in 1617. (ibid., 104).¹²¹

Mohyl'nyc'kyj notes, however, that "the use of the ending...*He* or *Hbe* or the insertion of the softening *b* above *H*" is "generally" ("ПОСПОЛИТО") widespread. As for the forms " $\delta 8 \sigma b$, $\delta 8 \Lambda a$, $\delta 8 \Lambda a$, "he claims that this is the "actual oral pronunciation of that time in *Pokutia and Podilia*" (ibid., 142)¹²² (the author was a speaker of the Sian region dialect, in which the forms *byty*, *byl* are widespread),¹²³ and in this case Mohyl'nyc'kyj focused almost exclusively on the region inhabited by Galician Ruthenians.

4.2. Josyf Levyc'kyj's grammar also contains very little information about dialectal phenomena.¹²⁴ Here and there his text includes information on the features of the Belarusian language, for example, about *cekannja* (Belarusian c' < t') (Levyc'kyj 1834: 30), which he associates with the development of $\dot{c} < t'$ in Polish (Levyc'kyj writes about the "*m* in u"),¹²⁵ or about *akan'e* (the pronunciation of unstressed "o"

^{121 &}quot;Въ рускомъ діалектѣ оконченіе тото двоякося выражати звыкло. Въ просторѣчіи устномъ и нѣкоторыхъ наветъ давныхъ писмахъ чрезъ ня. До нынѣ мовитъ русинъ: тото везеня, стараня, мешканя. Подобнѣ кончатся тые слова въ толкованомъ Еυ(анге)ліи, въ року 1617 писано(мъ)."

^{122 &}quot;[...] властивый выговор оустныи времене того на Покутю и Подолю єсть."

¹²³ In a letter to Petr Keppen, another Peremyshl-based figure, Ivan Lavrivs'kyj, included several items containing rather inaccurate information about the dialects of Austrian-ruled Galicia and Bukovyna, going so far as to claim that "in Hungary there are three or more" Ruthenian dialects (Voznjak 1911: 4).

¹²⁴ One should keep in mind Myxajlo Voznjak's suspicion that Levyc'kyj borrowed his data on dialects from a now-lost manuscript of Ivan Lavrivs'kyj's grammar, although there is no proof of this. Voznjak's chief argument is that Levyc'kyj also borrowed from other sources, and that "not much independent research and [not many] observations remain in Levyc'kyj's grammar" (Voznjak 1911: 105–6).

¹²⁵ To this point, Levyc'kyj provides no information about *cekannja*. When he writes about what corresponds to the pronunciation of the Polish *ć* in the words *cialo*, *ciasto*, he notes that in the "Belarusian" we have "тело, тесто, тетка" (Voznjak 191: 19).

as "a") in the "Minsk dialect" (ibid., 31). With regard to the Ukrainian linguistic space, Levyc'kyj occasionally notes that some forms are used in Galicia (e.g., in the endings -08b, -e8b in the instrumental case of feminine nouns; see ibid., 36).¹²⁶ Here and there he comments on dialectal elements in the Galician space, for example, when he objects to the comparative degree вьенкшій because he (rightly) considers it a "Polonism" (ibid., 82). Elsewhere, the scholar cites the forms ecmemb, ecmecb, ecmecmo, ecmecme, which he does not regard as local variants but as social ones prevalent "particularly among the educated class..., which, when it uses its native language, wants to speak just as they do in Polish" (ibid., 103–4).¹²⁷ At the same time, Levyc'kyj does not object to the future tense form, such as a 6808 nucant (ibid., 118),¹²⁸ and in his model paradigms he occasionally cites typically Galician forms that are considered dialectal today, such as the numeral in the form *edenb*, *edna*, *edno* (ibid., 94). In Levyc'kyj's grammar one can encounter (albeit infrequently) some knowledge of the language of the Transcarpathians, to wit: "The Ruthenians of the Sanok, Jasło, and Nowy Sącz districts, as well as in Mukachiv in Hungary, use an *e* instead of *o* in the plural, e.g., мысме instead of мысмо, былисме (б8лисме) видѣлисме, ходилисме, etc." (Levyc'kyj 1834: 102).¹²⁹ The reader accompanying Josyf Levyc'kyj's grammar also contains a section titled "Model of the Ruthenian Dialect in Hungary" (Muster des ruthenischen Dialektes in Ungarn) (ibid., 55). However, Myxajlo Lučkaj's Church Slavonic work Church Talks for All Sundays of the Year for *Popular Education* (Церковныя Бесѣды на всѣ недѣли рока на повченіє народноє) does not offer the best examples of this dialect, even if the word *dialect* is to be understood in the broader sense prevailing in the first half of the nineteenth century.

4.3. Vahylevyč's main ideas about Galician dialects of the Ukrainian language have already been discussed in section 2.3. It should be recalled that he writes about "two dialects" ("dwa narzecza") of the Little Russian language—Galician and Kyivan ("halickie i kijowskie")—but does not consider the "third dialect, the Carpathian" ("trzecie narzecze karpackie") a true dialect for reasons that cannot be treated seriously today (see 2.3). There is an interesting section about the dissimilarity between the language of folklore and dialects, and another section offers Vahylevyč's reflections on something resembling present-day notions of dialectal continuum (it is well known, however, that there are no true transitional Ukrainian-Russian dialects):

¹²⁶ This form was cited by the Transcarpathian Myxajlo Lučkaj in his grammar titled Grammatica Slavo-Ruthena: seu Vetero-Slavicae, et actu in montibus Carpathicis Parvo-Russiae, ceu dialecti vigentis linguae (Buda, 1830) (see Voznjak 1911: 80, 85, 87, 102).

^{127 &}quot;[...] besonders bei der gebildeten Klasse ... welche, wenn sie sich ihrer Muttersprache bedient, ebenso wie im Polnischen sprechen will."

^{128 &}quot;Man gebraucht sehr oft in der künftigen Zeit z. В. в бядя писаль, она бяде спала. Es scheint das Futurum exactum der Lateiner zu seyn" (Levyc'kyj 1834: 118).

^{129 &}quot;Die Ruthenier des Sanoker, Jasloer und Sandecer Kreises als auch die bei Munkacs in Ungarn gebrauchen in der V. Z. statt o das e z. В. мысме anstatt мысмо, былисме (бвлисме)—видълисме, ходилисме u. s. w."

The current language has more local features, being a language of song and story that is universal to some extent. The Galician and Kyivan dialects have so much in common that they cannot be considered two separate languages: the subdialects of both those dialects are links connecting them with each other, as with related languages. (Vahylevyč 1845: ii).¹³⁰

Vahylevyč's attempt at a description of linguistic phenomena culled from manuscripts up to the late fifteenth century (ibid., ii–iii) is quite unsystematic. Among many fanciful observations, however, he notes a considerable number of important dialectal features. These are the most interesting features of the "Galician dialect":

a) the sounds...ja as well as $\varrho(A)$ are transformed into je, onbemb...pbedb... nbehbiŭ...and into e after z [sic], cz, sz, szcz...xenb...чecb...cчecmbe...dź from ż [sic]: $Med \varkappa u' ... d \varkappa \varkappa \varkappa \iota c L$, from ch: $\varrho i c m z$: $d seph 0... d s \delta \varepsilon p b$ [sic] zwiérz; od sepo jezioro; ... d senehbiŭ...f from ch: $\varrho i c m z$: $d seph 0... d s \delta \varepsilon p b$ [sic] zwiérz; od sepo jezioro; ... d senehbiŭ...f from ch: $\varrho i c m z$: $d seph 0... d s \delta \varepsilon p b$ [sic] zwiérz; od sepo jezioro; ... d senehbiŭ...f from ch: $\varrho i c m z$: $d seph 0... d s \delta \varepsilon p b$ [sic] zwiérz; (d sepo jezioro; ... d senehbiŭ... f from ch: $\varrho i c m z$; d s c m a []: $c n \varepsilon d a$... c n o c a...; [d at. pl.] $s o n i m \delta m z$...; [prep. pl. on] " $\delta m z$ or joch (och)": $\kappa h a s \delta m z$ (i $\sigma x b$)... nucap $\delta x b$ (i $\sigma x b$).... $M \aleph \varkappa \varepsilon x b$ ($\sigma x b$).... $M \varepsilon \varkappa \varepsilon z b$ (i $\sigma x b$).... $s e p h \delta x b$ (i $\sigma x b$).... $M \aleph \varkappa \varepsilon z b$ (i $\sigma x b$).... $M \varepsilon \varkappa \varepsilon z b$ (i $\sigma x b$).... $m \omega m \delta \omega \varepsilon z b$ (i $\sigma x b$).... $M \varepsilon \omega \varepsilon z b$ in the third person singular, present tense, the t stands out; the same thing with the plural, but only after ja: $x \sigma d u$ chod zi; s u d uwidzi; $x \sigma d \lambda$ chod za; $s u d \lambda$ wid za. In the future tense, A m u precedes the word: $u \kappa \vartheta x \sigma d u m u$ bed $\varrho i s c c u d \varepsilon m u$ bed $\varrho s i d z i c [s i c]$ (Vahylevyč 1845: x v-x v i).

Vahylevyč has quite an obscure notion of the "Kyivan dialect." Here are its most interesting features:

a) the sounds...primary ja...ja from je: житьа...счастьа...; и from i [sic]: абл8нь...; ja from ±: лати lać; — p from f: плашка...плакъ flak...chw and kw from f: хвига...хварба farba; хвартвхъ...квасола...ż from żd: выѣжати wyjechać [sic]; выхожати wychodzić...n from d [!]: кожный każdy...the suffixal n: лишень...; либонь...; the w is truncated: npomu...b) Etymology: [it is claimed that in the dative singular, all nouns end in]-owi, -jowi: хлопови, панови, кназїови, писарїови; ...[the ending] -t' [third pers. sing.]: рветь, печеть, бережеть [sic]; видить, летить.... In the form aty and jaty in the third pers. jet' is often discarded: oymѣка...nocnѣша.... The future tense is created through the addition of the infinitive atu to the infinitive: nucamu мy...знати мg.... (Vahylevyč 1845: xvi-xviii).

Vahylevyč singles out the following features of the "Carpathian dialect":

a) the sounds: the *ja* after...*ż*, *cz*, *sz*, *szcz*: ...жаль...жаба...; часъ... шапка...; ы is pronounced as a hard sound like oj and uj, from here, it differs from *i* (*u*): быкъ... кобыла...рыба, пышный, быти...the *w* is truncated: *проти*.... b) Etymology: *w* is truncated in *pskos*-*pskos*-...*naнes*-...*naнes*-...*ojko*, *ojka*, *ojko* or *ejko*, *ejka*, *ejka*.

^{130 &}quot;Język potoczny ma więcéj cech miejscowości, jak język pieśni i powieści, który jest poniekąd ogólnym. Narzecza halickie i kijowskie mają tyle wspólnego, że niemożna je uważać za dwa osobne języki, podnarzecza zaś tych obu narzeczy są ogniwa łączące je z sobą, równie jak z pobratymczemi językami."

хлопойко, панойко; головойка; ножейка, крылейко, полейко...добров-добровъ... синев-синевъ; добрейкій, острейкій...бѣгв, могв, рекв, текв, h and k remain; ... гадамъ-гадашъ-гадатъ-гадаме-гадате...звеме, видиме, гадаеме.... Adverbs are formed from adjectives with ±: добрѣ... острѣ (Vahylevyč 1845: xviii–xix).

Vahylevyč mentions "local nuances." Some of his comments are erroneous, while others reiterate already cited features. But some of his observations are interesting:

Now I must still mention certain local nuances. In the Sanok and Peremyshl [districts] on the border with the Polish language: g from k: *λuжza* łyżka; *λuzza* miska...; In the Buzke [district] on the border between the Galician dialect and the Kyivan...j from d: ∂σaūųAmb...; from ∂σħ, dwie in the feminine gender and neuter it is always linked in the plural by ħ: ∂σħ zoλoσħ...∂σħ npocmupaλħ...that is the only vestige of the dual number....

In the Sáros district on the border with the Czechoslovak language: an inserted *d*: *cedлákъ* sielanin.... In the Máramaros Mountains: *u* from *o*: кунь kóń [*sic*]...[diminutive forms:] in *iczko*, *iczka*: *mamѣчкo*, *мамѣчкa*.... In Hungary: *o* turns into *i*: *nлimъ* płot, *кicmь* kość; *ja* is pronounced like *je*: *noл`a*`на [2 dots over the *a*]...*u* like *i*: *miжъ* mąż; *diбpoвa* dąbrowa.

Among the Hutsuls in the mountains of Stanyslaviv and Kolomyia [districts] and Bukovyna:...o turns into a coarse *i* (*ü*): *вйль*...*плйтъ*...*je* from *ja* at the beginning of expressions and after vowels: *свъръ*...; *еблика*... *боетисе*...*cia* is formed into *ca*: *пшеница*, *оулица*...[instr. sing.] *ватромъ*, *р8комъ*, *зброемъ*....

In the Chernivtsi [area], *je* from *ja*: *onьemь*...*f* from *chw*: фала...фїсть.... The first person plural in the past tense is shortened through *m*: малимъ mieliśmy; зналимъ znaliśmy. In words ending in *dyty*, *tyty* the *d* and *t* do not change in the present tense: *x*ó∂ью...*su*∂ью.... In Volhynia: [third pers. sing.] *oymѣka*, *za*∂*a*, *xo*∂*u*, *su*∂*u*.... In Podilia...*ja* and root *a*: *onamь*; *жаль*. *Ca* replaces *cia*: *nueницa*, *naшницa*. [Third pers. sing.] *xo*∂*a*, *su*∂*a*,..... In the Chernihiv [area], the sounds *u* and *ju* from *o*: *к8нь*..., *cюль*.... In the word *czy*, *hty* and *kty*: *mekmu*, *pekmu*, *бъcmu*, *бъcmu*, *бъcmu*, *in* tensing into *b*: *xodumь* chodzić, *sudumь* widzieć.

There should also be languages transitional to the Great Russian: Kursk and Voronezh, but to the Belarusian, the Ovruch [language]; the Black Sea language also has its particular features, but I cannot say anything about them. It would not be superfluous to recall, however, that the Little Russians, the inhabitants of Galicia, instead of *ż*, *cz*, *sz*, *szcz*, say *z*, *c*, *s*, *sc*, which I consider the more delicate pronunciation (Vahylevyč 1845: xix–xxii).

Also meriting attention is Vahylevych's argument explaining that he wrote the etymological *o* in newly closed syllables because "those sounds have not yet fully developed into [the sounds] that correspond to them, especially in Hungary and in the Siverian region," and because he was conviced that only the etymological spelling would allow "our Little Russians [to] free themselves of the alphabetical frenzy" (Vahylevyč 1845: xxii).¹³¹

^{131 &}quot;[...] te głoski jeszcze zupełnie się nie wyrobiły na im odpowiednie szczególnie w Węgrzech, i w Siewerzczyznie, potém w przekonaniu, że tylko takim sposobem nasi Małorusini oswobodzą się od abecadłowego szału."

4.4. Josyf Lozyns'kyj provides far more information about Galician dialects than any of his predecessors. Summing up, he writes that "even in the contemporary vernacular we observe significant Polonization," noting that "the further west [one goes], the more Polonisms are to be observed," while "the freest from that fault is Rus' inhabiting Hungary and the Carpathians" (Lozyns'kyj 1846: xx).¹³² Meanwhile, "Rus' living on the Hungarian border and in Hungary is coming somewhat closer to the Slovak dialect" (ibid., 125).¹³³ Lozyns'kyj objects to such "local" forms as "mpucra" instead of "mpucкa," "знаме" instead of "знаемо," "його (joho)" instead of "его" (in modern Ukrainian, of course, it is *ezo* that is considered the "local" form), "*ce* or $\mu_{A''}$ instead of c_{A} [in reference to the reflexive particle and the contradistinction, e.g., знає ся // знаєтья <-ця>] because, according to him, even though "there is a need to take language from the lips of the common folk, it must be encompassed in definite and uniform rules" (ibid., xxxiv).¹³⁴ Further on, Lozyns'kyj writes about the evolution of *a* after palatalized consonants: "In Galicia, in the lower environs of Peremyshl, as well as among the Hutsuls," people pronounce "wzjel, krutjet...żjel, czies," while "some contract that e even more...pronouncing it like i, e.g.,...Marysi my imje" or "koszuli dla Mołodoho." However, "in the words dra, BCA, the a retains its characteristic sound" (ibid., 124).135 Citing Lučkaj, he lists the Transcarpathian verbal forms "знаме, знате, б&деме...third person singular [...] бъгат [...] instead of *bbraŭe*" and notes that the Transcarpathian Ruthenians "have preserved many old Slavic words that others rarely use, e.g., n8mb, xuma, umamu, menamu, mdamu." He also emphasizes the use of truncated adjectives (чорнвочи, зелене свно) (ibid., 125– 26). Lozyns'kyj also mentions the characteristic pronunciation of the retained bi in Transcarpathian dialects: they pronounce "*β*8*mu*, *β*8*λ*, instead of *βbmu*, *βbλ*," as well as the pronunciation of "oden instead of eden...umo instead of up..., ru instead of ak [!], ce instead of cA, ud& domue instead of ud& do dom&, etc." The scholar claims that "finally, some Hungarian words differ by accent and use, e.g., *NEM*, *CEM*, *KEDb*" (ibid., 125). About the Ruthenians in the "Russian Empire," he writes that they use the infinitive ending -mb instead of -mu and the shortened form of the reflexive particle *cb* instead of *cA*, which he regards as borrowings "from the Muscovite dialect" ("z Moskiewskiego narzecza") (ibid., 126).

It is interesting to note that Lozyns'kyj singles out a separate language "in Lithuanian Rus'" ("na Rusi Litewskiej") in which there are "many Polonisms; besides that, prepositions end in *e*, and the first case [i.e., nominative] of plural feminine and neuter adjectives (and sometimes in the masculine gender) in *ŭe* (je), e.g., *всакие* (*всакійе*) *киевскіе приходи*.... They also pronounce: *сподъвацца*, *кохацца*, instead of *сподъвашиса*, *кохащиса*; *його* and *йому* instead of *eгo*, *eмy*" (ibid., 126–27), and "the Belarusian...dialect" ("Narzecze [...] *bjało-ruskie*"), in which they pronounce "*a*...

^{132 &}quot;i w teraźniejszej mowie narodowej spostrzegamy wielkie polonizowanie [...] im bardziej na zachód, tém więcej dają się postrzegać polonizmy [...] najwolniejsza od tego zarzutu jest Ruś w Węgrzech i Karpatach osiadła."

^{133 &}quot;Ruś po nad granicą węgierską i w Węgrzech mieszkająca, zbliża się trochę do narzecza słowackiego."

^{134 &}quot;[...] potrzeba brać język z ust ludu prostego; trzeba go ująć w pewne i jednostajne prawidła."

^{135 &}quot;[...] w słowach: для, вся, zachowuje a swoje właściwe brzmieni [...]."

instead of o, b, e.g., mabbe, каго, baramo...грахов, bapesa...; je (be) instead of e (e): ubebbe...; ub and d_{3b} (ć, dź) instead of m and d: ubenbep (menep), uuxo (muxo).... The third person present...: n_{Aaueub} (n_{Aaue}),... $\kappa a \# \delta u_b$ ($\kappa a \# \delta m$). Occasionally, that u_b drops off... $n_{OZNA} dae^n$ (ibid.).

Lozyns'kyj describes the characteristics of another variant of the "Ruthenian" language, spoken "in Ukraine," whose features are listed in his grammar:

a...sometimes instead of o: багато, казак, адже...; instead of край, мвуж, they pronounce as krij, myż...; [the dative and accusative cases of the pronoun] ji instead of eü, ю, and instead of ezo, емв, тое...joho, jomu, teje...; лвчче, магче, красче, instead of лвчши, магши, красши; ...Instead of the final тса...цца: обливаецца...; це, ца, цюго, instead of ce, са, сього; ...The preposition в (в) sometimes like s; e.g., &съ, %слъд, в' лъс; sometimes вже, в його, вмер, в них, втопил...are pronounced like в; the initial н...is not used, e.g., на його, до його; instead of um in the third person singular, present tense...sometimes e: моле, ходе, броде instead of молит, ходит, бродит; ... they also say: е вози, гдежто вони e? (instead of c&m) ...sometimes кае, кавт instead of каже, кажвт" (Lozyns'kyj 1846: 127).

In this context, Lozyns'kyj cites *The Little Russian Novels and Tales of Xoma Kuprijenko* (Малороссїйскія повѣсти и разкази [*sic*] Хомы К&приенка; Moscow, 1840). Evidently, he derived his knowledge of the language spoken in Ukraine mostly from this publication.¹³⁶

4.5. In his *Treatise*, Jakiv Holovac'kyj writes about the "nation...of one blood, one root," which "has one language, and the latter is divided into many tongues, dialects, and subdialects" (Holovac'kyj 1849: 1).¹³⁷ He comments that "there are dialects in our land, in Galician and Hungarian Rus', which are not entirely congruent with Little Russian (Ukrainian),"¹³⁸ emphasizing that

it seems strange that the Little Russian language in such extensive lands as Volhynia, Podilia, Ukraine, the lower Dnipro River region, the Black Sea region, etc., is spoken in a single dialect with minor alterations in certain words, while the Galician and Hungarian Ruthenians have a considerably varied speech (ibid., 28).¹³⁹

¹³⁶ It is interesting to note what Lozyns'kyj thinks about "transitional dialects": "Those diverse shadings constitute the transition of one dialect to another, e.g., the Novgorod dialect constitutes the transition of the Little Russian dialect to the Great Russian, while the Belarusian or Minsk [dialect] constitutes the transition of the Little Russian dialect to the Muscovite." (Te rozmaite cieniowiania stanowią przejście jednego narzecza do drugiego, tak n. p. narzecze nowogrodzkie stanowi przejście narzecza mało-ruskiego do wielkoruskiego, a narzecze bjało-ruskie czyli Mińskie stanowi przejście narzecza małoruskiego do Moskiewskiego) (Lozyns'kyj 1846: 127).

^{137 &}quot;[...] однокровный, однокорѣнный наро̂дъ [...] має одну мову, а тая розпадає на богато языко̂въ, нарѣчій и по̂днарѣчій [...]."

^{138 &}quot;[...] находятся у насъ въ Галицкой и Угорской Руси наръчія, котри не совсъмъ сгодни исъ Малорускимъ (Украинскимъ)."

^{139 &}quot;[...] дивно здаєся, що Малорускій языкъ въ такихъ обширенныхъ краяхъ Волынью, Подо̂лью, Украинѣ, Низовью, Чорноморщинѣ и пр. говорится однымъ нарѣчіємъ исъ малыми перемѣнами въ декотрыхъ словахъ, а Галицкіи и Угорскіи Русине маютъ цимало ро̂знорѣчій."

In particular, Holovac'kyj names the "three dialects of the one south Russian language" ("трояке нарѣчіє одного языка южноруского") "in Galicia and among the Hungarian Ruthenians" ("въ Галиччинѣ и у Русино̂въ угорскихъ"), to wit: "I. Volhynian-Podolian, II. Galician or Dnister River region, and III. Mountain, or Carpatho-Ruthenian" ("І. Волынско-подольске, ІІ. Галицке або Надднѣстрянске и III. Го́рске або Карпато-руске") (ibid., 37–38). The first dialect "differs little from Ukrainian, or, to put it better, it is the same as Ukrainian, merely a variant of it.... It is the most prevalent of all the south Ruthenian dialects because it extends across all of southern Rus', but it has reached only the periphery of Galicia ("мало що розличася отъ украинского, або лучше сказавши, є то саме що украинске, лишъ розномова его. ... Оно найобширнъйше изъ всъхъ наръчій южнорускихъ, бо розлягаєся по цълой южной Руси, а Галиччины ино окрайки зафатило") (ibid., 38). Citing Izmail Sreznevskij, Holovac'kyj states that "in Little Russia, the Kyivan-Pereiaslav [sic] language, disseminated throughout the Zaporozhian and Black Sea land, is regarded as the principal, purest, and exemplary variant of the south Ruthenian language" ("въ Малороссіи уважаєся Кієво-переясло́вска [sic] мова, розпросторонена по всему Запорожскому и Чорноморскому краю за головну, найчистъйшую и образцевую ро̂зно̂сть южноруского языка") (ibid., 40). Holovac'kyj also lists the following:

a) The Siverian variant, beyond the Seim River, contiguous on one side with the Great Russian and, on the other, with the Belarusian language, and coinciding first with one language and then the other; for example, the Siverians pronounce \pounds like ϵ : *Чернеговъ*, *Нежинъ*, *возметь*, *ходемъ* instead of $\kappa \hat{o} h b$; b) the Sloboda variant in Sloboda Ukraine, distinguished by individual words; and c) the Volhynian-Podilian variant, which adopted some things from the Polish and extends across part of Galician Rus'. The Volhynian-Podilian (or Ukrainian) dialect likes the broad vowels *a* and *s*, retains the *e* and *o* for full sonority, and the full ending in the feminine instrumental singular: *ою, ею*; it accepts the parenthetical λ and H, as well as y in the words *бувъ*, *бувши*, etc. (Holovac'kyj 1849: 40).¹⁴⁰

Holovac'kyj's comments on the spread of the "Volhynian-Podillian dialect" to other dialectal territories of Galicia are extremely interesting:

^{140 &}quot;Сѣверскую ро̂зно̂сть, за рѣкою Сеймомъ, котра зъ однои стороны дотыкаєся къ великорускому, а зъ другои къ бѣлорускому языкамъ, та збиваєся то на одну, то на другу мову; н. пр. Сѣверцѣ говорять ѣ якъ є: Чернеговъ, Нежинъ, возметь, ходемъ зам. ко̂нь; б) Слобожанскую, въ Слободско̂й Украинѣ, ро̂зличающуся [sic] одинокими словами и в) Волынско-подо̂лскую ро̂зно̂сть, котра дещо изъ польщины зафатила, и котра займає часть Галицкои Руси. – Волынско-подо̂льске (або украинске) нарѣчіє любить широкіи самогласнû а и я, удержує для повноголосія е и о, и повне зако̂нченьє въ твор. пад. єд. ч. жен. рода: ою, ею; пріймає вставочне л и н, такожъ у въ словахъ бувъ, бувши и пр."

With songs (dumas, ditties), this dialect spread throughout Galicia long ago; the Mountain People themselves (Hutsuls, Highlanders, Boikos, Lemkos) sing songs of Ukrainian (Cossack) origin in the local pronunciation, even as in lyrical songs (kolomyikas, shalalaikas, etc.) and ritual songs they maintain their local dialect (Holovac'kyj 1849: 39–40).¹⁴¹

The following question arises: is something like a "folkloric koine" on a "Volhynian-Podilian" foundation being described here? It is interesting that Holovac'kyj also perceives a factor of linguistic prestige in this context. He writes: "Even to this day, in some parts the people consider the Ukrainian dialect seemingly more beautiful, more noble" (ibid., 42).¹⁴² According to him,

when a young fellow goes beyond the Seret River or the Buh, he adopts the local speech, but after returning home he begins to toss out words in their manner, so people make fun of him: look at this nobleman, he's learned to say *mexs*, *wanka* (instead of *mexe*, *wbenka*) (ibid., 42–43).¹⁴³

Holovac'kyj notes that the Volhynian-Podillian dialect is spoken by "approximately 300,000 people in Galicia. In Russia (taking all the Little Russian dialects, with their insignificant variations, as one) it is spoken by 10,370,000; together with those others, that totals 10,670,000 and is thus the most widespread in southern Rus¹⁷ (ibid., 47).¹⁴⁴

The scholar knows a good deal about the variant that he calls the "Galician or Dnister dialect" (ibid., 41). According to him, it "is spoken by the Ruthenian community throughout Galicia, from the upper reaches of the Lomnytsia and Bystrytsia [Rivers] and in the Chornohora [Mountains] all the way to the sources of the Strypa and Lypa [Rivers] and the Holohory highlands" (ibid.),¹⁴⁵ totaling "approximately 1,360,000" speakers (ibid., 48). The Galician dialect, according to Holovac'kyj, "is marked by the narrow vowels ϵ and e, a truncated instrumental

^{141 &}quot;Съ пъснями (думами, думками) розширилося се наръчье ще давно по всъй Галиччинъ; самû Горяне (Гуцулы, Верховинцъ, Бойки, Лемки) спъваютъ пъснъ украинского похоженья (козацькіи) по тамошнему выговору, коли тымчасомъ вълиричнымъ спъванкахъ (коломыйкахъ, шалалайкахъ и др.) и обрядовыхъ пъсняхъ заховуютъ свое помъстне наръчіе."

^{142 &}quot;[...] ще до сеи поры въ декотрыхъ сторонахъ уважаютъ въ народъ Украинске наръчіє буцъмъ красче, благороднъйше."

^{143 &}quot;[...] коли паробок зайде за рѣку Середъ або Бугъ, та перейме тамошню бесѣду, а повернувши до дому стане закидати по ихному, то посмѣвкуются єму: Ось диви, якій менѣ шляхтичь, вже навчився: теля, шапка (вм. тельє, шьепка) говорити."

^{144 &}quot;[...] около 300 тысячь Народа въ Галиціи. Въ Росіи (взявши въ одно всѣ незначнû рознорѣчія малорускіи) бесѣдує нимъ 10,370,000; разомъ съ тотыми буде 10,670,000 а тымъ самымъ є оно найобширнѣйше на южной Руси."

^{145 &}quot;[Ним] [...] говорить міръ рускій по цѣло̂й Галиччинѣ о̂ть вершинъ Ло̂мницѣ, Быстрицѣ и Чорногоры ажъ до жерелъ Стрыпы, Липы и верховинъ Голого̂рскихъ."

case in *OBD*, *eBD*, ¹⁴⁶ and the elimination of the parenthetical λ , μ , etc." (Holovac'kyj 1849: 43).¹⁴⁷ He notes that

in certain places there are still individual variations, but they are so frequently repeated that it is impossible to separate and identify them by locale; e.g., they say *медъ* and *мъдъ*, *камень* and *камѣнь*, *лень* and *льонъ*, *сго* and *ioгo*, *него ннього* [sic],¹⁴⁸ *трошки*, *трішки*, *глыбокій* and *глубокій* (and *глѣбокій*), Хведько, *хвалити*, and Федько, *фалити*, *хустка*, and *фустка*: in some places *з* is pronounced hard, like *дз*: *дзерно*, *дзеленый*; *с* like *ц* (*mc*), *цей*, *цело* instead of *ceй*, *ceлo*;¹⁴⁹ and in

- 147 "[...] о́тзначуєся вузкими самогласными є и е, скороченымъ творит. пад. на *овъ, евъ,* вымѣтованьємъ вставочного *л*, *н* и пр."
- 148 The grammar states: "In some parts of Galicia they say (io) or (o) instead of (e), (c), in the words *iozo*, нього, іом8, сльозы: всіо, ліонъ, instead of его, него, єм8, слезы, все, ленъ, and in the instrumental case: злод Біомь, кам вньомь, ткачомь and the vocative зазульо instead of: злод Бемь, кам вньемь, ткачемь, зазвле. In those cases, the pronunciation is designated by two dots (ë, с), or they write (іо ьо. о)" (Holovac'kyj 1849b: 7). See also this description: "But there are other cases in which the (e) and (c) are replaced by (o, io), either in the universal Little Russian pronunciation or only in certain areas as a local pronunciation.... In such cases, they change the adjective with a soft ending (e) to (io); e.g., синіого, синіом, синіои, синіою. However, they also say синего, синемя, от синого, синомя, etc.... Occasionally, the root (e) in the general pronunciation is retained, and only in some locales is it changed to (o) or (io). In the following cases, in some places they change (e) to (o): a) ...e.g., instead of б8жемъ, ткачемъ, товаришемъ, плащемъ...б8жомъ, ткачомъ, товаришомъ, плащомъ... b) [in the instrumental and vocative cases]...in some places they say δ±жοю, κ8чою, α8чою, n8щою; δ±жо [!], κ 4.0 [!], ∂ 4.0 [!], n 4.0 [!]... In the following cases, in some locales they change the (e) and (e) to (io): a) ...коваліомъ, злод ѣіомъ, гребеніомъ...коре́ніомъ, насѣніомъ...поліомъ, моріомъ, горіомъ..., b) [in the instrumental and vocative cases] господиніовъ, вблоніовъ; господиніо [!], вблоніо [!]; качатіомъ, тельтіомъ... с) In certain words: e.g., they say всю, всюля, всюмя, всюц; юго, нюго, сюля; люнъ, criosol" (ibid., 21–22). See also: "In the Galician and mountain dialects...the (e) and (c) are sometimes changed in the vocative case to (io); e.g., 3a38xio, doxio, 3xio instead of 3a38xe, doxe, 3xiie" (ibid., 72); "In the Galician and mountain dialects, in the instrumental case singular, they change the (e) to (io) and say nnemetions, nouamions, K8pamions, etc." (ibid., 84-85). "In certain locales, especially in the mountain and Dnister regions, they also use омъ instead of емъ; е.g., плечомъ, огнищомъ" (ibid., 75); "In the Galician and mountain dialects that (e) is changed to (o, io): рожою, кашою" (ibid., 68); "In the Galician and mountain dialects they end the instrumental case singular in a truncated fashion: in names with a hard ending in (овъ, оу) and with a soft ending in (евъ, еу) or (свъ, су); е.g., ноговъ, долевь, стаєвь. In some regions that (e) and (c) are transformed into io, e.g., долювь, стаювь" (ibid., 72). See, finally: "In the Volhynian-Podilian dialect, sibilant consonants are mostly used instead of hard ones; e.g., м8жь instead of м8жа; колачь, колача, колачами, колачахь, etc. But in the dative and instrumental singular they remove the soft-ending declension A; e.g., dat. колачеви, instr. колачемь, плащеви-плащемъ" (ibid., 61).
- 149 See the grammar: "(3) is pronounced in some places as (д3); e.g., дзвоїнь, дзеленый, дзерно; just like (c) similarly to (тс) or (ц), e.g., цей, цело; but in the pure pronunciation of Ruthenian, one should write and say звоїнь, зеленый, зерно; сей, село" ((3) вымовльють гдекяда вакь (д3); н.пр. дзвоїнь, дзеленый, дзерно; такъ вакъ (с) подобно до (тс) або (ц) н.пр. цей, цело; но чистомя выговоря р8скомя

¹⁴⁶ See also: "In the Galician and mountain dialects, they like to truncate the instrumental case singular: e.g., ночевъ, костевъ, смертевъ, церквовъ...instead of...церквою." ("Въ галицко̂мъ и го̂рско̂мъ нарѣчію люблатъ творительный падежъ единств. числа скорочати: н.пр. ночевъ, костевъ, смертевъ, церквовъ ... зам. ... церквою") (Holovac'kyj 1849b: 81); "In the Galician and Hungarian dialects, in the feminine singular of the instrumental case, they change the ending ою to овь, ею to евъ [ь ъ sic]; e.g., доброю, добровъ, птичею, птичевъ." ("Въ галицко̂мъ и оуторско̂мъ нарѣчію перетворюютъ въ творительно̂мъ падежѣ въ женско̂мъ родѣ единственного числа зако̂нченіа ою на овъ, ею на евъ [ь ъ sic]; н.пр. доброю, добровъ, птичею, птичевъ." ("Въ галицко̂мъ и оуторско̂мъ нарѣчію перетворюютъ въ творительно̂мъ падежѣ въ женско̂мъ родѣ единственного числа зако̂нченіа ою на овъ, ею на евъ [ь ъ sic]; н.пр. доброю, добровъ, птичевъ." (iBъ галицко̂мъ и оуторско̀мъ нарѣчію перетворюютъ въ творительно̂мъ падежѣ въ женско̀мъ пообъвъ, невъ." ("Въ галицко̀мъ и по̀о на овъ, ею на евъ [ь ъ sic]; н.пр. доброю, добровъ, птичею, птичевъ." (iBъ галицко̀мъ и по̀о на овъ, ею на евъ [ь ъ sic]; н.пр. доброю, добровъ, птичею, птичевъ." (iBъ галицко̀мъ и по̀рско̀мъ нарѣчію оуживаеса скороченый творительный падежъ: мновъ, тобовъ, невъ") (ibid., 123); "The instrumental...in those dialects is...товъ сесевъ instead of тою, сею." ("Творительный ... въ тыхже нарѣчі́ахъ ... товъ сесевъ зам. тою, сею") (ibid., 125).

certain places in Pokutia *m* [is pronounced] like к: кежко, кѣсто instead of *тяжко, тѣсто*. The Hutsuls, being mountain people, have adopted much from the mountain dialect; in the lower Sian region, all three dialects seem to blend into one another. Sometimes a certain feature of one dialect shifts into another, e.g., the diminutive ойкій, ейкій (instead of онькій, енькій) is spoken practically throughout the district of Zhovkva and part of Zolochiv, and, contrariwise, the Ukrainian *a* instead of *ae* (*просыха* instead of *просыхае*) is prevalent in the region of the Galician dialect in the Zhovkva and Zolochiv districts¹⁵⁰ (Holovac'kyj 1849: 55–56).¹⁵¹

Holovac'kyj also offers much information about the "mountain dialect" that "is spoken (except for the Hutsuls, who speak Galician with certain variations) by all the mountain Ruthenians from the Poprad River all the way to the upper reaches of the Bystrytsia and Tysa [Rivers]," or, in greater detail, "along the very mountain ridge and on both sides of our mountains and valleys, along the river plains of the upper Dnister, Váh, Sian, and Wisłok, and, in the Hungarian foothills, along the rivers Ondava, Laborec, Vuh (*Ung*), Latorytsia, and Bodrog all the way to the valleys of the Tysa," altogether by "approximately 1,060,000" speakers (Holovac'kyj 1849: 43–44, 48).¹⁵² According to Holovac'kyj, this dialect "has preserved many ancient old-world Slavic words, aphorisms, and images" and "is somewhat similar to the Slovak and Czech languages, as Galician is to Serbian [!]" (ibid., 44).¹⁵³ Finally, it "likes the broad vowels *a* and *a*, the truncated instrumental case in *o6b*, *e6b*...it distinguishes between the (coarse) *bi* and *u*; it especially likes the coarse *bi* after the glottals *z*, κ , *x*, as in the old Ruthenian and Church Slavonic languages" (ibid., 45).¹⁵⁴ In his *Treatise*, Holovac'kyj describes in quite considerable detail the boundaries

повинно сл писати и говорити: зво̂нь, зеленый, зерно; сей, село (Holovac'kyj 1849b: 9).

¹⁵⁰ See the addendum in the grammar: "In certain parts they pronounce (Λ) like (B) even at the end of nouns; e.g., ∂ôsъ, sôsъ, opesъ, instead of ∂ôлъ, sôлъ, opesъ. But that is a local pronunciation; one must write and read ∂ôлъ, sôлъ, opesъ [this is repeated on p. 25, where the word copѣsκa is added]" (Holovac'kyj 1849b: 10).

^{151 &}quot;[...] въ денекотрыхъ мѣстцяхъ суть еще сукромû розности, але они такъ зъ густа повторяются, що роздѣлити ихъ и мѣстность означити не можна; н. пр. кажутъ: медъ и мѣдъ, камень камѣнь, лень и льонъ, его и ioгo, него ннього [sic] трошки, трішки, глыбокій и глубокій (и глѣбокій), Хведько, квалити и Федько, фалити, хустка и фустка: з вымовляютъ декуда твердо нибы дз: дзерно, дзеленый; с якъ ц (mc), цей, цело зам. сей, село; а декуда на Покутью т подобно якъ к: кежко, късто зам. тяжко, тѣсто. Гуцулы, яко горяне, перехопили богато изъ го̀рского нарѣчіа; над нижнимъ Сяномъ неяко сходятся всѣ три нарѣчія съ собою. Часомъ деяке знамя одного нарѣчія переходитъ въ друге н. пр. уменш. ойкій, ейкій (зам. онькій, енькій) говорится ледви не по цѣло̂мъ Жовко̀вско̂мъ окрузѣ и части Золоче̂вского, а на о̀твороть украинске а зам. ас (просыла зам. просылас) розширено въ области Галицкого нарѣчья въ Жовко̀вско̂мъ и Золоче̂вско̀мъ округахь."

^{152 &}quot;[Ним] говорять (кромъ Гуцуловъ, котри Галицк. говорять изъ декотрыми отмънами) всъ горяне руски отъ Попрада ажъ до вершинъ Быстрицъ и Тисы [...] самымъ хребтомъ и по обохъ убочахъ горъ нашихъ доловъ поръчьями горъшного Днъстра, Вагра, Сяна, Вислока, а на угорскомъ подгорью понадъ ръками Ондавою, Лаборицею, Вугомъ (Ungh), Латорицею, Агомъ ажъ до долинъ Потисскихъ."

^{153 &}quot;[...] заховало богато сло̂въ, изреченій и видо̂въ стародавныхъ, старосвѣтскихъ словенскихъ [...] дещо оно збиваєся на языкъ словацкій и ческій, такъ якъ галицке на сербскій."

^{154 &}quot;[...] любитъ широкіи самогласни а и я, скороченый творит. падежь на овъ, евъ ... розличає (грубе) ы и и, особливо любитъ по гортанныхъ г, к, х грубе ы, якъ въ давно̂мъ руско̂мъ и церковнословенско̂мъ языкахъ."

of "these three dialects," the boundaries of the mountain dialects described above [ibid., 46–47]:

The Volhynian-Podilian dialect is distinguished from the Galician along this boundary: from the Dnister below Zalishchyky to the north near Borshchiv and Kopychyntsi, past Budzaniv near Mykulyntsi to Ternopil, and then upriver along the Seret to the village of Hliadky, from there to the west above Ozerna and Zboriv (between Nesterovtsi and Hodoryshche, past Oliiv and Lopushany between Nyshche [*sic*] and Kruhove) to Zolochiv, from Zolochiv downriver along the Buzhok (between Khylkivka and Horodyliv, Zhulychi and Pochapy) to Bilyi Kamin, from there along the Buh (between Utishkiv and Humnyske) to Buzke, from Buzke along the river to Kamianka and Dobrotvir westward to Velyki Mosty on the Rata River, and then upriver along the Rata (between Prystan and Liubel) to the town of Rava Ruska, from Rava to Narol to the Tanev River, etc. In Galicia, this dialect covers the smaller half of the Chortkiv district and about half of the Ternopil, Zolochiv, and Zhovkva districts.

The Galician dialect occupies the middle part of Galicia, i.e., the southern half of Zhovkva and Zolochiv [districts], the western part of [the districts of] Ternopil and Chortkiv, Bukovyna (since there are Rus' there), all of Kolomyia, Stanyslaviv, Berezhany, Lviv, Stryi (except the southwestern corner), the northern part of Sambir, and the eastern edge of Peremyshl [districts]. Boundaries: From the upper reaches of the Rata River southward between Yavoriv and Yaniv past Vyshnia to Khyriv, from Khyriv eastward between Staryi Mist and the town of Sambir to Drohobych, from there southward between Oriv and Ulych to Skole and to the Opir River, and along the mountain ridge past Kamianka, Briazhka, Lypa, Mizun, and Niahryn to the upper reaches of the Limnytsia [Lomnytsia], from there along the border to the upper reaches of the Bystrytsia, crossing from there to the Hungarian side, taking in Mokra and Brustury (Hungarian), Yasinia past Rakhiv, Poliana to Vyshiv to the upper reaches of the Bila Tysa and the Bukovynian borders (Holovac'kyj 1849: 47–48).¹⁵⁵

^{155 &}quot;Волынско-подольске наръчіє отдъляєся отъ галицкого по сей черть: отъ Днъстра понизше Залъщикъ на съверъ коло Борщева, Копачинець по при Будзановъ подъ Микулинцъ икъ Тернополю и далъй горъ Середомъ до села Глядокъ, отти на западъ повыше Озърнои и Зборова (помеже Нестеровцями и Годорищемъ попри Олъевъ, Лопушаны помеже Нищемъ [sic] и Круговомъ) къ Золочеву, отъ Золочева доловъ ръкою Бужкомъ (помеже Хильчичами и Городиловомъ, Жуличами и Почапами) подъ Бълый Камень, отти по Бузъ (помеже Уцъшковомъ и Гумнисками) до Бузька, отъ Бузька по ръцъ до Камянки и Добротвора, отъ Добротвора на западъ до Мостовъ Вел. на ръцъ Ратъ, и далъй горъ Ратою (помеже Пристаньємъ и Любелью) до мѣста Равы Рускои, о́тъ Равы до Нароля икъ рѣцѣ Таньвѣ и т. д. Нарѣчьє се займає въ Галиччинѣ меншу половицю Чортковского, около половины Тернопольского, Золочевского и Жовковского обводовъ. – Галицке наръчіє займає середнюю часть Галиціи т. є. южную половину Жовковского и Золочевского, западную половину Тернопольского и Чортковского, Буковину (позакилько тамки Руси), цълый Коломыйскій, Станиславскій, Бережанскій, Льво̂вскій, Стрыйскій (окромъ югозападного угла), съверную часть Самборского и восточный окраєкъ Перемышлского. Границъ: Отъ вершинъ Раты на полудне помеже Яворовомъ и Яновомъ по при Вишню къ Хирову, отъ Хирова къ востоку помеже Старымъ Мъстомъ и городомъ Самборомъ икъ Дрогобичи, отти на югъ помеже Оріовымъ и Уличномъ до Сколего и до ръки Опора, и хребтомъ горъ поза Камянку, Бряжку, Липу, Мъзуню, Нягринъ до вершинъ Ломницъ, отти границею до верховъ Быстрицъ, воттакъ перейшовши на угорску сторону, зачеркнувши Мокру, Брустуры (угорски̂), Ясино̂въ по при Рахово, Поляну къ Вышеєву къ верху Бѣлои Тисы и границямъ Буковинскимъ."

Volbynian-Pod[ilian]

In addition, Holovac'kyj names twenty features that he considers typical of these dialects. The most important of these materials are compiled in the following list, which has been slightly altered and modernized (Holovac'kyj 1849: 48–55):

Volhynian-Pod[ilian] or Ukrainian Dia[lects]	Galician	Mountain
[1. reflexes of *dj]: меже (мѣж), чужій, хожу (ходжу)	"ж, sometimes дж": меже, чужій (чїжій) ¹⁵⁶	"дж everywhere": медже, чуджый (чюджый)
[2. reflex of * <i>Cъj-e</i>]: насѣннья ¹⁵⁷	Насѣньє	насѣнья [!]
[3. reflex of *CLьC, *CLъC]: кровавый, тревати	кервавый, тервати	крьвавый (крьвачный), трьвати
[4. reflexes of the weak Jer in the group <i>СьjС</i>]: бью, бьєшъ	быю, бьєшъ	бію, бієшъ ¹⁵⁸
[5. retention of ы]: гину, кидати, хижа	гину, кидати, хижа	гыну, кыдати, хыжа
[6. primary and secondary epenthetic l]: сплю, сплять, здоровля	спью, спьять "(along the Prut спя)," здоровье (лье) ¹⁵⁹	спью, спьять, здоровья

156 On alternation in verbal paradigms, see also: "In the Galician dialect the root ∂ is retained next to ж: гладж8, гладженъ" ["Въ галицко̂мъ нарѣчію при ж оудерж8ютъ коре̂нне д: гладж8, гладженъ"] (Holovac'kyj 1849b: 142).

- 157 Cf. the grammar: "In collective and verbal nouns ending in *ehbe, ehbe, that* (e) also shifts to (b) because in the Ruthenian pronunciation *Hb*, *λb*, (and *pb*) in such instances it is pronounced strongly (with emphasis), as though it were divided in two, and thus it seems to support the (e) and contract it, e.g., *cnacehbe, kanenbe* [sic, e], *BeeeAbe, nepbe* are pronounced like *cnacBhb-hbe, kanEhb-hbe, BeeCAbb-hbe, cnacBhb-hbe, kanEhb-hbe, BeeCAbb-hbe, nepbe* are pronounced like *cnacBhb-hbe, kanEhb-hbe, kanEhb-hbe, beeCabb-hbe, nepbe* are pronounced like *cnacBhb-hbe, kanEhb-hbe, kanEhb-hbe,*
- 158 Cf. also the verbal forms from *Cbj-: "The roots би- пи- in the verbs бити, пити also change into b: быю, пью замѣсть бію, пію (as they speak in the Sanok district)." ["Коренѣ би- пи- въ глаголахъ бити, пити перемѣнѧютъ и въ b: быю, пью замѣсть бію, пію (акъ тое въ Сѧноцкôмъ окр8зѣ говорѧтъ)"] (Holovac'kyj 1849b: 139).
- 159 The grammar cites the form *3доровью* without additional comment (Holovac'kyj 1849b: 13). Elsewhere, the author writes: "Here and there, (Δ) is also inserted into neuter nouns in (B&e and Δ): pronouncing *3доровью*, *4доб*, *4doб*, *4*

NEW CONTRIBUTIONS TO THE HISTORY OF THE UKRAINIAN LANGUAGE

[7. reflex with o in newly closed syllables]: "ô (like i, does not soften the preceding)" до̂мъ, со̂ль, во̂нъ, го̂ркій; (дімъ [])	"ô (like softened, because of that the preceding is softened)" δômъ, côль, sôнъ, zôpĸiü; (ð±mъ [])	"ô like the coarse ("грубе") i (и, û, or ы)" дûмъ, сûль, винъ, гыркый
 [8. prothetical consonants]: "likes the aspirated г": горобець, гострый, говесъ, горати (or even острый, овесъ, орати) 	"likes the aspirated в (occasionally drops в)": воробець, вострый, вовесь, ворати	"likes the aspirated й (j) or without aspirates": йострый, йовесь, йорати [sic]
[9. reflex a after soft consonants]: мясо (мнясо), жаль ¹⁶⁰	мьесо (мньесо), жель	мьясо "(without н)," жяль
[10. epenthetic н]: памнять	памьєть ¹⁶¹	Память
[11. reflexes < -еньк-, -оньк-]: бѣленькій, хатонька, дѣвонька	бѣленькій, хатонька, дѣвонька	бѣлейкій, хатойка, дѣвойка

160 See the grammar: "In the Dnister dialect, the letters ($_{A}$) after a consonant and ($_{a}$) after x, y, u, u are pronounced as a soft e or e; e.g., жель, чесь, шепка, щестье, затевсе, ресный, петь; but, according to the general Little Russian pronunciation, one should say and write *жаль*, чась, шапка, щастье, затляса, расный, пать, etc." (Holovac'kyj 1849b: 6); "In dialects the consonants (ж, ч, ш, щ) are sometimes used as soft ones, sometimes as hard ones. Thus, in the mountain and Galician dialects, they pronounce [them] as soft ones or thin consonants; e.g., the gen. case of $h\partial x_b$ [is] $h\partial x_b$, ($h\partial x_c$), dat. ножіови, instr. ножіомъ, loc. въ нож \hbar , (и); nom. pl. нож \hbar , gen. нож \hbar въ, (\hat{e} въ), dat. ножамъ, (ножемъ), instr. ножами, (ножеми), loc. ножахъ, (ножехъ -ѣхъ). Also declined in similar fashion are other nouns that end in (ж, ч, ш, щ), е.g., м8жъ, б8жъ, товаришъ, колачъ, плъшъ, кнышъ, хр8щъ, плащъ, etc." (ibid., 61). The shift 'a > e' is also frequently mentioned in chapters on morphology: "In accordance with the pronunciation of the Galician dialect, (A) is pronounced after a consonant and (a) (x, u, u, u, u) as a soft (є, ье); e.g., поле, gen. польє, pl. nouns, also польє, dat. польємъ, instr. польєми, loc. польєхъ... the same: *сердце, оконце, плече, збо̂же, дътище....*" (ibid., 79). "In the Galician pronunciation, they also transform (A) after a consonant and (a) after (x, y, u, u, u) into a soft (ε , be) or (e, \mathfrak{h}), e.g., *kocmbenth*, (емь), костьеми, костехъ, (ѣхъ), мышьемъ, мышьеми, мышехъ, г8шьемъ, -ьеми, -ѣхъ. Sometimes that (e, ħ,) is changed to (o, io) and pronounced *костіовъ*, *костіовъ*, *костіовъ*, etc." (ibid., 81). "From the standpoint of dialectism, only those changes in the Galician and mountain dialects that truncate the instrumental case to esb, (iosb) appear in this declension; in the dative, instrumental, and locative plural they pronounce after a consonant and (a) after (x, y, u, u, u) as (ε) or (\mathfrak{h}_{r}); e.g., *костьемь*, костьеми, костьехь, -ѣхъ, мышьемъ, мышьеми, мышьехъ" (ibid., 82). "In the Galician dialect (A) is pronounced after a consonant and (a) after (x, y, u, u) as (ϵ) . And here that rule stands in the pronunciation; e.g., *т*ъмѧ, *с*ъмѧ, *телѧ*, *лоша* are pronounced as *т*ъмьє, *с*ъмье, *тель*є, *лошь*є, etc." (ibid., 85). "In the Galician (or Dnister) dialect they pronounce the (A) after a consonant in the nom. singular, dative, and instrumental plural as (ε), and in the locative of that same number as (e, ε) or (ѣ), e.g., nom. case господинье, д8лье, зорье, пѣснье, ызье, instr. pl. господиньеми, д8льеми...loc. господинѣхъ, д8лѣхъ, зорѣхъ, пѣснехъ, взьехъ. Occasionally, that (e, ϵ) is changed to (io), which they then pronounce as nachioxb, naeuoxb, etc." (ibid., 72). "As is generally known, the ending -ox in fact derives from -'ax (< -'ax)." See also the author's commentaries on verbs: "In keeping with folk dialects of various locales, the following changes appear in conjugations: a) In the Dnister dialect they pronounce -a after ж, ч, ш, щ and -A- after a consonant as -e-: ...лежеть, мовчеть...лежевь, лежели, мовчевъ, мовчели...лежевшій...." (ibid., 184–85).

161 The grammar notes the following about the epenthetic *n*: "Occasionally, (*M*) before soft [letters] takes on a smooth (*H*), e.g., *UMHA*, *naMHAMD*, *MHACO*." (Holovac'kyj 1849b: 13).

[12. verbal paradigms in the present tense]: чую, чуєшъ; спѣваю, -аєшъ, -ає, -а; -аємъ, -аємо, -аєте, -аютъ; ходить, носить; ходять, носять ¹⁶³	чую, чуешъ; [спѣв]аю, -аешъ, -ае; [спѣв]аемъ, -аемо, -аете, -аютъ; ходитъ, носить (ходи); ходеть, носеть ("along the Prut" ходя, нося "like Slovak").	чуу, ч,ешь [this is how Holovac'kyj records the shortening] ¹⁶² ; спѣва-у, -аешь (-ашъ), -ть (in Hung. спѣвать); [спѣв]аме, -ате, -аутъ; ходитъ, носитъ; ходятъ, носятъ ¹⁶⁴
[13. forms of the imperative]: бери, ходи, возьми, берѣмъ, ходѣмъ, возьмѣмъ (ог берѣмо,	"also thus ";	берь, ходь, возь, берме, ходьме
ходѣмо, etc.: берѣть, ходѣть, возьмѣть (or берѣте, ходѣте)	берѣтъ, ходѣтъ, возьмѣтъ	берьте, ходьте, возьте "(similar to Czech)" ¹⁶⁵
[14. его versus його]: въ его, въіого [sic], до іого, о̂тъ іого ¹⁶⁶	въ него (въ ніого), до него, о̂тъ него	въ ніого, до ніого, о̂тъ ніого
[15. a prothetical н in pronouns]: въ его, въіого [sic], до іого, о̀тъ іого ¹⁶⁷	въ него (въ ніого), до него, о̂тъ него	въ ніого, до ніого, о̂тъ ніого

- 162 Cf. also: "In the mountain dialect and certain areas of the Peremyshl land, they like to shorten...they say бешъ, бе, беме, бете, which sometimes also function with other verbs, e.g., ч8сшъ, they say чешъ" (Holovac'kyj 1849b: 160).
- 163 Cf. also: "In the Volhynian-Ukrainian dialect they pronounce the third pers. in both numbers and the second pers. pl. in the imperative mood softly: xo∂umb, hocumb, xo∂amb, hocamb, xo∂bmb, hocbmb. Also, in the second conjugation in the third pers. sing., they drop the -e; e.g., 3Ha, cnbba, npocuxa" (Holovac'kyj 1849b: 184–85).
- 164 Cf.: "Above the Prut in the Pokuttia region...in the third person pl. in the present tense of the indicative mood they drop -mb in third conjugation verbs, pronouncing xo∂a', Hoca' (or xo∂be, Hocbe).... In the mountain dialect, they also like to shorten tense endings, and so they say (dropping the aspirated -ü- or -e-) in the present tense, e.g., cnbaa-euub (or cnbaaub) cnbaamb, cnbaame, cnbaame, cnbaawb, cnbaamb, cnbaamb,
- 165 The grammar also discusses various forms of the infinitive: "e.g., instead of *Mozmu*, *δ*6zmu, *Λ*Δzmu, *nekmu*, *втекти*, *товкти* (as they are often used in Ukraine), it is usually said in Ruthenian: *мочи*, *б*6чи, *Λ*Δчи, *печи*, *втечи*, *товчи*" (Holovac'kyj 1849b: 28). Elsewhere, the author writes: "In certain parts they say xodu, *нocu*, *xod*Δ, *нoca*, instead of *xodumь*, *xod*Δ*mb* [the soft -*mb* ending is not mentioned here]" (Holovac'kyj 1849b: 36).
- 166 Cf. also: "In the mountain dialect after (ж, ч, ш, щ) instead of (o) they use (e); e.g., свѣжай, свѣжаа, свѣжее, gen. свѣжее, свѣжее, dat. свѣжем, свѣжей, ссвѣжѣй)...etc.... In the mountains of southeastern Galicia, they say свѣжее, свѣжее, свѣжее,..." (Holovac'kyj 1849b: 93–94).
- 167 The grammar notes: "In Ukraine they do not insert that (н) after prepositions, but a pronoun is used alone: e.g., до его (іого) говоривъ, на еи подививсѧ, о (объ) ихъ д&мае" (Holovac'kyj 1849b: 123).

[16. forms of the verb *byti]: бути, бувь, була, бувати, бувши ¹⁶⁸	бути, бувъ(ємъ), була, бувати, бувши	быти, бывъ(ємъ), была, бывати
[17. fem. nouns in the instr. sing.] рукою, моєю (rarely рукой, etc.)	руковъ, моєвъ (sometimes ою, only in songs):	руковъ, моєвъ (and рукоу)
[18. truncated endings of plural adjectives]: чорнû (i)	Чорнъ	Чорны
[19. personal forms in past tense verbs, etc.]: я, ты, во̂нъ спѣвавъ; мы, вы, они спѣвали ¹⁶⁹	спѣвавъ-ємъ, спѣваламъ-омъ спѣвавъ-єсь-лась; спѣвалисьмо, спѣвалисьте-ли	спѣвавъ-емъ etc. спѣвавъ-есь-ласъ, спѣвалисме, спѣвалисте-ли
[20. dat. pl.]: хлопцямъ, дѣвчатамъ, воламъ, волонькамъ ¹⁷⁰	хлопцьємъ, дѣвчьетамъ, воламъ, волонькамъ	хлопцѣмъ, дѣвчатѣмъ, воли̂мъ, волойки̂мъ

- 168 Initially, the author of the grammar writes about "the past tense of the root δbl -, from which the past tense of $\delta b \delta \sigma b (\delta b \lambda \tau b)$ and the indefinite mood $\delta b \delta m u$ are derived (people also say $\delta \delta \sigma b, \delta \delta m u$)" (Holovac'kyj 1849b: 55), and continues: "the verb б8ти (быти)" and the forms "б8въ (бывъ, былъ), б8ла, б8ло (была, было)" (ibid., 155, 158). Holovac'kyj is evidently uncertain about which form should be regarded as correct. Elsewhere, he writes about the geographic dissemination of these forms: "In the western districts of the Galician-Ruthenian land and most of Hungarian Rus', they use быти, бывати in the indefinite mood, бывъ in the past tense..., in the eastern districts of Galicia as well as in Volhynia, Podilia, and Ukraine (i.e., all of southern Rus'), everywhere they say 68mu, 68samu...." (ibid., 160). Holovac'kyj adds: "In the mountains of southeastern Galicia, in the first person sing. of the conditional mood they say быхь instead of бымь; бывь быхь, была быхь, было быхь, and in the plural, были быхмо...." (ibid., 160–61). On the forms of the verb бути, cf. also: "In the present tense of the root ec-, from which [derive] all persons in the present tense and the participle in that tense, the following are formed: *EMD*, *ECU*, *ECMD*, *ECDMO*, *CCDMO*, *CSMD*, attention must be focused on the forms ϵ_{Mb} ; cf.: "the verb $\epsilon_{CMb}(\epsilon_{Mb})$ " (ibid., 154), ϵ_{CMb} and c_{YMb} with the soft sign (versus ecmb) and ecbmo, ecbme with the soft sign; cf. also: "In the mountain dialect the ending -e instead of -o is used in the plural; e.g., есме, сме, бядеме, бядьме, бялисьме, but in Ukraine the third person plural ends in -b: c8mb, 6808mb. Those endings are used in all other verbs in similar cases" (ibid., 160).
- 169 Cf. also the incorrect interpretation of the form мали'мь (which probably derives from the shortened мали ми): "Along the Prut in Pokutia they shorten the first person past tense of the indicative mood and say: мали'мъ ходили'мъ instead of мали съмо, ходили съмо" ("Надъ Прутомъ на Покутью скорочаютъ первоє лице минувшого времени изъявит. наклоненія и кажуть: мали'мъ ходили'мъ зам. мали съмо, ходили съмо") (Holovac'kyj 1849b: 184–85).

[21. individual word		
forms]: ¹⁷¹		
той, сей, се	тотъ (тототъ) сесь	тотъ, сей, сесъ
вже, уже, лишъ	вже, уже, лишъ	юже (ю), ужъ, лемъ (немъ)
хай, нехай, для	най, нехай, для (длє)	няй, ньєй, дьля, дѣля
нынѣ, сегодне	нынѣ, сегодне	днесь, днесь, днеська
къ, икъ (икъ менѣ)	къ, ко	дъ (дъ мѣнѣ)
ничого, нищо	нѣчого, нѣцъ	ничь, ништо
дуже	дуже, барзъ	барзъ
черезъ	черезъ, безъ	черезъ, чрезъ, брезъ, безъ
все, усе	все, всіо	вшитко

In addition to localized features, Holovac'kyj lists others that, according to him, occur "sometimes" ("часомъ") or "in some places" ("инкуда"):

A weak consonant before a strong one is pronounced strongly; e.g., скобка is pronounced as скопка, вторый... ϕ торый, впасти... ϕ пасти, въ хлѣбѣ... ϕ хлѣбѣ [with regard to $s > \phi$, these statements are dubious], nôdъ столомъ...nômстоломъ, гладкїй...глаткїй, легко...лехко, легше...лекше, ногтѣ...нохтѣ, везти...вести... At the end of a word, the consonant is pronounced appropriately strongly... лобъ is pronounced like лопъ... (Holovac'kyj 1849b: 29, 31).

Holovac'kyj observes that "in certain locales, in the comparative and superlative degrees, especially before (с, з), they change (ш) into (ч); at the same time, (с) is changed to (ш) and (з) to (ж); e.g., вышчій, крашчій, нижчій, ближчій. Sometimes even before (н, ст); e.g., тончій, кращій, гущій, etc." (Holovac'kyj 1849b: 102); cf. also: низче along with низше (ibid., 31).

Holovac'kyj also discusses various morphological phenomena of a dialectal nature, noting in particular that "occasionally they use the masculine ending ($\hat{O}B\bar{D}$) in the genitive case plural, e.g., $\delta a \delta \delta \sigma \delta \sigma$, $na H H \delta \sigma \delta \sigma$, $se M A \bar{b} \sigma \delta \sigma \delta \sigma$." (ibid., 72), and that "fifth-declension nouns ending in (MA) are sometimes declined as third-declension nouns ending in (e). That happens especially in the Galician dialect, which likes to pronounce (A) as (ε), and in pronunciation it thus approaches the third declension. Therefore, in certain places they say: uMA ($uMb\varepsilon$), gen. uMA, dat. uMbio, instr. uMbembo or uMioMb, in the plural uMA, dat. uMAMD, instr. uMAMU, loc. $\sigma b uMAXD$ " (ibid., 84).¹⁷² His comments on the particle used in forming the third-person imperative are also interesting: "The third person of the imperative mood in both singular and

¹⁷¹ Holovac'kyj notes in his grammar: "In Ukraine, they say: возьме, только, сколько instead of возьме, только, колько" (Holovac'kyj 1849b: 19); "In Ukraine they say: вочи, gen. вочь. – Око, in the sense of weight (3 pounds), is declined correctly: plural number—ока, окъ, окамь, etc." (ibid., 78). Holovac'kyj also writes about the (lexically connected) vestiges of the dual number: "In the old Ruthenian language, the dual number was also used to express two persons or things. Only a certain trace of it is left now, e.g., in the forms двъ нозъ, объ p\$uъ" (ibid., 53). Cf. also: "To this day in Pokutia they say боле, which means добре [good]. Красийй (красийй) is the actual comparative degree of the adjective красный" (ibid., 101).

¹⁷² As is generally known, this paradigm shift is not only a Galician phenomenon.

plural adopts in the third person in the indicative mood the particle *Hexaŭ* (or the shortened *Haŭ*, *HAŬ*, *HeŨ*; in Ukraine *xaŭ*), which comes from the verb *Hexamu*...." (ibid., 157). It is worth mentioning that Holovac'kyj occasionally points out "Ukrainian forms"; see his attitude to adjectival possessive pronouns: "In Ukraine they sometimes pronounce *HacbKïŨ* instead of *HaUD*, *HaUA*, *HAUA*, *MXHOA*, *MXHOA*,

Quite often the grammarian lists forms that are considered dialectal in present-day linguistics. These forms are usually preserved in the dialects spoken in Galicia.¹⁷³ With regard to forms of the personal pronoun, Holovac'kyj writes: "In the Galician and mountain dialects...also partly in Ukraine, in the genitive, accusative, and dative cases singular they like to change ϵ to *io*: and in certain locales they say ioro, ions, hions instead of ero, ens, hero, hens" (ibid., 123). In the paradigm, he not only frequently shows a preference for traditional and Galician forms but also adds the specifically western Ukrainian dialect forms M8, 10: "620 (1020), 6M8, M8, ion8, ей, ѣй; accusative case єю, ю; о нимъ (нѣмъ)" (ibid., 121). Shortened forms of the instrumental case *mobobb*, *cobobb*, *viesb* [*sic*, with *b*], and *Hebb* appear without comment alongside тобою, собою, чією, and нею (ibid., 121, 128). Forms of the genitive cases of the possessive pronouns *моего* (*мого*) *моеи* (*моей*) are also cited without comment in the paradigms (ibid., 125). However, where he notes that "in the mountain dialect they sometimes say in truncated fashion *ma, me, mыxъ*, мымъ..." (ibid., 126), Holovac'kyj obviously regards these forms as unacceptable apart from narrowly dialectal usage. With regard to demonstrative pronouns, the traditional forms ceŭ, cïa, cïe and moŭ, maa, moe predominate, but in parentheses Holovac'kyj adds not only c_{A} , ce with a zero-reflex of the weak b before j instead of the Church Slavonic *i* and the "short" (not truncated) forms *ma*, *mo*, but also the Galician and "mountain" reduplicated forms cecb, cecA, cece and momb, moma, momo (ibid., 123–24).¹⁷⁴ Among the indefinite pronouns, in addition to the forms *idekmo* and *zdewo*, he cites the form *dexmo* as well as the typical dialectal forms *daxmo*, *dawo* and the forms *redakmo*, *reda щo* (ibid., 120). Among negative pronouns, along with Huvoro, Holovac'kyj adds Huvb in parentheses (ibid.) and, together with the form весь, the form всюй (nom. masc. sing.) (ibid., 115).

¹⁷³ All that Holovac'kyj knew about the Belarusian language he took from Šafařík's Slovanský národopis. Among the features of the Belarusian language, he mentions akannia and iakannia, palatalization before e, z < g, prothetical consonants in the forms "zemo," "eyyskuü (eyysküü)," "eyymka (ymka)," "eyylüqa," tsekannia and dzekannia, and the alternations of y/e/ÿ and λ/ÿ (of course, Holovac'kyj writes only about y and e). Holovac'kyj lists correct examples for ω < i but does not discern their regular pattern, which, as is known, differs significantly from the situation in the Ukrainian language (Holovac'kyj 1849: 55–56). The most important features of the Great Russian language are also taken from Šafařík's work (ibid., 54–55).</p>

¹⁷⁴ Only later does Holovac'kyj add: "In the Galician and mountain dialects they usually use *cecb*, *cecA*, *cece*, *momb*, *moma*, *momo*, here and there *ceü*, *moü*; here and there in the Peremyshl [district], instead of *ceü*, *cï*A, *cï*e they say *coü*, *coca*, *coco*, gen. *cozo*, *cou*, dat. *coxi*8, etc." (Holovac'kyj 1849b: 125).

In the list of numerals, Holovac'kyj frequently lists purely Galician forms in parentheses: "одинъ (сденъ),"¹⁷⁵ "чотыре (чтыри)," "одинадцать (сдинайцѣть)," "дванадцать (дванайцѣть)," "тринадцать (тринайцѣть)," "чотырнадцать (чтырнайцѣть)," "двадцать (двайцѣть)," "двадцать один (двайцѣтьсденъ)," "двѣстѣ (двѣста)," or the reverse: "деватьдесать (деваносто)" (ibid., 106–8).¹⁷⁶ Among indirect declensions of numerals, we encounter the forms *трохъ*, четырохъ (sic, with an *e*), *тромъ*, чотыромъ, *трома* (and чотырьма) (ibid., 112).

In the verbal paradigm, Holovac'kyj opted for the form "*μαŭ* (*μεχαŭ*) δ&∂e(-*mъ*)" (ibid., 159) to indicate the third-person imperative form, although he was aware that "in Ukraine" they say *xaŭ*. As forms of the future tense, he cites δ&∂& uumamu (*uumamu M8*) or δ&∂& uumaσъ (-*λ*ъ) without comment; this also pertains to forms of the past tense, such as *xoduσъ* ε*мъ* (ibid., 147–48). Also at issue here is word order, which was already known from Ivan Vahylevyč's grammar (see above): "The verb '*M*8 (i.e., the shortened *uM*8) is used in some locales for expressing the future tense, and in the mountains of eastern Galicia they place [it] before the verb; e.g., *M8 xodumu*, *Memъ nлamumu*, *Memo жаловати*, *M8mъ смѣатиса*; in the northern districts of that land and in Ukraine, *M*8, *Meuuъ*, etc., comes after the verb; e.g., *xodumuM*8... *nлaκamux*8*mъ*" (ibid., 156–57).

Considering the historical conditions of the period, Jakiv Holovac'kyj possessed considerable knowledge about the dialects of the Ukrainian language, even though his works clearly attest to the fact that his notions of Russian-ruled Ukraine and its language were still quite vague as compared with his knowledge of the linguistic space "in our Galician and Hungarian Rus'" ("у насъ въ Галицкой и Угорской Руси") (Holovac'kyj 1849: 28). That is not at all surprising, of course, for despite the Galicians' correspondence with leading Ukrainian and Russian philologists in Russian-ruled Ukraine, the divides between the Austrian and Russian empires were considerable, and not only in the political sense.

5. Conclusions

When John-Paul Himka wrote that the Galician Ruthenians' search for identity was akin to "Icarian Flights in Almost All Directions" (Himka 1999), he noted the following:

...perhaps of greatest interest in the case of the Galician Ruthenians, at least from the perspective of the national-construction literature, is that in the nineteenth century the Galician Ruthenians elaborated two very distinct and mutually exclusive constructions of their nationality (Ukrainian and Russian), could well have been drawn into a third (Polish), exhibited tencencies toward a fourth (Rusyn), and had at least the theoretical possibility of formulating a fifth (a hypothetical nationality, with serious historical underpinnings, that would

¹⁷⁵ The following are listed as ordinal numerals: "первый (першій)," "др8гій (вторый)" (Holovac'kyj 1849b: 106).

¹⁷⁶ Concerning the use of numerals, Holovac'kyj adds that "in mountain locales and in Hungarian Rus' they also say единъ двадцать, два двадцать...and четыредесать, четырдесатый instead of сорокъ, сорокїй" (Holovac'kyj 1849b: 109).

have included the peoples now called Ukrainians and Belarusians) (Himka 1999: 113).

It is a given that Galician grammarians of the first half of the nineteenth century were not concerned with true Icarian flights. All of them sought to describe what they considered a distinct language of the distinct "Ruthenian" people. Their texts contain no suggestion whatever that the Ruthenian language is a dialect of either Polish or Russian (although Ivan Vahylevyč writes that the Ruthenian language can serve as a "subdialect" of Polish and Russian; see 2.3). The separate identity of the Ruthenian people was self-evident to them. None of them even dreamed of postulating a distinct "Austro-Ruthenian" linguistic or national identity uniting Galicians, Bukovynians, and Transcarpathians vis-à-vis other Ruthenians. Instead, most Galician grammarians still reckoned with the fact that the Belarusians belonged to a single Ruthenian (Ukrainian and Belarusian, in present-day terms) nation, and that their language was a variant of the common Ruthenian (Ukrainian-Belarusian) language. Thus the fifth variant, as proposed by John-Paul Himka, which he regarded as only a theoretically possible formulation,¹⁷⁷ was in fact the most prevalent among nineteenth-century Galician grammarians-only Jakiv Holovac'kyj objected to it. That is no surprise because, with the exception of Holovac'kyj, Galician grammarians still had little knowledge of Ukrainians in the Russian Empire, and the Cossack myth was not all that important to them at the time (again, with the exception of Holovac'kyj), whereas their notions of Ruthenianness continued to be based mostly on terms derived from the Polish-Lithuanian Commonwealth of the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries. At the same time, our grammarians were deepening their acquaintance with the linguistic situation of their day. Even then, when the Belarusians were treated as part of the Ruthenian nation, and their culture and language were clearly not considered exemplary in non-Belarusian circles, the Ruthenian identity expressed in Galician grammars of the first half of the nineteenth century was already very close to Ukrainian identity in the present-day sense, but not identical with it. Finally, there was still a strong emphasis on Galician matters in their grammars, but the path to the creation of a common Ukrainian language was already paved in the nineteenth century. These grammars also attest to the fact that the Galicians' linguistic awareness always extended beyond Galicia.

¹⁷⁷ Cf. also: "...I have never encountered so much as a trace of such a 'Ruthenian' conception in the writings of Galician-Ruthenians" (Himka 1999: 152). A very interesting commentary on John-Paul Himka's article appeared in a volume published in his honor: Yaroslav Hrytsak, "'Icarian Flights in Almost All Directions' Reconsidered," *Journal of Ukrainian Studies* 35–36 (2010–11): 81–89. I am grateful to Jaroslav Hrycak for showing me his text before it went to print.

UKRAINIAN DIALECTAL MATERIALS IN GALICIAN SOURCES OF THE FIRST HALF OF THE NINETEENTH CENTURY

1. Dialectal materials in Galician sources of the first half of the nineteenth century

Most Galician Ukrainian sources of the first half of the nineteenth century have yet to be studied by linguists or literary scholars. However, the scholars associated with the Šaškevyčijana series (Šaškevyčijana 1996ff.), published by the Ivan Kryp'jakevyč Institute of Ukrainian Studies, are working diligently to broaden the perspective beyond the framework of the Ruthenian Triad. The Przemyśl-based cultural activist Volodymyr Pylypovyč has recently published many interesting Galician Ukrainian sources, including *Lirvak z-nad Sjanu* (LS). The aim of this brief article is to show that:

- certain elements of southwestern Ukrainian dialects occur in some texts where they could hardly be expected to appear;
- 2) obviously, not all elements considered dialectal by present-day researchers were perceived as such by Galician authors; and
- certain little-known texts may be considered almost equivalent to amateur ethnographers' notes on some dialects and are thus undoubtedly of particular importance as sources for historical dialectology.

Data pertaining to Ukrainian dialectology, particularly those gleaned from the works of Fedot Žylko and the second volume of the *Atlas ukraïns'koï movy* (Atlas of the Ukrainian Language), will facilitate better understanding of all dialectal phenomena and the principles underlying their use in Galician sources.

On the whole, it is still maintained in present-day Ukrainian studies that at least until the Revolution of 1848–49 all Galician Ukrainian texts, with the exception of the works of the Ruthenian Triad, were written in the artificial, bookish language known as *jazyčije*. In his time, Žovtobrjux (1963: 82) described the language of Galician writing as follows:

The bookish Ukrainian language in Galicia, in school textbooks and creative works alike, was far removed from the one that was spoken by the common people; it was a mixture of Church Slavonic, Old Ukrainian, and Polish and Russian dialectal elements. This linguistic mixture, the artificial "jazyčije" alien to and poorly understood by the common folk, was unquestionably a serious obstacle to raising the culture of the Ukrainian population and slowed down the development of literature and the literary language in the western lands of Ukraine.¹

I have already presented my arguments against the (pseudo-)term *jazyčije* in other articles (Moser 2004; Moser 2011: 641–666), so there is no need to reiterate

^{1 &}quot;Книжна україньска мова в Галичині і в шкільних підручниках, і в художніх творах була далека від тієї, якою розмовляв народ, вона становила суміш церковнослов'янскої, староукраїнської, елементів діалектних, польських і російських. Ця мовна мішанина, штучне 'язичіє', чуже й малозрозуміле народові, становило, безперечно, серйозну перешкоду для піднесення культури українського населення, гальмувало розвиток літератури й літературної мови на західних землях України."

them here. However, it would not be amiss to recall that standing behind *jazyčije* is an interesting, variegated, and complex set of linguistic creations underpinned by various linguistic ideologies. Hence they present various prospects for the continuing construction of a new literary language for Galician Ukrainians.

2. Dialectal elements in the pastoral letters of Greek Catholic bishops and in panegyrics on them

In seeking evidence of dialectal elements in Galician literature of the first half of the nineteenth century, few scholars would examine such texts as the pastoral letters written by Greek Catholic bishops and metropolitans, as well as panegyrics on those hierarchs, because those familiar with such writings recognize that their literary qualities, which are closely associated with the Greek Catholic Church and its hierarchy, are usually distinguished by their particularly traditional language, based on Church Slavonic.

Generally speaking, until the mid-nineteenth century the pastoral letters of Greek Catholic bishops and metropolitans were published almost exclusively in Polish and partly in German and Latin. Before the Revolution of 1848–49, there are very few examples of "Ruthenian"-language pastoral letters. In 1841 and 1843 the "Ruthenian"-language pastoral letters of Metropolitan Myxajlo Levyc'kyj of Lviv were published in a rather pure version of the Late Church Slavonic language, which was almost entirely free of vernacular interferemes (Moser 2005: 160–61; Moser 2011: 482–484). In Przemyśl, however, Bishop Ivan Snihurs'kyj published two pastoral letters written in an entirely different language: the first of them dates to 1844, while the second was published in the very year that this distinguished bishop died. The first pastoral letter, which laments the consequences of drinking, contains the following interesting passages:

Съ жальомъ и смуткомъ признати належитъ, що найчастше противъ призначеню твому дѣлаєшь, идучи за склонностями и отдаючися налогамъ, котрыи годность отъ Сотворителя тобѣ удѣленну оскверняютъ, а тебе самого, подлугъ словъ Ψаломника (48, 13), безрозумнымъ скотамъ подобнымъ чинятъ. ... Гсдъ Бгъ далъ му способъ до житя, а онъ остатній грошъ, на котрый колька дній а може и колька лѣтъ тяжко робилъ, котрыйбы зъ обовязку для добра жены и дѣтей, для поправы свого господарства обертати повиненъ, а часомъ остатноє орудіє свого ремесла або господарства єдного дня марно пускає (Snihurs'kyj 1844).²

^{2 &}quot;It must be admitted with regret and sorrow that one most often acts against one's designation, following inclinations and giving oneself up to excessive drinking, which defile the dignity granted to you by the Creator, and which turn you yourself, according to the words of the Psalter (48, 13), into something resembling cattle not endowed with reason.... The Lord God offered him the living path, but he squanders in vain his last grosz, for which he worked hard for several days or perhaps even a few years, which he is duty-bound to use for the benefit of his wife and children or for the improvement of his farm, and sometimes squanders the last tool of his trade or farm."

This text contains quite a few interesting elements of the folk, and dialectal, language. Take, for example, the form *cb* жальомb with an *o* after the softened alveolar consonant. Although the morphologically determined replacement of e > o in the forms *do Hero*, (κ) *HeMy* never entered the Carpathian, Dnister, and Podilia dialects, and as a result these dialects do not have a soft group of adjectives (Ševel'ov 2002: 830), they contain forms such as *жальомъ*, which emerged by analogy with hard noun forms. These morphologically determined forms are not mentioned by Ševel'ov, but Žylko (1958: 55–56) shows that they are prevalent in all the southwestern dialects (see also Žylko 1966: 183: "in the majority of the southwestern dialects"; see also AUM 1988: maps nos. 180 and 185 for neuter nouns). The following sentence features a shortened enclitic form of the pronoun *My*, which is also typical of the southwestern dialects (Žylko 1958: 57; on enclitic forms of the pronoun, see AUM 1988: map no. 207 (*Mu, mu*)). Finally, forms of едного are used. This Polonism with the reflex e instead of o < *ie at the beginning of the word is so widespread in the southwestern dialects (see AUM 1988: map no. 225) that it should be interpreted rather as a folk element of these Ukrainian dialects, even though there is little doubt about its Polish origin. With regard to the nontruncated form *ocmamhoe*, the following observation is worth noting: "The old ending $-o\epsilon$ is common...to the Volhynian-Polisian [dialects], partially those along the Sian, and to the Carpathian [dialects], with the exception of their western part" (Prylypko 1966: 107; see also the map on p. 105 and AUM 1988: map no. 217; the zones with $-o\epsilon$ are located first and foremost near Przemyśl).

Unfortunately, there is no information about the actual author of this pastoral letter. Ivan Snihurs'kyj, like Tomaš Polians'kyj, the real author of the second pastoral letter (1847), was born near Sambir in 1784. After completing his theological studies in Lviv and Vienna, he was the parish priest of St. Barbara's Church in Vienna from 1813 to 1818. In 1818 he was appointed bishop of Przemyśl, where he actively contributed to the intellectual and spiritual growth of the Ukrainians of the Sian River region (LS: 428).

In contemporary Ukrainian studies, Josyf Levyc'kyj is known primarily as a typical representative of *jazyčije*, a fact duly noted in Ukrainian encyclopedias. A more thorough examination of his works reveals, however, that this assessment is not entirely just. His translations of the works of Goethe and Schiller, which began appearing in Przemyśl in 1838 with the publication of "Der Erlkönig," were created on the basis of the folk language, a point that will be discussed later in this article.³ No less interesting is the fact that even his early panegyrics differed fundamentally from traditional examples of this type of language. In 1838 Levyc'kyj published his "Verse in Honor of His Excellency the Most Reverend Bishop Myxajlo Levyc'kyj" ("Стихъ во Честъ Єго Превосходительств% Преосващеннѣйшом% Киръ Михаил% Аѣвицком%"), which contains the following verse:

3 On Levyc'kyj's translation of Schiller's "Die Bürgschaft," see Moser 2012.

Реви о! Днѣстре мӧй сумненько, А берегъ пѣновъ пӧдънимай; Шуми ко чорному⁴ быстренько, И такъ жаль твӧй росказывай.⁵

It must be admitted that these lines are written in a much more vernacular language than other sections of the work. Nevertheless, it is noteworthy that they appear not in a secular work but in a panegyric on a Greek Catholic metropolitan. From the dialectological standpoint, attention should be focused, for example, on the form *n*[±]*HOB*[±] with its *-OB*[±] ending instead of *-OB*. With regard to these forms, Żylko (1958: 54–55) notes: "In most dialects, the instrumental singular case of firstdeclension nouns lost the intervocal \tilde{u}_i , while the y following a vowel was converted to \breve{y} : -o $\breve{u}y$ > -o \breve{y} , -e $\breve{u}y$ > -e \breve{y} In addition, under the influence of second-declension nouns, the ending \check{y} in some dialects changed to *-om...*. At the same time, both these endings are possible parallels in some dialects" (see also Żylko 1966: 80, as well as AUM 1988: maps nos. 170 and 171). On the basis of map no. 21 in Žylko's *Narysy* (1966), Ševel'ov (2002: 868) adds: "From the Carpathian region these forms spread to the east and south, reaching the line that passes (approximately) north of Przemyśl, southwest of Rava-Ruska, south of Lviv through Zoločiv-Terebovlja, east of Kam'janec'-Podil's'kyj." In Levyc'kyj's note concerning the phrase ко чорному, we see the form *posymbers*. Żylko (1958: 61) also indicates the absence of *m* before the particle *c*^{*f*} in some southwestern dialects. Such forms are especially typical of the dialects spoken in the lands situated along the Dnister River (Marčuk 1969: 170).

Josyf Levyc'kyj was born in the village of Baranchytsi (present-day Baranivtsi) near Sambir. In 1825 he graduated from the Vienna Theological Seminary and later became chaplain to Bishop Snihurs'kyj. From 1835 to 1844 he was the parish priest in the village of Shklo (Sklo) near Yavoriv, and in 1844 he was appointed to the Hrusheva parish near Drohobych. After returning to Przemyśl in 1848, in 1854 he was assigned to the parish in the village of Nahuievychi, the birthplace of Ivan Franko, where he died in 1860 (LS: 225).

Antin Mohyl'nyc'kyj, who eventually gained renown as the author of the poem "Скитъ Манявскій" (The Maniava Hermitage), made his poetic debut in 1838—the same year as Josyf Levyc'kyj—with the publication of his first poem, a panegyric titled "Пѣснь радостна. Съ пригоды поставленїѧ въ Церквѣ Митрополїчой Львовской С. Великом&ченика Георгїѧ, днѧ ѕ. Марта, аѡ҃ли [1838], Єгw високопочтеннагw господина Васїлїѧ Поповича" (Joyful Song...). The poem contains the following lines:

⁴ Levyc'kyj remarks in a footnote: "розумѣєся: ко чорному морю" ("toward the Black Sea, of course").

^{5 &}quot;Roar sadly, o my Dnister! / And lift the shore with foam; / Thunder swiftly toward the black / And thus recount your sorrow."

Хоть тя напастують морскій дивогльиди, Вѣхри ся противлять Твой [sic] силѣ Зъ горнаго Сіона прійдеть часъ побѣды: Церковъ утвержденна на скалѣ'!⁶

From the dialectal standpoint, the most interesting feature of these lines is arguably the form *duborhudu*, which, clearly, is written this way in order to demonstrate that these lines contain a pure, or almost pure, rhyme. Since cunt and скаль create an impure rhyme, it seems that Mohyl'nyc'kyj found it important that at least диво[гл'іди] or -[гл'иди] and no[б'іди] rhymed purely or nearly so (it should be kept in mind that in this same work Mohyl'nyc'kyj writes гляньте with the unmarked *s*). Žylko (1958: 49) wrote about this phenomenon in the southwestern Ukrainian dialects: "...in many of the southwestern dialects, the phoneme a (regardless of derivation) not only changes its articulation after soft consonants in the direction of *ä* but also corresponds to the phonemes *e*, *u*, *i*, and their variants...." On the early *a*, see Žylko (1966: 178): "This characteristic is prevalent in the Dnister, western Volhynian, Sian, and Hutsul dialects.... This change of [a] is also observed in some Volhynian-Polisian dialects." About the early *e*, he writes: "This feature is common to the Dnister, Sian, and Bukovinian-Pokutian dialects" (see also Žylko 1966: map no. 20, and AUM 1988: maps nos. 41–49). Ševel'ov (2002: 691–96) dates this penetration upward and forward approximately to the late fourteenth and early fifteenth centuries. He writes (691): "In many local dialects the sound e, which emerged as a result of alternation, further penetrates upward and forward, transforming itself into y and even i, particularly in unstressed syllables and/or before a softened consonant."

Attention should be drawn to the movable *cs* in the line *B*±*xpu cs npomu*₆*xsm*₅ *T*₆₀*ũ* [*sic*] *cu*₇*b*, which "clearly distinguishes" the "preponderant majority" of the southwestern dialects "from all the Ukrainian and other East Slavic dialects and languages" (Zales'kyj 1969: 95; see the map on p. 99; AUM 1988: map no. 248).

Mohyl'nyc'kyj was born in 1811 in the village of Pidhirky, near Kalush. In 1832 he entered the gymnasium in Buchach and completed his high-school education in Chernivtsi. From 1837 to 1840 he studied at the Lviv Theological Seminary. In 1841 he was appointed administrator of the parish of Khytar and Klymets in the Stryi mountain region and eventually moved to Komariv near Halych, where he wrote most of his poetical works. In 1859 he was appointed deacon of Bohorodchany, and a year later he was elected to the Galician Diet. In 1873 he was buried in the village of Yablunka near Bohorodchany (LS: 59).

3. The status of "dialectal" elements

In secular Galician literary works, dialectal elements appear even more frequently than in church-related ones. This is the case, for example, with Levyc'kyj's translation of Goethe's ballad "Der Erlkönig" ("Ерлькенїгь / Ґетого переведенъ на

^{6 &}quot;Even though sea monsters attack you, / And eddies resist Your force / From mountainous Zion will come the time of victory: / "The church founded on a rock.""

мало Русскій языкъ / и названъ / Богинею / Їосифомъ Аѣвицкимъ // зо Шкла") (Levyc'kyj 1838a), which contains the following verses:

Кто ѣде въ вѣтеръ такъ по̀зно въ но̀чъ? Вотецъ жене то а съ нимъ паничъ; Во̀нъ го все тулитъ при пазухахъ, Во̀нъ го тримає що силъ въ рукахъ.

[...] "Чи хочешь хлопче со мновь пойти? Всы́ого достаткомъ дарую ти; Дѣвчата мои няй ночують съ тобовь, Спѣвають, таньцюють, колишуть ноговь."⁷⁷

There is no doubt whatever that these verses are grounded in the folk language and therefore can hardly be considered jazyčije. This poem contains quite a few dialectal elements. Here I shall note only the enclitic forms of the pronouns mu and, particularly, zo (as opposed to the former, the latter is not used in Church Slavonic; see, however, Polish go; the pronoun mu may be interpreted as either a traditional or a dialectal form). The same may be said of the hard endings in the forms ночують, Спѣвають, таньцюють, and колишуть, which, however, are so typical of the southwestern dialects that it would be hard to interpret them as traditional Church Slavonic forms rather than folk forms in this context. About the hard -m in the third person singular and plural and in the imperative mood, Žylko writes: "This feature is common to the western and southwestern isogloss Berdychiv-Koziatyn-Zhashkiv-along the Hirskyi Tikych [River] and Syniukhy to Pervomaisk" (see Žylko 1958: 59, and map no. 6; see also AUM 1988: maps nos. 240 and 242). Elsewhere in Levyc'kyj's translation of "Der Erlkönig" we encounter the -06b ending in the instrumental case; here it appears in the forms *co* мновь, *cb* тобовь, ноговь. Also noteworthy is the particle HRŬ, which is also typical of many southwestern Ukrainian dialects. The Atlas ukraïns'koï movy (AUM 1988: map no. 254) shows that the form HRŬ appears in the Sian and southern Carpathian dialects, whereas the form *Haŭ* is predominant in other southwestern dialects of Galicia. In another section of Levyc'kyj's work we encounter the sentence 3b лицась ми премиль, in which one finds remnants of the present-tense copula, added to another part of the sentence (see Žylko 1966: map no. 21), which are typical of the "Sian, Bukovynian-Polisian, and other vernacular["] dialects (Żylko 1958: 60).

It goes without saying that the three members of the Ruthenian Triad— Markijan Šaškevyč, Jakiv Holovac'kyj, and Ivan Vahylevyč—were merely the writers of this period who were most successful at using the folk language in their literary works, but they were by no means the sole representatives of the populist trend

^{7 &}quot;Who is walking so late in the windy night? / A father is hurrying, and with him is his son; / He clasps him to his breast, / Clutches him with all his might. [...] Boy, do you want to come with me? / I will give you everything you want; / My girls will spend the night with you, / They will sing, dance, and rock you with their feet."

before 1848–49. However, other sources remain mostly unresearched, which explains why certain elements associated with the Ruthenian Triad are sometimes interpreted none too convincingly. For example, Oleksa Horbač (1988: 47–48), who compared Šaškevyč's translation of the Gospel with other Ukrainian translations of the Holy Scriptures, emphasized that Šaškevyč, who was born in the vicinity of Brody, sought to avoid the most explicit characteristics of his native dialect. For that reason, Horbač explains, Šaškevyč's writings rarely feature reflexes of the 'a > 'e change, as in $\mu_0 \delta$ nowedaỹ e&. Therefore, in the instrumental case he uses the traditional -ow (dopozow, 3 Mam $\hbar p_0$ rather than $-os/-e_0$).

On the other hand, Horbač writes further, these texts contain certain unmistakable southwestern dialectal elements, for example, forms of the dative and prepositional cases with -u instead of -i in such forms as dyuu, 6 mbHu, 6 корабли, в сердци (see AUM 1988: maps nos. 172–175); enclitic pronouns such as го, му, ю, ти, тя; the hard -m in the third person of verbs, as in the forms мовит, *Haseym*, $u\partial fm$ [!]; the movable *cs*, as in the phrase *щo cs ypoduxo*; past tense forms with personal endings, such as зізваў-єм, щобы-сь, бо-сьмо видѣли, чули-сте; and remnants of the present-tense copula in forms such as не менша-сь. As we have already seen, all these elements—and many others could be enumerated—appear almost consistently not only in Šaškevyč's works but also in other manuscripts and published texts of this period. The same applies to the instrumental case in -ob/-eb as well as e < a after softened consonants and sibilants, for which even a separate letter, *ä*, was used in Galician primers and catechisms beginning in the 1830s (Moser 2005: 220). As for the forms of the dative and prepositional cases with *-u* instead of *-i*, they appear in this form practically without exception, which is also determined by the fact that this ending is characteristic of the southwestern dialects (Žylko 1966: 78; see also AUM 1988: map no. 19). That makes it difficult to explain why Šaškevyč avoided using these elements, whereas he did not steer clear of other dialecticisms mentioned above. As it turns out, Galicians generally did not consider these frequently used elements to be dialecticisms: "Ukraine" in the then-current sense of the word and the development of the Ukrainian language in the Russian Empire were still far off, and Galicians were not yet very familiar with those processes. Thus, they sought initially to construct a literary language based on Galician dialects. Furthermore, certain dialectal elements were so widespread in Galicia that, clearly, they were perceived as supraregional characteristics of the new literary language, even though they do not appear in central and eastern Ukraine.

4. Little-known texts as sources of historical dialectology

In spite of the dialectal elements noted above, it is correct to say that the authors of most Galician Ukrainian texts avoided introducing many examples of them. Nevertheless, in addition to texts that may be understood as stemming from their authors' desire to establish a new literary language, there are certain other texts whose authors did not shy away from vernacular features at all. In his analysis of the language of Josyf Lozyns'kyj's compilation of songs and wedding rituals titled *Ruskoje wesile* (The Ruthenian Wedding), which was published in 1835, Myxajlo

Xudaš (1992: 40) made the following correct observation: "...it may be stated with perfect certainty that this is the first published written monument of the Sian dialect from the early nineteenth century...." Of course, a considerable number of other texts were written and published in Galicia, in full or in part, whose importance is equally great, if not greater. I am referring to such works as Hryhorij II'kevyč's Галицкіи приповъдки (Galician Proverbs, 1841) and Vasyl' Havryševyč's Руководство ко умноженю садовины (Handbook on Increasing Garden Produce, 1844). These two publications, like other ethnographic notes or books of practical advice, of which there are few exemplars, contain much interesting material pertaining to the field of historical dialectology.

Even more interesting are texts with no apparent connection to any attempts to create a new literary language for Galician Ukrainians but written in the Ukrainian language for wholly pragmatic reasons and oriented toward Ukrainian speakers. Sources of this important type include Ukrainian-language texts written by Polish revolutionaries who wanted Ukrainians to continue accepting the Polish literary language but resorted to the Ukrainian language the better to convince Ukrainian peasants of the viability of the Poles' political aspirations. A few years ago, I published a lengthy article about the Ukrainian-language works of Polish revolutionaries (Moser 2003; Moser 2011: 562–601). Here I will mention only one of these texts, Narode ruskij, which was most likely published in 1837, the same year as The Dnister Nymph. The author of this manifesto is unknown. Like all other documents created by Galician Polish revolutionaries before 1848–49, this particularly interesting text was written in Latin script, and for that reason alone it is not grounded in the tradition of Ukrainian or Church Slavonic orthography. On the contrary, many features of the folk language, that is, of Ukrainian dialects, are reflected in this script, which is not native to the Ukrainian language. In this sense, the texts written by Polish revolutionaries appear to continue the role performed by such texts as Jakub Gawatowicz's seventeenth-century Intermediae and other texts written in Latin script without making a conscious connection to Ukrainian literary traditions, such as the so-called *lustracje* (inventory lists). Such texts are particularly valuable and comparable to notes made by amateur ethnographers on Ukrainian folk dialects.

Narode ruskij!

Wilniśmo tohdy, koły robymo szczo choczym i razom ne krywdymo nykoho, używajuczy wolnosty swoiey. U narodi u towarystwi czy chto skrywdyw czyły ni, ne może sudyty sam skrywdżenyi, a ne krywdytel, bo kożdeyby z nych za sobow bilsze potiehnuw, sudia musyt buty tretij, a to czy takij, kotrohoby ony oba obrały, abo narid sam, kołyby – oba ne zhodyłysia na sudia swoich. ... odże tochdy stane sia takoż i jich wola, a inszyi kotrych mensze a inakże hotiet, budut musyły zrobyty wolu takosz i jich.... Pry obraniach pownomocnykiw, musyt każdy maty prawa, hołos swij daty, a takoż powynno buty wilno obraty koho chotiat mnohostew hołosiw, ne bohactwo ne starszyna ne riżnycia rodu, any żadna pryczyna ne powinna dawaty perszynu. De tak obyrajut pownomocnykiw (posłiw, deputowaniw) tam wilnyst u narodi.... Odże...czy lipsze łuczyty sia z tymy, szczo u ślipoti biut sia protiw wilnosty, bo taki moskali, czy z tymy sia brataty, szczo biut sia wilnost [*sic*], to je: z polakamy.... Rusyny! bratowe moji! dusza moja do was z mene howoryła, prykonayty sia o prawdi, kotrum kazaw, szczobysmo ne buły ostatni z narodiw, kotri wilnist chotiat! (Studyns'kyj 1907: 129–33).⁸

All the southwestern dialectal characteristics in this text are recorded rather consistently.⁹ The text also features, for example, *o* after softened alveolar consonants in the forms *wsio*, *sercom*, *trioch*, and *ślozmy*. The '*a*-raising after softened consonants appears in *szlechtu* (Studyns'kyj 1907: 132), along with *szlechty*, *żednyj* (130), and *żadna*, *potiehnuw* (130) along with *tiahnuty*, *hotiet* (third person singular, etc.; see Žylko 1958: 50); see also *neszczystmy* and *desit* in the position between two softened consonants. As in the form *hotiet*, the third person has a hard ending. The endings -ow, -ew in the instrumental case are completely consistent: see prisbow, za sobow (together with the form *meże soboju*), *z rossyiuw*, *mnohostew*, etc. (see Żylko 1958: 54, 57). Just as in other researched sources, personal forms of the present tense appear in the word δymu , in forms of the past tense and the conditional mood: see *wilniśmo*, *małysmo*, *szczobysmo ne buły*, *kotrum kazaw* (Fontański and Chomiak 2000: 108; Žylko 1958: 59–60; AUM 1988: map no. 245). The text also features the future tense with $\delta y \partial y$ + a participle with $-\lambda$ -, which occurs in many southwestern and some western Polisian northern dialects as well (Žylko 1958: 60; AUM 1988: maps nos. 244 and 247). The enclitic form of the pronoun *mu* is used, as well as the shortened form of the reflexive pronoun swoho. Elsewhere we find the strictly dialectal form *nit* (no), etc.

Conclusions

Galician texts of the first half of the nineteenth century are far more interesting for historical dialectology than one might think, considering the literature generated by contemporary Ukrainian studies. In order to make full use of the data provided by these sources, it is crucial not to limit oneself to learning about their authors, their biographies and places of residence, thereby projecting the results of present-

^{8 &}quot;Ruthenian people!

We are free when we do what we want and together do not harm anyone in making use of our freedom. Whether someone has harmed [anyone] or not among the people, in society, the injured party himself cannot judge, and neither can the injurer, since each of them would pull more for himself; a third person must be the judge, and such a one as both of them would select, or the people themselves, if both do not agree about their judges...therefore, their will shall also be done, but others, of whom there are fewer and who want something different, will also have to carry out their will... During the selection of plenipotentiaries, each one must have the right to cast his vote, and there must also be [the right] to elect freely whomsoever they desire by a majority of votes; neither wealth, seniority, nor differences in family background nor any reason should give priority. Where plenipotentiaries (envoys, deputies) are elected this way, there is freedom among the people....

Therefore...is it better to unite with those who struggle in blindness against freedom, for such are the Muscovites, or to fraternize with those...who are fighting freedom [*sic*], that is: with the Poles.... Ruthenians! My brothers! My soul has spoken from me to you; become convinced of the truth that I have expressed so that we not be the last among those nations that desire freedom!"

⁹ The examples cited below are taken from the text as a whole, not only from the cited fragment.

day linguistic geography into the past. It is also worth taking a second look at all the Galician Ukrainian texts created during this period, since certain clearcut southwestern "dialectal" elements were obviously perceived at the time not as dialectal elements per se but as elements worthy of inclusion in the Galician version of the new Ukrainian literary language. It should be added that these elements do not always correspond to the materials gathered by the first codifiers of the Ukrainian language in Galicia.

THE SLAVIC IDEA AMONG GALICIAN RUTHENIANS (UKRAINIANS) IN THE PRZEMYŚL EPARCHY (FROM 1830 TO 1848–49)

1. The Slavic idea among Galician Ukrainians

Extrapolating the idea expressed by Miroslav Šesták (1992: 37), who described the concept of "Slavdom" as "the variable complex of all manifestations and forms of social consciousness based on the idea of the kinship or unity of Slavic nations,"¹ one may also consider his formula as a suitable definition of the concept known as the "Slavic idea." Beyond the borders of the Russian Empire, several variants of the "Slavic idea" were prevalent in the nineteenth century: 1) Slavophile (Russo- or Muscophile), 2) Pan-Slavic, and 3) Austro-Slavic.

Besides political ideas, the linguistic factor was of fundamental importance to the rise and spread of the Slavic idea. In the past, this concept drew its strength, and continues to do so to this day, primarily from the kinship and similarities among the Slavic languages.² Despite certain common phenomena in folklore and elsewhere, there are precious few characteristics that might lead scholars to construct a substantiated argument emphasizing Slavic unity. In the nineteenth century the Slavs, with the exception of the Russians, were linked by a shared condition: they were not backed by independent states. Furthermore, the concrete political, cultural, and economic struggles of the Slavic peoples differed significantly from one another, which frequently gave rise to serious inter-Slavic disputes. In the Austro-Hungarian Empire, for example, the Poles were the main adversaries of the Galician Ruthenians (Ukrainians). Despite this antagonism, considerable numbers of ethnic Ruthenians from Galicia became involved in the Polish revolutionary movement (on the Ukrainian-language literature produced by Polish revolutionaries, see Moser 2003; Moser 2011: 562–601), while others adamantly opposed it. Given the partitions of Poland and the Polish experience in the Russian Empire, the Poles did not cultivate excessive pan-Slavic sympathies. Thus, in Galicia, the real bedrock of powerful pan-Slavic illusions was significantly weaker than in other Slavic communities of the Austro-Hungarian Empire, where cultural and political ambitions were mostly channeled against Germano-Austrian or Hungarian hegemony, and solidarity among the Slavs seemed advantageous.

Until now, the spread of the Slavic idea among Galician Ukrainians during the first half of the nineteenth century has been studied only in the context of the activities of the Ruthenian Triad (Rus'ka trijcja) and the Supreme Ruthenian Council (Holovna Rus'ka rada), particularly by the Ukrainian scholar Feodosij Steblij, the author of the article "Die slawische Idee bei den Ukrainern in Galizien vor, während und nach der Revolution 1848" (The Slavic Idea among the Ukrainians in Galicia before, during, and after the Revolution of 1848) (Steblij 1992). The

^{1 &}quot;[...] den veränderbaren Komplex aller Äußerungen und Formen gesellschaftlichen Bewusstseins, die auf der Idee der Verwandtschaft oder der Einheit slawischer Nationen basieren."

² The "Slavic idea" is grounded not only in kinship among the Slavic nations but also in their mutual contacts. See, e.g., Moser 2004c.

Slavic idea was central to the activities of the Ruthenian Triad: the epigraph to The Dnister Nymph (Русалка Дністровая), published in 1837, consisted of several lines from the poem Slávy dcera, written by the Slovak poet and scholar Ján Kollár, and the opening sentences of this literary collection mention the "renaissance" of other Slavic peoples. The Ruthenian Triad translated Serbian folk songs, and one member, Markijan Šaškevych, translated Václav Hanka's forged medieval manuscript "Rukopis královédorský." Jakiv Holovac'kyj, another member of the Ruthenian Triad, had met Kollár in 1835, when he was studying at Pest University. The third member of the Galician literary group, Ivan Vahylevyč, along with Jakiv Holovac'kyj, corresponded with leading cultural figures in all the Slavic lands: Ján Kollár, Pavol Jozef Šafárik, and Václav Hanka, as well as with the prominent Russian historian and Slavophile Mixail Pogodin. Shortly after the Revolution of 1848-49, Holovac'kyj became one of the pioneers of Galician Russophilism (KH 1905; Moser 2002a); Vahylevyč, for his part, had joined the ranks of the Polonophiles even earlier. Clearly, certain varieties of the Slavic idea were harmful to Ruthenian (Ukrainian) national and linguistic identity.

2.1. The Slavic idea among Galician Ukrainians in the Przemyśl eparchy

This article examines several manifestations of the Slavic idea in the Greek Catholic eparchy of Przemyśl (Peremyshl). This region had always been on the periphery of the Ukrainian-speaking space and in close proximity to Poland; for centuries, Poles and Ruthenians lived here side by side. In the first half of the nineteenth century, however, Przemyśl became the source from which sprang some crucial impulses for the development of a new type of Ukrainian literary language—the Galician variant—and for the preservation of Ukrainian culture in general (Moser 2005a; Moser 2011: 384–601, 641–666). Despite the importance of Przemyśl, scholars specializing in Ukrainian studies have not devoted sufficient attention to this question.³

The educated stratum of Galician Ruthenians always cherished certain notions about the kinship and spread of the Slavic languages, as well as about the place of the Ruthenian language among them. The creation of historical works, collections of folk songs, and especially grammars of the Ruthenian language helped fundamentally to hone these ideas. The first important Galician Ukrainian grammarian of the modern age was the Przemyśl-based canon Ivan Mohyl'nyc'kyj, a distinguished reformer of public education and the author of a famous primer and catechism (Moser 2011: 420–453). Mohyl'nyc'kyj's grammar was the first to be written in a variant of the Ukrainian language. The preface to this grammar was

³ The situation has improved in recent years. The Przemyśl-based Ukrainian scholar Volodymyr Pylypovyč has published a number of interesting articles in various anthologies. The first two volumes are especially important: *Lirvak z-nad Sjanu: peremys'ki druky seredyny XIX stolittja* (LS) (2001) and *Dux i revnist': Vladyka Snihurs'kyj ta inši peremyšljany* (DR) (2002). In the context of this article, I am most interested in the autobiographical and biographical notes, letters, and journalistic pieces contained in these two publications. The simplified orthography of these books does not present an undue impediment in the given context.

an important text titled "Information about the Ruthenian Language" (Вѣдомость о рускомъ языцѣ), published separately in Polish and Russian translations, in which the independence of the Ruthenian language (to him, that term meant Ukrainian and Belarusian) is argued in scholarly fashion for the first time. Mohyl'nyc'kyj's model was the Russian grammar of Mixail Lomonosov, as well as the Polish grammar written by Onufry Kopczyński; Molyl'nyc'kyj's work thus arose in a broader Slavic context. His catechism was reviewed in the influential *Wiener Allgemeine Literaturzeitung* by the Slovene linguist and philologist Jernej (Bartholomäus) Kopitar, one of the founders of Slavic studies (Kopitar 1816). Since the second edition of Mohyl'nyc'kyj's primer differs fundamentally from the first, the changes in the second edition may have resulted from the Przemyśl canon's reaction to Kopitar's review, in which the Slovene scholar indicated the need to rely more consistently on the Ruthenian vernacular (Moser 2011: 420–453).

Between 1815 and 1848-49 Przemyśl was a very important, if not the most important, center of the Galician Ukrainian cultural renaissance. The situation there was completely different from the one in Lviv, where Metropolitan Myxajlo Levyc'kyj was surrounded by a group of arch-conservative hierarchs at St. George's Cathedral who obstructed the Galician Ukrainian renaissance based on the culture of the common people. In Przemyśl, Levyc'kyj's subordinate, Bishop Ivan Snihurs'kyj, actively fostered populist currents because he understood that the most ancient linguistic manifestation of the "Slavic idea" among Slavs of the Orthodox and Greek Catholic rites (and, to some extent, among the Czechs and Croats)—the use of Church Slavonic as the traditional literary language of all Orthodox Slavs—no longer suited the needs of the nineteenth century. While the Old Ruthenians of St. George's Cathedral published a primer for public schools in 1847, in which even purely secular passages were written in Church Slavonic, and even folk vernacular passages in Mohyl'nyc'kyj's primer appeared in a Church Slavonic translation (Moser 2003a; Moser 2011: 454– 461), in Przemyśl at this very time, specifically 1844 and 1847, Bishop Snihurs'kyj published, among other things, two pastoral letters in a language closely resembling the vernacular (Moser 2011: 484–493). The first grammars of the Ukrainian language were published in Galicia during his episcopate, one by the writer, ethnographer, and grammarian Josyf Levyc'kyj (1834) and the other by the Greek Catholic priest, ethnographer, and grammarian Josyf Lozyns'kyj (1846), whose manuscript dates to the early 1830s. In the 1840s and early 1850s it was Levyc'kyj (1801–1860) and Lozyns'kyj (1807-1889) who consistently voiced the harshest criticism of the Galician Russophiles, even after Holovac'kyj went over to the Russophile camp and Vahylevyč joined the Polonophile camp. Both these influential figures established contacts with representatives of various Slavic nations. In particular, they obtained crucially important linguistic advice from the aforementioned Slovene philologist Jernej Kopitar (employed as a censor in Vienna), who sent them Slovene-German and Czech-German school grammar books on which their subsequent "Ruthenian-German["] grammars were supposed to be modeled. When these books did not reach their destination, they were resent from Ljubljana by the Slovene Roman Catholic priest and philologist Fran Serafin Metelko, and from Prague by Václav Hanka (DR: 186). On that level, the Slavic idea worked flawlessly.

During the first half of the nineteenth century, the attitude to the Russian language and culture in provincial Przemyśl was even chillier than in Lviv. Nevertheless, Josyf Levyc'kyj cited excerpts from the works of the Russian poets Gavriil Deržavin and Ippolit Bogdanovič that were supposed to serve as epigrams to his panegyrics on Greek Catholic notables. He did this at the very same time starting in 1837 at the latest—as he wrote his own works in the Ruthenian folk language, among which his translations of Schiller and Goethe deserve attention (Moser 2012, see pp. 221–224 in this volume). For a long time, there were no obvious Russophiles in Przemyśl. It is probably no coincidence that in the late 1850s, when the Greek Catholic Church, under pressure from the Austrian government, was expected to issue pastoral letters condemning Russophilism, Bishop Hryhorij Jaxymovyč of Przemyśl released his letter before the Lviv metropolitan issued one of his own (Moser 2005; for the text, see DR 116: 120).

2.2. The rise of national and Slavic identities

In their autobiographical and biographical notes, various cultural figures in Przemyśl recount how they became acquainted with the Galician-Ruthenian populist movement and the various manifestations of the Slavic idea. According to these accounts, they usually came to the realization of their national Ruthenian and supranational Slavic identities after moving to Lviv or Vienna to embark on their studies in institutions of higher learning and seminaries. Until 1848–49, seminarists and students from Przemyśl most often arrived in these urban centers with no clearly formulated national consciousness. Justyn Želexivs'kyj (1821–1910), who later taught at the gymnasium in Przemyśl and eventually became a Russophile, described the situation in the theological seminary of St. Barbara's Church in Vienna:

Among the theology students from Galicia I found two parties that hated and persecuted each other, that is, the Ruthenians and the Liakhs [Poles]. Raised and educated in the Polish spirit in Peremyshl and disliking discord, I wanted to become neutral and therefore only told everyone that I was a Pole of the Ruthenian rite—in this way I wanted to gain the approval of both parties. But after observing that issue more closely and reflecting on what it was about for both the Ruthenians and the Liakhs, I began to incline toward the Ruthenian side. I understood the real issue but still did not have confidence and decisiveness. Seeing the populist fervor of my colleague Marko Stanica, a Croat, how he championed his own, how he defended it, how he rejoiced whenever he saw good for his people, how his heart was heavy when the common language encountered some obstacle in education, and seeing all that among the Croats and the Czechs as well, I completely joined the Ruthenian party and began concerning myself with my own language and nationality like them (the Croats and Czechs) (DR: 174).⁴

^{4 &}quot;Межи слушателями богословія із Галиції дві застав-єм там партиї, коториї дуже ненавиділися і прослідовали т. є. русини і ляхи. Вихований і проваджений в духу польским в Перемишли, а нелюбячи незгоди, хотів-єм зробитися нейтральним, і для того казав-єм всім тилько, що я єст поляк руского обряду – хотів-єм тим способом обі партиї собі з'єднати. Но присмотрившися

Żelexivs'kyj's national consciousness emerged only after he began noticing his colleagues' concern with this issue, which was the subject of constant arguments between the Poles and Ruthenians. The devotion of the Croats and Czechs to their native languages and cultures so amazed him that he finally resolved to become a conscious Ruthenian.

Almost identical information is to be found in the autobiography of the Przemyśl priest-activist Antin Dobrjans'kyj (1810–1877), who became acquainted with supporters of the Polish revolution some ten years earlier, when he was studying at St. Barbara's theological seminary in Vienna. Thanks to his friendship with them, he concluded that "it was necessary to know the history of the people and the history of literature fundamentally, but since it was not taught in schools at the time, pupils began to study the one and the other zealously and with ecstatic energy in private."⁵ During his time in Vienna, Kopitar took Dobrjans'kyj to the Court Library, where he showed him "works that even later he was unable to see in Galicia" ("сочиненія, яких в Галичині потім і увидіти било єму невозможно") (DR: 201–202) and presented him with a few Slavic works. Dobrjans'kyj later became a teacher of Church Slavonic in Przemyśl, where in 1837 he published a Polish-language grammar titled *Gramatyka jezyka starosłowiańskiego, jakiego Rusini w Cerkwi swojej używają* (Grammar of the Old Slavic Language, Which the Ruthenians Use in Their Church). Later still, he became a Russophile.

Lviv was another center where leading Przemyśl figures became acquainted both with the Slavic idea and with national ideas. In his autobiography, Josyf Lozyns'kyj writes that after moving to Lviv, he read a Russian-language book on the history of the church, acquired a thorough understanding of the Church Slavonic grammars written by the Serbian pedagogue Avram Mrazović and the Czech Slavist Josef Dobrovský, and attended Professor Mikołaj Michalewicz's lectures on Polish grammar, which inspired him to write his own grammar of the Ruthenian language. Therefore, as Lozyns'kyj writes, "at that time I already loved to read books dealing with the Slavic dialects or peoples" (DR: 183–84).⁶ Eventually he became one of the most original Galician Ruthenian scholars of the nineteenth century, whose contributions to Ukrainian linguistics have not been adequately studied to the present day. Moreover, Lozyns'kyj, like Jakiv Holovac'kyj and Josyf Levyc'kyj, the other leading representative of the Przemyśl eparchy, wrote articles informing Slavic readers about the situation of the Galician Ruthenians. The articles appeared

ближше тій річи і розмисливше о що то іде, так русинам, як і ляхам, зачав-ємся скланяти на руску сторону. Поняв-єм вправді річ, однако же не мав-єм еще певности і сталости. Увидівши ревність для народности мого сожителя (kollega) Марка Станіци кроата, як той за своєм обстає, як боронит, як радує где що увидит доброго для народу свого, як му то тяжко на сердци, сли народная мова має яку перешкоду во образованю, и видівше тоє всьоє на кроатах єще інших і чехах, прилучив-ємся зовсім до партиї рускої, і зачав-єм подобні як і вони (кроати і чехи) своєю мовою і народністію займоватися."

^{5 &}quot;[...] нужно било знати основно історію народу і історію словесности, а понеже єй тогда в школах отнюд [*sic*] не учено, то питомці стали усердно і з вострогом [*sic*; the word was added by the author] одушевленіем учитись приватно оной і другой."

^{6 &}quot;[...] і тогда уже любив-єм читати книги о словеньских нарічіях або народах розправляючи."

in the German *Jahrbücher für slawische Literatur, Kunst und Wissenschaft* (Yearbooks of Slavic Literature, Arts, and Scholarship), published in Leipzig by the Sorb Jan Petr Jordan. The Slavic world was keen to learn about the Galician Ruthenians. After publishing Lozyns'kyj's first article, Jordan asked him "to write articles for him constantly about the Ruthenians, who are oppressed by the Poles…" (DR: 194).⁷

Thus, as the Galician Ruthenians took their first tentative steps into the Slavic arena, the Przemyśl activists were at the forefront of this process. In 1849 Lozyns'kyj published an interesting article titled "On Change of Nationality" (О зміні народности), in which he analyzed the commonalities and divisions among the various Slavic peoples:

Nationality is based first and foremost on the origins of a people from one and the same generation.... The Slav is distinguished both physiognomically and spiritually from the German, Italian, Frenchman, etc.... Less notable are the differences between individual generations of one and the same people, as for example between the Great and Little Ruthenians, Poles, Czechs, etc., and the greatest difference between them consists only of a different dialect (DR: 335–36).⁸

There is no need to comment on Lozyns'kyj's trivial and outdated idea that the Slavs are distinguished from non-Slavs by some kind of common external appearance. What is interesting, however, is that Lozyns'kyj emphasized the differences among various Slavic dialects without indicating whether he considered the language of the "Little Ruthenians" (whom he juxtaposes with "Great Ruthenians"!) to be closer to Polish or to Russian. Most important, he had no doubt that it was a language in its own right and not just a variant of either Polish or Russian.

Lozyns'kyj had a rather sober-minded attitude toward dreams of Slavic unity. On the one hand, he intimated that non-Slavs sometimes offered assistance to certain Slavs against other Slavs: "In 1340 the Galician land submitted to the Polish state, but in the year 1772 it once again found itself under benign Austrian rule, and it is the first Ruthenian region to enjoy a constitution" (DR: 339).⁹ On the other hand, he also mentioned that Galicia was not the only place where Slavs were oppressing other Slavs: "In the Russian state, the Poles are now experiencing grief..." (DR: 341).¹⁰

^{7 &}quot;[...] дабим му всегда статії о русинах, від поляків угнетених, писав."

^{8 &}quot;Народність основуєся на самийперед на походженю народа з єдного і того самого поколіня. ... Слав'янин розріжняєся значительно в лици як і в духовних здольностех від німця, італіяна, француза і т. д. ... Меньше в очи впадающими суть розличія межи поєдинчими поколінями того самого народа, як н. пд. межи велико- і мало-русинами, поляками, чехами і т. д. і найбільша ріжниця межи ними лиш во різнім нарічію (бесіді) тихже состоїт."

^{9 &}quot;Талицкая земля піддалася 1340 польській державі, но року 1772 дісталася знову під лагідноє панованіє австрийскоє, і єсть першою рускою областію, котра конституцією тішится."

^{10 &}quot;Во росийскім государстві дізнают поляки тепер скорби."

Indeed, given the history of inter-Slavic contacts, it was already possible in the nineteenth century to marshal sufficient arguments against elaborate utopias based on the Slavic idea. But such arguments had no influence on the thinking of those Slavs who knew perfectly well that it was no easy task to preserve and develop linguistic and cultural independence even in the Slavic states. It suffices to recall the leading members of the Cyril and Methodius Brotherhood in the Russian Empire—the Ukrainians Mykola Kostomarov, Pantelejmon Kuliš, and Taras Ševčenko—who dreamed of a Slavic federation, and the fate that befell them (see pp. 309–311 in this volume).

Another important cultural figure in Przemyśl, Ivan Xryzostom Sinkevyč (b. 1814), recalled that initially he was a staunch Polish revolutionary in Lviv, where he became acquainted with Kasper Cieglewicz (on Cieglewicz's Ruthenianlanguage activities, see Moser 2003 and Moser 2011: 562-601). According to Sinkevyč, the utter lack of information not only about the Ruthenian Ukrainians but also about Slavs in general accounted for Cieglewicz's great success among the Galician Ruthenians. "In the gymnasium, all we knew about the Slavs was that the Slavs were Slaves; in textbooks, there was only one page on Ruthenian history, strictly speaking, the history of Russia in particular" (DR: 239).¹¹ Sinkevyč joined the Galician Ruthenian populist movement only under the impact of the events of 1848-49. "From Saul [I] became Paul" ("із Савла зділався Павлом") (DR: 241), he wrote, explaining that after reading the text of the Polish-language document titled "On the Elimination of Everything That Would Oppose the Polish Language and Polish Nationality" (O usunięciu wszystkiego co by się sprzeciwiało polskiej mowie i polskiej narodowości), which was included in the petition brought by a Polish delegation to Vienna, he "saw that the notorious phrase 'równy z równym' ("equal to equal") was only bait" (DR: 240-41).¹² There is no denying that the history of the Galician Ruthenians (and Ukrainians in general) is a vivid illustration of how ideas about the brotherhood of the Slavic peoples invariably turned into dangerous fictions.

When the priest, writer, and civic activist Teodor (Bohdan) Lysjak (1817–1900) was studying in Lviv, he began writing poems in Polish. Jan Nepomucen Kamiński, the distinguished Polish writer, actor, director of the Polish theater in Lviv, and editor of *Gazeta Lwowska* and *Rozmaitości*, introduced him to the collections of folk songs compiled by Wacław Zaleski and the poems of Tomasz Padura (DR: 252). Later,

during my stay in the Seminary, the aspirations of Ukrainian as well as of Galician writers resounded in our hearts with a loud reverberation.... True, even the sons of priests among the students brought mostly the Polish language from their parents' homes, but there was a very considerable number of students who, coming from a burgher's or a peasant's home,

^{11 &}quot;[...] в гімназії ми знали о Славянах лиш то, що Slaven d.i. Sklaven, о руской-же історії, собственно-же спеціяльної історії Росії била всего в учебниках одна картка. "

^{12 &}quot;[...] увидів, що пресловутая фраза: równy z równym била лиш приманкою."

brought their mother tongue with them, and they had not forgotten that language and used it among themselves (DR: 253).¹³

Indeed, until 1848 hardly anyone came to study in Lviv or Vienna already armed with a mature Ruthenian consciousness. In a biography—not an autobiography—of the cultural and political figure, journalist, and composer Teodor Leontovyč (1812–1886), the unidentified author describes him as follows:

He was raised as a Ruthenian child and therefore knew, not according to some theory from books but with his soul, that he is neither a Pole nor a Muscovite. He remained this kind of Ruthenian until his death, and for this Ruthenianness he struggled fearlessly always and everywhere (DR: 209).¹⁴

It is hard to say whether this information is reliable or simply an element of the national "hagiography." But there is no doubt whatever that the "spiritual Ruthenianness" of Leontovyč's childhood years differed fundamentally from that which he experienced after 1848 and in later years.

2.3. The Spring of Nations: The Slavic factor in the struggle for equality

The Spring of Nations, the series of political upheavals that swept across Europe in 1848–49, introduced a fundamental change into the Galician Ruthenians' general attitude toward the Poles and the Slavic idea. Even though the two peoples involved were both Slavic, Polish-Ruthenian relations became exacerbated, and national identity generally became even more important than previously. The Lemko priest and folklorist Ivan Birec'kyj (1815–1883), who, like other Galician Ukrainian intellectuals, was very familiar with the renowned works of Šafárik and Kollár, wrote as follows about the brotherhood of Ukrainians and Poles:

Whether we take the matter historically or statistically, two nationalities must necessarily be considered in Galicia, that is, the Ruthenian and the Polish. Although they originate from a single tribe, nevertheless since time immemorial they differ by language, religion, situation, customs, and rites.... If every Ruthenian knew Polish, and every Pole living in Ruthenia knew Ruthenian, then there would be neither division nor discord, for we would be bound by the ties of fraternal affection and common constitutional rule (DR: 281–83).¹⁵

^{13 &}quot;в часі пробування в Семинариї відбилося голосним відгомоном в серцях наших стремлінє україньских, а також галицких писателів. ... Правда, що і питомці-поповичі винесли з дому родичів переважно мову польську, але число питомців, що вийшовши з-під міщаньскої чи селяньских стріхи, винесли мову матірню, було дуже поважне, а они мови тої не забули і єї межи собою уживали."

^{14 &}quot;Він виховався рускою дитиною і тому не по якійсь теорії з книжок, а душею знав, що він не єсть ні поляком, ні москалем. Таким русином лишився він і до смерти і за таку рускість боровся завсігди і всюди неустрашимо."

^{15 &}quot;Czy to historycznie czyli statystycznie rzecz weźmiemy, koniecznie w Galicji dwie narodowości, chociaż z jednego szczepu słowiańszczyzny pochodzą, jednakże od niepamiętnych czasów językiem, wyznaniem, położeniem, zwyczajem i obyczajem się różniące, uważać trzeba t. j. ruską i polską. ...Każdy Rusin umie po polsku, a Polak na Rusi żyjący, umie po rusku, nie było by

According to Birec'kyj, contacts between Poles and Ruthenians had always played an important role in the shared history of these two nations, but there was no brotherhood or democratic interaction between them. As soon as leading Ruthenian intellectuals began to be enthralled by their own national cause, the Poles thwarted their aspirations. As early as 1840, Birec'kyj was corresponding with Holovac'kyj in broken Ruthenian, occasionally using individual Latin letters: "All that concerns the Ruthenian people and its glory, all that delights me.... I know what kind of obstacles our enemies are creating for us" (KH 1909: 26).¹⁶ In another letter from Bachórz dated 1842, Birec'kyj told Holovac'kyj about the progress and extent of Polonization in his parish:

"Well! To tell the truth, that place is not for me.... I seem to be in a Ruthenian parish, but my Ruthenians are such that they do not even know how to speak Ruthenian; whether he is in the Lord's House singing with the cantor or listening to the Word of God in Ruthenian, everything must be said in Polish! They still speak with one another in their own language, but only if there is not a single Liakh around, for they immediately make fun of them, and so parents barely teach their children Ruthenian; the only ones who still speak their mother tongue are old people, but young people mostly jabber in Liakh. Nor will you hear a Ruthenian song in our [parish], for the *Krakowiak* has replaced it, but even that is rarely heard, unless in a tavern, since everything is aristocratic" (KH 1909: 64–65).¹⁷

In a subsequent letter to Holovac'kyj, Birec'kyj described the apathy toward national and political questions in Bachórz in 1848, noting that "Here and there among our priests you will find a Liakh, but not a harmful one.... In our town, our spirit being what it is, there is little zeal" (KH 1909, 284).¹⁸ By his phrase "a Liakh, but not a harmful one," Birec'kyj obviously meant that he usually considered Poles a harmful element. In his view, the "ties of fraternal affection" between the Poles and Ruthenians had already turned into pure fiction.

Since in point of fact it was difficult to reconcile the Slavic idea with existing inter-Slavic political conflicts, throughout the nineteenth century Slavs opposing one another were increasingly often accused of abandoning Slavdom. These

więc ani rozdwojenia ani niezgody, bo by nas łączył węzeł braterskiej miłości i wspólnego rządu konstytucyjnego."

^{16 &}quot;Все̂, де иде о народѣ русскімъ, и о его славѣ, все̂ тое мя tѣшитъ ... знаю, якіи перешкоди роблятъ намъ вороги наши."

^{17 &}quot;Отъ! правду сказаtи, не для мене то-тое естъ мѣсце, ... я нѣбы въ русскій Парохіи а мои Руссини такіи, що и по русски не знають; чи вінъ Ти въ Дому Божимъ зъ Дякомъ заспѣвае, або слова Божого по русски послухае, по польски все треба казати! Медже собою ще говорять по своему, но щобъ ани одного Ляха не було, бо тіи заразъ ихъ высмѣвають, и за тое родичи свои дѣти мало по русски научають; що ще своимъ матернимъ говорять языкомъ, то старыи люде, а молоджага найбільше по ляц'ку швангроче. Ани въ насъ русской не зачуешъ пѣснѣ бо краковякъ вже ихъ мѣсце занявъ, але и той не часто ся відзывае, хибай у коршмѣ, бо и нема коли бо все панцьке."

^{18 &}quot;Медже нашими священниками найде ся декуды и Ляшокъ, но не шкодливый. ... У насъ духъ якъ духъ але ревности мало."

ideas appear in an interesting text titled "Odezwa do Arystokratów" (Appeal to the Aristocrats) by an author writing under the pseudonym "I. Pankevyč," who emphasizes the "innocence" and simplicity of the Slavs, particularly Orthodox Slavs. He directs the following words at the Poles:

We ask you not to buff us constantly with French polish because we are Slavs, and what are you? We love our native land and respect the customs of our fathers, its innocence and simplicity, and you? (DR: 299).¹⁹

As Teodor (Bohdan) Leontovyč notes, during the Revolution of 1848 other Slavs were already recognizing the national identity of the Galician Ruthenians and their demands. The Poles, however, opposed not only the Ruthenians but all of Slavdom:

What good does it do you, Ruthenians, that you have been recognized as an autonomous people by all the Slavs and by Europe, if *Dziennik Narodowy* has not yet recognized you?!" (DR: 303–4).²⁰

In his polemic, Leontovyč emphasized that there could be no doubt concerning the brotherhood of the Ruthenians and Poles, but they were different brothers, much more closely connected to their common mother than to each other:

No one with any common sense will say that there should not be any brotherhood, any spiritual ties, any kinship between those two peoples; why, these are sons of one mother, "Slava," who, recognizing themselves in her, cannot acquaint themselves with each other.... The Ruthenians are a different Slavic tribe from the Polish one because they have their own language, their own nationality, their own literature...the Ruthenians...want to be a nation and rejoin the ranks of the Nations of Europe!!! (DR: 310, 313).²¹

Themes of Slavic kinship were also raised by the Ruthenian priest, civic and political activist, and historian Vasyl' Podolyns'kyj in his famous *Slowo przestrogi* (A Word of Warning), which was written in Sanok during the Spring of Nations. He too emphasizes that, although Poland is the sister of Rus', Mother Slavdom should be respected more, and above all one should respect oneself:

^{19 &}quot;Prosiemy was, nie obłyskiwać nas ustawicznie lustrem francuskiej politury, bo my Sławianie, a wy co? my kochamy ziemię ojczystą i szanujemy zwyczaje ojców naszych, jej cnotę i prostotę, a wy co?"

^{20 &}quot;I cóż wam Rusini z tego, że was uznali jako naród samoistny wszyscy Słowianie, uznała Europa, kiedy was Dzien[nik] Nar[odowy] nie uznał jeszcze?!"

^{21 &}quot;Żeby zaś znowu między tymi dwoma narodami, żadnego braterstwa, żadnego węzła duchowego, żadnego powinowactwa nie było, nikt ze zdrowym rozsądkiem twierdzić nie będzie, wszak to są synowie jednej matki 'Sławy', którzy poznając się w niej, siebie zapoznać nie mogą ... Rusini stanowią szczep słowiański różny od polskiego, jeżeli mają swój język, swą narodowość, swą literaturę ... Rusini ... chcą być narodem i stanąć znowu w rzędzie Narodów Europy!!!"

My gentlemen, I love Poland like my own sister, and I love Slavdom more as a mother, but I love Rus' most tenderly because in it I love my own self. This is a profession of my belief, and I guarantee you that almost all freethinking and non-freethinking Ruthenians agree. In my opinion, it would be more diplomatic on your part, gentlemen, if you adopted a similar belief, for you should not flatter yourselves that Slavdom would allow itself to be transformed for the sake of a few individuals' whims. We accept Poland and want to suffer for her, and we shall certainly suffer, like tender-hearted, high-born Poles, but let her also be tolerant, let her respect us and not permit anyone to offend us, let her be federative and not identically egoistical, for we do not love aristocracy, not even a linguistic one (LS: 375).²²

Even loyalty to Poland seemed possible to Podolyns'kyj, but only within the framework of a genuine federation, free of traditional Polish hegemony. In discussing Ruthenian-Polish issues, he used the Slavic idea to attack the Poles. According to him, they relied too much on the French and even on the "fanatically anti-Slavic" ("sławianobójczych") Germans. Thus, in his view, the Poles were traitors to Slavdom, while the Ruthenians were among the finest Slavs because they did not trust the lords:

The Ruthenians are distinguished in character from other Slavs by their melancholy and nostalgia; emotionally they long for that which they themselves do not know—but they know already...they have begun to comprehend that they are pining for freedom and nationality, that is, for Rus!!... Therefore, the Ruthenian spirit of freedom and nationality within the Polish borders, aroused in the Ruthenians by the Poles, has not yet developed within them, for every Ruthenian still thinks about his Rus' with timidity, for he still cannot find a powerful and solid point on which he might base his Rus', like the Poles, for example, who, like drowning men clutching a razor blade, usually based their political hopes directly on the smooth tongues of the French, directly on the fanatically anti-Slavic Germans, and even on those who, for the sake of those political hopes, kissed them galore. The Ruthenians, on the other hand, having

^{22 &}quot;Moi panowie, kocham Polskę jako siostrę rodzoną, ale więcej kocham sławiańszczyznę bo jako matkę, a najczulej kocham Ruś bo w niej kocham samego siebie. Oto jest zeznanie wiary mojej, a ręczę wam, że i omal nie wszystkich wolno jako i niewolniczo myślących Rusinów. Mojem zdaniem jest, że i panowie byście dyplomatyczniej zrobili, gdybyście przyjęli podobną tej wiarę, wszakże nie powinniście sobie podchlebiać, żeby sławiańszczyzna, którakolwiek dla kaprysów kilku osób przeistoczyć się dała. Pozwalamy na Polskę i za nią to ponosić chcemy i pewnie poniesiemy co i najtkliwsi rodowici Polacy, ale niechże ona będzie tolerantną, niech nas szanuje a nie pozwala nikomu nas obrażać, niech będzie federacyjną a nie identyczną samolubną, bo my arystokracji nie lubimy ani nawet językowej."

no such claims against those peoples, do not trust the lords, for they know that the lord thinks like a lord....²³

Podolyns'kyj then characterizes the various Ruthenian political camps. In his view,

They do not dare to base their political hopes solidly on anyone but have hesitantly divided their principles four ways: I) The purely Ruthenian party desires a free independent Rus' and is heading toward it directly, without hesitation, or through Slavdom. II) The Polish-Ruthenian party desires a free, independent Rus' and is heading toward it through the mediation of a federated Poland, or a Slavic Poland in federation with Rus', with the idea that once it matures and the necessity arises, it will become wholly Ruthenian.... III) The Austro-Ruthenian party desires a Rus' free only of the Poles but not necessarily of serfdom, and if it must be so, then let there also be that misfortune—freedom. In that party there is also liberalism, which expects Ruthenian freedom from Austria, just as the Poles expect Polish freedom from it in Galicia. IV) The Russo-Ruthenian party also wants a Rus', perhaps a free one, but is heading toward it through a preliminary union with Russia, and is thinking of being free only once Russia becomes free.... God only knows when those plans of the Ruthenians will be realized; all I know is that this will happen no sooner than the resurrection of Slavdom as a whole, federated and liberal, in which I firmly believe, Ruthenian-style (LS: 376–78).²⁴

Thus, Podolyns'kyj regarded a Slavic federation built on democratic foundations as the supreme political ideal. Owing, however, to the circumstances that emerged in 1848–49, when the identity of the Galician Ruthenians came

^{23 &}quot;Tęsknota i rzewność charakterem są Rusinów odznaczajączym ich od innych Słowian, z rozrzewnieniem tesknią sami nie wiedząc za czem—lecz wiedzą już ... poczęli pojmować, że tęsknią za wolnością i narodowością t. j. za Rusią! ... Otóż duch ruskiej wolności i narodowości w granicach polskich—wzniecony przez Polaków w Rusinach jeszcze się w nich nie wyrobił, bo każdy Rusin sam dla siebie z nieśmiałością jeszcze duma o swojej Rusi bo nie może jeszcze znaleźć punktu mocnego a rzetelnego na którymby swoją Ruś oprzeć mógł jak np. Polacy swoje nadzieje polityczne zwykle jak tonący na brzytwie opierali wnet na gładkich językach Francuzów, wnet na sławianobójczych Niemcach, a nawet na tych, którzy za te nadzieje polityczne już ich się dosyć nacałowali. Rusini zaś nie mając takiej pretensji do tamtych narodów, panom zaś nie ufając, bo wiedzą że pan po pańsku myśli...."

^{24 &}quot;Nie śmią stanowczo swoje nadzieje polityczne na nikim oprzeć, lecz z wahaniem podzieliły ich zasady na cztery strony: I. Partia czysto ruska—chce Rusi wolnej niepodległej i zmierza do niej wprost bez ogródki lub przez sławiańszczyznę. II. Partia polsko-ruska—chce Rusi wolnej niepodległej, a zmierza do niej za pośrednictwem Polski federacyjnej lub Polski sławiańskiej w federacji z Rusią z tą myślą, że kiedy dojrzeje a będzie potrzeba wtedy się zupełnie zruszczy … III. Partia austriacko-ruska chce Rusi wolnej tylko od Polaków a nie koniecznie od niewoli, a jeżeli tak być musi to niech będzie i to nieszczęście wolność. W tej partii jest i liberalizm, który od Austrii równie oczekuje wolności ruskiej jak i Polacy od niej oczekują wolności polskiej w Galicji. IV. Partia rosyjsko-ruska chce także Rusi może i wolnej, a zmierza do niej za poprzednim złączeniem się z Rosją i myśli być wolną bodaj aż wtedy kiedy Rosja wolną będzie. … Kiedy się te ich myśli ruskie urzeczywistnią Bogu tylko wiadomo; a ja tyle ino wiem, że to nie prędzej nastąpi jak wskrzeszenie sławiańszczyzny ogólnej, federacyjnej a liberalnej, w którą mocno po rusku wierzę."

under threat, their rights were of much greater concern to him than any cosmopolitan or Pan-Slavic idea:

Therefore, dear gentlemen, if I knew that there would come a time when all people, or at least all Slavs, would be speaking only one language, then, even if this were to come about only in a few hundred years, I would already be starting to Polonize, Germanize, Russianize, or even Sinoize my children and my people; but because my mind does not entertain such a possibility, my Ruthenian conscience does not permit me to betray the Ruthenians for the sake of strengthening another Slavic tribe with my own clan, for in doing so I would also be betraying the rest of Slavdom.... Why, then, do some people demand that we alone should be cosmopolitans when they themselves do not wish to be cosmopolitans!... And so, if Ruthenians are Poles, and the Ruthenian language is the Polish language (and there are many more of those who speak it than others), then introduce the Ruthenian language into schools and offices, and let it seem to you that you are speaking Polish (LS: 379).²⁵

If one group of people expects another to be cosmopolitans, then the same should be expected of those making such a demand. If the Ruthenian language were truly a variant of Polish—and this was precisely what many Poles claimed in the nineteenth century—then it should have become a language of instruction and officialdom in Poland. Podolyns'kyj concludes his polemic with the words: "Let it seem to you that you are speaking Polish" ("A niech wam się wydaje, że po polsku mówicie")—a message vividly demonstrating that he was unquestionably one of the most interesting Ruthenian or, rather, Ukrainian cultural and political thinkers of the nineteenth century.

2.3. The Przemyśl activists and the Slavic Congress

Despite everything, the notion of an "imagined Slavic community" (for the nation as an "imagined community," see Benedict Anderson 2006) remained attractive, especially to intellectuals in the Przemyśl eparchy, and considerable political hopes were invested in it. In 1848 the above-mentioned Ivan Birec'kyj wrote a letter to the Czech cultural activist Karel František Zap in which he discussed the impending Slavic Congress in Prague and the backwardness of Galician Ukrainians:

^{25 &}quot;Dlatego to moi panowie, gdybym wiedział, że przyjdzie taki czas gdzie wszyscy ludzie, a przynajmniej wszyscy Sławianie jedną tylko mową mówić będą, a choćby to aż za kilkaset lat nastąpić miało, dziś już rozpocznę polszczyć, niemczyć, moskiewczyć a bodaj i chińczyć dzieci swoje i naród swój; ale ponieważ mózgownica moja nie dopuszcza możliwości takiej, więc sumienie moje ruskie nie dozwala mi zdradzać Rusinów dla zasilenia swoim rodem drugiego szczepu sławiańskiego, bo tu bym zdradził i resztę sławiańszczyzny. ... Dlaczegoż więc tylko od nas zażądali niektórzy, żebyśmy my byli kosmopolitami, a sami nimi być nie chcą! ... Jeżeli Rusini są Polakami więc i mowa ruska jest polską mową (a mówiących nią jest o dużo więcej od owych), wprowadźcież więc tę ruskę mowę po szkołach i po urzędach a niech wam się wydaje, że po polsku mówicie."

My heart rejoiced with great happiness upon seeing your name among the signatories of the appeal summoning all Slavic brothers to the mother of Old World cities, Prague, on 31 May. I do not doubt that all Slavic representatives will hasten to you upon that call, but who will go to represent the Galician Ruthenians? Who will utter a gracious word on our behalf? Hardly any of our people will be aware of your meetings, as there is no one to embrace the Ruthenian cause; there is no one among our people to speak with you about the general affairs of great Slavdom.... Although the Ruthenian has been free since time immemorial, like all the offspring of the Slavic mother, as a result of political intrigues and the evil rule of his princes he forfeited his people's freedom and had to serve his own brother, the Liakh.... In the end, bitter fate condemned both brothers to end up under foreign enslavement.... It is true, dear brother, that we are very weak now, but do we not have our own Slavic brothers to render us assistance and help us in our need?... You know how sincerely the Ruthenian loves all Slavs, and you will find affectionate words to speak of us in friendly fashion. Focus attention on us in the same sense as I am writing to you here sincerely and justly, without even mentioning my name, for if things continue as they are now among us, we will certainly fall victim to brotherly discord (Žáček 1958: 144-46).26

Where other Slavs and Galician Ruthenians are concerned, a leading role in the dissemination of the Slavic idea was played by the Czechs and Slovaks (in those days, the latter were considered to be Czechs). The most important sources of knowledge about the Slavic world were the works of Pavol Jozef Šafárik and Ján Kollár. During the Spring of Nations, the Czechs gave the most consistent support to the Galician Ruthenians, especially as compared to other Slavic peoples. Despite all odds, the Galician Ruthenians managed to send a delegation of their own to the Slavic Congress in Prague, but the Hungarian Ruthenians did not. One of the Ruthenian participants, Hryhorij Hynylevyč of Przemyśl (1809–1871), who was a delegate from the Supreme Ruthenian Council, sent a letter to the Przemyśl-based clergyman Stefan Dobrjans'kyj from Prague: "The Czechs seem rather favorably disposed to our cause, as I was able to deduce from the words of [František] Palacký, Šafárik, and other of the more well-known figures of that nation..." (DR: 463).²⁷

- 26 "Радостію многою возрадовалося серце моє, обачивши ім'я твоє медже підписами відозви, взиваючой всіх братів словеньских на 31-го мая до старосвіцкої городів матери Праги. Не сумніваюсь, що всіх словен заступники на голос той до Вас поспішатся, але кто ж поїде зо сторони русинів галицких? Кто промовит за нами слово ласкавое? Тяжко кто з наших буде притомний нарадам Вашим, бо нема кому обняти справу рускую, нема кому з наших поговорити купно з вами о общих справах великой Словеньцини. ... Хоць русин свободен був із первовіка, як і всі матери словеньской чада, но через крамоли і злоє князів своїх пануваня потеряв свою народню свободу і мусів рідному брату своєму ляхови служити. ... Наконец лихая доля осудила, що оба брати в чужую дістались неволю. ... Правда тоє брате любезний!, що ми тепер дуже слабиї, але чи не маємо рідних братів словеньских, котрі подати нам повинні руки помоги, і спомагати нас в потребі? ... Ти і тоє знаєш, як сердечно русин любит всіх словен, ти найдеш ласкавих слів, поговорити приязно о нас. Зверни увагу в тім смислі на нас, як тутки щиро і справедливо ти пишу, не об'являючи навет імени моєго, бо єсли так буде пізнійше як є тепер у нас, нехибно станемось поталою братної незгоди."
- 27 "Чехи здаются досит нашій справі прихильні бути, як-єм міг повзяти з уст Паляцкого, Шафарика і інних знакомитших мужів того народу ..."

At the congress in Prague, Hynylevyč was not only impressed by the "image of the Slavic picturesqueness...of the Serbs, Croats, Dalmatians, Slovenians, Moravians, [and] Poles" (DR: 464) but also experienced moments of genuine Slavic unity:

All the Slavs speak to one another in their own tongue, and somehow we understand one another; and in a year or two, it seems to me, there will no longer be anything to prevent one Slav from understanding another²⁸ (DR: 464).²⁹

Hynylevyč's experience in Prague—in actual fact, of course, the Slavs had considerable difficulty in understanding one another (see Moser 2005c)—showed him that the attractiveness of the Slavic world lay especially in its great diversity. Once again, the mature national consciousness of other Slavs so impressed the Ruthenian that he adopted it as the model for his own nation's linguistic and cultural rebirth:

I therefore request and appeal to you: practice Ruthenian as much as you can; speak with one another in Ruthenian, accustom your children to this pleasant language beloved by the Slavs.... It was not only the Poles who reproached us, but the Czechs, too, are surprised that we have so neglected our tongue. For my part, I would like it if all our people, especially priests, were in Prague in order to learn how to respect and love their own nationality, as each of the Slavic peoples here, who are neither so historical nor so large—fifteen million—loves its own nationality. The Serb, Croat, Slovene et al. does not ask whether he is understood by a Czech or a Ruthenian; he simply speaks his own language, although he has the capacity to make himself understood in another language. Why do our Ruthenians speak Polish or German not only with Poles but also with one another? (DR: 465).³⁰

3. After the revolution

Initially, the Revolution of 1848–49 left fewer traces in Przemyśl than in Lviv, where a real center of Galician-Ruthenian cultural and linguistic life had been established.

²⁸ Even at the Prague congress, the Church Slavonic language played its traditional role as a unique symbol of the Slavic idea: "For Pentecost [Зелені Свята], we are thinking of celebrating our Holy Liturgy in the ancient Czech Church of SS. Cyril and Methodius. The academicians [Ruthenians from Vienna: Hynylevyč's note] are preparing for the singing, and the Czechs are delighted that after several hundred years they will be hearing the liturgy in Slavonic" (DR: 466).

^{29 &}quot;Каждий слав'янин єден до другого в своїм язиці промовляє і якось ся розумієм; а най-но рік, два, а в зрозуміню єдного слав'янина з другим, здає ми ся, не буде вже жадної трудности."

^{30 &}quot;Тому прошу і взиваю Вас, вправляйтеся, кілько лиш можете, в рускім; бесідуйте межи собов по-руски, призвичайте діти Ваші до так милого і від слав'ян улюбленого язика ... Не тілько поляки нам закидали, але і чехи ся нам дивуют, що так наш язик занедбали-смо. Жичив бим собі, щоби всі наші, особливо священики, в Празі були, аби ся навчили шанувати і любити свою надоровість, як ту кождий з слав'яньских народів, хоть ані так історичних, ані так великих – пятьнайцят міліонів – свою народовість любити. Серб, кроат, слованьчик і т. п. не питає, чи го чех або русин розуміє, він тілько своїм язиком мовит, хоть має спосібніст і іншим язиком з другим ся порозуміти. Для чого тілько наші русини не тілько з поляком, але навіт самі з собою по-польски або по-німецки бесідуют?"

It was headed by the Supreme Ruthenian Council and the new Department of Ruthenian Language and Literature at Lviv University, chaired by Jakiv Holovac'kyj. In October 1849, Josyf Levyc'kyj wrote a letter to Holovac'kyj:

In a word, the Ruthenians are very cool to their own cause—these are not Poles!—if it were to come about all by itself, and well, perhaps they would not be opposed, but there are many who are completely against the Ruthenian nationality (KH 1909: 397).³¹

After the revolution, the same political disappointments awaited the Galician Ukrainians as most other Austrian Slavs. Once it became clear that Galicia's political destiny was to be resolved in the Poles' favor, Russophilism began to develop vigorously even in Przemyśl, which had been such a vibrant center during the early stages of the Galician-Ruthenian populist movement prior to the revolution. It was only after the victory of the Ukrainian idea in the 1860s and 1870s that the Galician Ruthenians finally grasped that the Slavic idea was of secondary importance to Ukrainian linguistic, cultural, and political life.

^{31 &}quot;Словомъ Русины дуже холодныи для своъй справы-то не Поляки!-кобы ся саме сробило та добре, можебы ся непротивили але много есть со всъмъ противныхъ народности русской."

"AUSTRO-RUTHENIAN"? THE VIENNA *ВѢСТНИКЪ* AS A NEWSPAPER "FOR THE RUTHENIANS OF THE AUSTRIAN STATE"

1. The Vienna Brbcmhuktb and its milieu in the year of its founding

While *3οp*_A*Γαλυμκα* (Galician Star), the first newspaper for the Galician Ruthenians, appeared in the revolutionary year 1848, the Transcarpathian Ruthenians, who were well behind the Galicians in the nineteenth-century awakening, had no press of their own for a long time. The first newspaper for both Galicians and Transcarpathians was the B[±]*cmμμκ[±]* (Herald), which began publication in Vienna on 19 February 1850 (according to the Gregorian calendar) under the leadership of Galician Ruthenians. It continued the *Γαλμμο-P[±]<i>cκïμ B*[±]*cmμμκ[±]* (Galician-Ruthenian Herald), which had been appearing in Lviv since 1849 and had generally been written in a language based on variants of the Galician Ruthenian vernacular.

The first editor in chief of the Vienna *Bξcmμu*κ*ν* was Ivan Holovac'kyj. He was a brother of Jakiv Holovac'kyj, who, as a former member of the "Ruthenian Triad" and an editor of the *Pycaλκa Δμξcmpoβaя* (Dnister Nymph) of 1837, is well known as one of the most important pioneers of the Galician Ruthenian awakening. At the end of 1852, Ivan Holovac'kyj was dismissed from the editorial office, returning briefly in April 1853, only to retire for good shortly afterwards (Studyns'kyj 1905: LXVII). Julijan Vysloboc'kyj, who was working as an executive in Vienna, was the second member of the editorial staff who had a decisive influence on the language of the newspaper. He became editor in chief after Ivan Holovac'kyj and remained in charge until the appearance of the last issue of the *Bξcmμuκδ* on 10 (22) December 1866 (for further information about him, see Zavadka 2000). Bohdan Didyc'kyj, one of the leading Galician Russophiles, was also a member of the editorial staff. Later, from early 1853 to mid-1854, he was editor in chief of *30pAΓaλuμκa*.

All three men belonged to the first generation of secular Galician Ruthenian intellectuals, of whom there were still very few in the first years after 1848/49. Until the revolution, practically all cultural figures in Galician Ruthenian society had been members of the Greek Catholic clergy.

Julijan Vysloboc'kyj worked as a *Ministerialkonzipist* (an official drafting documents for a ministry) in Vienna. He was the Ruthenian editor of the *Allgemeines Reichs-Gesetz- und Regierungsblatt für die slawischen Sprachen Oesterreichs* (General Imperial Legal and Governmental Paper for the Slavic Languages of Austria) and had participated actively in the German-Ruthenian dictionary project *Legal and Political Terminology for the Slavic Languages* ("Juridisch-politische Terminologie für die slawischen Sprachen. Deutsch-ruthenische Separatausgabe"; see Moser 2002 on both these publications).

Bohdan (originally Teodozij) Didyc'kyj, born in 1827, had at first shown commitment to the Polish national movement. After studying in the Faculty of Arts at Lviv University, he went on to Slavic studies in Vienna (Čornovol 2006) and became a gymnasium teacher. In 1866, he anonymously published the article "How a Little Ruthenian Can Learn Great Russian in an Hour" ("Въ одинъ часъ научиться Малорусину по великорусски") (Didyc'kyj 1866), in which he described the differences between Ruthenian and Russian as a few features that, if kept in mind by Ruthenians, would enable them to learn Great Russian in a mere hour (it is well known that in actual fact, Didyc'kyj himself never attained a perfect command of Russian).

Ivan Holovac'kyj had been a student of medicine in Vienna and, after his work at the *B*±*cm*+*u*κτ_b, would become a ministry official in Vienna. From the times of Franz Miklosich until 1892, he taught Russian in the Institute of Slavic Studies at the University of Vienna (Hafner 1985: 64). In 1860, Holovac'kyj published a curious Russian reader titled *Russisches Lesebuch. Poetischer Teil* in Vienna (Holovac'kyj 1860). The book featured Russian poems in which Holovac'kyj indicated stresses as an aid to learning the language, adding variants of phonetic transcription as well as translations into German.

Julijan Vysloboc'kyj (1819–1871) and Bohdan Didyc'kyj (1827–1908) had not actively participated in the Galician-Ruthenian awakening before the revolution of 1848/49. However, Ivan Holovac'kyj, who was born in 1814, had already attracted attention with his publication of two remarkable almanacs (Vinok 1846, Vinok 1847) at the Mechitarists' printshop in Vienna. At this time, Holovac'kyj was still an ardent supporter of the Galician-Ruthenian awakening based on the vernacular. This is particularly apparent from the first almanac, while the second already hints at Holovac'kyj's later conversion to a Russophile attitude (a small but significant indication of this is the orthographically conservative use of v in the title of the second almanac). Ivan's brother Jakiv, who had collaborated on both almanacs, became the world's first professor of Ruthenian language and literature when he obtained an appointment at the University of Lviv in 1849. He also became a committed Russophile in the early 1850s, apparently a little later than Ivan, and emigrated to Vilna in the Russian Empire in the mid-1860s (cf. Moser 2002a, Moser 2011: 602–626).

In its first year of publication, the Vienna *Вѣстникъ* bore the subtitle "Journal devoted to the political and moral education of the Ruthenians of the Austrian state" ("Повременное письмо посвященно политическому и нравственному образованію Русиновъ Австрійскои державы"). Among other things, the newspaper functioned as an "official publication," as noted in the *Encyclopedia of Ukrainian Studies* (Encyklopedija 1993–2003/1: s.v. *Vistnyk*) and as the history of its beginnings makes apparent. As the bibliographer Levyc'kyj (1888: 51) points out, the initiative for its establishment goes back to the Czech Anton Beck, who considered it important that Austrian government newspapers be published in all the Slavic languages of the empire.

Not only articles but also laws in Ruthenian translation, as well as other public documents such as pastoral letters of Greek Catholic bishops, appeared regularly on the front page of the *B*#*cm*+*uk*, which was later divided into official and unofficial sections. Some articles from the editorial office, especially those by Julijan Vysloboc'kyj, concern topics such as a coincidental encounter with the emperor (see below) and general affairs of state. Their tone is markedly patriotic. Moreover, the

initial selection of the newspaper's production site reveals its ties with the Austrian administration. In the first issue, the editors disclose that *BbcmHukb* was originally to have been printed not at the Vienna Mechitarists' printshop but by the Vienna State Printing Office ("Wiener Staatsdruckerei"). That was rendered impossible by the latter's "official tasks"—probably a reference to the extremely time-consuming production of the *Allgemeines Reichs- Gesetz- und Regierungs-Blatt für das Kaiserthum Oesterreich*, which was published in all recognized national languages of the monarchy (Moser 2002) (see section 4.1. below for the full text of this message).

The newspaper was not only funded but also controlled by the Austrian government. Soon after the editorial office undertook its duties, it was reprimanded by the ministry of internal affairs, partly for technical difficulties-the "paper was not ready by the appointed time"-and a letter of 26 June 1850 from the ministry to the editorial office added unambiguously that no further excuses for delayed publication would be accepted.¹ Other points of criticism, ultimately deemed more important, were apparent from the orders given in the letter. It included a severe reprimand to Ivan Holovac'kyj, noting "a number of failings...whose elimination is imperative...if the paper is to prosper and fulfill its purpose." The sole authority for writing lead articles was then assigned to Julijan Vysloboc'kyj, and "nothing [was to] appear in the paper without his approval." "All correspondence intended for the paper" was to be handed over to the ministry and-this aspect is of particular interest for our purposes-"examined there with regard to linguistic purity and tendency." What was considered "inappropriate to the paper's purpose" would be "removed," and what was "fit for inclusion" would be sent back (all citations from the official letter in Voznjak 1912: 78–79).

The assumption of control over the editorial office of the *BbcmHukb* by the ministry of internal affairs and the de facto disempowerment of Ivan Holovac'kyj were carried out in a manner and a tone conveying unambiguous disapproval of the state of affairs at the *BbcmHukb* on the part of authorities hostile to Russophilism, who were inclined to demand a radical change of course. Their attitude may well have been justified by some of the paper's contents. Although no conspicuously Russia-friendly attitude was apparent, shortly before 26 June 1850 the paper published an anti-Polish article in which the loyalty of the Ruthenians— the "Tyroleans of the North," as they were called there (the common expression was "Tyroleans of the East")—was contrasted with the fundamentally incendiary nature of the Poles, which had allegedly been manifested on many occasions.² This would soon became a frequent trope in the Polish-Ruthenian confrontation.

Similar complaints had already been made earlier by patrons of the newspaper: its initiator, Anton Beck, who was also a member of the editorial office, had done so in mid-April 1850 (Voznjak 1912: 74).

² Issue 50 of 8/20 June 1850: "[...] Отъ непримирителного, жадными попущеніами не позыскаемого польского сторонництва Русины еще са невдачности не научили. Все що са имъ дае, пріймаютъ вакъ добродъйство и не забываютъ. Мы правда не можемъ важности достойно оцънити всъхъ тихъ взгладовъ, котри до ръшеніа русского вопроса причинитиса могутъ, но то, що есьмо тутъ притолили, повинно бы теперь, где о будучность тихъ Тирольчиковъ съвера ръчъ ходитъ, заслужити такожь на мъстце въ перевъсъ" (Vistnyk 1850: 197–198).

Another cause of official displeasure was the more frequent publication of the "Всячина" (Miscellaneous) section in the civil script (Graždanka) than in the old ornate Cyrillic lettering (cf. also Moser 2005: 151–153).

To quote the letter:

In the historical parts and the features alike, Cyrillic letters must be used throughout, and the Russian script must be completely abandoned. No changes are to be made in the ornamental type of the headlines (cited in Voznjak 1912: 78–79).³

The reference to the civil script as "Russian script," which would recur in the context of the so-called "Second Alphabet War" of 1859 (see Moser 2011: 474–478), finally makes the object of the ministry's concern unambiguously clear. The same applies to the official term "linguistic purity," a criterion with which ministries of internal affairs normally grapple only if a language problem entails political implications considered potentially dangerous to the state. What "linguistic purity" might have concerned the ministry in the given context, particularly a ministry led by a Polish Galician, Count Agenor Gołuchowski?

In the course of the nineteenth century, both Austrian authorities and representatives of Galician Poles often reproached Galician Ruthenians for their alleged Russophilism⁴ simply because they used the "civil script." In fact, however, this feature was quite misleading. For example, *Pycaxka Днѣстровая*, which had nothing to do with Russophilism, was printed in an adapted civil script for the simple practical reason that the traditional civil script, beautiful as it may have been, featured numerous graphemes that had become superfluous. In the *Bѣcmникъ* itself, the comparatively few parts that were printed in civil script were not fundamentally less vernacular or more Russian-oriented than those that remained in ornate Cyrillic. Nevertheless, the Austrian authorities generally regarded the use of the civil script among Ruthenians with suspicion, seeing it as an indication of rapprochement with Russia. By contrast, the use of an adapted civil script by the Austrian Serbs was considered unproblematic, since it had become unequivocally clear that Modern Standard Serbian would bear no close resemblance to Russian.

Was the diagnosis made by the ministry of internal affairs accurate nevertheless?⁵ Was the language used in the *B[†]cmμu*κ*^τ* based on Russophilism?

^{3 &}quot;In dem ganzen Satze sowohl geschichtlicher Theile, als Feuilleton ist sich durchaus nur der cirillischen Lettern zu bedienen und es hat die russische Schrift gänzlich wegzubleiben. In den Titel-Zierschriften ist keine Änderung vorzunehmen" (cited after Voznjak 1912: 78–79).

⁴ On Russophilism in Galicia, see Studyns'kyj 1905 as well as Wendland 2001 (and, additionally, Moser 2004b).

⁵ There had already been internal reprimands as well, such as a letter of 3 May 1850 from Julijan Vysloboc'kyj to Ivan Holovac'kyj that addresses (apart from issues regarding the civil script raised by Count Agenor Gołuchowski) an orthographic problem—the rendering of [g]—which has lost nothing of its actuality today: "Honorable editors...I earnestly entreat that you order the use of r [instead of] r for the Latin and German sound (g). The new type has this letter, and it will greatly contribute to the easier pronunciation of foreign words" ["Всечестный Редакторы [sic]! [...] Прошу конечне *г*, *t* за нѣмецкій и латиньскій звукь (g) оупотребляти казати. Въ новыхь черенкахъ есть

How were questions of language choice discussed in the newspaper, especially in its first months of publication? How did the stated purpose of the paper, which was conceived for the "Ruthenians of the Austrian state" and not only for the Galician Ruthenians, affect its language? And, finally, what images of Ruthenian identity were introduced into the discussion of language?

These questions are the subject of the present article, which is based mainly on a review of the content of the *B* \pounds *cm* μ *u* κ ν from its first issue, published in Vienna on 7/19 February 1850, to issue 60 of 1/13 July 1850 (pp. 1–240), that is, until shortly after the reprimand issued by the ministry of internal affairs. Some questions concerning the linguistic world of the *B* \pounds *cm* μ *u* κ ν were addressed long ago by Kyrylo Studyns'kyj (1905). In contrast to his contribution, mine will focus not on arguments expressed in letters to the editor by Galicians who took sides in the subsequent discussions on language but, firstly, on the actual linguistic shaping of the *B* \pounds *cm* μ *u* κ ν and, secondly, on the arguments of those contributors who opposed a vernacular-based Ruthenian written language. Bukovynian concerns will not be treated here because they were hardly raised in the *B* \pounds *cm* μ *u* κ ν and, indeed, even less by the Bukovynians themselves.⁶

With regard to the founding of *Pycb*, conceived as an anti-Russophile newspaper, which began publication in Lviv in 1867 at the initiative of Count Agenor Gołuchowski (Encyklopedija 1993–2003/7: s.v. *Rus'*), Kost' Levyc'kyj writes that the earlier discontinuation of the *BtcmHukb* in connection with the appearance of the new paper signaled the "beginning of the end of 'Austrian Ruthenianism' as well as Austrian benevolence toward us" (Levyc'kyj 1926: 102).⁷ What needs to be added is that 1867 was also the year of the Austro-Hungarian compromise (*Ausgleich*), which resulted in a much greater (and not only administrative) separation of Transcarpathian and Galician Ruthenians, and that Galicia gained its de facto autonomy in the same year. From this point on, there seemed to be little point in producing a newspaper for all Austrian Ruthenians.

Ivan Žeguc (1965: 51–52) asserts that the *BξCmHuκъ*, which had already managed to acquire some 1,500 subscribers by mid-April 1850 (according to Vistnyk, no. 49, 6/18 April 1850), was of "decisive importance to the Ruthenian awakening in Hungary." Given its intended purpose, the Vienna *BξCmHuκъ* might perhaps have come to play a role as important as the one ascribed to it here. Indeed, immediately after 1848/49, when the political and administrative fusion of Eastern Galicia (which included Bukovyna until 1849) with the Kingdom of Hungary, which had been demanded on various occasions, did not come about, the most important institutionally regulated linguistic and cultural contacts between Galician and Transcarpathian Ruthenians were generally arranged by detour via the Viennese center, with the Galician Ruthenians always enjoying superior status.

тая буква и причинить ся много до латвъйшои вымовы чужихь словъ"] (Voznjak 1912: 78).

⁶ The Ruthenian awakening in Bukovyna began even later than in Transcarpathia but soon proceeded with greater success, essentially keeping pace with developments in Galicia (for a more detailed account, see Dobržans'kyj 1999).

^{7 &}quot;[...] початок кінця «австрійского рутенізму» [австрійської ласкавости супроти нас] [...]."

The same applies to Ruthenian translations of the *Allgemeines Reichs-Gesetz- und Regierungsblatte für die slawischen Sprachen Oesterreichs* and the *Deutsch-ruthenische Separatausgabe* of the *Juridisch-politische Terminologie für die slawischen Sprachen*.

But did the *BtcmHukb* truly contribute to the formation of an "Austro-Ruthenian" linguistic and national identity? And, taking linguistic aspects into consideration first and foremost, what kind of Ruthenian "awakening" did contributors to the newspaper support and Transcarpathian Ruthenians particularly speak up for?

2. First programmatic thoughts on linguistic convergence

The notion that the Vienna *BtcmHuktb* should satisfy not only the needs (including the linguistic needs) of the Galician Ruthenians but also those of the Transcarpathian Ruthenians was raised in the very first issue of the newspaper, to wit, in a letter to the editor written from a Galician perspective.⁸ Perhaps, as Kyrylo Studyns'kyj (1905: XXII)⁹ assumed, the following contribution was in fact forged by Ivan Holovac'kyj, who insistently introduced the Transcarpathian perspective into the language discussion conducted in the newspaper. The letter reads as follows:

Долина. Єсли Вѣстникъ рускій дла того переселилса до Вѣдна, дабы намъ скорше и важнѣйшихъ вѣстей доносилъ, мило пріймаємъ сію вѣсть. Найбарзѣй насъ обѣщаніемъ симъ оутѣшаетъ, что запорученну ровноправность народностей заступати неомешкаетъ, бо мыслимо, же допѣро тогда правъ и справедливости панованье забеспечити можна. Тѣшитъ насъ, же разомъ съ оугорскими братьами до того дѣла беретеса, и съ ихъ сторонъ вѣсти намъ оудѣлати гадаете, звлаща теперь по наданомъ и повсюду оголошеномъ свободномъ оуставѣ. – При томъ было бы нашимъ желаніемъ, дабы мова наша чемъ разъ большои оглады набирала, такъ дабы всѣ нарѣчіа рускіи, то есть: галицке, оугорске и буковинске на взгладѣ были. Дла того сужу, дабы мѣсто бути; быти, мѣсто що; что, какъ оугорскіи Русины мовлатъ, писати. Но сіе все зоставлаемъ вашему розсужденію (Vistnyk 1850: 3–4).

Dolyna. If the Ruthenian *Vistnyk* moved to Vienna in order to report to us more promptly and convey more important news, we gladly welcome these tidings. What makes us happiest about this promise is that it does not hesitate to support the equal rights granted to the nationalities, for we think that only then can the rule of rights and justice be guaranteed. We are glad that you are embarking on this endeavor together with the Hungarian brethren and intend to provide us with news from their lands, especially now that the free constitution has been granted and proclaimed everywhere.—In this regard, we would wish that our language acquire ever-increasing refinement, so that all the Ruthenian dialects, that is, the Galician, Hungarian, and Bukovynian, would be taken into consideration. I therefore consider that instead of $\delta 8mu$, one should write $\delta 6mu$.

⁸ Dolyna is a small town near Ivano-Frankivsk (Stanyslaviv).

⁹ Transcarpathian concerns and the positive reception of the newspaper in Transcarpathia became regular subjects of discussion: see also no. 9, 25 February/9 March 1850 (Vistnyk 1850: 34). The editorial in no. 10, 28 February/12 March 1850, reports an increase of 450 subscribers from the Kingdom of Hungary, etc.

instead of *u*₀, [one should write] *umo*, as the Hungarian Ruthenians say. But we leave this to your consideration.

What the author interprets as "ever-increasing refinement" is thus, in his understanding, above all an increasing leveling of the Ruthenian dialects. Interestingly enough, he considers the "Galician, Hungarian, and Bukovynian" dialects to be "all the Ruthenian dialects," making it appear at first glance that the author envisaged Ruthenianness as such from a purely "Austro-Ruthenian perspective." This limitation is quite surprising, given that the Supreme Ruthenian Council (Holovna rada Rus'ka) had spoken of fifteen million Ruthenians in its address of 15 May 1848 to the Ruthenian people (Zorja Halyc'ka 1848: 1) and had cited population figures indicating that the Galicians were already thinking in terms of an all-Ukrainian perspective extending beyond their region and beyond the Austrian state, although the first draft, in a still regionally limited sense, had mentioned only 2.5 million, referring exclusively to the Austrian Ruthenians (Hrycak 1996: 52; see pp. 171–173 in this volume).

The overt ideological orientation of this letter, whether actual or forged, was wholly in keeping with the patriotic profile of the paper, so it is not surprising that the editorial office of the $B \pounds cmhukb$ —perhaps in the person of Ivan Holovac'kyj himself, possibly reacting to his own contribution—emphatically approved it for publication:

Редакціа Въстника дакуе хорошо честному г. дописователю за его внимательни замъчаніа; стараніемъ ей буде, желанїю родимцъвъ, въ которыхъ имени г. дописователь выражаетса, по возможности силъ и обстоательствъ оудоволити, и ихже оупованіа достойною статиса. Надъємса, що г. дописователь и надаль вспирати насъ буде своими дуже практическими оувагами (Vistnyk 1850: 3–4).

The editors of *Vistnyk* warmly thank the honorable contributor for his attentive remarks; they will endeavor to satisfy, insofar as our powers and circumstances allow, the wishes of our countrymen in whose name the honorable contributor expresses himself, and to prove worthy of their trust. We hope that the honorable contributor will further support us with his very practical remarks.

If the editors had indeed gone on to write *bumu* instead of *bmu* or to edit other articles in that fashion, this could have been interpreted as a concession to the Transcarpathian Ruthenians, as the rejected forms *bymu*, *byAu*, *byBaAu*, etc. were not widespread in the Transcarpathian dialects of Ukrainian. Even now, they are uncommon in southwestern Ukrainian dialects, and the same holds true north of the Carpathian Mountains. But the editors do not even raise the issue of leveling dialects in a manner that would satisfy the Transcarpathian Ruthenians, whose numbers were much smaller than those of the Galicians.

The contributor's second suggestion provides an insight into the rationale of the editors' response. His surprising contention that "instead of uqo, [one should write] umo, as the Hungarian Ruthenians say" flies in the face of actual usage in that

region: no nineteenth-century Transcarpathian Ruthenian would have uttered [čto] in his authentic dialect, even though the form [što], along with [ščo] and [šo], is indeed common among the Transcarpathians. It is quite true, however, that *umo* was *written* by linguistically conservative authors in Transcarpathia as well as in Galicia, contrary to vernacular usage. Thus the author of the letter is not actually concerned with intra-Ruthenian dialectal leveling but with something fundamentally different—either with the preservation of Church Slavonic orthographic traditions or with an attempt to establish linguistic forms extending far beyond the Ruthenian or Ukrainian language area and, most importantly, bringing the Ruthenian written language closer to the Modern Standard Russian of those days.

Incidentally, the language of Ivan Holovac'kyj's response, in which, surprisingly, one encounters $u_{0,1^{10}}$ as in most of the other contributions by Galician authors, is quite compatible with this tendency to approximate Russian forms. An exception to that tendency, however, appears in conservative forms of orthography, such as *хорошо* in the compound with Ruthenian ∂_{AK} 'e, as well as the stems in внимательни замѣчаніа, по возможности [...] обстоательствъ, оупованіа от практическими, which were arguably less influenced by Church Slavonic than by Russian.

The Bħcmhuĸъ and its milieu were thus engaged in a discussion on language from the very first issue. The encounter of Galician and Transcarpathian authors played a formative role in this debate. Indeed, the contributions of Transcarpathian authors—Oleksandr Duxnovyč, Mykola Nod' (Nagy), Ivan Rakovs'kyj, and Mykola Myhalyč¹¹ are known by name—invariably stood out because their language was particularly conservative or showed a constant tendency to approximate Russian. Galician contributions were usually closer to the vernacular, as evidenced not only by the editorial office, which was controlled by the ministry of internal affairs, and particularly by Julijan Vysloboc'kyj, who was favored by the ministry, but also by letters to the editor from Galicia.

3. Masthead

А glance at the front page of the first Vienna issue of the *Вѣстникъ* shows immediately that the civil script and traditional ornate Cyrillic occur side by side.¹² The masthead is in the civil script, but the full original title, "Вѣстникъ. Повременное письмо посвященно политическому и нравственному образованію Русиновъ Австрійскои державы. Рочникъ 1850," shows that the

¹⁰ Even in publications whose language was especially close to Russian, forms such as $u\phi$, κ , or the unstressed infinitive ending *-mu* were also retained in subsequent years (on this, see also Moser 2002a).

¹¹ For the sake of consistency, all personal names are ukrainized in this article, even those of authors whose names could just as well be rusynized from a different point of view.

¹² When *y* and *s* are used instead of not *s*' and *s*, the text appears in the civil script. In the *Bξcmμμκσ*, headlines are often printed in the civil script, while the text proper appears in ornate Cyrillic. For the staff of the Warsaw National Library, which supplied the microfilm in the collections of the Austrian National Library, the typeface was clearly decisive, prompting them to describe the text in one instance as "w języku starocerkiewnosłowiańskim." The retarding influence of ornate Cyrillic is clearly overemphasized in numerous linguistic studies by Ukrainianists (on this, see Moser 2007).

language of the newspaper was oriented neither on the vernacular nor on the Russian linguistic model. Only the stem of Pouhukcb, in which, however, the reflex of o in the newly closed syllable remains unmarked (just as in Pycuhobb), shows traces of the vernacular. Moreover, the genitive singular feminine adjectival ending -[oji] in *Ascmpiückou* (Russian -oŭ, Church Slavonic -ia) indicates a certain distance from Russian and Church Slavonic.¹³ Many other forms are also clearly non-vernacular: *Повременное* (*nucbmo*, cf. the corresponding *Пucbmo vacose* in the *3opa Галицка*, which clearly ties in with the vernacular)¹⁴ and *нpascmsenhomy*, with both forms clearly marked as Church Slavonic by the metathesis of liquid consonants, while the second form displays a Church Slavonic structure of word formation; *nocвященно* with the Church Slavonic reflex u_i of *tj and the genuinely Late Church Slavonic spelling -*H*-*; noлumuческомy* with the Church Slavonic lexical stem and the Church Slavonic-based spelling of i instead of \emptyset in the position of former weak b before j.

By 1850, the Galician Ruthenians had already made great strides in the development of a new vernacular-based Ruthenian written language, and in a great many cases, vernacular-based alternatives to Church Slavonic or Russian forms appearing in the *BbcmHukb* were already in use. Not only had Ivan Holovac'kyj published the Vinok almanacs in 1846–47, but the early volumes of the newspaper *ЗорA Галицка*¹⁵ and the *BbcmHukb*'s predecessor, *Галичо-Рвcкiй BbcmHukb*, had already shown that despite the inconsistencies generally unavoidable in this process, it was possible to develop a full-fledged, polyfunctional written language on the basis of the vernacular.

The accomplishments of the Transcarpathian Ruthenians were much more modest at that point. Oleksandr Duxnovyč's efforts were limited to the use of the vernacular in classical low-style spheres, as in his comedy *Добродътель превышаеть богатство* (Virtue Is More Important Than Riches). Even his first important publication, the primer *Книжица читалнаа дла начинающихъ* (Reader for Beginners) of 1847, was by no means written exclusively in vernacular-based Ruthenian, as is often claimed (see Moser 2011: 627–640). Duxnovyč was thus neither a Ukrainian nor a Rusyn awakener but a quite consistent nineteenth-century Russophile. For all writings not expressly addressed to simpletons, he recommended from the outset that the author distance himself as much as possible from the vernacular, as he himself did.

To be sure, opponents of the Russophiles must have realized that the subtitle of the *Bѣстникъ* was not vernacular-based. In all likelihood, this was one of the reasons why the subtitle was simply removed from the masthead in the course of 1850 (not as late as 1852, as stated in Žovtobrjux 1963: 142). The newspaper was henceforth titled *Bѣстникъ*, *для русиновъ австрійскои державы*, so that no Church Slavonic or Russian

¹³ As a rule, [j] is written as *ŭ*, which is why I interpret the ending *-ou* as a notation of *-*[oji], not of *-*[oj].

¹⁴ Both forms are loan translations of German Zeitschrift, as are Modern Standard Ukrainian часопис or Polish *czasopismo*.

¹⁵ This newspaper also turned Russophile some years later, and the editors were reprimanded about that tendency by the censors as early as 1852 (Studyns'kyj 1905: CXXVIII).

expression remained in the masthead. Beginning in 1857, the newspaper featured the subtitle "часопись политическая," which was finally changed to "часопись урядова" in the years 1858–64 as well as 1866, while in between, in 1865, the subtitle read "часопись урядова политична и литературна" (Žovtobrjux 1963: 142). Thus there was a gradual approximation of forms well known from Modern Standard Ukrainian. Aside from word order, only soft-stem *vaconucb* deviates from Modern Standard Ukrainian (*vaconuc*); it should be noted in this connection that soft-stem *-nucb* forms were widely used well into the 1930s.

Particulars about the newspaper were printed on the front page from the very first issue: on the left, "Выходитъ що тыждня во вторникъ, четвергъ и суботу. Предплату пріймають всѣ ц. к. почтовіи уряды" ("Published weekly on Tuesdays, Thursdays, and Saturdays. Subscription accepted at all Imperial and Royal Post Ofices"); on the right, "Цѣна предплаты съ почтовою посылкою чвертьрочне: 1 р. 15 к., полрочне: 2 " 30 ", цълорочне: 5 " серебромъ" ("Quarterly subscription price by mail: 1 gulden 15 kreutzers, semi-annual: 2.30, annual: 5 silver guldens"). These particulars stand out linguistically from the title and subtitle, as they contain no noteworthy conservatisms, apart from the name of the weekday вторникъ (already used in the Галичо-РУскій Вѣстникъ—but cf. второкъ and во второкъ in Зорл Галицка; see the bibliography). Metathesis, as in the prefix of *предплата*, is based neither on Church Slavonic nor on Russian, which uses the prefix *nped-* as a loan element from both Church Slavonic and Polish. The morpheme nped- is widespread in southwestern Ukrainian dialects, where it is usually either a genuine Polonism (in Galician Ukrainian) or a Slovakism (in Transcarpathian Ukrainian). In the *Галичо*-Р8скій Вѣстникъ, предплата occurs along with *nepednnama*.¹⁶ One now encounters such markedly Ruthenian forms as μo , $m b \kappa \partial H \beta$ (where the ∂ is correct according to the rules of etymological orthography, cf. Modern Standard Ukrainian *тижня*), пріймають (with the hard ending), уряды, чверть-, -рочне (but not -ро̂чне, with the adverbial ending -e, which must be considered a Polonism), and *cepeбромъ* with pleophony. The nominative plural adjectival ending occurs in the non-truncated form *-iu*, which is authentic in some Galician Ukrainian dialects. Here, however, the adjective is equivalent to a masculine noun in the nominative plural, as could be the case even in Church Slavonic texts; hence *-iu* is not marked in this instance as gender-neutral (which would make the form non-Church Slavonic). The Church Slavonic motto of the newspaper, which coincides with Russian, is centered below the masthead and printed in ornate Cyrillic: "Соединенными силами" ("Viribus unitis," the motto of Emperor Franz Joseph I). In "Ч. 22, Въдень, вторникъ 7/19. Лютого 1850 года" ("No. 22, Vienna, Tuesday, 7/19 February 1850"), one again encounters the non-vernacular вторникъ. Non-vernacular года (genitive singular) also appears instead of the previously used *-poupe*. The occurrence of vernacularbased *Atomozo* (genitive singular, notably with *-ozo*, not *-azo*, as in Church Slavonic

^{16 &}quot;Выходитъ тричи на тыждень, въ Вторникъ, Четверъ и Суботу. Передплата стоитъ въ Львовъ цълорочне 8 рен. сер. – полрочне 4 рен. – чвертърочне 2 рен. серебромъ [...] пріймає са такожъ мъсачнаа предплата по 40 кр. сер. [...]" (Halyčo-rus'kyj Vistnyk 1849: 1, ч. 1, Льво̂въ, дна 2/14 липца 1849)."

or in the standard Russian of the period) and Ruthenian *B±∂eµb*, not Russian *B±µa*, indicates that even within the mastheads, the distribution of vernacular and non-vernacular elements is random.

With regard to the non-vernacular features, it is important to note that in our particular case, almost all of them, especially on the lexical level, are typical not only of Church Slavonic but also of Russian. Because of the prominent Church Slavonic component in literary Russian, many Russian elements were supported by genuinely Ruthenian Church Slavonic traditions. This was one of the major reasons why just at this time, in the wake of the Revolution of 1848/49, many Ruthenians who would have liked to establish Church Slavonic as their standard language increasingly began to regard Russian as a kind of modernized Church Slavonic and embrace the notion that they should adopt Russian as their literary language for the long term.

At the end of the first single issue of the Въстникъ, we read the following: "Редакторъ Иванъ Ø. Головацкій. Печатано въ типографіи ОО. Мехитаристовъ" ("Editor Ivan F. Holovackij. Printed in the printshop of the Mechitarist Fathers"). No vernacular form appears here. The form "печатано," supported by Russian and Church Slavonic, was not adopted in Modern Standard Ukrainian. No derivation of genuinely German $\partial py\kappa$ - is used, although such forms had been common in Ruthenian since the early modern period.¹⁷ As for the conservative munorpadia, its spelling is obviously not Church Slavonic but Russian. Most importantly, it should be pointed out that Ivan Holovac'kyj hinted at his patronymic by using its initial, as opposed to the later editor in chief Julijan Vysloboc'kyj, who always signed his name "Василь Зборовскій." There was no tradition of using patronymics among Ukrainians who had not adopted them in the Russian imperial context; among nineteenth-century Austrian and Hungarian Ruthenians, only Russophile circles used them. It is indeed symbolic that Ivan Holovac'kyj only abbreviated his patronymic here and did not write it out in full. He was just as oblique in expressing his Russophile linguistic convictions in the *BtcmHukb*. There is little doubt that had there been no Austrian censors, Holovac'kyj and others would often have often been much more direct.

4. Contributions by members of the editorial office

4.1. First editorials

The language of the first contributions to the newspaper is as mixed as that of the masthead. The first contribution, printed in the civil script, reads as follows:

Сегодня розпочинае "Въстникъ для Русиновъ австрійскои державы" во Въдни издаваемый первое свое чвертърочье, и займе мъстце Галичо-руского Въстника во Львовъ выходившого. Желаючи якъ найобширнъйшого розпространенія сеи часописи и уповаючи въ благосклонностъ почтенныхъ краяновъ, дабы всечестніи родимцъ, желаючи безпрерывно

¹⁷ In the *Зора Галицка*, the Greek and Church Slavonic noun Топомъ... in the traditional spelling was used instead of the verb.

получати сію часопись, изволили якъ найскорѣй присылати надлежащую предплату, понеже по уплывѣ сего мѣсяца буде лишь только екземпляровъ печататися, сколько замовлено.

Для тихъ честн. и всечестн. господиновъ, котори уже на Въстникъ Галицкій во Львовъ предплатили, дозваляемъ яко основательнымъ нашимъ читателямъ тую значительную пользу – же кто тамъ отъ 1. Съчня предплатилъ на полъ року, получати буде, мимо уже минувшого на тотъ рахунокъ мъсяця, нашь Въстникъ отъ нынъ черезъ цълый рокъ безъ всякои дальшои доплаты, а кто на чвертъроку тамже предплатилъ, пользуеся тою користею черезъ полъ року.

На конецъ чинимо извинительну увагу, що Въстникъ не мо̂гъ быти печатаный въ ц. к. статской типографіи для того, же она власне теперъ множество урядовыхъ дѣлъ совершати мае, що такожъ причиною было, же съмо съ розпочатьемъ Въстника о колька дней спознилися. – Редакція Въстника (Vistnyk 1850: 1).

Today the *Herald for the Ruthenians of the Austrian State*, which is published in Vienna, begins its first calendar quarter and takes the place of the *Galician-Ruthenian Herald*, which came out in Lviv. Desiring the broadest possible distribution of this newspaper, and hoping for the good will of our honored fellow countrymen, we ask that all our most honored fellow countrymen who wish to receive this newspaper on a regular basis be so kind as to send their due subscription as soon as possible, for after the elapse of this month only as many copies as ordered will be printed.

To those honorable and highly honorable gentlemen who have already subscribed to the *Galician Herald* in Lviv and who are our core readers, we offer the following significant bonus: those who have prepaid for half a year, beginning on 1 January, will receive our *Herald* for half a year, starting now, with no additional payment, although a month of that subscription has now elapsed; those who have prepaid for a quarter of a year will receive this bonus for half a year.

Finally, we offer our apologies that the *Herald* could not be printed at the shop of the Imperial and Royal State Printer because it must complete a multitude of official tasks just now. This is also the reason why we were several days late in launching the *Herald*. The editors of the *Herald*.

The language of this editorial statement is typical of many contributions to early issues of the *BtcmHukb* and is therefore worth discussing in detail.

In the sphere of orthography and phonology, one notes the following: The reflex of closed o sounds in newly opened syllables is almost never marked, cf. only one instance of Môzb alongside numerous instances of o alone, as in *Pycuhobb*, *чвертврочье*, *екземпляровъ*, *только*, *сколько*. According to Ruthenian rules rather than Church Slavonic or Russian ones, we find o and not e after sibilants, as in *Галичо-руского*, *выходившого*, *найобширнъйшого*, *минувшого*, *дальшои*. The non-Church Slavonic reflex of the word-initial liquid metathesis is noted, as in *розпочинае*, *розпространенія*, *розпочатьемъ*, while Church Slavonic *pa3*, which is also the most common form in Russian, occurs in many other articles. The Church Slavonic reflex of word-medial metathesis occurs in the root of slightly

Ruthenianized Russian розпространенія, as well as in the forms благосклонность and безпрерывно, all supported by Russian equivalents (pacnpocmpanentie/ разпространеніе, благосклонность, безпрерывно/беспрерывно).¹⁸ The non-Russian and non-Church Slavonic adverb власне, with the genuinely Czech metathesisthe form was adopted via Polish-stands in contrast to genuinely Ukrainian pleophonic *uepesb*, which is supported by Russian. The alveolar affricate appears to be soft, as in *mbcsus* or *podumub*, but hard elsewhere, as in *mbcsua*, with hard c before a or на конець. Forms with hard c are authentic in certain positions in many southwestern Ukrainian dialects, but, given the co-occurrence of мъсяца independently of the Russian model (Russian *c* is always hard). The vocalization of *v* in the prefix according to the tradition of the Second South Slavic influence can be found in *cosepuamu*, which also appears in this form in Modern Standard Russian (*совершать*). The preposition in во Вѣдни seems at first glance to be an explicit conservatism, but the practices of the little-known Galician Ukrainian panegyrics of the first half of the nineteenth century suggest that such written forms were often used merely to express—in conservative, allegedly "grammatically correct" fashion-the genuinely Ukrainian syllabic character of the preposition in this position (see Ukrainian *y BidHi*). In *BO AbBOB'*, the vocalization of *b* in the prefix is of course based on regular sound change, cf. Modern Standard Ukrainian $(y)_{\beta i}$ *Аьвові* alongside *у Аьвові*. In *розпространенія*, *сїю*, Church Slavonic *i* is written in the position of weak b before *j*, while the reflection of the vernacular reflex \emptyset can be found in some marked Ukrainian stems (*чвертьрочье* and *розпочатьемъ*). The present active participle $\mu a \partial_{\lambda} e \pi a u \psi b$ has the Church Slavonic suffix $-u - \langle *tj$, as in Russian, while the adverbial participles have genuinely East Slavic -u-, see желаючи and уповаючи (no markedly Russian adverbial participles of the желая type are used). Passive preterite participles are sometimes spelled with -HH- according to late Church Slavonic traditions (*почтенныхъ*), and sometimes with $-\mu$ - (*печатаный*) the distribution does not follow the rules of Russian.

Regarding substantival morphology, the vernacular genitive and locative ending -[u], as in *Ha noxb poky* and *Ha usepmbpoky*, as well as the de facto phonetic rendering of the ending with Ukrainian -B for -[i] in the nominative plural *poduMuB*, are worth noting. In $\partial He\ddot{u}$, the genitive plural ends in $-e\ddot{u}$, which is not a Russianism but is thoroughly supported by Galician traditions and some southwestern Ukrainian dialects (see Modern Standard Ukrainian ∂HiB). As for the instrumental singular form *posnouambemb* and the dative form *uumamensmb*, they deserve attention because in some other publications of the period one may encounter written forms of the type *posnouambemb/posnouambomb* (instrumental singular), or *uumamenëmb/uumamenbomb* (instrumental singular or dative plural), as widely used in southwestern Ukrainian dialects. The instrumental form користею is therefore quite a surprise, as one would rather have expected Russian and Common Ukrainian *kopucmbw* or Church Slavonic *kopucmiw*, but not the reflection of a markedly dialectal ending (*-eju/-ey*); the latter

¹⁸ The metathesis in предплату and *предплатилъ* also recurs (see above).

ending is spelled as *-eÿ* in *Pycaлкa* Днѣстровая and as *-eвь* in many other Galician publications of the period.

Regarding adjectival morphology, one notes first of all that mostly Ruthenian -ozo occurs in the genitive singular masculine, not -azo as in Church Slavonic and pre-revolutionary standard Russian (cf. *Галичо-руского, выходившого, найобширнъйшого*, etc.). The genitive singular feminine ends in ruthenianizing -ou [-oji], as in the masthead (*австрійскои, сеи, всякои, дальшои*). The nominative/ accusative plural ends in -*iu*, as in *всечестнии родимцъ*; in other articles, this ending is to be encountered in feminine and neuter substantives, which means that it is gender-neutral. Long forms of adjectives are prevalent, but truncated forms sometimes occur, as in *извинительну увагу* ог *котори*. The pronoun *momь* is here reduplicated, but this is not necessarily a Russianism, as reduplicated forms are widespread (instead of Modern Standard Ukrainian *moй*) in southwestern Ukrainian dialects. Following a marked Ruthenian tradition, we find forms of the type *muxъ*, not *m*±*xъ*, in the oblique case; the long form *myю*, which is not used in Church Slavonic or Russian, also occurs.

Regarding verbal morphology, the following features are noteworthy: In contrast to Russian, the third person singular present tense of verbs with the present theme vowel e never ends in -mъ, cf. poзnoчинаe, займе, буде, мае. The same applies if the verb form is followed by a reflexive particle, even in the lexically Church Slavonic form *nonbayecs*. First person plural present tense ends either in neutral -мъ in дозваляемъ (the ending -m is quite common in many Ukrainian dialects) or in markedly Ukrainian -*mo*, as in *чинимo*. The reflexive particle *cя*, which has never ceased to be movable in western Ukrainian dialects, functions largely as a postfix in this article, as well as in most other contributions. The shortened form of the postfix -cb never occurs. The editorial message features several marked western Ukrainian preterital forms with personal endings, as in же сьмо о колька дней спознилися. The infinitive always ends in -mu, a difference from Russian that was later often retained even by the most radical Russophiles (cf. Studyns'kyj 1905: 130). A category not preserved in any Ukrainian vernacular variants is the present passive participle, such as издаваемый, which is also marked as non-vernacular by the Church Slavonic prefix (such participles are not vernacular-based in Russian either, but they are part of literary Russian). The other participles—with the exception of preterite passive participles—are also not rooted in the vernacular, but the present active participles at least have a morphosyntactic analogue not only in Russian and Church Slavonic but also in Polish (the *znający* type) and were therefore probably more familiar to Galicians than present passive or preterite active participles, which are not used in Polish either.

In the syntactic sphere, temporal uepe3b + accusative in uepe3b ubstability porb "all year long" and uepe3b noab poky "half a year long" (cf. Polish *przez* with the same meaning), not "after a year" and "after half a year," as in Russian, is noteworthy. The use of the long form of the preterite passive participle in the predicate, as in ue môrb bolmu neuamahui, is impossible in Russian, as is o + accusative in o колька дней спознилися. The construction πkb + adjective or attribute in the superlative

with the meaning "as possible" is marked by the vernacular, supported by Polish, and different from Russian, cf. якъ найскорѣй "as soon as possible" and якъ найобширнѣйшого розпространенія "as broad a distribution as possible."

Above all, the vocabulary often relies on Russian or Church Slavonic models but also features some vernacular-based elements, which are then further supported by Polish in many cases. In the sphere of function words, the final conjunction *dabu* and the causal conjunction *nonexe* are marked as Church Slavonic, while the following words are vernacular-based: $\pi\kappa b$ in the aforementioned construction with the superlative; *жe* and що as conjunctions; *якo* "as" (also possible in Church Slavonic); *MUMO* as a preposition with the meaning "except for"; the aforementioned temporal preposition черезъ; additionally, the causal compound conjunction для того, же; *що* as a relative pronoun referring to a whole sentence and *котори* as a common relative pronoun (as opposed to genuinely Ruthenian котри; cf. Russian который); the adverb *makowb* and the indefinite numeral *konbka* [kil'ka]. In the pronoun κmo_{i} , no dissimilated initial consonant is noted-the non-dissimilated form is authentic in some peripheral southwestern Ukrainian dialects. The form *nepsoe* without the comparative suffix is widespread in Ukrainian dialects. The forms только, сколько are unmarked if one takes into account that only the reflex of *o* in the newly closed syllable has remained unexpressed. The compound *лишь только* can probably be interpreted as a Russianism.

Regarding the remaining lexis, the following stems are not rooted in the vernacular: издаваемый (as mentioned, regarding the prefix из-, cf. выходившого with genuine вы-); изволили (regarding the prefix, cf. дозваляемъ); извинительни (also regarding the prefix; see also the word-formation structure); *розпространенія*, благосклонность, and безпрерывно regarding the Church Slavonic metathesis; уповаючи, почтенныхъ, господиновъ, получати "to receive"; надлежащую (not на-), основательнымъ and значительную regarding the word-formation structure; читателямъ, пользу, пользуеся, множество; the aforementioned совершати with vocalized o in the prefix. All listed lexemes are also common in this form in Russian, only the prefix of *posnpocmpahehis* is Ruthenianized, and the verb *ynosamb* is also a marked functional Church Slavonicism in Russian. Only the word forms господиновъ (genitive plural) and получати in the meaning "to receive" (instead of "to link") can be considered Russianisms without an obvious support in Church Slavonic. The lexeme *желаючи* is not located outside the frame of the vernacular: it is quite common in many Ukrainian dialects. Here, too, we find nevamamuca, not друковатися (let alone друкуватися).

The following word forms and lexemes are both vernacular-based and often further supported by Polish (from which some forms have in fact been adopted): *розпочинае*, *чвертьрочье*, *мѣстце*, *найобширнѣйшого*, *часопись* (cf. *повременное письмо* from the masthead), *краяновъ* (genitive plural), *родимцѣ*, *предплату* (accusative singular), *предплатилъ* (Polish *przedpłacić*), *по уплывѣ*, *замовлено*, *Сѣчня* (genitive singular), *рахунокъ*, *рокъ* 'year,' *чвертьроку*, *користею* (instrumental singular), *увагу*, *власне* (a Bohemism), *урядовыхъ*, *причиною* (a Polonism that is also common in Russian), *спознилися*, etc. Of interest is the use of the modal auxiliary verb *mamu* in the entirely vernacular form in *cosepuamu mae*. The stem of $\delta \omega mu$ and $\delta \omega \lambda o$ remains unmarked, so that the anonymous author of the aforementioned letter to the editor would have had no reason to lament this form, although he would not have been satisfied with u_{i0} .

The next contribution to the *Btстникъ* was most probably written by Julijan Vysloboc'kyj, who offered a remarkable interpretation of the motto "Соединенными силами" with reference to the Ruthenians. This article, printed in ornate Cyrillic, reads as follows:

Гл8бокомысльна приповѣдка нашого молодого Цѣсарѧ, котор8 на челѣ сеи часописи ставлѧемо, показ8е п8ть, к8да намъ конче треба ити, що бы розвин8ти силн8, однолит8, народнор8ск8ю жизнь. Безъ неи ни Р8сины народомъ ни Австріѧ державою быти не може. – Ей одной маємъ подаковати, що въ нынѣшнôмъ pôзнобарвномъ кр8зѣ новорожденнои Австріи, на вздоръ всѧкимъ перепонамъ, с8жено и намъ становити особный, pôвноправный p8скiй народъ. –

Знакома казка о Равноапостольномъ кназю нашомъ Владимірѣ Великомъ, который смертелною зложенный недугою призвалъ своихъ дванадцать сыновъ, и подавши имъ жмитъ тоненькихъ пруговъ велѣлъ ихъ разомъ переломити. Не оуспѣлъ жаденъ. Такъ, рече имъ оумирающій кназь, и съ вами: держѣтеса разомъ, повинуйтеса другъ другу, а жадна сила земна не одолѣє вамъ.

Тожь само состоаніє и въ Австріи: и т8ть племенъ, ро̂знородныхъ силъ чимало: а Цѣсарь одинъ, оуставъ одинъ, ро̂вноправно̂сть одна. На сей подставѣ вольно кождо̂й части взмагатиса и въ сил8 рости, що бы разомъ тимъ сильнѣйш8 становити цѣлость. Лишь крѣпкіи члены, повин8ючиса одно̂й головѣ, становлатъ крѣпкого м8жа.

Нарочно выбралисьмо сію приповѣдку, и кладемъ ю на заглавіи нашого "Вѣстника", ако наконечную цѣль стремленій єго.

И намъ Русинамъ, возбудившимса по долговѣковомъ снѣ до народного сознаніа, побѣдившимъ счастливо сію роковую хвилю, котора нашу жизнь или смерть рѣшала, треба конче всѣ совокупити силы, що бы перестати разъ быти потырою другихъ, що бы на подставѣ ровноправности, зарученнои словомъ великодушного Цѣсара, отрѣпатиса съ пылу давного и глубокого пониженіа, а розвинувши свою питому народно-рускую жизнь, статиса сильнымъ огнивомъ въ крузѣ австрійскихъ народовъ, и быти достойнымъ членомъ сильнои державы.

Нехайже намъ всѣмъ Р&синамъ, галицкимъ, оугорскимъ и б&ковинскимъ, ако роднымъ братъамъ однои р&скои матери, свѣтитъ безпрестанно акъ доси такъ и надаль сіа п&тиводительна звѣзда на стезѣ народного житьа, и веде насъ счастливо до наконечнои, непремѣннои цѣли! – (Vistnyk 1850: 1).

The profound motto of our young Emperor, which we place at the head of this newspaper, shows the way that we must certainly follow in order to develop a strong, unified, national Ruthenian life. Without it, neither can the Ruthenians be a nation nor Austria a state. We have it alone to thank that in today's diverse circle of newborn Austria, against all odds, we have been destined to form a distinct Ruthenian nation with equal rights.

There is a well-known legend about our Prince Vladymyr the Great, the equal of the apostles, who, laid low by a deadly disease, summoned his twelve sons, gave them a bundle of thin rods, and told them to break them all together. Not one succeeded. The same goes for you, said the dying prince: keep together, obey one another, and no earthly force will overcome you.

The same applies to the situation in Austria: here, too, there exists a multitude of tribes and diverse forces, but the Emperor is one, the constitution is one, equality of rights is one. On this basis, every part can freely strive to develop its strength in order to form an even stronger entity together. Only strong members obeying one head make a strong man.

We have chosen this motto deliberately, and we place it at the head of our *Herald* as the ultimate goal of its efforts.

We Ruthenians, having awoken to national consciousness after centurieslong sleep and having happily overcome the fateful moment that decided whether we would live or die, must decidedly join all our forces so that we will no longer be the object of abuse by others; so that on the basis of equality of rights, vouchsafed by the word of our generous Emperor, we can shake off the dust of our old and deep humiliation and, having developed our own Ruthenian national life, become a strong link in the circle of Austrian nations and a worthy member of a strong state.

May this guiding star continue to shine on the path of our national life for all of us Galician, Hungarian, and Bukovynian Ruthenians as fraternal kin of one Ruthenian mother! May it happily lead us to the ultimate immutable goal! (Vistnyk 1850: 1).

Although this article was written in the ornate Cyrillic script, as opposed to the previous one, the civil script is not a reliable indicator of a more Russianized language either in general or in particular with regard to the *BbcmHukb*. The much more frequent use of \hat{o} for rendering the reflex of o in the newly closed syllable is a first indicator that the language of this article is closer to the vernacular than that of the previous one. Only a few features deviate from the vernacular-perhaps the word form *μa чex* b with *e* after the sibilant (in some southwestern Ukrainian dialects, e after sibilants has been retained, but o occurs elsewhere, as in *Hamoro*, etc.); жизнь (cf. along with *жить* [genitive singular]); *состолніе* with *o* in the prefix according to the traditions of the Second South Slavic influence; Ha 3azzabiu with the Church Slavonic metathesis and the ending *-i* instead of [-u], which was then normally used in western Ukrainian in substantives with this suffix; also, in both the latter forms, the use of *i* in the position of weak Jer before *j*; *стремленій* with the Russian reflex e of weak b in the liquid consonant cluster; новорожденнои with Church Slavonic $\mathcal{R} \partial < \mathcal{R} dj$ and *Равноапостольномъ* with the Church Slavonic reflex of the word-initial liquid metathesis, which, however, are unmarked owing to their status as ecclesiastical terms (cf. pôвноправность); furthermore, oycn ѣль; the aorist peчe, which occurs in a historicizing context; the Russian reciprocal pronoun $\partial p \delta z_b \partial p \delta z \delta$ and the present active participle *оумирающій* in reference to Volodymyr (Vladimir) I, as well as *bostsolubuumca* (with vocalized Jer in the prefix, cf. the contrasting взмагатися); сознанія (genitive singular, with the Church Slavonic co- instead of зо- in the prefix);¹⁹ the preterite active participle *побъдившимъ*, *совок&пити* (with vocalized Jer according to the traditions of the Second South Slavic influence [in -во-]); звѣзда (cf. Modern Standard Ukrainian *зірка* and dialectal *tвізда*), *на стезѣ* (see Modern Standard Ukrainian *стежка; на стезі* is still marked as high style) and *непремѣннои* (with the Church Slavonic metathesis of liquid consonsants) from the ceremonial, hortatory conclusion.

Otherwise, almost all the previously observed vernacular features are to be encountered in this contribution. Truncated forms of adjectives and pronouns occur more often, cf. Гл8бокомысльна, которУ; sometimes they are even used in the same phrasal constituent as the long form, cf. силн8, однолит8, народнор8ск8ю жизнь. Forms with full vocalization are also used more frequently, cf. головѣ, nepecmamu (in contrast to безпрестанно, which, in light of Polish bezprzestannie, can be recognized as a form of metathesis probably not motivated by Church Slavonic), etc. Other features encountered here are the vernacular reflex x (but not marked Ruthenian ∂x) < **dj* in *c*%*xeHo*, etc.; the non-Church Slavonic reflex of the word-initial liquid metathesis in *pocmu, pôвноправнôсть*; epenthetic *l* in the third person plural present, as in *становлять*, as typical of Ukrainian; the genitive ending -[u] in *cb nbla8*; the locative singular ending in -[u] in a soft masculine noun in o [...] кназю; the phonetic spelling of the prefix in зложенный (as opposed to the spelling of the preposition in Cb BAMU); hard-stemmed Dabhoro, which is typical of southwestern Ukrainian dialects; adverbs such as конче, доси or надаль; the final conjunction $\mu o \delta \omega$; the negative pronoun $\pi a \partial e h \omega$; the particles $Hexa \tilde{u}(\pi e)$ for forming the third person imperative; the numeral $\partial \mathcal{B}_{\mathcal{B}}$ with $\partial \mathcal{B}_{\mathcal{B}}$ - (not $\partial \mathcal{B}_{\mathcal{B}}$ as in Russian) and the soft alveolar affricate; the indefinite numeral чимало and a number of other lexemes that distance this text from Church Slavonic and Russian, such as приповъдка, рознобарвномъ, казка, жмитъ, хвилю, на подставъ.

This contribution, in which Emperor Franz Joseph's motto "Viribus unitis" is adapted to Ruthenian circumstances, is also highly remarkable in content. Here again, the Galician, Hungarian, and Bukovynian Ruthenians are said to constitute "all Ruthenians."²⁰ They alone are mentioned as blood brothers descended from a common Ruthenian mother. They are exhorted to become a link in the circle of Austrian nations and worthy members of a strong Austrian state—according to the editors, this is the ultimate goal on the path of Ruthenian national life (*Ha cme3*# *HapodHozo жить*A).²¹ Thus, with reference to the present, the editors do not look beyond the Russo-Austrian border: the Austrian Ruthenians alone are defined as "Ruthenians" and mentioned as such. Nevertheless, the same article mentions "our Prince Vladymyr the Great, the equal of the apostles," making it clear that this restriction could not have been hard and fast in the editors' minds. After all, Volodymyr had not resided in Halych but in Kyiv and ruled over a territory

¹⁹ The vowel in the prefix is regular here.

²⁰ The punctuation is conclusive here. In намъ всѣмъ Русинамъ, галицкимъ, оугорскимъ и буковинскимъ, after всѣмъ Русинамъ we are in fact dealing with an apposition, not an attribute.

²¹ Similarly, as demonstrated above, Ukrainian dialects were regarded as existing exclusively under an "Austro-Ruthenian" roof.

considerably larger than Galicia and Transcarpathia; indeed, the extent of his rule over those territories, particularly Transcarpathia, is highly questionable. Yet the article does not consider what relation the territory ruled by Volodymyr may have had to the Great Russians. Whom, then, did the editors have in mind when writing of "our Prince Vladymyr the Great?" Whatever the answer to this question, the historical point of reference ultimately makes it clear that the editors of the *Btecmhukb* looked beyond the Ruthenians on Austrian territory, taking a view corresponding to that of the Supreme Ruthenian Council, which included the Ukrainians of the Russian Empire. In fact, we know that Ivan Holovac'kyj's and Bohdan Didyc'kyj's looked farther still, placing the Ruthenians in an all-Russian context, with the Great Russians dominant. Such a view could not, however, be expressed openly in the *Btecmhukb*.

4.2. Articles about Ruthenians in Vienna

Like other Galician Ruthenian newspapers, the BECMHUKT reported on current events in the Austrian state as well as in foreign countries. One of the most important functions that differentiated this state-supported newspaper from others was that it reported directly from the capital, Vienna, bringing its Ruthenian readership into closer contact with the metropolis as a stable point of reference. This was evidently intended to foster a kind of Austrian civic consciousness, which of course was to be expressed in absolute loyalty to the imperial dynasty. From a Ruthenian perspective, another important task of the *B*[±]*cm*+*u*κ[±] was to create a common national identity for the Galician, Bukovynian, and Transcarpathian Ruthenians and report on the progress of the national movement in Ruthenian-settled areas with regard to Ruthenian-language schooling and related topics. Although there were also subscribers to Зоря Галицка in Transcarpathia, and contributions from there were regularly sent to the editorial office of the Lviv newspaper (particularly from Oleksandr Duxnovyč, especially during the Russophile period of Зорл Галицка), only the *BtcmHukb* was unambiguously defined as a newspaper for all Ruthenians in the Austrian state, and it alone featured periodic reports on Transcarpathian affairs, as well as reports written from a Transcarpathian perspective.

The first issue of *B*ъстникъ already includes a report on the "Ruthenians in Vienna." The headline is printed in the civil script and the text proper in ornate Cyrillic (Vistnyk 1850: 1–2):

Австрія. Русины въ Вѣдни.

Ктобъ подумалъ съ далекихъ братій нашихъ, же ту въ средоточію нѣмецкого житъа, знаходитса многочисленна рускаа громада. И правда, ходивши не єдну недѣлю по твердыхъ камѣнахъ столицѣ, трудно спостерегчи своихъ, тажко по лицахъ познати. Но єсли заведе брата нашого дѣло вке до головнои почты, а ще въ свато або въ недѣлю, и оучуе ту съ поблизкои церкви св. Варвары наши пѣніа церковни, то забудеса и самъ собѣ не вѣритъ, вкъ намъ са здарило на саме Богоавленіе: церковь переполнена набожнымъ народомъ, а на лицу кождого съ притомныхъ малюютса глубоки чувства розвиваючи въ душѣ цѣлу минувшо̂сть. [...] [This is followed by general reflections on the significance of youth in one's life.] [...] Воаки наши котрого б§дь полк§, що ино до тои столицѣ са до́станутъ, оуже первой недѣли полненька ихъ церковь. Хотай сл§жба ихъ часто встрим§є, а мешкаютъ по большой части д§же о подаль, набоженьство славаньске, слово солодкое р§ское оустами горливого пароха промовлене, сгромаж§є съ далекихъ сторонъ всѣхъ нашихъ братій въ домъ Божій акъ едн§ родин§ въ єдно собранье. – Молодѣжь р§ска розсыпана по розлеглыхъ передмѣстахъ т§тъ совок§плаеса, и въ прекрасныхъ гласахъ производитъ спѣвъ ч§десный. Родимцѣ наши знаходачіиса на сл§жбѣ въ оурадахъ и инныхъ мѣстцахъ совок§плаютса въ церковцѣ сватой. Всѣ погладаютъ на себе акъ на давныхъ знакомыхъ, бо вѣра отецъ нашихъ важе всѣхъ въ люб§ громад§ тои церкви сватои.

Austria. Ruthenians in Vienna.

Who among our remote brethren would think that here, in the midst of German life, there is a multitudinous Ruthenian community? And indeed, on frequent Sunday walks along the hard stones of the capital, it is hard to single out one's own people; it is hardly possible to recognize them by their faces. But if an errand leads one of our brethren to the Main Post Office, particularly on a holiday or a Sunday, and if he hears our church singing from St. Barbara's Church nearby, he will be puzzled and doubt himself, as happened to us on Epiphany itself: the church is overcrowded with a pious congregation, and every face is marked by deep feelings that develop his entire past in his soul. [This is followed by general reflections on the significance of youth in one's life.] ... As soon as our soldiers of whatever regiment arrive in the capital, their church is already full on the first Sunday. Although their military service often detains them, and most of them live far away, Slavic worship and the sweet Ruthenian word from the mouth of a devoted priest brings together all our brethren from distant parts in the house of God, gathered as one family. - Ruthenian youth, dispersed among the remote suburbs, gather here and produce wonderful singing with their excellent voices. Our fellow countrymen who serve in offices and elsewhere gather in the holy little church. They look at one another as old acquaintances, for the faith of our fathers binds them all into the dear community of this holy church.

The importance of St. Barbara's Greek Catholic Church to the cultural life of Ukrainians in Vienna, as described here, continues to the present day. It is noteworthy that here, along with Greek Catholic belief, linguistic factors above all—the "wonderful" Ruthenian chant and the "sweet Ruthenian word from the mouth of the devoted priest"— figure as attractions of the church and as the major features characterizing the Ruthenians.

In all likelihood, this article was written by Julijan Vysloboc'kyj, and it is again quite close to the vernacular. Among the elements not rooted in the vernacular, the following may be mentioned: въ средоточію with the Church Slavonic metathesis of liquid consonants and the writing of the reflex *i* of weak *b* before *j*; the compound *многочисленна*; the Church Slavonicisms *n*ѣні*м*²² and Бого*мвленіе* with the reflex *i* of weak *b* before *j*, which are also rooted in Russian (note, however, собранье,

²² In contrast to Ukrainian, the stem as such cannot be regarded as a Church Slavonicism in Russian.

житьа or no [...] камѣнахъ with the reflex \emptyset); въ прекрасныхъ гласахъ with the Church Slavonic liquid metathesis; the Church Slavonicism npouseodumb with the Church Slavonic prefix -u3- (cf. in contrast non-etymological cb in cb далекихb братій ог съ поблизкои церкви instead of $(u)_{3b}$; the Church Slavonicism совок вплаютса with vocalization of Jer in the second prefix according to the traditions of the Second South Slavic influence; and, finally, the highly archaic genitive ending $-\mathcal{O}(< b)$ in *omeup Hamuxp*. It should be noted, however, that the lexemes *n*BHiA and *BOZOABAPHIE* are directly associated with the church, while in въ прекрасныхъ гласахъ (прекрасний is also used in Modern Standard Ukrainian) and Молодѣжь рУска [...] совокУпллесл, и въ прекрасныхъ гласахъ производитъ спъвъ чядесный, as well as in въра отецъ нашихъ, the author clearly strives for a Church Slavonic stylization in order to stress the ceremonial atmosphere of the Greek Catholic Mass. Only the word *cpedomovie* would appear to qualify as a "loan of necessity" (Bedarfsentlehnung) from Church Slavonic and/or Russian, as there was no authentic Ruthenian equivalent. For the stem form *знаком*- (cf. marked Ukrainian знайомий), one finds evidence only from the seventeenth century onward in historical dictionaries of Russian (cf. Slovar' 11–17: s.v. знакомый, знакомство); it was not alien even to western Ukrainian, as a glance into Zenon Kuzelja and Jaroslav Rudnyc'kyj's dictionary of 1943 (Kuzelja-Rudnyc'kyj 1943/1987: s.v. знакомий), will confirm, and it was used in western, central, and eastern Ukraine well into the twentieth century. The word *многочисленна* is somewhat less alien to Ukrainian than one would think at first glance, considering that, despite the dominance of boramo or baramo—or berbo in the southwestern Ukrainian dialects the traditional form много is still used (cf., for instance, мніго in the Podlachian dialects: see Lesiv 1997: 365, cf. also Ukrajins'ko-rosijs'kyj slovnyk 1953–1963: s.v. много; in the Русалка Днѣстровая as well, много is used dozens of times).

The long form of the adjective, as seen here in $p\&c\kappaa\& cpomada$ and $cnobo conod\kappaoe p\&c\kappaoe$, is not uncommon in some southwestern Ukrainian dialects, but, given the clearly predominating truncated forms, we are most probably dealing here with a form deliberately chosen for the adjective "Ruthenian" (but cf. $Monod \pounds wb$ $p\&c\kappa a$). For the Ruthenians as for others, especially in the years ca. 1848/49, the concept of nationality bore something of a sacred aura.

 which occurs alongside the aforementioned Church Slavonic (or Russian) *nbHiA*; the recurring rendition of the soft alveolar affricates in *Podumub* and in *MbcmuAxb* (but cf. *no Auuaxb* and *Ha Auub* earlier).

4.3. News from Vienna and the world

It was not only individual articles in the B # cmhukb that reported on events from Vienna; there was also a section titled "B # Aehckin Hoboctni" that featured brief reports received in the capital from various parts of the monarchy. Not all of them directly concerned Ruthenian affairs. The first issue of B # cmhukb featured the following items (I have selected mainly those related to Ruthenian affairs):

** Довѣдуемса съ певного жерела, же въ минстерствѣ богослуженіа працюеса надъ роздобытьемъ полѣпшеньа состоаніа нашихъ сващенниковъ въ обще. [...]

** Мкъ ч8ти, мае Галиціа съ певностію подѣлена быти на два Намѣстничества; только въ акій способъ ще не извѣстно. [...]

** Зъ Оуторъ пол8чилисьмо нынѣ письмо ознаймлаюче намъ, же тамъ при надаванью оурадовъ въ р8скихъ сторонахъ на нашихъ честныхъ родимцевъ много брано взглад8.

** Въ днахъ поводи тутейшои оудавалса министеръ Бахъ съ намъстникомъ Емингеромъ особисто и многокротне на мъстца потопомъ загрожени, где оудивительною щедротою оказовали попеченіе свое дла доткненныхъ жителей тихъ низинъ.

** Съ радостью довѣдвемса нынѣ, же оугорскіи братьа наши сильнв розвивають дѣлательность въ границахъ дозволеныхъ щодрою рвкою Єго Величества. [...]

** We learn from a certain source that in the Ministry of Religious Affairs, work is being done for the general improvement of the situation of our priests....

** As we learn, Galicia is certainly to be divided into two districts; however, it is not yet clear in what way....

** We have just received a letter from Hungary informing us that in the distribution of offices in the Ruthenian lands, special attention has been paid to our honorable fellow countrymen.

** During the local flood, Minister Bach, with Governor Eminger, personally and frequently visited the places threatened with inundation, where they offered their support with striking generosity to the affected inhabitants of those lowlands.

** We are glad to learn that our Hungarian brethren are developing extensive activity within the limits permitted by the generous hand of His Majesty....

Further issues of the *B*[‡]*cmHuκ*^b include, inter alia, the following "News from Vienna" (p. 7):

** Чуемо, що Львовское правительство получило возваніе, дати свое мнѣніе о заокругленію Галичины черезъ присоединеніе части сѣвернои Оугорщины. – Запевне буде при томъ взгладъ матис₄ особенный на еднородніи племенности (по. 2, 9/21 February; Vistnyk 1850: 7). ** Словарь правничо политичнои термінологіи теперь споро печатаеса. Первіи два аркуши нъмецко-ческого изданіа оуже готови. Те изданіе буде дла прочихъ до поровнываньа служити, абы тимъ способомъ найбольше согласіе всѣхъ изданій осагнути (no. 4, 14/26 February; Vistnyk 1850: 15).

** We hear that the government in Lviv has received a request to offer its opinion on the rounding of the boundaries of Galicia by the annexation of part of northern Hungary.—Special attention will undoubtedly be paid to related tribes (no. 2, 9/21 February; Vistnyk 1850: 7).

** The dictionary of legal and political terminology is now being printed rapidly. The first two sheets of the German-Czech edition have already been finished. This edition will serve all others for comparison in order to achieve the greatest uniformity of all editions (no. 4, 14/26 February; Vistnyk 1850: 15).

Issue 23 for 4/16 March 1850 reports that two Ruthenians from the Stauropegion Monastery in Lviv have received appointments at the Court and State Printshop ("Hof- und Staatsdruckerei") (Vistnyk 1850: 47); a contribution on the printing facility itself appears ibid., 92), etc.

Church Slavonicisms and Russianisms are not a rarity in these reports. One regularly encounters such word forms as, in this case, *состолніа*, въ обще, извѣстно, полвчилисьмо "we have received" as a lexical Russianism, письмо instead of листь, оудивительною (instrumental singular feminine), попеченіе, the probably artificial word дѣлательность (cf. Polish działalność and Russian дѣятельность), изданіе, or *согласіе*. Occasionally, the frequency of such elements is as high as in the first of the reports just quoted, where *правительство*, полвчило "has received," возваніе, мнѣніе, присоединеніе, особенный, and племенности (accusative plural) are striking. News reports such as these were most likely written by Ivan Holovac'kyj, and perhaps also by Bohdan Didyc'kyj.

On the other hand, one also finds numerous vernacular forms in brief reports, most of which were probably written by Julijan Vysloboc'kyj, for example, *Довѣд8емсѧ съ певного жерела* (but not *джерела*), *працюесѧ, полѣпшеньѧ* (genitive singular), *щодрою* (instrumental singular feminine; see Modern Standard Ukranian *щедрий* with *e* in the root after the sibilant), *осѧгн8ти, поровныванья* with *no*- (not *c*- as in Russian *сравненie*) and the non-Church Slavonic reflex of the word-initial liquid metathesis; *me* with the truncated nominative singular neuter ending; *ч8емо* "we hear" with the markedly Ukrainian ending, *запевне, матисѧ*, etc. Sporadically, one finds expressions that are probably loan translations from German, such as *брано взглѧд8*(cf. German *Rücksicht nehmen* "to take into consideration" or *оудавалсѧ* (cf. German *sich begeben* "to move").

If the report concerns the emperor himself, the language of the articles is no more heavily pervaded by Church Slavonic elements than elsewhere, and markedly vernacular forms are not avoided, as one might expect on account of Ruthenian literary conventions prevailing before 1848/49, cf. the following contributions from no. 16 for 14/26 March and no. 17 for 16/29 March 1850, which were most likely written by Julian Vysloboc'kyj:

Его Величество пересмотрують близко що дна то касарни то больницѣ и пр. и загощують по большой части такъ несподѣвано, же не ма часу приготововатиса до принатіа Монархи, какъ то звычайно бывае, коли ожидають где высоку особу. То однакожь привело розмаитіи публични заведеніа въ такій образцевый порадокъ, же повсюду видно таке старанье, таку чистоту, какъ коли бы що годины ожидано найвышшого госта. В. З. (Vistnyk 1850: 61–62).

Вѣдень 28 марта. Его Величество нашь милостивѣйшій Цѣсарь люблать найчастше около 4–5 годины по пол8дню перехожоватиса вздолжь башть. Вчорайшого дна малисьмо то щастье встрѣтити Его Величество на томже самомъ ходѣ, а поклонившиса низенько, акъ же насъ оурадовала подака Его Величества, оказана намъ не только шапочкою но такожь веселымъ возрѣніемъ, и же такъ скаж8 промовлаючимъ лицемъ. [...] В. З. (Vistnyk 1850: 65).

Almost every day, His Majesty reviews either barracks or hospitals, etc., and mostly visits so unexpectedly that there is no time to prepare for the reception of the Monarch, as is usual when someone of high standing is expected. This, however, has brought such exemplary order to various public institutions that everywhere one sees such diligence and cleanliness as if a guest of the highest rank were expected at any hour. V. Z. (Vistnyk 1850: 61–62).

Vienna, 28 March. His Majesty our Most Gracious Emperor most often likes walking along the parapets at about four or five in the afternoon. Yesterday we had the good fortune to meet His Majesty on just such a walk. As we bowed low, how gladdened we were by His Majesty's thanks, rendered to us not only with his little hat but also with a cheerful look and, so to speak, an expressive face.... V. Z. (Vistnyk 1850: 65).

Numerous forms here are deliberately styled in a Ruthenian manner, such as $u_{i0} \partial_{HA}$ and $u_{i0} coduhil, no forming adverbial clauses of manner with the meaning of measure and degree; <math>he \ Ma \ uacs'$ with the genitive ending [-u]; a_{Kb} , $3bbuulle uable uable, korrest and degree; <math>he \ Ma \ uacs'$ with the genitive ending [-u]; a_{Kb} , $3bbuulle uable uable, korrest and degree; <math>he \ Ma \ uacs'$ with the genitive ending [-u]; a_{Kb} , $3bbuulle uable, korrest and degree; <math>he \ Ma \ uacs'$ with the genitive ending [-u]; a_{Kb} , $3bbuulle uable, korrest and pronouns in the first passage or <math>\lambda wontheta mathematicates and pronouns in the first passage or <math>\lambda wontheta mathematicates and pronouns in the first passage or <math>\lambda wontheta mathematicates and pronouns in the first passage or <math>\lambda wontheta mathematicates and pronouns in the first passage or <math>\lambda wontheta mathematicates and pronouns in the first passage or <math>\lambda wontheta mathematicates and pronouns in the first passage or <math>\lambda wontheta mathematicates and pronouns in the first passage or <math>\lambda wontheta mathematicates and pronouns in the first passage or <math>\lambda wontheta mathematicates and pronouns in the first passage or <math>\lambda wontheta mathematicates and pronouns in the first passage or <math>\lambda wontheta mathematicates and pronouns in the first passage or <math>\lambda wontheta mathematicates and pronouns in the first passage or <math>\lambda wontheta mathematicates and the transmitted mathematicates and pronouns in the first passage or <math>\lambda wontheta mathematicates and non-etymological spelling; <math>a_{Kb}$, nod_{AKa} , we, makowtheta, npowoheta mathematicates and others in the second passage. Only isolated forms, such as <math>nepecwonpsymmets (Ruthenianized Russian nepecwampusawmets), $\delta ontheta mathematicates and obstauges and others mathematicates mathematicates and <math>wontheta mathematicates and <math>wontheta mathematicates and <math>wontheta mathematicates and wontheta mathematicates and <math>wontheta mathematicates and <math>wontheta mathematicates and <math>wontheta mathematicates and <math>wontheta mathematicates an$

Elsewhere, in a report on one of the emperor's hospital visits, Russianisms and/ or Church Slavonicisms play a somewhat more prominent role, cf. *noc*#uqavu (with иц < *tj), вчера with e after the sibilant (which is known, however, from Galician dialects), слячайно, больницв (accusative singular) and больничніи, изълвили, оудовольствіе ог обхожденіемь (instrumental singular):

Его Величество Цѣсарь посѣщали вчера сл8чайно ц. к. больниц8 войсков8ю. Въ часѣ проход8 черезъ избы больничніи розмавлали Е. В. акъ найпріатнѣйше съ нед8жими воинами въ ихъ народныхъ азыкахъ. При отходѣ изъавили Е. В. свое оудовольствіе надъ добрымъ догладомъ и обхожденіемъ съ слабыми (Vistnyk 1850: 178).

Yesterday His Majesty the Emperor happened to visit the Imperial and Royal Military Hospital. As H.M. walked through the hospital wards, he spoke most pleasantly with the sick soldiers in their national languages. As he left, H.M. expressed his satisfaction with the good care and treatment of the infirm.

This report also features Ruthenianizing elements, such as *Bъ часѣ проход*⁸ with the Ruthenian compound preposition and the genitive ending -[u] of the noun, *розмавлали*, *недвжими*, the construction акъ найпріатнѣйше, оудовольствіе надъ instead of Russian оудовольствіе оть, въ народныхъ казыкахъ instead of Russian *на народныхъ казыкахъ*. Were these elements inserted deliberately to distance the language to some degree from Russian, as the first professor of Ruthenian language and literature, Jakiv Holovac'kyj, increasingly did in the years immediately after the Revolution of 1848/49 (see Moser 2002a; Moser 2011: 602–626)? And is it not most likely that this article was written by Jakiv's brother, Ivan Holovac'kyj?

Other reports in the *Въстникъ* were sent from various cities and towns of the monarchy, such "Прага" ("Prague"), "Торстъ" (that is, East-Slavicized Croatian and Slovenian *Trst* "Trieste"), "Медїоланъ" ("Milan"), or "Германстадтъ (Сибинь)" (Romanian *Sibiu*, i.e., German *Hermannstadt* = Hungarian *Nagyszeben*).

These are followed by "Загранични новости" (News from Abroad), a section that does not differ linguistically from the brief reports from Vienna.

In the "National Affairs" ("Справы народніи") section on pages 2 and 3 of the first issue, one finds a report about a "Slavic Ball in Vienna" ("Славянскій баль во Вѣдни") (the headline was again printed in the civil script). The language of this contribution draws heavily on Russian; the author was probably Ivan Holovac'kyj. This section reported mainly on partial successes of the Ruthenian national movement and often featured articles by Galician and Transcarpathian contributors.

4.4. Contributions by members of the editorial staff to the entertainment section

The "Miscellaneous" ("Всячина") section featured a great variety of entertaining or instructive articles. Both articles about Ruthenians in Vienna cited above were included in that section. In no. 2 for 9/21 February 1850, a "story" ("Казка") titled "Woe to the one who does not know how to live in his own house" ("Лихо тому, кто не умъе жити въ своемъ дому") appears entirely in the civil script (Vistnyk 1850: 6–7). Another sample story from that section is titled "The Invalid Petro from

Novosilka" ("Инвалидъ Петро зъ Новосѣлки") (Vistnyk 1850: 91). Adages also appear in the "Miscellaneous" section. As a rule, these are not popular proverbs but apparently translations or perhaps original contributions by Julijan Vysloboc'kyj. Nevertheless, these adages are largely based on the vernacular, although they also sporadically exhibit Russianisms, such as the verb form *ozopчamъ* (third person present plural) in the following adage from no. 3 for 11/23 February 1850:

Живи такъ, щобъ о тобѣ ничого злого не могли сказати: тогды, если що и скажутъ, то тебе не огорчатъ (Vistnyk 1850: 12).

Live so that no one can say anything bad about you; then, even if they do so, they will not aggrieve you (Vistnyk 1850: 12).

In no. 10 for 28 February/12 March 1850, a new series that filled numerous issues of the first volume of the *Вѣстиникъ* was introduced. Julijan Vysloboc'kyj presented his first "Letter to Beautiful Ruthenian Ladies" ("Листъ до красныхъ Русинокъ"), in which he reported on fashionable novelties from Vienna, only to conclude in moralizing fashion and offer practical advice on housekeeping. The first letter was followed by many others. It would appear that we are dealing here with one of the first, if not the very first Galician Ruthenian publication focusing particularly on women (the first periodical for women, *Лада*, under the editorship of the radical Russophile Severyn Šechovyč, did not begin publication until 1853). The "Letters to Beautiful Ruthenian Ladies" are vernacular-based on every linguistic level. This also applies to the following article, which contains not a single marked non-vernacular form:

Всячина. Листъ до красныхъ Русинокъ! [...] На весенныхъ променадахъ здыбаемъ дамъ много въ зеленыхъ сукняхъ подобнои барвы якъ дубове листье – матеріи найбольше еднобарвни безъ цвѣтовъ и цянокъ [instead оf цятокъ?], часто однакожь съ переду нашивани отъ горы ажь до долу въ два ряды шнурочками або гафтами тои же самои барвы; межи которыми нашивками помѣщени бываютъ гузики, якъ коли бы спинали цѣлу сукню чи шляфрочокъ. [...] Написаль емь Вамъ о модахъ, но надѣюсѧ, що Васъ яко добрыхъ господынъ займе дуже, найновѣйша нѣмецка господарска придумка, котра Вѣденкамъ въ теперѣшныхъ часахъ много грошей ощадила: – вынайденье найтаньшого ночного свѣтла.[...] Василь Зборовскій (Vistnyk 1850: 40).

Miscellaneous. Letter to Beautiful Ruthenian Ladies! ...On spring promenades we encounter many ladies in green dresses whose color resembles that of oak leaves—the material is most often plain without flowers and dots but frequently embroidered on the front from top to bottom in two rows, with cords or embroidery of the same color; between these embroidered rows there are usually buttons that appear to keep the whole dress or dressing gown together.... I have written for you about fashion, but I hope that you, as good housewives, are very interested in the latest German household appliance, which has saved Viennese ladies a great deal of money these days: the invention of the most inexpensive night light.... Vasyl' Zborovs'kyj (Vistnyk 1850: 40).

Here, the text has *бывають*, not *б8вають*, which would have satisfied the contributor mentioned at the beginning of this article. However, forms such as здыбаемъ, барвы (genitive singular) and еднобарвни (with the genuine Polish initial je- of едно, which was integrated into many Galician Ukrainian dialects), ажь до долу, межи, якъ коли бы, чи (as the disjunctive-copulative conjunction "or"), що, дуже, въ menep вшныхъ часахъ, котра (along with которыми), ощадила, ог вынайденье (cf. винайдення in the Ukrajins'ko-rosijs'kyj slovnyk 1953–1963),²³ the consistently truncated adjectival endings, and the prevailing vernacular reflex \emptyset of weak bbefore *j* endow the text with an explicitly Ruthenian character that is also supported by Polonisms and Germanisms in the names of textiles (въ [...] сукняхъ, гафтами [instrumental plural], шляфрочокъ), etc. The word form цянокъ (genitive plural) most likely stands for цятокъ (from цятка "spot/dab/dot"). In цвѣтовъ (genitive plural), which appears here instead of the expected KB BMOBD, one finds the reflex of the second palatalization of velars. The fact that this text also appears in the civil script confirms the observation that the use of the civil script in the *B*₅*cm*_H*u*_K₅ bears no direct relation to the number of Russianisms in its copy.

4.5. Final remarks on contributions made by members of the editorial staff

To summarize, the contributions signed by Julijan Vysloboc'kyj with his pseudonym Vasyl' Zborovs'kyj are mostly quite close to the vernacular, while the comparatively frequent use of Russianisms and Church Slavonicisms may point in most cases to the authorship of Ivan Holovac'kyj, and in particular cases perhaps to that of Bohdan Didyc'kyj. Political news in the BECMHUKT often features more Russianisms and Church Slavonicisms than stories and entertaining contributions in the "Всячина" section, such as the "Листы до красныхъ Русинокъ." But it is certainly impossible to determine in every case whether such Russianisms and Church Slavonicisms were, so to speak, "loans of necessity" (Bedarfsentlehnungen) that could not be avoided in allegedly more sophisticated spheres of reference. Thus it would appear that one cannot satisfactorily account for the presence in some contributions to the *B[†]cmµµw*[†]*w* instance, съгода (згода), приеднанье (приєднання) ог вѣдомо (відомо), forms that would have been completely unsurprising in many Galician Ruthenian writings of the Vormärz and the revolutionary period. Certain fluctuations in the first volumes of the Btscmhukb confirm the notion that Russianisms and Church Slavonic elements were not generally used of necessity: thus, we encounter first usdanie (Vistnyk 1850: 1), then выдати (Vistnyk 1850: 63); first правительство (Vistnyk 1850: 31), then оурадовый (Vistnyk 1850: 201); first состояніе (Vistnyk 1850: 1), then *cmaHb* (Vistnyk 1850: 230) (all these stems occur in news items). In some articles, Russianisms and Church Slavonicisms are strikingly frequent, but there are very few contributions in which they do not appear at all. The contributions examined for the present article show a certain chronological development toward the use of the vernacular.

²³ The word is marked "pasr." (coll.), which means that we are most probably dealing with a Galicianism.

We know that at this time, Ivan Holovac'kyj already considered Russian to be his quasi-native standard language. He used it not only in correspondence with Russians, writing in a flawed variant of that language with occasional, mostly involuntary Ruthenianisms, but also, for instance, with his brother Jakiv, who became a dedicated Russophile around 1850. In a letter dating from late 1850, Ivan Holovac'kyj wrote to Jakiv:

Г. Р. увѣряетъ, что когда пограничныя отношенія между Россіею и Польщею установленны будутъ, тогда и переписка и пересылка лучше пойдетъ – теперь еще все нерозрѣшенно – одинъ указъ противорѣчаетъ другому, и никто не знаетъ, чего держати ся. – Вотъ Тебѣ списъ книгъ выписанныхъ Г. Р. вмѣстѣ съ цѣнами [...] (Studyns'kyj 1905: 515).

G. R. gives assurances that when border relations are established between Russia and Poland, correspondence and mailing will work better—now everything is still unsettled—one order contradicts another, and no one knows what to do. Here is a list of books for you compiled by G.R. along with the prices....

Later, Ivan Holovac'kyj approximated Russian even more closely and increasingly avoided deviations that could be interpreted as Ruthenianisms, such as, in this passage, the writing of reflexive particles separately, the infinitive ending *-mu* in an unstressed position, and the non-Church Slavonic reflex of the word-initial liquid metathesis (*heposp&uenho*, if this is not merely a matter of handwriting), as well as obvious beginner's errors, such as *npomußop&uemb* (instead of *npomußopeumb*) or *cnucb* instead of *cnucokb*. Orthographic peculiarities such as the writing of *-HH*- or *-H*- in the preterite passive participles without observing Russian rules were long characteristic of Jakiv Holovac'kyj's writings (Moser 2002a).

In the second half of the nineteenth century, even the most ardent Russophiles among the Austrian Ruthenians were still far from a perfect mastery of Russian. Moreover, when it came to the *B* \pm *cm*+*u* κ \pm , Ivan Holovac'kyj was not allowed to write in a language too obviously close to Russian. Consequently, only a few of his contributions to the newspaper come close to the "Russo-Ruthenian" variant increasingly used by the Russophiles (especially from the 1850s on)—a language based on Russian but mixed with elements of the Ruthenian linguistic heritage, owing partly to language interference and partly to the authors' wariness of Austrian censorship (Moser 2002a). Over the years, the most ardent Russophiles gradually reduced their deliberate use of Ruthenianizing features to a minimum, such as the forms $\pi\kappa$ \pm , $\mu\rho$, or infinitives ending in unstressed -*mu*.

Apart from some Church Slavonic elements that are also used in Russian, we can also find pronounced Russianisms, such as *nox&uumu* in the meaning "to receive," in the writings of Julijan Vysloboc'kyj, who was obviously not a Russophile. It is apparent that some Ruthenians did not perceive all Russianisms as such but regarded some of them as characteristic of a high-style variant of their own Ruthenian language. Generally speaking, those Ruthenians who favored the

Ruthenian nation- and language-building process had no easy task, as they had to distance their language from Polish as much as from Russian. Vysloboc'kyj's language in the *BtcmHukb* remained generally committed to a clear Ruthenian vernacular basis. There is every indication that it reflected his own convictions: as late as 1853, when Russophile Galician Ruthenians had already begun to correspond with one another in Russian to the best of their ability, Vysloboc'kyj still wrote to Jakiv Holovac'kyj in the same language as he did in the *BtcmHukb*. That language was based on Ruthenian and very deliberately differentiated from Russian, although Russianisms or Church Slavonicisms, such as *Focnodune* (in the non-Russian vocative case) or *uзданія* in this passage, were never absent:

Всечестнѣйшій Господине! – Осьмѣляючи ся переслати Вамъ безъоплатно ексемплярь термінологіи югословенского изданія, поручаю ся ласкавой памяти Вашой и взаимной любвѣ и пишу ся всеунижайшимъ слугою. – Ю. Выслобоцкій. – Вѣдень 23 Черв. 1853 (Studyns'kyj 1905: 529).

Right honorable Sir! Taking the liberty of sending you a free copy of the terminology of the South Slavic edition [i.e., *Juridisch-politische Terminologie für die slavischen Sprachen Oesterreichs. Deutsch-illyrische Separatausgabe*], I commend myself to your gracious memory and to our mutual affection. I sign as your most humble servant. Ju. Vysloboc'kyj. Vienna, 23 June 1853.

The materials from the *BbcmHukb* already examined confirm that the variants of Galician Ruthenian characteristic of that period should not be dismissed prematurely as "Jazyčije" but require a more differentiated assessment (Moser 2004; Moser 2011: 641–666). As we shall see, the contributions of Transcarpathian authors support this observation.

With an eye to our opening remarks, the following conclusions may be offered. As one would expect, not a single one of the vernacular forms in the articles and news reports from the *B* \pm *cm* μ *u* κ ν discussed so far, all written by members of the editorial staff and thus by Galicians, is of Transcarpathian origin; they are all consistently Galician, and only some of them are also native to Transcarpathian dialects. No significant effort at dialectal leveling can be detected on the part of the Galicians, apart from the fact that initially, as we have seen, δ *usae* and δ *umu* were indeed consistently written instead of δ *saae* and δ *smu*, perhaps in response to the demand from a correspondent that appeared in the first issue of the newspaper.

As for content, all news reports by members of the editorial staff were also obviously written from a clearly Galician perspective. Thus, the news reports cited here from the first issue of the *B*[±]*cm*+*u*κ_b make explicit mention of "our Hungarian brothers" ("oyropckin брать наши"), clearly stressing Ruthenian solidarity, but this also permits the conclusion that in a narrower sense, the "we" from whose perspective the news reports were written were the Galician Ruthenians and no one else.

5. Contributions made from a Transcarpathian perspective

The first contribution from the pen of a Transcarpathian Ruthenian appears in the very first issue of the *B*[†]*c*(*m*)*u*(*v*). Its title, "BO3TAGC[†] PyCUHA yropCKOTO KO братьямъ СВОИМЪ" ("The Appeal of a Hungarian Ruthenian to His Brethren"), is printed in the civil script. The archaic word *BO32AGC[†]* (with the vocalization of *v* in the prefix according to the rules of the Second South Slavic influence and the metathesis of liquid consonants in the root)²⁴ already indicates the linguistic character of the main text. The article was written by Mykola Nod' (Hungarian *Nagy*), who was chaplain of St. Barbara's Greek Catholic Church in Vienna, became its administrator eight years later, and was appointed parish priest and dean of the seminary at St. Barbara's in 1861, a year before his death (Wytrzens 1988: 153). His contribution, printed in ornate Cyrillic, reads as folows:

Икъ быстраа рѣка мые и несе находащіиса предъ собою предметы, такъ влече съ собою хитрость времене вса во гл8бин8 дно неимѣющ8ю забвеніа. – Єдино сокровище противитса несытом8 сем8 забвеніа горл8, и се Народность. – [...] Сіе видаще, и оусердно такъ, акъ исто размыслающе чили не возкликнеме? О насъ три и чтырикратно блаженныхъ!! [...] Р8сины! (сице нарек8 васъ, прійшолъ бо часъ егда именемъ р8сина не соромимса) с8ть части времене, которіи когда перелетатъ, вѣчность ихъ больше не принесе; про насъ нынѣ настала сїа доба; о благопол8чіи бо нашемъ на высочайшомъ мѣстѣ вса дѣлаемаа дѣютса, что, и где потребно, и дачто и акимъ способомъ бы май легше здѣлаемо было; не лишѣмъ же предложити помощи о блаженствѣ нашемъ тр8ждающимса. Се "Вѣстникъ" ком8ждо разтворенный, акъ май лѣпшій способъ на предложеніе сицевое. – Оусилуймеса! – кождый по силѣ своей. Ніколай Нодь, капланъ вѣднаньскій (Vistnyk 1850: 3).

As a quickly flowing river washes and carries objects before it, so the cunning of time takes everything with it into the abysmal depths of oblivion.— One treasure alone withstands this insatiable throat of oblivion, and that is Nationality [*sic*, capitalized, with author's emphasis].—…Seeing this, as truly thinking people, shall we not cry out mightily? For ourselves, blessed three or four times!! …Ruthenians (that is how I shall call you, for the time has come not to feel ashamed of the name Ruthenian)! There are periods of time that as soon as they have elapsed, eternity will not bring them back; such a time has come for us now. In the highest sphere, everything that can be done is now being done for our weal, whatever and wherever necessary, and whatever could be done most easily. Let us not cease to offer support to all those working for our weal. See, *Vistnyk* is open to all as the best medium for such a suggestion.— Let us work, everyone according to his strength! Nikolaj Nod', Viennese chaplain (Vistnyk 1850: 3).

Mykola Nod's contributions to the Вѣстникъ in particular are markedly archaic in linguistic character. Sections such as [...] влече съ собою хитрость

²⁴ It is unlikely that this metathesis was motivated by Slovak, as sometimes occurs in the westernmost Transcarpathian dialects, see Slovak *rozhlas*.

времене всл во глубину дно неимъющую забвеніл ог Сіе видлще, и оусердно такъ, акъ исто размысльюще [...] are heavily reminiscent of eighteenth-century Slaveno-Russian rhetoric, not only because of their archaic word forms but also because of their complex participial constructions and artificial word order. Archaic functional words such as cuue, cuuesoe, or KOM8x20 are as characteristic of Nod's contributions as are morphological and syntactical archaisms, for instance, the archaic consonant stem genitive singular ending in *времене*, adjectival forms in neuter plural without a substantival referent, as here in BCA DEAAEMAA (moreover, the present passive participle is itself archaic as a morphological form). In another of Nod's contributions to the Въстникъ (no. 2 for 9/21 February 1850), "Слово къ Молодому Клиру Унгварскому" ("A Word to the Young Clergy in Uzhhorod"), he writes и сице размыслящ 8, прійшоль ми до рукь Въстникь въднаньскій, котораго широкое поле способное намъ поручае мѣсто ("while I was thinking about that, there came into my hands the Vienna Vistnyk, whose broad field grants us an appropriate place") (Vistnyk 1850: 6–7). Here, the present active participle in the archaic short form *pasmucranus* refers to *mu*, but at first glance it looks like a particularly archaic dative absolute.

Ruthenianizing features are reduced to a minimum, and it cannot be ruled out that some of those that remain are due to linguistic interventions on the part of the editorial office: *Mble*, *nopStae* without *-mb*; *npiйшоль* with *-j*- and with *o* after the sibilant (the latter, however, coincides with prerevolutionary Russian traditions); pleophonic forms such as *copoMumcA* or *nepeAemAmb*; *komopiu*—instead of the "correct" *komopblA*—in the nominative plural referring to a feminine noun; *Ha bblcotaйшомъ* with *o* after the sibilant; *aktb*, *koxdbiй*, or *Auuu* £*Mb* with the marked Ruthenian imperative ending, etc.

The ending of the first person plural -*Me* in *BO3KAUKHEME* and *OycuASüMECA*, the indefinite particle in the form *da*- in *da4mo*, as well as the superlative particle *Maü neue, Maŭ neuiŭ* must be understood as Nod's own attempt to partly vernacularize his language: all these elements are characteristic of Transcarpathian dialects first and foremost and are nowadays occasionally interpreted as typically "Rusyn." Lack of interest in developing a common vernacular-based Ruthenian language with the Galicians could hardly have been signaled more explicitly than by these forms: where Nod' did not draw on a decidedly archaic form of Church Slavonic or on Russian, he often used precisely those vernacular forms that distinguished Transcarpathian speech from that of most Galicians.

The fact that the Galicians were expected not to use the forms $\delta \& ho$ or $\delta \& mu$ (which clearly predominate in Ukrainian language area), whereas the Transcarpathians made extensive use of the first person plural present ending *-me*, the superlative particle *maŭ-*, or the indefinite particle *da-*, which are only in use in a comparatively narrow dialectal area,²⁵ created a paradoxical situation that left no scope for dialectal leveling. The linguistic attitude of Nod' and other

²⁵ Cf., however, дащо in Русалка Днѣстровая as well (Rusalka 1837/1972: V)).

Transcarpathians could only be interpreted as the opposite of a constructive contribution to the development of an "Austro-Ruthenian," let alone a Ukrainian, linguistic identity. Yet that attitude can hardly be understood as a defense of local ("Rusyn") linguistic identity as such, for the Transcarpathian elements that they employed with varying consistency did very little to modify the generally Church Slavonic or Russian character of their language. If the Galicians had wished to develop a common language with the Transcarpathians in this situation, the only realistic way to do so would have been to further develop and harmonize Church Slavonic traditions or to adopt Russian, and yet Church Slavonic and Russian were so remote from the vernacular variants spoken in both realms as to be incomprehensible to the commoners.

The language of another Transcarpathian contributor to the *Вѣстникъ*, who published his articles under the pseudonym "Панонїѧнинъ" (Pannonian), only confirms these impressions. In early issues of the *Вѣстникъ*, the "Pannonian," i.e., Ivan Rakovs'kyj,²⁶ used distinct Church Slavonic conservatisms and Russianisms just as Mykola Nod' did, but he employed Ruthenianizing elements in his texts even less often, as evidenced in the following article from no. 17 for 16/29 March 1850:

О равноправности всѣхъ народностей. Никто не перепретитъ намъ, како равноправность народностей есть най-важнѣйшій предметъ нашего гражданскаго житіа. На ней основаетса Оустава нашеа Державы, она есть опредѣленною котвою (анхорою) нашего государственнаго корабла, нею захранаетса неповредительнаа цѣлость Его Величества Цѣсарскаго, и отъ неа ожидаютъ народы стажаніе благополучіа своего. [...] Что будетъ намъ стоати равноправность народностей на писмѣ, когда таа въ житіи благодѣтельныа своа плоды не покажетъ? Панонїанинъ (Vistnyk 1850: 66–67).

On equal rights for all nationalities. No one will deny our opinion that equal rights for the nationalities are the most important subject of our civil life. The

²⁶ Kyrylo Studyns'kyj (1905: XXV) asserts that, as some others also believe, Mykola Nod' was the one behind the pseudonym "Паноніанинъ." The bibliographer Ivan Levyc'kyj (1888: 51), for his part, assumes that it was Ivan Rakovs'kyj. Most notably, Jurij Bača (1961: 59) advances some important arguments for the correctness of Levyc'kyj's thesis, namely: 1) Rakovs'kyj's contemporary Ivan Dobe attributed the pseudonym to him in the *Bbcmникъ* in 1850; 2) "Паноніанинъ" frequently mentioned the *Landesgesetzblatt* (a collection of laws for individual crownlands), whose Ruthenian version for the Kingdom of Hungary was edited by Ivan Rakovs'kyj between 1850 and 1858 (cf. also Studyns'kyj 1905: CXXIX); 3) the views of Mykola Nod' and those of "Паноніанинъ" on Church Slavonic did not coincide.

In his article on the poems of Mykola Nod', which are clumsy and archaic, as one would expect, Günther Wytrzens (1988: 154) additionally points out that "Панонїанинъ" regularly wrote from Buda, but that "nothing is known" about a stay of Nod's in "the Hungarian metropolis." Apart from writing from Buda, it should be added that "Панонїанинъ" also wrote from Uzhhorod (Ungvár), and that Ivan Rakovs'kyj in particular had close ties with both cities. Ivan Rakovs'kyj later turned out to be one of the most radical Galician and Transcarpathian Russophiles, above all in the mid-1850s, and especially during his tenure as acting editor as editor of the *Церковная газета* (Church Newspaper) in 1856–57 (Studyns'kyj 1905: CXXIX–CXXXV). The latter was the first newspaper addressed exclusively to the Ruthenians of the Kingdom of Hungary and oriented in linguistic terms entirely on Modern Standard Russian.

Constitution of our State is based on them, they are a certain anchor of our ship of state, the unshakable integrity of His Majesty the Emperor is protected by them, and the nations expect the growth of their weal from them.... What good will equal rights for the nationalities do us on paper if they do not show their beneficial fruits in life? The Pannonian.

In contrast to Mykola Nod', Ivan Rakovs'kyj writes *Haŭ-*, not *Maŭ-*; *ocHobaemcA*, not *ocHobaecA*; *nokaæemb*, not *nokaæe*; also *Hauuezo*, not *Hauuozo*. He uses the Church Slavonic *HaueA Державы*—not, for instance, *Haueu* or even *Hauuou*—in the genitive singular, as well as *cBoA nAOdbi*—not *cBou*—in the accusative plural. In general, however, he avoided archaic elements not used in the literary Russian of his time, with the result that his language bore a striking similarity to Russian.

In no. 18 for 18/30 March, Ivan Rakovs'kyj, again under his pseudonym "Панонїанинъ," reported on the progress of the Ruthenian national movement. Here he used some local Transcarpathian elements such as *ничъ, есме, осомнѣваемеса, отвѣтвеме*, as well as Ruthenianisms that Transcarpathians shared with Galicians, such as *eденъ, маеть* (vernacular as regards the stem but not the ending, cf. ChSl. or Russ. *имѣетъ, имѣетсѧ, имѣти* in the same article), *инше, акъ; же* as a conjunction, and *про насъ* 'for us.'²⁷

The following article in no. 27 for 11/23 April 1850 was sent in by a Transcarpathian contributor from Upper Spiš. The author draws a naïve analogy between the beginning of spring and the awakening of Ruthenian national life in the Spiš region:

Зъ Выжнаго Спижа 24. марта. Мкъ между тихими сего великоднаго св. Поста днами по долгой а лютой зимѣ оуже и ту подъ нашими быстрыми горами Татранскими топлатса безмѣрныа снѣги, наставаетъ радостнаа весна и оживлаетса природа и весь возрастъ земный, въ радость и веселіе живущихъ на земли: такъ между покойнѣйшими года сего временами много оутѣсненна прежде Народность наша, аки по долгомъ снѣ оублажаема, по всакихъ странахъ Вышнаго Спижа даже въ радость и веселіе всѣхъ вѣрныхъ Русиновъ препорождаетса. 'W 'N [*sic*, see below] (Vistnyk 1850: 106).

From Upper Spiš. 24 March. As even here, under our jagged Tatra Mountains, the boundless snows melt, the happy springtime begins, and nature and all that grows on earth awakens to new life during the quiet days of this holy Easter Fast, after a long, hard winter, to the delight and joy of everyone living on earth, so our Nationality, severely oppressed in times more silent than this year, as if been blessed after a long sleep, is reviving in all regions of Upper Spiš, to the delight and joy of all loyal Ruthenians. 'W 'N (Vistnyk 1850: 106).

²⁷ We know that later still, Ivan Rakovs'kyj also had his writings edited by the Russian Orthodox priest Vasilij Vojtkovskij, who lived in Pest as spiritual counselor to Grand Duchess Anna Pavlovna, the Russian wife of Archduke Joseph (Studyns'kyj 1905: CXXIX). Involuntary non-Russian interferemes can therefore also be expected to occur with high probability in Rakovs'kyj's written language.

On the basis of his observations about the content, Jurij Bača (1961: 60–62) convincingly argues that the author of the series of articles titled "Зъ Выжнаго Спижа" (From Upper Spiš), which were often signed with the pseudonym "Орелъ Татранскій" (The Tatra Eagle), was in all likelihood the former priest of the village of Jarabina/Orjabyna, Mykola Myhalyč ("Николай Мигаличъ," with *Николай* as the traditional Church Slavonic equivalent of vernacular *Mykola*). The article cited above supports Bača's argument: the peculiar notation of the author's initials can be read as an inverted "N. M, [*sic*, comma]," which perfectly matches "Николай Мигаличъ."

For our purposes, it is more important to note that the language of this Transcarpathian article draws heavily on Church Slavonic, along with a multitude of archaic elements, such as *BO3pacmb* 'growth' (not 'age,' as in Russian); the conjunction *aku*; the present passive participle *oyблажаема* or hypercorrect -*bLA* in the masculine nominative plural *безмѣрны cнѣzu* alongside sporadic Ruthenianizing elements such as *takъ*, the verb *monл amc a* with epenthetic *l* also in the third person plural, etc. Furthermore, from a Church Slavonic or Russian perspective, the form *HacmaBaemъ* without alternation of the imperfectivizing suffix is striking, cf. Russian *Hacmaemъ*. This form can probably be explained by intense Transcarpathian language contacts with Slovak, see Slovak *nastáva jar*.

Articles by Oleksandr Duxnovyč are usually somewhat less archaic than those by other Transcarpathians, but this does not imply by any means that his language was closer to the vernacular; it simply drew very heavily on Russian. This is clearly apparent from his contribution to the language discussion, which will be discussed in the next section.

In no. 16 for 14/26 March 1850, there is a report that Duxnovyč's comedy Добродътель превышаеть богатство (Virtue Is More Important Than Riches, which is here described as простонароднымь выраженіемь сочиненна ("written in the language [literally, "expression"] of the simple folk"), has just been printed in Przemyśl:

Прашовъ 2/14 Марта. Др8жество т8тейшое народнои літерат8ры выдало теперь читальн8ю книжицю, подъ написомъ Добродѣтель превышаетъ богатство, игра въ трехъ дѣйствіахъ, отъ А. Д. Книжица она простонароднымъ выраженіемъ сочиненна, теперь въ Перемышльской печатни б8квами писменными издаеса; а цѣна ей б8де на 12 кр. ср. (Vistnyk 1850: 63).

Prešov, 2/14 March. The local society for national literature has now edited a little book for reading titled Virtue Is More Important Than Riches, a play in three acts, by A.D. This little book,written in the language of the simple folk, is now being published in cursive²⁸ in a printshop in Przemyśl. Its price will be 12 silver guldens.

²⁸ That is, not in the traditional Cyrillic script, but with letters typical of the cursive (and partly identical with the civil script), such as s_i , y_i etc.

Given the language of the first part of this report, it is highly probable that it was not composed in Prešov but by a Galician member of the editorial staff: see the forms *m&meŭuoe* with *o*, *hapodhou* with the vernacular adjective ending in the feminine genitive singular, *oha* as a demonstrative pronoun with a truncated ending, *bbdaлo* with *bbl*-, and *книжицю* and *книжица* with soft *c'* (cf. also *книжица* in the title of Oleksandr Duxnovyč's primer of 1847), *nodъ hanucomb* with the masculine hard stem noun and *usdaeca* and *bbde* without *-m*- (all marked non-vernacular elements are quoted from the title page of Duxnovyč's book; see also *usdaeca* along with *bbidaлo*).

Even the language of Galician authors of letters to the editor who contributed to radical Russophile periodicals shortly afterwards and argued explicitly in the *Bѣстникъ* against a written language based on the vernacular was neither as conservative nor as close to Russian as that of the Transcarpathians. The contributor from Mostyska who hid behind the pseudonym "Михайло изъ Розвадова" (Myxajlo from Rozwadów) was most probably Myxajlo Hnidkovs'kyj.²⁹ He appears as "Hchw. Gnidkowski Michael gk. Pfarr [*sic*, at the end of the column, instead of *Pfarrer*] in Mościska u. Kopanka" ["The Most Reverend Gnidkowski Michael, Greek Catholic chaplain of Mościska and Kopanka"] in the German-language list of subscribers to the Russophile periodical *Семейная Библіотека (Family Library*) that Jakiv Holovac'kyj established in 1855 (the list appears in Studyns'kyj 1905: 243–247, here 244). It can hardly be assumed that there were many persons with the same first name in Mostyska who were both sufficiently commited and able to contribute an article to the *Bѣстникъ* such as the one cited here from no. 22 for 30 March/11 April 1850:

Мостищи 20 марта. Красни Русинки подгорскихъ сторонъ нашихъ благодаратъ васъ за оудъланіа описовъ веснаныхъ одъній [sic] красавицъ въденскихъ. Просатъ еще васъ красненько дайте имъ знати, яки капелюхи, что кроя и цвътовъ касаетса, оу Въдни носатъ. Сей предметь дла того ближе познати желаютъ, заводатъ бо наши Русинки товаришества женски, котрыхъ цълею есть, въ опредъленыхъ домахъ чи то въ мъстахъ чи по селахъ, подъ надзоромъ еднои изъ помежи стоваришеныхъ тай въ ей домъ руски дъвицы и душевно просвъщати и въ женскихъ рукотрудахъ объучати. Въ таковыхъ объученіа домахъ и не такъ предорого воспитаніе малозаможнымъ родителемъ прійдетъ, тай дътоньки въ русскихъ домахъ, подъ русскимъ окомъ, по руски звычайно и обычайно выховани будутъ. Помагай имъ Господи Боже. Михайло изъ Розвадова (Vistnyk 1850: 91).

Mostyska [literally "Mostyšči"], 20 March. The beautiful Ruthenian ladies of our mountainous regions thank you for having provided descriptions of the spring dresses [preferred] by the beauties of Vienna. They ask you kindly to let them know what kind of hats are worn in Vienna, regarding cut and color. They want to know more about that subject because our Ruthenian ladies are establishing women's societies whose goal is to morally enlighten Ruthenian girls and teach

²⁹ Ivan Levyc'kyj (1888: 51) did not manage to establish the writer behind this pseudonym.

them women's needlework in certain houses, be it in towns or in villages, under the supervision of a representative of the society and in her house.... In such houses of instruction, education will not be particularly expensive even for parents of limited means, and the little children will be brought up in Ruthenian [perhaps "Russian"] homes, under a Ruthenian [perhaps "Russian"] eye, according to Ruthenian customs and traditions. May God help them. Myxajlo from Rozwadów (Vistnyk 1850: 91).

Hnidkovs'kyj's contribution shows numerous marked vernacular elements, including, among others, oy instead of etymological *bb* in oy *Bbdhu*; the suffixed forms *красненько* and $\partial \mathcal{B}moньки$; the conjunction *чи* (*mo*); the noun in *въ м встахъ* 'in the towns'; the compound preposition *u3b nomewu*; and the compound conjunction maŭ. Interestingly, however, Hnidkovs'kyj delivers the expressions of gratitude for Julijan Vysloboc'kyj's above-cited women's column with the words благодарать *Bacb*, that is, he uses the correct accusative case governed by the Russian (Church Slavonic-based) verb *благодарить*, which was typical only of those Galician Russophiles whose command of Russian was above average. Other elements, such as the playful combination of the vernacular and Russian word form in звычайно и обычайно, the Russianism красавиць (genitive plural), the word form опред вленыхъ (but not *onped* вленныхъ), etc. show that Hnidkovs'kyj must already have developed quite an active interest in Russian by 1850. His frequent use of p8cck- with -cc-, along with no p8cku,30 confirms this impression. Also noteworthy in this letter to the editor are the use of *umo*, which is uncommon in other Galician contributions; the verb κ acaetca "concerns" (instead of (∂o) mukamuca, which is frequently used by other authors); and the co-occurence of воспитание and выховани. Verbs with the present theme vowel e here show the $-m_{b}$, which is also untypical of Galician contributions: see κacaemc_A, npiŭdem_b (in most Galician dialects, as is well known, t' or *t* never occur in the third person singular of verbs with the present theme vowel *e*, or before *-sja*).

Later articles by Myxajlo Hnidkovs'kyj from the first months of the Vienna *B†cmHukb* would be increasingly distant from the vernacular, cf. section 6 below. However, they are by no means as conservative in style as the contributions of the Transcarpathians.

Incidentally, a survey of Myxajlo Hnidkovs'kyj's articles in particular confirms once again that many Galicians took hardly any notice of the Transcarpathian Ruthenians. In his remarkable article on "The Austrian Ruthenian" ("Австрійскій Русинь") in no. 34 for 29 April /11 May 1850 (Vistnyk 1850: 135–136), he merely compared the loyalist Galician Ruthenians to the Poles, whom he depicted as oppressors and rebels, but said nothing at all about the Transcarpathian situation and the role of the Hungarians there.

³⁰ This spelling could also be the result of an intervention on the part of the editorial office.

6. Early contributions to the language discussion

The lively Ruthenian language discussion that took place in the aftermath of the revolution was also conducted, not least, in the Vienna *Въстиникъ*. It is striking indeed that not a single contribution to the newspaper from the first months of 1850 makes a clear commitment to the vernacular. Only in no. 107 for 1850 does the Greek Catholic priest, ethnographer, and folklorist Teodor Lysjak write in that spirit. After he had characterized Church Slavonic as "our old grandmother" ("наша старенька бабуся"), comprehensible "neither in Galicia nor in Hungary, nor in Ukraine, nor in the world" ("ани въ Галичинъ, ани въ Уграхъ, ани на Украинъ, ани на съвътъ"), he was promptly lectured in a commentary by Ivan Holovac'kyj, who maintained that Church Slavonic was the most important unifying linguistic factor for all Ruthenians in view of the allegedly strong dialectal differentiation of Ruthenian and the diverse loans in different dialects (Studyns'kyj 1905: XXIII–XXIV).

The opponents of a vernacular-based written language had already put forward their most important arguments in earlier contributions to the *B*±*cm*+*u*κ_b. The Transcarpathians in particular had taken a leading role in this discussion.

By contrast, no one openly debated the role of Russian.

An intriguing article from no. 30 for 18/30 April 1850 by one of the Russophile members of the editorial staff-pscckiŭ is consistently written with -cc-also makes no overt mention of Russian in the particular Ruthenian context. On the contrary, it is more of an appeasing commentary on a proposal advanced by the South Slavs of the Austrian realm that all Austrian Slavs should adopt Russian as their common language because of their "fragmented literatures, which are increasingly deviating from their common roots." According to the editorial, this proposal had caused shock in Austria, but it would soon become apparent that the nightmare was a mere nightmare that should neither be fought nor feared. Allegedly, most of the Slavs had already developed their written language to a state of such perfection—a state that was distant from Russian in any event-that none of them could even think of adopting a foreign language, even if it was Slavic. Interestingly enough, the author argued that the Cracow newspaper *Czas* (Time) had already voiced its objection to the proposal, as if there were any chance that the Poles, of all people, would embrace it. The author added, however, that among the fraternal Czechs and Southern Slavs as well, the vast majority would certainly stand by their mother tongue and reject this "fruitless, wholly impractical notion."

Вѣдень 15/27 цвѣтня. Оуже отъ колькохъ недѣль розводатса дневники надъ предлогомъ южнославенскои часописи, дабы всѣ австрійскіи Славане принали россійскій азыкъ до своихъ роздробленныхъ и чимъ разъ больше отъ вспольного корена отдалающихса словесностей. Мкъ звычайно мысль одна верженна мимовольно родитъ другую, и нимъ человѣкъ оуспѣе остерегчиса, оуже стоитъ она одушевленнымъ великаномъ на пострахъ однимъ, а въ оутѣшеніе другимъ. [...] люде [...] оувидатъ що мара всегда марою, съ которою и боротись и боатись еи годѣ.

Не т8ть мъстце розводитиса о отношении россійского азыка къ прочимъ Славанамъ, изъ которыхъ многіи оуже такъ высокого и со всъмъ отрубного достигли совершенства, же о отступленіи своего родинного азыка а принатіи иншого акого нибудь (хоть бы и славанского) ани гадки припустити не можна; въ томъ принаймнѣй смыслѣ выступилъ Краковскій "Часъ", отрицающиса всакого сочувствіа въ поиманутомъ предлозѣ. Не сомнѣваемса, що и между побратимчими Чехами и Югославенами переважная множайшость познае истинну користь свою въ матерномъ азыцѣ, и отречеса сей безплоднои, со всѣмъ непрактическои мысли. Въ прочемъ кождый знае свое наилучше; пусть они журатса своею головою – а мы своею. [...] (Vistnyk 1850: 118–119).

Vienna, 15/27 April. For several weeks now, our dailies have been quarreling about the proposal of a South Slavic newspaper that all Austrian Slavs adopt the Russian language for their fragmented literatures, which are increasingly deviating from their common roots. As usual, the expression of one thought inevitably gives birth to another, and before one even understands what is happening, it already appears as an animate giant that frightens some and delights others.... People...will see that a nightmare is always a nightmare that should neither be fought nor feared.

This is not the place to quarrel about the relation of the Russian language to other Slavs, many of whom have already have already attained such a high and wholly distinct perfection that they will not even consider renouncing their native language and adopting any other, even if it were Slavic; at least the Cracow newspaper *Czas* has already voiced such an opinion, rejecting any sympathy for the aforementioned suggestion. We do not doubt that the great majority of our Czech and South Slavic brethren also recognize the genuine benefit of their mother tongue and will reject that fruitless, wholly impractical notion. After all, everyone knows his own best; let them worry about their own affairs, and we will worry about ours.... (Vistnyk 1850: 118–119).

In a brief passage not cited here, the author explains that the *Зор* Галицка had already come out as a defender of "our south Russian [probably not "south Ruthenian"] language" ("нашого южнор%сского азыка"), albeit with insufficient arguments. In the spirit of utmost loyalty to the Ruthenian language, the author argues that without questioning the virtues of Russian, whose "melodiousness in pronunciation" and "rich vocabulary" nobody can deny, one should ask oneself and every single Ruthenian whether "our south Russian [perhaps "south Ruthenian"] language" ("нашь южнор%скій азыкъ") is not itself distinguished by similar or even greater melodiousness. He adds that although the Ruthenian vocabulary has not yet been sufficiently developed, exhausted, and fleshed out, the Ruthenian language is pure because it is unique. Here the author refers to what he considers the unbiased testimonials of the "learned Russians" Myxajlo Maksymovyč, Izmail Sreznevskij, and Osyp Bodjans'kyj-he does not reveal that both Maksymovyč and Bodjans'kyj were in fact "Little Russians" (i.e., Ukrainians), while the Russian Izmail Sreznevskij had shown an atypically positive attitude toward Ukrainian, at least in his earlier years.

It soon becomes apparent that the article is only superficially concerned with South Slavic or general Slavic problems, and that its actual focus is on relations between the Ruthenians and the Russians and their languages. According to the author, the Ruthenians have always been neighbors of the Russians but have always wanted to remain Ruthenians nonetheless. He maintains that in the future, "rejecting any defamations" (ironically, in this very phrase, *ompuцалса всакихъ клеветъ*, one finds a particularly glaring Russianism in the adverbial participle),³¹ the Ruthenians wish to "love, to use, develop, and perfect" "our Russian [perhaps "Ruthenian"] language" ("нашь р&сскій взыкъ"):

Не входачи въ преимущества россійского азыка, которому благозвучіа въ выговорѣ и словесного богатства никто заперечити не може, кто лише имѣлъ способность его близше познати: пытаемо самыхъ себе и кождого Русина, чи не отличаеса и нашь южнорускій азыкъ въ своемъ родѣ такимъ самымъ а може еще и большимъ благозвучіемъ, и хота еще досель не розвинутымъ, не вычерпаннымъ, не обробленнымъ, но тимъ чистѣйшимъ ибо самороднымъ богатствомъ? [...] мы отзываемса до свидѣтельствъ самыхъ даже оученыхъ Россіанъ, котори певно въ величаніи и похвалахъ нашого азыка не гладѣли ани користи, ани чувствомъ благимъ не поводовалиса; ихъ судъ есть певно высшій надъ всакіи пристрастіа, онъ есть ровнодушный, безсторонній. Стоитъ только труда, загланути въ акое нибудь сочиненіе Максимовича, Срезневского, Боданского и др. [...] На щожъ намъ чужихъ Боговъ гладѣти, коли мы своего маемъ?

Впрочихъ дало бы са тое изъ исторіи такожь довести, що нашь народъ всегда становилъ только сусъдній, азыкомъ, нравами и судьбою побратимчий россійскому народъ, и желаемо и надаль зостати тимъ чимъ отъ поконвѣка былисьмо, т. е. Русинами, и хочемо миловати, плекати, образовати, оусовершати по возможности силъ и обстоательствъ питомый, нашь русскій азыкъ, отрицааса всакихъ клеветъ, и помовокъ выдуманныхъ врагами правды и общественного ладу (Vistnyk 1850: 119).

Without elaborating on the virtues of the Russian language, whose melodiousness in pronunciation and rich vocabulary cannot be denied by anyone who has had the opportunity to become more closely acquainted with it, we ask ourselves and every Ruthenian whether our south Ruthenian [perhaps "South Russian"] language is not distinguished by the same or perhaps even greater melodiousness, and even if its richness has not been developed or exhausted or elaborated, it is even purer because of its uniqueness.... We refer to the testimonials even of learned Russian themselves, who certainly did not expect any profit from the laudation and praise of our language and were not guided by any positive bias; their judgment certainly stands above any passions; it is disinterested and unbiased. One need only glance at any work by Maksymovyč, Sreznevskij, Bodjans'kyj et al.... Why should we look to alien Gods [*sic*, with a capital] when we have our own?

Incidentally, one could also conclude from history that our nation has always been merely a neighbor to the Russian nation with respect to language, customs, and destiny. We also want to remain in the future what we have been from the beginning, that is, Ruthenians, and we want to love, use, develop, and perfect our native Russian [perhaps "Ruthenian"] language to the fullest

³¹ Since the adverbial participle refers to a plural noun, it can by no means be explained as a Church Slavonic archaism.

extent of our energies and circumstances, while rejecting any defamations and slanders invented by the enemies of truth and social order (Vistnyk 1850: 119).

The article is bizarre, since its language, which shows as much affinity to Russian as many other contributions to the *B* \pm *cm*_H μ *w* ϵ _b, blatantly contradicts its content. The text features many forms that are common in Russian but might also be regarded as Church Slavonic, such as *npeuM*\$*u* μ *ecm* ϵ *a* (accusative plural), δ *narosa*\$ ψ *u*ia (genitive singular), etc. One also encounters undeniable Russianisms, such as the aforementioned adverbial participle *ompuu* μ *a* κ ϵ or the grammatical particle *n*\$*cm* ϵ for forming the third person imperative.

Ultimately, the article does not take an entirely clear position in the language debate. What remains particularly vague is the relationship that the author assumes between the language that he calls "our Russian [perhaps "Ruthenian"] language" and the Russian language. Was it already perceived as so close that "a Little Russian" could manage to "learn Great Russian within half an hour," as was later claimed by a former member of the *BEcmHukt* editorial office, Bohdan Didyc'kyj—who may very well have been the author of this very article? Or did the author truly regard the Russians and Ruthenians as neighboring but different peoples? And what kind of difference could that have been, considering that in his view, the Ruthenians were "united as brothers" with the Russians by language, customs, and destiny, and that their language was "south Russian," according to a glottonym that clearly belonged to the Russian imperial context? In the final analysis, can this author's commitment to an autonomous "south Russian" identity be taken seriously, considering that he himself acknowledges the emotions evoked by the Slavophile appeal of the South Slavs?

Doubt is in order here. It seems grotesque of the author to write, on the one hand, that "After all, everyone knows his own best; let them worry about their own affairs, and we will worry about ours" ["Въ прочемъ кождый знае свое наил8чше; п8сть они ж8ратса своею головою – а мы своею"] when, on the other hand, he uses the aforementioned glaring Russianism *n8cmb* in this very context. It also seems awkward that the author so closely associates the rejection of the proposal to make Russian the written language of all Austrian Slavs with the Polish newspaper *Czas*, which is implicitly presented as the organ of a people "not united as brothers" (immediately afterwards, the author mentions the Czechs and South Slavs, who are united with the Ruthenians as brothers—as are the Russians, but not the Poles).

True, the author may have hesitated to be explicit, since the expression of an open commitment to the Ruthenians' use of Russian was hardly imaginable in the official newspaper *B*[±]*cm*+*u*κ_b—an immediate relaunch with a different editorial staff would have been the highly probable consequence. Contributions to the *B*[±]*cm*+*u*κ_b generally shifted discussions about Russian to a different level; on the surface, it appeared as if only Church Slavonic, not Russian, was the focus of debate.

Issue 38 for 9/21 May 1850 contains a letter from Uzhhorod with the title "A Word about Our Language, Which Is to Be Made Consistent" ("Слово въ дѣлѣ уравняемаго языка нашего"). The letter is signed "Паноніѧнинъ" and was

therefore in all likelihood written by Ivan Rakovs'kyj (see above). In his contribution, Rakovs'kyj also concedes that there are allegedly Slavs "who advise complete unification [of the Slavs] based on the adoption of one language" ("которіи совокупное всъхъ соединеніе въ воспрілтіи единаго азыка совътують"), but he does not even mention Russian in this context. Rakovs'kyj then downplays the issue, writing that at present, it is not so much the language question as the success of the national movement per se that is of major importance. As for cultivating the language and making it consistent, these are the primary tasks of the two leading Ruthenian newspapers, the BECMHUKE and the *30ph Галицка*. Incidentally, the author argues that "our national language" ("Народный азыкъ нашь")—Rakovs'kyj does not add any specifying glottonym-"differs very little from...the Bible language, which is named the Old Slavonic language." According to the author, "If we take away the dual number of nouns and verbs, which is already rarely encountered among us, as well as the preterite forms of verbs such as ofptmoxb, ofptmoxomb, etc., which would appear to have been established in the spirit of the Greek language, then all other linguistic declensions, conjugations, and constructions are readily comprehensible to our people, even if we do not adapt them to our folk dialect in every respect." Rakovs'kyj further contends that although it is surely important to remain loyal to the language of the simple folk ("простонародный азыкъ"),³² if that principle were to be applied consistently in every area, one would ultimately be faced with almost as many cultures of writing ("словесностей") as there are regions or even villages. Where, after all, is there a people with an everyday language identical to its cultivated and learned language?

When Rakovs'kyj goes on to write that it is not necessary "for us" to strive for a written language fully aligned with the vernacular, it is not at all clear whom he means by "us": all Ruthenians, only the Austrian ones, only the Transcarpathian ones, or all Eastern Slavs? What would "our" written language be, Rakovs'kyj asks further on, if it rested on this "poor" foundation (cf. Csopey 1883: s.v. *xydo6hbiŭ* 'poor,' from *xydo6a*)? According to Rakovs'kyj, the development of every written language requires sources that the people themselves just could not give "us":

Оунгваръ 28 Цвѣтна (10 Маа). Ійкъ распространно разсѣанный есть народъ Славанскій, такъ различнаа имѣетъ своа нарѣчіа. СемУ дивитиса нѣтъ что. [...] СУть даедні, котри про то, же народъ Славанскій не имѣетъ согласіе между собою въ азыцѣ, не обинуаютса [sic] распространати тое мнѣніе, ако онъ нигда не доспѣетъ на высочайшій иныхъ народовъ просвѣщенства степень; иніи же изъ самихъ Славанъ желающіи единорѣчное ихъ совокупленіе предношаютъ, дабы всѣ споразумѣлиса въ избратіи единаго дла словесности и писемности азыка; мы акъ тѣхъ мнѣніе, которіи народъ Славанскій на позадній отъ иныхъ народовъ просвѣщенства степень осуждаютъ, здѣ опровергати не судиме за важное дѣло, такъ и тѣхъ

³² Jurij Bača (1961: 98) seeks to interpret these words, in a hardly convincing manner, as evidence for the notion that Rakovs'kyj realized the fundamental need to speak in the vernacular. However, as Rakovs'kyj's actual attitude to language shows, this statement would appear to amount to little more than lip service.

Славанъ стремленіа, которіи совокупное всѣхъ соединеніе въ воспріатіи единаго азыка совѣтуютъ, досѣгатиса не хочеме нашее все попеченіе само о томъ ходитъ, да бы мы, которіи токмо нынѣ начинаеме двигатиса зъ подъ всеобщаго оутисненіа нашего, и до свочувствіа приходити, народность нашу и первозасаднаа просвѣщенства нашего начала оукрѣпили. Двѣ часописи имѣеме, "Вѣстникъ" и "Зорю Галицку", аже бытіе наше обвѣщаютъ свѣту, и справы наши народны представлаютъ; сихъ задача есть, да бы въ едно и азыкъ нашь спрощевали, и на колько возможно оуравнали. [...]

Народный азыкъ нашь съ весьма малымъ различіемъ тойже истинный съ именованнымъ библическимъ, иже называется старославанскимъ азыкомъ. Ежели изъемлеме рѣдко оуже встрѣчающіаса оу насъ двойственная именъ и глаголовъ числа, такъ равно и времена глаголовъ преходащаа, аки на примѣръ "обрѣтохъ, обрѣтохомъ" и проч., аже по д8х8 греческаго азыка заведенна видатса, вслинал [sic] склоненіл, сопраженіл, и сочиненія взыкословна, хотай бы есме и не приспособлали ихъ со всемъ нарѣчію простонародному, оудобно сразумѣтелная бывають народу нашему. Оузнаеме добрѣ тую важность, юже на простонародный азыкъ намъ обернути подобаетъ, однакожь принуждени есми и то исповъсти, же ежели бы мы себе во всемъ простонародному азыку приспособлати хотъли, тогда майже толико словесностей имъли бы есме, колико областей и селъ нахождаетса. [...] Но и гдъ изобрътаетса народъ, иже бы повседневній свой азыкъ равенъ имълъ съ обдъланнымъ и оученнымъ азыкомъ? Откуда и намъ не есть нуждно къ тому смагатиса, да бы есме совсемъ простонароднѣ писемность нашу провадили. Объемъ понатій простонародіа нашего, и соотвѣтнихъ имъ выраженій есть весьма тьсный; акал же была бы словесность наша исключно на сей худобной основанна подставѣ? Развитіе словесности требветь источниковъ, которыхъ народъ самъ не возможетъ намъ дати [...] Паноніанинъ (Vistnyk 1850: 150–151).

Uzhhorod, 28 April (10 May). As widely dispersed as is the Slavic people, so different are its dialects. This is no wonder.... There are some who, because the Slavic people has no mutual accord regarding its language, do not hesitate to spread the opinion that it [the Slavic people] will never reach the highest level of enlightenment attained by other peoples; others among the Slavs themselves, desiring their one-language unification, propose that all agree on the choice of one language for literacy and literature. We neither consider it important to refute the opinion that assigns the Slavic people a lower level of education than that of other peoples, nor do we wish to comment on the efforts of those Slavs who advise complete unification based on the adoption of one language. Our only concern is that now, as we are just beginning to move out of a state of general oppression and develop self-consciousness, we should strengthen our nationality and the basic foundations of our education. We have two journals, the *Въстникъ* and *Зор* Галицка, which tell the world of our existence and present our national issues. It is their task both to unify our language and to make it as consistent as possible....

Our national language differs very little from the language called the Bible language, which is named the Old Slavic language. If we take away the dual number of nouns and verbs, which is already rarely encountered among us, as well as the preterite forms of verbs such as *obptmoxo*, *obptmoxowb*, etc., which would appear to have been established in the spirit of the Greek language,

then all other linguistic declensions, conjugations, and constructions are readily comprehensible to our people, even if we do not adapt them to our folk dialect in every respect. We are prepared to acknowledge the importance of the argument that we must pay attention to the language of the simple folk, but we also have to admit that if we wished to adapt ourselves to the language of the simple folk in every respect, we would get almost as many literatures as the regions and villages we have.... But where would one find a people with an everyday language identical to its cultivated and learned language? That is why it is not necessary for us, either, to strive to base our literature solely on the language of the simple folk. The scope of concepts of our simple folk and the scope of corresponding expressions is extremely narrow; what would our literature be like if it were based exclusively on this poor foundation? The development of literature requires sources that the people *itself* will not be able to give us.... The Pannonian (Vistnyk 1850: 150–151).

Rakovs'kyj's arguments are stereotypical, but not all of them are wrong. A modernized standard language could in fact never be identical to a vernacular: it could only be elaborated on the basis of a vernacular. What Rakov'skyj forgot to add was that the Church Slavonic language also could not be used as a modern standard language because it had never been elaborated for that purpose. His even more unconvincing and, indeed, absurd argument is the allegation that "our [Ruthenian] vernacular" is, except for its most archaic features, in essence identical to Church Slavonic. Based on the latter assumption, Rakovs'kyj continues to construct his awkward elucubration in a language that draws very heavily on Russian and Church Slavonic, with only a slight admixture of local Transcarpathian Ruthenian elements:

Предпоманутымъ старославанскимъ взыкомъ знакомитнаа [sic] сочиненіа разнаго содержаніа оу Сербанъ, Краинцевъ и Чеховъ частократно еще и сими днами произдаваютса, и не есть народа славанскаго, который бы въ почтеніи и поважаніи не имѣлъ предименованный взыкъ старославанскій. Про что таже мы отдалатиса будеме отъ него, которымъ по болшей части еще народъ нашь нескаженно бесѣдуетъ? [...] Многоутѣшнымъ чувствіемъ исполнаетса сердце наше, же очевидно оуже изслѣдити можеме, вако "Вѣстникъ" правопись свою къ старославенскому взыку знакомитнѣ приспособлати начинаетъ, такъ равно и "Зора Галицка" болше дописей сообщаетъ, иже на правилахъ старославанскаго взыка основаютса; вса сіа поавленіа благонадеждно запоручаютъ намъ, же не далеко есть врема, гдѣ вступитъ заимное споразумѣніе дла словесности и писемности между нами Русинами Австрійскими (Vistnyk 1850: 151–152).

Even today, remarkable works of various content written in the aforementioned Old Slavic language are often published by the Serbs, Carniolans, and Czechs, and there is no Slavic people that would not hold the aforementioned Old Slavic language in honor and esteem. Why, then, should we distance ourselves from that language, which still serves as the unspoiled conversational language of most of our people?... Our heart is filled with a feeling of great joy as we plainly see the *Bt*CMHUKD appropriately beginning to adapt its orthography to

the Old Slavic language, while *3ορ*_A *Γαλυμκα* is publishing more contributions based on the rules of the Old Slavic language; all these developments are a reliable indication that the time of mutual agreement on written culture and literature among us Austrian Ruthenians is not far off (Vistnyk 1850: 151–152).

Rakovs'kyj's appeal was decidedly strange. While some Serbs did indeed adhere to Church Slavonic or "Slavenoserbian" traditions, nothing is known of "Carniolans" (Slovenes) or Czechs publishing any modern books in Church Slavonic. If this was an obvious error, Rakovs'kyj's other absurd claim that the Ruthenians spoke genuine Church Slavonic even in the mid-nineteenth century did not gain credibility through his mere repetition of it. Was he unaware that he was completely contradicting himself? If the Ruthenians actually spoke Church Slavonic, why would they not proceed to develop their literary language on a genuine vernacular foundation?

While Rakovs'kyj was pleased to see the *B*[±]*cm*Huκ[±] using a traditional etymological ("Old Slavic") orthography, his appraisal of *3op*_A *Γαλu*μκ*a* was limited to letters to the editor (obviously, he had in mind only letters from Russophiles). Rakovs'kyj's main message was clear enough. In his view, a mutual understanding between "us Austrian Ruthenians"—officially, "we" still meant Austrian Ruthenians and no one else—could be attained only on the basis of Church Slavonic.

Ivan Rakovs'kyj thus literally confirmed what had already been implied in the first issue of the Vienna *BtcmHuktb*—that according to the openly voiced opinion of some Ruthenians, especially Transcarpathians, Church Slavonic alone could promote mutual understanding between Transcarpathian and Galician Ruthenians. What remained unspoken was that the language referred to as "Old Slavic," etc. was not Church Slavonic but Russian, while in the view of the Russophiles, there could be no question at all of elaborating an all-Ruthenian (all-Ukrainian) or even an Austro-Ruthenian language.

The language that Rakovs'kyj used in this article so obviously confirms the impression that Russian was at issue here, even though it was referred to officially as Church Slavonic, that no elaboration is required. True, one does sporadically encounter vernacular elements, such as $\mu \pm m \pm$ 'there is not' (alongside He *ecmb*; the form coincides with Russian [n'et] but is also used in Transcarpathian dialects [n'it]), the pronoun $\partial ae \partial Hi$ "some," the adverb $Huz \partial a$ "never," etc. The form *npousdaBaiomca* is obviously modeled on Church Slavonic and Russian but is highly dubious because of the missing alternation of the present stem (Russian *npousdaBait*).

Oleksandr Duxnovyč, the most important protagonist of Transcarpathian Ruthenian nation-building, finally joined the language discussions in no. 29 (cf. on him, among others, Duxnovyč 2003):³³

³³ Duxnovyč occasionally returned to the language issue in other contributions to the Вѣстникъ; see, e.g., no. 35 for 2/14 May 1850.

Прашовъ 26 цвѣтна. Чтобъ словесность цѣли оуспѣшно сл8жила, ей потребно быти свойственою, т. е. такою, чтобы органомъ ей кождый мнѣніа и понатіа свои такъ изаснилъ, абы они отъ слышающого и читающого естественно выраз8мѣлиса; и то пол8читса, когда знаменованіа словъ сродныи б8дутъ, именительно же отъ корене вещи происходиміи; и прото на колико возможно, остерѣгатиса потребно отъ словъ ч8жихъ, или ч8жаго произношеніа, отъ выраженій окр8жныхъ, помѣстныхъ, провинціальныхъ, ако с8ть примѣромъ: мешканье, замешкалость, досвѣдченье, творенье и пр. тіи бо с8ть польского выраженіа; такъ с8ть оу насъ въ оупотребленіи: талпаловати, говгеръ, фель-веръ, бантовати, фалать и проч. мадарскаго, сарака волоскаго, м8сить нѣмецкаго происхожденіа.

Что тыкаетса провинціалисмовъ, оть сихъ, по мнѣнію нашему, таки только оупотреблати подобаеть, котори разпространнѣйшіи суть, но и тогда внимающе на близость корене, такъ н. п. лишь, лише и лемъ; що, што, шо, же и что; быти и бути; еденъ и одинъ о и ö; провинціалисмы тіи по обоимъ сторонамъ Бескида разширно въ оупотребленіи суть; еднакоже между народомъ велику чинатъ разлуку, и многажды виною распри бывають; едни другимъ посмѣваютса, но часто же и презираютъ ними. Прото доколи така распра въ едномъ племени будеть, не можна желаемого совокупленіа нашей словесности надѣатиса. Мы хотай цѣла наша епархіа лемъ оупотреблаетъ, еднакожъ подвержемса большой части, и послѣ сему лишь, лише писати будеме; но мѣсто галицкаго що, бути останемса съ нашимъ что, быти, которое намъ и разпространнѣйшее и по благозвучію пріемнѣйшее видитса быти; такожде и васъ молимъ, чтобъ и вы сколько оуступили, и естли не больше, хотай едно що и бути перемѣнили, акъ тое оуже въ I числѣ Вѣстника и сами Галичане желали.

Прото не взирайме на провинціалисмы и помѣстніи разности выраженій, но пишѣмъ едною всѣмъ разумѣтельною, писменною бесѣдою, и то на которую вы братіа Галичане склоннѣйшіи будете; – мы – меншаа часть на все лучшее пристанемъ, и васъ оуважати будемъ; но просимъ и оумолаемъ васъ, оуважайте и вы на насъ и Буковинцовъ братовъ своихъ, и оусилуйтеса ихъ приклонити къ себѣ лучше въ мирѣ и любови, нежели ихъ оупоромъ отдалати и оскорблати (Vistnyk 1850: 140).

Prešov, 26 April. A literature, in order to fulfill its task successfully, must be appropriate, that is, of such a kind that everyone can use it as an organ to express his opinions and concepts in such a way as to be naturally comprehended by the hearer or reader. This will work out if the terms for words are genuine, namely, if they stem from the root of the thing. Therefore one must avoid, as much as possible, foreign words or foreign pronunciation; regional, local, or provincial expressions such as *Meukahbe* [from Polish *mieszkanie* "condominium"], *замешкалость* [from Polish *zamieszkałość* (?) "population"; the word is in fact rare in Polish], *досвъдченье* [from Polish *doświadczenie* "experience"], *mворенье* [from Polish *tworzenie* "creating"?],³⁴ etc., for these are Polish expressions; similarly, we use *maʌnaʌosamu* ["to shoe a horse," from Hungarian *talpal* "hoof"], *zoвzepъ* [from Hungarian *hóhér* "hangman," ultimately of German origin], *φeʌbaepъ* [from Hungarian "half-caste"], *бантовати* [from Hungarian *bánt-*, as in bántani "hurt"], *φaʌamъ* ["a piece," from Hungarian *falat*], etc. ([of] Hungarian [origin]),

³⁴ This is a strange form, and one wonders which Slavs would have had a problem with it.

cарака [from Romanian *sarac "*poor"] ([of] Vlach [origin]), *м8cumь* (of German origin).

As for provincialisms, we should, in our opinion, use only those that are most widespread, but even then we should pay attention to the closeness of the roots, such as *лишь*, *лише* and *лемь* ["only," with *лемь* used only in the Lemko area]; mo, mo, mo, we, and mo ["what, that," with mo and mo used in Modern Standard Ukrainian and many Ukrainian dialects, *umo* used in many Transcarpathian dialects, *we* used in some westernmost Ukrainian dialects, and что used in Russian (but pronounced [što])]; быти и б8ти [to be, with б8ти used in most Ukrainian dialects, and быти in some westernmost dialects]; едень и одинь [with jeden used only in some westernmost dialects], o and ö [Duxnovyč apparently had in mind the different reflexes of *o* in newly closed syllables; however, the most widespread reflex in the Ukrainian language area, even in the former "Austro-Ruthenian" area alone, was [i], as in Modern Standard Ukrainian]; these provincialisms are widely used on both sides of the Beskyds but cause great division among the people and often give rise to disputes; some laugh at others and often even despise them. Therefore, as long as such disputes exist within one tribe, one cannot hope for the desired unification of our literature. Although our whole eparchy uses лемъ, we are nonetheless prepared to give in to the majority, and we will then write only *лишь*, *лише*; but instead of Galician up, 68mu, we shall hold to our 4mo, 66mu, which seems to be both more widespread and more pleasant as regards melodiousness. Also, we ask you, too, to give in to the same degree and at least replace only up and *б8mu*, if more seems impossible, as the Galicians themselves desired in the first issue of the *Въстникъ*.

Let us therefore pay no attention to provincialisms and regional differences of terms but write in one written language comprehensible to all, and that will be the one that you Galician brethren prefer; we,the smaller part, will agree to all that is best and will respect you, but we request and entreat you: show consideration to us, as well as to your brethren, the Bukovynians, and try to win them over to yourselves rather by peace and love than by alienating and offending them with stubbornness (Vistnyk 1850: 140).

At first glance, this article may appear to be a perfectly sincere appeal for Galician-Transcarpathian linguistic convergence, as already anticipated by Duxnovyč in no. 29 (Bača 1961: 85). In this article, apart from the forms *быти* vs. *б8ти* and *что* vs. *що*, already discussed in the first issue of the *Bѣстникъ*, Duxnovyč brings up *лемъ* as opposed to *лишь/лише*. His apparent willingness to accept an allegedly Galician form instead of one that is in fact provincial (by no means used in all parts of the Transcarpathian region) takes on a very different cast if one considers that *лишь* is also, and above all, commonly used in Russian, while *лише*, which is more common in Modern Standard Ukrainian, is given only as a second variant of *лишь*. While Duxnovyč writes that the ultimate goal is "one written language comprehensible to all" ("едною всѣмъ разумѣтельною, писменною бесѣдою"), he never specifies what kind of language it could be. Moreover, his text reveals that the "we" to whom he refers are ultimately, in a narrow sense, the Transcarpathian Ruthenians alone (cf. also "вы братіѧ Галичане"). In general, Duxnovyč's actual linguistic usage shows more clearly than his vague programmatic statements what he meant by "one written language comprehensible to all." Leaving aside the comparatively rich but often tendentious literature on Duxnovyč's linguistic development, it should be recalled that he used a vernacular-based language only in writings of a markedly popular character, as in some sections of his primer and, particularly, in his comedy *Virtue Is More Important Than Riches* (Moser 2011: 627–640).

Duxnovyč's above-cited contribution to the B to the

In detail, Duxnovyč's orthography seeks to be even more etymological than that of the Galicians. He writes ymo and ymobil or ymobil, and even the reflex of o in newly closed syllables ("ö" with him, "ô" in most contributions to the Βѣсmниκъ) does not appear in the article. Duxnovyč does occasionally write *o* after sibilants, as in слышающого and читающого (masculine genitive singular) от большой (feminine dative singular, instead of большой), but he also uses e, as in нашей (feminine genitive singular), нашемв (masculine dative singular), лвчшее, разпространнъйшее (neuter nominative singular), etc. The reflex of weak b before j is, as in MHBHIA U понатіа от братіа, etc., noted exclusively as *i* (but not in the "Polonisms" мешканье, досвѣдченье, творенье). The vocalized Jer in the prefix according to the traditions of the Second South Slavic influence is found in the Church Slavonic expressions возможно and совок влленіа, both of which are supported by Russian. In Duxnovyč's text, the reflex of the word-initial liquid metathesis appears exclusively in Church Slavonic form, as in выраз8мѣлисѧ, разпространнѣйшіи, разширно, разл8к8, распрѧ, разности, раз8мѣтельною, etc. The Church Slavonic metathetic forms потребно (cf., of course, also Polish *potrzeb*- and Ukrainian *nompeb*-), *npesupatomb*, *no* благозв8чію, въ оупотребленіи, оупотреблати and others occur alongside individual pleophonic forms such as ocmep&ramucA (with the "Ukrainian" & here, see Ukrainian остерігатися), волоскаго, сторонамъ (dative plural), перемѣнили, all of which have counterparts in Russian. Duxnovyč writes Church Slavonic жд < *dj in происхожденія, между or makoжде alongside ж in чужихъ (exactly as in Russian), and he uses Church Slavonic *щ < *tj* in present participles: слышающого, читающого (masculine genitive singular), внимающе (masculine nominative plural). The initial je-, as in еднакожь, едни (nominative plural masculine), as well as въ едномъ племени, could be explained as a Polonism or Slovakism but, in all likelihood, Duxnovyč used it because he knew initial je- from Church Slavonic. The spelling свойственою with -н- alongside естественно with -нн- is striking, as is the postvocalic writing of *A* in *провинціальныхъ*, which is still being discussed by specialists in the Ukrainian language (*mamepianism* vs. матеріялізм).

Regarding morphology, the following features are of interest. No genitive or locative ending in -[u] is to be encountered, cf. *Бескида* (genitive singular) or *въ оупотребленіи* (locative singular). The genitive singular ending in *корене* is the most archaic option, although it can also be explained on a dialectal basis; the locative form въ [...] любови is not paralleled in Russian but, as an exception, in Ukrainian. If Duxnovyč writes the feminine instrumental singular with the traditional ending -ow, as in виною, свойственою, and такою, and thus avoids a markedly Transcarpathian form, Russian high style again provides a counterpart. Surprisingly, feminine adjectives and pronouns are truncated, as in maka pacnpa, ubra Hama enapxia, or BEAUKS чинать разлякя; long forms occur sporadically, as in меншал часть and на которяю. In the neuter nominative-accusative, the long form alone is used (*которое, лучшее*); the (non-Russian) long form of the demonstrative pronoun (*moe*) is used along with the short form (mo nonsyumera). The endings in the nominative/accusative plural are either truncated, as in *maku* (masculine accusative plural) or *komopu* (masculine nominative plural), or non-truncated, as in MHBHIA U понатіа свои ог знаменованіа словъ сродныи б8дутъ, именительно же отъ корене вещи происходиміи, etc.; in the plural, the endings are gender-neutral (as opposed to the above-cited writings of Rakovs'kyj or, particularly, Nod'), as is the plural form of the pronoun *они*. In the masculine or neuter genitive singular, Church Slavonic -аго, as in ч8жаго произношенія, мадарскаго [...] волоскаго [...] нѣмецкаго происхожденія, чвжаго произношенія and мѣсто галицкаго що predominates, as compared with the vernacular -ого, as in польского выраженія ог желаемого совок 8 пленія. The marked Ukrainian n-prothesis of the personal pronoun without a preceding preposition in *npesupatomb HUMU* is striking; it is not clear whether this Ruthenianism was intended (be it by Duxnovyč or by the editors of the *Въстникъ*) or the result of interference. In the first person plural present tense forms of verbs, unmarked -Mb occurs alongside marked Transcarpathian -Me, cf. подвержемся, останемся, молимъ, оуважати б8демъ vs. писати б8деме, не взирайме, etc. The typically Ukrainian first person plural imperative form, as in взирайме and, particularly, numbmb, deserves mention. Generally, however, features backed by Church Slavonic prevail, such as the dative form of the reflexive pronoun in $\kappa b ceb b$ and especially third person singular verbs with the present theme vowel *e*, which invariably end in -етъ: cf. оупотребллетъ, б8детъ, тыкаетсл, etc. In внимающе, the ending of the present active participle in the masculine nominative plural is entirely conservative; the present passive participle *npoucxodumiu* is non-vernacular as a category. Lastly, the form of the numeral in no обоимъ сторонамъ is defective from a contemporary perspective; it should, however, be taken into account that rules for the use of Russian obound and obtumb were only established in the course of the nineteenth century. In all likelihood, the use of the dative with π o also follows the Russian model.

Regarding syntax, the use of the present copula (*miu бо с8ть польского* выраженіа; такъ с8ть оу насъ въ оупотребленіи) and of the predicative instrumental case (виною распри бываютъ) can most likely be explained by Duxnovyč's penchant for high-style eighteenth-century Russian; the same may apply to his use of отъ + genitive to indicate the agent in a passive construction: абы они отъ слышающого

и читающого естественно выразУмѣлисѧ. Duxnovyč's use of внимающе in the following example is often regarded as incorrect: [...] таки только оупотреблати подобаеть, котори разпространнѣйшіи с8ть, но и тогда внимающе на близость корене; the form внимающе refers to the non-expressed logical dative subject of the main clause, although it is generally recommended that adverbial participles be used in agreement with a nominative subject. The nominative with infinitive in которое намъ и разпространнѣйшее и по благозвячію пріемнѣйшее видитсѧ быти is again taken from Slaveno-Russian writing traditions of the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries.

Regarding function words, several vernacular forms occur alongside Church Slavonic and Russian forms: see чтобь/чтобы (alongside абы), или, но (this form, however, is used in some Western Ukrainian dialects as well), когда/тогда, которое, междв or archaic такожде, еднакоже and колико (alongside сколько, as in Russian) vs. vernacular абы, доколи, хотлай, акъ, прото (typically western Ukrainian), бо (used, however, as an enclitic form, as in Old East Slavic, not in the initial position), кождый, the western Ukrainian vernacular reciprocal pronoun in едни дрвгимъ, the Ukrainian form of the predicative in (не) можна, etc. The spelling of the conjunction естли can be regarded as "more etymologically correct" than in Russian (Russian если is in fact a loan from Polish, but Duxnovyč was probably not aware of that). The predicative подобаетъ "it behooves [someone to do something]" is another marker of Duxnovyč's penchant for eighteenth-century Russian. As for the impersonal predicative nompeбно, Duxnovyč may have favored it because it also looks Church Slavonic.

In general, the vocabulary of Duxnovyč's text is based almost exclusively on Church Slavonic or Russian: знаменованіа, именительно, примѣромъ (instrumental singular, not приклад-; приміром, however, is also common in contemporary Ukrainian), происхожденіа, оупотреблати, разпространнѣйшіи, внимающе (alongside оуважати), многажды, презираютъ, распра, совоквпленіа (genitive singular), подвержемса, по благозввчию, оумолаемъ, etc. Marked Ruthenianisms are clearly relegated to the background, cf. тыкаетса and оуважати, with the latter used repeatedly (alongside внимающе).

The language of Duxnovyč's article ultimately confirms that he contributed nothing to the development of a common written language, which he allegedly considered desirable, for all Austrian Ruthenians. If he claimed that "I am bending my efforts on behalf of the Carpatho- or Beskydo-Ruthenian language used by the peoples in Galicia and Hungary" ("Я стараюса о мовъкарпато- или бескидо-р&ской, народами в Галичинъ и Оугорщинщъ оупотреблаемой") in no. 29 of the *Bъcmникъ* (cited in Bača 1961: 85), this should not be taken too literally. In this case as well, the content of his statement is reduced to absurdity by its form (cf. *оупотреблаемой*, which is distant from the vernacular in terms of lexis and morphological category). Duxnovyč's true concern was a language suitable for "all Russians."

In no. 58 of the *Вѣстникъ* for 27 June/9 July 1850, "Михайло зъ Розвадова," whom we have already unmasked as Myxajlo Hnidkovs'kyj, also asked which of the "Slav(en)oRussian" [or "Slav(en)o-Ruthenian"?] "dialects" should be used by the

Austrian Ruthenians ("Котрого славорусского нарѣчія подобаеть австрійскимъ русинамъ нынѣ оупотреблати?"). While the author writes of "Slav(en)o-Russian dialects," he soon introduces the term "Russian [perhaps "Ruthenian"] Old Slavic language" ("старославанскій вазыкъ р%сскій"). He, too, implies that medieval Rus'ian and Church Slavonic were pure, and thus identical, while Ruthenian variants were subsequently contaminated by various foreign influences, but Church Slavonic remained pure.

Hnidkovs'kyj elaborates above all on foreign loans incorporated into variants of the western Ukrainian vernacular. He argues that in the Kingdom of Hungary, Ruthenian has too many Magyarisms; in Bukovyna, it has too many Germanisms and Romanisms-although the Bukovynian variant is, in his opinion, at least purer than that of Hungary; and in Galicia, Ruthenian is subjected to an all too powerful Polish impact. In Hnidkovs'kyj's view, only the isolated Ruthenians of the mountainous Carpathian region, who rarely come into contact with foreigners, speak "pure Ruthenian, which is close to the Church Slavonic dialect." Hnidkovs'kyj adds that in parts of Galicia bordering on "Little Russia" ("Manopoccia"), people actually speak pure "Little Russian" ("Малор&сскимъ азыкомъ"), but they have been influenced by Polish or Great Russian (here "російский," "по-російски" alongside "сѣверороссійскій"). Hnidkovs'kyj contends that the language of western Galicia has been generally disfigured by Polish influence, and that the language of the region from the middle Dnister to the Prut is a "pathetic Ruthenian language oppressed by slavery" (whatever Hnidkovs'kyj had in mind here, he must have meant the speakers, not the language).

Which of these allegedly so radically different dialects could now serve as the most appropriate basis for literary Ruthenian? Hnidkovs'kyj argues that it would have to be a pure and exemplary dialect of the "Slav(en)o-Russian" ["Slav(en) o-Ruthenian"?] language understood by all. However, as he contends, not a single one of the aforementioned dialects could be considered at once generally comprehensible and pure and exemplary. He adds that even Little Russian in Podilia and in Ukraine are increasingly approximating "North Russian" (a remarkable discovery!).³⁵

³⁵ "Мостищи 14. черв. Обстолтелсьства на старославанскій взыкъ русскій въ Оуграхъ, Буковинѣ и въ Галиціи отъ давна вплывающіи не всюды единого и тогожь самого рода натр8чеваемы, и сего ради отлицающися [!] другь оть другихъ сказы въ немъ просоизводили. Въ Оуграхъ находимъ р8сскій казыкъ не такъ д8же мадарскими дла р8счины весьма ч8жими и гортани русской цъло невскусными реченіами переполненый [...] Въ Буковинъ придыбуемъ въ бесъдъ русской реченія нъмецкого и романского азыковъ; но ту позосталь еднакже русскій ызыкъ не такъ дуже что до матеріи акъ что до формы чистшій, акъ онъ въ Оугорщинѣ; чужи бо азыки не такъ борзо и не такъ ласо съ собою сватаютса. Въ Галичинъ пробываютъ ту поединчи родины, ту громады, а тамъ и цъли русски предълы то въ дальшемъ то въ ближшемъ сосъдствъ ту съ полскими родинами, тамъ съ полскими громадами, а ондъ съ полскими повътами, а даже и подъ едною стрѣхою русскій казыкъ съ полскимъ то мирно гостили, то единъ другому повиновался; сего ради въ Галичинъ что село, то иное (наръчія русского гуло [?]). Въ карпатскихъ Галичины предѣлахъ, где рвсинъ николи або двже рѣдко съ иноплеменниками стыкалсѧ, и где по болшей части въ камералныхъ добрахъ мъстцевы власти нъмецкимъ переправлали казыкомъ, съ русиномъ русского оупотреблати принуждени были изыка, бесъдуютъ еще до нынъ чистымъ русскимъ къ церковнославанскому наръчію сближенымъ казыкомъ. По обводамъ Галиціи

Hnidkovs'kyj, who is clearly anti-Polish, offers no solution to this dilemma, but his own awkward language gives something of a hint, as it includes not only a variety of vernacular elements but also numerous Church Slavonicisms and Russianisms: обстоятелсьства, сего ради, the nominative plural present active participle omauuaющиса (here with the reflex of the third palatalization, which is unusual in Russian), пред алы, даже, съ иноплеменниками, по болшей части with e after the sibilant, власти (nominative plural), оупотреблати, прин8ждени, ваще, въ сожити, премногими, 4Sже ± 350 чными with e after the sibilant, живетъ with -тъ, рабствомъ, the strange creation *просоизводили* (see Russian *производили*), etc. Hnidkovs'kyi's own language thus demonstrates that in his view, as none of the Ruthenian dialects could serve independently as a model for the elaboration of a Ruthenian literary language, only the consolidating traditions of Church Slavonic could ultimately prove effective in that capacity. Although Hnidkovs'kyj clearly distinguishes "South Russian" from "North Russian" and apparently refers only to the Ukrainian language area-notably, in both the Austrian and the Russian Empire-his line of reasoning is strikingly concordant with the stereotypical Russophile credo. It is thus no coincidence that Hnidkovs'kyj's article almost consistently features the spelling *p8сскій* with -cc-.

A certain consensus is obvious in all the early contributions to the language discussion in the *B*#*cm*Hukb. According to this view, a variant of Church Slavonic with a certain admixture of Ruthenianizing elements, as in the following contribution by Ivan Rakovs'kyj, could certainly have been considered a desirable language:

Красноизобразіе нѣкоего особвеннаго краеваго азыка ни въ смыслѣ закона, ни взоромъ конца народностемъ предлежащаго ніакое не можетъ имѣти преимущество надъ другими азыками. Оурадовый азыкъ въ свое благопристойное врема не можетъ иный быти, акъ нѣмецкій по всей Державѣ, иже израдною своею обдѣланностію, и науковою распространностію вса иныа превосходитъ поединичныа азыки (Vistnyk 1850: 201 (issue 51, 10/22 June)).

The beauty of the language of a particular region [краевый азыкъ as a loan translation of the Austrian German administrative term *Landessprache*] cannot serve as an argument for the advantageous treatment of one language over another, either in the legal sense or as a model of goals for the nationalities. No language other than German can be the official language throughout the State in its time of prosperity, for it outdoes all other individual languages with regard

отъ Малороссіи бесѣдуютъ чистымъ что до корене реченій Малорусскимъ вазыкомъ, но ту мнѣе тамъ ваще то по російски то по полски скроенымъ русского вазыка нарѣчіемъ. Русскій въ западныхъ Галичины обводахъ вазыкъ въ ежедневномъ сожитіи съ полскимъ нарѣчіемъ сказилса по примѣрѣ полского нарѣчіа премногими чужеазычными выразами, а особенно полскимъ кроемъ. По надъ середній днѣстеръ къ Пругови живетъ русскій но глубочуйно рабстомъ приголомшеный вазыкъ бѣдный. – Котрымъ же изъ межи всѣхъ сихъ нарѣчіёмъ славоруского вазыка нарѣчіемъ. Но изъ всѣхъ выше поманутыхъ ни едно не естъ всѣмъ намъ легко срозумѣле, чисте, взорове славорусское нарѣчіе. И самъ малорусскій на Подолю и на Оукраинѣ живущій нынѣ вазыкъ на сѣверороссійскій дуже замагаетъ (Vistnyk 1850: 230–231).

to its [state of] elaboration and scholarly breadth (Vistnyk 1850: 201 (issue 51, 10/22 June)).

Even by mid-nineteenth-century standards, however, this kind of language was decidedly outdated.

Another example of a quasi-appropriate Common Ruthenian language in the spirit of the *B*[‡]*cm*+*u*κ_b discussions is the following extract from no. 59 for 27 June/9 July 1850:

[...] Вчера закончилиса нарады присутствующихъ туть повъренниковъ италіанскихъ. [...] Повъренники отвъчали на тое съ покорнымъ благодареніемъ, препоручаа съ полнымъ оупованіемъ правительству всъ желаніа своего народа [...] (Vistnyk 1850: 230).

...Yesterday the meetings of the Italian plenipotentiaries who are now visiting [Vienna] ended. The plenipotentiaries replied to that with humble gratitude, submitting all their people's desires to the government with complete confidence.

But what would have been the use of such a language, which would merely have been conceived—and was in fact conceived—as an awkward variety of Russian or, to call it by its right name, as bad Russian?

7. Conclusion and prospects

If the Austrian authorities accused the editorial staff of the *BtcmHu*κ*τb* of Russophilism soon after the appearance of its first issues, their accusations were well founded. In fact, the language of many contributions was linguistically very close to Russian. Notably more remote from Russian were the texts of Julijan Vysloboc'kyj, whom the ministry promptly appointed as the new editor in chief. Also more remote from Russian were various letters to the editors from Galician readers, which have been quoted here only as exceptions.³⁶

The language of Transcarpathian authors such as Mykola Nod', Ivan Rakovs'kyj, and Mykola Myhalyč is characterized above all by a striking conservatism. At first, Church Slavonic rather than Russian still constituted the linguistic basis of such texts, even of those authored by Ivan Rakovs'kyj, who would switch to Russian soon afterwards as radically as he could. Oleksandr Duxnovyč's articles were no less distant from the vernacular.

No linguistic leveling of Galician and Transcarpathians variants of Ruthenian took place in the pages of the *B*[±]*cm*+*uk*[±]. If the Galicians and Transcarpathians

³⁶ Cf. the following contribution from no. 19 for 2 March/4 April 1850: "Перемышаь Дна 25. марта. Дна 20 марта т. р. оукончилса першій к§рсь на т§тейшой ліцеальной гимназіи складающойса зъ осми классъ. Въ той гимназіи, ако при границъ маз§рскои землѣ преподаеса релігіа дла Русиновъ по р§сски, дла Полаковъ и др§гихъ по нѣмецки. Мазыкъ Галицко-Р§сскій преподавалса въ кождой классѣ по 2 годинѣ що тыждень" (Vistnyk 1850: 75). This heavily vernacular-based article was probably written by Josyf Levyc'kyj. Owing to (correct) etymological rather than Russophile considerations, Levyc'kyj already wrote *P*&cckiй with -cc- before 1848, without regard to any Russophile context (but he also wrote the etymologically incorrect *P*&cclub.).

had actually wished to contribute to such a development on a merely "Austro-Ruthenian" basis, the fact that the southwestern dialects of Ukrainian are quite differentiated might soon have become problematic. Given, however, that the Transcarpathian contributors openly rejected any notion of developing a vernacular-based Ruthenian written language together with the Galicians from the outset, it soon became clear that nothing would be done to promote that goal. Moreover, the Transcarpathian authors emphasized their attitude through the linguistic character of their contributions, demonstrating an obvious preference for Transcarpathian dialectal features, which they sporadically inserted into their predominantly Church Slavonic- or Russian-based texts.

As the situation of the Ukrainian language in the Russian Empire was still disastrous in 1850, especially after the dissolution of the Brotherhood of SS. Cyril and Methodius, it is not surprising that neither the Galician nor the Transcarpathian intellectual leaders had any thought of building upon the traditions of Ukrainian language development in the Russian Empire at that point (that process began in Galicia some ten years later, shortly after the death of Taras Ševčenko in 1861).

As a result, only Church Slavonic and Russian were regarded as variants that could serve as a linguistic bridge between Transcarpathia and Galicia in the context of the *B*±*cm*+ukb. The ideological background was the myth of "Old Rus'ian" purity and a naïve attitude to the Russian language, paralleled by skepticism with regard to the allegedly "contaminated" and all too diverse Ruthenian/Ukrainian.

As if fettered by the early contributions to the language discussion that appeared in the *B* \pounds *cmHuk* μ , the newspaper proved incapable of putting forward a convincing and future-oriented linguistic model for the Ruthenians of Austria even after its relaunch in 1850. Neither the Old Ruthenians nor the Russophiles nor the (few remaining) populists could be satisfied with its language. In later years, the newspaper drew more heavily on the vernacular, but by then the Transcarpathians had already ceased to contribute to it, and the *B* \pounds *cmHuk* μ soon became a purely Galician organ.

The *B*[‡]*cmHu*κ[†] was also unable to bridge the differences between Transcarpathian and Galician Ruthenians in any other respect. Even though the editors and other authors regularly conjured up a common identity for the Austrian Ruthenians, both Galician and Transcarpathian authors persisted, for the most part, in drawing very clear distinctions between the two groups. Lastly, the Bukovynians received hardly any attention, at least in the first issues of the *B*[‡]*cmHu*κ[†], and none of them contributed anything to the paper.

As a result, the "Austro-Ruthenian" project of the *B*^{*}*bcmHuk*^{*}*b* failed in almost every respect.

In the last issue of the $B \neq cm + u\kappa$, no. 40 of vol. 18 for 22/10 December 1866 ("Часть неурядова"), Julijan Vysloboc'kyj (who still referred to himself as Vasyl' Zborovs'kyj) took his final leave as editor in chief after sixteen years. Vysloboc'kyj's words are of interest, as they show how much the language of the newspaper had been adapted to the vernacular in the course of that period (conservatisms, such as *nohexe* or *b habeyepïw* with *i* from weak Jer before *j* in this extract, were still

frequent). They are no less intriguing in content:

Пращальна хвила надъишла, хвила розлуки сближаєса! – А понеже кожда розлука мае щось подобного до смерти, бо насуває мимовольно гадку вѣчного розстана са съ дорогими намъ особами, – то не дивота, сли и мы въ навечерію нашои розлуки съ долголѣтными, вѣрными сотрудниками на нивѣ отечественнои словесности; съ многолѣтными покровителами и неотступными читателами "Вѣстника", – стлумивши въ собѣ всѣ політичніи мысли, сегодна одному лишь чувству отдаємоса и одно щироруске слово изъ глубины стисненого сердца выдобываємо: "Пращайте!" [...] "Пращайте" Василь Зборовскій.

The moment has come to say goodbye; the moment of leave-taking is approaching!—And since every leave-taking has something like death in it, for it inevitably makes one think of the eternal parting from persons dear to us, it is no wonder if we, too, on the eve of our leave-taking from longtime, loyal collaborators in the field of native literature; from longtime supporters and inveterate readers of the BЪСТНИКЪ, suppressing in ourselves any political thoughts, devote ourselves to one single emotion and squeeze one single genuine Ruthenian word from the depths of our aching heart: "Farewell!"... "Farewell!" Vasyl' Zborovs'kyj.

The *B* \pm *cmHu* κ \pm had ultimately outlived its purpose. With the situation of the Austrian Ruthenians fundamentally altered by the Austro-Hungarian *Ausgleich* and Galician autonomy, the time was ripe for new developments in the sphere of periodicals as well (after the first new populist periodicals, *Πpa* α *d* (Truth), established in 1867, proved to be an enduring organ of the new Ukrainian movement).

The "Austro-Ruthenian" conception of the $B \pounds cmhukb$ had been doomed to fail from the outset.

SOME NOTES ON CODE-SWITCHING IN THE LETTERS OF TARAS ŠEVČENKO

1. General Remarks

Taras Ševčenko's attitude to the Russian language is undoubtedly one of the crucial issues in Ukrainian studies. Professor George G. Grabowicz has repeatedly written on this subject from the perspective of literary scholarship (see, among many other contributions, Grabowicz 1979–80), emphasizing that a full understanding of Ševčenko's writings is impossible without an unbiased approach both to the works that he published in Ukrainian and in Russian.

Although linguists have also dealt with Russian elements in Ševčenko's language, they have usually listed Russian elements from his works alone. The aim of the present paper is to describe an aspect that has apparently not been taken into account up to now: the phenomenon of code-switching between Ukrainian and Russian in Ševčenko's letters.

2. Russian Elements in Ukrainian versus Ukrainian-Russian Code-Switching

Whereas scholars, among them Petro Tymošenko (1964) in his intriguing study, have already pointed out that Russian elements occur rather frequently in Ševčenko's letters in particular, the mechanisms of the introduction of these Russian elements have not yet been analyzed. In fact, it seems that in many instances these Russian elements do not occur randomly as interferemes or as loan elements, but rather bear witness to the fact that time and again Ševčenko switched between the Ukrainian and Russian languages.

As I sought to demonstrate in a recent book on Ševčenko's language (Moser 2008a, 2012a), the difference between the mere use of genuinely Russian interferemes or loan elements and the process of code-switching can be fixed most clearly on the level of inflectional grammar and use of particular functional words. Whenever Ševčenko used clearly Russian inflectional endings, such as *-oe* in the genitive plural of masculine nouns instead of *-ie* (*-uev* in Ševčenko's Russian-based orthography), and whenever he introduced elementary functional words such as *umo* versus $u\mu o (uuo)$ or $\kappa a \kappa b$ versus $\pi \kappa b$, it can be inferred with a very high degree of probability that in these contexts he switched to the Russian language and vice versa. A closer look at Ševčenko's letters reveals that such code-switching scenarios follow certain mechanisms of an essentially topic-related character. From the outset, it must be emphasized that code-switching occurs in Ševčenko's letters not only inter- but also intrasententially.

While some features of inflectional grammar and some forms of functional words make the assumption of code-switching extremely plausible, there are also, of course, many more doubtful cases. Whenever clear linguistic indications are absent, code-switching cannot be taken for granted. Quite often the interpretation of certain items in Ševčenko's Ukrainian texts as Russian interferemes and loans seems to be more plausible. As regards the code-switching mechanisms in Ševčenko's letters, some of them are rather clear-cut, while others raise more doubts. Indeed, matters are even more complicated owing to the fact that Ševčenko's editors have always manipulated his language according to their own attitudes, beginning with the very first issues of the journal *Osnova* (Osnova 1861–1862) and continuing to the recent past (Ševčenko 2003). Unfortunately, only a handful of Ševčenko's letters have been published as facsimiles, and I myself have not had the opportunity to work with the extant original manuscripts (this is apart from the fact that quite a few of the original letters have been irretrievably lost). At least in some instances the description of Ševčenko's manuscripts (Opys 1961) helps counterbalance the more doubtful editorial interpretations.

In the following paragraphs I intend to demonstrate some of the mechanisms of code-switching in Taras Ševčenko's letters. I will use "[//]" for marking the boundaries of more clear-cut cases of code-switching and "[//?]" for more doubtful ones. While discussing some of the unequivocal examples, I will also briefly touch upon the consequences stemming from recognition of code-switching for lexicographical work with Ševčenko's letters.

3.1. Quotations

Among the clearest examples of code-switching in Ševčenko's works are those that are based on quotations of Russian speakers. In his Ukrainian-language letter to Pylyp Korol'ov of 18 November 1842, Ševčenko switches to Russian only in a sentence consisting of one word. The reason is obvious: he simply quotes his Russian-speaking doctor's words, although the conjunction *u*₄*o* makes it clear that in fact we are dealing with indirect speech:

Приїхав у це прокляте болото та й не знаю, чи вже й виїду. Хоч лікар і говорить, що [//] ничево [//], одначе, так кивне головою, що аж сумно дивиться. Сьогодні оце трошки легше стало, можна хоч перо в руках удержать (Ševčenko 1964: 21).

As a consequence, one may conclude that it would be extremely misleading to claim, for instance, that Ševčenko "even used clearly Russian forms, such as *Huyebo* (cf. the Russian standard spelling: *Huyebo*) in his Ukrainian letters." The use of this Russian form is a rather trivial case of code-switching.

The following example is also a quotation from Russian. The context makes clear that the manipulation in the first edition of the letter in *Osnova*—which offers the quasi-Ukrainized *жизненних*, but leaves the Russian *npunacob*(v) (Osnova 1861/11: 4)—was a rather unconvincing choice. As a matter of fact, Ševčenko was merely quoting the Russian words of his correspondent (as indicated by his words "як ти пишеш"):

А от без чого не обійдуся. [//] Без жизненных припасов [//], як ти пишеш (Ševčenko 1964: 139).¹

1 While Ševčenko could have written $-\omega x(b)$ in Ukrainian, too, the same cannot be said for $-\omega (b)$.

Thus, if the editors did not include the words **припаси* and **жизненний* (*Slovnyk* 1964) in the dictionary of Taras Ševčenko's language, they apparently made the right decision. As far as we know, neither of these two words was part of Ševčenko's Ukrainian vocabulary.

3.2. Forwarded Messages

In a letter to Myxajlo Lazarevs'kyj of 18–19 October 1857 Ševčenko asks his addressee to forward his expression of gratitude to Count Tolstoj:

і подякуй його од мене [//] за его доброе, человеколюбивое участие, которым я радостно воспользуюсь [//], як прийдеться мені до скруту (Ševčenko 1964: 175).

The fact that there is no entry for воспользовать/возпользовать, человеколюбивий (человѣколюбивый), or yчастие/участіє in Slovnyk 1964 seems to be justified: here Ševčenko switched to Russian because he wanted to forward his message to Count Tolstoj, a speaker of Russian, in its original wording.

In a letter to Fedir Lazarevs'kyj of 2 August 1852 (the original manuscript has been preserved), Ševčenko switches, surprisingly, to Russian already beginning with the conjunction umo. It is the dative form of the personal pronoun MHe (MHB), however, that confirms the Russianness of the indirect speech most convincingly:²

Та ще скажи, будь ласкав, Залецкому, як вернеться він в Оренбуг [//], что все, посланное им мне, получено с благодарностью, [//] та як побачиш Костромитенова, то поклонись йому гарненько (Ševčenko 1964: 77–78).

Again, Ševčenko forwarded a message to Bronisław Zaleski in Russian simply because he corresponded with this Polish acquaintance in Russian.

3.3. Names of Places, Addresses, and Institutions

Quite remarkably, Ševčenko frequently switched to Russian while referring to Russian places, as evident from these examples:

Штернберг пише мені, що він нездужав, але тепер відчуняв і вам кланяється, бо він дума, що ви [//] в Петербурге (Ševčenko 1964: 22); А тепер, спасибі вам і моїй неледачій долі, тепер я [//] в Петербурге [//], неначе в своїй господі (ibid.: 236); поклоніться землякам моїм, [//] в Оренбурге сущим (ibid.: 54); я опинився [//] в Орской крепости (ibid.: 40).

While forms of the type въ Петербургѣ prevail in Ševčenko's manuscripts (see Opys 1961: 299, 328, etc.), the editors of Osnova, in particular, often manipulated the language significantly. In "я сам їх поцілую, і тебе, і Семена, і всіх добрих людей, сущих [//] в Петербурге" (Ševčenko 1964: 212), for example, they introduced the

² Some seemingly Russian elements are, in fact, typical of Ševčenko's Ukrainian language. See Moser 2008a, 2012a.

Ukrainizing form *bb Demep6ypci* (Osnova 1861/11: 7), which would derive from the nominative form *Demep6ypx*(*b*). In the description of Ševčenko's manuscripts, however, the regular, pre-revolutionary Russian rendering of the locative case is attested as *bb Demep6ypzb* (*Opys* 1961: 299).

None of these examples has been considered by *Slovnyk* 1964 under the entries *OpeHőypz*, *Πemepőypz*, *OpcbKa κpinocmb*. What one finds instead is examples of the type *в Пemepőyp3i* (Ševčenko 1964, 45), which, however, do not seem to originate from Ševčenko's originals but from edited letters whose autographs have been lost. In another case, one encounters the form *в OpcbKiй Kpinocmi* in *Slovnyk* 1964, although in reality Ševčenko only wrote the abbreviated form "O. K." (Ševčenko 1964: 53). Against the background of the general picture, *въ O. K.* should, however, be interpreted rather as an abbreviation of *въ OpcKoй крѣnocmu* with the Russian adjective ending *-oŭ*.

The following fragment is from a letter to Semen Hulak-Artemovs'kyj of 6 October 1853. While the second switch refers to an item that had to be purchased in a Russian-speaking environment, the first one refers, once again, to a Russian location:

Та ще, прошу тебе, зайди [//] в магазин Даціаро (на углу Невского проспекта и Адмиралтейской площади) [//] і подивися на [//] тетрадь литографированных рисунков Калама, [//] а подивившися спитай, що вони коштують, і напиши мені. Амінь (Ševčenko 1964: 88).

While many fragments of this kind do not appear in *Slovnyk* 1964, there are some exceptions. The following example is quite revealing:

Сатана...надів чорноморську достатню одежу, щоб почваниться перед московками під Новинським або [//] на Трубе, [//] або [//] на Козихе [//]. Та, правда, в Москві всюди єсть де пощеголять, а особливе такому козакові, як Сатана (Ševčenko 1964: 94).

Slovnyk 1964 shows no entry for *Tpyбa*, but *Koзиxa* (s.v. "Козиха") is considered without any comment, even though the locative form *на Козихѣ*, which likely figures in the original text, clearly contradicts the morphonological rules of Ukrainian. This is all the more striking because *на Трубѣ* could be interpreted much more easily as a Ukrainian form if one takes into account that the Russianizing interpretation of etymological *ѣ* as [e] cannot always be taken for granted, because in Ševčenko's works the grapheme *jat* also sometimes renders Ukrainian [i]. Evidently, the methodology of *Slovnyk* 1964 is not always quite clear.

Still, it must be admitted that Ševčenko's code-switching procedures often open up a range of problems with which it is not easy to cope. When Ševčenko writes, for example,

завтра, як Бог поможе, [//?] на пароходе 'Меркурий' [//?] попливу за 5 карбованців на палубі в Нижній Новгород" (Ševčenko 1964: 171),

it is difficult to establish how lexicographers ought to deal with such examples (*Osnova* 1861/11: 11], incidentally, has "на пароході"). First of all, - \hbar , which is probably the graphical source of the Russianizing ending -*e* in Ševčenko 1964 and the Ukrainizing ending in *Osnova*, again cannot simply be identified with Russian -*e*. Second, Ševčenko uses the word *napoxod*(b) several times, and not only with the ending - \hbar but also with the ambiguous endings -O and -*a*Mu, both of which can all the more so be interpreted as either Russian or Ukrainian. Third, Ševčenko (1964: 44) asserts that "у цей час в українську літературу проникали вже й слова пароплав, поїзд, залізниця." And, finally, it was particularly in his letters that Ševčenko used many Russian words outside of any mechanisms of code-switching and without any hesitation. Therefore, it is difficult to determine whether the form *на пароход* \hbar should be interpreted rather as part of Ševčenko's Ukrainian language than as the result of intrasentential code-switching. Still, examples with Russian forms of appellatives rendering Russian locations, as in

Я хочу дещо поправить и выгравировать [//] к выставке (Ševčenko 1964: 253),

with *kъ выставкѣ* as a morphophonologically marked Russian form, seem to raise the probability that *на пароходѣ* might have to be interpreted as a Russian form resulting from code-switching (as for *выгравировать*, I regard it as one of Ševčenko's lexical Russianisms in Ukrainian).

3.4. Receipts

Code-switching into Russian also occurs when Ševčenko writes about receipts, which were typically written in Russian. In the following example, once again it is the genitive plural ending *-os* that confirms the Russianness of the fragment. Moreover, the Russian form of the preposition c(v) (in front of a voiced consonant) and the Russian root form *-uem-* can be noted:

Передайте під розписку книгареві 100 экз. "Кобзаря", нехай він продає його 1 [крб.] 50 копі[йок] [//] с вычетом 20 процентов за комиссию [//] і нехай заплатить за транспорт. Низенько кланяюсь вашій жінці, а купно і вам (Ševčenko 1964: 273).

The following brief note also reflects a case of code-switching that is triggered by a discussion of a receipt:

По счету Гогенфельдена [//] отдай гроші Федорові. Т. Ш. (Ševčenko 1964, 279; the form *no счетну* is confirmed by *Opys* 1961: 331).

Again, the fact that there is no entry for *cчет* or *щот* in *Slovnyk* 1964 seems to be justified. Still, it must be noted that there is no entry for *рахунок*, either.

4. Conclusions

In my recent book on the language of Taras Ševčenko (Moser 2008a, 2012a) I tried to single out several mechanisms of code-switching in Ševčenko's letters, four of which have been briefly discussed here. Four other mechanisms come into play. Ševčenko tended to switch into Russian when he (1) wrote about the works that he had published in Russian, (2) referred to exact dates or points in time ("25 февраля в 7 часов утра [//] получив я твоє письмо" [Ševčenko 1964: 211]), (3) ordered particular items that had to be purchased in certain stores (where they were sold under their Russian names), and (4) sometimes used the interplay of Russian and Ukrainian as a means of expressing distance or closeness to those people with whom he usually corresponded in Ukrainian.

While the mechanisms of code-switching in Ševčenko's letters have not yet been thoroughly analyzed, the editors of these letters have always been well aware of the coexistence of Russian and Ukrainian elements. To some degree they even signal a certain understanding of the fact of code-switching through their normalization of Ševčenko's orthography: sometimes a text would be normalized according to the rules of Modern Standard Russian orthography rather than Modern Standard Ukrainian. Beginning at least with the jubilee edition of 1964, these normalization procedures have had a great impact on linguistic work with Ševčenko texts. If a certain item was interpreted as Russian, the item was usually not included in such important works as the dictionary of Taras Ševčenko's Ukrainian language (Slovnyk 1964). This, however, leaves us with an extremely doubtful general picture of Ševčenko's language. To give just one example: If Ševčenko in one of his letters writes "а на сей раз вручителю сего вручите мои вещи і гроші" (Ševčenko 1964: 233), the editors' decision to treat *Beuu* as a Russian element alien to Ševčenko's Ukrainian language triggered the decision not to include it in Slovnyk 1964. Still, this is hardly convincing given the fact that the word occurs in an entirely Ukrainian context, and it is even less convincing if we take into account that the contemporary Ukrainian word pių is used in Ševčenko's works in the meaning "objects, belongings" only once (Slovnyk 1964, s.v. "piu"). No argument for codeswitching seems to fit; it is evident, therefore, that we must treat the word вещі as part of Ševčenko's Ukrainian language.

Only the phenomenon of code-switching can justify a decision to exclude Russian elements that occur in Ševčenko's Ukrainian texts from the dictionary of his Ukrainian language. And yet Ševčenko's Ukrainian language itself cannot be fully understood without taking into account these mechanisms of code-switching.

PANTELEJMON KULIŠ, THE GALICIANS, AND THE UKRAINIAN LANGUAGE (1863–1876)

1. Ruthenians, Little Russians, and the Ukrainian language before 1860

According to the master narrative set forth in Ukrainian studies textbooks, the development of Modern Standard Ukrainian began with Ivan Kotljarevs'kyj's *Enejida* (Travestied Aeneid) of 1798 and continued almost exclusively in Russian-ruled Ukraine, with the work of the Ukrainian national poet, Taras Ševčenko, culminating its first phase of growth. The almanac *Rusalka Dnistrovaja* (Dnister Nymph, 1837) is generally acknowledged as the single noteworthy work of the Galician "Ruthenians"¹ (Ukrainians) before 1848, while other Galician contributions to the further development of the "Ruthenian" (Ukrainian) written language on a vernacular basis remain unappreciated to the present day (cf. Moser 2004d, 2006, 2006a, 2006b, 2007, etc.). Developments in the first two decades after 1848 are also poorly known. The best studies of the subject date from the period before the Second World War, but much of the knowledge accumulated by philologists, most notably Kyrylo Studyns'kyj, has been lost in the meantime.

Modern Ukrainian linguistic historiography takes it for granted that the Galicians participated in the language-planning activities of the "Little Russians" (Ukrainians in the Russian Empire) in a way that led them inevitably to repeat the "Little Russian" stages of linguistic development, which are understood as seamless evolutionary sequences. These teleological conceptions find expression, inter alia, in the notion that those Galician authors who composed their works in an idiom based decidedly on the vernacular were reproached time and again for their use of "dialectal" linguistic material.

In actual fact, the Galicians generally had to fend for themselves throughout the *Vormärz* period, when the age of nationalism dawned in East Central and Eastern Europe. Their efforts to bring about a revival on a vernacular basis inevitably

With reference to the nineteenth century, I use the term "Ruthenians" for Ukrainians living in 1 Austria or Austria-Hungary and "Little Russians" for Ukrainians in the Russian Empire. Throughout the period, Galician Ukrainians and Ukrainians in the Russian Empire demonstrably considered themselves representatives of the same people. Thus, Galician publications-forewords to grammars, polemical pamphlets, ethnographic studies-constantly refer to "Ruthenian or Little Russian" affairs, while there is, to my knowledge, no well-founded basis whatever for the contrary view, that the "Ruthenians" and the "Little Russians" did not constitute one people, and that the variants of the language they spoke or wrote did not constitute one language. The only point in question was whether the White Ruthenians or Belarusians were to be considered part of this people or not (see pp. 171-186 in this volume). Even the Russophiles regarded the "малоросы" ("Little Russians") or "русины" ("Ruthenians") as part of the "русскій народъ" ("Russian people"), without denying that they differed from the "великоросы" in various respects. The terms "Ukrainians" and "Ukrainian language" established themselves very late in the nineteenth century in the Russian Empire and Galicia alike. In the Russian Empire, they were not generally used until the 1860s, and from that time on, they were increasingly used in Galicia as well (often only in the compounds "Pycb-Україна," "русько-український"). It was only around the turn of the twentieth century that Galicians began commonly to use those terms with reference to themselves. In the highly official context of translations of Austrian imperial law, the term "Ukrainian" ("Ukrainisch") was introduced only as late as 1918; until then, "Ruthenian" ("Ruthenisch") was used (Nakonečnyj 2001; Moser 2005a; Moser 2011:667-683).

obliged them to begin by falling back on material from their own Galician linguistic heritage.² Indeed, what the "Little Russians" would have had to offer them as a guideline was not particularly impressive. As for the burlesque traditions of the "Kotljarevščyna," the Galicians initially received them with no great enthusiasm (on the reception of Kotljarevs'kyj in Galicia, see Franko 1898), and those traditions had no particular significance as a model for their language.

To be sure, Kotljarevs'kyj's work was mentioned in all Galician grammars, and a footnote in *Rusalka Dnistrovaja* also paid tribute to it. Except for some mentions of his works, however, Kotljarevs'kyj was unknown in Galicia before 1848. Afterwards, his *Natalka Poltavka* and *Moskal'-čarivnyk* (Soldier-Sorcerer) were apparently more successful than the *Enejida*, although their language had to be adapted to Galician usage (Franko 1898: 4–7). In 1849, a biographical sketch and some extracts from Ivan Kotljarevs'kyj's works were published in the Lviv periodical *Halyčo-Ruskaja Pčola* (Galician-Ruthenian Bee), and Jakiv Holovac'kyj joined the discourse that characterized Kotljarevs'kyj as the actual founder of Modern Standard Ukrainian in his inaugural lectures as the first professor of Ruthenian language and literature (Franko 1898: 8–11, see also pp. 198–199 in this volume). After 1849, however, it seems that Galician interest in Kotljarevs'kyj soon dissipated. By that time, "Little Russian" activists in the Russian Empire had also become much less enthusiastic about Kotljarevs'kyj and his school ("Kotljarevščyna").

Hryhorij Kvitka-Osnov'janenko's *Marusja*, a work of the mid-1830s, also did not become known in Galicia until after 1848–49, but it, too, aroused no general enthusiasm. Oleksander Pavlovs'kyj's short grammar, printed in St. Petersburg in 1818, was well known to all Galician grammarians. For understandable reasons, however, as they were called upon to prepare comprehensive grammars conceived as codifications of a polyfunctional standard language, they found Pavlovs'kyj's work less than impressive, regardless of its obvious merits.

By the 1840s at the latest, scholars from the Russian Empire, including both Great Russians and Little Russians (Ukrainians), were regularly giving advice called for and uncalled for—to the Galician Ruthenian awakeners on how best to maintain their "Ruthenian" culture, generally proceeding from an implicit or explicit assumption of their own cultural superiority. Myxajlo Maksymovyč, the first rector of Kyiv University, a professor of Russian literature and certainly one of the leading "Little Russian" intellectuals of the mid-nineteenth century, was particularly important. His variant of the etymological orthography, adapted for use in "Little Russian" publications in the Russian Empire, was long used in Galicia, where that orthography (the etymological orthography as such) had remained largely untouched until the end of the nineteenth century.³ His collection of folk songs, which ranks among the pioneering works of the Ukrainian awakening and was decisive for the development of Pantelejmon Kuliš and Mykola Kostomarov, among others (cf. Luckyj 1983: 7; see below), also aroused lively interest in Galicia.

² As I have discussed in greater detail elsewhere, material that was in fact dialectal played a subordinate role in this process (cf., inter alia, Moser 2007: 232–237).

³ Rusalka Dnistrovaja, with its highly idiosyncratic orthography, is a notable exception.

However, Maksymovyč by no means sent his famous letter of 1840 to Galicia first and foremost because he supported the further development of the Galician Ukrainian written language on a vernacular basis, as some historical linguists in Ukraine and the émigré Ukrainian Vasyl' Čaplenko (1970: 66) would have us believe on the basis of certain rather tendentiously abridged citations. In his letter—which was addressed, incidentally, to Denys Zubryc'kyj, the earliest committed Galician Russophile—he felt compelled, on the contrary, to begin by praising his addressee for his good command of Russian, and only then to assert that there could be no "Little Russian literature" in Russia, but at most individual "Little Russian works," such as those of Ivan Kotljarevs'kyj, Hryhorij Kvitka-Osnov'janenko, Jevhen Hrebinka, and others (cf. comments on this matter in George Grabowicz 1996/2003: 102–103).⁴ Maksymovyč went on to argue that these "Little Russian works" were, however, "artificial...in a certain way" and of no more than "regional interest," rather like "Alemannic reading material" for the Germans. He maintained that Russian alone functioned as the written language in the Russian Empire and was to be regarded as the common linguistic heritage of the Great and Little Russians. The "Little Russian" professor then conceded that "South Russian" was the predominant "living language" of the Galicians, but he hastened to add the remarkably worded opinion that for them, the time of Polish was over, while the time of Great Russian had not yet arrived. In effect, then, Maksymovyč was arguing for a Ruthenian vernacular orientation in Galicia, but he considered it-and this is his fundamental message, often disregarded in the scholarly literature-a mere interlude on the way to the desirable Russification:

Здѣсь въ Имперіи Русской, Русскимъ языкомъ сталъ Великорусскій языкъ, которымъ и говоримъ, и пишемъ, и думаемъ, какъ языкомъ общимъ, живое употребленіе и въ Украинъ (въ образованномъ классъ народа) имъющемъ. Потому все, что у насъ пишется по-малороссійски, есть нѣкоторымъ образомъ уже искуственное, имѣющее интересъ областной только, какъ у Нѣмцевъ писанное на Аллеманскомъ нарѣчіи. У насъ не можетъ быть словесности на южнорусскомъязыкѣ, а только могутъбыть и есть отдѣльныя на ономъ сочиненія – Котляревскаго, Квитки (Основяненка), Гребенки и другихъ. Южнорусскій языкъ у насъ есть уже какъ памятникъ только, изъ которого можно обогащать великорусскій или по преимуществу у насъ Русскій языкъ. Народныя украинскія пѣсни и пословциы суть также только прекрасные памятники устной словесности русской. Но для Русиновъ Австрійской Имперіи живой языкъ южнорусский; пора языка польскаго для нихъ давно прошла, пора Великорусскаго языка для нихъ еще не наступала. Потому весьма желательно, чтобы они подобно Вамъ усвоили себѣ Великорусский язык; но Ваша Червонорусская словесность - по моему мнѣнію – должна быть на Вашемъ родномъ русском языкъ – т. е.

⁴ As the present article shows in detail, Pantelejmon Kuliš qualifies as a prominent addition to the individuals mentioned by Grabowicz (1996/2003; 102–103) who fundamentally changed their views on Ukrainian identity and its meaning in the course of time. In Maksymovyč's case, however, I am not sure whether his letter to Zubryc'kyj did not actually conform to his fairly consistent "Little Russian" view of Ukrainian literary culture, bound by loyalty to the Russian Empire.

на южнорусскомъ, и только въ Галиціи она можетъ быть на этомъ языкѣ (Maksymovyč 1840/1863; emphases in the text published in *Halyčanyn* [The Galician]).

Here in the Russian Empire, Great Russian has become the Russian language, in which we speak, write, and think as a common language that is also living speech in Ukraine (among the educated class of people). Therefore, all that is written here in Little Russian is already artificial in some sense; it is of no more than regional interest, like something written in the Alemannic dialect among the Germans. For us, there can be no literature in the South Russian language; there can only be individual works composed in it, such as those of Kotljarevs'kyj, Kvitka (Osnov'janenko), Hrebinka, and others. South Russian is already something of a mere monument here, one that can be used to enrich the Great Russian language or the Russian language that is mainly used among us. Ukrainian folk songs and proverbs, too, are merely fine monuments of Russian oral literature. For the Ruthenians of the Austrian Empire, however, South Russian is the living language; the time of the Polish language is already long past for them, while the time of Great Russian has not yet dawned for them. It is therefore highly desirable that they adopt Great Russian, like you, but your Red Russian literature should, in my opinion, be composed in your native Russian language, that is, in South Russian, and that is possible only in Galicia.

To the Galicians, who, given the cultural and political milieu of the Austrian Empire, were called upon to develop a polyfunctional standard language on a vernacular basis—a language that, among other things, was also required to be suitable for teaching in gymnasiums and universities, as well as for the translation of Austrian imperial laws, such advice was of very little help, as were the particular "Little Russian" texts published in the Russian Empire, all of which remained within the comparatively narrow confines of fine literature. Ultimately, the Russophiles alone could find satisfaction in Makymovyč's advice. Thus, unsurprisingly, it was Jakiv Holovac'kyj, at the height of his Russophile period, who printed Maksymovyč's letter in the newspaper *Slovo* (Word) in 1863 and commented on it with enthusiasm (Holovac'kyj 1863).

The first Ukrainian writer from the Russian Empire who made a truly lasting impression on the Galicians was none other than Taras Ševčenko. But his massive impact began to be felt only after his death in 1861: Kyrylo Studyns'kyj, a leading expert on nineteenth-century Galicia, could name only five Galicians who had definitely set eyes on various verses of Ševčenko's before 1861 (see Sereda 2006: 28, cf. Sereda 1999). In Galicia, moreover, Ševčenko became no less important as a character than as a poet. As early as the first anniversary of his death, before his works had become accessible to a broad Galician public, a requiem for Ševčenko was held in Lviv (Sereda 2006: 29). Interestingly enough, in subsequent years the leading Galician Russophile Bohdan Didyc'kyj became one of the most zealous participants in memorial masses for Ševčenko. Indeed, by that time the poet had already been exploited on behalf of the most diverse ideologies. The Russophiles, for their part, celebrated Ševčenko because Russophobe Poles had characterized the mass held for him as a political scandal, since he had been baptized according to

the Orthodox rite. Ševčenko thus became a symbol of the Galician ritual movement, which sought to eliminate the Catholic practice of sprinkling holy water with an aspergillum from the authentic Byzantine rite of the Greek Catholic Church and was closely associated with Galician Russophilism (Sereda 2006: esp. 35–36).

The reception of Ševčenko's works in Galicia took longer than the almost immediate readiness to mythicize the poet. As early as 1861, the merchant Volodymyr Bernatovyč from Russian-ruled Ukraine showed the *Kobzar* to some of the first Galician populists (*narodovci*), most notably Volodymyr Šaškevyč, the son of Markijan Šaškevyč, who had been the renowned leader of the "Ruthenian Triad" and the leading Galician Ukrainian poet of the *Vormärz* period (Sereda 1999: 206). It took until the spring of 1862 for the Lviv merchant Myxajlo Dymet to bring some copies of Ševčenko's poems in the St. Petersburg edition of 1860,⁵ published through the efforts of Pantelejmon Kuliš, to Lviv. That edition, which had already enjoyed an overwhelming success in the Russian Empire, also quickly sold out in the Galician capital (ibid.).

Afterwards, it was the populists who best employed the Ukrainian national aspects of the poet's works for their purposes by organizing Ševčenko evenings (Sereda 2006: 42–43). In the years 1867–69, the Galician populist Oleksander Barvins'kyj published a two-volume edition of Ševčenko's poems in Lviv (Romaniv 1997: 92). At that time, if not earlier, Ševčenko's works—many of them published for the first time, as they were banned in the Russian Empire—became truly accessible to a broad public in Galicia as well.

2. Pantelejmon Kuliš and the Galicians between 1863 and 1876

2.1. Kuliš in the pantheon of the Galician populists

Pantelejmon Kuliš (1819–1897) had a leading role in the popularization of the Ševčenko cult, and his funeral oration and writings about Ševčenko in the *Lysty z xutora* (Letters from the Homestead), which first appeared in the journal *Osnova* (Foundation) in early 1861, were fundamental for the mythicization of the poet (Luckyj 1983: 111–113). Kuliš became acquainted with Ševčenko in the summer of 1843 (Luckyj 1983: 19) and remained closely associated with him until the period in which they both became members of the Brotherhood of SS. Cyril and Methodius, when Kuliš persuaded Ševčenko to make many changes (some dubious) to his poems (Luckyj 1983: 32 and elsewhere).

While posterity presented Ševčenko as Ukraine's national poet par excellence, Kuliš soon became infamous among some Ukrainian philologists as a "traitor," while the Soviets characterized him as a "bourgeois nationalist." Reputable philologists, for their part, have invariably stressed Kuliš's outstanding importance for Ukrainian cultural history and the history of the Ukrainian language. In Soviet times, especially from the 1930s on, one was well advised to remain silent about Kuliš, and even in Petro Tymošenko's *Xrestomatija materialiv z istoriji ukrajins'koji movy* (Tymošenko

⁵ This edition was titled *Kobzar*, but it also contained some poems that did not appear in the *Kobzar* of 1840 (Luckyj 1983: 109–110).

1959–1961), one of the most remarkable and multifaceted publications on the history of the Ukrainian language to appear in the Soviet period, not a single document from the pen of Kuliš—one of the most important polemicists in the history of the Ukrainian language-was cited. Soviet practices remained influential even after the fall of the USSR: Nadija Babyč's (1993) interesting anthology Istorija ukrajins'koji movy, for instance, also disregards Kuliš, even though it was compiled in a clearly anti-Soviet spirit. Vitalij Rusanivs'kyj (2001), who leaned heavily on Vasyl' Čaplenko's (1970) monograph in post-Soviet times, does mention Kuliš repeatedly in connection with Ševčenko in his academic textbook on the history of the Ukrainian literary language, but no more than a single page is dedicated to Kuliš himself. There, Rusanivs'kyj briefly notes that Kuliš expanded the range of Ukrainian literary genres, but as for something more concrete, one learns only about Church Slavonicisms in his works. Ivan Ohijenko (1949/1995: 148-153) dedicated a separate chapter to Kuliš and praised him enthusiastically, but Kuliš's contradictory development, especially ca. 1876, which the present article reconstructs on the basis of his letters to Oleksander Barvins'kyj, did not rate even a cursory mention. One of the few linguists who strove for a more complex and fact-based appraisal of Kuliš's achievements was Jurij Ševel'ov (1963, cf. also Ševel'ov 1983/1991), who wrote the following in his concise account of the history of the Ukrainian literary language:

Of special importance in the development of the literary language after Ševčenko was the work of P. Kuliš, who made rich use of ethnographic material and also turned enthusiastically to the historical tradition, especially to the language of the old and middle periods. As a result, his language did not have a clear-cut dialectal character (he personally came from the north and, in secondary details, his language reflected the peculiarities of the northern dialect) but was inclusive of heterogeneous elements and far richer than that of his contemporaries. Basically Kuliš followed the line laid down by Ševčenko. Moreover, he applied its principles to prose as well as to poetry, especially in scientific and journalistic writings. During these years, the Ukrainian literary language spread to new areas—science, journalism, and teaching in the schools.... (Ševel'ov 1963: 502).

Indeed, Kuliš used Ukrainian not only in his *Čorna Rada* (Black Council), the first Ukrainian historical novel, but also in his first scholarly and journalistic works, which were written soon afterwards. Also important was the translation of the Bible that he undertook in 1868. Kuliš demonstrably concerned himself with the creation of a Ukrainian high style (Ševel'ov 1983/1991: 39). Thus, in groundbreaking fashion, Kuliš abandoned the position of Myxajlo Maksymovyč, one of his most important mentors, whose collection of folk songs published in 1827 had made Kuliš a committed Ukrainian activist in his early years.⁶ In fact, Kuliš played a special role in this creative period. Although there is as yet no survey based on reliable data

⁶ Kuliš attended Maksymovyč's lectures particularly in the years ca. 1840, when Maksymovyč wrote his letter to Denys Zubryc'kyj. During Kuliš's time in Kyiv, he often enjoyed singing Ukrainian folk songs with Maksymovyč (Luckyj 1983: 8, 11).

about his linguistic innovations, the following can be asserted: Ševčenko did not cover such a range of genres in his Ukrainian-language work as Kuliš, while Mykola Kostomarov, the third most prominent member of the Brotherhood of SS. Cyril and Methodius (founded in 1844–45 and disbanded in 1847) after Ševčenko and Kuliš, called quite early for the use of Russian instead of Ukrainian in scholarly writing and never contributed significantly to the development of the Ukrainian literary language as such.

Kuliš also regularly published works in Russian. In 1857 his Corna Rada appeared in Russian as well as in Ukrainian. While the text of his important twovolume Zapiski o južnoj Rusi (Notes on Southern Rus', 1856-57) contains rich Ukrainian-language material printed in the "Kulišivka" for the first time (Luckyj 1983: 79), that work as well as several others appeared in Russian only. Most important of all, however, is the fact that in the late 1850s and 1860s in particular, Kuliš was one of the few Ukrainian activists in the Russian Empire who did not limit the functionality of Ukrainian from the outset but made it his basic purpose to establish a polyfunctional literary language, although he always endorsed the political bonding of Ukraine to Russia (Ševel'ov 1983/1991: 66–71). Kuliš certainly played a central role in the founding and publication of the bilingual Ukrainian-Russian periodical Osnova, which appeared regularly in 1861–62 (Luckyj 1983: 103-110), and he was among the most important authors of non-fiction Ukrainianlanguage contributions to the journal (Moser forthcoming a). Furthermore, as early as 1857, he published a primer, the *Hramatka*, which was reissued in an abbreviated version in 1861. He also translated the law of 1861 on peasant emancipation into Ukrainian for the Russian government, but his translation was not published because the government did not approve of Kuliš's language, and he refused to make any changes (Luckyj 1983: 124–125).

Pantelejmon Kuliš had already visited Lviv in 1858 and again in 1861, primarily in order to meet Jakiv Holovac'kyj (Hrynčuk 2007; Ševel'ov 1966: 31; and Luckyj 1983: 138, with no mention of Holovac'kyj), who by then had already become a committed Russophile. However, Kuliš's association with Galicia only became more intensive in the years following the so-called Valuev Directive ("Valuev Circular") of 1863, which entailed the first official restrictions on Ukrainian publishing in the Russian Empire (on the Valuev Directive and the Ukase of Bad Ems, see Miller 2000; Moser forthcoming a). Between 1864 and 1867, Kuliš worked as an official of the imperial Russian state in Warsaw. From then on, he not only frequently returned to Galicia but also sought contacts with Galicians in Vienna, where he stayed for a longer period during his years abroad between 1868 and 1871. He returned to Russia in 1871, among other reasons, in order to become the editor of the *Žurnal Ministerstva Putej Soobščenija* (Luckyj 1983: 152)⁷ and rejoin the Russian civil service.

⁷ When Kuliš returned to Lviv for some time in the early 1880s, he even considered becoming an Austrian citizen (Luckyj 1983: 161). He returned to Russia after his Vergewaltigung der Basilianer in Galizien durch die Jesuiten (1882) was confiscated in Austria (Luckyj 1983: 163).

Back in Russia, Kuliš took up work in the early seventies on his Istorija vozsoedinenija Rusi (History of the Reunification of Rus'), which was published in three volumes between 1873 and 1877.8 It was in this period that he finally abandoned his earlier enthusiasm for the Cossacks, expressed himself very critically about Taras Ševčenko, and adopted an entirely different view of Ukrainian identity and the Ukrainian language. Somewhat later, Kuliš would change his mind yet again. In 1881 he made another trip to Galicia, where he published his poetry collection *Xutorna poezija* (Poems from the Homestead). In it, among other things, he called upon Ukrainians in the Russian Empire to collaborate with the Galicians. In his *Krašanka rusynam i poljakam na Velykden'* (A Colored Egg for the Ruthenians and the Poles at Easter, 1882), he urged the Galicians to cooperate with the Poles (cf. Ohloblyn-Petrenko 1962/1996, Luckyj 1983: 62, as well as Luckyj 2004). The work met with scant understanding among the Galicians, who were preoccupied with promoting their cultural revival against Polish resistance; moreover, Kuliš, who had never spared contemptuous, sometimes even hateful statements addressed to the Poles, allowed himself in the *Krašanka* to refer condescendingly to the Galician Ruthenians as "calves" ("телята") (Luckyj 1983: 162).9

As he had done in the years immediately after the Valuev Circular, Kuliš regularly kept on sending essays to the Galician populist newspapers and periodicals after his time in Warsaw. By the early 1870s at the latest, he had made it into the Galician pantheon of Ukrainian national heroes, as is particularly apparent from the fact that Omeljan Partyc'kyj's textbook for the first four grades of gymnasium (1871) not only contains a multitude of texts by Kuliš but also features a section titled "From the lives of eminent people" ("Зъ житя деякихъ людей знаменитыхъ") with a text about Taras Ševčenko's childhood ("Дитинный вѣкъ Шевченка" in Partyc'kyj 1871: 151–157), another one about the most famous contemporary minstrel, Ostap Veresaj (Partyc'kyj 1871: 161–168), and a biographical sketch of Kuliš's younger years ("Молодый вѣкъ Кулѣша," Partyc'kyj 1871: 157–161), which is based on Kuliš's autobiography (cf. the almost identical text from the autobiography in Luckyj 1983: 6). From this remarkable classic of secularized (auto)hagiography one learns, among other things, the following:

Идеаломъ Кулѣша дуже рано зробилась освѣта. Съ самого малку писавъ во̂нъ крейдою по стѣнахь (були стѣны мытû) церквы, коней и все про що чувъ, або що бачивъ. Отець грѣмавъ за се на нёго, а мати втѣшалась. [...] Якъ же во̂двезено ёго въ городъ, тамъ во̂нъ вчинивъ ся справдешнимъ живописцемъ мѣжь хлопятами. Слабовитый силою, хоча здоровя доброго, не дуже вмѣшував ся во̂нъ въ ихъ пустоту, а все малювавъ копіи съ картинокъ, що ёму доставались у руки. [...] Спершу Кулѣшь учивъ ся дуже тупо и бувъ послѣдущимъ мѣжь товаришами. Зупиняло ёго те, що

⁸ Incidentally, the work was published by the "Товарищество 'Общественная польза."

⁹ It was also well known to some Galicians that in those years the Poles were financing a printing facility for Kuliš in Lviv and that he was to receive an annual subsidy for a new periodical titled *Xutor* (Homestead) (Luckyj 1983: 161); hence they were in a position to draw their own conclusions about the material basis for this new change of mind.

не розумъвъ великоруськои книжнёи мовы. [...] Переведено ёго изъ приготовительнои клясы у першу только за те, що гарно писавъ. Якъ же почавъ розумѣти московску мову, то легко ставъ первымъ учнемъ, всё ёму водкрылось, наче вонъ и родивсь письменнымъ. [...] Вже въ першихъ рокахъ коли бувъ на гимназіи, бравъ ся Кулѣшь за родну литературу. [...] – Разъ Кулѣшь, зайшовши до купця по орѣхи, побачивъ пять якихсь книжокъ. То були пять ексемплярѣвъ зборника украинськихъ народнихъ думъ и пъсень, що выдавъ Максимовичь у Москвъ 1834 року; якось они у Москвѣ зостались купцеви у товарѣ. Нѣ раньше, нѣ навпослѣ книжками вонъ не торгувавъ нъякими. Нъколи хлопець не чувавъ про сю книжку, а проте заразъ купивъ, оддавши всѣ свои грошѣ, – [...] – и всѣ товаришѣ заслухались якъ почавъ имъ читати про "Сомка Мушкета", про "Коновченка", про "Озо̂вскихъ брато̂въ", про "Хмельницкого й Барабаша". Наконець вывчивъ на память усю книжку, щобъ нѣколи зъ нею не розлучатись. – Опосля, ходячи по селахъ и розмовляючи зъ народними кобзарями або дъдами, бравъ Кулъшь тымъ, що зачне имъ на память думы казати. Здивують ся було дѣды, нѣколи такого дива не бачивши, а пото̂мъ усю душу свою передъ нимъ роскрывають. Величнимъ здає ся нашому народови ёго родне слово, якъ стародавнимъ Грекамъ, що мовляли: "божественный Омиросъ!" Инодъ Кулъшь мусъвъ ховатись або зъъзжати геть водъ своихъ простолюдныхъ приятелъвъ, бо, не чувши зроду, щобъ хто промовивъ до нихъ такимъ сердешнимъ словомъ, починали кругъ ёго ширити чутку, що се царській сынъ промѣжь людьми ходить. – Разъ во̂нъ зайшовъ до багатого козака въ хату и почавъ ёму читати. Буденный день бувъ. [...] И всъ прийшли, посъдали на лавкахъ и слухали гостя [...]. Яке бъ то добро можна зробити людямъ роднымъ словомъ, хто съ простымъ людомъ розмовляє. Що то за духъ праведно людській зросъ бы въ тому народови доброму, звычайному, шанобливому, коли-бъ усяке и вчилось у школѣ и слухало, и читало книжки по-своёму: Була-бъ ся земля твержею и честю всёму великому мирови!

Микола В.

Very early, education became Kuliš's ideal. From earliest childhood, he used chalk to draw horses and all that he saw or heard about on the walls of churches (these were washed walls). His father scolded him for that, but his mother was pleased.... After he was taken to the city, he became a real artist among the youngsters there. Physically weak, although in good health, he took little part in their mischief but kept drawing copies of pictures that fell into his hands.... Initially, Kuliš still had difficulty with his studies and was the most backward among his fellows. What held him back was that he did not understand the Great Russian literary language.... He was promoted from the preparatory grade to the first grade only because he drew beautifully. But when he began to understand the Muscovite language, he easily became the best pupil, and everything opened up for him as if he had been born literate.... During his first years at the gymnasium, Kuliš began working on literature in his mother tongue.... Once, when Kuliš went to the store for nuts, he saw five books of some kind. These were five copies of a collection of Ukrainian *dumy* and folk songs that Maksymovyč had published in Moscow in 1834; somehow they had ended up in the stock of this Moscow store. Neither earlier nor later did this store deal in books of any kind. The boy had never heard of this book, but he

bought it nevertheless, spending all his money...and all his fellows listened to him with fascination when he started reading to them about "Somko Mušketa," about "Konovčenko," about the "brothers of Azov," about "Xmel'nyc'kyj and Barabaš." Ultimately, he learned the whole book by heart so as never to have to part with it. Later, walking through the villages and conversing with folk minstrels or elders, Kuliš would win them over by reciting dumy to them that he had learned by heart. The elders would be astonished, never having seen such a wonder, and would then open their whole soul to him. Their own native word appeared magnificent to our people, as it did to the ancient Greeks, who would say: "Divine Homer!" Sometimes Kuliš would have to hide or take leave of his friends among the common people, for they had never heard anyone address them with such heartfelt words and began spreading the rumor that he was the son of the tsar wandering among the people. Once he went into the house of a rich Cossack and began reading to him. It was a weekday.... And everyone gathered, sat down on benches, and listened to the guest.... What good one could do talking to the common folk in their mother tongue! What a truly human spirit would rise among these good, common, honorable people if they were to be taught in their own language in the schools and could listen to it and read books in it! This soil would be a fortress and an honor to the whole wide world!

Mykola V.

Kuliš was thus portrayed as a shining example to Galician youth. He also actively created a reputation for himself as a diligent letter-writer who corresponded intensively with the Galicians.

As Kuliš fell out irrevocably with Omeljan Partyc'kyj, and as each of them, evidently in anger, destroyed the other's letters, their intensive correspondence has unfortunately not been preserved. What has definitely survived, however, is Kuliš's correspondence with Oleksander Barvins'kyj, which the latter published in his autobiography and which constitutes the most important source for the present article.¹⁰

To begin with, it is remarkable how Pantelejmon Kuliš judged the Galicians in general before establishing any close contact with them. In 1861, he wrote pointedly about them to Oleksander Konys'kyj: "They have reason, but they do not have a language" ("posym y ïx ϵ , та нема ϵ мови") (Ševel'ov 1991: 60).¹¹ Given conditions prevailing in 1861, this sweeping assessment is perhaps not wholly incorrect if one wants to rate the Galician Ruthenian language situation only with regard to the extent of the Galicians' progress in elaborating a written language on a vernacular basis—it is a matter of fact that they had fallen badly behind in that regard because of the powerful Russophile movement of the 1850s. Be that as it may, it should be

¹⁰ Kuliš's letters to Ivan Puljuj and other Galicians, which may be consulted, e.g., in Kuliš 1984, are of minor importance for our purposes. In Ševel'ov's (1983/1991: 43 et al.) detailed foreword to the edition of Kuliš's Ukrainian-language letters (Kuliš 1984), Kuliš's attitude to the Galicians also receives only a brief discussion.

¹¹ Unfortunately, Kuliš's letters have been orthographically manipulated in all editions. Regrettably, I am obliged to follow the extant printed versions.

emphasized with an eye to some later, much less favorable statements that in 1861, Kuliš still generally credited the Galicians with the power of "reason."

In an undated letter to the Galicians¹² that was most probably written in 1871 and would become famous, Kuliš wrote the following (as published in Franko 1898a):

Ваша заслуга в тому, що Ви не зробились ні Поляками ні Німцями, да в тому, що у вас в не-мужичих семях говорять по своёму, да в тому ще, що ви переховали від старосвіщини слова и вирази у нас забуті. Духа поезиї в вас вибито, видушено в вас ёго семинарщиною та польщизною, зісталось у вас тільки чуття поезиі, и тим ви так кохаєтесь у Шевченку. [...] Ми простягаємо до вас руки, щоб вас пригріти коло свого серця и вдихнути в вас живого, нескаліченого духа украінського; а ви тим часом, сидівши так довго в тісноті, думаєте, що ваша клітка мусить бути и для нас взором. Ваше цвірінкання не вважаємо ми за поезию і відносим ёго до тих стихотворних думок, які писались у нас за Сковороди, з окрасою Шевченківщини. [...] Поставши з народу и во имя народу появили ми поки що невеличку, а про те суцільню, самостійну литературу, и для самоі іі поваги не мусимо приймати того, що ви вдержуєте від старовини (етимология), або що ви примудровуєте середнёго між етимологиєю и фонетикою. Коли-ж ви стоіте за своі особини, то сим виявляєте узкість своєї тенденциі. Ми хочемо, щоб нас читала не одна Україна, а також и Галичина, чого й доказуємо не одним Шевченком, а ви бажаєте писати для своєї Галичини. Наш народ, яко нива неписьменного слова - від Есмані по Карпати, а ваш – тількі від границі по Карпати. Читати нас у Галичині будуть и мусять, хоч би ми не прийняли нічогісінько з вашого смаку; а вас тількі тоді читатимуть на Вкраіні, коли ви приймете смак украінський, піднявшись вище Головащини, Дідищини и всієї нової галичинщини (Franko 1898a: 13-14).

Your merit lies in the fact that you have not become either Poles or Germans, that in your non-peasant families people still speak their language, and, furthermore, that you have preserved words and expressions from the deep past forgotten among us. The spirit of poetry has been beaten down among you; it has been strangled by your seminary language and by Polish; only a feeling for poetry has remained among you, and that is why you love Ševčenko so much.... We extend our arms to you in order to clasp you to our hearts and warm you up; to breathe into you the vital, untainted Ukrainian spirit; but you, for your part, having lingered so long in confinement, think that your cage should serve as a model for us. We do not regard your prattle as poetry, and we relegate it to those versified thoughts that were written among us in the times of Skovoroda, with a bit of Sevčenko for embellishment.... Risen from the people and in the name of the people, we have created a literature that is still small but coherent and independent, and because of our very respect for it, we are under no obligation to accept what you have preserved of the ancient traditions (etymology) or what you have thought up as something halfway between etymology and phonetics. By insisting on your peculiarities, you show the narrowness of your tendency.

¹² In George Luckyj's Kuliš 1984, the letter is dated to the early 1880s and assigned to the year 1881, which strikes me as hardly plausible.

We want not only Ukraine to read us, but also Galicia, as we have shown not by Ševčenko alone—you, however, want to write for your Galicia. Our people, from the Esman River to the Carpathian Mountains, are like virgin territory for the not-yet-literary word, but your people extend only from the border to the Carpathians. We will be and must be read in Galicia, even if we should not accept anything at all of your taste, but you will only be read in Ukraine if you adopt the Ukrainian taste by rising above Holovac'kyj, Didyc'kyj, and all that new Galician stuff.

Thus, Kuliš judged some aspects of the Galician language situation quite realistically, although his Galician contemporaries by no means confirmed that Ukrainian was prevalently spoken among non-peasant families, but in fact lamented that their higher social strata generally conversed in Polish. Kuliš's statement about ancient words preserved in Galician but already forgotten in Russian-ruled Ukraine deserves particular emphasis: as Ševel'ov (1966: 100) points out, Kuliš carried over many Galician elements into his own speech as substitutes for Russianisms.

However, Kuliš complained above all that the Galicians were not endowed with "poetic spirit" ("Дух поезиї") and maintained only a feeling for poetry ("чуття поезиі"), which explained their enthusiasm for Ševčenko. Kuliš insisted that only the Ukrainians in the Russian Empire could serve as role models for the Galicians because of their vital, undistorted (literally "uncrippled") "Ukrainian spirit" ("український дух"). His statement that the Galicians preserved a language more or less reflecting the times of Hryhorij Skovoroda, which they only embellished with a bit of Ševčenko ("Шевченківщина"), deserves particular attention, for Kuliš did not associate the non-vernacular Galician elements with Russian, but with homegrown "Little Russian" traditions as exemplified by Skovoroda. Kuliš admitted that the Ukrainians of the Russian Empire had only a small literature to offer but emphasized its independent status. As for Kuliš's statement about the Galicians' "etymology," that is, their etymological orthography, it is noteworthy that his misunderstanding was shared by almost all his contemporaries. In fact, neither the level of vernacularity nor, even less, the degree of literary quality was directly dependent on the selection of orthographic principles. Ševčenko's poetry, for example, remains the same whether his poems are written in Modern Standard Ukrainian orthography, "Kulišivka," etymological orthography, Russian-based phoneticizing orthography (which was in fact Ševčenko's original orthography: see Moser 2008a, Moser 2012a), or Latin-alphabet transcription or transliteration, as long as the texts can be read correctly.

If Kuliš noted in addition that the Galicians simply had to ("мусять") read the literature produced by the Ukrainians of the Russian Empire, he was perhaps justified in doing so, inasmuch as the quality of Galician literature at the time was less than impressive. But Kuliš would have done well to give an equally realistic appraisal of the sparse and often mediocre Ukrainian literature then being written in the Russian Empire. Kuliš's philippic against the Galicians who allegedly had not risen above the level of the Holovac'kyjs, the Didyc'kyjs, and all "the new Galician stuff" ("нова галичинщина") was by no means directed only against the Galician Russophiles, for he made similar criticisms of the populists—indeed, he did so in the same letter. Clearly, the "new Galician stuff" was Kuliš's label for literature produced by the populists, whom he lumped together, surprisingly enough, with the Russophiles.

Throughout his life, Kuliš had no doubt that the Ukrainians in the Russian Empire were superior to the Galicians. At the same time, as his creative work evolved through a striking variety of phases and ideological convictions, he strove for a merger of the two groups. For instance, during a critical phase in 1873, he wrote from his estate of Motronivka to Oleksander Barvins'kyj that the latter should try to find a sufficient number of Galicians willing to move to Russian-ruled Ukraine and establish "Ruthenian colonies...throughout Ukraine" ("русинські колонії [...] скрізь по Вкраїні"), which would be "a very good thing for the economy and for a merger of Ukraine with Red Rus!" ("вельми добре діло і для господарства, і для спая́ння України з Червоною Руссю") (Barvins'kyj 2004: 168).

In the 1860s and early 1870s, the Galician populists still regarded Kuliš as a legitimate successor to Ševčenko. Also under Kuliš's influence, they abandoned many linguistic features particular to Galicia in order to attain maximum linguistic unity with Ukrainians in the Russian Empire. Jurij Ševel'ov (1963: 52) concisely describes this important process:

In the 60's and the first half of the 70's the Ukrainian literary language as founded and formed by Ševčenko and the *Osnova*—based largely on the south Kievan and Poltavan [*sic*] dialects—exerted great influence on the literary language of Galicia. As a result the attempts of the Galician Russophiles supported by the Russian government to use Russian (usually in a very corrupt and awkward form) in literature became of secondary importance and subsequently ended in complete failure.... Works published there from 1876 to 1905 (aside from those of the Russophiles) accepted the standards worked out by Ševčenko and the *Osnova*, but they naturally [!] picked up numerous Galician elements—some from local dialects and some from the language of the Galician intelligentsia with its many loan words and loan translations from German and Polish. A great deal of direct Galician influence can be seen in the language of M. Drahomanov.

It was not only in his letter "to the Galicians" that Kuliš harshly attacked the populists: their leading figures, such as Vasyl' Il'nyc'kyj, Omeljan Ohonovs'kyj, Omeljan Partyc'kyj, Anatol' Vaxnjanyn, and others were among his favorite targets. In general, according to Kuliš, the "Polish spirit" had "poisoned" the "thoughts and feelings" of the Galicians:

Се лядський дух потруів ваші думки и чуття, той дух, що й на Вкраіні втворив помосковлене панство. Проти сього духу встала наша словесність, и куди б ми ії не перенесли, всюди вона, у великій и малій речі, ёго воюватиме. Хоч би нашої Библиї не куплено в Галичині и десяти примірників, то нам байдуже: вона своє діло зробить на тому грунті, що не заріс ляцькою зіноваттю; а з тих простих, без книжних передсудів людей, виростуть діти и цвістимуть чистим розумом и серцем на могилах Ильніцьких, Огоновських et tutti quanti. Ото-ж будуть люде, про котрих написано: оправдаєцця премудрость од чад своіх; а ваші розумники – чада схолястичнёї шляхетщини, а не премудрости того народу, що сказав велике слово: у город по гроші, а в село по розум.

Ваша словесність буде насліддям самоі библиографиі поти, поки Галичина не зіллєцця духом своім з Украіною в єдине тіло (Franko 1898а: 14).

It is the Liakh [Polish] spirit that has poisoned your thoughts and feelings, the spirit that has also created the Muscovized state in Ukraine. Our literature has emerged in opposition to that spirit, and wherever we transfer it, everywhere it will combat that spirit in matters both large and small. Even if fewer than ten copies of our [translated] Bible should be bought in Galicia, we do not care: it will serve its purpose on the soil that has not been overgrown by Liakh weeds; and from those simple people, who do not have the prejudices of the literati, children will grow, and they will bloom with pure minds and hearts on the graves of the Il'nyc'kyjs, Ohonovs'kyjs, and the rest of that sort. These will be the people of whom it is written: supreme wisdom will be justified by its children; but your intellectual snobs are the children of a scholastic pack of nobles, and not of the supreme wisdom of the people who spoke the great word: go to town for money but to the village for reason.

Your literature will be a legacy of mere bibliography until Galicia merges spiritually into a single body with Ukraine.

Behind Kuliš's sweeping attack, a personal disappointment may be discerned. In 1871, he had wanted to offer his Ukrainian translation of the Bible to the British and Foreign Biblical Society, but its representative requested an expert opinion from Franz Miklosich, the renowned Vienna professor of Slavic philology. Miklosich had every reason to render a highly critical assessment of the translation, since it was too free and had not been translated from Greek or Hebrew (Ohijenko 1949/1995: 151; Nimčuk 2005: 31). Kuliš's translation of the four canonical gospels of the New Testament still appeared in 1871 but was received very critically by numerous contemporaries, especially in Galicia, and sold badly. Not until 1903 did the celebrated physicist Ivan Puljuj, whom Kuliš had met in Vienna in the spring of 1869 and persuaded to collaborate on his translation of the Bible, win the support of the British and Foreign Biblical Society for the thoroughly revised complete Ukrainian translation. In Russian-ruled Ukraine, Kuliš and Puljuj's translation was only printed for the first time in 1928 by the Ukrainian Baptist Society in Kharkiv (Luckyj 1983: 151–152).

Kuliš was apparently not so indifferent to the initial failure of his Bible translation of 1871 as he himself claimed. It is spitefulness above all that characterizes his quasi-prophetic pronouncement that the "simple people" would surely read his Bible translation and that a new generation would accrue from the graves of the "intellectual snobs" ("розумники") and the children of the "scholastic pack of nobles" ("чада схолястичнёї шляхетщини").

Kuliš had tackled his Bible translation by himself in 1868. From that time on, he

took a particular interest in Galicia and its Ruthenian-language schooling. In 1869, he wrote to Oleksander Barvins'kyj from Vienna:

Сповістки Ваші про гимназіяльну педагогию і про инші речі дуже міні потрібні. Я тепер тількі штудирую Галичину, яка вона є, зі всіх боків, а більш мало що роблю. Міні треба добре взнати край і людей, щоб не помилятись у своїй роботі. Яка ж моя буде робота, я ще й сам гаразд не знаю, бо шкода́ загадувати собі що-небудь статешне, поки Галичина буде міні terra incognita. Оце ж я підходжу до неї то звідсіля, то звідтіля, довідуючись правди, хоч би найгіршої. Свого часу поїду сам по деяких місцях (Barvins'kyj 2004: 155).

I urgently need information from you about teaching in the gymnasiums and other things. All I am doing now is studying Galicia as it is, in every respect, and little else. I have to get to know the land and the people thoroughly so as not to go astray in my work. I do not yet know what my work will look like, for it would be pointless to think up anything in particular as long as Galicia remains a *terra incognita* to me. That is why I approach it now from this angle, now from another in order to make out the truth, even if it should be the worst of truths. Someday I shall visit some places myself.

Not only did Kuliš feel hurt by the populists after the failure of his Bible translation, but there were also disputes about financial matters. In all likelihood, this was all the more incomprehensible to him because he seems to have seriously regarded himself and his Bible translation as the only certain means of bringing about Galician emancipation from the Poles.

In 1873, Kuliš wrote to Oleksander Barvins'kyj:

Ви лучче ме́не знаєте Ваших земляків; то чи не вформували б Ви проекту печатання і прода́жи Библиї таким робом, що за всяку працю по умові платити, та вже щоб і міні була певність, що одержу справозданнє і що моя власність не станеться власностю чужою через те, що я живу далеко. Бажаючи добра рідному краєві і шануючи славу його, Ви мусите допильнувати діла сього так, щоб його зроблено до ладу́, і щоб за мою прихильність до Вашого народнього діла не роблено зо мною нічого робом Партицького, Вахнянина і инших. Бо россудіте самі: потративши доволі часу на переклад Святого Письма, мусив би я ще цілий рік сидіти в Німещині, закіль німці напечатали б руську книгу. Яка б се була втрата моїй сем'ї, моєму господарству і моїй кешені? А через що? Через те, що Галичи́на не здоліє виставити Україні чесного контингенту до їх спільного діла! [...] бо чи виб'єтеся ж ви, русини, з-під ляхів і їх політичної переваги без Библиї? Ні, задушать вони вас, коли не пійдете нашою стежкою або́ йтимете нею так, як ішли ваші зрадливі проводирі (Barvins'kyj 2004: 167).

You know your countrymen better than I do, so could you not organize the project of printing and selling the Bible in such a way all my work would be paid according to contract, so that I would finally be assured of receiving a statement of accounts and of avoiding the loss of my property to someone else because I live far away? Wishing the best for your country and honoring its glory, you

must see that this matter is carried out properly, and that nothing be done to me in the manner of Partyc'kyj, Vaxnjanyn, and others because of my sympathy for your national cause. After all, judge for yourself: having invested a good deal of time in translating the Holy Scripture, I would have to spend another whole year in Germany until the Germans managed to print a Ruthenian book. How great a loss would that be to my family, my household, and my pocket? And because of what? Because Galicia is incapable of providing a decent contingent to Ukraine for their common cause! ...so will you Ruthenians manage to free yourselves from the Liakhs and their political preponderance without a Bible? No, they will suffocate you if you do not walk our path, or if you walk it as your treacherous leaders did.

Kuliš's strange self-delusion comes to light with particular clarity in a letter that he sent to Oleksander Barvins'kyj from St. Petersburg in 1873:

Дивуєтеся Ви, що я й досі не покидаю Галичини з її ледачими передовиками. Іне покину. Передовики зникнуть, а Галичина зостанеться. Хиба кидав хто поле через те, що його не вміли люде пахати? Ледачі ратаї бували на всякому полі. Тепер орудує ним у Галичині псевдо-Просвіта, а свого часу орудуватиме правдива Просвіта. Може, я того й не побачу, а проте держатиму свого прапора високо, щоб хоч знали земляки, як я стояв один, коли всі пропадали. На прапорі ж моїм написано: "Докіль Галичина не впо́ть у себе народнього смаку українського, будуть її передовики такими недоріками, як оті Просвітяне". Вони все ще живуть бурсою могилинських часів, і не для них співав народ наш поза присудом бурси, не для них працювали наші писателі. Се люди мертві, а хочуть учити живих. "Вожді сліпі!" (Barvins'kyj 2004: 170)

You wonder why I have not yet abandoned Galicia with its indolent leaders. And I will not abandon it. The leaders will perish, but Galicia will remain. Has anyone ever abandoned a field because people were incapable of plowing it? There have always been bad plowmen on fields of every description. A pseudo-Prosvita is currently directing the plow in Galicia, but one day a true Prosvita will do so instead. Perhaps I will never see it, but I shall hold my banner high nevertheless, so that my countrymen at least know how I stood alone when all the others made themselves scarce. My banner bears the following inscription: "Until Galicia imbibes the popular Ukrainian taste, its leaders will remain the same bunglers as those Prosvita people." They still live by the seminary of Mohyla's times, and not for them have our people sung beyond the reach of the seminary, not for them have our writers worked. They are dead men, and yet they want to teach the living. "The leaders are blind!"

As we see, Kuliš had nothing good to say about the leading Galician populists. Others may judge whether he was right in his assessment of Galician and non-Galician literary work, but his claim to be the one true enlightener and his categorical rejection of Prosvita are wholly unconvincing. Kuliš could have taken credit for some real achievements, including some pertaining to Galician pedagogy, as he had advised Oleksander Barvins'kyj, who had prepared an influential gymnasium textbook conceived as a literary anthology of both Galician and non-Galician texts, and as he had provided texts of his own for inclusion in Galician textbooks. However, compared with the teaching aids printed by the Prosvita Association and the Lviv Stauropegion (on textbooks for Galician primary schools, see Moser 2007), Kuliš's textbook, the *Hramatka* of 1857, can hardly be regarded as superior, particularly with regard to its methodology.¹³

Even the question of orthography was not as easy as one might think if one merely follows the master narrative of Ukrainian language history. After all, owing to the lack of Ukrainian-language schooling, the general dearth of a Ukrainian press and, ultimately, the language bans of 1863 and 1876, Kuliš's orthography could not be fully established as the generally accepted orthography in Russianruled Ukraine, where in fact many different orthographies were used. Thus the etymologically oriented orthography that prevailed in Galician schools until the early 1890s might ultimately have had its advantages as well, especially in a transitional period.

As for the Ukrainian language more generally, it should be noted that from a present-day perspective, Kuliš's own language was by no means ideal, as it still featured a multitude of elements (especially borrowings from Church Slavonic and Russian) from which the Galician populists in particular would soon distance themselves. Finally, the fact that Kuliš managed to translate the Bible from the original only in collaboration with the Galician Ivan Puljuj, a graduate of an Austrian gymnasium like many other Galicians, ultimately confirms that Kuliš had little reason to depict and judge his Galician contemporaries as generally uneducated or miseducated.

2.2. Kuliš in a dubious light

While Kuliš adopted an awkwardly self-righteous stance vis-à-vis the Galicians, it is striking that he proved to be a decidedly shady character, particularly in decisive phases of Ukrainian linguistic and cultural history—a role that had little in common with the savior image that he projected of himself and that the Galicians accepted for some time.

By 1869 at the latest, Kuliš had begun criticizing the Galicians—showing restraint at first—about their enthusiasm for Ševčenko. In the meantime, he had fashioned a more critical image of his former companion, whose place he would evidently have liked to take for himself.

In a letter dated that year, Kuliš wrote to Oleksander Barvins'kyj from Vienna:

Чом Ваші галицькі поети не мають такого чистого смаку́ в слові і в почутті речи? Думаю тому, що мало хто з них добре знає таких поетів, як Шиллер, Гьоте, Мицкевич, Пушкин, Байрон, Данте, а всі зависли на Шевченкові, та й шевченкового грунту – народньої української словесности і української

¹³ This applies even more to Taras Ševčenko's Bukvar' južnorusskij of 1861; cf. excerpts from both textbooks in Istorija 2004: 68–72; 73–81. On Ševčenko's primer, see Moser 2008a: 422–424, Moser 2012a. On Kuliš's primer, see Moser forthcoming. On Galician primers of the early 1870s, see Moser 2007.

литератури – добре не штудиру́ють. […] Доки Ваши писателі вертітимуцця в узенькому очерті, доти не захоплять своїми крильми свіжого вітру понад землею. Науки, науки треба галичанам, а перш усього – рідньої етнографиї і істориї (Barvins'kyj 2004: 151).

Why do your Galician poets not have such pure taste in words or in feeling for language? I think it is because few of them know poets such as Schiller, Goethe, Mickiewicz, Puškin, Byron, or Dante well, but all of them got stuck at Ševčenko, and they do not even properly study Ševčenko's foundation popular Ukrainian written culture and Ukrainian literature.... As long as your writers linger in a narrow circle, they will not be able to take wing in the fresh air above the ground. Education, education is what the Galicians need, and native ethnography and history first and foremost.

At that very time, on the eve of the Ems Ukase, Kuliš showed particular concern for the international character of Ukrainian national and literary culture. Convinced of his mission, he believed himself entitled to accuse the Galicians of failing to acquaint themselves with world literature and lagging behind more advanced cultures in their enthusiasm for Ševčenko. Where Kuliš got the courage to make such criticisms is another question. Although he had not been allowed to complete his studies at Kyiv University because of his non-noble ancestry, he was undoubtedly well-read. As for the Galicians whom he attacked so fiercely, he seemed to ignore the fact that many of them were studying or had studied at the universities of Lviv, Vienna, or Cracow. Kuliš's image of the Galicians was thus undoubtedly an expression of his starry-eyed delusion.¹⁴

Kuliš's standing as a positive figure in the Ukrainian revival had already been shaken in 1864, when he had gone to Warsaw as a well-paid official of the Russian government, which then took drastic measures against the Polish population in reaction to the Polish uprising. Moreover, Kuliš was repeatedly commended at that time for his loyalty to the tsar (Luckyj 1983: 142–143). The fact that Kuliš was hardly among the more pleasant Russian officials in Warsaw is apparent from his letters to the minstrel Ostap Veresaj, who, incidentally, was blind and incapable of reading and writing. Kuliš wrote that he would enjoy acting as a superior to the "clean-shaven Catholic priests"—it would gladden his Cossack heart. Oleksander Konys'kyj, another Ukrainian awakener, reported at the time that Kuliš thought it would be good for Polish children to be instructed in Russian, if not for pedagogical then for political reasons, for that would create a deep chasm between Poles and Ukrainians (Luckyj 1983: 144–145). In a letter to Mykola Bilozers'kyj, Kuliš explained why he was ready to leave for Warsaw: he expressed his conviction that the Ukrainians constituted a nation only in the ethnographic but not in the political

¹⁴ Kuliš's habitual readiness to deny any intellectual capabilities to others was by no means limited to Galicians. For example, he did not hesitate to refer to Izmail Sreznevskij, one of the most impressive Russian philologists of the nineteenth century, who had also contributed a great deal to the Ukrainian movement in the first half of that century, as an "old fool" (Luckyj 1983: 26).

sense, and then elaborated that those striving most ardently for separatism were the ones who had contributed least to the study of the language and history of this problematic country. Allegedly, Kuliš wanted to dedicate himself to preventing Ukraine from becoming the plaything of neighboring nations (Luckyj 1983: 144– 145). But who would have believed Kuliš's story?

Where Kuliš was headed in the aftermath of the Valuev Circular, that is, at a time when the Ukrainian cause would have been in particular need of staunch activists, is evidenced by a letter that he wrote to Jakiv Holovac'kyj in 1866. There he said, among other things:

Давно мы прекратили переписку. Теперь Вы видите меня на другомъ болѣе серьезномъ поприщѣ. Я служу все тому же русскому дѣлу, которому и Вы съ такимъ же успѣхомъ посвящаете свои труды и способности (Hrynčuk 2007).

We stopped corresponding long ago. Now you see me in a different, more serious field. I am still serving the same Russian cause to which you, too, have dedicated your work and abilities with equal success.

What precisely Kuliš meant by these words must be left open. He must have been well aware, however, that Holovac'kyj, who by then had become one of the most zealous Galician Russophiles, would have understood them as a clear disparagement of the Ukrainian idea and as a commitment to all-Russianism.

In a further letter of 1867, also addressed to Holovac'kyj, Kuliš expressed himself even more clearly. "In the name of Russian unity," he now went so far as to abandon his own orthography because it had been adopted by the new Austrian government newspaper *Rus'*, which was committed to the vernacular and succeeded the *Vistnyk* (see pp. 297–298 in this volume). That orthography had thus fallen into "enemy hands":

Видя это знамя въ непріятельскихъ рукахъ, я первый на него ударю и отрекусь от своего правописанія во имя русского единства (Hrynčuk 2007).

As I now see this banner in enemy hands, I shall be the first to strike against it and renounce my orthography in the name of Russian unity.

In the same letter, Kuliš declared his willingness to compose a manifesto making his views public. Thus, he not only increasingly proceeded to discard Ševčenko and the Cossacks but also revised his own views at the very moment when they were to be propagated in one of the most important new populist mouthpieces—a newspaper supported by the government and thus very likely to survive for more than a few months, as had been the case with several previous populist newspapers. It is interesting to note that Jakiv Holovac'kyj dealt with Kuliš's letter as he had done in 1863 with Myxajlo Maksymovyč's letter of 1840 to Denys Zubryc'kyj: he published it in *Slovo*, the major organ of the Galician Russophiles. The Galician populists were outraged, and the result was an outright scandal. Convinced that Kuliš himself could not have made such statements, the populists demanded that *Slovo* print his manifesto. But Kuliš did not submit a text, apparently because the issue had become too delicate for him.

Kuliš went on to write a letter to Omeljan Partyc'kyj distancing himself from the statements in his letter to Jakiv Holovac'kyj, and the populists published the new letter in *Pravda* (Truth), their major organ. Kuliš convinced the populists that when Holovac'kyj had made a stop in Warsaw on his way to the great Slavic Congress of 1867 in Moscow, he had told Kuliš that the Poles would publish the newspaper *Rus'* in the "Kulišivka" (Barvins'kyj 2004: 96). Kuliš maintained that that had been his only reason for allegedly distancing himself from his own orthography: he had wanted to keep his distance from the Poles. In the same year, an article in which Kuliš was accused of threatening the unity of the "Russian people" ("pycckiй Hapoдъ") appeared in the Russian newspaper *Moskovskie vedomosti* (Moscow News) (Hrynčuk 2007), and it is likely that this attack was the major reason why Kuliš was forced to leave his official post in Warsaw in 1867. Henceforth he would no longer correspond with Jakiv Holovac'kyj.

Even more remarkable is Kuliš's conduct in the years 1874–77, when he was completing his *Istorija vozsoedinenija Rusi*. At the very time when the Ems Ukase of 1876 was issued, Kuliš arrived at an increasingly positive assessment of the Russian imperial attitude toward Ukrainian, while making ever more negative statements about Ukraine's Cossack past and about Taras Ševčenko and his allegedly "полупьяная" and "распущенная муза" ("half-drunken and dissolute muse") (Kuliš 1874: 24). All these statements led the Galician populists gradually but ineluctably to alienate themselves from him (Luckyj 1983: 152–155).¹⁵

In 1875, Kuliš asked Oleksander Barvins'kyj to forward the following message to the editors of the Bukovynian almanac *Rus'ka xata* (Ruthenian Home), which finally appeared two years later:

Постарайтесь, щоб у буковинському альманасі не було нічого коммунистичнього, бо коммунизм – дурниця. Та нехай не лають Московщини або руського правительства, а то не будем нічого посилати до Галичини. Лайкою нічого не візьмеш. На лайку ж і розуму, і науки не треба. Усяка баба зуміє вилаяти всякого царя і найкращий уряд. Пора вже се покинути (Barvins'kyj 2004: 177).

See to it that nothing communist be found in the Bukovinian almanac, for communism is nonsense. And do not let them rant about Muscovite affairs or the Russian government, or else we will not send anything to Galicia. Nothing can be achieved by ranting. For ranting, you neither need reason nor learning.

¹⁵ Incidentally, in the same piece of writing Kuliš felt compelled to refer to Kostomarov, the son of a Russian father and a Ukrainian mother, as an "иноплеменникь" ("person of a foreign tribe") (Luckyj 1983: 155).

Any shrew can rant about the tsar and the government, even the best. It is high time to stop that.

"Communism"—whatever Kuliš may have meant by that term in the given context¹⁶—and the alleged "rants," meaning criticism of the Russian language ("Московщина") or the Russian government, were mentioned here in the same breath. Kuliš now referred to the Russian government as "руське правительство," most likely in the sense of "all-Russian." Earlier, he had consistently referred to Russian phenomena as "Muscovite" ("московські"), clearly differentiating them (by no means in a necessarily pejorative manner) from Ukrainian phenomena. Kuliš's major literary works of that period were not the only indication that he felt the need to change his mind: they were augmented by instructions that he sent to addressees in Galicia and Bukovyna.

In 1875, Kuliš went a step further. By means of a letter sent to Oleksander Barvins'kyj from his estate of Motronivka, he protested against the wish of a group of Bukovynian and Galician publishers to issue some of his Russian-language texts in Ukrainian translation in an almanac:

Ще є в мене артикул: "О значении преподобного Иова, почаевского игумена, в истории русской жизни" на аркуш чи й більш друку. Йов Желізо, родом з Покуття, постригся в покутскому Угорницькому манастирі; його годилось би згадати в руському альманасі. Тількі воно писано в мене московською мовою, і я не хочу, щоб перекладувано моє писаннє мовою українською. Ще є в мене артикул: "Галицкая часть русского мира в борьбе с антирусскими силами" на два аркуші чи й більш друку. Ся штука також годилась би в буковинський альманах, бо виявлює історию і старовину русинську, чи червоноруську, з нового погляду і дає руському елементові підмогу. Та знов не хочу, щоб перекладувано українською мовою; а коли схочуть напечатати, дак нехай якраз так напечатають, як я написав, не переправивши ні єдиного слова і нічогісінько не пропускаючи. Оце ж Ви міні дайте звістку, чи може так статись, як я пишу, чи притьмом хочуть, щоб буковинський альманах був чисто український, без московщини (Barvins'kyj 2004: 177–178).

I also have an article "On the Significance of the Most Reverend Iov, Hegumen of Pochaiv, for the History of Russian Life," amounting to a printed signature or more. Jov Želizo, born in Pokutia, became a monk in the Pokutian monastery of Uhornytsia; he would be worthy of mention in a Ruthenian almanac. But I wrote it in the Muscovite language, and I do not want my writing to be translated into Ukrainian. I also have an article on "The Galician Part of the Russian World in the Struggle against Anti-Russian Forces," amounting to two printed signatures or more. This piece of writing would also be appropriate for a Bukovynian almanac, as it presents Ruthenian or Red Russian history and antiquity from a new perspective and lends support to the Ruthenian [perhaps "Russian"] element. And again, I do not want it to be translated into Ukrainian, and if they should want to print it, then let them print it exactly as I have written it, without

¹⁶ At this time, Kuliš was constantly given to associating the Cossacks first and foremost with "communism."

changing so much as a single word or omitting anything whatever. So let me know whether it can be done as I am writing, or whether they absolutely want the Bukovynian almanac to be purely Ukrainian, without Muscovite elements.

At that point, Kuliš did not even attempt to explain why he was speaking out against a translation of his writings. Had he doubted the skills of the editors, he could have done the translation himself, proposed a translator whom he trusted, or suggested editing the translation. But he was not even considering any practical way of publishing his writings in Ukrainian.

To all appearances, then, it was none other than Pantelejmon Kuliš, who had spoken up so courageously for the emancipation of the Ukrainian language in his younger years, who was now suddenly—a year before the Ukase of Bad Ems unable to comprehend that it could not possibly be in the interest of publishers of Bukovynian or Galician populist almanacs to print Russian-language works written by former activists of the Ukrainian cause in the midst of their struggle against the Russophiles, who flatly denied the Ukrainian language a right to existence. It was therefore by no means surprising that Oleksander Barvins'kyj apparently failed to comprehend Kuliš's point of view.

From Kuliš's further letters, it may be concluded that Barvins'kyj made an effort to persuade Kuliš to reconsider. In 1876, Kuliš reacted with a remarkable response:

Може, Ви й не помиляєтесь, що треба всячину перекладувати нашою мовою, аби до смаку, до вподоби громаді. А се вельми розумно Ви пишете, що мусите печатати по-московськи, коли хто пришле готову працю до Вас. Щоб же самі русини, занедбавши свою рідну мову, писали московською, сього в мене не було й на думці. Багацько є таких, що нею добре пишуть і достають до самого джерела її краси і сили. [...] Тих же, що слідом Квітки і Шевченка зуміли б дошукатись у нашій словесних скарбів, дуже мало на світі (Barvins'kyj 2004: 179).

You may be right in saying that all sorts of things should be translated into our language, as long as they cater to the taste and preferences of the community. And you make excellent sense when you write that you must print in Muscovite if someone sends you a work already written in that language. But I never had the slightest notion that the Ruthenians themselves, forsaking their mother tongue, should write in Muscovite. There are many who write it well and make their way to the very source of its beauty and power.... But of those who, in the wake of Kvitka and Ševčenko, might be capable of grasping the treasures of the language in our literature, there are very few in the world.

Surprisingly, Kuliš found that there were enough Galicians who wrote so well in Russian as to be able to penetrate its "source of beauty and power," even if there were "very few in the world" who, in Kvitka's and Ševčenko's wake (how strongly he must have felt the urge to add himself here), had grasped the "treasures of the language" in "our literature." In the final analysis, Kuliš was trying to blackmail Barvins'kyj: either his text would be printed in Russian or it would not be printed at all. Kuliš then went on to add some general observations:

Вельми радуюсь, що "в Чернівцях польщина́ не має ніякого значення". Оце ж нехай, обік своєї мови, вживають і московську. Ми вибились із словесного нечевля московщиною. Вона нас навчила шанувати наші народні пісні і думи. Шевченко свій стих виробив скільки на українські пісні, стільки ж і на пушкінському стихові. Про се натякнуто ще в епилозі до перекладу "Чорної Ради" московською мовою, якогось там 1857 і 56 року. Ні московщина нам, ні ми московщині не завадимо; а польщина шкодила й шкодить рущині вельми (Barvins'kyj 2004: 180).

I am very pleased that "Polish has no significance whatever in Chernivtsi." In that case, let them use the Muscovite language along with their own. We have extricated ourselves from our linguistic nullity thanks to the Muscovite language. It has taught us to honor our folk songs and *dumy*. Ševčenko fashioned his verse as much on the basis of Puškin's as on that of Ukrainian songs. This was already pointed out [by Kuliš himself] in the *epilogue* to the Muscovite translation of *Corna Rada* sometime in 1857 or 1856. The Muscovite world will be no impediment to us, nor we to the Muscovite world, but the Polish world has done great harm to the Russian [perhaps: Ruthenian] world and is still doing so.

In those days, then, Kuliš's major adversary was Polish culture, and the Polish language along with it. As for the Russian language and culture, in the course of his work on the *Istorija vozsoedinenija Rusi* Kuliš had already completed his personal reunion with it. Although he now generally recommended that people in Chernivtsi should feel free to use Russian along with Ukrainian, since Russian had proved useful time and again to Ukrainians, it is not clear how much Kuliš actually knew about the situation of the Russian language in Chernivtsi at the time. As for Ševčenko, Kuliš no longer identified him with the context of Ukrainian folk songs and *dumy*; allegedly, the model of Aleksandr Puškin's Russian poetry had been no less important to him. All of a sudden, Kuliš deemed it necessary to present Ukrainian issues consistently in close relation to Russian ones; by contrast, everything Polish was now seen as harmful to Ukrainians and Russians alike.

In a further letter to Oleksander Barvins'kyj written in the same year of 1876, Kuliš ultimately declared nothing less than the utter bankruptcy of the Ukrainian idea:

А щоб перекладували мої великоруські писання, дак не знаю, чи буде воно смачне, хоч би хто й з Ваших на се піднявся. Ще молода наша литературня мова українська. Яку маємо societas? Де по-нашому пишуть закони і дають суд? Де наши катедри шкільні? Де громадські речники українські? Та й чи буде воно коли, отте все? [...]

Попробував я піро на первих аркушах "Мальованої гайдамаччини" у мові филозофичній, дак ні! Вимовніще б написав я те саме по-московскі. Бо Московщина працювала і нас до праці над своєю мовою закликала тоді, як ми потомившись та попившись відпочивали. Пробуркались, аж уже инший світ настав! Така-то наша доля. Ну, та в нас є багацько такого, що немає в Москви. Тим же то нам і личить перед добрими людьми хвалитись. Шевченкового стиха в них немає. Як нам ні напинають пупа їх Кольцови i tutti quanti, ні! Що балабайка, то [не] кобза. Бринь-бринь, та й ні про що співати, та й голосної пісні з балабайки не видаси.

У Києві Кониський хоче видати скриню нашої словесности. Се я похваляю і раю йому зверху всього словесного нашого добра покласти найкращі співи народні щодо мови і до форми. Се бо те джерело, з котрого рине вся україньска мова литературня, набираючись із обох боків повні: і від народу, що по-нашому розмовляє, і з науки, котра нашу старовину освічує. Така книга, один том віршами, а другий прозою, вельми допоможе Галичині, коли б тільки швидче видавав (Barvins'kyj 2004: 181).

And if my Great Russian writings were now to be translated, I do not know whether anything tasteful would result, even if someone from your milieu were to take on the task. Our Ukrainian literary language is still young. What *societas* do we have? Where are laws written and court sessions held in our language? Where are our faculties? Where are the Ukrainian civil advocates? And will we have all this someday?....

I have tried my pen at philosophical language on the first sheets of the "Painted Hajdamaččyna," but no! I could write the same more expressively in Muscovite. For the Muscovite world has worked and has called upon us to work on our own language when we, drunk and weary, took a rest. When we came to, there was a whole new world! Such is our fate. To be sure, we have many things that Moscow does not have. We have a perfect right to brag about that to decent people. They do not have Ševčenko's verse. How their Koltsovs and the rest of that sort do get on our nerves, no! A balalaika is not a kobza. Jinglejangle, but there is nothing to sing about, and you will not get a resounding song out of a balalaika.

In Kyiv, Konys'kyj wants to publish an almanac of our written culture. I praise him for that and advise him above all to compile from our literary heritage the best folk songs with regard to language and form. This is in fact the source from which our Ukrainian literary language gushes out, drawing abundantly from both sides: from the people who speak our language and from scholarship, which sheds light on our antiquity. Such a book, one volume in verse, a second in prose, would be of great help to Galicia, if only it were to be published as soon as possible.

Kuliš insisted that his Russian writings not be translated into "our Ukrainian written language" not only because he doubted whether the translations would be of good quality. More importantly, he expressed his concern whether Ukrainian-language writings would find a readership at all and claimed, with even deeper skepticism, that Ukrainian was by no means appropriate as a "language for philosophy" ("мова филозофична"), as one could write much more expressively about such matters in Russian. He lamented that nowhere were laws written and administered "in our language" ("по-нашому"), and it suddenly seemed as if he had completely forgotten at least two very basic truths of which he must have been aware and had in fact been aware in previous decades:

First, none of the languages that were then just beginning to be elaborated was or could even theoretically be a "language for philosophy" from the outset or by

nature. The expressive power of any language in the intellectual sphere depended largely on the talents of the language-builders.

Second, even if the use of the Ukrainian language was in fact extremely restricted in the Russian Empire, especially because of the language bans of 1863 and 1876, the possibilities for Ukrainian language-building were comparatively excellent. Kuliš must have known that particularly in Galicia, laws were in fact written and even administered to some degree "in our language" ("по-нашому"), regardless of all the problems involved, and that schooling "in our language" was developing strongly. Populist periodicals were gaining an ever-growing readership. Ivan Verxrats'kyj had already undertaken his groundbreaking studies of Ukrainian terminology. Ivan Franko had published his first works. The ground had already been prepared for the imposing developments of the last quarter of the nineteenth century. The community (*societas*) whose existence Kuliš denied had in fact already been shaped to a considerable degree and was being further shaped with great success.

Kuliš now appeared in an even more dubious light, as his statements about the alleged failure of the Ukrainian idea contained no hint of opposition to the Ukase of Bad Ems. Instead, he sounded once again as if he, and no one else, had found the philosopher's stone. But the stone now looked completely different than before.¹⁷ In the eyes of the populists, Kuliš must ultimately have lost face.

Kuliš's highly subjective comparison of Russian and Ukrainian languagebuilding confirmed this impression. By his account, the "Muscovite world" ("Московщина") had elaborated the Russian language at a time when the Ukrainians ("ми") had done nothing,¹⁸ and it was the fate of the Ukrainians ("наша доля") to have missed their chance to participate in the ongoing process of modernization. Kuliš's short-sightedness is apparent here: focusing on the nineteenth century, he failed to inquire why there had been no active Ukrainian language-building in the eighteenth. He also demonstrated his occasional propensity to self-contradiction: in the same letter in which he denigrated the allegedly "drunk" and "weary" Ukrainians, he clearly emphasized and even exaggerated their active contribution to the process of Russian language-building.

Those with an active interest in the development of the Ukrainian language must certainly have regarded Kuliš's avowed concern as outright cynicism. What did he really mean when he wrote that the Ukrainians at least had Ševčenko and their folk songs, and what comfort could those faced with the challenge of creating a full-fledged language capable of competing with Polish, German, and

¹⁷ In a letter to Oleksander Kistjakivs'kyj, Kuliš did in fact criticize the Ukase of Bad Ems, but he awkwardly argued that it would endanger the reunion of Rus' and strengthen the "communist" representatives of the Ukrainian movement [!] (Luckyj 1983: 158–159). Luckyj's account of the situation tends to disregard Kuliš's close proximity to the intellectual world of the forefathers of the Ukase of Bad Ems.

¹⁸ Kuliš had already expressed similar notions—that the political life of "Little Russia" had already ended long before, while its "poetic life," expressed in language, clothing, and customs, was degenerating year after year; that "Little Russia" would soon merge with Russia because it was not keeping up with new developments—in a letter written in the autumn of 1844 to Myxajlo Juzefovyč, an old acquaintance who later became one of the initiators of the Ukase of Bad Ems (Luckyj 1983: 24).

other languages draw from that statement? If the Ukrainian written language were actually to be reduced to folklore studies and archaeology, that would have been the end of the Ukrainian project, and its opponents would have been perfectly satisfied—the Polish nationalists and Russophiles in Galicia, each in their own way, and the Russian nationalists in the Russian Empire.

In fact, Kuliš himself had to admit that his views of 1876 were out of keeping with his former convictions. He treated this change of attitude as a mere consequence of aging:

Оце добре вибрали Ви, галицькі русини, собі принціп, щоб тількі визволятись од польского елементу, а на те не вважати, чи московщиною, чи українщиною. [...] Того, що я писав московською мовою, не хочу я перекладувати, бо вже багато де в чім розійшовсь я з самим собою, як звичайно вік із віком розходиться. Пушкин мовляв, що тілько дурень не міняє своих убеждений (Barvins'kyj 2004: 184).

You Galician Ruthenians have done well to choose the principle of freeing yourselves from the Polish element regardless of whether this is to be done in the Muscovite or the Ukrainian way.... I do not want to translate what I have written in the Muscovite language, for I have already parted ways with myself in many respects, as one age usually parts ways with another. Puškin used to say that only a fool does not change his convictions.

Explanations aside, it was only to be expected that the Galicians would turn away from Kuliš, who had nothing more to offer them, whatever the potential success of his later translations of the Bible and works of world literature.

A further letter of 1876 only confirmed the impression that Kuliš was lost to the Ukrainian cause:

Се Ви добре зрозуміли, що єдиний спосіб увести в практичнє життє руську мову дає українщина, та не поривайте очей на наших письменників, що вони вам поможуть виковати наукові термини. Коли що можна взяти з московської терминології, я брав би сміло: бо її вироблено за приводом українських людей, котрі не так-то потурали московському смаку, а придержувались хиба церковщини вкупі з москалями. Сама же вимова одрізнить зачеплене з московської наукової терминологиї слово од великорущини. Зазирнули б Ви в слав'янську граматику Мелетия Смотрицького. Не думав і не гадав він про Москву; компонував термини перед лицем польщизни, так само як тепер галичане, а Москва прийняла його, прийняли й слав'яне до самої Далмації. Ломоносов учився в могилиянському коллегиумі і під його надихом працював над терминологиєю наук природньо-математичних. Оце ж ми, раз поковавши термини, заходились тепер знов з того ж самого материялу ковати. Мусите остерегатись, щоб не були новосковані термини загадками і московцям, і вкраїнцям. Не добре й те, як галицький учень переучуватиметься вдруге терминологиї, взявшись за московську наукову книгу. Сміх і горе з підгірським уламком руського миру! Рятувати його московщиною не дадуть Ваші власті, напоєні польщизною, або й природні урядники-ляхи;

рятувати українщиною – неспромога; а перевернутись на ляхів – гірко й думати. Нехай вам, русинам, руська доля щастить, що якось не дала зробити з Підгірської Руси нову Польщу. Нам, українцям, нізвідкілля взяти могущої побудки до ковання терминологиї, бо маємо її готову про свою розумову нужду. Перше жахались наши помоскалитись; тепер прийшли до того, щоб у московському елементі зайняти центральну позицію і регульовати ввесь руський мир щодо народности яко завоювателі своєї рідної землі у чужоземньої польскої культури. Такі люде, що писали і пишуть повкраїнські, покидають більше думку, що українщина встоїть перед силою великоруського елементу. Думають, що вона допоможе тількі заохотити селян до читання книжок та й годі. Звикши годуватись пищею духа людського, селяне перейдуть самі собою до книжок великоруських, котрі вбезпосередньо вельми туго приймаються по Вкраїні. А якби школи по селах були добрі (се вельми трудна річ для Россії), дак і мимо українщини пійшов би наш селянин з темряви до просвіти. От воно що! Так ви собі й міркуйте, що вам, русинам, робити з наукою і беллетристикою [...]

Докіль ми печатались тількі українщиною, дак подавали нашій моло́діжі самі тількі поетичні образи і мрії. Як же в "Основі" почали печататись двома мовами, діло пішло спорніщ. Почали наші не тількі виобразню, та й розум задовольнити. Так і Галичина вертітиметься в тісно́ті, докіль учитиметься з самих тількі українських творів. Вони ж до того ще бувають часом вельми односторонні, а часом ідуть навпаки істориї. Українщина виробила собі таку історию, котрої ніколи не було. Оце ж треба з свого манівця вертатись на великий шлях, котрим ійшло народнє життє від найдавніших часів. Знаю, що в Вас багато людей, котрі так думають, як ми думали на початку свого діла. Одно другому не шкодить, а помагає. Коли бяй сам переложив українською мовою своє писанне, то й тим би себе не задовольнив. Яке ж воно вийде, коли ваші русини зроблять переклад? Сам себе не познаю тоді в альманасі. Тим же то нехай так печатають, як я пописав. Коли ж навернеться така тема, що лучче писати українщиною, ніж московщиною, тоді й сам я напишу по-вкраїнські. Та й не годиться таки пробавлятись перекладами. Вони стирають з української мови оригинальність, і литература сим робом не пійде ні ступня наперед. Така моя думка, а Ви чиніте, як знаєте. Може я й помиляюсь (Barvins'kyj 2004: 186 - 188).

You have well understood that the Ukrainian world offers the only prospect of introducing the Ruthenian language into practical life, but do not gaze at our writers in the hope that they will help you coin scholarly terms. If anything can be taken from Muscovite terminology, I would boldly adopt it, for it has been created under the aegis of Ukrainian people who did not so much conform to Muscovite taste as simply adhere to Church Slavonic along with the Muscovites. Pronunciation alone will suffice to differentiate a word drawn from Muscovite scholarly terminology from Great Russian. Just take a look at Meletij Smotryc'kyj's grammar of Church Slavonic. He had no thought or concern for Moscow but composed terms in view of Polish, just as the Galicians are now doing, and Moscow accepted him, and so did the other Slavs all the way to Dalmatia. Lomonosov was educated at the Mohyla College and worked, under its inspiration, on scientific and mathematical terminology. Thus, having already coined the terms once, we have now set about coining them anew

from the same material. You must take care that the newly coined terms not turn out to be baffling to Muscovites and Ukrainians alike. Nor is it good if a Galician pupil finds himself obliged to relearn terminology on taking up a Muscovite scholarly book. Should one laugh or cry at this corner of the Russian world in the foothills [of the Carpathians]? Your authorities, either imbued with Polish or Liakh officials themselves, will not allow you to rescue it by means of the Muscovite world; you are unable to rescue it by means of the Ukrainian world; that you may become Liakhs is an all too bitter thought. May Russian [perhaps "Ruthenian"] fate, which has somehow prevented Precarpathian Rus' from being turned into a new Poland, be merciful to you Ruthenians. We Ukrainians have nowhere to turn for a strong impulse to develop terminology, as we have one already available for our intellectual needs. At first our people feared becoming Muscovites; now they have gone so far as to assume a central position in the Muscovite element and regulate the whole Russian world with regard to nationality as liberators of their native land from alien Polish culture. Those who have written and are now writing in Ukrainian are increasingly abandoning the notion that Ukrainian can withstand the force of the Great Russian element. They think that it [Ukrainian] will only help motivate the peasants to read books, and nothing more. Having become accustomed to the nourishment of the human spirit, the peasants will move on of their own accord to Great Russian books, which, without mediation, are only hesitantly being accepted in Ukraine. But if the village schools were good (a very difficult matter for Russia), then our peasant would also make his way from darkness to enlightenment without the aid of Ukrainian. That is how it is! So think well what *you* Ruthenians should do with regard to scholarship and fine literature....

As long as we published only in Ukrainian, we offered our youth only poetic images and dreams. Once we began publishing in both languages in Osnova, things proceeded more propitiously. Our people began to satisfy not only their imagination but also their intellect. Galicia, too, will remain narrow-minded as long as it learns only from Ukrainian works. Moreover, they are sometimes very one-sided and sometimes run counter to the course of history. The Ukrainian world has created a history for itself that never existed. We should therefore return from the wrong track to great road that folk life has been walking since the most ancient times. I know that there are many among you who think as we did at the beginning of our cause. One party does not harm the other but helps it. If I were to translate my writing into Ukrainian myself, I would not be able to satisfy myself. But how would it look if your Ruthenians were to make a translation? Then I would be unable to recognize myself in the almanac. They should therefore print the text as I wrote it. If a topic should turn up on which it would be better to write in Ukrainian than in Muscovite, then I myself will write about it in Ukrainian. After all, it does not pay to waste time on translations. They erase the originality of Ukrainian, and so literature does not advance even a single step. This is what I think, but proceed as you think fit. I may be mistaken, after all.

If the Galician populists had indeed well understood, as Kuliš suggested, that the model of "Ukrainian" ("українщина") was essential to the introduction of the "Ruthenian" language ("руська мова") into "practical life" ("в практичне житте"), then they must have been all the more amazed at Kuliš's tirades, which largely coincided with the admonitions of their Russophile opponents in Galicia.

Kuliš justified his appeals to adopt scholarly terms from Russian terminology ("московська терминологія") whenever possible by claiming that this Russian terminology was the result of all-Russian effort, to which Ukrainians had contributed most energetically.¹⁹ It would appear that he did not consider the consequences.

If the supporters of the Ukrainian project had merely adopted Russian terms or depended on the work of a certain Vasyl' Voljan, who managed to dupe the Austrian government in the 1850s and publish pompous "Ruthenian" terminological works largely compiled from Russian dictionaries (Moser 2005b; Moser 2011: 684–717), then no one would have taken the Ukrainian language seriously in the long run. Aside from that, Kuliš's arguments were inept: to begin with, the requirements of terminological work in the second half of the nineteenth century differed very considerably from those prevailing in the times of Meletij Smotryc'kyj or even Mixail Lomonosov,²⁰ furthermore, the notion that a Galician pupil would have to learn terminology anew if he picked up a Russian scholarly book was fanciful: Russian textbooks were of negligible significance in Galicia, nor could nineteenthcentury Russian scholarship claim any outstanding importance in the international context. Kuliš's patently sarcastic expression of concern that newly created terms ("новосковані термини") would be baffling to Russians as well as Ukrainians was equally misguided. Kuliš himself must have been aware that newly created terminologies are necessarily cryptic to some extent, regardless of the language in which they are coined.

Kuliš's strange attitude of superiority to the Galicians remained unchanged. He was obviously unable to see them as anything more than hapless victims in desperate need of inspiration from the Russian Empire, and most particularly from himself. By this point, Kuliš only feared that the Galicians might be turned into Poles ("перевернутись на ляхів") but was no longer concerned if "our people" ("наши") were to become Muscovites ("помоскалитись"). On the contrary, he seemed to be completely in agreement with those who had abandoned the thought that the Ukrainian language could hold its own vis-à-vis Great Russian and gave no sign that he considered that important.²¹ If Kuliš tacitly agreed that the only purpose of Ukrainian-language books was to prepare the ground for Russian-language ones to enlighten the uneducated, and if he implied that an improved school system in the Russian Empire would very quickly have made Ukrainian superfluous, then this was even further evidence that he no longer had anything to offer anyone interested in the Ukrainian cause.

More than that, the former hero of the Ukrainian movement had obviously become a Russian chauvinist. If he implied that in the bilingual journal *Osnova*

¹⁹ Kuliš had advanced similar views even earlier, e.g., in 1857, to justify his use of Russianisms and Church Slavonicisms in Ukrainian (Ševel'ov 1983/1991: 39–41).

²⁰ It must be added that Lomonosov's alleged inspiration by the Mohyla College was largely a figment of Kuliš's imagination: in actual fact, Lomonosov was shocked by the state of Kyivan schools in the mid-eighteenth century.

²¹ Luckyj (1983: 164) interprets this passage differently, arguing that "Kulish firmly believed that Ukraine would stand its ground as far as Russia was concerned"!

of 1861–62, Russian had been the language of intellect, while Ukrainian had merely served as an organ of imagination, that obscured the fact that Kuliš himself had done a great deal in those days to intellectualize the Ukrainian language. If, however, Kuliš went on to argue that the Galicians were condemned to remain narrow-minded unless they oriented themselves on Great Russian culture, this amounted to a manifestation of his arrogant, now clearly Russian imperial view of Central Europe.

Kuliš's final remark about not wanting his text to be translated ultimately confirmed that he had ceased to consider Russian and Ukrainian as distinct languages, each with the right of existence.²²

In 1876, the year of the Ems Ukase, Kuliš believed that he could see the "great road" ahead—a Great Russian road—with utmost clarity. The supporters of the Ukrainian project did not follow him.

3. Summary

While scholars studying the history of the Ukrainian language have often asked about Galician deviations from the Modern Ukrainian Standard Language or about the Galician contribution to the development of the Ukrainian written language, they have paid considerably less attention to the question of how the Ukrainians of the Russian Empire influenced the Galicians and how the Galicians came to adopt the norms of Ukrainian as elaborated by Ukrainian activists in the Russian Empire. According to the master narrative of Ukrainian language history, the Ukrainian language in the Russian Empire was successively elaborated by leaders in Ukrainian language-building, while the Galicians remained backward because they allegedly wrote in "jazyčije" and remained under the powerful influence of the Galician Russophiles. Only in the last third of the nineteenth century or thereabouts did Galicia happen to become Ukraine's Piedmont.

It is not part of the master narrative of Ukrainian language history²³ that in the course of the nineteenth century, Galicians frequently corresponded with "Little Russian" authorities from the Russian Empire, who are widely acknowledged as heroes of the Ukrainian movement, and that the Galicians largely recognized these "Little Russian" intellectuals as mentors, but that more often than not the "Little Russians" sent messages more encouraging to the Russophiles than to those who favored full-fledged Ukrainian nation- and language-building. Thus, the success story of Ukrainian nation- and language-building in the second half of the nineteenth century deserves even greater attention than it has so far received.

In 1863, the year of the Valuev Circular, the leading Galician Russophile Jakiv Holovac'kyj published a letter that Myxajlo Maksymovyč, a leading "Little Russian" intellectual of the mid-nineteenth century, had sent to the first Galician Russophile, Denys Zubryc'kyj, and other Galician activists in 1840, that is, at the very time

²² In the afterword to the Russian version of *Čorna Rada* (1857) and in his *Zapiski o južnoj Rusi* (1856– 57), Kuliš had already repeatedly emphasized the inseparability of Northern and Southern Rus' (cf., among others, Luckyj 1983: 77–78).

²³ Admittedly, historians often know more about these processes than historians of languages.

when the Galician Ruthenians had attained their first major literary achievements. The great collector of Ukrainian folk songs, Maksymovyč, had told the Galicians that Ukrainian literature in the Russian Empire was ultimately an insignificant experiment of merely regional significance, that there could never be a Ukrainian literary language as such, and that for the Galicians as well, their vernacular could only serve as a bridge to subsequent participation in the larger Russian project. Holovac'kyj could thus feel fully justified in using Maksymovyč's letter in his struggle against the Galician populists.

Pantelejmon Kuliš, the most honored idol of the early Galician populists, seriously undermined the populist project in the early years after the Valuev Circular when he abandoned his orthography "in the name of Russian unity." In the years ca. 1876, when the Ukase of Bad Ems was issued,²⁴ Kuliš ultimately demonstrated that he had begun adhering to all-Russian chauvinist views and was at least temporarily lost to the Ukrainian cause.

Kuliš's return to the Ukrainian idea, as it took place in the 1880s in a new form, after he had written to Oleksander Barvins'kyj as late as 1879 that he had

²⁴ Luckyj's (1983: 163-165) apologia of Kuliš does not necessarily convince. It would appear that Kuliš had sufficient opportunities to behave differently in the years ca. 1876. Incidentally, it was only in the 1880s that Kuliš again addressed linguistic matters in his letters to Oleksander Barvins'kyj: "Малоруська правопись мусить стояти на фонетиці найрадикальніщій, сиріч на такій, щоб видко було, як вимовляв автор. Ніхто не скаже, яку вимову, чи полтавську-чернігівську, чи галицько-русинську прийме колись народній смак наш. Нехай же будуть навіть і такі пам'ятники орвографичні, як правопись київська: йійі, або јіјі, або іак, моіа і т[ак] д[алі]. Коли б сею, як прозвано вже її, уїдливою правописсю написав хто що добре, то смакувитий чоловік не відкине книжки геть задля правописної в'їдливости; а навпослі перепечатано б її, не питавшись у предків, чи зволять на переміни в їх правописі. [...] Спасибі Вам, що до всього дозираєтесь у моїй мові. Коли б що переправили так, щоб міні вподобалось, прийняв би залюбки" (Barvins'kyj 2004: 201) / "Little Russian orthography must be based on the most radical phonetics, that is, on phonetics that clearly convey an author's pronunciation. No one can say which pronunciation our folk taste will someday adopt, that of Poltava-Chernihiv or Galicia-Ruthenia. Even such orthographic monuments as the Kyivan orthography may be allowed to exist: *üiüi* or *jiji* or *iaκ*, *moia*, etc. If someone should write something good in this 'irksome' orthography, as it has come to be known, then a man of good taste will not throw the book away because of its irksome orthography, and it will be reprinted afterwards without asking the forefathers' permission to amend their orthography.... Thank you for your punctilious attention to my language. Should you change something to my liking, I would gladly accept it." Kuliš was thus back to arguing very decidedly in favor of the phonetic orthography. In his letter, he also extended unaccustomed thanks to Barvins'kyj for proffered advice, but these were most likely ironic, given the conditional instead of the indicative mood in the last sentence cited. In 1889, when Barvins'kyj requested permission to reprint Kuliš's Čorna Rada, the author gave his magnanimous consent. He also tackled changes of certain linguistic forms: "Добре чините, що не даєте занепасти руському органові "Ділу". Веселимось і ми, що наше малоруське браташше по тім боці політичньої границі рідного краю подвизаєцця в прояву національности своєї. Оце ж, вволяючи Вашу волю, позволяю на передрук моєї, Чорної ради'. Коли схочете, поправте всюди в ній глаголи на іти замість іть, як я колись писав, державшись черніговщини, а не полтавщини, києвщини і галицької рущини" (Barvins'kyj 2004: 209) / "You are well advised to not allow the decline of the Ruthenian organ Dilo. We are also glad that our Little Russian brethren on the other side of the political border of the homeland are rising to a manifestation of their nationality. Therefore, assenting to your will, I permit the reprinting of my Corna Rada. If you so desire, you may correct in it all instances of the verb ["to go"] to imu instead of imb, as I once wrote it, when I drew on the language of Chernihiv, not on that of Poltava and Kyiv and on Galician Ruthenian."

"broken his Little Russian or Ukrainian pen" ("я наконец изломал малорусское, или украинское перо мое"; Barvins'kyj 2004: 190), was of very limited interest to his contemporaries, especially compared to Kuliš's earlier significance. By then, the Galician populists had learned to stand on their own feet. In the years to come, the Galicians were continually met with a certain lack of understanding on the part of leading Ukrainians from the Russian Empire, either because they considered the Galicians ideologically backward (the socialist Myxajlo Drahomanov) or because they harshly rejected their language (Ivan Nečuj-Levyc'kyj, Borys Hrinčenko) (Moser 2011a). This anti-Galician bias left a lasting mark that also applies to the master narrative of Ukrainian language history.

Despite repeated assertions of Galicia's role as a Piedmont of Ukrainian identity after 1863 or, particularly, 1876, historians of the Ukrainian language still fail to see that only the Galician and Bukovynian "Ruthenians" were in a position to create a truly polyfunctional Ukrainian standard language, and that their efforts proved largely successful. True enough, this achievement was due in part to Galician cooperation with Ukrainians from the Russian Empire, as evidenced by the funds that the latter provided for the Ševčenko Scientific Society in Lviv and by the outstanding role of Myxajlo Hruševs'kyj, the history professor from Russian-ruled Ukraine who worked in Lviv and successfully promoted Galician achievements among the Ukrainians of the Russian Empire after 1905.²⁵

Returning to Pantelejmon Kuliš, Jurij Ševel'ov (1983/1991: 50) interestingly reports that during an interrogation by the NKVD in 1941, he was accused of having preferred the "bourgeois nationalist Kuliš" to the "revolutionary democrat Ševčenko." If Kuliš was judged or condemned by posterity, at times in cultivated circles, in especially contradictory and mostly apodictic fashion (cf. Ševel'ov 1983/1991: 49–75), he was of course himself largely responsible for that. May the NKVD's opinion of him serve as testimony to his many unforgotten achievements.

²⁵ On further developments at the turn of the twentieth century, Ševel'ov (1963: 502–503) wrote as follows: "The real question was what type of literary language was desirable, whether it should be an accurate reflection of one dialect or, while still being based on the popular language, should be more general, using elements from different dialects. It was not only because the Ukrainian language could be used and could develop in the press, and school system, and scientific and political life only outside the Russian Empire, that the second principle triumphed. It was also because a synthesis of the dialects as a basis for the literary language was necessary to its very existence. The populist phase was complete and this development in the literary language marked its end. The chief accomplishments of these years spread from Galicia to Ukraine under Russia. They penetrated beyond the Zbruch steadily but through narrow channels: through books slipped across the frontier, through acquaintanceships made during journeys, through the movement of Ukrainian students who went from central Ukraine to Galicia to study, and, above all, through the Ukrainian political parties which based their underground activities, including publishing, in Galicia. The barriers were removed by the Revolution of 1905."

UKRAINIAN "LANGUAGE-BUILDING" IN LIGHT OF UKRAINIAN NATION-BUILDING: CRITICAL REMARKS ON THE HISTORIOGRAPHY OF THE UKRAINIAN LANGUAGE

In the spirit of Johann Gottfried Herder, the protagonists of nineteenth-century European nation-building regarded the maintenance of national languages as one of their most paramount concerns. Indeed, they went so far as to define nations primarily by their languages. Although modern theories of nationalism convincingly posit a somewhat looser connection between languages and nations, language has remained a factor of major importance in a different sense, in that some of the most attractive of these theories describe nations first and foremost as discursively constructed communities (see, inter alia, Stukenbrock 2007, Anderson 2006).

A closer investigation of the history of languages reveals that not only modern nations but also modern national languages have never developed "naturally" but were-and still are-consciously planned. Most notably, this applies to language families that constitute so-called dialectal continuums, as the Slavic languages may at least approximately be said to do. Using a purely linguistic line of argumentation, one cannot always explain precisely why "languages" X and Y exist in the geographic area of such a dialectal continuum or why they are in use in areas A and B and not elsewhere. Nor can it be explained on a purely intra-linguistic basis why idioms prevailing in an area between the two "languages" X and Y (within an authentic dialectal continuum, these are required by definition to have a purely transitional character, which is not always the case in the Slavic language area) are not themselves "languages" but are considered "dialects" of "languages" X and Y. Moreover, the modern standard Slavic languages certainly did not develop on a purely linguistic basis. Their evolution has always proceeded in the context of national movements, for which-in Central and East Central Europe, at least-the factor of language has always been of crucial importance (see Kamusella 2008).

Despite this obvious connection, most monographs and textbooks on language history hardly ever refer to the results of modern research on nation-building. Instead, they still tend to tell teleological stories of languages that apparently had to develop as they did, with the very outcome that we observe today. If such traditional teleology has generally become obsolete in the broader field of history, it is still widespread in the philological disciplines, by no means only in the field of Ukrainian studies. The major elements of the prevailing teleological and eclectic master narratives are rooted in the national philologies of the nineteenth century, and in many cases the canons created then have remained unchallenged. As a consequence, basic sources of language history have been marginalized or ignored if they are incompatible with a linear historical account culminating with the appearance of the modern standard language. Even within this reduced spectrum, large segments are often passed over: attention is generally focused on the language of select works of literature, again because of the prevailing spirit of nineteenth-century national philologies. In the case of Ukrainian, this teleology and eclecticism are particularly regrettable. Ukrainian nation- and language-building took place in diverse political formations and in a variety of multiethnic and multilingual settings. The Ukrainian projects transgressed borders and competed with other nation- and language-building projects in many complex ways. In the course of history, representatives of many generations of Ukrainians have found themselves constrained to decide whether they were Ukrainians or Poles, Russians, Hungarians, Romanians, Slovaks, etc., whether they found it necessary to preserve their native language, and what role they assigned to it, particularly with regard to its coexistence with the Polish, Russian, Hungarian, Romanian, Slovak, and other languages, which Ukrainians often spoke as well. Outside the homeland, Ukrainians have shared the fate of other emigrants: over the generations, they have had to ask themselves even more pointedly whether they wish to preserve their identities and languages or not.

In the case of Ukraine, there is no doubt that modern nation- and languagebuilding has been in many ways a project of emancipation from traditionally dominant groups: in Austria and (after 1867) Austria-Hungary, especially from the closely related Poles as well as the non-related Hungarians; in the Russian Empire, especially from the closely related Russians, but also from the Poles. None of the three dominant peoples just mentioned had completed its own process of nationbuilding in the nineteenth century. First and foremost, none of the languages of these so-called "historical nations" prevailed as a codified modern standard language among the broad majority of any social stratum.

To make things even more complicated, the emancipatory aspect of Ukrainian nation- and language-building has often attracted intellectuals who initially did not regard themselves as Ukrainian, but as Polish, Russian, etc., and still others who were not ethnically Ukrainian at all.

If all this makes Ukrainian language history a particularly intriguing and fruitful field of research, current textbooks on the "history of the Ukrainian language" usually tell much simpler, less complex, and less interesting stories. Furthermore, their master narratives are constructed in a fashion that urgently needs to be revised.¹

1. An academic textbook as a mirror of the status quo

Vitalij Rusanivs'kyj's monograph on the *History of the Ukrainian Language* (Rusanivs'kyj 2001), approved and widely used as a Ukrainian academic textbook, is now probably the most influential work in our field. The book differs from Soviet works in avoiding class-struggle rhetoric and in taking note of at least some of the contributions of Ukrainian emigrants (especially Čaplenko 1970), but it leaves the major building blocks of the traditional master narrative basically unchanged. As for the nineteenth century—a decisive period for the development of modern nations and languages—the book highlights developments in four chapters that

¹ A work that comes very close to being an "ideal" history of the Ukrainian language is Ševel'ov 1989, but, as its title indicates, it pays little attention to the nineteenth century, which is the focus of the present article. Ševel'ov 1966 highlights only selected problems in the nineteenth-century history of the Ukrainian language.

will be critically examined below. Only those points that appear to be symptomatic for the current state of the synthetic historiography of the Ukrainian language (and not isolated shortcomings) will be discussed.²

1.1. "The Ukrainian language as an instrument for the revival of national consciousness" (pp. 146–169)

This chapter consists mainly of observations on the language of the writers Ivan Kotljarevs'kyj, Hryhorij Kvitka-Osnov'janenko, and Jevhen Hrebinka, with a strong emphasis on vernacular lexicon and dialectal characteristics. Cautious attempts to invest the work of these writers with significance for language- and nation-building are unconvincing. Rusanivs'kyj asserts, for example, that Kotljarevs'kyj's Enejida of 1798 questioned the triad of "Orthodoxy, autocracy, and nationality" (p. 153), although the Russian minister of education, Sergej Uvarov, actually introduced this formula into Russian imperial discourse only in 1833. Rusanivs'kyj mentions that Kvitka did not set himself the goal of elevating language to the status of a "general means of the development of a people" but "wanted to awaken the human soul by means of the artistic word" (p. 161). Rusanivs'kyj also correctly observes that Jevhen Hrebinka did not write any Ukrainian-language prose (ibid.) and mentions that Hrebinka's translation of Puškin's "Poltava" (1835) displays burlesque characteristics. But the author draws no conclusions from this, nor does he ask the question of greatest interest: What did all this mean not merely with regard to the language of Ukrainian literature but with regard to the building of the Modern Ukrainian Standard Language ("українська літературна мова")?

The book goes on to examine the works of the Romantic writers almost exclusively with regard to their vernacular or historicizing lexicon,³ but the connection between language development and nation-building remains wholly obscure, as does the process of language-building itself. The issue of the initially scant modernization and intellectualization of Ukrainian in the Russian Empire, as well as the related problem of multilingualism—Ukrainian-Russian, Ukrainian-Polish, and other—remain quite incomprehensible,⁴ and the relation of written variants of Ukrainian to older traditions is not discussed convincingly. The central issue—that of the status and prestige that contemporaries ascribed to the Ukrainian language, and the degree to which they might have elaborated it—remains untouched. The author

² The significantly more comprehensive Soviet Kurs 1958 nevertheless consists mainly of sections with such titles as "The Language of I. Kotljarevs'kyj's Works," "The Language of H. Kvitka-Osnov'janenko's Works," and the like. There are also extensive chapters featuring the language of less prominent writers of the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries. Almost all this material concerns the Ukrainian language used in literature but not the development of the Ukrainian standard language ("українська літературна мова") as such (the sections written by Ivan Franko's granddaughter, Zinovija Franko, about developments in Galicia stand out as positive exceptions).

³ Items of basic vocabulary such as *веселість, віра, наука,* and others are isolated as abstract terms (p. 165).

⁴ In the Soviet Kurs (1958: 194–210), "Russo-Ukrainian literary and linguistic relations in the first half of the nineteenth century (to 1861)" are treated exclusively from a biased Soviet viewpoint that takes no account whatever of Galician developments.

does refer to individual poems that show a certain commitment to the autonomy of the Ukrainian language, but he does not analyze these or other sources. Questions about the mental mapping of the linguistic awakeners and their vision of their national language are not addressed. Who would or should adopt the language in the long run, and what social role was it to play in the speech community?

One learns nothing from the exposition about how the "Ruthenians" in Austria and the "Little Russians" in Russia perceived each other and each other's language, and it is not clear whether they actually thought of themselves as a common "people with a common language." Representatives of numerous regions, including Transcarpathia, do not even appear in these sections. Nowhere does one encounter the fact that well into the second half of the nineteenth century, many Galician linguistic awakeners, as well as many representatives of Ukrainians in the Russian Empire, still regarded the Belarusians as members of their own "Ruthenian or Little Russian" nation, who were accordingly deemed to speak a dialect of the "Ruthenian or Little Russian" language (see pp. 171–186 in this volume).

It is particularly striking that even in this post-Soviet work, the rather weighty Galician contribution to the development of the Ukrainian language remains badly underrepresented. The author cites five lines of verse praising the Ruthenian (Ukrainian) language from *Rusalka Dnistrovaja*,⁵ although the preface to the almanac would have been considerably more informative—literary impressions remain in the foreground. As for the Przemyśl clergyman Ivan Mohyl'nyc'kyj, whose significance for the history of the Ukrainian language is outstanding in that he published a scholarly argument for the autonomy of "Ruthenian" with regard to Polish, Russian, and Church Slavonic in the 1820s (p. 225), readers find one solitary sentence (and even that sentence is not properly formulated).

In general, issues of Ukrainian "corpus planning" do not receive the attention they deserve (p. 168). While this chapter is intended to describe the dawn of Modern Standard Ukrainian, actual deviations from modern standard norms are not highlighted. Readers are not given even a realistic account of the actual orthography of the canonized pre-Romantics and Romantics, who are still generally known only from standardized modern editions. The chapter contains an isolated mention of Josyf Lozyns'kyj, who proposed that Ukrainian be written in the Latin alphabet (this is related to the so-called "First Alphabet War" of 1834) (p. 168, see Moser 2011: 474–78), but there is no further discussion whatever of alternative lines of development such as Lozyns'kyj's (although the corpus of Ukrainianlanguage works written in the Latin alphabet, including nineteenth-century works, is anything but a marginal curiosity).

The codificatory relevance of the aforementioned grammars and dictionaries is not discussed at all. This applies in particular to Oleksander Pavlovs'kyj's grammar, printed in St. Petersburg in 1818, which possessed hardly any codificatory potential.

⁵ An almanac published in 1837 by the so-called Ruthenian Triad, the Galician awakeners Markijan Šaškevyč, Ivan Vahylevyč, and Jakiv Holovac'kyj. The discourse on the history of language in Galicia traditionally overemphasizes the significance of this slim booklet.

Regrettably, there is not a single sentence about the important Galician grammars of this period.⁶

When it comes to functional domains or language usage areas of Ukrainian, there are occasional remarks to the effect that certain functional styles were not yet developed for Ukrainian (pp. 168–169). At the same time, nothing is said about the advance of written variants of Ukrainian in Galicia into a broad spectrum of language usage areas and genres by the revolution of 1848/49 (Moser 2011: 303–331).

Like other authors, Rusanivs'kyj does not take these Galician written variants seriously because they deviate considerably, in part, from Modern Standard Ukrainian. What these authors overlook is that even if these written variants, generally stigmatized as "jazyčije" (Moser 2004, Moser 2011: 641-666), do not conform to Modern Standard Ukrainian, this does not distinguish them in any fundamental way from other writings of their time. Moreover, these variants must be regarded as part of the history of the Ukrainian language, in that they are neither Polish nor Russian nor Church Slavonic and were considered "Ruthenian" (Ukrainian) by the authors themselves. Few historians of the Ukrainian language have asked why the variants of "jazyčije" were bound to deviate quite significantly from Modern Standard Ukrainian. On the one hand, this was a result of the dialectal situation, as Modern Standard Ukrainian is not based on southwestern Ukrainian dialects, which are also more differentiated than any other dialects of the Ukrainian language. On the other, the process of language-building was often much more challenging for Galician Ruthenians than for Ukrainians in the Russian Empire, while Ukrainians in the Russian Empire faced comparatively few difficulties if they used the Ukrainian language in burlesques, poems, or stories on rural subjects. Even before the revolution of 1848/49, the Galicians were primarily engaged in producing texts of a different sort: scholarly works, grammars, translations of Bible texts, panegyrics for dignitaries of church and state, educational textbooks in the mother tongue and the liturgical language, textbooks of elementary arithmetic, catechisms, sermons, pastoral letters, and so on. From 1848/49 at the latest, they also wrote legal texts, political speeches, and polemical pamphlets, as well as newspaper and journal articles of various kinds "in Ruthenian"; they began working on the first dictionary of "legal and political" terminology and on other terminologies. Besides sermons, which were again increasingly given in Ruthenian, political and scholarly addresses were delivered in Ruthenian. The range of genres represented in variants of the Galician-Ruthenian language was thus already as thoroughly variegated as the national programs of the "Spring of Nations" called for. As for the language used in those texts, it could not, of course, be based on Modern Standard Ukrainian, which was then only in the making; it could not even avail itself of models created by Ukrainians in the Russian Empire, as there were none for the aforementioned genres and the respective domains; nor could it be based on variants of the vernacular, for the vernacular had not traditionally been employed

⁶ To be sure, their object language differs significantly from Modern Standard Ukrainian, but a historical linguistics less geared to teleology cannot afford to ignore them almost entirely.

in these genres and domains, which had previously been served in the dominant languages, such as Latin, German, Polish or, occasionally, Church Slavonic.

In the Galician context, then, Ruthenian had to be developed rapidly for use in many functional domains of the "higher spheres," but no generally acknowledged institution managed to establish a common standard promptly, although some preparatory work was done (the "Conference of Ruthenian Learned Men": see Moser 2011a, 44–63; moreover, Jakiv Holovac'kyj prepared a grammar (see pp. 171-218 in this volume) and worked as a professor of Ruthenian language and literature). In the subsequent period of ongoing experiment that produced little accord, it is hardly surprising that in the course of the 1850s more and more Galician intellectuals abandoned vernacular-based variants of Ukrainian altogether and, if they did not go back to using Polish, they looked to the Russian Empire for salvation in their national struggle against the Poles and increasingly attempted to adopt Russian. But the most interesting aspect of this story is that whenever historians of the Ukrainian language pay any attention whatever to these processes, they unanimously reproach the Galicians for not having consistently used the Ukrainian (Ruthenian) vernacular. Yet these same scholars usually make no mention of the fact that almost all the prominent Ukrainian language-builders in the Russian Empire made very broad use of the Russian language; that for decades most of them did not even consider introducing the Ukrainian language into the genres and domains that were of such crucial importance in Galicia; and that all the Galicians, even the most ardent Russophiles, did in fact produce many texts written almost exclusively in the (Galician-based) vernacular when their subjects were taken from peasants' everyday lives (poems written in folk style, treatises on folklore, or agricultural manuals; see also my study on the leading Galician Russophile Ivan Naumovyč in this volume).7

Any forthcoming textbook on the history of the Ukrainian language should try to avoid this traditional anti-Galician bias.

1.2. "Taras Ševčenko, reformer of the Ukrainian literary language" (pp. 170–220) This section emphasizes that the language of the Ukrainian national poet focused on "the entire Ukrainian language area and the entirety of the Ukrainian territories" (pp. 172–175), but this statement tends to remain a mere slogan. The claim that Ševčenko avoided drawing on minor dialects is insufficiently documented, so it takes on the appearance of circular reasoning. If it was indeed Ševčenko's language that became the principal basis of Modern Standard Ukrainian, then its great (but not, in fact, complete) similarity to the latter looks tautological. Yet a multitude of fundamental questions about Ševčenko's linguistic world remain unasked. There is no attempt to explain why Ševčenko composed almost all his prose texts in Russian,

⁷ The Kurs 1958 (p. 265–266) makes politically biased observations and emphasizes that the Ukrainian language developed in Dnipro Ukraine thanks to the "social forces of the Russian and Ukrainian revolutionary democrats and other progressive activists." Allegedly, owing to the policies "of the ruling Austrian-Hungarian circles," such forces made themselves felt only later in the quasiunderdeveloped western Ukrainian lands.

or why his Ukrainian-language works covered only a few genres. Ševčenko's intriguing linguistic behavior as a letter-writer and his use of Russianisms in general also receive insufficient attention (cf. pp. 204–208; see Moser 2008a, Moser 2012a, and pp. 299–304 in this volume).

To support his claim that a Ukrainian-language press had developed in the course of Ševčenko's lifetime, the author refers above all to literary works and folkloristic sketches that appeared in predominantly Russian-language almanacs, journals, and newspapers (pp. 203–204), which are hardly sufficient evidence of the existence of Ukrainian-language journalism in the true sense of the word.⁸ A more convincing indicator, the journal *Osnova* (which was only published in two incomplete volumes and featured numerous Russian-language texts), surprisingly remains unmentioned at this point (pp. 203–204).⁹ The focus on belles lettres remains so overwhelmingly strong that the author pays scarcely any attention to Ševčenko's extraordinary linguistic impact on anyone other than Ukrainian belletrists of succeeding generations.

1.3. "The expansion of the functional boundaries of Ukrainian" (pp. 221–253)

The title of the subsequent chapter raises hopes of new perspectives, but it begins with a discussion of the language bans of 1863 and 1876, that is, the Valuev Circular and the Ems Ukase, from which one actually learns almost nothing about the preconditions and results of these two decrees. The publication of a series of literary works is mentioned as evidence for the notion that the Valuev Circular of 1863 was at first enforced "only weakly" (p. 223), although that decree did not even refer to such works. The translation of the Gospels by Pylyp Moračevs'kyj, which played a major role in the history of the Valuev Circular, is not even mentioned.

When dealing with the period after the language bans, the author finally shifts his attention to Galicia, which is now presented as Ukraine's Piedmont.¹⁰ Regarding the linguistic awakening in Galicia, the author repeats that western Ukraine "was culturally dormant" until the 1830s and then briefly touches on the *Rusalka Dnistrovaja*, only to continue with a brief discussion of the first Galician populist newspapers of the early 1860s (pp. 224–227).¹¹ One now learns that after this point, the Ukrainian language in Galicia was no longer elaborated only for

⁸ Myxajlo Žovtobrjux, one of the most interesting historical linguists of the Soviet period, writes in conclusion that Ukrainian-language journalism was still "very weakly represented" in the almanacs of the 1830s and 1840s (1963: 122).

⁹ In the Kurs (1958: 271–274), the discussion of *Osnova* is ideologically charged to an extraordinary degree.

¹⁰ The Kurs (1958: 264) speaks of the "particular oppression and discrimination" of Ukrainian in Austria-Hungary. The "bourgeois nationalists" who endeavored to "lead Ukrainian into a rustic primitivization and alienation from Russian" (!) are characterized as having hampered the development of Ukrainian.

¹¹ The populists assumed the unity of the Ukrainian people and, in contrast to the so-called Russophiles, believed that Ukrainians were fundamentally distinct from Russians. In the context of the (second) Galician Ukrainian national awakening, they supported the use of a vernacular-based written language.

literary use, but also as "a vehicle for the general development of scholarship and culture" (p. 226). Even at this point, there is very little use of Galician sources, and the interpretation appears even more distorted if one recalls that the situation of the 1860s had largely been anticipated in Galicia by the years 1848/49 at the latest. The most important new development of the 1860s was that henceforth, under the influence of Taras Ševčenko and Pantelejmon Kuliš, the Galicians largely oriented themselves on the (still rather loose) language norms prevailing among Ukrainians in the Russian Empire. Another important innovation was that in the 1860s, the Galicians were much more eager to distance their language from Russian as well as from Church Slavonic than they had been a decade or two earlier.

The textbook briefly and categorically dismisses the Galician Russophiles as antagonists of the populists. Their linguistic ideology is not discussed, nor is there any mention, let alone discussion, of their by no means insignificant contribution to Ruthenian vernacular-based writing in the sphere of folk literature.

Although the phrase "Galicia as a Piedmont" appears in the text, the actual significance of Galician developments for the elaboration of the Modern Standard Ukrainian Language remains obscure.

– One does learn at this point, albeit in a somewhat inappropriate context, about a few Galician grammars¹² and select Galician school textbooks of the 1860s and 1870s that the author liberally but unconvincingly relates to Ivan Verxrats'kyj's work on terminology (p. 228). But Rusanivs'kyj does not discuss what these grammars and textbooks may have meant for the dissemination of Ukrainian language norms, nor does he discuss the role of Ukrainian-language schools or aspects of language acquisition planning in a broader sense. Whenever new Ukrainian terms of the second half of the nineteenth century are mentioned, reference is made only to the writings of authors in the Russian Empire (pp. 232–233).

– The book devotes only a single paragraph to the intensive discussion of orthography that went on in this period, reducing it to very brief characterizations of the proposals made by Myxajlo Maksymovyč, Pantelejmon Kuliš, Mykola Hatcuk, and Myxajlo Drahomanov. One does not learn anything about Galician contributions with comparatively far-reaching consequences, such as Jevhen Želexivs'kyj's adoption of Kuliš's orthography. Rusanivs'kyj merely mentions a statement made by the Galician "Old Ruthenian" Myxajlo Malynovs'kyj against the so-called "phonetic" orthography (pp. 229–230) and goes on to suggest, incorrectly, that the use of the etymological orthography was almost bound to entail the abandonment of the vernacular. Post-1834 suggestions and attempts to use the Latin alphabet for writing Ukrainian go largely unremarked, and the "(Second) Alphabet War" deserves much greater attention than it receives here.

- In a section where many readers may already have forgotten the notion of "Galicia as a Piedmont," which remains an empty phrase throughout the book,

¹² Almost without exception, however, the titles as cited in the text are full of errors. The whole paragraph is introduced with the remark that "with the addition of a few local peculiarities, the Slaveno-Russian [perhaps Slaveno-Ruthenian] literary language" was still in use in western Ukraine in the first half of the nineteenth century (p. 227), although this applies only to some of the Galician texts of the period.

Rusanivs'kyj offers a listing of six Ukrainian multilingual dictionaries dating from the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries (pp. 231–232), claiming categorically that "the development of grammar and lexicography in Eastern Ukraine positively influenced the growth of scholarly attention to Ukraine in Galicia and Transcarpathian Ukraine" (p. 232). As Galicia and Transcarpathia are consistently presented in this textbook as underdeveloped regions, those lacking independent knowledge would never guess that of these six dictionaries, three particularly comprehensive and important ones were compiled in those very regions: the German-Ukrainian dictionary by Omeljan Partyc'kyj (1867), the Ukrainian-Hungarian dictionary by László Csopey (1883), and the Ukrainian-German dictionary by Jevhen Želexivs'kyj and Sofron Nedil's'kyj (1886).

– When Rusanivs'kyj mentions "scholarly and popular scholarly works" in Ukrainian (p. 232), the only author to whom he refers, besides Myxajlo Drahomanov, is Ivan Nečuj-Levyc'kyj, who worked predominantly along popular and journalistic lines (p. 232). Only later does he briefly mention the Ševčenko Society (p. 245), although in fact one might argue that neither the activity of Drahomanov nor, even less, that of Nečuj-Levyc'kyj approaches the significance of that organization for the establishment of the Ukrainian language in the sphere of scholarship and science.

– Rusanivs'kyj does mention that some Galician lexical material made its way into the Ukrainian language of Central and Eastern Ukraine. Interestingly, however, he almost always cites lexemes that have remained largely alien to Modern Standard Ukrainian. Only later, in an account of the discussion about Borys Hrinčenko's anti-Galician article "Galician poems" (Галицькі вірплі) of 1891 (pp. 247–248), does Rusanivs'kyj mention some Modern Standard Ukrainian words that are considered to be of Galician origin. If Rusaniv'kyj is at pains to emphasize in this particular context that not only Galicians but also "Dnipro Ukrainians," "above all" Myxajlo Hruševs'kyj (p. 247), were involved in the creation of such lexemes, then one can only agree with him, but, reading the textbook, one inclines more and more to the conclusion that the author simply wants to minimize the role of Galicia in the history of the Ukrainian language.

– In this book, even Ivan Franko's contribution is initially outlined in a mere paragraph. At the outset, Rusanivs'kyj condemns his use of Galician dialectisms and his original insistence on the legitimacy of Galician norms, going on to describe Franko's gradual approximation to Dnipro Ukrainian as something of a personal cleansing. As Rusanivs'kyj puts it, Franko finally "understood that no writer would find his way into the new Ukrainian literature without mastering the language of Kotljarevs'kyj and Ševčenko" (p. 252). Not much farther along in the text, however, one learns that as late as 1905, Franko spoke up for the Galician share in the development of Modern Standard Ukrainian (p. 265).¹³ As the individual who did most to expand the spectrum of genres in Ukrainian, the text recognizes an author who was outlawed in Soviet times—Pantelejmon Kuliš.¹⁴ By contrast, Ivan

¹³ The role of the *Literaturno-naukovyj visnyk*, which was published by Ivan Franko and Myxajlo Hruševs'kyj, is also briefly pointed out.

¹⁴ Ivan Puljuj, however, who provided Kuliš with significant assistance in his translation of the Bible, is mentioned with a with a misspelled surname ("Полюй"), and there is no hint of his Galician descent

Franko's no less impressive versatility as a Ukrainian-language prose writer and poet, journalist, and scholar goes almost unacknowledged.

Generally speaking, the formula of Galicia as a Ukrainian Piedmont ultimately remains strangely devoid of meaning.

It is also particularly striking that even in the chapter on the "Expansion of the functional boundaries of Ukrainian," the overwhelming emphasis on belles lettres remains unchanged. For unknown reasons, Rusanivs'kyj deems Pantelejmon Kuliš's historical novel *Čorna Rada* to be his greatest achievement with regard to the history of language. The rest of the chapter is concerned with writers such as Marko Vovčok, Leonid Hlibov, Ivan Nečuj-Levyc'kyj, Oleksa Storoženko, Myxajlo Staryc'kyj, Anatolij Svydnyc'kyj, Panas Myrnyj, and others. Particular attention is again paid to elements that are strikingly vernacular, folkloristic, or redolent of "everyday language" in their works (cf. pp. 236, 238 et al.).¹⁵

1.4. "At the turn of the century" (pp. 254–289)

In this chapter, Rusanivs'kyj begins by emphasizing—with good reason—the relaxation of censorship regulations for Ukrainian in 1905, as well as the publication of Borys Hrinčenko's four-volume dictionary in 1907–9 (p. 254). But his subsequent discussion of the allegedly new abstract lexicon at the turn of the century is hardly systematic and, in many respects, strikingly anachronistic. It remains wholly obscure what preconditions underlie the creation and composition of this lexicon, and the point is never made that any attempt to modernize a language cannot be restricted to vocabulary alone. The textbook deals far too briefly with the lively discussions about language that took place at the turn of the century (pp. 265–266), as if all the premises and results of those discussions were self-explanatory and self-evident. Once again, attention is focused on the language of belles lettres. On the basis of Rusanivs'kyj's discussion, the reader will be unable to fathom why he concludes that the turn of the twentieth century was "a highly fruitful period for the development of the Ukrainian literary language."¹⁶

2. Language- and nation-building from a more differentiated viewpoint

To be fair, it must be said that a handbook on the entire history of Standard Ukrainian such as the one discussed here can by no means be expected to be fully exhaustive or to meet every demand. Our criticism pertains, however, not only to issues of selection or focus but also to fundamental questions of methodology. As already mentioned, these questions concern not only the volume under discussion but any comprehensive monograph on the history of the Ukrainian language or any other.

⁽pp. 233-234).

¹⁵ Additionally, Jurij Fed'kovyč is mentioned in a single sentence as a western Ukrainian author who "adopted the views of Taras Ševčenko" (p. 242).

¹⁶ The Soviet Kurs (1958: 301–310) includes a section titled "The Language of the Scholarly and Journalistic Style," but it makes only a slight effort to move beyond the all too typical class-struggle rhetoric of the period.

Among the most serious flaws besetting synthetic accounts of the history of the Ukrainian language is that almost all of them tend to treat the term "literary language" ("літературна мова") as if it meant "the language of literature," especially with regard to the last two or three centuries. They perpetuate a not particularly convincing canon that was established largely on the basis of literary criteria, and then, even within this limited scope, often forget to ask further questions regarding the actual impact of such belletristic works on the development of the Ukrainian language. At any rate, they clearly overemphasize the importance of fine literature as compared with other genres and domains, which are often slighted or even completely ignored.

Future historical studies of the Ukrainian language will have to recognize the need to devote attention to a significantly larger area than the one defined by the current canons. If we simply refer to the milieu of the Prague School, which created a catalogue of the attributes of a modern standard language several decades ago, then we are in no danger of becoming utopians of theory, for such a catalogue ultimately amounts to little more than a mirror image of the goals and achievements to which language-builders one or more generations earlier usually aspired. If we then modify this catalogue of the Prague school and regard it as a catalogue of prototypical features (never completely attained in practice but only realized to a greater or lesser degree), the result will be a better idea not of when Ukrainian became a modern standard language, but when it was shaped into a standard language according to some specific criteria. What does this mean?¹⁷

Re feature 1: A standard language must be codified. Listing the allegedly most important attempts at codification is insufficient. Research in historical linguistics must take account of the ideological basis of such codification, as well as its actual impact and period of validity. Failed attempts at codification should also receive due attention in order to avoid anachronistic prejudice. Furthermore, it must be recognized that by no means every dictionary or every grammatical description, etc. can be considered an actual attempt at codification in the real sense (as modern dialectal dictionaries and descriptions of dialectal grammar systems also show). We should learn more about our grammars and dictionaries, etc., their authors, and their distribution.

Re feature 2: The norms of a standard language must be obligatory and generally accepted. As scholars dealing with the history of the Ukrainian language, we should not, of course, limit ourselves to searching for evidence of normative forms that were established only in due course. We should not only be able to assess any item of the corpus of the Ukrainian language with reference to its contemporary norms, regardless of what kind and how binding those norms may have been. We should also try to get a better understanding of the distribution of certain forms and variants in the course of time according to regional, social, gender, and other parameters. It would be wildly illusory to think that norms are ever accepted completely or by every member of a speech community.

¹⁷ Our five features are based on Aleksandr Isačenko's (1958: 42) summary of the Prague school catalogue. For a more recent discussion of Prague School approaches, see Nebeská 1996/1999.

Re feature 3: A standard language must be used as a polyvalent language in all functional domains of communication of a speech community. Historical linguistics should therefore study when, where, and how particular variants were introduced into given functional domains and genres. The field of administration and the public sphere as a whole is at least as important as that of belles lettres. Also of considerable interest are available personal records and correspondence of "ordinary people" from various regions and social strata. Even when an extensive corpus of literary work already exists in a given language, a train ticket, bank bill, postage stamp, or routine personal note may turn out to be a document of considerable historical and linguistic value.¹⁸

Re feature 4: A standard language must have supraregional validity. A history of the Ukrainian language should not treat the "national linguistic space" as a parameter established a priori but should examine the shares of various regions in the development of the standard language, as well as their interaction and the penetration of the supraregional variety into those regions and/or its rejection. Other questions to be asked are the following: What does supraregionality ultimately mean in a given context? How large must the region to be bridged be? How much uniformity must be achieved by bridging dialectal differences of how much variety so that one can speak of a successful supraregional coordination?

Re feature 5: A standard language must be stylistically differentiated. Questions of stylistic differentiation are problematic to begin with, given that the term "style" is still largely fuzzy and subject to highly diverse interpretations. What is clear is that our questions regarding style should certainly not be reduced to the domain of belles lettres or to the linguistic level of lexicon. All our evaluations should be based on an effort to comprehend what style might have been deemed appropriate at different times, depending on location, social stratum, etc., including oral style (to the extent that it can be reconstructed).

More intensively than heretofore, a modern Ukrainian historical linguistics will take account of the fact that languages have been and are developed not only within specific framing conditions pertaining to the history of ideas but also within those pertaining to history and administration. It will seek inspiration from the more modern approaches of language planning (see Cooper 1989) and language management (see Nekvapil 2007) and will utilize methodological approaches such as those successfully applied, for example, to the study of endangered languages (Bourhis–Landry 2008). Mutatis mutandis, the same factors can be decisive for revitalizing present-day endangered languages. Consequently, demographic factors must also be incorporated into our research, as well as factors of institutional support and control in areas such as education and administration, the military, religion, economics, the media, and diverse social associations. Another factor to be considered is that of status—of speech communities as well as of languages

¹⁸ The goal should be to expand Ukrainian historical linguistics in the spirit of "language history from below" (see Elspaß 2005).

themselves, and its change over time (ibid.). Finally, a history of the Ukrainian (standard) language must not be limited in coverage to the territory of Ukraine— Ukrainian as a language of the diaspora must be an integral part of it.

A study of the history of the Ukrainian language that attempts to follow such guidelines will certainly revive the currently much too limited dialogue with the historical sciences. Combining the results of that dialogue with maximum possible knowledge of the written and oral text sources, as well as their intra- and extralinguistic foundations, will produce a new, more convincing image of the history of the Ukrainian language and thus make the process of Ukrainian nation-building appear in a clearer light than has been available until now.

POPULISTS EDITING "OLD RUTHENIANS": "RUTHENIAN" (UKRAINIAN) TEXTBOOKS FOR GALICIAN PRIMARY SCHOOLS

1. Textbooks for Galician Ukrainian primary schools and their milieu

It is reasonable to assume that widely used school textbooks have contributed at least as much as grammars to the general dissemination of linguistic norms.¹ Nineteenth-century Galician "Ruthenians" (Ukrainians) learned, on the basis of textbooks compiled for them, to read and write the language that the authors of those textbooks regarded as their mother tongue or, more precisely, as an appropriate high variety of their mother tongue. This high variety necessarily differed from their actual mother tongue, that is, various Ukrainian dialects, as is the case with every standard language, even if the latter is firmly based on the vernacular. Primers and textbooks, especially those for elementary schools, were undoubtedly among the Galician Ruthenian (Ukrainian) books with the broadest readership, as witnessed by the frequency of their new editions. Nevertheless, hardly any research has been done on these textbooks, and existing accounts of the history of the Ukrainian standard language devote no attention to these sources.

The following pages focus on the question of which language was taught to Galician "Ruthenian" pupils as the high variety of their mother tongue and also, in part, on which images of "Ruthenian" identity were conveyed to them by these textbooks. To date, I have mainly analyzed textbooks of the period before 1848, and only extracts from those published in the decades immediately after 1848 (see the studies in Moser 2011: 384–666), but I am now turning my attention to textbooks of the early 1870s, the period in which the so-called "populists" took over responsibility from the Galician Russophiles for designing teaching aids for the Galician Ruthenians.² All four textbooks discussed here were printed in 1871 and 1872; hence they present the opportunity to carry out a synchronic comparison, so to speak. The following textbooks will be analyzed:

 Букварь дла школь народныхъ въ аистрійской державѣ. Льво̂въ. Въ цѣс. кор. на́кладѣ шко́льныхъ книжо́къ Ставропигійского Институ́та. 1872 (Стоитъ оправный 17 нов. кр.) (henceforth: В 1872). In all likelihood, this is the fifth edition of the textbook. An identical title first appears in editions issued by the Lviv Stauropegial Institute in the mid-1860s. The third edition (1868) had already been corrected by a representative of the early populists, Vasyl' Il'nyc'kyj, the director of the Lviv Academic Gymnasium and chairman of the government commission for the preparation of gymnasium textbooks (Repertuar 1995: 307). In 1870, an edition titled "Букварь дла шко̂лъ наро̂дныхъ, Въ Вѣдни. Въ цѣс. кор. на́кладѣ шко̂льныхъ книжо́къ. 1870

¹ This article is a summary of my monograph of 2007 (Moser 2007).

² On the Russophiles and their language behavior, see Wendland 2001, my review (Moser 2004), and some studies in Moser 2011 (particularly 602–626); see also my study on Ivan Naumovyč in this volume.

(Стои́тъ опра́влена 16 нов. кр.)" (henceforth: В 1870) had appeared in Vienna. Additionally, numerous common features of both primers can already be detected in Vasyl' Koval's'kyj's "Рускій и польскій букварь для оучилищъ народныхъ въ ц. к. аистрійскихъ краяхъ – Polski i ruski Elementarz dla szkół ludowych w c. k. austryackich krajach. Въ Въдни. 1855. Ц. к. Дире́кціа накла́ду школныхъ книжо́къ (Стои́тъ опра́вный 10 кр. к. м. Kosztuje oprawny 10 kr. w M. K.)" (henceforth: В 1855).

- 2) "Руска Чи́танка дла II. клѧ́сы шко̂лъ на́родныхъ въ короле́ствѣ Гали́ціїи и Лодоме́ріїи и въ вели́ко̂мъ кнѧ́зъствѣ кра́ко̂вско̂мъ. Во̂ Льво́вѣ. Въ цѣс. кор. на́кладѣ шко́льныхъ книжо́къ Ставропигі́йского Институ́та. 1872 (Цѣна̀ съ опра́вою 28 нов. кр.)" (henceforth: Č 2 1872). A number of textbooks with similar titles had already been published after 1850. It would appear that one of their basic versions was the "Руска перва языкоучебна читанка для первого [другого] о̂тряда школъ народных в цѣсарствѣ Австріи," which was first printed in Vienna in 1853, with the Galician Russophile Antin Dobrjans'kyj identified as the author (Repertuar 1995: 121). Another edition of this textbook, titled "Ру́ска пе́рвша ѧзыкоуче́бна Читанка. Стои́тъ опра́влена 27 нов. кр. Въ Вѣдни. Въ цѣс. кор. на́кладѣ шко̂льныхъ книжо́къ. 1870" (henceforth: Č 2 1870), had been published in Vienna in 1870.
- 3) "Вто́ра ру́ска Чи́танка дла тре́тёи кла́сы шко̂лъ на́родныхъ въ короле́в. Гали́ціїи и Володими́ріїи и вел. кназъс. Кра́ко̂вского, Во̂ Львовѣ. Въ цѣс. кор. на́кладѣ шко̂льныхъ книжо́къ Ставропигі́йского Институ́та. 1871 (Цѣна̀ зъ опра́вою 39 нов. кр.)" (henceforth: Č 3 1871). There are multiple predecessors for this textbook as well, in particular a "Руска Друга Читанка дла шко̂лъ народныхъ въ аvстрійско̂й Державѣ. Вѣдень. Въ цѣс. кор. накладѣ шко̂льныхъ книжокъ. 1859 (Цѣна́ съ опра́вою 47 нов. кр.)" (henceforth: Č 3 1859), which was most probably compiled by the Galician Russophile Bohdan Didyc'kyj.
- 4) "Ру́ска Чи́танка дла четве́ртои кла́сы шко̂лъ на́родныхъ въ Галичинѣ; зложи́въ Оста́пъ Леви́цкїй. Льво̂въ. Въ цѣс. кор. на́кладѣ шко́льныхъ книжо́къ Ставропигі́йского Институ́та. 1872 (Цѣна̀ зъ опра́вою 55 нов. кр.)" (henceforth: Č 4 1872). This is an original work of the populist Ostap Levyc'kyj.³

In the following, a comparison with earlier teaching aids, some of which had been printed just two years earlier, will show that the textbooks of 1871 and 1872 discussed here represent the first generation of Galician Ukrainian textbooks on the basis of which courses in the mother tongue would be conducted for several years in an idiom clearly based on the Ukrainian vernacular. These textbooks confirm an important observation that applies not only to Galician Ukrainian textbooks of the early 1870s but also to earlier ones: their language could differ fundamentally from

³ As for peculiar characteristics and differences on the title pages of these textbooks, see Moser 2007: 33–41.

one edition to the next because they were subject to repeated revision according to the changing or varying conceptions of their authors or editors (see Moser 2011: 384–666). Even the language of the textbooks of 1871 and 1872 was not yet fully homogenized or standardized. In particular, it was still characterized by sporadically occuring residues of Church Slavonic or Russian that have not found their way into Modern Standard Ukrainian.

As has often been overlooked, even Galician Ukrainian textbooks prepared by the Russophile generation had included reading passages largely devised according to Galician Ukrainian vernacular traditions. However, especially in reading passages on "elevated subjects," the texts had very often fallen back on Church Slavonic or Russian linguistic material. Some textbooks of the first half of the nineteenth century had largely switched to Church Slavonic for religious topics, even apart from their Church Slavonic passages from the Bible. If the textbooks were multilingual (as had usually been the case in the first half of the nineteenth century), then abstract secular subjects such as the Galician and Austrian social order had often been conveyed in Polish.

The Galician populists, of course, had a different agenda: most importantly, in abandoning many generic Galician Ukrainian linguistic forms, they did so not in favor of Church Slavonic or Polish but in order to develop an all-Ukrainian written language. In other words, they now began to adopt, to various degrees, those linguistic norms that had arisen among the Ukrainians of the Russian Empire, as they saw them reflected in the works of Taras Ševčenko or Pantelejmon Kuliš.

The textbooks are also remarkable for their content. The passages in textbooks for the first to third grades of primary school are evidently based mainly on German models that were translated into the languages of the monarchy to instill not only a Christian world view but also a kind of all-Austrian patriotism. But all four textbooks also display independent Ruthenian elements in varying degrees.

In 1873, the Austrian ministry of education wanted to present as impressive a depiction as possible of Austrian schooling in the context of a world's fair that took place in Vienna. On the occasion of the world's fair, a so-called Bericht über österreichisches Unterrichtswesen (Report on Austrian Schooling) was printed, for which Vasyl' Il'nyc'kyj supplied a contribution on the schooling of Ruthenians (Il'nyc'kyj 1873). In this article, Il'nyc'kyj reported that there were 1,293 primary schools with Ruthenian as the language of instruction in Galicia, noting that that language was used mainly in schools with one or two grades, while in higher primary schools with three or four grades the Ruthenian language figured mostly as a subject, while the main language of instruction was Polish (see also Sirka 1980: 73–84 and Moser 2007: 15–16). Il'nyc'kyj also pointed out that a commission had been appointed in 1869 by the Galician Landesschulrat (advisory board including representatives of schools, pupils, and parents) to "break ground for the free development of the living Ruthenian language on a vernacular basis" ("der freien Entwicklung der lebenden ruthenischen Sprache in volkstümlicher Weise Bahn zu brechen") (Burger 1995: 61). This appeared to be all the more important because compulsory education had been reintroduced only in 1872, following its temporary suspension in Galicia (Sirka 1980: 79).

2.1. The primer of 1872

This classic primer leads the pupil from letters to first words and first sentences, while syllabification initially attempts to make reading easier. In many cases, material taken from previous editions has been altered, usually in the spirit of greater Ukrainization. This is already apparent from the fact that, compared to B 1870, exercise 21 on the letter π in B 1872 adds the letter combination $\partial \pi$ for the generic Ukrainian affricate, as in the now newly introduced forms *sú∂жy* (as opposed to Modern Ukrainian δa_{44}), $\lambda \dot{a} c \partial \mathcal{K} \delta^4$ as well as $x \delta \partial \mathcal{K} \delta$ (B 1872: 13). Furthermore, compared to B 1855 (pp. 19 and 20) and B 1870 (pp. 25 and 29), B 1872 phoneticizes the previous spellings ави́лса and кнажи́лъ in sentences such as Ангелъ вви́вса Авраа́му and Рю́рикъ кнажи́въ въ Ру́си (В 1872: 25; 28). In В 1872, one reads *He добра б8ла́, бо би́ла дити́н8* (р. 31), in B 1855 (р. 22), and in B 1870 (р. 31) one can still find $\delta \delta (\lambda a)$ (additionally, $\partial \pm m \ell \mu s$), which is widespread in numerous southwestern Ukrainian dialects and would, incidentally, have suited the context more appropriately because this reading passage concerns the (now eliminated) homophonic (or, in the Lemko dialects, paronymic) forms (δúλα – δbíλα). One now encounters 6be (B 1872: 54) instead of Church Slavonic 6ié (cf. also: Polish bije) in B 1855 (p. 62) and *bemv* without the soft sign and with *-mv* in the ending in B 1870 (p. 52). Many other changes are apparent throughout on all linguistic levels. The following comparison of the rhymed "Пра́вила у́ченикамъ" (В 1872: 82-84) with its predecessor versions shows this:

B 1872: 82-84:

Коли вхо́дишь до шко́лы, о́тчинѧ́й две́рû пово́ли, и пе́рше сѧ поклони́ ладно́ на всѣ сто́роны; пото̂мъ до ла́вки сѣда́й, че́сно сѧ тамъ захова́й, щобъ тѧ ко́ждый полюби́въ и оучи́тель похвали́въ.

До заба́вы бу́де хви́лѣ по скôнчéhôмъ дóбрôмъ дѣ́лѣ: коли́ скôнчéна робóта, тогды́ милѣ́йша охóта.

B 1870: 78-80:

Когда́ вхо́дишь до шко́лы, отворай⁵ дверь пово́ли, и пе́рвше са поклони́ красно́ на всѣ сто́роны; потôмъ до ла́вки сѣда́й, че́стно са тамъ захо́в%й⁶, щобъ та ко́ждый полюби́лъ, и оучи́тель похвали́лъ.

До заба́вы бу́детъ хви́лѣ по доко̂нче́но̂мъ до́бро̂мъ дѣ́лѣ: когда ско̂нче́на робо́та, тогда́ милѣ́йша охо́та.

B 1855: 108-109:

Коли вхо́дишь до шко́лы, о́тчина́й дверъ пово́ли, и пе́рвше са поклони́ ладно́ на всѣ сто́роны; потôмъ до ла́вки сѣда́й, че́стно са тамъ захова́й, щобъ та ко́ждый полюби́лъ и оучи́тель похвали́лъ.

До заба́вы б¥де́ хви́лѣ по оусоверше́нно̂мъ дѣ́лѣ: коли ско̂нче́на робо́та, тогда́ милѣ́йша охо́та.

6 Only the imperfective instead of the perfective aspect is used here.

⁴ The word *λάεοдumu* also exists in Modern Standard Ukrainian; Kuzelja–Rudnyc'kyj 1987 (first published 1943) and URS 1953–1963 codify it without restrictions (further references to "both dictionaries used" pertain to these dictionaries). Jurij Ševel'ov (2003: 94) identifies prefixed *πολαεοдumu* (with no stress indicated) as a Galicianism.

⁵ The equivalents from the textbooks of 1855 and 1872 are actually preferred in contemporary Standard Ukrainian: one says *siduunúmu dsépi*, and so on.

When you enter the school, open the door slowly, and begin by bowing graciously in all directions. Then sit down on the bench and behave well there, so that everone loves you and the teacher praises you.

First finish your work, then there will be time for entertainment. As work is done, leisure will be even more pleasant.⁷

In almost all cases, editorial changes, some of them substantial, were clearly made in favor of the vernacular, never in the opposite direction. In multiple cases, the innovations of B 1872 had already been anticipated in the textbook released two years earlier; in other cases, changes from B 1870 were not incorporated into B 1872 (for instance, the substitution of κοιδά for the vernacular κολύ in two instances).⁸ The textbook passages cited above are meant to speak for themselves, but the following changes deserve brief mention: the use of the pluralia tantum form $\partial s \dot{e} p \hat{u}$ (cf. Modern Standard Ukrainian $\partial s e p \dot{i}$, Polish drzwi) instead of the singular form $\partial sep b^9$ (cf. Russian $\partial sep b$); the phonetization of spelling in the preterite and conditional forms norbolisb, noxbarlisb instead of norbolizb, noxbarlizb, etc., as well as in népule instead of népelue and vécho instead of vécmho. In the second verse, a phonological feature characteristic of numerous southwestern Ukrainian dialects is the most noteworthy item: In До забавы буде хвиль по сконченомь добромъ дѣлѣ: коли скончена робота, тогды милѣйша охота (as in B 1872), the word $x \delta u \lambda b$, which occurs in this form in all versions, should probably be considered a nominative singular and, if so, it ought to have been spelled x_{BUAA} . However, as the pronunciation of 'a can be elevated in many Galician dialects and can also yield 'i, the (inexact) rhyme for $\partial t_{\lambda} b$ is maintained in the proverb. In these extracts from B 1872, as well as in the predecessor textbooks, the particle is movable, as this is also very common in Galician dialects (Žylko 1958: 59–60). Accordingly, we find *ca* поклони́, см [...] захова́й, ¹⁰ etc. in the text. All textbooks also use enclitic personal pronouns (such as *m*_A in this instance) without restriction.¹¹

Numerous conservative features from earlier versions, such as the Church Slavonicism or Russianism *oycoBepuéhHôMb* (locative singular neuter) in this instance, have been replaced (> $\partial o\kappa \partial h u \acute{e} h \partial mb$), with only a few remaining. Incidentally, it had already been quite common to phrase codes of conduct on the basis of the vernacular in earlier Galician Ukrainian and Transcarpathian Ukrainian textbooks (see Moser 2011: 366–383). In textbooks such as B 1872, however, their linguistic character no longer differs fundamentally from that of the other reading passages.

⁷ Unless otherwise indicated, I translate only the version of 1872 (or 1871).

⁸ Neither of the dictionaries used mentions κοι∂ά, nor is the word to be encountered in Želexivs'kyj 1886.

⁹ Both dictionaries used codify the word only as a pluralia tantum; the same applies to Želexivs'kyj 1886.

¹⁰ In both dictionaries, the word appears only in the meaning 'to hide oneself,' but cf. Polish zachow(yw)ac się 'to behave oneself.' This meaning is also recorded in Želexivs'kyj 1886.

¹¹ The enclitic personal forms *ms* and *ms* as well as *mu* and *mu* are also legitimated by Church Slavonic. The corresponding Polish forms should also be mentioned: *mie*, *cie*, *mi*, *ci*, as well as *go* and *mu*.

Only the table of contents, in which one encounters numerous headings that do not appear in the text proper, shows considerable linguistic deviation from the other extracts:

Содержа́нье. – І. Зву́ки и бу́квы. – Чистогла́сныи [...], Пол8гла́сна й со сли́тною въ скла́дѣ съ гла́сными и розли́чїе гла́сныхъ е и є [...] Сложе́ни̂ гла́сни̂ [...], сами̂ въ со́бѣ и въ соедине́ніїю съ пол8гла́сною й [...] Созв8́чни̂ пла́вни̂ [...] зу́бни̂, гу́бни̂, горта́нни̂, шипѧ́чи̂, по̂днебе́нныи, Созв8́чни̂ съ гла́сною пере́дъ ни́ми [...] сло́ги изъ гла́снои съ созв8́чною пере́дъ и за не́ю ра́зомъ [...] Знаки́ просо́діи (гласовдаре́ньѧ) [...] Гла́сныи $\hat{o}, \hat{c}, \hat{e}$ [...] Уче́нье изъ возрѣ́нія [...] Вещества́ къ поглѧ́дв [...] (The table of contents largely corresponds to that in B 1855, except that the latter contains hardly any indications of stress.)

Table of contents. I. Sounds and letters. Pure vowels.... The semi-vowel *j* in conjunction with vowels in a syllable and the difference between the vowels *e* and *je*.... Compound vowels...in isolation and in combination with the semi-vowel *j*.... Liquid...dental, labial, guttural, sibilant, and velar consonants, Consonants preceded by a vowel...syllables with a vowel preceded and followed by consonants.... Prosodic features (vowel stress).... The vowels \hat{o} , \hat{e} , \ddot{e} Visual learning.... Objects to look at.

From the language of this table of contents, one could hardly predict that the text proper of B 1872 is written almost exclusively in a vernacular-based variant, with very few Church Slavonic or Russian residues. Interestingly, even when equivalents to the headings in this table of contents appear in the body text, they often differ in form: for example, the headings $3Ha\kappa i$ npocódiu (znacosdapéHbA) and Beuųecmsá κb noznados in the table of contents appear in the text proper as $3Ha\kappa i$ npocódiu (znacosdapéHbA) and Pfuu do noznados. The most likely explanation for this anomaly is that the table of contents (already outlined in essence in B 1855) simply was not submitted to the editors of the textbook (the textbook of 1870 does not feature a table of contents) and consequently underwent no linguistic editing.

A "Note to the Teacher" ("Примѣ́тка длѧ оучи́телѧ"), printed in an adapted version of the civil script, appears at the end of the primer of 1872. Aside from its content, this item is of linguistic interest in that it shows which language the editors considered appropriate for a mature intellectual readership:

Пе́рше, зачûмъ нау́ка въ чи́танью начне́ся, упереди́ти пови́нно поуче́ніє по́гладомъ въ розгово́рахъ съ дѣтьми́. Имена́ пре́дмето̂въ на 40 сторонѣ́ приве́денû, взя́ти изъ найбли́зшого окруже́нія дѣте́й, послу́жать дово́льно до пе́ршихъ таки́хъ розгово́рôвъ. Учи́тель зверта́є ува́гу дѣте́й на всё то́є, що въ шко́лѣ пере́дъ очи́ма ма́ють, або́ ука́зує имъ образки́; ка́же взира́ти на тако́выи, и рѣчь ко́жду назва́ти, такъ розмавля́ючи съ ни́ми, всё приво́дитъ пôдъ змы́слы ихъ. Вопро́сы: що есть се? како́е то есть? до чо́го тоє? где оно́ нахо́дитъ ся? и т. п. послу́жатъ на ни́тку розмо́вы. [...] Въ тôмже часѣ съ нау́кою чи́танья по мо́жности и нау́ку пи́санья сполуча́ти нале́житъ. – Сло́ги, изъ páзу поєди́нчû, прибира́ютъ постепе́нно и прихо́дять до труднѣйшихъ многосло́жныхъ (В 1872: 97–98). Before reading instruction begins, it must be preceded by visual instruction in conversations with the children. The names of objects given on page 40, which are taken from the children's closest surroundings, are sufficient for initial conversations of this kind. The teacher draws the children's attention to all that they see before them in school or shows them pictures; he tells them to look at them and name each object. Conversing with them in this manner, he brings everything close to their senses. The questions "What is this?", "What is this like?", "What is this for?", "Where is it?", etc. will constitute the thread of the conversation.... Reading instruction should be combined as much as possible with writing instruction. They gradually acquire the syllables, at first only individual ones, and then proceed to the more complicated ones (B 1872: 97–98).

The language of this note, with its comparative abundance of partly adapted Russianisms or Church Slavonicisms such as *poszosópaxb* (locative plural), *ynompe6uímu, & poýveMb* (both elsewhere in this text), etc., some of which even found their way into Zenon Kuzelja and Jaroslav Rudnyc'kyj's dictionary, is in some respects more redolent of the traditions of textbooks of the 1850s than the body text, and some scholars might therefore tend to define its language as "jazyčije." But the use of that exceedingly problematic term for this sample, as compared to much more heavily Russianized variants of "Ruthenian," does not do justice to the frequent earlier use of the vernacular, especially in the 1850s and 1860s (Moser 2011: 641–66). All in all, even the "Note to the Teacher" is definitely Ukrainian-oriented, with Russian and Church Slavonic figuring more as residual elements of an earlier linguistic ethos that has already been superseded. We are by no means dealing here with the superficially Ruthenianized Russian language for which I have elsewhere proposed the term "Russo-Ruthenian" (Moser 2002a, Moser 2011: 602–626).

Thematically, as the "Note to the Teacher" indicates, B 1872 concentrates mainly on the children's immediate experience in everyday rural life and in school. Added to this are some general instructions concerning the Christian faith, as well as a number of proverbs and pieces of folk wisdom. In a section seemingly concerned only with the acquisition of reading skills, one also finds some brief sentences on Ruthenian affairs interspersed with sentences on other subjects. Selecting the former category of sentences and putting them in order, we find the following affirmations:

Рю́рикъ кнажи́въ въ Ру́си. Одна́ Ольга кнажи́ла. Въ́ру христїа́нску Владимі́ръ прина́въ. Рома́нъ сынъ Мстисла́ва. Левъ – кназь основа́въ Льво̂въ. Гео́ргій кназь Га́лича. Роксола́на изъ Рогатина́. Чупри́нъ го́латъ Черке́ссы. Жолко̂вскихъ роди́на изъ Жо́лквы. – Во́ды Щавни́цкû кваснû. Са́нокъ лежи́тъ надъ Са́номъ, Са́мбо̂ръ надъ Днѣстро́мъ. За́мокъ въ Замо́стью. Перейде́ Проко̂пъ въ Перемы́шль. Жида́чъ́въ бувъ го́родъ судовы́й. Щастли́во гостили до Щи́рця. Збо́ро̂въ и Зало̂зцъ въ Зо́лоче̂вско̂мъ. Оуро́чій Оунъ̀въ. Станисла́во̂въ обнима́ютъ двѣ Бы́стрицѣ. Гости́нецъ¹²

¹² Cf. the meaning given by Kuzelja-Rudnyc'kyj 1943/1987: "Geschenk; westukr[ainisch] auch

въ Городе́нку. Давнѣ́йшій Дрого́бычъ не̂жь Добро́миль. Туда [sic, no stress indicated] на Теребо́влю въ Терно́по̂ль. За Золотника́ми Залѣ́щики. Коломы́а недале́ка Клю́чева. Черно̂вцѣ́ надъ Пру́томъ. Оубѣ́гъ до Оу́горъ въ Оужго́родъ. Камене́цъ на Подо̂лю. За грани́цею¹³ – Жито́мирь [sic, soft]. Кі́ввъ въ Оукра́инѣ. Перекажи́ въ Перевсла́вль.

Rjuryk ruled in Rus'. Ol'ha alone ruled. Vladymyr was the one who adopted the Christian faith. Roman is Mstyslav's son. Prince Lev founded Lviv. Heorhij [Jurij] is the prince of Halych. Roksoljana is from Rohatyn. The Cherkasians [Cossacks] shave their hair. The Žolkovs'kyj family is from Zhovkva. The waters of Shchavnytsia are acidic waters. Sanok is on the San, Sambir on the Dnister. The castle in Zamość. Prokip will go to Przemyśl. Zhydachiv was a town with a lawcourt. They luckily arrived in Shchyrets. Zboriv and Zaliztsi are in the Zolochiv [region]. Univ is wonderful. Stanyslaviv [present-day Ivano-Frankivsk] is washed by two Bystrytsia Rivers [Solotvynska Bystrytsia and Nadvirnianska Bystrytsia]. The country road to Horodenka. Drohobych is older than Dobromyl. That is the direction to Ternopil via Terebovlia. Zalishchyky is beyond Zolotnyky. Kolomyia is not far from Kliuchiv. Chernivtsi is on the Prut. He fled to Uzhhorod in Hungary. Kamianets is in Podilia. Zhytomyr is across the border. Kyiv is in Ukraine. Forward the message to Pereiaslav.

These sentences, which are scattered throughout the textbook, present some important key words and notions that could allow teachers to convey the principal facts about Kyivan Rus' and the Kingdom of Galicia-Volhynia to their pupils. The primer mentions the Cossacks, who shaved their hair (stated in the present tense). The hint that the Żółkiewski family, with its famous Grand Hetman Stanisław Żółkiewski, comes from Zhovkva emphasizes the fact that prominent aristocratic families of early modern times and Cossack leaders also had their roots in Galician Ruthenia. The places named in the textbook are also remarkable: they include not only Galician towns but also cities in the Russian Empire, namely Kamianets-Podilskyi; Zhytomyr, about which the text explicitly says that it is located "across the border"; Kyiv, about which the text says only that it is located in "Ukraine" (in the narrower nineteenthcentury meaning);¹⁴ and Pereiaslav, which offered teachers sufficient pretext to speak of the Cossacks and above all about Bohdan Xmel'nyc'kyj's alliance of 1654 with Tsar Aleksej Mixajlovič, which had led to the incorporation of Left-Bank Ukraine and Kyiv into the Russian Empire. Notably, the outlook conveyed by the primer leads the pupil no farther east than Kyiv, marking large Ukrainian-speaking territories (as distinct from Russian and Belarusian ones) on his or her mental map.

On the basis of these sample sentences, teachers could convey to their pupils that the aforementioned places, as well the catchment area of the school, were all

Chaussee, Landstraße" (gift; also, in western Ukr[ainian], highway, country road). In its first meaning, URS 1953–1963 classifies the word as "разг[оворное]" (coll[oquial]); the second meaning, encountered here, is denoted as "обл[астное]" (regional).

¹³ The derivational basis грани́ця is also considered a Galicianism (Ševel'ov 2003: 79).

¹⁴ Also remarkable in *σъ Οyκpáuн b* is the choice of preposition and stress, which later became a political issue.

located in "Rus" and inhabited by "Ruthenians" who spoke the same language as they.¹⁵ That allowed them to create preconditions for the general dissemination of a Ruthenian and—in the form presented here—ultimately an all-Ukrainian national awareness in the children's imagination. As noted earlier, it was not only the edition of 1872 that offered such possibilities: they were already present in the edition prepared by Vasyl' Koval's'kyj, who was widely regarded as a Russophile. Irrespective of Koval's'kyj's original intention—given the censorship, he would have had no scope for the inclusion of ethnically Russian territory in the primer—his material could readily be adapted to promote the concerns of the populists.

2.2. The textbook of 1872 for the second grade of primary school

Compared to its predecessors, the textbook for the second grade of primary school grade also features numerous changes. An extract from the reading passage "До́брый примѣ́ръ" (A Good Example) may serve as an example (Č 2 1872: 114–115). In this anecdote, Emperor Franz I shows himself to be the "father of the rich and poor" in Baden near Vienna. A remarkable aspect of the extract is the form of Ruthenian that the author has the emperor speak:

Č 2 1872: 114–115:

Цѣ́саръ Францъ перебува́въ въ лѣ́тѣ ро́ку 1832 въ мѣ́стѣ Ба́денѣ, чоты́ри ми́лѣ во̂дъ Вѣ́дна [...] Разъ стрѣ́тивъ Цѣ́сарь чотырёхъ люді́й, котрû тру́мну на цми́нтарь несли́. [...] нѣкто́ не йшовъ за не́ю. Уви́дѣвши тоє Цѣ́сарь, поки́вавъ голово́ю и сказа́въ до това́риша сво́го: "Бувъ то пе́вно ду́же убо́гїй чоловѣ́къ, коли́ на по́хоронѣ єго́ не ма нѣко́го; в отце́мъ убо́гихъ и бога́тыхъ, по̂ду́ за тру́мною єго́!" [...] Цѣ́сарь во̂дкры́въ на́божно го́лову́ [...].

Č 2 1870: 110–111:

Цѣ́саръ Францъ перебыва́лъ въ лѣ́тѣ ро́ку 1832. въ мѣ́стѣ Ба́денѣ, четы́ри ми́лѣ о̂тъ Вѣ́днѧ [...] Разъ стрѣ́тилъ Цѣ́сарь четыріохъ люде́й, котрû тру́мну на цми́нтарь несли́. [...] никто́ не ишолъ за не́ю. Оуви́дѣвши тоє Цѣ́сарь, поки́валъ си́вою голово́ю и сказа́лъ до това́риша сво́го: "Былъ то пе́вно ду́же оубо́гій чоловѣ́къ, коли́ на по́хоронѣ єго́ нема́ нико́го; котце́мъ оубо́гихъ и бога́тыхъ, по̂йду́ тому́ за тру́мною єго́!" [...] Цѣ́сарь о̂ткры́лъ набо́жно го́лову [...].

Emperor Franz spent the summer of 1832 in the town of Baden, four miles from Vienna. Once the emperor met four people carrying a coffin to the graveyard.... No one was following it. On seeing this, the emperor nodded his head and said to his companion: "This was certainly a very poor man, as there is no one here at his funeral. I am the father of the poor and the rich. I will follow his coffin!".... The emperor piously doffed his hat....

The language of this anecdote is largely oriented on the vernacular, as shown by the following examples (unless otherwise indicated, both versions are largely identical): *nepe686άβ*⁵ (instead of *nepe6616άλ*⁵, as in Č 2 1870); the genitive form

¹⁵ On national identity and the concept of homeland among nineteenth-century Galician Ukrainian peasants, see the convincing observations in Jaroslav Hrycak's recent biography of Ivan Franko (Hrycak 2006: 129–144).

359

 $p \delta \kappa \theta$; the substantive in $\delta b \ m \delta c m \delta$; the Ukrainian forms of the numeral $u o m \delta p u$; чотырёхъ with o after the sibilant instead of четы́ри and четырĭохъ, as in Č 2 1870;¹⁶ the spellings bôdb and bôdkpubb instead of ômb and ômkpubb, as in Č 2 1870; the relative pronoun $\kappa omp\hat{u}$ in the generic Ukrainian vernacular form, as well as the substantives mp&mH& (accusative singular)¹⁷ and umuhmapb.¹⁸ The spelling of the negative particles in *HBKmó* and *HBKózo* (the latter from the emperor's speech), with *b* for [i], which is more appropriate for phonological reasons, is noteworthy, cf. the traditional никто́ and нико́го in Č 2 1870; the dissimilation of the initial consonant of etymological *kbmo*, which was generally adopted in Galician (but not Transcarpathian) dialects, is not yet consistently expressed in Č 2 1872 (AUM II 1988: map 214). Furthermore, Č 2 1872 now gives móe instead of mo, as in Č 2 1870 (both forms are to be encountered in southwestern Ukrainian dialects). In this reading passage, the rendering of the approximant in He йшовь (instead of He ишо́ль from the 1870 version) is also worth mentioning. The form $n\partial\partial\delta'$ from the emperor's speech appears without *j* in the root (cf. Modern Standard Ukrainian nidy), contrary to $n\partial uds'$ in Č 2 1870, which is, of course, also to be found in some Ukrainian dialects.¹⁹ One also encounters бвы instead of быль, as in Č 2 1870, néвно, двже, and again чолов ѣкъ instead of yenos two, as in Č 2 1870—all these forms appear in the emperor's direct speech, which also features the vernacular forms коли́ and не ма (Č 2 1870: нема́, сf. Polish *nie ma*). The form *ezó*, which the emperor uses in his speech in both versions of the textbook, is authentic in Galicia, just like $\epsilon M \dot{y}$; along with these, the Galician dialects also feature forms of the type \ddot{e}_{20} and \ddot{e}_{MY} (with initial stress; \dot{Z} ylko 1958: 57), as they would have been spelled according to the orthography of Č 2 1872. The only form that characterizes the emperor linguistically as superior to the "common people" is to be encountered in the sentence a omuémb ybóruxb u borámbaxb, where the noun, which occurs here, surprisingly, in the predicative instrumental with the zero copula, appears in the conservative spelling *omų*- instead of *sômų*-. In the earlier version of the textbook, this latter orthographic fact has no special meaning because the form without prothesis and the marking of the reflex of *o* in the newly closed syllable is omnipresent. In the 1872 version, however, one finds, inter alia, the chapter heading CASXAU bômuá (Obey Your Father), referring to a biological father, with *sômu*^{*A*} deliberately chosen to replace the form *omu*^{*A*}, which appears in the 1870 version. There is no doubt that in the special case of the emperor's speech, the editors were just as deliberate in deciding to make no change-a decision that elevated the emperor whose speech was otherwise so "normal" into the exalted sphere after all (cf. also Modern Standard Ukrainian отець, as in духовний отець "Reverend Father" or Святіший Оте́ць "Holy Father").

¹⁶ Incidentally, the version of 1870 also gives *λιοθέŭ* instead of *λιοθίŭ*; both forms are to be encountered in Ukrainian dialects.

¹⁷ Cf. Polish *trumna* and Modern Standard Ukrainian *труна́*, by comparison, only Kuzelja–Rudnyc'kyj 1943/1987, but not URS 1953–1963, mention the form *"тру́мна = труна́."*

¹⁸ Cf. Polish *cmentarz* and Modern Standard Ukrainian $\mu_{\beta}\mu_{map}$; by comparison, only 1943/1987, but not URS 1953–1953, mentions the form $\mu_{\beta}\mu_{map}$ with the reference " $\rightarrow \mu_{\beta}\mu_{map}$."

¹⁹ On its distribution in the dialects, see AUM 1988: map 100.

The reading passage of this textbook that was most sophisticated in content, "Мѣ́саць и звѣ́зды" (The Moon and the Stars), had not appeared in the 1870 version. It was meant to convey basic knowledge about the solar system as simply as possible. In this passage, the editors of the 1872 textbook were also highly intent on phrasing their explanations in language based on the vernacular.

At the end of Č 2 1872, one finds about forty pages of "Впра́влена²⁰ грамати́чнû" (Č 2 1872: 145–180; cf. "Оупражне́нії граммати́чнû" from Č 2 1870: 134–160). Like its predecessor, the textbook of 1872 still features predominantly grammatical terms based on Church Slavonic, such as *Самогла́сн*8 (accusative singular).²¹ Aside from the terms themselves, however, the grammatical exercises are basically composed in the same Ukrainian language as the reading passages, cf. forms such as *оужива́ють*, *звыча́йно*, the spellings *дe* and *де́котрû*, the diminutive form in *въ церко́вныхъ* книжка́хъ, as well as *подь́иб8е* са,²² на́мѣсть,²³ *до́бре*, *оуважа́ти*, чи, and others.

It is particularly striking that the editors of Č 2 1872 already made very clear efforts to adjust their language to the variant of written Ukrainian that was being cultivated and developed in Russia at the same time, under the increasingly more difficult conditions that prevailed after 1863 and then after 1876. The most important indication of this is the verbal ending of the third person plural in soft *-mb*, which is not widespread in Galicia. The textbook now gives the form $\lambda \nu \delta \lambda \dot{m} b$ and others (Č 2 1872: 102), as distinct from the primer of 1872, which still gives $\delta \sigma \lambda u \delta \delta Amb$ (also without *l*-epenthesis), and Pylyp Djačan's school grammar (Djačan 1865: 89), which also only gives forms of the type $m \dot{e}pnAmb$. As opposed to the Ukrainian language of the Russian Empire, however, personal endings in the preterite or conditional, as in $\partial abb-\delta blcb$ (Č 2 1872: 39), are still widely used. In general, Russian and Church Slavonic elements appear even less frequently in the textbook for the second grade of primary school than in the primer discussed earlier.

2.3. The textbook of 1871 for the third grade of primary school

With regard to content, the third-grade textbook is considerably more interesting than the one for the second grade, especially with regard to questions of identity formation. One of the central texts is titled " Λ юбо́вь до во̂тчины́" (Love for the Homeland), which was extensively revised as compared with the text Λ юбо́вь κ ь *oméчecmsy* (Love for the Fatherland) in the preceding version of 1859. It will be recalled that the latter version goes back to Bohdan Didyc'kyj, but even in the new edition of 1871 it remains wholly open which cultural space is actually to be

²⁰ Kuzelja–Rudnyc'kyj 1943/1987 only codify впра́ва. The entry for впра́влення in URS 1953–1963 gives a different meaning.

²¹ Numerous forms of these terms had already been anticipated in earlier works.

²² URS 1953–1963 classifies the words *подибувати* and *подибуватися* as "обл[астное]" (reg[ional]), but Kuzelja–Rudnyc'kyj 1943/1987 codify it without restrictions.

²³ Kuzelja–Rudnyc'kyj 1943/1987 give s.v. μάμίcmb: "= зάμίcmb" and otherwise codifies it without restrictions. URS 1953–1963 indicates only the initial stress and classifies the preposition as "οбλ[acтноe]" (reg[ional]).

considered the "fatherland." The following principal options were available to the Galician Ruthenian pupils: the Austrian (after 1867, Austro-Hungarian) Monarchy, with or without its Transleithanian (i.e., Hungarian) part; the Crownland of Galicia and Lodomeria, with or without its western territory, settled mainly by Poles; the pupil's local area or village; and perhaps also "Rus'," although its mental boundaries were quite variously defined.

As the most important criteria for defining the fatherland, the 1859 version gives the place where one was born and grew up, as well as the soil in which one's ancestors are buried. For most people, this would have been a very small "fatherland." The version of 1871 begins by augmenting these criteria with the topos of unspoiled nature as a positively connoted element of the fatherland and goes on to add two very important concepts—that of the people ($Hapô\partial b$), to which one belongs as to one's family, and that of the language that the reader heard from his mother in childhood and that he himself, his family, and "all his dearest ones" speak (surprisingly, the word used here for "language" is Moba, and not, as was otherwise common in Galician sources of the period, RabiKrb). The textbook of 1871 thus made it apparent that "fatherland" could refer not only the state of Austria but also to the Ruthenian-speaking (Ukrainian-speaking) region alone, or at least parts of it:

Č 3 1871: 45-46:

Той край, въ котро̂мъ на́шû пра́дѣды, дѣды́ и батьки́ роди́лиса, жи́ли и умира́ли, и где суть гробы́ ихъ, земли́ца та́а на котро̂й и мы на свѣтъ Бо́жїй прїйшли́ и где мы, є́сли така́ Бо́жа во́ла, и на́шû ко́сти до вѣ́чного спочи́нку зло́жимо; тіи пола́, котрû намъ хлѣбъ ро́дать; тіи го́ры, лѣсы́ и лу́ги́, на котрû намъ такъ ми́ло споглада́ти; – тіи керни́цѣ пото́ки и рѣ́ки, съ котры́хъ мы во́ду пємо́; – той во́здухъ, котры́мъ во̂ддыха́ємо: – всё то́є ра́зомъ называ́є са на́ша Во̀тчина́. [...]

Икъ не ма́є люби́ти пе́редъ всѣми и́ншими тыхъ люде́й, котрû жію́ть въ то̀й сторонѣ́, – то́го на́рода до котро́го во̂нъ и єго́ роди́на нале́жать? Икъ не люби́ти то́и мо́вы, котро́ю ма́търь до не́го И́ко дити́ны промовла́ла, котро́ю во̂нъ и єго́ ро̀днѧ́, всѣ котрû єму́ су̀ть найми́льшû, гово́рѧть? На́вѣть ди́кû лю́де лю́бѧть край, въ котро̂мъ роди́ли сѧ, ро̂дъ, до котро́го нале́жать; тымъ бо̂льше пови́ннû просвѣще́нû лю́де ми́ловати свою́ отчину́, сво̂й край, сво̂й на́ро̂дъ, свою́ мо́ву, не цу́рати сѧ ихъ и нико́ли ихъ не покида́ти. [...]

Окромъ отчины́ т8тъ на земли́ ма́ємо єще́ дрУ́г8 отчину́ въ не́бѣ, и єсли́ пе́рш8 лю́бимо, о ско̂лько бо̂льше пови́ннû-сьмо т8́ю дру́г8 люби́ти и о оса́гненє єи́ стара́ти сѧ!

Č 3 1859: 67–68:

Що єсть оте́чество? Єсть то сторона́, где мы роди́лисѧ, колы́бель, въ котро̂й мы возроста́ли; гнѣздо́, въ которо̂мъ мы согрѣ́тіи и воспи́танû, во́зд&хъ, котры́мъ мы о̀тдыха́ли; землѧ́, где лежѧ́ть ко́сти о̀тцѣвъ на́шихъ, и где мы сами́ лѧ́жемъ. [...] Са́міи звѣрѣ и пти́цѣ лю́бать край родже́нїа [?]²⁴ сво́го; а человѣ́къ, одаре́ный розу́мною душе́ю, малъ бы о́тдѣли́тисѧ о́тъ свои́хъ, и о́тсту̀пити въ то̂мъ преиму́щество [*sic*] пчолѣ и муравлю́? [...] О́творотъ о́тъ то́и природопроти́внои мы́сли єсть такъ вели́кїй, що да́же человѣ́къ безъ че́сти и сты́да [...] постыда́лъ бы сѧ ка́вно и отве́рсто до то́го призна́тисѧ.

Но кромѣ оте́чества ту на земли́ ма́ємъ єще́ друго́є оте́чество, надзе́мноє, вѣ́чноє; и єсли́ пе́рвоє о̂тъ се́рдца лю́бимъ, о ско̂лько же пови́нна любо́вь на́ша бо̂льшою бы́ти къ то́му друго́му!

That land in which our forefathers, grandfathers, and parents were born, lived, and died, and where their graves are; that piece of earth where we, too, came into God's world and where we, if it be God's will, shall lay our bones to eternal rest; those fields that yield grain for us; those mountains, forests, and meadows at which we look with such pleasure; those springs, creeks, and rivers from which we drink water; the air we breathe; all this together is called our Fatherland [*sic*, capitalized]....

How can anyone fail to love above all others those people who live in that land; the nation to which he and his family belong? How can he fail to love the language in which his mother spoke to him as a child, that he and his relatives speak, and all who are dearest to him? Even savage people love the land in which they were born and the tribe to which they belong; all the more should educated people love their fatherland, their land, their people, and their language. They should not renounce them and should never leave them....

Besides the fatherland here on earth, we have another fatherland in heaven. And if we love the first fatherland, how much more should we love the second one and strive to attain it!

If one disregards the Church Slavonicism $6\delta 3\partial 8xb$ (which is broadly used in many southwestern Ukrainian dialects), as well as the Church Slavonic form of the participle $npocs \mathfrak{bullehl}, 25$ then, this text, too, is clearly based on the vernacular, at least as it appears in Č 3 1871, even though its subject is quite abstract.

The text is heavily edited as compared with the linguistically much more conservative version of 1859. The following forms in the 1871 version deserve special attention: $s\hat{o}muuha$, which also appears in different spellings, such as omuuha (genitive singular) and omuuha' (accusative singular), and occurs instead of the Church Slavonic oméuecmbo in Č 3 1859; generic Ukrainian $\delta amb\kappa u'$ 'parents,' which does not have an equivalent in Č 3 1859; suffixed semauuha instead of semaua (which does appear elsewhere in Č 3 1871); npüuuau' with *j*- after the prefix (cf. Modern Standard Ukrainian npuŭuuau), without an equivalent in Č 3 1859; ∂o [...]

²⁴ Instead of ∂x , the two letters appear in the text with a ligature that is usually employed to render the generic Ukrainian affricate ∂x . Perhaps, in this context, the ligature should be interpreted as the Church Slavonic $x\partial$.

²⁵ Kuzelja–Rudnyc'kyj 1943/1987 at least mention the secondary imperfective *просвіща́ти* with the annotation "veralt[et]" ("archaic") and the note "= просвіча́ти," while in URS 1953–1963 просвіща́ти also appears with the note "и редк[оупотребляемое] ["and the rarely used"] просвічувати." But both dictionaries give only ч, not the genuine Church Slavonic u_i, as the alternant in the perfective aspect.

*cnouúμκ*β²⁶ with final ∂o + genitive, without an equivalent in Č 3 1859, as well as *3λóжимo*²⁷ with the phonetic spelling of the prefix instead of the no less vernacular simplex *λáжемъ* in a different context in Č 3 1859. The text also contains the following words, which have no equivalents in the earlier version: *cnozλadámu*²⁸ and *κephúų* b^{29} (with the generic southwestern Ukrainian reflex of the original cluster of liquid consonants and subsequent weak *b*);³⁰ *nomóκu*, *nemó* with the traditional marking of the Ø-reflex of weak *b* before *j*, *úншими* (instrumental plural), and *pô∂Há* (cf. Modern Standard Ukrainian *pi∂Hя*́).

²⁶ Both Ukrainian dictionaries used give the word without comment.

²⁷ URS 1953–1963 gives the word with the annotation "редк[оупотребляемое]" ("rare"), while the phrase зложи́ти життя́ appears with the annotation "рит[орическое]" ("rhet[orical]"). Kuzelja–Rudnyc'kyj 1943/1987 give зложи́ти only in the meaning "zusammen-legen, -setzen; (твори́ти) verfassen; (*icnum*) bestehen; → auch *складámu*" ["to pool, assemble"]; (твори́ти) ["to compose"]; (*icnum*) ["to pass"]; → also *складámu*]. With reference to the latter meaning, URS 1953–1963 terms the word "rare" in the spelling *3- < cb-* 'zusammen' ("together").

²⁸ Both Ukrainian dictionaries used give the word with no further comment.

²⁹ URS 1953–1963 has a separate entry for κερμúμα with a see-reference to κρuμúμα. S.v. κρuμúμα, κερμúμα as well as κυρμúμα are tagged with the annotation "oбл[acτнoe]" ("regional"). Kuzelja–Rudnyc'kyj 1943/1987 do not give κερμúμα, but there is an entry for "κυρμu… → κρuμú…," although the western Ukrainian forms are not repeated here.

³⁰ This reflex is to be encountered in practically all Galician and Transcarpathian dialects, cf. AUM 1988: map 71.

³¹ The word *Hásimb* is occasionally considered a Galicianism, cf. Ševel'ov 2003: 86.

³² Church Slavonic *dáxe* does not mean "even"; see D'jačenko 1900/1993, which has no entry for the word. In Old Church Slavonic, the word has a different meaning.

³³ Both dictionaries codify the stress on *a*, with no further restrictions.

³⁴ Kuzelja–Rudnyc'kyj 1943/1987 also give the form κρό*мi* with the annotation "= κρi*M*." Under όκρί*M*, one also finds "= κρi*M*." URS 1953–1963 does not acknowledge κρό*Mi* but most definitely acknowledges κρi*M* and οκρί*M*. The latter is stressed only on the second syllable and classified as "pasr[оворное]" ("coll[oquial]"). Incidentally, the annotation "οбл[астное]" ("reg[ional]") is included in the variant οκρό*Me*, which Kuzelja–Rudnyc'kyj 1943/1987 give "separately" only as a synonym of the adverb οκρέ*Mo*.

The last sentence of this reading passage in the 1871 version includes the phrase $o \ oc \measuredangle cap \ mu \ cap \ ca$

The linguistic design of sections such as "Австрійско-уго́рска мона́рхія" (The Austro-Hungarian Monarchy) (Č 3 1871: 80–81; Č 3 1859: 101: Аυ*стрійска*а *держа́ва*) or "На́роды Австріи" (The Peoples of Austria) (Č 3 1871: 83–85; Č 3 1859: 106–108) is similar. Although the reading passages on Ruthenian historical subjects depict venerable Old East Slavic heroes, they draw on the chronicles without openly propagating a national idea. In these sections, the 1871 version sometimes includes archaic elements that generally turn out to be remnants of the previous version (Č 3 1871: 108 compared to Č 3 1859: 130).

Another new section, compared to the previous version, is titled "Гали́чина" (Galicia) (Č 3 1871: 104–108, with this peculiar stress). It presents basic geographic information about Galicia in a markedly sober tone, with little in the way of emotional, patriotic accents:

Гали́чина (Гали́ція) або́ Га́лицко-Володимѣ́рске короле́вство вразъ зъ вели́кимъ кня́жествомъ Кра́ко̂вскимъ есть одни́мъ зъ найбо̂лышихъ кору́нныхъ краѣ́въ Австрі́йско-Уго́рскои Мона́рхіи и лежи́ть въ по̂вно̂чновсхо̂дно̂й еи́ ча́сти. Довгота́ се́го краю́ дохо́дить 90 миль, а ширина́ 20 до 30 миль. [...] Въ Гали́чинѣ жіе́ зверхъ 5 миліо́но̂въ люде́й; съ тыхъ бо̂льша полови́на суть Русины́, ме́нша полови́на суть Поляки́, пото́му Жиды́, Нѣмцѣ и Во̂рме́не. Русины́ жію́ть въ всхо̂дно̂й ча́сти Га́лицкого краю́, надъ Днѣстро́мъ и его́ до́плывами, а тако́жь надъ Ся́номъ и Бу́гомъ; Поляки́ жію́ть найбо̂льше въ за́падно̂й Гали́чинѣ надъ Ви́слою, Дунайце́мъ и Висло́кою, а тако́жь въ всхо̂дно̂й, особли́во по мѣста́хъ, помѣ́шанû зъ Русина́ми.

Halychyna (Galicia) or the Galician-Volhynian Kingdom, together with the Grand Duchy of Cracow, is one of the largest crownlands of the Austro-Hungarian Monarchy and is located in its northeastern part. The length of this land is 90 miles, the breadth 20 to 30 miles.... More than 5 million people live in Galicia; the greater half of them are Ruthenians, the smaller half are Poles, followed by Jews, Germans, and Armenians. The Ruthenians live in the eastern part of the Galician land, on the Dnister and its tributaries, as well as on the

³⁵ Kuzelja–Rudnyc'kyj 1943/1987 give *μιλyβamu* with the root stress only in the meaning "sich erbarmen" (to have mercy), while only the meaning "liebkosen" (to caress) but not "lieben" (to love) is ascribed to the verb with the stress on the suffix. The same applies to URS 1953–1953, where the second meaning is ascribed to "ποэз[ия]" ("poet[ry]").

San and Buh; the Poles live predominantly in western Galicia on the Vistula, Dunajec, and Wisłoka, but also in eastern [Galicia], especially in the towns, mixed with the Ruthenians.

The language of this text is clearly based on the vernacular, although it features relatively "learned" content. Incidentally, the absence of such a text based on a more conservative linguistic model in the preceding version of 1859 may have had a salutary effect here.

The last text of the second section, by contrast, includes by far the most extensive Church Slavonic portion of this textbook, namely the translation of the former Austrian "national" anthem ("Гимнъ австрі́йскій на́родный," Č 3 1871: 148–150; Č 3 1859: "Үмнъ аυстрі́йскій наро́дный"). Moreover, the hymn to the emperor (originally "Gott erhalte Franz den Kaiser," 1797, here "Gott erhalte, Gott beschütze / Unsern Kaiser, unser Land," 1854 version) is written in a slightly vernacularized version of Church Slavonic, which elevates it to the religious sphere. In this textbook, the first verse (to be sung to the melody of "Gott erhalte...," or the current German national anthem), reads as follows³⁶:

Č 3 1871: 148–150	Č 3 1859: 176–178:
Бо́же бу́ди покрови́тель	Бо́же бу́ди покрови́тель
Цѣ́сарю, Єго края́мъ!	Це́сарю, Єго́ кракі́мъ!
Да Онъ му́дрый устрои́тель	Да О́нъ му́дрый оустрои́тель
Въ си́лѣ вѣ́ры бу́де намъ!	Въ си́лѣ вѣ́ры бу́де намъ!
Мы Єго́ Отцѣ́въ коро́ну	Мы Єго́ О́тцѣ́въ коро́ну
Хранѣ́мъ отъ вся́ка врага́,	Хранѣ́мъ о̂тъ вся́ка врага́,
Австріи Габсбу́рго̂въ тро́ну	Австріи Габсбу́рко̂въ θро́ну
Судьба́ бу́де все одна́ [].	Судьба́ бу́де все одна́ [].

The hymn notwithstanding, it is clear that pupils using Č 3 1871, unlike those instructed from the textbooks discussed earlier, absorbed many word forms that were future-oriented and decidedly based on the vernacular, including *xmo*, *-uva*-, as in $\partial ozád \delta sab c_A$ or $M \acute{e}hu \ddot{u} \ddot{u}$ without the soft sign, function words such as $\acute{o}m \varkappa e$, and markedly vernacular forms such as $\delta b \ u \delta \varkappa u \delta i m \varkappa e$, etc. (cf. Moser 2007: 150). The previous version of 1859, composed by the Russophile Bohdan Didyc'kyj, had been heavily revised. In Č 3 1871, one already encounters *y* for etymological δb , although it was to be found only in poems, and only if the phonetic value of the vocalized preposition was required for reasons of meter. This textbook also conveyed the non-Galician soft ending *-mb* in the third person present of verbs, as well as in the imperative of the second person plural (contrary to the 1859 model). Furthermore, the reflexive particle almost always occurs after the verb form, even if it is mostly written separately. In the preceding version, the reflexive particle is almost always written in conjunction with the verb, most probably as a

³⁶ Cf. earlier Ruthenian-Church Slavonic versions of the hymn to the emperor dating from 1828 and 1831 in Moser 2011: 312.

consequence of alignment with Russian. In this textbook, personal endings in the preterite and conditional are still used, as in the earlier version.

Although the editor did quite a good job, the new 1871 version of the textbook for the third grade of primary school still displays sporadic traces of its Russo-Ruthenian predecessor of 1859, especially in reading passages on more abstract and sophisticated subjects. It thus comes as no surprise that the populist Omeljan Partyc'kyj set himself the task of composing a new third-grade textbook ("Читанка руска для третён клясы школь людовыхь"), which he submitted as early as 1874.

2.4. Ostap Levyc'kyj's textbook of 1872 for the fourth grade of primary school

Ostap Levyc'kyj was one of the earliest populists. In 1863, under a pseudonym, he composed a satirical poem on the Polish uprising that had been put down in the same year. Later, he worked as a teacher in gymnasiums and *Realschulen* (another type of secondary school with a focus on science rather than the humanities) and, among other things, made his mark as a translator (Moser 2007: 151–153). In the early 1860s, he was in contact with such leading populists as Omeljan Partyc'kyj and Oleksander Barvins'kyj. From the outset, Ostap Levyc'kyj's comprehensive textbook, approximately 370 pages in length, combines a national message with the praise to the Lord that is traditionally included in textbooks. The first poem, titled "Велича́йте Бо́га" (Praise God), reads in part:

[...] Ру́скû дѣ́ты, кра́снû цвѣ́ты, / Тѣ́ште ся, спѣва́йте / И у ру́скихъ кра́сныхъ пѣ́сняхъ / Бо́га велича́йте! (Č 4 1872: 1).

Ruthenian children, beautiful flowers, be happy and sing! And praise God in beautiful Ruthenian songs.

Furthermore, the very first chapter of Levyc'kyj's textbook features Sydir Vorobkevyč's/Horobkevyč's poem "Ро̂дна мо́ва" (The Native Tongue) (Č 4 1872: 46–47), which is still well-known today:

Мо́во ро̂дна, сло́во ро̂дне, / Хто васъ забува́є, / Той у гру́дяхъ не серде́нько / А лишь ка́мѣнь ма́є!//[...] У то̀й мо́вѣ мы спѣва́ли, / При грѣ розмовля́ли; / У то̀й мо́вѣ намъ мину́вшо̀сть / На́шу розказа́ли. // Ой, тому́ плека́йте, дѣ́ти, / Ро̂днѣсеньку мо́ву, / И учѣть ся говори́ти / Свои́мъ ро̂днымъ сло́вомъ. [...].

Native language, native word, he who forgets you has no good heart but a stone in his breast! In this language we sang and spoke while playing. In this language we were told the story of our past. Oh, cherish thus your dear native tongue, and learn to speak your native language....

The linguistic material of this poem is wholly rooted in the vernacular. The following forms are noteworthy: *MOWL*, ³⁷ a word that was soon perceived as dialectal;

³⁷ The predicative is not given in either of the dictionaries used; only мо́жна is mentioned.

the compound conjunction *maπb*; generic Ukrainian *Móλbбbi*,³⁸ and the typically Ukrainian *nλeκáŭme* (which is also very common in Modern Standard Ukrainian).

The vernacular character of the textbook is also maintained in sections that convey general knowledge. Concerning the Slavic languages, we read the following:

[...] Славя́не гово́рять 7-ми язы́ками, кото́рû одна́кожь усѣ до се́бе подо̂бнû, а дѣ́лять ся єще́ на ко̂лькана́йцять нарѣ́чей. Tû сѣмъ головны́хъ язы́ко̂въ суть: росси́йскій, ру́скій, по́льскій, че́скій, слове́ньскій, се́рбскій и болга́рскій. Дѣ́лять же ихъ єще́ на два окре́мû гурты́: на гуртъ по̂вно̂чный и полудне́вый; до по̂вно̂чного зачисля́ють ся пе́ршû чоты́рѣ, до полуде́нного послѣднû три язы́ки. Славя́не одно́го и то́го само́го гу́рту ду́же ле́гко порозумѣ́ють оди́нъ дру́гого; труднѣ́йше уже́ о мно́го прихо́дить ся Славяни́нови зъ гу́рту одно́го порозумѣ́е Россияни́на, Поля́ка або́ Че́ха, анѣ́жъ Слове́нця, Се́рба або́ Болга́ра – и на во̂дворотъ. [...] (Č 4 1872: 141–143).

The Slavs speak seven languages, which, however, are all quire similar, and they are further divided into more than a dozen dialects. These seven languages are: Russian, Ruthenian, Polish, Czech, Slovenian, Serbian, and Bulgarian. These are further divided into two distinct groups, northern and southern; the first four [languages] belong to the northern [group], the second three to the southern [group]. Slavs of the same group understand one another very easily; it is, however, much more difficult for a Slav of one group to understand a brother from the other group. For example, a Ruthenian will more easily understand a Russian, Pole, or Czech than a Slovene, Serb, or Bulgarian, and vice versa.

One of the most important features of this surprising modified Dobrovskian classification of the Slavic languages—the lacunae, some of which are quite astonishing from a modern viewpoint, do not concern us here—is that it distinguishes Ukrainian ("Ruthenian," $pýc\kappaiü$) from Russian ($poccúüc\kappaiü$) as explicitly as it distinguishes both languages from all other languages of the "northern" branch. No particular closeness of Ruthenian and Russian is constructed.

The language of this text is clearly based on the vernacular: the initial vowel of yct is spelled phonetically; a numeral such as $\kappa \delta_{\lambda b \kappa a H} d \tilde{u} \mu m b^{39}$ is spelled in wholly vernacular fashion (in one of the southwestern Ukrainian forms, cf. AUM 1988: map 229); and marked vernacular lexemes such as zypmb are used even in a terminological sense.⁴⁰ Only the adjective $noc \Lambda t \delta \mu \hat{u}$ 'the latter' could be considered

³⁸ URS 1953–1963 codifies the word without restrictions, but Kuzelja–Rudnyc'kyj 1943/1987 do not mention it.

³⁹ As expected, both Ukrainian dictionaries used record only the spelling кількана́дцять, which Kuzelja–Rudnyc'kyj 1943/1987 accept without stylistic restrictions, while URS 1953–1963 terms it "pasr[оворное]" (coll[oquial]).

⁴⁰ Kuzelja–Rudnyc'kyj 1943/1987 as well as Želexivs'kyj 1886 translate the substantive *zypm* as "Gesamtheit, Gesellschaft" ("entity, collective/society"), while URS 1953–1963 also gives the meaning "group." Both dictionaries codify the word without restrictions, cf. also Polish *hurt*.

uncharacteristic of Ukrainian from a modern perspective, while the form $C_{\Lambda abs/He^{41}}$ with *a* in the root is not a Russianism but was already quite common in earlier forms of Ukrainian or Ukrainian-Church Slavonic, as in the *Synopsis* of 1672, where one reads, inter alia, *c_{\Lambda absehoPockïü*} (*sic*, with a capital letter) (Moser 2007c: 271–272). Other noteworthy forms are the generic Ukrainian *ahfswb*⁴² as well as the Galician *Ha sôdsopomb*⁴³ and the comparative *ckópue*.⁴⁴

Тhe reading passage "Таличина́" (Galicia) (Č 4 1872: 151–155), in which the vernacular consistently predominates, presents geographic and economic data in an objective manner. The passage titled "Русь" ("Rus'"), however, is clearly set apart by its emotional tone: it seeks to arouse a patriotic attitude toward a "Rus" that is described as a true idyll. "Rus'" is basically defined as the Ukrainian-settled area extending from the Wisłoka to the Don and from the Prypiat and middle Dnipro beyond the Carpathian Mountains to the Black Sea ("*простига́е ся она́ во̂дъ Висло́ки рѣкú – ажь по рѣку Донъ, а во̂дъ При́пети и сере́днёго Днѣпра́ – ажь по-за Карпа́ты и по Чо́рне Мо́ре*"). The author implicitly emphasizes the common national identity of the Galician "Ruthenians" and the Ukrainians of the Russian Empire, who are here implicitly referred to as "Ruthenians" as well, "for we should know that the Ruthenians have long been divided between these two states, the Russian and the Austrian" ("бо зна́ти намъ тре́ба, що Русины́ зъ-да́вна уже́ роздѣлени̂ помѣ́жь двѣ держа́вы тоти роси́йску и австри́йску").

"Our Rus' is a land in which milk and honey flow" ("Русь на́ша – се краи́на ме́домъ та молоко́мъ плыву́ча")—such is the euphoric tenor of this first section, in response to which one might remind the reader of the title of Stanisław Szczepanowski's book Nędza galicyjska w cyfrach (Galician Poverty in Figures), which appeared just a year after Ostap Levyc'kyj's textbook.

What is even more interesting is the unequivocal extension of national space beyond the Zbruch. The "Dnipro-Slavutytsia" ("Днѣпро́-Славути́ця") is referred to as "the center and cradle of the national and political life of the Ruthenians" ("о́середокъ и кольі́бель наро́дного и полити́чного житя́ Русино̂въ") in a clearly all-Ukrainian sense, while the epithet "head and heart of Rus', capital of the grand dukes'" ("голова́ и се́рце Ру́си, столи́ця Вели́кихъ князѣ́въ") is applied to Kyiv. There are some remarks on the historical role of Volodymyr I and the glorious past of

⁴¹ Kuzelja–Rudnyc'kyj 1943/1987 note: " $c_{\Lambda ab' \pi H} \rightarrow c_{\Lambda ob' \pi H}$ "; URS 1953–1963 does not record the form with *a* in the root.

⁴² Both dictionaries codify the conjunction *a*Hí κ without restrictions.

⁴³ Kuzelja–Rudnyc'kyj 1943/1987 codify відворо́т in the meaning "Rückzug; Rückseite" ("retreat, reverse side") and the adjective відворо́тний in the meaning "umgekehrt, verkehrt; umgehend" ("reverse, backward; immediately") without restrictions. This dictionary also records the adverbialized *навідворі́т*, which exactly matches the spelling in the reading passage except for the rendering of the reflex of *o* in the newly closed syllable, with the meaning "umgekehrt" ("contrariwise"), cf. Polish *odwrotny* 'umgekehrt' and the exact match *na odwrót*, cf. in turn Modern Standard Ukrainian *навлаки*. URS 1953–1963, however, only mentions відворітний, inter alia, in the nonstandard meaning 'repulsive,' classifying it as "редк[оупотребляемое]" ("rare"), cf. Russian *отврати́тельный*.

⁴⁴ This form of the comparative is recommended in Smal'-Stoc'kyj–Gartner 1913: 152. By contrast, Kuzelja–Rudnyc'kyj 1943/1987 note: *cκόρμuŭ* → *cκορίμuŭ*. URS 1953–1963 classifies *cκόρμe* as "οб_Δ[acTHOe]" ("reg[ional]") and also refers to *cκορίμμe*.

ancient Halych, as well as on the Kingdom of Galicia-Volhynia. There is also an initial allusion to the Ukrainian Cossacks: the text says that Cossackdom developed in "Ukraine" (in the narrower sense), along the Dnipro.

In outline form, this passage articulates the basic historical myths of the Ukrainian populists: their building blocks are Kyivan Rus', followed by Galicia-Volhynia and, finally, by Cossackdom, which also played an important role as a nation-building historical myth in Galicia. The most important element of those perhaps still missing here—the national poet Taras Ševčenko—was then supplied by gymnasium textbooks compiled approximately at the same time.

Textbook passages such as the following, which concludes with a mention of such "Ruthenian" (Ukrainian) memorial sites as graves and ruins, undoubtedly made a fundamental contribution to the awakening and strengthening of "Ruthenian" (Ukrainian) national consciousness:

Русь

Земля́, на кото́ро̀й Богъ посади́въ во̂дъ вѣ́ко̂въ ру́скій наро́дъ, се гара́здъ вели́ка и просто́ра краи́на; простига́ \in ся она́ во̂дъ Висло́ки рѣки́ – ажь по рѣ́ку Донъ, а во̂дъ При́пети и сере́днёго Днѣпра́ – ажь по-за Карпа́ты и по Чо́рне Мо́ре. Въ найбо̂льшо̂й своѣ́й довжинѣ́, во̂дъ восто́ка на за́падъ, ма́є она́ до 300 географи́чныхъ миль, а найбо̂льша ширина́ єѣ́, съ по̂вночи на полу́дне, выно́сить до 140 миль географи́чныхь [...] бо зна́ти намъ тре́ба, що Русины зъ-да́вна уже́ роздѣ́лени̂ помѣ́жь двѣ держа́вы тоти̂ роси́йску и австри́йску. [...] Сло́вомъ одни́мъ: Русь на́ша – се краи́на ме́домъ та молоко́мъ плыву́ча. – Ръ́ки та мъста́ и го́ры: [...] Мъста́ надъ Днъстро́мъ: Га́личь – коли́сь-то столи́ця га́лицко-ру́скихъ князѣ́въ, сла́вна зъ бага́цтвъ своихъ, хоро́шими церква́ми и оборо́ннымъ за́мкомъ, якъ и розло́гою торговлею и свободою мъща́ньскои жи́зни. [...] Днъпро́-Славути́ця, о́середокъ и колы́бель наро́дного и полити́чного житя́ Русино̂въ. Сере́днє тече́нє Днѣпра́, зъ бога́тыми свои́ми доплы́вами, обо̂йма́є краи́ну, кото́ра по ны́нѣшній день Украи́ною зове́ ся. Тутъ завяза́ла-сь и розвива́ла ся коза́ччина. [...] Мѣста́ надъ Днѣпро́мъ: Ки́ѣвъ, голова́ и се́рце Ру́си, столи́ця Вели́кихъ князѣ́въ. – Коли́ Ки́ѣвъ зало́женый, объ то̂мъ не звѣ́сно. Закла́дины ёго́ сяга́ють, бу́ти мо́же, ажь до тыхъ часо̂въ, коли́ Гре́ки надъ Чо́рнымъ мо́ремъ торгова́ли, та горѣ́ рѣка́ми въ глубину́ Ски́то̂въ (себъ то давнѣйшихъ Славя́нъ) [...] вернѣмъ бо ся 1000 ро́ко̂въ наза́дъ, коли́ Ру́рикъ прибу́въ на Русь, то ви́димо, що Ки́ѣвъ вже тоди̂ бувъ мѣ́стомъ торгове́льнымъ, бага́тымъ и вели́кимъ [...] Разо́мъ съ приня́тємъ въ́ры спрова́дивъ Володимі́ръ Вели́кій съ Царьго́рода такожь будовни́чихъ, ръзьбяръвъ, маляръвъ, золотниковъ и всякого рода ремъсниковъ. [...] мѣ́сто, на горѣ́ надъ велича́вымъ Днѣпро́мъ поста́влене, сия́ло зъ дале́ка, нена́чебы вто́рый Царьго́родъ. [...]

Rus'

The land on which God settled the Ruthenian people from ages past is quite a large and expansive territory; it extends from the river Wisłoka all the way to the river Don, and from the Prypiat and middle Dnipro beyond the Carpathian Mountains to the Black Sea. At its lengthiest, from east to west, it measures 300 geographic miles, and its greatest breadth from north to south constitutes up to 140 geographic miles...for after all, we should know that the Ruthenians have long been divided between these two states, the Russian and the Austrian.... In a word, our Rus' is a land in which milk and honey flow. Rivers and towns and mountains:... Towns on the Dnister: Halych, once the capital of the Galician Ruthenian Princes, was well-known for its riches, for its fine churches and its defensive fortress, as well as for its extensive commerce and civic freedom.... The Dnipro-Slavutytsia is the center and cradle of the national and political life of the Ruthenians. The middle reaches of the Dnipro, with its rich tributaries, comprise a land that is still known as Ukraine to the present day. Here, Cossackdom emerged and developed.... Towns on the Dnipro: Kyiv, the head and heart of Rus', the capital of the grand princes. It is not known when Kyiv was founded. Its origins perhaps extend to the times when the Greeks were trading on the Black Sea and upstream to the heartlands of the Scythians (that is, the ancient Slavs)...let us go back a thousand years, when Rjuryk came to Rus', and we shall see that Kyiv was then already a rich and great trading center.... Together with the adoption of the [Christian] faith, Volodymyr the Great also brought architects, sculptors, painters, goldsmiths, and craftsmen of all kinds from Constantinople. ...the town erected above the mighty Dnipro shone from far away, as if it were a second Constantinople....

From a linguistic point of view, the language of this interesting and emotional reading passage is no less vernacular-based than the rest of the textbook.

The same applies to the reading passages in the section titled "Исто́рия Pýcμ" (History of Rus') (Č 4 1872: 302–324), which basically presents a history of Ukraine while clearly distancing Rus' from Russia. Kyivan Rus' is here essentially depicted as a Ukrainian state, and it is also emphasized that the "federation" of Rus' featured democratic elements, most notably the viče (sfue) assemblies. Because of them, "Rus'" is said to have been diametrically opposed to the Russian Tsardom (ца́рство роси́йске), which, in complete conformity to widespread stereotypes, is characterized as despotic. The later Great Russian territories of the high Middle Ages are basically described as a Rus' colony "beyond the forests" (3axtice). In that region, the Russian people allegedly emerged as a consequence of intermingling with the indigenous Finnish peoples ("помѣ́жь чужи́ми наро́дами чухо́ньскими"),⁴⁵ which led to the development of differences between the inhabitants of Northern and Southern Rus'. Allegedly, Jurij Dolgorukij (Юрій Довгору́кій) was the founder of Northern Rus', which then developed into the Russian or Muscovite Tsardom ("кото́ра ны́нѣ ца́рствомъ Роси́йскимъ (Моско́вскимъ) зове́ ся"), quite independently of Southwestern Rus'.⁴⁶ The whole account depicts "Southern Rus'" as the center and Northern or Muscovite Rus' as the periphery. In contrast to the view of history predominant in Russia, it is emphasized that, to express it anachronistically, Russia parted with Ukraine, and not the other way around. The text then goes on to speak of the "Galician Ruthenian state" ("Га́лицко-ру́ска держа́ва") (not "Grand Principality" or "Kingdom"), although it mentions that this state developed approximately at

⁴⁵ On the substantive, see Vasmer 1986–1987: s.v. $uyx\mu a$. The word appears in the old North Russian chronicles and is regarded as a derisive nickname for the Finnish peoples. Augmented by the expressive suffix, it was derived from the old Russian term for the Finnish $uy\partial b$.

⁴⁶ Cf. very similar explanations in Nakonečnyj 2001: 71–81, with an indication of historical sources in which this toponym was used.

the same time as the Grand Principality of Suzdal or (later) Moscow ("князѣвство Сузда́льске (Моско́вске)"). The times of Jaroslav Osmomysl are depicted as the most prosperous for "our Galician Rus" ("часы́, найщасливѣйшû для нашои Га́лицкои Рýси"), showing yet again that it is incorrect to assume that Kyivan Rus' was not part of the integral historical myth of the Galician populists.⁴⁷

The text on the history of "Rus" is rather abruptly interrupted by the demise of the Galician-Volhynian state and then continues with some sections about the Cossacks. Nothing more is said about the period of foreign rule by Poland. The last sentence of the reading passage contains only the laconic mention that afterwards, "our Galician Rus', in which we are living" ("*Гали́цка на́ша Русь, де мы живемо*"), came under Polish and then Austrian rule. In the original, this key text continues as follows:

Русины упершь не тои були въры, що нынь, се-бъ-то християньскои, але були поганцями [...] Великій Володимі́ръ [...] охрести́въ тако́жь и цѣлу́ Русь. [...] Молоди князъ, а именно сыны помершого Великого князя не ра́до терпѣ́ли, що по во̂тцю́ наступи́въ на великокня́жій престо́лъ які́йсь тамъ дале́кій кревня́къ. [...] До сыхъ же борьбъ приходи́ли єще́ и и́нши̂ [...] А тре́ба намъ єще́ зна́ти, що Русь старода́вна не була́ такъ упра́вляна, якъ ны́нѣшне ца́рство роси́йске, де всѣ о́бласти по̂двла́днû суть одны́мъ устано́вамъ, одно́му па́нови, кото́рый держи́ть надъ всѣ́ми земля́ми и подда́ными одну́ найвы́сшу нѣ́чимъ не обме́жену власть. [...] Въ мѣста́хъ сходи́ли ся боя́ре та горожа́не (мъща́не) на ра́ду (въчь) [...] Въ ко́ждо̂мъ такомъ мѣстѣ бувъ дзво̂нъ вѣчевы́й [...] На вѣ́чахъ представля́ла ся во́ля наро́да. [...] Зва́ли ся то́ти̂ поселе́ня залѣ́скими, бо роздѣля́ли ихъ во̂дъ Руси старои лъсы превелики. Въ часъ тому, якъ Русь полуднева дълила ся и колоти́ла ся (ажь до XII. столѣ́тя), засели́ла ся нова́ Русь на по̂вночи помѣ́жь чужи́ми наро́дами чухо́ньскими, а да́льше и завели́ помѣ́жь ни́ми поря́дки своû. Заложи́телемъ по̂вно̂чнои Ру́си, кото́ра ны́нѣ ца́рствомъ Роси́йскимъ (Моско́вскимъ) зове́ ся, бувъ Юрій Довгору́кій (въ полови́нѣ XII. столѣ́тя). Але прибера́ючи до се́бе наро́ды зо́всѣмъ чужи̂, му́сѣли и руски лю́де де-що и водъ нихъ приня́ти, и ста́ли че́резъ при́мѣшку ту́ю иншими, якъ Русины́ на Ру́си полудне́во̀й... На залѣ́ско̀й Ру́си поста́ли мъста́, якъ Су́здаль, Москва́ и и́нши̂; въ нихъ во́твори́ло ся и́нше жите́, а жи́телѣ то́и Ру́си и не огляда́ли ся бо̂льше на Русь полудне́ву... Съ то́го часу стала окреме жити и поводити ся Русь повночна або московска; а своимъ да́внымъ ладо́мъ ишла́ за́одно и поводи́ла ся Русь полудне́ва. [...] Ма́йже подъ той самъ часъ, коли́ князѣвство Сузда́льске (Моско́вске) заснова́ло ся, на полудне́во́й Ру́си вы́робила ся тако́жь нова́, окре́мѣшна – Га́лицко-ру́ска держа́ва; а здѣ́яло ся се слѣду́ючимъ знову по́бытомъ. [...] Яросла́въ, на́званый за-для му́дрости своє́и Осмомы́слъ [...] Суть то часы́, найщасливѣ́йшû для нашои Га́лицкои Ру́си [...] [last sentence:] Гали́цка на́ша Русь, де мы живемо́, прийшла́ упе́ршь по̂дъ пано́ванє По́льщѣ, а по по́дѣлѣ єѣ (р. 1772) по̂дъ владѣ́нє Австріи – са́ме тодû, коли́ у нѣй панува́ли Ма́рия Тере́са и Іо́сифъ II., о кото́ро̂мъ то послѣ́дно̂мъ погово́римо тепе́рь бо́льше (Č 4 1872: 302–324).

Originally the Ruthenians were not of the same faith as today, that is, of the Christian faith, but were pagans.... Volodymyr the Great also baptized Rus' as a whole.... The young princes, namely the sons of the grand prince, were not about to tolerate the ascension of some distant relative to the throne of the grand prince after their father.... Even more conflicts followed these.... We should also be aware that ancient Rus' was not governed like the Russian Tsardom of today, where all regions are subject to the same institutions and the same overlord, who holds undivided, supreme, and completely unlimited power over all lands and subjects.... In the towns, the boyars and burghers ("miščane") convened for councils ("vič").... In every such town, there was a council bell.... At the councils, the will of the people was represented.... These settlements were called "zalis'ki" because huge forests separated them from old Rus'. In that period, when southern Rus' disintegrated and was in turmoil (until the twelfth century), the new Rus' settled in the north among alien Finnish peoples and subsequently introduced their way of life among them. The founder of northern Rus', which is now known as the Russian (Muscovite) Tsardom, was Jurij Dolgorukij (in the mid-twelfth century). But as the Ruthenian people attracted completely alien peoples to themselves, they too had to adopt something from them and, owing to this admixture, they became different from the Ruthenians in southern Rus'.... In the "Rus' beyond the forests," towns such as Suzdal, Moscow, and others arose; a different way of life emerged there, and the people of that Rus' no longer paid any heed to southern Rus'.... From that time on, northern or Muscovite Rus' began to live and act differently, while southern Rus' held to its old order.... Almost at the same time as the Suzdal (Moscow) Principality was founded, in southern Rus' a new, separate Galician Ruthenian state emerged in southern Rus', and this happened in the following way.... Owing to his wisdom, Jaroslav was called "Osmomysl" ["the one of eight minds"].... These were the most fortunate times for our Galician Rus'.... [last sentence:] Our Galician Rus', where we live, first came under the rule of Poland, and after its partition (1772), under that of Austria, at the very time when Maria Theresa and Joseph II were ruling there; of the latter, we shall now say more.

While these passages, too, are written in decidedly vernacular-based Ukrainian, they also contain some isolated archaisms, Russianisms, and Church Slavonicisms: $noc_\Lambda \pounds \partial h \partial M \flat$ (locative singular masculine), the Church Slavonic loan $npecm \delta \Lambda \flat$ (which also entered the Ukrainian Standard language), and umehho,⁴⁸ which occurs in the passage along with came, and $s \pounds pomme (C 4 1872: 352)$.⁴⁹ One notes Church Slavonic and Russian $\delta \delta nacmu$ (nominative plural), which was also integrated into Modern Standard Ukrainian, s nacmb,⁵⁰ and $s \lambda a \partial \pounds h c$.⁵¹ As for the

⁴⁸ However, this word was also still used by Ivan Franko and is to be found in the works of Pantelejmon Kuliš and others.

⁴⁹ As expected, this word is not to be found in either of the dictionaries used, but Želexivs'kyj 1886 does indeed have an entry for *sipośmнuü* with the meaning "glaublich" ("credible").

⁵⁰ Kuzelja–Rudnyc'kyj 1943/1987 note s.v. *власты: "→ вла́да"* and gives the meaning "Befugnis" ("authority/competence"). URS 1953–1963 classifies the term *власты* as "редк[оупотребляемое]" ("rare").

⁵¹ Neither of the dictionaries used codifies владі́ння, nor is a corresponding form to be found in Želexivs'kyj 1886.

adjectivized present participle *cxtdýwumb* (instrumental singular masculine),⁵² the phonetic Ruthenianization of the suffix and the non-Russian stress are noteworthy.

The aforementioned section about Joseph II is followed by two quite comprehensive reading passages about the Cossacks and Petro Konaševyč-Sahajdačnyj. The Cossacks are emphatically characterized as "one community, one large brotherhood" (*"завя́зовали-сь у одну́ грома́ду, въ бра́цтво одно́ вели́ке*") of "the bravest people" (*"лю́де во́дважнѣйшû*"), and the textbook employs the native Galician Konaševyč-Sahajdačnyj as a bridge between the Cossacks and the Galician Ruthenians. In the final reading passages, pupils learn about "Ancient Lviv" ("Старода́вный Льво̂въ") (Č 4 1872: 348–358), "Demolished Lviv Churches" ("Знесе́нû льво̂вскû церкви́") (Č 4 1872: 358–360), and "Ruthenian Churches Existing in Lviv to Date" ("Ру́скû церкви́ и́стнуючû ны́нѣ у Льво́вѣ") (Č 4 1872: 361–364). The author makes insistent use of these monuments to emphasize the originally Ukrainian character of the city of Lviv.

Ostap Levyc'kyj's textbook demonstrates that the schools played at least as great a role as the press in Ruthenian nation-building, not only in the struggle over the language of instruction but also in content.⁵³

To sum up, the language of Levyc'kyj's textbook is very close to Modern Standard Ukrainian, although it still contains some isolated Russian and Church Slavonic elements from which Ukrainian language planners would later distance themselves.⁵⁴ What is especially striking is the endeavor to avoid some generic Galician forms on the grammatical level. Levyc'kyj uses no personal endings in the first and second persons of the preterite and conditional. The reflexive particle is not movable in his work but always occurs after the verb. Enclitic forms of personal pronouns of the type zo, my and others are not to be found in his work. As was already the case in the textbooks of 1871 and 1872 for the second and third grades of primary school, the third person in verb conjugations ends exclusively in soft -mb in the corresponding forms. Epenthetic l is now also to be encountered in forms of the стано́влять type. The textbook consistently uses все, never the form ecë that is widespread in Galician dialects. In Levyc'kyj's textbook, soft-stemmed neuters regularly end in -[i] in the locative singular, not in -[u], as in many Galician textbooks, cf. *bb cépuu*. Furthermore, Levyc'kyj predominantly uses the genuine dative ending *-omy* in the locative masculine and neuter singular, which is practically nonexistent in earlier Galician Ukrainian texts. Especially in his reading passages, he frequently uses several generic vernacular words that are rarely to be seen in Galician Ukrainian written texts before the period of the Prosvita Society, such as the function words ба, са́ме, ма́йже, че́йже, нена́че, тако́й (with this stress) or *céómo* (in various spellings). A certain weakness of the fourth-grade textbook is the inconsistency of some forms, especially with regard to spelling.

⁵² S.v. *сли́дуючий*, which thus shows the root stress that coincides with Russian, Kuzelja–Rudnyc'kyj 1943/1987 note: "veralt[et]" (archaic). URS 1952–1963, which also shows the root stress, classifies the word as "pasr[оворное]" ("coll[oquial]").

⁵³ On the role of the press, see Sereda 2001.

⁵⁴ For further information on this, see Moser 2007: 206–207.

3. The significance of primary school textbooks

Our comparison of the textbooks of 1871 and 1872 with their predecessors (some of which had gone to press only two years earlier) shows how decidedly their language had come to approximate the vernacular in the early 1870s.⁵⁵ The commission appointed in 1869 by the Galician *Landesschulrat* had indeed managed to "break ground for the free development of the living Ruthenian language on a vernacular basis" (cited in Burger 1995: 61). If the textbooks of 1871 and 1872 still featured certain conservative elements, this was often due to remnants of the earlier model texts. Not surprisingly, then, one of the linguistically most successful reading passages in the third-grade textbook turns out to be "Taʌi/quHa," which did not appear in Bohdan Didyc'kyj's edition, and Ostap Levyc'kyj's original work may be considered the best of the four textbooks of 1871–72.

A number of Church Slavonicisms and Russianisms that did not enter Modern Standard Ukrainian are to be encountered in the works of central and eastern Ukrainian authors whose works are cited in these Galician textbooks. This applies particularly to the writings of Pantelejmon Kuliš, who turned out to be an extraordinarily important contact for the Galician populists (Ševel'ov 1991: 39: cf. also pp. 305–336 in this volume) in just this period of the late 1860s and early 1870s.

Some of the Church Slavonicisms encountered in the Galician textbooks, particularly in the one compiled by Ostap Levyc'kyj, are regarded even now as integral elements of the vocabulary of Modern Standard Ukrainian, for example, cósቴcmu (locative singular), coiósъ, npecmóлъ, noблагослови́въ (preterite singular masculine) or óбласти (nominative plural), while others, such as власть or зави́довали (standardized as зави́дували), are commonly encountered in everyday use. Other striking elements in Levyc'kyj's textbook are the partly Ruthenianized могу́чество, derived from East Slavic-Church Slavonic могу́щество, во̂дъ восто́ка на за́падъ alongside съ nôвночи на полу́дне, and независи́мыми (instrumental plural).

It is interesting to note that the higher the school grade, the more the textbooks discussed here gravitate toward the Ukrainian vernacular. Those who moved on from the textbooks and wished to perfect their Ukrainian could do so with the aid of anthologies for gymnasium students compiled by the leading populists Omeljan Partyc'kyj and Oleksander Barvins'kyj. These were printed in 1871–72, that is, concurrently with the textbooks analyzed here. Since a two-volume edition of Taras Ševčenko's poems had appeared (Romaniv 1997: 92) in 1867–69 at the initiative of Oleksander Barvins'kyj, the trend toward a vernacular-based written language was clearly spreading beyond the sphere of textbooks; moreover, it was becoming apparent that Galicians would increasingly orient themselves on the literary practice of Russian-ruled Ukraine, above all on the language of Taras Ševčenko and Pantelejmon Kuliš. That tendency is also manifest in the textbooks for the four primary school grades, becoming more pronounced in materials for the higher grades.

⁵⁵ On this section, see the more detailed chapter "Synchronische Zusammenschau" in Moser 2007: 217–242.

Incidentally, it was of no practical importance for language development whether the reading passages were printed in ornate Cyrillic or in civil script. To this day, the civil script as a retarding factor is often greatly overemphasized in Ukrainian studies, partly because leading nineteenth-century Galician populists themselves regarded the "phonetic" orthography as a particularly important symbol of their dedication to the establishment of a vernacular-based written language. This should come as no surprise: as late as the nineteenth century, a typeface as archaic as that of *Fraktur* could serve perfectly well to render the German language, and, mutatis mutandis, the same applies to ornate Cyrillic. Our study also shows yet again that the choice of the "Maksymovyčivka," the etymological orthography, need not imply the abandonment of the vernacular, as is so frequently suggested in Ukrainian studies. Although it is true that the phonetic orthography, either the "Kulišivka" or the "Želexivka" (which was only established in the 1880s), signals that a text printed in that orthography is deliberately Ukrainian in character, the reverse does not apply. The most important advantage of the so-called phonetic orthography appears to have been that it made alphabetization easier. Its greatest disadvantage was its break with tradition, as conservatives justly observed back in the nineteenth century. But the etymological orthography was by no means a serious obstacle to the establishment of a written language on a vernacular basis: if a non-phonetic orthography were indeed such an impediment to writing a language, then how could vernacular-based English possibly be conveyed in that orthography? By the same token, wholly vernacular-based Ukrainian can certainly be written in etymological orthography.

Although generic Galician elements on the level of grammar were increasingly avoided in the textbooks under discussion-this applies most particularly to Ostap Levyc'kyj's fourth-grade textbook—it remains true that they all essentially still adhered to Galician traditions, especially on the lexical level. This is all the less surprising as the editors of the textbooks knew a number of Taras Ševčenko's poems, some works of Pantelejmon Kuliš, and perhaps Ivan Kotljarevs'kyj's Enejida. They may have been inspired and linguistically influenced by these works, but in general, partly because of the Valuev Circular of 1863, Ukrainian written culture in Russian-ruled Ukraine provided almost no models for texts dealing with the more advanced subjects to be covered in the textbooks. Consequently, Galician Ukrainians of the early 1870s could hardly infer from Ukrainian literary works appearing in the Russian Empire what forms of language were best suited to the composition of a geographic or economic sketch of a given region or a discussion of historical relations. The primers of Pantelejmon Kuliš and Taras Ševčenko came nowhere close to the level of the textbooks discussed here.⁵⁶ Aside from that, the abstract vocabulary employed by Ukrainians in the Russian Empire was replete with Russianisms, from which the Galician populists in particular wanted to distance themselves as clearly as possible, beginning in the 1860s, because of the competing Russophile movement.

⁵⁶ See, for instance, excerpts from both primers in Istorija 2004: 68–72; 73–81.

Perhaps the most important achievement of these primary school textbooks and here again, it is Ostap Levyc'kyj's textbook that stands out—is that they conveyed very vividly and convincingly to pupils who perhaps would never go on to read the works of Ivan Verxrats'kyj or the magnificent *Annals of the Ševčenko Scientific Society* (Записки Наукового Товариства ім. Шевченка) that topics far removed from everyday discourse could be expressed and discussed in an extraordinarily attractive vernacular-based form of the Ukrainian language. Although the forms of language presented in the four textbooks were not entirely homogeneous, the variants that they conveyed nevertheless paved the way for the development of a better codified, increasingly polyfunctional, and stylistically differentiated Ukrainian written language in its Galician variant, whose potential for supra-regional coordination served increasingly to incorporate the extra-Galician Ukrainian-speaking regions.

THE LINGUISTIC LEGACY OF THE GALICIAN RUSSOPHILES (BASED ON THE WORKS OF IVAN NAUMOVYČ)

1. Beyond the canon

Like other philological disciplines, Ukrainian studies suffers from the circumstance that at one time a certain canon was established—and hastily to boot—beyond which few scholars venture, even though in some places the foundation of this canon is quite brittle. The consequences of this are felt, perhaps, even more in Ukrainian historical linguistics than in many other related disciplines. Jurij Ševel'ov (George Shevelov), to whom this article is dedicated, was the discoverer of new branches of knowledge in Slavic philology and in Ukrainian studies in particular. He himself has become the canon.

When one speaks of the history of the Ukrainian language in Galicia, the first book that springs to mind is Ševel'ov's *Galicia's Contribution to the Formation of the Ukrainian Literary Language* (Ševel'ov 2003, 1966). In keeping with his intention, in this work the author devoted less attention to the history of the Ukrainian language in Galicia per se than to Galician influences on the development of the Ukrainian literary language. This may explain why there are still significant lacunae in research on Galicia's linguistic history. Since the Ukrainian studies canon traditionally ignores "less important" figures, who are even stigmatized (for some reason), these lacunae unquestionably include the linguistic legacy of the Galician Russophiles.¹ Although it stands to reason that Ukrainian philologists at

¹ In the original Ukrainian-language version of this article, I deliberately use the term "москвофілізм" ("Muscophilism"). I disagree with Paul Robert Magocsi, who has a very negative attitude to this term and even goes so far as to say that there is no place for it in scholarship (see Magocsi 2002: 103-4 and elsewhere). First of all, Magocsi's view notwithstanding, the term "Muscophilism" does not imply any disrespect; neither does its formative word, Moskva (Muscovy). Even the word moskal' (Muscovite), which today has acquired a pejorative meaning, was a completely neutral word until the early twentieth century. Second, the surrogate "rusofil'stvo" (Pol. rusofilstwo; Russ. rusofil'stvo), a word that exists in Ukrainian, Polish, and Russian, does not strike me as a very successful term, since the people who considered themselves "Rusyns" (Ruthenians) were all those who were concerned about their national self-identity, and for the most part those same Rusyns had a receptive attitude to the concept of Rus', regardless of their stance toward Russia or the Russian language. Third, the Ukrainian word moskvofil'stvo (Muscophilism) does not necessarily imply (as Magocsi suggests) that the representatives of this movement supported the idea of political annexation to Russia; it simply denoted a friendly attitude to Russia and a certain orientation toward that country. Where the linguistic question is concerned, this issue is very straightforward: Muscophiles were those who championed the Russian language as the literary language of all Eastern Slavs. The "old Rusyns" (starorusyny), however, were not fighting for the introduction of the Russian language but for the preservation of Church Slavonic traditions. Fourth, "Muscophilism" in this interpretation did not emerge in the 1890s, as Magocsi claims, but shortly after the Revolution of 1848, when many of the old Rusyns (and not only they but considerable numbers of people who favored the development of a literary language on the basis of the language of the people) adopted "Muscophile" positions. The "Muscophiles" frequently resorted to so-called jazyčije—which at times was the "Ruthenian-Russian" language (Russoruthenisch) simply because the Austrian censorship objected to their using the Russian language (see Moser 2011: 602-26, 641-66). Thus it is highly likely that "the enemies of the old Rusyns, whether Poles or populists/Ukrainophiles" (Magocsi 2002: 110) did not "accuse them of being Russophiles or Muscophiles" without good reason (ibid.). Fifth, the Muscophiles' official language use and official declarations should not always be accepted at face value: as their personal correspondence reveals,

the turn of the nineteenth century were not yet capable of researching the work of their Russophile opponents in an unbiased and comprehensive fashion, the time has now come to formulate a more lucid approach to the development of their so-called *jazyčije* and to the history of the Russian language in Galicia (Moser 2011: 602–26, 641–66). Furthermore, it would be worthwhile to carry out a fundamental rereading of the Ukrainian-language vernacular writings of the Russophiles, who had clearly grasped that it was crucial to address the Galicians in their native language, not in some foreign tongue.

2. The early years of a Galician Russophile

Beginning in the 1860s, Ivan Naumovyč (1826–1891) was arguably the most popular representative of the Galician Russophiles. Some parts of the most detailed extant biography of Naumovyč, written by his friend, the Russophile Osyp (Josyp) Mončalovs'kyj, are practically hagiographic in character (Mončalovs'kyj 1899).² The first chapters reveal that Naumovyč, like many other Galician "awakeners" during the nineteenth century, was first raised in a Polish-speaking milieu, although his family had preserved certain remnants of their "Rus" past.³

Иванъ Наумовичъ родился 14 (26) января 1826 г. въ селъ Козловъ, нынѣшнёго повѣта Каменки Струмиловой, въ домѣ своего дѣда по матери, Николая Дроздовского, пароха въ Козловъ и декана Бужского. Отецъ ... Григорій, былъ учителемъ въ Бужску ... Первоначальное образованіе получилъ И. Наумовичъ въ школъ, подъ руководствомъ своего отца. ... Тогды каждый, кто перемѣнилъ сердакъ или селянскую опанчу на мѣщанскій кафтанъ, или на сурдутъ, уже стыдался русского слова и русского рода. Такъ было и въ домъ учителя Григорія Наумовича, который даже читати не умълъ по русски. По той причинъ въ дитинныхъ лътахъ Иванъ Наумовичъ не зналъ ни слова по русски. ... Маючи пять лѣтъ, о̂нъ служилъ въ латинско̂мъ костелѣ до "мши," хотя не зналъ и слова латинского. Помимо того изъ дома родичей И. Наумовича все таки не совсъмъ изчезъ русскій духъ, ибо его поддержовала принадлежность домовниковь до русской церкви. Именно родичи И. Наумовича съ дътьми ходили въ русскіи праздники въ церковь, а въ каждый праздникъ Господскій, Богородиченъ и св. Николая, мати И. Наумовича, Марія, ставила передъ о́тповѣднымъ образомъ свѣчку или лампадку, а отецъ читалъ русскій акафисть изъ книжечки, писанной польскими буквами (ibid., 5-6).

their inclination toward the Russian language was much stronger than printed sources indicate (Moser 2011: 602–26; see also the letters of Ivan Naumovyč cited in this article). In this English translation, I will use the widely accepted terms "Russophiles," "Russophilism," etc.

- 2 This biography is written in the bizarre language of a passionate Muscophile of the late nineteenth century who was, in fact, Naumovyč's successor. Nina Pašaeva's Internet publication (Pašaeva, I. G. Naumovič kak obščestvennyj, političeskij i religioznyj dejatel' Galičiny vtoroj poloviny XIX veka (http://www.ukrstor.com/ukrstor/paszaewánaumovicz.html) is actually an abbreviated version of Mončalovs'kyj's book, the only difference being Pašaeva's addition of some (nonessential) archival materials.
- 3 In addition to Anna Veronika Wendland's monograph Die Russophilen in Galizien: ukrainische Konservative zwischen Österreich und Russland, 1848–1915 (Wendland 2001), the life and views of Ivan Naumovyč are discussed sporadically in Ostap Sereda's unpublished dissertation (Sereda 2003).

Ivan Naumovič (Naumovyč) was born on 14 (26) January 1826 in the village of Kozliv in today's county of Kamianka-Strumylivska, in the home of his maternal grandfather Nikolaj Drozdovskij [Mykola Drozdovs'kyj], the parish priest in Kozliv and dean of Buzke. His father...Grigorij [Hryhorij] was a teacher in Buzke.... I. Naumovyč received his primary education in school, under the tutorship of his father.... At the time, anyone who exchanged his serdak [peasant wool coat] or opancha [peasant wool overcoat] for a burgher's caftan or coat would be ashamed of the Russian word and Russian background. That was also the case in the home of the teacher Grigorii Naumovyč, who could not even read Russian. For that reason, in childhood Ivan Naumovyč did not know a word of Russian.... When he was five years old, he served Mass [as an altar boy] in a Latin [Roman Catholic] church, even though he did not know a word of Latin. Despite that, the Russian spirit had not disappeared completely from I. Naumovyč's parental home because it was sustained by the connection of the inhabitants of the house to the Russian church. It was in fact the parents of I. Naumovyč who went to church with their children on Russian feast days, and on every feast day of the Lord, the Mother of God, and St. Nicholas, I. Naumovyč's mother, Maria, placed a candle or an icon-lamp in front of the appropriate image, and his father read a Russian acathist from a little book written in Polish letters.

After obtaining financial assistance from a Polish countess, the young man was eventually able to study at a gymnasium in Lviv. When he was forced to repeat a year, he did not dare to ask for more funds. To make ends meet, he tutored the son of a wealthy Lviv Jew and did physical labor at a mill owned by a German Lutheran. For some time he considered remaining in this job, but his father turned him away from that "sin." Thus, Galicia's multiethnic character was omnipresent in Naumovyč's personal life, as was multilingualism. Mončalovs'kyj records that Naumovyč knew German (although not fluently), and, in the words of his biographer (which are marked by certain anti-Semitic notes), he could imitate a Galician Jew so well that Jews thought he was one of them (ibid., 18).

As mentioned earlier, Polish was the true mother tongue of the future leader of the Russophiles, but his fluency in "Ruthenian" must have been considerable despite what Mončalovs'kyj writes in his book—because, once Naumovyč discovered his "Ruthenianness," he expressed himself quite well in the written language. Naumovyč also spoke French, which impressed the Polish countess who offered him a stipend during his first years at the gymnasium. It is very likely that Naumovyč did not yet know Russian, and he made his first closer acquaintance with Church Slavonic in 1844, when he enrolled for "philosophical" studies (i.e., the last two years of gymnasium) at the Lviv Theological Seminary. The Polish language reigned throughout this educational institution, where the Polish revolutionary movement was actively promoted. According to Mončalovs'kyj (ibid., 6–10), the seminary students were greatly influenced by Kasper Cięglewicz, the most popular Polish agitator among the "Ruthenians."⁴

⁴ For information on Cięglewicz, see Moser 2003 and Moser 2011: 562–601.

Naumovyč was captivated by the ideas of the Polish revolutionaries. Initially, he remained staunchly on their side even after witnessing the clash of Polish and "Ruthenian" ideas concerning the political reorganization of Galicia during the Revolution of 1848. But after he was forced to return to his parents' home when the theological seminary was temporarily closed, a key incident took place in his life in the town of Zalishchyky, which, according to various accounts, transformed him from "Saul into Paul." One fine day Naumovyč headed for the bridge on the Dnister River, where he launched into his latest speech about "Ruthenian-Polish brotherhood." It soon became clear, however, that the "Ruthenian" inhabitants of his native land were not at all receptive to this propaganda, and in one fell swoop he rid himself of his *konfederatka*, the cap traditionally worn by the Polish military, and his Polish convictions as symbolized by this type of headgear:

Мужики стали еще больше насмѣхатись надъ Иваномъ Наумовичемъ, пытали его, зъ-отки о̀нъ возьме войско, бо мужики не по̀йдутъ за Польщу битись, а съ одними "гвардистами" та ихъ офицерами "Москалеви" не вдѣють ничого, а наконецъ одинъ мужикъ сказалъ: "Чи вы, паничу, не русская дитина? Вашъ тато ходитъ на службу Божу до церкви, що̀ вы за такій Полякъ?" Иванъ Наумовичъ о̀тповѣдалъ мужикамъ, якъ мо̂гъ, но одинъ мужикъ приступилъ до него, знялъ зъ его головы польскую рогатывку и сказалъ: "А вы, паничу, возьмѣтъ ту шапочку и такъ киньте ю о землю – и такъ ю здопчѣтъ, здопчѣтъ, а о̀ттакъ плюньте и киньте ю о землю – и такъ ю здопчѣтъ, здопчѣтъ, а о̀ттакъ плюньте и киньте въ Днѣстеръ (все то мужикъ и здѣлалъ); – о такъ, такъ, нехай пропадае Польща!" Мужики зареготались, а синяя конфедератка поплыла собѣ Днѣстромъ. Иванъ Наумовичъ не зналъ, що робити; но коли одинъ паробокъ, якъ то на селѣ умѣютъ, заточился на него для зачепки, о̂нъ, боячись, щобъ мужики еще и не поколотили, по̀йшолъ безъ шапки домо̂въ. Сей случай вызвалъ рѣшительный переворотъ въ мысляхъ Ивана Наумовича (ibid., 12–13).

The peasants began to laugh at Ivan Naumovyč even more; they asked him where he would get an army, for the peasants would not go to fight for Poland, and with 'guardsmen' and their officers alone they could not do anything to the 'Muscovite'; and finally one peasant said: 'Mister, are you not a Russian child? Your dad goes to [a non-Catholic] church for divine liturgy: what kind of Pole are you?' Ivan Naumovyč answered the peasants as best he could, but one peasant approached him, removed the Polish *rogatywka* [peaked cap worn by the Polish military, a distant relative of the *konfederatka*] from his head, and said: "Young gentleman, take that little cap and throw it on the ground, and then trample it, trample it, and then spit and throw it into the Dnister (the peasant did all that); so, so may Poland perish!' The peasants burst out laughing, and the blue konfederatka floated down the Dnister. Ivan Naumovyč did not know what to do, but when a young fellow accosted him in order to provoke him, as villagers know how to do, he, fearing that the peasants might even give him a thrashing, went home without the cap. This incident produced a decisive change in Ivan Naumovyč's thinking.

Soon afterwards, the last remaining vestiges of the Naumovyč family's "Ruthenianness" helped save him from arrest when he managed to recite the entire Apostles' Creed in Church Slavonic in an attempt to prove his non-involvement in the Polish uprising in Lviv (ibid., 17). After his father's death from cholera during the revolution, Naumovyč finally realized the need to reorient his life.

Soon Naumovyč published his first "Ruthenian-language" works, in particular, A Verse in Honor of His Excellency the Most Reverend Bishop Mixail Levickij, Metropolitan of Galicia...on Behalf of the Alumni of the General Greek Catholic Seminary of Lviv, Composed in the Year 1848 (Стихъ в честь Єго превосходительству Преосвященному коръ Михаилу Левицкому, Метрополитъ Галицкому ... именемъ питомцо̂въ Семинарїи ген. гр. каθ. Львовской уложенный 1848 г.) (signed with the initials I. N.; Levyc'kyj 1888: 36) and the play *Hryc' Maznycja*, which immediately entered the Galician Ukrainian theatrical repertoire (Pylypovyč 2004: 119–71) and was even staged in Kyiv in 1850. It is clear that Naumovyč had already become imbued with the spirit of the times that had emerged in Galicia shortly before the revolution, in keeping with a resolution passed by the Congress of Ruthenian Scholars that was held in Lviv in October 1848.

In his "low-style" works Naumovyč used the common spoken language, but he composed his "high-style" works "in the written language, which traces the origins of its development to the distant past and which is mistakenly called pure Russian in all ways avoiding all those expressions and forms that are exclusively Muscovite in origin" (Studyns'kyj 1905: xv).⁵ In time, Naumovyč drew increasingly closer to the Russian language.

Naumovyč readily collaborated with various Galician periodicals. Among his early works are the *Speech Delivered in the Seminary Church at the Divine Liturgy for the Soul of Rev. O. Gerovs'kyj* (Слово изреченное в церквѣ семинарской при божественномъ богосл&женїю за д&ш& бл. о. М. О. Ґеровского), published in 1850 in *Zorja Halyc'ka* (Levyc'kyj 1888: 55), and the *Spring Psalm* (Псаломъ веснянный), which also appeared in that periodical in 1851 (Naumovyč 1851). The language of these works is occasionally even more archaic and closer to the Russian literary language (particularly of the eighteenth century) than similar works by other authors:⁶

Ты й мнѣ далъ жизнь – я есмь, чувствую – Я вижу Тя въ дѣлахъ Твоихъ; Въ тварехъ Твоихъ ся любую, Не понимая ся зъ утѣхъ. И всегда о безлѣтно Сый! Мой смыслъ и сердце къ Тебѣ чаєть, Я тебе чту; но я слѣпый – Мой умъ Тебе не понимаєть (Naumovyč 1851: 207).

^{5 &}quot;[...] въ языцъ письменномъ, который мае начало свого розвитія въ далекой минувшости, а который ошибочно чисто-російскимъ называютъ—всъляко остеръгаючи ся всъхъ оныхъ выраженій и формъ, которыи суть исключно московского происхожденья [...]."

⁶ The distance from panegyrical works based on the common vernacular language was particularly substantial (see Moser 2006a; Moser 2011: 462–73).

You gave me life—I am, I feel— I see You in Your deeds; I delight in Your works, Not comprehending myself for joy. And you, always beyond years! My sense and heart aspire to You, I worship you, but I am blind— My mind does not comprehend You.

At first, this linguistic stance of Naumovyč's was mostly connected with the religious sphere. Later, the "lofty style"—and this would be a language that drew increasingly closer to Russian, with an admixture of either deliberately or unconsciously introduced Galician-Ukrainian interferemes or outright errors would expand to other domains of intellectual discourse.

With the help of the Old Ruthenian Jakiv Gerovs'kyj, Naumovyč gained the opportunity to complete his studies at the theological seminary despite his former links with Polish revolutionaries. Later, he followed in the footsteps of many other Galician Russophiles. As happened in the life of the Transcarpathian Oleksander Duxnovyč and a number of other figures, Naumovyč's initiation was the "chance to see the tsarist Russian army, which, on the orders of Tsar Nicholas I, was passing through Galicia into Hungary to assist the Austrian army against the Hungarians" (Mončalovs'kyj 1899: 17).⁷ After graduating from the seminary in 1851, Naumovyč married and then became a priest. At this time he continued studying Russian, although he never mastered the language. As early as 1856 he sent a letter to Jakiv Holovac'kyj, which was written thus:

Милостивый Государь

Я записалъ изъ Вѣны 340 штукъ книжокъ школьныхъ съ тѣмъ, чтобы оныи прислати на Ваши руки; понеже до Львова они имѣютъ своихъ отставчиковъ, адо Перемышлянъ тяжкобы было прямо получить. Извольте выручить мя, и сколько нужно будетъ заплатить, я буду съ братомъ моимъ не за долго въ Львовѣ, и съ благодареніемъ Вамъ отдамъ. [...] Узнавъ отъ Богдана Бѣлоуса, что Ваша родина помножилася одной головой, мило мнѣ при сей способности пожелать Вамъ, чтобы Всемогущій Отецъ излилъ на ню богатую струю благословенія, изволилъ Вамъ еще вѣнчати чада чадъ. Съ тѣмъ остаюсь всегда неизмѣнный.

И. Наумович

Скажите по милости Шеховичу, что я памятствую о моей должности, но теперь мои финансы, какъ вѣрнаго подданаго Австрійскаго, стоятъ не очень потѣшительно. (Cited in Studyns'kyj 1905: 313–14)

Gracious Sir!

I have ordered 340 schoolbooks to be sent to you from Vienna, as they have their own suppliers for Lviv, but it would be difficult to receive [them] directly

^{7 &}quot;[...] случайность увидѣти царско-русское войско, которое, по приказу царя Николая І., переходило черезъ Галичину въ Угорщину на помощь австрійскимъ войскамъ противъ Мадьяръ."

in Peremyshliany. Be so kind as to help me out and pay whatever is required; I will soon be in Lviv with my brother and will reimburse you with gratitude.... Having learned from Bohdan Bilous that your family has been expanded by one person, it is my pleasure on this occasion to extend my wishes to you that Almighty God will pour a rich stream of blessings on it and deign to grant you the chance to marry off the descendants of your descendants. I remain as always,

I. Naumovyč [*sic*]

[P.S.] Kindly tell Šexovyč that I remember my debt, but at this point my finances, as those of a loyal Austrian subject, are not very encouraging.

Much in this letter attests that it was not the Church Slavonic language but Russian that served as the ground of our Russophile's "literary language" (e.g., the infinitive ending -*mb*, the reflexive postfix -*cb*, the adverb o_{4eHb} , the connective $\kappa a \kappa v_b$, etc.). Did Naumovyč, in writing this letter, understand that the expression *He 3a doAlo*, in the sense of "soon," is most decidedly not Russian but a calque of the Polish *niezadlugo*? Was he aware of the bizarre impression that his use of the word *cnoco6hocmb* made? That is unlikely, although, on the other hand, the use of the pronominal forms MR, (*Ha*) *Hw* might very well have been the result of deliberate choice.

From 1851 to 1853 Naumovyč was the parish priest in Horodok, a town near Lviv. Later, he was assigned to Liashky Korolivski (the present-day village of Zastavne) near Hlyniany (until 1856) and Peremyshliany, where, unfortunately, "there was no priest's residence," for which reason "he settled in the sister church in the village of Korosne" (Mončalovs'kyj 1899: 19–20),⁸ where he served Mass only once every three to five weeks. Mončalovs'kyj hints that it was these unfortunate circumstances in the Peremyshliany parish that led Naumovyč to the idea of "cleansing the Rus' [*russkoi*] Church throughout Galicia of all Latin innovations that have become mixed up in it as a result of the clergy's fecklessness and pressure on the part of Roman Catholicism" (ibid., 20).9 In any case, it was during this period that Naumovyč founded the so-called "rite movement" (*obriadovshchyna*), to which the Galician Russophiles gravitated in the early 1860s.¹⁰ However, the many articles that Naumovyč published in those days, mostly in the newspaper Slovo (Word), are devoted not only to questions of rite but also to the completely secular demands of the national movement of the Galician Ruthenians. In particular, they discussed linguistic rights in the fields of education, the court system, and the state sphere, such as the Galician Diet and the postal service.

^{8 &}quot;[...] не было обиталища для священника [...] поселился при дочерней церкви, въ селъ Коростнъ."

^{9 &}quot;[...] очистити въ цѣлой Галичинѣ обрядъ русской церкви о̂тъ всѣхъ латинскихъ новизнъ, якіи въ него примѣшались вслѣдствіе нерадѣнья духовенства и давленья о̂тъ стороны латинства."

¹⁰ On *obriadovshchyna* and Naumovyč's role in this movement, see Wendland 2001: 121-31, esp. 121-24.

There is no doubt that during this period Naumovyč provoked a number of processes. The rite movement elicited a reaction from the Vatican: on 8 April 1862 the pope issued his encyclical *Amantissimus humani generis* (On the Care of the Churches), in which he announced that the issue of the rite movement would soon be examined by the supreme bodies of the Roman Catholic Church (Mončalovs'kyj 1899: 21, 50). On 8 December 1864 the head of the Catholic Church issued his *Concordia*, which launched a substantial review of the principles of coexistence between the Roman Catholic and Greek Catholic churches in Galicia. Naturally, the members of the rite movement were not pleased by the theses expressed in the *Concordia* (justifiably so, because the Greek Catholic Church's attainment of equal rights was still far in the future). As early as 1883, Naumovyč felt compelled to publish in Russia (although he still lived in Austria) a Russian-language brochure titled *An Appeal to Pope Leo XIII* (Аппелляція къ папѣ Льву XIII), in which he discussed the unceasing harm that was being done to the Greek Catholic Church in Galicia.

Thanks expressly to the rite movement, Naumovyč became a real star of the "Ruthenian" populist movement; at the same time, the ranks of his enemies also increased. In 1861 the rural communities of Zolochiv county elected him as their deputy to the first Galician Diet, where he staunchly championed "Ruthenian" national interests. He further demonstrated his skills in practical matters when a fire destroyed the village of Korosne, where his parish was located. Thanks to his efforts, assistance in rebuilding the village arrived rather quickly from both the owner of the village, Count Andrzej Potocki, and Metropolitan Hryhorij Jaxymovyč. In addition, Naumovyč organized a fund-raising campaign in aid of the burned-out villagers at the editorial offices of the leading Galician periodical of the time, the Lviv-based newspaper *Slovo* (ibid., 25). By this time Naumovyč already had a better grasp of the importance of the idea of social solidarity for the popular "Ruthenian" movement than did most of his contemporaries, and his demands concerning public education clearly went beyond the framework of religion. Besides specifying several urgent requirements, namely, "1) Religious-moral novels" and "2) Lives of the Saints," he called for the publication of general educational works of a practical, recreational, and national educational character, particularly in such fields as: "3) Astronomy, geography, history, physics, et al.; 4) Agriculture, market gardening, cattle raising, and beekeeping; 5) Fables, short stories, and songs for children; 6) Belles lettres, novels, poetry, and popular humor; 7) Popular philosophy: parables and proverbs; 8) Biographies of famous Ruthenian men."¹¹

In keeping with this program, Naumovyč himself wrote farming and beekeeping manuals as well as novels and poems intended for children and the "ordinary people" of Galicia. Even according to non-Russophile opinion, he thereby

^{11 &}quot;1. Религійно-моральный повъсти [...] 2. Жизнеописанія Святыхъ [...] 3) Астрономія, географія, исторія, физика и пр.; 4) Земледъліе, огородництво, ското- и пчеловодство; 5) Байки, повъстки и пъсни для дътей; 6) Белетристика, повъсти, поэзіи и гумористика народа; 7) Народная философія: притчи и приповъстки; 8) Біографіи славныхъ русскихъ мужей. "Cited in Mončalovs'kyj 1899: 47 (from *Slovo*, 1864, по. 67).

became "one of the most distinguished Galician popular writers" (EU 5 1966: 1716– 17; see Hrycak 2006: 397). Naumovyč published a considerable number of these works in the form of individual brochures, but most appeared in various Galician periodicals, particularly in the one he himself founded, *Nauka* (Learning), which appeared from 1871 to 1876 in Kolomyia and in Lviv until 1886 (its publication was revived in the twentieth century).¹²

3. The Russophile credo

In the first decades after the revolution, the "Ruthenian" (руська) consciousness of many Galicians increasingly morphed into "Russian" (русская) consciousness. Without a doubt, political circumstances had a hand in this transformation. Naumovyč was quite concerned by the earliest rumors about the introduction of autonomy in Galicia, as he realized that autonomy would further strengthen the Poles' dominant position. In the 59th issue of *Slovo* for 1866, this truly popular author formulated the well-known credo of the Galician Russophiles, which was titled "From Lvov. A Look into the Future" (Отъ Аьвова. Поглядъ въ будучность). The original version of this text is rarely cited, and later publishers even changed the language in some places. It is therefore worthwhile to cite the most important passages of the original text and compare it with Mončalovs'kyj's version (Mončalovs'kyj 1899: 59–63, identified as "M" in the passages cited below) (here I omit all discussion of punctuation and spacing, which differ significantly in the two versions). The changes correspond to the general linguistic orientation of the Russophiles.

In his article "A Look into the Future," Naumovyč claims that since time immemorial the so-called "Rus" (русскии) in Galicia were in fact "Russians" (русскими), not "Ruthenians" (русинами). If they called themselves by that (latter) name, then it was for one reason only: it was impossible to speak the truth to the Austrian government:

[...] Въ 1848 роцѣ вопрошали насъ, що мы [М: кто вы]? Мы сказали, що мы всесмиреннѣйшіи Ruthenen. (Господи! если бы праотцы наши узнали, що мы сами прозвали себе тымъ [М.: тѣмъ] именемъ, якимъ окрестили нас во время гоненія наши найлютѣйшіи вороги, они въ гробахъ зашевелилибъ ся. [М: зашевелились бы]) [...] – А може вы русскіи? допрошалъ насъ Стадіонъ. Мы кляли душу-тѣло, що мы не русскіи, не Russen, но що мы таки собѣ Ruthenen, що границя наша на Збручѣ, що мы отвращаемся [М: ômвертаемся] отъ [М: ômъ] такъ званыхъ [М: званныхъ] Russen, яко отъ [М: ômъ] окаянныхъ шизматико̂въ, съ которыми ничого вспо̂льного имѣти [М: мати] не хочемъ. Якое ваше письмо? допрашали насъ далѣй [М: далѣе]. Мы сказали, що письмо наше тое [М: то], що въ церковныхъ

¹² The entry in EU 5 (1966), p. 1710 states briefly that *Nauka* "was published in the common language and helped spark interest in political and economic affairs in rural areas; starting in the 1880s, it switched to 'jazyčie." In his study of the distinguished western Ukrainian writer Ivan Franko, Jaroslav Hrycak notes that the newspaper's circulation (between 1,000 and 1,500 copies) was more or less equal to that of *Vistnyk* (Herald) and *Slovo*, as well as the first publications of the Kachkovs'kyj and Prosvita societies (Hrycak 2006: 397).

книгахъ, и знову [М: *знова*] кляли душу-тъло отъ [М: ômъ] гражданки, що то serbisch-russische [M: serbisch-russiche [sic]] Zivilschrift [M adds the following comment in parentheses: сербско-россійское гражданское письмо], которой [М: которого] мы отрицаемся, яко чужой [М: чужого]. Такъ вовсе удивляти не можеть [М: не може удивляти] никого, если намъ Рутенамъ не позволено въ певномъ времени [М: не позволили въ извѣстное время] употребляти ни выраженій русскихъ ни гражданки русской, ни русской скорописи, но допущено [М: допустили] лишь то, щобы намъ яко Рутенамъ свободно было поданья до урядовъ и судовъ [М: *-о̂въ* twice] писати-друковати церковною кирилицею, а языкомъ такимъ, якимъ бесъдуется [М: бесъдуеся] по окрестныхъ того уряда [M: last three words omitted] торгахъ и корчмахъ. И для чогожь [M: last two words omitted] мы не сказали въ 1848 роцѣ, що мы русскіи [М: Русскіи], що границею нашею [М: нашою] народною ни Збручъ, но дальше Днъпра? [М: !] Бо тогды настрашили бы ся насъ были [М: настрашились бы нась], щобы мы, связанны [М: связанныи] исторіею тысячельтною [М: тысячельтнёю исторією], обрядомъ церквнымъ [sic, М: церковнымъ], языкомъ и литературою съ великимъ русскимъ [М: *русскимъ* omitted] народомъ, не забагли коли отъ [M:ômъ] Австріи оторватися [M: ômopвamucя], и не были бы насъ допустили до свободъ конституційныхъ, были бы насъ слабенькихъ тогды придушили, щобысьмо и не дыхнули дыханьемъ русскимъ [...] (Naumovyč 1866: 2).

...In the year 1848 we were asked, who are we? We said that we are the most humble Ruthenians [*Ruthenen*]. (Lord! If our forefathers knew that we ourselves used the very name with which our fiercest enemies had christened us during the period of persecution, they would turn over in their graves.).... Perhaps you are Rus' people, Stadion asked us. We swore up and down that we are not Rus' people, not Russians [*Russen*], but that we are Ruthenians, that our border is the Zbruch River, that we turn away from so-called Russen as from accursed schismatics with whom we want to have nothing in common. What is your writing like? They asked us then. We said that our writing is the one that is in church books, and again we swore off the *grazhdanka*, declaring that it is the Serbo-Russian Zivilschrift [civil script] that we reject as something alien. Thus no one should be surprised that for a certain period we *Ruthenians* were not allowed to use either Russian expressions or the Russian grazhdanka or the Russian cursive, but that we, as Ruthenians, were free only to write/ print petitions to the government and the courts in Church Slavonic, and in the language that is spoken in the markets and taverns on the outskirts of that administration. And why did we not say in 1848 that we are Russians, that our national border is not the Zbruch River but past the Dnipro River? Because then they would have become frightened of us that we, associated by a thousandyear-old history, church rite, language, and literature with the great Russian people, might someday want to separate from Austria, and they would not have allowed us constitutional freedoms, then they would have crushed us weak ones so that we would not even breathe in Russian

Afterwards, according to Naumovyč, it was precisely the linguistic factor that demonstrated the completely natural character of the "Russian" approach to "Rus" issues. In particular, the "Ruthenians" readily used Johann Adam Schmidt's German-Russian dictionary:

Но мало-по-малу [М: мало-помало] рѣчи розъяснилися. Ледви [М: ледва] одинъ, другій ро̂къ проминулъ, и Русь стала отживати [М: о̂тживати], показалось, що ей [М: еи] литература безъ словаря Шмидового [М: Шмида] не успѣетъ [М: успѣе] ни на крокъ, що словарь той русскій [М: той русскій словарь] такъ добре русскій для Петербурга якъ и для Львова, що въ немъ естъ сокровище языка истинно литературного, письменного, русского. Показалось вскорѣ, що Русскіи галицкіи [М: галицкіи Русскіи], оглянувшіися [М: оглянувшись] въ исторіи, прійшли до того пересвѣдченія [М: пересвѣдченья], що имъ не то̂лько языкъ испортила Польща, но и обрядъ упаль по̂дъ гнетомъ латиньства (ibid.)

But little by little, things became clear. Barely a year or two passed, and Rus' began to revive; it turned out that without Schmidt's dictionary her literature would not progress a single step; that that Russian dictionary is as good a Russian dictionary for St. Petersburg as for Lviv; that it contains the treasury of the truly literary written *Russian* language. Soon it became clear that the Galician Russians, looking back in history, had come to the realization that not only had their language been spoiled by Poland, but the rite, too, had fallen under Latin oppression.

According to Naumovyč, the result was that "we do not have a single fine writer who would believe in the brilliant future of an exclusively Galician-Russian literature."¹³ He arrives at the following conclusion:

[...] Русь Галицка, Угорска, Кіевска, Московска, Тобольска [in M, -ая appears five times] и пр. подъ [M: $n\partial \partial b$] взглядомъ етнографическимъ [M: 9-], историческимъ, лексикальнымъ, литературнымъ, обрядовымъ есть одна и таяже [M: ma-же] самая Русь, мимо того, що въ Галичинѣ она вѣрно предана своему возлюбленному Монарху и Его свѣтлой династіи, а тамъ за границею она тоже предана свому [M: *своему*] Монарху и своей династіи. [...] Но доки мы Рутенами, ограничеными [M: *ограниченными*] съ языкомъ и литературою нашою на сельскіи хаты дванадцати [M: *дванадцяти*] округовъ [M: *округдвъ*] галицкихъ, а не признающимися до цѣлости русского міра: горе намъ отъ канцлерства полського! (ibid.).

...Galician, Hungarian, Kyivan, Muscovite, Tobolsk Rus' et al., from the ethnographic, historical, lexical, literary, and ritual standpoint, is one and the same Rus', despite the fact that in Galicia it is steadfastly devoted to its beloved Monarch and his illustrious dynasty, and there, across the border, it is also devoted to its Monarch and its dynasty.... But as long as we are Ruthenians, restricted by our language and literature to the village homes of twelve Galician districts, not acknowledged as belonging to the whole the Russian world, woe to us from the Polish chancellorship!

Thus, urges Naumovyč, the time has come "to cross our Rubicon":

^{13 &}quot;[...] не ма у насъ ни одного изъ лучшихъ литерато̂въ, который вѣрилъ бы въ блистательную будучность исключной галицко-русской литературы."

Для того есть мнѣніемъ нашимъ, що время уже переступити нашъ Рубиконъ и сказати откровенно въ слухъ всѣмъ: Не можемъ отдѣлитися [M: отдълитися] хиньскимъ [M: китайскимъ] муромъ отъ [M: отъ] братей [М: братовь] нашихь и отстояти [М: отстояти] оть [М: отв] языковой, литературной, церковной [М: церковной omitted] и народной связи со всѣмъ русскимъ міромъ! Мы не Рутены зъ 1848 року, мы настоящіи Русскіи! но якъ всегда были, такъ есьмо и останемъ [М: останемся] въ будуще непоколибимо [М: непоколебимо] върны нашому августъйшому [М: Августьйшому] австрійскому Монарху и свътлъйшой династіи [M: Династіи] Габсбурговъ! Зложивши такое въроисповъданіе, не будемъ потребовати боятися польского канцлерства, не будетъ намъ тое могло закинути [М: не буде намъ мо̂гъ никто закинути], що языкъ нашъ неспособенъ до высшихъ училищъ, необразованый [М: необразованный] до урядованья и пр. [М: проч.], бо языкъ нашъ и литература наша русска [М: -ая] давно и далеко перестигла польску [М: -ую], чого намъ и самы [М: сами] Поляки въ соймъ и всюда заперечити не здужають.

Одинъ именемъ многихъ (ibid.).

Therefore it is our view that the time has come to cross the Rubicon and state openly for all to hear: We cannot separate ourselves from our brothers by a Great Wall of China and lag behind the linguistic, literary, ecclesiastical, and national connection with the entire Russian world! We are not the Ruthenians of 1848; we are true Russians! But as we always have been, so we are and shall remain in the future unshakably loyal to our most august Austrian Monarch and his most illustrious Habsburg dynasty! Having made this confession of faith, we will not have to fear the Polish chancellorship; it will not be possible to reproach us that our language is unsuited to higher educational institutions, unfit for administration, etc., for *our* language and *our Russian* literature long ago far outstripped the Polish, which the Poles themselves in the Diet and everywhere will be incapable of denying.

One in the name of many.

In the 83rd issue of *Slovo* (1866), Naumovyč confirmed his Russophile credo by devoting even more attention to the linguistic factor:

А хоть [М 65–66: хотя] я Малорусинъ, а тамъ живутъ Великоруссы [М: Великоруссы]; хоть [М: хотя] у мене выговоръ малорусскій, у нихъ великорусскій: то такой [М: таки] и я русскій, и они русскіи, такъ само якъ Мазуры и Великополяне и такъ зовимыи Васерполяки имѣютъ свои собственности [М: особенности], свой [М: сво̂й] выговоръ, свою простонародную литературу, но всѣ сходятся въ томъ [М: тôмъ], що всѣ суть Поляками, и всѣ имѣютъ общую книжную литературу, общій книжный литературный языкъ. [...] (Naumovyč 1866а: 2).

But although I am a Little Ruthenian, and the Great Russians live over there; although my accent is Little Russian, while theirs is Great Russian, I am just as Russian as they are, just as the Masurians and Great Poles and the so-called *Wasserpolen* ["Water Poles": Poles who lost their Polish identity over time] have their own characteristics, their own accents, and their own folk literature but

all agree that all of them are Poles and all have a common bookish literature, a common bookish literary language.

In another, lesser known section, Naumovyč introduces a new—albeit not original—argument: he writes that even though under different circumstances it might have been possible to create a "Little Russian bookish language," it was the Poles who did not allow the Ruthenians such an opportunity. To be sure, Naumovyč hints that the phrase "Little Russian bookish language" should nevertheless be understood rather as a Russophile variety of the "Great Russian" language:

Що до образованья нашого малорусского нарѣчія яко языка книжного, заперечи не дасться [М. заперечитись не дасть], що народъ, числящій 15 миліоновъ [М: миліоновь] душть, т. е. вдвое то́лько [М: сто́лько], ко́лько [М: ско́лько] всѣхъ Поляковъ [М: Поляко́въ] есть [М: нема есть] на свѣтъ, могъ бы былъ [М: быть бы мо́гъ] выобразовати собѣ при благопріятныхъ обстоятельствахъ питомую, отъ [М: ôтв] великорусской независимую литературу, котора [М: которая], чи колись не сліяла бы ся [М: злилась бы] конечно съ существующимъ уже книжнымъ русскимъ языкомъ, было бы вопросомъ будущности. Но же [М: що] то не сталося, кто тому виненъ, якъ [М: если] не самыи Поляки, подъ [М: nô∂b] которыхъ владѣньемъ [М: владѣнiемъ] жилъ малорусскій народъ сто́лько вѣковъ [М: вѣкôвъ], подъ [М: nô∂b] которыхъ властью (большинства соймового) [М: (соймового бо́льшинства)] живе тутъ и нынѣ (ibid.).

As for the formation of our Little Russian dialect as a bookish language, it cannot be denied that a people numbering fifteen million, that is, twice as many as all the Poles in the world, could have formed for themselves, under favorable circumstances, a particular literature independent of the Great Russian literature, which, whether it might ultimately merge with the already existing bookish Russian language, would be a question of the future. But that that did not happen, who is to blame if not the Poles themselves, under whose rule the Little Russian people lived for so many centuries, under whose power (the Diet majority) they are still living here today.

This is followed by typical "Russophile" argumentation: since the "Russian bookish language" was created on a common Rus' foundation, then either way the "Little Russian bookish language" would ultimately have to merge with it. But, owing to the obstruction of "Little Russian education" on the part of the selfsame Poles, there was seemingly no other solution than the adoption of the "Russian language":

Великорусы [М: Великоруссы] лучше умѣли пользоватися [М: пользоватись] обстоятельствами. Они, имѣючи свое питомое, великорусское нарѣчье [М: нарѣчіе], взяли до него кляссическую [М: классическую] церковнословянщину [М: церковно славянщину] и живущое [М: живое] малорусское нарѣчье [М: нарѣчіе], и зъ того всего за помочью [М: помощью] ученыхъ Велико- Мало- и Бѣло-русовъ [М: -руссовъ] образовали общій русскій книжный языкъ, который всѣмъ русскимъ

племенамъ ровно [М: ровно] приступный, и ровно отдаленный [М: *о́тдаленный*] отъ [М: *о́тъ*] простонародного нарѣчья [М: нарѣчія] великоякъ и мало- и бълорусского [М: велико-мало- и бълорусского]. Для образованья же малорущины [М: малорусчины] остало [М: осталось] было еще одно поле, т. е. Галичина, где по истинъ благопріятствовало ей не дуже росширенное знаніе книжного русского языка, въ Россіи высокообразованного, и выговора великорусского. Я самъ былъ изъ числа подвижниковъ [М: подвижниковъ] на томъ [М: толь] поли, и думалъ ажь до уконченія [М: окончанія] послѣдной [М: послѣднёй] сесіи [М: сессіи] Галичского [М: галицкого] Сойма, що Поляки, братья Словяне [М: Славяне], имѣющіи въ соймѣ важный привилей большости [М: большинства], приложатъ всякихъ усилій [М: всякіи усилія], щобы поданіемъ [М: подачею] нашимъ народнымъ школамъ и другимъ институціямъ братной [М: братнёй] помощи [М: помочи], поставили [М: поставити] насъ въ возможности [М: возможность] образованья нашого малорусского наръчья [М: наръчія] независимо отъ [М: отъ] великорущины [М: великорусчины]. Голосъ мой при внесенью посла Лавровского касательно марныхъ 3.000 зрс. [М: зр.] для нашого ультра малорусского театра былъ голосомъ лебединнымъ [М: лебединымъ], съ которымь упала послѣдняя надежда на братерство сосѣдовъ Поляковъ [M: сосѣдей-Поляковъ], и [there is no u in Mončalovs'kyj] въдай и для малорущины [М: *малорусчины*], которой самыи первъйшіи поборники за кордономъ перейшли, утративши въ галичскомъ соймъ послѣднюю крѣпость, прямо въ таборъ великорусскій,¹⁴ ибо стало доказано якъ не можь [М: можно] лучше, що Малорусъ [М: Малоруссъ], если не имъе остати [М: стати] настоящимъ Полякомъ, имъе единое прибъжище въ приобщеніюся [М: пріобщеніи] выобразованной [М: высокообразованной], готовой, книжной богатой русской литературь [M: литературы] (ibid.).

The Great Russians were better able to take advantage of circumstances. Having their own particular Great Russian dialect, they added to it the classical Church Slavonic language and the living Little Russian dialect, and from all that, with the aid of Great, Little, and White Russian scholars, they created a general Russian bookish language that is equally accessible to all Russian tribes and equally distant from the simple common dialect, whether Great or Little and White Russian. For the creation of the Little Russian dialect, there still remained *one field*, that is, Galicia, where, in fact, it was favored by a not very extensive knowledge of the bookish Russian language, which is highly cultured in Russia, and of Great Russian pronunciation. I myself was one of the advocates in that field, and until the end of the last session of the Galician Diet I thought that the Poles, as brother Slavs possessing the important privilege of a majority in the Diet, would bend every effort so that, by granting fraternal assistance to our public schools and other institutions, they would afford us the possibility of creating our Little Russian dialect independently of the Great Russian. With regard to Deputy Ławrowski's motion concerning a miserable 3,000 gold coins (*złote ryńskie*) for our ultra-Little Russian theater, my voice was a swan song that marked the collapse of the last hope for brotherhood from our neighbors, the

¹⁴ This entire subordinate clause, beginning with the word κοποροῦ and ending with βελικοργαταιμ, is omitted in Mončalovs'kyj's text!

Poles, and, know you, even for the Little Russian dialect, the very first advocates of which, having forfeited their last bastion in the Galician Diet, crossed over directly to the Great Russian camp, for it had been proved as compellingly as possible that the Little Russian, if he is not to become a true Pole, has the sole refuge of joining the highly cultured, ready, bookish, rich *Russian* literature."

Besides the addition of several superficial "Ruthenian" features (mostly $o \rightarrow \hat{o}$; the occasional elimination of *-mv* in the first, anonymously published, article in which the author took the daring step of writing such forms as *ycntemv*),¹⁵ Mončalovs'kyj's intrusions into the language of these excerpts boil down to bringing Naumovyč's language closer to Russian, which efforts indicate the yawning chasm between the actual linguistic usage of the Galician Russophile and the cherished ideal of the "Russian language." The assumption that Naumovyč was consciously introducing into his language all the non-Russian traits that appear in it is faulty. Very likely, he simply had a poorer command of the Russian language than Mončalovs'kyj, a representative of the younger generation. As usual, desire and reality in Russophile linguistic usage did not go hand in hand.

4. The latter years

After the publication of the above-mentioned articles, Naumovyč lost the patronage of Count Potocki, and he was never reelected to the Sejm (possibly owing to intrigues, as claimed by his Russophile biographers). Assistance in finding a new parish in 1867 in Striltsi, near Kolomyia, was provided once again by a Pole (Mončalovs'kyj 1899: 68). There, in 1868, Naumovyč founded the first Galician society of apiarists (EU 5 1966: 1717), and in Kolomyia he began publishing the above-mentioned monthly Nauka and the biweekly Russkaja Rada (Ruthenian Council, in collaboration with Myxajlo Bilous, the owner of a printing house in Kolomyia). In 1872 Naumovyč moved to a parish in the town of Skalat, in the Ternopil region, and in the following year he was elected to the State Council, where he continued the struggle for the "Russian" cause. Some scholars claim that it was in Vienna, thanks to his Slovak contacts, that Naumovyč formulated the idea of creating a new popular-education organization, which was realized in 1874 with the founding of the Myxajlo Kačkovs'kyj Society (see Magocsi 2002: 119–58). It is quite likely that this initiative was no less influenced by the founding of the populist Prosvita Society in November 1868.

Meanwhile, Naumovyč's fame continued to grow. The peasants not only loved him because he treated them with homeopathy and magnetism free of charge but practically adored him, claiming that he cured the sick with water, by the laying on of hands, or merely by looking at them.¹⁶

But the political situation in Austria changed to the detriment of Russophilism. In 1882, the Austrian government struck a decisive blow at this movement after

¹⁵ For a discussion of these rather typical features, see Moser 2011: 602–26.

¹⁶ For information on Naumovyč's popularity among the peasants (a topic to which the Ukrainian populist Myxajlo Pavlyk also devoted attention), see Wendland 2001: 376–80.

the residents of the village of Hnylychka, ostensibly under Naumovyč's influence, announced their desire to convert to Orthodoxy. At the same time, there was increasing suspicion that Russophile circles were engaging in espionage on behalf of the Russian Empire.¹⁷ Out of the blue, several leading Russophile figures were arrested, Naumovyč among them. The arrests led to the notorious trial of "Ol'ha Hrabar and friends," the stenographic record of which was made public that same year in Lviv. The contents of this report have been analyzed often. The most interesting part of the report is the beginning of the trial, which pertains to the language question:

Предс[ѣдатель]: Ksiądz proboszcz słyszał tamtego tygodnia akt oskarżenia, bo był tu czytany, a zresztą ma ks. proboszcz także w ręku, i słyszał ks., że jesteś oskarżony o zbrodnię stanu. Czy czuje się ks. proboszcz tego winnym?

Наум[ович]: Не только не чувствуюся виноватымъ, но не вижу ни одного факта, на которомъ можна бы оперти таку провину.

Предс.: Czy ks. proboszcz chce po rusku mówić? bo to jest wolno.

Наум.: Такъ есть по русски.

Πρε₄C.: Tylko w takim razie proszę używać takich wyrazów, któremi lud mówi, zresztą to zależy od woli ks. proboszcza.

HayM. Ja właśnie musiałbym użyć niektórych wyrazów wyższych, bo to wymaga sam przedmiot; miałbym zaś być niezrozumiałym panom przysiężnym, a o zrozumienie każdego słowa bardzo mi chodzi, dlatego stosując się do moich poprzedników będę również mówić po polsku (Stenografičeskij otčet 1882: 169).¹⁸

Chair[man] [speaking in Polish]: The parish priest heard the act of indictment last week because it was read out here, but, after all, the parish priest also has it in his hands, and the priest heard that he is accused of a crime against the state. Does the parish priest feel guilty of that?

Naum[ovych] [speaking in "Russian"]: Not only do I not feel guilty, but I do not see a single fact on which such a transgression could be based.

Chair: Does the parish priest wish to speak in Ruthenian? For that is permitted. Naum.: Yes, in Russian.

Chair: In that case, please use such expressions as are spoken by the people; after all, that depends on the will of the parish priest.

Naum. [speaking now in Polish]: In fact, I would have to use some highstyle expressions because the subject itself demands it; I would then not be understood by the jurymen, but the comprehension of each word is important to me; for that reason, adapting to my predecessors, I shall also speak in Polish.

¹⁷ In autumn 1866 the Lviv regional government and police placed Naumovyč under surveillance and began the scrupulous recording of his activities. These were the "first government documents about the potential Russophile enemy of the state" (Wendland 2001: 155). On the 1882 trial, see ibid., 201–21.

¹⁸ Wendland's book contains certain inaccuracies with regard to the question of the use of different languages during the trial (Wendland 2001: 206–7). For example, it is not true that the court did not allow Naumovyč to use his version of the Ruthenian language because it was not one of the recognized regional languages, etc.

We have before us the recorded entry of Naumovyč's mixed, not quite Russian, spoken language. There is considerable doubt whether he truly knew all those "high-style expressions" that differed from the way "the people speak." Even if he did use the word виноватый, nevertheless he did not say вина but провина, not опереть or основать but оперти. Given such linguistic usage (which was rather typical of Russophiles), the artificiality of the argument that Galicians were ostensibly compelled to switch to Russian in order to employ "high-style expressions" once again comes to the fore. Of course, all those difficulties could have been resolved by other, simpler and more active methods, which the Galician populists succeeded in doing in short order.

In any event, for "taking part in such associations as had set themselves the task of fomenting hatred or contempt against the homogeneous union of the Austrian Empire, against the form of government and against the state administration, whereby he committed the crime of disturbing the public peace,"19 Naumovyč was sentenced to "eight months of ordinary imprisonment, with a harsher one-time fast every two weeks" (ibid., 396).²⁰ His appeal was rejected and, to make matters worse, on 3 November 1882 he was excommunicated from the Greek Catholic Church (Wendland 2001: 232). He was released from prison on 14 (26) August 1884, and in September of that year he made his first trip to the Russian Empire, visiting Kyiv, Moscow, St. Petersburg, Vilnius, Warsaw, and Kholm (Chełm). By 1885 he was already so well informed about local conditions that he was able to find the necessary funds in Russia to repair the financial catastrophe that had struck the Society of the Farmers' Credit Institution ("Общество рольничо-кредитное Заведение"), the Galician bank that was linked to the fate of several "Russian" institutions and many private individuals, including Galician peasants, who were among its shareholders (Mončalovs'kyj 1899: 87).

In 1886 Naumovyč settled down permanently in the Russian Empire. He lived in Kyiv and environs and was temporarily assigned to a parish. He continued to submit articles not only to local but also to Galician Russophile periodicals, especially *Nauka*.²¹ However, since even the Russophile Mončalovs'kyj, Naumovyč's biographer, writes that "Iv. Naumovyč did not have any kind of definite occupation in Kyiv" (*Ив. Наумовичь не имѣлъ въ Кieвѣ якого-нибудь опредѣленного занятія*) (Mončalovs'kyj 1899: 89), it may be assumed that Naumovyč shared the fate of many other Muscovite émigrés from Galicia who had experienced a certain process of sober reflection and sometimes outright disillusionment, losing all the great hopes that they had invested in tsarist Russia (Hrycak 2006: 396; Wendland 2001: 459). Even so, Naumovyč continued to work on behalf of Galicians. In 1889, when famine began to rage there anew, he set about organizing the emigration of Galician

^{19 &}quot;[...] brał udział w takich związkach, które sobie postawiły za zadanie wzniecenie nienawiści lub pogardy przeciw jednolitemu związkowi Cesarstwa austryackiego, przeciw formie rządu i przeciw administracyi państwowej, przez co dopuścił się zbrodni zaburzenia spokojności publicznej."

^{20 &}quot;[...] na 8 miesięcy zwykłego więzienia, zaostrzonego jednorazowym postem co dwa tygodnie."

²¹ For a detailed discussion of the prominence of *Nauka* in Galician reading rooms, see Wendland 2001: 264.

peasants to the Caucasus. In a letter written in 1890, he comments: "Nevertheless, it is better to direct our people here than to America!" ("Все таки лучше направлять нашихъ людей сюда, чъмъ въ Америку!," as cited in Mončalovs'kyj 1899: 93). The villages of Naumovychi and Stara Chernyhivka near the city of Sukhum-Kale were thus founded by Galician émigrés.

On the way home from the Caucasus, Naumovyč fell ill and died on 4 (16) August 1891 (shortly after his death, rumors began to circulate that he had been poisoned). He is buried on Askold's Mound in Kyiv.

5. Examples of Naumovyč's vernacular legacy

The extracts cited below come from various works by Ivan Naumovyč. Despite all the differences in details, they are united by the fact that they are written in "genuine Ruthenian," firmly based on the commonly spoken Galician-Ukrainian language.

5.1. Plays

As mentioned earlier, in 1849 Naumovyč wrote a play titled *Hryc' Maznycja*, a comedy that enjoyed considerable popularity. It was published in the Lviv-based literary journal *Pčola* (Bee) and as a separate brochure. The extract below features a character named "Lord Holyškevyč" (P. H.) ("Панъ Голишкевичъ") and another named "Krutosvic'kyj" (Kr.) ("Крутосвъцкій"), who are described in the commonly spoken language as "a down-at-the-heels rural nobleman" ("по́дупалый шляхтичъ сельскій") and "An'ela's lover" ("любасокъ Аньели"):

П. Г.: Ци Панъ мене знають? Кр.: Нѣтъ Господине, не тямлю. П. Г.: Я ся именую Баронъ Голишкевичь. Кр.: Дуже мя тъшитъ ... П. Г.: Имя моє дуже добре знане цѣлому свѣту – малъ ємъ то щастье вславитися подъ Гороховомъ за отчизну... Кр.: Красно! П. Г.: Мой отецъ Иванъ Голишкевичь, малъ гоноръ бути подстольомъ Короля Єгомосцѣ. Кр.: Гм! Гм! то не жартъ. П.Г.: Я малъ ємъ въ моимъ родѣ такого, що поспродувавши свои всѣ добра поѣхалъ за море на вояжь. Кр.: Всё вѣрю. П. Г.: Донесене мнѣ що Господинъ любитъ и вганяє ся за одновъ молодицею, котра ... єсть моіовъ донькою, и за которою яко отецъ и за такимъ чоловѣкомъ, що має гоноръ бути моимъ зятьомъ въ цѣлой силѣ обстану (Naumovyč 1849: 43). P. H.: Does your lordship know me?

Kr.: No, sir, I don't remember you. P. H.: My name is Baron Holyškevyč. Kr.: I'm very glad to know you.... P. H.: My name is very well known throughout the world—I had the fortune to gain fame for the fatherland at Horokhiv....

Kr.: Wonderful!

P. H.: My father, Ivan Holyškevyč, had the honor of being His Majesty the King's deputy master of the table.

Kr.: Hmm, hmm! That's no joke.

P. H.: There was a kinsman of mine who, after selling off all his possessions, went on a voyage beyond the sea.

Kr.: I believe it all.

P. H.: It has been reported to me that you, sir, love and are chasing a young woman who is...my daughter, and for whom I, as a father, and for such a man as has the honor of being my son-in-law, will stand up with all my strength.

The orthography in this text is conservative in places: to be more precise, there is the issue of the highly inconsistent marking of $o \leftarrow i$ with \hat{o} (see *moŭ*, *nod*_b, etc.) and the etymological rendering of the suffix in the past tense in the masculine singular ($Ma\lambda b$). One may also include here the form HBMb (some scholars have considered that, in pronouncing it as [H'i], this word still had to be written, according to tradition, as HBMD; moreover, the form Him in fact exists in some southwestern Ukrainian dialects). In general, however, the language of this extract is undoubtedly the common spoken Galician. Special attention should be paid to such purely Galician elements as the particle *µu*; the movable reflexive particle *cµ*; the abbreviated pronominal form MR; personal forms of the past tense, such as MAND $\epsilon M b$; $\epsilon c \ddot{e}$ (the similarity to the Russian form is accidental); the hard-stem ending of the instrumental singular of soft-stem masculine nouns, such as nodemonbomb, зятьомь; and the abbreviated adjectival (and, in some places, nominal) ending of the instrumental singular одновъ, моіовъ (along with которою, молодицею, донькою). The writing of *macmbe* with an *-e* ending in the nominative/accusative singular is not necessarily evidence of conservatism, since the pronunciation of -[t'e] instead of -[t'a] [or -[t' t'a] is predominant in Galician dialects, and it was long written in an enhanced manner as *macme*, πume , etc. Other traits also correspond to the Ukrainian language rather than to Church Slavonic or Russian: *mamu*, not *ummmu*; бути, not быти (however, the latter spelling appears in other Naumovyč texts; see below); вганяє, not вгоняєть, etc. It is worth pointing out the parallelism between the forms *kompa* and (3a) *komopow*, which is also found in early Galician populist publications (see Moser 2007: 60, 68, 116, 149). The lexicon of this passage does not contain any traces of convergence with the Russian language. Even if they do occur here and there in the remainder of the text, they are mostly inconspicuous. In point of fact, many years later the Russophiles' opponents were still not writing in a "purer" common spoken language.

Another of Naumovyč's comedies, *Germanized Jurko* (Знъмченый Юрко), was first published in 1872, when the writer was already middle-aged. The play was reprinted several times (the extracts below are from the second edition, dated 1884). One of the extremely interesting comic effects of this text is that Jurko (George) tries to impress his relatives by speaking a "Germanized" language apparently learned in the Austrian army. In fact, this invented military *Surzhyk* combines elements not only of the German and "Ruthenian" (Ukrainian) languages but also of Czech.

Юрко: А вігейцъ, сервусъ! Доця: Юрку, Юрку, Юрцуню, Юрцуненьку, дитинонько голубчику! Юрко: Ніксъ голубчику, я семъ панъ капралъ, я семъ тего не розумімъ, ніксъ ферштанденъ русішь.22 Стефанъ (обнимае его): Не бувъ бымъ тя и спознавъ – за пять лѣтъ такъ отмънився! Ну, съдай, сыну, розгостися. Ажь теперь знаю, що нема знахора на свѣтѣ, якъ Проць, дай вамъ Боже здоровье. Елена: И я бы его не була спо̂знала. Проць: ...Но Юрку, якъ ся тамъ воювало? Юрко: Гальтъ рехтъ бравъ. Прайсовъ фермалядайтыхъ мы пошлюгали такъ на макъ, на макъ. Доця: Юрцуню, скажи но менъ, що тобъ ъсти дати? Юрко: Ну, гальть флейшъ, по воянцки: флейшъ и цушпайсъ. Доця: Та я сего не розумъю. Скажи намъ по русски. Юрко: Ніксъ русішь, ніксъ русішь (Naumovyč 1884: 11). Jurko: A wie gejt's, servus [Ah, how are things, greetings]! Docja: Jurko, Jurko, Jurcun'o, Jurcunen'ko, my dear little pigeon! Jurko: Nix little pigeon, I am Mr. Corporal, I don't understand that, nix ferštanden rusiš. Stefan (embracing him): I would never have recognized you; you've changed so much in five years! Well, sit down, son, make yourself at home. Now I know there is no better sorcerer than Proc', may the Lord grant him health. Elena: I wouldn't have recognized him either. Proc': ...So, Jurko, how was the fighting there? Jurko: Well, quite okay. We pummeled the damned Prussians to smithereens. Docja: Jurtsun'o, tell me, what do you want to eat? Jurko: Well, meat, soldier-style: *fleisch* and *zuspeis* [meat and side dish].

Docja: But I don't understand that. Tell us in Ruthenian.

Jurko: Nix rusisch, nix rusisch.

As is appropriate in this case, the corrupt German language rendered in traditional Cyrillic script has several curious features. Among the Czech and pseudo-Czech elements, the following deserve attention: [j]*sem* (first person singular of *být* 'to be'), *teho* (mistakenly instead of *toho*), *rozumím* (mistakenly instead of the participle in *-l-*), *no воянцки* (in the Czech literary language, the adjective-forming stem corresponds to the form *vojenský*, which is contaminated here, as one may assume, by the Ukrainian *вояц*(*b*)*kuй*). Other characters in the play speak in the vernacular Galician-Ukrainian language (marked by typical Galician elements, such as *бувь бымъ; mя;* the movable *cя; cezo* instead of *цього*, etc.).

²² It is unlikely that this use of the word pyciпь (Ger. russisch) as the equivalent of the adjective руський (German ruthenisch or russinisch) was Naumovyć's invention. Most likely, it reflects actual word usage on the part of uneducated German-speaking circles of the time.

The German elements are: *sizeŭųъ*, *cepsycь*! (*Wie geht's? Servus*!), *нiксь* (German colloquial *nix*, for *nichts* 'nothing'), *φepumaнденъ* (as in the present perfect tense *habe verstanden*, incorrectly used here without *haben*, from *verstehen* 'to understand'), *pyciuuь* (*Russisch* 'Russian'), *raльть pexmъ бравъ (halt recht brav* 'quite okay'), *Прайсо̂въ* (from *die Preißn*, Austrian Bavarian for *die Preußen* 'the Prussians'), *φepmaлядайтыхъ* (from *vermaledeit* 'damned'), *raльтъ (halt*, a German particle), *φ.eŭuvъ* (*Fleisch* 'meat'), *цушпайсъ* (*Zuspeise*, here without the *-e*, as is common in colloquial Austrian Bavarian German; the word as such is also typical of Austrian German). Sentences such as *я ceмъ mezo не розумімъ*, *нiксъ фepumaнденъ pyciuuь*, or *нiксъ pyciuuь*, *нiксъ pyciuuь* could in fact be characterized as pidgin Czech or pidgin German.

It is striking that this same language of the people is also predominant at the end of the play, where, in contrast to the light humor in other parts of this comedic work, the motif of loyalty to one's nation, which is sacrosanct to the representatives of the "Ruthenian" revival, emerges:

Гласовичъ: А дивѣтъ, якъ уже чисто по русски говоритъ! Доця: Юрцуню, то ты не нѣмець? ты русска моя дитина!

Юрко: Та где я Нѣмецъ, я лишъ такъ жартовавъ. [...]

Гласовичъ: Ну, то ско̂нчѣмъ уже тую комедію. Но закимъ тобѣ, Юрку драбину приставлю, говори за мною тіи слова: (Юрко за нимъ повтаряе): Я [...] Юрій [...] Чорновусъ [...] Русинъ зъ роду [...] до смерти [...] буду все моимъ матернымъ языкомъ говорити [...] отчину мою, вѣру мою святую любити [...] и еще другихъ такъ учити [...].²³

Юрко: (Доця и Стефанъ цълуютъ его). Простътъ тату, простътъ мамо, то така дурна вояцка натура, то мене такъ други̂ намовили. Я якъ васъ все любивъ, такъ и люблю.

Гласовичъ: Такъ Юрку, се одна мати, що тебе породила, и грудьми своими плекала, се (показує широко руками) друга мати, щось ю любити повиненъ: наша Русь, наша святая Русь! Щобысь зойшовъ весь свѣть, не найдешъ ей ро̂внои, солодшои, милѣйшои, бо она насъ также зродила, хлѣбомъ своимъ кормила, водою своею поила, пѣснями своими веселила! Въ ней лежатъ кости отцо̂въ нашихъ русскихъ, въ ней и мы колись ляжемъ. Цуръ тому, кто ей цураеся, кто чужимъ Богамъ служитъ! (Naumovyč 1884: 29–30)

Hlasovyč: See how he's speaking pure Ruthenian now!

Docja: Jurcun'o, so you're not a German? You are my Ruthenian child! Jurko: No way am I a German, I was only joking....

Hlasovyč: Well then, let's put an end to that comedy. But before I bring you a ladder, say these words after me (*Jurko repeats after him*): I...Jurij...Čornovus...a Ruthenian by birth...until death...will always speak my mother tongue...love my native land and holy faith...and also teach others thus....

Jurko (*Docja and Stefan kiss him*): Forgive me, Dad, forgive me, Mama, it's just the stupid nature of a soldier; I was egged on by others. I still love you as I have always loved you.

23 The ellipses in brackets are merely repetitions of passages already cited.

Hlasovyč: Yes, Jurko, this is one mother, who gave birth to you and nourished you with her breasts; this (*spreading his arms wide*) is the second mother, whom you should love: our Rus', our holy Rus'! Even if you traveled the whole world, you would not find her equal, a sweeter or dearer one, for she, too, gave birth to us, fed us with her grain, gave us her water to drink, made us merry with her songs! In her lie the bones of our Ruthenian fathers, in her we, too, shall lie one day. The devil take those who shun her, those who serve foreign Gods!

Although Hlasovyč most certainly did not obtain his "formal" Church Slavonic surname by accident, he, too, speaks the folk vernacular language with its specifically Galician features, such as the form of the interrogative $\partial u_{B}bmb$ with a hard ending; the connective aakumb and the adverb *sce* in the sense of "always"; the nontruncated endings of the pronoun *myio*, *miu*; the hard stem of the adjective *mamephimb*; the finite ending of the connectives $u_0[-]_{cb}[...]$ *noBuheH*, $u_0\delta bucb \ 3\delta \tilde{u}uobb$; the hard sound in the verbs *cAywumb*, *Aewamb*; the lack of -m(b)- in the reverse form of the verb *uypaeca*, etc.

The nontruncated ending of the word *cbsmas* is probably not of dialectal origin but was adopted from traditional church language use. The spelling of the pronoun κmo does not necessarily mean that it was supposed to be pronounced $[\kappa]$ *mo* (although such a pronunciation is actually characteristic of several southwestern Ukrainian dialects, particularly the western ones); similarly, the *-osa-* in the verb *жартовавъ* generally corresponds to Naumovyč's conservative orthography, but here it does not necessarily indicate the sound o (cf. the writing of воювало in the first fragment). The lack of a b- in the pronoun oha is also most likely an example of orthographic conservatism that did not require the pronunciation of [она] instead of [вона] or [Woна] (or, rather, with the practice of *ukannia*, which was very widespread in Galicia: [ByHa] or [WyHa]). Instead, phonetic value may also be given to the forms *отцовь* and *отчину* (versus *отчина*, which is used in other Naumovyč texts): according to tradition, in the noun omeub, used figuratively, the initial o was often not subject to alternation because this word was very well known from church use. In those days its derivative, the noun omyuna, was written in a variety of ways (e.g., *ômчинa* and *sômчинa* appeared in readers for public schools in 1870 and 1872, respectively, but *omyuhy* in an 1871 reader (Moser 2007: 81–82, 125–26; see also pp. 361–362 in this collection). Naturally, after his "return to the sources" the protagonist, Jurko, begins speaking the same folk vernacular as all the other characters in this comedy.

5.2 Agricultural manuals

The common spoken language appears not only in dramatic texts intended to be performed by actors playing the roles of rural inhabitants. Certain traditions also governed its use in agricultural manuals, which, after all, is completely natural in view of the types of readers to whom they were addressed.²⁴

Of the various branches of agriculture, Naumovyč loved beekeeping most of all. In 1876 his *Catechism of Beekeeping* (Катехисъ пчоловодства) was published; it

²⁴ Earlier works in this genre include the famous Pochaiv publication of Księga o gospodarstwie (see Dva počajivs'ki starodruky 1985) and a book written by Naumovyć's father-in-law (!) (Havryškevyč 1844).

was reprinted in 1907 with hardly any changes to the text. The first part of this work does indeed read like a catechism:

Вопросъ: Що есть пчола? Отвѣть: Пчола есть насѣкомое (муха) лѣтающое, о̂ть котрого люди мають во̂скъ и мѣдъ, и котре есть для насъ примѣромъ громадского ладу, соединенія силь и трудолюбія. В: Много есть родо̂въ²⁵ пчо̂лъ? О: Есть три роды пчо̂лъ: 1) матка, 2) трутъ, 3) пчола робоча. В: Що есть матка? О: Матка есть пчола женьского рода (самиця); она служитъ до множенья пчо̂лъ, труто̂въ и другихъ матокъ (Naumovyč 1876: 3).

Question: What is a bee?

Answer: A bee is a flying insect (fly), from which people get wax and honey, and which is an example to us of social order, the union of forces, and industry. Q: Are there many types of bees?

A: There are three types of bees: 1) queen bee; 2) drone; 3) worker bee.

Q: What is the queen bee?

A: The queen bee is a bee of the feminine sex (female); she serves in the multiplication of bees, drones, and other queen bees.

In certain passages, the language of the manual deviates from the folk language, featuring such Church Slavonicisms as *coeduhehia* and *mpydoлюбію* or the participle *лътающое*. The Russian term *насъкомое* is used to denote insects, although the folk equivalent, *мyxa*, is given in parentheses.²⁶ Serving as the predicate is the form *ecmb*, not ϵ or the dialectal form $\epsilon cm(v)$ with a hard pronunciation. In the form of the genitive case, *poda*, the *-a* ending is noteworthy (although earlier the *-y* ending is encountered in the form *лady*). In place of the noun *примъромъ* (instrumental case), which is of Church Slavonic origin (*приміром*, however, is also common in contemporary Ukrainian), the word *прикладомъ* (from the Polish and early Middle Ruthenian tradition) could have been used.

In general, the language of this work has a vernacular coloration that is also reflected on the orthographic level to some extent: after the sibilant, the grapheme \hat{o} is written quite consistently, and o appears after sibilants (see *nuona*, *nuônb*, *nbmaiouuoe*, etc.). Also noteworthy is the typically Galician softening of [H'] before the suffix *-ck-* in the adjective *женьского* and the softening [II'] (in *camuu*_R); the text also contains the forms *u*₀, *maiomb*, *zpomadckoro*, etc.

The "catechetical" section is followed by a descriptive chapter. Its concluding sentences are as follows:

Якъ съ часомъ давнû низенькû хатки по нашихъ селахъ поперемѣняли въ лучшû свѣтлѣйшû хаты на помостахъ, якъ (N 1907: *такъ*) давнû некованû возы уже защезаютъ (N 1907: *щесли*), а всюда кованû и на желѣзныхъ осахъ (N 1907: *осяхъ*) заводятся, якъ чоловѣкъ для себе и для худо̂бки стараеся о

²⁵ In the second edition, we find pod ѣвъ (!). See I. Naumovyč 1907: 3.

²⁶ Cf. the Pol. owad, which denotes an entire class (like the Ukr. literary word комаха).

большу выгоду, такъ прійде колись чась, що всѣ тіи простû уліи перемѣнятся въ такіи, що съ рухомыми (N 1907: *рухомими* [!]) крыжками. Уже есть много господаро̂въ, що мають хорошû пасѣки съ всякими новыми способами, и беруть красный гро̂шъ за мѣдъ; дай Боже, щобы наука дальше розходилася и коренилася, а для того списавъ я вамъ тую маленьку книжочку, щобысьте собѣ взяли до головы найважнѣйшû вѣдомости пасѣчництва, а дальше практикою вашою надолужили (Naumovyč 1876: 79–80).

Over time, as the low, small houses of the past throughout our villages were replaced by better, brighter houses made of wood planks, as the old wagons with uncased wheels are already disappearing, and everywhere wagons with cased wheels on iron axles are being introduced, as a man expends efforts for greater advantage for himself and his livestock, so too there will come a time when all those simple hives will turn into ones with movable roofs. There are already many farmers who have fine apiaries with all kinds of new fittings and are getting good money for honey; God willing, science will continue to expand and establish itself, and that is why I have written this small book for you, so that you can absorb the most important information about beekeeping and compensate with your further practice.

The language of this concluding extract is typical of the entire book. Naturally, the orthography is still fairly conservative (and not free of errors: see, e.g., $\kappa p \omega \kappa a \omega u$ instead of $\kappa p \omega \omega a \omega u$). The language itself, however, has a vernacular character. To those Galician traits that have already been encountered in other texts, one may add the construction with thematic o + the accusative case with the verb *cmapaeca*. The clear-cut vernacular elements include the relative pronoun u_0 in the construction MHOTO $zocnodapôg_{b}$, u_0 $maiom_b$ xopouû $nac b \kappa u$, and the verb $hadony \kappa u nu$. Also striking is the author's penchant for diminutive forms (already apparent in the rendering of spoken language in his plays), of which the most interesting one in the above-cited passage is, perhaps, $(\partial n u)$ $xydô \kappa u$.

Naumovyč's work *Lessons on Farming* ("Поученія о земледѣльствѣ") of 1874 and 1875 (in the 1886 edition) is generally written in the same kind of language:

Уже мы высше представили, яка честь належится земледѣльчому господарству, и яке оно пожиточне для людей и для краю и для державы. Такъ якъ честне и пожиточне, такъ оно и миле, бо оно николи не наскучится; оно що-день дае нове занятіе, нову роботу, нову надѣю, нову утѣху.

Коли купецъ або ремѣсникъ въ мѣстѣ все въ своемъ склепѣ або при своемъ варстатѣ сидѣти муситъ и не може о̂тъ него о̂тступити, все ему кождого дня одна и тая сама наскучна робота; то сельскій господарь съ перемѣною поры року, съ перемѣною мѣсяця, ба не разъ що-день мае иншу роботу, иншу надѣю, иншу утѣху.

Съ якимъ то нетерпѣніемъ выглядае сельскій господарь теплого весняного сонѣчка! [...]

Часъ бы уже былъ, щобы мы Русины подумали также уже разъ о лучшо̂мъ и штучно̂мъ гноенью нашихъ нивъ, если оно не таке дороге, щобы мы черезъ всякіи пробы не выставлялися на большіи страты. Суть у насъ уже и паны въ сторонахъ, где земля неурожайна, которы завели у себе вже хемичное гноенье и похвалитися могутъ богатыми жнивами, совсъмъ не такими, яки мали ихъ попередники, що спускалися на самый товарячій гной, которого пустымъ а великимъ и далекимъ обшарамъ не такъ легко достарчити (Naumovyč 1886: 27, 48).

Above, we have already suggested what honor belongs to farming, and how beneficial it is for people and for the land and for the state. Just as it is honest and beneficial, it is also precious because it is never boring; every day it provides new activities, new work, new hope, new delight.

When a merchant or artisan in a city must always sit in his shop or at his workbench and cannot leave it, every day he has the same old boring work; but with the change of season, with the change of month, and often every day the farmer has different work, a different hope, a different delight.

With what impatience does the farmer await the warm spring sun!...

It is also high time that we Ruthenians finally bethought ourselves of better and artificial fertilization of our pastures, if it is not so expensive as to expose us to greater losses because of various trials. In our land, there are even lords in places where the land is infertile who have introduced chemical fertilization on their farms and can boast of rich harvests, not at all like those of their predecessors, who resorted to the most commercial manure, which is not so easy to obtain for empty but large and distant expanses.

In such texts, Naumovyč does not avoid such obvious Polonisms as (Bb) CKARRB,(npu) [...] BapcmamB, oGuapaMb (dative plural) et al. Purely vernacular forms, like uqo-dehb, uhuuy, ba, mo (particle), or elements of abstract vocabulary that differ from Church Slavonic and Russian ones, like nonepedhuku, occasionally crop up in the text. The following are manifestations of purely Galician use: the ending -[u] in the form o [...] choehbo and the rendering of the Greek root according to Latin traditions in the adjective xemuthoe (not xumuthoe). On the other hand, we also encounter bunch instead of byBb. The form coBcBmb may be regarded as purely orthographic conservatism, although the spelling Bme (instead of yme) contradicts the etymological principle.

Similar language is also to be found in *The Golden Book for Farmers* (Золотая Книжочка для сельскихъ господарей; Naumovyč 1906) and other comparable texts.

5.3. Short Stories

Naumovyč's short stories (mostly of a didactic nature) were also among the favorite reading material of Galician peasants. Cited below is the ending of the short story "Nastunja" (1876), which is concerned with the need to vote for "Ruthenian" candidates in elections:

Прійшли выборы, Яцентій бувъ выборцемъ и его напередъ перечитали. Всѣ паны усмѣхнулися, що о̂нъ дасть голосъ такъ якъ они. Яцентій ставъ середъ салѣ, та сказавъ поважно и съ вагою имя и прозвиско русского кандидата. Зробився великій шумъ, они не довѣрювали своимъ слухамъ, засумовалися, а выборцѣ нашû по̂йшли за нимъ всѣ, що були щирû та не перекупленû. Вечеръ утѣшилася наша Русь, що на ихъ стало. По выборахъ мала бѣдна Настуня го́рку годину. Другій день переплакала, а третого дня вернула до дому. Въ двѣ недѣли послѣ того выголосили заповѣди, и було славное весѣлье Николы съ Настунею.

Дай Боже имъ прожити, та и другихъ еще учити, якъ русску о̀тчину, русску мову и вѣру любити, якъ стерегчися по̂дмовы и зрады, а якъ вѣрно служити свому народови! (Naumovyč 1876a: 24)

The elections came, Jacentij was a voter, and his name was called out first. All the lords smiled, thinking that he would cast his vote like them. Jacentij stood in the middle of the hall and pronounced the name of the Ruthenian candidate seriously and with emphasis. A great din arose; they could not believe their ears; they became sad, and our voters followed him, all who were sincere and had not been bribed. In the evening our Rus' was gladdened that their side had won.

After the elections, poor Nastunja experienced a bitter hour. She cried the whole second day, and on the third day she returned home. Two weeks after that the banns were proclaimed, and the splendid wedding of Nykola and Nastunja took place.

God grant them long life, and also to teach others how to love the Ruthenian fatherland, the Ruthenian language and faith, how to be wary of instigation and betrayal, and how to serve one's people loyally!

This extract focuses on issues that were of great importance to Naumovyč's contemporaries, who were quite removed from the traditional life of the peasantry. Nevertheless, they too are phrased in the folk language. Some of the purely Galician features include the forms *mpemozo*, *sepHyAa* (without the particle *cs*), *npo3bucko*, *euųe*, *cmepez4ucs*, the ending of the dative case in the word *Hapodobu*, as well as (*cepedb*) *caAb* (cf. the "Western" *3aAs* and the "Eastern" *3aAa* or *3aA*; Polish *sala* and Russian *3aA*). Even political (in the wider sense) terminology, e.g., *sыборцb*, *nepekynAehû*, *nôdMobы*, *3padы* (genitive singular), is not borrowed from Russian. In contrast to the play that was cited earlier, we see *ôm4uHy* written here, which recreates the pronunciation [BittyHHy]. As in all the above-cited extracts, *dobbpobaAu* is found in the vicinity of *3acyMobaAucs*, as though in soft stems one was supposed to pronounce [y], and in hard stems, [o].

The short story collection *Luc' Zalyvajko* (1872 and 1875) gave rise to the publication of a separate imprint, *Hryc' Špačok* (the 1904 edition is cited here), whose text is styled along the lines of a folktale.

Не знатоньки, люди добрû, чи тыми часами есть еще на свѣтѣ где такій наймитъ, якій бувъ Гриць Шпачокъ. Бо то и було кому робити, бо сила була нѣуроку, и охота була до роботы, и въ роботѣ ôнъ нѣколи не перебиравъ и що въ руки взявъ, то и зробивъ. Ôтъ досвѣта до ночи Гриць собѣ все найшовъ роботу, и николи на него не треба було голюкати, нѣ наганяти его, нѣ стояти надъ нимъ. Где уже Гриць бувъ, тамъ робота ишла належито, бо не лишень що самъ не полѣновався, а еще и другихъ робôтникôвъ наказовавъ, и имъ приговорювавъ, щобы щиро робили. [...] Отъ бо люди добрû, мы собѣ таке говорили, колисьмо въ селѣ нашôмъ, въ Стрѣльчи, зôйшлися самû честнû газды на раду, щобы заложити въ селѣ читальню. А було насъ богато. Безъ читальнѣ, повѣдаю я, не може бути у насъ добра, бо не може бути науки. Где чоловѣкъ неписьменный мае чого научитися? А мы всѣ где маемъ зôйтися, щобы забавити ся та побалакати? А чоловѣка кождого тягне до товариств, а где-жь у насъ товариство? Въ корчмѣ, а то нема и дивницѣ, що людей нашихъ тягне до корчмы, а въ корчмѣ жидокъ грае а мы танцюемъ, и не одинъ перетанцювавъ уже худобу и грунтъ и хату и все. (Naumovyč 1904: 3, 11).

Good people, there is no way of knowing whether these days there is still a farmhand in the world like Hryc' Špačok. For he was a great worker because he had a lot of strength and desire for work, and he was never fussy about work, and no matter what he took up, he did it. From dawn to dusk Hryc' always found work for himself, and you never had to holler at him, drive him on, or stand over him. Wherever Hryc' was, there the work proceeded as it should, for not only was he himself not lazy, but he also gave orders to other workers and urged them to work with a will....

So, good people, that's what we told ourselves when the most honest farmers gathered for a council in our village, in Strilche, in order to establish a reading room in the village. And there were many of us. Without a reading room, I say, there cannot be any prosperity in our village because there cannot be any knowledge. Where can an illiterate person learn something? And where are all of us supposed to gather in order to entertain ourselves and have a chat? And everyone is attracted to societies, but where is there society in our village? In the tavern; and it's no wonder that our people are drawn to the tavern, where the Jew plays and we dance, and many a one has danced away his cattle and his land and his house and everything.

One of Naumovyč's most popular stories was "Добра Настя" ("Nastja the Good"; 1884), which begins with the following autobiographical reflections:

Давно, за молодыхъ еще лѣтъ, скортъло мене разъ видѣти наши горы Карпаты. А у молодого человѣка думка и дѣло то одно. Давно бывало якъ не было желѣзныхъ доро̂гъ, ѣздили богатши люди почтою, а бѣднѣйши жидôвскими будками. Славнû же въ той часъ были жиды будкарѣ Хаимъ и Хаскель изъ Станиславова, а тогды, коли у мене уже окôнчился курсъ, якбы нарочно были они оба въ Львовѣ, глядаючи пасажирôвъ, такъ при конкуренціи легко было менѣ за гульдена дôстатися до Станиславова, а о̂ттамъ я уже пустился пѣшкомъ къ Надвôрной.

Аѣто было чудное, горы зеленѣлися лѣсами и пестрилися цвѣтущими лугами, солодкая воня которыхъ наполняла воздухъ. Я ишолъ такъ собѣ, безъ цѣли, не знаючи котру но̂чъ где заночую. Въ карманѣ было три сороко̂вцѣ—на тогды величественная сумма—казалосъ менѣ, що надъ мене не ма богатшого. (Naumovyč 1884: 3)

Long ago, in the years of my youth, I had the urge one day to see our Carpathian Mountains. And for a young man, thought and action are one and the same. A long time ago, when there were no railroads, wealthier people traveled by mail coach, and poorer people by Jewish carts. The Jewish carters Chaim and Haskel of Stanyslaviv were famous in those days, and when my course ended, as though on purpose, both of them were in Lviv looking for passengers, so owing to the competition it was easy for me to get to Stanyslaviv for a gulden, and from there I set out on foot for Nadvirna.

It was a beautiful summer; the mountains were turning green with forests and multicolored from the blooming meadows, the sweet aroma of which filled the air. I was walking with no fixed purpose, not knowing where I would spend the night. In my pocket were only three 20-cent coins—a huge amount at the time—it seemed to me there was no one wealthier than I.

Although the folk vernacular element is also predominant here, there are certain deviations. The text reveals not only greater conservatism in orthography, as demonstrated by such forms as человѣка (along with богатшою), были, пустился, наполняла, as well as a number of Russian borrowings, such as (въ) карманѣ, пѣшкомъ, казалось (in желѣзныхъ доро̂съ, a calque from Russian, the adjectival form is authentically Galician as well). Also probably deriving from Russian is the shortened version of the particle in the verb казалось (although this particle is also characteristic of many Ukrainian dialects spoken in the lands east of Galicia). Another departure from the folk language is the suffixal form *величественная*, which more probably derives from Russian language than from Church Slavonic. But in general there are not many elements in this short story that differ radically from vernacular ones. Vernacular stylization clearly predominates: *она гей на тарелцѣ передомною* [*sic*]; a *иди до неи, два дни ба и бо̂льше* (Naumovyč 1884: 4), etc.

5.4 Poems

Some of Naumovyč's poems have a linguistic basis in the folk vernacular. Below is an extract from his poem "Послѣдне Слово Мѣсяцослова" (The Last Word of the Church Calendar; 1881):

Бывало-то братья, мы ничь не читаемъ, И мѣсяцослова дома мы не маемъ; Та ничо не знаемъ, лишь поклоны бити Передъ всякимъ дурнемъ, та ему служити. Бывало то братья, мы й того не знали, Отки ся на свътъ русски люди взяли? Чому они нынъ бъдни, понижени, Якбы на бъду лишь были сотворени? Мы не знали, братья, бо мы не читали, Що мы въ нашомъ краю колись пановали, Поки еще наши родни князъ жили, Стару русску вѣру, славу боронили. А якъ ихъ не стало, якъ повымирали, Оть тогды Ляшеньки въ насъ запановали, Отъ тогды неволя що-разъ горша была, Поки та шляхотска Польща не минула, Тогды козаченьки гробъ ей выкопали, Три цари межь себе ею розо̂брали. [...] О братья любезни, возьмътся за руки

До всякой доброй полезной науки! Того хоче Цѣсарь, панъ нашъ милостивый, Щобъ въ Австріи каждый народъ былъ счастливый! (Naumovyč 1881: 88).

It used to be, brothers, that we read nothing, And did not even have a church calendar at home; And we knew nothing, only how to bow to the ground Before every fool and serve him. It used to be, brothers, that we did not even know Whence the Ruthenian people had come into the world. Why are they poor today, brought down low, As though created only for woe? We did not know, brothers, because we did not read That long ago we ruled in our land, When our own princes still lived And defended the old Ruthenian faith and glory. And when they were no more, once they died off, From then on the Liakhs began to rule in our land, From then on bondage grew ever worse, Until that noble Poland passed, Then the Cossacks dug her grave, Three tsars divided it up between themselves.... O my dear brothers, hold hands and Take up all manner of good and useful study! That is what the Emperor, our gracious lord, desires, So that every nation in Austria will be happy!

As elsewhere, Naumovyč writes $\delta ы sano, \delta ы nu$, etc., although there is also a rather telling rhyme, $\delta ы na - минула$ (!). Also featured in this extract are the Church Slavonic and Russian *полезной* (genitive singular feminine), the non-folk origins of the form $nio6e3h\hat{u}$, and a calque from Russian, *поклоны бити*. The orthographic conservatism is made clearer by the use of *счастливый* (versus *щаст*- in other texts). Here too, however, the language is unmistakably that of the common people, with a goodly dose of Galician coloration. Besides the features already noted (such as forms of the imperative *возьмѣтся*), *ничь* (along with *ничо*) and *що-разъ* are also noteworthy.

6. Conclusions

The preceding analysis of the language of Ivan Naumovyč's works shows that the Galician situation in the nineteenth century was not as clear-cut as it is sometimes portrayed. The simple division into populists on one side and Russophiles on the other is unfounded not only in sociopolitical terms but also in linguistic ones. Whenever a Galician Russophile addressed the "common people," he had to resort to a language different from the one that he regarded as the "Russian literary language." Naumovyč's contemporaries and followers in the Russophile camp frequently emphasized that he was fluent in the language of the people. In his biography, Mončalovs'kyj praises Naumovyč, who "knew how to speak doubly,

differently, that is, with other words and another structure for the peasants, and again, with other words and another structure for educated people" (Mončalovs'kyj 1899: 71).²⁷ Earlier, Bohdan Didyc'kyj made the following claim:

...якъ Тараса Шевченка уважати слѣдуе великимъ, наскро̂зь популярнымъ малорусскимъ поэтомъ, такъ зновь Ивана Наумовича такимъ-же прозаикомъ, неподражаемымъ къ тому еще и для того, що каждое его рѣченіе наскро̂зь дыше свойственною лишь малорусскому мужику наивностію и юморомъ (ibid.).

... just as Taras Ševčenko should be considered a great, thoroughly popular Little Russian poet, so too Ivan Naumovyč is the same kind of prose writer, inimitable if only because every one of his sentences exudes throughout the naiveté and humor characteristic only of the Little Russian peasant.

It goes without saying that this is something of an exaggeration. Nevertheless, it cannot be denied that Naumovyč was instrumental in spreading, in a truly energetic and successful manner, a rather sophisticated variant of the Ukrainian language based on the speech of the common folk, and that he did so not only in writing but in oral form as well (thanks to his speeches and to the fact that his works were frequently read aloud in reading rooms throughout Galicia).

In view of the linguistic realization of Naumovyč's popular-education and sociopolitical activities, this determined Russophile emerges in the history of the Ukrainian language in Galicia not only as an antihero but also as a figure of some distinction (regardless of his motives). Although he did not believe that the (all-)Ukrainian literary language had a future, he was favorably disposed toward the Galician folk language of his native land (even though he did not regard it as a "literary" language). Even the variant of the Galician-Ukrainian language that he used, for all its numerous dialecticisms, can hardly be called purely dialectal. Indeed, the written language of Galicia only rarely had a purely dialectal character, even if, routinely, a large number of dialectal features were inevitably reflected in it (see Moser 2007: 232–37).

Thus, thanks to their heightened Galician coloration, Naumovyč's folk language-based writings differ fundamentally from those produced by the Galician populists: whereas the latter sought to base themselves increasingly on the language of Greater (Russian-ruled) Ukraine and, in particular, on Taras Ševčenko, Naumovyč either remained a Galician or tried his utmost to be a "real Russian" ("настоящимъ русскимъ"). (This precept of his is particularly evident in a series of articles collectively titled "Back to the People!" ("Назадъ къ народу!"), which was published in *Slovo* in 1881.)

The populists' ultimate victory over the Russophiles, which occurred soon afterwards, is to be explained not only by the support that Austrian officials

^{27 &}quot;[...] умѣлъ говорити подвойно, – иначе, т. е. другими словами и другимъ складомъ для крестьянъ, а снова другими словами и другимъ складомъ для образованныхъ людей."

provided to the former (simultaneously creating difficulties for the latter). Even more important was the fact that the populists' linguistic position was more in accord with common sense and corresponded to the *Zeitgeist*. To their simple question concerning the feasibility of teaching two "native" languages to the local population, with its large numbers of illiterates, the populists never received a convincing reply. The absurdity of the linguistic ideology of Russophilism—paving the way "back to the people" by using one language for that same "people" while fostering another (let's not mince words here) foreign language for "educated" people—is obvious. It can be understood only against the background of certain additional factors, several of which are as follows:

- The linguistic conservatism of church circles, whose members regarded the Russian language as the successor of Church Slavonic and ancient Rus' traditions while failing to realize the extent to which it was "adulterated" (if judged according to their own purist approach) by borrowings and calques from West European languages (including Polish);
- 2) The desire to distance themselves as much as possible from Polish, which, for historical reasons, was the "natural" first secular "high-style" language in Galicia but also the one with which the national movement of the "Ruthenians" had perforce to break. In view of the logic of the dialect continuum and the course of historical development, Russian differed from Polish much more significantly than variants of Ukrainian, even more so in Galicia;
- 3) The weakness of the Ukrainian movement in other lands where the Ukrainian language was spoken. Shortly before the Revolution of 1848–49, it became clear that the inhabitants of Transcarpathia had not matured to the extent of constructing a new literary language on a folk basis (see Moser 2009a and pp. 281–298 in this volume); even their main awakener was an unswerving Russophile (see Moser 2011: 637–40). The Bukovynians, for their part, took their cue from the Galicians. It should be borne in mind that even in the Russian Empire, the Ukrainian movement was far from a mass phenomenon. On the contrary, even leading Ukrainian intellectuals constantly let it be understood that their Ukrainian-language writings pertained to regional affairs, whereas they regarded Russian as a full-fledged literary language (see Moser 2011a, 79–84 and pp. 305–336 in this volume). In these circumstances, then, the Galicians had every right to assume that it would be difficult for them to withstand pressure from the Polish side all by themselves.

There were many other reasons why the Russophiles of Galicia failed to realize their linguistic program. To begin with, they themselves did not speak "pure" Russian, and the motley versions of their "Little Russian literary language" provoked astonishment, derision, or antagonism. Meanwhile, the populists were able to capitalize effectively on the opportunities presented by Austrian legislation. In deliberately looking beyond the linguistic borders of Galicia, they based themselves on the linguistic legacy of Taras Ševčenko and collaborated with Ukrainian figures based in the Russian Empire. Finally, they created a powerful antithesis to the Russophile program by developing a polyfunctional Ukrainian literary language in its Galician (but not fundamentally Galician in origin) variant, which became widespread in Galicia and Bukovyna. Thus the prerequisites were in place for Galicia's considerable contribution to the formation and further development of the Ukrainian literary language (see Ševel'ov 1966/Ševel'ov 2003).

Part IV

Challenges to the Standard Language: Ukrainian in the Twentieth and Twenty-First Centuries

THE "MIRROR FROM OVERSEAS": THE HISTORY OF MODERN STANDARD UKRAINIAN AS REFLECTED IN THE NORTH AMERICAN UKRAINIAN NEWSPAPER *SVOBODA* (THE EARLY YEARS: FROM 1893 TO THE 1930S)

1. Svoboda, the oldest Ukrainian newspaper

Svoboda (Liberty) is the oldest Ukrainian-language newspaper in the world.¹ It was founded as a weekly in Jersey City (New Jersey, USA) on 11 September 1893 by the Greek Catholic priest Hryhorij Hruška, who emigrated from Galicia to the United States in 1889. *Svoboda* became a biweekly newspaper on 1 March 1894, a triweekly on 8 August 1914, and a daily on 3 January 1921. In the early years, *Svoboda* also circulated outside the United States. For many years, it was also the only Ukrainianlanguage newspaper "of any note" for Ukrainians living in Canada and Brazil, who received regular information about "Canadian Rus!" (Канадійська Русь) and Brazil (under the heading "Visti z Brazilii" [News from Brazil])² beginning in 1896 and 1897. In the home country, Ukrainians from Galicia and Bukovyna subscribed to the paper as well (Kravciv 1973/1998).

The Reverend Hruška, "an emigrant from Galicia who settled in Jersey City, N. J. in 1890," and his newspaper soon "played the leading role in the growth of ethnic-group consciousness among the Ukrainian peasant immigrants" to America (Procko 1979: 53). The newspaper was closely associated with the Ruthenian National Association, since 1914 the Ukrainian National Association (Руський/ Український Народний Союз), an aid organization established on 22 February 1894 in Shamokin, Pennsylvania, when several local brotherhood organizations separated from the Union of Greek Catholic Brotherhoods (Соединеніе грекокаволическихъ³ русскихъ братствъ въ США) (Encyklopedija 1976/2000; Magocsi 2005), where Hungarophile and Russophile views predominated.

Both the newspaper and the Ruthenian/Ukrainian National Association played a crucial role in shaping the identities of those Ukrainians in North America who had mainly arrived from the regions of Galicia, Bukovyna, and Transcarpathia, where a Ukrainian national identity had not yet been disseminated across all strata of the population. As for Galicia and, to a somewhat lesser degree, Bukovyna, the modern Ukrainian national movement had already gained considerable ground by the 1890s, but it still competed with both Polonophile and Russophile views and identity models.⁴ In the Hungarian realm (Transcarpathia), the Ukrainian movement was still

411

¹ I would like to thank Gene Shklar, who introduced me to *Svoboda*'s electronic archive at Stanford in February 2010.

² On the huge impact of *Svoboda* even in Brazil, see Teodor Potoc'kyj's report of 1897 from Rio Claro (Čajkovs'kyj 2011: 36–48, esp. 44).

³ Pronounced [kaftol-].

⁴ Those who adhered to "Russophile" or "all-Russian views" identified "Great Russians" (Russians), "Little Russians" (Ukrainians), and "Belorussians" (Belarusians) as three members of a single Russian nation. The founding of the Ukrainian national idea meant the rejection of this all-Russian

largely unknown at the time. Many Ruthenians from the Uzhhorod, Mukacheve, or Berehove districts were primarily "sympathetic to the Hungarians" (Procko 1979: 54) and therefore often stigmatized by the Galicians as "Magyarones"; many of them identified themselves as "Slovaks." All-Russian views tended to be more widespread among the Transcarpathian than the Galician Ruthenians.

When the Ruthenians of Galicia, Bukovyna, and Transcarpathia moved to the Americas, they transferred their antagonistic identity models across the Atlantic. Consequently, in the United States "a few Ruthenians became 'Hungarians' in America," "others became 'Slovaks' or 'Poles,'" yet "most became 'Ukrainians,' 'Carpatho-Ruthenians,' or 'Russians'" (Kuropas 1991: 73). Hryhorij Hruška and Svoboda undoubtedly contributed to the complexity of the situation in that Hruška referred to Svoboda in English as "the first Russian [!] political paper in the country" (Procko 1979: 56).⁵ Contrary to this poor translation, however, his and his newspaper's understanding of "Ruthenianness" was clearly based on a Ukrainian, not an all-Russian identity model. The fact that the name "Ukrainian" was still avoided can easily be explained: in the home country—or, rather, only in the Austrian part of Austria-Hungary-the ethnonym and glottonym "Ukrainian" gained official recognition only between the turn of the twentieth century and the end of the First World War (see Moser 2011: 667-83), several decades after the "Ruthenian" or "Ruthenian or Little Russian" identity models had essentially merged with those that would later be designated "Ukrainian."

This situation was perfectly reflected in North America, where the Ruthenian National Association was renamed the Ukrainian National Association only after more than twenty years of existence. At the same time, however, it must be noted that after the Ruthenian National Association was founded, on 22 February 1894, its expressly Ukrainian character was revealed when, at its first general convention in Shamokin, Pennsylvania, the delegates, wearing blue and gold emblems, sang the Ukrainian national anthem "Ukraine Has Not Yet Perished" (IIIe не вмерла Україна [Procko 1979: 59, Kuropas 1991: 82]). According to its nameplates, *Svoboda* became the official organ of the Ruthenian National Association with issue no. 18 for 1894.⁶ Notably, it "was issued in blue colors one week and in gold the next," that is, it used the national colors of Ukraine (Procko 1979: 59).

From the outset, the management of *Svoboda* was not an easy endeavor. In June 1895, Hruška sold the newspaper to Fathers Nestor Dmytriv and Ivan Konstankevyč.⁷ Dmytriv had gone to the U.S. as a member of the so-called

perspective and the identification of so-called "Ruthenians," or "Little Russians," as a separate nation in its own right. This movement was older than the general dissemination of the name "Ukrainian."

⁵ Procko states that Hruška was "the leading advocate of Ukrainian national consciousness in the United States at the time" (Procko 1979: 56).

⁶ Procko's information that *Svoboda* was "unanimously chosen by the convention to become the association's official organ" is thus confirmed by the nameplates. Bohdan Kravciv (1973/1998) claims that *Svoboda* became the official organ of the Ruthenian National Association only in 1908, which seems to be erroneous.

⁷ In December 1896, Hruška converted to Russian Orthodoxy (Procko 1979: 61) before returning to Galicia in 1910, where he reconverted to Greek Catholicism prior to his death in 1913.

"American circle," a group of seven "ethnonational enlightened Galician priests" who "vowed (1) to take up their pastoral duties in the United States; (2) remain celibate in order to be free of family obligations and to avoid friction with the Irish-American Roman Catholic hierarchy;⁸ and (3) organize the Ruthenian community in America along Ukrainian ethnonational lines" (Kuropas 1991: 76). Dmytriv became a co-owner of *Svoboda* within months of his arrival in Mount Carmel, Pennsylvania. Konstankevyč had been in America since 1893 and had allied with Hruška against the Greek Catholic Union at that time. When he became the other co-owner of *Svoboda*, he had already joined the "American Circle" (ibid., 77).

Since its founding, *Svoboda* has played a significant role in shaping and maintaining Ukrainian identity in the Americas.⁹ When "Dmytriv left for missionary work among Ukrainians in Canada" (ibid., 62), Stefan Makar, another member of the American Circle, who "took Nestor Dmytriv's place in Mount Carmel while the latter visited Ukrainian communities in Canada" (Kuropas 1991: 77), assumed the editorship in the year of his arrival in the U.S. (April 1897). Three years later, in August 1900, Ivan Ardan, another member of the American Circle, followed him (ibid.; see also Kravčenjuk 1993 and Kuropas 1991: 77).¹⁰ Ardan, who had arrived in the U.S. in 1896 and settled in Jersey City, was originally a Greek Catholic priest as well. After leaving the priesthood in 1902, he became the first secular editor in chief of *Svoboda*. In 1904, he published the pioneering study *Ruthenians in America*, and in 1920 he became an adviser to the first Ukrainian Diplomatic Mission in Washington (Kravčenjuk 1993).

After Antin Curkovs'kyj became editor in chief in August 1907, the year of his arrival in the United States,¹¹ it was decided at the tenth convention of the Ruthenian National Association in Philadelphia (7–10 July 1908) that *Svoboda* should be edited not only in Cyrillic script but also in "Slovak" in order to attract Transcarpathians as well as Galicians who did not know the Cyrillic script. Osyp Stetkevyč, a teacher by profession, who immigrated to the U.S. in 1904, followed Curkovs'kyj in October 1910 and stayed, with a break between December 1911 and September 1912, until August 1919.¹² He was succeeded by Volodymyr Lotoc'kyj, who had already worked as a journalist in Galicia before immigrating to the U.S.

⁸ In the Americas, the Roman Catholic Church constantly discriminated against Greek Catholic priests because of the fact that they—in full accordance with the statutes of their church—were not usually celibate.

⁹ These data seemingly contradict Myron Kuropas's observation that "for the first six years of its existence, *Svoboda* advertised itself as a 'Russian' newspaper," that it became "Little Russian" only in 1899, and was billed as "Ruthenian (Little Russian)" in 1894, "remaining so until 1906 when it began to identify itself simply as 'Ruthenian'" (Kuropas 1991: 74). See section 2 of this article.

¹⁰ Contrary to Kuropas, Procko and Kravčenjuk claim that Ardan arrived in the U.S. in 1895, not 1896. Kuropas, however, offers the most reliable information in his study.

¹¹ Andrij Gela, who worked as a chaplain in Hungarian Ruthenian parishes of New Jersey and Pennsylvania, became editor of the "Slovak" version of *Svoboda* in July 1908. Unfortunately, I was unable to find any copy of a "Slovak" issue, and I tend to doubt that the word "Slovak" was actually used. It is more likely that this "Slovak" language was actually a western Transcarpathian dialect of Ukrainian (or Rusyn, from a different point of view).

¹² Interestingly, Stetkevyč offered Ukrainian language courses at New York's Columbia University between 1935 and 1937 (Kravčenjuk 1993).

in January 1914; he remained Svoboda's editor in chief until 1926. At that point Omeljan (Emil) Revyuk, a trained lawyer who had arrived in America in 1912, took over. Revyuk had already published several influential pamphlets in both Ukrainian and English, including Польща йде, та не одна, а дві (Poland Is Coming, and Not One but Two, 1917), Ukraine and Ukrainians (1920), and Trade with Ukraine: *Ukraine's Natural Wealth, Needs and Commercial Opportunities* (1920). Revyuk's most notable study, a monograph titled *Polish Atrocities in Western Ukraine*, was published by Svoboda Press in 1931 (Revyuk 1931). From 1933 to 1955, that is, for more than twenty years, Luka (Luke) Myshuha was *Svoboda*'s editor in chief. Myshuha, a trained lawyer, had served as secretary to the prominent Galician Ukrainian lawyer and politician Kost' Levyc'kyj and moved to the U.S. as envoy of the Western Ukrainian People's Republic in 1921. In 1955 Antin Dragan, another trained lawyer, took over. After almost twenty-five years, Vasyl' Teršakovec' followed him in 1979 but was almost immediately succeeded by Zenon Snylyk in 1980. Snylyk, who had arrived in the United States as a child, was Svoboda's first editor in chief to be educated entirely in the U.S. In 1998, Rajisa Haleško (Raisa Haleshko), who had immigrated to Canada in 1989, became the first female editor in chief of Svoboda and the first born and raised in Soviet Ukraine, notably outside Galicia. In 2000, Irena Yarosevych (Jarosevyč) followed her as the first editor in chief born in the U.S. Roma Hadzewych (Hadzevyč), who was also born in the U.S., has held this position since 2007.

As for *Svoboda*'s place of publication, it changed several times throughout its history but always remained within the confines of New Jersey, Pennsylvania, and the city of New York. After Hruška's beginnings in Jersey City, N.J. (15 September 1893–June 1895), *Svoboda* was published in Shamokin, Pa. (18 June 1895–25 June 1896), Mount Carmel, Pa. (2 July 1896–12 July 1900), Olyphant, Pa. (1 August 1900–9 July 1903), Scranton, Pa. (16 July 1903–29 November 1906), New York, N.Y. (20 December 1906–6 April 1911), Jersey City, N.J. (13 April 1911–6 November 1997), and finally Parsippany, N.J. (since 7 November 1997) (see Kravciv 1973/1998, Balan – Kravtsiv 1993, and Kravčenjuk 1993).

Svoboda's circulation "has remained steady in recent years at approx. 18,000, the largest among Ukrainian papers in the West" (Balan – Kravtsiv 1993).

2. Nameplates and mastheads

The nameplates and mastheads of *Svoboda* tell a great deal about the history of this newspaper and its language. In this section, I list all major changes pertaining to the language of the nameplates and English-language mastheads of *Svoboda* between 1893 and 1936 (no attention is paid to non-linguistic layout elements):

S 1893/1: Свобода. Часопись для руского народа въ Америцъ.

Comment: During the first years, *Svoboda* used etymological orthography, as also officially used in Galicia until 1893–94. Regarding the form *vaconucb*, its final *-b* was often used at that time in both Galicia and Greater Ukraine. In $\partial A \pi$ *pyckozo hapoda*, the spelling of the adjective with one *c* merely indicates the Ruthenian, not Russian character of the journal; the lack

of the soft sign (*руского*, not *руського*) underscores its Galician character. The genitive ending *-a* in *народа* was often used in the contemporary Ukrainian language of the homeland as well.

S 1893/1: Masthead: *Russian.* The English-language masthead of issue no. 1 reads as follows: "SWOBODA (LIBERTY). The only Russian [!] political paper in this Country and has a large circulation tro-ugh [*sic*, including the wrong hyphenation] the United States and is an invaluable advertising medium. ADWERTISING [*sic*] RATES: One inch per Six monts [*sic*] 6.00. All money or money orders should pe [*sic*] adressed [*sic*] to "Svoboda" Printing Office" (S 1893/1: 3).

Comment: This masthead is the first English text featured in *Svoboda*. Its numerous errors at all linguistic levels demonstrate how alien English still was to Hruška and his team of quite recent immigrants. The unfortunate translation of *pyckiŭ* as "Russian" in the masthead was not changed for several years.

S 1894/18. Свобода. Часопись для руского народа въ Америцъ и органъ "Руского Народного Союза."

Comment: As mentioned above, *Svoboda* became the organ of the Ruthenian National Association beginning with issue no. 18 for 1894. Contrary to Modern Standard Ukrainian, *Corosa* has the genitive ending *-a*.

S 1896/3: Свобода – Liberty. Часопись для руского народа въ Америцъ и органъ "Руского Народного Союза."

Comment: The otherwise identical title of the newspaper was now given in English translation as well.

S 1899/4: Masthead: *Russian* > *little Russian*: Only beginning with issue no. 4 for 1899 did the masthead change the term *Russian*, but the change was not carried out consistently. The masthead now read: "SVOBODA' (LIBERTY.) Weekly Paper. The only little Russian political Newspaper published in all parts of the United States and Canada, wherever the Russian [*sic*] language is spoken and is the best advertising medium..." (S 1899/4: 2).

S 1900/26: Masthead: *little Russian > Little Russian*: The next change introduced a merely orthographic (though essential) improvement. Issue no. 26 for 1900 introduced capitalization to "Little Russian," but one could still encounter the phrase "wherever the Russian language is spoken" (S 1900/26: 2).

S 1904/1: Masthead: *Little Russian > Little Russian (Ruthenian).* The first issue for 1904 introduced the following text: "'SVOBODA' (LIBERTY.) The Ruthenian (Little Russian) Weekly published every Thursday..." (S 1904/1: 6). The expression "Russian" was thus ultimately removed.

S 1904/44: Masthead: *Little Russian (Ruthenian) > Ruthenian.* The masthead now read as follows: "'SVOBODA' (LIBERTY). THE RUTHENIAN WEEKLY published every Thursday..." (S 1904/44: 4). This version of the masthead remained basically unchanged for ten years.

S 1906/28: 26-го Липня 1906. Свобода – Svoboda. Орган Руського Народного Союза в Америції і орган "Руского Народного Союза."

Comment: Major reforms are reflected in this new nameplate. First and foremost, the etymological orthography was now replaced by "phonetic"

orthography. Final -b was eliminated, and b was replaced by \ddot{i} , in accordance with the Galician orthography established by Jevhen Želexivs'kyj ("Želexivka"). The Ukrainian title was now given in both Cyrillic and Latin script, whereas the English translation was removed. *Svoboda* was now called the organ of the "Ruthenian National Association in America" and the organ of the "Ruthenian National Association." The adjective meaning "Ruthenian" was now written with b in the former case but without it in the latter. In the latter case, quotation marks for the "Ruthenian National Association" may have been used for that very orthographic reason. Whereas in earlier issues the traditional Latin-based names of months had been used, expressly Ukrainian names were now introduced. The word *vaconucb* was no longer used in the nameplate.

S 1913/24: Свобода. Урядовий орган Р. Н. Союза в Америці. "Svoboda." Official Organ of the L. R. Nat'l Union of America.

Comment: The nameplate was now bilingual, with the English version displayed in smaller letters. *Svoboda* was now called the "official" ("урядовий") organ of the "Ruthenian National Union" (later "Association"), and the earlier problem of the spelling of *pycький* vs. *pycкий* was overcome by the abbreviation "L. R." in the English title, which apparently meant "Little Russian." "Руський Народний Союз" was thus translated as "Little Russian Union."

S 1914/60: Свобода. Урядовий орган Р. Н. Союза в Америці "Свобода." Official Organ of the L. R. Nat'l Union of America.

- Comment: Issue 60 for 1914 is curious, inasmuch as *Svoboda* was still called the official organ of the "Ruthenian National Union of America," but in the same issue there is an appeal to the same organization titled "Відозва головних урядників. До членів Українського Народного Союза." The name "Ruthenian National Union" was thus paralleled by "Ukrainian National Union"!
- S 1914/62: Свобода. Урядовий орган У. Н. Союза в Америці.
- "Svoboda." Official Organ of the Ukr. Nat'l Assn. of America.
- **Comment:** In issue 61 there was no change in the nameplate, but issue 62 for 1914 replaced the abbreviation "P." with "Y." The English version made the major change even more visible, inasmuch as "Ukr." was now featured instead of "R." Furthermore, the word "Union" was now replaced by the quasi-synonymous "Ass[ociatio]n."¹³

S 1914/62: Masthead: *Ruthenian > Ukrainian*. Issue 62 for 1914 represented a true breakthrough in the masthead, which now read: "'SVOBODA' (LIBERTY). THE UKRAINIAN NEWSPAPER [...]" (S 1914/62:4).

¹³ Myron Kuropas notes that already by 1912 "ads announcing planned local events [in Svoboda] employed either 'Attention Ruthenians' or 'Attention Ukrainians' as headlines to catch the eye of the reader" (Kuropas 1991: 83).

S 1921/1:

Свобода. Український дневник.	Svoboda. Ukrainian Daily. Official
Урядовий орган запомогової	Organ of the Ukrainian National
організації Український	Association, Inc.
Народний Союз в Злучених Державах Америки.	

Comment: Not only was the nameplate now bilingual, but the Ukrainian and English-language parts were given in parallel script of equal size. *Svoboda* was additionally identified as a daily in both versions. Only the Ukrainian part of the nameplate, however, included the information that the "Ukrainian National Association" was an aid organization, and only the Ukrainian part now read "Злучені Держави Америки" (one of the Ukrainian translations of "United States of America") instead of the previous straightforward "Америка." As the term *aid organization* ("запомогова організація") was introduced, the name of the organization now appeared in the nominative case. Only the English part of the nameplate included the abbreviation "Inc." (indicating the incorporated status of *Svoboda*).

S 1936/76. Свобода. Український щоденник. Урядовий орган запомогової організації Український Народний Союз.

Svoboda. Ukrainian daily.

Comment: In 1936, the English part of the nameplate was again displayed in smaller letters following the Ukrainian part. In the Ukrainian title, the word дневник, which is also used in Russian, was now replaced by the expressly Ukrainian word щоденник. Svoboda's sister newspaper, the English-language Ukrainian Weekly, has been published since 1933 (Kravciv 1973/1998).

As stated in the newspaper itself, a major problem during the early years of *Svoboda*'s existence was adult illiteracy among the Ukrainian community in North America. *Svoboda* reacted, inter alia, with the publication of a primer titled *Self-Teacher and Dictionary for American Ruthenians* and "a Ruthenian-English dictionary and a fact sheet in its pages" (Kuropas 1991: 78). In its early years, *Svoboda* "cared about the social problems of the Ruthenian immigrant and was equally, if not more, concerned with the development of a unique sense of ethnonational consciousness" (ibid., 80). On 20 April 1894, *Svoboda* published the passionate "Ten National Commandments":

I am *Svoboda* that wishes to lead Ruthenian Americans out of the darkness of ignorance and spiritual slavery.

- 1. You will not read any newspapers printed in Ruthenian but devoid of the Ruthenian spirit.
- 2. Do not call yourself Ruthenian if you are indifferent to the Ruthenian cause in America.

417

- Do not forget to become a member of the Ruthenian National Association¹⁴ and belong to a reading club and make sure that you subscribe to Svoboda.
- 4. Honor, respect, and support sincere Ruthenians and you will lead a long and happy life in America.
- 5 Do not kill your body and spirit by leading a life of drunkenness and debauchery.
- 6. Do not engage in friendly relations with the Hungarophile clique, [which is] hostile to the Ruthenian cause.
- 7. Do not seek to obtain *Svoboda* free of charge. First pay for it, then read it.
- 8. Do not testify falsely against the Ruthenian National Association or *Svoboda* but make sure you know where the truth lies.
- 9. Do not seek to become a traveling agent of *Viestnik* [the main organ of the Hungarophiles] or you will suffer for it [a threat or a warning?].
- 10. Do not seek the purse of the haughty Magyarophiles because it is empty; the people are wise and do not throw away "quarters" [25-cent coins]; neither seek their bigotry nor their fox-like shrewdness—they belong to them (cited in Kuropas 1991: 80).

Svoboda called for national solidarity and a virtuous life. At the same time, it identified a common foe (at that point, it was more the Hungarophiles than the Russophiles) and underlined its own role in the confrontation, as well as the importance of community support for it. Ever since the early years, the question of Ruthenian, or Ukrainian, national identity and its maintenance in America has been the constant focus of the newspaper.

The language of *Svoboda* has not yet been studied. Bohdan Ažnjuk used materials from *Svoboda* for his monograph on the Ukrainian language in North America, but he did not analyze its language (Ažnjuk 1999). Borys Balan and Bohdan Kravciv (Balan – Kravtsiv 1993) noted that *Svoboda* employed the etymological orthography until 1903 and then switched to the "phonetic" orthography (which is only partly true; see below). The question of the language of *Svoboda* is, however, of great interest for a number of reasons. The first decades of the newspaper coincided with a period when the Modern Standard Ukrainian language was making particularly great and rapid progress in the home country. This was particularly true in Galicia, where not only authoritative dictionaries and grammars were available, but also books and pamphlets on a variety of topics, as well as newspapers and journals. Even scholarly journals with highly elaborated terminologies and the laws of Austria-Hungary were published in Ruthenian/Ukrainian. At the same time, however, the Ruthenian/Ukrainian language was still characterized by a high level of variation even within the confines of Galicia, while an all-Ukrainian standard language linking Galicia and Greater Ukraine was not established until the Second World War. The question of how all these important facts related to the history of the Ukrainian language were reflected on the other side of the Atlantic Ocean, particularly in the most important Ukrainian newspaper of the Americas by far, is still a tabula rasa.

¹⁴ Kuropas (1991: 80) has "Ruskyi narodnyi soiuz" in this text (see also "commandment" 8).

3. Svoboda: Issue No. 1, 1893 and its language

The following extracts are taken from the first issue of *Svoboda* for 1893. They give a good impression not only of the language of *Svoboda* but also of its major topics:

3.1. "Ruthenian Brethren!"

The first text ever published in *Svoboda* is an editorial calling upon Ruthenians to accept *Svoboda* as their own organ and defining the mission of the newspaper as a medium intended to "enlighten the Ruthenian people, defend its honor against hostile attacks, point out the path to progress, civilization, and wealth," and help maintain Ruthenian/Ukrainian identity, described below as a triune "treasury" of faith, rite, and language:

БРАТЯ РУСИНИ! Пускаючи сей першій нумеръ нашой часописи въ широкій свѣть, кличемо до Васъ щиро руськимъ братним голосомъ: Пріймѣть и повитайте яко свою "Свободу"! [...] Народе Рускій! Ты показавъ єси яка въ тобѣ сильна вѣра, яка у тебе терпеливость, яка у тебе постоянность! Слава, слава да честь, Тобѣ о народе мо̂й! Кто ту въ Америцѣ твой хлѣбъ ѣсть а о твоє добро, о твою просвѣту не дбає – да будетъ Богомъ, и людьми проклять! Ты во власныхъ силахъ ишовъ дорогою, котра веде до-правди а правда до свободи. Но теперъ оглядаєшъ ся за провѣдникомъ, коръый [*sic*] б [*sic*] завѣвъ Тебе до храму свободи. Тимъ прово̂дникомъ власне зсть [*sic*] часопись "Свобода". Нашою задачею зст [*sic*] просвѣщати рускій народъ, боронити єго честь отъ вражихъ нападôвъ, всказати дорогу до постпу [*sic*], до цивилізаціи, до добробыту. Дальше – свтимъ [*sic*] буде обовязкомъ сохраняти межи наdодомъ [*sic*] єй сокровища то єсть: вѣру, обрядъ и мову (S 1893/1: 1).

3.2. News from the "Old Country"

The second extract offers "news from the Old Country," specifically about a flood in the Lemko region and in Bukovyna:

ВЪСТИ ИЗЪ СТАРОГО КРАЮ. Сего року постигло страшне нещастьє нашу лемковщину и зелену Буковину, де черезъ велики и части дощи та зливи, рѣка Серетъ, Прутъ и други, выступили зъ свойхъ береговъ и зъ страшнымъ шумомъ та лоскотомъ розлили свои воды по хлѣбодайныхъ нывахъd [*sic*] такъ, що цѣла праця и надѣя рускихъ хлѣборобовъ зо̂стала въ намулѣ надъ водою [...] (S 1893/1: 1).

3.3. News from the new home country

Beginning with its first issue, *Svoboda* reported on American issues, with a focus on topics of particular interest to Ruthenians/Ukrainians. The following extract focuses on the "black cloud of unemployment":

АМЕРИКАНЬСКИ НОВОСТИ. Отъ береговъ атлянтика ажъ до береговъ тихого океана, Америка переживає тяжки часы. Чорна хмара безроботія повисла надъ роботничою головою. [...] всъ съ нетерпеливостію питаъютя [sic] одинъ другого якъ вивяжесъ [sic] конгресъ съ [sic] той такъ прикрой [sic] ситуаціи. [...] (S 1893/1: 2).

3.4. News from around the world

From the beginning, *Svoboda* reported on international politics, again, of course, with an eye on the Ruthenian/Ukrainian perspective:

ПЕРЕГЛЯДЪ ПОЛИТИ-Ч>НЫЙ.¹⁵ Росія провадить зъ. Німе<ч>чиною цлову войну. – Австрія готовить ся д<о> великихь осѣннѣхь ма<не>-вровъ, на котри прибудуть царѣ, королѣ и множест<во> дробненькихъ князѣвъ. М<а>неври отбудуть ся на угорской сторонѣ (S 1893/1: 2)

3.5. News from "American Rus"

As for the American context, *Svoboda* naturally maintained a strong and constant focus on the Ukrainian community and its cultural endeavors. The following extract reports on a picnic organized by one of the Jersey City brotherhoods in a center of "American Rus!" ("Американьска Русь"), as the Ruthenian/Ukrainian community was often called during the early years.

АМЕРИКАНЬСКА РУСЬ. Джерзі Сіті. Дня 11. Юлі<я> отбувъся дуже в<е>личаво другій ро̂ч<н>ѣй пікнікъ тутейшого братства С<в.> Апостолъ Петра и Павла [...] (S 1893/1: 2).

3.6. Entertainment and Culture

From the very outset, a variety of texts, including jokes, poems, and (most often serialized) short stories or novels, and, later, cartoons ("Tarzan" [Tap3aH] etc., with original English texts, as a rule) appeared in *Svoboda*:

Весела хвиля. Въ школѣ.– Скажи менѣ Ивасю, котри звѣрята найбо̂льше суть привязаный [sic] до чоловѣка и єго тримаютъ ся? – Пявки, прошу пана професора (S 1893/1: 3).

ДО СВОБОДИ. Свободо премила, / Жизнь Бога самого // Чомъ намъ не окажешъ / Ты личенька Твого? [...] (Федоровъ) (S 1/1893: 3). КОВАЛЬ А ЧОРТЪ.[Съ италіянского] [оповідання] (S 1893/1: 3).

3.7. Political commentary

The following piece is a polemical response to an article on Ruthenians published in the Polish journal *Przyjaciel ludu*:

Ко́лька сло̂въ письмакови "о Rusinach" въ "Przyjacil [*sic*] Ludu": … Письмакъ кричитъ що треба рускій народъ просвѣтити. Най онъ о то̂мъ нестара ся уже суть такій, що о се дбаютъ; най скорше самъ возьме книжку до рукъ та най иде до штуби щобъ на будуще такихъ дурниць неписавъ … (S 1893/1: 4).

¹⁵ The text within angle brackets is not readable in the scanned versions of *Svoboda* (and, in most cases, probably not readable in the original versions either).

3.8. Advertisements and promotion:

Understandably, *Svoboda* has always been a medium of self-promotion. Ads for various clients were introduced, starting with the second issue (see below):

ПРОШЕНІЕ. Просимъ нашихъ читател<> щобъ собѣ се взяли на увагу, що друге число нашой часописи вишлемо то̂лько тимъ, що зъ гори заплатятъ на цѣлый ро̂къ <a>бо на по̂въ року по одержан<>0 першого числа [...] Просимо дальше всѣхъ правдивихъ Русино̂въ щобъ були такъ добри, доносити все де що нового <в>ъ ихъ мѣсцевости станеся, а мы радо помѣщати будемо. Сли до кого окалѣчитъ або де кто умре або робо̂тникамъ зробилась яка кривда – все просимъ донести (S 1893/1: 4).

3.9. The Ruthenian/Ukrainian language of issue no. 1 of Svoboda

Issue no. 1 of *Svoboda* clearly demonstrates the technical problems that cropped up in the early issues. Numerous misprints, omitted letters, incorrect letters, or inverted types (particularly Latin *d* for Cyrillic p) are indicated in the citations. Obviously, the typesetters lacked Ukrainian typefaces and therefore printed ε for ε , \breve{u} for \ddot{i} ; see *sb cBOŨXb Gepe206b* (p. 1) and many other instances,¹⁶ and *z* for *t*; see *KOH2Pecb* (p. 2). Apparently, the publishers of *Svoboda* were initially reluctant to employ the so-called "phonetic" alphabet not only for ideological but also for merely technical reasons.

Other errors and inconsistencies do not seem to be based on technical obstacles:

- нывахъд (р. 1) for нивахъ, Русини (р. 1) for Русины, М<а>неври (р. 2) for Маневры, до-правди (р. 1; with a hyphen at the end of the line) for до правды, до свободи (р. 1, as in the title of the poem on р. 3) for до свободы, до штуби (р. 4) for до штубы, зъ гори (р. 4) for съ горы, зливи (р. 1) for зливы, свтимъ (р. 1) for святымъ, правдивихъ (р. 4) for правдивихъ, or вивяжесъ (р. 2) for вывяжеся/вывяжесь and вишлемо (р. 4) for вышлемо;
- *Тимъ* (р. 1) for either *Тымъ* or *Тѣмъ* (instr. masc. sing.), *тимъ* (р. 1) for either *тымъ* or *тѣмъ* (dat. pl.);
- зъ. [sic, with the full stop] Німе<ч>чиною (р. 2) for зъ (or: съ) Нѣмеччиною, осѣннѣхъ (р. 2; gen. pl.) for осѣннихъ. The spellings царѣ, королѣ (both nom. pl.) and князѣвъ (gen. pl., with ѣ < e) (all p. 2) with the non-etymological ѣ [i] are well attested in older Ukrainian texts;
- Братя (р. 1) along with нещастье (р. 1) and Прошеніе (р. 4) съ нетерпеливостію (р. 2), безроботія (р. 2);
- онь (р. 4, for онь ог вонь; see Galician она elsewhere (S 1893/1: 4)), твой (р. 1), береговь (р. 1), хлъборобовь (р. 1), оть (р. 1) along with correct мой (р. 1), рокь (р. 4), повь року (р. 4), береговь (р. 2), ма<не->вровь (р. 2; with the hyphen probably at the end of the line), роботничою (р. 2), войну (р. 2), дробненькихь (р. 2), зостала (р. 1), etc.¹⁷ Although some western dialects retain o in the suffix -ost' as well, the overwhelmingly prevailing usage prescribed the spellings терпеливость, постоянность, not терпеливость (р. 1) and постоянность (р. 1);

¹⁶ Ukrainian *i* was not problematic because it was still used in the prerevolutionary Russian orthography as well.

¹⁷ As for *bostome* (p. 4), the *o* is etymologically correct (o < v).

- сь той такъ прикрой (for: прикрой) ситуаціи (p. 2) along with correct нашой часописи (gen. sing.) or, on the other hand, на угорской (for угорской) сторонѣ (p. 2);
- pôч<н>ьйй (for pôч<н>ый) пікнікь (p. 2) (a mere misprint of an awkwardly rendered hypercorrect soft stem?);¹⁸
- провѣдникомъ (1) along with correct прово̂дникомъ (р. 1);
- зъ страшнымъ шумомъ (р. 1), зъ. Німе<ч>чиною (р. 2) along with съ нетерпеливостію (р. 2); сь той такъ прикрой ситуаціи (р. 2) for изъ той такъ прикрой ситуаціи;
- котри звърята найбольше суть привязаный (for привязани according to the orthography employed in this issue) до чоловъка (p. 3); уже суть такій (for таки) (p. 4).

Finally, one might note the inconsistent $\partial o \ \partial o \delta b o \delta b my$ (p. 1) along with $om \delta y \delta b c \pi$ (p. 2) and $\delta y \lambda u$ (p. 4). The variation of the verbal ending in $K \lambda u u e M o$ (p. 1), $\delta u u \lambda e M o$ (p. 4), $\delta y \partial e M o$ (p. 4), or n p o c u M o (p. 4) vs. n p o c u M b (p. 4) is typical of the Ukrainian language of all realms well into the twentieth century. The inconsistent spelling of the negative particle, as in henucab b (p. 4), $hecmapa \ c \pi$ (p. 4) vs. $he \ \partial \delta a \varepsilon$ (p. 1), $oc \lambda \pi \partial a \varepsilon u b c \pi$ (p. 1), $he \ oka weub$ (p. 3) can be encountered in much Ukrainian language writing of the time.

All these problematic matters notwithstanding, the language of *Svoboda*'s first issue is beyond a doubt Ruthenian in the sense of Ukrainian; it should not be denoted either as "Jazyčije" or as "Russo-Ruthenian" (see Moser 2011: 602–66). In other words, authors did not strive to avoid Ukrainian linguistic elements, as exemplified by the following list:

- The orthography as in окажешь (p. 3) instead of Russian and traditional окажешь, to name just one feature;
- Alarge number of word forms, such as *npoc6 &my* (p. 1; acc.sing.), *donocm*[y]ny (p. 1), *oбовязкомь* (p. 1), *npaця и надъя* (p. 1), *dypниць* (p. 4; gen. pl.), *кpuвда* (p. 4), *poбômничою* (p. 2), *npuкpôй* (p. 2), *s<e>личаво* (p. 2), *nepuiй* (p. 1), *mymeйшого* (p. 2), *de що* (p. 4), *яка* (p. 4; as an indef. pron.) *ишовь* (p. 1), *dбае* (p. 1), *omбydymь ся* (p. 2; see Modern Ukrainian *sidбydymьcя*), *spoбилась* (p. 4), *menepь* (p. 1; with a hard ending, as in Modern Standard Ukrainian), *dyжe* (p. 2), *ma* (p. 1, as a conjunction), *aбо* (p. 4, several times), *якь* (p. 2), *межи* (p. 1), *ажь до* (p. 2), etc. Although the noun *языкъ* (or *язик* even in the modernized orthography) was still widely used in Ukrainian texts of the time, in issue no. 1 of *Svoboda* we encounter *мову* (p. 1; acc. sing.);
- The entire inflectional morphology, including the dative form менѣ (p. 3), the vocative form Ивасю (p. 3), the truncated form Твого (p. 3), the genitive singular ending in до храму (p. 1), the dative singular ending in письмакови (p. 4) (for some specifically Galician forms, see below);
- The derivational morphology, as in личенька (p. 3; gen. sing.);
- For syntax, see the use of the genitive in *Ceto poκy* (p. 1; genitivus temporis), the use of *δo*, etc. (for some Galician features, see below), or the use of

¹⁸ Most Galician dialects are devoid of soft-stem adjectives.

relative що, as in *такій* [= *такі*], що о се дбають (р. 4), and *тимъ*, що зъ гори заплатять (р. 4), etc.

At first glance, the only features that seem to contradict this diagnosis are, apart from the etymological orthography (including κ to [p. 1], but along with u_{40} , $u_{40}\delta_b$ [both p. 4], not umo, $umo\delta_b$, or ∂e [p. 4], not $v\partial b$), isolated, archaic, or seemingly archaic elements. In the cited extracts, the following elements spring to mind:

- The form of the copula in *показавъ єси* (p. 4) instead of *показавєсь*;
- The spelling *δ*0 in *δ*0 *βλα*(*μ*)*μδ*(*μ*). 1), which was often used in nineteenth-century Galician Ukrainian to render the preposition with syllabic value, that is, *y* (from etymological *βb*), through the etymological orthography;
- Church Slavonic elements, such as да будетъ Богомъ, и людьми проклять! (p. 1) or Слава, слава да честь (p. 1), which are the result of code-switching to Church Slavonic; see also братства С<в.> Апостолъ Петра и Павла (p. 2) with the archaic zero-ending in the genitive plural (<-ъ), whereby the archaic element belongs to the name of the brotherhood organization and not to the language of Svoboda;
- The verbal form *ympe* in *de kmo ympe* (p. 4), which is a rather peculiar form, inasmuch as the highly archaic Church Slavonic aorist in the predicate is combined with an expressly Ukrainian form of the indefinite pronoun (cf. modern Ukrainian *dexmo*) in the subject;
- Isolated Church Slavonic lexemes, such as *храмъ* (р. 1), *просвъщати* (р. 1) *вражихъ* (р. 1), *сохраняти* (р. 1), *сокровища* (р. 1), *жизнь* (р. 3; from the poem), many of which were still broadly used in nineteenth-century Ukrainian, even by Taras Ševčenko (see Moser 2008a: 236–262); possibly *премила* (р. 3) with the prefix *пре-*, which is, however, not necessarily a Slavonicism; see Polish *przemiły;*
- Seemingly archaic elements, such as *ceũ*, *cezo* (p. 1), *ce* (p. 4), and *Ho* (p. 1), which are well attested in Galician dialects; *môλьκo* (p. 4; not *môλьκu* [Modern Standard Ukrainian = *miλьκu*]), which is broadly used in both earlier writings and modern Ukrainian dialects; *scm*[*b*] (p. 1) and *cymb* (p. 3), which are genuinely Ukrainian and were broadly used well into the twentieth century; *sa∂aчeio* (p. 1), *Дня* 11. *Юλi*<*я*> (p. 2), *Ha бу∂yщe* (p. 4), all of which were still widely used in nineteenth- and early twentieth-century Ukrainian. As for the verb *cmapamucя* (see *Hecmapaɛ cя* [p. 4]), Ukrainian purists often regard it as a Russianism in Ukrainian; the presence of the Polish *starać się* shows, however, that this is highly unlikely. Regarding *vaconucb*, see above (for all forms, see their usage by Taras Ševčenko in Moser 2008a: 172–329).

More specifically, this language is Galician Ukrainian, which does not mean, however, that we are dealing with a Galician dialect. The typical Galician Ukrainian features of this language are the following:

 Orthographic features, such as the frequently encountered separate writing of the reflexive particle, as in omбydymb cя (p. 2) along with omбyσbcя (p. 2);

- Phraseological items, such as the Galician прошу пана професора (р. 3), with панъ професоръ in the object used as an address, взяли на увагу (р. 4);
- Phonological features, such as the phonemic structures of the suffixes, as in рускій (р. 1), Американьски (р. 2), Американьска (р. 2), the soft *l*' in the loan атлянтика (р. 2);
- Morphological features, such as the locative singular ending in no одержан<>0 (p. 4), that is, по одержаню; see о розвою elsewhere (S 1893/1: 4); the suffix in *36* fpsma (p. 3), the lack of -t(') in the third person singular present tense forms of reflexive forms, as in *cmahecs* (p. 4), and the prevailing hard endings of the third person singular and plural present tense forms of the type провадить (р. 2), готовить ся (р. 2), прибудуть (p. 2), заплатять (p. 4), дбають (p. 4). However, this ending is paralleled by soft endings, starting with the first issue of Svoboda;¹⁹ see: "'Рускій народъ темный, непросвѣщенный, надъ рускимъ народом панує, царитъ египетска тьма' то суть ослячи слова глубокой клапоухой мудрости bel asino delle marche. На се отвѣтимъ коротко. Мы Русини знаємо азбуку Св. учителей славянъ Кирила и Методія-поляки ю забули и съ ней смѣють ся" (S 1893/1: 4); the hard ending in the second person plural imperative forms of the type $\Pi pi \tilde{u} M fm b$ (p. 1); the exclusive use of εo (p. 1; this is hardly intended to render [joho]) instead of *ŭozo* and *ɛŭ* (p. 1) instead of *ii* (gen. case); Galician *w* instead of *ii* appears in the accusative in other extracts; see "Мы Русини знаємо азбуку Св. учителей славянъ Кирила и Методія-поляки ю забули и съ ней смѣють ся" (S 1893/1: 4);
- Lexical features, such as всказати (p. 1) instead of вказати, провадить (p. 2) instead of проводить, цѣла (instead of вся) праця и надѣя (p. 1), цлову войну (p. 2; see Polish clo, German Zoll), зъ гори (p. 4), одинъ другого (p. 2) instead of одинъ одного; най (p. 4; several times); сли (p. 4), and many more (see ничъ in S 1893/2: 1, etc.);
- Syntactic features, such as the use of the genitive instead of the accusative case in *де що нового* (р. 4), the conjunction *a* in the copulative, not the adversative meaning, as in *Коваль а чорть* (р. 3), the use of *o* + accusative case, as in *o твою добро, o твою просвѣтту не дбае* (р. 1; several times), along with the sporadic (basically non-Galician) use of *o* + locative case as in *o то̂мъ нестарае ся* (р. 4); the more frequent use of the *genitivus negationis*, as in Чомъ намъ не окажешъ / Ты личенька Твого? (р. 3) ог най иде до штуби щобъ на будуще такихъ дурниць неписавъ (р. 4).
- Many of these Galician features link Galician Ukrainian with Polish.

Other Galician features were clearly avoided. As opposed to dialects and older writing traditions, the reflexive particle is not usually used in positions other than immediately following the full verb, that is, no constructions of the type *ty sja myješ* are employed here (they do, however, occur sporadically elsewhere in the first years; see $\pi\kappa_b$ *maemb* $c\pi$ *masusamu* [S 1893/2: 1]). The role of the language of Greater Ukraine as a model is particularly apparent, as the reflexive particle is often used in the non-Galician form *-cb*; see *spoбилась* (4) and *вивяжесь* (2; obviously for *вивяжесь*). Instead of *narid*, which prevails in Galician dialects, the form *народь*

¹⁹ The situation is not entirely clear, though, as the hard and soft signs are often employed erroneously.

(1) is used in the extracts cited above (see, however, $\mu ap\partial \partial b$ in S 1893/2: 1 and elsewhere, but $\mu apo\partial b$ again in S 1894/4: 2). The fact that *Svoboda* was oriented toward Greater Ukraine from the beginning is also reflected by the slogan displayed in the nameplate, where one reads Taras Ševčenko's verse: "Учите ся брати мои, думайте, читайте / И чужому научайтесь – Свого не цурайтесь, / Въ своєй хатѣ своя правда и сила и воля" (S 1893/1: 1).

Ukrainian dialects, primarily Galician or Transcarpathian dialects, appear in *Svoboda*, but mainly in the form of quotations designed to poke fun at dialect speakers. The following extract from the first issue imitates a typical feature of most Transcarpathian dialects:

Піттсбургь, Тамошни Русини мають вигоду, бо не платять коллекти. Сли прійде коллектор съ уніятской стороны, то кажуть: мы не даме бо належиме до православной церкви, сли прійде съ стороны православной, то кажуть мы уніяты—qen trovato (S 1893/1: 3).

The jokes published in *Svoboda* are a rich source of dialectal materials. In the following short extract, the highlighted Galician features are those that were most probably regarded as dialectal as early as the turn of the twentieth century (MB may also have been regarded as "standard," although the spelling is unusual; see more clitic pronominal forms in ordinary articles in later issues):

 Прошу пана превелебного прити мъ дитину покрестити. Но-але най не забудуть, бо южъ єсть готове и най метрику зо собомъ возмуть (S 1893/1: 3).

English loans are not absent even from the first issue of *Svoboda*. In the cited extracts we see not only the place-name $\Delta xepsi$ *Cimi* (p. 2) but also $\kappa ohzpecb$ (p. 2) for the political institution (with *z* featured probably owing to the lack of types for *s*, as mentioned above), and, most interestingly, $ni\kappa hi\kappa b$ (p. 2) as an American concept of community culture (for more early English loans, see Appendix).

4. On the way to the "phonetic" alphabet and Modern Standard Ukrainian

The orthography and language of *Svoboda* changed constantly during the first years of its existence, although the changes were not always radical and most often were not introduced consistently, at least at the beginning. Quite often, forms varied markedly not only within one issue of *Svoboda* but even within one article.

In the second issue one still finds the forms *oha* and *ohu* as typical of many Galician sources even apart from the Russophile sphere, but now we come across ∂hb (1893/2: 2; instead of *ohb*, as encountered in the first issue). The conservative spelling form *omb* (1893/2: 2, 3, etc.) is still used, yet *odb* appears as well in *odb dobuozo yme vacy* (1893/2: 3), that is, preceding a voiced consonant. In the prefix, not only *om-* and *od-* but even $b\partial \partial -$ appears; see *ombyaoca*, *odbyaoca*, $b\partial \partial nobbdb$ (all 1893/2: 3). The adverbalized adjective *ocmpo* (1893/2: 4) is spelled without a prothetic consonant, yet obvious violations of etymological orthographic

principles are still encountered, as in *bb* 320d (1893/2: 4), etc. Some specifically Galician forms are [*при добро̂мъ*] здоровлю (S 1893/2: 3), the short pronominal form in [добре] му [на семъ свѣтѣ жити] (ibid.), the form of the numeral двайця<ть> (ibid.), the comparative form nonucue (4) without dissimilation, or the passive construction with *sôcmamu* (with the meaning of action, not state; see the Polish construction with *zostać*, a loan translation from German), as in Плянь будови моста черезъ рѣку Гудсонъриверъ зъ Джерси Сити до New Yorku зо̂ставъ потвердженый отъ миністерства войны (S 1893/2: 4), чотири женщини зостали забити на смерть (S 1893/4: 2). Over time, several forms were "corrected": the above-mentioned title of the serialized story was changed from "Чортъ а Коваль" to "Чортъ и Коваль" (S 1893/2: 4) because coordinative *a* was obviously interpreted as a Polonism (and rightly so). Some isolated vestiges of an either extremely conservative or (rather) Russian-based orthography occur sporadically; see продолжение (S 1893/2: 4), etc., yet considerably more forms expressly distance Svoboda's language from Russian; see судженими, потвердженый (1893/2: 4) ог всъма миністрами (1893/2: 4), Борба (1893/2: 4), etc.

Issue no. 3 introduced an unwarranted correction of Taras Ševčenko's famous verse in the nameplate. Someone apparently believed that *Учъте ся брати мои* (S 1893/3: 1) was better than Учите ся, although Ševčenko consciously used an archaic form of the imperative (Moser 2008a: 150-151), while the correct modernized form could have been only Yutmb (or Yutmb in some Galician dialects). The form *hapodb* was often "Galicianized" into *hapôdb* (S 1893/3: 1). The spellings od_b and od- were now employed more frequently, as in od_b pyckozo (S 1893/3: 1), [наберавъ] одваги (S 1893/3: 2), одповѣдь, одбувъ ся (S 1893/3: 3) alongside the traditional spelling, as in *открывъ* (S 1893/3: 3), and there was an idiosyncratic rendering of the adverb сь во́тки [for звідки] (S 1893/3: 2).²⁰ The preposition and prefix are still spelled against the etymology in *що зъ нами* зробили (S 1893/3: 3). The conservative spelling питаніе concurred with forms of the type *numa*e and *s*earche [sic, for *s*earche, as the form would have been spelled in Galician sources at that time] (all S 1893/3: 3). The latter forms can hardly be interpreted as misprints, since the third issue consistently replaced ε with e (see the oblique form *nepekohaha* [ibid.]). Issue no. 3 still used onto (S 1893/3: 2) and contained some texts that were obviously "translated" from the Russian in highly unconvincing fashion. At the same time, the editors did not shy away from expressly Galician forms and spellings, as in ckôhbyunuca, yecmhoma, or saece 'always' (cf. Polish zawsze) (S 1893/3: 2). The same issue deserves particular attention inasmuch as it features the first letter to the editor (under the heading "АМЕРИКАНЬСКА РУСЬ"), obviously written by an emigrant from Transcarpathia. It contained not only several Transcarpathian dialectal features (highlighted in boldface) but also more conservative or Russian forms than were

²⁰ Here, the *m* might be regarded as a concession to phonetic circumstances only from a Galician viewpoint (as opposed to Modern Standard Ukrainian, most Galician dialects do assimilate consonants following voiceless consonants), whereas the spelling *cb* is clearly unfortunate, as is the separate spelling of the adverbial form.

usually encountered in *Svoboda* articles. Even the introduction by the editors contains the form *получила* and the not otherwise used ending *-oe* in *красноe*:

На дняхъ получила наша Редакція дуже красное русское письмо пересякнене письмо [*sic*], котре туть подаемо дословно:

Beacon Falls 22.9. 1893

Слава Іисусу Христу!

Получивши ,первый [sic, the comma is a misprint] нумеръ "Свободи" котру намъ Іосифъ Вархоликъ доручив, витаемо [sic] и принимаемо ю щыро, яко давно очѣковану нашу просвѣтительку понеже познаваме зъ первихъ ей основнихъ рядко̂въ що она хоче нашъ рускій народъ съ твердого сну тутъ въ Америцѣ пробудити и ко просвѣщенію и благоразумію привести. [...] Съ почтеніемъ оставамъ щыримъ русиномъ

Стефанъ Гомикъ

Сей листь дуже нась урадовавь бо по́знали мы сь [sic] него що нашь чоловѣкъ туть въ Америцѣ самъ приходить до того переконаня же му треба руской и то правдивой руской газети, котру онъ самъ оцѣнить и сли отповѣдае его потребамъ и его задушевнымъ бажанямъ, онъ самъ о такую просить.

Дай Боже щобъ такихъ Стефановъ було бо́льше въ Америцѣ, а тогда мыбъ инакше стояли и не таке значине мали помежи другихъ народностей якъ нынѣ (S 1893/3: 3).

Regardless of whether this letter was authentic, it was apparently published for propagandistic reasons. It does not seem accidental that the letter accorded perfectly with the editorial in the same issue, which made a vigorous appeal for unity among Galician and Transcarpathian Ruthenians and offered an intriguing account of the tensions between the two groups:

Справа народна, економѣчна релѣгійна языкова ортографична, суть такъ разомъ помѣшани, запутани, заколочени же нймудрѣйшіи [sic] чоловѣкъ якъ бы все тое хотѣвъ розо̂брати стративъ бы розумъ. ... Русинъ съ тамтой стороны зеленихъ Карпатъ зве Русина галичанина полякомъ и его мову польскою. Русинъ же съ галицкой стороны называе русина съ угорской части: унгаромъ ... Слибъ якій ученый американецъ спытавъ ся одного съ насъ: якой мы народности, а до̂ставъ одповѣдъ що мы Greek Cath. насмѣявбы ся и плюнувъ бы въ очи, бо такой народности не ма на свѣтѣ. Дальше мы не унгаре анѣ руснаки – Мы Русини. (S 1893/3: 1).

The fourth issue of 1893 still featured *оть* (S 1893/4: 1) and *отженемь* (S 1893/4: 1), *отцурались* (S 1893/4: 2), *отбудеть ся* (S 1894/4: 3), along with *оддала* (S 1893/4: 2), *поодбирали* (S 1893/4: 3) and *открыемо* (1). Soft present tense third person singular and plural endings of verbs were now frequent but were still paralleled by hard endings: *гинуть*, *звуть*, *ростуть* (1893/4: 2), but *робить ся* (1893/4: 1); *Наша Русь спить*, *спить сномъ блаженныхъ коли она пробудить ся коли она встане Богь святій знае* (1893/4: 2). The same issue still employed the spelling *онъ* (1893/4: 2, 4),

on (1893/4:3), and the Church Slavonic spelling of i as a reflex of so-called tense jers was widely employed (see за помочію (1893/4: 1); знищеніе; скоростію, въ самолюбію (1893/4: 2), продовженіе, въ трудно́мъ положенію (1893/4: 4); (see, however, Братя [1893/4: 2]). Russian elements occasionally occurred, as in Францъ Фердинандъ есть красивій [sic] высокого росту мужчина сь синима очима якъ и всѣ габсбурчики (1893/4: 2), yet expressly non-Russian and non-Church Slavonic forms prevailed; see the verbal form *щезъ* (1893/4: 2), the spelling *-uva-* in *запанувавъ* (and the verbal stem itself) (S 1893/4: 3; still co-occurring with -ova-, as in ckacobamu [1893/4: 2]), the endingin *передъ мислею* (S 1893/4: 3, with the etymologically wrong vowel in the nominal root), the imperative form *nosbpb* (cf. Modern Standard Ukrainian *nosip* as opposed to Modern Standard Russian nosepb) (all 1893/4: 1), the widespread Ukrainian form of the noun in *kônbka dehb nô3hbăŭue* (see also the stem of the numeral and the spelling of the adjectival stem), and the adverb *omme*. Clear Galicianisms were also to be found: see past tense forms of the type *далисьмо*, the negative pronoun *ничъ*, the verb stem in *wiomv*, spellings like *Muclanne* (cf. Polish *myślam*), and the frequent use of clitic pronouns: отженемъ ю отъ себе (1893/4: 1), прійшовъ просити щобъ му пизичили (1893/4: 2), Онъ есть сыномъ брата теперѣшного цѣсара [sic], котрый въ часѣ, взявъ го за свого на мѣсце небо̂щика Рудолфа, котрый такъ передъ часомъ по̂шовъ сь того свѣта (1893/4: 2); the conjunction же 'that,' the spelling небеспеченьствомъ, and the use of the predicative instrumental case with the present tense copula in the subject clause in Же велики маетки суть небеспеченьствомъ и страшнымъ ворогомъ соціяльного спокою и стоять на перешкод в благодатному розвою челов вчества, о томъ не треба богато говорити, бо кождій [sic] здоровомислячій чоловѣкъ се ясно видить (all S 1893/4: 4).²¹

Issue no. 5 featured several occurrences of ∂hb (S 1893/5: 1) along with ohb (S 1893/5: 4), predominating non-etymological spellings of omb, as in ∂bb casemu (S 1893/5: 4), $\partial o \ odt addy$ (S 1893/5: 4), or $\partial mcyhymu$, $\partial mkuhymu$ (both S 1893/5: 1).²² It also preferred the spelling 3b 'with' but still featured *cmapahiemb* (S 1893/5: 2), bt abpoucnost dahi(S 1893/5: 4) and had Russian-based words, such as noumenhimu umameлями (S 1893/5: 1). At the same time, the language was still expressly Galician; see $p \partial mhuxb$ (S 1893/5: 4) or the hard adjectival stem in $M \partial \tilde{u}$ *nopomhim* monothing (S 1893/5: 4).

While even the first issue for 1894 still had онь, отповѣвь, выходить, при житію (S 1894/1: 2), просвѣщенія, отповѣдаемь, отверженіемъ (S 1894/1: 3), along with одъ анархистовъ (ibid.), etc., issue no. 4 brought significant changes. Henceforth, the more expressly Ukrainian variants began to dominate with regard to almost all the elements discussed above. We now encounter водъ нась, водъ появленя ся [тои часописи], водповѣдь, водозвались, водважнымъ, водкидати; для поддвигненя,

²¹ Человъчество is an inappropriate Church Slavonic element here (see concurrent люцко̂сть [ibid.]). The o in богато was the usual spelling of the time, not only in Galicia, and participial forms of the здоровомислячій type were still quite common in the Ukrainian language of the time (see also Polish zdrowomyślący), as was the use of видъти rather than бачити. The form кождый was much more typical of Galician Ukrainian than кожен.

²² In both cases, the spelling of *m* before voiceless consonants is in fact "phonetic" from the Galician perspective; see also *omnostee* (S 1893/5: 4). Truly etymological spelling is encountered only in exceptional cases; see *om6epaiomb* (S 1893/5: 4; note *-6ep-*, cf. Polish *odbierać*).

скръпленя, Братя; знову, зъ [правдивыми Русинами – патріотами]; зависить (S 1894/4: 1), [грядуще] поколѣня [sic, with я], [въ народно̂мъ руско̂мъ] житю [въ Галичинь]; Мъркують; Приймъть (imperative) (S 1894/4: 2), вод важный [sic, without a hyphen at the end of the line], до вокна, but одвдячивъ (S 1894/4: 3). Forms with -uva- also occurred more often: дописуватель (S 1894/4: 2), paxyвати, змалювани [sic; see Modern Standard Ukrainian змальовані] (all S 1894/4: 4), along with обраховати (S 1894/4: 2) and потребовала (S 1894/4: 3). Several forms revealed в for etymological *u*, as in вже, вмирала, [Бракне менѣ хлѣба, то можу собѣ пожичити] въ сусъда (S 1894/4: 3), the spelling найменшого (S 1894/4: 3) occurred, etc. Within a few months, Svoboda had become increasingly more open to expressly Ukrainian forms; see але (S 1894/4: 3), мов [sic; without ъ] середа на пятницю, кромъ, проти [сего трактату], жѣнка (all S 1894/4: 3), тожъ [хотяй вже и такъ спо̂знили сьмо ся] (S 1894/4: 1), [робять незгоду] мѣжъ [своимъ народомъ] along with межи [польскимъ а [!] рускимъ народомъ въ Америцѣ] (both S 1894/4: 3). Conservative spellings and forms still occurred, but they were moving increasingly into the background.²³ The language of Svoboda leaned increasingly toward the Galician koiné of the turn of the twentieth century. Typically Galician elements were past tense forms used with personal endings, as in *спо̂знили сьмо ся* and *моглисьте* (both S 1894/4: 1), passive constructions with зостати (Торговельный договорь межи Росіею а Нѣмеччиною зо́ставъ съ обохъ боко̂въ потвердженый [S 1894/4: 3]), or future tense with bude and the *l*-participle, as in Polish; see Нѣмеччина буде потребовала порады отъ старой політичной головы Бисмарка (S 1894/4: 3). The particle for the construction of the third person imperative was either най (S 1894/4: 3) ог няй (S 1894/4: 3). Apart from Polonisms and Russianisms, several Austrian-German loan words were used; see [*He*] було бы... свѣжихъ] вірштлѣвъ (S 1894/4: 3; in an article on Germany). Western loans were spelled in Galician fashion; see *opmozpaφiu* (S 1894/4: 3; genitive singular), etc.

The fact that something important had happened in *Svoboda* prior to the appearance of issue no. 4 for 1894 is also reflected in an article that for the first time explicitly called upon Canadian Ukrainians to organize themselves:

Нашимъ Братямъ въ Канадѣ

Мы о Васъ дороги бра- [/] братя [sic] не забудемъ, и "Свободу" будемъ Вамъ посылати точно, то̂лько держѣть ся купи, закладайте братства и давайте знати о собѣ разъ въ разъ, а все будемо помѣщати въ "Свободѣ" (S 1894/4: 3).

Later issues published in 1894 confirmed the need for the type ϵ ; see the continued use of the questionable spellings *3Hayene* (S 1894/5: 2), [*Ц*Ѣкаве] *опов*Ѣ*дане* [*Ивана Нечуя*] (S 1894/5: 4). The letter was finally introduced in issue no. 13 for 1894:

²³ See они, кто (both S 1894/4: 1), ктось (S 1894/4: 3), оть/от- even before a voiced consonant in отбулось (S 1894/4: 2), spellings of the нещастье type (S 1894/4: 2), сѣянье (S 1894/4: 3) and even засѣданіе (S 1894/4: 2), понятія (S 1894/4: 3) самолюбіемь (S 1894/4: 1), статію (S 1894/4: 3), от съ нами (S 1894/4: 1). Hard verb endings were still employed, as in значить (S 1894/4: 1).

Кто належить до "Союза", той сповняє завѣть Христовъ, бо дбає про братерство, котре намъ Христосъ заповѣдавъ, своєю во̂льною смертію скрѣпивъ и тридневнымъ Воскресеніємъ прославивъ (S 1894/13: 1).

Or:

Редакторъ "Свободы" заявляє всѣмъ неприхильнимъ до того дѣла, за котре боре ся "Свобода" власними силами, що єго ни мало не страшать всяки особисти напады на него, бо о̀нъ роспочавъ выданє своєй газеты ни для особистой користи, але маючи на оцѣ добро ро̀дного народу. Тымъ бо̀льше соромъ тимъ, котри противъ чистой ідеи выступають зь [sic] болотомъ, не маючи мабуть, красшого оружія для защиты свого дѣла. Ще бо̀льше соромъ тимъ, котри хочуть сидѣти разомъ на двохъ сто̂лцахъ [sic], хочуть служити и Богу и мамонѣ и нарѣкають на остри напады "Свободы["] на ворого̂въ народа. Наше дѣло праве и мы вѣруємо, що мы побѣдимо. Нехай же выходять вороги зъ болотомъ, они то̂лько сами забрудять ся нимъ, а насъ не покаляють, бо тутъ иде не о нашу особу але о добро бѣдного люду и мы не маємо ни права ни охоты во̂дступити нѣ на крокъ о̀тъ того що считаємо за честне и правдиве (S 1894/13: 2).

Also in issue no. 13 (1894), the appearance of a "Самоучитель англійской мовы" published by *Svoboda* was announced ("ккттрый [*sic*] дость [*sic*] можно́ть [*sic*] нашимъ робо́тникамъ по́знати англійску мову и тымъ зробити зъ нихъ [wrong form: should be *зъ себе*, or *зробить* instead of *зробити*] *людей*, *котри зрогумѣють* [*sic*] *обставины житя того краю, въ котро̂мъ они жіють, научить ихъ бути правдвиивими* [*sic*] *горожанами, а не попихачами въ рукахъ политикеро̂въ* [interestingly, a loan from German]") (S 1894/13: 2). (The undoubted importance of the message to many readers of *Svoboda* was matched only by the disastrousness of the spelling in which it was delivered.) The letter ϵ was not used with full consistency, though: Ivan Nečuj-Levyc'kyj's serialized story was still called *оповѣдане* (S 1894/13: 3).

Another letter that was missing from the early issues of *Svoboda* was *t*, the letter for the phoneme /g/, which occurs only in a limited number of genuinely Ukrainian words but is to be encountered in a host of loan words and foreign names. As the orthography of *Svoboda* increasingly tended toward the adequate rendering of Ukrainian phonetics and the spelling of *xmo* (for example, S 1899/26: 2; see already S 1898/45: 1: *нѣxmo*) instead of the traditional *кmo*, the need for *t* became even more obvious. This step was taken in the second half of 1899. Issue no. 26 for that year still had *конгресь* (S 1899/26: 1) and *интелігенція* (ibid., 3; and *англійски*: ibid., 4), issue no. 33 still had *водь Вінніпега* (S 1899/33: 2). Issue no. 34, however, featured *Роковины мадярского feнiя* (S 1899/34: 2; on Sándor Petőfi) and *Ieme* (ibid.; Johann Wolfgang von Goethe) along with *археолього̂вь* (S 1899/34: 2; i.e., *l'*, but not *t*). Other issues that year featured *телеграмы* (S 1899/35: 2), *foвернеры, телеграфы* (1899/36: 1), *делегатôвь* (ibid., 2), *famyнкy* (1899/41: 3), *вагоны* (1899/46: 3); (see also *Binhinerь* [S 1900/1: 2]).

By now, many elements of the so-called Želexivka orthography had already been established even within the framework of the so-called etymological orthography. The grand reform itself, namely, the introduction of the so-called "phonetic" orthography that had evoked such heated debates in the home country in the preceding decades, was adopted with extreme caution, step by step.

The first examples of the "phonetic" orthography to be revealed in *Svoboda* may be found in issue no. 9 for 1901, in which most of the texts are still rendered in the "etymological" orthography. Interestingly, the first text is a letter to the editor "From Ukraine," that is, not a letter for which the editors themselves could be held responsible:

26. Сїчня, 1901 р.

3 України

Через цїлий сей рік по селах Катеринославщини і Харківщини сподїяно декілька душегубств. Вбивали по церквах сторожів і по "волостних правлениях" по декілька людей і грабували гроші чи то церковні чи то громадські. Остатний [*sic*] випадок, коли у Ново-Івановському "волостному правленії" вбито було аж 11 душ заразом (вся родина писаря, який там мешкав, його слуг, двох писарчуків і де-кілька так чоловіків, які там на той час ночували), підняв на ноги всю полицію тих двох губерній. По довгим [*sic*] шуканю чомусь накинули ся на шатрових циган й [*sic*] 9 чоловіків і 1 жінку з них впіймали, а решта втекла, їх ще ловлють. Впійманих циган, хоч майже нїчого нема виразного, щоб вони певно були розбійниками, звелено судити незвичайним судом а воєнним по законах воєнних часів. Суд той розпочав ся у Харкові за три дни до нового року, та й тяг ся аж до 9. сїчня ... (S 1901/9: 2).

The anonymous author quoted from the trial of the gypsies and protests against their conviction. Although the author was reporting on Greater Ukraine and signed his text as "Українець" (the signature is not legible after *Укра*<> but appears elsewhere in readable form), his language is clearly Galician in origin, not the language of Greater Ukraine (see hard-stem *ocmamhuŭ, Maŭæe*). The article was written uniformly according to the rules of the Galician "Želexivka," albeit with some mistakes.

The same issue of *Svoboda* features a "Ruthenian-American folk song" also rendered in the "phonetic" orthography. It is titled "Руско-американска народна пѣсня," and a barely legible remark underneath the title should probably be deciphered as "жало̂сна," both still in accordance with the "etymological" orthography. The brief text itself, however, is different:

Як сом ішол з Амерікі до дому, (2 разы) Стрітіл я там Австріяша на коню, 2. – Австріяше камаряте якъ ше маш, 2. Чі там жіє еще моя стара мац? 2. – Ей, нї жіє твоя матка, нї жіє 2. Сіцем рочків як ф чарной жемі гнїє, 2. – Ке-біл я знал, же моя мац не жіє 2. Зостал біл я в америцкей країнє. 2. Записавъ Ст. Рябець въ Mahanoy Plane, Ра. (село Чертевъ. Угорщина) (S 1901/9: 3). One could now argue that in this case, a "phonetic" spelling could have been used primarily because this dialectal language, which obviously went back to contemporary Eastern Slovakia, differed so markedly from the Galician-based koiné variety employed in *Svoboda*. Nonetheless, it must be noted that this way of rendering Transcarpathian Ukrainian was a novelty as well. In issue no. 8 for 1901, for example, another "Ruthenian-American folk song" was still presented in the etymological orthography:

А кой мы въ Гамбурку на шифу съдали, То намъ нашы власы калапы двигали. А якъ мы зъ Гамбурку до Англіъ пришли, Англицкы панове на чудо къ намъ пришли. А якъ мы въ Ню Йорку зо шифы сходжали, То насъ америцкы панове витали: "Витайте унгаре зо старого края, Чомсте не привели ту свого цисаря?" "Панове, панове такъ мы го не знаме, Бо мы одъ цисаря далеко бываме." Записавъ Д. Ванько, Ansonia, Conn. (Svoboda 1901/8: 3).

Moreover, it turns out that it was the editors who had changed their strategy regarding the publication of the serialized "Ruthenian-American folk songs": the same collector, a D. Van'ko from Ansonia, Connecticut, saw his next piece published in the "phonetic" orthography:

(Спѣває ся весело.) Моя жена в старім краю а я ту. Глядав я сой в Америції роботу, Нашов я єй при Маганой*) до майнох, Лем же би мї милий пан Бог допомог, Дванац кари на шихту ладувал, А до того сам на себе вачювал.**) [...] (Svoboda 1901/10:3).

*) Мѣсточко въ Пенсилвеніи. **) Уважавъ. [...]

Two ads written in the "phonetic" orthography were also published in issue no. 9 for 1901. In both cases, however, it was publications from Galicia that were advertised, not American products:

"Громадський голос", радикальна часопись для руського робучого народу виходить у Львові що тижня, з образками і коштує на рік \$1.50. Гроші треба посилати на руки агента: Mr. M. Kolodij, 327 Shamokin Str., Shamokin, Pa.; а дописи на адресу: Red. des "Hromadskyj Holos", Lubliner – Union Gasse, 5. Lemberg. Austria. Galicia.

"Комар", одинокий [!] гумористично-сатиричний орган на Руси. Виходить у Львові два рази на місяць під редакциєю Івана Кунцевича. Передплата: цїлорічна \$2.00, піврічна \$1.00. Адрес: "Комар", Львів, улиця Личаківска ч. 23. Замовляти можна через редакцию "Свободы." [*sic*] (both S 1901/9: 4).

Henceforth, folk songs tended to be rendered consistently in the "phonetic" orthography even if they were not labeled "Ruthenian-American"; see "Гаго̂лки ... Подавъ М. В. Мороловичъ" and its beginning, "Вилетїла ластівочка із корча ..." (S 1901/15–16).

From issue no. 19 (1901) onward, a serialized story ("Росповідок") titled "Поярмаркував" was also published in the "phonetic" orthography. The editors, however, still signaled that it should not be regarded as *Svoboda*'s own orthography, as the story was accompanied by the information that it had been written for *Svoboda* by a certain "Oleksander Katrenko" ("Написав для 'Свободи' Олександер Катренко" [S 1901/19: 3)]), that is, not by a Galician.²⁴ Here is the beginning of the story:

А знаєте ви, панове, що воно за циганська коника є? Кажете, що не знаєте? Так підїть-же поспитайте ся вчителя нашої школи Лья Сіїча! (Його справедливе імя, бач, Ілія Олексієвич, але він сам себе для швидкости, по звичаю свойому московському, зве Лья Сеїч, то через те його і люди так). Еге! Він добре довідав ся що то воно за річ та циганська коняка (S 1901/19: 3).

Then, in issue no. 26 for 1901, there was another letter to the editor, sent "from Ukraine" by "a Ukrainian" ("Українець") and published in the phonetic orthography ("Дописи. З України" [S 1901/26: 2]), not a text written either by an "American Ruthenian" or by a Galician).

Only issues 1–2 for 1902 were innovative in that they featured a report on Brazil that was not marked as a piece either from Greater Ukraine or from a Transcarpathian folkloristic context. On the contrary, the article was introduced by the comment that someone on the staff of *Svoboda* had translated it from a Polish text sent to the editors from Galicia:

Гостина Івана Воляньского в Ріо-Кляро в Паранї, року 1896. Коли горячка еміграцийна до Бразилії, або як нарід наш зве "Брензолії, [sic, without closing quotation marks], таки на добре обхопила Галичину, а нарід за безціїн позбувавсь рештки батьківскої землі і сотками родин спішив за море за ліпшою долею, а проклонами на устах покидаючи батьківщину з єї ославленими порядками, то навіть галицкі ряди, хоть як они лихі, не могли сего не бачити і про око мусіли щось почати (S 1902/1–2: 2).

Whereas at the end of this piece one could still read: "Продовженє на сторонѣ 7-ôй" (ibid.), an advertisement following it was again rendered in the "phonetic" orthography:

²⁴ Names ending in -енко are not Galician.

Щоби вилїлити простуду в однім дни, бери Laxative Bromo Quinine Tablets ... (ibid.).

On the next page, the issue featured a letter to the editor not "from Ukraine" but "from the Old Country" ("Λμcτ is craporo κρaю"), and this Galician text appeared in the "phonetic" orthography as well. Subsequently, the sphere of "phonetic orthography" grew steadily,²⁵ and, beginning with issue no. 51 for 1904, it became predominant. Here are some extracts from just one page of that issue:

З сучасної сальонової політики (Михайло Бєля). Перед недивним часом вернув я від прації в суботу, і як звичайно, зачав переглядати декотрі з наших газет, щоби ся довідати, що нового діє ся в сьвіті. ...

Дописи. Зъ Beaver Creek, Alta Can. Менї лучило ся прочитати кілька чисел Ню Йорскої казети [sic] і подумав я собі: за що тут люде платять, коли в ній нема нічого инчого, крім одних клевет. ...

Справоздане з діятельности Руского робічиного [sic] тов. "Рівність" в Едмонтоні, Алта Канада: Тов. "Рівність" за час свого истнованя заложило в Едмонтоні читальню ім. Т. Шевченка з слідуючим виділом: … Дальше хотячи мати центрум де би ся могли наші Русини сходити, товариство задумує приступити до будови "Народного Дому" (S 1904/51: 2).

Almost two years later, in issue no. 28 for 1906, only a handful of advertisements that had already been published in older issues still employed the etymological orthography. Interestingly, this included *Svoboda*'s self-advertisement: "Читайте! Списъ книжокъ, якû продаємо…" (S 1906/28: 8). The first issue for 1907 no longer featured any text in the etymological orthography; *Svoboda*'s ad had been changed to "Читайте! Спис книжок, якi продаємо" (S 1907/1: 8).

As the orthography of *Svoboda* was reformed, the language was modernized as well. Although it is merely traditional prejudice that the "etymological" orthography did not allow for writing good Ukrainian (one could in fact render any piece of Modern Standard Ukrainian in the "etymological" orthography without doing any harm to its language, see Moser 2007: 232), it is a fact that the "phonetic" orthography had a huge symbolic value in the Ukrainian context. As it was introduced, Ukrainian Church Slavonic and Russian elements became much rarer on all linguistic levels, and the quality of the Ukrainian language increased immensely.

5. The all-Ukrainian orthography and the split of 1933

Despite its great potential, the "Żelexivka" remained solely a Galician orthography, whereas all Ruthenian or Ukrainian identity models had always included Greater

²⁵ Occasional issues of that period still featured the "etymological" orthography almost exclusively (S 1904/1, for example, the advertisement "Dr. F. J. Meek / (Миколайчик.) / Специяліст / слабостей / жіночих, / дитячих / і венеричних. / Жени при породї дізнають особлившої опіки" (S 1904/1: 12).

Ukraine as well.²⁶ Throughout 1914, Galician spellings of the type *американьский* were replaced by new spellings of the type *американський* (S 1914/1: 3), while one could still encounter such spellings as [3 *широкого*] *сьвіта* and *сьвятий* (ibid.). Beginning with issue no. 6 for 1920, the use of *ï* according to the "Želexivka" was abandoned; see *no piųi Дністру і від Дністра no piųi Збручу* (S 1920/6: 2), and *сьв*-was avoided as well; see *посвятили* (S 1920/6: 1). In 1920, the spelling *-нне*, *-тте* for earlier *-не*, *-тте* (*оголошене* [S 1909/1: 4]) was introduced as well. In Galicia, this spelling was standardized by the Ševčenko Society in Lviv only slightly later, in 1922, besides the spelling *-ння* (Istorija 2004: 315–40, esp. 321–22).²⁷ In issue no. 1 for 1920, the spellings *-не* and *-нне* occurred on the same page:

Закриттє Української Академії Наук. На приказ Денікіна закрито в Києві українську Академію Наук, а в її місце основано московську. Вернувший з Ростова президент Української Академії Наук В. Вернадський, який їздив туди для вияснення про дальше істнуваннє Академії, подае близші інформації в тій справі. [...] Був він принятий ген. Денїкіном, якому подав доклад про становище Української Академії Наук. Сей доклад внїс згодом Денїкін на розгляд "особаво совещанія". Ухвалено тимчасово заховати весь скарб Академії і продовжувати роботу до утворення в Києві російської Академії Наук [...] (S 1920/1: 1)

Справа Польщі. Савєтська Росія робить Польщі мирове предложенє. Заперечує вістку про плянованє наступу при помочи хінського війска (ibid.).

Unmistakably non-Galician features were more frequently used in various contributions; see *pade* (third person singular only in southeastern Ukrainian dialects), the compound spelling of the reflexive particle with the verb, and its shortened form in the headlines of an article from issue no. 1 for 1921:

Як Англія ставиться до України і Галичини? – Правительство Великої Британії раде підпирати Україну. – Галичину трактує окремо і хоче галицьким Українцям помогти освободитись (S 1921/1: 2).

The development toward an all-Ukrainian standard that took place in interwar Europe was perfectly echoed by *Svoboda*. Spellings of the type -ння appeared in 1925:

Едмондт тверезіє...

Статистика едмонтонського магістратного суду, виказує, що в місті з кождим роком, що раз то менше арештовань ізза піяньства. [...] Від 10 мая с.р., себто від дня проголошеного закону в Альберті, 62 соби [sic] повандувало до Форт Саскачевану на отверезіння [...] Удержаннє вязнів в Форт Саскачевані коштувало провінцію до тепер 2.835 [...] (S 1925/1: 1).

²⁶ Some other identity models still claimed Belarusians as "Ruthenians," while others embraced "all-Russian" views (Moser 2011c).

²⁷ Roman Smal'-Stoc'kyj and Theodor Gartner still codified знане, etc. but stated that forms of the type знання were perfectly acceptable as well (Smal'-Stoc'kyj – Gartner 1913: 269).

As late as 1927, both -*ння* and -*нне* were used in the same issue:

Звільнення зі служби за невивчення української мови. Спеціяльна підкомісія Всеукраїньскої Центральної Комісії в справі українізації радянського апарату під головуванням Приходька ухвалила постанову про звільнення з посад деяких службовців ріжних установ та підприєств, що, не зважаючи на попередження, до цього часу не вивчили української мови, хоча їм було дано певні пільгові строки (S 1927/123: 1).

Англійський парлямент за зірваннєм зносин з совітами. Лондон, 26. мая. – Внесеннє Партії Праці, щоби вибрати спеціяльний комітет, який має провірити заміти, звернені проти Радянського Союза, перепало [...] (ibid.).

As of early June 1927, spellings in -HHE still occurred sporadically, but features untypical of Galician traditions continued to be used on a broad scale ($3a\lambda i 3HULHO$ [S 1927/125: 1], $Ha \tilde{U}HOSILLUW$ [ibid., with dissimilation even in this case, as often practiced in Greater Ukraine], etc.). By the time the people's commissar of education of Soviet Ukraine, Mykola Skrypnyk, convened the International Orthographic Conference in Kharkiv (26 May–6 June 1927), not only the Galician media but even the North American newspaper *Svoboda* had already basically adopted an all-Ukrainian language and orthography. This may have been the very reason why *Svoboda* journalists did not regard the conference as newsworthy. In late May and early June 1927, *Svoboda* did not report on the Kharkiv conference at all. The newspaper paid some attention to questions of language planning in Soviet Ukraine, yet issue no. 136 (14 June 1927) still did not mention the Kharkiv conference, although it featured a sarcastic critique of the language of Soviet Ukraine, focusing on the spread of Soviet abbreviations:

Нова українська мова. Як виглядає тепер українська мова на Україні в большевицьких видавництвах, можуть виробити собі цікаві погляд зі слідуючого уривку, який бережемо буквально зі статті з часопису "Народній Учитель", що виходить в самім Харкові: "Треба знати, що, не зважаючи на ті пільги, які НКО дав при прийомі без іспитів, всеж таки до педтехнікумів вступили ті, що не мали змоги по своїй підготовці вступити до спеціяльного ВУЗ'у, а через те педтехнікум є для них переходним до иншого ВУЗ'у. Є значний відсоток і таких, які профшколи не закінчили з різжних причин і перейшли до педтехнікумів. А коли і є бажання у профшкольця бути вчителем, то він має рацію вступити до ІНО на факпрофос, тільки не на соцвих, де становище аналогічне що і в педтехнікумах".

Пересторога! – Читаючи се, вважайте, щоби де близько не було собаки, бо може сказитися! (S 1927/136: 1).

Much worse things than the broad usage of Bolshevik abbreviations would befall Ukraine very soon. In January 1930, three years prior to the onset of the Stalinist terror against Ukrainian "bourgeois nationalism" and shortly after the first Stalinist show trial of the so-called "Spilka vyzvolennja Ukrajiny," *Svoboda* published an article on the Bolsheviks' "War with Ukrainianness" that offered a highly realistic view of the essence of Soviet "Ukrainization": Війна з українством. Московські большевики рішили, що вже кінець бавитися в "передишку". Відпочили трохи кати й треба дати їм нову роботу, щоби не забули свого фаху. … Годі вже бавитися в "самоопредєленіє народов" аж до відділення, бо вже час настав твердійше загнуздати всі народности Росії, зцентралізувати управління всією Росією під твердою московською рукою. … Для того, щоби приспати активність українського національного руху, направленого до створення своєї суверенної держави, большевики вдягнули всіх московських агентів на Україні в українські національні шати. Вони змусили навіть своїх партійців вивчитися "балакати" по українськи і старалися цими зовнішними формами замилити очі українському народові.

Вся, так звана "українізація України" була нічим иншим, як провокацією української національної ідеї, національної справи. Убравши московських катів на Україні в національні українські шати, большевики гадали, що їх катівської роботи не буде відчувати так болюче український нарід, як відчувавби він, колиб ті кати були в справжньому свойому московському убранню. ...

Тепер їх [the Bolsheviks] охопила лють і вони починають шукати виновників своєї невдачі. І першим ділом караюча рука московського ката впала на голови українських комуністів, на яких Москва покладала надію як на свою гвардію, що зручно здурить свій нарід та приведе його до покори червоно [sic] Кремлю. Тоді впали жертвою гніву москвоських можновладців О. Шумський та його прихильники. А потім покотилися голови під сокирою московського ката тисячів українських селян та робітників. Але й цього мало. ... Довелося братися ще більше за рішучі методи.

Цими методами мав стати ідейний, а по можности й фактичний розгром *осе*редка української національної культури, Всеукраїнської Академії Наук, яку створив український нарід в часи свого найкращого революційного пориву, в часи Центральної Ради. Для того арештовано піоніра й творця Академії Наук, С. Єфремова ... Щоби здеморалізувати Академію Наук і підорвати її потенціональне значіння в масах українського народу, московські чекісти змусили деяких учених та академіків висловити свій осуд діяльности С. Єфремова. Що варті ті заяви, які зроблені людьми, до потилиці кожного з яких приставчений револьвер чекіста?... (S 1930/1: 2).

Both the Great Famine²⁸ and the slaughter of Ukrainian intellectuals in 1933 reinforced *Svoboda*'s anti-Bolshevik views. On 13 May 1933, *Svoboda* reported on the deadly Stalinist assault on Ukrainian linguists and the Ukrainian language:

Знову суд над українськими культурними діячами.

Прага (Чехословаччина). Чехословацькі газети одержали повідомлення з Москви, що на Україні радянська влада готує новий судовий процес над українськими вченими та культурними діячами. Процес цей має нагадувати суд над українським академіком С. Єфремовом та над іншими вченими нібито за створення ними "Спілки Визволення України".

²⁸ Svoboda did report on the Great Famine in Ukraine: see "Большевицька пятилітка породила голод у Радянщині" (S 1933/1: 1) and many more articles.

Большевики твердять, що вони тепер викрили нову українську націоналістичну організацію, яка складалася зі службовців комісаріяту народньої освіти, ріжних професорів вищих шкіл та вчительства. Між арештованими знаходяться визначніші українські мовознавці, Олена Курило та Трохименко, які були професорами харківського інституту мовознавства.

Чекісти обвинувачують їх у тому, що вони, складаючи словник української мови, "навмисно викидали" з нього всі слова російського походження, беручи їх з ріжних діялектів української мови. Московські чекісти кажуть, що цим вони старалися віддалити українську мову від "братньої московської мови", віддаляючи тим український нарід від московського, а крім того вони ще пропагували впровадження на Україні латинської азбуки, щоб мовляв, тим наблизити Україну до Европи.

Службовців комісаріяту народньої освіти обвинувачують за те, що вони, складаючи список обовязуючої літератури для середніх та вищих шкіл України, вписали в нього лише твори українських письменників усіх земель та европейських письменників, зігнорувавши зовсім московських письменників. Таксамо обвинувачено їх у "примусовій українізації" деяких шкіл у більших містах. Отже акт обвинувачення каже, що всі арештовані продовжували контрреволюційну та сепаратистичну політику, яку провадила Спілка Визволення України до 1928 р. (S 1933/110: 1).

After that, the language and orthography of Soviet Ukraine could not serve as models, since they were a product of Stalinist terror and Russification. When Galicia and the other regions of the Ukrainian west came under Soviet control, the temporary refusal to regard the official language of any region of the homeland as a shining example became permanent. The new emigrants after the Second World War, most of whom came from pre-Soviet Galicia and had experienced Soviet rule, added to this split. Henceforth, North Americans regarded it as their cultural mission to maintain the pre-Stalinist standards of the Ukrainian language.

6. Conclusion and outlook

As the early issues of *Svoboda* (see Appendix 1) reveal, the language of North American Ukrainians has been strongly affected by English from the very beginning. Despite constant assimilatory pressure, Ukrainian communities have continued to exist for almost five generations in Canada and the United States, and *Svoboda* has undoubtedly played a major role in that regard (see Appendix 2). As this study has shown, *Svoboda* contributed strongly to the dissemination of modern Ukrainian national identity across the Atlantic Ocean. Until the Second World War, its language always developed in accordance with models from the home country and was amended with an eye to an all-Ukrainian standard. This tradition was interrupted in 1933 and 1945, when Ukrainians in the diaspora refused to follow Soviet models of Russification.

During the Cold War, when official linguistic models from Soviet Ukraine remained unattractive, North American Ukrainians and *Svoboda* succeeded surprisingly well in preserving pre-Stalinist linguistic standards and further developing the Ukrainian language in their own manner. After 1991 they immediately

called for a thorough reform of the Ukrainian language and orthography in Ukraine. Owing to the realities of post-Soviet Ukraine, the first official results have remained meager to date. If, however, in recent years the Ukrainian language has been increasingly emancipated from the formerly disproportionate impact of Russian, and if today some of the most intellectually attractive Ukrainian publications employ unofficial orthographic variants similar to diaspora traditions (*Krytyka* and *K. I. S.* publishers et al.), that is largely to the credit of North American Ukrainians, who have never ceased to cherish the Ukrainian language in its pre-Stalinist form, as they have developed it since the early years of *Svoboda*.

APPENDIX 1. Some Brief Notes on Early English Loans

From the very beginning, numerous English loanwords entered the language of *Svoboda*.¹ The early loans from English are numerous and cover various semantic spheres. Here are a few of them: Стейть (S 1893/7: 2); въ Монтанѣ, на вестахъ (S 1893/2: 3); 300.000 доляровь (S 1893/2: 3); за одного кводра 'for one quarter' (S 1894/4: 3); ченджъ 'change' (S 1893/2: 3); при барѣ Барькѣперъ (S 1893/2: 3); грингорскою (S 1893/2: 1; from greenhorn), салюнъ (S 1900/26: 3); въ майнахъ (S 1893/4: 1), майнеровь (S 1893/2: 3); перша руска гросерня (S 1893/2: 4); три фармери (S 1893/4: 2); 3 центи за акерь (S 1893/4: 2); На тихъ акрахъ (ibid.); съ плейзу на плейзъ (S 1893/4: 1), въ инши контри (S 1893/4: 3); першій мітингъ (S 1893/4: 3); ундертекера (S 1893/4: 1); пікнікъ (S 1893/1: 2), гаускиперъ (S 1893/4: 4); два трены (S 1893/2: 3); сѣвъ на горс-кару (S 1893/7: 2); стриткара (1899/34: 1), тикеть (S 1893/5: 4); ренть (S 1893/4: 4), Въ ... бейзментъ (S 1894/4: 3); бетрамы (S 1894/5: 3); въ ледяной баксѣ 'box' (S 1893/4: 1), "чю" (in quotation marks) 'chewing gum' (S 1893/5: 4); въ доброй капотѣ 'capote' (S 1893/4: 4), "κικιμοπь" (in quotation marks) 'kick' (S 1900/26: 1), βαιωβαλ 'watch' (S 1901/10: 3; from a miners' song, see above); въ реджістровано̂мъ листь (S 1904/1: 6); money order (мони ордеръ) (ibid.); на експресово̂мъ офисѣ (ibid.); въ ихъ бѣзнесѣ (1893/2: 2), съ набитыми револьверамъ [sic] (S 1893/2: 3).

Quite often, English words were inserted into Ukrainian texts in their original orthography: "... просимо напередъ николи не посилати на чеки банку ... Най лучше посилати черезъ Money Order або въ листъ registered letters, а що найлъпше черезъ Postall Note" (1894/1: 3), "All right я заплативъ тай хочу съдати на тренъ и дверникъ каже що я тимъ треномъ не можу ѣхати" (S 1893/5: 4), "... по̀дъ сходами комнати напише "to let" а я буду просити о продовженіе и присягатись що на першого заплачу а онъ скаже "to late" [*sic*]" (S 1893/4: 4), "до̂знатись чи Tarif Bill Вілсона перейде чи нѣтъ" (S 1894/4: 2).

From the beginning, North American place-names were a challenge for speakers of Slavic languages. Many of the Ukrainized forms varied in the early years, e.g., *Hью-Iоркь* (S 1894/1: 2), *въ Ню Йорку* (S 1894/4: 3); see the adjective [кілька чисел] *Ню Йорскої* [казети] [sic] (S 1904/51: 2), *Джерси Сити* (S 1893/2: 4) vs. *Джерсей Сіти* (S 1893/2: 3), *Аркансась* vs. *Арканзась* (both S 1893/4: 2), въ Пітсбургу (S 1894/1: 2) vs. *въ Питсбургу* (S 1893/7: 4). In many cases, it was unpredictable whether place-names were to be declined or not; see loc. forms, such as въ Лонгъ Аиляндъ (S 1893/2: 3), *Въ Бенвудъ*, O. (S 1894/1: 2), въ СкрантонъПа [sic] (S 1894/4: 2; see below), въ Олифантъ (S 1894/4: 3) (all definitely in loc. case),

¹ The language of *Svoboda* in the early years is even more interesting in that it perfectly reflects the fact that its writers (and speakers) not only acquired English loan words, but also brought with them a multitude of loan words from the home country. Along with a multitude of Polish loan words, these are surprisingly many loans from German. To give just two examples: "... наше братство розвинуло американьску а пото̂мъ руску фану" (S 1893/2: 3), "Сли хочете буду здоровыми, люфтуйте що дня ваши бетрамы и держѣть ихъ чисто" (S 1894/5: 3).

or до ... Пітерсборґ (S 1904/51: 7), съ Квинстонъ до New York-y (S 1893/4: 2), аз opposed to declined forms, such as въ Газлестонъ Па. (S 1894/4: 2), въ Вашингтонъ (S 1894/4: 2), въ Нев Арку (S 1893/5: 4), до Нев Арку (ibid.), въ Пітсбургу (S 1894/1: 2), изъ Скрантону (S 1894/4: 3; see above), недалеко Кливелянду Огаю (S 1893/4: 2). In some cases, the indeclinability of names was more understandable from a contemporary point of view (and has partly even remained so in Modern Standard Ukrainian); see names in -o, like въ Санъ Францѣшко (S 1893/7: 4; loc. case), до Чикаго (S 1893/5: 4), коло Буфало (S 1893/4: 3).

Quite often, American place-names were given in their original form. Although in many cases these might have been either morphologically complex names or names of lesser-known places, that was not necessarily so. Many readers who had never heard of Wilkes-Barre, Pennsylvania, probably found it useful to see the English spelling in the phrase *donucb cb Wilkesbarre* (S 1893/5: 3). Cases such as Идуть депутаты до Mahanoy City (S 1894/4: 2) and Русини зъ Mt. Carmel Pa. (S 1894/4: 2) are different, as those mining towns were quite prominent at the time; here, the morphological complexity of the toponyms may have been decisive. The same may apply to the name of New York, which was sometimes rendered in the Latin alphabet even in the context of other American place-names presented in Cyrillic, as in съ Квинстонъ до New York-у (S 1893/4: 2), Плянъ будови моста черезь рѣку Гудсонъриверъ зъ Джерси Сити до New Yorku (S 1893/2: 4), ог Нашъ чоловѣкъ Андрей Федакъ, вертаючи зъ Шенандоа Па, до старого краю, попавъ въ *New York-у межи агентовъ жидковъ* (S 1894/4: 2). The once-famous mining center of Shenandoah was treated in a particularly interesting way. In *вертаючи* [sic] 35 Шенандоа Па it is indeclinable, as might have been expected. Elsewhere, however, the stem is expanded with -r, and the name is treated as a masculine noun ending in $-\emptyset$; see коло Шенандору (S 1894/4: 2). Names of town dwellers were then derived from that stem; see Слава Вамъ Шенандорцъ (S 1894/4: 2) and Шенандорцъвъ (S 1894/1: 2), along with бъднымъ Шенандорчанамъ (ibid.). Adjectives such as пенсильваньского (S 1893/5: 4) ог скрантоньска (S 1894/4: 3) could be formed with no problem. The adjective for Чикаго is [съ всемірной выстави] чикаговской (S 1893/4: 2), i.e., чикагівськ- if rendered in Modern Standard Ukrainian orthography. The morphological treatment of many place-names of this kind still remains problematic in modern Slavic languages (*Торонто* etc.).

APPENDIX 2. Early Efforts at Language Maintenance as Reflected in *Svoboda*

The following editorial from the second issue of *Svoboda* demonstrates that the key problem of the struggle against assimilation had evolved very quickly. The anonymous author—most likely Reverend Hruška himself—argued that language (here presented in the triune manner as *MoBa*, *bec bda*, *gabikb*) is the major feature of a nation and called upon "American Ruthenians" not only to maintain their identity but also to exert (in this particular case, even brutal) group pressure on those who ceased to speak their heritage language:

"На широко̂мъ божо̂мъ свѣтѣ жіє богато народо̂въ, котри ро̂жнятъ ся межъ собою мовою, звичаями, обичаями, нижшимъ або висшимъ степенемъ просвѣти, цивилизаціи. Самою першою и найголовнѣйшою ознакою, по котрой розпо̂знаємъ одинъ народъ одъ другого, єсть мова, бесѣда, языкъ. ... Гей поволи! Забылъ еси дураку якъ и ты опинивъ ся въ Castle Garden ... съ вошима поза обшивкою а съ двома прускими фенігами въ кишени ...? Встидатися своей власной мовы такъ значитъ якъ бы встидатися своей ро̂дной матери. ... Русини американьски! Сли съ осерпедины [sic] васъ найдетъ ся такій, що встидаесь по руски говорити, виганяйте во̂дъ себе якъ паршиву во̂вцю; въ хату непоскайте на улицѣ оминайте, виставте го на смѣхъ, на ганьбу передъ свойма и чужима – напишѣтъ до старого краю: якій тутъ ставъ ся съ Ивана панъ" (S 1893/2: 1).

Like other minorities, American Ruthenians/Ukrainians could best maintain their old ethnic or national identity within their own communities. Many advertisements in *Svoboda*, beginning with the first ad in issue 2 for 1893, accentuated the national or language factor, pointing out that one would be served by "one's own man" or that one's language was spoken in a certain facility:

"W. Budzynski. 122 Cedar Str. New York.
Помежи Greenwich i Washington улицями.
АГЕНТУРА
КОРАБЕЛЬНА¹ И КОЛІОВА.
Спродае шифкарты на найлъпшій лині́и морскій на Бременъ и Гамбургь.
Посылае грошѣ до всѣхъ части свѣта.
Звертаемъ увагу, що яко сво̂й чоловѣкъ обходитъ ся съ людьми сумлѣнно" (S 1893/2: 4).

A particularly interesting text in this regard is Myxajlo Juhas's versified advertisement for his "first Ruthenian butchery" in Scranton, Pennsylvania, in which Juhas pointed out that he "firmly stands for the Ruthenian people" and was fluent in various languages:

¹ *b* is in fact inverted in the original publication.

ПЕРША РУСКА БУЧЕРНЯ ВЪ SCRANTON, РА. Михайла М. Югаса 314 THIRD STREET. Хочешь купить добре мясо, Шинку чи смачныхъ ковбасъ, Не трать брате грошей й часу, Лишъ пытайся, де бучеръ Югасъ. Во̂нъ всѣляке мясо має, Зъ людьми красно розмовляє И поруски [sic], по словеньски, По англицки и по польски. Зъ него Русинъ, бучеръ славный, Къ добро̀й справъ всегда справный, За рускій народъ крѣпко стоить, Вражды люцкой ся не боить. Тожь Русинамъ треба знати, Що єго тре подпирати; Красно вважить, въ папъръ запакує, Бучерня чиста, ажь ся серце радує. Мы, Руснаки не жалуємо, Водъ Югася все мясо купувати будемо, Бо вонъ у Scranton найлъпше мясо має, О томъ кожда дитина навъть добре знає. Тожь мили братя, нъкуда ся не волочъть, До найлѣпшои бучернѣ до Югаса ходѣтъ Добре, тано, справедливо, Чисто, смачно и уцтиво!" (S 1904/10: 7).

Notably, Juhas the butcher not only boasted of his command of Ruthenian, Polish, and Slovak² but also pointed out his knowledge of English.

As mentioned above, *Svoboda* itself offered its readers materials for the study of the majority language of North America. Moreover, it provided space for advertisements for English courses:

"ЕМІГРАНТ Є ВЛАСТИТЕЛЕМ СВОЄЇ СУДЬБИ

в тім краю лише тоді, коли він знає англійський язик. Не знаючи його, Ви не лише [sic: the second *не* is missing] будете всилї найти роботу, але на все позістанете тут чужинцем і не будете покористуватись всіма привілєями і свободою, якими користаєсь американський народ. Коли научитесь по англійськи, то Вам легче будесь жити і скорше дібєтесь становища. Ви ще не вибираєтесь до краю, але коли хочете їхати, учіться англійського язика. Той язик має велику будучність в краю. Вам трафляється народа вивчитись заочно сеї мови протягом 3 місяців при дуже легкій методі. Пробну лєкцію і подробиці висилаємо за одержаннєм

² This is probably the correct interpretation of словенський. See the contemporary Slovak word *slovenský* ("Slovak").

10 цнт. грішми або марками, можна канадійськими. / Адресуйте: 39–41 FIRST AMERICAN PREPARATORY SCHOOL Dept. 46. 525 W. 47TH ST., NEW YORK CITY" (1920/80: 6).

If the major problem of the first generation was to find a place and acquire some knowledge of English, the situation changed dramatically for the second and third generations, whose representatives already had to make an effort to maintain the heritage language. In an issue that appeared in 1914, there is an interesting reflection on the question of the value of language maintenance as opposed to assimilation:

"Чи маємо ми вирікати ся рідної мови? … Скаже хтонебудь: най би була одна мова на сьвітї, бо правда – по що їх стільки? Воно може би то й було добре, а може й не зовсїм. Скажім, коли було би одного лише рода дерево, або одного рода збіже чи инші ростини, то певно легко догадати ся, що на сьвітї було би далеко не так добре, як є тепер. Але коли деревина чи инша ростина є лише зверхною прикрасою землї, то людська мова є як-би осередком сего житя, його душею, його внутрішною прикрасою. … Що подумала би, пережила би наша українська мати, коли-б її дитина прийшовши на сьвіт, відізвала ся першим словом замість "мама", "тато" – "модер", "фадер"? Як би таксамо недорічи виглядало, колиб на весїлю молодятам почали співати жінки чужу незрозумілу пісню?" (S 1914/60: 3).

This anonymous call for loyalty to the heritage language is noteworthy in that it does not merely make a traditional appeal "in the name of the nation" but also aptly brings in another argument, one that is as convincing as it is timely: translated into modern terminology, this article is first and foremost (especially in the first part of the quoted passage) an amazingly strong appeal for linguistic diversity.

IVAN PAN'KEVYČ'S *GRAMMAR OF THE RUTHENIAN LANGUAGE* AND THE GALICIAN UKRAINIAN LANGUAGE IN SUBCARPATHIAN RUS'

1. Ivan Pan'kevyč, the Galician language codifier in Subcarpathia

Ivan Pan'kevyč,¹ the distinguished Ukrainian linguist and philologist, was born on 6 October 1887 in the village of Tseperiv in what is today the Kamianka-Buzka raion of Lviv oblast. After completing public school, he studied at the universities of Lviv and Vienna, obtaining his doctorate in the Austrian capital in 1912. Until 1919 the young Galician intellectual taught Russian at the Theresian Consular Academy in Vienna. After the closure of that institution in the fall of 1919, he moved to Prague to study at Charles University. However, a twist of fate resulted in his move from Prague to Subcarpathia:

Властитель квартири [в Празі], в якій я жив, сходився з братом референта шкільного реферату в Ужгороді Йосифа Пешка. Цей писав свому братові, що потребував би мати при рефераті філолога, що є ознайомлений з мовою закарпатських українців. (Pan'kevyč 2002: 98).

The owner of the apartment [in Prague] where I was living socialized with Josef Pešek, the brother of the head of the school board in Uzhhorod. He wrote to his brother that the school board needed a philologist who was acquainted with the language of the Transcarpathian Ukrainians.

Since Pan'kevyč had already long been interested in the language of Subcarpathia, in December 1919 he was "hired as a contractual official of the school board who was supposed to take charge of the language department and regulate the language of instruction and the official language" (ibid.).² In addition, Pan'kevyč became the editor of the children's magazine *Vinočok* (Little Garland) and the teachers' journal *Uchytel*' (Teacher). He also translated official circulars and school board directives into Ukrainian (ibid., 99). In 1920, Pan'kevyč became a "provisional teacher" (ibid., 100) and, eventually, a professor of the Uzhhorod gymnasium.³ In Uzhhorod he was an extraordinarily active cultural figure. After the occupation of Subcarpathia by Hungary, which was then under the rule of Miklós Horthy, Pan'kevyč returned to Prague, where he resumed teaching in various gymnasiums. In 1939 he became a docent of the Ukrainian Free University (UVU), which was then based in Prague,⁴ and in 1947 he was appointed professor of Ukrainian studies at Charles University. Ivan Pan'kevyč died in Prague in 1958 (Mušinka 2002: 25).

¹ This article is a considerably abbreviated version of a forthcoming book. In this essay, the terms "Subcarpathia" and "Transcarpathia" are used interchangeably.

^{2 &}quot;[...] ангажовано як договірного урядника шк. реферату, який мав вести мовний реферат, регулювати мову навчання та і урядову."

³ See Mušinka 2002; for a more detailed discussion, see Mušinka 2002a.

⁴ Today, the Ukrainian Free University is based in Munich.

Pan'kevyč was the author of numerous scholarly works, but the present article focuses only on his *Grammar of the Ruthenian Language for the Lower Grades of High School and Public Schools* (Граматика руського языка для молодших кляс школ середних и горожаньских), which was published in three editions: 1922, 1927, and 1936. The linguistic and political framework of this grammar is best described by Pan'kevyč in his autobiography:

[1919 р.] чеська адміністрація хотіла знати якою слов'янською мовою є мова закарпатських жителів, бо генеральний статут цієї автономної країни говорив про мову населення, як руську мову, в якій має вестися навчання в школах і адміністрація в краї. Анкета Чеської академії наук виразно заявила, що мова закарпатського населення є діалект української мови, а не радить заводити четверту східнослов'янську мову. Радила з огляду на консерватизм тамошньої інтелігенції придержуватися поки що старого українського правопису, уживаного до 1890-х років в українських школах Галичини. Я цим і руководився. (Рап'кеvуč 2002а: 99).⁵

[In 1919] the Czech administration wanted to know which Slavic language was the language of the Transcarpathian inhabitants because the general statute of this autonomous land spoke of the language of the population as the Ruthenian language, in which instruction was to be carried out in schools and in the administration of the land. The questionnaire of the Czech Academy stated clearly that the language of the Transcarpathian population was a dialect of Ukrainian and did not advise introducing a fourth East Slavic language. In view of the conservatism of the local intelligentsia, it advised adhering in the meantime to the old Ukrainian orthography used in Ukrainian schools in Galicia until the 1890s. I governed myself accordingly.

In a letter to the Lviv philologist Ul'jana Jedlins'ka dated 12 January 1957, Ivan Pan'kevyč also writes about other factors that influenced the language of his grammar, specifically his discussions and arguments with the Ruthenian ethnographer and historian Hijador Stryps'kyj (ibid., 162–63).

Although the situation in the areas south of the Carpathian Mountains undoubtedly had a decisive impact on Pan'kevyč's linguistic conduct in Subcarpathia, one should bear in mind not only this factor (for detailed discussion of the issue, see also Pan'kevyč 1923) but also the history of the Ukrainian language in Galicia during the preceding decades. Pan'kevyč's strategy was undoubtedly based on the fact that even before the interwar period, the Ukrainian populist current in Transcarpathia was extremely weak in comparison with Old Ruthenianism and Muscophilism, and the Rusyn movement in the present-day sense did not yet exist (Moser 2008c). But this strategy cannot be understood without reckoning with Pan'kevyč's linguistic background: in his early years he had witnessed the final

⁵ With regard to the status of the Subcarpathian dialects as dialects of the Ukrainian language, the Czech Academy of Sciences was merely reiterating a point on which, in fact, all nineteenth-century scholars concurred. Even the most zealous opponents of Ukrainian identity claimed that the Subcarpathian dialects, along with other dialects of the Ukrainian-speaking space, belonged to the "Little Russian branch" of the Ruthenian language.

stage of Ukrainian identity formation in Galicia, which was marked by the decision of the Galician "Ruthenians" to adopt (finally) the term "Ukrainian" with respect to themselves. Pan'kevyč was studying at a village school in Galicia in 1894, when the Galician school system officially adopted the so-called "phonetic" orthography, and he was witness to the extent to which the Galician Ruthenian-Ukrainians sought to master and disseminate all-Ukrainian linguistic norms that they had adopted from the "Little Russians"-Ukrainians in the Russian Empire. Even without the Czech Academy of Sciences, Pan'kevyč probably realized that it was not enough simply to "Ukrainize" the inhabitants of Subcarpathia, but that it was necessary and preferable—to duplicate the Galician experience of the second half of the nineteenth century in Subcarpathian Rus'; to pave the way for the contemporary Ukrainian literary language only after placing increasingly greater distance between the Slavic Ruthenian and Russophile linguistic traditions and regional ones.

Below, Pan'kevyč describes the linguistic foundation of his grammar in the introductions to the first and second editions (the third edition does not have an introduction; changes in the introduction to the second edition are indicated in bold):

1922:

Я постановив опертися на живый народній язык и взяв под увагу тѣ говоры, котри суть найчистѣйши од чужих вплывов и котри служили за основу першим галицьким писателям Н. Устіяновичови и Могильницкому, т. є. говоры верховинськи и мараморошськи. При том брав я також и на згляд окрем творов литературы малоруськов и литературни творы Подкарпатских Русинов, а то: А. Духновича, Ю. Жатковича, Луки Демяна – писани народною мовою, а також пѣснѣ и оповъданя из зборников [...] Односно правописи переняв я систему етимологичну Д-ра О. Огоновского, якого "Граматика руського языка" довго служила в галицких середних школах, а котру у великой части перебрав о. Августин Волошин до своє Граматики на мадярском языцѣ из р. 1907. Для лекшоѣ орієнтаціѣ до термино̂в граматичних малоруських додав я також термины великоруськи, яки тут були уживани (Н 1: 3-4).

1927:

Я постановив опертися на живый народній язык и взяв под увагу тѣ говоры, котрѣ суть найчистѣйшѣ од чужих вплывов и котрѣ служили за основу першим галицьким писателям Н. Устіяновичови и Могильницкому, т. є. говоры верховинськъ и мараморошськъ. При то̂м брав я також и на згляд окр**ъ**м творов литературы малоруськов и литературни творы Подкарпатских Русинов, а то: А. Духновича, Ю. Жатковича, Луки Демяна – писанъ народньою мовою, а також пѣснѣ и оповъданя из зборников [...] Односно правописи переняв я систему етимологичну Д-ра О. Огоновского, якого "Граматика руского языка" довго служила в галицких середних школах, а котру у великой части перебрав о. Августин Волошин до своє Граматики на мадярском языцѣ из р. 1907. Для легшоъ орієнтаціъ до терминов

граматичных малоруських додав я також термины великоруськ**ъ**, як**ъ** тут були уживан**ъ** (Н 2: 3–4).

I have decided to base myself on the living vernacular, taking into consideration those dialects that are purest with regard to foreign influences and that have served as a basis for the leading Galician writers Mykola Ustyjanovyč and Mohyl'nyc'kyj, i.e., the Verkhovyna and Maramureş dialects. In that regard I also considered, aside from the works of Little Russian literature, the works of Subcarpathian Ruthenians, namely, A. Duxnovyč, Ju. Žatkovyč, and Luka Demjan, which were written in the vernacular, as well as songs and stories from [various] collections.... Regarding orthography, I adopted the etymological system of Dr. O. Ohonovs'kyj, whose *Grammar of the Ruthenian Language* was long used in Galician high schools, [that etymological system] which Father Avgustyn Vološyn adopted for the greater part in his Hungarianlanguage grammar of 1907. For easier orientation with regard to Little Russian grammatical terms, I have added Great Russian terms that have been used here [in Transcarpathia].

On the one hand, Pan'kevyč wrote openly that he was basing himself on Galician models (see also Pan'kevyč 1923: 150); on the other, readers of his grammar were supposed to accept that the language of the grammar was grounded, above all, in their very own Subcarpathian linguistic reality in the regional sense, for he had written that he was orienting himself on the "Verkhovyna and Maramureş dialects" ("говоры верховинськи и мараморошськи").

However, even though almost all contemporary scholars, both Ukrainian and Rusyn,⁶ reiterate Pan'kevyč's claim that the language of his grammar is based on the Verkhovyna and Maramureş dialects, this is not entirely accurate. In fact, as Jurij Ševel'ov notes,

[О]бставини того часу змусили Панькевича маскувати українську мову в своїй граматиці під верховинський і мармароський діялекти [sic], з яких він зберіг одначе лише кілька особливостей (те, що інколи вважають діялектними [sic] елементами в Панькевича ... є тільки етимологічним правописом), і вдатися до етимологічного правопису, що справді був радше псевдоетимологічним. (Ševel'ov 1998: 162).

The circumstances of that period compelled Pan'kevyč to mask the Ukrainian language in his grammar as Verkhovyna and Maramureş dialects, of which he retained, however, only a few features (that which is sometimes regarded as dialectal elements in Pan'kevyč...is only the etymological orthography), and to use the etymological orthography, which was in fact a pseudo-etymological orthography.

In fact, only two features of the above-mentioned dialects are germane to the language of Pan'kevyč's grammar:

- the reflex *i* from *o* in a newly closed syllable, which in the areas south of the Carpathians is typical only of the Rakhiv and Veretski Nyzhni areas (Pan'kevyč 1938: map no. 1);
- 2) the ending -mo in the first person pl. of the present tense of verbs, which, in the areas south of the Carpathians, is typical only of the eastern Maramureş region (AUM 1988: map no. 241).

⁶ See, e.g., the remarks of the Prešov-based linguist of Ukrainian orientation Zuzana Hanudel' in her commentary on Pan'kevyč 2002a: "This was the first grammar written on the basis of Carpathian dialects, with certain similarities to the Transcarpathian literary language in keeping with the etymological orthography of Maksymovyč-Ohonovs'kyj" (Pan'kevyč 2002: 167). See also the comments of the Rusyn activist Ivan Pop: "the first two editions of his *Hramatyka Rus' koho iazŷka* (1922, 1927) were not grammars of literary Ukrainian but rather of a language based closely on local Rusyn vernacular speech" (Pop 2005: 370–71).

Clearly, both these apparent elements of the "Verkhovyna and Maramureş" dialects are in fact simply those that coincide with features of the contemporary Ukrainian literary language. Obviously, Pan'kevyč also selected the other features for his language on the same basis:

- the ending -*mb* in the third person sing. and pl. of the present tense of verbs, which is also typical of the Uzhhorod and Mukachiv areas (AUM 1988: map no. 242), while the hard ending -*m* is more prevalent in eastern Transcarpathia and recently entered the contemporary "Subcarpathian standard" of the current Rusyn language (Kerča 2007: 141);⁷

 $-\partial x < *dj$ in forms, like *xodxy*, although in areas around Uzhhorod there exists the reflex *x*, which is also predominant in areas east of Mukachiv (Pan'kevyč 1938, map no. 2; cf. AUM 1988: map no. 235) and has entered the Subcarpathian standard of the contemporary Rusyn language (ibid., 141; in contrast to the Prešov (Priashiv) standard, cf. Jabur and Pliškova 2007: 159);

– the ending -*e* in the nom./acc. sing. neuter, which is also not typical of the vicinities of Uzhhorod and Mukachiv, where, in contrast to the Prešov region and areas east of Rika (Pan'kevyč: map IV; AUM 1988: map no. 217), - $o\epsilon$ clearly predominates and has entered the "Subcarpathian standard" of the contemporary Rusyn language (Kerča 2007: 135).⁸

These points notwithstanding, one cannot speak unreservedly of the "Ukrainian language" in Ivan Pan'kevyč's grammar: although he intended to pave the way for the contemporary Ukrainian literary language in Subcarpathia, he could not use it. In fact, not only did he take a deliberate step backward in the domain of orthography, but he also reverted to the earlier Galician linguistic traditions on all other linguistic levels. Thus it comes as no surprise that the language of Pan'kevyč's grammar in fact approximates that of Galician school textbooks of the 1860s, the period in which the populists were just beginning to bring their language closer to the "great Ukrainian" language.

Ivan Pan'kevyč knew why he had done this. His linguistic innovations were not supposed to appear too radical because the situation was such that "during the First Transcarpathian Teachers' Congress (16–17 April 1920) no one even raised the question of the Ukrainian literary language" (Ševel'ov 1998: 162). Against the background of this prevailing mood, the Subcarpathian teachers' congress of 1923 rejected the use of Pan'kevyč's grammar by a vote of 544 against and only 2 in favor (ibid.; Magocsi 1978: 140). In the final analysis, this vote did not benefit any variant of Rusyn common language but the local variant of Russian,⁹ whose distance from the commonly spoken language was very considerable.

⁷ By contrast, the ending *-mb* is typical of the Prešov region: see AUM 1988: map no. 242. In fact, it has entered the Slovak standard of the contemporary Rusyn language: see Jabur and Pliškova 2007: 176.

⁸ By contrast, the Prešov standard of the Rusyn language has codified the ending *-e* (Jabur and Pliškova 2007: 173).

⁹ One of the most ardent adherents of the adoption of Russian was the Russophile Heorhij Gerovs'kyj, another Galician émigré.

Pan'kevyč did indeed mask himself. In the introductions to the first and second editions of his grammar, he acknowledged that he "had also...considered the works of the Subcarpathian Rusyns in addition to the works of Little Russian literature" (H2: 3). But at this point he failed to name a single "Little Russian" writer. The grammar also contains few examples of works by Subcarpathian writers. Here and there one finds extracts from Oleksander Duxnovyč's play *Virtue Is More Important than Riches* (Добродѣтель превышаеть богатство) and the works of Jurij Žatkovyč and other writers, but quotations from folklore predominate.¹⁰

Ivan Pan'kevyč's *Grammar of the Ruthenian Language* is certainly not a grammar of the Rusyn language in the present-day sense. Nevertheless, it is a grammar of the Ukrainian language featuring a large number of purely Galician characteristics that distinguish both the object language and the metalanguage of this grammar not only from the contemporary Ukrainian literary language but also from all variants of the Ukrainian literary language in use during the interwar period. Despite certain rather pervasive claims to the contrary,¹¹ this pertains to all three editions of Pan'kevyč's work.

2. Three editions of the Grammar of the Ruthenian Language

The preceding quotations already demonstrate that the first and second editions of Pan'kevyč's grammar differ not only as to content but also as to certain linguistic features. Additional changes were made in the third edition and are evident on the title pages:

1922 Граматика руського языка для молодших кляс шко́л середних и горожа ньск их. Написав Д-р Иван Панькевич. Одобрено рѣшенєм министерства школьництва и народноѣ освѣты з дня 26. іюлія 1922, ч. 66.879. Цѣна 8 Кч. 1922. Накладомъ державного выдавництва Прага – Братислава. Мукачево 1922. Типографія "Карпатія", Мукачево, Городская ул. н-р 5.	1927: Граматика руського языка для молодших клас шкôл середних и горожанських. Написав Д-р Иван Панькевич. Друге перероблене и доповнене выданє. Накладом Державного Вы давництва в Празѣ. Ч. м. 760. Цѣна Кč 10.– 1927 ¹²	1936: Граматика руського языка для шко̂л середних и горожанських. Написав Д-р Иван Панькевич Третє пе рероблене и доповнене выданя. Одобрено розпорядком министерства шко̂ль ництва и народноѣ освѣты з дня 22. октобря 1935, ч. 156.507/34-II/1 як помо̀чна книга для середних шко̂л з учебны [<i>sic</i>] языком по̂д карпаторуським. Цѣна Кč11. – Накладом Державного
Мукачево, Городская ул. н-р 5.		– Накладом Державного выдавництва в Празѣ. 1936.

¹⁰ Oleksander Duxnovyč probably never wanted to see any fragments of his play cited in any grammar of the "Ruthenian (or: Russian) language" (Moser 2011: 627–640).

¹¹ See Pop 2005: 371: "...by the 1930s, texts using Pan'kevyč's language had been 'cleaned up,' the 'local dialectisms' removed, and the transition to a Ukrainian literary language completed (compare the third edition of his grammar, 1936)."

¹² On the title page of a copy of the second edition that is preserved at the Stefanyk Library in Lviv, Pan'kevyč wrote the following inscription: "Бібліотеці наукового товариства ім [sic, no period] Шевченка у Львові від автора" ("For the Library of the Ševčenko Scientific Society from the author").

The title pages reveal interesting changes in the orthography, such as *горожаньских* > *горожанських*, *кляс* > *клас*, and *выдане* > *выданя*; at the same time, all the old scripts—along with the corresponding pronunciations of these forms are typical of most nineteenth-century Galician orthographic systems, and the spellings *кляса* and *выдане* were retained as late as the interwar period. Meanwhile, all the new forms represented approximations to the norms of the contemporary Ukrainian literary language in its interwar state, although the form *выданя* was still not being written as *-нн-* (see below). The form *кляса* was also considered standard even according to the Kharkiv ("Skrypnyk") orthography of 1928, which was replaced by the Russian-like *клас* within five years during the period of Stalinist repression that targeted Ukrainians and their language.

The introduction to the grammar in the first edition is titled "Введене" (H1: 3);¹³ in the second edition, the title is "Передмова до першого выданя" (Introduction to the First Edition) (H2: 3).¹⁴ The following changes appear in this introduction (I remind readers that there was no introduction to the third edition):

The $o > \hat{o}$ substitution: The reflex < o is traditionally indicated in newly closed syllables.

поднести язык свого народа на степень	по̂днести язык свого народа на степень
языка образованого (3)	стрѣнулися мы из недостатком всяких
стрѣнулися мы из недостатком всяких	языка образованого (3)
помочных средств для научованя нашого	помо̂чных средств для научованя нашого
языка (3)	языка (3) ¹⁵

The *e* > *π* **substitution:** Although the letter *#* is not used in Modern Standard Ukrainian, this substitution reflects the process of approximation to the standards of the Ukrainian literary language, inasmuch as *#* renders [i] (see Modern Standard Ukrainian *σκρίμ*). Csopey 1883 has entries for *σκρεμϵ* and *σκρδμϵ*.

При то̂м брав я також и на згляд окр е м	При то̂м брав я також и на згляд окр ъ м
творо̂в литературы малоруськоѣ и	тво̂ров литературы малоруськоѣ и лите
литературни творы По̂дкарпатских Русино̂в (4)	ратурни творы По̂дкарпатских Русино̂в (4)

Soft and hard stems of adjectives: The forms *народний* and *народній* coexist in the Ukrainian literary language; soft stems, however, are not typical of Galician and Subcarpathian dialects.¹⁶ The second example is evidence rather of a corrected printer's error in the first edition, since the word *граматичний* does not have a soft stem:

творы По̂дкарпатских Русино̂в, а то:	творы По̂дкарпатских Русино̂в, а то: А.
А. Духновича, Ю. Жатковича, Луки Демяна –	Духновича, Ю. Жатковича, Луки Демяна –
писани народною мовою (4)	писанѣ народ нь ою мовою (4)

¹³ There is also a "Table of Contents" ("Содержанс") at the end of the first edition (H1: 109).

¹⁴ This is, in fact, an edited version of the introduction to the first edition.

¹⁵ There are occasional errors, e.g., окрем творов (4) > окрѣм тво̂ров (4).

¹⁶ Сf.: "Деякѣ з прикметникôв мягких мають тверде и мягке окôнченя: верхній и верхный, горѣшній и горѣшный" (78). ("Some of the soft adjectives have a hard and soft ending: верхній and верхный, горѣшній and горѣшный.")

до термино̂в граматич**ни**х малоруських додав я також термины великоруськ**и** (4)

до терминов граматичных малоруських додав я також термины великоруськъ (4)¹⁷

Endings of adjectival and pronominal forms in nom. pl.: The writing of [‡] [i] indicates unambiguous approximation to the standards of the Ukrainian literary language; the -*i* ending also predominates in the eastern dialects of Subcarpathia (AUM 1988: map no. 221). Meanwhile, the writing of the ending with -*u* is subject to interpretation as [i] and [y^e]. However, Pan'kevyč himself appends the following piece of advice to the form *Hauuu*: "Read as *naši*" ("Читай як наші") (H1: 41).

По̂дкарпатски Русины (3)	По̂дкарпатск ъ Русины (3)
письменн и люде радили собѣ в письмѣ	письменнѣ люде радили собѣ в письмѣ
всѣляко (3)	всѣляко (3)
тѣ говоры, котри суть найчистѣйши од	тѣ говоры, котр ѣ суть найчистѣйш ѣ од
чужих вплыво̂в и котри служили за основу	чужих вплыво̂в и котр ѣ служили за основу
першим галицьким писателям	першим галицьким писателям
Н. Устіяновичови и Могильницкому,	Н. Устіяновичови и Могильницкому,
т. є. говоры верховинськ и и	т. є. говоры верховинськ ъ и
мараморошськи (3-4).	мараморошськъ (3–4).
Творы По̂дкарпатских Русино̂в, а то:	творы По̂дкарпатских Русино̂в, а то:
А. Духновича, Ю. Жатковича, Луки Демяна –	А. Духновича, Ю. Жатковича, Луки Демяна –
писани народною мовою (4)	писанѣ народньою мовою (4)
До термино̂в граматичних малоруських	до термино̂в граматичных малоруських
додав я також термины великоруськи,	додав я також термины великоруськѣ,
як и тут були уживан и (4)	як ъ тут були уживан ъ (4)

Substitution in word forms: A less widely known form is replaced in the following case (cf. Polish *lekki*). Csopey 1883 has the entries *nerkuü* (-*biŭ*) and *nonermamu*; Dzendzelivs'kyj 1958 has the entry *nerko*. Želexivs'kyj 1886 has *nervumu*, *ynervumu* along with *nermamu* [*sic*]; Kuzelja–Rudnyc'kyj 1943/1987 have an entry *yneku-*, but it refers to " \rightarrow *yneru-* = *bneru-*:

Для лекшоъ орієнтаціъ (4), пор. легко (6)

Для легшоъ орієнтаціъ (4), пор. легко (5).

Lexical changes: In the following cases, lexemes from the Slavonic-Ruthenian and Russophile traditions are supplanted:

Введенс (3)	Передмова до пери
гористый край, потворив окреми	гористый край, 1
языкови островы в дечом одлични од себе (3)	островы в дечом од

Передмова до першого выданя (3) ... гористый край, потворив окремѣ языковѣ островы в дечо̂м одмѣннѣ од себе (3).¹⁸

In contrast to the introduction, the main text of the grammar exists in three versions. The order and contents of the various parts of the grammar differ from one edition to the next. The table below shows only a selection of the linguistic changes that appeared in every succeeding edition of Pan'kevyč's grammar:

¹⁷ At issue here, however, is the correction of errors that may be explained by the influence of the "phonetic" orthography.

¹⁸ The Prešov variant of the Rusyn language uses the word одлишний.

Orthographic changes:

The $o > \hat{o}$ substitution: see above. The following words could also be used in the Polish or Slovak pronunciations with the original o.

под о бный (7)	под о бный (6)	под о ́бный (4)
Вольный (8)	в о ́льный (7)	в о ́льный (6)

The $o\partial > s\partial\partial$ **substitution:** The writing of $s\partial\partial$ with an indication of the prothetical *s*- most corresponds to the most widespread use of the form in the contemporary Ukrainian literary language, *si* ∂ .

На одном и том самом складь,	на одно̂м и то̂м само̂м	на одно̂м и то̂м само̂м
а именно на друго̂м	складѣ, а именно на друго̂м	складѣ, а именно на друго̂м
о д ко̂нця (7).	о д ко̂нця (7).	во ́д ко́нця (5).

The *ôμ* > *sôμ* **substitution:** The writing of *sôμ* with an indication of the prothetical *s*- is the closest to the contemporary Ukrainian writing of *siμ*. The forms *yμ*, *oμa*, and *oμu* are codified in the Subcarpathian variant of the Rusyn language (Kerča 2007: 134), but as *siμ*, *oμa*, and *oμu* in the Prešov variant (Jabur and Pliškova 2007: 173).

 $\hat{O}_{H}(8)$ $\hat{O}_{H}(7)$ $\hat{O}_{H}(6)$

The *e*- > *e*- **substitution:** At issue here is merely the correction of a printing error that may have occurred under the influence of Russian orthography. Appended to the end of the first edition is a list titled "Printing errors" ("Печатни ошибки"), with the notation: "Here and there *e* is written instead of *e*. Readers are requested to correct those cases themselves." ("Де куды мѣсто *e* написано *e*. Тѣ случаѣ проситься читачѣв справити самим") (H1: no p.).

Если [] (8)	€сли […] (7)	Є сли [] (6)
-------------	--------------	---------------------

The *ezo* > *ŭozo* **substitution:** The orthography has undergone phonetization, which brings the language closer to the Ukrainian literary language, but it is also grounded in Subcarpathian conditions, cf. *ëzo* in the Subcarpathian variant of the Rusyn language (Kerča 2007: 134).

Тото звукове явище дуже	Тото звукове явище дуже	Тото звукове явище дуже
давне в нашо̂м языцѣ.	давне в нашо̂м языцѣ.	давне в нашо̂м языцѣ.
Порозумѣти єго мож добре,	Порозумѣти єго мож добре,	Порозумѣти його мож
коли возьмемо по̂д увагу	коли возьмемо по̂д увагу цѣлый	добре, коли возьмемо по̂д
цѣлый малоруській язык за	малоруській (украинський)	увагу цѣлый руський
Карпатами поза.	язык за Карпатами поза	(украинський) язык за
По̂дкарпатскою Русею (11)	По̂дкарпатскою Русею (11).	Карпатами поза
		Подкарпатскою Русею (19).

The $-(Hb)c\kappa$ - $> -(H)cb\kappa$ - **substitution:** Softening in the suffix $-cb\kappa$ - (< -bsk-) is typical of the eastern Subcarpathian dialects (Van'ko 2007: 79) as well as of the contemporary Ukrainian language. It is not typical of the majority of Galician dialects and Galician variants of the nineteenth-century written language, where the writing of $-(Hb)c\kappa$ - clearly predominated.

В западных частях	В западных частях	В западных частях
подкарпато-руського	подкарпато-руського	подкарпато-руського
языка, а то в жупах –	языка, а то в жупах –	языка, а то в жупах –
земпли ньск о́й (западна часть),	земпли нськ о́й (западна часть),	земпли нськ о́й (западна часть),

шари шск о́й и спи шск о́й	шари шськ о́й и спи шськ о́й	шари шськ о́й и спи шськ о́й
наголос єсть недвижимый (7)	наголос єсть недвижимый (7)	наголос є недвижимый (5)

The *c* > *3* substitution: Orthographic conservatism has been supplanted.

с их частями (8)	з их частями (7)	з их частями (6)
Тота перемѣна ы на и у нас	Тота перемѣна ы на и у нас	Тота перемѣна <i>ы</i> на <i>и</i> у нас
дуже давна и она зачалася	дуже давна и она зачалася	дуже давна и она зачалася
одночасно с перемѣною и	одночасно з перемѣною	одночасно з перемѣною и
(давне і) на нынѣшне и (13)	<i>и</i> (давне <i>i</i>) на нынѣшнє	(давне <i>i</i>) на нынѣшнє тверде
	тверде и (13)	u (22–23)

Morphological changes:

Endings in the gen. sing. of masc. nouns: Hesitation about using -y/-a occurs in all Slavic languages in which both endings are used. In this case, the later editions opted for the form that did not enter the Ukrainian literary language, but in both the second and the third editions the form *conocy* predominates (H3: 6) and appears on the same page as *conoca* (H3: 6). The ending *-y* also predominates in the Subcarpathian dialects.

Голосу (8) голоса (7) голоса (6)

Soft and hard stems of adjectives: see above. In the contemporary Ukrainian literary language, in the next two cases only the soft stem is used: *попередній*, нинішній.

поперед ны м (7)	попередним (6)	попередним (5)
Тота перемѣна <i>ы</i> на <i>и</i> у нас	Тота перемѣна <i>ы</i> на <i>и</i> у нас	Тота перемѣна <i>ы</i> на <i>и</i> у нас
дуже давна и она зачалася	дуже давна и она зачалася	дуже давна и она зачалася
одночасно с перемѣною и	одночасно з перемѣною	одночасно з перемѣною и
(давне <i>i</i>) на нынѣш не <i>u</i> (13)	u (давне i) на нынѣш н ${f e}$	(давне <i>i</i>) на нынѣш нє тверде
	тверде и (13).	u (22–23).

Endings of adjectival and pronominal forms in nom. pl.: see above.

наш и писателѣ первоѣ	нашѣ писателѣ першоѣ	наш ъ писателъ першоъ
половины XIX в. (6)	половины XIX в. (6)	половины XIX вѣка (4)

Substitution of morphological forms of words: In all the following cases, approximation to all existing standards of the contemporary Ukrainian literary language takes place. SUM does not list the form *HazoAouuamu*, only *HazoAouuyaamu*. Csopey 1883 has an entry for *HazoAouuoaamu*, Želexivs'kyj 1886 also lists only *HazoAouuyaamu*. Csopey 1883 has an entry for *nepsbiü* along with *nepuusü*, Želexivs'kyj 1886 also lists *nepsuü* along with *nepuuü*. Želexivs'kyj 1886 notes *ecmb* (ϵ) under the entry for *ecmb*; Csopey 1883 lists an entry for ϵ and adds (*ecmb*) only in parentheses. Csopey 1883 lists cece without any marks; Želexivs'kyj 1886 does not have this dialectal form, which is also common in areas north of the Carpathians. Finally, forms of the indefinite pronoun without the particle *-cb* are quite prevalent in the Ukrainian-speaking area: they also occur, e.g., in the language of Taras Ševčenko (Moser 2008a: 226), but forms with the added *-cb* are neutral.

наголош $\mathbf{a} \mathbf{\varepsilon}$ мо (7)	наголошуємо (6)	наголошуємо (4)
наши писателѣ первоѣ	нашѣ писателѣ пер ш оѣ	нашѣ писателѣ пер ш оѣ
половины XIX в. (6)	половины XIX в. (6)	половины XIX вѣка (4)
[] наголос єсть	[] наголос єсть	[] наголос є
недвижимый,	недвижимый,	недвижимый,
т. зн. стоить все на	т. є. стоить все на	то є стоить все на

одно̂м и то̂м само̂м складѣ []. Ø (7)	одноти и тот самот складѣ []. Есть то вплыв сусѣднього польського языка (7)	одно̂м и то̂м само̂м складѣ, […]. Є то вплыв сусѣднього польського языка (5)	
Но суть у нас околицѣ у Марамороши, де сесе ы зовсѣм однаково звучить як и. (13)	Но суть у нас околицѣ, на прим.: Гуцульщина и коло Ужгорода, де сесе ы зовсѣм однаково звучить як <i>и</i> (13)	Но суть у нас околицѣ, на прим.: Гуцульщина и коло Ужгорода, де се ы зовсѣм однаково звучить як и (22–23) [see Modern Ukrainian <i>це < оце < om ce</i>]	
якій запор (8)	якийсь запо̂р (7)	якийсь запо̂р (6)	
Lexical changes: Substitution of "dialectal" words:			
Єв хоснують ¹⁹ такожь наши писателѣ первоѣ половины XIX в. (6) из ротовоѣ рурки [] в устно̂й рурцѣ (8) ²⁰	Єѣ уживають такожь нашѣ писателѣ першоѣ половины XIX в. (6) из ротовоѣ ямы []	Єѣ уживають також нашѣ писателѣ першоѣ половины XIX вѣка (4) через ротовую яму []	

Substitution of lexemes from the Slavonic-Ruthenian and Russophile traditions:

На́голос (удареніе) (7)	На́голос Ø (6)	Наголос Ø (4) ²¹
послѣ губных чуємо всегда й (9)	по губных чуємо все й (8)	по губных чуємо все й (7)
При выговорѣ склада чуємо	При выговорѣ слова чуємо	(В кождо̂м словѣ чуємо ще
нисколько [зам. нѣсколько]	бо́льше звуко́въ (5)	Ø окремѣ його части, меншѣ
звуко̂въ (6).		вод складов, якъ не даються
		вже дальше подѣлити. Тѣ
		найпростъйшъ и неподъльнъ
		части слова або складу

называємо звуками (3).)

Other word substitutions: In the first example, the content changes. On the second and third examples, see below.

При выговорѣ склада чуємо	При выговорѣ слова чуємо	(В кождо̂м словѣ чуємо ще
нисколько звуко̂въ (6).	бо̂льше звуко̂въ (5)	окремѣ його части, меншѣ
		во́д складо́в, [] (3).)

¹⁹ This Magyarism is quite widespread in Galicia. See also the entries for *xicнyвати*, *xoceн*, *xoceнний* in Želexivs'kyj 1886.

²⁰ Csopey 1883 and Dzendzelivs'kyj 1958 do not list an entry for *pypκa*, a word that appears, however, in Kuzelja–Rudnyc'kyj 1943/1987. In SUM the words *pypa* and *pypκa* are defined as "colloquial" forms.

²¹ Sic. The stress is indicated in H1 and H2, but not in H3. It is obvious that Pan'kevyč initially thought that the term was not yet known in Subcarpathia.

Syntactic substitutions: Prepositions:

Не всѣ склады выговорюємо	Не всѣ склады выговорює	Не всѣ склады выговорюємо
Ø однаковою силою (7).	мо з однаковою силою (6).	з однаковою <i>силою</i> (4). ²²
из ротовоѣ рурки (8)	из ротовоѣ ямы (7)	через ротовую яму (6)
Для практичных цѣлей	Из практичных цѣлей	Из практичных цѣлей
привертаємо ту букву	привертаємо ту букву	привертаємо ту букву
опять (6)	опять (6).	опять (4).
Послѣ ²³ самозвука (9)	по самозвуцѣ (8)	по самозвуцъ (7)
послѣ губных чуємо всегда й (9)	по губных чуємо все й (8)	по губных чуємо все й (7)

Word order: I list only one example (of several):

Наголос може стояти в	В русько̂м языцѣ наголос	В русько̂м языцѣ наголос
русько̂м языцѣ на першо̂м,	може стояти на першо̂м,	може стояти на першо̂м,
друго̂м, третѣм, або и	друго̂м, третѣм, або и	друго̂м, третѣм, або и
четверто̂м складѣ [] (7)	четверто̂м складѣ [] (6)	четверто̂м складѣ [] (5)

Other syntactic substitutions: I list only one example (of several):

Пересунемо язык	Коли пересунемо язык	Коли пересунемо язык
мало наперед [] (8)	мало наперед [] (7)	мало наперед до середнього
		поо̂днебѣня, а губы мало
		звузяться, одержимо

Corrections and additions: Both the new editions are revised. I list only two examples of corrections and additions:

В западных частях подкарпато-руського языка, а то в жупах – земплиньской (западна часть), шаришской и спишской наголос есть недвижимый, т. зн. стоить все на одном и том самом складѣ, а именно на другом од ко̀нця. На прим.: ко́лач, ви́но, тра́ва и т. д. мѣсто правильного ко́лач [*sic*], вино́, трава́ (7).

Звук ы на области Подкарпатськов Руси по большой части задержав свой давный выговор. В западных частях подкарпато-руського языка, а то в жупах – земплинськой (западна часть), шаришськой и спишськой наголос есть недвижимый, т. є. стоить все на одном и том самом складѣ, а именно на другом од конця. На прим.: ко́лач, ви́но, тра́ва и т. д. мѣсто правильного кола́ч, вино́, трава́. Есть то вплыв сусѣднього польського языка. (7)

Звук ы на области Подкарпатськов Руси по большой части задержав свой давный выговор. В западных частях подкарпато-руського языка, а то в жупах – земплинськой (западна часть), шаришськой и спишськой наголос є недвижимый, то є стоить все на одном и том самом складѣ, а именно на друтом вод конця. На прим.: ко́лач, ви́но, тра́ва и т. д. мѣсто правильного кола́ч, вино́, трава́. Є то вплыв сусѣднього польського языка. (5)

звук ы (7)

Звук ы на области Подкарпатськов Руси по большой части задержав свой давный задній выговор.

22 In the original, the word *силою* was printed in bold.

23 Csopey 1883 has an entry for nòcnt.

Но суть у нас околицъ у Марамороши, де сесе ы зовсѣм однаково звучить як и. Тота перемѣна ы на и у нас дуже давна и она зачалася Тота перемѣна ы на и у нас одночасно с перемѣною и (давне *i*) на нынѣшне *u*. На всѣй прочо̂й малорусько̂й области поза Карпатами звук ы звучить так само як и (13)

Но суть у нас околицъ, на прим.: Гуцульщина и коло Ужгорода, де сесе ы зовсѣм однаково звучить як и. дуже давна и она зачалася одночасно з перемѣною и (давне і) на нынѣшнє тверде и. На всѣй прочо̂й малоруськой (украинськой) области на долах поза Карпатами звук ы звучить так само як и (13)

Но суть у нас околиць, на прим.: Гуцульщина и коло Ужгорода, де се ы зовсѣм однаково звучить як и. Тота перемѣна ы на и у нас дуже давна и она зачалася одночасно з перемѣною и (давне *i*) на нынѣшнє тверде и. На всъй прочой руськой (украинськой) области на долах поза Карпатами звук ы звучить так само як и (22-23)

A comparison of several selected passages reveals a considerable number of changes that were gradually drawing the language in the editions of Pan'kevyč's grammar closer to literary Ukrainian. Yet there were not all that many changes. One of the most interesting (I cite two examples) vividly confirms that, when all is said and done, Pan'kevyč intended gradually to spread Ukrainian linguistic awareness throughout Subcarpathia:

Тото звукове явище дуже давне в нашо́м языцѣ. Порозумѣти его мож добре, коли возьмемо по̂д увагу цѣлый малоруській язык за Карпатами поза По̂дкарпатскою Русею (11).	Тото звукове явище дуже давне в нашо́м языцѣ. Порозумѣти ето мож добре, коли возьмемо по̂д увагу цѣлый малоруській (украинський) язык за Карпатами поза По̂дкарпатскою Русею (11).	Тото звукове явище дуже давне в нашом языцъ. Порозумъти його мож добре, коли возьмемо под увагу цълый руський (украинський) язык за Карпатами поза Подкарпатскою Русею (19).
Тота перемѣна ы на и у нас дуже давна и она зачалася одночасно с перемѣною и (давне i) на нынѣшне и. На всѣй прочо̂й малорусько̂й области поза Карпатами звук ы звучить так само як и (13)	Тота перемѣна ы на и у нас дуже давна и она зачалася одночасно з перемѣною и (давне i) на нынѣшнє тверде и. На всѣй прочо̂й малорусько̂й (украинсько̂й) области на долах поза Карпатами звук ы звучить так само як и (13)	Тота перемѣна ы на и у нас дуже давна и она зачалася одночасно з перемѣною и (давне i) на нынѣшнє тверде и. На всѣй прочо̂й русько̂й (украинсько̂й) области на долах поза Карпатами звук ы звучить так само як и (22–23)

Thus, step by step, the term "Ukrainian" is identified with the concept of "Ruthenianness," in which there is no longer any place for the Russian language. Thus, the final chapter of the third edition of Pan'kevyč's grammar discusses the unity of the Carpathian dialects of the Ukrainian language, which "together with it belong to the East Slavic group of the great Slavic family" ("з нею разом належать до сходнославянськоъ групы великоъ славя нськоъ [sic] съмъ"). Elsewhere, the author writes of the "entire Ruthenian (Ukrainian) language" to which "our Subcarpathian common language also belongs." The Russian language is no longer even mentioned separately:

З огляду на стариннѣ звуки и формы наших говоров называємо их говорами старинными або з грецька архаичными. Они творять з карпатськими говорами по повночной сторонѣ Карпат одну цѣло̂сть старинных карпатських говоров украинськоѣ мовы а з нею разом належать до схо̂днославянськоѣ групы великоѣ славя нськоѣ [sic] сѣмѣ (197).

Наш письменный язык опертый з одноѣ стороны на письменных традиціях, а з другоѣ стороны на тых особливостях, якѣ лучать цѣлый руський (украиньский) язык в одну цѣло̂сть. А наш по̂дкарпаторуський народній язык єсть частею малоруського языка, його найдальшим полуднево-западным ко̂нцем (176).

In view of the ancient sounds and forms of our dialects, we call them *ancient* dialects, or *archaic*, from the Greek. Together with the Carpathian dialects of the northern side of the Carpathians, they form a single whole of ancient Carpathian dialects of the Ukrainian language, and together with it they belong to the East Slavic group of the great Slavic family.

Our written language is based, on the one hand, on literary traditions and, on the other, on those features that bind the entire Ruthenian (Ukrainian) language into a single whole. And our Subcarpathian common language is a part of the Little Russian language, its southwesternmost end.

3. The language of Pan'kevyč's grammar

3.1. Slavonic-Ruthenian and Russophile traditions

Although a considerable number of elements from the Slavonic-Ruthenian and Russophile traditions were replaced between the first and third editions, a few nonetheless remain. These vestiges occur in the grammatical terminology where, however, traditional Church Slavonic and Russian expressions are most frequently listed next to Ukrainian expressions only within parentheses: see дѣсслово (глагол) (97), недоконаным (несовершеным) [sic, one н] (98), придатки (опредѣленя) (143, cf. the contemporary Ukr. означення), злучники (союзы) (128, cf. the contemporary Ukr. сполучники),²⁴ etc. Other terms simply remain as traditional or are made only partially similar: see падеж (24), несклоняємѣ [части] (91–92, along with неодмѣннѣ, 123), pôд мужеський and женській (61), частицю (асс. case, 92), etc.

Church Slavonic and Russian lexemes, or those that could be considered as such and were thus replaced by other words in the Ukrainian context, also occur outside the purely terminological sphere. See, e.g., в зависимости (35), зависима (50), перед слъдуючими словами (127), чувства (55, 146, etc.), прочъ (части мовы) (3), (в декотрых) случаях (23), наоборот (23), много (18; however, there are also occasional occurrences of богато, which is written exclusively with o: 35, 165), но (33, 22, etc., along with але: 110, 187). The form запад is used almost consistently, but occasionally one encounters the form (посередництвом) заходу (Европы) (184), (посередництвом) заходноъ Европы (184). The term славянський appears only with

²⁴ In fact, all Ukrainian terms that are no longer used in the contemporary Ukrainian literary language occurred in nineteenth- and twentieth-century Galician grammars. Cf. злучка (Bieder 2008: 128), придаток (130), and злучник (137).

a in the root (4, …).²⁵ Alongside these forms, occasionally there are alternative ones that approximate contemporary Ukrainian literary forms, e.g., жѣночѣ (43), [означеня …] жѣночоѣ [истоты] (40) versus женськѣ, залежно (181) versus зависимôсть, зависимо, навпаки (23) versus наоборот, etc.

Pan'kevyč often uses the construction по with the dative case, which is rightly considered a syntactic Russianism. See *no npaвuлy* (132), *имена особ no занятю* (44). The Russianisms *ошибки* (149) and *ошибочно* (85, 140) оссиг several times. The form *довжен* is listed among modal predicatives, such as *я довжен заплатити* (141), while the verb *являтися* functions several times as a copula.²⁶ See Поясняючѣ реченя ... являються супроти речень головных подрядными, зависимыми або побо̂чными (152).

3.2. Errors and inconsistent forms

The grammar contains dozens of typographical errors, for which Pan'kevyč was probably not responsible. See, e.g., дванядцать (11, instead of дванадцять), прикметноков (24, instead of прикметноиков), гогаритм (183, instead of логаритм), при писаня слов (182, instead of писаню), etc. Besides these mistakes, there are errors or inconsistencies that, perhaps, cannot be explained simply as printing errors, e.g.: ктось (163) along with xmo (163), групах along with many forms with *t*, such as *tpynax* (27), етимологіѣ (dat. case, 181) along with етимологіѣ (176), сложене (186) instead of зложене (cf. зложенѣ, 186), шарыськѣ (196) along with шаришськой (5), списькѣ (196) along with спишськой (5), etc.

Not only is *наоборот* (23) written inconsistently alongside *на оборот* (199), but also квѣты (135) together with цвѣты (143), змякчуючи (45) along with мягченя (15),²⁷ в народних говорах (65) along with в народных говорах (87).²⁸ The pronouns даско̂лько (29) and декотрѣ (43) are both listed.²⁹

²⁵ Želexivs'kyj 1886 lists only the forms славянин, славяньский, славянщик ('Slavist'); there is no form with the root слов(')ян-. Csopey 1883 also lists only forms with the root слав-. Meanwhile, Kuzelja–Rudnyc'kyj 1943/1987 note "слав'ян → слов'ян," but SUM does not provide forms with слав'ян-. The form is not derived from the Russian language; it already appears in the Kyivan Synopsys of 1672 (Moser 2007c: 174).

²⁶ Under the entry for *явити ся* and *являти ся*, Želexivs'kyj 1886 and Kuzelja–Rudnyc'kyj 1943/1987 list only the meaning "sich zeigen, erscheinen, aufkommen"; Csopey 1883 does the same, listing the meaning "jelenni, jelentkezni" under the entry for *явити ся*.

²⁷ Entries for both мягкий and мякий appear in Želexivs'kyj 1886. There is an entry for мягчати, under which are listed the synonyms мякнути and мягшати; there is also an entry for мягчити. Listed under the entry for мякнути is the synonym мякшати. Under the entry for м'ягкий, Kuzelja–Rudnyc'kyj 1943/1987 indicate: "= м'який." Only forms such as м'якчити ("= м'якшити"), м'якшити, and м'якшати occur. Csopey 1883 includes only such forms as мягше, мягшити.

²⁸ Želexivs'kyj 1886 and Csopey 1883 list only the hard stem in the forms народний and народный. Kuzelja–Rudnyc'kyj 1943/1987 cite народний ("= народній)" and народній. SUM also lists only the hard stem: народний.

²⁹ Under the entries for дакий, даколи, and дакто, Želexivs'kyj 1886 singles out деякий; деколи, деськолись; декто, дехто, but he lists the word дакус "ein Bischen" (sic, "a little") without any notations. Csopey 1883 cites the forms дагде, даедный, дакотрый, датко, дашто (sic; possibly instead of дахто), дащо, даякый, etc., alongside деколи, декотрый, and дескдлько, etc. (forms with да- predominate). Kuzelja–Rudnyc'kyj 1943/1987 and SUM do not list forms with да-. In the chapter on "Indefinite Pronouns," forms with де- and да- are cited as equal (91).

Occasionally, Pan'kevyč advises his readers to avoid constructions that occur quite frequently in his own text. This pertains above all to present participles, which "should not be used" (see 175), even though Pan'kevyč himself uses them frequently. See для выходячого голоса (6), залежне слово годиться з словом керуючим (137), etc.

3.3. Ivan Pan'kevyč's western Ukrainian language

3.3.1. Vocabulary

Quite a few forms indicate that the grammar is based on the Galician and, to a certain extent, Subcarpathian background. See, e.g., най (129),³⁰ ци (128, 181),³¹ гейбы (128), нич (6, 195),³² доста (165),³³ докля (54),³⁴ прото (10, 55)³⁵ (both conjunctions are cited in a list of conjunctions on p. 55), кобы (129),³⁶ [намѣровѣ] обы (129),³⁷

- 33 Želexivs'kyj 1886 and Kuzelja–Rudnyc'kyj 1943/1987 have an entry for ∂ócma, beneath which they indicate "s. ∂ocumb" or "→ ∂ocumb." In SUM, the form ∂ocma is called a "dial."
- 34 Under the entry for *δοκλ*, Želexivs'kyj 1886 indicates *δοκ*. Csopey 1883 lists an entry for *δοκλ* with the meanings of "meddig?, mig" without notations. The form *δοκλ* is not listed either in Kuzelja–Rudnyc'kyj 1943/1987 or in SUM.
- 35 Želexivs'kyj 1886 records only *npome*, not *npomo*. Kuzelja–Rudnyc'kyj 1943/1987, under their entry for *npome* (neither do they list *npomo*) note that in the causal meaning this is a western Ukrainian ("westukr.") form. The form *∂Aamozo* is mentioned in Pan'kevyč's grammar in the chapter on conjunctions (55). Csopey 1883 lists the forms *npome* and *npomo* in the causal sense. SUM lists only the adversative conjunction *npome*.
- 36 Under the entry for κοδυ, Želexivs'kyj 1886 indicates μιοδυ. Csopey 1883 cites the form κοδω without notations. Kuzelja–Rudnyc'kyj 1943/1987 list an entry for κοδύ without notations. Under the entry for κοδύ SUM indicates κοδ, which it terms a "dial."
- 37 Under the entry for оби, Želexivs'kyj 1886 indicates щоби, коби, би, and аби. Csopey 1883 cites the form обы without notations. There is no entry for оби either in Kuzelja–Rudnyc'kyj 1943/1987 or Želexivs'kyj 1886.

³⁰ Želexivs'kyj 1886 records най without notations. Under the entry for най Kuzelja–Rudnyc'kyj 1943/1987 clarify "= нехай." Csopey 1883 also has an entry for най. On the prevalence of the particle най/няй, see AUM 1988: map no. 254.

³¹ Under the entry for ци, Želexivs'kyj 1886 lists "= чи." Csopey 1883 lists the forms ци and чи, but he offers examples only under the entry for ци. Under the entry for ци, Kuzelja–Rudnyc'kyj 1943/1987 point to "→чи." In SUM, both the particle and the conjunction ци are called "dial. comparative" ("дiaa. поровнальнь") [conjunctions]: чи, ци (128). Under the entry for ци, Želexivs'kyj 1886 indicates "= чи." Csopey 1883 lists the forms ци and чи but provides examples only under the entry for ци. Under the entry for ци, Kuzelja–Rudnyc'kyj 1943/1987 indicate "→ чи." SUM calls both the particle and the conjunction ци a "dial[ceticism]."

³² See the entry for *μu*⁴ with a notation about *μ*^{iu}*u* in Želexivs'kyj 1886, and *μu*⁴ → *μiμ*₀" in Kuzelja– Rudnyc'kyj 1943/1987. SUM cites the form *μu*⁴ as a "dial.," but Csopey 1883 cites an entry for *μu*⁴*b* without notations.

"причиновѣ злучники" айбо (128)³⁸ and ачей (153),³⁹ доло̂в (142),⁴⁰ домо̂в (162),⁴¹ днесь (22),⁴² девятьдесять (94), двѣста alongside двѣстѣ (94), дотыкає (8, 10),⁴³ глядати (131),⁴⁴ замчиско (178),⁴⁵ and the Hungarian borrowing *хосенне* (165),⁴⁶ which is widespread not only in Subcarpathia but also in Galicia, etc.

3.3.2. Orthography and phonology

Although Ivan Pan'kevych's orthography is etymological, it unquestionably reflects specifically Galician traditions; cf., e.g., the forms *спеціялизують* (48), кляса (111), мотоцикль (56),⁴⁷ діяграма (183), and біологія (185).

- 44 Želexivs'kyj 1886 does not include the form глядати, while Csopey 1883 only lists the verbal form глядати. Under the entry for глядати, Kuzelja–Rudnyc'kyj 1943/1987 comment that this is a "western Ukrainian" form. In SUM, however, there is no entry at all for глядати.
- 45 Both Želexivs'kyj 1886 and Kuzelja–Rudnyc'kyj 1943/1987 have an entry for *замчи́ско* (Kuzelja– Rudnyc'kyj 1943/1987: *зάмчи́сько* [!]) with the parallel form *замчище*, without notations. SUM includes an entry for *замчи́сько* [!] with the notation "coll." and the comment: "the same as *замчище*"; it lists the form *за́мчи́ще* without notations.
- 46 Želexivs'kyj 1886 offers the form *хосен* ("gen. *хісн*й, и. *хісн*у́") as well as the adjective *хосе́нний* without notations. Under the entry for *хосе́н (хісн*у́), *хосе́нний*, Kuzelja–Rudnyc'kyj 1943/1987 indicate the forms "→ користы" та "→ корисний." In SUM, the form *хосенний* is called a "dial." It is interesting to note that Csopey 1883 does not list any similar noun or adjectival forms.
- 47 This word is not listed in Želexivs'kyj 1886 and Csopey 1883. Kuzelja–Rudnyc'kyj 1943/1987 cite only the form *ποποιμικλь*. In SUM, of course, only the spelling *ποποιμικλ* is given.

³⁸ Želexivs'kyj 1886 lists an entry for aŭ60, beneath which he indicates a60; the causal meaning is not given. Kuzelja–Rudnyc'kyj 1943/1987 do not cite such a conjunction; only the exclamation aŭ! is listed. Csopey 1883 includes an entry for aŭ60 in the sense of contradiction ("de, igen, hanem; bizony, ám"). SUM does not contain an entry for aŭ60, and the conjunction aŭ with the meaning "contradiction" is called a "dial."

³⁹ Želexivs'kyj 1886 does not list this word. Kuzelja–Rudnyc'kyj 1943/1987 only have an entry for *aчей* in the sense of "vielleicht" ("possibly"). The same pertains to Csopey 1883, who offers the meaning "talán, tán." SUM contains an entry for *aчей* with the notations "coll." and "rarely" in the meanings "може, можливо, а що як" (maybe, possibly, and what if).

⁴⁰ Želexivs'kyj 1886 lists an entry for *δολ*ⁱ and also cites the form *δολίδ*. Csopey 1883 cites the forms *δολόδ* [!], *δολ*[±], *δολ*[±]δδ[±], and *δολ*^y as identical to one another. Under the entry for *δολίδ*, Kuzelja– Rudnyc'kyj 1943/1987 note that this is a "western Ukrainian" form. SUM does not list the form *δολίδ*.

⁴¹ Želexivs'kyj 1886 lists entries for до́ма, до́маки, and домів (with the collateral form домій) without notations. Csopey 1883 records the forms дома, домо̀й, and домо̀в. Under the entry for дома, Kuzelja–Rudnyc'kyj 1943/1987 indicate "→ вдома," and under the entry for домів—"→ додому." In SUM the form дома is cited without notations, but with the comment "те саме, що вдома" ("the same as 'at home"). The form домів is called a "dial."

⁴² Želexivs'kyj 1886 and Csopey 1883 list $\partial \mu ecb$ without notations; Kuzelja–Rudnyc'kyj 1943/1987 have an entry for $\partial \mu ecb$ with the notation "veralt" ["obsolete"] and with a notation stating " $\rightarrow cborod\mu i$." This word is not listed in SUM.

⁴³ Želexivs'kyj 1886 only cites *дотикати* without notations; Kuzelja–Rudnyc'kyj 1943/1987 list both forms as *дотикати*[ся]. SUM lists the form *дотикати* with the notation "dial." and the comment that this is a transitive verb. By contrast, Csopey 1883 does not list this word.

It is worth indicating the forms that feature the preserved *o* or *e*, e.g., конець (9),⁴⁸ возьмемо (137), and корень (24).⁴⁹ Several forms remain without a prothesis: without *z*-: *ocmpый* (59), without *j*-: *Eвропа* (168). The grammar also lists forms with the original *e* after sibilants, such as *wecmый* (93), *wecme* (33),⁵⁰ *sevep* (170), *sвеvepa* (124),⁵¹ *вчера* (55, 144), *вчерашній* (75), and *позавчера* (49).⁵² In the word *menepь* (23) and in the suffix *-apb* – *see дзвонарь* (38)—there is no hardening.⁵³

3.3.3. Morphology

Forms of the genitive case singular of masculine nouns do not always coincide with what is codified in the contemporary Ukrainian literary language: cf. the contemporary literary form *npedmena* (78, cf. the Pol. *przedmiót*, *przedmiotu*)⁵⁴ versus today's non-literary form *cĸлada* (186, cf. the Pol. *skład*, *składu*).⁵⁵ The grammar cites forms of the instrumental singular of nouns with *i*-stems with *-eю*, e.g., *неважливостею* (43), *за выго̀дностею* (186),⁵⁶ and here and there one encounters forms such as *nôdpядностю* (137), with the o > i shift in the suffix. The prepositional case of soft-stem neuter nouns ends in -[u], e.g.: *в кождо̂м реченю* (3).

The form $\epsilon \pm (132)$ occurs in the genitive case of the personal pronoun (ϵ)o μ *a*; in the genitive and dative cases of the pronoun $\epsilon \delta \mu$, the forms ϵzo and ϵMy appear in parentheses, alongside $\check{u}ozo$, $\check{u}oMy$; in the genitive and dative cases of the pronoun $ce\check{u}$, the forms *cezo* and *cboMy* appear.⁵⁷ All the enclitic forms of the pronouns Mu, $M\pi$,

⁴⁸ Kuzelja–Rudnyc'kyj 1943/1987 include an entry for "конець = кінець," while Želexivs'kyj 1886 and Csopey 1883 cite only the form конець.

⁴⁹ Under the entry for корень, Želexivs'kyj 1886 indicates корінь. Сѕореу 1883 lists entries for корень and корѣнь, as well as various derivative words from both forms as being equal. SUM and Kuzelja– Rudnyc'kyj 1943/1987 note only корінь.

⁵⁰ Kuzelja–Rudnyc'kyj 1943/1987 note "шестий → шостий"; SUM does not cite this form. Želexivs'kyj 1886 lists шестий, but under the entry for шостий it indicates шестий [!]. Csopey 1883 cites the form шестый, but not шостий.

⁵¹ Želexivs'kyj 1886 lists the form *seuep*, indicating beneath it the seemingly identical forms *seuip*, *-op* [*sic*]; Želexivs'kyj 1886 does not list the forms *seuopa* or *seuepa*. Similarly, Csopey 1883 lists entries for *seuepb* and *seuòpb* [!], but no forms such as [*u*]*seuepa*, [*u*]*seuopa*, or *cseuepa*, *cseuopa*. Under the entry for *seuep*, Kuzelja–Rudnyc'kyj 1943/1987 indicate "→ *seuip*" and cite only the form *seéuópa*. SUM, naturally, cites only the forms *seuip*, *saeuopa* (more rarely *isseuopa*).

⁵² Neither Kuzelja–Rudnyc'kyj 1943/1987 nor SUM lists entries for *suepa*, but Želexivs'kyj 1886 cites the form *suepa* without notations; there is no entry for *suopa*. Csopey 1883 cites the forms *suepa* and *suopa*.

⁵³ See: "Б як знак мягкости пишемо в серединѣ або на ко̂нци слова, де спо̂взвук дѣйсно мягкий: ... косарь" (180) ("We write *b* as a soft sign in the middle or at the end of a word where the consonant is truly soft: *косарь*") (180).

⁵⁴ Neither Želexivs'kyj 1886 nor Csopey 1883 lists forms of the genitive case; Kuzelja–Rudnyc'kyj 1943/1987 and SUM list only the genitive case with -*a*.

⁵⁵ Neither Želexivs'kyj 1886 nor Csopey 1883 lists genitive case endings, while Kuzelja–Rudnyc'kyj 1943/1987 and SUM cite only the genitive case ending in -y.

⁵⁶ On the endings *-eu*, *-ew*, see AUM 1988: map no. 171.

⁵⁷ Here are some interesting differences among the various editions. In the first edition, e.g., paradigms include only the forms *cero, ceмy*, followed by the comment: "Folk dialects use the form *сього, сьому* in the masculine singular" ("В народных говорах уживаеся форма в родъ мужеско̂м однины *сього, сьому*"; H1: 40). Meanwhile, in the third edition, after *cero, cemy*, the forms *сього*,

mu, mя, му, го; ю are cited within the paradigms (87). Moreover, these forms occur not only in proverbs but also in other examples: see *очи му почервонѣли* (166). The pronoun (*в)весь* in the instrumental case has the ending *-iми*, not *-iмa*; cf. *всѣми* in the paradigm and [*neped*] *всѣми* [*око̂нченями*] (110)⁵⁸ in the text of the grammar.

Forms of the comparative degree of adjectives, such as *високий* and *низький*, occur as a rule only in a non-dissimilated form, e.g., *низше* (5) and *высший* (45).⁵⁹ Other forms of the comparative degree are formed on the basis of the suffix *-iйший* (*-ѣйший*), not *-iший*; see *найчастѣйше* (34).⁶⁰

Reflexive verbal forms in the third person sing. of the present tense occur consistently with *-ecs* (instead of *-embcs* in the Ukrainian literary language),⁶¹ as in *npuближаеся* (7), *omsupaecs* (10),⁶² *nosmapяecs* (169),⁶³ and forms of the infinitive such as *neuu*, *Haneuu* (98), *c*±*uu* (102) (instead of (*Ha*)*nekmu*, etc., in the Ukrainian literary language). The second person sing. of the verb *damu* is listed in the form *dauu* (105), not *dacu* (cf. SG: 376).

The pronoun жаден/жадний appears only in this form with the root a; see (3) жадным (падежем) (126).⁶⁴ The pronoun кождий is explicitly recommended instead of the form каждий; cf. кождого дня (165).⁶⁵ Reduplicated forms of pronouns, such as mom \mathfrak{F} (3) and moma (157), often occur.

Quite a few adjectives have hard stems, whereas in the contemporary Ukrainian language they have only soft stems. See зворотного (166), давне (19), безпосередно (137), etc. The grammar frequently lists adjectives formed on the basis of the suffix -ов-: see [деякѣ] двоскладовѣ [слова] (70), [именники] бо̂льшескладовѣ (75), причиновѣ [злучники] (128), etc.⁶⁶

сьому are added in parentheses, followed by the comment: "In literature, the masculine singular form *сього, сьому* is also used" ("В литературъ [!] уживаеся також форма в родъ мужеськом однины *сього, сьому*"; H3: 89).

⁵⁸ Smal'-Stoc'kyj – Gartner (1913: 302) list всїма and всїми as forms of equal status.

⁵⁹ Želexivs'kyj 1886 includes an entry for вишиий, вищий (as well as висшість!); Kuzelja–Rudnyc'kyj 1943/1987 and SUM cite only the dissimilated form вищий. Csopey 1883 writes высший in keeping with the etymology. Smal'-Stoc'kyj – Gartner (1913: 142) cite the form висший.

⁶⁰ Smal'-Stoc'kyj – Gartner (1913: 142, 290) list forms ending in -*ïŭuuŭ* or -*ïuțuŭ*.

⁶¹ The first edition features individual examples of the use of *-еться*. See Край за Тисою зветься Затисянщина. Край при Днѣпрѣ звеся Приднѣпрянщина (H1: 83).

⁶² The word *omsupamucs* does not exist in current dictionaries. However, it is codified in Želexivs'kyj 1886 and Kuzelja–Rudnyc'kyj 1943/1987 (cf. Pol. *otwierać*), as well as in Csopey 1883.

⁶³ Under the entry for nonsopnosamu, SUM provides the alternative form nosmopsmu, but not nosmapsmu (cf. Pol. powtarzać). Kuzelja–Rudnyc'kyj 1943/1987 also do not have an entry for nosmapsmu, while Želexivs'kyj 1886 lists only nosmopumu, nosmapsmu. Csopey 1883 cites only the perfective aspect of nosmopumu.

⁶⁴ The form жаден usually appears in nineteenth-century Galician texts. Csopey 1883 lists only the form жаден, not жоден. Želexivs'kyj 1886 cites the forms жаден (жадний) and жоден.

⁶⁵ SUM calls the form кождий a "dial."; Kuzelja–Rudnyc'kyj 1943/1987 do not cite it. The form каждий does not occur in any of these dictionaries, while Želexivs'kyj 1886, under the entry for кажний, каждий, indicates кожний, кождий. Csopey 1883 only has an entry for каждый.

⁶⁶ Želexivs'kyj 1886 and Kuzelja-Rudnyc'kyj 1943/1987 list an entry for причиновий (Kuzelja-Rudnyc'kyj 1943/1987: причиновий; Želexivs'kyj 1886 without the stress mark). Csopey 1883 has an entry for причинний, while the word form причиновий does not appear in SUM, only причинний.

The typically western Ukrainian movable particle *cs* occurs in a few examples; see *Потапаючий и бритвы ся имає* (174) and *Жило бы ся добре!* (134). Here and there it also occurs in the main text of the grammar. Pan'kevyč writes: "The word *каждый* should be written as *кождый* because the word *каждый* is a foreign, not Ruthenian, form" (*Слово "каждый" повинно ся писати "кождый", бо слово "каждый" есть чужою не руською формою*; 179). Personal forms of the past tense, above all in the conditional mood, occur rarely. Pan'kevyč writes: "But in the middle we are not accustomed to writing a soft sign after *p*" ("Но в серединѣ не звыклисьмо писати по *р* мягкого знака" (181), "*Хочу, щобысь встав! Став бысь"*; 172). Personal forms of the conditional mood are even codified in the grammar. See *я бым, ты бысь* [...] *мы бысьмо, вы бысьте* (117), and the comment: "The forms *бых, бым,* used in folk dialects, are forms of the past tense, called the aorist" (*"Уживанѣ в народных говорах формы бых, бым то формы минулого часу, званого* аорист"; 117). However, Pan'kevyč advises that personal forms of the past tense not be used (118).

Preference is given to the western paradigm of the verb *жити*, but the standard Ukrainian paradigm is also indicated: *жити*, *жию*, and *жиеш*, but also *живу*, *живеш* (113).⁶⁷ Parallel forms of the third person pl. of the present tense *могуть* (91) and *можуть* (104) occur, but the paradigm features only the first person sing. of the present tense *можу*, and forms such as *neuymb* (108) are indicated. However, in the paradigms themselves the parallelism of the forms *xouymb* (and *xomsmb*) (110) is indicated. In fact, the sole particle for forming the imperative mood is the western Ukrainian form *най*: see *най читає*, *най читають* (103), etc.

3.3.4. Syntax

From the standpoint of syntax, it is worth pointing out the Galician prepositional construction with o governing the accusative case, as in *Poduu& cmapaюmьcя o cboux dьmeü* (141). Women's names appear in the form of the original accusative case plural. Pan'kevyč writes: "With the suffix *-uxa* we denote **women** by their husband's occupation or by their own names" (*"Hapocmком -uxa oзначаемо жѣнки по занятю чоловѣкôв aбo no ux именах власных"*; 40). The same applies to the nouns *ocoбa* and *ucmoma* as well as to names of animals: "With the suffixes *-yк, -юк, -чyk* we denote **young males**, with the suffix *-yля* we denote **female persons** for expressing coarseness or endearment" (*"Hapocmком -y*, *-юк, -чyk oзначаемо малѣ мужеськѣ ucmomы*"; 43; *"наростком -у*ля *означаемо особы жѣночѣ для выраженя згрубѣлости aбo necmливости"*; 43; *"жену волы*"; 66; *"заведи конѣ до cmaйнѣ*"; 153).

Рап'kevyč writes: "If the copula is in the present tense, then it can often be omitted. Е.g.: *Сестра пильна* instead of *Сестра є пильна*" (*"Як злучка стоить в часѣ теперѣшнѣм, то єѣ мож часто опустити. На прим.*: Сестра пильна мѣсто Сестра є пильна"; 132).

⁶⁷ Želexivs'kyj 1886 lists an entry for жити [жию (житу [sic]), жиєш (живеш)], and under their entry for жити Kuzelja–Rudnyc'kyj 1943/1987 note: жити "живу, живеш od. жию, жиєш." Csopey 1883 does not indicate forms, and SUM only cites the paradigm жити, живу, живеш [...].

However, a linking verb in the present tense (ϵ , ϵcmb , cymb) is nearly always expressed, as here: $Cn\delta essyku cymb m epdb$, $\kappa onu cmosmb neped m epdbmu camoseykamu$ ("Consonants are hard when they stand in front of hard vowels"; 11); $\Delta t \epsilon umenhuku$ cymb my mak mtcho звязанt ocofoeoo $\phi opmow d t \epsilon cnoba, щo mbi ux ybata acmo sk odhy$ utnocmb, sk oduh npucydok ("Verbal nouns here are so closely connected by thepersonal form of the verb that we use them as a single whole, as one predicate"; $133). The negation <math>he \epsilon$ (with the form hema only in parentheses) may be considered a syntactical Ukrainian Carpathianism; see Mamepu $he \epsilon$ (hema) B sacopodt (147).

3.4. Ivan Pan'kevyč's grammar on the dialects of Subcarpathia

The most important sections of the grammar are those in which Pan'kevyč writes about "dialectal" ("діалектні" or "говіркові") features in Subcarpathia. He frequently indicates that these are "incorrect forms" that must be avoided in the "written language." A brief selection of these sections follows:

В западных частях подкарпато-руського языка, а то в жупах – земплинськой (западна часть), шаришськой и спишськой наголос є недвижимый, то є стоить все на одном и том самом складѣ, а именно на другом вод конця. На прим.: ко́лач, ви́но, тра́ва и т. д. мѣсто правильного кола́ч, вино́, трава́. Є то вплыв сусѣднього польського (5).

Примътка: Слова "май" из степенем першим: *май добрый* не треба уживати, бо то єсть волоський (румунський) вплыв (80).

В 6. падежи в народних говорах у именников, оконченых на мягкий сповзвук и на й, а також у именников, оконченых на шопячъ, чуємо окончене -ом; корольом, коньом, крайом, ножом, товаришом. В письменном языцъ тых форм не треба уживати, а писати всегда: королем, конем, ножем, и т. д. (65; пор. також 72).

В 7. падежи в подкарпатсько-руських говорах чуємо старе оконченє -ох, *ѣх: в лѣсох, крайох, в сусѣдѣх, в постолѣх.* Их в литературном языцѣ не уживаєся (66, пор. також 73).

В подкарпатсько-руських говорах маємо також мѣсто -ею око́нченя -ьов: ко́стьов, со́льов, но в письменно̂м языцѣ их не уживаєся (70).

В 6. падежи уживаються в народных говорах формы: 6. пад. роду жен. одн.: *мнов, тобов, нев, собов,* но в письменном языцѣ их не треба уживати (88).

Примѣтка: В говорах прикарпатських, особливо в западных, в способѣ приказовôм окôнченя -и з причины пересуненя наголосу в один склад в зад ослабляєся до -ь. Мѣсто ходú, ходѣм, ходѣмь, говориться: хóдь, хóдьме, хóдьте; мѣсто купú, купѣм, купѣть, чуємо: кýп, кýпме, кýпте; мѣсто лишú, лишѣм, лишѣть, чуємо: лúш, лúшме, лúште. Є то вплыв языка словацького (119).

Не можна писати: кунь, пуп, вул, але ко̂нь, во̂л, во̂н [sic, the words do not correspond] и т. д. Також не можно його писати мѣсто приименника вы, як то у наших говорах часто чути, на пр.: уйти, уйняти, убрати мѣсто правильного: выйти, выняти, выбрати (179).

Ошибкою єсть писати у або ву мѣсто ю в око̂нченях дѣєсло̂в, як то часто у наших говорах чути: маву, мау, мавуть, мауть (179). In the western parts of the Subcarpathian-Rusyn language, as well as in Zemplín (the western part), the Šariš and Spiš stress is immobile, i.e., it always falls on one and the same syllable, namely, on the penultimate one; e.g.: κόλαч, εύμο, *mpá*sa, etc., instead of the correct κολάч, ευμό, *mpa*sá. This is the influence of the neighboring Polish language (5).

Note: The word "май" with the first degree *май добрый* should not be used because this is Wallachian (Romanian) influence (80).

In the 6th case in folk dialects, in nouns ending in a soft vowel and \tilde{u} , as well as in nouns ending in sibilants, we hear the ending *-ом; корольом, коньом, крайом, ножом, товаришом*. In the written language those forms should not be used; one must always write *королем, конем, ножем,* etc. (65; see also 72).

In the 7th case in the Subcarpathian-Rusyn dialects we hear the old ending -*ox*, *ξx*: *6 λξcox*, *κpaŭox*, *6 cycβ∂ξx*, *6 nocmoλξx*. They are not used in the literary language (66; see also 73).

In the Subcarpathian-Rusyn dialects we also have, instead of *-ew*, the ending *-bo8*: κô*cmbo8*, cô*λbo8*, but they are not used in the written language (70).

In the 6th case these forms are used in folk dialects: the 6th case fem. sing.: *мнов, тобов, нев, собов,* but they should not be used in the written language (88).

Note: In the Subcarpathian dialects, particularly in the western ones, in the imperative mood the ending *-u* is weakened to *-b* owing to the backward shift of the stress by one syllable. Instead of *xodú*, *xod*±*m*, *xod*±*m*, *noe* says: *xódb*, *xódbme*, *xódbme*; instead of *kynú*, *kyn*±*m*, *kyn*±*m*, we hear: *kýn*, *kýnme*, *kýnme*; instead of *Auuu*, *Auuu*±*m*, *Auuu*±*m*, *we* hear: *xúu*, *Auuu*±*m*. This is the influence of the Slovak language (119).

One must not write *кунь*, *пуп*, *вул*, *but кôнь*, *вôл*, *вôн*, etc. As well, one must not write, instead of the preposition *вы*, as may be heard frequently in our dialects, e.g.: *уйти*, *уйняти*, *убрати*, instead of the correct *выйти*, *выняти*, *выбрати* (179).

It is a mistake to write *y* or *by* instead of *w* in verb endings, as is frequently heard in our dialects: *maby*, *may*, *mabymb*, *maymb* (179).

Occasionally, Pan'kevyč notes that certain forms "to be avoided" are also prevalent in Galicia:

Увага! В подкарпатських говорах, а также и в галицьких уживаєся форма часу минулого, зложена з дѣєприкметника часу мн. П. читал (= читав) и слова помочного – есьм [sic] у формѣ ем: читав-ем, читав-есь, читав; з того нынѣшня коротша форма: я читав, она читала; але сих форм в письменном языцѣ належить оминати (118).

Attention! In the Subcarpathian dialects as well as in the Galician, the form of the past tense constructed of the plural past participle II $4uma\lambda$ (= 4umab) and the auxiliary word $ecb\lambda$ [sic] is used in the form $e\lambda$: $4umab-ec\lambda$, $4umab-ec\lambda$, $4umab-ec\lambda$, 4umab, oha $4uma\lambda$; but these forms should be avoided in the written language (118).

To this day, the final section of the third edition of Pan'kevyč's grammar, titled "Dialects of the Subcarpathian Rusyns," could serve as a succinct introduction to the linguistic features of Transcarpathia: В говорах русинов Подкарпатськов Руси и Словаччины задержалося много старовины так у звуках, як и у формах, про якѣ були згадки в одповѣдных частях граматики. Найважнѣйшѣ з них були: 1. задержаня гортанного выговору ы, 2. переходнѣ звуки: *у*, *ü*, ы на мѣсци замкненого старого о (*стул, стйл, стыл*), 3. задержаня давного выговору *u* = *i* в говорах западних, 4. задержаня мягкого выговору шипячих: *ч*, *щ* (хочю, *щюка, богачь, чьорный*) в большости говоров, 5. задержаня мягкого *p*: *верьба, верьх, косарь,* 6. кы, *гы, хы* мѣсто *ки, ги, хи,* 7. в одмѣнѣ старѣ формы: *-ом* (*-ум, -йм, -ым, -ім*), в 3. мн. муж. р., 8. *-ы* в 6. мн. м. и с. роду, 9. *-ох, ѣх* [*sic,* without a hyphen], в 7. п. мн. муж. и сер. р., 10. довге око̂нченя прикметнико̂в в 1. пад. одн. р. сер. *-ос*.

Нашѣ говоры мають и багато новостей а також запозычень з сусѣдних говоро̂в словацьких та польських.

З тоѣ то причины а також задля го́рського положеня нашого краю, котре не дозволяє скоро розширюватися новостям и выро̂внюватися з другими говорами, у нас є много менших говоро̂в.

Найважнѣйшѣ однак є три: 1. лемковський, котрый обнимає говоры шарыськѣ, списькѣ та часть земплинських, 2. бойковський вод Лаборця аж по Тересву, 3. гуцульський вод Тересвы по горѣшню Тису. Межи ними нема рѣзкоѣ границѣ, бо переход до них творять говоры мѣшанѣ.

Лемковськъ говоры мають много словацького и польського а найголовнъйше сталый наголос на другом складъ вод конця: [197:] крыло, вода та вымовляють мягке с, з, як шь, жь: шыно, жыля мъсто: съно, зъля. Твердо вымовляють концевъ мягкъ зубнъ сповзвуки: пят ден. В 1. пад. множ. прикметники мають -ы: добры, в 6. пад. ж. Р. мають -ом; добром рыбом.

Говоры гуцульськѣ не знають грубого ы а мѣсто нього мають и: мило, мѣсто о в замкенôм складѣ всюды i (кiнь), мягке а – я перейшло на є: чес, неньо мѣсто час, няньо, ж, ш вымовляють мягко: жеба, шепка, в 3. множ. дѣєслôв часу тепер. опускають: т в окôнченю ять – ходе мѣсто ходят.

Говоры бойковськъ мають тъ прикметы, що суть характеристичными для наших говоров як старинных взагалъ, а якъ мы вычислили горъ под 1–10.

З огляду на стариннѣ звуки и формы наших говоров называємо их говорами *старинными* або з грецька *архаичными*. Они творять з карпатськими говорами по повночной сторонѣ Карпат одну цѣло̂сть старинных карпатських говоро̂в украинськоѣ мовы а з нею разом належать до схо̂днославянськоѣ групы великоѣ славя нськоѣ [sic] сѣмѣ (196–97).

The dialects of the Rusyns of Subcarpathian Rus' and Slovakia have retained much antiquity in both sounds and forms, concerning which there were mentions in the corresponding parts of the grammar. The most important of them were: 1. the retention of the glottal pronunciation of ω , 2. the transitional sounds y, \ddot{u} , ω in place of the closed earlier o(cmyA, cmüA, cmiA), 3. the retention of the age-old pronunciation of u = i in the western dialects, 4. the retention of the soft pronunciation of the sibilants u, u ($xou\omega$, $u\omega ka$, bocaub, $ubophou \ddot{u}$) in the majority of dialects, 5. the retention of the soft r': bepbda, bepbx, kocapb, $6. \kappa\omega$, $z\omega$, $x\omega$ instead of κu , zu, xu, 7. in declensions, the old forms -oM(-yM, -uM, -bM, -iM), in the 3^{rd} pers. masc. pl., 8. $-\omega$ in the 6^{th} case of the masc. and neut. pl., 9. -ox, -fx, in the 7^{th} case masc. and neut. pl. and in the 7^{th} case masc. and neut. pl., 10. a long ending of adjectives in the 1^{st} case neut. sing. $-o\epsilon$.

Our dialects have both many innovations and borrowings from the neighboring Slovak and Polish languages.

For that reason, and also because of the mountainous location of our land, which does not allow innovations to spread rapidly and level out with other dialects, we have many minor dialects.

However, the three most important ones are: 1. *Lemko*, which encompasses the Šariš, Spiš, and part of the Zemplín dialects, 2. *Boiko*, from the Laborets to the Teresva River, 3. *Hutsul*, from the Teresva to the upper reaches of the Tisa. There are no strict boundaries between them because the transition proceeds by means of mixed dialects.

The Lemko dialects have much of Slovak and Polish, and the main thing is the fixed stress on the penultimate syllable: $\kappa p \omega i \Lambda o, \omega \delta \partial a$, and they pronounce the soft *c*, *3* as ωb , κb : $\omega b i h o$, $\kappa b i \Lambda a$ instead of $c \mathcal{B} h o, 3 \mathcal{B} \Lambda A$. They give a hard pronunciation to the endings of soft dental consonants: $n \beta m \partial e h$. In the 1st case, plural adjectives have - ω : $\partial o \delta p \omega$, in the 6th case, feminine adjectives have -o M; $\partial o \delta p o M p \omega \delta o M$.

The Hutsul dialects do not admit the coarse ω , and instead of it they have u: MUAO, instead of o in a closed syllable, everywhere there is i ($\kappa i \mu \omega$), the soft a - shas turned into e: uec, $\mu e \mu \omega o$ instead of uac, $\mu s \mu \omega o$; they pronounce w, u softly: weba, uuenka, in the 3^{rd} pl. of the present tense they drop m in the ending: $smb - xo\partial e$ instead of $xo\partial sm$.

Boiko dialects have features that are characteristic of our generally ancient dialects, which we have enumerated above under 1–10.

In view of the ancient sounds and forms of our dialects, we call them *ancient*, or *archaic*, from the Greek. Together with the Carpathian dialects on the north face of the Carpathian Mountains, they comprise a single whole of ancient Carpathian dialects of the Ukrainian language, and together with it they belong to the East Slavic group of the great Slavic family (196–197).

4. Ideological features in examples from the grammar

School textbooks and even grammars most often contained, and still contain, elements that were supposed to influence the formation of various group identities and loyalties of pupils. The same applies to Ivan Pan'kevyč's grammar, in which we may read, for example, about the president of interwar Czechoslovakia and about Prague (before 1919, about the Austrian emperor and Vienna, etc.):

Вѣстка, що Тому Масарика выбрали президентом нашоѣ републики, дуже нас урадовала (144). Тому Масарика выбрали президентом (144). Прага єсть тым для Славян, чим Рим для свѣта (154).

The news that Tomáš Masaryk was elected president of our republic has greatly delighted us (144). Tomáš Masaryk was elected president (144). Prague is to the Slavs what Rome is to the world (154).

The grammar also contains sentences about the history and geography of the Subcarpathian Rusyns:

Ужгород єсть столицею По̂дкарпатськоѣ Руси (147). Чернеча гора находиться коло города Мукачева (143). Найдовша рѣка, котра плыве через Подкарпатську Русь, єсть Тиса (136). Князь Ляборець крѣпко бився з Мадярами, та все таки погиб у битвѣ (159). Теодор Коріятович, князь подо́льский, переселився з великим числом народу за Карпаты (144, also 148).

Князь Теодор Коріятович заложив город Мукачево... (143).

Uzhhorod is the capital of Subcarpathian Rus' (147). Chernecha Hora is located near the city of Mukachiv (143). The longest river that flows through Subcarpathian Rus' is the Tisa (136). Prince Laborec' fought mightily with the Magyars but nonetheless was killed in battle (159). Teodor Korijatovyč, the Podilian prince, moved with a great number of people beyond the Carpathians (144, also 148). Prince Teodor Korijatovyč founded the city of Mukachiv... (143).

But in such sentences Ivan Pan'kevyč did not restrict himself to the world of the Transcarpathian Rusyns alone. His grammar also contains information about Prince Svjatoslav, Volodymyr the Great, and Danylo of Halych that opened prospects of a broader Ukrainian identity:

Князь Святослав не хотъв вертати до Киъва, бо добре йому було жити в Преславъ на Дунаю (157). Володимир Святый охрестив Русь (148). Володимир Великий охрестив Русь, прото його и святым назвали (153). Король Данило Галицкий хоробро боровся з Татарами (143).

Prince Svjatoslav did not want to return to Kyiv because he lived well in Preslav on the Danube (157). St. Volodymyr baptized Rus' (148). Volodymyr the Great baptized Rus', which is why he was named a saint (153). King Danylo of Galicia fought the Tatars bravely (143).

The chapter titled "What Can Be a Predicate" ("Що може бути присудком") mentions the name of Taras Ševčenko in this short sentence: "Шевченко був поет" ("Shevchenko was a poet"; 132); elsewhere is this interrogative sentence: "Хто написав книжку 'Кобзарь'?" ("Who wrote the book *Kobzar*?"; 186). However, there are no quotations from his works or the works of other writers from Russian-ruled (and later Soviet) Ukraine.

5. Conclusions

In his grammar, Ivan Pan'kevyč's use of the locutions "our language" or "in our land" ("наш язык," "у нас") most often pertained to Subcarpathian Rus', not to other regions. Here and there, however, Pan'kevyč unmistakably presents this language as part of another language—Ukrainian. He writes:

Наш письменный язык опертый з одноѣ стороны на письменных традиціях, а з другоѣ стороны на тых особливостях, якѣ лучать цѣлый

руський (украиньский) язык в одну цѣло̂сть. А наш по̂дкарпаторуський народній [!] язык єсть частею малоруського языка, його найдальшим полуднево-западным ко̂нцем (176).

Our written language is based, on the one hand, on written traditions and, on the other, on those features that bind the entire Ruthenian (Ukrainian) language into a single whole. And our Subcarpathian-Rusyn folk language is part of the Little Russian language, its southwesternmost end. (176).

Ivan Pan'kevyč realized that he could achieve his main goal—the spread of Ukrainian linguistic and national awareness in the Transcarpathian region—only on the basis of an understanding of the regional features of these lands. Thus, he not only described the Transcarpathian dialectal landscape in his monumental scholarly works—and did so much better than any researcher before him—but also wrote about this area in his grammar for high school students and "public schools" in Subcarpathia in such a way that students were able to derive considerable knowledge of the linguistic features of their region from his book. Pan'kevyč did not simply introduce the new Ukrainian literary language in Transcarpathia. In keeping with legislation passed by the Czech government, he also sought to reproduce in Subcarpathia the experience that Galicia had accumulated during the second half of the nineteenth century. However, the ultimate goal of this journey was neither the creation of a Rusyn literary language nor the establishment of any kind of Galician norms but the proliferation of the all-Ukrainian literary language.

RUSYN: A NEW-OLD LANGUAGE BETWEEN NATIONS AND STATES

1. Constructing identities across historical borders

Modern Rusyn activists have mapped their territory in those areas where Rusyn and Ukrainian national and linguistic identities are still competing with each other. Some regard Rusyns as a distinct fourth East Slavic people and Rusyn as a separate language, while others maintain that Rusyns are a branch of the Ukrainian people, Rusyn idioms are local variants of Ukrainian, and Modern Standard Ukrainian is a perfectly appropriate standard language for all Rusyns/Ukrainians.¹

In fact, until the late twentieth century, almost no one maintained that the very groups nowadays claimed to be Rusyn constituted a separate people (that is, the Rusyns of Ukraine's Transcarpathia oblast, northeastern Slovakia, one village in northern Hungary, some villages in the Maramureş region of Romania, and some in the Bačka-Srijem region of Croatia and Serbia, all of them historically belonging to the Kingdom of Hungary; apart from these, also the "Lemkos" of southeastern Poland).

Historically, many more Slavs associated with the legacy of medieval (Kyivan) Rus' and its "Rus' faith" (Orthodoxy or, later, Greek Catholicism) were called "Rusyns" (usually rendered as "Ruthenians" in English; see Plokhy 2006). This applied not only to all Ruthenians/Rusyns of the Kingdom of Galicia and the Crownland of Bukovyna, at least up to the turn of the twentieth century, but also to all those who were renamed "Little Russians" (*malorossy*) only after being integrated into the Russian Empire, where it was found necessary to distinguish them from the Muscovites or "Great Russians" (*velikorossy*). As late as the nineteenth century, even Belarusians were also still regarded more often than not as part of the Rusyn/Ruthenian or Little Russian nation (Moser 2011c, see pp. 171–186 in this volume). Great Russians, by contrast, were considered distinct even by those Russophiles who believed in one all-Russian nation but distinguished its "Little Russian and Great Russian branches" at a lower, non-national level.

The initial shaping of a Rusyn national identity in the modern sense began only after most Ruthenians/Rusyns in Galicia and Bukovyna (and others south of the Carpathian Mountains) had joined the Ukrainian national movement.² The Rusyns, then, were those who were reluctant to do so.

The concept of a Modern Rusyn language is also quite a recent phenomenon, and (as is the case with all other nations and languages) it is certainly not based first and foremost on any "natural" or "objective" Rusyn linguistic unity. The Lemko

¹ In this article, I do not deal with the roughly 13,000 people who identified themselves as Rusyns in the U.S. census of 1990 (Magocsi 2007c: 386), although their efforts have undoubtedly played a tremendous role in the organization of the Rusyn movement since 1989.

² Historical terms such as "Hungarian Rus'," which seemingly reflect a separate quasi-Rusyn identity, emerged only in the nineteenth century. They had a territorial meaning, not an ethnic or national one, and the Polish Lemko Rusyns always stood apart (even Paul Robert Magocsi's map of "Subcarpathian Ethno-Geographical Features" of 1978 did not yet include the Polish Lemkos; Magocsi 1978: 11).

dialects of Poland do share some important features with the Lemko dialects of northeastern Slovakia, but they are no less close to the neighboring Ukrainian San/ Sian, Boiko, and Hutsul dialects than to most Rusyn idioms. Ukrainian dialects north of the Carpathian Mountainas and Rusyn/Ukrainian dialects south of them share many important features (Pan'kevyč 1938), whereas the variants of Modern Rusyn are quite diverse. Except for internal dialectal development at all linguistic levels, this diversity is a result of different historical language contacts. The Polish Lemko variant is remote from all other Rusyn varieties owing to the massive, centuries-old influence of Polish, to which only Galician Ukrainian dialects come close. The variants of the Berehove, Uzhhorod, and Mukacheve regions were under the strong impact of Hungarian, whereas in the Prešov region (East) Slovak has been the more important contact language. Finally, in the Bačka-Srijem region, Croatian and Serbian have exerted ever-growing influence on those Ruthenian/ Rusyn dialects that, even without such influence, differ significantly from most other variants in that they are much closer to (East) Slovak than to other varieties of Rusyn or Ukrainian, if they are not Slovak altogether. In Romania, meanwhile, Romanian has been a more important contact language than anywhere else (see some of the Rusyn variants as reflected in Magocsi 2007).³

Earlier nation- and language-building processes also differed strongly across the regions. The Polish Lemkos belonged to the Greek Catholic diocese of Przemyśl, which, in the first half of the nineteenth century, became an important center of the first modern "Ruthenian or Little Russian," that is, Ukrainian national and linguistic movement in Galicia. Here, even prior to the Revolution of 1848–49, a vernacularbased language was introduced into a wide range of domains and codified in grammars. It was explicitly regarded as the language of the whole "Ruthenian or Little Russian," that is, Ukrainian nation (Moser 2011: 303–666). Individuals from the Lemko region were important actors in the nation- and language-building activities that encompassed all of Galicia before and after 1848-49: Ivan Birec'kyj attended the Slavic Congress in Prague in 1848, where he represented all Ruthenians/ Rusyns of Galicia; the Ruthenians/Rusyns of Hungary, by contrast, had asked the Slovaks to speak for them (Moser 2007b: 421–24). Administrative borders within Austria/Austria-Hungary often had great significance for language policy: when the Austrian authorities suggested introducing the Latin script instead of Cyrillic as an antidote to the growing Russophile movement in Galicia in 1858–59 (during the so-called (Second) "Alphabet War") (Moser 2011: 474–78), this would have affected the Polish Lemko region but not the Hungarian realm. When in the mid-1890s the "phonetic" orthography was introduced into the schools of Galicia and Bukovyna (Moser 2007: 33, 232), this was of no significance for the Ruthenian/Rusyn regions of Hungary.

³ Even if one considers the role of German, its impact varied strongly across the Rusyn regions. From the sixteenth century at least, the German language of migrants into rural regions played a more significant role in the Hungarian realm than among Polish Lemkos.

In Hungary, hardly any Ruthenian/Rusyn national movement existed until the end of World War I. The first developments that are sometimes interpreted as a manifestation of Ruthenian/Rusyn national aspirations took place at the turn of the nineteenth century, when a primer and a catechism were printed in Church Slavonic and in the traditional Ruthenian/Rusyn language under Bishop Andrij Bačyns'kyj of Mukacheve (Udvari 2000). A few decades later, the first "awakener," Aleksandr (Oleksander) Duxnovy \check{c} ,⁴ behaved like many other Russophiles of his time in that he wrote some pieces in a locally based vernacular for "commoners" but regarded Russian alone as a legitimate high variety of language (Moser 2009a). Conceptualizations of a vernacular-based standard language, as developed in other Slavic national movements of the era, played no important role. Exceptions were rare and cannot be attributed to a "Rusyn" setting. The language of László Csopey's textbooks for elementary schools of the 1880s and 1890s was based on a local vernacular variant, but Csopey explicitly referred it to a "Ruthenian and Little Russian" framework (which, in his case, also still included Belarusian) (Moser 2009a: 78–79). Hijador Stryps'kyj used a locally based vernacular in some of his works on the eve of World War I, but he, too, felt Ukrainian at that point and wrote about "that true Rusyn/Ruthenian language that is spoken by a people of 22 million divided among three states" (Udvari 2007: 145–46).

The Greek Catholic Church was a stronghold against Polonization in Galicia, whereas in Hungary it often took an active part in Magyarization efforts. When during World War I Hungarian politicians hesitated to abolish the Julian calendar and the Cyrillic alphabet among the Ruthenians/Rusyns, Bishop Stefan Novák of Prešov himself introduced these measures in his diocese, and others followed him (Magocsi 1978: 72; see excerpts from textbooks in a traditional Ruthenian/Rusyn language written in a Hungarian-based Latin orthography in Duličenko 2008: 286–89).

The Rusyns of the Bačka-Srijem region developed a national and linguistic movement only after they established contact with Galician Ukrainian intellectuals at the turn of the twentieth century. Their first "awakener," the Greek Catholic priest Havrylo Kostel'nyk from Ruski Krstur, published a small volume of poems titled *Z mojoho valala* in the Galician town of Zhovkva in 1904, when he was already closely associated with the Ukrainian movement.⁵ This book, now celebrated as the work that initiated the modern Rusyn movement, was printed in only five hundred copies and did not sell well at all. Kostel'nyk had hardly any desire to create a new standard Slavic language, and it took him almost two decades to publish his grammar of the Bačka Rusyn/Ruthenian language (*Граматика бачваньско-рускей бешеди*) in 1923 as a consequence of developments after World War I (see next section). Even in this grammar, Kostel'nyk expressed the wish "that we not distance ourselves from Ukrainian where we do not have to" ("же би зме ше, дзе не мушиме, не

⁴ All names are given in transliteration from Ukrainian. Regarding names, too, Rusyn variants differ significantly from one another.

⁵ Kostel'nyk studied theology in Lviv, married the daughter of a Ukrainian activist, and became a member of the Archdiocese of Lviv. Throughout his lifetime, he maintained strong ties with Galicia, particularly with the Greek Catholic metropolitan Andrej Šeptyc'kyj (Belej 2008).

оддальовали од украинского") (cited in Belej 2008). Kostel'nyk wrote many of his works in Ukrainian. As late as 1935, he published a text titled "Why Did I Become a Ukrainian?" ("Чом сом стал Українєц?") (Belej 2004: 277; Belej 2008).

To sum up, Rusyns can probably best be described as those remnants of the Ruthenian/Rusyn population who have not been willing to join the modern Ukrainian national and linguistic movement, which has turned former "Ruthenians/ Rusyns or Little Russians" into "Ukrainians" and promoted the Modern Standard Ukrainian language across the borders of the Russian and Austrian/Austro-Hungarian Empires since the second half of the nineteenth century. Initially, this reluctance was not usually based on any Rusyn identity in the modern sense but resulted from the Russophile view that Ruthenians/Rusyns/Little Russians belonged to one indivisible Russian people and that there was no place for a Ukrainian nation and a Ukrainian language. Similar views were also widespread among Galician and Bukovynian Russophiles, but they proved more persistent on the western periphery of Galicia and south of the Carpathian Mountains. The more successful the Ukrainian project was, however, the more obvious it became that the idea of an indivisible Russian people could not be maintained. As a result, the expressly non-Ukrainian Ruthenian/Rusyn identity had to be reshaped.

2. Linguistic battlefields

Even after World War I, no Rusyn identity in the modern meaning emerged.⁶ Explicitly non-Ukrainian and non-Russian identity models were occasionally addressed, but they were confined to only one of the regions, and the actual national framework usually remained questionable.

Only in the Bačka-Srijem region, where Rusyns found themselves in the newly established Kingdom of Yugoslavia, was a vernacular-based Rusyn language developed after a council decided to cultivate a separate language in 1919; as a result, Kostel'nyk's grammar was published in 1923 (Fejsa 2007: 377; see preceding section), yet this language was designed exclusively for the Rusyns of the Bačka-Srijem region.

In Poland, the administration fought the Ukrainian movement in typical divideand-rule fashion by fostering a separate Lemko identity (as well as separate Hutsul and Boiko identities, and so on). In the 1930s, the Polish authorities dismissed Ukrainian teachers from the Lemko region and cooperated with the Russophile activist Meletij Troxanovs'kyj. In 1933, two textbooks that he had prepared in a Lemko vernacular were approved for use in elementary schools (Misiak 2006: 61). In Troxanovs'kyj's primer (printed in Lviv in 1935), the word *rusyn* does not appear (Troxanovs'kyj 1935). In 1935, Russophile teachers were replaced with Poles, and, from 1937, Lemko was no longer taught and was replaced with Polish (Misiak 2006: 105).

⁶ In order to argue for the existence of supraregional Rusyn identity models, some scholars highlight the fact that activists of one of the so-called Lemko republics of 1918–20 (which actually consisted only of Florynka and some neighboring villages) voiced the desire to join Czechoslovakia (Dubiel-Dmytryszyn 2010: 81). They forget to add that consideration was given at the same level to joining the Soviet Union (Misiak 2006: 59–60).

Most Ruthenians/Rusyns of the formerly Hungarian part of Austria-Hungary became citizens of Czechoslovakia. The majority of them lived in a new administrative unit called Subcarpathian Rus' (*Podkarpatská Rus*), which largely coincides with today's Ukrainian Transcarpathian oblast. It was supposed to become autonomous within Czechoslovakia but received that status only in 1938. The Ruthenians/Rusyns of the Prešov region were separated from those of Subcarpathian Rus' by a highly disputed internal border (Švorc 2003). The tiny groups that ended up in Hungary and Romania stood apart.

In the Prešov region, most Ruthenian/Rusyn intellectual leaders were Russophiles (Plishkova 2009: 55–56). Some scholars argue that those texts from the region that were written in the traditional Church Slavonic-Russian mixture with dialectal elements "indirectly conveyed the idea that Carpatho-Rusyns represented a distinct East Slavic people and were thus attempting to distance themselves from both Russians and Ukrainians" (ibid., 52), but this is highly questionable, since the same kind of language had been used for decades in accordance with varying ideological frameworks. If there was "often a problem in distinguishing" (ibid., 57) Russian and alleged "Rusyn" orientations in interwar Czechoslovakia, this resulted primarily from the fact that most Russophiles did not know Russian well themselves and knew that this language was not understood by their audience or readership. In any case, "no constructive attempts were made to create a distinct Rusyn literary language on the basis of any one of the Subcarpathian dialects" during that period (ibid., 61). The Ukrainian movement became visible in Slovakia only after a branch of the Prosvita Society was established in Prešov in 1930 and the local writer and cultural activist Iryna Nevyc'ka gathered some activists around the journal CAOBO народа (The People's Word) between 1931 and 1932 (Štec' 1996: 64–76).

In Transcarpathian Rus', the contest of identities was much more serious, for only there would Ruthenian/Rusyn function as an official language.⁷ As it was still unclear what kind of language Ruthenian/Rusyn really was, the local school administration asked a commission of the Czech Academy of Sciences in Prague for advice. According to traditional views in Slavic studies, the commission identified the Ruthenian/Rusyn language of Subcarpathian Rus' as "Little Russian," adding that it was particularly close to its Galician variant (see the text in Tichý 1938: 112–13). Although the commission recommended hiring teachers and purchasing textbooks published in Galicia, support for the Ukrainians was far from unanimous: the scholars also advised the local authorities not to introduce the so-called "phonetic" orthography, although they must have been aware of its symbolic value for the Ukrainian movement. Moreover, they pointed out that "the inhabitants of Subcarpathian Rus' " should not forget that they, "like the Ukrainians, also belong to the great Russian people [!]" (ibid.) and therefore recommended the compulsory teaching of Russian in secondary schools. Regarding the possible creation of a

⁷ In Béla Kun's Hungarian Soviet Republic, Rusyns were recognized as a distinct people in 1919. "A Department (*katedra*) of Rusyn studies was created at the University of Budapest; and a few issues of a Rusyn newspaper, Rus'ka Pravda, later Rus'ko-Kraïns'ka pravda, appeared" (Pop 2005: 425). The Soviet Rus'ka Kraïna lasted only forty days.

"separate standard language for Subcarpathian Rus'," however, the Czech scholars maintained that this was "certainly no more necessary than for certain branches of the Czechoslovak people, e.g., the Hanaks [a group living in northern Moravia]" (ibid.).

During the first years after 1919, the Russophile and Ukrainian camps struggled for hegemony in the schools and in the press. The Ukrainian side was primarily supported by immigrants from Galicia; the Russophiles were backed by immigrants from the Russian Empire and Russophile newcomers from Galicia and Bukovyna. Even the most important grammars of both camps were written by immigrants (Moser 2011b: 103–107).

Also in the first few years after 1919, the Ukrainians were supported by the Czechoslovak government, but that changed quickly after a Russophile, Antin Beskyd, became deputy governor of Subcarpathian Rus' in 1923. External political developments made active support for the Ukrainians seem even less advisable: in the Soviet Union, Stalin initiated the policy of so-called "nationalization" (later "indigenization") in 1923 and declared Soviet Ukraine the new "Piedmont" for all Ukrainians (see pp. 504–505, p. 524 in this volume). At the same time, the Soviets decided that all Eastern Slavs of the Carpathian region were to be regarded as Ukrainians (Padiak 2009: 82).

The etymologically oriented orthography of the official publications separated Subcarpathian Ukrainian from both Galicia and the Soviet Union, yet local intellectuals soon began using the so-called "phonetic" orthography (which was no Soviet "invention" after all), with an increasing orientation on Modern Standard Ukrainian (Moser 2011b). Subcarpathian Russophiles, by contrast, did not adopt the Russian orthographic reforms that the Bolsheviks had introduced in 1918. Their traditionalism was enhanced by their inclination to pronounce the letter *jat*' as [i] (not [e], as in Russian) (see interwar Russophile materials written in traditional orthography in Duličenko 2008).

Rusyn attitudes in the modern sense did not emerge in Subcarpathia either. Only in 1935 did former Russophile circles from Mukacheve begin actively promoting a language that they declared to be opposed to both Russian and Ukrainian. This was, however, primarily a reaction to Eduard Beneš's proclamation of "an end to support for Russian and Ukrainian émigrés in the province" and his call for the fostering of a local Rusyn identity one year earlier (Kapral – Pop 2005). Generally, the language that was actually used by the Mukačevo Russophiles still remained traditional (Plishkova 2009: 50).

Throughout the interwar period, it was primarily the Ukrainian and Russian sides that competed in Subcarpathian Rus'. In early October 1938, Subcarpathian Rus' received autonomous status, and its first leader, the Russophile Andrij Brodij, was arrested as a spy for Hungary a few days after his inauguration. Soon after the Ukrainophile Avgustyn Vološyn succeeded Brodij, Hungarian troops annexed the most important regions of Subcarpathian Rus' , including the towns of Uzhhorod, Mukacheve, and Berehove. Vološyn introduced the new name "Carpathian Ukraine" for the remaining polity, where the Ukrainian language was promoted (Magocsi

1978: 176). When it became clear that interwar Czechoslovakia would ultimately collapse, Vološyn declared Carpathian Ukraine an independent state on 15 March 1939, but within a few hours Hungarian troops overran the "republic for a day." As a result, Subcarpathian Rus' became Hungarian "Kárpátalja" ("Subcarpathia"), the Ukrainian language was banned (while the use of Russian was tolerated), and a "Hungarian Russian (Ruthenian/Rusyn)" language ("Magyarorosz nyelv") was promoted. This language, as represented in Ivan Harajda's grammar of the Ruthenian/Rusyn language (*Грамматика руського языка*), is celebrated by some modern Rusyn activists as an outstanding achievement in the modern Rusyn sense. In fact, the language was not only designed exclusively for Hungary under the reign of Miklós Horthy but was also very traditional at all linguistic levels and much closer to nineteenth-century Ruthenian/Rusyn variants (including those of Galicia) than to any variant of Modern Rusyn (Moser 2011b: 109–11).

3. Behind the Iron Curtain

After the Red Army invaded East Central Europe, the former Subcarpathian Rus' /Subcarpathia became the Transcarpathian oblast of Soviet Ukraine. Contrary to widespread modern Rusyn myths, the fact that the Soviets had identified the Rusyns as Ukrainians did not entail a "forcible Ukrainization" of the territory in the real sense of the word: after all, it was the use of the Russian language that was promoted there first and foremost, as in all other territories of the Soviet Union. No variant of Ruthenian/Rusyn identity or of a Ruthenian/Rusyn language was allowed, and no publications in such variants appeared during the Soviet period (Magocsi 2007a: 102).

The Ruthenians/Rusyns of Czechoslovakia initially found themselves in an especially paradoxical situation. On the one hand, they were officially regarded as Ukrainians; on the other, the only language they actually used as their official high variant was Russian, which now, of course, had to be Modern Standard Russian with its modern orthography. Only after 1952 was Ukrainian introduced there (Stec' 1996: 76–86, Gajdoš and Konečný 2006: 173), but because Ukrainian was a threatened and stigmatized language in Soviet Ukraine itself, its standing in Czechoslovakia and other countries of the Soviet bloc was far from ideal. In the mid-1960s Ivan Macyns'kyj, then head of the Department of Ukrainian Literature of the Slovak Pedagogical Publishing House in Prešov, realized the growing difficulties of the Ukrainian language in Slovakia; he demanded that "school textbooks, popular brochures, and the weekly Hose *життя* (New Life) should begin coming out in the language spoken by the Rusyns of northeastern Slovakia" (Plishkova 2009: 73). Beginning in 1967, a two-page insert in the local vernacular was included in this Ukrainian-language newspaper (ibid., 74–75), and Macyns'kyj, who was in fact a supporter of the Ukrainian side, prepared a 28-page typescript with a description of some features of this idiom (Štec' 1996: 95–100). In 1970, the dialect-based inserts were removed from *Hose життя*. More than a decade later, on the eve of the fall of the Iron Curtain, a group of Greek Catholic activists headed by František Krajňak prepared some biblical texts in a Medzilaborce-based variety of Rusyn (Magocsi 2007a: 106), but those texts have appeared in print only since the 1990s.

In Poland, the Lemkos were forcibly expelled from their historical homelands between 1945 and 1947. About two-thirds of them were deported to Soviet Ukraine; the rest (between 40,000 and 50,000), now officially regarded as Ukrainians, were forcibly resettled during Operation Vistula (Akcja Wisła) in other areas of postwar Poland, primarily in the newly annexed former German territories (ibid., 102). After 1956, the publications of newly established Lemko organizations included some texts in Lemko dialects (ibid., 103, 106), yet there is no evidence that these idioms were regarded as a separate language or were associated with any other Rusyn variants in the modern sense. The "Lemkivs'ka Vatra" (Lemko Bonfire) folklore and cultural festivals in the historical Lemko region organized after 1983 (Magocsi 2007b: 36) were also of no great significance for Rusyn identity in a broader sense.

Only the Bačka-Srijem variant of Rusyn was further elaborated and codified prior to the 1990s, particularly in Mykola Kočyš's works of the 1960s and 1970s. When Vojvodina's autonomous status within Yugoslavia was expanded in 1974, Rusyn was acknowledged as one of the province's four official languages (Magocsi 2007a: 104–105). As a result, the Bačka-Srijem variant was used in all communicative spheres, including radio and television. No Rusyn identity models in the modern sense were as yet addressed by the activists, whereas many referred to a Ukrainian framework.⁸

4. After 1989

After the fall of the Iron Curtain and the breakup of the Soviet bloc, virtually all territories that have been mapped as Rusyn were located within new state borders. Since 1991, the Transcarpathian oblast has been an administrative unit of independent Ukraine. The Rusyns of Slovakia witnessed the peaceful breakup of Czechoslovakia in 1993, whereas the Rusyns of Yugoslavia, who were strongly affected by the secession wars of the early 1990s, ended up divided between independent Croatia and the new Yugoslavia (later: Serbia).

Most countries that now acknowledge Rusyn minorities were involved in the processes of European integration. Poland, Slovakia, and Hungary joined the European Union in 2004 (Romania, together with Bulgaria, followed in 2007) and entered the Schengen Area in 2007. Borders between these states have virtually ceased to exist, whereas those with other countries have again become less porous.

In the 1990s, local activists established Rusyn organizations and Rusyn journals and newspapers in all countries with Rusyn minorities except Romania, and for the first time in history a Rusyn identity in the modern sense was promoted. In March 1991, the first World Congress of Rusyns was held in Slovakia (Magocsi 2007b: 36–37). In the following years, Rusyns were acknowledged as national minorities not only in Slovakia, Poland, Serbia, and Croatia, but also in Romania, where only two hundred people identified themselves as Rusyn; in Hungary, where only

⁸ As the "Union of Rusyns and Ukrainians in Croatia" (Союз Русинох и Українцох Републики Горватскей) (http://www.sriu.hr/o%20sojuzu.htm) or the regularly held "Festival of Culture of Rusyns and Ukrainians" (Фестивал култури Руснацох и Українцох) in Ruski Krstur (Serbia) demonstrate, this has not changed to date.

one Rusyn-speaking village remains; and in the Czech Republic, where the only Rusyns are recent migrants from Slovakia (Magocsi 2007b: 37, Magocsi 2011: 271). All these countries now distinguish two national minorities in one ethnic group: those with a Rusyn and those with a Ukrainian identity. This is one of the reasons why Rusyn claims that approximately one million Rusyns live in Europe at present (Magocsi 2007b: 16) are sharply at variance with official data. However, only about 10,000 out of an estimated 740,000 persons in the Transcarpathian oblast identified themselves as Rusyns in the Ukrainian census of 2001, and other polls yield even smaller figures (with the exception of some unofficial censuses conducted by Rusyn organizations themselves, but even they did not find more than 22,000–28,000 Rusyns in the region) (Kuzio 2011: 102).

The vast majority of Ruthenians/Rusyns in the Transcarpathian oblast obviously identify themselves as Ukrainian and consider the Rusyns a branch of the Ukrainian people. So do the central Ukrainian political authorities, although on 7 March 2007 the Transcarpathian Oblast Council acknowledged a separate Rusyn ethnicity at the regional level (Magocsi 2011: 272). In Slovakia, the latest census counted 55,000 Rusyns (that is, many more than in the Transcarpathian oblast!). The corresponding figures in other countries are: Serbia 16,000, Poland 5,900, Croatia 2,300, the Czech Republic 1,100, Hungary 1,100, and Romania 200 (Magocsi 2011: 271). Thus, roughly 91,000 people in Europe identify themselves as Rusyns.

Efforts to promote and codify the Rusyn language were addressed for the first time in history in the 1990s. In November 1992, a seminar on the Rusyn language was held in Bardejovské Kúpele, Slovakia. At that meeting, later referred to as the "First Congress of the Rusyn Language," activists from Ukraine, Poland, Slovakia, Yugoslavia, and Hungary decided to accept the "Romansch model" for the codification of the Rusyn language, that is, to develop four different standards of Rusyn for Ukraine, Poland, Slovakia, and Yugoslavia first and create an all-Rusyn language later (Magocsi 1996: 37).

In January 1995, the Slovak variant of Rusyn was officially declared a new Slavic language in Bratislava (Magocsi 1996: 38) even though the level of codification was still extremely low at that time. Five years later, Henryk Fontański and Mirosława Chomiak published a *Grammar of the Lemko Language*, and a Polish standard of Rusyn was declared to be in force. In both Slovakia and Poland, Rusyn is now taught in schools and universities. The Institute for Rusyn Language and Culture at the University of Prešov is probably the most active European center of the modern Rusyn movement. Rusyn studies at the Pedagogical University in Cracow (ibid., 109–11) are apparently at a considerably lower level than Rusyn sources suggest; only a course on the "grammar of the Rusyn-Lemko language" is taught in the Russian department of that institution (Uniwersytet Pedagogiczny 2011). In Ukraine's Transcarpathian oblast, various grammars have been published since the 1990s; none of them has, however, been accepted by any larger groups to date (ibid.).

Although some activists are continuing work on a common Rusyn standard language, the actual achievements indicate an opposite trend of ongoing "nationalization" of Rusyn in various states. At present, there are no longer only four standard variants of Rusyn in the making. New work on a North American standard of Rusyn has apparently begun (see Magocsi 2007a and 2007b), and a Hungarian standard of Rusyn is being developed (Benedek 2007), even though the vast majority of Hungarian Rusyns are migrants, and the only Rusyn-speaking village is located near the border with the Transcarpathian oblast. Will the two hundred Romanian citizens who claim a Rusyn identity really do without their own variant in the long run? And is it likely that the Croatian and Serbian Rusyns will maintain the notion of a common standard?

Paul Robert Magocsi recently addressed some current problems of Rusyn language planning in his inaugural speech at the third congress on the Rusyn language, held in Cracow in 2007. In his presentation, that Rusyn leader called for the further elaboration of national standards where they have not yet been established, particularly in the Transcarpathian oblast, where at least two more or less serious versions have been proposed by Ihor Kerča and Stepan Popovyč (1999) and Dmytro Sydor (2005), and in Hungary, where extremely diverse versions have been in use since the early 1990s (see Magocsi 2008: 10–11). With an eye to a future Rusyn common standard, Magocsi encouraged activists to replace loanwords from their state languages with words likely to be understood by all Rusyns; he also recommended that the creation of a single linguistic and geographic terminology on a Latin basis be discussed and criticized the curious fact that in some variants, e.g., in the Bačka-Srijem region, the adjective *rus'kŷj* means "Rusyn," whereas in Slovakia it means "Russian."⁹

First and foremost, Magocsi emphasized the importance of a common Rusyn standard not only because "Rusyns in Romania or Ukraine would be able to completely understand Rusyns in Slovakia or Poland" but also because non-Rusyn organizations and individuals have become increasingly interested in publishing Rusyn dictionaries or Rusyn grammars. However, he also pointed out that nobody really knows "which Rusyn language, or which of its variants, we should use" (ibid., 13).

It is precisely the issue of a common Rusyn standard that may soon gain even more significance. Without such a common language, it could become increasingly difficult to convince outsiders that Rusyn is in fact only one language. If that were really the case, one might ask why the still so modest Slovak standardization of 1995 was celebrated with the slogan "A New Slavic Language Is Born" even though the Bačka-Srijem variant had already been codified for several decades. Why, then, did other Rusyns not just adopt (or at least adapt) that variant? Can one believe in the notion of one Rusyn language while observing that different variants of Rusyn are barely intercomprehensible, constituting a greater language barrier than the separate variants of Rusyn and other Slavic languages (including Ukrainian)?

⁹ Magocsi also addressed alphabet problems, deplored the fact that some publications of the Greek Catholic Church in Slovakia still appear in Latin script, and pointed out that the transcription of Rusyn in the electronic media is "chaotic" (ibid., 11–13).

Only time will tell whether a common Rusyn standard will ever be established or, even more problematic, disseminated in the speech communities. One of the main problems is quite obvious: if variants of Rusyn were to be disseminated in speech communities with some success as so much closer to the local dialects than allegedly alien Ukrainian, then a switch to any language with a broader reach might appear highly risky, because, after all, such a language would inevitably be much more remote from the local dialects (and probably not much less remote than Modern Standard Ukrainian).

The first serious attempt at creating a modern Rusyn common standard was promoted quite recently by the Uzhhorod-based journalist, publisher, and activist Valerij Padjak, who introduced this idiom in a translation of Paul Robert Magocsi's A People from Nowhere. For more or less obvious reasons, that variant is clearly based on the dialects of the Transcarpathian oblast: Padjak writes *mabym* or *maŭnepba* (Magocsi 2007d: 11, 24) and uses local forms such as *αŭбo* (ibid., 12); he also introduces not only Russian loanwords such as uscnidosameni 'researchers' or побідоносно 'victoriously' (ibid., 24, 91) but also several Hungarian ones such as *badb* (from *vagy* 'or') (ibid., 12), иппен (from éppen 'just') (ibid., 22), or фалатавут ся (from falat 'bit, bite') (ibid., 21). Although Padjak, curiously enough, reintroduces the letter \hat{o} to cover the varying Rusyn reflexes of o in newly closed syllables (in accordance with much fartherreaching Ruthenian/Rusyn/Ukrainian etymologically based orthographies of the nineteenth and twentieth centuries [!]), his project is unlikely to be accepted outside the Transcarpathian oblast, if at all. Slovak Rusyns are likely to have serious problems in recognizing that language as their own, and the same will certainly apply even more to the Lemkos in Poland, not to mention the Rusyns in the Bačka-Srijem region.

In fact, current Rusyn problems are even more basic. During the past few years, even leading codifiers in various countries have not managed to maintain a united front: Rusyn activists in Slovakia have not only sharply criticized recent orthographic innovations but also complained that the Slovak standard of Rusyn pays virtually no attention to the westernmost dialects (Van'ko 2008). Rusyn interest groups in Prešov have split, and since 2003–4 two standard Slovak Rusyn models have been in use (Koporova 2010: 5–6). In Poland, Henryk Fontański has complained that even Mirosława Chomiak, his coauthor of the Lemko grammar of 2000 (2d ed. 2004), is not willing to introduce the norms of that grammar into her own textbooks (Fontański 2008: 51). In the Transcarpathian oblast, Rusyns are still searching for norms (Padjak 2008: 72), and they are not likely to agree soon. In Hungary, Rusyns are "still far" from "ideal standards" (Kapral' 2008: 77). Even in the Bačka-Srijem region, the extent of divergence between the Rusyn standard and the spoken language appears to be much greater than "normal" (Ramač 2008: 86–89).

5. Conclusion

Accepting the status of the still loosely standardized national variants of Rusyn as one language (with one history) basically means agreeing with an axiom put forward by Rusyn activists. Despite some indisputable achievements, it is still impossible to predict whether the Rusyn project will succeed in the long run.

"UKRAINIZATION" AND THE UKRAINIAN LANGUAGE

1. On the eve of "Ukrainization," a tactical break in the revolutionary movement After the Bolshevik Revolution of 1917, the Red Army failed to annex Ukraine twice before the Bolsheviks finally seized power. The Red Army initiated its first attack in late December 1917, but it was expelled as early as March 1918. The second Bolshevik occupation lasted from January to August 1919. Not until the winter of 1919 did the Bolsheviks finally succeed in Ukraine, and it was only the Treaty of Riga (18 March 1921) that ultimately consolidated their power (Borys 1980: 171–295). Following the Bolsheviks' first assault of December 1917,

the Bolsheviks themselves recognized that the masses were against them. The population's enmity can be ascribed, first, to the Soviet food policy, the removal of grain and other foods from Ukraine to Russia, and second, to the party's national policy, which ignored and even fought the Ukrainian national movement and which included frequent reprisals against Ukrainians as such, not only against counter-revolutionaries (ibid., 195).

The Bolshevik Party had only "a weak connection with the masses of Ukrainian nationality," as the Bolshevik party historian Nikolaj Popov admitted later (cited ibid., 184), and there were very few ethnic Ukrainians among the party members.¹ The Bolsheviks had virtually no experience in conducting their "work among the masses in the Ukrainian language," as Popov added, so that Bolshevik "influence... in Ukraine on the peasantry...before and after October" was in general "very small" (cited according to Solchanyk 1985: 64). Moreover, especially during their first occupation of Ukraine between late December 1917 and March 1918, the Bolshevik troops under General Mixail Murav'ev presented themselves as an avidly anti-Ukrainian force. During their occupation of Kyiv in February 1918, they identified thousands of "counterrevolutionaries" by their language and massacred thousands of them (as witnessed even by Ukrainian Bolsheviks themselves).² From the outset, Ukrainian peasants suffered grain requisitions, and mass shootings occurred often. Up to 1922, this policy led to several local famines and a major famine in Ukraine, with millions of people starved to death (Graziosi 2008: 34; Holod 1992).

Peasant uprisings would not end. As Bohdan Krawchenko contends, "for the Bolsheviks in Ukraine, control of the village seemed to be an insurmountable problem. Unable to win the village from within, they attempted to control it from

¹ In 1918, as few 3.2 percent of the Bolsheviks were Ukrainians (Ševel'ov 1989: 90).

² None other than the Bolshevik leader Volodymyr Zatons'kyj reported: "The dialectic of life is that in fact those very same Red Guards who despised Petliura and along with him everything Ukrainian, those who very nearly executed Skrypnyk and me in Murav'ev's Kyiv—it was they and not Hruševs'kyj who were building Soviet Ukraine. I was to be executed, too. I was saved by accident. In my pocket I found a mandate with Lenin's signature. This saved me. Somebody recognized Skrypnyk, and this saved him... Objectively, it was those who were doing the executing for the Ukrainian word—they were the ones who in fact built Ukraine" (Zatons'kyj 1927: 79; cited in part according to Solchanyk 1985: 65).

above, destroying in the process more than they could create" (Krawchenko 1985: 65; see also Graziosi 2008: 36).

Initially, the Bolsheviks were unable "to come to terms with the fact that in 1917–1919, side by side with the all-Russian revolution, Ukraine had also experienced a national revolution" (Solchanyk 1985: 63, Ukrajinizacija 2003: 26).³ Originally, they supported "every force leading to the eradication of national distinctions" (Borys 1980: 31). Faced with significant problems in Ukraine, however, the Bolsheviks finally found it necessary to revise their attitude to the Ukrainian question (Ukrajinizacija 2003: 18, 34; Solchanyk 1985: 66).⁴

In November 1919, the Central Committee of the Russian Communist Party (Bolshevik) (RCP[B]) accepted Lenin's "Draft Resolution on Soviet Rule in Ukraine" (Lenin 1965: 163–166), which obliged all party members to

facilitate in every way the removal of all obstacles to the free development of the Ukrainian language and culture.... Members of the RCP in Ukraine must in practice adhere to the right of the toiling masses to learn their native language and use it in all Soviet institutions, opposing in every way attempts by artificial means to push the Ukrainian language into the background and, quite the opposite, striving to transform the Ukrainian language into a weapon of communist education of the toiling masses. Immediate steps should be taken so that all Soviet institutions have a sufficient number of employees conversant in the Ukrainian language and that in the future all employees are able to make themselves understood in the Ukrainian language (quoted according to Solchanyk 1985: 66).⁵

³ The Central Rada had contributed a great deal to the development of Ukrainian-language education on all levels, including the establishment of the first Ukrainian university in Kyiv; it had introduced the Ukrainian language at all levels of administration as well. During the less than eight months of the Hetmanate, there were many more achievements in the sphere of "Ukrainization" prior to Bolshevik rule. Inter alia, the Ukrainian Academy of Sciences was established (Ukrajinizacija 2003: 26–27).

⁴ As early as January 1919, Xrystyjan Rakovs'kyj's second Bolshevik government declared that "the language of instruction in the schools depends on the will of the local worker and peasant populations" (Solchanyk 1985: 67). On 9 March 1919, the Provisional Government issued a decree "On the Mandatory Study of the Local Language, History, and Geography of Ukraine in the Schools" (Ukrajinizacija 2003: 34). However, during the short-lived second Soviet occupation of Ukraine, these documents had virtually no impact.

⁵ In the same month, Lenin wrote some remarkable sentences concerning the Ukrainian question in a discussion of "the figures of the 1917 election results, which had shown that the Ukrainian parties (chiefly the S[ocial] R[evolutionarie]s) [had] obtained the majority of the votes in Ukraine" (Borys 1980: 254): "In such a state of affairs, to ignore the importance of the national question in Ukraine, of which the Great Russians are very frequently guilty (and probably the Jews are guilty of it only a little less frequently than the Great Russians), means committing a profound and dangerous error. The division between the Russian and Ukrainian SRs in Ukraine as early as 1917 cannot be a mere accident. Being internationalists, we must first struggle especially energetically against remnants (sometimes subconscious ones) of Great Russian imperialism and chauvinism among the "Russian" Communists; secondly, we must make concessions only on the national question, as it is one of relatively little importance..." (ibid., 254). Although Lenin did not discuss the language question in this context, the message did, of course, pertain to it as well.

With the exception of Jakov Epštejn (Jakovlev) and Volodymyr Zatons'kyj,⁶ the Bolsheviks of Ukraine were reportedly "critical of the resolution, viewing it as a concession to Ukrainian nationalism" (ibid., 67).7 After all, the Bolsheviks viewed themselves as "internationalists" and regarded the very concept of the nation as a mere remnant of bourgeois ideology. None other than Stalin (Ioseb Besarionis dze Jugashvili) had written in 1918 that "the national flag is sewn on only to deceive the masses, as a popular flag, a convenience for covering up...the counter-revolutionary plans of the national bourgeoisie," and that "if bourgeois circles attempt to give a national tint to [our] conflicts, then only because it is convenient to hide their battle for power behind a national costume" (cited according to Martin 2001: 4). It is true that, as Terry Martin argues, "this interpretation of nationalism as a masking ideology helps explain why the Bolsheviks remained highly suspicious of national expression, even after they adopted a policy explicitly designed to encourage it" (ibid.). At the same time, these words can be interpreted differently: obviously, the Bolsheviks were perfectly aware of the general utility of the "national mask." It followed that they, too, used it to cover up their own "struggle for power." Obviously, the "national mask" was convincing only if it spoke the "national language" as well.

On 22 February 1920, in the midst of the third Bolshevik invasion of Ukraine, Lenin sent the following telegram to Stalin:

It is essential immediately to arrange for interpreters at all headquarters and army institutions, and make it the duty of all to accept applications and other papers written in Ukrainian. This is absolutely essential—as far as language is concerned there must be every concession and the maximum of equality (Lenin 1965: 370; see Ševel'ov 1989: 86).⁸

In the course of 1919 and 1920, a series of laws stipulated the toleration of the official use of the Ukrainian language alongside Russian (Ukrajinizacija 2003: 18, Ševel'ov 1989: 88, Solchanyk 1985: 67),⁹ and in early 1921, the Bolsheviks

⁶ Volodymyr Zatons'kyj was Ukraine's People's Commissar of Education five times. As the Soviets repeatedly entered Ukraine and retreated during the Civil War, he held that post three times, albeit only for a few weeks each time (from December 1917, from January 1919, and from December 1919). Afterwards, Zatons'kyj held the same post from 30 October 1922 to 14 March 1924 and from 22 February 1933 to 3 November 1937. As early as 1923, Zatons'kyj criticized the All-Ukrainian Academy of Sciences for its contribution to the development of the Ukrainian language, complaining that it had oriented the language on Galician dialects. On 3 November 1937, Zatons'kyj was arrested as a Polish spy. He was shot on 29 July 1938.

⁷ In November 1920, Mykola Skrypnyk referred to this resolution as a "lost charter" (Solchanyk 1985: 68).

⁸ As Jurij Ševel'ov contended, this telegram demonstrated at least three things: that the Soviet occupation forces were of a "prevailing Russian [or, rather, Russophone] character"; that "in the years to come," too, "concessions would be made regarding language, but not other matters"; and that "not the domination of the Ukrainian language but rather its admittance alongside Russian should be fostered (in other words, Russian was one of the two accepted languages of Ukraine)" (Ševel'ov 1989: 86).

⁹ In particular, on 21 February 1920 the Soviets issued a decree "On the Use of the Ukrainian Language on a Par with Russian in All Soviet Institutions." On 21 September 1920, the Council of People's Commissars of Ukraine adopted another decree providing for the introduction of the Ukrainian language, sometimes along with Russian, in the schools and official institutions of Ukraine

considered establishing the use of the Ukrainian language within the party "as a means to disseminate Communist ideas among the toiling masses of Ukraine" (Ukrajinizacija 2003: 26).¹⁰

Paragraph 25 of the "Law Code on Popular Education in the UkrSSR" ("Кодекс законів про народню освіту в УРСР") stated:

The Ukrainian language as the language of the majority of the population of the Ukraine, especially in villages, and Russian, as the language of the majority in cities and as the All-Union language, have in the Ukrainian S.S.R. national (общегосударственное) significance and must be taught in all educational (учебно-воспитательных) institutions of the Ukrainian Soviet Socialist [it was "Socialist Soviet" until 1937] Republic (cited according to Ševel'ov 1989: 89).

Moreover,

the Criminal Procedures Code of 13 September 1922 spoke, in paragraph 22, of legal proceedings "in one of the two state languages, Ukrainian or Russian" (ibid.).

On the theoretical level, Lenin repeatedly emphasized that Ukraine was to be granted the right to self-determination and secession (which would even be enshrined in the Constitution of the Soviet Union) (Borys 1980: 12–51). In practice, the Bolsheviks consistently centralized their realm and persecuted any Ukrainian who showed any sign of "separatist" thinking.¹¹ At their plenum of October 1922, the Bolsheviks identified "four nationalist citadels" of "the Ukrainian counterrevolution": traditional schools, the Autocephalous Church, Prosvita popular educational organizations, and various cooperatives (ibid., 38). Not surprisingly, all these institutions encountered Bolshevik hostility,¹² as did the Ukrainian Academy of Sciences, the leading Ukrainian intellectual center, which from the beginning of the third Soviet occupation was "reduced to a starvation budget..., and its access to printing facilities was restricted" (Ševel'ov 1989: 88). Under these conditions, it comes as no surprise that the years of Bolshevik rule up to 1923 were a period of "'stand-still' in the implementation of nationalities policy" (Solchanyk 1985: 68), as the Bolshevik party historian Nikolaj Popov wrote later.

⁽Ukrajinizacija 2003: 35).

¹⁰ Vlas Čubar and Oleksandr Šums'kyj were commissioned to prepare a circular in that regard (Ukrajinizacija 2003: 36).

¹¹ When Ukraine "entered a union with Soviet Russia" in late 1920, it immediately relinquished its sovereignty in the spheres of the military, finances, labor, communication, and the economy," and "it was accepted that all decrees issued by the CPC of Soviet Russia were also valid in the Ukraine" (Ševel'ov 1989: 94). Two years later, on 30 December 1922, the creation of the Soviet Union continued the gradual undermining of Ukraine's sovereignty and administrative centralization in Moscow (Ukrajinizacija 2003: 39–44).

¹² The branches of Prosvita were quickly suppressed. In February 1922, there were 4,500 of them; by 1925, only 573 survived (ibid., 39). In 1928, there were as many as 41,734 cooperatives. In 1927, the Bolsheviks began their struggle against the cooperatives, which inevitably "meant further limitations on the use of the Ukrainian language in the economic realm" (Ševel'ov 1989: 123, 126).

The Bolsheviks' leading expert on nationality policy was Stalin. In his theses for the XII Party Congress of the RCP(B) on 24 March 1923, he explained the ideological framework of that policy, which would be decisive for the nationality policy of the Soviet Union as a whole in the following years-the policy of "nationalization" or, as it was called later, "indigenization." Stalin explained in his speech that because of the tsarist legacy, the Soviet Union was witnessing manifestations of "nationalism among a whole range of peoples" who had "suffered under the heavy yoke of national oppression and not yet arrived at the point where they could free themselves of the feelings of traditional national offense" (Stalin 1936: 173). It followed from this, according to Stalin, that there was "a certain national alienation and a lack of full trust among the formerly oppressed people ["Hapodob"] for [any] measures taken by the Russians" (ibid.). Stalin argued that "these remainders turn into local chauvinism directed against weak national groups in the individual republics"; consequently, "a direct fight against them" was "mandatory for party members" (ibid). He therefore insisted that henceforth "the organs of the national republics and oblasts" should increasingly be staffed with "local people who knew the languages, customs, manners and habits" of the local nationalities ["народов"]" (ibid., 175).

In another key speech on 23 April 1923, Stalin argued that the Bolsheviks "had risked departing too far from those resources of the revolution that were given by the will of fate," and for that reason alone they had introduced their new economic policy (NEP). As an external measure, NEP would "retard forward movement"; as an internal measure, however, it was useful: after the period of war, the party "had to catch its breath and heal the wounds—the wounds of the leading rank, the proletariat," and "get in touch with the peasant hinterland" (ibid., 180). Stalin explained that NEP had led to the growth of "Russian nationalism" as well as of "local nationalisms, particularly in republics inhabited by more than one nationality"; he added that "Great Russian chauvinism" was "certainly" the greater danger, simply because of its "power" (ibid., 180), addressed the danger of a "breach ["разрыв"] between the proletariat of a former state nation and the peasants of a formerly oppressed people," and urged a "link" [Russian "смычка," Ukrainian "змичка"] between proletarians and peasants." In many regions of the Soviet realm, relations between the urban proletariat and the peasants were not least a problem of language, as peasants often spoke indigenous languages other than Russian, while the towns were often predominantly Russophone. Stalin explained that henceforth, the languages of the indigenous (Russian "коренные") peasant masses were to serve as a means of uniting the party, workers, and peasants in the individual Soviet republics, for it was only if the peasants heard their languages being used that they would lose their "distrust of everything Russian," which had been "nourished" by tsarist policy "for decades."13 He promised that the result would be "full mutual understanding and trust...a true link not only between the proletariat and the Russian peasantry, but also between the Russian proletariat and

¹³ Lenin had also spoken about distrust toward Russians among non-Russian nationalities in 1919 (Martin 2001: 3).

the peasantry of other nationalities" (ibid., 181). It was precisely through the use of the non-Russian languages that Soviet power was to be made "comprehensible" to the peasant masses, who in turn would come to regard it as their own in the long run. Thus, in time, Soviet rule would be accepted not as Russian but as truly international (ibid., 181–182).

In the years to come, the policy of "nationalization" had a considerable impact on the development of many national languages and cultures in the Soviet realm, including Ukrainian. It should be pointed out, however, that when Stalin defined the program of "nationalization," he associated it very closely with the New Economic Policy (NEP), a rather short-lived phenomenon that ended with Stalin's introduction of central planning in 1928. Moreover, Stalin explicitly described both NEP and "nationalization" as a mere halt in the progress of the revolution.¹⁴

In Ukraine, "nationalization," or, as it was to be called later, "indigenization" meant first and foremost "Ukrainization."¹⁵ Moreover, "Ukrainization" was to be implemented in other Soviet regions with significant Ukrainian minority populations (the North Caucasus, Central Asia, Siberia, the Far East, etc.).

The Politburo of the Communist Party (Bolshevik) of Ukraine (CP[B]U) discussed the "Ukrainization" issue in May 1923, and the June plenary session of its Central Committee ratified the Politburo directives regarding practical measures in the sphere of nationality policy (inter alia, the Bolsheviks decided to permit Ukrainian intellectuals to work in Soviet institutions) (Ukrajinizacija 2003: 49). Subsequently, two decrees of 27 July and 1 August 1923 on the "Ukrainian language a position corresponding to the numerical superiority of the Ukrainian language a position corresponding to the numerical superiority of the Ukrainian people in the Ukrainian SSR," ultimately introduced the era of "Ukrainization" (ibid., Solchanyk 1985: 69). In the following months, however, "the very number" of new decrees and resolutions of similar content showed "that the situation did not" in fact "undergo any essential changes," and that "the published laws and ordinances were not consistently enforced" (Ševel'ov 1989: 90).

It is generally agreed that "Ukrainization" made very modest progress until 1925,¹⁶ when so-called "mechanical Ukrainization" was followed by "functional Ukrainization" (Martin 2001: 75–124; Ukrajinizacija 2003: 49–50). Interestingly, the Bolsheviks themselves admitted during the April 1925 plenum of the Central Committee of the CP(B)U that any serious achievements regarding "Ukrainization" had been "made mainly from below, by way of the natural Ukrainization of the Soviet

¹⁴ Interestingly, Symon Petljura wrote as early as 3 November 1923: "In general, the affair of Ukrainization makes the impression of a certain tactical move on the part of Bolsheviks; if it does not yield the desired outcome, it will soon be abandoned" (cited after Ševel'ov 1989: 112).

¹⁵ Originally, the term "Ukrainization" was apparently introduced by Myxajlo Hruševs'kyj, "who, in the pages of the volume *The Liberation of Russia and the Ukrainian Question* (1907), polemicized with those who believed that 'the Ukrainization of higher education in Ukraine would have a harmful effect on scholarly life'" (Ukrajinizacija 2003: 15).

¹⁶ A special committee found at the end of 1924 that "far from all institutions took Ukrainization seriously.... After a year's work, we have achieved barely half of what we expected. Although our successes indicate that some work is being done, it is nevertheless insignificant" (Solchanyk 1985: 69).

apparatus that ha[d] contact with the peasantry and by way of the Ukrainization of the lower schools" (Solchanyk 1985: 69).

2. "Mechanical Ukrainization"

2.1. Discourses

The leaders of the CP(B)U were highly distrustful of Ukrainian national aspirations from the outset. Georgij Pjatakov, who had been elected first secretary of the Central Committee of the CP(B)U in July 1918, was in fact one of the most prominent opponents of Lenin's slogan of the right of national self-determination. At the VIII Congress of the Russian Communist Party in December 1919, he argued that "the slogan of the right of nations to self-determination has shown itself in practice, during the social revolution, as a slogan uniting all counterrevolutionary forces" (cited according to Martin 2001: 2).¹⁷

In early 1919, Pjatakov's Bulgarian-born precursor Xrystyjan Rakovs'kyj denounced any effort to introduce Ukrainian as the official language of Soviet Ukraine as "reactionary and totally unnecessary"; the only concession he considered possible was the provision of elementary education "in the native language" (Solchanyk 1985: 65–66). In 1922, Rakovs'kyj wrote that "the supremacy of the Ukrainian language would have had to have meant the supremacy of the Ukrainian petty bourgeois intelligen[t]sia and the Ukrainian kulaks" (cited ibid., 66),¹⁸ thus supporting the traditional idea of Ukrainian as an essentially "reactionary" language. In 1923, however, Rakovs'kyj found himself obliged to convey the essence of Stalin's new policy to the Bolsheviks of Ukraine.¹⁹ It cost him considerable rhetorical effort to appeal to himself and his comrades to grasp "with our intellect and with our emotions...the psychology of the Ukrainian people" and "the anger of the oppressed subject nations" (Rakovs'kyj 1923: 105) and to convince himself and his fellow party members that only "Ukrainization" would "forestall any effort to set village against town, Ukrainians against Russians, 'Xoxly' against 'Kacapy,'" a confrontation that would only help the counterrevolutionaries (ibid.).²⁰ Rakovs'kyj's statement that "to wave this away and say that it does not

¹⁷ Lenin reacted to Pjatakov with the following intriguing words: "Scratch any Communist and you find a Great Russian chauvinist" (cited according to Martin 2001: 2).

¹⁸ Jurij Ševel'ov concluded that "the principle underlying [Rakovs'kyj's] language policy was the legal equality of the Ukrainian and Russian languages" (Ševel'ov 1989: 92–93). The question of whether such "legal equality" was not just sloganeering deserves further study.

¹⁹ As early as the XII Party Congress of the RCP(B), when Stalin outlined the policy of "Ukrainization," Rakovs'kyj sided with him and declared: "Sometimes I have heard comrades call the Ukrainian language an invention of Galicians. Has not, after all, the great-power attitude of a Russian man crept into this, [the attitude of a man] who has never experienced national oppression but, quite the reverse, has oppressed other nations throughout [several] centuries?" (cited after Ševel'ov 1989: 93).

^{20 &}quot;Почасти з тою ж самою метою, попередження спроб протиставлення села-місту, українцівросіянам, "хохлов"-"кацапам", протиставлення, що відограло величезну ролю в руках контр-революції і може кожен день знову стати перешкодою на дорозі нашої революції – ми повинні дати правильне розвязання національного питання. [...] Як про російську інтелігенцію, навіть національного пригнічення, так і про російських робітників можна сказати: їм потрібно зробити над собою певні зусилля, аби зрозуміти психологію українського

exist; that those who speak about it are not internationalists, and so on and so forth, is incorrect and dangerous" (ibid.) is highly suggestive with regard to prevailing views among the Bolsheviks.

Another Bolshevik leader in Ukraine, the Latvian-born ethnic German Émmanuil Kviring, explained the goals of "Ukrainization" in an article in the journal *Červonyj Šljax* (Red Pathway) (Kviring 1923: 107). Kviring, too, found it important to refute the (obviously widespread) view of "Ukrainization" as an aberration from Bolshevik "internationalist" policy. He explained that it was essential to elevate the formerly oppressed Ukrainian culture to the level of the Russian, even if that could not be achieved quickly.²¹ At the same time, he intimated that the Bolsheviks did not want "Ukrainization" to become a truly comprehensive policy: if he began by praising the early achievements of "Ukrainization," he went on to place considerably more emphasis on those spheres in which it was to be introduced only with the utmost caution, if at all. Going into detail, Kviring boasted that elementary schools had been successfully "Ukrainized"-although he forgot to add that many achievements in that sphere had been anticipated prior to Soviet rule-and envisaged the possibility of "Ukrainizing" agricultural institutes. First and foremost, however, Kviring underscored that the "Ukrainization" of middle and higher level-schools would "inevitably" take a lot of time. Moreover, he mocked the idea of "Ukrainizing" medical institutes "with their cadres of old professors and urban bourgeois students" as "ridiculous," declaring that anyone who thought that after a few years all universities of Ukraine would be "Ukrainized" was an "ardent chauvinist" (ibid., 107-109, 112).²² At that point, Kviring switched focus and

народу. Росія панувала. Вона зохоплювала [!], вона асимілювувала, вона примушувала всіх так чи инакше проходити через російський казан. І Росія, як пануюча нація, не розуміла обурення пригнічених, підлеглих націй. А нам це треба зрозуміти своїм розумом і своїм чуттям. [...] Махнути рукою на це й сказати, що цього нема, що ті, які говорять про це – вони не інтернаціоналісти й т. ин. – неправильно й небезпечно."

[&]quot;Багатьом товаришам здається, що в нашій національній політиці настав різкий поворіт, 21 що ми круто повернули в бік націоналізму, особливо в галузі національної культури. Це зовсім не так. Спілка Республік є тільки більш досконала форма використання права нації на самовизначення в умовах пролетарської диктатури. Спілка більш яскраво й повно здійснює це право в новозмінених господарчих умовах. Те ж саме й що до національної культури. Правда, ми робимо значний поворіт, переводючи держапарат на українське діловодство, але цей різкий перехід став можливим лишень завдяки нашій попередній роботі. [...] Українську культуру кілька сот літ душив царат. Зрозуміло, що українська культура мусила відстати від культури російської. Як же зразу тепер змінити цю ріжницю сил? Піднести українську культуру за рік за два на височінь російської – очевидно неможливо. Потрібна була велика підготовча робота в шкільній галузі, і найперше в школі початковій, щоб широко розгорнути українську культуру. – Ми можемо сказати, що за роки Радянської влади в ділянці закріплення й розвитку української культури зроблено дуже багато. І якраз ця пророблена підготовча праця дозволяє нам зараз зробити найсильніший натиск у бік поширення й поглиблення української культурної роботи в усіх галузях."

^{22 &}quot;Але заразом із тим мусимо знати, що українізація середньої та вищої школи є неодмінно довготривалий, поступовий процес, який вимагає великої підготовчої роботи що до утворення відповідних кадрів учителів та пролетарського складу студенства. Було б донкіхотством українізувати наші медінститути з кадрами старих професорів і міським міщанським студенством. Така українізація була б сміховищем. Инша справа, коли ми, дібравши вже тепер до сільсько-господарчих інститутів 49% студентів-селян, українців,

discussed the need to unite both Russian and Ukrainian culture and the masses of workers and peasants of both countries. He emphasized that Russian culture was important to the Ukrainians—a peasant people with only a small percentage of workers—and underscored that every educated Ukrainian was to be bilingual²³ (ibid., 109).²⁴ Kviring's actual attitude toward the Ukrainian language became even more apparent when he remarked that everyone preferred to read Lenin, Trotsky, "and others" in the original Russian, whereas "we have not yet managed to make the Ukrainian language a weapon of communist propaganda" (ibid., 112).²⁵ Present-day historians broadly agree that Kviring did not foster but in fact actually hampered the progress of "Ukrainization" (Ukrajinizacija 2003: 51).

Bolshevik propaganda notwithstanding, the policy of "Ukrainization" was thus introduced in an atmosphere unfavorable from the outset to the comprehensive development of the Ukrainian language. As early as November 1920, Grigorij Zinov'ev (Ovsej-Gershon Radomysl'skij-Apfel'baum) defined the "essence of the nationality policy in the Ukraine" as follows:

We must act so that no one can say that we want to be in the way of Ukrainian muzhiks who want to speak Ukrainian.... In some years [to come] that language will win that has more roots, that is more vital, more cultured (Ševel'ov 1989: 92; see also Solchanyk 1985: 67).²⁶

Accordingly, when Dmitrij Lebed', the "second-ranking Bolshevik in Ukraine," officially declared that a "Battle of Two Cultures" was going on in Ukraine, this was not just the expression of an isolated opinion of a random member of the Bolshevik Party. In his pamphlet, which was published in 1923, that is, in the same year that Stalin proclaimed the policy of "nationalization,"²⁷ Lebed'

почнемо викладати більшість дисціплін [sic] українською мовою. [...] Проте, чи визначає це, що через де-кілька років всі вищі школи на Україні будуть українізовані і що російська мова буде мати для української науки таке ж значіння, як, скажемо, в Німеччині або у Франції. Треба бути запеклим шовіністом, щоб ставити собі такий ідеал. [...]."

- 24 "Ми вважаємо, що російська та українська культура злучені остільки же міцно, як і робітничеселянські маси обох Республік, і що це єднання, з розвитком української культури, не буде слабшати, а зміцнюватися, й обидві культури стануть взаємно цінними. Ми мусимо прагнути того, аби зберегти за українським юнацтвом можливість однаково засвоювати досвід обох культур. А це визначає, що кожний освічений українець мусить остільки ж добре володіти російською, як і українською мовою, і всі досягнення російської науки мусять стати досягненням української і навтаки."
- 25 "Тірше з книжками з боку соціяльного знання. В цій галузі на першому місці стоїть російська література, та й то, головним чином, тому, що Лєніна й Троцького та инших всі читають в оригиналі радше, аніж в перекладі. Однак, це свідчить про те, що ми й досі ще не встигли зробити українську мову зброєю комуністичної пропаганди. Цей свій гріх ми знаємо й прагнемо його виправити, але я маю дуже великий сумнів, що це буде довподоби панам шовінистам."
- 26 As Ševel'ov adds, "a poignant fact is that no one attending the conference objected to the statement" (Ševel'ov 1989: 92).
- 27 One year earlier, in September 1922, Lebed' had warned in a circular to the gubernia executive

²³ In accordance with stereotypical ideas about "bilingualism" in Ukraine, Kviring said nothing about the Russophones of Ukraine, who might have found it useful to learn Ukrainian.

argued that Ukrainization was objectively "reactionary," since nationalization that is, the artificial introduction of the Ukrainian language into the Party and working class—given the current political, economic, and cultural relations between city and village—means to stand on the side of the lower culture of the village, instead of the higher culture of the city (Martin 2001: 78–79).

Lebed' thus "argued that Ukrainian should be used only for 'cultural enlightenment' in the village to prepare the peasantry for an eventual transition to the higher Russian culture," but "under no circumstances should the Ukrainian language or culture be promoted in urban environments"; "no repressive measures would be needed; official state neutrality would ensure the triumph of the superior Russian culture" (ibid.). Although these views were immediately refuted on the official level, Lebed' simply moved to Moscow and repeated the essence of his theory in 1928, that is, at the peak of "functional Ukrainization," in the highly authoritative organ of the Central Committee of the CPSU (Ševel'ov 1989: 127).

2.2. Achievements

From the outset, the implementation of Soviet "Ukrainization" was no easy task. The Bolsheviks became somewhat "more Ukrainian" only in March 1920, when members of other socialist revolutionary parties joined them. The most important of these were the so-called "Borot'bists," some of whom would play key roles in the years of "Ukrainization," such as Hryhorij Hryn'ko,²⁸ Oleksander Šums'kyj,²⁹ and Panas Ljubčenko.³⁰ But even as late as 1922, only 23 percent of Bolshevik Party members were Ukrainians, compared to 54 percent Russians and 21 percent others (predominantly Jews), and even fewer party members—only 11 percent—

committees against "right" elements that allegedly wished to "forcibly introduce Ukrainian culture to the Ukrainian people" (Ukrajinizacija 2003: 47).

²⁸ Hryhorij Hryn'ko was Ukraine's People's Commissar of Education from 1920 to late 1922, when he was dismissed as a result of "Moscow policy" (Ukrajinizacija 2003: 48) for what some called "excessive haste in carrying out Ukrainization" (Solchanyk 1985: 68, referring to Popov's history of the CP(B)U). In the following years, Hryn'ko made a significant career on the all-Soviet level, becoming People's Commissar of Finance in 1930. In 1937, Hryn'ko was arrested as an alleged member of the so-called "Bloc of Rights and Trotskyites"; he was shot in 1938.

²⁹ Oleksandr Šums'kyj was Ukraine's People's Commissar of Education for a few weeks after 21 November 1919 and once again from September 1924 to February 1927. In 1926, the Bolsheviks severely attacked Šums'kyj for "nationalist deviations" (see below) and transferred him to Moscow. In May 1933, Šums'kyj was arrested as an alleged member of the so-called "Ukrainian Military Organization" (UVO), one of the non-existent "Ukrainian nationalist organizations" invented by the Soviet secret police (see below). He spent several years in the GULAG and in internal exile. In 1946 he was murdered on the direct orders of Stalin and Lazar Kahanovyč (ČK – HPU – NKVD 1997: 34).

³⁰ Panas Ljubčenko served as a Bolshevik Party secretary in Kyiv from 1920 to 1927 and on the republican level from 1927 to 1934. He was first vice chairman and then chairman of the Council of People's Commissars of the Ukrainian SSR beginning in 1933 and 1934, respectively, before becoming a member of the Politburo of the Central Committee of the CP(B)U. Ljubčenko had a central role in the party campaign against "Šums'kism" after 1926 as well as during the show trial of the "Union for the Liberation of Ukraine" in early 1930. He was an important political actor during the Stalinist terror until 1937, when, accused of leading a counterrevolutionary Ukrainian nationalist organization, he shot his wife and himself.

had some command of Ukrainian (which did not necessarily imply active mastery) (Ukrajinizacija 2003: 62). By 1926, the proportion of Ukrainians had grown to 43.9 percent, compared to 37 percent Russians and 11.4 percent Jews (Ukrajinizacija 2003: 62–63); as for the Central Committee of the CP(B)U, Ukrainian representation increased from 16 percent in 1923 to 25 percent in 1925 (Ukrajinizacija 2003: 62–63).

Several decrees of 1923 provided for the predominant or exclusive use of Ukrainian in Soviet Ukrainian institutions; only persons with a command of "both most widely disseminated languages" of Ukraine, that is, Ukrainian and Russian,³¹ were to be hired, while those lacking such command could be accepted if they agreed to learn Ukrainian within six months. Previously hired employees were threatened with dismissal if they did not learn Ukrainian within a year (ibid., 69);³² they were offered free language courses that were usually scheduled for two hours after the regular working day. All these initiatives notwithstanding, little progress was made, especially in the most Russified regions: in Odesa in March 1924, for example, only 11 percent of officials reportedly knew Ukrainian "well" (whatever this actually meant) (Ukrajinizacija 2003: 72). New deadlines by which employees were expected to learn Ukrainian were repeatedly established and then extended; also, various commissions were created (ibid., 75–77), but to little avail. By April 1925, as many as 68 percent of 25,854 Soviet officials asked about their knowledge of Ukrainian reportedly had not acquired any command of the language whatever (ibid., 77; cf. Solchanyk 1985: 69).33

In the educational sphere, several decrees of 1923–25 stipulated that everyone in Ukraine had to learn both Ukrainian and Russian independently of the language of school instruction, whereby all national minorities with a compact territory of settlement enjoyed the right of native-language education (Ukrajinizacija 2003: 85). The use of Ukrainian as a language of instruction depended greatly on the region. In terms of mere figures, the situation in 1923 was as follows: throughout Ukraine (with an ethnic Ukrainian population of 72.5 percent), 61.3 percent of schools were Ukrainophone, and 11.4 percent were mixed. In the Poltava, Kyiv, Podilia, and Volhynia gubernias, the percentage of Ukrainian-language schools exceeded the percentage of ethnic Ukrainians; in all other regions, however, the opposite was true (ibid.; Pauly 2009: 254). In the Kharkiv gubernia, with ethnic Ukrainians constituting 79.2 percent of the population, 29.1 percent of schools were Ukrainophone and 49.2 percent mixed; in the Donetsk gubernia, with 47.9 percent ethnic Ukrainians, as few as 0.4 percent of schools were Ukrainophone (0.7 percent mixed); in the Odesa gubernia, with 53.6 percent ethnic Ukrainians, 34 percent

³¹ Some documents of 1923 spoke of two "state languages," but the term "state language" was abandoned within the year.

³² As Jurij Ševel'ov noted, citizens of Soviet Ukraine "knew that, by law, those officials who did not have a command of Ukrainian were to be fired"; they also knew that "whereas a messenger, a typist, or a secretary was occasionally dismissed on these grounds, the high functionaries, or *specy*, were in practice excused from Ukrainization" (Ševel'ov 1989: 127).

³³ According to Ševel'ov, citizens of Soviet Ukraine were perfectly aware that "whereas signboards were scheduled to be redone in Ukrainian" (by a resolution of 3 October 1926), "behind the façade the old Russian bureaucratic machine continued to exist" (Ševel'ov 1989: 127).

of schools were Ukrainophone (34 percent mixed) (Ukrajinizacija 2003: 86).³⁴ By 1925, the proportion of Ukrainian schools had officially reached 71 percent (7 percent were mixed) (Solchanyk 1985: 69), but, as critical contemporary voices suggest, and as Matthew Pauly's recent studies confirm, "the formal, linguistic Ukrainization of institutions" by no means indicated "a qualitative improvement in their use of Ukrainian" (Pauly 2009: 252). Quite often, such percentages merely give the impression of "Ukrainization on paper."

493

Moreover, most schools above the elementary level usually remained Russophone, and urban schools were in general "almost entirely" Russophone, meaning that the Ukrainian language "was not taught even as a subject in those schools," as Mykola Skrypnyk indicated in 1923 (cited according to Ševel'ov 1989: 101).³⁵ Another urgent problem was the lack of Ukrainophone teachers in the most Russified regions of Ukraine. The People's Commissariat of Education (Narkomos) "designated specific numbers of Ukrainian teachers that its provincial sections needed to train, focusing primarily on the eastern and southern regions of Ukraine: 500 for the Donbas, 300 for Katerynoslav (Dnipropetrovsk), 300 for Odesa, and 300 for Kharkiv" (Pauly 2009, 254);³⁶ moreover, many Ukrainophone teachers were transferred to the eastern or southern provinces (ibid., 256).³⁷ Another huge obstacle was the notorious lack of Ukrainian-language schoolbooks: in 1923, out of 2,513 schoolbooks printed in Ukraine, only 459 were Ukrainophone (aside from the large number of schoolbooks imported from Soviet Russia). Consequently, in 1924 about half the Ukrainophone schools were not supplied with schoolbooks, as Bolshevik officials themselves admitted (Ukrajinizacija 2003: 88-89).

The lack of funds for "Ukrainization" was notorious (Pauly 2009: 255),³⁸ and the linguistic reality of Ukrainian classrooms was far from ideal. As archival

As for mixed schools, "in practice, teachers...taught largely in Russian" (Pauly 2009: 255).

³⁵ Mykola Skrypnyk was one of the few Ukrainians who had been active in the Bolshevik Party prior to the Bolsheviks' fusion with the "Borot'bists." During the wars of 1917–21, Skrypnyk worked for the Cheka. In Ukraine, he was People's Commissar of Worker-Peasant Inspection (1920–21) and Internal Affairs (1921-22), then People's Commissar of Justice (1922–27). Skrypnyk contributed to the purge of Oleksander Šums'kyj, who had allegedly connived at the "forced Ukrainization" of Russian workers as Ukraine' People's Commissar of Education. Skrypnyk became Šums'kyj's successor from March 1927 to 22 February 1933 and took a leading role in "Ukrainization." Thereafter, Skrypnyk's role in the process of "Ukrainization" was eminent. From 26 May to 6 June 1927, Skrypnyk convened an orthographic conference in Kharkiv. In 1928, the Council of People's Commissars accepted rules of Ukrainian orthography as established on the basis of the results of that conference. In early 1933, the Bolsheviks accused Skrypnyk of "lack of vigilance" with regard to "national deviations." Skrypnyk shot himself on 7 July 1933 (see below).

³⁶ In December 1924, a report by the Donetsk provincial inspector "pointed to a gap between the number of teachers needed for Ukrainization in the province (2,791 persons) and those who spoke Ukrainian (523)" (Pauly 2009: 256). Since local school administrations usually could not offer housing and other benefits, "only the most desperate or the most enterprising would have accepted the risk associated with such a move" (ibid., 257).

³⁷ Some of these teachers were Galicians (Pauly 2009: 256).

³⁸ While "the greatest number of copies" that the People's Commissariat of Education "planned for any new textbook was 30,000," at the end of the academic year 1922–23 there were "some 779,500 children enrolled in Ukrainian-language schools alone," so that "these target numbers for textbooks fell well short of a full supply" (Pauly 2009: 257).

documents from Soviet Ukraine reveal, "Ukrainian teachers in the central regions taught according to their own dialectal inventory, and teachers in more Russified regions switched regularly between Russian and a Ukrainian heavily reliant on Russian borrowings" (ibid.).

In many "Ukrainized" schools, work was actually done in Russian (Pauly 2009: 258–259).³⁹ Regarding the print media produced in Ukraine, Russian-language newspapers clearly prevailed over Ukrainophone ones up to 1924:

Year	In U: number; circulation	In R: number; circulation
1918	60; not given	227, not given
1923	28; 80,000	86; 492,000
1924	36; 176,000	95; 752,000

(Source: Ševel'ov 1989: 96)

Furthermore, Russian newspapers were brought in from Soviet Russia in large quantities, so that "the low number of Ukrainian newspapers becomes even more striking" (Ševel'ov 1989: 97). As for journals produced in Ukraine in the early 1920s, their number and circulation were generally very low (ibid., 98–99).

Ukrainian-language book production grew from 36 percent in 1923 to 45.8 percent in 1925–26 (Ukrajinizacija 2003: 145; cf. slightly different data in Ševel'ov 1989: 100), but here, too, the actual percentages of books offered in the shops and libraries of Ukraine were quite different, given the large number of books imported from Russia. As for belles lettres, the founding of the literary association *Hart* is noteworthy, as it "resented the restriction of the Ukrainian literature and language to the countryside and wanted to see Ukrainian conquer the city and the class that was officially the most advanced, the bearer of the future, and the subject of dictatorship in the present—that is, the workers" (ibid., 106; for details see Shkandrij 1992).

Most other spheres remained predominantly Russophone.

The leading institution in charge of Ukrainian language standardization was the Ukrainian Academy of Sciences, led by Ahatanhel Kryms'kyj. The academy not only published (in 1920) a slightly revised version of the orthographic rules prepared at the time of the Hetman State but also established an Institute of the Ukrainian Scientific Language in 1921, which prepared a number of

³⁹ Although similar statements might occasionally have been made for purely Ukrainophobic reasons (as nowadays), the assessment was probably quite realistic: for decades, teachers had been trained to teach in Russian, while opportunities to disseminate the Ukrainian standard language had been meager at a time when Ukrainian was not authorized for use in schoolbooks or in classroom instruction. In the 1920s, the Ukrainian standard language was in fact still in the making, and it was clearly in urgent need of institutional support.

terminological dictionaries, and a commission on the compilation of a dictionary of the contemporary Ukrainian language, which worked on a four-volume Russian-Ukrainian dictionary (Ševel'ov 1989: 103). The scholars regarded the Ukrainian language as an autonomous system and did not aim to bring it close to Russian; moreover, they were by no means Bolsheviks, and so the Russian-Ukrainian dictionary offered barely any illustrations from Soviet sources, concentrating instead on literary, ethnographic, and biblical texts (ibid.).⁴⁰

But even sympathizers of the Soviet cause developed ideas for the standardization of Ukrainian that did not please the Bolsheviks. As early as 1923, that is, three years before the central party organs themselves addressed the latinization of alphabets in the Soviet Union (Martin 2001: 187), two prominent Ukrainian writers suggested introducing the Latin alphabet for the Ukrainian language in the name of "internationalization." In issues 6–7 of the Bolshevik Ukrainian journal *Červonyj Šljax*, Serhij Pylypenko published an "Open Letter" (Odvertyj lyst) in which he used the Latin alphabet, largely following the rules of contemporary scholarly transliteration. He mentioned earlier attempts to introduce the Latin alphabet "in both Dnipro and Dnister Ukraine," arguing that this step was to be taken "precisely in our days of the creation of Ukrainian statehood on the basis of Soviet society...now or never," since the worldwide "unification of alphabets" was as inevitable as "social reconstruction" (Pylypenko 1923: 267).⁴¹

Pylypenko argued that the use of the Latin alphabet would make it easier to learn other languages and eventually enhance the creation of "a single international language (which is rich only in territorial and professional dialects)." He declared that latinization was thus an important component of "communist construction" (ibid.),⁴² adding that the time to take this step was ideal precisely because of the current status of the Ukrainian language: "As long as we do not have solid, great scholarly works, as long as we generally limit ourselves, in the sphere of textbooks, to the elementary school and only think about the professional [secondary] level, as long as only the crop of new Soviet literature is sown, it is not so difficult to do this" (ibid., 268).⁴³

495

⁴⁰ For a criticism of the "somewhat eclectic" character of the first volume of the dictionary, with strong "vacillations between standard and dialectal, urban and rural (often, folkloric)" materials, see Ševel'ov 1989: 104–105.

^{41 &}quot;Skilka raziv uže pidnosylasja sprava pro te, ščo vart bulo b zavesty v ukrajins'komu pys'mi latyns'kyj al'favit. Buly i sproby praktyčno perevesty cju dumku v žyttja-tak na Ukrajini Naddniprjans'kij, jak i Naddnistrjans'kij. [...] Meni zdajet'sja, ščo sprava cja stojit' majže dylemoju: teper čy nikoly. "Majže tak", bo tverdo perekonanyj, ščo unifikacija al'favitiv je nemynuča sprava-i to ne tak dalekoho majbutn'oho. XX storiččja maje cju problemu rozvjazaty razom iz velykoju socijal'noju perebudovoju."

^{42 &}quot;Ljudstvo maje odnakovo pysaty, aby men'še [sic] vytračaty času na oznajomlennja z ynšymy movamy. Ljudstvo maje ce zrobyty, aby spryjaty procesovi kopuljaciji mov i tvorennju jedynoji internacional'noji movy (lyše bahatoji na dijalekty terytorijal'ni j profesijni)."

^{43 &}quot;Poky my ne majemo solidnyx velykyx naukovyx prac', poky v sferi pidručnykiv obmežujemosja holovnym čynom počatkovoju školoju i til'ky dumajemo pro profesijnu, poky til'ky zasivajeť sja lan novoho radjans'koho pys'menstva – ce zrobyty ne tak važko."

Pylypenko was perfectly aware that "Muscophiles" would regard the latinization of the Ukrainian alphabet as an act of "separation from Russian culture" and as "independentism," while "Ukrainophiles" would bemoan "separation from Galicia, which is even closer to us," and regard it as an act of "Polonization, to a certain degree" (ibid.).⁴⁴ Nonetheless, Pylypenko had no doubts about the need for the "latinization" of Ukrainian.

Myxajlo [Majk] Johansen basically agreed with Pylypenko, calling the Latin alphabet "once Latin, now international" (Johansen 1923: 167).⁴⁵ Johansen, however, suggested a different alphabetic system that he first briefly introduced and then immediately applied in the latter half of his text.⁴⁶ Both Pylypenko and Johansen reiterated their proposals during the orthographic conference of 1927 in Kharkiv, where fifteen participants opted for the Latin alphabet. Neither in 1923 nor in 1927 were such views welcomed by the Bolsheviks, but there were no political repercussions at that time. By 1933, all the above-mentioned ideas

^{44 &}quot;Dovodyt'sja, zvyčajna rič, obhovoryty i šče odyn bik spravy – vužčyj, a same: stosunky z Rosijeju (de, miž ynšym ce pytannja takož ne ščo davno znymalos') i Halyčynoju. "Moskvofily" hovorytymut' pro vidryv od najbil'šoji v teperišnij čas i najblyžčoji do Ukrajiny v usix vidnošennjax Radjans'koji Respubliky. Poprykatymut', može, j "samostijnycstvom" [sic], odhorožuvannjam od rosijs'koji kul'tury, toji kul'tury, toji

^{45 &}quot;В 6–7 ч. "Черв. Шляху" ще раз порушив С. Пилипенко важливе й цікаве питання переходу на латинське колись, тепер інтернаціональне письмо."

⁴⁶ Johansen's main goal was to adapt the Latin alphabet for use in the Ukrainian language in a manner conducive to Ukrainian phonetics. First and foremost, he insisted that the letter *j* be used consistently to render iotation only, whereas the apostrophe was to render palatalization. As for *l* in foreign words, Johansen pointed out that its pronunciation was close to the "European middle l" and suggested that it be rendered by l, while only the genuinely soft [l'] was to be rendered as l' ("AAxeж наше вкраїнське "l" як найближче підходить вимовою своєю до європейського середнього "l" і викинувши ми мнякшення в "логіка, флота", послідовно мусимо одмовитися од цієї чужої нам правописної прикмети і в инших словах, де її немає в вимові, (L'uбl'u писатимемо, одначе, з мнякшенням, як і чуємо в вимові-також stavl'at' і т. инш) [sic].") Moreover, Johansen suggested that the Ukrainian sound traditionally rendered by Cyrillic *u* be written as *e*, arguing that in many dialects, Ukrainian $y (\langle i, y \rangle)$ and e had merged into one sound in unstressed positions (Johansen admitted that this did not apply to all Left-Bank dialects), so that Ukrainian pupils could spell u and e correctly only on the basis of their command of Russian (ibid., "Кожен знає, скільки труднощів має подолати учень, щоби написати без помилок слово хоч би "перенеси", або "великий", або "синенький". Врешті всі зазначені курсивом знаки відзначають один звук, а пишеться його різно. Без знання російської мови не обійтися учневі, вивчаючи етимологичний бік українського правопису."); stressed etymological y (< i, y) was to be rendered as \hat{e} ("Toj fakt, ščo odna je kategorija, de "ê" vemovl'ajets'a často na Livoberezz'u blêzče do "i" n'iž do "e" [everything sic] – prekmêtneke jak ot červonej, bilej, čdorovej [sic] j ênši z naholosom ne na ostann'omnu skladovi– cej fakt vrivnovazujets'a têm, ščo na Zachod'i navpakê majemo javešče protelêžne-tam zvuk "ê" pošêrevsja j na taki prekmêtneki ja kot sênej, serednej (naše sên'ij, seredn'ij). Otže l'iteraturna [!] mova volens nolens doderžuje seredene, j pêše vse odno bilej, ale sên'ij"). Finally, Johansen insisted that dental consonants were not to be softened in front of i < o. In the position before i < e, \check{e} , he suggested rendering the softness of dental consonants with the apostrophe (ibid., 169). In foreign words, i was to be written without a preceding apostrophe ("Odznačajuče mjakkist' apostrofom, musimo odznačate jiji takož pered "i" (takêm jak u "t'in'"). Navpakê pered "i" takêm ja kot u "stil" apostrofa ne stavemo. Rozumijets'a, ščo pomn'akšenn'a je racija vidznačate pered "i" tilke po zvukax d, t, n, l. Takem čênom usuvajets'a holovni trudnošči pravopesu čužex sliv. Imenno-v čužex slovax pêšemo prosto j skriz' "i" (ne ê) bez poperedn'oho apostrofa.").

regarding Ukrainian corpus planning would be labeled counterrevolutionary, with all the inevitable consequences.

3. "Functional Ukrainization"

3.1. Discourses

The Bolsheviks themselves openly admitted that "Ukrainization" was at first largely ineffective when Lazar Kahanovyč, who had replaced Kviring as general secretary of the CP(B)U in April 1925, declared the "first anniversary of Ukrainization" in June 1926 (Ševel'ov 1989: 109). Kahanovyč, an ethnic Jew from a Ukrainian village, stood apart from most Bolshevik leaders in that he had a certain command of the Ukrainian language and even "occasionally used it in public" (ibid., 110). Kahanovyč played a key role during the transition from "mechanical" to "functional" Ukrainization.

Not only were a number of decrees on "Ukrainization" issued under his rule, but "a whole book of decrees and directives," titled *The Ukrainization of Soviet Institutions* (Українізація радянських установ), was published in Kharkiv as early as 1926 (ibid., 113). More important, these documents did have some effect, and considerable progress was now made.

Nonetheless, "functional Ukrainization" took place in a context no less ambivalent than that of the earlier stage of the policy.

To begin with, at the very beginning of so-called "functional Ukrainization," in early 1925, Jurij Larin (Mixail Lur'e) complained at a session of the Central Executive Committee of the USSR that "Ukrainization" in Ukraine "had unleashed Ukrainian chauvinism directed at the Russian minority, which was being forcibly Ukrainized in 'Petljura-type fashion'" (Solchanyk 1985: 70). Like Lebed', Larin was officially criticized, but "the degree to which he could count on the support of influential party leaders could be seen from the fact that at the end of 1926 the central party organ in Moscow, *Bol'shevik*, provided Larin with the opportunity to argue his case on its pages" (ibid.).

The fear that "Ukrainization" would ultimately play into the hands of so-called "nationalists" notoriously accompanied any measures to implement it. In June 1925, the Politburo of the Central Committee of the CP(B)U created a commission "for the study of the issue of the Ukrainian intelligentsia" (ČK – HPU – NKVD 1997: 31), with Lazar Kahanovyč, Oleksander Šums'kyj, Vlas Čubar, Hryhorij Hryn'ko, and Vsevolod Balyc'kyj (the chairman of the Ukrainian secret police) as its members. In a secret letter of 30 October 1925, the Central Committee stated: "In the very weakly Ukrainized Party, there have been and are currently insufficient forces to ensure that the swift and tempestuous development of Ukrainian culture…followed the Soviet communist line, and not the line of the petty bourgeois national counterrevolution" (Ukrajinizacija 2003: 58).

In February 1926, the Politburo convened for debates "On moods among the Ukrainian intelligentsia" and commissioned Vsevolod Balyc'kyj to study measures "to dissolve rightist groups in the milieu of the Ukrainian intelligentsia." In the following months, the GPU issued a number of secret documents, particularly

"On Ukrainian Society" of 30 March 1926 and "On Ukrainian Separatism" of 4 September 1926 (ČK – HPU – NKVD 1997: 31; see the former document ibid., 254–267). According to the GPU, Ukrainian nationalists, after their defeat in the wars of 1917–21, had transferred their anti-Bolshevik efforts to the cultural sphere (ibid.) and were now making use of "Ukrainization...to organize adherents of nationalist ideas in all vital parts of the state organism" (ibid., 31–32). The GPU warned that the Academy of Sciences, the Autocephalous Church and, ultimately, the entire cultural sphere, particularly that of literature, were under the strong influence of Ukrainian nationalists. As a result, Stalin enjoined the Politburo of the Central Committee of the CP(B)U in a letter of 26 April 1926 to fight any "national deviationists...without mercy" (ČK – HPU – NKVD 1997: 34).⁴⁷

Ukrainian literature became one of the first targets. In 1926, the Politburo of the CP(B)U initiated the dismissal of Mykola Xvyl'ovyj and Myxajlo Jalovyj from *Červonyj Šljax* and replaced Šums'kyj with Zatons'kyj as the journal's editor in chief (Ukrajinizacija 2003: 142). In the same year, the Politburo began debating the relaunch of a second important Ukrainian-language journal, *Žyttja j revoljucija* (Life and Revolution); by April 1927, a new editorial board was in place because the journal had allegedly been abused by "hostile forces" (ibid., 143).

In June 1926, the Central Committee of the CP(B)U convened a plenary session to discuss the achievements and further goals of "Ukrainization." The session also served as a platform to discuss the situation that had evolved around the Soviet Ukrainian writer Mykola Xvyl'ovyj (Fitilëv), who had caused particular trouble by arguing in his polemical writings for nothing less than the cultural sovereignty of Soviet Ukraine and for the de-Russification of the Ukrainian proletariat. Along with Xvyl'ovyj, who had even coined the slogan "Away from Moscow" ("Теть від Москви"), the party launched an attack against People's Commissar of Education Oleksander Šums'kyj.

Šums'kyj had complained to Stalin during a conversation in Moscow in 1925 that certain "functionaries who do not understand Ukrainian nationality issues" that is, Lazar Kahanovyč—had been "sent to Ukraine from Moscow" (ČK – HPU – NKVD 1997: 33). As Šums'kyj complained that "Ukrainization" was having little effect on the Ukrainian proletariat, Stalin reacted with the proclamation that the Bolsheviks would never allow the "forced Ukrainization" of the proletariat (Pauly 2009: 263).⁴⁸ Kahanovyč, who was now more than ever Stalin's man in Ukraine, went on to play a major role in the staging of the so-called "Šums'kyj affair."

The June 1926 meeting of the Central Committee of the CP(B)U confirmed the ambivalence of "functional Ukrainization" in that it was convened first and foremost to discuss the prospects of "Ukrainization" but at the same time turned out to be a particularly important step in the development of the "Šums'kyj affair" and the actual curbing of "Ukrainization."

⁴⁷ It is therefore questionable whether the "main goal" of "functional Ukrainization" was actually "the de-Russification of the cities and industrial centers of the Ukraine" (as stated by Ševel'ov 1989: 119).

⁴⁸ Šums'kyj himself had warned against hasty or forced "Ukrainization" in June 1923 (Ukrajinizacija 2003: 49).

Volodymyr Zatons'kyj's speech at the meeting was quite characteristic. He praised the rapid achievements of "Ukrainization" and explained that "Ukrainian culture had developed among the masses in their millions both in the villages and, partly, in the towns"; he emphasized the significance of the "Ukrainization of the Soviet apparatus," including the party apparatus, and "even of the Russified urban proletariat" (Zatons'kyj 1929: 13); and he discussed the positive development of the "Ukrainization" of schools and the press. Zatons'kyj's main message was linked, however, to Stalin's new slogan that the Russian-speaking proletariat should by no means be "forcibly Ukrainized" (ibid., 13–14).⁴⁹ Zatons'kyj repeated the slogans about the need for "a close link with the village," which he deemed impossible if a "divergence of languages" were to continue, but he spoke of the Russophone status of the proletariat of Ukraine as something almost natural, and in his speech the "Ukrainization of the proletariat" came down to a mere invitation to learn the Ukrainian language (ibid., 14).⁵⁰ Zatons'kyj did add that proletarians might be attracted to Ukrainian culture through Ukrainian libraries, books, the cinema, exhibitions, concerts, lectures, and the like, but he emphasized that this kind of "Ukrainization" would take a "rather long" time, since "the Ukrainian proletariat in its majority does not use the Ukrainian language and does not understand Ukrainian culture at this point; it does not immediately contribute to its construction, and therefore this culture develops mainly on the foundations of the peasantry and the urbanized intelligentsia" (ibid., 14).⁵¹ At that point, Zatons'kyj

^{49 &}quot;Ми ні в якому разі не можемо затримувати, гальмувати працю над українізацією. Навпаки, оскільки українська культура розвивається в мільйонових масах і на селі, і почасти в місті, ми не можемо гальмувати процеса українізації і радянського апарату, і партійного і навіть пролетаріяту міського, русифікованого, бо коли б ми загальмували, то це привело б до відриву робітничої класи й партії від селянських мас і тієї підростаючої молоди, що є зараз в українських містах, що пройшла вже українську школу. Безумовно, гальмувати ні в якому разі не можна, але безоглядно українізувати – про це, також треба подумати, – як кого? […] Розуміється, школи будемо продовжувати українізовувати, як і досі. Теж пресу і т. інш. На радянський апарат теж будемо натискувати, щоб далі українізувався, будемо натискувати на членів партії, починаючи з активу. Актив, прошу не ображатися, писнути будемо ще більше, як досі. Апараті партії мусить бути українізовано. Це ж відноситься цілковито до КСМ, це має значіння і для профспілок. Потрібно більш українізації і більш енергії до українізації, ніж було раніш, в свій час, про що тут говорилось, треба продовжувати ту лінію, що маємо за останній, не такий довгий, по правді сказати, період."

^{50 &}quot;Але, товариші, коли вже ми підходимо до партійця рядового від станка, то навряд чи зможемо ми його так просто примусити, як активиста, навряд, може кінчиться тим, що буде зменшений зріст партії, бо до загального партійного навантаження накинути ще й українізацію – це не так просто. Рядових партійців від станка ми будемо українізувати повільніше, ніж активних товаришів. Тепер що до робітничої маси – до тієї робітничої маси, що або російська була по свойому походженню, або звикла, набула російську культуру, російську мову і т. інш., як, наприклад "Серп і Молот" чи Канатний завод, де всі українці і майже всі російською мовою говорять і української мови не вживають. Тут треба сказати, що силоміць їх українізувати не можна, не будемо. [...] Ми повинні тлумачити це пролетаріяту взагалі, як керовнику революції, і він повинен зрозуміти, що він не зможе мати щільної змички з селом, цілької миси – забудь до коли буде розходження по мові. Ми, звичайно, не будемо його дерусифікувати, дерусифікувати той пролетаріят, що звик до російської культури. Ми не скажемо – забудь російську мову, а скажемо – вчись української мови."

^{51 &}quot;Треба допомогти пролетаріяту вчитися українській мові всілякими засобами, через бібліотеки, книжки, кіно, українські вистави, концерти, доповіді і т. інш. З початку, звичайно, звідсіль ми

ultimately switched to a discussion of Russian "chauvinism" and counterposed it to Ukrainian "chauvinism." He briefly described Russian chauvinism as a problem associated with the Russian bourgeoisie (ibid., 14–16) and then elaborated on the phenomenon of Ukrainian chauvinism in a whole chapter titled "Four Roots of Ukrainian Chauvinism" (Чотири корні українського шовінізму). According to his outline, those roots consisted of four social groups: the first root was the "kulak" (Ukrainian "куркуль"), who "already wanted to bring about his own Ukrainization, that is, not simply [for] Ukraine but [for] a Ukraine of 'kulaks'"; the second root was the Ukrainian urban "bourgeois" intelligentsia; the third root was made up of certain careerists who were using "Ukrainization" to take over jobs held by their Russian competitors; and the fourth root was an even more inchoate group of people "who did not understand the pathos of the peaceful construction" [of communism] and consequently were in danger of "taking the path of nationalism"⁵² (this last group was obviously invented in order to find a label for Mykola Xvyl'ovyj and Oleksander Šums'kyj; ibid., 16–19).

Vlas Čubar⁵³ pointed out at the same June 1926 convention that "circles hostile to the revolution, hostile to the proletarian issue" had become active in the framework of "Ukrainization"—circles that regarded the "interests of the nation as a whole" as more important than the "proletarian interests of the international revolution." Čubar warned that such attitudes would generate "contradictions in the Soviet Union" as well as "among us at home." In his view, they might lead to the "creation of an atmosphere of Austrian dispute" that would "seriously complicate

будемо підходити й потроху будемо пробувати і далі йти, щоб він міг потроху оволодіти мовою. Але наперед кажемо, що примушувати не будемо. [...] А, взагалі, українізацію пролетаріяту ми вважаємо за процес досить довгий. Не можна так примітивно ставити справу – дайош [*sic*, Russian in Ukrainian letters] українізацію, дайош український пролетаріят – нічогісінько з того не вийде [...] Тоді і лише тоді остаточно вже зникнуть ці труднощі, які ми маємо зараз, тому що пролетаріят український, в більшості, зараз не вживає української мови, не розуміє української культури, не прикладає безпосередньо руку до її будування; і через те ця культура складається на тлі переважно селянства і урбанізованої інтелігенції."

^{52 &}quot;Перший корінь – це куркуль, який трохи підживився на селі й хоче вже провести свою українізацію, цеб-то не просто Україну, але Україну куркульську. [...] [другий корінь] Це корінь міської буржуазної культури. Не такої вже молодої, він вже давно існує. Коли в Центральній Раді до кулацького коріння належала партія українських есерів, принаймні, її права течія, то до другого коріння – буржуазного – належали есдеки, з Винниченком на чолі. [...] Кажуть нам, – немає української буржуазії, яка там українська буржуазі? [...] Є ще третій корінь українського шовінізму. Власне це є класове прошарування, хоч би той самий спец, що хоче усунути свого російського конкурента, щоб самому сісти на його місце. [...] Четвертий можливий корінь є також в соціяльних прошаруваннях. [...] Це ті розгублені люди, які заплутались в нетрах Неп'у, ті, що подекуди брали навіть участь у революції, потім "були фронти, нема фронтів". І вони не знають, що далі робити; ті, що не розуміють патосу мирного будівництва. Оскільки вони перебувають в тузі й розпуці, то цілком можливо, що вони можуть легко стати на шлях націоналізму."

⁵³ Vlas Čubar took a leading role in the organization of Ukraine's industry and economy beginning in 1919. In July 1923, he became Chairman of the Council of People's Commissars of the Ukrainian SSR. Čubar is regarded as one of the persons with particular responsibility for the Great Famine of 1932–33. In 1932, he was appointed Vice Chairman of the Council of People's Commissars of the USSR; in 1937, People's Commissar of Finances of the USSR. In 1938, Čubar was arrested and shot without trial.

our status, disperse proletarian forces, and weaken us in our struggle" (Čubar 1929: 35–36).⁵⁴ Čubar did not forget to mention that "Ukrainization" was to continue and decried the fact that "not all comrades in the party are convinced that they should learn the Ukrainian language, that they have to adapt to the requirements of Ukrainian reality so that they can take leading positions in all branches of activity" (ibid., 37).⁵⁵ But his main message concerned the unity of the "proletarian masses" of Soviet Ukraine and Soviet Russia (ibid., 36).⁵⁶

Mykola Skrypnyk explained at the same convention that the Bolsheviks would henceforth differentiate the pace of "Ukrainization" of various social groups. The party would continue to "Ukrainize" the "semi-Russified workers of Ukraine," who allegedly spoke a "broken, semi-Ukrainian language" (that is, if translated into present-day terminology, "Surzhyk"). The party would not, however, allow for any "forced Ukrainization whatever of the Russian part of the working class and the Russian workers and peasants" (Skrypnyk 1929: 31).⁵⁷ Skrypnyk then defined "Ukrainization" as an instrument "of the party and of Soviet power" to create a unified state of workers and the formerly oppressed Ukrainian people through the development of culture and socialist construction (ibid., 31).⁵⁸ He also tried to explain the economic significance of "Ukrainization": the ongoing urbanization of the Ukrainian peasant masses would inevitably lead to the "Ukrainization" of the cities, just as the cities of the former Habsburg Empire had lost their predominantly

^{54 &}quot;Кожен, хто цікавиться цією справою баче [sic], що справу українізації розв'язує, не тільки наша партія, але за неї беруться і кола, ворожі революції, ворожі пролетарській справі. [...] Я згадав, товариші, про склад партії, тому що є ще деякі комуністи, які підпадають під вплив тої ідеології, що дбає не про те, щоби на першому місці ставити пролетарські інтереси всесвітньої революції, [...] а в першу чергу ставить інтереси нації в цілому, вимагає якихсь інших форм розвитку трудящих УСРР, інших шляхів, ніж ті, що ними йде російський пролетаріят. Коли б партія піддалась цьому, то ми прийшли б зараз по-перше до суперечок у радянському [sic] Союзі, по-друге, до суперечок тут, у себе вдома, до утворення в УСРР атмосфери австрійської призні, до утворення такої обстановки, що буде сильно ускладняти наш стан[,] розпорошувати пролетарські сили, знесилювати нас в боротьбі."

^{55 &}quot;Ще не всі т.т. в партії переконані в тому, що треба вчити українску мову, що треба пристосовуватися до вимог української дійсности, щоби керувати всіма галузями роботи."

^{56 &}quot;Нам не можна припускати того, щоб у нас в сучасних складних обставинах в партії було два табори – один табор український, другий – російський, або якийсь німецький, чи ще який. Нам, як партії, треба знищувати такі явища."

^{57 &}quot;Ми зараз проводимо диференційований курс, диференцюємо завдання що до українізації. Це нове дають партії ці нові тези. Ми не можемо з однією тією ж міркою підходити до різних галузів суспільного життя, коли ми говоримо про українізацію і про темп її. [...] Партія ставить собі питання про українізацію, напіврусифікованих робітників, про поглиблення лінії українізації, про призвичаєння до української культури всіх українських кол робітників, що говорять ламаною, напівукраїнської мовою. Разом з тим ми повинні твердо сказати, що не буде провадитись ніякої примусової українізації що до російської частини робітничої класи і взагалі росіян-робітників і селян."

^{58 &}quot;На одному з засідань Політбюра я визначав, що таке є українізація. "Українізація це є більш-менш діяльність партії та радянської влади, що нею керується, щоби до цього часу, до Жовтневої революції пригнічений і поневолений український народ, працюючі маси організувати в робітничо - селянську державність і цим самим виводити з минулого стану пригнічення і розвивати культуру, підносити її і рухатися далі шляхом соціялістичного будівництва."

German-speaking character after World War I. Consequently, "the working class, including its Russian part," needed to understand the Ukrainian language, otherwise they would not be able "to lead this economically inevitable process" (ibid.).⁵⁹

Oleksander Šums'kyj pointed out that, owing to a mistaken interpretation of "Ukrainization," this policy had not yet been successful. In his view, it was insufficient to regard "Ukrainization" as "a method of uniting with the peasantry" and as "a necessary weapon in the struggle against Ukrainian nationalism," for this motivated neither party members nor non-party workers to "learn the Ukrainian language and integrate themselves into Ukrainian cultural life and construction" (Šums'kyj 1929: 28).60 According to Šums'kyj, "Ukrainization" could succeed only if it were regarded as "a necessary method of socialist construction" and as "an instrument of socialist construction in the hands of the Ukrainian masses," for "no linguistic wall between the process of social and cultural construction and the Soviet and party leaders" was to exist in Ukraine (ibid., 28–29).⁶¹ Interestingly, Šums'kyj added that Soviet Russia could serve as a model in that regard because, thanks to its linguistic unity, "the leaders of the state and of the party" were "at the same time the leaders of Russian Soviet society and culture" (ibid.).⁶² Even more interestingly, a "voice from the audience" interrupted Šums'kyj at that point and insisted that Russian Soviet leaders were not only the leaders of Soviet Russia but also "of the entire Union" (ibid., 29). This prompted Šums'kyj to reply that Soviet Russian leaders could not be expected to take a leading role in "Soviet Ukrainian life and culture," as they did not have to be "Ukrainized" (ibid.).⁶³ In conclusion, Šums'kyj warned his

^{59 &}quot;Економіка диктує безумовну неминучість українізації. Економічний розвиток приводить до шерег пролетаріяту все нові маси пролетарізованого селянства. Міста, що були до цього часу російськими, об'єктивним процесом будуть приведені до того, що вони стануть українськими. [...] Робітнича класа України, в тому числі і російська її частина, аби керувати цим економічним неминучим процесом, повинна зрозуміти свої історичні завдання і оволодіти українською мовою."

^{60 &}quot;До цього часу ми трактували українізацію, пояснювали партії її необхідність, як засоба змички з селянством, як необхідну зброю в боротьбі з українським націоналізмом. Таке умотивування необхідности українізуватись не могло, розуміється, запалить партію й передових позапартійних робітників вчити українську мову й увіходити в українське культурне життя й будівництво."

^{61 &}quot;Тези Політбюра трактують українізацію, як передумову, як необхідний засіб соціялістичного будівництва, як знаряддя соціялістичного будівництва в руках українських трудящих мас. Така трактовка українізації надає цій справі іншого характеру. Кожний комуніст, як палкий борець за соціялістичне будівництво, незалежно від того, якої він національности, не може поставитись байдуже до українізації в такому її розумінню. А надто це стосується старих більшовиків, партійних кадрів, які за цього часу туго йшли на українізацію."

^{62 &}quot;Шумський. Там [in Soviet Russia] нема цієї мовної стіни між суспільно-культурним процесом будівництва й радянським та партійним керівництвом, яка в нас ще є. Там керівники держави й партії є в той же час керівниками російської радянської суспільности й культури. – Голос з місця. Всього Союзу."

^{63 &}quot;Шумський. Ні, стій, товаришу, не звалюй, будь ласка, своїх обов'язків керувати радянським українським суспільним життям і культурою на плечи керівників Союзу. Ти хочеш, щоб і вони українізувались? Це керовництво є нашим обов'язком, обов'язком керівників України і його не перекладеш на плечі союзу [sic]. – Партія в цілому та її керівники мусять стати і керівниками українського суспільного культурного будівництва, тоб-то оволодіти українською мовою й

comrades that if they did not ensure comprehensive "Ukrainization," that process would eventually be taken over by the "bourgeois" activists whom the Soviets had allowed to reimmigrate to Ukraine a few years earlier (ibid., 29).⁶⁴

Lazar Kahanovyč's words at the June 1926 convention had particular weight. Kahanovyč strongly underscored the role of "Ukrainization" in Soviet foreign policy. Just as Uzbekistan, Turkmenistan, and Kazakhstan were to "serve as examples" for "the eastern peoples," so Ukraine was to "serve as a role model and example" regarding the "national liberation of oppressed people" and the "state-building of national republics in the framework of the Soviet system" in the west (Kahanovyč 1929: 41).⁶⁵ With striking emphasis, Kahanovyč rejected the idea that "Ukrainization" had been initiated only under the pressure of forces hostile to Soviet power, which would in fact have meant that the Bolsheviks were "insincere," and that their policy of "Ukrainization" was only a "maneuver" and a "pretense to fool someone" (Kahanovyč 1929: 41–42).⁶⁶ He then addressed the vexed question of whether local nationalisms or Great Russian chauvinism constituted the greater danger to the Soviet Union. One of the notorious "voices from the audience" interrupted him, stating that "our party in Ukraine is better prepared to fight Ukrainian chauvinism" (ibid., 53). This prompted Kahanovyč to agree immediately and add that the country was in fact tending toward Ukrainian chauvinism (ibid.). He concluded this debate with a masterpiece of Bolshevik dialectics: "Okay, let's put it like this: in our country we are faced with a

культурою. Бо цей суспільно-культурний процес не може бути без керовництва, без вождів."

^{64 &}quot;Ви подивіться, як всі ці Грушевські, Дорошкевичі, Гермайзе, Єфремови, Ніковські, Зерови й інші їм подібні, що в 1919–20 роках обірвали були свої суспільні звязки з Україною, чи вірніш, ми розрубали ці звязки й викинули їх за кордон, що збанкротували були, – як вони тепер знову відновляють ці зірвані звязки й намагаються керувати новим радянським суспільно-культурним життям. [...] Треба це керівництво взять до рук партії, а для цього треба, щоб партія стала українською по мові й культурі."

^{65 &}quot;Якщо для східніх народів у нас може й мусить бути прикладом республіки Узбекістанська, Туркменістанська, Казакстанська [sic] і т. ін., то для західніх народів Україна мусить служити зразком і прикладом розвязання пролетаріятом проблеми національного визволення пригнічених мас, проблеми державного будівництва національних республік, в рямках [sic] радянської системи. Ми мусимо показати як можна посяднати добровільну спілку радянських республік з наданням бувшим пригніченим массам [sic] максимальних можливостей прояви самодіяльности в будівництві своєї державности, в розвиткові свого господарства, в піднесенні культури країни – в справі втягнення мільйонних мас до культурного соціялістичного будівництва."

^{66 &}quot;Ось чому абсолютно неправильні всякі тлумачення, всякі натяки на те, що українізація провадиться нами в силу якоїсь-то важкої необхідности, під натиском якихось-то стихійних ворожих нам сил. Така постановка питання іноді збігається з ворожою нам постановкою питання, що більшовикі [sic] нещирі, що більшовики брешуть; коли вони говорять за українізацію, що в більшовиків це лише маневр, що в більшовиків це лише привод [sic] для того, щоби одурити когось-то; що провадять більшовики українізацію, не бажаючи її, не вірючи в неї, не люблячи її то-що. Така постановка питання мусить бути нами рішуче одкинута – та наша політика українізації є дійсна політика інтернаціоналізму, вона не потурає якомусь національному шовінізму, а йде на користь не лише внутрішнього зміцнення диктатури пролетаріяту, але й на користь світової революції, й вже само по собі будівництво української державности, сам по собі розвиток робітничо-селянської культури у нас в країні служить взірцем та зразком для пригнічених мас, для пригнічених національностей та штовхає їх на шлях боротьби з імперіялізмом, на шлях боротьби з буржуазією."

huge danger, Ukrainian chauvinism, and that is why we in the party must push hard to fight Great Russian chauvinism."⁶⁷

A few months later, on 20 November 1926, the Politburo of the Central Committee of the CP(B)U convened again to reproach Šums'kyj with promoting the "forced Ukrainization of the Russian proletariat" (Kahanovyč 1929a: 113). According to Kahanovyč, Šums'kyj had failed to clarify his attitude toward "Moscow" and found no clear words to characterize Xvyl'ovyj and the so-called neoclassicists (a group of Ukrainian writers who did not please the Bolsheviks). Moreover, Šums'kyj had not made it clear that "the old Bolshevik cadres, the Russian proletarian cadres had to be preserved" in Ukraine (ibid.).⁶⁸

After Józef Piłsudski seized power in Poland in May 1926, the Bolshevik leaders tended increasingly to associate their internal enemies with external ones.

In November 1927, at the Tenth Party Congress of the CP(B)U, Lazar Kahanovyč spoke about the "growing interest in Ukraine on the part of the European bourgeoisie" (Kahanovyč 1929c: 145) and explained that "the imperialists of the world were embarking on a new crime against humankind by preparing to make war on the Soviet Union." Kahanovyč reported that the social-democratic press in "Germany, France, Czechoslovakia and, particularly, Poland" had recently shown special interest in "the Ukrainian problem" and in "prospects of 'independence' for Ukraine" (ibid.).⁶⁹ He declared that the Ukrainian language was in fact flourishing in Ukraine, as opposed to Poland, where Ukrainians were severely oppressed. Kahanovyč boasted of the following achievements of "Ukrainization":

a) The elementary school serves the Ukrainian population (2 million Ukrainian children are being instructed in Ukrainian).b) The universities are gradually and firmly being Ukrainized.

^{67 &}quot;Каганович: [...] нам, безперечно, небезпечний великоруський шовінізм, як шовінізм, що має історичні корні та історичну давність. Голос з місця: Наша партія на Україні більше пристосована до боротьби з українським шовінізмом. Каганович: Це правда, наша партія на Україні більш пристосована до боротьби з українським шовінізмом. Каганович: Це правда, наша партія на Україні більш пристосована до боротьби з українським шовінізмом. Каганович: Це правда, наша партія на Україні більш пристосована до боротьби з українським шовінізмом. Каганович: Це правда, наша партія на Україні більш пристосована до боротьби з українським шовінізмом. Країна наша більше схильна до українського шовінізму [...] Ось давайте так і скажемо: в країні в нас величезна небезпека – це український шовінізм, а тому ми мусимо в партії натискати рішуче на те, щоби боротися з великоруським шовінізмом."

^{68 &}quot;Каганович. На жаль, і в питанні за Москву ми не чули від тов. Шумського ясного і чіткого відмежування від Хвильового, але ми говоримо не лише за Москву, ми говоримо також за неокласиків. [...] Старі більшовицькі кадри, руські пролетарські кадри мусять бути збережені поруч з висуненням нових кадрів українців, що їх ми висуваємо і мусимо висувати широко. Шумський. Я це обстоюю. Каганович. Ось цього то й не видно. – Треба, щоби була повна ясність в цим [sic] питанні. Тепер відносно темпу, відносно того, що ви за примусову українізацію руського пролетаріяту. Тут ви мусите прямо сказати, що та лінія, яку ми ведемо, є єдина лінія та якщо це так, то партія й країна мусять знати, що у вас немає тих попередніх помилок, що ви їх робили."

^{69 &}quot;І от нині, в момент, коли світові імперіялісти готують новий злочин проти людства, підготовляючи війну проти Радянського Союзу, вони знову починають використовувати цей прапор наче б то для оборони пригноблених націй, пристосовуючи це, насамперед, до України, що її ніби то потрібно визволити від гніту руських. [...] Ціла низка органів буржуазної та соціял-демократичної преси Німеччини, Франції, Чехословаччини та особливо Польщі багато трактують на всі лади українську проблему та перспективи "незалежности" України."

c) Ukrainian book printing and the press have grown in quantity and quality as never before in the history of Ukraine.

d) Literary life guarantees the correct development of Ukrainian literature.... Our Ukrainian Academy of Sciences is gaining tremendous importance under the conditions of our state-building and the growth of the country's productive forces (Kahanovyč 1929c: 151).⁷⁰

Returning to the topic of the "Ukrainization of the party and the battle against deviations" (Kahanovyč 1929c: 153), Kahanovyč followed the notorious scenario. He began by briefly touching on the issue of Russian chauvinism, then elaborated extensively on Ukrainian "chauvinism."⁷¹ In conclusion, Kahanovyč reproached Šums'kyj with "not having been willing to see the very serious achievements that we have made with regard to Ukrainization in recent years" (ibid., 156).⁷² ⁷³

The Šums'kyj affair resulted in self-criticism (and an attack on "Šums'kism") on the part of Mykola Xvyl'ovyj (Xvyl'ovyj 1929a)⁷⁴ and in the removal of Šums'kyj from his post. After Šums'kyj's dismissal was finalized, Lazar Kahanovyč explained that Skrypnyk, as "an older Bolshevik," would henceforth conduct "Ukrainization... in a truly Bolshevik way, without deviations, without falling under the influence of these or other groups" (Kahanovyč 1929a: 123).⁷⁵ He added—again, with suspect emphasis—that any rumors of an end to "Ukrainization," let alone an upcoming "anti-Ukrainian deviation" by the party, were unfounded (ibid., 123)⁷⁶ but emphasized that anyone who gave a Russian worker Ukrainian-language documents in which

71 Scholars now broadly agree that "no exponent of anti-Ukrainian, pro-Russian views was legally persecuted. In the worst scenario, they were publicly criticized and dismissed, whereupon they left for Russia and obtained good positions there" (Ševel'ov 1989: 126–127).

72 "Тов. Шумський не хотів бачити тих найсерйозніших досягнень, яких ми досягли за останні роки в справі українізації."

74 "Цю статтю я розглядаю, як статтю першу з циклу статтів 'проти шумськізму'. М. Х."

75 "Я гадаю, що Наркомосвіта під керівництвом тов. Скрипника, старішого більшовика, що вміє провадити українізацію – дійсно по-більшовицькому, без ухилів, без підпадання під вплив тих чи інших груп, ширше та глибше розгорне свою роботу."

505

^{70 &}quot;а) Початкова школа обслуговує українське населення (2 мільйони українських дітей навчаються українською мовою). – б) Вища школа ступнево та надійно українізується. – в) Українська книга та преса виросли кількісно і якісно, як ніколи в історії України. – г) Літературне життя забезпечує правильний розвиток української літератури […] Наша Українська Академія Наук набуває величезного значіння в умовах нашого державного будівництва та зростання продукійних сил країни […]."

⁷³ Apart from the question of who ruled in Poland, another factor of great significance for the image of Soviet Ukraine as a "Piedmont" of Ukrainian culture was the fate of the Communist Party of Western Ukraine (prior to 1923: Communist Party of Eastern Galicia). In the earlier years, the Bolsheviks had generously supported this party, but during the "Šums'kyj affair," Karol' Maksymovyč (Savryč), the leader of the Communist Party of Western Ukraine, defended both Xvyl'ovyj and Šums'kyj (Maksymovyč 1929). The Bolsheviks, in turn, destroyed the party. As early as 1928, Kahanovyč and Skrypnyk commented on "The break-up in the Communist Party of Western Ukraine and the national policy of the CP(b)U" and "On the reasons and sources of the break-up in the Communist Party of Western Ukraine" (Kahanovyč 1929d, Skrypnyk 1929a). On the Communist Party of Western Ukraine, see Radziejowski 1987.

^{76 &}quot;Деякі товариші, разом з тов. Шумським намагаються зараз пустити до обігу такі балачки: "Починається, мовляв, в ЦК антиукраїнський ухил, похід іде проти українізації, ЦК почне викидати і тих і других і третіх, почнеться пригнічення, взагалі українців та бувших боротьбістів зокрема" і т. ін. і т. ін."

he "could not understand anything" was to be held responsible for a "breach between the party and the working class and for a violation of the statute of the dictatorship of the proletariat" (ibid., 124).⁷⁷

Thus, as soon as "Ukrainization" actually went into effect, alleged "Ukrainian nationalism" immediately became the target of massive Bolshevik attacks. As early as 1926, Šums'kyj reported that Komsomol members had repeatedly exposed him to reproaches for Ukrainian nationalism ("Petljurivščyna") (Šums'kyj 1929a: 106).⁷⁸ Shortly afterwards, he complained of being forced to work "under constant suspicion of nationalism, in an atmosphere of distrust and constant attacks," which, as he argued, actually "paralyzed him in his fight against [genuine] Ukrainian nationalism" (Šums'kyj 1929b: 135).⁷⁹ In his speech, Šums'kyj attempted to personalize the problem and declared that none other than his party fellow Andrij Xvylja (Olinter)⁸⁰ was responsible for "this morbid phenomenon" (Šums'kyj 1929b: 135).⁸¹ But Šums'kyj was wrong: the actual mastermind of the game was none other than Stalin.

^{77 &}quot;Але той, хто гадає провадити українізацію, даючи руському робітникові колективний договір та розрахункову книжку українською мовою, що в ній він нічого не розуміє, той веде до розриву партії з робочою класою [sic], до порушення статуту диктатури пролетаріяту, йой [sic] веде неправильно політику."

⁷⁸ "Кожний раз, коли виступають на фронті боротьби з ворожою ідеологією, зараз же удар з-заду й ти оказуєшся в цій кампанії. Не можна так боротися, коли тобі на кожному кроці дають удар. Ось, наприклад, коли приходить до НКОсвіти комсомолець і починає горлопанити, що тут петлюрівщина і т. ін. і т. ін." Later, Šums'kyj argued: "[...] я говорю те, що говорив у всіх наших резолюціях – що партія повинна вести активну пропаганду серед робітничої класи серед російських робітників теж, щоб вони органічно входили в процес громадського життя й культурного будівництва України, щоб керувати українським селянством і всім будівництвом соціялізму на Україні, але про примусову українізацію я не казав, бо я так гадаю, що хто пропонує примусову українізацію, той був би ідіотом, а себе я за такого не вважаю" (Šums'kyj 1929а: 107). "Я доводив, що перебування українця-партійця під постійним підозрінням націоналізму, в атмосфері недовір'я і постійних нагінок, позбавляє його всякого авторитету перед безпартійними, паралізує його боєздатність в боротьбі з українським націоналізмом, робить його пасивним і приводить його до того, що він забувається в кут і мовчить. Або породжує друге хворобливе явище, утворює тип комуніста, аля тов. Хвиля (підчас Лебедівщини в 1921-22 році цей тип персоніфікувався в особі тов. Мусульбаса, що кажуть зривав навіть портрети Шевченка в клубах, як прояв націоналізму), що в погоні завоювати довір'я в русотяпськи настроєної частини партії доходить до головотяпства і садизму в боротьбі з українським націоналізмом (що лише збільшує націоналізм, ізолюється від суспільно-культурного українського процесу і не тільки губить можливість комуністичного впливу на цей процес, і таким чином, перестає бути корисним для партії, а навіть просто стає шкідливим" (Šums'kyj 1929b: 135).

⁷⁹ Šums'kyj's claims are confirmed by the documents prepared for the plenary session of the Central Committee of the CP(B)U of April 1925, which reported that particularly those party workers who had come to Ukraine from Russia "quite often...regarded Ukrainization as Petljurism and counterrevolution, and...regarded those party people who spoke and used the Ukrainian language as 'ardent Petljurites,' 'independentists,' etc." (Ukrajinizacija 2003: 65).

⁸⁰ At the convention of the Politburo of the CP(B)U on 20 November 1926, Xvylja reported "On the journal *Červonyj Šljax*" and its reorganization in light of the Xvyl'ovyj affair (Xvylja 1929]). In 1933, Xvylja would play a leading role in the Bolshevik struggle "on the linguistic front" (see below).

^{81 &}quot;Особисто я вважаю, що це питання загострив Хвиля, як і питання що до Хвильового, як і питання до помилок відносно неокласиків."

In the years to come, the party continued discussing the "Ukrainization" of the proletariat. At a plenary session of the Central Committee of the CP(B)U in March 1927, Mykola Skrypnyk reiterated his theory that the party opposed both the Russification and the "de-Russification of the proletariat," with the exception of "Russified workers," and Kahanovyč confirmed Skrypnyk's words.⁸² Nobody asked at that point how "Russified" or, as it was expressed elsewhere, "semi-Russified" workers could ultimately be recognized. Did anybody expect them all—and them alone—to speak the above-mentioned "broken, semi-Ukrainian language" that Skrypnyk had introduced into the debates of the mid-1920s?

At the same session of March 1927, Andrij Xvylja told a story about "certain comrades" with whom he had discussed "recent events in Ukraine," that is, the Šums'kyj affair (Xvylja 1929: 129). Xvylja reported that according to those party comrades, "the circumstances were obviously such that a national whipping-boy" was "needed to be beaten," and that "Šums'kyj was that whipping-boy." Xvylja explained that this was nonsense, for "no matter how often you beat a whipping-boy, he will always remain a whipping-boy," which reportedly evoked laughter among the audience (ibid.).⁸³

Panas Ljubčenko emphasized at the same assembly that "in fact, we are now witnessing the growth of nationalist tendencies" (Ljubčenko 1929: 130–131). He attacked Serhij Jefremov and Ahatanhel Kryms'kyj of the Academy of Sciences, pointing out that "one and a half or two years ago, the same Kryms'kyj and the same Jefremov would not have dared to talk to us that way" (ibid., 131). Then he referred to Vlas Čubar's suggestion that "those who behave so impudently" should be expelled from the country because "their forms of behavior exceeded all tolerable limits" and complained that "for formal reasons," these people "could not even be deprived of their vote" (ibid., 130–131).⁸⁴

507

^{82 &}quot;Каганович: Ми проти русифікації, та проти дерусифікації. Скрипник. Крім русифікованих робітників. Каганович. Безперечно правильно. Ми за українізацію. [...]" (Kahanovyč 1929b: 140).

^{83 &}quot;Мені довелося говорити з деякими товаришами в справі останніх подій на Україні. Вони кажуть: "Шумського зняли, але справа культурної роботи страшенно багато програє. На Україні, кажуть вони, такі обставини, що потрібен "націонал-хлопчик" для биття. Шумський таким був. Він приходив в ЦК і перед самим носом махав кулаками, його били, але де в чому з ним і погоджувались". Я гадаю, що "хлопчика" скільки не бий, він завжди буде "хлопчики" (сміх). Нам потрібні не "хлопчики", а серйозні політичні діячі в цій справі […] Вони скажуть, що основні рішення ЦК фактично б'ють по українізації. Ні, товариші, це не удар по українізації, а це є дійсний правильний підход [sic] в справі українізації.

^{84 &}quot;Дійсно, ми маємо зараз зріст націоналістичних настроїв [sic, по period] Візьмемо, приміром, хоч би останні виступи академика [sic] Ефремова [sic] [...] Я гадаю, що Ефремов два роки тому назад не посмів би такою мовою з нами розмовляти, як він пише. [...] Півтора-два роки тому назад той же Кримський, той же Ефремов він би не посмів так розмовляти з нами. [...] Безумовно, ми тут стоїмо перед питанням, як і т. Чубар мені з Президії підсказав, вислати тих, хто нахабно поводиться, за межі радянської території, тому, що форми поводження вийшли за рямці припустимого. А ми навіть не змогли за формальних причин позбавити його права голосу, хоч, я думаю, нехай він буде 70 раз українським інтелігентським академиком [sic], а його треба позбавити голосу."

Signals from Moscow constantly supported the struggle against "Ukrainian nationalism." In June 1927, Grigorij Zinov'ev declared at the plenary session of the Central Committee of the CPSU in Moscow that "in Ukraine, they are conducting 'Ukrainization' in a manner that contradicts our nationality policy...and helps the Petljurites, while genuine chauvinism is not being opposed" (Ukrainizacija 2003: 57). In the same year, Jurij Larin published another sharp criticism of "Ukrainization" at the behest of Stalin (ibid.), while Lazar Kahanovyč sent a declaration to the Comintern pointing out that Ukraine was suffering from the growth of Ukrainian chauvinism, kulak ("глитайня") influence on the village intelligentsia, and the formation of an ideology of bourgeois restoration led by the Ukrainian urban bourgeoisie (ibid., 195).

In the latter half of 1927, the Bolsheviks began reorganizing the Ukrainian Academy of Sciences according to their needs. Mykola Skrypnyk began by dismissing two academicians. A year later, Ahatanhel Kryms'kyj was removed from his post as secretary of the academy, and seven party members "were imposed on the assembly of the academy" (Ševel'ov 1989: 124). This was only an indication of what was to follow.

All achievements of "Ukrainization" were unfailingly accompanied by concerted attacks on "Ukrainian nationalism." In 1927, the year of the Kharkiv conference, Vagaršak Vaganjan published his book *On National Culture*, in which he polemicized against the Galician impact on the Ukrainian language in Soviet Ukraine as follows:⁸⁵

Russian Ukraine has created its language, which differs considerably from Galician Ukrainian, under the much stronger impact of the Russian language. Probably, this [Galician] dialect is richer than Russian Ukrainian ("pociйськоукраїнський"), but what follows from that? Can one conclude from this that the language of the Galician-Ukrainian intelligentsia can be imposed on "Russian"-Ukrainian ("pociйсько'-українським") workers and peasants?" (cited according to Skrypnyk 1931: 6).

Vaganjan protested the "preference for the alien Galician dialect" and argued for the "rapprochement of the two neigboring eastern peoples, which will be an absolutely inevitable concomitant of the economic development of the [Soviet] Union" (ibid., 8). Vaganjan's publication was one more instance of the writing on the wall. Ukraine and the Ukrainian language would soon be brought closer to Soviet Russia. At the same time, they were to be ultimately distanced from the West.

In 1928, the Bolsheviks launched a major campaign against Mixail Volobuev, an ethnic Russian who had published an article "On the Problem of the Liquidation of Colonialism and Nationalism" (До проблеми ліквідації колоніяльности та націоналізму) in *Bil'šovyk Ukrajiny* (Bolshevik of Ukraine).

⁸⁵ About fifty to sixty thousand Galician immigrants who came to Soviet Ukraine before the 1930s took leading roles in many walks of Soviet political, scholarly, and cultural life. Mykola Skrypnyk's personal secretary, Mykola Erstenjuk, had Galician roots.

Volobuev had analyzed the colonial exploitation of the Ukrainian economy in the tsarist empire and concluded that many problems had in fact remained unchanged. His article was published together with a critical reply by Andrij Ričyc'kyj (Anatolij Pisoc'kyj) (Ričyc'kyj 1929). Soon afterwards, Mykola Skrypnyk condemned Volobuev in his speech "On the Economic Platform of Nationalism" (Skrypnyk 1929b). In the wake of "Šums'kism," another Ukrainian nationalist deviation appeared—"Volobujevščyna."⁸⁶

A year later, a Galician-born historian at the Ukrainian Academy of Sciences, Matvij Javors'kyj, was accused of "nationalist deviations," and a witch hunt against "Javorščyna" set in.

In the same year of 1928, Lazar Kahanovyč returned to Moscow as a secretary of the Central Committee of the Communist Party (he held the post until 1939). Stanislav Kosior, an ethnic Pole, succeeded him as general secretary of the CP(B)U. Kosior's most important task was to oversee the collectivization of agriculture in Ukraine, which soon led to the Great Famine of 1932–33. NEP was over, and Bolshevik propagandists declared that a period of acceleration had begun. The break in the forward movement was over. The Bolshevik terror against the "kulaks" was unleashed with such fervor that Stalin ultimately called for a slackening in his article "Dizziness with Success (Concerning Questions of the Collective Farm Movement)" (published in *Pravda* on 2 March 1930).

Throughout the years of "functional Ukrainization," the use of the Ukrainian language was in fact not unanimously encouraged. "All manifestations of 'spontaneous' Ukrainization met with severe reprisals," as Jurij Ševel'ov later recalled,⁸⁷ and "speaking Ukrainian publicly, though officially encouraged, was in general considered to be risky, unless an occasion was explicitly designed to be conducted in Ukrainian" (Ševel'ov 1989: 126). The situation was actually grotesque: "Those who wanted to succeed were expected to pass examinations in Ukrainian but not to use it any more than required," and "the stigma attached to the use of Ukrainian in the large cities did not dissipate" (ibid.); "when it came to important events, Russian was used consistently" (ibid., 128).

Contemporaries became increasingly aware of what was actually going on. In 1928, Mykola Kuliš wrote his outstanding play *Myna Mazajlo*, in which one of the characters prophetically declares, "Their Ukrainization is a method of revealing all us Ukrainians in order to destroy us all together so that not even a trace of our spirit will be left.... I warn you!" (Kuliš 1955: 169).⁸⁸ In early 1929, Serhij Jefremov noted in his diary that a "new course" had begun (Ukrajinizacija 2003: 196).

Jefremov was perfectly right. The GPU had invented a "counterrevolutionary Ukrainian nationalist organization," the "Union for the Liberation of Ukraine" (Спілка Визволення України, SVU). On 22 November 1929, Soviet newspapers

509

⁸⁶ Volobuev was exiled to Kazakhstan in 1934 (ČK – HPU – NKVD 1997: 34).

⁸⁷ Ševel'ov spent those years in Kharkiv.

^{88 &}quot;Їхня українізація - це спосіб виявити всіх нас, українців, а тоді знищити разом, щоб і духу не було... Попереджаю!"

declared that a band of counterrevolutionaries had been uncovered in the Ukrainian Academy of Sciences (Ukrajinizacija 2003: 199). Seven high-ranking Bolsheviks, including Mykola Skrypnyk, Volodymyr Zatons'kyj, and Oleksander Šlixter, were now "elected" to the Academy (Ševel'ov 1989: 124; Ukrajinizacija 2003: 197–198), while "all voluntary scientific societies affiliated with the academy were disbanded... [and] scores of the academy's associates were arrested," including the chairman of its Ruling Board and its actual *spiritus movens*, S[erhij] Jefremov" (ibid.).

The SVU show trial was prepared during a personal meeting with Stalin on 5 February 1930 and held from 19 March to 9 April 1930 (ČK – HPU – NKVD 1997: 40; Pauly 2009: 264). Among the defendants were precisely those who had in fact borne the main burden of genuine "Ukrainization": professors, teachers, and church activists. Several defendants represented the major intellectual center of "Ukrainization," the Ukrainian Academy of Sciences, which came under vigorous attack; some of them were leading linguists.⁸⁹ Immediately after the trial, about seven hundred other persons were arrested, many of them teachers. Moreover, according to some estimates, as many as thirty thousand people were arrested, exiled, or murdered in the context of the so-called SVU affair (ČK – HPU – NKVD 1997: 41).⁹⁰

Less than five years after the beginning of "functional Ukrainization," the SVU affair marked the beginning of its end. In the documents of the trial, "in fact anything Ukrainian" became "'Petljurite,' 'nationalist,' 'wrecking,' etc.," while the Bolshevik phrase of the need for "correct Ukrainization" became increasingly devoid of content (ibid., 43).

In the years to come, the GPU invented many more anti-Bolshevik Ukrainian nationalist organizations, such as the "Kuban' Union in Ukraine," which had designs on the Ukrainians in Kuban' (Ukrajinizacija 2003: 202), or the "Ukrainian National Center," which involved the academics Myxajlo Hruševs'kyj and Matvij Javors'kyj and "initiated a veritable hunt for emigrants from Galicia" (ČK – HPU – NKVD 1997: 45, Ukrajinizacija 2003: 204).

Mykola Skrypnyk wrote a lengthy article on the SVU trial in 1930 that was published in Russian in the all-Union paper *Kommunist* and in two Ukrainian translations (see section 6). In his text, Skrypnyk denied all claims of the "bourgeois and social-fascist press of Poland, France, Germany, and other countries," which had labeled the trial of the SVU a "Bolshevik intrigue," a "provocation of the Cheka," and a "trial of the flower of the Ukrainian intelligentsia" (Skrypnyk 1930: 3).⁹¹ According to Skrypnyk, Serhij Jefremov of the Ukrainian Academy of

⁸⁹ Vsevolod Hancov, an editor of the academy's Russian-Ukrainian dictionary; Hryhorij Holoskevyč, the author of an orthographic dictionary that disseminated the rules of the Kharkiv orthography; and Hryhorij Xolodnyj, the head of the Institute for Scientific Language.

⁹⁰ Other sources mention "more than five thousand people" arrested as a consequence of the SVU affair (Ukrajinizacija 2003: 201).

^{91 &}quot;Намагаючись отруїти свідомість широких працюючих мас, вороги СРСР за останній час використали і процес "Спілки Визволення України", що відбувався в столиці Радянської

Sciences was the leader of a group of treacherous "members of various Ukrainian bourgeois and socialist parties: social democrats, social federalists, national democrats, fascists, etc." (ibid.).92 Allegedly, "the old leaders, proven over decades, of the Ukrainian bourgeois national movement and the young representatives of Ukrainian fascism, master academics and professors as well as ordinary teachers, writers, and philologists, cooperators, and medical doctors,⁹³ one after another," had denounced their treasonous past in the course of the trial and called upon others to renounce any "wrecking and damaging counterrevolutionary" activity and contribute to the defense of "the Soviet Republic...against a capitalist intervention, particularly by fascist Poland, for whose sake and with whose support and on whose instructions the SVU had been working" (ibid., 4–5).⁹⁴ Skrypnyk explained that the success of the Bolshevik revolution had forced the "national bourgeois intelligentsia" to collaborate with the Soviets, but the period of "reconstruction," that is, Stalinist "collectivization in the framework of the first Soviet five-year plan," had encountered "cruel resistance" on part of "the kulak" to the "liquidation of the kulak as a class" (ibid., 7).⁹⁵ Skrypnyk explained that the members of the SVU included "a considerable number of professors and instructors of various universities in Kyiv and other cities" who had brought up counterrevolutionary cadres among the students of bourgeois and kulak origin, particularly among village teachers (the latter were united in a separate suborganization, the "Union

України, в Харкові. "Більшовицькі застінки", "чекістська провокація) [sic], "розправа над цвітом української інтелегенції [sic]" і т. п. штамповані,просякнені [sic; no space after comma] ядовитою злобою, епітети зустрічались в цій справі на сторінках буржуазної і соціялфашистівської преси Польщі, Франції, Німеччини і друг. країн, супроводжуючись протестами проти "таємних розправ", вимогами "відвертости" і т. п. Але ледве розпочався процесс [sic] в справі СВУ, як зі сторінок наче б мітлою вимело всі відомості з процесу."

^{92 &}quot;Коварні' більшовики широко надали свободи слова всім, що сиділи на лаві підсудних, членам ріжних українських буржуазних і соціялістилних партій: соціял-демократам, соціялфедералістам, націонал-демократам, фашистам і т. п., розсилаючи по радіо їхні промови у всі кінці світу."

⁹³ Interestingly, Stalin himself had instructed Kosior and Čubar to add "medical focuses" to the SVU affair (ČK – HPU – NKVD 1997: 42; Ukrajinizacija 2003: 200).

^{94 &}quot;Старі, провірені десятиріччами [sic] проворирі українського буржуазного національного руху і молоді представники українського фашизму, мастисті академіки та професори і рядові вчителі, письменники і філологи, кооператори і лікарі, один за другим, в своїх виступах на суді пятнують свою минулу діяльність і через радіохвилі закликають всіх, хто ще хитається, або хто раніш йшов за ними, відмовитись від шкідливих і згубних контрреволюційних шляхів, закликаюти працювати для Радянської Республіки і сприяти охороні її проти капіталістичної інтервенції, перш за все з боку фашистівської Польщі, що в її користь, що при її допомоза [sic, no dot above i] і що по її вказівкам працювала СВУ."

^{95 &}quot;В останні роки відбудовчого періоду і особливо з переходом до реконструктивного періоду на селі загострилась клясова боротьба. Широкий розвиток промисловости, індустріялізації країни, і, нарешті, перехід до технічної і економічної реконструкції сільського господарства зустріли жорстокий опір куркуля, який побачив, що пролетарська партія щільно підходить до завдання ліквідації куркуля, як кляси. Непримиримі націоналістичні елементи української дрібнобуржуазної інтелегенції виступили в цій боротьбі зачинщиками і організаторами. Вже в 1926 р., напередоні [sic] переходу нашої країни до реконструктивного періоду і плянової перебудови господарства в Київі організується СВУ (Спілка Визволення України)."

of Ukrainian Youth") (ibid., 9–10).⁹⁶ Their "entire plan for the liberation of Ukraine was based on Polish and German military intervention" (ibid., 11),⁹⁷ and "the class force from which the Ukrainian counterrevolution consciously wanted to draw support was the large wealthy peasantry—the kulaks."⁹⁸ The SVU had planned to make Ukraine a "peasant country" under kulak leadership, while industry was to be owned by foreign capitalists (ibid., 11–13). Ukraine was to become a colony of Polish and German fascists and capitalists, and "all Western Ukrainian, bourgeois, and socialist parties and organizations" had "already become a direct and immediate instrument in the hands of the fascists of Poland, a compliant tool for the military intervention that had been prepared" (ibid., 16).⁹⁹ Skrypnyk added that these counterrevolutionary forces targeted not only Soviet Ukraine but even Moscow as well. Both their "program and tactics" had allegedly been coordinated by Marshal Piłsudski and the German general Groener (ibid., 17).

According to Skrypnyk, some isolated cells "contaminated by kulak Petljurite nationalist elements" were still "doing their harmful work, although they had lost their leading role in the cooperatives and therefore could not contribute much to the counterrevolutionary organization" (ibid., 21). Moreover, "an organization of the Ukrainian Autocephalous Orthodox Church especially created for that purpose" had organized the "kulak forces" (ibid., 21–22).¹⁰⁰ Skrypnyk declared that the SVU had propagated anti-Semitism, nationalism, and fascism in the Ukrainian pedagogical sphere. He explained that Ukrainian nationalism had already had

^{96 &}quot;СВУ мала в своїх лавах досить значну кількість професорів, викладачів ріжних ВИШ-ів в Київі і инших міст, ведучи вперту, хоча й скриту, роботу по вихованню контрреволюційних кадрів з числа студентів буржуазно-куркульського походження. [...] Молоді контрреволюційні сили були об'єднані в доповнюючі організаці СУМ (Спілка Української Молоді), члени якої повинні були бути масовиви [sic] агітаторами СВУ серед студенства і куркульського селянства."

^{97 &}quot;Нарешті, зізнання головнійших керовників СВУ вияснили, що весь "плян" звільнення України був оснований на воєнній інтервенції з боку Польші і Німеччини, при чому цю інтервенцію повинно було бути куплено поділом України на дві сфери впливу: Правобережна Україна мала ввійти в склад Польської Річи Посполитої, а Лівобережна – мала попасти в залежність і підлеглість німецькому капіталові."

^{98 &}quot;Клясовою силою, на яку свідомо хотіла спертись українська контрреволюція, було велике заможнє селянство – куркулі. іх [sic] клясові інтереси цілковито і повністо [sic] відбивались в програмі СВУ."

^{99 &}quot;Всі західно-українські, буржуазні і соціялістичні партії і організації насправді стали вже прямим безпосереднім знаряддям в руках фашистівської Польщі, службовим засобом для воєнної інтервенції, що готується."

^{100 &}quot;Формування куркульських сил для готування повстання Спілка Визволення України провадила старими петлюрівськими кадрами кооперативних організацій. Українська кооперація довгі роки була в руках українського куркуля і служила одною з важливійших баз петлюрівського націоналістичного руху. [...] Але з розгорненням ленінського "кооперативного пляну" з переходом в реконструктивний період, з широким розвитком колективізації сільського господарства націоналістичні куркульські елементи було вибито з кооперації. Ще є зараз окремі осередки кооперативної організації засмічені куркульськопетлюрівськими націоналістичними елементами; вони ще провадать [*sic*] шкідливу роботу, але вони загубили в кооперації керівну ролю і тому мало могли дати для контрреволюційної організації. Основною організованою силою і, так би мовити, 'управлінням для формування' куркульських сил була спеціяльно створена, керована націоналістами організація української автокефальної православної церкви."

strong roots among village teachers during the years 1917–20 but added that under Bolshevik rule, "the character of the Ukrainian teachers had changed completely," so that the SVU had managed to recruit only "an insignificant part of its adherents" among the teachers (ibid., 24).¹⁰¹ Regardless of Skrypnyk's declaration, tens of thousands of teachers were purged.

Another leading Ukrainian Bolshevik who commented on the SVU trial in *Bil'šovyk Ukrajiny* was Panas Ljubčenko. In his article "Ukrainian Nationalists in Their Struggle for the Restoration of Capitalism (On the SVU Trial)" (Ljubčenko 1930), Ljubčenko argued that the trial was of interest "not only to the workers and peasants, the toilers of Ukraine, but also to the [Soviet] Union as a whole" (ibid., 59).¹⁰² He declared that the trial had issued a summary verdict on the "many years of struggle of the nationalist counterrevolution," which consisted of various "so-called socialist parties" (ibid.).¹⁰³ According to Ljubčenko, the desire for Ukrainian independence had emerged only after the October Revolution, and Ukrainian nationalists had thus "proclaimed independence primarily in order to distance themselves from proletarian Russia and obtain the right to immediate negotiations with the Central Powers—Germany and Austria—[that is] the right to trade Ukraine away to German imperialism, to strangle the workers' and peasants'

- 102 "Процес "Спілки Визволення України" СВУ, що недавно занкінчився в Харкові, являє інтерес не тільки для робітників і селян, для трудящих України, але і для цілого Союзу."
- 103 Цей процес підсумував багаторічну боротьбу української націоналістичної контрреволюції, на чолі якої стояли, так звані, соціялістичні партії проти влади робітників і селян, проти пролетарської революції. Саме колишні члени двох основних партій української контрреволюції – соціяль-демократів і соціяль-федералістів, партій, які були за організаторів і керівників, так званої, Української Народньої Республіки – УНР, складали ядро і керівні кадри СВУ."

513

^{101 &}quot;Націоналістичні педагоги, що об'єднались в Науково-Педагогічне Товариство при Всеукраїнській Академії Наук, на чолі якого стояв член президії Спілки Визволення України - Дурдуківський, розгортали широку, ідеологічну, шкідницьку роботу. Поволі, з дня на день, в легальних формах, тонким, хитрим ядом наповняли вони всю свою работу [sic], педагоги-шкідники впливали на дитячий розум, виховували з них антисемітів, вщіпювали національну ворожнечу і людську ненависть. Завданням їх було зробити з школи засіб націоналістичного, фашистівського виховання, підготовлювати в ній нові молоді кадри ворогів радянської влади, які б з усією енергією пішли на повстання і терор, вбиства і погроми. Але ця розкладова робота шкідників-педагогів зустріла опір в самій школі, і з боку вчителів і з боку самих учнів. Ще 10 років тому, в 1917–1920 рр., український сільський вчитель в переважній своїй частині знаходився під впливом українського націоналізму. На українського вчителя і на кооператора перш за все і більш за все спиралась петлюрівщина в своїх ідеологічних впливах на село. Минуле десятиріччя і широко розгорнута за минулий час культурно-освітня робота і будівництво нової радянської культури зовсім змінили характер українського вчительства. Спілка Визволення України могла набрати собі серед вчителів лише незначну групу прибічників; величезна маса вчительства цілковито відвернулась від контрреволюціонерів. Більше того: в загостреній клясовій боротьбі на селі сільський вчитель є передовим борцем і організатором в боротьбі за переведення широких господарчих і освітніх засобів радянської влади, за переведення колективізації села і т. п. Не дарма ж куркульський терор на селі спрямований зараз не лише проти комуністів і активістів з селянської бідноти, але й проти вчителя школи, ліквідатора неписьменности, робітника освіти. Українська контрреволюція могла розраховати лише на окремі десятки вчителів і на школи, де керовниками були члени СВУ – в Київі [sic] Дурдуківський, в Чернигові – Холодний і др."

uprising with the support of German bayonets, and to preserve the power of the bourgeoisie" (ibid., 61).¹⁰⁴ The defendants in the SVU trial had sold out Ukraine piece by piece, while allegedly struggling for the unification of all Ukrainian lands (ibid., 67).¹⁰⁵ Those "arch-traitors" had collaborated with "the Polish gentry and Mr. Piłsudski," who had wished to realize their "Great Polish program, the creation of a Rzeczpospolita from sea to sea" in 1920 (ibid., 69),¹⁰⁶ while the "toilers of Western Ukraine" knew precisely "how the Ukrainian nationalists had betrayed Western Ukraine" (ibid., 72).¹⁰⁷ As Ljubčenko concluded:

The peoples of the USSR who, under the guidance of the proletariat and its Leninist party, are building a new socialist society will mercilessly and decisively reject any jiggery-pokery and attempts of the capitalist overlords and their nationalist lackeys to organize new "liberation" campaigns (ibid., 75).¹⁰⁸

Stalinist paranoid, gigantomanic and extremely redundant hate rhetoric was about to reach its peak.

One of the best examples was Stanislav Kosior's speech "On Mass Collectivization, the Liquidation of the Kulak as a Class, and the Ongoing Tasks of the Party" (Kosior 1930), which was published in *Bil'šovyk Ukrajiny* in February 1930. In this article, Kosior declared that thanks to collectivization, a higher level of socialist construction had been reached—the time for "the liquidation of the kulaks ("куркулі") as a class" had thus arrived (ibid., 13). According to Kosior, the "great success" of Bolshevik policy made possible "an unheard-of large growth of our socialist industry," the "enormous intensification of its [the industry's] impact on agriculture," as well as

^{104 &}quot;Тасло незалежности й відокремлення від Росії було вписано до програми націоналістичних партій тільки після перемоги Жовтневої революциї. Ні українські есдеки, ні українські есери, ні партія української буржуазії – соціялісти-федералісти – підчас панування Тимчасового Уряду, не стояли на позиції самостійности. Їхні вимоги щодо руської буржуазії обмежувалось вимогами для України найкуцішої культурно-національної автономії. [...] Українським націоналістам треба було проголосити незалежність, насамперед, для того, щоб одмежуватись від пролетарської Росії, щоб дістати право на безпосередні переговори з центральними державами – Німеччиною, Австрією, право на запродажництво України німецькому імперіялізмові, щоб за допомогою німецьких багнетів придушити повстання робітників і селян, зберегти владу буржуазії."

^{105 &}quot;Поруч генеральних запродажництв закордонньому капіталові, за лицемірно галасливої заяви про боротьбу за собірність, цебто за об'єднання всіх українських земель: України Наддніпрянської, Галичини, Буковини, Закарпатської України, Україну розпродувалось частинами."

^{106 &}quot;На весні 1920 року польській шляхті й панові Пілсудському видалось, що приспів найсприятливіший час реалізувати великопольську програму, утворити Річ Посполиту від моря до моря. [...] Ролю ширми, ролю димової завіси мусіли були відограти українські націоналісти. Зрадники із зрадників, патентовані крамарі інтересами українських трудящих, викинуті за межі радянської України, українські націоналісти дістали ще одну можливість поставити свої підписи й печатку проституйованої УНР під новою окупацією."

^{107 &}quot;Трудящі Західньої України знають, як українські націоналісти зрадили Західню Україну."

^{108 &}quot;Народи СРСР, які успішно будують, під керівництвом пролетаріяту та його ленінської партії, нове соціялістичне суспільство, дадуть нещадну, рішучу відсіч усяким підступам та спробам капіталістичних хазяїв і їхніх націоналістичних льокаїв організувати нові походи за "визволення"."

"the intensification of the leading role of the proletariat for the peasant masses" (ibid.).¹⁰⁹ Kosior declared that NEP had led to a "unification [of the proletariat] with the basic peasant masses" (ibid., 14)¹¹⁰ thanks to the colossal growth of "our industry" and the industrialization of agriculture, which "Il'ič" (Lenin) had only dreamed of (ibid., 15).¹¹¹ Henceforth, in the course of the "socialist reconstruction of agriculture," "middle" peasants ("середняки") were to be increasingly isolated from the kulaks, who were preventing them from collaborating with the proletariat (ibid., 15–16).¹¹² If the Bolsheviks had formerly depended on the "kulaks," the situation had now changed thanks to collectivization.¹¹³ Therefore, "we have launched a truly successful and decisive attack against the kulak along the entire front; we have moved from the

- 111 "Лише завдяки колосальному зростанню нашої промисловости, успішному здійсненню лінії на індустріялізацію ми змогли за останні два роки утворити багато дійсних зразків соціялістичного, громадського господарювання на селі тобто те, чого у нас ще не було за Ільїча і про віщо Ільїч лише мріяв. Ми останнім роком ці зразки утворили у вигляді колгоспів, машиновотракторних станцій, радгоспів, під які ми підвели вже міцну технічну базу. Завдяки цьому ми наш уплив на основну масу села незрівняно посилили, авторитет і довір'я до партії та пролетарської диктатури підвищили."
- 112 "Завдяки швидким темпам розвитку соціялістичного господарства, особливо промисловости, ми два роки тому впрост практично підійшли до соціялістичної реконструкції сільського господарства. [...] У цих вирішальних для соціялістичного будівництва зрушеннях наша політика до куркуля також відіграла величезну ролю. Ви знаєте, що своєю природою середняк вагається, у нього дві душі: одна дрібно-власницька, як продавця хліба, яка тягне його до заможного, до куркуля, а друга душа, душа трудівника, що зазнав визиску поміщика, єднає його з робітничою клясою, наймитом, біднотою. Вся справа в тім, щоб за цю основну другу рису середняка нам яко мога міцніше зачепитися, сполучити його з собою, уплив куркуля. І все це нам вдалося здійснити. Протягом минулого й цього року партія виконала на свій велетенську роботу, щоб залучити середняка в основному питанні про хліб на свій бік. Саме в цей період перед основною масою селянства стало руба на селі питання про вибір шляху: або з куркуля проти пролетарської держави, або разом з партією, з пролетарською державою будувати нове господарство проти куркуля."
- 113 "Те, що ми спромоглися подолати опір куркуля, відіграло не абияку ролю для середняка, для якого куркуль мав деякий господарський авторитет. Ми завдали куркулеві убійчого вдару. Ми, поперше, на ділі, показали, що держава будь-яких вагань у питанні про хліб не дозволить і з клясовим ворогом куркулем розправиться нещадно. Далі ми довели основній масі селянства, при чому знову таки довели на ділі, що наше громадське господарство багато краще й вище від крукульського [sic] господарства. Зростання колгоспів і радгоспів дозволило нам із суто економічного погляду замінити куркульські господарства. Ще рік, півтора тому ми залежали від куркуля. В якому розумінні? В тому, що хліба, с.-т. сировини у нас було без лишку. Бідняцько-середняцькі господарства через малу свою товаровість давали явно недостатню кількість хліба, а куркульські господарства мали 30–40% товарового хліба цифра досить солідна. Нині становище дуже змінилося."

^{109 &}quot;Основні причини, які дозволяють нам нині зробити в нашій політиці поворот, перехід від обмеження визискувальних тенденцій куркульства до політики його ліквідації, як кляси, саме в тім, що ми стали на вищий щабель соціялістичного будівництва. Лише досяпши впертою роботою й боротьбою певних великих успіхів, ми можемо тепер взяти цей курс. Ці успіхи насамперед виявляються у нечуваному своїми розмірами зростанні нашої соціялістичної індустрії, у величезному посиленні її впливу на сільське господарство, в посиленні провідної ролі пролетаріяту на основі маси селянства. В наслідок за останні два роки сталися виключні своїм значенням грунтовні, глибинні зрушення в основній середняцькій масі села."

^{110 &}quot;На основі НЕПи ми зміцнили єднання з основними масами селянства, мине [sic] лише остаточно привернули на свій бік середняка, але й як ніколи зміцнили це єднання сталими економічними зв'язками через товарообіг, кооперацію, кредит, через ту постійну допомогу, що її держава давала біднякові й середнякові в тяжкі моменти недороду й т. д."

former policy of restriction to a policy of the liquidation of the kulak as a class" (ibid., 17).¹¹⁴ However, this "deadly and irreconcilable enemy" was "still making a stand" and exerting his "kulak terror."¹¹⁵ Therefore, "having well beaten the kulak, it would be a great mistake to say, 'Don't beat a man when he's down (although he is by no means down yet)," as this would give him "the opportunity to recover and further maneuver and continue his destructive work." The party would thus welcome any demands "from below" to complete the liquidation of the kulak. The masses were to be "mobilized and organized for the decisive suppression of any kulak resistance" (ibid., 17),¹¹⁶ for in the era of collectivization, the kulak was as unnecessary and harmful as the "nepman" (ibid.).¹¹⁷ Kosior insisted that it was important not to extend the "dekulakization" to "middle peasants" (ibid., 19).¹¹⁸ He argued that middle and poor peasants had already understood that the kulak was a "predator" ("хижак") and that the party was interested in "raising the elementary peasant masses to a higher material level" (ibid., 20).¹¹⁹ The "liquidation of the kulak" had admittedly caused "serious" production shortages (ibid., 22),¹²⁰ but the grain-requisition rates had to be maintained, and more attention to stock farming would help overcome the

- 119 "[...] піднести на вищий матеріяльний рівень основні маси селянства [...]."
- 120 "Поперше ми ліквідуємо куркуля. А що це означає? Це означає, що коли минулого року в наслідок політики посиленого наступу на куркуля, що її провадила партія, ми мали помітний недосів у куркульському господарстві, то цього року ми матимемо цілковите випадання куркульського господарства в районах суцільної колективізації й чимале випадання в інших районах, бо куркуль, незалежно від розкуркулювання, почав закидати своє господарство, ліквідувати свою худобу тощо."

^{114 &}quot;За останній рік ми розгорнули успішний, рішучий справжній наступ на куркуля по всьому фронту, ми перейшли від колишньої політики обмеження до політики ліквідації куркуля, як кляси."

^{115 &}quot;Куркуля ми переробити не можемо, це ілюзія, і опортунізм, надії на вростання куркуля в соціялізм розвіялися начебто і у самого тов. Бухаріна. Наш соціялістичний наступ, успшно розвиваючись, привів до того, що ворог ізольований, оточений бідняцько-середняцькою колгоспною масою, але він і досі ще шалено чинить опір. Він є смертельний, непримиренний наш ворог, ворог колективного господарства. У куркуля ще досить сил, щоб, коли не в одвертому бої, то боротися нишком із-за паркану, через підкуп, з середини зривати колгоспи. Нам доводиться провадити з ним шалену, часто криваву боротьбу, щодня доводиться бачити вияви куркульського терору. Тим то дати нині куркулеві перепочинок, лишаючись на колишній позиції його обмеження, це означає дати йому можливість маневрувати, перешиковуватись й продовжувати боротьбу."

^{116 &}quot;Було б великою помилкою за наших обставин, побивши гарненько куркуля, сказати – лежачого не б'ють (хоч він ще далеко не в лежачому стані), дати йому змову пересидіти й далі маневрувати, дати йому змогу вести підривну роботу. Ми були б справжні дурні, коли б на такий погляд пристали. Ось чому партія йде назустріч вимогам знизу про ліквідацію куркуля. Та мало цього. Партія сама повинна організувати широкий рух колгоспних бідняцью - середняцьких мас, щоб організовано провести розкуркулювання і ліквідувати куркульські господарства. Треба мобілізувати і організувати маси на рішуче придушення усякого опору куркуля, щоб його відродження стало неможливим ані завтра, ані позавтра, ані через рік."

^{117 &}quot;[...] ми тепер безпосередньо встановлюємо єднання між соціялістичною промисловістю і соціялістичним сектором (колгоспами) села та індивідуальним селянським гоподарством через контрактацію. Для цього нам більше не потрібен куркуль і непман, не лише не потрібен, але вони шкодять налагодженню безпосередніх взаємин, безпосереднього товарообігу на основі обопільного тривалого договору між робітничою державою і основною масою села."

^{118 &}quot;Найважливіший наш обов'язок за проведення розкуркулення – це, безперечно, запобігти будь якому поширенню цього заходу на якусь частину середняцьких господарств."

problems (ibid., 22–23). After all, Kosior envisaged "tremendous prospects unheard of in grandiosity," "colossal progress" among the working class and poor and middle peasants, and "grandiose tasks" for the future (ibid., 23–24).¹²¹

What the Bolsheviks called "dekulakization" was in fact a ruthless "war against the peasantry" (ČK – HPU – NKVD 1997: 39), which, after all, constituted the vast majority of speakers of Ukrainian. Merciless dekulakizing brigades deprived so-called "kulaks" of their (often very modest) possessions and deported them from their homelands, although no one could say what a "kulak" really was (Graziosi 2008: 40). By 1 June 1930, 90,000 homesteads had been dekulakized; during the entire period of collectivization, the number rose to more than 200,000 (ČK – HPU – NKVD 1997: 38). As a reaction to this, in the course of 1929 alone "about 1,300 peasant disturbances" (Graziosi 2008: 40) occurred in the Soviet Union as a whole. "In 1930 there were 13,754 peasant disturbances…with 2.5 million participants in the 10,000 disturbances for which data were gathered; …the most affected 'region' was Ukraine, with 4,098 demonstrations" (ibid., 44–45).

The Bolsheviks continually proclaimed their alleged adherence to "Ukrainization" (see, e.g., Xvylja 1930), but, given their attacks on Ukrainian intellectuals and the peasantry, these proclamations became increasingly hollow. The Bolsheviks not only intended to change the status of the Ukrainian language but also, simultaneously and increasingly, interfered in corpus planning. In 1931, for example, People's Commissar of Education Mykola Skrypnyk joined a certain Comrade Poznans'kyj in attacking alleged attempts in the language commission of the All-Ukrainian Academy of Sciences to "arrest the development of our language" (Skrypnyk 1931), particularly in the *Russian-Ukrainian Dictionary of Legal Terminology* (Російсько-український словник правничої мови), which Ahatanhel Kryms'kyj had edited in Kyiv in 1926. According to Skrypnyk, "one could hardly conceive a more inappropriate adaption of the old terminology corresponded only to "the economy of the pre-capitalist period and commercial capital," while the

^{121 &}quot;Ми ввійшли до такого періоду, коли перед нами справді відкриваються величезні, нечувані своєю грандіозністю перспективи. [...] Колосальні зрушення відбуваються й серед робітничої кляси, і серед бідняцько - середняцької маси селянства. Тут ми маємо свого роду взаємочинність ентузіязм робітничой [sic] кляси, її згуртованість, організованість навколо нашої партії. [...] Грандіозні завдання, що стоять перед нами, потребують виняткового напруження сил, величезних кадрів, а ці кадри нам треба знайти, підняти. Їх може дати тільки робітнича кляса, що веде за собою величезні маси колгостників, які підводяться до нового життя."

¹²² In the preface to this dictionary, Ahatanhel Kryms'kyj had openly written: "We have deliberately introduced into the dictionary many words from the old Ukrainian legal language in order to disclose the tie of the contemporary language with the old one, to buttress the present-day legal language with a historical foundation, and to show how many words the contemporary language of the Ukraine retains from the old legal language and how gravely err those who accuse the present-day Ukrainian language of being forged, Galicianized. It proves that the Ukrainian language some two or three hundred years ago used those same words that at times, it seems, so grate on our Russianized ear" (cited according to Ševel'ov 1989: 137). The criticism of the dictionary was even less justified, as the dictionary contained "only ca. 2,000 archaic words (the total number of words was over 67,000), which were singled out by the editorial comment *star*. (ancient) and had no prescriptive intent" (ibid.)!

transfer of terminology "from one economic formation to another" meant "littering the language or hampering the development of new economic phenomena and social interrelations" (ibid., 41–42).¹²³ Skrypnyk conceded that "for the enrichment of our language...many words" could be taken from "our treasury, both the old and the new Ukrainian literature" (ibid.); he even explicitly criticized some individuals in the editorial commission of the *Ukrainian Soviet Encyclopedia* who opted for a new strategy of "internationalizing the Ukrainian language," generally opposed "old terms," and argued that "if there were good Russian ones, why look for others" (ibid., 42). Skrypnyk declared that such views were "already from the gospel of the apostle Vaganjan" (see above) (ibid., 42–43)¹²⁴ and concluded that both "arresting development" and "internationalization (by Russification)" of the Ukrainian language were "deviations ["збочення"] in the linguistic sphere."

Notably, Skrypnyk's criticism of the legal dictionary was not an isolated instance; it was part of a broader campaign "on the linguistic front" that had been initiated a year earlier. As early as 7 March 1930, amid the hysteria that had developed around the SVU trial, the Bolsheviks liquidated the Institute of Ukrainian Scientific Terminology and a number of scholarly commissions of the Academy of Sciences that were working on a dictionary of the living Ukrainian language, a historical dictionary of the Ukrainian language, an etymological dictionary of the Ukrainian language, a normative grammar of the Ukrainian language, the study of the history of the Ukrainian language, and the study of Ukrainian dialectology. Instead, an "Institute of Scholarly Research in Linguistics ("Науково-дослідчий інститут мовознавства") was created, where only about half the earlier staff continued to work under the new director, Borys Tkačenko (Kubajčuk 2004: 81–82). The first publication of the new institute, which appeared in 1931, was a large volume titled *On the Linguistic Front* (На мовному фронті); it was filled with accusations of

^{123 &}quot;Тут тов. Познанський зауважив, що, мовляв, у мовній комісії ВУАН були спроби законсервувати нашу мову. Це може стати одним із виявів певної політики на мовному терені. Я візьму російсько-український словник, юридично-термінологічний, що вийшов років 5 тому. І мушу сказати, що невдалішого пристосування старої термінології до сучасних явищ навряд чи можна вигадати, бо термінологія XVI і XVII сторіччя відповідала певній економіці, та й то економіці докапіталістичної доби, торговельного капіталу. [...] І коли безпосередньо без всякої глибокої праці переносити терміни з одної економічної формації до дуугої, то це значить засмічувати мову, або гальмувати розвиток нових соціяльних явищ і соціяльних співвідносин тому, що й термінологія може бути знаряддям розвитку, або гальмом."

^{124 &}quot;З другого боку, нещодавно у редакційній комісії української радянської енциклопедії відбулася нарада, де говорили про мовне оформлення УРЄ [sic]. Там були такі, що говорили, що треба, мовляв, вести лінію на "інтернаціоналізацію" української мови, не брати старих термінів, а коли є хороші російські, навіщо інших шукати. Це вже з євангелії апостола Ваганяна і, на мою думку, так і треба їх оцінювати. […] Треба сказати, що в нас зараз іноді кують багато нових слів, тоді як є багато хороших слів, уживаних уже в нашій літературі, але ще мало прищеплених до життя. Візьмімо наприклад, слово "предслово" [sic], що його Шевченко викував, та ще одне нове слово "передмова". Слово "передмова" прищепилось до життя, а слово "передлово" до життя не прищепилось. Я гадаю, що в нашій скарбниці, і старої нової української літератури, є багато слів, які ще можна взяти для того, що збагачувати нашу мову. Такі твердження, що не можна брати старої української термінології, невірні й хибні, і коли вони супроводяться заявами про те, що, мовляв, коли є хороші російські слова, то треба їх обрати і ними інтернаціоналізувати українську мову, то це вже з євангелії Ваганяна. Отже на мовній ділянці є різні збочення й коли говорити про одне, то треба розбирати й інші."

"wrecking" language planning at the Academy of Sciences and self-incriminations of those who remained on staff pending their imminent purges.

Borys Tkačenko soon disappeared, and Naum Kahanovyč took his place (Ukrajinizacija 2003: 202). Kahanovyč had been among the first to set the new tone for Ukrainian "linguistics." In 1930, in an article titled "Against 'Populism' in Linguistics," he had polemicized against the "essentially conservative and wrecking" tendency to "go back to the popular language" ("назад до народної мови"). In another article titled "A Few Words on Dictionaries," he wrote about the "scholarly sabotage" ("наукове шкідництво") resulting from the "Ukrainian bourgeois-nationalist homestead mentality" ("українське буржуазно-націоналістичне хуторянство") (Ukrajinizacija 2003: 201–202; Ševel'ov 1989: 154–155). Kahanovyč soon became editor in chief of the newly established journal *Linguistics* (Мовознавство), which was from its beginnings little more than an organ of the Bolshevik campaign "on the linguistic front" (Ševel'ov 1989: 157).

3.2. Achievements

The Bolsheviks initiated "functional Ukrainization" at a time when, thanks to the gradual reconstruction of industry and other factors of modernization, a new Ukrainian urban intelligentsia had come into being, "not yet very numerous but large enough to be taken into account" (ibid.). Although "a marked, though still very limited, Ukrainian element" had developed within the CP(B)U, no more than 14 out of 45 members of the Central Committee of the CP(B)U knew Ukrainian in late 1926 (Ševel'ov 1989: 63–64). In the years to come, it never became mandatory for leading Ukrainian Bolsheviks to have a command of the Ukrainian language.

As in the earliest years of "Ukrainization," employees were still offered language courses free of charge, but beginning in 1927, "those lagging behind in Ukrainization had to pay for their instruction" (Ševel'ov 1989: 116). Nonetheless, little progress was made, and the "last serious legal act regarding the Ukrainization of the apparatus" was the decree "On Guaranteeing the Equal Rights of Languages and on Fostering the Development of Ukrainian Culture," issued by the All-Ukrainian Central Executive Committee and the Council of People's Commissars on 6 July 1927 (Ukrajinizacija 2003: 83). While this decree stipulated that all legal documents of state organs were to be published in Ukrainian and Russian, that the internal correspondence of Ukrainian institutions was to be written in Ukrainian, and that those officials who declined to learn Ukrainian were to be dismissed (ibid., 83–84), none of these regulations was ever put into practice consistently, if at all (ibid., 84).

Most scholars agree that "Ukrainization" was particularly successful in the educational sphere (ibid., 85): after all, Bolshevik statistics reveal that by 1927, 82 percent of schools attended by 76 percent of the pupils of Ukraine were "Ukrainized."¹²⁵ From a different perspective, however, the achievements were much less impressive. First, in the towns, the percentages were only 49 percent

¹²⁵ Actually, this was identified as "full Ukrainization" because the ethnic share of Ukrainians in Soviet Ukraine was 80.0%.

and 42 percent, respectively (Ukrajinizacija 2003: 90; Pauly 2009: 268); second, Ukrainophone teaching was apparently much less widespread than the statistical data suggest (Pauly 2009: 259), since the putative continual growth of "Ukrainized" schools even after the SVU trial often meant "little more" than the fact that certain "schools had been designated as such on paper" (ibid., 270). For that very reason, announcements of language evaluations frequently "caused near-instant anxiety among teachers" (ibid., 261), and inspectors in fact regularly complained that "rural school workers are extraordinarily distorting the language," while "in 1927 the graduates of pedagogical higher educational institutes still do not know the language well and those that graduated from 1920–24 absolutely do not know the language" (ibid., 262). There can be little doubt that many of those teachers in fact taught in Russian even in 100 percent "Ukrainized" schools.¹²⁶

Aside from that, even during "functional Ukrainization," it remained a matter of fact that the higher the school level, the lower the degree of "Ukrainization." In 1929, for example, only 66 percent of professional schools were officially "Ukrainized," and 16 percent were mixed (Ukrajinizacija 2003: 91).

At the university level, one of the major problems was the low percentage of ethnic Ukrainian teachers, who were well represented only among professors in agricultural or pedagogical institutions; another problem was the unwillingness of a number of academics to take on the challenge of Ukrainian-language teaching. In that situation, the Ukrainization Commission of the CP(B)U decided in a session of 6 August 1925 to invite Ukrainian professors from abroad (mainly from Galicia or from countries to which Galicians had migrated, particularly the Czech Republic). Henceforth, individuals such as Stepan Rudnyc'kyj, Myxajlo Lozyns'kyj, and Ivan Sijak played a leading role in Soviet academic life up to 1933, when they all ended up in the GULAG (ibid., 96–101).¹²⁷ In the academic year 1929/30, Mykola Skrypnyk declared that 40 percent of all university teaching had been "Ukrainized," but in fact, local data show Ukrainian-language teaching to have been least represented in Odesa and Kharkiv and, according to academic disciplines, in medicine, the arts, and industry (only 20.7 percent of the teaching of industrial disciplines was regarded as "Ukrainized") (ibid., 102–103). Even at the Academy of Sciences, which "appeared as an entirely Ukrainian institution" at first sight, in fact only the historical and philological branches functioned largely in the Ukrainian language; in economic and social sciences and, even more so, in mathematics and natural history, Russian prevailed ("and the absolute majority of collaborators were purest Russians") (Ševel'ov 1989: 105).

Regarding the production of newspapers in Ukraine, a turnaround occurred shortly before the beginning of "functional Ukrainization." While on 1 April

¹²⁶ Incidentally, observers frequently noted that the inspectors themselves had a poor command of Ukrainian (Pauly 2009: 262–263). Another problem was that "there were few qualified communist Ukrainizers in the school or elsewhere," while "the party leadership was fundamentally uncomfortable with its dependence on non-party intelligentsia" (ibid., 264).

¹²⁷ In 1933, Mykola Skrypnyk was accused of having asked the Politburo for permission to invite as many as 1,500 teachers from Western Ukraine (Ukrajinizacija 2003: 96–101).

1924 Russophone newspapers had a print run of 445,000 compared to 90,000 Ukrainophone ones, by 1 November 1924 Ukrainophone newspapers had reached a print run of 439,000 compared to 360,000 Russophone ones (Ukrajinizacija 2003: 138). By 1 March 1926, 50 Ukrainian-language newspapers were being published in Ukraine with a print run of 612,000, which constituted 61 percent of production. As for the percentage of Russian-language newspapers, it was supplemented by 150,000 copies of Pravda and 200,000-250,000 copies of other all-Union newspapers, all of which were Russophone (ibid., 139). Nonetheless, the temporary "Ukrainization" of the press was a serious endeavor, as confirmed by the events of 16 June 1926, when the central organ of the CP(B)U, the newspaper Komunist, switched to Ukrainian (ibid.).¹²⁸ In 1930, Mykola Skrypnyk summarized that the proportion of newspapers published in Ukrainian had reached 68.8 percent. By 1932, the percentage had risen to its maximum, 87.5 percent (Ukrajinizacija 2003: 140; see also Ševel'ov 1989: 117). A particularly important point was that Ukrainian-language newspapers did indeed find their readers (Ukrajinizacija 2003: 140). Also, the number of Ukrainophone journals "grew quickly, and so did their differentiation by types" (Ševel'ov 1989: 118). By 1929, the print run of Ukrainianlanguage journals had attained 84 percent (Ukrajinizacija 2003: 143).

Ukrainian-language book production grew from 45.8 percent in 1925–26 to 76.9 percent in 1931 (ibid., 145; Ševel'ov 1989: 118),¹²⁹ but even at that point, owing to the influx of Russian-language books from other Soviet republics, no more than about 25 percent of the books available in Soviet Ukraine were written in Ukrainian. As for scholarly books, up to 50 percent were published in Ukrainian in 1931; among textbooks for higher education, up to 79.4 percent were in Ukrainian (ibid., 118). Many textbooks of the Ukrainian language that appeared in those years were written or compiled "by outstanding linguists, such as O[lena] Kurylo, O[leksa] Synjavs'kyj, and M[yxajlo] Sulyma" (ibid., 129).

In 1924–25, Soviet Ukrainian radio became partly Ukrainian-speaking, although Russian radio broadcasting prevailed because it was under the jurisdiction of the All-Union People's Commissariat for Post and Telegraph (Ukrajinizacija 2003: 144). Ukrainian cinema was silent until 1932, when *Ivan*, the first Ukrainian sound film, was produced in Ukrainian (ibid.).

As for theaters, as of November 1927, out of 60 theaters 38 were Russophone, 16 Ukrainophone, and 8 Yiddish-speaking. By 1931, the ratio had changed to 9:66:12 (ibid., 148).¹³⁰

In the Red Army, "Ukrainization" played a very limited role. As late as 1926, only 6.7 percent of 2,004 Red Army commanders and political workers knew Ukrainian well enough to use the language professionally (ibid., 155). Despite some projects

521

¹²⁸ The Ukrainian newspaper for industrial workers *Proletar* was founded In the same year (Ševel'ov 1989: 117).

¹²⁹ Mykola Skrypnyk indicated that in 1931, "Ukrainian titles comprised 65.3 percent of publications, while in circulation they were 77 percent" (Ševel'ov 1989: 118).

¹³⁰ Jurij Ševel'ov refers to the same data. His statement that "Russian theater, including opera, was practically expelled from the Ukraine" (Ševel'ov 1989: 118) is slightly exaggerated.

with Ukrainophone units in the earlier years and the creation of a "Ukrainized" Cavalry Corps of Red Cossacks in Haisyn, Podilia (ibid.; Ševel'ov 1989: 116), the Red Army remained largely Russophone.

Regarding the codification of the Ukrainian language, it is noteworthy that two new Ukrainian-Russian and four Russian-Ukrainian dictionaries were published during the years of "functional Ukrainization" (ibid., 129). One of the major achievements was "the new edition of B[orys] Hrinčenko's *Dictionary of the Ukrainian Language*, which was edited and supplemented by Serhij Jefremov and Andrij Nikovs'kyj. Only three volumes of this dictionary appeared, however, before both authors fell victim to the SVU affair (ibid.). The *Russian-Ukrainian Dictionary* whose first volume had appeared in 1924 added five more volumes, but this project, too, stopped at the letter *P* owing to the Stalinist onslaught of 1933 (ibid., 130). Notably, "virtually all dictionaries were Russian-Ukrainian dictionary of 1929. Also, the Academy of Sciences published up to about four dozen terminological dictionaries (ibid.), all of which were "as a rule prescriptive, even though in most cases they were subtitled 'Project'" (ibid., 131).

A particularly important achievement regarding standardization was the regulation of the new Ukrainian orthography. The reform was prepared in July 1925 by the creation of a working group of thirty-seven individuals, "including ten Academy affiliates and ten prominent Communist Party members" (ibid., 131). The formal head of the commission was the Narkomos, that is, originally Oleksandr Sums'kyj and only subsequently Mykola Skrypnyk; the actual work was done by leading linguists, particularly Ahatanhel Kryms'kyj, Vsevolod Hancov, Hryhorij Holoskevyč, and, particularly, Oleksa Synjavs'kyj (ibid.). The latter prepared a draft that was presented for public discussion in August 1926. After sixty letters proposing changes had reached the working group, a conference was held in Kharkiv from 25 May to 6 June 1927. The participants were "four high functionaries of the Narkomos, five members of the Ukrainian Academy of Sciences, twenty-eight university professors of linguistics and philology, eight teachers, seven journalists, and eight writers" (ibid.), as well as three leading linguists of Western Ukraine (Kyrylo Studyns'kyj, Ilarion Svjencic'kyj, and Vasyl' Simovyč) (ibid., 131–132). The major intention of the conference was to establish an all-Ukrainian orthography that would eventually unite the traditions of western and central Ukraine; the result was the most detailed description of Ukrainian orthographic rules that had ever appeared up to that point. On 6 September 1928, Mykola Skrypnyk and a party convention ratified the "Kharkiv" orthography, which was alternatively called "Skrypnykivka." The rules were published in 1929 and became "compulsory in all schools and publications of the Ukrainian SSR" (ibid.). Although they were abandoned in Soviet Ukraine only four and a half years later, those rules have largely remained in force among most Ukrainians living outside Soviet Ukraine to date.

The most characteristic trait of the Kharkiv orthography was its great attention to those western traditions of the Ukrainian language that have often been regarded as Galician¹³¹ but have in fact been common to all Ukrainophone territories since early modern times. In particular, the Kharkiv rules provided for the use of soft *l'* (not *l*) ($\kappa\lambda\omega\sigma$, not $\kappa\lambda\gamma\sigma$) and *g* (not *h*) (*npona/aHda*, not *npona/aHda*), the use of *e* for Greek η (*xemis*, not *ximis*) and *t* (not *f*) for Greek θ in more recent loans from Western languages. Although Jurij Ševel'ov contended that "the orthographic rules of 1928/29 were utopian and doomed to failure" (ibid., 133), one need not necessarily agree with this opinion. While it was in fact problematic that the spelling reform was introduced "in the conditions of a bilingual intelligentsia and of a low level of education among other social groups just beginning to accept Ukrainization" (ibid.), there can be little doubt that this compromise might have worked under different conditions, if only the adherents of the Kharkiv orthography had had sufficient time to disseminate its rules.

4.1933

4.1. Discourses of terror

The man-made Great Famine of 1932–33 cost many millions of lives; the deadly blow to the peasants of Ukraine was at the same time a blow to the vitality of the Ukrainian language.¹³² Moreover, Bolshevik propaganda established a link between the Great Famine and "Ukrainian nationalists." In the midst of the Great Famine, on 14 December 1932, a decree of the All-Union Central Committee of the Bolshevik Party and of the Council of People's Commissars of the USSR declared that the recent poor harvest had been caused by "bourgeois nationalist elements, Petljurites, etc.," who had managed to carry out their wrecking because "Ukrainization" had been introduced "mechanically, without taking into account the concrete specifics of each *rajon* and without cautiously selecting Bolshevik Ukrainian cadres" (Ukrajinizacija 2003: 209). "Ukrainization" was therefore to be terminated immediately in the Russian Federation (particularly in Kuban), and all Ukrainophone schools and media in the Russian Federation were to switch to Russian, as stipulated in a telegram signed by Stalin and Vjačeslav Molotov (ibid., 209–210).

Shortly afterwards, the wave reached Ukraine. In late February and early March 1933, Pavel Postyšev arrived in Ukraine as the new second secretary of the Central Committee of the CP(B)U. With him came Vsevolod Balyc'kyj, the new head of Ukraine's GPU, and about three thousand party members whose "common assignment was to exterminate any and all Ukrainian resistance" (Ševel'ov 1989:

523

¹³¹ Generally, it did not come as a surprise that Galician Ukrainians exerted great influence on Soviet Ukrainian for at least two reasons. First, owing to the restrictive language policy of the Russian Empire, the Ukrainian language had been in comparatively broad polyfunctional use primarily in Galicia until the end of the First World War, so that non-Galician Ukrainians had had every reason to take account of Galician traditions while striving to modernize the Ukrainian language. Second, the Soviet Piedmont policy made the attempt to take Galician traditions into consideration look even more logical.

¹³² Although there were famines in other Soviet republics as well, the Great Famine in Ukraine had its specific elements (Graziosi 2008). In Soviet Russia, many of the affected regions were those with large Ukrainian minorities, such as Kuban.

141). The former slogan of "union with the peasantry" had already been replaced by the reality of the war against the peasantry during the years of collectivization; during the Great Famine, it became utterly meaningless. The "Piedmont" principle also no longer played any role: no longer was Soviet Ukraine to serve as a model for Ukrainians abroad; instead, it was to develop into an "unshakable fortress" (Popov 1933). Although it is true that officially Bolshevik "Ukrainization" was never abolished, and although it is no less true that Soviet statistics even create the impression of a continual flourishing of the Ukrainian language even after 1933,¹³³ the reality of Stalinist mass terror rendered "Ukrainization" completely obsolete.

According to the Stalinists' narratives of those days, "Ukrainian nationalists" who were spying for "fascist" Poland and preparing an invervention had exerted their deleterious influence and caused the recent famine. Henceforth, anyone who played a role in Ukrainian cultural life risked sharing the fate of thousands of others who were "unmasked" as Ukrainian nationalists and ended up in the GULAG.

Thousands were arrested on false accusations; under unbearable conditions and torture, they "confessed" to belong to underground subversive "organizations" which never existed and never figured in any open trial, but which were mentioned in the public speeches of Postyšev, Kosior, and others.... Not a single group of the intelligentsia in the Ukraine escaped the arrests and executions, from clergy to engineers, from workers in cooperatives to actors, from writers to agronomists (Ševel'ov 1989: 143–144).

The result was "the nearly total destruction of Ukrainian intellectuals" (Ševel'ov 1989: 143).

The catastrophe was comprehensive. A number of periodicals ceased publication; theaters were closed (most notably, Berezil, the world-famous theater led by the Galician Les Kurbas, was shut down, and the leading Ukrainian film director Oleksandr Dovženko was sent to Moscow; Ševel'ov 1989: 144). The leading Soviet Ukrainian writer Mykola Xvyl'ovyj anticipated the Bolsheviks' actions against him and committed suicide on 13 May 1933;¹³⁴ other writers fell victim to the GULAG. Mykola Skrypnyk was dismissed as people's commissar of education on 28 February 1933, that is, immediately after Postyšev's arrival (ČK – HPU – NKVD 1997: 50; Ukrajinizacija 2003: 213). Postyšev soon accused Skrypnyk of having arranged matters so that "Ukrainization often was put into the hands of Petljurite bastards [CBOAO4µ], and these enemies with Party cards in their pockets hid behind your [Skrypnyk's] broad back as a member of the Ukrainian Politburo, and you often defended them" (Martin 2001: 347–348). Skrypnyk shot himself during a session of the Politburo on 7 July 1933. His Galician-born personal secretary, Mykola Erstenjuk, had been arrested as early as 19 February 1933 for

¹³³ It should also be recalled that the Ševčenko monuments in Kharkiv and Kyiv were erected in 1933– 35 and 1935–39, respectively, that is, during the most brutal terror campaigns against "Ukrainian nationalists" (Ševel'ov 1989: 143).

¹³⁴ The Bolsheviks published a full-page obituary and a woodcut showing Xvyl'ovyj in his coffin in Červonyj Šljax, no. 6 (Editors 1933: n. p.).

alleged membership in one of the fabricated Ukrainian nationalist organizations (the so-called Ukrainian Military Organization, UVO). He testified that Skrypnyk, "with his nationalist activities, encouraged me and other members of UVO in our counter-revolutionary activities" (Martin 2001: 147). Henceforth, "virtually all Galicians who lived in the Ukrainian SSR" (and who often played an important role in "Ukrainization") were associated with the UVO, "arrested and liquidated" (Ševel'ov 1989: 162).¹³⁵

The history of the monthly journal *Červonyj Šljax* gives a good idea of the events of 1933. Issue 4 for 1933 took as long as four and a half months to receive its imprimatur¹³⁶ and ultimately turned out to be one of the slimmest issues of the journal ever. Volodymyr Kuz'mič (alternatively referred to as *Ky3bMuy* in issue 3) followed Myxajlo Jalovyj (pseudonym: Julian Špol') as the journal's editor in chief after the latter had been arrested (and shot in 1934). By issue 7 of 1933, not one member of the editorial board of issue 3 was left:¹³⁷

Журнал виходить за	Журнал виходить за	Журнал виходить за
редакцією: М. Ялового	редакцією:	редакцією:
(відповідальний	В. Кузьміча (т. в. о. гол.	Остапа Вишні, Др.
редактор), В. Кузьмича	редактора) і членів	Галушки, Гр. Епика,
(заст. відп редактора)	редколегії Дм. Гордієнка,	I. Кириленка (відп.
і членів редколегії Дм.	О. Копиленка, М.	редакт.), Мілева, П.
Гордієнка, О. Копиленка,	Майського, В. Меллера та	Панча, – П. Тичини, М.
М. Майського, В.	О. Слісаренка (<i>Červonyj</i>	Ткача, Н. Чередник
Меллера та О. Слісаренка	<i>Šljax</i> 1933/4).	(Červonyj Šljax 1933/7).
(Červonyj Šljax 1933/3).		

In the course of 1933, no fewer than 200 "nationalist, hostile elements" in the Narkomos and between 90 and 100 percent of the staff members of its local branches were dismissed and purged; so were about 4,000 "class enemy elements" among teachers in Ukrainian schools and others (ČK – HPU – NKVD 1997: 51; Ukrajinizacija 2003: 222). Within the CP(B)U, 23 percent of its members—27,500 people—were purged (Kostiuk 1960: 61).

The Ukrainian language as such soon became a target of assault as well. On 4 April 1933, Andrij Xvylja, the leading Ukrainian Bolshevik language

^{135 &}quot;In May 1933, the GPU forwarded a list of thirty-one arrested party members to the Ukrainian Politburo to be approved for inclusion in a show trial of Ukrainian nationalists. They were all 'Galicians''' (Martin 2001: 352).

^{136 &}quot;Здано до складання 25-V-33 р. Підписано до друку 5-Х-33 р."

¹³⁷ Issue 7 of Červonyj Šljax for 1933 was sent to print on 16 August 1933 and received an imprimatur only on 22 November 1933. After the purge, the page count of the journal was doubled, and it frequently featured full-page portraits of leading Bolsheviks (the first was a photograph of Nikolaj Popov, secretary of the Central Committee of the CP(B)U). Another striking feature of these new issues was that the authors' names now usually appeared with (abbreviated) patronymics (in accordance with Russian, not Ukrainian traditions).

planner of those days, published an article titled "For Bolshevik Vigilance at the Front of the Creation of Ukrainian Soviet Culture"¹³⁸ in the newspaper *Komunist* (Ševel'ov 1989: 157). On 6 April 1933, the new people's commissar of education, Volodymyr Zatons'kyj, established a special commission "for supervision of work on the language front" that was headed by Andrij Xvylja (Olinter) (Vakulenko 2009/2012). On 25 April 1933, the Bolsheviks established a commission for the revision of Ukrainian terminologies at the Narkomos. On 3 May 1933, the People's Commissariat issued a decree based on the commission's decisions that provided for minimizing the use of *l*' (i.e., the spellings *план*, *планувати*, *плакат*, *блок*, *блуза*, etc.), but the retention of *l*' in words where it had, according to the commission, already been established "in recent times (and especially years)," as in "*лямпа*, *заля*, *новеля*, etc." (ibid.). Regarding *r*, the decree initially still provided for its broad use, except in "those cases where this or that word" had, according to the commission, "ultimately been established during recent times" with *z*, as in "*граматика*, *грецький*, *губернія*, *газета*, etc." (Vakulenko 2009/2012).

In late June 1933, then, the Central Committee of the CP(B)U issued the decree "On Changes in Ukrainian Scholarly Terminology, Grammar, and Orthography," which was based on the conclusions of a Politburo commission that included Nikolaj Popov, Stanislav Kosior, Pavel Postyšev, Volodymyr Zatons'kyj, Panas Ljubčenko, and Andrij Xvylja, but not a single linguist (ibid.).¹³⁹ This document was "semisecret"; it was not published and survived only in the archives (Jefimenko 2002). Thus it was not until 5 September 1933 that Volodymyr Zatons'kyj ratified the new "Ukrainian orthography" created by "Comrade Xvylja's orthographic commission" and sent to the publishers on 4 August 1933.

Not until 28 October was the new orthography finally authorized for publication. Its most important regulations provided for the use of l' in foreign words in full accordance with Russian (including all inconsistencies, e.g., Ukrainian *Icлaнdis* like Russian *Исландия*, ϕ *інляндія* like Russian ϕ *инляндия*) and the complete elimination of the letter r; the introduction of forms of the type *ximis*, *кафедра*, and of many other minor changes that primarily served only one purpose: to bring Ukrainian orthography considerably closer to Russian (Vakulenko 2009/2012; Ševel'ov 1989: 163).¹⁴⁰

Work on Ukrainian terminologies was reduced to a minimum and strove for maximal closeness to Russian. The meager product of subsequent years was a number of slim terminological bulletins whose introductory remarks about the wrecking activity of bourgeois nationalists notoriously comprised up to one-

^{138 &}quot;За більшовицьку пильність на фронті творення української радянської культури."

¹³⁹ In fact, few Ukrainian linguists were left.

^{140 &}quot;All in all, no more than perhaps half a dozen foreign words preserved their traditional Ukrainian form, e.g., adresa, pošta, Evropa vs. Russian adres, počta, Jevropa" (Ševel'ov 1989: 163). As for Espona, it was replaced by Espona during the next assault on the Ukrainian language in 1937 (Ševel'ov 1989: 166). Another step taken in 1937 was insistence on writing compound words in the form *dosr*, *mpbox*- instead of *doo-*, *mpu*- (i.e., *dosx*- and *mpboxnosepxosuü* instead of *doo-* and *mpunosepxosuü*) (ibid.).

fifth of the content (Ševel'ov 1989: 163), while a *Dictionary of Medical Terminology* (Словник медичної термінології, 1936) was "the only terminological dictionary on a somewhat higher level" (ibid.). English-, French-, and German-Ukrainian dictionaries were repeatedly announced but never appeared in print. Other minor accomplishments were some brief dictionaries for schools and a Russian-Ukrainian dictionary of 1937, which was of poor quality although it had been prepared by the Institute of Linguistics at the Academy of Sciences (ibid., 163–164).

The public sphere was marked by excessively aggressive and monotonous propaganda against Ukrainian "fascism" in every sphere or "front" of activity, and the Ukrainian language was one of the most important fronts.

Nikolaj Popov, the secretary of the Central Committee of the CP(B)U, wrote "On Nationalist Deviations in the Ranks of the Ukrainian Party Organization and the Task of Fighting Them" (Popov 1933). Popov's article¹⁴¹ was based on a speech he had delivered at the Kharkiv partaktyv convention on 9 July 1933,¹⁴² two days after Mykola Skrypnyk's suicide. In this text, Popov argued that "nationalist deviations in our party" required not an "abstract" approach but a discussion of "concrete tasks." He referred to the decrees of the Central Committee of the All-Union CP(B) of 14 December 1932 and 24 January 1933 that had underscored the need to "liquidate the backwardness of our agriculture" and urged party workers to "ensure the further progress of the industrialization of socialist construction in Ukraine and in the Soviet Union as a whole" (ibid., 109).¹⁴³ Popov emphasized "the huge importance of Ukraine, with its powerful metallurgy, coal, and machine engineering, which are most closely associated with our agriculture," for "our Soviet economy and the foreign policy of the Soviet regime, particularly under the current circumstances: the most acute crisis of all economic and political contradictions of the capitalist world" (ibid., 109).¹⁴⁴ According to Popov, the Ukrainian party organization had weakened its vigilance with regard to the restructuring of agriculture. The recent poor harvests had been the result of "significant right-wing opportunistic errors and a broad application of 'leftist' distortions" (ibid.). The Ukrainian Bolsheviks had failed "to uncover the new maneuver of the class enemy, the kulaks who were

527

¹⁴¹ The article was preceded by his above-mentioned full-page portrait.

¹⁴² А footnote says, "Доповідь на зборах Харківського партактиву 9-го липнн [sic] 1933 року" (Ророч 1933: 109).

^{143 &}quot;Товариші! До оцінки націоналістични ухилів у лавах нашої партії, до оцінки помилок у національному питанні, які були допущені на Україні, треба підходити не абстрактно, а з погляду тих конкретних завдань, що стоять тепер перед української партійною організацією. Ці завдання ясно й чітко сформульовані в постанові ЦК ВКП(б) від 14 грудня 1932 року і в історичній постанові ЦК ВКП(б) від 24 січня 1933 року. Вони полягають у тім, щоб ліквідувати відставання нашого сільського господарства добитися швидкого його піднесення й цим забезпечити дальші успіхи індустріалізації соціалістичного будівництва на Україні і в усьому Радянському Союзі."

^{144 &}quot;Про величезна [sic] значення України з її потужною маталургією [sic], вугіллям, машинобудуванням, якнайщільніше зв'язаним з нашим сільським господарством, про величезне значення України в нашій радянській економіці й у зовнішній політиці радянської влади, особливо в теперішніх умовах, крайнього загострення усіх економічних і політичних суперечностей капіталістичного світу – говорити не доводиться."

being liquidated," namely their "desire to penetrate into our collective and state farms, various Soviet organs, and even party organizations to wreck and corrupt our work from within" (ibid., 109–110).¹⁴⁵ "A distortion of the party's nationality policy" and "the weakening of Bolshevik watchfulness and vigilance on that front" had allowed those kulak saboteurs, proceeding "under a false national banner," to take action. The wreckers were "Petljurite elements and bourgeois-nationalist emigrants from Western Ukraine" who had "occupied those posts in the Soviet apparatus, on the collective farms and even in some party organizations, that gave them the opportunity" to corrupt the Soviet system and attempt to replace "Leninist with bourgeois-nationalist national policy" (ibid., 110).¹⁴⁶ Thus the agricultural crisis could not be overcome unless the "errors committed with regard to the nationality question" were corrected, the party and various Soviet organs "purged of bourgeois nationalists," and "the whole mass of the party mobilized for the struggle against nationalism" and the intensification of "work for the international education of the masses" (ibid.).¹⁴⁷

Ророv announced that, as every party member had to realize, 1933 was the "year of the break" ("переламний рік") or, in Stalin's coinage, the "Great Break" ("Великий перелом").¹⁴⁸ He discussed "the maneuvers of the Ukrainian bourgeoisnationalist counterrevolution" (ibid., 111–114) and argued that the wreckers had infiltrated Soviet structures "to utilize Soviet power for their bourgeois, kulak, and nationalist aims," while the Soviets had liberated the Ukrainian masses and given them "the opportunity to build socialism and, moreover, to develop a

^{145 &}quot;Українська парторганізація, як ви всі знаєте, послабила за останні роки уваги до соціалістичної перебудови сільського господарства. Наслідком цього послаблення був провал двох хлібозаготівних кампаній – 1931 і 1932 років, при значних правоопортуністичних помилках і при широкому застосуванні "лівих" перегинів. У цьому провалі величезну ролю відограло невміння наших організацій викрити новий маневр класового ворога, ліквідовуваного куркульства, прагнення його проникнути до наших колгоспів, радгоспів, різних радянських органів і навіть партійних організацій, для того, щоб шкодити, розкладати нашу роботу зсередини."

^{146 &}quot;Це проникання, що часто-густо провадилося під фальшивим національним прапором, полегшувалося перекручуванням національної політики партії, послабленням більшовицької пильности [!] та уваги на цьому фронті. І коли ми тепер говоримо про ліквідації відставання України в галузі сільського господарства, про розгром решток класового ворога, що проліз до наших організацій,-то це завдання не можна розв'язати без рішучого виправлення помилок, допущених у національному питанні. Ці бо помилки допомагали нашим ворогам петлюрівським елементам, буржуазно-націоналістичним вихідцям з Західної України зайняти ті позиції в нашому радянському апараті, в колгоспах і навіть у деяких партійних організаціях, що давали їм можливість зривати нашу роботу, розкладати зсередини наші радгоспи, колгоспи, земельні органи, підмінювати ленінську національну політику буржуазно-націоналістичної."

^{147 &}quot;Завдання піднести наше сільське господарство не можна розвязати, не виправивши помилок, допущених в національному питанні, не очистивши нашу партію, наші радянські, культурні, земельні, колгоспні та інші органи від буржуазних наіоналістів, не мобілізувавши всю партійну масу на боротьбу з націоналізмом, не посиливши роботи над інтернаціональним вихованням мас."

^{148 &}quot;Кожний член нашої партії повинен це усвідомити, щоб нинішній рік став справді переламним роком для України, щоб ті незначні ще успіхи, яких ми досягли при величезній допомозі ЦК ВКП(б) твердо закріпити й щоб вони були початком рішучого переламу."

Ukrainian culture that was national in form and Soviet in content" (ibid., 111).¹⁴⁹ "Masked as Soviet people, even communists," these wreckers had carried on their "counterrevolutionary and often espionage activity," aiming at "a bourgeoisnationalist perversion of Soviet Ukraine" (ibid., 112).¹⁵⁰ Many of those who had joined the Bolsheviks from other socialist parties (the Borot'bists, particularly Šums'kyj), as well as the originally non-Bolshevik Ukrainian intellectuals ("zminovixivci"), had joined the ranks of the Bolsheviks only "as a maneuver to corrupt the Bolshevik party from within" (ibid., 113).¹⁵¹

According to Popov's outline, the tremendous success of Soviet collectivization and industrialization had convinced the nationalist counterrevolutionaries that they had no chance of success. While supporting Xvyl'ovyj's slogan "Away from Moscow," Šums'kyj, following "Piłsudski's fascist revolution," had intended to tear Ukraine away from the Soviet Union and orient it on bourgeois Europe (ibid., 114). Moreover, he had opted for the "forced Ukrainization of Russian workers, that is, the replacement of Bolshevik with bourgeois-nationalist Ukrainization" (ibid., 114–115).¹⁵² Thanks to Lazar Kahanovyč's vigilance "in the merciless struggle against Great Russian and Ukrainian chauvinism," the party had successfully destroyed Šums'kism and revealed that it was "an agency of the class enemy" (ibid., 115).¹⁵³ Moreover, thanks to the GPU, the Bolsheviks had successfully fought the counterrevolutionary Communist Party of Western Ukraine, "an instrument of Polish fascism" (ibid.), the historian Javors'kyj as "one of the most outstanding agents of fascism," the SVU, and other

^{149 &}quot;Але вже в цей період громадянської війни, коли більшовики перемагали й перемогли, коли українські маси, звільнившись від ярма поміщиків і капіталістів, дістали можливість будувати соціалізм, а також будувати національну формою, радянську змістом, українську культуру,-з розбитого ворожого табору до радянської влади і більшовицької партії приходили не тільки люди щирі, що справді переходили на нашу сторону, ставали чесно до наших лав і працювали, як уміли.

Для декого і тоді перехід на сторону радянської влади був маневром, тимчасовою орієнтацією, яка змінювалася завтра на іншу орієнтацію, спробою використати радянську владу для своїх буржуазних, куркульських, націоналістичних цілей."

^{150 &}quot;[...] вони там під машкарою радянських людей, і навіть комуністів, провадили роботу в напрямку буржуазно-націоналістичного переродження Радянської України і взагалі провадили контрреволюційну, в тому числі шпигунську, роботу."

^{151 &}quot;Багато з представників українських дрібнобуржуазних партій, боротьбистів, укапістів тощо, вступаючи до нашої партії, робили це, як маневр, щоб розкласти більшовицьку партії зсередини."

^{152 &}quot;Саме тоді Шумський виступає з підтримкою гасла Хвильового – "Геть від Москви", гасла орієнтації української культури на буржуазну Европу. Це була фактична орієнтація на відрив України від Радянського Союзу.– Основна лінія політики українських буржуазних націоналістів і їх агентів у лавах нашої партії. Саме тоді Шумський вимагає ламання старих партійних кадрів КП(б)У, вимагає примусової українізації російських робітників, тобто відміни більшовицької українізації буржуазно-націоналістичною. Саме тоді Шумський робить разом із своїми однодумцями спробу захопити до своїх рук українську парторганізацію."

^{153 &}quot;Комуністична партія (більшовиків) України під керівництвом свого тодішнього генерального секретаря Лазаря Мойсеєвича Кагановича в нещадній боротьбі проти великоруського і українського шовінізму дощенту розгромила і викрила шумськізм, як агентуру класового ворога. Вона викинула за межі України не тільки Шумського, а й його найближчих соратників Максимовича і Солодуба."

counterrevolutionary organizations (ibid., 115).¹⁵⁴ As the party had declared in its resolution of 14 December 1932, owing to a "mechanical approach to Ukrainization" Bolshevik Ukrainization had "gotten into the hands of elements hostile to us... Ukrainian bourgeois nationalists"; more recently, they had been additionally motivated by Hitler's coming to power (ibid., 115–116).¹⁵⁵ All this had come about solely because of weakened Bolshevik vigilance.

In particular, Mykola Skrypnyk had made "huge errors with regard to the nationality question" (ibid., 116). Skrypnyk had surrounded himself with "our most ferocious enemies, who had utilized their very close ties with him even for their espionage activities"; he had thus become "an instrument" of the enemies of the Soviet Union and thereby even fostered Ukrainian bourgeois nationalism (ibid.).¹⁵⁶ In a separate chapter "On Comrade Skrypnyk's Errors" (ibid., 117–120), Popov declared that these errors were of a "Trotskyist," "right-opportunist, and, above all, nationalist character" (ibid., 117).¹⁵⁷ Skrypnyk had committed his first errors as early as 1924–25, when he had reproached the party for not effectively combating "great-power" chauvinism and even dared to disagree with Stalin (ibid., 117).¹⁵⁸ Although Skrypnyk had taken an active part "in the fight against Šums'kism" (ibid., 118),¹⁵⁹ he had otherwise "excessively exaggerated the significance of the nationality question"

^{154 &}quot;Я маю на увазі викриття яворщіни, що сталося 1929 року, вигнання з партії Яворського – одного із найвидатніших агентів фашизму. Я маю на увазі розкриття органами ДПУ під керівництвом тов. Балицького контрреволюційної організації СВУ і слідом за нею інших контрреволюційних організацій, в яких значну участь брали українські есери, що повернулися з-за кордону."

^{155 &}quot;Але, товариші, за останні два-два з половиною року більшовицька боротьба української парторганізації проти буржуазного націоналізму і націоналістичних ухилів послабла. Це зокрема виявилося в констатованому резолюцією ЦК ВКП(б) від 14 грудня 1932 р. механічному підході до українізації, без зважування особливостей окремих районів. Справа більшовицької українізації в цей період значною мірою випала з партійних рук і потрапила до рук ворожих нам елементів. [...] дії контрреволюційних елементів, окрилених (я маю на увазі останній час) приходом до влади гітлерівського фашизму, на який тепер все більше й більше орієнтуються основні сили української контрреволюції [...]."

^{156 &}quot;[...] в роботі тов. Скрипника за останні роки найяскравіше виявилося послаблення більшовицької пильності і навіть цілковита втрата її. В наслідок цілковитої втрати цієї пильності тов. Скрипник опинився буквально оточений тісним кільцем найлютіших наших ворогів, які використали свій найтісніший зв'язок з ним навіть у шпигунських акціях. [...] Грунт для цього був підготований рядом його величезних помилок у національному питанні і в інших основних питаннях нашої революції, рядом помилок, з яких поступово виросла певна система поглядів, певний ухил від лінії нашої партії в національному питанні, потурання українському буржуазному націоналізмові. І це дало змогу нашим ворогам-українським буржуазним націоналістам – зробити з тов. Скрипника деякою мірою своє знаряддя і навіть деякою мірою свій прапор."

^{157 &}quot;Якщо тепер зібрати букет з помилок тов. Скрипника, помилок троцькістького, правоопортуністичного, але насамперед націоналістичного характеру, то що ми ту знайдемо [...]."

^{158 &}quot;Тут тов. Скрипник одверто заявляє, що ми фактично не провадимо боротьби з великодержавним шовінізмом, слова у нас розходяться з ділом, і на ділі ми національної політики не провадимо. [...] І далі він одкрито виступає проти тов. Сталіна."

^{159 &}quot;Він брав не останню участь у боротьбі проти шумскізму [sic]."

and ended up in a "nationalist deviation from our party line" (ibid.).¹⁶⁰ After 1926, Skrypnyk had repeatedly voiced disagreement with Popov as well as with Postyšev (ibid., 118–119).¹⁶¹ One of his major errors had been his attempt to introduce Latin letters into the Ukrainian alphabet; fortunately, Lazar Kahanovyč had corrected him (ibid., 118).¹⁶² Personnel at the "Institute of Marxism" (which had been headed by Skrypnyk) had even attempted "to revise Lenin's and Stalin's teachings regarding the nationality question" (ibid., 119), which had laid the groundwork for the "forced Ukrainization" of those children who, according to Skrypnyk, spoke in "a mixed dialect" (ibid., 119).¹⁶³ Therefore Skrypnyk, whose suicide was "a criminal act," had had to be removed from the director's post (ibid., 120).¹⁶⁴

Popov declared that the party would "refute" any tendencies similar to those that had evolved under Skrypnyk's influence (ibid., 120).¹⁶⁵ To that end, the Bolsheviks had to "decisively intensify their struggle against nationalism and nationalist deviation in every sector of our ideological front," as Stalin had clearly demonstrated at the XVI party convention that "the local nationalist deviation plays directly into the hands of the interventionists" (ibid., 123).¹⁶⁶ The individual sectors of that "ideological front"

- 160 "Надзвичайно характеристична для тов. Скрипника постава національного питання 1923 року відбилася на цілому ряді його важливіших політичних виступів надалі й, кінецькінцем, перетворилася не тільки в примиренство до націоналістичних ухилів у бік місцевого шовінізму, але і в прямий націоналістичний ухил од лінії нашої партії.[...] Тов. Скрипник і тоді слабував на надмірне перебільшення значення національного питання."
- 161 "На червневому пленумі ЦК КП(б)У 1926 року, коли провадилася найгостріша боротьба з шумскізмом [sic], тов. Скрипник накинувся на мене за одну фразу про те, що для нас національна політика не є самоціль. Я змушений був свій виступ проти Шумського на цьому пленумі починати з полеміки проти тов. Скрипника і, посилаючись на Леніна й Сталіна, підкреслити підпорядковане значення національного питання перед соціальним. Про те тов. Сталін говорив на тому ж самому XII партз'їзді, коли тов. Скрипник не знайшов жодного слова проти грузинських ухилістів. Але до крайніх меж дійшли помилки тов. Скрипника уже останніх років, коли він підштовхуваний ворогами партії, обороняючи цих ворогів, зокрема Бадана, пішов у похід проти харківської організації, на чолі якої тоді стояв тов. Постишев і яка вказувала на найгрубіші помилки т. Скрипника."
- 162 "[...] але і в цей період тов. Скрипник робив помилки. Центральному Комітетові і зокрема тов. Кагановичу доводилося його виправляти в питаннях правопису, коли він пробував вводити латинські літери в українську абетку. Дуже міцно доводилося поправляти т. Скрипника тому ж тов. Кагановичу і в питаннях КПЗУ і Ком нтерну [*sic*]."
- 163 In fact, even in 1930 only two out of 92 elementary schools in the district of Stalino (Donetsk) were Ukrainian (Ševel'ov 1998: 103).
- 164 "[...] злочинний навіть для рядового члена партії [...]."
- 165 "Тоді ж навколо тов. Скрипника в інституті марксизму на кафедрі національного питання утворилася ціла школа, яка намагалася кананізувати [sic] тов. Скрипника й його найгрубіші помилки в національному питанні, зробити з них "нову фазу" ленінізму, ревізувати вчення Леніна і Сталіна в національному питанні. Саме тоді т. Скрипник докотився до тверджень, що нації в цілому йдуть до комунізму, що Комінтерн є організація вселюдства, докотився до прямих закликів розвивати національну свідомість. І тоді таки в Наркомосі, спираючись на розвинену тов. Скрипником "теорію" про те, що дітей, які розмовляють так званою "мішаною говіркою", треба обов'язково українізувати,-почали проводити ту саму примусову українізацію, за яку партія свого часу зняла Шумського."
- 166 "На всіх ділянках нашого ідеологічного фронту треба рішуче посилити боротьбу проти націоналізму і націоналістичних ухилів. XVI партз'їзд на доповідь тов. Сталіна ясно сказав у своїй постанові, що місцевий націоналістичний ухил безпосередньо грає на руку інтервенції."

531

were "the historical front" (ibid., 120–121), "the philosophical front" (ibid., 122), "the agrarian front" (ibid., 122), and "the literary front" (ibid.).¹⁶⁷

The "linguistic front" was the focus of Popov's concluding chapter, titled "Bolshevik Nationality Policy: A Powerful Means of Strengthening Soviet Ukraine as an Inseparable Part of the USSR" (ibid., 123–126).¹⁶⁸ According to Popov, "the question of language and orthography had assumed particularly great significance in the struggle against bourgeois nationalism and the Ukrainian nationalist deviation" (ibid., 123).¹⁶⁹

The bourgeois nationalists, primarily from among Western Ukrainian emigrants, have engaged in extensive activities that have led to the corruption of the Ukrainian language and terminology in order to alienate Ukrainian from Russian culture as much as possible. Regarding this very important issue, as our press has already noted, Comrade Skrypnyk was on the leash of those elements and became an instrument of their policy of separating Ukrainian culture from the center of the international proletarian revolution—Moscow.¹⁷⁰

In accordance with Bolshevik traditions, Popov briefly mentioned "greatpower" chauvinism (ibid., 124),¹⁷¹ while his actual focus was on the need for a "purge" that would help "us...get rid of [Ukrainian] nationalist elements" (ibid., 124–125).¹⁷² Popov also announced that "Bolshevik Ukrainization" was to be

^{167 &}quot;Особливо багато помилок, антиленінських перекручень, над виправленням яких ми повинні тепер найгрунтовніше попрацювати – допущено на історичному фронті. [...] [122:] Візьмімо наш філософський фронт. І сюди проникла фашистсько-націоналістична контрабанда. [...] [122:] Я вже не кажу докладно про аграрний фронт. [...] Треба, товариші, посилити пильність на літературному фронті. Це в нас важливіша дільниця. Хіба демонстративне самогубство Хвильового не є новий доказ того, як буржуазно-націоналістичні впливи діяли на наших письменників. А те, що Яловий, кол. редактор "Червоного пилився в давах зрадників і дворушників,-хіба це не серйозне застереження для наших письменників, які ряд років працювали з ним і не зуміли викрити його дворушництва."

^{168 &}quot;Більшовицька національна політика – могутній засіб зміцнення Радянської України, як невід'ємної частини СРСР."

^{169 &}quot;Особливо великого значення в боротьбі з буржуазним націоналізмом і українським націоналістичним ухилом набирає питання про мову й правопис. Цьому питанню ЦК КП(б)У надає виняткового значення."

^{170 &}quot;Буржуазні націоналісти переважно з числа західно-українських емігрантів, особливо широку роботу розгорнули над засміченням української мови й термінології, щоб максимально відірвати українську культуру від російської і в цьому важливішому питанні, як уже відзначала наша преса,-тов. Скрипник пішов на поводі у цих елементів, став знаряддям проведення їх політики відриву української культури від центра міжнародньої пролетарської революції-Москви."

^{171 &}quot;Одночасно треба дати найрішучішу відсіч великодержавному шовінізмові, який по своєму сприймає боротьбу з українським буржуазним націоналізмом, який тлумачить цю боротьбу, як перегляд нашої політики, як ліквідацію українізації. Про це цілком своєчасно нагадав тов. Постишев на останньому пленумі харківського обкому."

^{172 &}quot;Чистка партії, яка тепер розгортається в ряді найважливіших областей України, повинна допомогти нам позбутися націоналістичних елементів."

continued in any event (ibid., 125),¹⁷³ albeit with new "cadres" (ibid., 125) and in the framework of a state that was now to become "an unshakable fortress prepared to resist any attacks by enemies from both West and East" (ibid., 126).¹⁷⁴

In a written version of his speech titled "A Summary of Nationality Policy in Ukraine and Its Impending Tasks" (Kosior 1933),¹⁷⁵ Stanislav Kosior emphasized that "we must expose and unmask before the toilers of Ukraine those vile and loathsome traitors of the Ukrainian people—Ukrainian nationalists of every stripe" (ibid., 228).¹⁷⁶ While "counterrevolutionaries with party cards in their pockets" had recently carried out their wrecking activity (ibid., 229),¹⁷⁷ Kosior called for the "international education of the masses" and the "comprehensive strengthening of the militant revolutionary unity of the peoples of the Soviet Union, the shield of the proletarian world revolution" (ibid., 238).¹⁷⁸ He emphasized that the nationalists had "not been entirely exposed and unmasked" and attacked the "kulak agents in the party" (ibid., 239).¹⁷⁹ With reference to recent party resolutions, he confirmed the new postulate that "in some republics of the Soviet Union, particularly in Ukraine...local nationalism" was, "at the given moment," regarded as the "major threat" because it was associated with the intentions of imperialist interventionists (ibid., 239).¹⁸⁰ In conclusion, Kosior declared that "the fundamental culture in Ukraine-that is, Ukrainian culture-is now national in form and socialist in content" (ibid., 240).181

Pavel Postyšev elaborated on the programmatic topic "Soviet Ukraine: the Unshakable Outpost of the Great USSR" (Postyšev 1933). Despite its title, his article on "Particuliarities of the Contemporary Stage and the Tasks of the Struggle for Bolshevik Collection, Threshing, and Delivery of Grain" in issue 7–8

^{173 &}quot;Треба рішуче провадити й далі ленінську національну політику, політику більшовицької українізації, даючи найрішучішу і найнещаднішу відсіч перекрученням у національній політиці, а також ліквідаторським "наплювательським" настроям до цього питання, по цих настроях рішуче ударив на XVI з'їзді ВКП(б) вождь і вчитель нашої партії тов. Сталін."

^{174 &}quot;Гостріше ніж будь-коли перед нами стоїть завдання зробити Радянський Союз неприступною фортецею, готовою відбити всякі напади ворогів і на Заході і на Сході."

¹⁷⁵ Kosior's and Postyšev's texts (see below) were published in issue 8–9 of *Červonyj Šljax*, which featured full-page portraits of Stanislav Kosior and Pavel Postyšev.

^{176 &}quot;Ми повинні виявити, викрити перед трудящими України цих мерзотних і підлих зрадників українського народу, українських націоналістів різних мастей."

^{177 &}quot;Минулих років ми викрили ряд контрреволюційних організацій [...] Характеристична особливість контрреволюційної роботи, що її останнім часом провадили націоналісти, є насамперед те, що головну роль відігравали контрреволюціонери з партквитком у кишені."

^{178 &}quot;Перше й основне завдання,-це інтернаціональне виховання мас, всебічне зміцнення бойової революційної єдності народів СРСР, ослони світової пролетарської революції."

^{179 &}quot;Націоналісти ще цілком не виявлені і не викриті. [...] Агентура куркульні в партії."

^{180 &}quot;У проекті резолюції з цього проводу [sic] ми говоримо таке: "Великодержавний російський шовінізм є, як і раніш, головна небезпека в масштабі всього Радянського Союзу і всієї ВКП(б). Але це ніякою мірою не суперечить тому, що в деяких республіках СРСР, особливо на Україні в даний момент головну небезпеку являє собою місцевий український націоналізм, що змикається з імперіалістичними інтервентами". Як бачите, товариші, це формулювання нове."

^{181 &}quot;Тепер основна культура на Україні – це культура українська – національна формою, соціалістична змістом."

of *Bil'šovyk Ukrajiny* (Postyšev 1933a) is of even greater interest, for in this text Postyšev developed the notion that the major cause of agricultural problems was Ukrainian nationalism, as reflected, inter alia, in the Ukrainian language. Following a discussion of the tasks of collectivization, the need to increase productivity in the collective farms, and "class struggle...in various branches of socialist construction in Ukraine" (ibid., 5–6), Postyšev suddenly asked:

Is this whole business limited to the facts mentioned by Comrade Skrypnyk in the sphere of Ukrainian grammar and orthography? Does the main wrecking activity of the bourgeois-nationalist Petljurite elements, who established themselves and often took the lead in the Narkomos only come down to their incorrect placement of the letters "r" and "r"? Of course, letters are significant too. But these are mere details as compared to the wrecking activity carried out in the system of the Narkomos organs, which was directed toward the seduction of our youth with an ideology hostile to the proletariat. Namely, before they placed the letters "r" and "r," these wreckers in the People's Commissariat placed their people all over the system of educational agencies.¹⁸²

Postyšev declared that Skrypnyk's Galician-born secretary Erstenjuk was a spy, as was the historian Javors'kyj, who also came from Galicia. Then he attacked a certain Polons'kyj, who had dared to complain about the "break with Galician culture after Skrypnyk" (ibid., 9),¹⁸³ and concluded:

The party has always struggled and will continue its utterly implacable struggle against any Russian great- power elements. But at the same time, the party has destroyed and will further destroy any chauvinist Petljurite elements, whatever masks they may wear (ibid., 10).¹⁸⁴

Postyšev thus posited a direct link between the disaster in agriculture and linguistic problems. Ukrainian nationalists, particularly immigrants from Galicia, had infiltrated the country as foreign spies and exploited Soviet organs and functionaries for their own purposes. Their activities in the field of language

^{182 &}quot;Невже вся справа в тих фактах, які тов. Скрипник наводив з галузі української граматики, правопису? Хіба головне шкідництво буржуазно-націоналістичних петлюрівських елементів, які засіли і нерідко заправляли в Наркомосвіті, тільки на те й сходило, що вони неправильно розставили літери "т" і "т"? І літери, звісно, мають значення. Але це ж дрібниці, рівняючи до тієї шкідницької роботи, яку проваджено в системі органів наросвіти і яка була спрямована на обплутання нашої молоді ворожою пролетаріятові ідеологією. Адже перше, ніж розставити літери "т" і "т", ці шкідники в Наркомосі розставили своїх людей по всій системі органів освіти."

^{183 &}quot;Ось у промакадемії виступив якийсь Полонський, безпартійний викладач української мови і навіть голова циклової комісії з української мови. Він виступив з приводу статті, вміщеної в газеті "Комуніст", про стан на мовознавчому фронті. Цей ворожий агент так знахабнів, що з радянської трибуни він виступив з такою заявою: "Після Скрипника почався розрив з галіційською культурою. Треба боротися проти російського шовінізму, бо навіть УНДО за кордоном пише, що після Скрипника відбувається русифікація на Україні"."

^{184 &}quot;Партія завжди боролася і далі провадитиме найнепримиреннішу боротьбу проти всяких великодержавницьких російських елементів. Але партія разом з тим громила й громитиме всякі шовіністичні, петлюрівські елементи, хоч би в які маски вони не одягалися."

planning had served only one purpose: to tear Ukraine away from Soviet Russia and make it a satellite of fascist Poland or Germany, or both.

In the same issue of Bil'šovyk Ukrajiny, Andrij Xvylja wrote on "Uprooting and Destroying Nationalist Roots on the Linguistic Front" (Xvylja 1933; see also Ukrajins'ka mova 2005: 113–132).¹⁸⁵ In this text, Xvylja argued that with regard to "the Ukrainian language and its development, there ha[d] been a lack of truly Bolshevik leadership on part of the Narkomos" (ibid., 42),¹⁸⁶ for Lenin and Stalin had allegedly "taught our party that the development of Ukrainian culture should go hand in hand with the development of the culture of our fraternal Russian people" (ibid.). Xvylja referred to Stalin's letter of 26 April 1926, where Stalin had warned against Ukraine's "alienation" from the general Soviet course in the context of the Šums'kyj-Xvyl'ovyj affair. It was only because these warnings had been ignored that Ukrainian counterrevolutionaries had managed to "conceal themselves under a national form" and conduct their "significant wrecking activity" (ibid.).¹⁸⁷ Under their influence, the Ukrainian language had been directed onto "nationalist paths" with regard to terminology and syntax alike (ibid.).¹⁸⁸ It was they who had artificially created dozens of Ukrainian "equivalents" to Russian words (Xvylja placed the word "equivalents" in quotation marks), such as *письмівка* vis-àvis курсив, витинок vis-à-vis сектор, дотик vis-à-vis контакт, автомобілярня vis-àvis автозавод, відпружник vis-à-vis буфер, неділка vis-à-vis атом, etc. (ibid., 42–43). It was they, too—more precisely, the Institute for Scientific Language in 1930—who had "liquidated...a word such as *3abod* [originally Russian]," which was "known to the broad masses of many millions," and "replaced" it with "the word *виробня*" only because the former was a "Russianism," while nobody cared that the latter was derived "from the Polish and Czech languages" (ibid., 43).¹⁸⁹ Xvylja added that even Skrypnyk himself had opposed "international terms" ("інтернаціональних термінів") and declared:

The process of the creation of Ukrainian scientific terminology and the orientation of the development of the Ukrainian scientific language was directed toward artificial separation from the common language of the Russian people, which is a fraternal language of Ukrainian. On the linguistic front, the

¹⁸⁵ The Bolsheviks considered this text so important that they reprinted it in 60,000 copies as a separate pamphlet in November 1933 (Ukrajins'ka mova 2005: 132). An earlier version was published on 29 April 1933 in the newspaper *The Communist* ("Комуніст") (Ukrajinizacija 2003: 214).

^{186 &}quot;В питаннях української мови, її творення, останніми роками від НКО не було дійсно більшовицького керівництва."

^{187 &}quot;На мовному фронті українська контрреволюція, прикриваючись національною формою, проводила по суті велику шкідницьку роботу."

^{188 &}quot;Вона виявилася в тому, що останніми роками в питаннях творення української термінології, в питаннях української синтакси, — українську мову спрямовували на націоналістичні шляхи."

^{189 &}quot;Таке слово, як завод, відоме широким багатомільйонним масам, було ліквідовано і замінено словом "виробня". З приводу ліквідації цього слова відбулася спеціяльна ухвала українського інституту наукової мови в 1930 р. [...] слово "завод" ліквідовано через те, що воно походить з російської мови. І хоч це слово замінено словом "виробня", що не є українське слово, а походить з чеської та польської мови, проте, як видно з протоколів арбітражної комісії, його ліквідовано, через те, що це слово є "русизм"."

nationalist elements are doing all they can to erect a barrier between Ukrainian Soviet culture and Russian Soviet culture and to re-direct the development of the Ukrainian language onto bourgeois nationalist paths. This has been done with the intention of educating the masses, through the use of the Ukrainian language, in a kulak and Petljurite spirit; to educate them in a spirit of hatred toward the socialist fatherland but love for Cossack romanticism, the Hetmanate, etc. In carrying out this activity, the bourgeois nationalist elements cut off the Ukrainian language from the achievements of world culture and from international technical terminology, which is, of course, an achievement of all humankind" (ibid., 43–44).¹⁹⁰

Xvylja protested "the corruption of Ukrainian scientific terminology in physics, chemistry [*xeMii*], mathematics, natural sciences, etc." and complained that these terminologies had been transferred from the dictionaries of the Ukrainian Academy of Sciences "into the textbooks of the Narkomos and into the schools," where they "crippled millions of children" and "isolated them from the generally known scientific terminology" that had been "accepted by the very life of the socialist country" (ibid., 44).¹⁹¹ According to Xvylja, Serhij Jefremov and the SVU had initially played a central role in this process when they sought to create terminologies to the feudal Cossack period (ibid., 44–45). Moreover, as Xvylja argued, Ukrainian dictionaries had been "stuffed with bourgeois nationalist, religious, and Black Hundred [Russian [!] nationalist and anti-Semitic] materials" in their illustrative parts (ibid., 45),¹⁹² as exemplified by the following quotations:

Muscovite protection was very costly to Ukraine.... The complete destruction of the economy.... They confuse the public and provide nothing.... God is the supreme being, the creator of the world and everything in it.... And who does not want to believe it (the Gospel)? Only the heathen and the Jew (ibid., 46).¹⁹³

^{190 &}quot;Процес творення української наукової термінології, скеровування розвитку української наукової мови, — було направлено по лінії штучного відриву від спільної, братньої українській мові, мови російського народу. На мовному фронті націоналістичні елементи роблять усе, щоб між українською радянською культурою та російською радянською культурою поставити бар'єр і повернути розвиток української мови на шляхи буржуазно-націоналістичні. Це робилося для того, щоб, користаючись українською мовою, виховувати маси в куркульсько- петлюрівському дусі, виховувати їх в дусі ненависти до соціялістичної батьківщини, а любови до козацької романтики, гетьманщини тощо. Ведучи таку роботу, буржуазно-націоналістичні елементи відгорожували українську мову віддосягнень світової культуру, відінтернаціональної технічної термінології, що є, зрозуміла річ, досягненням усього людства."

^{191 &}quot;Так, наприклад, ми маємо виключне засмічення української наукової термінології у фізиці, хемії [!], математиці, природознавстві тощо. А звідси, з цих словників ця термінологія йшла в підручники наркомосівські, в школи. Таким чином, мільйони дітей калічили, відривали від загальновідомої наукової термінології, прийнятої самим життям соціялістичної країни збивали на шляхи штучного відгорожування від російської мови."

^{192 &}quot;Треба зазначити, що словники ці буржуазно-націоналістичні елементи оформляли буржуазно-націоналістичним, релігійним, чорносотенним літературним матеріялом."

^{193 &}quot;Московська протекція дорого коштувала Україні. [...] Повна руйнація господарства. [...] Плутають публіку, не даючи нічогісенько. [...] Бог це найвища істота, створитель світу і всього, що в нім. [...] А хто-ж їй (євангелії) вірити не хоче? Сам тільки поганин та жид."

Xvylja declared that in recent years, the Ukrainian language had been developed according to the ideological principles of "the former Petljurite minister, leader of the Autocephalous Church, and now Petljurite emigrant" Ivan Ohijenko or of "Ukrainian fascists" such as Dmytro Doncov (ibid., 46).¹⁹⁴ He quoted from the textbook *The Ukrainian Language in the Highest Teacher Groups* (Українська мова в найвищих групах учителів), where a certain Mykola Osypov had deplored the fact that "Russified" members of the intelligentsia were "corrupting" the language with Russian elements such as *завідуючий*, *слідуючий* (ibid., 47). Xvylja then referred to the monograph *Sketches of Ukrainian Syntax* in which, on the basis of a study of Ukrainian historical syntax,¹⁹⁵ Serhij Smerečyns'kyj had criticized the use of certain syntactic constructions, such as the use of the forms of *бути* with the participle in *-no, -to* (as in *було, буде видруковано*), the excessive use of the passive voice and the expression of agency in the passive voice with the instrumental case instead of *sid* + genitive case (ibid., 47–48).¹⁹⁶

Returning to the problems of Ukrainian terminology, Xvylja claimed that new terms had to be taken "from life, since millions of toiling masses create them, and every worker on the linguistic front must understand that." Moreover, he insisted that "in all dictionaries, generally used terms must be renewed in the Ukrainian language" (ibid.),¹⁹⁷ whereby it was clear that these allegedly "generally used terms" were to be as close to Russian as possible.

In the last section of his article, Xvylja discussed the question "What Have They Done to Ukrainian Orthography?" (ibid., 49–56).¹⁹⁸ Referring to the Kharkiv Orthographic Conference of 1927, he emphasized particularly that some participants

^{194 &}quot;[...] проф. Іван Огієнко, бувш. петлюрівський міністр, керівник автокефальної церкви, теперішній петлюрівський емігрант [...]. Всі ці теорії — є теоріями української буржуазії, українського фашизму. Українські фашисти — Донцов та інші завжди розвивали теорії про те, що українська мова, українська культура — европейські, а тому можуть і повинні орієнтуватися в своєму розвиткові на буржуазну Европу."

¹⁹⁵ Xvylja particularly criticized Smerečyns'kyj for using examples not only from the Cossack chronicles but even from the Ihor Tale or the medieval chronicles (Xvylja 1933: 48).

¹⁹⁶ As for the latter issue, Xvylja himself invented an intriguing, indeed comic example. He argued that асcording to Smerečyns'kyj, one could not write "Звільнена Червоною армією територія," but only "Звільнена від Червоної Армії територія"—which, however, "entirely distorts the content" (ibid., 48). (The latter means not "liberated by" but "liberated from" the Red Army.) See also the replacement of the passive voice and, in the remaining passive constructions, the replacement of the agent in the instrumental case with *sid/od* and the genitive case in chapter 6.

^{197 &}quot;Зрозуміла річ, що мова кожного народу в СРСР живе, зростає, розвивається. Цей процес іде в країні будованого соціялізму УСРР. Це знайшло свій відбиток і в українській мові. Ростуть нові поняття, терміни. Мова українська збагачується, її, як і кожну мову, не можна взяти в береги раз встановленої термінології тих чи інших галузевих словників. Але нові слова, терміни ми повинні брати з життя, бо їх творять мільйони трудящих мас і це треба зрозуміти кожному робітникові на мовному фронті. Як висновок з цього, треба відновити в усіх словниках загальновживані терміни в українській мові. Треба відкинути увесь штучний, мертвий термінологічний матеріял, що його збудовано на основі буржуазно-націоналістичного підходу до складання української, наукової термінології. Треба витравити буржуазно-націоналістичне оформлення українських словників, треба усталити технічну термінологію, уніфікувавши її з термінологією, що існує у всьому Радянському союзі. Треба ввести радянську лексику, яка б відбивала могутній процес розвитку соціялістичного будівництва, в усі нові словники."

^{198 &}quot;Що зробили з українським правописом?"

had voted for the adoption of the Latin alphabet, which, as Xvylja argued, would have "erected a barrier between the Russian and Ukrainian languages" in the interest of "Ukrainian nationalists" (ibid., 49). Xvylja then reported that Skrypnyk himself had suggested the introduction of the Latin letters *s* and *z* to render ∂_3 and ∂x , respectively, and declared that the Central Committee of the CP(B)U alone had blocked that measure in 1928 (ibid., 49). According to Xvylja, who forgot to mention the union-wide "Latinization campaign" of 1926 (Martin 2001: 187), the rules of the Kharkiv orthography for rendering foreign words had "alienated and isolated Ukrainian from the Russian language," "complicated the adoption of Ukrainian orthography for millions of toilers" and thus "complicated the development of the Ukrainian language" (Xvylja 1933: 49).¹⁹⁹ Xvylja summarized the rules for the use of hard and soft *l/l*' according to the Kharkiv orthography and argued:

And, really, who needs this "ljakannja"? After all, everybody knows that the Ukrainian worker and peasant does not say "аероплян" but "аероплан"; that the Ukrainian worker and peasant does not say "плян" but "план," not "плятформа" but "платформа"; that the Ukrainian worker and peasant does not say "фльота" but "флот"; and that the Ukrainian worker and peasant does not say "льозунг" but "лозунг."²⁰⁰

Again, Xvylja declared that all these forms that allegedly were not used had been introduced merely to alienate the Ukrainian language from the Russian (ibid.). Regarding *z* and *t*, Xvylja made the absurd statement that "of course, in the Ukrainian language the sound [instead of letter] 'r' is pronounced in two ways." He added the second absurd statement that [g] was pronounced in *tanok* not because of the history of this word, but only "because the word is used among the Ukrainian masses of many millions. And that's it" (ibid., 52).²⁰¹ On the basis of such strange assumptions, Xvylja ultimately argued that *z* alone should be used for rendering both [h] and [g] (ibid.).

Xvylja further pointed out that Skrypnyk himself, in his preface to a 1926 Ukrainian translation of Lenin's "Two Tactics," had warned against "deviations in two directions that occur in the making of Ukrainian orthography: the striving to use orthography to separate the Ukrainian language from the Polish or from the Russian, depending on this or that orientation of these or those representatives of

^{199 &}quot;Але конференція прийняла розділ про правопис чужих слів, який одриває, відштовхує українську мову од російської мови, утруднює для трудящих засвоєння українського правопису, створює великі труднощі для засвоєння його робітниками і таким чином утруднює розвиток української мови."

^{200 &}quot;І, дійсно, кому потрібно оце "лякання"? Адже відомо всім, що український робітник та селянин говорить не "аероплян", а "аероплан". Відомо, що український робітник та селянин говорить не "плян", а "план", не "плятформа", а "платформа". Відомо, що український робітник та селянин говорить не "фльота", а "флот". Відомо, що український робітник та селянин говорить не "льозунг", а "лозунг"."

^{201 &}quot;Зрозуміла річ, в українській мові звук "г" вимовляється двояко. Наприклад, не можна сказати "танок", а треба казати тільки "ганок" з твердим г. Але це не тому, що це слово заходило в тому чи іншому сторіччі до української мови, з тої чи іншої мови, а тому, що слово це так вживається в багатомільйонних українських масах. І все."

our scholarly and social thought." Skrypnyk had thus very consciously opted for the separation of the Ukrainian language from the Russian (ibid., 53).²⁰² Following a discussion of Skrypnyk's alleged "errors" of the prerevolutionary period, Xvylja made the interesting statement that the orthographic principles adopted at a session of the editorial board of the *Ukrainian Soviet Encyclopedia* in 1931 reminded him of prerevolutionary tables offering advice as to when to write *jat'* in Russian (ibid., 54);²⁰³ he thus placed all contemporary problems of Ukrainian orthography in an expressly non-Bolshevik context.

Finally, Xvylja summed up his diagnosis and outlined the necessary measures:

- 1. On the linguistic front, we are faced with the wrecking activity of nationalist Ukrainian elements.
- This activity has aimed at the separation of the Ukrainian language from the Russian, at the separation of the Ukrainian language from international scholarly terminology, at the direction of the Ukrainian language and its terminology onto bourgeois nationalist paths.
- 3. In Ukrainian orthography, especially in its third section [on the orthography of foreign words], this separation of the Ukrainian language and its terminology from the Russian language has already been continued in orthographic form and in the adoption of foreign words.
- 4. The Narkomos of Ukraine has not waged any struggle against this activity but has, on the contrary, fostered it.
- 5. It is therefore necessary:
 - a) immediately to halt the printing of all dictionaries, b) to revise the dictionaries and the entire terminology, c) to establish the unification of technical terminology with the terminology used in the Soviet Union and in Ukraine itself, d) to inspect the cadres on the linguistic front and drive the bourgeois nationalist elements away from that front, e) to revise Ukrainian orthography, f) to change the principle governing linguistic usage in the *Ukrainian Soviet Encyclopedia*, and g) to issue a special document comprehensively addressing all these issues and fostering the total further development of Ukrainian Soviet culture on the linguistic front along truly Bolshevik paths, as Lenin has taught us, and as Comrade Stalin is teaching us (ibid., 55).²⁰⁴

^{202 &}quot;Таким чином, як бачимо, вже в 1926 р. перед М.Скрипником стало питання, що за допомогою українського правопису можна "відріжняти українську мову від польської або від російської мови. Залежно від тої чи іншої орієнтації, яка є у тих або інших представників нашої науково-суспільної думки". Очевидно, т. М. Скрипник стояв і на тій "орієнтації,", щоб відріжняти українську мову за допомогою українського правопису від російської мови."

^{203 &}quot;Таким чином, коли б ми йшли по лінії виконання настанов українського правопису в цьому пакті, нам потрібно видати реєстр, де і як писати "т" і "л". Це було б щось подібне до тої старої таблиці в старому російському правописі дожовтневому, було зазначено, де писати і де не писати "ять"."

^{204 &}quot;1. На мовному фронті ми маємо проведену націоналістичними українськими елементами шкідницьку роботу. 2. Ця робота йшла по лінії відгороджування української мови від російської мови, відгороджування української мови від інтернаціональної наукової термінології, спрямовування української мови та термінології на буржуазно-націоналістичні шляхи. 3. В українському правописі, особливо 3-й розділ, це відгороджування української мови, термінології від російської мови продовжено вже в правописній формі та при запозиченні

Xvylja reported that the Narkomos of Ukraine had already begun the purge of all "harmful nationalist materials" ("шкідливий націоналістичний матеріял") from the terminologies and grammars, as well as from Ukrainian orthography (ibid.), and added:

In grammar, all artificial, nationalist forms that have retarded the development of the Ukrainian language for whole centuries have been removed. In so doing, the nationalist elements wanted to hold back the Ukrainian language from the tasks of socialist construction.

In Ukrainian orthography, in section III on "the orthography of foreign words," the rule on the use of softened *l* has been liquidated if it does not emerge from the nature of the language itself.

For rendering the two "r" sounds of the Ukrainian language, it has been deemed necessary to leave only the one letter "r."

Archaic forms and provincialisms have been eliminated.

Parallel forms have been eliminated. As for the "Ukrainian Orthography," corrections have been made to eliminate all artificial rules intended to direct the development of the Ukrainian language toward Polish bourgeois culture.

Morever, the great majority of literary illustrations must be completely changed because the orthography approved by Comrade Skrypnyk includes a series of literary illustrations of a nationalist-kulak sort (ibid., 55–56).²⁰⁵

Xvylja declared that "Comrade P. P. Postyšev" had, with all "Bolshevik forthrightness," placed the current tasks of work "on the cultural front…on a level of high principle" (ibid., 56)²⁰⁶ and added, in full accordance with the slogans of those days:

чужоземних слів. 4. Проти цієї роботи Наркомос України не вів будь-якої боротьби, а, навпаки, сприяв цьому. 5. Отже потрібно: а) припинити негайно видання всіх словників, б) переглянути словники і всю термінологію, в) провести уніфікацію технічної термінології з тою термінологією, що є в Радянському союзі і вживана й на Україні, г) переглянути кадри на мовному фронті і вигнати з цього фронту буржуазно-націоналістичні елементи, д) переглянути український правопис, є) змінити настанову щодо мовного оформлення УРЕ, ж) видати спеціяльного документа, який би всі ці питання всебічно охопив і забезпечив цілковитий дальший розвиток української радянської культури на мовному фронті дійсно більшовицькими шляхами, так, як вчив нас Ленін, як цьому вчить нас тов. Сталін."

^{205 &}quot;В граматиці ліквідовано всі штучні, націоналістичні форми, які відтягали творення української мови назад на цілі століття. Роблячи це, націоналістичні елементи хотіли відтягти розвиток української мови від завдань соціялістичного будівництва. В українському правописі в ІІІ розділі "правопису чужих слів" ліквідовано правило про вживання пом'якшеного "л", коли це не виникає з природи самої мови. Для визначення двох звуків "т", що має українська мова, – визнано за потрібне залишити одну літеру "т". Ліквідовано архаїчні форми та провінціялізми. Ліквідовано паралельні форми. В "Українсьий правопис" в висено виправлення, зміни по лінії усунення всіх штучних правил, які було спрямовано на те, щоб повернути розвиток української мови в бік польської буржуазної культури. Крім того, потрібно цілковито змінити переважну більшість літературних ілюстрацій, бо в тому правописі, що його схвалив т. Скрипник, є низка літературних ілюстрацій націоналістично-куркульського гатунку."

^{206 &}quot;Ці завдання роботи на культурному фронті — з усією більшовицькою чіткістю, цілком правдиво поставив, підняв на велику принципову височінь тов. П.П. Постишев."

Those aberrations of nationality policy that have recently taken place in Ukraine are the consequence of lack of class vigilance, lack of merciless struggle.

This activity must be developed in every sphere, mercilessly assailing and uncovering bourgeois nationalist elements of every kind that carry on their hostile activity, sometimes concealing it with their party cards.

This activity must be carried out mercilessly while fighting against Russian and Ukrainian nationalism.

Ukrainian nationalist elements try to interpret our work on the linguistic front as "the destruction of Ukrainian culture." We are not destroying Ukrainian culture but Ukrainian bourgeois culture. We are doing so in order to develop the construction of Ukrainian proletarian culture with even greater speed (ibid.).²⁰⁷

In conclusion, Xvylja offered yet another of the notorious eulogies for the "tremendous victories" of "socialist construction…under Comrade Stalin's brilliant leadership" and promised a bright Ukrainian proletarian future following victory over the Ukrainian nationalists (ibid.).²⁰⁸

In the July-August issue of *Bil'šovyk Ukrajiny*, Oleksandr Šlixter basically reiterated Xvylja's statements. Most interestingly, he complained that Ukrainian chauvinists had been pleased by Skrypnyk's alleged project of a "self-sufficient Ukrainian language."²⁰⁹ Henceforth, Ukrainian would not be self-sufficient but would have to depend on Russian.

4.2. Achievements

According to Soviet statistics, "Ukrainian remained the predominant language" in Ukraine even after the terror of 1933/34 and the "Great Terror" of 1937/38 (on the implications of the "Great Terror" for the history of the Ukrainian language, see Ševel'ov 1989: 164–171).²¹⁰ In cities and larger towns, however, its use continually

210 Ševel'ov reports that this was the time when "lists of prohibited words" were first sent to all periodicals (at that time, by the style editors of *Komunist*) (Ševel'ov 1989: 167). Norms for the Ukrainian language

^{207 &}quot;Тівикривлення національної політики, що останніми часами мали місце на Україні, – є наслідок відсутности класової пильности, відсутности нещадної боротьби. Цю роботу треба розгорнути на всіх ділянках, нещадно б'ючи, викриваючи всілякі буржуазно-націоналістичні елементи, які подекуди ведуть свою ворожу роботу, прикриваючись партійними квитками. Цю роботу потрібно вести нещадно, борючись проти російського та українського націоналізму. Нашу роботу на мовному фронті українські націоналістичні елементи намагаються витлумачити як "нищення української культури". Ми нищимо не українську культуру, а українську буржуазну культуру. Ми робимо це для того, щоб ще швидшими темпами розгортати будівництво української пролетарської культури."

^{208 &}quot;Під геніяльним керівництвом тов. Сталіна ми в усіх ділянках соціялістичного будівництва досягли велетенських перемог. Під керівництвом тов. Сталіна, ми на фронті будівництва української пролетарської культури в нещадній боротьби проти українських націоналістів дійдемо всесвітніх історичних досягнень. Для цього потрібна дійсно більшовицька пильність, дійсно більшовицька робота."

^{209 &}quot;Інтернаціональні терміни набули права громадянства в усіх мовах, в тому числі і в українській. [...] Можна уявити собі, як за такі настанови в українському мовному питанні вдячні т. Скрипникові українські шовіністи з лінгвістичного фронту що брали курс "на самодостатню українську мову", без домішки "чужих слів", особливо російських, що орієнтували розвиток української мови на відрив від завдань соціалістичного будівництва та диктатури пролетаріату й трудящих мас."

"went underground, except for officially sanctioned ceremonial occasions" (Ševel'ov 1989: 146).²¹¹ Under Postyšev and Stalin, more and more Ukrainophone schools became bilingual or Russophone (ibid., 151). As for mere figures, the immediate changes did not appear to be very significant at first glance: according to Volodymyr Zatons'kyj, 8.7 percent of pupils studied in Russian-language schools in 1933–34, as compared to 6.9 percent in 1932–33. In major cities, however, the effect was considerably more apparent. "The number of children in Russian-language schools in grade 1 increased from 20 percent to 39 percent in Kharkiv, from 21 percent to 38 percent in Odesa, and from zero to 32 percent in Kherson" (Martin 2001: 355). On 20 April 1938, then, a decree of the CPC stipulated "the compulsory teaching of the Russian language in all Ukrainian ('non-Russian') schools beginning in the second grade, for four to five hours weekly" (Ševel'ov 1989: 149–150).²¹²

While 6,394 books were published in Ukrainian in 1930, the figures for 1933 and 1938 were 3,472 and 1,895, respectively; the percentage of Russian newspapers produced in Ukraine grew from 10.1 percent in 1933 to 22.2 percent in 1940, aside from the large number of newspapers imported from Soviet Russia (ibid., 152; cf. different figures in Martin 2001: 369) and aside from the fact that quite a few "Ukrainian-language newspapers" were largely Russophone, merely bearing a Ukrainian title (Martin 2001: 369) and containing a few Ukrainian-language inserts (as is often practiced nowadays).

More important than these percentages was the fact that even those Ukrainian intellectuals who survived the terror were unable to contribute to the development of the Ukrainian language in any direction diverging from the established Russocentric ideological guidelines. As a result of the terror, "the traditional deficient structure of Ukrainian speakers was being reinstated; again, those who spoke the language were primarily peasants and the humanist intelligentsia" (ibid., 153), or, rather, the survivors of both groups.

As noted by Nikolaj Popov in 1933, factory newspapers were increasingly switched from Ukrainian to Russian, although they sometimes preserved their Ukrainian titles. A director of the Odesa fine arts technical college noted that instructors increasingly "switched to Russian, fearing that otherwise they would be labeled a Ukrainian nationalist" (Martin 2001: 363), and the Italian embassy in Ukraine reported that "Russian was being increasingly used by the bureaucracy" (ibid.).

after the purge of Naum Kahanovyč, Andrij Xvylja, and Volodymyr Zatons'kyj remained unclear. "Teachers were confused and frightened, and students were bewildered. Not to follow the new trend was criminal, but to follow it was impossible, because of the lack of information. Instability seemed to be an inherent feature of the Ukrainian language, in contrast to Russian, which suffered no upheaval of any kind. The already damaged prestige of Ukrainian sank further" (ibid.).

²¹¹ Terry Martin summarizes that "1933 did not mark a strong move toward russification in Ukraine. Rather, the modest reforms in education, the theater, and the press aimed at bringing those fields in line with the consensus that had emerged elsewhere by 1932: a bilingual public sphere with a strong Russian-language presence in Ukraine's major cities" (Martin 2001: 355). Under the circumstances described by Ševel'ov, one can hardly speak of a genuinely "bilingual public sphere."

²¹² Previously, the teaching of Russian had begun "in the third grade, for two to four hours per week" (Ševel'ov 1989: 150).

It was now mandatory to contextualize Ukrainian affairs within the ideological framework of the "fraternity of Soviet nations," particularly the Russian nation.²¹³ Aside from these developments, the Ukrainian language itself gradually took on a new shape. The changes extended far beyond the sphere of orthography, increasingly turning official Ukrainian into a copy of Russian.

Until 1937, the topic of Ukrainization "disappeared from public discourse" (ibid., 364). Although individual Bolshevik directives continued to address the need for a command of Ukrainian in Bolshevik institutions (ibid., 365–367), inspections of Ukrainization in Odesa, Dnipropetrovsk, and Donetsk in 1935 revealed that now "all oral work was being conducted exclusively in Russian, while written work had largely been shifted to Russian in Odesa, Donetsk, and the city of Dnipropetrovsk, though the oblast authorities in Dnipropetrovsk were still using mostly Ukrainian" (ibid., 367). Henceforth, linguistic Ukrainization was largely abandoned, while a number of decrees, issued mainly in 1935 and 1936, called for the promotion of ethnic Ukrainians to leadership positions (ibid., 365–367).

In 1937 and 1938, the "Great Terror" affected Ukraine no less severely than other parts of the Soviet Union. Ironically, when Postyšev fell victim to the purge in early 1937, he was blamed, inter alia, for insufficient attention to "nationality policy in Ukraine." In the following weeks, Stanislav Kosior and Postyšev's successor, Sergej Kudrjavcev, temporarily even returned to the slogans of linguistic Ukrainization until the inevitable mass arrests of "bourgeois nationalists" began in September 1937 (ibid., 370–371).

The centralization of the Soviet state, enshrined in the Constitution of the Soviet Union of 1937, gradually continued (ibid., 145–146).²¹⁴ In December 1937, a decree of the Organizational Bureau of the Central Committee of the Communist Party of the Soviet Union criticized the "liquidation of Russian newspapers in republican and oblast centers of Ukraine" as "incorrect and politically erroneous" and declared that it had "eased the criminal work of bourgeois nationalism" (ibid., 372). Consequently, the decree "ordered the formation of a republican Russian-language daily with as large a circulation as *Komunist* [*Sovetskaja Ukraina* began circulation in January 1938], as well as Russian dailies in Kharkiv, Dnipropetrovsk, Odesa, and Mykolaiv" (ibid.). All of a sudden, "the Russian-language press jumped rapidly from 12.5 percent of total Ukrainian circulation in 1936 to 29.4 percent in 1938" (ibid.), again, leaving aside the masses of newspapers imported from Soviet Russia.

In June 1938, as the mandatory study of Russian was introduced in all non-Russian schools in the USSR, Nikita Xruščev declared:

Enemies of the people and bourgeois nationalists recognized the power and influence of the Russian language and culture. They knew that this was the 543

²¹³ In 1935, this slogan was replaced by that of the "Friendship of Peoples," which would thereafter serve as the ubiquitous metaphor of the new Soviet constitution (Martin 2001: 353).

²¹⁴ Incidentally, the Constitution of 1937 "said nothing about language" in Ukraine, "except for the statement that 'citizens of the Ukrainian SSR have the right to an education. This right is secured... by school education in the native language" (Ševel'ov 1989: 148).

influence of Bolshevism, the influence of the teachings of Lenin-Stalin on the minds of the Ukrainian people, on Ukrainian workers and peasants. That is why they were rooting out the Russian language from schools. In many Ukrainian schools German, French, Polish, and other languages were studied, but not Russian.... Comrades! As of today all of the peoples will be studying the Russian language! (cited in Solchanyk 1985: 72).

5. Official Soviet Ukrainian in the course of "Ukrainization"

Owing to the lack of Ukrainian-language schooling in the Russian Empire and the brief period of Ukrainian independence after World War I, there can be little doubt that the Ukrainian language of numerous pamphlets and books, let alone private letters, diaries, etc., or unofficial oral speeches was characterized by considerable variety, especially during the early years of "Ukrainization." The intention of the following lines is to give an idea of those varieties of Ukrainian that represented the potentially best-standardized varieties but were not limited to the scholarly sphere (as, particularly, in the field of linguistics). The varieties that will now be analyzed might tentatively be designated "official Soviet Ukrainian" as encountered in journals (which potentially reflected a higher degree of elaboration than everyday newspapers, as the latter allowed less time for editing), pamphlets, and books that addressed readers, in one way or another, in the name of the Bolshevik Party itself.

The fact that the elaboration of the Ukrainian language was one of the tasks of Soviet journals is reflected in the editorial of the first issue of the "civil and political, literary and scholarly monthly" journal *Červonyj Šljax*, which particularly addressed the problem of Soviet Ukrainian language development in April 1923:

The Ukrainian language itself is a major factor in the process of the creation of a [literally: our] new life, and it requires continual perfection and broadening [or: dissemination] to meet the requirements posed by the cultural rise of the toiling masses. "Červonyj Šljax" must carefully approach this task and mobilize [its] literary and scholarly forces for the work of molding the Ukrainian language into a powerful tool for the cultural development of the toiling masses (Editorial 1923: 6; italics in the original; otherwise, the translation is cited from Ševel'ov 1989: 99).²¹⁵

Červonyj Šljax, Bil'šovyk Ukrajiny, and other journals frequently featured articles that were written in the name of Bolshevik leaders, on which the following analysis will focus. As many of these party figures did not have an active command

^{215 &}quot;Нарешті, сама українська мова являється величезним чинником в процесі творчости нового життя і вимагає невпинного удосконалення і поширення, щоб задовольнити ті потреби, які ставить перед нею культурний підйом працюючих мас. "Червоний Шлях" повинен уважно підійти до цієї справи і мобілізувати літературні і наукові сили для праці над виковуванням української мови, як могутнього знаряддя культурного розвитку працюючих мас." І do not concur with Jurij Ševel'ov's interpretation expressed in the following lines: "In such declarations, a guilt for writing in Ukrainian seems to combine whimsically with a peculiar stubbornness and pride in the undertaking" (Ševel'ov 1989: 99). On the contrary, it seems to me that the editors formulated one of the tasks of their journal quite realistically.

of Ukrainian, their contributions discussed above were obviously written almost exclusively in Russian and then translated and edited for Ukrainophone journals by others.²¹⁶ Even with regard to party leaders who had an active command of Ukrainian, it is not always clear whether their contributions were originally submitted in Ukrainian, especially if the texts were originally conceptualized as speeches for party events, which were usually held in Russian as well (because many Bolsheviks of Ukraine did not fully understand Ukrainian, let alone speak it). Moreover, it should be noted that even the language of articles originally submitted in Ukrainian was in all likelihood edited by party workers and/or by collaborators of the various newspapers or journals. There is thus no doubt that, apart from the editors of various pamphlets or book publications (here, Budivnyctvo Ukrajiny 1929), the collaborators of Soviet periodicals contributed significantly to shaping the norms of "official Soviet Ukrainian," which will now be discussed.

5.1. Orthography and phonology

One aspect that deserves particular emphasis is that many of the orthographic norms generally characterized today as typical of the "Kharkiv orthography" were either widespread or at least not unknown prior to 1928.

The "Kharkiv" spelling *iя*, not *ia*, was applied almost exclusively, beginning in the texts of 1923: *iмперіялізму* (Editorial 1923: III), *соціялістичного* (ibid.), *соціяльних* (ibid.), *соціялізму* (ibid.), *пролетаріят* (ibid., IV), *пролетаріят* (Rakovs'kyj 1923: 89), *експропріяторів* (ibid.), *диференціяцію* (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 72), *iмперіялістичної* (ibid., 78), *iніціятиви* (ibid., 82), *комісаріятів* (ibid., 87), *соціяльного* (Kviring 1923: 109), *матеріяльного* (Šums'kyj 1924: 84), *матеріяльна* (ibid.), *пролетаріят* (Šums'kyj 1924: 85). After the adoption of the Kharkiv rules and prior to 1933, this spelling was of course largely preserved: *соціялістичної* (Kosior 1930: 13), *iндустріялізацію* (Kosior 1930: 15), *iніціятива* (ibid., 19), *матеріяльний* (Kosior 1930: 20), *соціялізм* (Skrypnyk 1931: 37), *діялектично* (ibid., 36). Serhij Pylypenko, who wrote his article in the Latin alphabet in 1923, rendered the intervocal glide as well: *dijalekty terytorijal'ni* (Pylypenko 1923: 267).

Contrary to the results of the Kharkiv conference, for the most part the consonant *l* was initially not treated as soft even in more recent Ukrainian loans from Western languages: васалом (Editorial 1923: III), класових (ibid.), класовою (ibid., V), капітал (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 72), капіталу (Editorial 1923: IV), класові (Rakovs'kyj 1923: 94), класа (ibid., 105), класи (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 73), лойального (ibid., 74), планове (ibid., 79), Лозана (ibid., 80), в Філадельфії (ibid., 84),²¹⁷ планову (Kviring 1923: 108), класові (Skrypnyk 1923: 107), класової (Šums'kyj 1923: 91), палатальних (Johansen 1923: 167). However, there were also some occurrences of soft *l': пляну*

²¹⁶ Unfortunately, Soviet publications of that period usually do not specify whether a certain text was originally written in Ukrainian or identify who translated it from Russian. In 1923, Hryhorij Hryn'ko described the situation as follows: "The state machinery from top to bottom works in the Russian language, with quite small exceptions in the staff of the People's Commissariat of Education in the provinces and some others" (cited in Ševel'ov 1989: 96).

²¹⁷ The second *l* is rendered as soft in accordance with Russian.

(Rakovs'kyj 1923а: 77), плян (ibid., 80), пляни (ibid., 87), al'favit, al'favitiv (both Pylypenko 1923: 267).²¹⁸ As a result of the Kharkiv conference, forms with soft l' were of course used much more often: клясові (Ljubčenko 1930: 60), клясову (ibid., 61), соціяль-демократів і соціяль-федералістів (ibid., 59), соціяль-угодівці (ibid., 62), парлямент (ibid., 65), за плянами (Ljubčenko 1930: 65), бльокувалися (ibid.), цьому бльоку (ibid., 55), деклярували (ibid., 70), льокаї (ibid.), льокайського (ibid., 71), соціяль-демократи (ibid., 72), пляни (ibid., 72), клясовим (Kosior 1930: 16), серед [...] кляси (ibid., 24), плянування (Skrypnyk 1931: 13); but even in otherwise carefully edited publications of the period after the Kharkiv conference, forms with *l* instead of the expected *l'* appear: класи (Zatons'kyj 1929: 13), класи (Šums'kyj 1929a: 107), *в клубах* (Šums'kyj 1929b: 135), *з робочою класою* (Kahanovyč 1929a: 124). The latter even applied to texts published under the name of Mykola Skrypnyk: класи (Skrypnyk 1929: 31), платформи (Skrypnyk 1929b: 188).

The letter *I* was not used in many early texts, which may have been a result of technical problems as well: інтелігенцію (Rakovs'kyj 1923: 105), делегатів (Rakovs'kyj 1923а: 70), революційно-прогресивну ролю (ibid., 72), гарантій (ibid., 74), білогвардійських (ibid., 76), з Копенгагена (ibid., 77), Генуя (ibid., 80), Гаага (ibid.), Енгельса (ibid., 81, 85), прерогативи (ibid., 83), грунт (ibid., 83), агенти (ibid., 84), найгрунтовніші (ibid., 86), колегії (ibid., 88), в оригиналі (Kviring 1923: 112), пропаганди (ibid.), прогрессивним (sic, Skrypnyk 1923: 92), на грунті (Šums'kyj 1923: 91, 100), губерніяльних (Šums'kyj 1924: 83), делегація (ibid.), агрикультурні (ibid., 84), еміграції (Šums'kyj 1924: 84), в групах, групи (Johansen 1923: 167). Serhij Pylypenko's article, however, attests that the pronunciation [g] was obviously not at all unknown: ideologyčni pidosnovy (Pylypenko 1923: 267), reorganizaciji (ibid., 268), propagujučy (ibid.). After the Kharkiv Conference, ' was largely used according to its rules: багнетів (Ljubčenko 1930: 61), гарантію (ibid., 65), делегація (ibid., 69), в еміграції (ibid., 71), нелегальну (ibid.), обгрунтовувати (ibid.), агітаторами (ibid.), пропагандистами (ibid.), магнати (ibid., 71–72), агенти (ibid., 72), грунтувались (ibid.), агентурою (ibid., 74), грунтовні (Kosior 1930: 13), гав (genitive plural, ibid., 23), енергійних (ibid., 23; from a Greek stem), якнайенергійніше (ibid., 23), *грандіозністю* (ibid., 24), *грандіозні* (ibid.), авангарду (ibid.), негативно (Xvylja 1930: 38), еміграції (ibid., 55), інтелігенцію (Skrypnyk 1931: 10). Deviations are, however, not infrequent even after 1928: інтелігенції (Zatons'kyj 1929: 14), грунтом (ibid., 37), грунт (Kahanovyč 1929: 45) along with грунтом (ibid., 42), пропаганду (Šums'kyj 1929а: 107), груп (Kahanovyč 1929а: 123), Білогвардійсько-українська еміграція (Kahanovyč 1929с: 147), грандіозности (ibid., 149), німецькі генерали

²¹⁸ In his article devoted to the introduction of the Latin alphabet for the Ukrainian language, Myxajlo Johansen suggested writing only *l* because Ukrainian *l* was, as he argued, close to "European middle" *l*. Moreover, Johansen argued that soft *l'* was not really pronounced in recent Western loanwords: "Адже ж наше вкраїнське "l" як найближче підходить вимовою своєю до європейського середнього "l" і викинувши ми мнякшення в "логіка, флота", послідовно мусимо одмовитися од цієї чужої нам правописної прикмети і в инших словах, де її немає в вимові […]" (Johansen 1923: 168). Johansen did not even mention the fact that the soft pronunciation was quite common in Western Ukraine and was apparently well known in the central and eastern Ukrainian lands in earlier times.

(Ljubčenko 1930: 62–63), генеральних (Ljubčenko 1930: 67). Again, deviations could even occur in texts that appeared under the name of Mykola Skrypnyk: легальних (Skrypnyk 1930: 22 and Skrypnyk 1930a: 20), групи (Skrypnyk 1930: 7; unchanged in Skrypnyk 1930a: 13), генералам (Skrypnyk 1930: 11; unchanged in Skrypnyk 1930a: 15), германізацію (Skrypnyk 1931: 47), агроном (ibid., 10; from a Greek stem), у [...] газеті (ibid., 20).

Russian names were rendered quite inconsistently as regards the treatment of *l* and *g*. Alongside Плеханова (ibid., 84), one finds *B. I. Ленін* (ibid., 85 and elsewhere) and *Леніна* (Kviring 1923: 112). Kosior 1930 has the form *Сталінґрадський* (Kosior 1930: 20); Skrypnyk 1931 has Денікінові (Skrypnyk 1931: 6), з Ваґаняном (ibid.), ленінізму (ibid., 9).²¹⁹

The use of *u* and *i* in foreign words was not well-ordered, especially in some of the earlier texts, even though there was a clear tendency toward the so-called "rule of the nine" (i.e., the rendering of foreign *i* as *u*, not *i*, after dentals, but as i elsewhere); see "unmarked" політичну (Editorial 1923: IV), політики (ibid., V), практичній (ibid., IV), економіки (ibid., V), мобілізувати (ibid., VI), публіцистики (ibid., V), публіцистів (ibid., VI), популяризаторів (ibid., VI), популяризації (ibid., V), трибуною (ibid., V), кординальних [sic, for кардинальних] (ibid., 4), соціялістичними (Rakovs'kyj 1923а: 72), соціялістичне (ibid., 72), політичних (ibid., 74), демократичному, республіканському (ibid., 75), марксистами (ibid., 75), Міністра Директорії (ibid., 77), на принципі (ibid.), Соціялістичними Республіками (ibid., 78), капіталістичного (ibid.), приватного (ibid.), раціонально (ibid.), Республік (ibid., 80), політика (ibid., 81), фетишем (ibid.), асимілювувала (Rakovs'kyi 1923: 105), шовіністом (Kviring 1923: 109), ветеринарії (ibid., 112), деспотизм (Šums'kyj 1923: 93), латинське, латиницею (Johansen 1923: 167), транскрипція (ibid.) and пропозиція (Johansen 1923: 167), італійські капіталісти (Šums'kyj 1924: 85), кваліфікований (Šums'kyj 1924: 85), диявольський (Šums'kyj 1924: 84), etc., alongside економичного (Editorial 1923: IV), економичні (ibid.), капіталистичних (ibid., V), республиками (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 72), економичних (ibid., 74), принціпових (ibid.), принціп (ibid., 76), соціялистів (ibid., 75), економичної (ibid., 77), економичного (ibid.), привилейованих (ibid.), буржуазно-цівільне (ibid.), принціпом (ibid.), стратегичним (ibid., 81), стратегичний (ibid.), цітатами (ibid., 85), цітованого (ibid.), принціпи (ibid., 88), дисціплін (genitive plural; Kviring 1923: 109), медиціни (ibid., 112), медиціну (ibid.), цівілізований (Šums'kyj 1923: 93), принціп (Želexivs'kyj 1923), економичної (Šums'kyj 1924: 85), етимологичний (ibid., 168). Pylypenko's article has *polityčnyx* (Pylypenko 1923: 267), *latyns'kyj* (ibid.), *do dylemy* (ibid., 268), transkrypcijeju (ibid.), with all forms in accordance with the rule of the nine. After the Kharkiv conference, the rule of the nine applied almost exclusively as in Modern Standard Ukrainian (including its exceptions): *активних* (Zatons'kyj 1929: 14), дерусифікувати (ibid., 14), до російської культури (ibid.), примітивно (ibid.), Економіка (Skrypnyk 1929: 31), Економічний (ibid.), об'єктивним (ibid.), садизму (Šums'kyj 1929b: 135), проституйованої (Ljubčenko 1930: 69). Sometimes,

²¹⁹ Ljubčenko has the surprising form Ефремова (Ljubčenko 1929: 130).

however, divergent forms occurred: академика Ефремова (Ljubčenko 1929: 130), академиком (Ljubčenko 1929: 131), привилейованого (Ljubčenko 1930: 73).

The form *євро*- was common in earlier publications: *європейського* (Editorial 1923: IV), *європейської* (ibid., V), *Європи* (ibid.), *європейських* (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 73). After the Kharkiv conference, the form *евро*- оссиггеd: *европейської* (Kahanovyč 1929c: 145).

Several individual Western loans appeared in their "western" shape prior to the Kharkiv conference. In one of the first articles in *Červonyj Šljax*, the word *хемія*, not *хімія*, was used in the title of the article "Сучасні завдання хемії" (Tymofijiv 1923). After the Kharkiv conference, the relevant forms were usually used in accordance with its rules: *на катедрі* [not: *кафедрі*] *національного питання УІМА* (Skrypnyk 1931: 43), *теза Кавтського* [not: *Каутського*] (Skrypnyk 1931: 47), ог *циркові кловни* [not: *клоуни*] (Ljubčenko 1930: 70).

The apostrophe was used quite inconsistently in several texts (especially within roots): n'яmb (Rakovs'kyj 1923: 88), n'яmьox (ibid.), суб'єктом (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 73), n'яme (ibid., 80), обов'язком (Šums'kyj 1924: 83), обов'язки (ibid.), розв'язував (Editorial 1923: III), разв'язання [sic] (ibid., IV), розв'язанням (IV), but звязки (ibid.); розвязання (Rakovs'kyj 1923: 105), розвязання (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 72, 75), розвязаним (ibid.), розв'язання (ibid., 87), розвязуеться (ibid.), в звязку (ibid., 76), звязку (ibid., 87), alongside з'язку [sic] (ibid.). Even texts of the years after the Kharkiv conference featured some inconsistencies: обов'язків (Šums'kyj 1929: 29) alongside звязки (ibid.), розвязання (Kahanovyč 1929: 41), Pylypenko used no apostrophe (or equivalent sign) in his transliteration: rozvjazannja (Pylypenko 1923: 267), rozvjazaty (ibid.), rozvjazana (ibid., 268).

In the documents of the early Ukrainization period, only forms of the type инший (with u-) occurred: инакше (Rakovs'kyj 1923: 105), инша (ibid.), й т. ин. (ibid.), инколи (ibid.), в иншому напрямі (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 70), в инших ibid., 71), инколи (ibid., 73), инакше кажучи (ibid., 81), инших (Kviring 1923: 108), инша (ibid., 109), инше (Šums'kyj 1924: 83), і таке инше (Johansen 1923: 168), etc. Serhij Pylypenko and Myxajlo Johansen, who wrote Ukrainian in Latin transliteration, confirmed the phonetic substance behind this spelling: *z ynšymy* (Pylypenko 1923: 267), *miž ynšym* (ibid., 268), *tak abo ynak* (ibid.), *ênši* (Johansen 1923: 168). After the Kharkiv conference, forms of the type *iнший* were used: *i m. iнш.* (Zatons'kyj 1929: 13, 14), *Зерови й інші* (Šums'kyj 1929: 29), *ma iнши* (Petrovs'kyj 1929: 55), *iнодi* (Kahanovyč 1929: 41), *iнакше* (Ljubčenko 1930: 69), *iнших* (ibid., 70), *no-iншому* (Kosior 1930: 16), *iнших* (Skrypnyk 1931: 43).

Other noteworthy orthographic features were the following:

Instead of *ескплуат*- (see Modern Standard Russian эксплуат-), the prevalent form is *ескплоат*- (see Polish *eksploat*-); see *експлоатуючи* (Editorial 1923: IV), *експлоатації* (Rakovs'kyj 1923: 106), *експлоатує* (ibid.), *експлоатуючих* (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 77), *експлоататора* (ibid., 78), *експлоатацію* (Šums'kyj 1924: 85).

Occasionally, the spelling *ų* occurred where Modern Standard Ukrainian has etymologizing *mc*: *розвиток багацтв країни* (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 71) alongside *багатства* (ibid., 74), *багатств* (Šums'kyj 1924: 85), *шляхецькі* (Rakovs'kyj 1923a:

83) alongside шляхетсько-буржуазна Польща (Šums'kyj 1924: 85). In his article of 1923, Serhij Pylypenko used bahactva (Pylypenko 1923: 268), bahactvamy (ibid.). This spelling is quite frequently encountered in earlier Ukrainian texts, cf. Polish bogactwo, szlachecki. Rakovs'kyj 1923a has замісць (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 78, 83), which is recorded in this spelling in Borys Hrinčenko's dictionary. Consonant clusters -нтст-, -ндц-, etc. were quite often rendered in a simplified way: ірланців (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 73), голанські (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 85), студенства (Kviring 1923: 109), студенством (ibid.). Several texts of the Ukrainization period use the spelling form маштаб: маштабі (Kahanovyč 1929c: 151).

Тhe form керовник instead of керівник prevailed in the earlier years: керовники (ibid., IV), керовництвом (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 74), керовництва (ibid., 80). Alongside, one finds духівництвом (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 83). Even after the Kharkiv conference, the forms with o and i co-occurred (often even within the same texts or even within the same sentence): Це керовництво є нашим обов'язком, обов'язком керівників України і його не перекладеш на плечі союзу (Šums'kyj 1929: 29), партійним керівництвом (Šums'kyj 1929: 29), без керовництва (ibid.), керівники (ibid.), керівників (Ljubčenko 1930: 59), керівні кадри CBУ (ibid.). Other forms occasionally lacked the i < o change as well: торговля (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 74), вироб (Šums'kyj 1923: 101), всіх українських кол робітників (Skrypnyk 1929: 31), привод (Kahanovyč 1929: 42), правильний підход в справі українізації (Xvylja 1929: 129), національні островки (Skrypnyk 1931: 45). On the other hand, i < o occurred as opposed to Modern Standard Ukrainian in собірність (Ljubčenko 1930: 67) or *перелім* (Skrypnyk 1931: 19) for *перелом* or *перелам*.

The forms *siд-* and *siд* with the prothetic consonant and *i < o* prevailed beginning in the early years; see *siдpiжняється siд ycix до сього часу бувших peволюцій* (Editorial 1923: III), etc., but *oд-* and, less often, *od*, also occurred quite often: *nepiod одвертої озброєнної боротьби* (Editorial 1923: III), *odciч* (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 81), *odbiчним ворогом* (Šums'kyj 1924: 83), *odvertyj lyst* (Pylypenko 1923: 267, 268), *odhorožuvannja* (ibid., 268), *odмoвитись* (Johansen 1923: 167), *odбити* (Johansen 1923: 168), *odкинута* (Kahanovyč 1929: 42), *oddabab* (Ljubčenko 1930: 70), *odкрито-pecmabpamopcьку програму* (ibid., 73), *odpasy* (Kosior 1930: 16), *dabamu piuyyu odciv* (ibid., 20); *pidryv od najbil'šoji v teperišnij čas i najblyžčoji do Ukrajiny v usix vidnošennjax Radjans'koji Respubliky* (Pylypenko 1923: 268), *німецькі генерали прогнали їх од влади* (Ljubčenko 1930: 62–63), *на три дні пізніш od договору* (ibid., 69), *Ленінова настанова цілковито відрізнялась од інших настанов* (Skrypnyk 1931: 15).

The first issues of Červonyj Šljax used i instead of u in крівавий (Editorial 1923: III), B [...] крівавій [...] боротьбі (Šums'kyj 1923: 110); збіраюсь (Rakovs'kyj 1923: 88), вибіраються (Rakovs'kyj 1923а: 70), вибірається (ibid.), спірається (ibid., 77), збіраємось (Šums'kyj 1924: 83), піднімає (Editorial 1923: III), as well as in узімку (ibid.). Pylypenko, however, has znymalos' (Pylypenko 1923: 268).

The spellings *мілійонів* (Editorial 1923: VI) ог *міліонів* (Rakovs'kyj 1923: 86) of earlier texts were consistently replaced by *мільйонових* (Zatons'kyj 1929: 13), *мільйонних* (Kahanovyč 1929: 41), *мільйони* (Kahanovyč 1929c: 151), *мільйонних* (Kosior 1930: 24) after the Kharkiv conference.

Sporadically, prefixes were spelled according to the Russian model: *pocnoчaли* (Kviring 1923: 108), *pocmauoвaно* (Šums'kyj 1924: 84), although the rules of Modern Standard Ukrainian require the preservation of voice even in front of voiceless consonants.

The epenthetic vowel occasionally appeared not as *i* as in Modern Standard Ukrainian, but as *y* in *розигрували* (Ljubčenko 1930: 70), or *o*, as in *відограло* (Rakovs'kyj 1923: 105), *відограв* (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 72 and elsewhere), *відограти* (Ljubčenko 1930: 69). In later publications, *i* predominated: *відіграла* (Kosior 1930: 16).

The editors of various texts often paid great attention to the rendering of Ukrainian euphony rules: see відріжняється від усіх до сього часу бувших революцій (Editorial 1923: III), збільшила й піднесла (ibid., IV), Махнути рукою на це й сказати, що цього нема, що ті, які говорять про це – вони не інтернаціоналісти й т. ин. – неправильно й небезпечно (Rakovs'kyj 1923: 105), але й приєднав їх до політичного та духовного життя країни, й, викликаючи в них в [here instead of expected y] середині відповідну класову диференціяцію між багатими та бідними, запалив в [here instead of expected y] самому селі класову боротьбу (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 72), все це йшло паралельно з розвитком капіталізму (ibid.), кожний свідомий робітник розумів її й вітав (ibid., 73), тепер, у другий період революції (Editorial 1923: IV), виходить у світ "Червоний Шлях" (ibid., V), поруч з усіма иншими назвами (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 72), Стара й нова Україна (Šums'kyj 1923: 91), робітники й селяне України (Šums'kyj 1924: 83), не можуть спокійно дивитись на грубе порушення його з боку польської иляхти й не можуть бути безучасними свідками галицької трагедії (Šums'kyj 1924: 83), dijalekty terytorijal'ni j profesijni (Pylypenko 1923: 267), stvorymo rižnoridnu naukovu literaturu j zabezpečymo profesijnu školu (ibid., 268), А надто це стосується старих більшовиків, партійних кадрів, які за цього часу туго йшли на українізацію (Šums'kyj 1929: 29). In a number of cases, however, most Ukrainophones would have preferred different forms: робітничі клуби і [instead of й] селянські будинки (ibid., V), в [instead of y] сфері економіки, політики і [instead of й] культури (ibid.), відношення в середині союзу можуть змінитись в [instead of y] той бік (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 71), Але славнозвізсним в [instead of y] цьому відношенні в історії людства лишається 19-ий вік (ibid., 72); as for the period after the Kharkiv conference, see знесилювати нас в [instead of y] боротьбі (Zatons'kyj 1929: 36), [...] щоб у нас в [instead of y] сучасних складних обставинах в [instead of y] партії було два табори (ibid.), Ви подивіться, як всі [instead of yci] ці Грушевські, Дорошкевичі, Гермайзе, Ефремови, Ніковські, Зерови й інші їм подібні [...] (Šums'kyj 1929: 29), в нас в [instead of y] величезному маштабі (Kahanovyč 1929с: 151). In the earlier texts, the name *Ukraine* was still subject to euphonic rules as well: *Ha BkpaiHi* [sic] (Skrypnyk 1923: 92), з точки погляду вкраїнської фонетики (Johansen 1923: 167), сучасного вкраїнського провопису [sic] (ibid.), в літературній (південно-вкраїнській) вимові (Johansen 1923: 168), для учня вкраїнця (ibid.).

Many earlier texts pay little or no attention to the euphony rules that apply in sibilant clusters: see *paxyватись з* [instead of *is*] національностю як з фактом (Rakovs'kyj 1923: 105), *paxyючись з* [instead of *is*] професорськими силами (Kviring 1923: 108), etc. Others do: разом зі зникненням самих класів (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 81), робоче-селянська Галичина зі своїм одвічним ворогом (Šums'kyj 1924: 83). Occasionally, euphony rules for sibilant clusters were disregarded in later texts as well: користуючись з [instead of i3] Варшави і Львова (Ljubčenko 1930: 74).

In the earlier texts, certain forms that were widely regarded as dialectal could appear: see the forms with epenthetic *n* in Myxajlo Johansen's article of 1923: *помнякшення* (Johansen 1923: 167), *помнякшеність* (ibid.), *"мнякшених"* (ibid.)²²⁰; see also *з національностю* (Rakovs'kyj 1923: 105) with preserved *o*.

In concluding, it should be noted that some earlier texts suffered from significant technical shortcomings, as was the case in the 1923 editorial of *Červonyj Šljax*. In several cases, full stops were missing, commas were printed not at the bottom but in the middle of the line, or italicized *i* was used instead of italicized *i* (Editorial 1923), etc. Some articles featured strange remnants of the Russian language, such as Russian (rather than northern Ukrainian dialectal) akan'e in разв'язання (Editorial 1923: IV), развиваються (ibid., V), в щоденній практичній работі (ibid., IV); the spelling ненавистью (ibid., V),²²¹ which is inapt in light of the Ukrainian pronunciation; the use of geminate consonants in *прогрессивним* (Skrypnyk 1923: 92) or *maccam* (Kahanovyč 1929: 41); the morphologically oriented spelling *приказчики* (ibid., 70); or the Church Slavonic spelling of the preposition in во огні громадянської війни (Ljubčenko 1930: 59), alongside в огні повстань (ibid., 61, cf. Modern Standard Ukrainian y вогні). Some later texts occasionally feature quite interesting typographical errors as well: see *neped прелюдним* [sic] радянським судом (Ljubčenko 1930: 68) alongside перед прилюдним пролетарським судом (ibid., 73; italics in the original), as a result of the Ukrainian similarity or identity of unstressed y and e; see also Чекаленка (Ljubčenko 1930) for Чикаленка in the same text. Finally, regarding Russian (rather than northern Ukrainian dialectal) akan'e, the following hypercorrect forms in the earlier texts of *Červonyj Šljax* are of interest: кординальних [sic] питань (Editorials 1923: IV), [міжнародній] копіталізм (ibid., 80), кардонами (ibid., 83), анохронізм (Šums'kyj 1923: 92), анохронізми (ibid.).²²²

5.2. Morphology

The noun *Політбюро* was sometimes inflected, as in *на Політбюрі* (Kahanovyč 1929: 44), *тези Політбюра* (Šums'kyj 1929: 28), as opposed to *Промова на Політбюро* ЦК *КП*(б)У (Kahanovyč 1929е: 109).

In one text, the noun *maŭcmep* was treated as a soft stem in the plural in *maŭcmpi* (Ljubčenko 1930: 73), if this was not a mere typographical error. The form *nodi* (Xvylja 1930: 55) was probably just misspelled; it co-occurred with *nodu* in the same text (both forms are nominative plural; ibid., 44).

551

²²⁰ It is unclear why Johansen used forms both with and without *n*, at least when he wrote in the Latin alphabet (i.e., precisely in that part of his article where interference on the part of the editors was unlikely): *mjakkist'* (ibid., 169), alongside *pomn'akšenn'a* (ibid.).

²²¹ The interpretation as an archaic spelling form seems implausible.

²²² The form доспотизм in "Східньо-мусульманський доспотизм" (Šums'kyj 1923: 93) may be a mere typographical error: see цівілізований деспотизм (ibid.) on the same page.

Soft-stem feminine nouns ending in zero, particularly those with the suffix *-icmb* or with other stems ending with *t*′ and a preceding consonant (henceforth: genitive forms of the type *-ocmu*), were used exclusively with the genitive ending *-u*, not -i, in all texts prior to 1933: до свідомої громадської творчости (Editorial 1923: III), вихід активности (ibid.), досвід громадської активности (ibid.), підйом культурної творчости (ibid., IV), з основними питаннями сучасности (ibid., V), підняття державної промисловости (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 71), більше [...] самостійности (ibid.), в розвиткові буржуазної державности (ibid., 78), найвищої єдности (ibid., 81), немає і тіни (ibid., 85), кількости (Kviring 1923: 108), від робітниче-селянської більшости (ibid., 110), до найвищого ступіня жорстокости (Šums'kyj 1923: 91), соціяльної нерівности (Šums'kyj 1924: 83), масової малоземельности (ibid., 84), принціп відносности (Želexivs'kyj 1923), якої він національности (Šums'kyj 1929: 29), etc. Serhij Pylypenko's article of 1923, which was written in the Latin script, had -osty as well: ukrajins'koji deržavnosty (Pylypenko 1923: 267). As for other soft feminine stems with the nominative ending \mathcal{O} , *-i* prevailed compared to *-u*: ∂O peui (Johansen 1923: 168); з доповіді на Харківському загальноміському партактиві (Kosior 1930: 13), along with *вироб заліза й стали* (Šums'kyj 1923: 101). In the nominative/accusative plural of soft stems, the situation was similar: [...] вважали національности взагалі "зістарілими передсудами" (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 75), про національности (ibid.), ті національні особливости (ibid., 76); реальні річі (Šums'kyj 1923: 92), доповіді (Zatons'kyj 1929: 14), на свої плечі (Šums'kyj 1924: 83), на плечі (Šums'kyj 1929: 29), alongside плечи керівників Союзу (Šums'kyj 1929: 29). In the locative (or dative) case, -i was used alongside -u even in -ocmi: в дійсности (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 70), дивлючись по кількости працюючого населення окремих республік (ibid., 70), більшості з них невідомі переговори (Ljubčenko 1930: 66).

In the locative singular ending of soft neuter nouns, the ending -[u], which was typical of Galician dialects, occurred comparatively often: в відношенню до основних природніх багатств (Šums'kyj 1924: 85), в такому її розумінню (Šums'kyj 1929: 29), на цьому програмовому домаганню (Skrypnyk 1930: 13). Generally, however, -i predominated: В якому розумінні? (Kosior 1930: 16), etc.

The dative singular ending -osi for masculine nouns, which is often regarded as typically Galician, occurred very frequently with both animate and inanimate nouns: одному комісаріятові (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 86), цьому листові (Editors 1923, n.p.), spryjaty procesovi kopuljaciji mov (Pylypenko 1923: 267), нашої запропонованої читачеві транскрипції (Johansen 1923: 168), руському робітникові (Kahanovyč 1929a: 124), через ту постійну допомогу, що її держава давала біднякові й середнякові (Kosior 1930: 14), українському націоналістичному таборові (Xvylja 1930: 55), німецькому імперіялізмові (Ljubčenko 1930: 61), закордонньому капіталові (ibid., 67), українському націоналізмові (ibid., 75), чужоземному капіталові (ibid., 73). Alongside -[u] appeared: Ми повинні тлумачити це пролетаріяту взагалі, як керовнику революції (Zatons'kyj 1929: 14), etc.

The ending -ові was also used in the locative singular: в розвиткові політичних та господарських форм життя (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 72), в розвиткові буржуазної державности (ibid., 78), в національному партикуляризмові (ibid.), в одному пункті: успіхові даного обхідного руху (ibid., 81), на союзному урядові (ibid.), па ostann'оти skladovi (Johansen 1923: 168), в розвиткові свого господарства (Kahanovyč 1929: 41).

The nominative plural of nouns with the suffix *-ан-ин* often had the ending *-е*: see селяне (Editorial 1923: IV), євреї й росіяне (Kviring 1923: 109), along with лужичани (Skrypnyk 1931: 47).

The genitive plural of feminine and neutral nouns ended in *-iв* more often than in Modern Standard Ukrainian (this was widely regarded as an expressly vernacularbased feature): визволення національностів (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 72), означення "віку національностів" (ibid., 73), окремих національностів (ibid.), порушення прав національних меншостів (ibid., 75), запалення національних пристрастів (ibid., 84), права національностів (ibid., 85), до різних галузів суспільного життя (Skrypnyk 1929: 31), alongside точних відомостей (Kviring 1923: 107), націоналістів усіх мастей (Ljubčenko 1930: 75), національних меншостей (Šums'kyj 1924: 83), максимальних можливостей (Kahanovyč 1929: 41), etc.; з циклу статтів (Xvyl'ovyj n.y.), з ваших тезів (Kahanovyč 1929b: 140);²²³ відповідних знаннів (Xvylja 1930: 38). Another expressly vernacular based-feature is the sporadic use of the genitive plural form день as in кожні 10 день (Kosior 1930: 22).

The forms кожний and кожен со-оссиrred, with кожний apparently prevailing: кожний журнал (Editorial 1923: VI), кожний з нас (Rakovs'kyj 1923: 106), кожний свідомий робітник (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 74), кожний глибокий обхідний рух (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 81), кожний освічений українець (Kviring 1923: 109), кожний комуніст (Šums'kyj 1929: 29), кожний раз (Šums'kyj 1929a: 106), alongside кожен день (Rakovs'kyj 1923: 105), kožen novyj rik (Pylypenko 1923: 268).

The long form *повинний* was occasionally used in predicative function: *пролетаріят, коли захопить владу, повинний змінити будову державного апарату* (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 82), *Але цей союз повинний бути добровільним* (ibid., 85).

The third person plural possessive pronoun appeared almost exclusively in its adjectival form as *їхній*, not as *їх* (cf. Modern Standard Russian *ux* as opposed to non-standard *ихний*): знищення влади класових ворогів, їхніх организацій і передумов їхнього панування (Editorial 1923: III), стимулювати іхній розвиток (ibid., V), їхня політична рівноправність (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 85).

The locative of the reflexive possessive pronoun, which in Modern Standard Ukrainian is *своему*, appeared in the shortened form, as in *на свому прапорі* (Skrypnyk 1930: 13); or with *o* in the ending as in *Ця весняна революцій наповідь* винесла в свойому водовороті на поверх політичного життя всі партії й групи, що зародились під льодом старого ладу (Šums'kyj 1923: 91).

The pronoun *caм* often ended in *-u*, not *-i*, in the nominative plural: Ці цифри, як бачите, сами за себе промовляють (Kosior 1930: 20).

The verbal suffix was occasionally rendered as *-ova-*, not *-uva-*: завойовань (Ljubčenko 1930: 74), завойовання (ibid., 75), згуртовання (Kosior 1930: 18).

²²³ The latter form may be the result of blending with Russian mesus, mesucos.

The suffix of gerunds was often -učy where one could have expected -ačy: Не дивлючись на те, що [...] (Kviring 1923: 108), [...] мова, що можна тільки припускати сидючи не на радянській Україні, а за кордоном (Ljubčenko 1929: 131), [...] провадять більшовики українізацію, не бажаючи її, не вірючи в неї, не люблячи її то-що (Kahanovyč 1929: 41).

The first person plural present or future ending of verbs was occasionally rendered as -*м*: *ми не плачем* (Šums'kyj 1924: 83), *балакатимем* (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 71). The imperative of the first person plural occasionally had indicative -*e*- instead of *-i*- in the ending: *візьмемо, приміром, хоч би останні виступи академика Ефремова* (Ljubčenko 1929: 130), *таке ж значіння, як, скажемо, в Німеччині або у Франції* (Kviring 1923: 109).

Adverbial comparative forms often appeared in the short form *-iш*, where the long form *-iшe* seems preferable from a modern perspective: з того, що раніш мав (Šums'kyj 1924: 84), потрібно більш українізації і більш енергії до українізації, ніж було раніш (Zatons'kyj 1929: 13), [...] вірніш, ми розрубали ці звязки й викинули їх за кордон (Šums'kyj 1929: 29), на три дні пізніш од договору (Ljubčenko 1930: 69), хіба можна сказати щось чіткіш і ясніше? (Ljubčenko 1930: 71).

Occasionally, verbal forms that were widely regarded as dialectal occurred: Кожен, хто цікавиться цією справою баче, що справу українізації розв'язує, не тільки наша партія (Zatons'kyj 1929: 35); see also хотять (ibid., 37), which was however very frequent in earlier Ukrainian texts.

Forms of the pluperfect (usually meaning 'would almost have done' or 'temporarily did,' not pluperfect in the original sense) were no rarity: *Був мент, коли працюючі маси зацікавились були цією всеукраїнською просвітою* (Šums'kyj 1923: 109), *Ви подивіться, як всі ці Грушевські, Дорошкевичі, Гермайзе, Єфремови, Ніковські, Зерови й інші їм подібні, що в 1919–20 роках обірвали були свої суспільні звязки з Україною, чи вірніш, ми розрубали ці звязки й викинули їх за кордон, що збанкротували були, – як вони тепер знову відновляють ці зірвані звязки й намагаються керувати новим радянським суспільно-культурним життям* (Šums'kyj 1929: 29), Універсал, *що в ньому проголошено незалежність України, був виданий 22/І 1918 року, коли ціла Україна палала в огні повстань, коли Київ, наполовину були захопили робітники арсенальці* (Ljubčenko 1930: 61), *Так мала була видлядати, за плянами Петлюри й українських націоналістів, "самостійна", "незалежна" Україна* (ibid., 65), *Підсудні члени СВУ*[…] *мусіли були плямувати Деникіна, Врангеля* (ibid., 67).

Imperfective future tense generally tended to be more often used according to the model *робитиму* than according to the model *буду робити* (only the latter model is paralleled in Modern Standard Russian): *Ми не балакатимем тут докладно про устрій двохпалатної системи* (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 71), *Ми, марксисти, безперестанно підкреслюватимемо величезну революційно-прогресивну ролю, що відограв капітал в розвиткові політичних та господарських форм життя* (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 72), *після* [...] *дуже довгого процесу, що тятиметься, може, не десяток, а сотню років* (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 76), *Škoduvatymemo za vytračenoju praceju. Bojatymemosja skladnoji reorganizaciji* (Pylypenko 1923: 268), *українські націоналісти*

так ретельно боронитимуть засаду [...] (Ljubčenko 1930: 71–72), ми стикаємося й ще подибуватимемо труднощі (Kosior 1930: 16), Тим то боротьба з куркулем триватиме й далі, але боротьба ця матиме інший характер (ibid., 18), etc.

In the earlier texts, present active participles occurred more frequently than in Modern Standard Ukrainian: працюючих мас (Editorial 1923: III), широких працюючих мас (ibid.), по кількости працюючого населення (Rakovs'kyj 1923а: 70), новий громадський лад з участю найширших мас працюючих (Sums'kyj 1923: 91), працюючі маси (Skrypnyk 1929: 31),²²⁴ пануюча нація (Rakovs'kyj 1923: 105), сприяючі умови для розвитку пролетарського руху (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 74), визнання повної рівноправности та випливаючого звідси права на самоозначення (ibid., 76-77), радянська форма держави, що виключає владу привилейованих експлоатуючих класів та спірається на диктатуру пролетаріяту й працюючого селянства (ibid., 77), відношення між існуючими Радянськими Соціялістичними Республіками (ibid., 78), вони є такими ж конкуруючими організаціями (ibid.), в соціялістичній державі нормуючим принціпом є не інтерес приватного експлоататора, а інтерес усієї робітничої класи (ibid.), в біжучий час (ibid., 80), домінуюче положення (Kviring 1923: 110), в жорстокій, крівавій, руйнуючій боротьбі (Šums'kyj 1923: 110), до відриву робітничої класи й партії від селянських мас і тієї підростаючої молоди, що є зараз в українських містах (Zatons'kyj 1929: 13), etc.

Adjectivized present passive participles were occasionally used as in Russian (and in Modern Standard Ukrainian): *Невиконання його Польщею не може бути далі терпимим* (Šums'kyj 1924: 83), *рямці припустимого* (Ljubčenko 1929: 131).

Forms with the shortened reflexive postfix occurred relatively often, even after -*в*- or in front of consonants: *в ній зформувалась Радянська Україна* (Editorial 1923: III), *збіраюсь* (Rakovs'kyj 1923: 88), *ставитись* (ibid., 105), *рахуватись* (ibid.), *деякі з них можуть зробитись хазяями всього союзного життя* (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 70), *відношення в середині союзу можуть змінитись в той бік* (ibid., 71), *всі партії й групи*, *що зародились під льодом старого ладу* (Šums'kyj 1923: 91), *Розсипавсь* (Šums'kyj 1923: 94), *се руtannja takož ne ščo davno znymalos'* (Pylypenko 1923: 268), *Таке умотивування необхідности українізуватись* (Šums'kyj 1929: 28), *тов. Шумський розійшовсь з партією, з партійною лінією* (Kahanovyč 1929b: 140). The shortened infinitive ending occurred as well, albeit somewhat less often: *"Червоний Шлях" мусить стать трибуною* (Editorial 1923: V), Ця весняна революцій наповідь […] дала *їм простір схрестить свої шпаги за новий громадський лад з участю найширших мас працюючих* (Šums'kyj 1923: 91), *Таке умотивування необхідности українізуватись не могло, розуміється, запалить партію* (Šums'kyj 1929: 28), *Треба це керівництво взять до рук партії* (Šums'kyj 1929: 29).

²²⁴ The frequently used adjectivized and substantivized *трудящий* only appeared with the Church Slavonic form of the (genuinely grammatical) suffix: see в інтересах трудящих мас України, трудящих мас Союзу Радянських Республік і трудящих мас всього світу (Rakovs'kyj 1923: 106), трудящих УСРР (Zatons'kyj 1929: 36), трудящих мас (Šums'kyj 1929: 28–29), Трудящі Західньої України (Ljubčenko 1930: 72). Alongside it, the form with the adjectival suffix трудовий occasionally appeared, as in українських трудових мас (ibid., IV).

The third person masculine singular personal pronoun occasionally appeared without a prothesis in oblique cases: *з завоюванням їми політичної та економичної свободи* (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 77).

The adjectival stem народн- was most often treated as soft: міжнароднього (Editorial 1923: III), міжнародніх (ibid.), міжнароднього (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 74), народнього з'язку [sic] (ibid., 87), народнього зродовля (ibid.), etc. The stem національнoccasionally appears as soft in національній мент (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 84), but this may have been a typographical error. The same occasionally applies to other stems: закордонньому капіталові (Ljubčenko 1930: 67) and околичніх сіл (Kosior 1930: 18).

In earlier publications, the form значіння prevailed: величезне значіння (Editorial 1923: III), велике значіння (ibid., IV), значіння народнього Робочо-Селянського органу (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 70), таке ж значіння (Kviring 1923: 109), значіння революційного явища (Skrypnyk 1923: 92), значіння (Zatons'kyj 1929: 13), значіння (Kahanovyč 1929c: 151), etc. In the early 1930s, значення began to prevail, as in виключні своїм значенням ґрунтовні, глибинні зрушення (Kosior 1930: 13).

The Galician form of the demonstrative pronoun *ceй* was occasionally used in the earlier texts, as in *до сього часу* (Editorial 1923: III) or in *Xiba može xtos' zaperečuvaty, ščo, nakoly dlja tak zvanyx "vyščyx" verstv suspil'stva navčatysja inonacional'nym transkrypcijam bulo zajvoju vytratoju času, tak dlja mas trudovyx se bulo b nadmirnoju roskiššu [sic] (Pylypenko 1923: 267). Generally, however, цей prevailed: ці характеристичні моменти, цей загальний підйом* (both ibid., IV), не відчувати цього (Editorial 1923: V), pered суту masamy (Pylypenko 1923: 267), etc.

Occasionally, the use of synthetic comparative forms in superlative meaning occurred (this feature is widely regarded as a Russianism): "Червоний Шлях" мусить стать трибуною для кращих творів мистецтва, публіцистики і серьозноі популяризаціі науки на украінській мові (ibid., V). Sporadically, even analytical superlative forms with самий were used: організацій, що складались з самих висококваліфікованих старих спеціялістів (Skrypnyk 1930: 27),²²⁵ although synthetic superlatives were usually used correctly: найвідповідальніші керовники (ibid., IV),²²⁶ куркуль – це найзловмисніший, найжорстокіший і непримиренний ворог бідноти, середняків (Kosior 1930: 19), від справжніх найприхованіших плянів (Ljubčenko 1930: 74).

In several cases, analytic comparative forms were used as in Russian, although synthetic forms would have been preferable from a Ukrainian perspective: *при* більш уважному вивченні намічених загальних союзних органів (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 70), підбити під себе инші, більш слабі національности (ibid., 73), це ще більш

²²⁵ In this particular case, even the otherwise attentive editors of Skrypnyk 1930 overlooked the Russian-based superlative form: *організацій, які складались із самих глибоко кваліфікованих старих фахівців* (Skrypnyk 1930a: 22). Elsewhere, the editors noticed the mistake and corrected it: об'єднуючи собою людей самих ріжних поглядів і переконань (Skrypnyk 1930a: 28) vs. об'єднуючи в собі людей найрізноманітніших поглядів та переконань (Skrypnyk 1930a: 22), під соусом самих ріжнородних і навіть самих протилежних "ідеологій" (Skrypnyk 1930a: 22), s. під приправою найрізноманітніших, ба навіть найпротилежніших "ідеологій" (Skrypnyk 1930a: 29) (see section 6.).

²²⁶ Cf. also the intriguing incorrect superlative form *Mu нині проводимо лише один з основних, щоправда,* найвирішальних [sic] заходів (Kosior 1930: 18).

правильне в добу появлення соціялістичної держави (ibid., 85), Спілка більш яскраво й повно здійснює це право в новозмінених господарчих умовах (Kviring 1923: 107).²²⁷

5.3. Vocabulary

Most authors used forms expressly distant from Russian without any hesitation: невпинно (Editorial 1923: IV; Šums'kyj 1924: 85), без упину (Šums'kyj 1924: 83), безперестанно (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 72), негайно (ibid., 73), Позаяк [було скинено владу поміщиків та капіталістів, цим самим національне питання вже здавалось остаточно розвязаним] (ibid., 75, see also 78),²²⁸ слугували [німецькому імперіялізмові] (Ljubčenko 1930: 62), [далі діло піде,] мов [по маслу] (Kosior 1930: 16), [Саме в цей період перед основною масою селянства стало] руба [на селі питання про вибір шляху] (Kosior 1930: 16), [давати рішучу одсіч правим, що] силкуються [not: стараються] за різними приключками зводити на нівець ліквідацію куркульських господарств (ibid., 20), повсякчас (ibid., 22), [наш вплив на сільське господарство тепер без міри] дужчий, [ніж раніш] (ibid.), [з очищенням насіння останньої] десятиденки (Kosior 1930: 23),²²⁹ [mux] митиів [українського слова] (Editorial 1923: VI), умовини (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 71, 75),²³⁰ на [...] гризні (ibid., 75),²³¹ одначе (ibid., 73, 75),²³² безробітчиною (ibid., 78), 233 єдиність [політичного та господарського фронту] (ibid., 81),²³⁴ задля [того, щоб] (ibid.),²³⁵ завдовольняє (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 87),²³⁶ тільки-йно (Kviring 1923: 108),²³⁷ Адже [ж наше вкраїнське "l" як найближче підходить вимовою своєю до європейського середнього "l"] (Johansen 1923: 168), двохзначним [шляхом] (Skrypnyk 1923: 94), Poprykatymut' (ibid.),²³⁸ труднацію (Johansen 1923: 168),²³⁹ силоміць [... українізувати] (Zatons'kyj 1929: 14),²⁴⁰ горлопанити (Šums'kyj 1929а: 106),²⁴¹ [Але й перед цією німецькою креатурою українські соціяль-угодівці плазували] навколюшках (Ljubčenko 1930: 62),²⁴² сумліватись (Ljubčenko 1930: 72),²⁴³ [*i про*] віщо [Ільїч лише мріяв] (Kosior 1930: 15),²⁴⁴ нехтує [справу проведення українізації]

- 228 SUM "застар.," "жарт."
- 229 SUM "розм."
- 230 SUM "застар."
- 231 SUM "розмовн."
- 232 SUM "розмовн."
- 233 No entry in SUM.
- 234 SUM "рідко."
- 235 SUM classifies задля as "розмовн."
- 236 No entry in SUM.
- 237 SUM has *iнo/йно* "діал."
- 238 SUM has no entry for either поприкати ог прикати.
- 239 SUM qualifies this form as "розм."
- 240 SUM qualifies this form as "розм."
- 241 SUM qualifies this form as "розм."
- 242 SUM (s.v. навколішках) qualifies this parallel form as "розм."
- 243 SUM has no entry for this form.
- 244 SUM records singo without any stylistic remarks, but other dictionaries classify it as "posm."

557

²²⁷ See also застають Радянський Союз попередженим і ще більш підготовленим (Skrypnyk 1930: 29) vs. застають Радянський Союз попередженим і підготовленішим (Skrypnyk 1930a: 23) (see section 6.).

(Xvylja 1930: 38), в Япанії (Rakovs'kyj 1923а: 73),²⁴⁵ Япанія (Ljubčenko 1930: 75), alongside v [...] Japoniji (Pylypenko 1923: 268), [ми підносимося на] чимраз [більшу височінь] (Kosior 1930: 24). The word перезнаки seems to be typical of Mykola Skrypnyk.²⁴⁶ Early texts of the Ukrainization period frequently featured the form мент: в даний мент (Rakovs'kyj 1923а: 71), основний мент розвитку капіталістичного громадянства (ibid., 78), національній [sic] мент (ibid., 84, 88), Був мент, коли працюючі маси зацікавились були цією всеукраїнською просвітою (Šums'kyj 1923: 109); in other texts, момент prevailed: національний момент (Editorial 1923: IV), момент (Rakovs'kyj 1923: 106), моменти (Rakovs'kyj 1923а: 81). The loan почт- did not yet appear as пошт-: почтово-телеграфні (Rakovs'kyj 1923а: 74, see also 78), почт (genitive plural; ibid., 86).²⁴⁷

Many of the forms had more or less close parallels in Polish; some of them were in fact loans from Polish, and many were probably, albeit not in all cases correctly, regarded as Galician elements, e.g.: [в культурних] стосунках (Editorial 1923: IV),²⁴⁸ завше (Rakovs'kyj 1923: 106),²⁴⁹ nazavše (Pylypenko 1923: 268), Тим то [боротьба з куркулем] триватиме [й далі, але боротьба ця матиме інший характер] (Kosior 1930: 18),²⁵⁰ повстанча [боротьба] (Rakovs'kyj 1923: 73),²⁵¹ поміж [містом i селом] (Editorial 1923: IV), поміж ними (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 69),²⁵² [... що я вважав би, як старий російський і український революціонер, за потрібне,] аби [кожний з нас в своїй пам'ятній книжці зазначив для своєї щоденної роботи ...] (Rakovs'kyj 1923: 106), 253 ухвалені [на першому союзному з'їзді підвалини радянського союзного будівництва, ще підпадуть низці змін для того,] аби [вони краще відповідали вимогам робітничо-селянської держави] (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 71), розгорнути [українську культуру] (Kviring 1923: 107), розгорне [свою роботу] (Kahanovyč 1929a: 123),²⁵⁴ [Znov] vertajučy [do dylemy...] (Pylypenko 1923: 268),²⁵⁵ квадратових [not: квардратних] верстов (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 86),²⁵⁶ позавтра [not: післязавтра] (Kosior 1930: 17),²⁵⁷ [Робітнича класа України, в тому числі і російська її частина,] аби [керувати цим економічним неминучим процесом, повинна зрозуміти свої історичні

- 250 Cf. Modern Standard Ukrainian *тим-то*.
- 251 No entry in SUM. See Polish powstańczy.
- 252 See Polish pomiędzy.
- 253 See Polish aby.
- 254 See Polish rozgarnąć.
- 255 No reflexive postfix or reflexive particle is used, as in Polish wracać.
- 256 See Polish kwadratowy.
- 257 See Polish po-jutrze.

²⁴⁵ No entry in SUM.

²⁴⁶ SUM has no entry for the word. Skrypnyk published a work titled "Перезнаки творчого терену" (Kharkiv, 1930).

²⁴⁷ The word цікавність with -n- as in *He без цікавности буде зазначити* [...] (Skrypnyk 1930: 14) may be a typographical error—it is not recorded in the best-known dictionaries of Ukrainian (or, as *ciekawność*, in Polish).

²⁴⁸ See Polish stosunki.

²⁴⁹ The form is a Polonism marked by the reflex of the third palatalization of velars, as opposed to genuinely Ukrainian *sasce*. Cf. *sasκ∂u* (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 73) and elsewhere.

завдання і оволодіти українською мовою] (Skrypnyk 1929: 31), адміністраційної (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 82), адміністраційними (Kosior 1930: 19), провадить (Šums'kyj 1924: 83), провадять (Kahanovyč 1929: 42),²⁵⁸ "варштат" праці (Šums'kyj 1924: 84),²⁵⁹ [Галичина ... стала] тереном [для переселення без-і-малоземельного селянства з Польщі] (Šums'kyj 1924: 84),²⁶⁰ [школи будемо продовжувати українізовувати, як і досі.] Теж [пресу і т. інш.] (Zatons'kyj 1929: 13),²⁶¹ [серед російських робітників] теж (Šums'kyj 1929a: 107), чинність (Ljubčenko 1930: 72),²⁶² братерським [співробітництвом] (Ljubčenko 1930: 75),²⁶³ смертельний, [непримиренний наш ворог] (ibid., 17),²⁶⁴ [ЦК партії ухвалив] постанову (ibid., 18),²⁶⁵ [А] тимчасом [у нас вже були окремі факти] (Kosior 1930: 19),²⁶⁶ поліпшення (Šums'kyj 1924: 84),²⁶⁷ [навряд чи є] рація [дебатувати з цим ухильником в інших питаннях] (Skrypnyk 1931: 6),²⁶⁸ [переговори і] коншахти (Skrypnyk 1930: 17),²⁶⁹ що [далі] то [ширший стає розмах її зрадництва, підлішою стає її робота] (Ljubčenko 1930: 68).²⁷⁰

Some other forms that were later regarded as typical Galician dialectal elements also occurred: український нарід (Skrypnyk 1930: 11, Ljubčenko 1930: 73), еврейський нарід (Skrypnyk 1931: 43), здоровля (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 87), улекшують (ibid., 82),²⁷¹ полекшуємо (Johansen 1923: 168), потрібував (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 74).²⁷² Other local forms were used as well: вузькі рямці національно-буржуазної революції (Šums'kyj 1923: 91), рямці припустимого (Ljubčenko 1929: 131),²⁷³ alongside в рямках радянської системи (Kahanovyč 1929: 41).²⁷⁴

In the early publications, the Galician form of the root *piжн-²⁷⁵* prevailed over *piзн-*: see відріжняється (Editorial 1923: III), станові ріжниці (Rakovs'kyj 1923а: 72), ріжноманітніші (Rakovs'kyj 1923а: 74), ріжні міжнародні торговельні договори

260 See Polish teren. Skrypnyk was known for using mepeh particularly often.

- 262 See Polish czynność.
- 263 See Polish braterski.

- 265 See Polish *postanowienie*, with a different suffix, and Russian *nocmanosaenue*, which is likely to be a loan from Polish.
- 266 See Polish tymczasem.
- 267 See Polish polepszenie.
- 268 See Polish racja.

- 270 See Polish *co* [...], *to* [...], as opposed to Russian чим [...], *тим* [...].
- 271 SUM has no entry for *лекш* or *улекшити*.
- 272 SUM "діал."
- 273 SUM "заст."
- 274 SUM "діал."
- 275 See Polish różny.

²⁵⁸ See Polish prowadzić/prowadzać.

²⁵⁹ The form is in fact a Polonism, marked primarily by *-ar- < -er-*, most likely also by *š* from original German *s* (which is now also *š* in this position). Modern Ukrainian has *bepcmam* without a genuinely Polish reflex.

²⁶¹ See Polish też.

²⁶⁴ Russian also has смертельный, but it is a Polish loan. Polish śmiertelny, in turn, is in fact phonologically marked as a loan from Czech (in genuine Polish, it should be śmiercielny).

²⁶⁹ The word, which is common in Polish (konszachty, a loan from German), is not recorded in SUM.

(ibid.), ріжного роду (ibid.), ріжних елементів (ibid., 86), ріжні статути (ibid., 88), ріжницю (Kviring 1923: 107), rižnyx narodiv (Pylypenko 1923: 267), rižnoridnu naukovu literaturu (ibid., 268), ріжниці (Johansen 1923: 167), з тією тільки ріжницею (Ljubčenko 1930: 59), збереження національних ріжниць (Skrypnyk 1931: 39). At the turn of the 1930s, різн- became more frequent: до різних галузів суспільного життя (Skrypnyk 1929: 31), різні збочення (Skrypnyk 1931: 43), etc.

Тhe noun *роля* appeared exclusively in this form (not as *ponb*):²⁷⁶ *sidozpaлo* величезну ролю (Rakovs'kyj 1923: 105), *zpamu ролю* (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 70), *nidкреслюватимемо величезну революційно-прогресивну ролю* (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 72), *ролю* (Ljubčenko 1930: 66), *не абияку ролю* (Kosior 1930: 16). The noun *кляса*/²⁷⁷ *класа* was usually used in the feminine form: *poбimнича класа* (ibid., 105), *проти своеї власної робітничої класи* (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 73), *iнтерес ycieї робітничої класи* (ibid., 78), *poбітничої класи* (Zatons'kyj 1929: 13), *poбітничої класи* (Skrypnyk 1929: 31), *ceped робітничої класи* (Šums'kyj 1929a: 107). However, the masculine form *клас* coexisted with the feminine one even within one and the same text: *Лише радянська форма держави, що виключає владу привилейованих експлоатуючих класів* (ibid., 77), *разом зі зникненням самих класів* (ibid., 81). The noun *програми* often occurred in the masculine form: *в свойому програмі* (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 74), *в партійному програмі* (ibid.), *B першому програмі* (ibid.), *13-й п. партійного програму* (ibid., 74–75), *комуністичний програм* (ibid., 81).²⁷⁸

Forms of the type *mesa* and *mesuc* coexisted,²⁷⁹ but *mesa/криза* prevailed: *в наших mesucax* 1919 року (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 77), промисловими кризами (ibid., 78),²⁸⁰ нові тези (Skrypnyk 1929: 31), цілі тези (Ljubčenko 1930: 71), теза Кавтського (Skrypnyk 1931: 47). The nouns аналіза (nominative singular; ibid., 33) and [*наша*] прогноза (ibid., 39) were used as feminine nouns, as was заля (Skrypnyk 1930: 3; Skrypnyk 1930a: 13).²⁸¹

The noun фактор was used along with чинник: фактор сучасного міжнароднього життя (Editorial 1923: III), Нарешті, сама українська мова являється величезним чинником в процесі творчости нового життя (Editorial 1923: VI);²⁸² індустрія was used along with (prevailing) промисловість: оживає індустрія (Editorial 1923: III), нашої соціялістичної індустрії (Kosior 1930: 13); розвивалась промисловість та торговля (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 74), промисловість (Šums'kyj 1924: 85), see also the adjective in промисловими кризами (ibid., 78).

Relatively often, the texts feature forms with suffixes that added a colloquial note: [Він,] очевидячки, [мав на увазі чехів та німців і обов'язкову германізацію чехів] (Skrypnyk 1931: 47), [Та й] слабенька [ж, нарешті, русифікація. Адже не дуже багато

²⁷⁶ See Polish rola.

²⁷⁷ See Polish klasa as opposed to Russian клас.

²⁷⁸ See Polish program as opposed to Russian программа.

²⁷⁹ See Polish teza, kryza as opposed to Russian mesuc, кризис.

²⁸⁰ Cf. *6espo6imms* (Šums'kyj 1924: 85) and elsewhere.

²⁸¹ See Polish analiza, prognoza, sala, as opposed to Russian анализ, прогноз, зал.

²⁸² See Polish *czynnik*, Russian φaκmop.

людей займається медиціною] (Kviring 1923: 112; see also Ljubčenko 1930: 74, etc.),²⁸³ [Особисті стосунки авторів в українських радянських літературних колах] нікогисько [аж ніяк не обходять] (Editors 1923: n.p.), нічогісінько [з того не вийде] (ibid.), [pyx] широченних [мас] (Ljubčenko 1930: 63), [перед судом та] широчезними [масами] (ibid., 73–74).²⁸⁴

Like Soviet Russian, Soviet Ukrainian was characterized by a plethora of abbreviations. In most cases, the Ukrainian forms were loan translations from Russian (Ševel'ov1989:107): робфаки, комнезами, комсомол, компартію, профспілках (all ibid., V), губвиконкомам (dative plural, Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 87), Наркомпочтелем (instrumental singular, ibid.), Зовнішторг (ibid., 87), Наркомат [Чужоземних справ] (ibid., 87), перед ЦВК'ами та Раднаркомами (ibid.), [національний склад шкіл] Соцвиху (Kviring 1923: 107), [склад шкіл] профосвіти (ibid., 109), на [...] партактиві (Kosior 1930: 13), колгоспів (ibid., 15), радгоспів (ibid.), непман (ibid., 17), ЦК (ibid., 18), [збільшити] засівплощу (ibid., 22; alongside non-abbreviated засівну площу, ibid.), споживкооперація (ibid., 22), BYAH (Skrypnyk 1931: 41), мовне оформлення YPE (ibid., 42), $YIM\Lambda$ (Skrypnyk 1931: 43), etc.

The morphological treatment of some abbreviations varied in various sources or even within the same texts. A good example is *Hen/Hena* (< Нова економічна політика < Russian *Hэn 'Новая экономическая политика'*): [в нетрах] *Hen'y* (Zatons'kyj 1929: 19), [Згадайте, що] *HEП* [ми запроваджували не для непмана та куркуля] (Kosior 1930: 17), [ми ніби касуемо] *HEПy* (Kosior 1930: 13), [як відповідає це політиці] *HEПu* (ibid.), [що таке] *HEПa* (ibid., 14). New compound nouns formed according to the model of Russian were, e.g., радіостанція, радіозавісу, радіослухачам (Skrypnyk 1930: 4; Skrypnyk 1930a: 11).

Lexical Russianisms occurred quite frequently: *підйом* (Editorial 1923: IV, VI), [дати ім відповідну] орієнтовку (ibid., VI),²⁸⁵ трактовка (Šums'kyj 1929: 28–29), [Передусім, Україна, як і Росія,] доказали, [що історично пролетаріят визрів] (Rakovs'kyj 1923: 89), безпереривна [повстанча боротьба] (ibid., 73), [ріжного] роду [міжнародні конвенції] (ibid., 74), в постановці [справи транспорту та справи народнього з'язку [sic]] (ibid., 87), [така] постановца [питання] (Kahanovyč 1929: 41), [пройшли націоналістичну] виучку (Skrypnyk 1930: 25, as in Skrypnyk 1930a: 21), [такого] роду [розвязання питань] (Rakovs'kyj 1923: 87), [Tym ми маємо свого] роду [взаємочинність] (Kosior 1930: 24), погромщика [отамана Струка] (Rakovs'kyj 1923: 77), [в добу] появлення [соціялістичної держави] (ibid., 85), добавляти (Šums'kyj 1924: 83), суголосних (Johansen 1923: 167, a loan translation of Russian согласный, which is itself a loan from late Church Slavonic, alongside приголосною, ibid.),²⁸⁶ [до] курлацького [коріння] (Zatons'kyj 1929: 17, alongside [Перший корінь – це] куркуль,

561

²⁸³ SUM records $a\partial xe$ without any stylistic comments. It is very often used in many texts of the Ukrainization period.

²⁸⁴ SUM qualifies this form and its parallel form широчезний as "розм."

²⁸⁵ SUM records the even "more Russian" *ορiεμmuροsκa*, although the suffix *-up-* is commonly regarded as one of the most striking Russifying elements.

²⁸⁶ Sic. Johansen uses голосна and приголосна in the feminine, not masculine, form.

[який трохи підживився на селі й хоче вже провести свою українізацію, цеб-то не просто Україну, але Україну] куркульську (ibid., 16), [махав] кулаками (Xvylja 1929: 129; i.e., even with кулак 'fist' in the literal meaning), [дійсна причина] ухода [тов. Шумського 3 України] (Kahanovyč 1929b: 140), [власний] уход [із Директорії] (Ljubčenko 1930: 64),²⁸⁷ [Кожні 10 день ми дістаємо з місць] зводки, [як готуються до весняної кампанії] (Kosior 1930: 22), [Ми тут] ловили [instead of піймали] [недозволено тав] (ibid., 23), заводчиків (Ljubčenko 1930: 69), [в цілому] ряді [околичніх сіл] (Kosior 1930: 18),²⁸⁸ [два роки] тому назад (Ljubčenko 1929: 131), [українізація провадиться нами] в силу [якоїсь-то важкої необхідности] (Kahanovyč 1929: 41), [інакше за рік будем в] куди гіршому стані] (Kosior 1930: 23, see Russian куда in this function), [документ цей] являє інтерес (Ljubčenko 1930: 63), одним словом (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 74; Ljubčenko 1929: 131), відповідно цьому (Editorial 1923: V, from Russian соответственно with dative), along with відповідно з чим (Ljubčenko 1930: 59–60), згідно з основними підвалинами пролетарської держави (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 69).

The noun *хазя*їн was often used (and always spelled with *a* in the root): деякі з них можуть зробитись хазяями всього союзного життя (ibid., 70), він робився хазяїном (ibid., 74), хазяїв (Ljubčenko 1930: 59). Adjectivized бувший frequently occurred in the earlier texts: [відріжняється від усіх до сього часу] бувших [революцій] (Editorial 1923: III), бувшого [Військового Міністра Директорії] (Rakovs'kyj 1923а: 77), [з наданням] бувшим [пригніченим массам [sic] максимальних можливостей] (Kahanovyč 1929: 41). Only in the later documents did колишній begin to predominate: колишні [члени] (Ljubčenko 1930: 59), [території] колишньої [Росії] (Ljubčenko 1930: 63).

The compound adjective робочо-селянський/робоче-селянський, as in Робочо-Селянського [органу] (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 70), робоче-селянська [Галичина] (Šums'kyj 1924: 83) is a loan translation from Russian рабоче-крестьянский, which is quite inapt regarding its first constituent. The form co-occurred with the better-formed робітниче-селянською [державою] (Editorial 1923: V), [вони краще відповідали вимогам] робітничо-селянської [держави] (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 71).²⁸⁹

The Ukrainian loan from English *farm* appears as *фарма* as in [колгоспних, *радгоспних*] *фарм* (Kosior 1930: 23), see Russian *ферма*. Skrypnyk 1930, which is full of errors and Russian elements, has [*державне забезпечення великої*,] *фермерського* [*muny*] (Skrypnyk 1930: 13); the revised version has *фармерського* instead (Skrypnyk 1930a: 18).²⁹⁰

Occasionally, some rather puzzling Russianisms occurred, particularly in the earlier texts: [В цих умовах виходить у світ "Червоний Шлях", ними] опреділюється [його напрямок і його завдання, як витвору цього нового радянського суспільства] (Editorial 1923: V).

²⁸⁷ Cf. *noxid* with i < o in the same text (Ljubčenko 1930: 70).

²⁸⁸ Elsewhere, *низка* is used very frequently.

²⁸⁹ As is well known, the Church Slavonic form нужда—as used in матеріяльна нужда (Šums'kyj 1924: 84)—was and is widespread in Ukrainian dialects; it is not a Russianism.

²⁹⁰ SUM records only *фермa* and its derivatives.

5.4. Syntax

The present copula ϵ was used considerably more often than the zero copula, as in Спілка Республік є тільки більш досконала форма використання права нації на самовизначення в умовах пролетарської диктатури (Kviring 1923: 107), українізація середньої та вищої школи є неодмінно довготривалий, поступовий процес (ibid., 109), та наша політика українізації є дійсна політика інтернаціоналізму (Kahanovyč 1929: 42), Він є смертельний, непримиренний наш ворог (Kosior 1930: 17), злиття націй є перпектива не соціялістичного, а комуністичного суспільства (Skrypnyk 1931: 24). Very often, the predicative noun phrase appeared in the instrumental case:²⁹¹ цілий світ є свідком того, з якою величезною увагою працюють над практичним розв'язанням цієї справи (Editorial 1923: IV), за наших часів ми є свідками боротьби ірланців за повне відділення від Англії (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 73), Вони є такими ж конкуруючими організаціями (ibid., 78), Ризький договір є обопільним обов'язком (Šums'kyj 1924: 83), I xiba, zreštoju, ne latyns' kyj al' favit-z pevnymy vidminamy na razi toho čy ynšoho prystosuvannja–je najkraščym sposobom unifikuvaty jak najskorše i jak najzručniše pys'mo rižnyx narodiv? (Pylypenko 1923: 267), Там керівники держави й партії є в той же час керівниками російської радянської суспільности й культури (Šums'kyj 1929: 29), Це керовництво є нашим обов'язком, обов'язком керівників України і його не перекладеш на плечі союзу (ibid.), etc.

In sentences with the zero copula, the demonstrative pronoun це was frequently inserted before the predicative noun phrase:²⁹² Перший корінь – це куркуль, який трохи підживився на селі й хоче вже провести свою українізацію, цеб-то не просто Україну, але Україну куркульську (ibid., 16), куркуль – це найзловмисніший, найжорстокіший і непримиренний ворог бідноти, середняків (Kosior 1930: 19), куркуль це не просто зразковий господар на селі – це хижак, що ніякого відношення до основної маси села не має (Kosior 1930: 20). If це was inserted, ϵ was used more rarely: це є протилежне нашій політиці розвитку національної формою, пролетарської змістом культури всіх народів (Skrypnyk 1931: 45), Українізація це є більш-менш діяльність партії та радянської влади, що нею керується, щоби до цього часу, до Жовтневої революції пригнічений і поневолений український народ, працюючі маси організувати в робітничо-селянську державність і цим самим виводити з минулого стану пригнічення і розвивати культуру, підносити її і рухатися далі шляхом соціялістичного будівництва (Skrypnyk 1929: 31).

Otherwise, the zero copula with the nominative predicate—which is the basic syntactic model in Russian and contemporary Ukrainian—was used surprisingly rarely, as in *Вища школа іще, головним чином, школа російська* (Kviring 1923: 108). The following sentence has two parallel clauses that once use the zero copula and the nominative predicate, then the present copula ϵ and the instrumental predicate: *За переписом 1926 року на Україні було 1.300.000 людей, що визначали себе громадянами України, що їх національність українська* [,] *але визнавали, що їх рідною мовою* ϵ *мова російська* (Skrypnyk 1931: 44).

563

²⁹¹ This syntactic model corresponds to the basic Polish model.

²⁹² This syntactic model has equivalents in both Polish and Russian.

Elsewhere, the verb являтися occasionally adopted the function of a copula, as in Russian: Нарешті, сама українська мова являється величезним чинником в процесі творчости нового життя (Editorial 1923: VI), Із 42 інститутів – тільки 8 являються українськими [...] (Kviring 1923: 108).

Possessive adjectives, which had already become uncommon in Modern Standard Russian, were used without hesitation: *договір Петлюрин* (Ljubčenko 1930: 67).

In the following example, the first predicative comparative form of the adjective (більше) is incorrect from the Ukrainian perspective, as it is not congruent with the subject in accordance with the syntactic rules of Russian: Чим держава більше, чим численніше її населення, чим ріжноманітніші її багатства, тим швидче розвивалась промисловість та торговля, зростали продукційні сили, збільшувався прибуток капіталу (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 74).

Prepositional phrases with no and the dative case occurred quite often (the construction is regarded as a Russianism). In some cases, the locative was used instead of the dative case,²⁹³ which did not, however, alter the fact that the use of *no* followedtheRussianmodel: скерували розвиток українського народу по революційному шляху (Editorial 1923: III), підйом по всьому господарчому і культурному фронту (ibid., IV), Україна із глухої провінції царської Росії стала робітниче-селянською державою, другою по розмірах і впливу²⁹⁴ складовою частиною сучасного радянського Союзу і значним фактором міжнароднього життя (ibid., V), дивлючись по кількости працюючого населення окремих республік (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 70), по населенню вона має стільки ж, скільки всі инші германські держави (ibid., 71), Влітку 1913 р. [...] було прйнято [sic] резолюцію по національному питанню (ibid., 74), [...] розвивається по загальному державному плану (ibid., 78), які по праву будуть членами колегій (ibid., 88), роботу по українізації (Kviring 1923: 109), по соціяльному складу (ibid., 110). The construction was sometimes avoided in the earlier publications, as in $\lambda e \kappa u \ddot{u}$ 3 медиціни й ветеринарії (Kviring 1923: 112), and it was increasingly avoided in later publications: Ми зараз проводимо диференційований курс, диференцюємо завдання що до українізації (Skrypnyk 1929: 31), Так мала була видлядати, за плянами Петлюри й українських націоналістів, "самостійна", "незалежна" Україна (Ljubčenko 1930: 65). Even so, quite a few examples still occurred even during the period of "functional Ukrainization": Тепер що до робітничої маси – до тієї робітничої маси, що або російська була по свойому походженню [...] (Zatons'kyj 1929: 14), розходження по мові (ibid.), Треба це керівництво взять до рук партії, а для цього треба, щоб партія стала українською по мові й культурі (Šums'kyj 1929: 29), єднання по лінії виробництва (Kosior 1930: 15), наступ на куркуля по всьому фронту (Kosior 1930: 17).

Constructions with the participle in *-но, -то* governing the accusative case were frequent: Влітку 1913 р. [...] було прйнято [sic] резолюцію по національному питанню (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 74), Позаяк було скинено владу поміщиків та капіталістів, цим самим національне питання вже здавалось остаточно розвязаним

294 Sic. The first noun is locative case, the second dative case.

²⁹³ In other cases, the dative and the locative cannot be distinguished owing to case syncretism.

(ibid., 75), Апарат партії мусить бути українізовано (Zatons'kyj 1929: 13), Нас інформовано відповідними органами, що її написано 1926 року (Ljubčenko 1929: 131), в районах суцільної колективізації, тобто в таких, де колективізовано не менше, як половину селянських господарств (Kosior 1930: 18), у книжки відомого Ваґаняна, книжки, що визнано її тепер за явно націоналістичну, великодержавницьку, хоч її й написано комуністичною мовою (ibid., 20), etc. In some publications, (inherently neutral) forms with -ся governed the accusative case as well: викладалося переговори українського уряру з козаками (Ljubčenko 1930: 61), Україну розпродувалось частинами (ibid., 67), Алей цим не обмежується боротьбу української контрреволюції за "незалежність" України (ibid., 68), Коли доповідь друкувалося, одержано відомості про стан колективізації на 1 лютого (Kosior 1930: 20), Цікаво поглянути, як українізується службовців Артемівської округи (Xvylja 1930: 39).²⁹⁵

Predicative за with the accusative case was used frequently: [...] що я вважав би, як старий російський і український революціонер, за потрібне (Rakovs'kyj 1923: 106), Транскрипція Пилипенкова на своє місце ставить знака "х" і для ш, ч, ж бере чеські знаки š, č, ž як і годиться, за знак помнякшення уживає апострофа (Johansen 1923: 167), хто пропонує примусову українізацію, той був би ідіотом, а себе я за такого не вважаю (Šums'kyj 1929a), A, взагалі, українізацію пролетаріяту ми вважаємо за процес досить довгий (Zatons'kyj 1929: 14), соціяль-демократів і соціяль-федералістів, партій, які були за організаторів і керівників (Ljubčenko 1930: 59), таку роботу не можна було визнати за невірну, хибну й шкідливу (Skrypnyk 1931: 44), A 200.000 громадян російської національности за свою рідну мову визнали українську (ibid., 44), у книжки відомого Ваґаняна, книжки, що визнано її тепер за явно націоналістичну, великодержавницьку, хоч її й написано комуністичною мовою (ibid., 20).²⁹⁶

Thematic за appeared in коли вони говорять за українізацію (Kahanovyč 1929: 41–42), ми говоримо не лише за Москву, ми говоримо також за неокласиків (ibid., 53).²⁹⁷

Also, temporal за with the accusative or genitive was broadly used: за наших часів ми є свідками боротьби ірланців за повне відділення від Англії (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 73), Ми можемо сказати, що за роки Радянської влади в ділянці закріплення й розвитку української культури зроблено дуже багато (Kviring 1923: 107), А надто це стосується старих більшовиків, партійних кадрів, які за цього часу туго йшли на українізацію (Šums'kyj 1929: 29), Тов. Шумський не хотів бачити тих найсерйозніших досягнень, яких ми досягли за останні роки в справі українізації (Kahanovyč 1929c: 156), see also Яка ж може бути, за таких завдань, – а тільки такі завдання і стоять перед українськими націоналістами, – інша програма? (Ljubčenko 1930: 75), те, чого ще не було у нас за Ільїча (Kosior 1930: 15), за наших обставин (Kosior 1930: 17), тільки за умови явних шансів (Ljubčenko 1930: 70) (cf. Russian под условием), Саме лише у поєднанні з найширшою організацією бідноти та наймитства, за згуртовання бідняцько-середняцьких мас на основі колективізації,

²⁹⁵ Both constructions are also typical of Polish; the latter (with -*cπ*) is not usually accepted in Modern Standard Ukrainian.

²⁹⁶ Predicative *za* is widely used in Polish as well; it is much less common in Russian (where it is most likely a loan from Polish, Ukrainian, and Belarusian; see Moser 1998).

²⁹⁷ The construction is not common in Modern Standard Polish or Modern Standard Russian.

nompiбнi адміністраційні заходи можуть дати успішне розв'язання поставлених від napmiї завдань про соціялістичну перебудову села та ліквідаціїї куркульства (ibid., 18), Зближення й злиття націй за доби соціялізму (Skrypnyk 1931: n.p. [book title]). The compound prepositions за часу/за часів and за час/за часи со-оссиrred: за часу Першого Інтернаціоналу (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 75), за часу 8-го Партійного З'їзду (ibid., 76), за час буяння австро-пруської війни (ibid., 75), за час та після імеріялістичної війни (ibid., 78), за часів найбільшого лементу (Ljubčenko 1930: 63).²⁹⁸

Temporal adverbials were also often expressed in the instrumental or genitive case where Russian uses other constructions: *Ми останнім роком ці зразки утворили у вигляді колгоспів, машиновотракторних станцій, радгоспів, під які ми підвели вже міцну технічну базу* (Kosior 1930: 15), останнього часу ми, безперечно, маємо, [commas sic] серйозне зрушення (ibid., 20).

Comparative forms of the adjective were often used in connection with *за*, see also більше за це (Ljubčenko 1930: 69), *її легше за все розуміли* (ibid., 71); with *від*, наше громадське господарство багато краще й вище від крукульського [sic] господарства (Kosior 1930: 16),²⁹⁹ or with як: На цей час вже було колективізовано понад 2 200.000 селянських господарств, що охоплюють більш як 14.500.000 га землі (Kosior 1930: 20). None of these forms was typical of Modern Standard Russian.

Most texts had a strong tendency to use predominantly relative clauses with u.o. This type of relative clause is regarded as the one that is most widespread in the vernacular; it is not typical of either Modern Standard Polish or Modern Standard Russian (though parallel constructions are widespread in dialects). See the following examples: Революція [...] створила численні кола тих, що прагнуть широкого онайомлення з основними питаннями сучасности (Editorial 1923: VI), Кінець 1922 року відзначився в історії Радянських Республік переглядом відносин, що існували до того часу поміж ними (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 69), Ми, марксисти, безперестанно підкреслюватимемо величезну революційно-прогресивну ролю, що відограв капітал в розвиткові політичних та господарських форм життя (ibid., 72), до відриву робітничої класи й партії від селянських мас і тієї підростаючої молоди, що є зараз в українських містах (Zatons'kyj 1929: 13), дерусифікувати той пролетаріят, що звик до російської культури (ibid., 14), Ви подивіться, як всі ці Грушевські, Дорошкевичі, Гермайзе, Єфремови, Ніковські, Зерови й інші їм подібні, що в 1919–20 роках обірвали були свої суспільні звязки з Україною, чи вірніш, ми розрубали ці звязки й викинули їх за кордон, що збанкротували були, – як вони тепер знову відновляють ці зірвані звязки й намагаються керувати новим радянським суспільно-культурним життям (Šums'kyj 1929: 29), у вас немає тих попередніх помилок, що ви їх робили (Kahanovyč 1929: 53), Цю єдність фронту, що її були продиктували клясові інтереси руської і української контрреволюції (Ljubčenko 1930: 60), Універсал, що в ньому проголошено незалежність України (Ljubčenko 1930: 61), через ту постійну допомогу, що її держава давала біднякові й середнякові (Kosior 1930: 14).

²⁹⁸ All temporal constructions with za are paralleled by Polish.

²⁹⁹ This construction is typical of Modern Standard Polish.

567

In both earlier and later texts, relative clauses with який and котрий are encountered as well, but the former is used much less frequently than in the contemporary language: відчит про ту роботу, якою я керував з доручення партії протягом мало не п'ятьох років (Rakovs'kyj 1923: 88), Ми останнім роком ці зразки утворили у вигляді колгоспів, машиновотракторних станцій, радгоспів, під які ми підвели вже міцну технічну базу (Kosior 1930: 15), До будування "Червоного Шляху" закликає редакція тих митців українського слова, публіцистів, громадських діячів і популяризаторів науки, тих читачів, котрі хочуть і здатні йти по червоному шляху радянського культурного будівництва (Editorial 1923: VI), Галичина таким чином стала тереном для переселення без-і-малоземельного селянства з Польщі, котре своєю масою було грізне для поміщицького стану посідання в центральній Польщі (Šums'kyj 1924: 84).

Some authors used the conjunction *яко*, which is now regarded as archaic,³⁰⁰ e.g.: *Революція не скасувала ані мови, ані побутові, господарські та инші риси, ані націю, яко продукт певного історичного розвитку* (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 76), *він бо до краю викриває українських есдеків, есерів і есефів, яко спільників білих генералів, оборонців того буржуазного ладу, що гинув* (Ljubčenko 1930: 61). In other cases, *як* and *яко* are not distinguished even in those texts that occasionally do so (cf. here the examples from Ljubčenko 1930): *зформувалась Радянська Україна, як самостійна складова частина Радянського Союзу, і як фактор сучасного міжнароднього життя* (Editorial 1923: III), *я вважав би, як старий російський і український революціонер, за потрібне, аби кожний з нас в своїй пам'ятній книжці зазначив для своєї щоденної роботи* [...] (Rakovs'kyj 1923: 106), [...] *виключити із складу Директорії Винниченка, як непримиреного* (Ljubčenko 1930: 65). At the turn of the 1930s, the use of *яко* increasingly faded away: *Нам, як партії, треба знищувати такі явища* (Zatons'kyj 1929: 36), *Про масову колективізацію, ліквідацію куркуля як кляси і чергові завдання партії* (Kosior 1930).

The genitive case of negation tends to be used considerably more frequently than in contemporary Modern Standard Ukrainian, e.g.: І лише засліпений класовою ненавистью [sic] ворог може не бачити и [sic] не відчувати цього (Editorial 1923: V), Російський робітник не відчував національного гніту (Rakovs'kyj 1923: 105), рахуватись з національностю як з фактом, який підлягає аналізу, але якого, як факт, не можна відкидати (ibid.), Українські націоналісти ніколи не ховали свого пляну (Rakovs'kyj 1923а: 77), Ці союзи не можуть знищити існуючого антагонізму (ibid., 78), Щоб не згромаджувати нашої статті цітатами [...] (ibid., 85), ми не повинні забувати тієї науки, що дають нам наші вчителі (ibid., 86), Poky ту пе тајето solidnyx velykyx naukovyx prac' [...] (Pylypenko 1923: 268), він не зможе мати щільної змички з селом, цілком щільної змички з селом (Zatons'kyj 1929: 14), пролетаріят український, в більшості, зараз не вживає української мови, не розуміє української культури, не прикладає безпосередньо руку до її будування (Zatons'kyj 1929: 14), не буде провадитись ніякої примусової українізації що до російської частини робітничої класи (Skrypnyk 1929: 31), Буржуазія не може не бачити всієї грандіозности будівництва української державности (Kahanovyč 1929с: 149), Тов. Шумський

³⁰⁰ SUM classifies πκο as "act." Polish also distinguishes jak and jako, while Russian uses only κακ.

не хотів бачити тих найсерйозніших досягнень, яких ми досягли за останні роки в справі українізації (Kahanovyč 1929с: 156), Інакше не можна тлумачити § 3-го Варшавського договору [...] (Ljubčenko 1930: 69), не треба утворювати собі ілюзій (Kosior 1930: 16).

In some publications, the agent in passive constructions was expressed with *od/sid* and the genitive case, following the advice of some linguists of that time: Документ, підписаний 30-го листопада 1917 року від голови генерального секретаріяту, В. Винниченка, де викладалося переговори українського уряру з козаками (Ljubčenko 1930: 61), засуджені од усієї радянської суспільности та підтримувані тільки лементуванням (ibid., 74).

The passive voice was used comparatively often despite the advice of most Ukrainian linguists of the time, who tended to regard it as too bookish for Ukrainian: В першому програмі, що склала собі РСДРП і який затвержений другим партійним з'їздом в серпні 1903 року, передбачалось [...] (Rakovs'kyj 1923a: 74), українізація провадиться нами в силу якоїсь-то важкої необхідности (Kahanovyč 1929: 41), etc.

In general, the syntactic arrangement of the analyzed texts was quite complex, as is evident from the quoted examples. In the leading publications of the "Ukrainization" period, the Ukrainian language, which had been denounced as a mere "peasant language," quickly turned out to be a well-elaborated medium for political propaganda in the highest spheres.

6. Creating good standard official Ukrainian in 1930

The remarkable quality of official Ukrainian was of course the result of considerable work. While extensive searches in Ukrainian archives might reveal a plethora of intriguing materials reflecting the process of editing the Ukrainian language during the period of "Ukrainization," quite interesting findings can be made even without such archival sources. In particular, two extraordinary publications of 1930 give an excellent impression of editorial measures that are quite revealing even beyond this individual instance. Both publications were translations of Mykola Skrypnyk's article on the "Union for the Liberation of Ukraine" (SVU), which originally appeared in Russian on 20 April 1930 in Moscow, in Kommunističeskij Internacional (Skrypnyk 1930b). Shortly after the publication of the original—it is not clear when precisely—a first translation into Ukrainian was published as a separate pamphlet (no place of publication was indicated). The pamphlet was identified as a "reprint," but it was in fact a translation of the Russian article and hardly a reprint of any previous edition. This text abounded with errors. Many of them were quite banal technical or typing errors; others were of much greater interest, particularly regarding the closeness of the translation to the Kharkiv orthography reform of 1928 and its relation to the Russian language of the original text. As early as 30 April 1930, a second Ukrainian translation of Skrypnyk's text was published in *Bil'šovyk Ukrajiny*. It is clearly apparent that the translator(s) of this version used the earlier translation and edited its language quite carefully (Skrypnyk 1930a). The following table briefly sums up the most significant changes, many of which interestingly demonstrate which linguistic elements the editors regarded as characteristic of proper Ukrainian and which they did not,³⁰¹ some isolated changes would perhaps have been unnecessary from a contemporary point of view:

Orthography and phonology

Dashes: контрреволюційних [12: контр-революційних] шляхів (4).

Obvious spelling mistakes: ледви [11: ледве] (3), нашою відповідю [відповіддю] (31).

Phonetically oriented spellings: багацтвами [!] [15: багатствами] (12), у великому масштабі [24: великим маштабом] (30), серед студенства [14: студентства] (9), в масі студенства [21: студентів] (25).

Mistakes abetted by Russian interference: процесс [11: процес] в справі СВУ (3), з боку Польші і [14: Польщі й] Німеччини (11), на откупові [*sic*] [12: на відкупі] (7), Ефремов [13: Єфремов] (7), іллюзії [15: ілюзії] (11), показчиком [18: покажчиком] (17), работу [20: роботу] (22), работа [23: роботу]³⁰² (30).

[o] or [e] after sibilants or [j]: в свойому [13: своєму] складі (8), в боєву [21: бойову] [...] організацію (25), боєвих [22: бойових] націоналізмів (28), ворожо [17: вороже] діяли (17).

Different reflexes of old liquid groups: Стержнем [15: Стрижнем] (12), проблесків [14: проблисків] (10).

Conservative spelling variants: десятиріччами [11: десятиріччями] (4), нігде [12: ніде] (5), нігде [22: ніде] (27), etc.

ія, ію vs. *ia, iy*: пролетаріату [15: пролетаріяту] (11), віадукт [18: віядук [*sic*]] (18), "Опіум [20: опіюм] народів" (22).

I-I' in foreign words: планові [17: плянові] (17), плани [18: пляни] (18), парламенту [16: парляменту] (13), блок [15: бльоку], кольонію [15: колонію] (11), кольоніяльного [15: колоніяльної] (11), соціял-фашистівської [11: соціяль-фашистської] (3), бухгалтерія [17: бухгальтерія] (17). From English: Макдональда [20: Макдоналда] (22).

Use of *г*:³⁰³ інтелегенції [*sic*] [11: інтелігенції] (3), грунт [13: грунт] (8), безгрунтовною [12: безгрунтовною] (6), аграрна [15: аграрну] (13), агрономів [22: агрономів] (27), емігрувала [13: емігрувала] (7), еміграції [13: еміграції] (8), білогвардійщини [14: білогвардійщини] (10), пропаганду [15: пропаганду] (11), агітаційної [20: агітаційної] (22), агентів [17: агентів] (17), пропагандистів-агітаторів [21: пропагандистівагітаторів] (25), на [...] конгресах [16: конгресах] (14), енергією [20: енергією] (22), до Ліги [19: Ліги] Націй (20), металюргії [22: металюргії] (27).

Euphony: хто раніш йшов [12: ішов] за ними (4), господарства і [11: й] культури (4), письменники і [11: й] філологи, кооператори і [11: й] лікарі

³⁰¹ The quotations are from Skrypnyk 1930. The amendments are given in brackets.

³⁰² Here and in similar instances, the varying case forms result from a modified syntactic or, elsewhere, lexical context.

³⁰³ The letter *i* is not used at all in Skrypnyk 1930!

(4), через радіохвилі закликають всіх [12: усіх] (4), як заявляють всі [14: усі] члени СВУ (10), вимело всі [11: усі] відомості (3), індівідуальних вбивств [22: індивідуальних убивств] (27), і з того часу працював в [13: у] Всеукраїнській Академій [*sic*] [13: Академії] Наук (8), Рекрутувалась вона переважно з [20: із] студентів вищих учбових закладів [20: вищих навчальних закладів] (22), що [22: які] складались з [22: із] самих високо-кваліфікованих [22: глибоко кваліфікованих] старих спеціялістів [22: фахівців] (27), зі [11: із] сторінок (3).

o > i: керовництвом [12: керівництвом] (6), в керовництві [14: у керівництві] (10)³⁰⁴. Skrypnyk 1930 occasionally has forms of the type *міці* with generalized i. These forms are amended in accordance with the rules of Modern Standard Ukrainian in Skrypnyk 1930a: обезсилення міці і сили [23: знесилення моці й сили] (29), зміцнення сили і міці [*sic*] [11: могутности й сили] (4).

-іння/-ення: значіння [12: значення] (5), значіння [значення] (11).

od(-) and *sid*(-): (на откупові [*sic*] [12: на відкупі] (7), see above), від відвертих фашистів [од фашистів] (28).

Ароstrophe: звязують [13: зв'язують] (9), звязали [18: зв'язали] (18), обовязок [18: обов'язок] (19), запамятати [18: запам'ятати] (19), в обект [15: на об'єкт] (11), пятирічному плянові [16: п'ятирічному плянові] (15), завдяки пятирічному пляну [24: п'ятирічним пляном] (30), пятирічкою [24: п'ятирічка] (30), etc.

ин-/ін-: в Київі і инших [14: інших] міст (9), СУМ по директивам Ефремова [14: за вказівками Єфремова] і инших [14: та інших] (10), иноді [22: іноді] (28).

Adaption of foreign *i*: дискредітація [19: дискредитація] (21), індівідуальний [21: індивідуального] (25), індівідуальних вбивств [22: індивідуальних убивств] (27), механику [23: механіку] (29).

Adaption of foreign diphthongs *au, eu*: нейтралітет [18: невтралітет] (17).

Adaptation of other foreign vowels: державне забезпечення великої, фермерського [18: фармерського] типу (13), проводити експлоатацію [*sic*] [16: експлуатувати] (15), експлоатацію [17: експлуатацію] (17).

Church Slavonic *vo*: во імя [16: в ім'я] інтересів "національного" виробництва (15).

Morphology

Genitive singular of soft stem feminine nouns (with nom. sg. in $-\emptyset$): куркульської і буржуазної молоди [20: молоді] СУМ (Спілка Української Молоді) [!] (22). All nouns with the suffix *-icmb* retain the ending *-u* in both Skrypnyk 1930 and Skrypnyk 1930a.³⁰⁵

305 The seemingly hard ending in *в ріжних галузах* [22: *в різних галузях*] (27) is probably only a typographical error.

³⁰⁴ The forms coexist in both texts, but Skrypnyk 1930a has more spellings of the type керівник.

Locative singular of the same noun class: в вугільній промисловости [22: у вугільній промисловості] (27).

Locative singular ending of soft stem neutral nouns: в життю [17: в житті] (16), в [...] питанню [18: питанні] (17).

Locative singular ending *-ovi* of masculine nouns: на откупові [*sic*] [12: на відкупі] польської, чеської, німецької і др. поліції (7).

Nominative plural -any vs. -ane: селяне [18: селяни] (19).

Inflection of Ukrainian surnames with the suffix *-enko*: і яскравого представника гетманської [*sic*] групи Дорошенко [13: Дорошенка] (8–9).

Inflection of foreign words ending in -*o*: розсилаючи по радіо [11: радіом] їхні промови у всі кінці світу (3), по радіо неслись [11: радіом лунали] (4).³⁰⁶

Declinable *буржуй* vs. indeclinable *буржуа*: озвіріла ненависть оскаженілих дрібних буржуїв з Спілки Визволення України [22: озлючена зненависть дрібних буржуа із «Спілки Визволення України»] (26).

Adjectival hard and soft stems: приватньої [15: приватну] (12), приватньої [15: приватну] (13), міжнародному [міжнародньому] (12), міжнароднього [аs 15] (12–13), заможнього [16: заможного] (13), західно-[15: західньо-] українським (11), західно-українських [17: західньоукраїнських] (16), в "східно-[18: східньо-]европейському" питанню [18: питанні] (17).

Comparative suffixes: одною з важливійших [19: важливіших] баз петлюрівського націоналістичного руху (21).

Analytic and synthetic comparative or superlative forms: ще більш енергійно і рішуче [12: ще енергійніш і рішучіше] (5), ще більш підготовленим [23: підготовленішим] (29); людей самих ріжних поглядів і переконань [22: людей найрізноманітніших поглядів та переконань] (28), під соусом самих ріжнородних і навіть самих протилежних "ідеологій" [23: під приправою найрізноманітніших, ба навіть найпротилежніших "ідеологій"] (29), аж до самих поміркованих [13: найпоміркованіших], ліберальних поміщиків (7).

Russian elative forms: Ефремов [sic] [13: Єфремов] був одним з виднійших [13: найвидатніших] керовників [13: керівників] Київської Української Громади (7), зізнання головнійших [свідчення найголовніших] керовників СВУ (11).

Possessive pronoun *ix, ixній*: ix [11: ixнi] запізнілі заяви про ix [11: ixню] цілковите каяття [цілковиту розкаяність] (4), брехливости і фалшу ix стремлінь [11: ixніх прагнень] (4), іх [15: ixнi] клясові інтереси (13).

Ukrainian весь, увесь/ввесь: Україна весь [15: увесь] час маячить (12).

Indefinite pronouns: підкорити Україну кому будь [15: кому завгодно], на будь яких [15: на яких завгодно] умовах (11), повстання скільки небудь [18: скільки-будь] широкої маси працюючого селянства (18).

³⁰⁶ In 1937, during the next major assault on the norms of the Ukrainian language after 1933, the compilers of the Russian-Ukrainian academic dictionary of the same year were severely attacked because they admitted the declension of *διορο*, *∂eno*, and, in the instrumental singular, *pa∂io* (Ševel'ov 1989: 165). The propaganda denounced this as the "grossest vulgarization" (ibid.).

Nominative plural *caмu*: Самі [21: Сами] члени СВУ (26).

Hard numeral stems (?): чотирох [*sic*]³⁰⁷-пяти [*sic*] [14: чотирьох [with no equivalent of *nяти*]] років (10).

Shortened and non-shortened infinitive endings: піднять [19: підняти] (20).

Secondary imperfective forms with -'uva or -'a: Βἰλμινως [!] [18: Βἰλμινω].

Gerund suffix: -učy/-ačy: входючи [23: входячи] (28).

Participles of *-nu-* **verbs:** *-n-en-* **vs.** *-nu-t-*: просякнені [11: просякнуті] (3), були притягнені [14: було притягнуто] до суддової [*sic*] відповідальности (10).

Pluperfect forms: Правобережна Україна мала [14: мала була] ввійти в склад Польської Річи [!] [14: Речі] Посполитої, а Лівобережна – мала попасти [14: мала була потрапити у] в залежність і підлеглість німецькому капіталові [14: німецького капіталу] (11).

Present active participles: керуюче [20: керівне] ядро (22), свідомість широких працюючих [11: трудящих] мас (3), працюючих [17: трудящих] мас (16), see also "Syntax."

Present passive participles: Непримиримі [13: Непримиренні] націоналістичні елементи [...] стали несприймаючими [21: несприятливими] для ідей і почуття, що ворожі пролетаріятові (25).

Vocabulary

Nouns: самостійного господарчо-могутнього кулака [17: куркуля] (17), "більшовицькі застінки [11: катівні]" (3), єдиного контрреволюційного національного фронту всіх видів [12: гатунків] (6), тонко розрахованими міроприємствами [22: заходами] (28), зрив добичі [22: видобутку] вугілля (28), стремління [12: прагнення] (6), стремлінь [11: прагнень] (4), зачинщиками [13: проводирями] (7), створити приключку [19: привід] для збройної інтервенції (20), приключку [23: привід] (29), автора цих стрічок [21: рядків] (25), програмним і тактичним постановкам [21: програмі й тактичним настановленням] (26), націоналістичних кличів [15: гасел] (11), За директивами [19: вказівками] польського воєнного штабу (20), центральною фігурою [13: постаттю] (8), під знаменами ріжного кольору [22: під різнокольоровими прапорами] (27), спеціялістів [22: фахівців] (27), німецька воєнна кліка [18: зграя] (18), вимогами "відвертости" [11: гласности] (3), ріжних ВИШ-ів [14: різних вузів] (9), ядовитою злобою [11: отруйною люттю] (3), озлоблення [18: лють] (18), каяття [11: розкаяність] (4), в ділянці [11: в царині] політики (4), проводирі [11: проводирів [16: вождів] (14), вожді] (4), господарів [22: хазяїв] (28), сприяти охороні її [12: її обороні] проти капіталістичної інтервенції (4–5), зміцнення сили і міці [11: могутности й сили] Радянської Республіки (4), крах і омертвіння [22: змертвіння] (28), в сучасний мент [12: тепер] (6), в рамцях [13: в рямках] (7), ненависть [22: зненависть] (26), плян зриву [24: підриву] нашого господарства (31), до такої низкости [22: підлоти] (27),

³⁰⁷ Possibly, this may also be a mere typographical error.

виказування [19: вияви] "всенародньої волі" (20), зізнання [14: свідчення] (11), кольоніяльного визіску [15: колоніяльної експлуатації] (11), Версальської умови [18: Версальського договору] (18), по умові [18: за договором] з українською контрреволюційною Центральною Радою (18), кольоніяльного надприбутку [16: колоніяльний понадприбуток] (16), для обдурювання [17: ошуканства] (16), Гданського [18: Данцигського!] коритару [18: коридору] (18). *Кляса/кляс* (по клас): завдання ліквідації куркуля, як кляси [13: клясу] (7), привілеєм заможніх клясів [21: кляс] (24) [*sic*, promiscue in both versions]. *Програм/програма:* Програм [14: програма] СВУ (10), програм [21: програма] комуністичної партії (25), Стержнем [15: Стрижнем] програму [15: програми] (12), Аграрна програма [*sic*, feminine in this case] [15: Аграрну програму] (13), За планами [*sic*] і програмом [18: За плянами і програмю] (19). *Ряд*: терористичні напади на ряд [14: низку] комуністичних робітників (10).

Suffixation of deverbal nouns: Механіка нідготовки [sic] [17: підготовлення] інтервенції (16), для його підготовки [17: підготовлення] (17), всі сподівання [17: сподіванки] української контрреволюції (16), займатись підготовкою [22: працювати над підготовленням] повстань (27), поєднала соціялізм з релігією, релігійне благовіщення зі служінням [20: службою] контрреволюції (22).

Adjectives and deadjectival adverbs: ядовитою злобою [11: отруйною люттю] (3), злобну [21: люту] ненависть (26), ганебної і мерзенної [22: ганебної, гидкої] "етики" (27), якою безличною брехнею [24: яким безсоромним фалшем] (31), "Коварні" [11: Лукаві] більшовики (3), зорке [23: пильне] око (29), гігантське [11: велетенське] зміцнення (4), могутній [16: велетенський] процес (14), могутній [17: потужний] рух (16), повне [цілковите] визнання (4), мастисті [11: поважні] академіки та професори (4), найважнішою [12: важливішою] (6), різнородні [13: найрізноманітніші] українські групи (7), видні [16: найвидатніші] контрреволюціонери (13), з видними керовниками [17: найвидатнішими керівниками] (17), всіх материх [13: запеклих] представників української еміграції [13: еміграції] (8), рештки давнішнього [13: колишнього] петлюрівського центру (8), служебна [18: службова] роля української контрреволюції (17) приєднання до Польщі Горішнього Шлезьку [as 18] і Гданського [18: Данцигського [*sic*]] коритару [18: коридору] (18), через Гданський [18: Данцигський [sic]] міст (18), кінцевим [23: конечним] терміном (28), одна з численних [22: багаточисленних] контрреволюційних організацій (27), пляни [...] мають за собою одиноку [19: єдину] клясову силу – українського куркуля (20), різке протиріччя [23: гостру суперечність] (30), людей самих ріжних поглядів і переконань [22: людей найрізноманітніших поглядів та переконань] (28), з [22: із] самих високо-кваліфікованих [22: глибоко кваліфікованих] старих спеціялістів [22: фахівців] (27), вищих учбоних [sic] [21: навчальних] закладів (25),³⁰⁸ цей грандіозний [24: величезний] плян (31), природніми [sic] [15: натуральними] багацтвами [15: багатствами] (12), інтервентських [19: інтервенціоністських] намірів (21), характерні

³⁰⁸ Elsewhere, Skrypnyk 1930a has вуз, which of course does not correspond properly to вищих навчальних закладів: СВУ мала в своїх лавах досить значну кількість професорів, викладачів ріжних ВИШ-ів [14: різних вузів] в Київі і инших [14: інших] міст (9).

[18: характеристичні] (19), по звірськи [21: по-звірячому] (26), прекрасно [15: чудово] розуміли (12), прекрасно [21: чудово] вияснив (25), прекрасно [24: чудово] зорганізовану [...] підготовку (30), мав на увазі орієнтаційно [19: орієнтовно] 1930 або 1931 рік (21). *Бувший:* представників бувших [14: колишніх] соціял-федералістів і соціял-демократів (9), бувший [14: кол.] професор Чехівський, бувший [14: кол.] голова петлюрівського уряду (9), еtc. *Ріжний > різний:* ріжних [11: різних] українських буржуазних і соціялістичних партій (3), в ріжних столицях Европи [13: у різних столицях Европи] (9), ріжнородних [12: різних] (5), в ріжних галузах [22: в різних галузях] (27), еtc. Adjectives with the suffix -ov-/-iv-: мільйонові маси [17: мільйони] (16), їх програмові домагання [21: їхні програмні вимоги] (26), соціял-фашистівської [11: соціяль-фашистської] преси (3).

The verb *пишатися* aptly replaces the construction with the copula and the adjective гордий in *Другий Інтернаціонал може бути гордим* [20: *пишатись*], що [...] (22). In *переговори представників офіціяльної* [as 18] (18) *Німеччини*, the form *офіціяльної* notably remains unchanged.

Adverbs: не єдиним прикладом чисто-куркульської [16: суто куркульскої] антипролетарської партії (14), [...] завсім [*sic*] [20: цілком] змінили характер українського вчительства (24).

Pronouns: Польщі, Франції, Німеччини і друг. [11: та інших] країн (3); на чолі з Лотоцьким, Чикаленком і другими [13: та іншими] (8), до цього-ж часу [22: на цей самий час] (28), про цей же [23: цей самий] термін (28), соціял-демократія немає [*sic*] [19: не має] ніякого грунту [19: жодного грунту] (19); ця [19: та] сила, яку українські контрреволюціонери розраховували піднять [19: підняти] на "всенароднє" збройне повстання проти диктатури пролетаріяту (20).

Verbs: заняті [22: зайняті] (27), спотикнулась [!] [16: спіткнулась] (13), українська соціял-демократія являлась [16: є] не єдиним прикладом чисто-куркульської [16: суто куркульської] антипролетарської партії (14), переговори [...] являються [18: є] реальним показчиком [18: покажчиком] переорієнтації німецької буржуазії (17), не успіли нікого вбити [21: нікого не встигли убити] (26), опирались [12: спирались] на сільську бідноту (6), озлоблені [21: озлючені] куркулі (26), озвіріла ненависть [22: озлючена зненависть] (26), і т. п. [11: та інші] епітети зустрічались [11: подибувано] в цій справі (3), Широкий розвиток промисловости, індустріялізації країни, і, нарешті, перехід до технічної і економічної реконструкції сільського господарства зустріли [13: натрапляє на] жорстокий опір куркуля (7), ця розкладова робота шкідників-педагогів зустріла [20: натрапила на] опір (23), націоналістична робота в школі зустріла опір [21: натрапила на відсіч] з боку організацій молоді (25), [...] спирається вся работа [sic] [23: згрунтовано всю роботу] (30), мала попасти в [14: мала була потрапити у] залежність і підлеглість німецькому капіталові [14: німецького капіталу] (11), добитись основного завдання [15: аби осягти основне завдання] (11), [...] приймали [14: брав] участь в керовництві [14: у керівництві] контрреволюційною [-ї] організацією [-ї] (10), [...] не приймали [брали] участи [не брали участи] в її закордонному центрі (14), "плян" [...] був оснований [14: згрунтований] на воєнній інтервенції (11), Українська соціял-демократія [...] виставляла [16: висувала] це домагання (13), [...] Українська соціял-демократія [...] виставляла [16: висувала] домагання (13), старі, провірені [11: випробувані] десятиріччами [11: десятиріччями] проводирі [11: вожді] (4), [...] пятнують [11: таврують] свою минулу діяльність (4), хто ще хитається [12: вагається] (4), до призначеного нею терміну [23: на час, що вона його намічала] (29), відмовитись від [12: зректися Ø] шкідливих і згубних контрреволюційних [12: контрреволюційних] шляхів (4), [...] відмовлювались від них [15: зрікалися своїх гасел] (11), насправді вели [15: провадили] революційну пропаганду [15: пропаганду] (11), українська дрібнобуржуазна інтелегенція [...] що [...] знаходиться [12: перебуває] на службі і на откупові [*sic*] [12: на відкупі] польської, чеської, німецької і др. поліції (7), На Західній Україні маються [17: є] окремі [*sic*] групи (16). Контрреволюціонери не обманювали [18: обдурювали] себе (18), соромитись по відношенню до хворих пролетарів і комуністів [22: панькатися з хворими пролетарями й комуністами] (26), підтверджували [18: потверджували] (18–19), Молодь радянської країни тісно спаялась [21: щільно з'єдналась] з радянською владою (25).

The phraseological unit здавати собі справу, cf. Polish zdawać sobie sprawę, was replaced by the verb усвідомлювати іп Спілка Визволення України ясно здавала собі справу з того [19: усвідомлювала], що [...] (20).

Predicative expressions: необхідно убити і [22: треба вбити й] вирізати два мільйони [22: мільйонів зо два] комуністів (26).

Prepositions: відомості з [11: щодо цього] процесу (3), внутрі СРСР [23: в самому СРСР] (29), вже в кінці 90 [13: наприкінці] років (7), СВУ розгортала свою діяльність протягом [14: упродовж] чотирох [*sic*]-пяти [sic] [14: чотирьох] років (10).

Conjunctions: [...] наче б мітлою [11: ніби метлою] (3), все це приймали і на все погоджувались керовники СВУ, лише б добитись основного завдання [15: аби осягти основне завдання] (11), які заявляли, буцім то в них [17: ніби у них] орієнтація на власні сили (16), Одначе [19: Однак] (21), одначе [20: проте] (22).

Idiomatic expressions: і т. п. [11: та інші] (3), і т. п. [і т. ін.] (3), і т. д. [14: тощо] (9), і т. д. [22: тощо] (27), перш за все [12: передовсім] (5), а в першу чергу і перш за все [17: і, насамперед, і раніш за все] (16), колонію міжнародного [17: міжнароднього] і перш за все [17: , насамперед,] польського капіталізму (16), перш за все і більш за все [20: передовсім, і більше за все] (24), з дня на день [20: день-у-день] (22), і з того часу працював в [13: у] Всеукраїнській Академій [*sic*] [13: -ї] Наук в характері її члена, а потім віце-президента [13: , як її член, а далі – як віце-президент] (8).

Syntax:309

Predicative case: СУМ (Спілка Української Молоді), члени якої [14: що члени її] повинні були бути масовиви [*sic*] агітаторами [14: за масових агітаторів] СВУ серед студенства [14: студентства] і куркульського селянства (9–10).

Case government: в керовництві внутрішним контрреволюційним рухом на Вкраїні [у керівництві внутрішнього контр-революційного руху на

³⁰⁹ Here I pay no attention to word order, which was sometimes changed.

Україні] (8), Закордонний центр об'єднував собою [13: в собі] всіх материх [!] [13: запеклих] представників української еміграції [13: еміграції] (8).

Сhange of prepositions: розправа над [11: 3] цвітом української інтелегенції [11: інтелігенції] (3), один за другим [11: один по одному] (4), в її користь [на користь її] (5), при її допомозі [*sic*] і що по її вказівкам [12: за допомогою та вказівками якої] працювала СВУ (5), Шляхетна фашистівська Польща повинна була, за відомом [19: з відому] і згодою світових держав, виступити в характері шляхетного [19: як шляхетний оборонець] (20), партія [...] входить в склад [17: до складу] Другого Інтернаціоналу (16).

Russian po and dative case: розсилаючи по радіо [11: радіом] їхні промови у всі кінці світу (3), по радіо неслись [11: радіом лунали] [...] (4), при її допомозі [sic] і що по її вказівкам [12: за допомогою та вказівками якої] працювала СВУ (5), роботу по вихованню [14: роботу виховання] (9), по директивам Ефремова [14: за вказівками Єфремова] (10), [...] низку документів 1919 – 1929 років, по яким [14: що за ними] український націоналістичний "уряд" складав і пропонував політичні і воєнні умови зі всіма і всілякими капіталістичними урядами (10), по умові [18: за договором] з українською контрреволюційною Центральною Радою (18), заплатити [...] по мінімальній розцінці [18: за мінімальною розцінкою] понад 7 мільярдів карбованців (19), по розрахункам [18: за розрахунками] [...] (19), підготувати зрив добичі і вугілля і кризу палива по всій промисловости [22: підготовити зрив видобутку вугілля й паливну кризу у всій промисловоссі [*sic*] (28), по замовленню з-за кордону [23: на замовлення із-за кордону] (29), самовіддана робота по організації [24: на організацію] пролетарських мас (31).

Тhe calque from Russian *по відношенню до* (< *по отношению к*) was consistently replaced: служебна [18: службова] роля української контрреволюції по відношенню до [18: щодо] світової капіталістичної буржуазії (17), по відношенню до цього явища [16: у відповідь на це явище] (14). The verb was changed as well in the following example: соромитись по відношенню до хворих пролетарів і комуністів [22: панькатися з хворими пролетарями й комуністами] (26). A whole sentence was reformulated (denominalized) to avoid the construction in the following example: 5: існував сильнійший гніт по відношенню до української культури, переслідування української культури, української літератури і навіть української мови [12: якнайдужче пригнічувалося українську культуру, українську літературу, ба навіть української мови [*sic*]] (5).

Temporal and modal adverbials: вороги СРСР за останній час [11: останнім часом] використали і процес "Спілки Визволення України" (3), в останні роки [13: останніми роками] (7), в перші роки [21: за перших років] революції (24), в попередній період [23: за попереднього періоду] (30), у великому масштабі [24: великим маштабом] (30), завдяки пятирічному пляну [24: п'ятиріним пляном] (30).

Present active participles and their replacement: ворогуючі між собою [13: ворожі, одна одній,] групи (8), Молоді контрреволюційні сили були об'єднані в доповнюючій організації [14: у додатковій організації] СУМ (Спілка Української Молоді) (9–10), [...] иноді навіть ворогуючих поміж собою, боєвих націоналізмів [22: бойових націоналізмів, що іноді навіть

ворогують один з одним] (28), нові зміни підростаючого покоління [21: поколінь, які підростають] (25).

Active and passive voice: Брехня цих заяв була викрита їх же співбратами [16: Фалш цих заяв були викрили їхні ж таки брати на процесі] (14), Программа [sic] і тактика української контрреволюції була погоджена і керувалась одночасно маршалом Пілсудським і керовником німецьких збройних сил генералом Гренером [17: і нею одночасно керував маршал Пілсудський і керівник німецьких озброєних сил, генерал Гренер] (17), вони були пятирічкою поставлені на всебічну перевірку [24: їх п'ятирічка поставила на всебічну перевірку] (30), до призначеного нею терміну [23: на час, що вона його намічала] (29).

Constructions with *-no/-to*: [...] і т. п. [11: та інші] епітети зустрічались [11: подибувано] в цій справі [з приводу цієї справи] на сторінках буржуазної і соціял-фашистівської [11: соціяль-фашистської] преси Польщі, Франції, Німеччини і друг. [та інших] країн, супроводжуючись [11: і супроваджувано] протестами проти "таємних розправ", вимогами "відвертости" [11: гласности] і т. п. [і т. ін.] (3), Але ледви [11: ледве] розпочався [було розпочато] процесс [*sic*] [11: процес] в справі СВУ (3), з яких 4 з пол. десятки [...] були притягнені [14: було притягнуто] до суддової [*sic*] відповідальности (10), Як повністю виявилось [14: Як цілком виявлено] на суді з заяв всіх членів СВУ [...] (10), Плян [17: Пляна] світової буржуазії давне [*sic*] вже розрахований [17: розраховано] на те, щоб [...] (17), [...] спирається вся работа [*sic*]; [23: згрунтовано всю роботу] (30).

The expression of the agent in passive constructions: і повне [та цілковите] визвання ними [11: від них] брехливости і фалшу їх стремлінь [11: їхніх прагнень] (4), повне і безоглядне визвання ними [11.: від них] досягнень Радянської Республіки (4), проваджений радянською владою [16: од радянської влади] могутній [16: велетенський] процес (14), нею неухильно проваджений плян [24: від неї неухильно переводжуваний плян] (31).

Relative clauses: Молоді контрреволюційні сили були об'єднані в доповнюючій організації [14: у додатковій організації] СУМ (Спілка Української Молоді), члени якої [14: що члени її] повинні були бути масовиви [*sic*] агітаторами [14: за масових агітаторів] СВУ серед студенства [14: студентства] і куркульського селянства (9–10), [...] коли зачитано низку документів 1919 – 1929 років, по яким [14: що за ними] український націоналістичний "уряд" складав і пропонував політичні і воєнні умови зі всілякими капіталістичними урядами (10), [...] аж до документу, який [14: що] показує повну готовність і охоту українських націоналістів вступити в союз і пряме підкорення до російської білогвардійщини [14: білогвардійщини] (10), ця Україна повинна стати селянською країною, влада в якій [16: де влада] належить великим куркулям (16).

The amendments to Skrypnyk 1930 were significant and applied to all linguistic levels. In many cases, they corrected forms or constructions that were widely regarded as incorrect or as Russianisms. In many other cases, they introduced forms or constructions that simply helped further distance the language of this text from that of its original, which Skrypnyk 1930 had often followed slavishly.

7. Introducing the new norms of 1933

In his meticulous study, Serhij Vakulenko demonstrated precisely how the orthographic reforms of 1933 discussed above were introduced step by step, at first rather inconsistently, in the leading organ of the CP(B)U, the newspaper *Komunist* (Vakulenko 2009/2012). Vakulenko showed that the first major changes in this newspaper can be traced back to issue 138 of 1 June 1933, where readers suddenly found the new spellings *аероклуб*, блок, план, клас, etc., alongside Kharkiv orthography-based кляса, плян, плятформа, металюргія, соціяль-[фашисти], etc. By 5 June, the l' forms had largely disappeared. Also on 1 June 1933, the spellings агент, агентура, грунт, etc. suddenly appeared alongside бригада, гатунок, інтелігент, etc., that is, even before the decree "On the Change in Ukrainian Scholarly Terminology, Grammar, and Orthography" of late June stipulated the elimination of *r*. As of mid-August 1933, three more innovations followed: 1. spellings of the type *iя*, *iю* were replaced with i*a*, *iy*, 2. reflexes of Greek *η* were now largely treated as in Russian, and 3. genitive forms of the *-ocmu* type were replaced with *-ocmi*; henceforth, the genitive, dative, and locative singular as well as the nominative and accusative plural would thus be homonymous, as in Russian. While the issue of Komunist for 16 August 1933 still featured apummemuka, the next issue had арифметика, орфографічний, орфографічно (ibid.). Both issues featured parallel genitive singular forms of the type *вартости/собівартості, пильности/* пильності. After 5 September 1933, finally, Greek η was increasingly rendered with *i* instead of *e* (for example, *ximis* was now used instead of *xemis*), which was even more intriguing, as this feature was not even mentioned in the Xvylja orthography. Beginning with the issue for 12 September, Komunist introduced spellings of the form проектний (instead of проектний). As for the rendering of foreign diphthongs, new Russian-based forms of the type *Eйнштейн*, аудиторія, etc. co-occurred with older forms of the type Айнштайн, авдиторія throughout 1933; however, the new forms began to predominate in October of that year (all ibid.). Finally, as for place names with the suffixes -*s'k*-, -*c'k*-, new forms of the type Дніпропетровськ and Сталіно appeared instead of the old Дніпропетровське and *Cmanihe* beginning on 11 October (all ibid.).

An examination of the periodicals Červonyj Šljax and Bil'šovyk Ukrajiny largely confirms this picture of the gradual introduction of the Xvylja orthography in 1933. Issues 1 and 2—the latter issue was submitted for publication on 8 April 1933—still adhered to the Kharkiv orthography: (from issue 1): клясово-політично акцентовані, певної актуальности (Stepnjak 1933: 147), европейську (ibid., 148), матеріялу (ibid., 149), "неоклясиків" (ibid.), в езуїтській колегії (ibid., 155); (from issue 2): інтелігента, художньої творчости та ідеологічної озброєности, соціяльних і клясових пружин; оригінального, свіжого й обґрунтованого трактування епізодів і спогадів з часів громадянської клясової боротьби (all Vynnyčenko 1933: 176). Issue 3 was sent to the publishers on 23 March and submitted for publication on 11 May, that is, shortly after the People's Commissariat's decree of 3 May that had stipulated the reduced use of l'. Owing to the short time span, it might come as no surprise that the use of l' remained unchanged (see клясичний твір, Zajec' 1933: 138). What one notices instead are a few substitutions of z for r that violate the rules of the Kharkiv orthography: без генеральної репетиції (ibid., 140), генеральна репетиція Жовтня (ibid., 141), Фата Моргана (ibid., 141), and оригінальний індивідуальний стиль (ibid., 142) alongside Толстой оригінальний (ibid., 149; a quotation from Lenin's works). Also, the table of contents of issue 3 refers to the German author Georg Heym as "Teopr Гайм," as opposed to the correct form "Teopr Гайм" in issue 2. However, the mastheads of issue 3 still featured the form *редколегі*ї.

The latter form was changed beginning with issue 4 for 1933, which was sent to the publishers on 25 May 1933 and submitted for printing as late as 5 October 1933. This issue introduced a number of new spellings. It consistently replaced *r* with *z*: *zpyna* (Hončarenko 1933: 6), *nepezpynybahha* (ibid., 5), *abahzapdhuŭ* (ibid.), *ihmenizehuja* (ibid., 7), *ihmenizehujio* (ibid., 5), *ha zpyhmi* (ibid., 6), *nidzpyhma* (ibid., 17), *y cboïŭ npozpami* (ibid., 6), *nponazye* (ibid., 15), *npomu peniziï* (ibid: 16), *s nnaziamom* (ibid., 18), *opuzihanbhuŭ* (ibid.), *vozocb opuzihanbhozo* (ibid., 20), *azehmu* (ibid., 21), and it consistently replaced *l'* with *l*: *клac* (ibid., 6, 8), *клacy* (ibid., 8), *x nacobux cun* (ibid., 5), *кnacoby npupody* (ibid., 7), *deкnacobahoï ihmenizehujiï* (ibid., 8), *y ubomy nnahi* (ibid., 10), *s nnaziamom* (ibid., 8). Moreover, it introduced the spelling *ia* for *ia*, although a few *ia*-forms still co-occurred: *nponemapiam* (ibid., 5), *do nponemapiamy* (ibid.), *coujanism* (ibid., 15), *coujanicmuчhozo* (ibid., 21), *do ujeï coujanbhoï kamezopiï* (ibid., 7), *Фальшиba-"coujanbha" noesis* (ibid., 17), *s nnaziamom* (ibid., 18), *imnepianismy* (ibid., 21), alongside *диференцiяujis* (ibid., 16) and *sipuuosahozo mamepisny* (ibid., 19).

Genitive forms of the *-ocmu* type still predominated: щастя індивідуальности (ibid., 6), для творчости "молодомузців" (ibid., 6), на хисткому грунті безідейности і безперспективности (ibid., 8), etc. However, new forms were used in quite a curious way: 1. In the immediate vicinity of old forms, as in усвідомлення нікчемности, історичної приреченості на загибель (ibid., 9), and 2. even as spelling variants of identical word forms: see буржуазність його всієї творчости (Hončarenko 1933: 12) alongside в основних лініях своєї творчості (ibid., 13), мотиви творчості (ibid., 19), and націоналісти ріжної масти (ibid., 21) alongside націоналісти шумськістськохвильовістської масті (ibid.). Hončarenko's text still had the forms ролю (ibid., 5, 13) and формалістичної методи Степнякової (ibid., 7; even with the possessive adjective), Европу (ibid., 5), but it did introduce девіз instead of девіза (ibid., 6).

Issue 6 for 1933 was sent to the publishers on 10 June and signed for publication on 19 July 1933. The table of contents still featured *f* in *Володимира Гжицького*, but in the body text, the name appeared as *Гжицького* (Levkovyč 1933: 83). Also, forms of the type *класову* were used (ibid.), but neither *iя* spellings nor genitive forms of the *-ocmu* type were changed.

Issue 7, which was sent to the publishers on 16 August 1933 and submitted for publication as late as 22 November, largely conformed to the standard of issue 4. The letter / was eliminated, and only forms of the type клас were used: грунт (Ророv 1933: 116), агентуру класового ворога (ibid., 115), ембарго (ibid., 126), класового ворога (ibid., 109), маталургією [sic] (ibid.), колоритним (ibid., 113), блок (ibid., 121), проти бухгалтерії (ibid., 117), націонал-більшовизму (ibid., 121). Spellings of the ia type clearly predominated (гасло індустріалізації, соціалізм в нашій країні; ibid., 114), but ія оссиrred (obviously erroneously) in грузинським філіялом троцькізму (ibid., 118). Genitive forms of the type -ocmu and -ocmi со-оссиrred: послабленням

більшовицької пильности (ibid., 110) vs. послаблення більшовицької пильності (ibid., 114), but -ocmi forms prevailed. Also, the form кафедра was introduced: в інституті марксизму на кафедрі національного питання (ibid., 119), від кафедри національного питання (ibid.). The name of *Europe* was still used without a prothesis, as in на буржуазну Европу (ibid., 114).

Many forms that were either close to Russian or Russian loans were now used without hesitation: обман (ibid., 122), у цьому найскладнішому міжнародньому перепльоті³¹⁰ (ibid., 126).³¹¹ Elative forms, as in Russian, were now increasingly regarded as unproblematic: послаблення більшовицької пильності за останні роки – серйозніша помилка української партійної організації (ibid., 115 [a chapter title]); на цілому ряді його важливіших політичних виступів (ibid., 118). As in the last example, ряд was now used frequently, as opposed to former texts, which had used низка; see also Україна була протягом ряду років ареною найзапеклішої громадянської війни (ibid., 110), etc. Present passive participles, which are alien to Ukrainian, were used as well (although their occurrence in the following example might be interpreted as a half-translated quasi-quotation from Russian): шовіністи вже не сподіваються, що радянська влада відновить їм єдину і неділиму Росію (ibid., 124).

Whereas the construction *B nepiod* had been consistently changed into *3a nepiod* in Skrypnyk 1930a vs. Skrypnyk 1930, it was now used without hesitation, as in *b* цей період громадянської війни (ibid., 111). Passive constructions also came into common use: до оцінки помилок у національному питанні, які були допущені на Україні, треба підходити не абстрактно [...] (ibid., 109), Грунт для цього був підготований рядом його величезних помилок у національному питанні [...] (ibid., 116). The preposition *no* with the dative was increasingly used in accordance with the rules of Russian: ряд найважливіших принципіальних документів української парторганізації по національному питання [sic] (ibid., 115),³¹² те провіднє [sic] місце, яке їй по праву належить (ibid., 126). Relative clauses with що still occurred, but який was henceforth used much more frequently according to similar rules as который in Russian: Особливо багато помилок, антиленінських перекручень, над виправленням яких ми повинні тепер найгрунтовнише попрацювати – допущено на історичному фронті (ibid., 120– 121), хіба це не серйозне застереження для наших письменників, які ряд років працювали з ним і не зуміли викрити його дворушництва (ibid., 122), Меморандум Гугенберга є нове яскраве потвердження інтервенціоністських планів німецького фашизму, на який переорієнтуються тепер основні сили української контрреволюції (ibid., 126).

Issue 8–9 of Červonyj Šljax, which appeared in late 1933, introduced not only the form *експлоататорів* (Kosior 1933: 224) but also *прогноз* (Kosior 1933: 210), *метод* (ibid., 225), *роль* (ibid., 229), *в масштабі* (ibid.), *у проекті* (ibid., 239).

³¹⁰ This word is not recorded in SUM.

³¹¹ See also the introduction of *в Японії* (ibid., 126) instead of the previous *в Япанії* (Polish also has *Japonia*).

³¹² This typographic error might be revealing: it may be a remnant of (better Ukrainian) з національного питання.

As regards *Bil'šovyk Ukrajiny*, the development was, briefly, as follows. Issues 1–2 to 5–6 for March and April largely adhered to the rules of the Kharkiv orthography. Issue 7–8 for May and June introduced two major changes: 1. the removal of the letter *t*, which was only "quoted" in Postyšev's above-cited considerations regarding this letter (Postyšev 1933: 8),³¹³ and 2. the introduction of hard *l* in класова (ibid., 5), класовий (ibid.), класових (ibid., 2), планувати (ibid.), *плану* (ibid., 3). By contrast, the *in* spelling was still preserved: *couinsicmuu*4000 (ibid., 1), *mepumopin*5, the *in* spelling was still preserved: *couin*6, 1), *посилення більшовицької пильности* (ibid., 6), etc. *Роля* was still used (*sidizpaлa вирішальну poлю*; ibid., 3), but masculine *метод* replaced older *метода* (*при такому* [...] зовсім *непридатному методi*; ibid., 5). Obviously Russian elements such as *недаром* (ibid., 9) were used increasingly often.

Issue 9–10 for July and August finally added genitive forms of the *-ocmi* type (посилення більшовицької пильності; "Bojovi zavdannja" 1933: 3) as well as *ia* forms (відрив від завдань соціалістичного будівництва та диктатури пролетаріату й трудящих мас; Šlixter 1933: 66). Present active participles were now regarded as unproblematic: тиснення куркуля проти зростаючого впливу MTC; "Bojovi zavdannja" 1933: 6). Issue 11 for September 1933 still featured проєкт, as in проєктна потужність ("Peredova" 1933: 2), проєктної потужності (ibid., 5). New forms of the type кризисний as in Капіталістичний світ вступив у п'яту кризисну зиму (ibid., 1) added to the general picture: in the course of 1933, the Stalinists effectively brought the norms of Ukrainian considerably closer to those of Russian. Of course, this "reform" was not merely a matter of orthography or of puristic vs. "international" (in fact, Russian) terminology. Moreover, it was not yet the end of the development.

7. Conclusions

Contrary to the Ukrainophobic narratives mentioned elsewhere (see pp. 3–36 in this volume), the idea that Ukrainian was established as a standard language in the former Russian Empire thanks only to Bolshevik "Ukrainization" is by no means convincing. Originally, the Bolsheviks came to Ukraine as an obviously anti-Ukrainian force. When they introduced the policy of "Ukrainization," they made it clear from the outset that they were reacting to the rise of Ukrainian national consciousness, which had occurred independently of them, and that they regarded "Ukrainization," as a mere tactical delay in the revolutionary movement. In the course of "Ukrainization," leading Bolsheviks repeatedly perpetuated the popular belief that Ukrainian was above all a peasant language, while Russian, the language of Lenin and Stalin, was the language of progress. As soon as the

581

^{313 &}quot;Хіба головне шкідництво буржуазно-націоналістичних петлюрівських елементів, які засіли і нерідко заправляли в Наркомосвіті, тільки на те й сходило, що вони неправильно розставили літери "т" і "т"? І літери, звісно, мають значення. Але це ж дрібниці, рівняючи до тієї шкідницької роботи, яку проваджено в системі органів наросвіти і яка була спрямована на обплутання нашої молоді ворожою пролетаріятові ідеологією. Адже перше, ніж розставити літери "т" і "т", ці шкідники в Наркомосі розставили своїх людей по всій системі органів освіти."

Bolsheviks introduced "Ukrainization" in earnest, they immediately began the first purges against deviationists in their own ranks, as well as against Ukrainian "bourgeois nationalists." While they consistenly insisted on "Bolshevik" as opposed to "nationalist" "Ukrainization," it was never made clear what "Bolshevik 'Ukrainization'" might actually mean if the proletariat—the leading class in the Soviet state—was exempted from so-called "forced 'Ukrainization'" and if the vast majority of leading Ukrainian Bolsheviks did not use or even know the Ukrainian language. In that situation, it was only logical that a great many of the genuine accomplishments of "Ukrainization" were made by individuals who were not particularly close to inner party circles.

"Ukrainization" did have a certain temporary impact, for example, on the development of Ukrainophone print media, but one might ask, given the general European experience of the interwar period, if something similar would not have occurred without Bolshevik "Ukrainization," for example, in a truly independent Ukraine. Other achievements proved even more marginal. Thus, when the Bolsheviks "Ukrainized" the schools of Ukraine, they failed to supply them with textbooks or teachers. The higher the school level, the lower the percentage of "Ukrainized" schools, and, even on paper, the "Ukrainization" of schools in the towns never came close to the level of that in the villages. Those intellectual forces that truly contributed to the development the Ukrainian language-members of the Academy of Sciences, teachers, and writers-were among the first victims of the Stalinist purges. The SVU trial of 1930 and its aftermath ultimately suffocated the spirit of "Ukrainization" a mere five years after the policy was seriously introduced. As for the bulk of Ukrainian speakers, it is obvious that the Bolshevik war against the peasantry during the period of collectivization in Ukraine-including the Great Famine as its peak-was, consciously or unconsciously, at the same time a war against the vitality of the Ukrainian language. By 1933, the Bolsheviks had succeeded in erecting another "ceiling" for the Ukrainian standard language that Ukrainians were henceforth never allowed to disregard—the Russian language, to which anything expressed in Ukrainian would now have to be adapted.

The question remains what deeper impact might have been made on the history of the Ukrainian language by a policy that was only seriously conducted for less than half a decade. Jurij Ševel'ov contended that during the years of "Ukrainization," "passive mastery of Ukrainian, though still not universal…encompassed much broader circles" and added that "the number of people interested in Ukrainian culture grew substantially" (Ševel'ov 1989: 129).³¹⁴ The question to what extent these two tendencies were an immediate result of Bolshevik "Ukrainization" can never be answered, but the fact that the language of the majority population gained

³¹⁴ Ševel'ov added that "probably some intellectuals who under different circumstances would have worked within Russian culture opted, instead, for the Ukrainian one" (ibid.). He referred to the example of "Ivan Kaljannikov, who became the Ukrainian poet Kaljannyk (and was later liquidated as a 'Ukrainian nationalist')" (ibid.). He could have added the example of himself, a non-Ukrainian who, after his emigration from the Soviet Union, was to become the leading specialist in Ukrainian linguistics after the Second World War.

considerable momentum at the expense of a formerly dominant language was certainly not unique to Soviet Ukraine in those years. Who knows how the Ukrainian language might have developed if an independent Ukraine had continued to exist after the First World War?

On a broader scale, Ševel'ov added two further results of "Ukrainization." First, even though "much of the language legislation [of the "Ukrainization" period] would be rendered null and void," he found that "much remained throughout the traumatic events of the 1930s, when virtually all the linguists of the period of Ukrainization were silenced or destroyed" (ibid., 174). Although this seems plausible, the question of what actual impact the remnants of that legislation may have had on the destiny of the Ukrainian language remains to be studied in greater detail.

Finally, Ševel'ov emphasized in particular that "the policy of Ukrainization left an indelible imprint on the normalization of the standard Ukrainian language" and that "the normalization was conducted, basically, on a scholarly basis" (Ševel'ov 1989: 140).³¹⁵ These undoubted achievements of "Ukrainization" require further comment. It is obvious that over the years, the broader use of Ukrainian in the official sphere brought about some degree of "normalization" thanks to the work of careful editors and others. It should be emphasized, however, that almost none of the most important contributions to the standardization of the Ukrainian language can be regarded as direct outcomes of the "Ukrainization" policy. Almost all of them were the result of the work of non-Bolsheviks, mostly from the Academy of Sciences, who, furthermore, enjoyed no broad support from the Bolsheviks but were, on the contrary, punished for their "wrecking activity" almost immediately after they had managed to publish their most important works. Larger dictionary projects of the Academy of Sciences were backed by the Bolsheviks only halfheartedly, if at all; owing to the onslaught against the intelligentsia that set in with the SVU affair, some of the most important endeavors were never brought to fruition. A number of serious contributions to the study of the Ukrainian language notwithstanding, the standardization achieved during the period of "Ukrainization" period was by no means complete. First and foremost, not a single comprehensive normative grammar of the Ukrainian standard language appeared during the years of "Ukrainization."

The most important accomplishment that can be attributed more or less directly to "the policy of 'Ukrainization'" (and that did not have to push against the limits of Bolshevik "Ukrainization") is the Kharkiv orthography. The elaboration of a new Ukrainian orthography had been placed on the agenda of the Ukrainian Narkomos in July 1925, and party members, particularly those in the Narkomos, did

³¹⁵ See also the following remarks: "The essential character of the Ukrainian language underwent no major changes, as can be confirmed by comparing literary or journalistic texts of, say, 1925 with those of 1935 or 1940. The major attainments of the short years of the Ukraine's independence or semiindependence were retained. A much greater change was evident in a comparison of newspapers published in 1905–1907, on the one hand, and those of 1925, on the other. (These conclusions are impressionistic and should be verified quantitatively.) Nor can one observe any drastic reduction of Galician in the general (not technical) language of 1933–1941" (Ševel'ov 1989: 174–175).

play an active role in the endeavor. However, aside from the fact that the Kharkiv orthography was mainly the accomplishment of the leading Ukrainian linguists of those years, it should not be forgotten that it was not implemented until 1930 and remained in effect only until mid-1933. That orthography was subsequently employed only outside the Soviet realm, and only after 1991 was it revived to some extent in Ukraine itself.³¹⁶

Notwithstanding the fact that virtually all the achievements of "Ukrainization" must be relativized, more than just the memory of those years has remained. Literary and cultural contributions of that period, partly rediscovered during the Thaw of the 1950s, contributed significantly to the Ukrainian Sixties movement. To an even greater degree, this rediscovery occurred on the eve of Ukraine's independence and is still taking place in independent Ukraine. Some crucial linguistic studies of the "Ukrainization" period have been reissued in Ukraine and abroad, while several dictionaries have left the secret chambers of Soviet Ukrainian libraries for good, are now accessible on the Internet, and are contributing their share to the further shaping of Ukrainian linguistic consciousness and the further elaboration of the Ukrainian language.

³¹⁶ Ševel'ov (1989: 132) wrote: "Never was the spelling and the morphology of the Ukrainian language codified in such detail and precision." Doubts might be in order if one takes into account the entire Ukrainian-speaking territory and not just the former Russian Empire. Stephan Smal'-Stoc'kyj's and Theodor Gartner's *Grammatik der ruthenischen (ukraïnischen) Sprache* of 1913 (Smal'-Stoc'kyj–Gartner 1913) paid less attention to questions of orthography but was a remarkable description of the morphological system of the Ukrainian language.

COLONIAL LINGUISTIC REFLEXES IN A POST-SOVIET SETTING: THE GALICIAN VARIANT OF THE UKRAINIAN LANGUAGE AND ANTI-UKRAINIAN DISCOURSE IN CONTEMPORARY INTERNET SOURCES

The area known as Galicia (Halychyna) has always functioned as a bridge between Central-Eastern and Eastern Europe. From the perspective of the Russian Empire or the Soviet Union, it has been constantly regarded as the "most European" genuinely East Slavic region, primarily for two reasons: first, it was part of the Austrian Empire between 1772 and 1918 (Austro-Hungarian since 1867), and second, it was not incorporated into the Soviet Union until World War II. Moreover, Galicia is known as the traditional stronghold of a separate Ukrainian national consciousness and of widespread use of the Ukrainian language. Hence, Galicia and the Galicians, as well as the Galician variety of Ukrainian, have always served as favorite targets for anti-Ukrainian and anti-European attacks. The present study demonstrates that this remains unchanged today, despite the fact that virtually all anti-Galician stereotypical attitudes, especially those concerning language, are based on false or at least questionable assumptions. Some of those stereotypes are widespread and occur even beyond the types of sources presented below. First, despite certain local peculiarities, the Galician variety of the Ukrainian language, as it comes into play in the linguistic discussions of today, is not "a Galician dialect" by origin. In reality, its most important source is the literary language that developed in the Ukrainianspeaking territories of the Russian Empire and that was adopted in Galicia under the influence of the most notable Ukrainian writers of the nineteenth century, Taras Sevčenko and Pantelejmon Kuliš, beginning in the 1860s. Second, it is true that Galician Ukrainian is characterized by various loan elements, but it is a fact that not only Modern Standard Ukrainian but also other languages, including Russian, feature a sizable number of various foreign elements at all linguistic levels as well. Third, some authors try to characterize recent efforts to introduce some changes into the orthography of Modern Standard Ukrainian as Galician by provenance. Yet even truly "Galician" orthographies, such as the "Želexivka" (the orthography designed by Jevhen Želexivs'kyj for his Ukrainian-German dictionary of 1886), included non-Galician models to a considerable extent. And the so-called Kharkiv orthography of 1928 and 1929 (cf. Vakulenko 2007), which many diaspora Ukrainians still adhere to and which indeed serves as an important point of reference within the recent discourse on the reform of Ukrainian orthography, was only the result of a quite reasonable Galician-non-Galician compromise, abandoned in 1933 at the peak of Stalinist terror in Ukraine. As a matter of fact, many peculiarities of the Galician variety of Ukrainian were best preserved in the Ukrainian diaspora, especially in North America, after Galicia was annexed by the Soviet Union. In Soviet Ukraine, Galician Ukrainian was persecuted and supplanted by a more Russianized Soviet variety of Ukrainian. Still, the Ukrainian language as such has remained more vital in Galicia than in any other area of Ukraine. Most likely, this is the reason why some contemporaries, especially those who still question the right of the Modern Standard Ukrainian language to exist, have developed a particularly negative attitude toward Galicia and Galician Ukrainian.

1. Anti-Galician sources on the Internet

Philologists studying the history of Slavic languages are perfectly aware of the fact that their field has always been an object of politically motivated debate and manipulation. By its very nature, the history of a language is part of a broader historical narrative. Scholarly and nonscholarly interpretations concerning the emergence and development of the Ukrainian language have been extremely varied over the years.

For instance, when N. M. Pašaeva published a book in 2001 on the history of the "Russian movement in Galicia in the nineteenth and twentieth centuries" with the publishers of the renowned State Public Historical Library (Государственная Публичная Историческая Библиотека) in Moscow, most readers would certainly have expected a history of Galician Russophiles. Surprisingly, however, the book is devoted to the history of the Galician "Ruthenian" ("Ukrainian") awakening, which is presented as "a complex phenomenon of the fatherland's history" ("сложный феномен отечественной истории") (Pašaeva 2001: 3) from a clearly Russian perspective.¹

Although Pašaeva's work contains few innovative elements and suffers from numerous substantial shortcomings, it is still part of the scholarly discourse. A Google search for the author's name ("H. M. Пашаева") quickly demonstrates that, regardless of Pašaeva's own intentions, her work has still another meaning outside the academic world: the site http://ukrstor.com/paszaewa.html, one of the first results, contains links to the book and to two more of Pašaeva's articles, on the Galician Russophile Ivan Naumovyč and the Russophile organization Halyc'ko-Rus'ka Matycja. In addition, the following emblem is located right above these links:



Source: http://ukrstor.com/paszaewa.html

The message is obvious: according to certain Russian chauvinist traditions, Galicia is viewed as one of the ancient Russian lands ("Русская Галиция"), whereas "Ukrainian nationalist" Galicia is stigmatized as the quite recent result of Austro-German—or Polish—or Jewish—at any rate, foreign-born, anti-Russian intrigue

As a reminder: geographically, "Rus'" in its more general meaning initially referred to all territories 1 of Kyivan Rus' (in a narrower sense it meant just the Kyiv-Pereiaslav region). Russian pycckuŭ 'Russian' is derived from "Rus'," and some people argue that it has two meanings: 1) "belonging to Russia," 2) "belonging to 'Rus'." Russian chauvinists, as well as representatives of the "Russophile" (or "Muscophile") movement, which found many adherents in Galicia in the second half of the nineteenth century, denied any substantial difference between the two meanings and believed that everything pertaining to "Rus" is just "Russian" in the sense of "all-Russian" (comprising all Eastern Slavs). But apart from the many other shortcomings of that interpretation, it is obvious that the non-Russophile "Rusyny" ("Rusyns" or "Ruthenians") of Galicia explicitly distanced themselves from the "Great Russians" (or "Muscovites") yet identified themselves with the "Malorossiiane" ("Little Russians") of the Russian Empire when they continued to refer to their own matters as рускій/руський ("Ruthenian"), and so on. Hence, whereas their term can be adopted into modern Ukrainian as руський, it is certainly a mistake to translate it into Russian as русский. In order to be clearly identified, Galician "Rusyny" and the "Malorossiiane" of the Russian Empire adopted the name "Ukrainians" during the last decades of the nineteenth century and first decades of the twentieth century.

("Ukriane über alles"). Languages are not only the medium of such absurd propaganda but also their objects, in many cases. In regard to the debates on the role of Ukrainian and Russian in Ukraine, this obviously holds true for both languages. It is remarkable that the particular role of the Galician variant of the Ukrainian language has been strongly (re)emphasized since 1991 within the discussions on Ukrainian.

This article will demonstrate that the Galician variant of the Ukrainian language is still one of the favorite targets not only of an anti-Galician but also of a more general anti-Ukrainian, and eventually anti-European, discourse. Being interested in current attitudes toward the Galician variety of Ukrainian, I recently conducted extensive Google searches for the expressions "галицкий язык" (in Russian) and "галицька мова" (in Ukrainian), both meaning "Galician language" (on 20 March, 2 July, and 4 July 2007, with some proofreadings between 11 and 20 July 2007). Of course, these electronic searches can only be regarded as an initial stage of this subproject. Yet they provide a good impression of the prevailing attitudes toward Galician Ukrainian in today's most important general information source, the Internet. Moreover, they provide access not only to the different views of various "experts" but also to the current opinions of numerous "nonexperts" who appear as participants in various Internet forums and blogs and adopt the "experts" attitudes to some extent in their own way. Some of these sources are very likely to disappear from the Internet within the next months or years. Yet, as a mirror for certain linguistic ideologies, which prove to be still alive at the turn of the twentyfirst century, they deserve to be studied, regardless of their intellectual level, which quite often appears to be very low.

Although the present article is part of my project "One thousand years of Ukrainian language history in Galicia,"² the more unconventional approaches to the history of Galician Ukrainian encountered in the sources used here will be largely excluded from the present analysis. Still, it should be mentioned that, apart from the quite banal discourse on the alleged linguistic unity in Kyivan Rus' and the longlasting linguistic unity of "Little Russian," "Ruthenian," and Russian afterwards, at least some of the tendentious scholarly sources do contain interesting information on the history of the Ukrainian language in the nineteenth century (see pp. 20–24 in this volume). Yet most interpretations of these materials in extremely Ukrainophobic works (such as Karevin 2006 or Ul'janov 1966/1996/2003) are merely absurd, so that only a careful examination can make these publications useful as additional sources for the historical study of the Ukrainian language's history. Then they can help overcome certain shortcomings of modern Ukrainianist philology, which usually pays too little attention to phenomena such as the Galician Russophile movement, or the contradictory attitude toward Ukrainian observed in some central figures of the nineteenth-century Ukrainian movement, such as Pantelejmon Kuliš and many others (see pp. 20–34 in this volume; cf. also Moser 2011a).

587

² The project "One thousand years of Ukrainian language history in Galicia" was awarded the START prize by the Austrian Science Fund (FWF) in 2005. The project focuses on the interrelations between internal and external language histories in an area that has always played a significant role in the history of the Ukrainian language in general.

For my analysis, I viewed the first 150–200 entries under both the Russian and the Ukrainian expressions. Altogether the more relevant sources in this sampling comprise about 1,000 printed pages. The documents vary widely in length (from one printed page to about fifty) and in intellectual level. Among them, we find various text types: chapters from scholarly and nonscholarly books, as well as articles from scholarly and nonscholarly journals, newspaper articles, Internet articles, various Weblogs, and Internet forums. Most documents originate from Ukrainian sources, and others from Russian ones. Very few authors from other countries appear in these forums. In the results of these Google searches, anti-Ukrainian and anti-Galician views clearly prevail, especially in the search results for Russian "галицкий язык." Not surprisingly, texts written in Russian tend to be of an anti-Galician orientation much more often than those written in Ukrainian, although this is indeed only a tendency. Quite frequently, anti-Galician texts are located on sites that are explicitly devoted to certain political interests, such as "Я-Anti-Orange" ("I am anti-Orange"), "Единое отечество" ("United fatherland"), ог "Единая Русь" ("United Rus' "). The Russian language clearly dominates blogs of this kind, whereas contributions in Ukrainian are usually introduced by bloggers who oppose anti-Galician statements. As a matter of fact, unanimously positive assessments of the Galician variant of Ukrainian and its historical role appear very rarely, for instance, on the few Ukrainian sites that are explicitly devoted to peculiarities of Galician Ukrainian (e.g., "Fish" 2003 or "L'vivs'ka gvara" 2007). They occur in some apologetic sources from which I will quote at the end of this study, and in some scholarly articles (including my own).

Some anti-Galician sources are characterized by a particularly hateful attitude toward speakers of Galician Ukrainian, that is, the Galician Ukrainians and the North American diaspora, whereby the latter is usually viewed as an important stronghold of "Galician Ukrainianness." There is virtually no anti-Galician or anti-Ukrainian stereotype that would not appear in these sources, and many of them clearly violate all rules of good taste. In particular, this holds for some of the forums where people hiding behind their nicknames strongly confirm all the widely debated disadvantages of the anonymity of cyberspace. Most of the steadily repeated traditional stigmatizations of Galician Ukrainians as "banderovcy" (or "banderovcy") ("people who are followers of Stepan Bandera," a leading ideologist of Ukrainian nationalism and organizer of the Ukrainian resistance against the Nazi, as well as the Soviet, regimes) and "zapadency" (or "zapadency") ("Westernizers (viewed in a negative light)") have been well-known at least since Stalin's times. In the worst sources, the Galicians of Galicia and of the diaspora are accused of being traditional sympathizers of the Nazi ideology (cf. Geraščenko 2007);³ most often, this occurs in texts whose authors clearly adhere to a totalitarian, anti-democratic, anti-Western (and often anti-Semitic) ideology themselves. Other authors, trying to appeal to the Germanophobic emotions that are still widespread in anti-Western circles in post-Soviet countries, remind readers of Camp Thalerhof near Graz, where

³ Сf. "'Язык высшего порядка', надо полагать, предназначен для людей высшего сорта, белокурых галицких арийцев" and some more straightforward attacks.

Galician Russophiles (and not only Russophiles) were imprisoned during the last years of the Austrian monarchy (Anisimova 2000). Another rhetorical device that is well-known from Stalinist discourse and appears in the blogs is the comparison of targeted groups to various animals. Clearly, most of the labels used in anti-Galician discourse are, above all, expressions of certain intellectual deficiencies. The only interesting label, "Ukrainian Croatians" ("украинские хорваты"), seems to be quite uncommon, appearing in only a single source (Baulin 2007).

2. Negative labels for Galician Ukrainian

When an assessment is based on insufficient knowledge, various superficial labels are often used as substitutes for sound argument. This holds true for assessments of languages or varieties of languages.

2.1. Not Ukrainian: In many anti-Galician sources, Galician Ukrainian is placed in opposition to "real" Ukrainian and depicted as virtually non-Ukrainian. "Maskal" 2007, for example, writes about the "Galician…not the Ukrainian" language and adds that it differs from "real Ukrainian…in pronunciation (intonation of words and sentences) and in the use of Polish words" ("Maskal" 2007). According to this widespread anti-Galician and anti-Ukrainian myth, it is not "real Ukrainian" but "the Galician language" that has been imposed on all Ukrainians since at least 1991.⁴

2.2. Dialect and mixed language: Most authors merely identify the Galician variant of Ukrainian as an entity that they call "the Galician dialect" ("галицкий диалект" (Poliščuk 2003) ог "на галицком наречии" (Enals-Pilugina 2007)) ог "the so-called Galician dialect" ("так называемое галицкое наречие" (Macuka 2004)). Skvorcov 2007 writes more concretely about "the Galician urbanistic [why not urban/zopodckoŭ?] dialect, generously 'enriched' by Polonisms and diaspora Americanisms" ("галицкий урбанистический диалект, милостиво «обогащенный» полонизмами и диаспорными американизмами").⁵ Others call Galician Ukrainian a "Westernizing Polish dialect" ("западенско[!]-польское наречие") ("Dreamer" 2007), and still others refer to it as "the Polish-Galician language" ("Польско-Галицкий язык") (Ivanov 2007). Related labels such as "Galician Surzhyk" ("галицийский СУРЖИК [sic, in capitals]") (Kornilov 2000)], "Ukrainian-Polish 'Surzhyk'" ("на украинско-польском суржике") (Macuka 2004) or, more aggressively, "dirty Surzhyk" (Anonymous 2007a),⁶ "Polish-Galician jargon" ("польско-галицийский жаргон") (Vadrža 2007a or Kolesnikov 2002), "Polish-Hutsulian mixture...with absurd dialectisms" ("Польско-гуцульский микс [...] нелепые диалектизмы") (Jurčenko 2007), and "hybrid language-neither

⁴ Even pro-Ukrainian participants of certain forums, who explicitly distance themselves from that absurd assertion, may argue that Galicians cannot be forced to speak "normal Ukrainian," whereas inhabitants of Poltava cannot be forced to speak "with a Galician accent" ("Dybil" 2006).

^{5 &}quot;Anticommunist" 2007 is certain that "'Ukrainian' is a Polonized Old Russian language, yet not Polish" ("Украинский' это ополяченный старорусский язык, но не польский").

^{6 &}quot;Вы же, твари, не знаете ни языка, ни дерьмовы! Трендите на грязном суржике. Бидлюки хохломовні!"

Polish...nor Ukrainian" ("Šturman" 2005),⁷ also put the emphasis on the "mixed" or "dialectal" character of Galician Ukrainian. So did a nicknamed contributor to a blog on Viktor Janukovyč's personal information server—whose absurd text was, however, deleted from the server between 2 and 11 July 2007: he called Galician Ukrainian "a Polonized Roman-Galician dialect" ("Vladimir" 2007),⁸ whereas another blogger speaks about "the Galician Romanian-Polish language" ("на галицкой румыно-польской мове") ("Xarkov" 2007), and still another is certain that "the 'Ukrainian' language" is also "Lithuanized" ("Anticommunist" 2007a).⁹ Probably the most absurd label of this sort, which reflects the general xenophobic attitude of the anti-Galician discourse, is offered by "Margo" 2007, who introduces the term "this Polish-German-Yiddish Galician dialect" ("эта польско-немецко-идишская галицка говирка"), while referring not to Galician Ukrainian in particular, but to the contemporary Ukrainian standard language in general. Others decide to describe the Galician dialect as something ridiculous, while confessing that they have never come upon authentic examples of it.¹⁰

2.3. The alien language of the diaspora: In some sources, Galician Ukrainian is primarily characterized as the language of the alien, North American Ukrainian diaspora. One blogger calls Galician Ukrainian a "Western dialect," which is nothing but the "dialect of the American and Canadian diaspora...who thinks that all of Ukraine should talk like that" ("Al." 2006). Poliščuk 2003 even tries to show that the "Galician dialect" of the North American diaspora is characterized by more Russian elements than the Ukrainian language in Ukraine. In a particularly hateful article, he accuses the North American diaspora of traditionally preferring this "dialect" to "literary Ukrainian."

2.4. The artificial language: If it is not the "Polish," "Roman," "Roman," "German," "Yiddish," "American," "Canadian," or "dialectal" character of Galician Ukrainian that is attacked, then its allegedly "artificial" character is stressed. Some participants of various forums do not hesitate to call it "newspeak" ("новояз") ("Myslyvec!" 2007), or more expressively, "artificial Galician newspeak" ("искусственный галицкий новояз") ("Enals-Pilugina" 2007), in complete ignorance of the original meaning of the term.¹¹ Referring to historical myths created by certain anti-Ukrainian ideologists (cf. Karevin 2006), one blogger

^{7 &}quot;Вот и получается язык-гибрид - и не польский (так как надо напрягаться и учить язык), и не украинский (который многие галичане, похоже, не знают)."

^{8 &}quot;[...] базикают Романо-галицким ополяченным диалектом."

^{9 &}quot;Наверное 'украинский' язык еще и олитовченый, кто его знает, вы филолог вам виднее."

^{10 &}quot;Как-то где-то я наткнулась на образцы галицкого наречия: абсолютно ничего не поняла. Посмеялась, а сохранить не додумалась. Но иногда для дебатов было бы неплохо знать настоящие, а не придуманные некими панами слова 'народного языка.' Может, кто-то сталкивался в жизни с нелитратурной [sic] мовой? (Я, честно говоря, много лет живя на Украине, нет!) Тогда, пожалуйста, приведите примеры! (Какие-нибудь характерные словечки, фразы)" ("IEÉ" 2005). The anti-Galician character of this contribution is only clear from the fact that it is located on the site "Я-Anti-Orange." In general, one may laugh about (not at) a dialect and sincerely value it.

¹¹ Adopted from George Orwell's novel *1984*, the term "newspeak" was applied to the language of communist propaganda in the Eastern bloc.

argues that it is "the tragedy of Ukraine" that "two Ukrainian languages" compete with one another, first "the Polonized Galician invention hastily made by Hruševs'kyj and his fellows," and second, "the vernacular of Central and Eastern Ukraine propagated by Hruševs'kyj's teacher Nečuj-Levyc'kyj" ("nickpro" 2006).¹² Geraščenko 2007, a particularly aggressive author, speaks about "the new Galician literary language that was hastily created on the basis of the Polonized Galician dialect by the activists of the Ukrainian movement in full accordance with the Austrian politics of separatism" and rhetorically uses the genuinely Polish form of the adjective "литерацька" ('literary') in order to underline the allegedly alien character of this language.¹³

2.5. The non-existent "language": One of the most paradoxical attitudes toward Galician Ukrainian, which is a well-known component of the general anti-Ukrainian discourse used since the nineteenth century, is expressed in a forum by a particularly aggressive person hiding behind the nickname "Ivanov." He describes Ukrainian in general and Galician Ukrainian in particular as "a non-existent language in a non-existent state" ("Ivanov" 2006),¹⁴ which comes quite close to the wording of the Valuev Circular of 1863 with its paradoxical limitation of the use of a language "that never existed, does not exist, and cannot exist." The same view is offered by another contributor who tries to present himself as a polyglot but suffers a painful defeat while trying to write a few words in Polish: "Ja wiem Rossijski i rozumie Polski. Ja movie - cholopy, chodzcie iz Krymu do dupy! Ja nie wiem jezyka Ukrainskiego. Jego nie ma. To nie est jakij sie jezyk" ("I know Russian and understand Polish-I say, peasants, go from the Crimea to my ass! I do not know the Ukrainian language. It does not exist. It is not a language at all") ("Micha" 2007). Yet another device that was often used in the past is the use of quotation marks for Galician Ukrainian in particular and Ukrainian in general. Certain authors, such as Smolin 2007, speak of "the invention of a separate 'Ukrainian' language" ("изобретение особого 'украинского' языка") and subsequently refer to it only as "the language" ("язык"), again in quotation marks. Ljapunov 2006 writes about the "'Ukrainian' scholarly language" ("'украинский' научный язык"). Still others refer to Ukrainian as "the so-called state language" or "the state language named Ukrainian" ("так называемой 'державной мовы'", "'державным' языком под названием украинского") (Baulin 2007), or simply "the state langue" ("державная мова" or abbreviated "держмова") (Baulin 2007). Some authors write about the "Little Russian language" ("малороссийский язык") that was named "Ukrainian" at the beginning of the twentieth century (Baulin 2004), about

^{12 &}quot;Трагедия Украины: борьба между двумя украинскими языками — полонизированным галицким наколеночным изобретением Грушевского сотоварищи [sic] и народным языком Центральной и Восточной Украины, пропагандировавшимся учителем Грушевского, Нечуй– Левицким."

^{13 &}quot;В полном соответствии с австрийской политикой разделения деятели украинского движения спешно сочиняли 'нову галицьку литерацьку мову' на основе полонизированного галицкого говора."

^{14 &}quot;[...] давайте еще полиберальничаем и сами начнем говорить на несуществующем языке в несуществующем государстве. Традиционный вопрос, вам это надо?"

the "Little Russian dialect" ("На малорусском наречии") (Vpixatinec 2004), or even about the "West Russian literary language" ("западнорусский письменный язык") ("Anticommunist" 2007а) that was abandoned for the sake of an "absolutely artificial" ("абсолютно искусственный") "'Ukrainian-Ruthenian' language" ["украінсько-руського' [*sic*, in Ukrainian and in quotation marks] ЯЗЫКА [*sic*, in Russian, in capital letters)"] ("Vpixatinec" 2004). Yet many refer to it in Ukrainian as "the mother tongue" ("рідна мова") ("Astakhov" 2007) or just as "the language" ("мова") (Baulin 2007, Geraščenko 2007) within a Russian text.¹⁵

2.6. The language and its speakers: As usual, some of the most tasteless derogatory "glottonyms" aim at characterizing a language by hateful stereotypes that the authors associate with its speakers. "Ivanov" 2006 calls Galician Ukrainian "the language of Galician cattle" ("мовою галичанського бидла") ("Ivanov" 2006а), or merely the "cattle nonsense" ("на быдлячей тарабарщине") ("Ivanov" 2006b).¹⁶ A "congenial" participant of another forum asserts that "the Ukrainian language is not a language but the sounds of animals...of the Jewish-Polish [!] cattle from Galicia" ("Voin" 2007).¹⁷ The pejorative derivational variant "галичанский," which is formed from галичанин ("inhabitant of Galicia"), is widely used in the anti-Galician sources. Baulin 2007 writes about the widespread "Westernizing pronunciation" ("западенское [!] произношение") and complains that Ukrainian pupils have already begun "to pronounce g in the Galician manner" ("по-галичански [!] 'г'кать" [sic; the author clearly means [g]), whereas even speakers of Russian in Ukraine pronounce it "softly" [!]. Of course, Baulin expresses his sympathy for the people from the Donbas region and the Crimea who do not want to learn "the Galician mother tongue of the Ukrainian diaspora" ("они не хотят учить 'рідну галичанську мову' украинской диаспоры"). Like so many others, he is convinced that in the schools of Ukraine it is the "Galicians' language" ("язык галичан") that is being taught at the moment, and that "the language of 10 percent of the population" is being imposed on the rest. This particularly annoys him because, according to him, it is Galician that is "the least developed and most archaic" ("Ha самом неразвитом, архаичном языке!") among the five East Slavic languages [!] that he finds in Ukraine (the others are Russian, "Little Russian," "Poltavian," and "Rusyn"). Moreover, referring to the fact that Galicia is an economically weak region of Ukraine, Baulin does not hesitate to write about Galician Ukrainian as "a beggars' language" ("язык нищеты"). In another particularly tasteless contribution that aims in the same direction, the Galician variant of Ukrainian is not only called a "Western Ukrainian dialect from Ternopil and Lviv" ("западноукраинский диалект (Тернопольско-Львовский")) but also "partly the language of the day laborers of

^{15 &}quot;Некоторые национально-озабоченные деятели попытаются приписать нам оскорбление мовы."

^{16 &}quot;[...] цвет титульной нации-галичане говорят на быдлячей тарабарщине, которая не имеет никакого отношения к украинской мове это ж факт, не требующий доказательств" ("Ivanov" 2006b).

^{17 &}quot;Українська мова - это не язык, это крики животных (мычанье, гавканье, хрюканье, карканье) – жидопольского быдла [!] из Галычины..."

the last century" and "partly the language of the war criminals (the Bandera people) who have settled in Canada and America" ("Tanja" 2006).¹⁸

2.7. "Glottonyms" derived from swearwords: The last category among the derogatory glottonyms applied to Galician Ukrainian and to Ukrainian in general is based on mere swearwords. One of them is "дерьмова" ог "галичанська дерьмова," which is derived from Russian *дерьмо* 'dirt, mud, smut' and can be interpreted as a tasteless parody of "держмова"¹⁹ (Anonymous 2007a).²⁰ Another one is "дупомова," which is derived from *дупа* 'ass' (Anonymous 2007b).²¹

A blogger with the strange nickname "Ukrainian patriot" ("Украинский патриот") manages to combine all of the most tasteless derogatory labels within one entry:

...the "language" [Ukrainian "mova" in the Russian text] does not exist beyond the sphere of radio and TV; some idiot decided to declare a dead language the state language ["гомударственным" could be either a typographical error or an allusion to "homo-"] :)))...as long as I have been alive and traveling through all of Ukraine (Luhansk, Donetsk, Kyiv, the Crimea, Kharkiv, Odesa, Kherson), I have not heard alive "the language" [Ukrainian "mova" in the Russian text] but only our beloved mother tongue, the Russian language, was around...maybe in Bandera's land in the wild forgotten bunkers [the word is taken from Polish *schron* 'bunker'] far in the woods and mountains "the language" even exists, but in what way are these wild places related to Ukraine? ...so that the people's language, Russian, should be the state language, and not the "der'mova," the language of peasants and bulls.²²

^{18 &}quot;Навязывается именно западноукраинский диалект (Тернопольско-Львовский) и отчасти диалект прошлостолетних заробитчан и военных преступников (бандэровцев), что осели в частности в Канаде и Америке."

^{19 &}quot;Вы же, твари [!], не знаете ни языка [obviously, Russian is meant here], ни дерьмовы! [...] А що стосується м'якої Г, то це - чисто 'галичанський' діалект тієї же дерьмови! Ви - безродні жидята [!!!], які нічого не вміють, крім обливання лайном сусіда, який розумніший за вас. У западенському діалекті м'яка Г часто замінює нашу Д, наприклад – г'івка-дівка. І ви ще хочете сказати, що це гавкотіння і є укрмова? БРЕШЕТЕ, СУКИ!!! [!]. Це є галичанська дерьмова, суміш мови з пшецьким діалектом. Коротше, ніколи не буде по вашому! НІКОЛИ!"

²⁰ Interestingly, it is the very same author who appeals to the European Charter for Regional and Minority Languages for the protection of Russian in Ukraine.

^{21 &}quot;ДУПОМОВА В СВИНАРНИКЕ [...] Ведь мова является жлобства основой, Её насаждает мутантный урод. От той дупомовы нас сильно тошнило [...] Терпеть эту мерзость уже нету силы, От мовы желудок и ногу свело. [...] Всё больше свинарник смердит дупомовой, Что делать, не знает несчастный народ, Руина, разруха – всё это не ново... Всё это устроил нам галицкий сброд."

^{22 &}quot;[...] мова не существует за пределами радио и тв, какоц [!, а typing error] идиот надумал мертвую мову гомударственным [cf. above] языком объявит [sic] :))) [...] сколько живу и бываю по всей Украине (Лутанск, Донецк, Киев, Крым, Харьков, Одесса, Херсон), не слышал вживую мову, кругом наш родной и любимый русский язык [...] может там на бандеровщине и есть мова в диких забитых схронах далеко в лесах и горах, но какое отношение имеют те дикие места к Украине? [...] так что государственным должне [sic] быть язык народа - русский язык, а не сельковская дерьмомова бычачья" ("Ukrainskii patriot" 2005).

3. Modern Standard Ukrainian-a Galician project?

Interestingly, virtually all anti-Galican authors claim that, since 1991, Galician Ukrainian has been imposed on the rest of Ukraine. According to them, Ukrainian nationalists (the "conscious Ukrainians," cf. also the formation "свидомиты," from Ukrainian *cвідомий*, as used by "anb" 2006 and "Tanja" 2006) regard it as the best ("exclusively conscious") variety of Ukrainian.²³ Hence they spread the myth that, after 1991, it was only the Galician Ukrainians and the North American emigrants who began reorganizing the functionality, orthography, and the very structure of the Ukrainian language in Ukraine. In particular, the suggestions that were made for orthographic reforms are characterized as "the appearance of a stubbornness that is traditional in Galicia" ("проявление традиционного для Галичины упрямства") (Kornilov 2000), because the Galicians are allegedly unable to realize that Galicia is only one of Ukraine's regions. Based on that attitude, other writers do not hesitate to write about the emergence of a "Galician" or, in another version, "Great Galician imperialism" (!) ("галицкий империализм" or "великогалицкий империализм") (Jurčenko 2007).

To be sure, within this strange narrative it is the Galicians who are allegedly spoiling Ševčenko's language (Jurčenko 2007), which is described as "real Ukrainian" or, as others put it in closer conformity with their view of the world, real "Little Russian." In the forums, some participants would even explicitly assert what some anti-Ukrainian authors state only implicitly: for them, eventually nothing but Russian can be the "real Ukrainian" language [!] ("Anticommunist" 2007b).

One component of the anti-Galician myth asserts that, since 1991, the Galicians have been taking revenge for what the Bolsheviks did to them in 1933, preventing the Galicians from imposing their language on the rest of Ukraine for the first time. A lot of anti-Galician authors would agree with Macuka 2004 or Skvorcov 2007 that, since 1991, the "Ukrainian Westernizers" ("украинцы-западники") have done their best to pass off "the so-called Galician dialect" as "the Ukrainian language" and to force the rest of Ukraine to accept it. According to this view, Ukrainians from the North American diaspora joined this effort, which was nothing but revenge (Kornilov 2000).²⁴ Now, the Galician seven want to punish those who do not speak like them, especially speakers of Ukrainian-Russian "Surzhyk," although according to the anti-Galician faction, the Galician language is the real "Surzhyk," and the Ukrainian-Russian mixture that is commonly referred to as "Surzhyk" is the genuine "Little Russian dialect" ("малорусское наречие"), spoken by far more people than "the Galician language" (Kornilov 2000).²⁵ Continuing in this vein, Andrei Vadžra, one of the authors who try to present themselves as serious scholars, claims that

^{23 &}quot;Вот этот диалект и навязывается всей Украине, как вынятково-свидомый" ("Tania" 2006).

^{24 &}quot;Диаспора все больше использовала именно галицкие варианты орфографии. Реванш галичане мечтали взять всегда. То, что предложил Жулинский, - и есть в большой мере этот самый реванш."

^{25 &}quot;За 'умышленное искажение' украинского языка националисты намерены всех подряд штрафовать, под горячую руку должны попасть прежде всего те, кто говорит на русскоукраинской смеси, суржике" [...].

Ukraine is characterized not by bilingualism but by trilingualism, with Russian, the "Little Russian dialect" ("Surzhyk"), and the literary Ukrainian language functioning as the three main languages of the country. The Ukrainian literary language, according to him, is nothing but a variety of Galician Ukrainian and is only spoken by "a handful of trained 'conscious Ukrainians.'" Subsequently, this variety of Ukrainian is linked to the ideology of the Orange Revolution; therefore, Vadžra 2007 calls it "orangeoid."²⁶

595

Within the framework of this puzzling discourse, the Modern Ukrainian Standard Language itself ultimately appears to be "not real Ukrainian" but a variant of Galician Ukrainian (Geraščenko 2007).²⁷ Many anti-Galician authors would agree with Sokolov 2007, who asserts that "the real Ukrainian (Little Russian language)," as represented in Kvitka's and Ševčenko's works, significantly differs from "the Ukrainian literary language, as it was formed in Galicia." The latter is an "artificial creation, it appeared under a strong German and Polish influence" and became the Modern Ukrainian Standard Language.²⁸ The creators of this language allegedly took as their basis "the Galician dialect, which was most heavily soiled [!] by Polish and German words" ("галицкое наречие, наиболее засоренное польскими и немецкими словами") (Kolesnikov 2002), whereas elements of the genuine Ukrainian dialects were accepted only with utmost caution. Skvorcov 2007 even feels motivated to warn that "the Ukrainian language itself will soon not be Slavic anymore" if the influence of the Galicians from Galicia and from the diaspora continues. As the final outcome, he expects "an entirely West European macaronic mixture" ("вполне западноевропейскую макароническую помесь").

As a consequence, some ardent anti-Ukrainians even assert that, despite their alleged command of true Ukrainian, they do not know and do not want to know the Modern Ukrainian Standard Language because they are sure that it is nothing but Galician by origin. Some are convinced that only Galicians can understand this language (Anonymous 2007),²⁹ while others "do not use this language as a matter of principle" and regard it as "a hostile language" ("Ivanov" 2006a).³⁰ "Margo"

^{26 &}quot;У нас не двуязычие, как принято считать, а триязычие. Думаю где-то 95% населения современной Украины говорит и думает или на русском языке, или на малорусском наречии (суржике). И лишь ничтожная горстка дрессированных 'свидомых украйинцив' принципиально изъясняются на литературном украинском языке. [...] Получается странный, наспех сделанный полуфабрикат, который я называю 'оранжоидом.'"

^{27 &}quot;[...] Ибо и создатели его, и его противники называли язык галицким, а не украинским. Галицким по своей сути и структуре он остался и поныне."

^{28 &}quot;[...] литературный украинский язык в том виде, в каком он был образован в Галиции, весьма существенно отличался от собственно украинского (малорусского) языка, от языка Квитки и Шевченко, и представлял собой искусственное создание, возникшее под сильным немецким и польским влиянием."

^{29 &}quot;Разве Галицкий язык понятен полтавчанину или харьковчанину, или Галицкие пляски близки сердцу сумчанина, или одесские шутки понятны галичанину!?"

^{30 &}quot;[...] що укра1нську (sic, the author uses "1" for i and i) мову, п1дкреслюю УКРА1НСЬКУ, а не ГАЛИЧАНСЬКУ розум1ю мабуть краще за тебе, але не використовую 11 принципово. При цьому залишую право використовувати 11 тим для кого вона є рідна. Для мене, завдяки таким як ти укропатріотам, після вашого помаранчового цирку українська мова є мовою ворожою, знати її потрібно лише для того, щоб повноцінно й найбільщ [sic] ефективно боротися з ворогом на його території [...]" [all orthographic peculiarities originate from the source].

2007 claims that she does not reply to any messages she gets in Ukrainian, and probably guided by wishful thinking—asserts that she has even forced firms from Lviv to switch to "the human language" ("человеческий язык," an often-used label for Russian as opposed to Ukrainian).³¹

"Enals-Pilugina" 2007 asserts that "the Kobzar's descendants" do not want to speak Ukrainian because the modern Ukrainian language is "a mixture of the Galician-Polish dialect and the newspeak that was invented in the nineteenth century."³² Of course, based on the interpretation of "Ukrainian" and "Galician" as two separate languages, the unity of the Ukrainian state is openly questioned in some forums, too.³³

Most of the sources we have been dealing with up to now confirm the opinion of "Viter" that Galician matters, including the Galician variety of Ukrainian, have unfortunately become the object of a true "information war" ("Viter" 2006).³⁴

Yet it is not only openly anti-Ukrainian authors who warn against the allegedly growing influence of the Galician variety of Ukrainian and the North American diaspora's impact in Ukraine. One of the most prominent intellectuals who joined this anti-Galician discourse to a certain degree was Petro Toločko, a renowned archaeologist from the Ukrainian National Academy of Sciences. In his leaflet Who or What Endangers the Ukrainian Language? (published in 1998), Toločko referred to the anti-Galician discourse of Ukrainian authors such as Ivan Nečuj-Levyc'kyj and others and reasserted, without any tempering, that the Ukrainian language has been "soiled" by "the Galician dialect" (later he refers to the same idiom as "the Galician language"),³⁵ that "the Galician dialect" is "entirely Polonized," and that up to the end of the twentieth century, "two literary languages," the "Dnipro" literary language and the "Galician" literary language, have coexisted (Toločko 1998). According to Toločko's absurd claim, the "Galician...orthography" was created in the nineteenth century on the basis of "Latin or Polish" models, and the Galicians did not want to adopt "the phonetic language" [sic]. Toločko continues to write that, whereas the "Dnipro" literary language has proceeded far ahead in its development during the twentieth century, the "Galician" literary language ("in its diaspora variant") has remained stuck in its position since the end of the nineteenth and beginning of the twentieth century. In this same leaflet, Toločko rejects the alleged attempt of the North American diaspora to influence the development of Ukrainian in post-Soviet Ukraine. Toločko's linguistic arguments extend to some lexical

^{31 &}quot;А я начала борьбу с суржей Грушевского... С любой фирмой приславшей письмо, факс и т.д. на т. н. совр.укр.языке прерываются любые отношения. Любые!!! Вы знаете-помогает! Даже львовские фирмы перешли на человеческий язык [...]" ("Margo" 2007).

^{32 &}quot;Почему же потомки Кобзаря до сих пор не желают говорить на украинском? Да потому, что он в своем современном виде – смесь галицко-польского наречия и новояза, придуманного в 19 веке."

^{33 &}quot;Зачем искусственно создавать видимость единой страны с единой мовой?" ("Élla" 2006).

^{34 &}quot;Іде інформаційна війна, а цей сайт - одне з місць, де точаться бої [...]" ("Viter" 2006).

^{35 &}quot;В ній письменник [Ivan Nečuj-Levyc'kyj] обурюється тим, що українська літературна мова, сформована на базі придніпровських діалектів, засмічується галицькою говіркою" (Toločko 1998).

items but focus mainly on some elements that are usually regarded as matters for "orthographic" discussion in the Ukrainian context, although in reality they mean much more, namely, various approaches to the crucial question of what exactly Standard Ukrainian should look like (Vakulenko 2007).³⁶

4. What is the Galician language?

It is Toločko's (1998) leaflet that ultimately confirms what we have hitherto observed in virtually all of the sources that we have analyzed up to now: apparently, anti-Galician polemicists usually fail to understand the historical and current roles of Galician Ukrainian and demonstrate a very poor understanding of its structure and its very essence. No anti-Galician author from our sources asks the innocent, crucial questions that are posed in a forum by "Avangard" 2006 (in Ukrainian, from Moscow [!]):

What is the Galician language? Some say that it is a dialect of Ukrainian, others call it a real language of its own?.... What elements make it different from the Ukrainian literary language? I have in mind above all grammatical, orthoepic, and orthographic ones. Is there any linguistic sketch on this question? I will be grateful for any information on this topic ("Avangard" 2006).

Even in the non-Ukrainophobic forum that "Avangard" turned to, no sound answer has been offered so far. All one can learn is that "the Galician language contains a lot of Polish words," and that it would be "more correct to write about 'the Galician dialect of the Ukrainian language'" ("Igor" 2006) or about "the Galician dialect of Ukrainian + Galician Surzhyk" ("Senk" 2006).

From a linguistic point of view, it is clear that the "Galician Ukrainian dialect," as so many authors call it without hesitation, has never existed as such. Instead, linguists account for certain southwestern Ukrainian dialects that are spoken in Galicia and share some crucial linguistic qualities. Yet what the anti-Galician authors really discuss in their texts actually does not belong to the sphere of dialects at all. Their attack is directed against the Modern Ukrainian Standard Language in its Galician variant. As anticipated in the introduction, however, this variety is based neither on the "Galician dialect" nor on the southwestern Ukrainian dialects from Galicia but on the literary form of Ukrainian, as adopted primarily from writers such as Taras Ševčenko and Pantelejmon Kuliš between the 1860s and 1870s (cf. Moser 2007: 221; 232–237). Of course, the Galician variant of the Modern Ukrainian Standard Language incorporates certain dialectal elements from the Galician area, too. Yet it is not a dialect as such.

Thus it is nothing but absurd of Jurčenko 2007 to quote the sentence "Та вліли мі вујко, би-м патрував го. Та власнов руков дав му фајку..." and try to assure

597

³⁶ Toločko's work is full of serious shortcomings; a sound response, which is also available on the Internet, was published by Andrij Hornjatkevyč in 2000.

his readers, based on a particularly ill-minded sort of rhetoric,³⁷ that "this is the colloquial language that exists in reality and is still common in the Ivano-Frankivsk region," and that, moreover, this is the language that is now being imposed by the Galicians on the rest of Ukraine. One of the correct responses to such assertions is offered by a non-anti-Galician participant of a forum on "Galician imperialism," who encourages those who constantly attack the alleged Galician linguistic expansionism to "give examples, where absurd Galician dialectal elements are really imposed as the norm of the actively used Ukrainian language" ("Dybil" 2006);³⁸ as might be expected, no convincing response has been posted so far. Obviously, "Angilov" 2005, who offers a parody of the general anti-Galician and anti-Ukrainian discourse and its steadily repeated stereotypes, is perfectly right when he comes to the conclusion that they ultimately originate "in the Soviet arsenal." Apart from the wide use of the traditional images of internal and external enemies, this also holds for the view of the Ukrainian language as the "Westernizing' Galician language" ("навязывание украинского, в действительности же – 'западенского' Галицкого языка"). Attacks on Galician Ukrainian are, in fact, most often just a part of a general anti-Ukrainian³⁹ and eventually an anti-European program that aims at the destruction of a separate, non-Russian Ukrainian identity and is pursued in the name of pan-Russian concepts such as "the united people," "the common roots," "the common history," "the common language" ("Angilov" 2005).⁴⁰ Another author, Ihor Losiv 1998 (cf. also Hrabovs'kyj 2005), correctly writes about various anti-Galician intellectual "phantoms" that are widespread among anti-Ukrainian authors.⁴¹ He correctly points out that, in this discourse, Galicians are usually assigned the role of the Western, Catholic, or simply alien tempters of the Ukrainian people, of an alien, "non-Ukrainian" force that tore the Ukrainians away from the pan-Russian unity.⁴² Yet, as Losiv states, the creators of this myth are unable to explain how the

^{37 &}quot;Нет, нет уважаемый читатель, это не язык племени ням-ням, не вымышленный диалект из произведений какого-нибудь фантаста и даже не марсианская речёвка. Это реально существующий, разговорный язык, который и поныне бытует в Прикарпатье" (Jurčenko 2007).

^{38 &}quot;Приведите примеры, где 'Навязываются (в том числе и телевидением) галицкие нелепые диалектизмы, в качестве нормы живого украинского языка.'"

³⁹ Yet these anti-Ukrainian authors are not necessarily Russian, as stated by "Angilov."

^{40 &}quot;И конечно же - о туповатых, упрямых с предательским характером, до смешного влюбленных в сало, с языком, которого вроде вовсе и нет – пародией на русский, мало на что самостоятельно способных - украинцах... [...] Так российскими журналистами-политологами был придуман, а точнее и не придуман вовсе, а всего лишь взят из советского арсенала, образ врага, виноватого во всех невзгодах и бедах и российского и украинского народа - Запад во главе с США, и их украинско-фашистские прихвостни – вояки УПА-оуновци-бандеровцы, украинские, в советское время буржуазные, а сейчас (то же самое) просто – националисты и другие движения, которые уж если не за Россию – значит за США. А также навязывание украинского, в действительности же - 'западенского' Галицкого языка. [...] Маскируясь притягательными лозунгами, вроде – 'единый народ,' общие корни,' общая история,' общий язык,' исконно (навеки) вместе,' нельзя разорвать единый народ' и т.п. апологеты российского империализма пытаются отнять у украинцев право на государственность, язык, территорию, и даже веру – собственную церковь" ("Angilov" 2005).

⁴¹ Yet these anti-Ukrainian authors are not necessarily Russian, as stated by Losiv.

^{42 &}quot;Складовою (а де-не-де центральною) частиною цього міфа є галицький міф, який тісно

"Galician seed" could ultimately spread throughout Ukraine, and they stubbornly ignore the fact that Ukrainians from outside Galicia have been struggling for the maintenance of a separate Ukrainian identity, too.⁴³ In essence, it actually turns out that in the typical anti-Galician discourse, virtually everything that is depicted as Galician is just Ukrainian.⁴⁴

As regards the Ukrainian language in particular, anti-Galician attitudes often result from the observation that the Galicians were the first to realize that the sphere of the Ukrainian literary language should not be limited to belles lettres in the long run, but that a full-fledged standard language should be developed (Moser 2011: 303–331). The Galicians not only had the opportunity to make a serious contribution to the development of such a truly polyfunctional standard language in the Austrian Empire, they also made good use of it and started their efficient work on Ukrainian terminology and functional style. On the other hand, it is true that the Ukrainians under the Russian Empire suffered under the Valuev Circular of 1863 and the Ukase of Bad Ems of 1876, which limited the use of Ukrainian in the Russian Empire. But it is also true that, beginning with Pantelejmon Kuliš (Moser 2011a, see pp. 305–336 in this volume), many leading Ukrainian intellectuals from the Russian Empire, and later from the Soviet Union, failed to recognize the significance of the Galician efforts, while their reservations, which were often based on a certain arrogance, were usually not convincing.

Despite all the anti-Galician attitudes, the Galician impact on the Ukrainian language has in fact been quite powerful, at least since the turn of the twentieth century (Ševel'ov 1966). Beginning at least with Stalin's rule, however, Soviet stigmatization of the Galicians as "bourgeois nationalists" or "banderovcy," along with the extremely restrictive and Russian-oriented Soviet language policy, as symbolized by the strictly imposed "orthographic" reforms of 1933 and 1946 (cf. Vakulenko 2007), helped weaken this process for decades. Yet it has never been

599

пов'язаний з ідеєю 'всемирного заговора' проти Росії, коли весь безлад в російській політиці і житті пояснюється діяльністью зарубіжних ворожих сил. Галичани в межах цієї психополітичної конструкції розглядаються як західні, католицькі, чужі решті України 'искусители' українського народу, 'изобретатели' українського націоналізму і навіть зовсім не українці, які на думку багатьох росіян, мали бути налаштовані проросійськи за визначенням" (Losiv 1998).

^{43 &}quot;Творцям міфу про 'галицьку заразу' важко признатися самим собі, що ніколи не проросло б галицьке зернятко по всій країні, якби не було для цього благодатного грунту, психологічного, мовного, політичного, культурного, якби Велика Україна не визнавала Галичину своєю органічною частиною, не визнавала б такою на якомусь глибинному підсвідомому рівні, незважаючи на навіювані (досить цілеспрямовано!) побутові штампи - 'бандерівці' і 'западенці.' [...] Між тим, і до теперішнього часу в російській періодиці панує думка: якби не галичани, то не було б проблем з Малоросією, чи з УССР, чи з південно-західним краєм, чи 'прекрасным югом России.' І чомусь не згадують (якщо знають), що навіть тоді, коли Галичина перебувала за межами Великої Український дисидентський рух б0-х, 70-х років, то помітив би серед репресованих українських громадських діячів, письменників, вчених, студентів дуже велику кількість тих, хто народився і виховувався на сході України. Та значно простіше і приємніше 'списувати' все на Галичину" (Losiv 1998).

^{44 &}quot;Все, що російська свідомість схильна кваліфікувати як галицьке, по суті є просто українським. [...] Галичину неможливо відділити від України, як і Україну від Галичини" (Losiv 1998).

the "Galician dialect" that has contributed to the development of Modern Standard Ukrainian; it has always been the Galician *variant* of the Modern Ukrainian Standard Language. In the post-Soviet era, it is again not the "Galician dialect" that has come into play but the *Galician variant of Modern Standard Ukrainian*, as it has been partly preserved and developed in Galicia and within the Galician diaspora, particularly in North America. In the end, there is nothing amazing about the fact that the Galician variant of Ukrainian is now in fact playing a certain role in the general development of Ukrainian again. Given the broad functionality of Ukrainian in Galicia, as opposed to most other regions of Ukraine, it is not very likely that any anti-Galician, anti-Ukrainian, and ultimately anti-European attitudes, as encountered in the sources we have been dealing with, will stop that process in the near future.

LANGUAGE POLICY IN CONTEMPORARY UKRAINE (25 FEBRUARY 2010–25 FEBRUARY 2011)

The language situation

Ukrainian is a "large language" inasmuch as it is the official language of the secondlargest European country, with a population of roughly 48,457,100 inhabitants.¹ At the same time, it is a "small language" as compared to Russian, which is the official language of the Russian Federation, one of the two official languages of the Republic of Belarus, and widespread in Ukraine. The coexistence of Ukrainian, Russian, and other languages on the territory of Ukraine has been an object of language policy for centuries. This has not changed under the presidency of Viktor Janukovyč, whose inauguration took place on 25 February 2010.

According to the most recent Ukrainian population census of 2001, "ethnic Ukrainians make up 77.8 percent of the population. Other significant ethnic groups are Russians (17.3 percent), Belarusians (0.6 percent), Moldovans (0.5 percent), Crimean Tatars (0.5 percent), Bulgarians (0.4 percent), Hungarians (0.3 percent), Romanians (0.3 percent), Poles (0.3 percent), Jews (0.2 percent), Armenians (0.2 percent), Greeks (0.2 percent), and Tatars (0.2 percent)" ("Opinion": 4).

Commentators frequently emphasize that "Ukraine is a multiethnic state" ("Opinion": 4). This multiethnicity is, however, of a very specific character, inasmuch as Russians make up 17.3 percent (or, in absolute numbers, roughly 8.3 mln) of the population, whereas the share of all other, officially more than 130 minority groups is lower than 5 percent, with as few as 0.6 percent Belarusians constituting the largest of them. As for the alleged number of 130 minorities, the Kyiv sociolinguist Volodymyr Skljar has rightly pointed out that it is due to the use of Soviet census lists in compiling the results of the Ukrainian population census of 2001. Many of the so-called nationalities of Ukraine consist only of some individual Soviet migrants, while only nineteen ethnoses fulfill the conventional criteria for the definition of a nationality (see "Masenko: Koly"). Ukraine is thus generally and not unreasonably regarded as a country divided first and foremost along the parameters of Ukrainians vs. Russians and of the Ukrainian vs. the Russian language.

According to the 2001 census, 67.5 percent of the citizens of Ukraine declared Ukrainian as their "ridna mova" (roughly, "native language"), while 29.6 percent regarded Russian as their "ridna mova." It is thus obvious that although Ukrainian is the sole official language of Ukraine, a "considerable number of ethnic Ukrainians and persons belonging to non-Russian minorities have a command of the Russian language and even consider it to be their 'native language'" ("Opinion": 4). Ukrainian-Russian bilingualism is widespread in the country.

Since the breakup of the Soviet Union in 1991, the languages of Ukraine have been much more an object of political propaganda than of concrete political

601

¹ My sincere thanks to Dr. habil. Lubor Matejko for inviting me to prepare a lecture on contemporary Ukrainian language politics. The result of my studies was a monograph (Moser 2013); this article is a preliminary survey.

measures. A poll conducted in 2008 revealed that under the previous presidency of Viktor Juščenko (who fostered the spread of Ukrainian in the country), the number of those who regarded Ukrainian as their sole native language decreased by almost 8 percent in the brief period between May 2006 and October 2008. At the same time, however, the number of those who regarded Russian alone as their native language also decreased by more than 4 percent. The category that increased by more than 13 percent was made up of Ukrainians who declared both Ukrainian and Russian to be their native languages.

	May 2006	June 2007	October 2008
Ukrainian	51.4	52.0	43.7
Russian	30.7	25.7	26.0
Both Ukrainian and Russian	15.6	21.5	28.7
Other language	1.1	0.9	0.9
Hard to say	0.6	0.5	0.7

Survey ("Opytuvannja")

As is widely known, the vitality of the Ukrainian language depends strongly on the regional factor. As the following poll on "ridna mova" reveals, the prevalently Ukrainian-speaking west remained quite stable even during the above-mentioned, otherwise highly dynamic period. Significant shifts occurred in all other regions.

Which language ("Jaka mova")

April 2006:	June 2007:	October 2008:
West: 90.3 U, 3.8 R,	West: 91.3 U, 3.2 R, 3.2R/U	West: 89.9 U, 3.5 R,
3.3 R/U	Center: 69.0 U, 10.7 R, 19.5	4.9 R/U
Center: 72.0 U, 13.0 R, 14.3	R/U	Center: 59.6 U, 0.1 R, 29.1
R/U	South: 28.9 U, 43.7 R, 25.5	R/U
South: 27.7 U, 52.0 R, 17.0	R/U	South: 13.9 U, 48.0 R, 35.4
R/U	East: 21.2 U, 45.2 R,	R/U
East: 21.3 U, 54.0 R,	32.2 R/U	East: 15.2 U, 44.4 R,
23.5 R/U		39.0 R/U

Observers have frequently pointed out that the concept of "ridna mova" is "rather ambiguous" inasmuch as, "according to non-governmental sources, it has been understood by the persons filling out the census to mean either the language in which I think and can speak fluently (34 percent), the language of the nationality to which I belong (32 percent), the language my parents speak (24 percent), or the language I use most often (8 percent)" ("Opinion": 4). Although the category does not really reflect actual language use, it should not be prematurely dismissed: those who declare a language to be their "ridna mova" do to a certain extent express

their loyalty to that language. Even if some individuals who declare Ukrainian to be their "native language" prevalently use Russian, they often tend to favor a policy in support of the Ukrainian language ("Kulyk": 85). European institutions such as the Venice Commission, however, recommend the dismissal of the category "ridna mova" because they maintain that "in line with applicable international standards... the principle of individual free choice should prevail" ("Opinion": 4). Supporters of the Russian language often share this view because they are convinced that Russian is more widely spoken in the country than Ukrainian.

Actual language usage, however, is not a category easily to be dealt with either. Recent surveys have demonstrated that in everyday communication 40.3 percent of the citizens of Ukraine speak only Russian or prevalently Russian, as compared to 35.3 percent who speak only Ukrainian or prevalently Ukrainian. No fewer than 20.4 percent, however, claim that they use Ukrainian on par with Russian, and 3.1 percent say that they speak so-called "Surzhyk" (a mixed Ukrainian-Russian language). Only 0.9 percent use languages other than Ukrainian or Russian ("Masenko").

If Ukraine is a bilingual country, then this bilingualism is clearly asymmetric. An experiment at the turn of the twenty-first century revealed that 90.6 percent of Ukrainophones living in Kyiv switched to Russian when addressed in that language. At the same time, when Russophones were addressed in Ukrainian, 95.3 of them would answer in Russian ("Masenko mova"). Moreover, as soon as a Russophone joined two people speaking Ukrainian, in 74.8 percent of cases the latter would switch to Russian, as compared to only 0.7 percent who were ready to do so when a Ukrainophone joined a Russophone group (ibid.). The results of these experiments might look different today, but they are nevertheless indicative.

A recent poll by the Research & Branding Group (August 2011) revealed, on the basis of personal interviews, that at home 47 percent of Ukraine's inhabitants prevalently use Ukrainian (95 percent in the west), 37 percent use Russian (66 percent in the south and east), and 15 percent use Ukrainian and Russian equally. At the workplace, 45 percent prevalently use Ukrainian, 35 percent Russian, and 18 percent both languages equally.

A poll conducted by the Razumkov Center in the same period asked respondents to pick only one language of preference for several domains. For everyday communication, 53.3 percent named Ukrainian, 44.5 percent named Russian, and only 1.4 percent another language. In public places, 49.2 percent use Ukrainian and 48.2 percent Russian (ibid.). Obviously, Ukrainians still avoid speaking Ukrainian in the public sphere as a result of language policies applied in the past, when speaking Ukrainian as such was stigmatized as "separatism," "(bourgeois) nationalism," etc. in the Russian Empire as well as in the Soviet Union. Among inhabitants of Ukraine, 56.6 percent believe that every citizen should know the Ukrainian language, while 38.2 percent do not share this view ("Stanovyšče").

The Ukrainian language did witness a certain revival in independent Ukraine and, as a result, political activists who favor Russian have bemoaned the "forcible Ukrainization" of the country. Ordinary citizens usually think differently: in 2010,

603

only 7 percent of the citizens of Ukraine believed that the language issue ranged among their 25 most important problems, and more than half the population claimed that the language question, in particular the status of the Russian language, is of no current interest to them at all; 41.2 percent were satisfied with the current language situation ("7% ukrajinciv").

Among inhabitants of Ukraine, 88 percent in the western oblasts and 65 percent in the central oblasts believe that Ukrainian should remain the only official language of the country. By contrast, roughly 76 percent in the south and east hold that there should be two official languages. Interestingly, however, the number of those who supported the idea of two official languages decreased dramatically from 59 percent to 49 percent between 2009 and 2011 ("Stanovyšče"). Media controlled by leading spokesmen of the Party of Regions disseminate the absurd assertion that "U.S. experts confirm that Russian is the native language of 83 percent of Ukrainians" ("Vadžra").

The Russian language maintains an extremely strong position in the linguistic landscape of Ukraine. Contrary to the myth that no Russian schools and only few Russophone cultural institutions were left in Ukraine under Viktor Juščenko's presidency, in all of Ukraine in the school year 2008/9, 1,199 state schools had Russian as their language of instruction, and 1,628 were bilingual. A total of 779,423 pupils were taught in Russian, 1,292,518 more learned Russian as a subject, and 165,433 more learned it on a facultative basis. Specialists in Russian language and literature were trained in 31 schools. Ninety theaters of Ukraine had a Russianlanguage repertoire, and 25 more were bilingual. Russians in Ukraine had close to 100 social organizations that received funding from Ukrainian institutions ("Mazuka – Tyščenko"). In 2010/11, 82.3 percent of all pupils and 81.2 of all first-graders were taught in Ukrainian ("Stanovyšče"), but the regional divide was strong. In Odesa oblast, 73.5 percent of all pupils and 69.7 percent of all first-graders were taught in Ukrainian; in Luhansk oblast the figures were 48.5 percent and 43.8 percent. In the Crimea, there were only seven schools with Ukrainian as the language of instruction; in the city of Sevastopol there is only one. As a result, many citizens of Ukraine do not really know the official language (ibid.).

Even under Viktor Juščenko's presidency, "in Ukraine, in all spheres of public life, except for the spheres of education, advertising, cinemas, and theaters, Russian is dominant.... Almost 30 percent of film copies were shown in Russian." The most popular programs on prime-time television are predominantly in Russian. The share of Russian-language vs. Ukrainian-language books is 9:1. Only in the educational sphere does Ukrainian still dominate, except for the larger cities in the east and the south of the country. In 2010, 63 percent of all newspapers and magazines were edited in Russian only; in 2011 the share reached 66 percent (Ukrainian: 32 percent and 30 percent, respectively). The remaining media were "bilingual," but "bilingual" newspapers tend to be almost exclusively Russophone. Altogether, only about 13 percent of all print media copies sold in Ukraine were written in Ukrainian (ibid.; see also "Doslidžennja"). Ukrainian television does offer Ukrainophone advertisements, news, discussions, and some documentaries (the latter three are also offered in Russian). Ukrainophone films or entertainment on Ukrainian television channels are, however, rarities (see also "Stanovyšče").²

The status of Ukrainian as the sole official language of Ukraine is secured by the Ukrainian Constitution, so the establishment of Russian as a second official language is not a politically viable option at the moment. The advocates of the Russian language have therefore developed different strategies and tried to make use of the European Charter for Regional and Minority Languages. Another important factor that should not be forgotten is neighboring Russia, which officially regards as "compatriots" ("sootečestvenniki") not only Russians but all speakers of Russian and, moreover, all those born in the Soviet Union. Russia has repeatedly referred to the European Charter for Regional and Minority Languages in order to call for an elevation of the status of Russian in Ukraine. Russia itself, however, has never ratified that document, and at the same time has recently exerted enormous pressure on the Ukrainian minority (the second-largest minority) in the Russian Federation.

The president and his team assess the language situation

Even prior to the breakup of the Soviet Union, the "Law of the Ukrainian Soviet Socialist Republic on Languages in the Ukrainian Soviet Socialist Republic" (1989) established Ukrainian as the official language, while simultaneously attributing to Russian the role of the language of "interethnic communication." Although this latter notion made sense only in the Soviet context, the law of 1989 is still in force (as of early 2012). Moreover, Ukraine's Constitution of 1996 designates Ukrainian as the sole official language ("Opinion"). Although Ukrainian law stipulates that every state official must know the official language, an astounding number of leading Ukrainian politicians are either unable or unwilling to use it in public (beginning with Prime Minister Mykola Azarov).

President Janukovyč's attitude to the Soviet past is highlighted by the fact that in 2011 he signed a law stipulating the public use of red banners as a symbol of the victory over fascism ("Janukovič podnjal"). Regarding the president's attitude toward the Ukrainian language, a ninety-word official autobiographical note of 2004 with as many as twelve spelling errors has become legendary, particularly the spelling of Janukovyč's own official academic title as "προφφecop" ("Viktorovyč").³ Janukovyč does, however, deserve credit for having acquired a certain command of the official language. In television interviews, he characteristically uses both Ukrainian and Russian.

During his election campaign of 2009, Janukovyč first promised to make Russian the second official language of Ukraine and declared that 226 votes were needed to

605

² On the Internet, Russian plays an important role among users in Ukraine. Regarding growth of popularity, Ukrainophone Wikipedia ranked among the first three in the world in August 2011 (ibid.) and even second (after Chinese) by December 2011 ("Perohanyč").

³ The name of the author of this article is "Jana Viktorovyč" (obviously a pseudonym derived from "Viktor Janukovyč").

adopt a bill providing for the introduction of Russian as a second official language ("Janukovyč zrobyt"). This was wrong: in order to make Russian the second official language, the Constitution of Ukraine would have to be changed; not 226 but 300 votes in parliament would be needed, and a referendum would have to be held. Later on, during the same campaign, Janukovyč suggested only a "series of bills" in favor of Russian. Even so, some of his fellow party members have continued to reiterate the promise that Russian would be made the second official language.

Soon after his inauguration, at a meeting with Taras Shevchenko National Prize winners in Kyiv on 9 March 2010, Janukovyč declared that "in Ukraine the Ukrainian language will develop as the sole official language." At the same time, he indicated the role of the European Charter for Regional and Minority Languages ("Janukovyč i našym"). On the "Day of Ukrainian Literature and Language" in 2010, Janukovyč declared that "the Ukrainian language is the soul of the nation, the greatest spiritual treasure, as passed on to us by our ancestors." He promised that "the Ukrainian language, as an immense treasure of our people, will be a consolidating force of our society and will reliably be defended for the sake of our state" ("Ukrainskij jazyk").

In March 2011, Janukovyč's adviser Hanna Herman asserted that the oligarchs are primarily Russian-speaking and that "mentally Ukrainian people" have no financial or political impact in Ukraine ("German: oligarxi"). At the Thirteenth Assembly of the World Association of the Russian-Language Press in Kyiv in June 2011, she stated, in a similar vein, that the assembly was so generously funded because three hundred journalists would "write and speak about Ukraine to a 200-million audience" and that this would mean "free advertising," whereas "in the media world, those who write and read in Ukrainian are very weak" ("Janukovič profinansiroval").

The messages of the president and his team vary considerably, depending on their audience. Herman often plays the role of the Ukrainian patriot. But what is behind it? Under President Viktor Juščenko, there was a state program for the development and functioning of the Ukrainian language for the years 2004–10. It was not renewed under Janukovyč's presidency ("VRU"). Instead, Ukraine's Cabinet of Ministers appropriated 1.6 million UHN for measures to enact the European Charter for Regional and Minority Languages in the country ("Ukrajina vytratyt'").

Russia

In recent years, official Russia has repeatedly commented on and interfered in Ukrainian politics. It is generally known that the president, then prime minister and again president of Russia, Vladimir Putin, described the breakup of the Soviet Union as the "greatest geopolitical disaster of the last century" in 2005 and referred to Ukraine "as an 'artificial' entity with lands given to it by Russia and the USSR" in 2008. At a conference on "The Russian Language on the Boundary of Millennia," Putin's wife, Ljudmila, maintained that "the confirmation of the borders of the Russian world is also the assertion and strengthening of Russia's national interests. The Russian language unifies the people of the Russian world—the aggregate of those who speak and think in that language. The borders of the Russian world

extend along the borders of Russian-language usage" ("Gorham": 28). In June 2007, Vladimir Putin created the "Russian World Foundation" ("Fond Russkij mir") by presidential decree (ibid., 30). "Russkij mir" has organized or co-organized several conferences in Ukraine. In November 2010, "Russkij mir" held a conference at the Drahomanov Pedagogical University in Kyiv under the more programmatic title "Ukrainian-Russian Cultural and Linguistic Space: From Opposition to Unity" ("Vslid"). In March 2011, Viktor Sorokin, director of Russia's Institute of CIS Countries, declared that the Russian Federation had spent more than 1.2 million USD for the support of "compatriots" in Ukraine ("MZS RF."). The Russian Orthodox Church is a strong ally of "Russkij mir." At Janukovyč's inauguration ceremony, Kirill, patriarch of the Russian Orthodox Church and a major agent of "Russkij mir," was present in order to bless the new presidency "in an unusual demonstration of the new Ukrainian leader's close ties with Russia" ("Russian Patriarch blesses"). Kirill's strongest ally in Ukraine is the Odesa-based Metropolitan Ahafanhel of the Ukrainian Orthodox Church of the Moscow Patriarchate, who purportedly said in June 2011 that "Lviv [a largely Ukrainian-speaking city with comparatively few remnants of the Soviet past] is our Chechnia" and that "our common homeland is the USSR." Ahafanhel has been a member of the Party of Regions since 2006 ("Odesskij mitropolit"; "Mitropolit").

Dmytro Tabačnyk and the educational sphere

The fact that Janukovyč appointed Dmytro Tabačnyk minister of education was a clear signal in terms of language policy. Tabačnyk's "name is associated with everything anti-Ukrainian" ("Gorčinskaja"). Tabačnyk has written, inter alia, that western Ukrainians are "lackeys who have hardly learned to wash their hands," that in Ukraine a "struggle between the Roman-Orthodox-Galician and the Russian-Orthodox ethnos" is taking place ("Prezydent"), and that Ukrainian nationalists of the World War II period were "murderers, traitors and accomplices of Hitler's executioners" ("Kuzio"). By contrast, Stalin was, in Tabačnyk's view, "a victor" ("U novomu"). At the same time, Tabačnyk maintained that "democratic revolutions were CIA conspiracies and the 2005–2010 Yushchenko administration received its orders from the US embassy" ("Kuzio"). When a politician from the Tymošenko Bloc confronted him with his former statements about the lack of any foundations for the existence of a Ukrainian state, Tabačnyk replied that he considered any "hunting for political views of three or four years ago" counterproductive ("Tabačnik otvetil").

Tabačnyk's appointment aroused mass protests that have not ceased to date, and rumors of his dismissal have repeatedly been encouraged even by the Ukrainian president and prime minister themselves ("Prezydent rozkrytykuvav," "Tabačnik – na vyxod" etc.). In April 2011, Tabačnyk declared that student protests against him were financed from abroad ("Students'ki akciji"). In May 2011, he claimed on the Russian radio station "Exo Moskvy" that Ambassador Jon Tefft of the United States had attempted to convince him of the importance of independent testing (of university entrance exams) because he wished to reduce Ukraine "to the moronic level of equatorial countries" ("SŠA"). By March 2010, Tabačnyk had repeatedly presented himself as "a strong advocate of Russian as Ukraine's second official language." Therefore, "fears [were] running high that Tabachnyk [would] attempt to rewrite history à la Russian Prime Minister Vladimir Putin's refashioning—many say whitewashing—of that nation's history. People [were] also worr[ied] that Tabachnyk [would] push for greater use of the Russian language" ("Gorčinskaja"). All those fears were justified.

Tabačnyk tried to initiate a draft law on higher education that has not been realized to date (28 February 2012). He did, however, introduce new rules for admission to university studies (which again supported corruption, a phenomenon widespread in the Ukrainian academic sphere), eliminate compulsory tests of Ukrainian language knowledge for students at all levels, and instead decree that internal testing be organized in six languages ("Misija"). Tabačnyk clearly introduced this latter reform in order to promote Russian, but he suffered a defeat. Only in Crimea, the city of Sevastopol, Donetsk, and Luhansk oblast did the majority of pupils choose Russian for independent testing. Nation-wide, 81.3 percent chose Ukrainian for testing in mathematics, with a percentage of 96 percent for Kyiv and no less than 81.3 percent for Dnipropetrovsk (Luhansk oblast: 32.2, Donetsk oblast: 27.8 percent, the Crimea: 5.8 percent, the city of Sevastopol: 3.2 percent) ("Stanovyšče").⁴

Tabačnyk argued that history textbooks should contain only "indisputable facts," for instance, that the "Great Patriotic War" was distinct from World War II and that Stalin was "a victor" ("U novomu"). On 19 May 2010, he announced that a common Ukrainian-Russian guide for teachers of history was to be prepared and would be published in October or November 2010. On 26 August of that year, a new fifth-grade textbook, *An Introduction to the History of Ukraine*, which conformed to the minister's expectations, was published.

In Ukrainian schools, more attention was to be paid to Russian literature and less time devoted to the study of the Ukrainian language ("Tabačnyk vykyne" etc.).

Tabačnyk (who speaks Ukrainian well) has occasionally tried to convince the public of his concern about the quality of the Ukrainian language. According to him, "experts of the Ministry of Education" had found that "the language heard on some programs is full of elements of Surzhyk, contaminated by incorrect stresses or changes of endings that make the Ukrainian language unattractive and create a stereotype of its instability among citizens" ("Tabačnyk ne zadovolenyj"). First and foremost, however, Tabačnyk is promoting Russian under the slogan of a "free choice of languages" ("Tabačnyk xytro").

In March 2011, Tabačnyk emphasized that Ukrainian legislation allows parents to participate in choosing their children's language of instruction and added that "families need to be more energetic" in establishing Russophone schools and

⁴ Vadym Kolesničenko's organization "Russian-speaking Ukraine" reacted with a "civic campaign" titled "Did you choose the Russian language test?" ("Štohrin"). The promoters encouraged their addressees to post on their websites and distribute via the Internet the "banner" of the campaign, which reproduced a well-known Soviet poster featuring a Red Army soldier reporting for duty in World War II. Choosing the Russian-language test for external independent testing was thus equated to fulfilling one's "Soviet" duty and going to war.

preschool institutions. At the same time, Tabačnyk and his crew founded new Russian-language schools in Kyiv ("U Kyjevi," "Tabačnyk radyt").

Tabačnyk called it his "personal victory" that after seventeen years, "all-Ukrainian so-called 'Olympic' contests of Russian language and literature" were reintroduced ("SŠA"). In early May 2011 it turned out that for the first time, the 11th "Petro Jacyk International Ukrainian Language Competition" was organized without any involvement of the Ministry of Education ("Jaščenko"). The ministry declared that it was concentrating on a new "International Taras Ševčenko Language and Literature Competition" for pupils and students created by a presidential decree on 30 September 2010. The winners would not be awarded solely for their excellent command of Ukrainian, but the contest was to foster "the elevation of the knowledge of the Ukrainian language and literature, of the native languages and literatures, the fostering of love for the languages of the Ukrainian people among the younger generation, and the guarantee of their comprehensive development" ("Tabačnyk zaminyt"). This is another good example of Tabačnyk's policy of "multilingualism" and free choice of languages ("Tabačnik xočet"), whose actual purpose is the mass re-Russification of the schools of Ukraine.

In August 2010, Tabačnyk quietly eliminated a government agency for the fostering of education in the native language ("Za nakazom"). At the same time, he provided funding for thirty Ukrainian students who were to participate in the Russian summer camp "Seliger," as organized by the expressly pro-Kremlin and in fact Russian nationalist organization "Naši" ("Svoboda"). In mid-September 2011, he headed a delegation of four hundred Ukrainians driving to Moscow for the "Days of Ukrainian Education and Scholarship in the Russian Federation," the first such event ever to take place. During the meeting, about twenty bilateral Ukrainian-Russian agreements in the educational sphere were to be signed ("400 ukrajins'kyx osvitjan").

In December 2010, Tabačnyk's ministry issued a Concept of Language Education. Typically, its major slogan was that "free choice of language of instruction is an important characteristic of a democratic society and of the concept of language education in Ukraine" ("Ta"). To date, the law has not been adopted.

The minister's activities in the field of the so-called "optimization" of Ukrainian schools have led to the closure of schools, particularly of Ukrainophone schools in prevalently Russian-speaking areas. Massive protests followed ("Na Luhanščyni," "Dovženko," "Kommodova," "Fedorčuk," "Doneckie školy,""Ukrajinci Sevastopolja"). In the Ukrainian parliament, Tabačnyk argued that these measures were inevitable owing to the demographic situation ("Tabačnyk: školy"). According to him, only Russian-language schools were closed in Donetsk ("Tabačnyk kaže"). In early July 2011, he himself declared that 114 schools had been closed throughout Ukraine ("Tabačnyk zajavyv"). In the fall of 2011, he reported that 115 schools had been closed in 2010 and 200 in 2011; 26 of them were located in Donetsk oblast ("U Donec'ku"). Regarding school № 111 in Donetsk, it turned out in late January 2012 the Voroshylov raion court overruled the Donetsk city council, finding that the closure of that Ukrainophone school was illegal (ibid.). The Donetsk city council appealed the decision on 30 January 2012 ("Vlada"), and the outcome is still unclear.

Tabačnyk next targeted preschool institutions. His fellow party member Vadym Kolesničenko (see below) was his most efficient ally. On 8 September 2011, Kolesničenko presented the intermediate results of his project "Legal aspects of the organization of Russophone instruction in the preschools and schools of the country," which explained how parents could make preschool institutions Russophone. By that time, Kolesničenko had already distributed fifty thousand copies of a leaflet offering advice in this regard ("Prezentovano"). On 10 November 2011, Prime Minister Mykola Azarov submitted a draft law "On Preschool Education" prepared by the Cabinet of Ministers, in particular by Tabačnyk's Ministry of Education, Science, Youth and Sport, which aimed at the introduction of parental "free choice" of language of instruction in preschools ("Verxrada"). The draft did not pass the Verkhovna Rada. However, in accordance with a very typical pattern of language policy under Viktor Janukovyč's presidency, Maksym Luc'kyj, who had earlier worked on Tabačnyk's law "On Higher Education," and Vadym Kolesničenko submitted their draft law № 9714 "On the Making of Amendments to the Law of Ukraine on Preschool Education" (16 January 2012), which almost literally reiterated the earlier draft ("Rehionaly"), differing from it only inasmuch as the focus was now on "the guarantee of access to preschool education in regional and minority languages" ("Ekspert vbačaje").

With Tabačnyk as minister of education, it turned out in early 2011 that not enough Ukrainian-language textbooks were available in many areas of Ukraine. In Chernivtsi oblast, for instance, elementary schools with Ukrainian as the language of instruction received only 82 percent of the requisite primers, 74 percent of mathematics textbooks, and 66 percent of Ukrainian language textbooks. By contrast, schools with Russian as the language of instruction were supplied with 100 percent of the textbooks needed ("Na Bukovyni"). The General Procuracy of Ukraine later confirmed that there had been serious shortcomings in the ministry's work: 171,000 more textbooks should have been printed. Interestingly enough, 86,400 more copies than needed were printed of the fifth-grade history textbook that had been rewritten according to Tabačnyk's views. Moreover, 65,000 more Russianlanguage primers than needed were published ("Tabačnyk zapevnjaje"; "Tabačnyk nadrukuvav"). At the beginning of the academic year 2011/12, Ukrainian pupils were again provided with only 50 to 90 percent of the textbooks they required, depending on the region ("Nardep").

On 30 August 2011 in Dnipropetrovsk, Tabačnyk referred to a study published at the International Economic Forum in Davos and compared the rankings of Ukraine and Russia, stating that "Ukraine ranks 56th, and we 57th" ("Tabačnik ogovorilsja"). Given Tabačnyk's policies, this reference to Russia as "we"⁵ may have been more than just a gaffe.

5 In fact, Ukraine ranked 18 places higher than Russia (ibid.).

The electronic media

Under Viktor Juščenko's presidency, the dubbing or subtitling of foreign films was made mandatory. A few weeks after his inauguration, Tabačnyk stated that fewer people were going to the movies because of dubbing ("Tabačnik vystupaet"). Soon afterwards, not only stakeholders but even Ukraine's minister of culture confirmed that the opposite was true ("Iz-za ukrainskogo," "Minkul'tury"). In August 2010, Olena Bondarenko of the Party of Regions, first deputy chair of the parliamentary Committee on Freedom of Speech and Information and head of the parliamentary Subcommittee on Television and Radio Broadcasting of the Committee on Freedom of Speech and Information, submitted a draft law intended to eliminate the 50-percent quota for Ukrainian music on television and radio programs ("Rada maje namir"). The draft law received preliminary adoption by the Verkhovna Rada on 21 February 2011 ("Rada skasovuje") and final adoption on 3 November 2011 ("Stanovyšče"). Henceforth there were to be no quotas for music from Ukraine, and quotas for Ukrainian audiovisual products were to be lowered from 50 to 25 percent (ibid.; see also "Rada znyzyla"). Volodymyr Lytvyn, the speaker of the Verkhovna Rada, hesitated to sign the law and submitted it to the Committee on Freedom of Speech and Information, not to the president ("Lytvyn"). Meanwhile, the head of the committee, who strongly opposed the law, was dismissed, and a successor was not appointed until February 2012. The law has not yet passed the Verkhovna Rada.

Vadym Kolesničenko, the leading specialist on the language question in the Party of Regions

Vadym Kolesničenko has been the most active politician in the field of Ukrainian language policy to favor Russian ("and other regional languages", as some would add). After Mr. Švec', a policeman from Odesa, was filmed forbidding a Ukrainianspeaking person to use "calf language" (in Russian, "teljačij jazyk"), it was Kolesničenko who argued in January 2011 that the policeman should not have been fired because he had not attacked Ukrainian as such but only demanded that the individual not use "Surzhyk." Kolesničenko even added, "I would do the the same" ("Kolesničenko stav," "Serdjuk"). In November 2010, Kolesničenko had proclaimed that owing to "the nationalists...the Ukrainian language has turned into a garbage dump of Surzhyk surreptitiously occupied by anything and everything; hence we now have no literary language" ("Kolesničenko: Literaturnogo"). Back in February 2008, he had stated that no dissertations could be written in Russian, which prompted his interviewer to ask, "If you are unable to learn a related Slavic language, what kind of scholar are you?" Kolesničenko replied, "Why should I, having Russian as a native language, learn anything else?" ("Myxel'son"). This attitude perfectly reflects a widepread view among the Russian-speaking population of Ukraine.

According to Kolesničenko, "the language question in Ukraine has been raised for the past five years for one simple reason: the extinction of the Russian language and culture, the creation of a hostile image of Russia, the elimination of the history of the Great Patriotic War—all this was done solely to distance oneself from Russia to the utmost and to turn Ukraine into a buffer between Russia and Europe." In

611

his view, "our so-called political elite was not concerned about the future of the Ukrainian people and Ukraine. They filled the order that they had been paid for, and they simply did their work for their money. Language was only one of the instruments in the struggle against Russia" ("Kolesničenko Press Conference"). What Kolesničenko constantly seeks in the Ukrainian context are "nationalists" and "fascists." According to him—and here one sees very clearly that Kolesničenko is not a historian, although he has tried to present himself as such more than once—an "ethnocratic kind of state organization was typical of the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries—language, nationality, the slant of the eyes, the curvature of the eyebrows. We went through all this in the 1930s" (ibid.). In a more recent press conference, Kolesničenko reiterated this sheer nonsense ("Kolesničenko Press Conference 2").

Kolesničenko has argued repeatedly that more than eighty laws or, at least since January 2012, even "about a hundred laws forbid using any language other than Ukrainian in Ukraine" ("Kolesničenko Press Conference 2"). What he usually adds in this context is that "we do not protect languages; we protect human rights" (ibid.). The international document to which Kolesničenko refers most often, the European Charter for Regional and Minority Languages, is however expressly concerned with the protection of languages, not human rights.

On the occasion of Ukraine's Independence Day in August 2011, Kolesničenko remarked that "independence did not yield anything; for twenty years we have just consumed whatever was received from the Soviet Union" ("Kolesničenko ob otmene"). Elsewhere, he characterized the period of independence as "twenty years of pauperism, poverty, internal conflicts, stagnation, and no forward movement at all" ("Kolesničenko Press Conference").

Kolesničenko is head of the "All-Ukrainian Coordinating Council of the Organization of Russian Compatriots," head of the "NGO 'Human Rights Public Movement 'Russian-Speaking Ukraine'" [*sic*: the name itself is a slogan],⁶ and has recently become co-chair of a newly established so-called "International Anti-Fascist Front" ("Kolesničenko Today Ukraine"). Back in December 2008, the then Russian president, Dmitrij Medvedev, honored Kolesničenko with the Order of Friendship for his "great contribution to cultural ties with the Russian Federation and the preservation of the Russian culture and language" ("Medvedev nagradil"). In the summer of 2009, when Ukrainian-Russian relations were in a particularly critical state, Kolesničenko was named Russian "Compatriot of the Year" ("Kolesničenko Compatriot"). In June 2011, Kolesničenko declared that deputies who did not support recent language draft laws should be "checked by psychiatrists before they get their parliamentary mandates" and that they were people "whom the state should get rid of" ("Kolesničenko predlagaet"). He has referred to "the Orange Plague" ("Kolesničenko Press Conference") that should be brought to the scaffold ("Kolesničenko – Prezident"). In April 2011, he added that "any country outside the

⁶ The slogan displayed on the site reads like a masterpiece of early twenty-first-century newspeak: "We stand for civil peace and interethnic accord" (see "Kolesničenko etc.").

borders of Ukrainian territory is interested in an unstable Ukraine" because "the territory of our country is quite large; there are various natural resources and good industrial potential" ("Kolesničenko priznalsja"). In mid-April 2011 he declared that some "citizens not particularly burdened by morals," social organizations, and parties in Ukraine that receive grants and income from abroad form "fifth columns...prepared to betray their homeland" and "put the country on the auction block" ("Kolesničenko V Ukrainu"). After anti-government demonstrations in November 2011, he let the protesters know that those who destabilize official activity would face "serious punishment"; that the "canon fodder that leads the way will suffer, and those who dispatch them will hide abroad: in Sicily, on Corsica, in offshore zones. From there they will watch the idiots being sent to jail pallets." Kolesničenko also warned the demonstrators that they were being "shoved under the butcher's axe, under the axe of the law like cannon fodder" (in Russian, cannon fodder is, literally, *pušečnoe mjaso* 'cannon meat') ("Ukraina Kolesničenko"; see also "Kolesničenko osvistali"). In 2011, Kolesničenko and his team began checking up on Western NGOs and cultural organizations in Ukraine ("Kosjukova"). The author concluded that most often, this "foreign, alien influence seeks to promote ideas of xenophobia, nationalism, and Russophobia. We call upon all responsible citizens of Ukraine to maintain a sober attitude toward this "invasion of aliens" ["нашестя чужинців"] and protect themselves from its antidemocratic manipulations" (ibid.).

Since 28 December 2011, the homepage of "Russian-Speaking Ukraine" has been displaying the headline "A simple recipe for the destruction of Ukraine. Made in USA." The article was allegedly written by a certain "Mixail Kornienko" (most probably a pseudonym: Mixail Kornienko is a popular Soviet cosmonaut). It suggests in all seriousness that the United States is responsible for alcoholism in Ukraine ("Kornienko").

When dealing personally with Western institutions, Kolesničenko presents himself as a human-rights activist fighting for oppressed "Russian-speaking Ukraine." Time and again, he uses quotations from documents issued by the OSCE, the UN, and the Council of Europe that he interprets in his own manner.

Kolesničenko misses no opportunity to search for "fascists" in Ukraine. In late January 2011, he argued once again that "attempts to cultivate one language, one religion, and one culture in our country mark the way to fascism" ("Kolesničenko: Ukraine"). As for Stalin, Kolesničenko says first and foremost that he was a "smarter and more colorful figure" than Stepan Bandera, the leader of the Ukrainian Insurgent Army who had been declared a "Hero of Ukraine" under Viktor Juščenko (ibid.). When citizens of Ukraine applied to change the names of villages and towns named after Soviet leaders such as Lenin or even Feliks Dzeržinskij, it was Kolesničenko who officially declared that he did not quite understand why this was necessary ("Ukrainians fight").

In April 2010 Kolesničenko, in his own words, "fulfilled his duty to the country" by not only wearing the so-called St. George Ribbon (actually, part of an order for extraordinary merit in wartime) on his chest but also by distributing "more than three hundred" ribbons among parliamentary deputies and journalists.

Kolesničenko asked the recipients to place them "in visible locations: on one's chest, in offices, cars, and houses in order to express the protest that has been silenced for five years" ("Kolesničenko Georgievskaja") and commented:

This is my contribution to the promotion "I remember, I am proud," which symbolizes the great victory of the Soviet people [!] in World War II.... Actions such as those permitted by our former government have annihilated our historical memory. This can be equated to betrayal of the fatherland and the people. It is therefore our patriotic duty today to honor the memory of those who defended our lives in bloodshed and fighting. And the main task of our campaign "I remember, I am proud" with the Ribbon of St. George is to unite all citizens around the idea of pride and respect for our ancestors. The aim is to raise the level of patriotism and heroism among the people. In particular, only nationally conscious citizens who honor the memory not of pseudoheroes and fascist collaborators but of the heroes who fought for our future will be able to develop the country, and it is on these principles that our official policy is based (ibid.).

In a video uploaded on 25 May 2011, Kolesničenko appears in an office with a St. George Ribbon very prominently displayed. In the video, he claims that "We are at war, and I do not want my comrade ["товарищ"] to stab me in the back with a knife" ("Kolesničenko my"). World War II has not ended for Vadym Kolesničenko. This "human-rights activist" has had a particularly strong impact on Ukraine's language policy during the last few years.

Language legislation

Like other advocates of Russian, Kolesničenko puts particular emphasis on the "European Charter for Regional and Minority Languages," as if Russian, spoken as a second or even first language throughout the country and strongly dominant in many spheres of activity, could seriously be treated as a regional or minority language. Ukraine's path toward ratification of the charter was complicated and chaotic ("Humenčyk"). Curiously enough, the Ukrainian version of the charter was not translated from either the authentic English or French text but from the Russian translation. After some failed attempts, the charter was ratified on 15 May 2003 but submitted to the Council of Europe only on 19 September 2005 under President Viktor Juščenko (ibid., 82). It came into force on 1 January 2006. According to the charter, the following languages were to be protected: Belarusian, Bulgarian, Gagauzian, Greek, Jewish [there is no such language, and it is not clear whether this should be Hebrew or Yiddish], Crimean Tatar, Moldovan, German, Polish, Russian, Romanian, Slovak, and Hungarian (ibid.). The situation was problematic from the outset, as Ukrainian national language legislation does not use the terms "regional language," "language group," and "minority language," as employed in the charter, but the terms "state language" and "languages of the national minorities" (ibid.). Advocates of European language legislation have often argued that Ukraine must adopt the terminology of the charter. At the same time, it is obvious that the charter is not above question. Many countries in Europe have never signed or ratified it, including traditional Western democracies such as France.

Language legislation was a very important sphere of political action under Viktor Juščenko's presidency. Between 23 November 2007 and 25 January 2008 alone, six different draft laws were proposed, with the first four submitted in less than a week, and three of them on the same day ("Bowring": 92–93). As for Viktor Janukovyč's presidency, the most important draft law was submitted on 7 September 2010. According to the propaganda of the party in power, the draft law was a reaction to the Council of Europe's "Assessment of the Application of the Charter in Ukraine" of 7 July 2010, in which a committee stated that "the linguistic landscape of Ukraine is unique from the Charter's perspective, as a language (Russian) which is not the state language is used by a large part of the population, including persons belonging to other national minorities" ("Application"). Vadym Kolesničenko pointed out that in the document "whole passages were cited" from the report provided by himself and his assistant Ruslan Bortnyk ("Kolesničenko: V ljuboj"). He referred to those passages in his public statements time and again. He never mentioned, though, that the committee actually found that Ukraine's undertakings regarding the charter had in fact been almost perfectly "fulfilled," particularly as regards Russian ("Application").

On 7 September 2010, shortly before the Ukrainian local elections of 31 October, the draft law "On Languages in Ukraine" (officially authored by Oleksandr Jefremov of the Party of Regions, Serhij Hrynevec'kyj of the Lytvyn Bloc, and Petro Symonenko of the Communist Party of Ukraine) was submitted to the Verkhovna Rada. Speaker Volodymyr Lytvyn nevertheless forwarded it to the National Academy of Sciences of Ukraine and to European institutions.

The draft law consistently uses the term "Russian and other regional languages," whereby any language that reaches the threshold of 10 percent in a given territorial unit would be used on par with the official language. "Acts of the central state bodies" would have to "be adopted in the State language and published officially in the Ukrainian and Russian languages." All passports and personal data should be recorded "in the State language and the Russian language" (ibid., 7–8). Throughout Ukraine, "the citizens of Ukraine shall have the right to obtain education in the State language and the Russian language" (ibid., 9), and the "study of the State language and the Russian language shall be ensured in all establishments of general secondary education" (ibid., 10). In the media (article 25) and in advertising (article 27), full freedom would be guaranteed according to the wishes of the owners (ibid., 11-12). Moreover, "the State shall guarantee free access to radio and television programmes transmitted from the neighboring countries in the same or similar languages to the State language or regional languages of Ukraine, will not interfere with rebroadcasting of radio and television programmes in such languages, and shall ensure freedom of expression of opinions and free distribution of print media in such languages" (ibid., 12). The only sphere where the official language alone would be used is that of the Armed Forces (article 30; ibid., 13). The law itself was to "be published in two languages—Ukrainian and Russian" (ibid., 14). This latter point was another telling indication of the actual intention of the draft law-to entrench bilingualism, not multilingualism. As for the enormous costs that this legislation would entail, the document says that "Taking into account that the State budget provides for the funding for ensuring development and functioning of the Ukrainian language as the State language and for implementation of the Law of Ukraine 'On Ratification of the European Charter for Regional and Minority Languages,' enactment of this draft law will not require additional budget funds" (ibid., 24).

In the following months, not only the National Academy of Sciences of Ukraine but also the High Commissioner of the OSCE and the Venice Commission offered a generally negative assessment of the draft law of 7 September 2010.

The National Academy of Sciences declared on 14 September 2010 that the true purpose of the draft law was to undermine the official language for the sake of so-called bilingualism. It also refuted the "clearly false and politically motivated" argument of the draft law that command of Russian granted "broad access to the achievements of the world's science and culture," since more than 98 percent of the world's scientific and technical information is now being disseminated in English, whereas the Russian share is below 0.1 percent ("Prinjatie novogo"). Mass protests against the draft law shook Ukraine (see "Klymončuk").

The "Assessment and Recommendations of the OSCE High Commissioner on National Minorities on the Draft Law 'On Languages in Ukraine' (No. 1015-3)" of 20 December 2010 pointed out many shortcomings and particularly stressed the following:

The State language can be an effective tool in ensuring cohesion. Consequently, promoting the use of the State language constitutes a legitimate State interest. Moreover, knowledge of the State language is also beneficial to persons belonging to national minorities. Having a command of the State language increases the opportunities for effective participation in society at all levels.... To put it differently, there is no right of persons belonging to national minorities never to be expected to use the State language (p. 13) (ibid., 4–5).

The Venice Commission published its detailed "Opinion on the Draft Law on Languages in Ukraine" on 30 March 2011 ("Opinion"). Here are some of its most important assessments:

In its recent opinion on the State Language of the Slovak Republic, the Venice Commission examined the provisions on the use of languages in the constitutions of member states of the Council of Europe and concluded: "...42. ... The promotion of the State language guarantees the development of the identity of the State community, and further ensures mutual communication among and within the constituent parts of the populations. The possibility for citizens to use the official language throughout the country can be ensured also in order to avoid that they be discriminated against in the enjoyment of their fundamental rights, in areas where the persons belonging to national minorities have a majority position." 53. In the same document..."[i]n addition, knowledge of the official language is also important from the perspective of persons belonging to national minorities" (ibid., 12; italics in the original).

...a preferential legislative treatment of the Russian language promotes a de facto obligatory use of that language, with potentially damaging effects on the results of the forthcoming census (ibid., 16).

In the Venice Commission's view, the Ukrainian authorities should identify more adequate legislative solutions to confirm the preeminence of the Ukrainian language as the only state language, take protective measures in those fields where further development of the Ukrainian language is needed, and thus establish a fair balance between the protection of the rights of minorities, on the one hand, and the preservation of the State language as a tool for integration within society, on the other hand. In the meantime, clear and sustainable legal guarantees should be provided for the protection of the persons belonging to national minorities and their regional or minority languages, in line with the Constitution and the relevant international standards (ibid., 24).

On 28 March 2011, Kolesničenko reacted to the Venice Commission's assessment with an infuriated open letter titled "National communities in Ukraine called the Venice Commission to refrain from preconceived conclusions" signed by Kolesničenko, "Chairman of Council, NGO 'Human Rights Public Movement 'Russian-Speaking Ukraine'"; Aurika Božesku, "Executive Secretary of Interregional Union 'The Romanian Community of Ukraine'"; Ištvan Hajdoš, "President of the Democratic Union of Hungarians in Ukraine"; and Arkadij Monastyrs'kyj, "President of the Jewish Forum of Ukraine" ("Kolesničenko etc.").⁷ The key passage of that document deals with "the main weakness of the draft opinion," namely "that it is built on a myth about 'forced Russification' of Ukraine and the displacement of the Ukrainian language" (ibid.). Kolesničenko & Co. offer a different narrative:

But we would like to recall and emphasize that both Russian and Ukrainian languages appeared in 10th century and developed simultaneously on the territory of Ukraine. Birthplace of the Russian language is Ukraine. Both languages are indigenous languages of Ukraine, and in no way the languages of migrants or invaders. Russian and Ukrainian language have been co-existing peacefully within the territory of Ukraine for at least 500 years, Ukrainian is unique in this situation.

Level of official use of the Ukrainian language in the 30-40s of the last century in the Ukrainian SSR reached 80 percent, the use in Newspapers – 90 percent. Without knowledge of the Ukrainian language it was impossible to occupy any job in the Ukraine (ibid.; original in English).

This is sheer nonsense. Kolesničenko & Co. explained the European institutions' negative assessment of the Draft Law on Languages of 7 September 2010 as follows:

The draft law runs into fierce opposition from Ukrainian nationalists and political parties, groups and institutions that support them. There was created a coalition of NGOs and political parties that work on black PR campaign, aimed at hampering the adoption of the Draft Law (ibid.).

⁷ In the document, many passages are emphasized.

According to Kolesničenko & Co., Ukrainian nationalists and foreigners joined forces to wreck the initiative.

Later on, Kolesničenko argued that the Venice Commission employed "double standards...because they dislike our snouts" ("мы рылом не вышли") ("Kolesničenko zvynuvatyv"; "U Venkomissii"). On 24 March 2011, he wrote of "the pseudo-experts from the Venice Commission who dare to tell us that we should issue laws for the protection of the Ukrainian state" ("Venkomissija").

In the following months, things developed in the typical manner mentioned above. On 19 May 2011, Serhij Kivalov of the Party of Regions declared at "a friendship meeting of the Parliaments of Ukraine and the Russian Federation" in Kyiv that with regard to language policy, what is needed is not "much ado about nothing" but "a true solution of the problem by means of a constitutional amendment. One should add that the official languages are Ukrainian and Russian, and we will forget that topic forever" ("Kivalov xočet").

On 26 August 2011, Vadym Kolesničenko and Serhij Kivalov submitted a new draft law "On the Principles of State Language Policy" (nr. 9073) ("Partija Rehioniv"). The draft law basically reiterated that of 7 September 2010: Russian was to become a "regional language" in Dnipropetrovsk, Donetsk, Zaporizhia, Luhansk, Mykolaiv, Odesa, Sumy, Kharkiv, Kherson, and Chernihiv oblasts, as well as in the Autonomous Republic of the Crimea and in the cities of Kyiv and Sevastopol. Crimean Tatar was to become a regional language in the Autonomous Republic of the Crimea, Hungarian in Zakarpattia oblast, and Romanian in Chernivtsi oblast. Other minority languages were to be protected in smaller administrative units. Acts of the central authorities were to be published in Ukrainian and Russian, in regional languages, or languages of national minorities. Only in the Armed Forces of Ukraine was Ukrainian to be the only official language (ibid.).

On 19 December 2011, the Venice Commission published its "Opinion" on the draft law. The central passage of the "Opinion" read as follows:

66. ...the question remains whether, having regard to the specific situation in Ukraine, there are sufficient guarantees, in the current Draft Law, for the consolidation of the Ukrainian language as the sole State language, and of the role it has to play in the Ukrainian multilinguistic society. The Venice Commission can only reiterate its call, in its previous Opinion, for a fair balance between the protection of the rights of minorities, on the one hand, and the preservation of the State language as a tool for integration within society, on the other hand. It ultimately is for the Ukrainian legislator to decide on this important matter ("Opinion 2": 12).

The legal initiative thus again ended in defeat.

Nevertheless, the party in power has pushed through its language policies in many spheres. On 13 December 2011, Ukraine's Constitutional Court decided that "regional" languages may be used in Ukrainian courts along with the official language ("Konstytucijnyj Sud"). In various institutions, leading politicians from the party in power have demonstrated what "bilingualism" or "multilingualism" in Ukraine comes down to in their interpretation. In December 2010, the newly elected mayor of Odesa, Oleksij Kostusjev, demanded at the first session of the new city council that Russian alone be used at meetings and that all documents be given to him solely in Russian-language versions ("V Odesse"). On 8 April 2011, the Odesa city council approved a "Program for the Maintenance and Development of the Russian Language until 2015" ("V Odesi"), and in July 2011 it allowed 78 schools and 120 preschools to provide instruction in Russian as well as in Ukrainian ("Odesskie vlasti"). Kostusjev commented that the language of instruction could be chosen freely but immediately added that "one has to understand that Odesa is a Russian-speaking city, and our culture is Russian-speaking" ("Odessa nevozmožna"). He is just one of the Ukrainian politicans who demonstrate that in light of the current political situation in Ukraine, the struggle for the Russian language in Ukraine is not so much a question of human rights as a struggle against the Ukrainian language.

P.S.: On Monday, 8 August 2012, the president's press service stated that Viktor Janukovyč had signed the law "On the Principles of the State Language Policy."

Bibliography

- "Al." 2006. 11–20. Форум «Галицкий империализм». http://www.fraza.com.ua/zametki/20.11.06/30832.html.
- "anb" 2006. 11–21. Форум «Галицкий империализм». http://www.fraza.com.ua/zametki/20.11.06/30832.html.
- Anderson 2006. Benedict Anderson. Imagined Communities: Reflections on the Origin and Spread of Nationalism. New ed. London and New York 2006.
- "Angilov" 2005. 07–11. http://www.patent.net.ua/intellectus/forum/1/193/ua.html.
- Апіčėnka 1957. В. В. Анічэнка. "Граматыка" Л. Зізанія. В: Весці Академії навук БССР. Серыя грамадскіх навук, 1957/4, 93–105.

Anisimova 2000. В. Анисимова. Материк – Информационно-аналитический портал постсоветского пространства. Газета «2000». http://2000.net.ua/print/svobodaslova/zaschititdulcineyu.html. http://www. materik.ru/index.php?section=analitics&bulid=108&bulsectionid=10387.

Апопутоиз 1998. Русин. In: Енциклопедія українознавства, т. 7, Перевидання в Україні, Львів 1998 [first published 1973]: 2644.

Anonymous 2007. Обращение, http://www.usa52.narod.ru/addres.htm.

- Anonymous 2007а. 06–24. Европейская хартия региональных языков. vlasti. net. Сеть независимых журналистов. http://www.vlasti.net/index. php?Screen=news&id=214765.
- Anonymous 2007b. 06–24. Дупомова в свинарике. vlasti.net. Сеть независимых журналистов. http://www.vlasti.net/index.php?Screen=news&id=214765.
- "Anticommunist" 2007. 02–26. Форум "Історія та походження української мови." http://www.novy.ua/forum/viewtopic php?p=882098&sid=3575649feceb19d613d5476322fa18fb.
- "Anticommunist" 2007a. 02–27. Форум "Історія та походження української мови." http://www.novy.ua/forum/viewtopic. php?p=882098&sid=3575649feceb19d613d5476322fa18fb.
- "Anticommunist" 2007b. 02–26.

http://novy.tv/forum/viewtopic.

php?p=880794&highlight=&sid=c569508ce3ff46b7b7500f2cb4bfc00b.

"Application." Application of the Charter in Ukraine. Initial monitoring Circle. Strasbourg. 07–07–2010. http://www.coe.int/t/dg4/education/minlang/Report/ EvaluationReports/UkraineECRML1_en.pdf.

"Assessment and Recommendations." Assessment and Recommendations of the OSCE High Commissioner on National Minorities on the Draft Law "On Languages in Ukraine" (No. 1015–3). OSCE. Organization for Security and Co-operation in Europe. High Commissioner on National Minorities. The Hague. 20–12–2010. Ukrainian translation and scan of the original: http://portal.rada.gov.ua/ control/uk/publish/article/news_left?art_id=235755&cat_id=37486. "Astaxov" 2007. 04–25. http://provokator.com.ua/phorum/read.php?1,287501,page=2.

- Auer 1999. P. Auer. From codeswitching via language mixing to fused lects: Toward a dynamic typology of bilingual speech. International Journal of Bilingualism 3: 309–332.
- AUM 1988. Атлас української мови. Том другий: Волинь, Наддністрянщина, Закарпаття і суміжні землі, гол. ред.: І. Г. Матвіяс. Київ 1988.
- "Avangard" 2006. 10–13. Український Форум/Українська мова. Галицька мова, http://www.ukrcenter .com/forum/message.asp?message_id= 76184&forum_name=%D3%EA%F0%E0%BF%ED%F1%FC%EA%E0%20 %CC%EE%E2%E0&page=1.

Ažnjuk 1999. Богдан М. Ажнюк. Мовна єдність нації: діаспора й Україна. Київ 1999.

- Babyč 1993. Історія української мови. Практичний курс, затверджено Міністерством освіти як навчальний посібник для студентів вузів, що вивчають дисципліну "Історія мови". Львів 1993.
- Ваčа 1961. Юрій Бача. Літературний рух на Закарпатті середини XIX століття. Пряшів 2004.
- Balan Kravtsiv 1993. Boris Balan and Bohdan Kravtsiv. Svoboda (US) (Liberty). In: Encyclopedia of Ukraine. Vol. 5. Toronto, Buffalo, and London: 128.
- Barvins'kyj 2004. Олександер Барвінський. Спомини з мого життя. Частина перша та друга. Нью-Йорк Київ 2004.
- Baulin 2007. П. Б. Баулин. Языковая проблема Украины: политические мифы и peaльность. http://www.niurr.gov.ua/ru/conference/kniga_conf/baulin.htm.
- Веlej 2004. Любомир Белей, Л. О. Костельник, Гавриїл Федорович. В: Українська мова: Енциклопедія. Київ: 256–257.
- Belej 2008. Любомир Белей. Українці та українська мова на Балканах (Сербія, Хорватія, Боснія та Герцеговіна). Дивослово, Київ, № 8, see also: http://www.ethnos. lemky.com/history/292-ukrayinci-ta-ukrayinska-mova-na-balkanakh.html.
- Benedek 2007. Андраш Бенедек. Мадярсько. In: Magocsi 2007: 263-275.
- Best Stepien 2009: Paul Best and Stanislaw [Stanisław] Stepien [Stępień]. Does a Fourth Rus' Exist? Concerning Cultural Identity in the Carpathian Region. Przemyśl and Higganum: South-Eastern Research Institute in Przemyśl.
- Bieder 2008: Hermann Bieder. Die syntaktische Terminologie in den galizischbukowinischen Grammatiken der ukrainischen Sprache (19. Jahrhundert)– Aspekte multilateraler Sprach- und Wissenschaftskontakte. In: Die Ukraine (Ruthener, Russinen) in Österreich-Ungarn und ihr Sprach- und Kulturleben im Blickfeld von Wien und Budapest. Ed. M. Moser and A. Zoltán. Vienna (Slavische Sprachgeschichte, vol. 4): 111–71.
- Војčuk 1962. М. К. Бойчук. Періодизація історії української літературної мови. В: Питання історичного розвитку української мови. Праці Міжвузовської конференції, що відбулася в Харкові 15-20 грудня, присвячені V Міжнародному з'їздові славістів. Харків: 57–64.
- Bojovi zavdannja 1933. No author. Бойові господарчо-політичні завдання парторганізації. Більшовик України 1933, 9–10: 1–19.

Borys 1980. Jurij Borys. The Sovietization of Ukraine 1917-1923: The Communist Doctrine

621

and Practice of National Self-Determination. Edmonton 1980.

Boryś 2005. Wiesław Boryś. Słownik etymologiczny języka polskiego. Cracow 2005.

- Bourhis Landry 2008. Richard Y. Bourhis and R. Landry. Group Vitality, Cultural Autonomy and the Wellness of Language Minorities. In: The Vitality of the English-Speaking Communities of Quebec: From Community Decline to Revival. Ed. Richard Y. Bourhis. Montreal, Quebec 2008: 185–211.
- "Bowring." Bill Bowring. Language Policy in Ukraine International Standards and Obligations, and Ukrainian Law and Legislation Language Policy and Language Situation in Ukraine. Analysis and Recommendations. INTAS Project "Language Policy in Ukraine: Anthropological, Linguistic and Further Perspectives." Ed. Juliane Bester-Dilger. Frankfurt am Main 2009: 57–100.
- Brock 1996. Peter Brock. Іван Вагилевич (1811-1866) та українська національна ідентичність. В: Шашкевичіяна. New Series, vols. 1–2. Lviv and Winnipeg 1996: 389–416.
- Brückner 1989. Aleksander Brückner. Słownik etymologiczny języka polskiego. Cracow 1927 (repr. Warsaw, 1989).
- Budivnyctvo 1929. Будівництво Радянської України. Збірник. Випуск І. За ленінську національну політику. Державне видавництво України. Харків 1929.
- Bunčić 2006. Daniel Bunčić. Die ruthenische Schriftsprache bei Ivan Uževyč unter besonderer Berücksichtigung der Lexik seines Gesprächsbuchs Rozmova/ Besěda. Mit Wörterverzeichnis und Indizes zu seinem ruthenischen und kirchenslavischen Gesamtwerk (Slavistische Beiträge, vol. 447). Munich.
- Burger 1995. Hannelore Burger. Sprachenrecht und Sprachengerechtigkeit im österreichischen Unterrichtswesen 1867–1918. Vienna 1995.
- Buzina (Buzyna) 2007. Олесь Бузина. Тайная история Украины-Руси. Второе издание. Киев. Internet: http://www.fraza.com.ua/zametki/20.11.06/30832. html?c=post&i=5095.

Cooper 1989. Robert L. Cooper. Language Planning and Social Change. New York 1989.

- Сѕореу 1883. Л. Чопей. Русько-мадярский словарь, У Будапешть.
- Čajkovs'kyj 2011. Маріано Чайковський. Початок імміграції до Бразилії та свідчення перших іммігрантів. In: Українці Бразилії – Os Ucranianos do Brasil – Ukrainians in Brasil. Гол. ред.: Марина Гримич. Київ, 29–50.
- Čaplenko 1970. Василь Чапленко. Історія української літературної мови (XVII ст. 1933). Нью-Йорк 1970.
- ČК HPU NKVD 1997. ЧК ГПУ НКВД в Україні. Ред.: Ю. Шаповал, В. Пристайко, В. Золотарьов. Київ 1997.
- Čornovol 2006. Ігор Чорновол. Експерименти Богдана Дідицького. Львівська газета 25 (832). http://www.gazeta.lviv.ua/articles/2006/02/10/2927.

Čubar 1929. 34–40: В. Чубар. Промова на червневому пленумі ЦК КП(б)У 1926 р.

Dal' 1880–1882/1978. Владимиръ Даль. Толковый словарь живого великорусского языка, reprint of the second edition of 1880–1882. Москва 1978.

DD 1993. Ділова документація Гетьманщини XVIII ст. Ред.: Л. А. Дубровина. Київ 1993.

Dem'jan 1996. Г. Дем'ян. Державницькі погляди Івана Вагилевича. В: Шашкевичіяна.

New Series, vols. 1-2. Lviv and Winnipeg: 50-54.

Didyc'kyj 1866. Anonymous [B. Didyc'kyj]. Въ одинъ часъ научиться Малорусину по великорусски. Второе изданіе. Львовъ 1866.

Djačan 1865. П. Дячанъ. Методична граматика языка мало-руского. Льво̂въ 1865.

- D'jačenko 1900/1993. Г. Дьяченко, Полный церковнославанскій словарь (со внесеніемъ въ него важнѣйшихъ древне-русскихъ словъ и выраженій). Москва 1900/1993.
- DM 1976. Ділова і народно-розмовна мова XVIII ст. Ред.: В. В. Німчук. Київ 1976.
- DM 2007. Доба гетьмана Івана Мазепи в документах. Ред.: С. Павленко. Київ 2007.
- Dobrylove Jevanhelije 1164/2012. Добрилове Євангеліє 1164 року. Відп. ред.: Василь В. Німчук, упор.: Юрій В. Осінчук. Львів 2012 (Серії: "Історія Мови", "Пам'ятки української мови").
- Dobržans'kyj 1999. Олександр Добржанський. Національний рух Українців Буковини другої половини XIX – початку XX ст. Чернівці 1999.
- "Do Janukovyča došlo." До Януковича дошло, что закрывают украиноязычные школы. 22–02–2011. http://lb.ua/news/2011/02/22/85557_Do_Yanukovicha_ doshlo_chto_zakrivayu.html.
- "Doneckie školy." Донецкие школы таки закрыли. 15–04–2011. http://lb.ua/news/2011/04/15/92754_Donetskie_shkoli_taki_zakrili.html.
- "Doslidžennja." Дослідження: наклади україномовної преси в Україні в меншості. 28–11–2011. http://nbb.com.ua/news/1369/5/.
- "Dovženko." Елена Довженко. Зачем закрывают украинские школы в Донецке. 02–03– 2011. http://society.lb.ua/education/2011/03/02/86605_Zachem_zakrivayut_ ukrainskie_shkoli.html.
- DR 2002. Дух і ревність: Владика Снігурський та інші перемишляни. Ред.: Володимир Пилипович. Перемишль, Львів 2002.
- "Draft Law on Languages." Draft Law on Languages in Ukraine and an Explanatory Note and Comparative Table. European Commission for Democracy Through Law (Venice Commission). Opinion no. 605/2010. CDL-REF(2011)001Strasbourg. 07–01–2011. www.venice.coe.int.
- "Dreamer" 2007. 04–24. http://provokator.com.ua/phorum/read.php?1,287501,page=2.
- Dubiel-Dmytryszyn 2010. Sebastian Dubiel-Dmytryszyn. Związki etniczno-kulturowe Łemków/Rusinów po obu stronach Karpat (kilka uwag na temat badań etnologicznych wśród Rusinów na Słowacji). In: Koporova 2010: 69–102.
- Duličenko 2008. Александр Д. Дуличенко. Письменность и литературные языки Карпатской Руси (XV–XX вв.). Вступительная статья. Тексты. Комментарии. Ужгород 2008.
- Duxnovyč 1847. Книжица читалнаа дла начинающихъ, А[лександъ] Д[ухновичъ], Въ Будинъ градъ, писмены Крал: Всеучилища Пештанскагw (Facsimile, Prešov 2003).
- Duxnovyč 2003. Олександр Духнович і наша сучасність. Міжнародна наукова конференція, присвячена 200-літтю від дня народження О. Духновича. Тези доповідей, упор.: М. Мушинка. Пряшів (додаток до газети "Нове життя").

- Dva počajiv'ski 1985. Два почаївські стародруки, «Книжиця для господарства» (1788) та «Політика свецкая» (1770/1790), ред. О. Горбач. Мюнхен 1985.
- "Dybil" 2006. 11–21. Форум «Галицкий империализм». http://www.fraza.com.ua/zametki/20.11.06/30832.html.
- Dzendzelivs'kyj 1958. Йосип Дзендзелівський. Практичний словник семантичних діалектизмів Закарпаття – на допомогу вчителям Закарпатської області. Ужгород 1958.
- Dzendzelivs'kyj 2000. Йосип Дзендзелівський. І. Вагилевич перший дослідник іншомовних запозичень в українській мові (Переймання зі слов'янських мов). Studia z Filologii Polskiej i Słowiańskej 36, 2000: 157–77.
- Dzjuba 2011. Іван Дзюба. Від чорносотенців початку XX століття до українофобів початку XXI. Київ 2011.
- Editorial 1923. [The Editors.] Червоний Шлях, 1, 1923: III-VI.
- Editors 1923. Editorial note. Червоний Шлях 1923, 4-5: n.p.
- Editors 1933. Редакція журнала "Червоний Шлях" висловлює свої громадські вболівання. Червоний Шлях 1933, 6: п.р.
- "Ekspert vbačaje." Експерт вбачає ознаки наступу на українську мову. 25–01–2012. http://www.slovoidilo.com/koordrada-z-pytan-zachystu-ukrayinskoyi-movy/ ekspert-vbachaye-oznaky-nastupu-na-ukrayinsku-movu.html.
- Elspaß 2005. Stephan Elspaß. Sprachgeschichte von unten. Untersuchungen zum geschriebenen Alltagsdeutsch im 19. Jahrhundert. Tübingen 2005.
- "Enals-Pilugina" 2007. 06–19. Gala.net: Политика. http://forum.gala.net/?page=read&tt=336922&ff=1004.
- Encyklopedija 1976/2000: Anon. Соєдиненіє. Іп: Енциклопедія українознавства. Перевидання в Україні (first ed.: гол. ред.: Володимир Кубійович, 1976.). Т. 8. Львів 2000: 2973.
- Encyklopedija 1993–2003. Енциклопедія українознавства, 10 + 1 (доповнення) тт., Львів (first published 1955–84).
- ES. 3 епістолярної спадщини гетьмана Івана Мазепи. Ред. В. Станіславський. Київ 1996.
- ES 1982ff. Етимологічний словник української мови: в семи томах. Редакційна колегія: О.С. Мельничук (гол. ред.) та ін. Київ.
- EU. See Encyklopedija 1993–2003.
- "Ėlla" 2006. 11–20. Форум «Галицкий империализм». http://www.fraza.com.ua/zametki/20.11.06/30832.html.
- Fałowski 2007. Adam Fałowski. Rusin Ivan Użewicz: językoznawca polonista europejczyk. In: Європейський вимір української полоністики. Київ 2007: 435–439.
- "Faryna." Oksana Faryna. Film Critic: Grit, glamour of Donetsk captured by filmmaker. 15–04–2011. http://www.kyivpost.com/news/guide/general/detail/102428/.
- "Fedorčuk." Станіслав Федорчук. Оптимізація чи русифікація? 18–02–2011. http:// slovoidilo.com/realiyi-okupatsiyi/optymizatsiya-chy-rusyfikatsiya.html.
- Fejsa 2007. Михайло Фейса. Войводина. In: Русиньскый язык. Ed. Paul Robert Magocsi.

Opole 2004 (Najnowsze dzieje języków słowiańskich) [here: 2d ed. 2007]: 375–384.

- "Fish" (2003). 08–13. Місто Львів, Форум рідного міста. Розробка рідного діалекту. http://www.misto.ridne.net/thread-1425.html.
- Flier 2000. Michael Flier. The Rules of Engagement. In: Cultures and Nations of Central and Eastern Europe: Essays in Honor of Roman Szporluk. Ed. Z. Gitelman et al. Cambridge, Mass.: 114–136.
- Fontański 2008. Henryk Fontański. Aktualne problemy języka łemkowskiego (normalizacjia pisowni). In: Pljiškova 2008: 50–56.
- Fontański and Chomiak 2000. Henryk Fontański and Mirosława Chomiak. Gramatyka języka łemkowskiego. Katowice 2000.
- Franko 1898. Іван Франко. Пісня І. П. Котляревського в Галичині. Записки Наукового товариства ім. Шевченка XXVI, 1898: 1–14.
- Franko 1898а. Іван Франко. Із переписки П. Кулїша з Галичанами 1870–1871 р. Записки Наукового товариства ім. Шевченка XXVI, 1898: 6–16.
- Freidhof 1980. Gerd Freidhof. Hrammatika Slovenska: Wilna 1596/Lavrentij Zizanij. Hrsg. v. G. Freidhof, 2., um das Faksimile erweiterte Auflage (Specimina Philologiae Slavicae 26). Frankfurt am Main 1980.
- Gajdoš Konečný 2006. Marián Gajdoš and Stanislav Konečný. Postavenie a vývoj Rusínov a Ukrajincov na Slovensku v dvadsiatom storočí. In: Carpatho-Rusyns and Their Neighbors: Essays in Honor of Paul Robert Magocsi. Ed. Bogdan Horbal, Patricia Krafcik, and Elaine Rusinko. Fairfax: 163–182.
- Geraščenko 2007. Геращенко, Г. Избранное от Герасима Геращенко. http://www.ravnopravie.kharkov.ua/2007/2007-02-09.htm
- "German obvinila." Герман обвинила Кириленко в "грубой провокации". 03–06–2010. http://lb.ua/news/2010/06/03/48377_German_obvinila_Kirilenko_v_gru. html.
- "German: oligarxi." Герман: олигархи ментально не украинские. 11–03–2011. http://lb.ua/news/2011/03/11/87596_Oligarhi__mentalno_ne_ukrainsk. html.
- Getman 2007. Гетман Иван Мазепа: Документы из архивных собраний Санкт-Петербурга, 1687-1705. ч. 1, ред. Т. Таирова-Яковлева. Санкт-Петербург 2007: 129–58.
- Goehrke 1992. Carsten Goehrke. Frühzeit des Ostslaventums. Unter Mitw. von Ursel Kälin (Erträge der Forschung; Bd. 277). Darmstadt 1992.
- "Gorčinskaja." Katya Gorchinskaya. Tabachnyk's views are dangerous in classroom. 18–03– 2010.

http://www.kyivpost.com/news/opinion/op_ed/detail/62058/.

- "Gorham." Michael Gorham. Virtual Rusophonia: Language Policy as 'Soft Power' in the New Media Age. Digital Icons. In: Studies in Russian, Eurasian and Central European New Media 5, 2011: 23–48.
- Grabowicz 1979–80. George Grabowicz. The Nexus of the Wake: Shevchenko's Trizna. Harvard Ukrainian Studies 1979-1980/3–4: 320-347.
- Grabowicz 1996/2003. Григорій Грабович. Теорія та історія: "Горизонт сподівань"

і рання рецепція нової української літератури (Prolegomena). Іп: idem. До історії української літератури. Дослідження, есеї, полеміка. Київ 2003: 46–126.

- Graziosi 2008. Andrea Graziosi. Stalinism, Collectivization and the Great Famine. Cambridge, Mass. 2008.
- Hafner 1985. Sebastian Hafner. Geschichte der österreichischen Slawistik. In: Beiträge zur Geschichte der Slawistik in nichtslawischen Ländern. Ed. J. Hamm and G. Wytzrens. Vienna 1985: 11–88.
- Halyčo-rus'kyj Vistnyk 1849–1850: Галичо-Рускій Вѣстникъ, выходитъ тричи на тыждень, въ вторникъ, четверъ и С8бот8. Въ Львовѣ.
- Havryškevyč 1844. Руководство ко оумноженію і годованію садовини по селах і містечках. Перемишль 1844.
- "Herman obicjala." Герман пообіцяла, що російська мова отримає широку підтримку держави. 24–05–2010. http://nbb.com.ua/news/847/18/.
- Himka 1999. John-Paul Himka. The Construction of Nationality in Galician Rus': Icarian Flights in Almost All Directions. In: Intellectuals and the Articulation of the Nation. Ed. Ronald G. Suny and Michael D. Kennedy. Ann Arbor 1999: 109–64.
- Holod 1992. Голод 1921–1923 і українська преса в Канаді. Матеріяли упорядкував і зредагував Роман Сербин. Торонто – Київ 1992.
- Holovac'kyj 1846. Havrylo Rusyn (= Ja. Holovac'kyj), Zustände der Russinen in Galizien. Jahrbücher für slawische Literatur, Kunst und Wissenschaft 1846: 361–379.
- Holovac'kyj 1849. Розправа о языцѣ южноруско̂мъ и его нарѣчіяхъ сочинена Яковомъ Головацкимъ, читана въ общемъ засѣданію на съѣздѣ ученыхъ рускихъ 23 жовтня 1848 г. н. ч. у Львовѣ. Lviv 1849.
- Ноlovac'kyj 1849а. Три вст8пительніи предподаванія о руской словесности. Сочениеніє Якова Головацкого, пуб. Профессора Русского языка и Словесности Рускои при ц. к. Льво̂вско̂мъ Университетѣ. Lviv 1849.
- Holovac'kyj 1849b. Грамматика Руского Азыка, составленна Яковомъ Головацкимъ, ц. к. Профессоромъ руского азыка и словесности рускои при всеучилищи Льво̂вско̂мъ. Lviv 1849.
- Holovac'kyj 1860. Iwan Hołovackij. Russisches Lesebuch. Poetischer Theil. Mit besonderer Rücksicht auf Betonung und Aussprache. Ein Beitrag zur darstellenden Unterrichts-Methode. Vienna 1860.
- Ноlovac'kyj 1863: Яковъ Ө. Головацкій. [Commentary]. In: Галичанин 1863, кн. І, вип. II: 110–112.
- Нопčarenko 1933. Ів. Гончаренко. Поезія формування українського фашизму. Стаття. Червоний Шлях 1933, 4: 5–21.
- Horbač 1988: Олекса Горбач. Мовостиль новітніх перекладів св. Письма на українську народну мову 19-20 вв. Український Вільний Університет, Наукові Записки 13, 1988: 29–98.
- Hornjatkevyč 2000: А. Горняткевич. Що або хто справді загрожує українській мові? Сучасність 2000/4, квітень: 146–153. http://litopys.org.ua/rizne/gorniatk. htm.
- Hrabovs'kyj 2005. С. Грабовський. Львівська газета, 12-07 (№ 54).

http://www.gazeta.lviv.ua/articles/2006/12/07/20206/.

- Hruševs'kyj 1995. Михайло Грушевський. Історія української літератури. Том VI: Літературний і культурно-національний рух половини XVII ст. (сер.: Київська бібліотека давнього українського письменства. Студії: т. 1). Київ 1995.
- Нгусак 1996. Ярослав Грицак. Нарис історії України. Формування модерної української нації XIX–XX ст. Київ 1996.
- Нгусак 2006. Ярослав Грицак. Пророк у своїй вітчизні. Франко та його спільнота (1856–1886). Київ 2006.
- Hrycak 2010–11. Yaroslav Hrytsak. "Icarian Flights in Almost All Directions" Reconsidered. Journal of Ukrainian Studies 35–36 (2010–11): 81–89.
- Нгупčuk 2007. "Гринчук." П. Куліш і Я. Головацький: від приязни до ворожнечі, Бібліотека Гринчука. http://222.grinchuk.lviv.ua/referat/1/209.html.
- НU. Універсали українських гетьманів від Івана Виговського до Івана Самойловича (1657–1687). Ред.: І. Бутич, В. Ринсевич, І. Тесленко. Київ, Львів 2004.
- Нитепčyk 2010. Ольга Гуменчик. Причини підписання Європейської хартії регіональних мов або мов меншин в Україні. Іп: Міжнародні зобов'язання України та Німеччини в контексті європейської мовної політики. Українсько-німецький студентський семінар із соціолінгвістики. Наук. ред.: Галина Мацюк. Львів 2010: 70–91.

Нур: Ипатьевская летопись. Том II. 2-е изд. Москва 2001.

- H1. Граматика руського язика для молодших кляс школ середних і горожанских. Написав Др. Іван Панькевич. Прага, Братислава, Мукачево 1922.
- Н2. Граматика руського язика для молодших клас школ середних і горожанських. Написав Др. Іван Панькевич. 2-е справл. вид. Прага 1927.
- НЗ. Граматика руського язика для молодших кляс школ середних і горожанських. Написав Др. Іван Панькевич. 3-е справл. вид. Прага 1936.
- "TĖĖ" 2005. 09–30. Региональные галицкие аспекты. http://www.anti-orange-ua.com.ru/forum/viewtopic. php?printertopic=1&t=44&postdays=0&postorder=asc&start=0&finish_rel=-10000.
- "Igor" 2006. 10–14. Український Форум/Українська мова. Галицька мова. http://www.ukrcenter.com/forum/message.asp?message_ id=76184&forum_name=%D3%EA%F0%E0%BF%ED%F1%FC%EA%E0%20 %CC%EE%E2%E0&page=1.
- ll'nyc'kyj 1873. B. Ilnicki (Il'nyc'kyj). Ruthenisches Schulwesen. In: Bericht über österreichisches Schulwesen. Aus Anlaß der Weltausstellung 1873. Hrsg. von der Commission für die Collectiv-Ausstellung des österreichischen Unterrichts-Ministeriums. 2. Theil. Vienna 1873: 531–538.
- Instruction 1609. Інструкція українського населення міста на сейм для захисту його прав і привилеїв. Оригінал, 2 січня 1609. 4 арк. ЦДІА у Львові. Ф. 129, оп. 1, спр. 421.
- Isačenko 1958. Александр Исаченко. Вопрос 5. Какова специфика литературного

двуязычия в истории славянских народов? Вопросы языкознания 7/3 (1958): 42–45.

- Isajevyč 2006. Iaroslav Isaievych. Voluntary Brotherhood: Confraternities of Laymen in Early Modern Ukraine. Edmonton 2006.
- Istorija 2004. Історія українського правопису. Хрестоматія. Ред.: Василь Німчук, Ніна Пуряєва. Київ 2004.
- Ivanov 2007. УРА-Информ Донбасс. Независимое информационноаналитическое издание. Галицкий язык. http://ura.dn.ua/forum/add. php?f=1&t=1219&q=9031.
- "Ivanov," I. I. 2006. ("Ivan Ivanovich Ivanov"), in: Forum on "Galickij imperializm." http://www.fraza.com.ua/zametki/20.11.06/30832.html. 20 November 2006, 15:39.
- "Ivanov," I. I. 2006a. In: Forum on "Galickij imperializm." http://www.fraza.com.ua/zametki/20.11.06/30832.html. 20 November 2006, 09:02.
- "Ivanov," I. I. 2006b. In: Forum on "Galickij imperializm." http://www.fraza.com.ua/zametki/20.11.06/30832.html. 20 November 2006, 16:22.
- "Iz-za ukrainskogo." Из-за украинского дубляжа не снижалась посещаемость кинотеатров, утверждают кинопрокатчики. 06/07–04–2010. http://rus.newsru.ua/ukraine/06apr2010/film.html.
- Ižakevyč 1976. Г. П. Ижакевич (отв. ред.): Культура русской речи на Украине. Киев 1976.
- Jabur Plišková 2007. Vasil Jabur and Anna Plišková. Пряшівська Русь. В: Русиньскый язык. Ed. Paul Robert Magocsi. Opole: 2004 (Najnowsze dzieje języków słowiańskich) [here: 2d ed. 2007]: 147–209.
- "Jaka mova." Яка мова є для Вас рідною? (регіональний розподіл, динаміка 2006–2008). No date. http://www.razumkov.org.ua/ukr/article.php/poll.php?poll_id=436.
- "Janukovič odessitam." Янукович-одесситам: учите украинский. 25–02–2011. http://lb.ua/news/2011/02/25/86009_Prezident_posovetoval_odessitam_. html.
- "Janukovič podnjal." Янукович поднял красный флаг, не подписав закон о нем. 05–05– 2011.

http://ru.tsn.ua/ukrayina/yanukovich-podnyal-krasnyy-flag-ne-podpisav-zakon-o-nem.html.

"Janukovič profinansiroval." Янукович профинансировал конгресс русскоязычной прессы. 16–06–2011. http://lb.ua/news/2011/06/16/101610_Yanukovich_profinansiroval_kongres.html.

"Janukovyč I našym." I нашим, і вашим. 09–03–2010. http://nbb.com.ua/news/775/18/.

"Janukovyč zrobyť." Янукович зробить все, щоб російська мова стала державною. 02–09–2009.

> http://tsn.ua/ukrayina/yanukovich-zrobit-vse-shchob-rosiiska-mova-staladerzhavnoyu.html.

- "Jaščenko." Анна Ященко. Табачник знову не полюбив українську мову і схилив до цього президента? 08–05–2011. http://www.unian.net/ukr/news/news-436379.html.
- Jefimenko 2002. Геннадій Єфіменко. Ставлення владних структур до розвитку національних мов у Радянській Україні 1930-х років. В: Мовні конфлікти і гармонізація суспільства: Матеріали наукової конференції: 28–29 травня 2001 року. Київ 2002: 179–185.
- Jefremov 1924. Сергій Єфремов. Історія українського письменства. З одмінами і додатками, т. 1, Ветцлар. 4th ed.
- Jevsevijeve Jevanhelije 1283/2001. Євсевієве Євангеліє 1283 року. Пам'ятки української мови XIII ст: Серія канонічної літератури. Відп. ред.: В. В. Німчук. Київ 2001.
- Johansen 1923. Mexajlo Johansen. Пристосування латиниці до потреб української мови. Червоний Шлях 1923, 9: 167–169.
- Jurčenko 2007. 07–02. К. Юрченко. Галицкий империализм. Великогалицкий империализм [11 июля]. Единое отечество. http://www.otechestvo.org.ua/main/200611/2019.htm, http://www.fraza.com.ua/zametki/20.11.06/30832.html.
- Каһапоvyč 1929. Л. Каганович. Промова на червневому пленумі ЦК КП(б)У 1926 р. Budivnyctvo: 40–54.
- Каһапоvyč 1929а. Л. Каганович. Питання нацполітики на Україні (Уривок з доповіді т. Кагановича на березневому пленумі ЦК КП(б)У 1927 р. Budivnyctvo 1929: 121–129:
- Каһапоvyč 1929b. Л. Каганович. Промова березневому пленумі [*sic,* no *нa*] ЦК КП(б)У 1927 року. Budivnyctvo 1929: 135–141.
- Каһапоvyč 1929с. Л. Каганович. До характеристики національної політики КП(б)У. З доповіди т. Кагановича на Х з'їзді КП(б)У. Budivnyctvo 1929: 145–158.
- Каһапоvyč 1929d. Л. Каганович. Розлам в КПЗУ і національна політика КП(б) У. (Промова на об'єднаному пленумі ЦК і ЦКК КП(б)У 12–16–III–28 р. Budivnyctvo 1929: 231–239.
- Каһапоvyč 1929е. Л. Каганович. Промова на Політбюро ЦК КП(б)У 20-IX [*sic*] 1926 р. Budivnyctvo 1929: 109–113.
- Kamusella 2008. Tomasz Kamusella. The Politics of Language and Nationalism in Modern Central Europe. Basingstoke 2008.
- Каргаl' 2003. Мирон Капраль. Національні громади Львова XVI–XVIII ст. (Соціальноправові взаємини). Львів 2003.
- Каргаl' 2008. Михаіл Капраль. Днешня языкова ситуація в Мадярщинї. In: Pljiškova 2008: 73–79.
- Kapral Pop 2005. Myxajlo Kapral and Ivan Pop. Nedîlja. In: Magocsi Pop 2005: 209.
- Karevin 2006. Александр Каревин. Русь нерусская. Как рождалась "ридна мова". Москва 2006. See also:

http://www.russian.kiev.ua/books/karevin/rusnorus/rusnorus01.shtml.

Karpluk 1977. Maria Karpluk. O języku Macieja Stryjkowskiego, historyka i poety z drugiej połowy XVI wieku. Regionalizmy, cechy ruskie i poetyzmy w dziedzinie fonetyki. (Prace Komisji Językoznawstwa, Polska Akademia Nauk, Nr. 45). Wrocław et al. 1977.

- Keipert 1988. Helmut Keipert. Metaslavismentypen in ostslavischen Texten des 17. Jh. In: Wokół języka. Rozprawy i studia poświęcone pamięci profesora Mieczysława Szymczaka. Wrocław et al. 1988: 197–210.
- Keipert 2001. Helmut Keipert. "Rozmova/Besĕda": Das Gesprächsbuch Slav. № 7 der Bibliothèque nationale de France. Zeitschrift für Slavische Philologie 60/1: 9–40.
- Keipert Bunčić 2005. Helmut Keipert and Daniel Bunčić. "Einleitung" in RB: XI-LI.
- Kerča 2007. Ігор Керча. Пудкарпатська Русь. В: Русиньскый язык. Ed. Paul Robert Magocsi. Opole: 2004 (Najnowsze dzieje języków słowiańskich) [here: 2d ed. 2007]: 115–46.
- КН 1905. Кореспонденція Якова Головатського в лїтах 1850–62. Ред.: Кирило Студинський. 5 (Збірник фільольогічної секції Наукового товариства імени Шевченка VIII + IX). Львів 1905.
- КН 1909. Кореспонденція Якова Головатського в лїтах 1835–49. Ред.: Кирило Студинський (Збірник фільольогічної секції Наукового товариства імени Шевченка XI + XII). Львів 1909.
- Kiparsky 1963–1975. Valentin Kiparsky. Russische historische Grammatik. Bd. 1–3. Heidelberg 1963–75.
- "Kivalov xočet." Кивалов хочет сделать русский государственным и забыть о нем. 19–05–2011. http://lb.ua/news/2011/05/19/97197_Kivalov_hochet_sdelat_ russkiy_go.html.
- Ključevskij 1956. Василий О. Ключевский. Сочинения. Т. 1: Курс русской истории. Ч. 1. Москва 1956.
- Kloss 1967. Heinz Kloss. Abstand languages and Ausbau languages. Anthropological Linguistics 9: 29–41.
- "Klymončuk." Оксана Климончук, УНІАН, Мітинг проти двомовності: «друга державна мова вже діє – мова брехні». 20–10–2010. http://nbb.com.ua/news/976/6/.
- Kohut 1988/1996. Zenon E. Kohut. Russian Centralism and Ukrainian Autonomy. Imperial Absorption of the Hetmanate, 1760s–1830s. Cambridge, Mass. 1988. = Зенон Е. Когут. Російський централізм і українська автономія. Ліквідація Гетьманщини 1760–1830. Київ 1996.
- Kohut 2003. Zenon Kohut. The Question of Russo-Ukrainian Unity and Ukrainian Distinctiveness in Early Modern Ukrainian Thought and Culture. In: Culture, Nation, and Identity: The Ukrainian-Russian Encounter (1600–1945). Ed. Andreas Kappeler, Zenon Kohut, Frank E. Sysyn, and Mark von Hagen. Edmonton 2003: 57–86.
- "Kolesničenko Compatriot." Vadym Kolesnichenko named The Compatriot of the Year 2009. 11–06–2010. http://r-u.org.ua/en/announ/22-news.html.
- "Kolesničenko Council." Vadym Kolesničenko. The Council of Europe requires adopting the Law "On Languages in Ukraine." 13–10–2010. http://r-u.org.ua/en/ announ/73-news.html.
- "Kolesničenko etc." Vadym Kolesnichenko [Kolesničenko], Aurika Bozhesku [Božesku], Ishtvan Haydosh [Ištvan Hajdoš, István Gajdos], and Arkadiy Monastirskiy [Arkadij Monastyrs'kyj]. National communities in Ukraine called the Venice Commission to refrain from preconceived conclusions. Human Rights Public

Movement "Russian-Speaking Ukraine." 28-03-2011.

http://r-u.org.ua/en/official/213-national-community-in-ukraine-called-the-venice-commission-to-refrain-from-preconceived-conclusions.html.

- "Kolesničenko Georgievskaja." Вадим Колесниченко: «Георгиевская лента символ единства страны». 28–04–2010. http://r-u.org.ua/recomend/581-georg.html.
- "Kolesničenko: Literaturnogo." Колесниченко. Литературного украинского языка в Украине нет. 09–11–2010.

http://www.utro.ua/ru/politika/kolesnichenko_literaturnogo_ukrainskogo_yazyka_v_ukraine_net1289310948.

- "Kolesničenko my." Регионал Колесниченко: Мы на войне и я не хочу, чтобы мой товарищ всадил мне нож в спину. ВИДЕО. 25–05–11. http://censor.net.ua/video_news/169685/regional_kolesnichenko_my_na_ voyine_i_ya_ne_hochu_chtoby_moyi_tovarisch_vsadil_mne_noj_v_spinu_ video.
- "Kolesničenko ob otmene." Колесниченко об отмене парада: Не нужно натужно праздновать то, чего нет. FaceNews – Новости от первого лица, 26–07–2011. http://facenews.ua/11791/kolesnichenko-ob-otmene-parada-ne-nugnonatugno-prazdnovat-to-chego-net.html.
- "Kolesničenko osvistali." Колесниченко освистали в прямом эфире. 28–11–2010. http://korrespondent.net/ukraine/politics/1143158-kolesnichenko-osvistaliv-pryamom-efire.
- "Kolesničenko predlagaet." Колесниченко предлагает "толерантно избавляться от дураков" из оппозиции. 08–06–2011. http://nikvesti.com/news/ politics/22082. See in Ukrainian: http://gazeta.ua/articles/politics/385823.
- "Kolesničenko Press Conference." Lenta.Ru. Izdanie Rambler Media Group. Published on 13–01–2011. http://www.lenta.ru/conf/kolesnichenko/.
- "Kolesničenko Press Conference 2." 12 января в 12.00 news.tochka.net состоялась пресс конференция заместителя главы фракции ПР Колесниченко. No date. http:// r-u.org.ua/akt/6531-news.html.
- "Kolesničenko Prezident." Президент не должен реагировать на каждый визг оппозиции. 06–05–2010. http://r-u.org.ua/politika/660-news.html.
- "Kolesničenko priznalsja." http://www.bagnet.org/news/summaries/ ukraine/2011-04-18/124319. Колесниченко признался: Развиваться Украине мешает весь мир. 18–04–2011. Cf. in Ukr.: http://tsn.ua/ukrayina/u-pr-vvazhayut-scho-stabilna-ukrayina-ne-potribnanikomu-u-sviti.html.
- "Kolesničenko stav." Колесніченко став на захист звільненого за «телячу мову» працівника ДАІ. 28–01–2011. http://zik.ua/ua/news/2011/01/28/269368.
- "Kolesničenko Today Ukraine." Vadym Kolesnichenko: today Ukraine has become the center of anti-fascism. 12–09–2011. http://r-u.org.ua/en/news/315-news.html.
- "Kolesničenko: Ukraine." Vadym Kolesnichenko: Ukraine will adopt the Law guaranteeing ethnic minorities the right to study in their mother tongue.27–01–2011. http://www.partyofregions.org.ua/en/deputy_faction/activities/show/1229.

- "Kolesničenko: V ljuboj." Вадим Колесниченко: В любой точке нашей страны одновременно действуют 14 региональных языков! 24–09–2010. http://www.versii.com/news/215241/.
- "Kolesničenko V Ukrainu." Колесниченко: В Украину заброшены «пятые колонны» для организации «революций». Багнет – Мы к штыку приравняли перо. 16–04– 2011. http://www.bagnet.org/news/ukraine/123947.
- "Kolesničenko vvažaje." Колесніченко вважає рішення Європарламенту щодо Тимошенко нелегітимним. 10–06–2011. http://ukranews.com/uk/news/ ukraine/2011/06/10/45685.
- "Kolesničenko zvynuvatyv." Колесніченко звинуватив Венеціанську комісію в подвійних стандартах. 14–04–2011. http://www.unian.net/ukr/news/news-431083.html.
- Kolesnikov 2002. 02–12. А. Колесников. Какой язык до Киева доведет. http://www.duel. ru/200208/?07_3_2 or http://www.old.russiane.org/101.html.
- Kolesnikov 2004. А. Колесников. Русофобия на Галичине. Галичанский синдром, в: Родина. Сайт русской Латвии (2004). http://rodina.lv/html/galichina.html.
- "Kommodova." Наталя Коммодова. Оборона шкіл. 19–09–2011. (Матеріал друкованого видання № 37 (202) від 08–09–2011). http://ut.net.ua/Society/30317.
- "Konstytucijnyj Sud." Конституційний Суд дозволив розмовляти російською. 15– 12–2011. http://slovoua.com/news/konstitutsiinii-sud-dozvoliv-sudamrozmovliati-rosiis%27koiu.
- Kopitar 1816. Kopitar, Jernej. Nauka Chrjistjianskaja—Za Blagoslovenjiem "Kyr" Michayla Levěckago—Sostavlennaja etc. (Christlicher Unterricht, nach der Ordnung des Normal-Katechismus zum Nutzen der Landkinder nach dem Segen Sr. Ueberheiligkeit des Herrn Michail Lewitzki, Bischofs von Pzemyßl, Sambor, (u.) Sanok verfasst. In Druck gelegt in der Stadt Budin (Ofen), mit Schriften der k. Pester Universität, im Jahre 1816). Wiener Allgemeine Literaturzeitung 89, no. 5 (November 1816): 1423.
- Корогоvа 2010. Русиньска языкова норма на прикладах з періодичной пресы і красной літературы. В: Русиньскый списовный язык на Слвеньску 1995–2010 і сучасна література. Зборник рефератів з научного семінаря з міджінароднов участёв 2. децембра 2010. Пряшів 2010: 4–22.
- "Kornienko." Михаил Корниенко. Простой рецепт уничтожения Украины. Made in USA. 28–12–2011. http://r-u.org.ua/recomend/6468-news.html.
- Когпіlov 2000. Д. Корнилов. Носятся со своим галицийским "Суржиком"... А русский хотят изгнать из теле-пространства Украины. Крымская правда (dating from 2000: 1999 is referred to as "last year"). http://www.geocities.com/CapitolHill/Parliament/9677/surgik.htm, http:// www.edrus.org/content/view/1862/69/.
- Kosior 1930. С. Косіор. Про масову колективізацію, ліквідацію куркуля як кляси і чергові завдання партії. Більшовик України, Нр. 3, 15 лютого, 1930. Політикоекономічний журнал ЦК КП(б)У: 13–24.
- Kosior 1933. С. В. Косіор. Підсумки і найближлі завдання національної політики на Україні. Доповідь на Листопадовому об'єднаном у [*sic*] пленумі ЦК і ЦКК КП(б)У. Червоний Шлях 1933, 8–9: 205–244.

- "Kosjukova." Арина Косюкова. Український суверенітет, або як благодійні фонди та організації «поважають» нашу країну. 28–10–2011. http://zapad.r-u.org.ua/ news/281-news.html.
- Kostiuk 1960. Hryhory Kostiuk. Stalinist Rule in the Ukraine: A Study of the Decade of Mass Terror, 1929–1939. Munich 1960.
- Kotljarevs'kyj 1982. Іван Котляревський. Поетичні твори. Драматичні твори. Листи. Київ 1982.
- Кravciv 1973/1998. Богдан Кравців. Свобода. Іп: Енциклопедія українознавства. Перевидання в Україні (first edition: гол. ред.: Володимир Кубійович, 1973). Т. 7. Львів: Наукове товариство ім. Шевченка 1998: 227–228.
- Кravčenjuk 1993. Осип Кравченюк. Головні редактори "Свободи" 1893–1993. With some more recent information added by [an] unknown author[s]. Available online: http://www.svoboda-news.com/pro_svobodu/kravchenuk.htm.
- Krawchenko 1985. Bohdan Krawchenko. Social Change and National Consciousness in Twentieth-Century Ukraine. London, Edmonton, and Oxford 1985.
- Krylovskij 1904. Амфросій Крыловскій. Львовское ставропигіяльное братство. Киевъ: Типография Императорскаго Университета Св. Владимира.
- Kubajčuk 2004. Віктор Кубайчук. Хронологія мовних подій в Україні (зовнішня історія української мови). Київ 2004.
- Киbijovyč 1966. Володимир Кубійович. Енциклопедія українознавства, т. 5. Париж, Нью-Йорк 1966: 1716–17.
- Kuliš 1874. П. А. Куліш. Исторія возсоединенія Руси. Томъ второй: Отъ начала столѣтней козацко-шляхетской войны до возстановленія въ Кіевѣ православной іерахіи, въ 1620 году. С.-Петербургъ 1874.
- Kuliš 1955. Микола Куліш. Твори. New York 1955.
- Kuliš 1984. Вибрані листи Пантелеймона Куліша, українською мовою писані. Ред.: Ю. Луцький. Нью Йорк – Торонто 1984.
- "Kulyk." Володымыр Кулык. Родной язык и язык общения: на что должна ориентироваться языковая политика? Вестник общественного мнения. Данные. Анализ. Дискуссии З (105). Июль-сентябрь 2010. Год издания 17-й. Аналитический Центр Юрия Левады (Левада-Центр): 75–87.
- Kuropas 1991. Myron B. Kuropas. The Ukrainian Americans. Roots and Aspirations 1884– 1954. Toronto, Buffalo, and London 1991.
- Kurs 1958. Курс історії української літературної мови. Ред.: Іван К. Білодід. Київ 1958.
- Kuzelja–Rudnyc'kyj 1943/1987. Z. Kuzelja J. B. Rudnyc'kyj. Ukrainisch-deutsches Wörterbuch, unter Mitwirkung von S. Iwanyćkyj und K. H. Meyer. 3. Aufl. Wiesbaden 1987 (first published 1943).
- "Kuzio." Kuzio, Taras. Ukrainian Education Minister Tabachnyk Confirms His Russian Nationalist Credentials. Eurasia Daily Monitor Volume 7, issue 177, October 1, 2010. http://www.jamestown.org/programs/edm/single/?tx_ttnews[tt_ news]=36985&tx_ttnews[backPid]=27&cHash=41ea0f42ea.
- Kuzio 2011. Taras Kuzio. A multi-vectored scholar for a multi-vectored era: Paul Robert Magocsi. Nationalities Papers 39, no. 1: 95–104.

- Kuz'minova 2000. Грамматики Лаврентия Зизания и Мелетия Смотрицкого. Ул.: Е. А. Кузьминова. Москва 2000.
- Kviring 1923: Е. Квіринг. Крутий поворіт чи розгортання попередньої роботи. До національного питання. Червоний шлях 1923, 4–5: 107–112.
- Lenec' 2000. К. В. Ленець. Суржик. В: Українська мова. Енциклопедія. Київ: 616.
- Lenin 1965. Vladimir Lenin. Collected Works. Vol. 30. 4th English ed. Moscow 1965.
- Lesiv 1997. Михайло Лесів. Українські говірки у Польщі. Варшава 1997.
- Levkovyč 1933. Л. Левкович. Ненависть, Нотатки про роман Володимира Гжицького Захар "Вовгура". Червоний Шлях 1933, 6: 83–104.
- Levyc'kyj 1834. Joseph Lewicki [Йосиф Левицький]. Grammatik der ruthenischen oder kleinrussischen Sprache in Galizien – Грамматика ызыка русского въ Галицїи – Gramatyka języka ruskiego w Galicyi. Przemyśl 1834.
- Levyc'kyj 1838. Стихъ во Честь Єго Превосходительств⁸ Преосващеннѣйшом⁸ Къръ Михаил⁸ Лѣвицком⁹, Митрополїтѣ Галицком⁹, Архиєпископови Льво́вскому, Бїскупови Каменца Подо́льского, Єго Императорского Величества дѣйствительном⁹ тайном⁹ Совѣтникови, Докторови С. Богослови¤ и т. д., во день Сватого Архистратига Михаила дна 8. Ноємври¤ 1838, ¤ко во день єго высокого тезоименитства, Їосифомъ Лѣвицкимъ, Парохомъ Школьскимъ Диєцезїи Перемыскои у подъножи¤ Єго Престола съ найбо́льшимъ ушанованьомъ сложенный. Въ Перемышли, Дрвковано въ дрвкарнѣ Русского Єпїскопа 1838.
- Levyc'kyj 1838а. Левицький. Ерлькеніг, Гетого переведенъ на мало Рускій язикъ і названъ Богинею Іосіфомъ Левіцкімъ, зо Шкла. Перемышль 1838.
- Levyc'kyj 1888. Іван Е. Левицкій. Галицко-руская библіографія XIX столѣтія съ увзглядненемъ изданій появившихся въ Угорщинѣ и Буковинѣ (1801–1886), т. І: Хронологическій списокъ публикацій (1801–1860). Львовъ 1888.
- Levyc'kyj 1926. Кость Левицький. Історія політичної думки галицьких українців 1848–1914, на підставі споминів, накладом власним, з друкарні оо. Василіян у Жовкві. Львів 1926.
- Ljapunov 2006. Б. М. Аяпунов. Единство русского языка в его наречиях (originally published in Odesa in 1919). 20-03-2006. www.edrus.org/content/ view/2764/63/.
- Ljubčenko 1926. П. Любченко. Старі теорії й нові помилки. Budivnyctvo 1929: 81–94.
- Ljubčenko 1929. П. Любченко. Промова на березневому пленумі ЦК КП(б)У (1927 року). Budivnyctvo 1929: 130–134.
- Ljubčenko 1930. П. Любченко. Українські націоналісти у боротьбі за реставрацію капіталізму (До процесу СВУ). Більшовик України 1930, 9–10: 59–75.
- Losiv 1998. І. Лосів. Галицький міф російської свідомості. Дзвін Севастополя, № 3, грудень 1998 р. http://ukrlife.org/main/tribuna/losiv.htm.
- Lozyns'kyj 1846. Grammatyka języka ruskiego (mało-ruskiego) napisana przez Ks. Józefa Łozińskiego. Przemyśl 1846.
- LS. Лірвак з-над Сяну: перемиські друки середини XIX ст. Ул. Володимир Пилипович. Перемишль 2001.
- Luckyj 1983. G. Luckyj. Panteleimon Kulish: A Sketch of His Life and Times. New York

1983.

- Luckyj 2004. G. S. Luckyj. Kulish, Panteleimon (Kuliš, Pantelejmon). Internet Encyclopedia of Ukraine. http://www.encyclopediaofukraine.com/pages/K/U/ KulishPanteleimon.htm.
- L'vivs'ka gvara 2007. Форум «Львівська гвара». Львів. Форум рідного міста. http://misto.ridne.net/viewthread.php?tid=4554&page=4.
- "Lytvyn." Литвин відклав підписання закону, що урізає квоти українських виконавців. 08–11–2011. http://www.pravda.com.ua/news/2011/11/8/6740263/.
- Łesiów 2000. Michał Łesiów. The Polish and Ukrainian Languages: A Mutually Beneficial Relationship. In: Cultures and Nations of Central and Eastern Europe: Essays in Honor of Roman Szporluk. Ed. Z. Gitelman, L. Hajda, J.-P. Himka, and R. Solchanyk. Cambridge, Mass.: 393–406.
- Machek 1997. Václav Machek. Etymologický slovník jazyka českého. Fotoreprint podle 3. vydání z roku 1971. Praha 1997.
- Масика 2004. 11–25. А. Мацука. Два проекта Украины, в: Интернет-журнал Новая Политика. http://www.novopol.ru/article969.html.
- Magocsi 1978. Paul Robert Magocsi. The Shaping of a National Identity: Subcarpathian Rus', 1848–1948. Cambridge, Mass., and London 1978.
- Magocsi 1995. Paul R. Magocsi. The Rusyn Language Question Revisited. In: A New Slavic Language Is Born. The Rusyn Literary Language of Slovakia. Ed. Paul Robert Magocsi (Series: East European Monographs, vol. 8). New York: 19–47.
- Magocsi 2002. Paul R. Magocsi. The Roots of Ukrainian Nationalism: Galicia as Ukraine's Piedmont. Toronto and Buffalo 2002.
- Magocsi 2005: Paul R. Magocsi. Greek Catholic Union of Brotherhoods in the USA. In: Encyclopedia of Rusyn History and Culture. Revised and expanded edition. Ed. Paul R. Magocsi and Ivan Pop. Toronto, Buffalo, and London 2005: 152.
- Magocsi 2007 [2004]. Paul R. Magocsi [Павел Р. Магочій]. Русиньскый язык. Najnowsze dzieje języków słowiańskich. Opole 2004 (2d ed. 2007).
- Magocsi 2007a. Paul R. Magocsi [Павел Р. Магочій]. Языковый вопрос. In: Magocsi 2007: 85–112.
- Magocsi 2007b. Paul R. Magocsi [Павел Р. Maroчiй]. Етно-географічный і історічный переглад [*sic*]. In: Magocsi 2007: 15–38.
- Magocsi 2007c. Paul R. Magocsi [Павел Роберт Магочій]. Америка. In: Magocsi 2007: 385–392.
- Magocsi 2007d. Paul R. Magocsi [Павло [*sic*] Роберт Магочій]. Народ нивыдкы: ілустрована історія карпаторусинов. Сюжетні коментарі ид ілустраціям Валерій Падяк. По русинськы текст повтомачив Валерій Падяк. Ужгород 2007.
- Magocsi 2008. Paul R. Magocsi [Павел Р. Магочій]. Задачі III. Меджінародного конгресу русиньского языка. In: Pljiškova 2008: 8–14.
- Magocsi 2011. Paul R. Magocsi. Eine rusynische Nation? Die Ukraine. Prozesse der Nationsbildung. Ed. Andreas Kappeler. Cologne, Weimar, and Vienna: 269–278.
- Magocsi Pop 2005. Encyclopedia of Rusyn History and Culture. Revised and expanded

edition. Ed. Paul Robert Magocsi and Ivan Pop. Toronto, Buffalo, and London.

- "Makarov." Юрій Макаров. Дискредитанти. 19–09–2011. Матеріал друкованого видання № 37 (202) від 08–09–2011. http://www.ut.net.ua/ Columns/50/30367?PageIndex=2.
- Макѕутоvуč (1840/1863). Письмо о галицко-руской словесности Профессора Михаила Максимовича. Писаное въ 1840. году изъ Кіева. Галичанин 1863, кн. I, вип. II, 1863: 107–110.
- Макѕутоvyč 1929. К. Макѕутоvyč. Заява на березневому пленумі ЦК КП(б)У 1927 р. In: Budivnyctvo 1929, 209–210.
- Marčuk 1969. Н. І. Марчук, Форми 3-ї особи дієслів теперішнього часу в українських говорах, в: Українська діалектна морфологія. Ред. Ф. Т. Жилко. Київ 1969: 168–177.
- "Margo" 2007. 01–28. http://forum.pravda.com.ua/read.php?4,1805997,1809236.
- Martin 2001. Terry Martin. The Affirmative Action Empire: Nations and Nationalism in the Soviet Union 1923–1939. Ithaca, N.Y.
- Masenko 2004. Лариса Масенко. Мова і суспільство. Постколоніальний вимір. Київ (see also: Суржик як соціолінгвістичний феномен). В: Ї 35, 2004. http://www. ji.lviv.ua/n35texts/masenko-surzhyk.htm.
- "Masenko." Лариса Масенко. Законопроект «Про мови в Україні»: погляд лінгвіста. Дзеркало тижня, № 34 (814). 18–24–09–2010. http://www.pravda.com.ua/ articles/2009/04/23/3899542/.
- "Masenko: Koly." Лариса Масенко: Коли не ведеться мовна політика в країні це теж політика. 23–11–2010. http://slovoidilo.com/polityka/larysa-masenko-kolyne-vedetsya-movna-polityka-v-krayini-tse-tezh-polityka.html.
- "Masenko mova." Лариса Масенко. Мова й холуїзм. 08–09–2010. http://slovoidilo. com/polityka/mova-j-choluyizm.html.
- "Maskal" 2007. Viktor Yanukovych. Personal Information Server. http://www.ya2006.com.ua/eng/forum/4682278f19404/ (deleted between 07–02–07 and 07–11–07).
- "Mazuka Туščenko." Людмила Мазука. Юлія Тищенко. Як живеться росіянам в Україні? 23–04–2009. http://www.pravda.com.ua/ articles/2009/04/23/3899542/.
- Medvedev Morhun Nakonečnyj 1962: Ф.П. Медведев П.А. Моргун М.Ф. Наконечний. Про основні етапи історичного розвитку української літературної мови. В: Праці Міжвузовської конференції, що відбулася в Харкові 15-20 грудня 1959 року, присвячені V Міжнародному з'їздові славістів. Харків 1962: 12–56.
- "Medvedev nagradil." Медведев наградил Колесниченко за русский язык. 08–12–2008. http://news.liga.net/news/N0867231.html.
- "Micha" 2007. 06–20. Gala.net: Политика. http://forum.gala.net/?page=read&tt=336922&ff=1004.
- Miller 2000. Алексей И. Миллер. "Украинский вопрос" в политике властей и русском общественном мнении (вторая половина XIX века). Санкт-Петербург 2000.
- "Minkul'tury." Мінкультури звинувачує Табачника у брехні. 14–04–2010. http://nbb.

com.ua/news/806/18/.

- Misiak 2006. Małgorzata Misiak. Łemkowie. W kręgu badań nad mniejszościami etnolingwistycznymi w Europie. Wrocław 2006.
- "Misija." Місія Табачника. 07–09–2010. http://slovoidilo.com/polityka/misiyatabachnyka.html.
- "Mitropolit." Митрополит УПЦ МП заявив, що його місія: відстоювати інтереси росіян в Україні. 18–10–2011. http://nbb.com.ua/news/1338/18/.

ML. Листи Івана Мазепи 1687–1691. Ред.: В. Станіславський. Київ 2002.

- Mohyl'nyc'kyj 1910. Філологічні праці Івана Могильницького. Вид.: Михайло Возняк. Львів 1910.
- Моhyl'nyc'kyj 1838. [Antin Mohyl'nyc'kyj.] Пъснь радостна. Съ пригоды поставленїа въ Церквъ Митрополїчой Львовской С. Великомученика Георгїа, дна з. Марта, ашли [1838], Єги високопочтеннаги господина Васїлїа Поповича катедральной церкви Прашовской Крылошана, Доктора Любомудрїа, Архїдїакона Спижкаги и прч. и прч. на Єпспа Мункачовской Єпархїи обр. гр. каθ. въ Уграхъ произнесенна Алумнами Семинарїи генеральной обр. гр. каθ. Въ Львовъ, типомъ інститута стаиропїгїанскаги 1838.
- Mohyl'nyc'kyj 2003. Іван Могильницький. Вѣдомѣсть о Рускомъ языцѣ. Ред.: В. Грещук. Івано-Франківськ 2003.
- Mončalovs'kyj 1899. О. А. Мончаловскій. Житье і дѣятельность Ивана Наумовича. Львів 1899.
- Morfolohiia 1978. Історія української мови: Морфологія. Ред. В. Німчук. Київ 1978.
- Moser 1998. Michael Moser. Die polnische, ukrainische und weißrussische Interferenzschicht im russischen Satzbau des 16. und 17. Jahrhunderts (Schriften über Sprachen und Texte, Bd. 3). Frankfurt am Main etc. 1998.
- Moser 1998a. Michael Moser. Ostukrainische Urkunden- und Geschäftssprache im 18. Jahrhundert. Zeitschrift für slavische Philologie 57, 1998/2: 379–407.
- Moser 2001. Michael Moser. Zwei "ruthenische" (ukrainische) Erstlesefibeln aus dem österreichischen Galizien und ihre sprachliche Konzeption. Wiener Slavistisches Jahrbuch 47, 2001: 93–122.
- Moser 2002. Michael Moser. Prüfsteine des Austroslavismus: Das "Allgemeine Reichs-Gesetz- und Regierungsblatt für das Kaiserthum Oesterreich" und die "Juridischpolitische Terminologie für die slawischen Sprachen Oesterreichs". In: Crossroads of Cultures: Central Europe. Ed. Ivo Pospíšil. Brno 2002: 75–129.
- Moser 2002a. Michael Moser. Ruthenisch oder Russisch? Die Sprache der ukrainischen Russophilen in der Habsburgermonarchie. Wiener Slavistisches Jahrbuch 48 (Beiträge für den Internationalen Slawistenkongress in Ljubljana/Laibach 2003): 99–115.
- Moser 2002b. Михаэль Мозер. Что такое "про́стая мова"? Studia Slavica [Academiae Scientiarum] Hung[aricae] 47/3–4: 221–260.
- Moser 2003. Michael Moser. Das Ukrainische ("Ruthenische") der galizischen Polonophilen zwischen 1830 und 1849. Zeitschrift für Slavische Philologie 62, no. 2 (2003): 311–358.

- Moser 2003a. Michael Moser. Koncepcja językowa lwowskiego elementarza "Рускославенскій Букварь" z 1847 r. In: Ukraina między językiem a kulturą. Studia Ruthenica Cracoviensia 1. Ed. Bożena Zinkiewicz-Tomanek and Adam Fałowski. Cracow 2003: 65–70.
- Moser 2004. Michael Moser. "Jazyčije"—ein Pseudoterminus der sprachwissenschaftlichen Ukrainistik. Studia Slavica [Academiae Scientiarum] Hung[aricae] 49, nos. 1–2 (2004): 121–47 = Міхаель Мозер. "Язичіє"—псевдотермін в українському мовознавстві. Збірник Харківського історико-філологічного товариства. Нова серія. Т. 10, 2004: 207–32.
- Moser 2004a. Michael Moser. Das Ukrainische im Gebrauch der griechisch-katholischen Kirche in Galizien (1772–1859). In: Das Ukrainische als Kirchensprache – Українська мова в церквах, hrsg. v. M. Moser, Vienna 2004 (Slavische Sprachgeschichte, Bd. 1): 151–241.
- Moser 2004b. Michael Moser. Review of Wendland 2001. Zeitschrift für Slavische Philologie 63/1, 2004: 237–247.
- Moser 2004c. Michael Moser. Wechselbeziehungen zwischen slavischen Sprachen (bis zum Ende des 19. Jahrhunderts). Welt der Slaven XLIX, 2004: 161–82.
- Moser 2004d. Michael Moser. Die sprachliche Erneuerung der galizischen Ukrainer zwischen 1772 und 1848/1849 im mitteleuropäischen Kontext. In: Contemporary Cultural Studies in Central Europe. Ed. Ivo Pospíšil and Michael Moser. Brno 2004: 81–118.
- Moser 2005. Michael Moser. Sind der "Relativisator" To und die Syntax anderer Enklitika als klare Beweise für die Authentizität des Igorlieds zu werten? Studia Slavica [Academiae Scientiarum] Hung[aricae] 50, 2005/3–4: 267–282.
- Моser 2005а. Міхаель Мозер. Українська ("руська") версія "Общого Вѣстника законовъ державныхъ и правительства", "Вѣстника законо̂въ державныхъ для королевствъ и краѣвъ въ державно̂й думѣ заступленныхъ" (1870–1895/1896) і "Вістника законів державних для королївств і країв заступлених в радї державній" (1895/1896–1918). Іп: Австрія й Україна в контексті європейської інтеграції та співробітництва. Матеріали науково-практичної конференції. Ред.: Міхаель Мозер, Віктор Андрющенко. Відень – Київ 2005: 33–45.
- Moser 2005b. Michael Moser. Some Viennese contributions to the development of Ukrainian terminologies. In: Ukraine's re-integration into Europe: A historical, historiographical and political urgent issue. Ed. Giovanna Brogi-Bercoff and Giulia Lami. Alessandria 2005 (Slavica 9): 139–180.
- Moser 2005c. Michael Moser. Slavischsprachige Kommunikation auf dem Prager Slavenkongress von 1848. In: Litteraria Humanitas XIII. Austrian, Czech and Slovak Slavonic Studies in Their Central European Context. Ed. Ivo Pospíšil, Michael Moser, and Stefan M. Newerkla. Brno 2005: 47–72.
- Moser 2006. Міхаель Мозер. Важливий крок в історії підручників з української мови: Перші два видання букваря Івана Могильницького (Буда 1816 р., Львів 1819 р.). In: Studia Russica XXII, 2006: 89–114.
- Moser 2006a. Michael Moser. Panegyrika für griechisch-katholische Bischöfe und die galizisch-ukrainische Erneuerung – Josyf Levyc'kyjs "Стихъ во честь Jero Преосващеньству Киръ Іоанну Снътурскому" von 1837. In: Iter philologicum.

Festschrift für Helmut Keipert zum 65. Geburtstag. Ed. Daniel Bunčić and Nikolaos Trunte. München 2006 (Die Welt der Slaven. Sammelbände – Сборники 28): 125–137.

- Moser 2006b. Міхаель Мозер. Перші кроки народної «русинської мови» в шкільництві угорських русинів-українців – "Наука свъцка" в букварі Івана Кутки (в порівнянні з її подільсько-галицькою попередницею "Полѣтикою свъцкою"). Іп: Микроязыки – Языки – Интеръязыки. Сборник в честь ординарного профессора Александра Дмитриевича Дуличенко. Ред.: А. Кюннап – В. Лефельдт – С. Кузнецов. Тарту 2006: 126–141.
- Moser 2006c. Michael Moser. Review of Розмова Бесъда. Das ruthenische und kirchenslavische Berlaimont-Gesprächsbuch des Ivan Uževyč. Mit lat. und poln. Paralleltext hrsg. v. Daniel Bunčić und Helmut Keipert. Munich 2005. Wiener Slavistisches Jahrbuch 52, 2006: 249–251.
- Moser 2007. Michael Moser. "Ruthenische" (ukrainische) Sprach- und Vorstellungswelten in den galizischen Volksschullesebüchern der Jahre 1871 und 1872. Vienna 2007 (Slavische Sprachgeschichte, Bd. 2).
- Moser 2007a. Michael Moser. Philologie als Schlüssel zu den nach morphologischen Prinzipien adaptierten Polonismen im Russischen. Studia Slavica [Academiae Scientiarum] Hung[aricae] 52 (Festschrift for Prof. István Nyomárkay): 299–308.
- Moser 2007b. Міхаель Мозер. Слов'янська ідея в середовищі галицьких русинів (українців) перемиської єпархії (1830–1848/49 pp.). In: Amoenitates vel lepores philologiae (Venceslao Durano vulgo Twardzik dicto septuagenario tota philologorum turba gratulans dedicat). Ed. Roman Laskowski and Roman Mazurkiewicz. Cracow: 416–427.
- Moser 2007c. Michael Moser. Zur Genese des allrussischen Geschichts- und Sprachmythos in der Kiewer "Synopsis". In: Wort – Geist – Kultur. Gedenkschrift für Sergej S. Averincev. Ed. Juliane Besters-Dilger, Heinz Miklas, Gerhard Neweklowsky, and Fedor B. Poljakov. Frankfurt am Main 2007: 219–285. Cf. Ukrainian translation in Moser 2008, pp. 162–222.
- Moser 2008a. Michael Moser. Taras Ševčenko und die moderne ukrainische Schriftsprache – Versuch einer Würdigung. Nördlingen 2008.
- Moser 2008b: Michael Moser. Colonial Linguistic Reflexes in a Post-Soviet Setting: The Galician Variant of the Ukrainian Language and Anti-Ukrainian Discourse in Contemporary Internet Sources. In Contemporary Ukraine on the Cultural Map of Europe. Ed. Larissa Onyshkevych and Maria Rewakowicz. Armonk/New York – London, England 2009: 316–335.
- Моser 2008с. Міхаель Мозер. Чи намагався Олександр Духнович створити русинську літературну мову? Україна модерна 13, № 2: 222–35, see also Moser 2011: 627–40.
- Moser 2008d. Michael Moser. "Austroruthenisch?"—Der Wiener "Вѣстникъ" als Zeitung "für die Ruthenen des österreichischen Staates." In: Die Ukrainer (Ruthenen, Russinen) in Österreich-Ungarn. Eine geteilte Nation und ihr Sprach- und Kulturleben im Blickfeld von Wien und Budapest. Ed. Michael Moser and András Zoltán. Vienna 2008: 29–100.

- Moser 2009. Michael Moser. Russisch in der Privatkorrespondenz ukrainischer Frauen aus dem 18. Jahrhundert. In: Die russische Sprache und Literatur im 18. Jahrhundert: Tradition und Innovation—Russkii iazyk i literatura v XVIII veke: traditsiia i innovatsiia, Gedenkschrift für Gerta Hüttl-Folter. Ed. Juliane Besters-Dilger and Fedor Poljakov. Frankfurt am Main etc. 2009: 289–322.
- Moser 2009a. Michael Moser. Did Aleksandr Dukhnovych strive to create a Rusyn literary language? In: Best Stepien 2009: 63–80.
- Moser 2009b. Michael Moser. Einige phonologisch markierte Metapolonismen in Kyrylo Trankvilion-Stavrovec'kyjs "Перло многицѣнное". In: Bibel, Liturgie und Frömmigkeit in der Slavia byzantina. Festgabe für Hans Rothe zum 80. Geburtstag. Ed. Dagmar Christians, Dieter Stern, and Vittorio S. Tomelleri. Munich: 430–447.
- Moser 2010. Міхаель Мозер. «Граматика руського языка» Івана Панькевича та галицька українська мова в Підкарпатській Русі. In: Корогоva 2010: 68–93.
- Moser 2011. Міхаель Мозер. Причинки до історії української мови. Харків: Харківське історико-філологічне товариство. Вінниця 2011.
- Moser 2011а. Міхаель Мозер. Український П'ємонт? Дещо про значення Галичини для формування, розбудови й збереження української мови. Львів, Київ 2011.
- Moser 2011b. Michael Moser. Macht und Kodifikation in der Subkarpatischen Rus' (1919– 1944). In: Власт и кодификация. Изд.: Диана Иванова. Пловдив: 98–112.
- Moser 2011с. Міхаель Мозер. "Русини" й "руська мова" в галицьких граматиках першої половини XIX століття. Іп: Українська мова в Галичині: історичний вимір (Серія "Історія мови"). Ред.: Ярослав Ісаєвич – Міхаель Мозер – Наталія Хобзей. Львів 2011: 9–54.
- Moser 2011d. Ukrainian and Belarusian in Alexander Issatschenko's "Geschichte der russischen Sprache." In: Florilegium in honorem Alexandri Isačenko. Ad iubilaeum centenarium oblatum. Ed. A. Eliáš and L. Matejko. Bratislava: 59–73. www.coolart. sk/grafika_11.../FLORILEGII_2011_web%20nahlad.pdf (08–06–2011).
- Moser 2012. Michael Moser. Deutsche Klassik auf Galizisch-Ruthenisch Schillers "Bürgschaft" in Josyf Levyc'kyjs Übersetzung aus dem Jahr 1841. In: Schnittpunkt Slavistik. Ost und West im wissenschaftlichen Dialog. Festgabe für Helmut Keipert zum 70. Geburtstag. Tl. 2: Einflussforschung. Ed. Irina Podtergera. Bonn: 41–70.
- Moser 2012а. Міхаель Мозер. Тарас Шевченко і сучасна українська мова: спроба гідної оцінки. Переклав з німецької Володимир Кам'янець. Українська наукова бібліотека НТШ. Ч. 32. Львів 2012 (Серія "Історія мови").
- Moser 2012b. Міхаель Мозер. Дещо про мовну спадщину галицьких москвофілів (на прикладі творів Івана Наумовича). In: Studien zu Sprache, Literatur und Kultur bei den Slaven: Gedenkschrift für George Y. Shevelov aus Anlass seines 100. Geburtstages und 10. Todestages. Ed. Andrii Danylenko and Serhii Vakulenko. (Die Welt der Slaven. Sammelbände 42). Munich and Berlin 2012: 154–180.
- Moser 2013. Michael Moser. Language Policy and the Discourse on Languages in Ukraine under President Viktor Yanukovych (25 February 2010–28 October 2012). Stuttgart 2013.

Moser forthcoming. Міхаель Мозер. Мовні конфлікти в міжвоєнній Підкарпатській

Русі: «Граматика руського языка» Івана Панькевича в соціолінгвістичному контексті.

- Moser forthcoming a. Michael Moser. The Valuev Circular and the language that "did not, does not and cannot exist." In: a volume devoted to the 150th anniversary of the Valuev Circular, ed. Michael Moser.
- МU. Універсали Івана Мазепи 1687–1709. Ред.: І. Бутич. Київ, Львів 2002.
- MU II. Універсали Івана Мазепи 1687–1709. Т. 2. Ред.: І. Бутич, В. Ринсевич. Київ, Львів 2006.
- Mušinka 2002. Mikuláš Mušinka [Микола Мушинка]. Hlasy predkov–Голоси предків. Prešov 2002.
- Mušinka 2002a. Микола Мушинка. "Іван Панькевич та сучасний стан дослідження його спадщини". B: Ivan Paňkevyč a otázky spisovného jazyka. Štúdie a materiály. Ed. Mikulaš Mušinka. Prague 2002: 10–26.
- "Myslyvec" 2007. "Мисливець". 02–01–07. Форум "Мовні та міжнаціональні питання". http://forum.pravda.com.ua/read.php?4,1825251,page=1.
- "Myxel'son." Олександр Михельсон. Депутат Колесниченко нацист. Доказ. 05–10– 2011.

http://blogs.pravda.com.ua/authors/mykhelson/4e8c91a8b70bd/.

- "MZS RF." M3C РФ: ніхто не платитиме за російську мову в Україні. 18–10–2011. http://nbb.com.ua/news/1337/18/.
- "Na Bukovyni." На Буковині дискримінують україномовні школи. 27–01–2011. http://nbb.com.ua/news/1079/18/.
- "Na 9 knig." На 9 книг на русском языке приходится только одна на украинском. 14-09-2010.

http://www.unian.net/rus/news/news-395854.html.

- Nakonečnyj 2001. Євген Наконечний. Украдене ім'я. Чому русини стали українцями. Львів 2001.
- "Na Luhanščyni." На Луганщині батьки учнів україномовної школи оголосили голодування. 18–02–2011. http://nbb.com.ua/news/1106/18/.
- "Nardep." Нардеп: Табачник до сих пор не обеспечил школьников учебниками. 09– 09–2011. http://obozrevatel.com/politics/nardep-tabachnik-do-sih-por-neobespechil-shkolnikov-uchebnikami.htm.
- Naumovyč 1849. Гриць Мазниця або Мужь заманенний. Комедія в трох действіях. І. Х. Покепина Молієра із французского переложена Іваном Наумовичем. Во Львовѣ 1849.
- Naumovyč 1851. Иванъ Наумовичь. «Псалом веснянный». Зоря Галицка. Ч. 25. дня 17/29 марта 1851: 207–208.
- Naumovyč 1866. [Ivan Naumovyč]. «Отъ Львова (Поглядъ въ будучность)». Слово, 27 липня (8 серпня) 1866: 1–2.
- Naumovyč 1876. Катехисъ пчоловодства. Составленъ Иваномъ Наумовичемъ, приходникомъ Скалата. Въ Коломыѣ 1876.
- Naumovyč 1876а. Настуня. Ивана Наумовича повѣсть. Коломыя 1876.

Naumovyč 1881. Научный Мѣсяцословъ на рокъ 1881, изданный Иваномъ Наумовичемъ приходникомъ въ Скалатѣ. Накладомъ издателя. Львовъ 1881.

- Naumovyč 1884. Знъмченый Юрко. Комедія въ 2 дъйствіяхъ. Написавъ Иванъ Наумовичъ 2-е изд. Коломыя 1884.
- Naumovyč 1886. Поученія о земледълствъ: Изъ письмъ Ивана Наумовича зъ г. 1874 и 1875. ч. 1 (Изданія Общества имени М. Качковского). Февраль 1886, Ч. 123. Во Львовъ 1886.
- Naumovyč 1886а. И. Гр. Наумовичъ. «Осмотръ политичный». Слово. Львовъ. Середа 19. (31.) Октобр. 1866: 1–3.
- Naumovyč 1904. Гриць Шпачокъ. Написавъ Иванъ Наумовичъ. О́тбитка зъ книжочки "Луць Заливайко". Коломыя 1904.
- Naumovyč 1906. [І. Naumovyč]. Золотая книжочка для сельскихъ господарей. Изъ власнои практики уложивъ Иванъ, господарь, щобы всѣ знали, якъ коло землѣ ходитися мае. Перепечатано изъ старои книжки. Вторый накладъ. Коломыя 1906.
- Naumovyč 1907. Катехисъ пчоловодства. Составленъ Иваномъ Наумовичемъ. Коломыя 1907.
- Naxlik 2000. Євген Нахлік. «Княжа Русь у творчості західноукраїнських романтиків». Шашкевичіяна. New Series, vols. 3–4. Lviv and Winnipeg 2000: 42–63.
- Nebeská 1996/1999. Iva Nebeská. Jazyk. Norma. Spisovnost. Prague 1996/1999.
- Nekvapil 2007. Jiří Nekvapil. On the relationship between small and large Slavic languages. Small and Large Slavic Languages in Contact (International Journal of the Sociology of Language 183). Ed. Roland Marti and Jiří Nekvapil. Berlin and New York 2007: 141–160.
- Netreba 2004. Наталія Нетреба. Постать Лаврентія Зизанія крізь призму лінгвогеографії. В: Школи, постаті, проблеми. Ред. П. Гриценко і Н. Хобзей. Львів 2004 (Діалектологічні студії 4), 231–239.
- "nickpro" 2006. 08–12. Трагедия Украины: борьба между двумя украинскими языками [...]. http://dirty.ru/comments/152766.
- Nimčuk 1964. Василь Німчук. Лексис Лаврентія Зизанія. Синоніма славеноросская. Київ 1964.
- Nimčuk 1980. Василь Німчук. Лаврентій Зизаній. Граматика словенска. Київ 1980.
- Nimčuk 2005. Василь Німчук. Українські переклади Святого Письма. In: Das Ukrainische als Kirchensprache – Українська мова в церквах. Ed. Michael Moser (Slavische Sprachgeschichte, Bd. 1). Vienna 2005: 15–64.
- "Odessa nevozmožna." Одесса невозможна без русского языка Костусев. 07–06–2011. http://lb.ua/news/2011/06/07/100321_Odessa_nevozmozhna_bez_ russkogo_ya.html.
- "Odesskie vlasti." Одесские власти разрешили почти 80 школам вести обучение на украинском и русском языках. 11–07–2011. http://ukranews.com/ru/news/ ukraine/2011/07/11/47955.
- "Odesskij mitropolit." Одесский митрополит Агафангел: "Львов это наша Чечня". 07–06–2011.

http://lb.ua/news/2011/06/07/100278_Odesskiy_mitropolit_Agafangel_.html.

Ohijenko 1949/1995. Іван Огієнко (Митрополит Іларіон). Історія української літературної мови. Вінніпег 1949 (repr. Київ 1995).

- Ohloblyn 1960/2001. Олександр Оглоблин. Гетьман Іван Мазепа та його доба. Нью Йорк, Париж, Торонто 1960 (2-е вид. Нью Йорк, Київ, Львів, Париж, Торонто 2001). http://litopys.org.ua/coss3/ohl06.htm, http://ukrainaforever. narod.ru/mazepa_ogloblin1.htm.
- Ohloblyn 1962/1996. Олександр Оглоблин. Малоросійська Колегія. В: Енциклопедія українознавства. Словникова частина. Т. 4. Київ 1996 (Оригінал 1962): 1451.
- Ohloblyn 2008. Oleksander Ohloblyn. "Mazepa, Ivan." Encyclopedia of Ukraine: The Internet Encyclopedia of Ukraine. http://www.encyclopediaofukraine.com/ pages/M/A/MazepaIvan.htm, updated 2008.
- Ohloblyn Petrenko 1962/1996. О. Оглоблин П. Петренко. Куліш Пантелеймон. Енциклопедія українознавства. Словникова частина. Т. 4. Гол. ред.: В. Кубійович. Київ 1996 (first published 1962).
- Ohonovs'kyj 1880. Studien auf dem Gebiete der ruthenischen Sprache von Dr. Emil Ogonowski. Lemberg 1880.
- "Opinion." European Commission for Democracy through Law (Venice Commission). Opinion on the Draft Law on Languages in Ukraine. Adopted by the Venice Commission at its 86th Plenary Session (25–26 March 2011). Opinion no. 605 / 2010 CDL-AD(2011)008. On the basis of comments by Mr Sergio Bartole (Substitute Member, Italy), Mr Jan Velaers (Member, Belgium), Mr Marcus Galdia (DGHL Expert). Strasbourg, 30 March 2011. www.venice.coe.int.
- "Opinion 2." European Commission for Democracy through Law (Venice Commission). Opinion on the Draft Law on Languages in Ukraine. Adopted by the Venice Commission at its 89th Plenary Session (Venice, 16–17 December 2011). On the basis of comments by Mr Sergio Bartole (Substitute Member, Italy), Mr Jan Velaers (Member, Belgium). Strasbourg, 19 December 2011. Opinion no. 651/2011. www.venice.coe.int.

Оруѕ 1961. Опис рукописів Т. Г. Шевченка. Відп. ред.: О. І. Білецький. Київ 1961.

- "Opytuvannja." Соціологічні опитування. Яка мова для Вас є рідною? (динаміка, 2006–2008). 19−10–2008. http://www.razumkov.org.ua/ukr/article.php/poll. php?poll_id=290.
- Orlyk 1862. Пилип Орлик. Историческіе акты. Письма Орлика къ Стефану Яворскому [1721]. Основа: Южно-русскій литературно-ученый вѣстникъ. № 10, 1862: 1–28.
- Osnova 1861–1862. Основа. Южно-русскій литературно-ученый Вѣстникъ. Петербургъ 1861–1862.
- Padiak 2009. Valerii Padiak. The Reduction of the Status of the Rusyn Language to that of a Ukrainian Dialect as Part of the language policy of the USSR on the terrain after the Annexation of Subcarpathian Rus'. In: Best – Stepien 2009: 81–88.
- Padjak 2008. Валерій Падяк. Языкова сітуація на Підкарпатській Руси: проблемы и перспективы. In: Pljiškova 2008: 63–72.
- Panašenko 1993. В. В. Панашенко. Органи управління та їх канцелярії на Гетьманщині XVIII ст. In: DD 1993: 5–22.
- Pan'kevyč 1923. Ivan Paňkevič [Pan'kevyč]. "Jazyková otázka v Podkarpatské Rusi." In Podkarpatská Rus. Obraz poměru přírodních, hospodářských, politických,

církevních, jazykových a osvětových. With 53 ills. and 2 maps. Ed. J. Chmelař, S. Klima, and J. Kelas. Prague 1923.

- Рап'kevyč 1938. Іван Панькевич. Українські говори підкарпатської Руси і сумежних областей. Арр. with 5 dialectological maps. № 13, Звучня і морфологія. Прага.
- Pan'kevyč 2002. Іван Панькевич. "Мій життєпис". In: Ivan Paňkevyč a otázky spisovného jazyka. Štúdie a materiály. Red.: Mikuláš Mušinka. Praha 2002: 81–105.
- Pan'kevyč 2002a. Панькевич, І. Додаток. In: Ivan Paňkevyč a otázky spisovného jazyka. Štúdie a materiály. Red.: Mikuláš Mušinka. Praha 2002: 159–65.
- "Partija Rehioniv." «Партія регіонів» пропонує встановити статус російської мови як регіональної у половині областей України, – законопроект. 29–08–2011. http://news.dt.ua/SOCIETY/partiya_regioniv_proponue_vstanoviti_status_ rosiyskoyi_movi_yak_regionalnoyi_u_polovini_oblastey_ukr-86857.html.
- Partyc'kyj 1871. Руска читанка для низшихъ клясъ середнихъ шко̂лъ, Ч. II. У Львовъ 1871 (Накладомъ товариства ,Просвъта'). Зъ друкарнъ К. Будвайсера.
- Pašaeva 2001. Нина Пашаева. Очерки истории русского движения в Галичине. Москва 2001. See also: Ukrainskie stranicy. www.ukrstor.com/ukrstor/paszaeva_oczerk.html
- Раšaeva 2013. Нина Пашаева. И. Г. Наумович как общественный, политический и религиозный деятель Галичины второй половины XIX века. http://www.ukrstor.com/ukrstor/paszaewa_naumovicz.html.
- Pauly 2009. Matthew D. Pauly. Tending to the "Native Word": Teachers and the Soviet Campaign for Ukrainian-Language Schooling, 1923–1930. Nationalities Papers 37/3, 2009: 251–276.
- Peredova 1933. Передова: 16 років пролетарської диктатури. Більшовик України, 1933, 12: 1–12.
- Peredrijenko 1979. В. А. Передрієнко. Формування української літературної мови XVIII ст. на народній основі. Київ 1979.
- "Perohanyč." Юрій Пероганич. Українська Вікіпедія на другому місці в світі. 06– 01–2012. http://www.slovoidilo.com/novyny/ukrayinska-vikipediya-nadrugomu-mistsi-v-sviti.html.
- Реštič 1958. Сергей Л. Пештич. «Синопсис» как историческое произведение. In: Труды отдела древнерусской литературы, vol. XV, 1958: 284–298.
- Реtrovs'kyj 1929. Г. Петровський, Промова на червневому пленумі ЦК КП(б)У 1926 р. In: Budivnyctvo 1929: 54–58.
- Plishkova 2009. Anna Plishkova. Language and National Identity: Rusyns South of Carpathians (Series: East European Monographs, vol. 14). New York.
- Pljiškova 2008. Русиньскый язык меджі двома конгресами. Зборник рефератів з ІІІ. Меджінародного конгресу русиньского языка, Краків, 13.–16.9.2007. Ред.: Анна Плїшкова. Пряшів 2008.
- Plokhy 2006. Serhii Plokhy. The Origins of the Slavic Nations: Premodern Identities in Russia, Ukraine, and Belarus. Cambridge 2006.
- Poliščuk 2003. В. Полищук. Канадская диаспора. "Sergey's" (11-16-03) contribution to the forum http://forum.mediaport.info/read.php?39,8641,332212 or http://

lifeinua.blogspot.com/2007/04/i-i-i-4.html (only for registered members on 07–11–07, free access before).

Pop 2005. Ivan Pop. "Pan'kevych, Ivan Artemovych." In: Magocsi – Pop 2005: 370–371.

- Ророv 1933. М. М. Попов. Про націоналістичні ухили в лавах української парторганізації і про завдання боротьби з ними. Червоний Шлях 1933, 7: 109–126.
- Роstyšev 1933. П. П. Постишев. Радянська Україна непохитний форпост великого СРСР. З промови на об'єднаному листопадовому пленумі ЦК і ЦКК КП(б)У. Червоний Шлях 1933, 8–9: 245–260.
- Postyšev 1933а. П. П. Постишев. Особливості сучасного етапу і завдання боротьби за більшовицьке збирання, обмолот і хлібоздавання (Fn. Перероблені стенограми промов на четвертому пленумі ЦК КП(б)У і об'єднаному пленумі Харківського обкому й облвиконкому.). Більшовик України, Hp. 7–8 (1933): 1–18.
- "Prezentovano." Презентовано практичну інструкцію з реалізації лінгвоциду українофобами. 09–09–2011. http://slovoidilo.com/novyny/prezentovanopraktychnu-instruktsiyu-z-realizatsiyi-lingvotsydu-ukrayinofobamy.html.
- "Prezydent." Президент Киево-Могилянки выступил против Дмитрия Табачника. Из-за ксенофобии. 16–03–2010. http://www.ostro.org/news/article-90411/.
- "Prezydent rozkrytykuvav." Президент розкритикував Табачника і сказав, що доля його "невідома". 30–06–2011. http://www.newsru.ua/ukraine/30jun2011/tabaki. html.
- "Prinjatie novogo." Принятие нового закона о языках усилит языковое разделение в обществе, предупреждают учёные. 14–09–2010. http://rus.newsru.ua/ ukraine/14sep2010/langsci.html.
- Procko 1979. Bohdan P. Procko. The Rise of Ukrainian Ethnic Consciousness in America During the 1890's. In: The Ukrainian Experience in the United States. A Symposium. Ed. Paul R. Magocsi. Cambridge, Mass. (Harvard Ukrainian Research Institute. Sources and Documents Series) 1979: 51–67 (+ discussion 68–71).
- Prylypko 1966. Н. П. Прилипко. Норми називного відмінка однини прикметників середнього і жіночого роду в говорах української мови. В: Українська лінгвістична географія. Ред.: Ф. Т. Жилко. Київ 1966: 103–10.
- Pugh 2009. Stefan M. Pugh. The Rusyn Language: A Grammar of the Literary Standard of Slovakia with Reference to Lemko and Subcarpathian Rusyn. Munich 2009.
- Pylypenko 1923. S. Pylypenko. Odvertyj lyst [*sic,* in Latin letters]. Червоний Шлях 1923, 6–7: 267–268.
- Руlуроvyč 2004. Готель «Під Провидінням» Репертуар українського театру в Перемишлі 1848-1849 рр. Ред.: В. Пилипович. Перемишль 2004: 119–171.
- Rabus 2008. Achim Rabus. Die Sprache ostslavischer geistlicher Gesänge im kulturellen Kontext (ser.: Monumenta linguae slavicae dialecti veteris. Fontes et dissertationes, tom. LII). Freiburg im Breisgau 2008.
- "Rada maje namir." Рада має намір зняти 50%-у квоту на кількість української музики в теле- і радіоефірі. 01–02–2011. http://www.ukranews.com/uk/news/

ukraine/2011/02/01/36337.

- "Rada skasovuje." Рада скасовує 50%-ву квоту на трансляцію українських виконавців. 02–02–2011. http://nbb.com.ua/news/1089/18/.
- "Rada znyzyla." Рада знизила квоту українських творів в ефірі до 25%. 03–11–2011. http://www.ukranews.com/uk//news/ukraine/2011/11/03/56979.
- Radziejowski 1987. Janusz Radziejowski. The Communist Party of Western Ukraine, 1919– 29. Edmonton 1987.
- Rakovs'kyj 1923. Х. Раковський. П'ять років Української Радянської Влади. Промова тов. Х. Г. Раковського на урочистому засіданні Харківської Міськради від 16-го липня ц. р. Червоний Шлях 1923, 4–5: 88–106.
- Rakovs'kyj 1923а. Х. Раковський. Новий етап в радянському союзному будівництві. Червоний Шлях 1923, 1: 69–88.
- Ramač 2008. Юлиян Рамач. Актуални проблеми войводянского вариянта русинского язика. Проблеми стандардизациї. In: Pljiškova 2008: 88–90.
- RB: Розмова Бесъда. Das ruthenische und kirchenslavische Berlaimont-Gesprächsbuch des Ivan Uževyč. Mit lat. und poln. Paralleltext hrsg. v. Daniel Bunčić und Helmut Keipert. Munich 2005.
- "Rehionaly." "Регіонали" знову проштовхують в дитсадки російську мову. 21–01–2012. http://www.pravda.com.ua/news/2012/01/21/6924222/.
- Repertuar 1995. Репертуар української книги 1798–1916. Матеріали до бібліографії, т. 1: 1798–1870. Ред.: Л. І. Крушельницька. Львів 1995.
- Revyuk 1931: Emil Revyuk. Polish Atrocities in Ukraine. New York City. Available online: http://archive.org/details/polishatrocities00revy.
- Richardt 1957. Rosemarie Richardt. Polnische Lehnwörter im Ukrainischen. Wiesbaden 1957.
- Ričyc'kyj 1929. А. Річицький. Стан УСРР в Радянському Союзі (Уривок з статті А. Річицького в "Більшовику України" ч. 2 та З 1928 р. "До проблеми ліквідації колоніяльности та націоналізму"). Budivnyctvo 1929: 171–188.
- Rogov 1966. Александр И. Рогов. Русско-польские культурные связи в эпоху Возрождения (Стрыйковский и его Хроника). Москва 1966.
- Romaniv 1997. О. Романів. Олександр Барвінський і наукове товариство ім. Шевченка. Іп: Олександр Барвінський 1847–1927. Матеріали конференції, присвяченої 150 річниці від дня народження Олександра Барвінського. Львів, 14 травня 1997 р. Львів 1997: 91–100.
- Rossolinski-Liebe 2010. Grzegorz Rossolinski-Liebe. Review of Höhne, Steffen; Ulbricht, Justus H. (Hrsg.): Wo liegt die Ukraine? Standortbestimmung einer europäischen Kultur. Köln 2009. In: H-Soz-u-Kult, 21–06–2010. http://hsozkult.geschichte.huberlin.de/rezensionen/2010-2-218.
- Rothe 1976/1977. Hans Rothe. Die älteste ostslawische Kunstdichtung (1575 bis 1647). 2 vols. Cologne and Vienna 1976/1977.
- Rothe 1983. Hans Rothe. Einleitung. In: Synopsis, 1-140.
- Rusalka 1837. Rusalka Dniestrovaia. Ruthenische VolksLieder. Buda 1837.
- Rusalka 1837/1972. Русалка Дністрова. Фотокопія з видання 1837 р. Вступна стаття: О. І. Білецький. Київ 1972.

Bibliography

- Rusanivs'kyj 2001. Віталій Русанівський. Історія української літературної мови. Київ 2001.
- "Russian Patriarch blesses." Russian patriarch blesses Ukraine's new president, calls for Slavic unity. 25-02-2010. http://en.rian.ru/russia/20100225/158006482.html.
- "Rusyn" 2007. Второе нашествие яничар. Форум "Я Anti-Orange". www.anti-orange-ua.com.ru/index.php/content/view/1421/44/.
- S: Свобода. [Various subtitles, places of publications etc. (see par. 2). 1893 ff.]. All older issues available online: http://www.svoboda-news.com/arxiv.htm.
- "Senk" 2006. 10–14. Український Форум/Українська мова. Галицька мова.
 - http://www.ukrcenter.com/forum/message.asp?message_ id=76184&forum_name=%D3%EA%F0%E0%BF%ED%F1%FC%EA%E0%20 %CC%EE%E2%E0&page=1.
- "Serdjuk." Марія Сердюк. Працівника ДАІ м. Одеси звільнили незаконно В. Колесніченко. Українські Національні Новини. Обізнаність громадян єднає країну. 28–01–2011. http://www.unn.com.ua/ua/exclusive/28-01-2011/223001/.
- Sereda 1999. Остап Середа, Національна свідомість і політична програма ранніх народовців у східній Галичині (1861–1867). Вісник Львівського університету. Вип. 34, 1999: 199–214.
- Sereda 2001. Ostap Sereda, "Whom Shall We Be?" Public Debates over the National Identity of Galician Ruthenians in the 1860s. Jahrbücher für Geschichte Osteuropas 49, 2001: 200–212.
- Sereda 2003. Ostap Sereda, "[The] Shaping of a National Identity: Early Ukrainophiles in Austrian Eastern Galicia, 1860–1873." Unpublished PhD dissertation. Budapest 2003.
- Sereda 2006. Ostap Sereda. From Church-Based to Cultural Nationalism: Early Ukrainophiles, Ritual-Purification Movement and Emerging Cult of Taras Shevchenko in Austrian Eastern Galicia in the 1860s. Canadian-American Slavic Studies 40/1, 2006: 21–47.
- Shkandrij 1992. Myroslav Shkandrij. Modernists, Marxists and the Nation: The Ukrainian Literary Discussion of the 1920s. Edmonton 1992.
- Sirka 1980. Ann Sirka. The Nationality Question in Austrian Education: The Case of Ukrainians in Galicia 1867–1914. Frankfurt am Main 1980 (Europäische Hochschulschriften, Reihe 3, Bd. 124).
- SJP. Słownik języka polskiego. T. 1–11. Red.: W. Doroszewski. Przedruk elektroniczny (Polskie wydawnictwo naukowe). Warsaw 1997.
- Skrypnyk 1923. М. Скрипник, Начерк історіі [*sic*] пролетарської революції на Вкраїні. Червоний Шлях 1923, 1: 89–112.
- Skrypnyk 1929. М. Скрипник. Промова на червневому пленумі ЦК КП(б)У 1926 р. In: Budivnycto: 31–34.
- Skrypnyk 1929а. М. Скрипник. Про причини й джерела розламу в КПЗУ. (Доповідь т. Скрипника на пленумі ЦК і ЦКК КП(б)У 13-Ш-1928). In: Budivnyctvo 1929: 239–251.
- Skrypnyk 1929b: М. Скрипник. З приводу економічної платформи націоналізму.

[Промова на дискусії в Інституті марксизму з приводу статті М. Волобуєва, вміщеної в Нр. 2,3 журн. «Більшовик України».] Budivnyctvo 1929: 188–193.

- Skrypnyk 1930: М. Скрипник. Спілка Визволення України. Передрук з "Ком. Інтернаціоналу", Нр. 11 від 20-го квітня 1930 р. N.p.
- Skrypnyk 1930а. М. Скрипник. Спілка Визволення України. Більшовик України. Нр. 8, 30 квітня 1930: 11–24.
- Skrypnyk 1930b. Н. Скрыпник. Союз Освобождения Украины. Коммунистический Интернационал, Нр. 11 (241), 20 апреля 1930 г.
- Skrypnyk 1931. М. Скрипник. Зближення й злиття націй за доби соціялізму. (Всеукраїнська Академія Наук. Соціяльно-економічний відділ. Труди комісії для вивчання національного питання). Харків 1931.
- Skvorcov 2007. Дмитрий Скворцов. Українці найписемніша нація світу. Единое отечество. www.otechestvo.org.ua/main/20072/2121.htm or Православное информационное агентство Русская линия. www.rusk.ru/ st.php?idar=111270.
- Slovar' 11–17. Словарь русского языка XI–XVII вв. Москва 1975ff.
- Slovnyk 1964. Словник мови Шевченка. Відп. ред.: В. С. Ващенко. 2 vol. Київ 1964.
- Słownik XVI. Słownik Polszczyzny XVI w. Ed. F. Peptowski. Vol. XXIII, P–PHY. Ed. K. Wilczewska. Warsaw 1995.
- Smal'-Stoc'kyj Gartner 1913: Stephan v. Smal-Stockyj [*sic*] Theodor Gartner. Grammatik der ruthenischen (ukraïnischen) Sprache. Vienna 1913.
- Smolin 2007. Михаил Смолин. Украинофильство в России. Идеология раскола. Москва: Пути русского имперского сознания. См.: Смолин, Михаил: Украинофильство в России. Идеология Раскола. Единая Русь: Публицистика. http://ukrstor.com/ukrstor/smolin_ukrainofilstvo.htm.
- Snihurs'kyj 1844. Іоаннъ Снътурскї [sic], Бжїєю милостїю Єпїскопъ Перемышльскій, Самбöрскій, и Саноцкій [...][brochure without title page]. Въ Перемышли 1844.
- Sokolov 2005. Леонид Соколов. Русский язык для Украины не иностранный. В: Единая Русь. www.edrus.org/content/view/186/63/.
- Sokolov 2007. Леонид Соколов. Русская либеральная интеллигенция и политическое украинофильство. Единая Русь. Публицистика. http://ukrstor.com/ukrstor/ sokolov_lib-int.html.
- Solchanyk 1985. Roman Solchanyk. Language Politics in the Ukraine: Sociolinguistic Perspectives on Soviet National Languages. Ed. Isabelle Kreindler. Berlin etc. 1985: 57–105.
- SP 1997. Słownik języka polskiego. 11 vols. Ed. Witold Doroszewski. Electronic reprint. Warsaw 1997.
- Srez. Измаилъ Срезневскій. Матеріалы для Словаря древнерусскаго языка по письменнымъ памятникамъ. Въ 3-х тт. Москва 1895–1903 (repr. Moscow 1958).

SRJa XI-XVII. Словарь русского языка XI-XVII вв. Москва 1975ff.

SRJa XVIII. Словарь русского языка XVIII века. Ленинград (> Санкт-Петербург) 1984ff.

- SRNG. Словарь русских народных говоров. Москва Ленинград (Санкт-Петербург) 1965ff.
- "SŠA." США хочуть, щоб Україна скочувалася до "дебілізму екваторіальних країн", вважає Табачник. 31–05–2011. http://newsru.ua/ukraine/31may2011/ tabtefft.html.
- Stalin 1936. И. Сталин. Статьи и речи об Украине. Киев 1936.
- "Stanovyšče." Становище української мови в Україні в 2011 році. Аналітичний огляд. 09–11–2011. Рух добровольців «Простір свободи». www.dobrovol.org. Сприяння: Інтернет-видання «Тексти». www.texty.org.ua.
- Steblij 1992. F[eodosij] Steblij. Die slawische Idee bei den Ukrainern in Galizien vor, während und nach der Revolution 1848. In: Die slavische Idee: Beiträge am Matija Majar-Ziljski-Symposium vom 6. bis 10. Juli 1992 in Tratten/Pošišče, Kärnten. Ed. Andreas Moritsch. Bratislava 1992: 91–108.
- Steblij 2004. Феодосій Стеблій. "Русини" забутий автограф Маркіяна Шашкевича. В: Шашкевичіяна. New Series, vols. 5–6. Lviv and Winnipeg 2004: 558–571.
- Stenografičeskij 1882. Стенографическій отчеть изъ судовой росправы по дѣлу Ольги Грабарь и товаришей, обжалованныхъ о преступленіе головной здрады изъ §. 58 бук. в. карн. зак. Управитель: С. Гучковскій. Львовъ 1882.
- Stepnjak 1933. М. Степняк Поети "Молодої музи". Стаття. Червоний Шлях 1933, 1: 147–196.
- Stökl 1983. Günther Stökl. Russische Geschichte. Von den Anfängen bis zur Gegenwart. 4., erweiterte Auflage. Stuttgart 1983.
- Stryj. Maciej Stryjkowski. Kronika Polska, Litewska, Żmódzka y wszystkiej Rusi Kijowskiey, Moskiewskiey, Siewierskiey.... Königsberg 1582.
- "Students'ki akciji." Студентські акції проплачуються західними фондами, впевнений Табачник. 25–04–2011. http://newsru.ua/ukraine/25may2011/sbnhyue.html
- Studyns'kyj 1895. Студинський, Кирило. Адельфотесь граматика видана у Львові в р. 1591. Записки Наукового Товариства ім. Шевченка VII, 1895/III: 1–42.
- Studyns'kyj 1905. Кореспонденція Якова Головацького в лїтах 1850–62. Ред.: Кирило Студинський. Львів 1905 (Збірник фільольогічної секції Наукового товариства ім. Шевченка VIII + IX).
- Studyns'kyj 1907. К. Студинський. Польські конспірації серед руських питомців і духовенства в Галичині в роках 1831-1846, № 1. Записки Наукового Товариства ім. Шевченка 80, 1907: 129–133.
- Stukenbrock 2007. Anja Stukenbrock. Sprachnation / Sprachnationalismus als Gegenstand linguistischer Diskursanalyse. In: Diskurslinguistik nach Foucault. Theorie und Gegenstände. Ed. Ingo H. Warnke. Berlin 2007: 213–246.
- Subtelny 1975. On the Eve of Poltava: The Letters of Mazepa to Adam Sieniawski, 1704– 1708. Ed. O. Subtelny. New York 1975.
- SUM. Словник української мови. 11 тт. Ред.: Іван Білодід. Київ 1970–1980.
- SUM XIV–XV. Словник староукраїнської мови XIV–XV ст. 2 тт. Ред.: Лідія Гумецька. Київ 1977.
- SUM XVI–XVII. Словник староукраїнської мови XVI першої половини XVII ст. Відп. ред.: Д. Г. Гринчишин. Львів 1994ff.

- "Suvorov." A[?]. Ю[?]. Суворов. Русский язык в Украине дежа-вю?, Партия регионов. www.partyofregions.org.ua/contrprop/resonance/440c15efd97ae/.
- Svjencic'kyj 1866. [Pavlyn] Svientsits'kyi. "Rękopisy pozostałe po ś. p. I. Wagilewiczu." In: Sioło. Pismo zbiorowe, poświęcone rzeczom ludowym ukraińsko-ruskim. Zeszyt III. Lwów 1866: 159–68.
- "Svoboda." "Свобода" вимагає покарати Табачника за відправку українських студентів до прокремлівського табору. 09–08–2010. http://www.newsru.ua/ ukraine/09aug2010/seliger.html.
- Synopsis. Sinopsis, Kiev 1681. Facsimile mit einer Einleitung von Hans Rothe. Cologne and Vienna 1983 (Bausteine zur Geschichte der Literatur bei den Slaven, Bd. 17).
- Sysyn 2003. Frank Sysyn. The Image of Russia and Russian-Ukrainian Relations in Ukrainian Historiography of the Late Seventeenth and Early Eighteenth Centuries. In: Culture, Nation, and Identity: The Ukrainian-Russian Encounter (1600–1945). Ed. Andreas Kappeler, Zenon Kohut, Frank E. Sysyn, and Mark von Hagen. Edmonton: 108–143.
- Šafařík 1842. P[avel J[osef] Šafařík. Slovanský národopis. Prague 1842.
- Šapoval–Prystajko–Zolotar'ov 1997. Юрій Шаповал Володимир Пристайко Вадим Золотарьов. ЧК-ГПУ-НКВД в Україні: особи, факти, документи. Київ 1997.
- Šaškevyčijana 1996. Шашкевичіяна. Нова серія. Т. 1: Маркіян Шашкевич і національне відродження; т. 2: "Руська трійця", її оточення, послідовники і дослідники. Львів, Броди, Вінніпег 1996ff.
- Šesták 1992. Miroslav Šesták. Die Slawische Idee bei den Tschechen bis zum österreichischen Ausgleich. In: Die slavische Idee: Beiträge am Matija Majar-Ziljski-Symposium vom 6. bis 10. Juli 1992 in Tratten/Pošišče, Kärnten. Ed. Andreas Moritsch. Bratislava 1992: 37–48.
- Ševčenko 1964. Тарас Шевченко. Повне зібрання творів у шести томах. Гол. ред.: М. К. Гудзий. Т. 6: Листи. Нотатки. Фольклорні записи. Київ 1964.
- Ševčenko 2003. Тарас Шевченко. Повне зібрання творів у дванадцяти томах. Т. 6: Листи. Дарчі та власницькі написи. Документи, складені Т. Шевченком або за його участю. Київ 2003.
- Ševel'ov 1963. G. Y. Shevelov, History of the Ukrainian Language. The Modern Period (Nineteenth-Twentieth Centuries). In: Ukraine: A Concise Encyclopaedia. Prepared by Shevchenko Scientific Society, Ed. Volodymyr Kubijovyč, 2 vols., vol. 1, Toronto 1963: 501–511.
- Ševel'ov 1966. G. Y. Shevelov. Die ukrainische Schriftsprache 1798–1965. Ihre Entwicklung unter dem Einfluß der Dialekte. Wiesbaden 1966.
- Ševel'ov 1979. George Y. Shevelov. A Historical Phonology of the Ukrainian Language. Heidelberg.
- Ševel'ov 1989. George Y. Shevelov. The Ukrainian Language in the First Half of the Twentieth Century (1900–1941): Its State and Status. Harvard Ukrainian Research Institute, Monograph Series. Cambridge, Mass. 1989.
- Ševel'ov 1983/1991. Юрій Шерех [= Шевельов]. Кулішеві листи і Куліш у листах. Іп: idem, Третя сторожа: Література. Мистецтво. Ідеології. Балтимор – Торонто 1991: 32–75 (first published 1983 and also as foreword to Kuliš 1984).

Bibliography

- Ševel'ov 1991. Юрій Шерех [=Шевельов]. Навколо Шевченка. In: idem. Третя сторожа. Балтимор – Торонто 1991: 17–143.
- Ševel'ov 1998. Юрій Шевельов. Українська мова в першій половині двадцятого століття (1900-1941): Стан і статус. Чернівці 1998 (translation of Ševel'ov 1989).
- Ševel'ov 1998а. Юрій Шевельов. Русь. В: Енциклопедія українознавства т. 7, Перевидання в Україні. Львів 1998 (first published 1973): 2652.
- Ševel'ov 2002. Юрій Шевельов. Історична фонологія української мови. Харків 2002 (Translation of Ševel'ov 1979).
- Ševel'ov 2003. Юрій Шевельов. Внесок Галичини у формування української літературної мови. Київ 2003 (translation of Ševel'ov 1966).
- Šlixter 1933. О. Шліхтер. Посилимо більшовицьку пильність на фронті боротьби за здійснення ленінської національної політики на Україні. Більшовик України 1933, 9–10, Липень–серпень: 58–79.
- Štec' 1996. Микола Штець. Українська мова в Словаччині (Соціолінгвістичне та інтерлінгвістичне дослідження). Prešov 1996.
- Štec' 2002. Штець, М. Іван Панькевич і питання літературної мови Закарпаття та східної Словаччини. In: Ivan Paňkevyč a otázky spisovného jazyka. Štúdie a materiály. Red.: Mikuláš Mušinka. Praha 2002: 36–44.
- "Štohrin." Ірина Штогрін. Другу офіційну/державну «проштовхуватимуть» знизу. 22–03–2011. http://slovoidilo.com/polityka/drugu-ofitsijnu-derzhavnuproshtovchuvatymut-znyzu.html.
- "Šturman" 2005. 10–03. Секрет самобытности галичан. Форум «Я Anti-Orange». http://www.anti-orange-ua.com.ru/forum/viewtopic. php?printertopic=1&t=44&postdays=0&postorder=asc&start=0&finish_rel=-10000.
- Šums'kyj 1923. О. Шумський. Стара й нова Україна. Червоний Шлях 1923, 2: 91–110.
- Šums'kyj 1924. О. Шумський. Політична ситуація в Східній Галичині. Червоний Шлях 1924, 1–2: 83–91.
- Šums'kyj 1929. О. Шумський. Промова на червневому пленумі ЦК КП(б)У. Budivnyctvo 1929: 25–31.
- Šums'kyj 1929а. О. Шумський. Промова на засіданні Політбюра 20-XI-26 р. Budivnyctvo 1929: 104–109.
- Šums'kyj 1929b. О. Шумський. Лист до Політбюра ЦК КП(б)У. Signed: З лютого 1927 року. Budivnyctvo 1929: 134–135.
- Švorc 2003. Peter Švorc. Krajinská hranica: Medzi Slovenskom a Podkarpatskou Rusou (1919–1939). Prešov 2003.
- "Та." Атанайя Та. Концепція мовної освіти в Україні: з великої хмари та малий дощ? 26–04–2011. http://nbb.com.ua/news/1175/5/.
- "Tabačnik na vyxod." Табачник на выход, правительству приготовиться? 02–09– 2011. http://podrobnosti.ua/analytics/2011/09/02/789192.html.
- "Tabačnik ogovorilsja." Табачник оговорился, перепутав Украину с Россией. 30–08– 2011. http://ru.tsn.ua/ukrayina/tabachnik-ogovorilsya-pereputav-ukrainu-s-

rossiey.html.

"Tabačnik otvetil." Табачник ответил на обвинения в шовинизме. 04–03–2011. http://korrespondent.net/ukraine/politics/1192982-tabachnik-otvetil-naobvineniya-v-shovinizme.

- "Tabačnik vystupaet." Табачник выступает за отмену дубляжа фильмов на украинский язык. 06–04–2010. http://news.bigmir.net/print/ukraine/263718/.
- "Tabačnik xočet." Табачник хочет, чтоб в школах преподавали на русском. 13–12–2010. http://politics.comments.ua/2010/12/13/216293/tabachnik-hochet-chtobshkolah.html.
- "Tabačnyk kaže." Табачник каже, що українських шкіл не закривають лише російські. 23–03–2011. http://nbb.com.ua/news/1141/18/.

"Tabačnyk nadrukuvav." Табачник надрукував українським школам російські букварі. 18–05–2011. http://tyzhden.ua/News/22799.

"Tabačnyk ne zadovolenyj." Табачник не задоволений якістю української мови у ЗМІ. 06–04–2011. http://zaxid.net/home/showSingleNews.do?tabachnik_ne_ zadovoleniy_yakistyu_ukrayinskoyi_movi_u_zmi&objectId=1126473.

"Tabačnyk radyt'." Табачник радить батькам "енергійніше" боротися за "язык". А Київ вважає російськомовним. 14–03–2011. http://nbb.com.ua/news/1130/18/.

- "Tabačnyk: školy." Табачник: школи закриваються, оскільки в країні не вистачає дітей. 04–03–2011. http://ukranews.com/uk/news/ukraine/2011/03/04/38683.
- "Tabačnyk vykyne." Табачник викине зі шкільного курсу предмет "історія України"? 18–02–2012. http://www.pravda.com.ua/news/2012/02/18/6959003/.
- "Tabačnyk xytro." Табачник хитро просуває російську мову у школи. 13–12–2010. http://nbb.com.ua/news/1030/18/.

"Tabačnyk zajavyv." Табачник заявив, що закрив всього 114 шкіл, вузи самі йдуть на ліквідацію. Проте поспілкуватися з опонентами відмовився. 02–07–2011. http://www.newsru.ua/ukraine/02jul2011/tabachnik.html.

- "Tabačnyk zaminyt'. Табачник замінить мовний конкурс Петра Яцика. 16–05–2011. http://nbb.com.ua/news/1185/18/.
- "Tabačnyk zapevnjaje." Табачник запевняє, що відставки не боїться: місце на Байковому кладовищі він вже має. 18–05–2011. http://newsru.ua/ ukraine/18may2011/tab_baj.html.
- Tairova-Jakovleva 2007. Татьяна Таирова-Яковлева. Мазепа. Москва 2007.
- "Tanja" 2006. 11–20. Форум "Галицкий империализм". http://www.fraza.com.ua/zametki/20.11.06/30832.html.
- Taranenko 2004. О. О. Тараненко. Суржик. В: Українська мова. Енциклопедія. Київ 2004: 665–668.
- Tichý 1938. František Tichý. Vývoj současného spisovného jazyka na Podkarpatské Rusi. V Praze 1938.
- Ткаč 2007. Людмила Ткач. Українська літературна мова на Буковині в кінці XIX на початку XX століття. Джерела і соціокультурні чинники розвитку. Чернівці 2007.
- Тоюско 1998. Петро Толочко. Що або хто загрожує українській мові? Київ

Bibliography

1998. Украинские страницы. http://ukrstor.com/ukrstor/toloczko_ htoaboscozagrozhujeukrmovi.html.

- "Tret' ukraincev." Треть украинцев хотят сделать русский вторым государственным, а половине не хватает денег на одежду. 26–10–2010. http://rus.newsru.ua/ ukraine/26oct2010/languages.html.
- Troxanovs'kyj 1935. Мелетій Трохановський [anon.]. Буквар: Перша книжечка для народных школ. Львов 1935.
- Trunte 1985. Cyrillus Tranquillus Stavroveckij: Perlo mnohocěnnoje. Ed. and comm. Hartmut Trunte. Vol. I : Edition. Vol. II: Text. Cologne and Vienna 1985.
- Тут. Євген Тимченко. Матеріали до словника писемної та книжної української мови XV–XVIII ст.: У 2 кн. Київ, Нью-Йорк 2002.
- Тутоfijiv 1923. Проф. В. Тимофіїв. Сучасні завдання хемії. Червоний Шлях 1923, 2, п.р. [Table of Contents.]
- Тутоšenko 1959–1961. Хрестоматія матеріалів з історії української літературної мови. Чч. 1–2. Упорядкував П. Д. Тимошенко. Київ 1959–1961.
- Тутоšenko 1964: П. Д. Тимошенко. Із спостережень над лексикою листування Т. Г. Шевченка українською мовою. Іп: Джерела мовної майстерності Т. Г. Шевченка. Збірник статей. Відп. ред.: І. Білодід. Київ 1964: 30–48.
- "U Donec'ku." У Донецьку суд не дозволив міській раді закрити українську школу. 31–01–2012.

http://slovoua.com/news/u-doniets%27ku-sud-niedozvoliv-mis%27kii-radi-zakriti-ukrayins%27kushkolu?utm_source=feedburner&utm_medium=email&utm_ campaign=Feed%3A+Slovoua+(СловоUA%3A+мовні+новини).

- "U Kyjevi." У Києві заперечили Табачнику столиця не російськомовне місто. 01–04– 2011. http://gazeta.ua/articles/life/_u-kievi-zaperechili-tabachniku-stolicyane-rosijskomovne-misto/377376.
- "U novomu." У новому підручнику Бандера буде вбивцею, а Сталін переможцем. 04–06–2010. http://tsn.ua/ukrayina/u-novomu-pidruchniku-istoriyi-banderabude-vbivceyu-a-stalin-peremozhcem.html.
- Udvari 2000. Іштван Удварі [István Udvari]. Образчикы. З історії пудкарпатськых русинув. XVIII. столїтіє. Изглядованя з історії культуры и языка. Ужгород 2000.
- Udvari 2007. Іштван Удварі [István Udvari]. Гіадор Стрипськый, народописник, бібліограф, языкознатель, товмач (Ser.: Studia Ukrainica et Rusinica Nyíregyháziensia, vol 21). Nyíregyháza 2007.
- "Ukraina Kolesnichenko." Украина. Колесниченко заявил, что Майдана-2 не будет. 22-11-2010. http://www.newsland.ru/news/detail/id/589883/cat/94/.
- "Ukrainians fight." Ukrainians Fight to Rename Towns. 28–03–2011. http://www.youtube. com/watch?v=htlfd-x8w4k.
- "Ukrainskii patriot" 2005. 08–04. http://www.patent.net.ua/intellectus/forum/1/193/ ua.html.
- "Ukrainskij jazyk." Украинский язык объединительная сила общества, считает Янукович. 09–11–2010. http://rus.newsru.ua/ukraine/09nov2010/mova.html.

- "Ukrajina vytratyt'." Україна витратить 1,6 млн гривень на perioнальні мови. 18–06–10. http://zaxid.net/home/showSingleNews.do?ukrayina_vitratit_16_mln_ griven_na_regionalni_movi&objectId=1104882.
- "Ukrajinci Sevastopolja." Українці Севастополя волають про допомогу. 30–03–2011. http://nbb.com.ua/news/1151/5/.
- Ukrajinizacija 2003. "Українізація" 1920–30-х років: передумови, здобутки, уроки. Відп. ред.: Валерій Смолій. Київ 2003.
- Ukrajins'ka mova 2005. Українська мова у XX сторіччі: історія лінгвоциду. Документи і матеріали. Упорядники: Л. Масенко, В. Кубайчук, О. Демська-Кульчицька. Київ 2005.
- Ukrajins'ko-rosijs'kyj slovnyk 1953–1963. Українсько-російский словник. Гол. ред.: І. М. Кириченко. Тт. 1–6. Київ 1953–1963.
- Ul'janov 1966/1996/2003. Николай Ульянов. Происхождение украинского сепаратизма. Мадрид 1966. Reprint: Mockва 1996. Internet: last modified in 2003 www.lib.ru/POLITOLOG/ulianow_ukraina.txt.
- Uniwersytet Pedagogiczny im. Komisji Edukacji Narodowej. Instytut Neofilologii. 18–06–2011. http://www.ap.krakow.pl/regulamin/.
- URS 1953–1963. Українсько-російский словник, т. І–VI. Гол. ред.: І. М. Кириченко. Київ 1953–1963.
- Uspenskij 2002. Борис А. Успенский. История русского языка (XI–XVII вв.). Издание 3-е, исправленное и дополненное. Москва.
- "U Venkomissii." У Венецианской комиссии двойные стандарты, потому что "мы рылом не вышли". Колесниченко. 14-04-2011. http://lb.ua/ news/2011/04/14/92634_U_Venetsianskoy_komissii_dvoynie_.html.
- Vadžra 2007a. Ukraina [in Latin letters]: от мифа к катастрофе. [An interview with Andrej Vadžra]. Полярная звезда. http://zvezda.ru/politics/2007/05/19/ukraina_2. htm.
- "Vadžra." Андрей Ваджра. Эксперты США утверждают, что для 83 % украинцев родной язык – русский. (dating from 15–09–2008). 22–12–2011. http://r-u.org.ua/ analit/russ/6445-news.html.
- Vadžra 2007. Андрей Ваджра. Ukraina [in Latin letters]. Миф "Украинского языка." Лебедь № 528, 2007. www.lebed.com/2007/art5026.htm.
- Vahylevyč 1845. Grammatyka Języka małoruskiego w Galicii, ułożona przez Jana Wagilewicza – Грамматика Азыка малор&ского въ Галицїи, сочиненнаа Іваном Вагилевичемъ. Lwów 1845.
- Vakulenko 2007. Serhii Vakulenko. The European Dimension Within the Current Controversy over the Ukrainian Language Standard. In: Contemporary Ukraine on the Cultural Map of Europe. Ed. Larissa Onyshkevych and Maria Rewakowicz. Armonk/New York – London, England 2009: 297–315.
- Vakulenko 2009/2012: С. В. Вакуленко, 1933-ій рік в історії української мови: чинна норма та правописна практика (на прикладі редакційної політики газети "Комуніст"). Іп: Філологічні студії: Збірник наукових праць. За заг. ред. Л. А. Лисиченко. Харків 2009, 27–41. A slightly revised version was published online on 3 December 2012:

654

http://historians.in.ua/index.php/ukrayinska-mova/488-cerhiy-vakulenko-1933-ii-rik-v-istorii-ukrainskoi-movy-chynna-norma-ta-pravopysna-praktykana-prykladi-redaktsiinoi-polityky-hazety-komunist.

- Van'ko 2007. Юрій Ванько. Класифкація [*sic*] і головни знакы Карпатських Русиньскых діалектів. В: Русиньскый язик. Ed. Paul Robert Magocsi. Opole 2004 (Najnowsze dzieje języków słowiańskich) [here 2d ed. 2007]: 67–84.
- Van'ko 2008. Юрій Ванько. Формованя койне з літературных штандартів. In: Pljiškova 2008: 15–24.
- Vasmer 1986–1987. Макс Фасмер [Max Vasmer]. Этимологический словарь русского языка. В 4 тт. Перевод с нем. и доп. О. Н. Трубачева. Изд. 2-е. Москва 1986– 1987 [first ed. of the German original: Heidelberg 1950–1958].
- "Venkomissija." Венецианская комиссия пытается дестабилизировать ситуацию в Украине, – Колесниченко. 25–03–2011. http://lb.ua/ news/2011/03/25/89702_Venetsianskaya_komissiya_deystvuet_.html.
- "Verxrada." Верховна Рада України відмовила Д.Табачнику у введенні російської мови у дитсадках. 21–12–2011.http://slovoua.com/news/vierkhovna-rada-ukrayinividmovila-d-dot-tabachniku-u-vviedienni-rosiis%27koyi-movi-u-ditsadkakh.
- "Viktorovyč." Яна Вікторович. Тому що "проффесор". 21–09–2004. http://www.pravda.com.ua/news/2004/09/21/3002574/.
- Vinok 1846. Вѣнок Русинам на обжинки. Уплѣв Иван Б. θ. Головацкій. Ч. первая. У Вѣдни 1846.
- Vinok 1847. Вѣнокъ Русинамъ на обжинки. Уплѣвъ Иван Б. θ. Головацкій. Ч. вторая. У Вѣдни 1847.
- Vistnyk 1850. Вѣстникъ. Повременное письмо посвященно политическому и нравственном образованію Русиновъ Австрійскои державы. Рочникъ I.
- Vistnyk 1866. Вѣстникъ. Часопись урядова. Рочникъ XVIII.
- "Viter" 2006. 11–20. Форум «Галицкий империализм». http://www.fraza.com.ua/zametki/20.11.06/30832.html.
- "Vlada." Влада Донецька оскаржила існування української школи. 21–02–2012. http://www.pravda.com.ua/news/2012/02/21/6959118/.
- "Vladimir" 2007. 06–27. Posted on: Viktor Yanukovych. Personal Information Server, http://www.ya2006.com.ua/eng/forum/4682278f19404/ (deleted between 07–02–07 and 07–11–07).
- "V Odesi." В Одесі прийняли програму розвитку російської мови. 08–04–2011. http://nbb.com.ua/news/1164/18/.
- "V Odesse." В Одессе отказались от украинского языка. 10–12–2010. http://rus.newsru.ua/ukraine/10dec2010/otmenaq.html.
- "Voin" 2007. 06–23. vlasti.net. Сеть независимых журналистов. http://www.vlasti.net/index.php?Screen=news&id=214765.
- Voznjak 1911. Михайло Возняк. Галицькі граматики української мови першої половини XIX ст. (Студії і матеріяли до історії української фільольогії I). Львів 1911.
- Voznjak 1911а. Михайло Возняк. Граматика Лаврентія Зизанія з 1596 р. Записки Наукового Товариства ім. Шевченка XX, 1911, т. І: 5–38, т. ІІ: 11–87.

- Voznjak 1912. Михайло Возняк. З-за редакційних кулїс Вістника та Зорі Галицької. Записки Наукового товариства імени Шевченка CVII, 1912: 73–109.
- Voznjak 1936. Михайло Возняк. У століття «Зорі» Маркіяна Шашкевича (1834–1934): Нові розшуки про діяльність гуртка. Львів 1936.
- "Vpixatinec" 2004. 20–04. Язык вопрос государственной важности. Твоя мова. помещено от Впихатинец (20 апреля 2004 г.). http://www.mova.org.ua/ modules.php?name=News&file=article&sid=152.
- "VRU." ВРУ відмовилася підтримувати українську мову. 21–05–2010. http://zaxid.net/home/showSingleNews.do?vru_vidmovilasya_pidtrimuvati_ ukrayinsku_movu&objectId=1103018.
- "Vslid." Вслід за НПУ ім. Драгоманова "Рускій Мір" привезли Харківському державному університету будівництва. 06–12–2010. http://nbb.com.ua/ news/1022/18/.
- Vynnyčenko 1933. Ст. Винниченко. Нові береги. Червоний Шлях 1933, 2: 176–186.
- Wendland 2001. A. V. Wendland. Die Russophilen in Galizien. Ukrainische Konservative zwischen Österreich und Rußland 1848–1915 (Studien zur Geschichte der österreichisch-ungarischen Monarchie XXVII). Vienna 2001.
- Witkowski 2006. Wiesław Witkowski. Nowy słownik zapożyczeń polskich w języku rosyjskim. Cracow 2006.
- Worth 1974. Dean S. Worth. Slavonisms in the *Uloženie* of 1649. Russian Linguistics 1974/1: 225–249.
- Wytrzens 1988. G. Wytrzens. Der Wiener ruthenische Schriftsteller Nikolaj Nagy und seine Dichtungen. Wiener Slavistisches Jahrbuch 34, 1988: 151–157.
- "Xarkov" 2007. 06–23. http://www.vlasti.net/index.php?Screen=news&id=214765.
- XU. Універсали Богдана Хмельницького. Ред.: В. Смолій та ін. Київ 1998.
- Xudaš 1992. Михайло Л. Худаш. Алфавітно-правописні принципи Й. Лозинського. Й. І. Лозинський, Українське весілля. Ул. і ред.: Р. Ф. Кирчів, С. А. Онисенко. Київ 1992: 26–44.
- Xvylja 1929. Промова тов. Хвилі на березневому пленумі ЦК КП(б)У 1927 року. In: Budivnyctvo 1929: 125–129.
- Xvylja 1929а. М. Хвиля. Що таке теорія боротьби двох культур? In: Budivnyctvo 1929: 161–163.
- Xvylja 1930. Пролетаріят і практичне розгортання культурно-національного будівництва. Більшовик України 1930, 13–14: 38–55.
- Xvylja 1933. А. Хвиля. Викорінити, знищити націоналістичне коріння на мовному фронті. Більшовик України. Нр. 7–8 (1933): 42–56.
- Xvyl'ovyj n.y. М. Х. В якому відношенню до "хвильовізму' всі ті". In: Budivnyctvo 1929: 259–267.
- Zajec' 1933. В. Заєць. Документ доби. Про Головків роман "Мати". Червоний Шлях 1933, 3: 136–152.
- Zales'kyj 1969. А. М. Залеський. Частка ся у південно-західних говорах української мови. В: Українська діалектна морфологія. Ред. Ф. Т. Жилко. Київ 1969: 94–109.

Bibliography

- Zaliznjak 2004. Андрей А. Зализняк. Древненовгородский диалект. Второе издание, переработанное с учетом материала находок 1995-2003 гг. Москва 2004.
- "Za nakazom." За наказом Табачника ліквідовано сектор сприяння освіті рідною мовою. 05–08–2010. http://www.newsru.ua/ukraine/05aug2010/tabak.html.
- Zatons'kyj 1927. В. Затонський. Національна проблема на Україні. Харків 1927.
- Zatons'kyj 1929. В. Затонський, Про підсумки українізації. З доповіди на червневому пленумі ЦК КП(б)У 1926 року. Іп: Budivnyctvo 1929: 7–24.
- Zavadka 2000. Б. Завадка. Юліян Вислобоцький послідовник Маркіяна Шашкевича. В: Шашкевичіяна. Нова серія, вип. 3–4: 214–221.
- Zorja Halyc'ka 1848. Зора Галицка. Письмо часове, выходитъ що тыждень разъ во́ второкъ. Ч. 1, 15 Маа 1848, Въ Львовѣ.
- Žáček 1958. Slovanský sjezd v Praze roku 1848: sbírka dokumentů. Ed. Václav Žáček. Prague 1958.
- Žeguc 1965. Ivan Žeguc. Die nationalpolitischen Bestrebungen der Karpato-Ruthenen 1848–1914 (Veröffentlichungen des Osteuropa-Institutes München 28). Wiesbaden 1965.
- Želexivs'kyj 1886. Малоруско-нїмецкий словар. Т. 1. Ул.: Є. Желеховский. Т. 2. Ул.: Є. Желеховский, С. Недїльский. Львів 1886.
- Želexivs'kyj 1923. Проф. Желехівський: Принціп відносности. Ім'я Ейнштейна. Червоний Шлях 1923, 1: 113–126.
- Žovtobrjux 1963. Михайло Жовтобрюх. Мова української преси (до середини дев'яностих років XIX ст.). Київ 1963.
- Žylko 1958. Федот Т. Жилко. Говори української мови. Київ 1958.
- Žylko 1966. Федот Т. Жилко. Нариси з діалектології української мови, 2-е переробл. вид. Київ 1966.
- "7% ukrajinciv." 7% українців вважають проблему статусу російської мови основною, експерт. 14–09–2010. http://nbb.com.ua/news/946/18/.
- "400 ukrajins'kyx osvitjan." 400 українських освітян поїхали до Москви на Дні освіти і науки України в РФ. 16–09–11.
 - http://zaxid.net/home/showSingleNews.do?400_ukrayinskih_osvityan_poyihali_do_moskvi_na_dni_osviti_i_nauki_ukrayini_v_rf&objectId=1236291.

With regard to all web sources cited in "Contemporary Anti-Ukrainian Myths about the History of the Ukrainian Language, or: Does Ukrainian Have a History?" and "Colonial Linguistic Reflexes in a Post-Soviet Setting: The Galician Variant of the Ukrainian Language and Anti-Ukrainian Discourse in Contemporary Internet Sources": all websites were visited between 20–03–2007 and 04–07–2007. Last checks were made on 6 December 2007.

With regard to all web sources cited in "Language Politics in Contemporary Ukraine (25 February 2010–25 February 2012)": all websites were visited between 10–03–2011 and 26–11–2012.

Index

Ahafanhel (Orthodox metropolitan of Odesa), 607 Ajzenštok, Ijeremija, 34 Alekseevič, Fedor, 19 Alekseevič, Ivan, 128, 131 Alekseevič, Petr, 128, 131 Alekseevna, Sofja, 128, 131 Aleksej Mixajlovič (tsar of Muscovy), 19, 194, 357 Anderson, Benedict, 241, 337 Andrej Bogoljubskij (Rus' prince), 11 n. 7 Anisimova, V., 589 Anna Pavlovna (grand duchess of Russia), 277 n. 27 Ardan, Ivan 413, 413 n. 10 Askol'd (prince of Kyiv), 106, 116, 118 Auer, P., 140 Azarov, Mykola, 605, 610 Ažnjuk, Bohdan, 418 Babyč, Nadija, 310 Bača, Jurij, 276 n. 26, 278, 285 n. 32, 290, 293 Bach (Austrian minister), 266 Bačyns'kyj, Andrij, 473 Badan-Jarovenko, Oleksandr, 531 n. 161 Balan, Borys, 414 Balyc'kyj, Vsevolod, 497, 523, 530 n. 154 Bandera, Stepan, 15, 588, 693, 613 Baranovyč, Lazar, 121 n. 1 Bardas, Jakiv, 151 Barvins'kyj, Oleksander, 309–10, 314, 317, 319-22, 324-28, 330-31, 335, 335 n. 24, 336, 366, 374 Batu (Tatar khan), 192.79 Baulin, Pavel, 13, 589, 591–92 Beck, Anton, 245, 247 n. 1 Belej, Ljubomyr, 473 n. 5, 474 Benedek, András, 480 Beneš, Eduard, 476 Berger, Kathleen, xiii Bernatovyč, Volodymyr, 309 Berynda, Pamva, 190 Beskyd, Antin, 476 Bilous, Bohdan, 382-83 Bilous, Myxajlo, 391 Bilozers'kyj, Mykola, 322 Birec'kyj, Ivan, 236-237, 241, 472 Blumštejn, V. See Korjak, V.

Bodjans'kyj, Osyp, 282-83 Bogdanovič, Ippolit, 232 Bondarenko, Olena, 611 Borovykovs'kyj, Levko, 196, 196 n. 96 Bortnyk, Ruslan, 615 Borys, Jurij, 482–83, 483 n. 5, 485 Boryś, Wiesław, 91 Bourhis-Landry, Richard, 348 Bowring, Bill, 615 Božesku, Aurika, 617 Brock, Peter, 192, 192 n. 76 Brodij, Andrij, 476 Brückner, Aleksander, 49, 55, 60, 62 Budzynski, W., 442 Bulaxovs'kyj, Leonid, 34 Bunčić, Daniel, 66 n. 2, 77, 77 n. 1, 78, 78 n. 5, 80-81,84-89 Burger, Hannelore, 352, 374 Butovs'kyj, Oleksander, 150–51 Butyč, Ivan, 122-123 Buzyna, Oles', 15 Byron, George Gordon, 321–322 Čajkovs'kyj, Mariano, 411 n. 2 Čaplenko, Vasyl', 307, 310, 338 Casimir III the Great (king of Poland), 60 Catherine II (empress of Russia), 192 n. 82 Certelev, Nikolaj, 172 n. 4, 195, 196 n. 94 Cerularius. See Michael I Cerularius Chomiak, Mirosława, 227, 479, 481 Cieglewicz, Kasper, 235, 379, 379n. 4 Cooper, Robert L., 348 Cornovol, Ihor, 245 Csopey, László, 285, 245, 452, 454, 455 n. 20, 456 n. 23, 459 n. 25-29, 460 n. 30-32, 460 n. 34-37, 461 n. 38-44, 461 n. 46-47, 462 n. 48-52, 462 n. 54-55, 463 n. 59, 463 n. 62, 463 n. 64-66, 464 n. 67, 473 Čubar, Vlas, 485 n. 10, 497, 500, 500 n. 53, 501, 507, 507 n. 84, 511 n. 93 Curkovs'kyj, Antin, 413 Cyril, Saint, 194, 194 n. 88, 424 Dal', Vladimir, 147-149, 153, 158, 160-161 Dante Alighieri, 321–322 Danylo Romanovyč (king of Rus'), 15–16, 16 n. 19, 187, 192, 192 n. 79, 469 De Baluze, Jean Casimir, 122

Index

De Berlaimont, Noël, 77-79, 82, 89 Dem'ian, Hryhorij, 192 n. 78 Demjan, Luka, 447 Denikin, Anton, 435 Derkach, Denis, 124 Deržavin, Gavriil, 232 Didyc'kyj, Bohdan, 28 n. 42, 245-46, 263, 267, 271, 284, 308, 315-16, 351, 360, 365, 374, 406 Djačan, Pylyp, 360 D'jačenko, H., 363 n. 32 Dmytriv, Nestor, 412-13 Dobe, Ivan, 276 n. 26 Dobrjans'kyj, Antin, 233, 351 Dobrjans'kyj, Stefan, 242 Dobrovský, Josef, 181, 181 n. 34, 183, 233 Dobržans'kyj, Oleksandr, 248 n. 6 Dolgorukij, Vasilij, 135 Doncov, Dmytro, 537, 537 n. 194 Dorošenko, Dmytro, 571 Doroškevyč, Volodymyr, 503 n. 64, 566 Dovženko, Oleksandr, 524, 609 Dragan, Antin, 414 Drahomanov, Myxajlo, 21, 21 n. 26, 34, 317, 336, 344-45 Drozdovskij, Nikolaj (Drozdovs'kyj, Mykola), 378-79 Dubiel-Dmytryszyn, Sebastian, 474 n. 6 Duličenko, Aleksandr, 473, 476 Durdykivs'kyj, Volodymyr, 513 n. 101 Duxnovyč, Oleksandr, 252-53, 263, 278-79, 288, 283 n. 33, 290-93, 296, 327, 382, 447, 450-52, 450 n. 10, 473 Dyr (prince of Kyiv), 106, 116, 118 Dzendzelivs'kyj, Josyp, 192 n. 76, 452, 455 n. 20 Dzeržinskij, Feliks, 613 Dzjuba, Ivan, 31 n. 53 Elspaß, Stephan, 348 n. 18 Eminger, Karl, 266 Epik, Hryhorij, 525 Épštejn, Jakov, 484 Erstenjuk, Mykola, 508 n. 85, 524, 534 Fałowski, Adam, 77 n. 2 Fed'kovyč, Jurij, 346 n. 15 Fedorčuk, Stanislav, 609 Fejsa, Myxajlo, 474 Filipovyč, Atanasij, 48 Fitilëv, Mykola. See Xvyl'ovyj, Mykola Flier, Michael, 139

Fontański, Henryk, 227, 479, 481

Franko, Ivan, 222, 306, 315, 318, 329, 339 n. 2, 345-46, 345 n. 13, 358 n. 15, 372 n. 48, 385 n. 12 Franko, Zinovija, 339 n. 2 Franz I (emperor of Austria), 358 Franz Joseph I (emperor of Austria), 254 Gajdoš, Marián, 477 Galjatovs'kyj, Ioanikij, 48, 51, 54, 90 Gartner, Theodor, 368 n. 44, 435 n. 27, 463 n. 58-60, 584 n. 316 Gawatowicz, Jakub, 39, 226 Gela, Andrij, 413 n. 11 Geraščenko, Georgij, 24, 25, 31, 588, 591-92, 595 Gerovs'kyj, Heorhij, 449 n. 9 Gerovs'kyj, Jakiv, 382 Gizel', Innokentij, 18, 18 n. 23, 105, 105 n. 1 Gnedič, Nikolaj Ivanovič, 172 n. 4 Gnidkowski, Michael. See Hnidkovs'kyj, Myxajlo Goebbels, Joseph, 31 Goehrke, Carsten, 9 Goethe, Johann Wolfgang von, 221, 223, 232, 321-22, 430 Gogol', Nikolaj (Hohol', Mykola), 19 Gołebiowski, Łukasz, 178 Golicyn, Vasilij, 127-128, 130-132, 133 n. 13 Golovkin, Gavriil, 135 Gołuchowski, Agenor, 27, 248, 248 n. 5, 249 Gorčinskaja, Katya, 607-8 Gorham, Michael, 607 Grabowicz, George G., 299, 307 n. 4 Graziosi, Andrea, 482–83, 517, 523 n. 132 Grebënka (Hrebinka), Jevhen, 22, 22 n. 28, 32, 172 n. 4, 196, 196 n. 94, 196 n. 96, 198, 198 n. 114, 307-8, 339 Greč, Nikolaj, 192 n. 82 Groener, Wilhelm, 512, 577 Guagnini, Alexander, 115 n. 8 Gžyc'kyj, Volodymyr, 579 Habsburg dynasty, 356, 388 Hadzewych, Roma, 414 Hafner, Sebastian, 246 Hajdoš, Ištvan, 617 Halka, Ieremija. See Kostomarov, Mykola Haleško, Raisa, 414 Hancov, Vsevolod, 510 n. 89, 522 Hanka, Václav, 230-31 Hanudel', Zuzana, 448 n. 6 Harajda, Ivan, 477 Hatcuk, Mykola, 344

NEW CONTRIBUTIONS TO THE HISTORY OF THE UKRAINIAN LANGUAGE

Hulak-Artemovs'kyj, Semen, 301-2

Havryševyč, Vasyl', 226, 398 n. 24 Hentschel, Gerd, 141 n. 2 Herberstein, Sigismund von, 115 Herder, Johann Gottfried, 337 Hermajze, Osyp, 503 n. 64, 566 Herman, Hanna, 606 Heym, Georg, 579 Hibel, Katarzyna, xiii Himka, John-Paul, 217-18, 218 n. 177 Hitler, Adolf, 31 n. 52, 530, 607 Hlibov, Leonid, 346 Hnidkovs'kyj, Myxajlo (Gnidkowski, Michael), 279-80, 293-95 Hofeneder, Philipp, xiii Höfinghoff, Marina, xiii Hohol', Mykola. See Gogol', Nikolaj Holoskevyč, Hryhorij, 510 n. 89, 522 Holovac'kyj, Ivan, 245–47, 248 n. 5, 250–53, 255, 263, 267, 269, 271-72, 281 Holovac'kyj, Jakiv, 28 n. 42, 172 n. 5, 182-83, 183 n. 43, 184–86, 186 n. 50, 195–96, 196 n. 94, 197–99, 205–11, 208 n. 146, 208 n. 148, 209 n. 149, 209 n. 150, 211 n. 156-59, 212 n. 161, 213 n. 162-67, 214 n. 169-70, 215-18, 215 n. 171, 216 n. 173-74, 217 n. 175-76, 224, 230-31, 233, 237, 244, 245-46, 269, 272-73, 279, 306, 308, 311, 315-16, 323-24, 334-35, 340 n. 5, 342, 382 Homer, 313-14 Homyk, Stefan, 427 Hončarenko, Ivan, 579 Horbač, Oleksa, 225 Hordijenko, Dmytro, 525 Hornjatkevyč, Andrij, 597 n. 36 Horobkevyč, Sydir. See Vorobkevyč, Sydir Horthy, Miklós, 445, 477 Hrabar, Ol'ha, 392 Hrabovs'kyj, S., 598 Hrebinka, Jevhen. See Grebënka, Jevhen Hrinčenko, Borys, 34, 336, 345-46, 522, 549 Hruševs'kyj, Myxajlo, 14, 16, 16 n.19, 26, 26 n. 37, 30, 30 n. 49, 34, 65, 336, 345, 345 n. 13, 482 n. 2, 487 n. 15, 503 n. 64, 510, 566, 591, 591 n. 12, 596 n. 31 Hruška, Hryhorij, 411-15, 412 n. 5, 412 n. 7, 442 Hrycak, Jaroslav, 171, 218 n. 177, 251, 358 n. 15, 385, 385 n. 12, 393 Hryn'ko, Hryhorij, 491, 491 n. 28, 497, 545 n. 216 Hrynevec'kyj, Serhij, 615 Hulak-Artemovs'kyj, Petro, 172 n. 4, 198, 198 n. 114

Humec'ka, Lukijana, 44-45 Humenčyk, Ol'ha, 614 Hynylevyč, Hryhorij, 242–43, 243 n. 28 Ioakim (patriarch of Moscow), 90 Ihor (Rus' prince), 106, 116, 118-19 Ilarion (metropolitan of Kyiv), 18, 18 n. 23 Il'ič. See Lenin, Vladimir Il'nyc'kyj, Vasyl', 317-18, 350, 352 Isačenko, Aleksandr, 347 n. 17 Isajevyč, Jaroslav, 65 Iskra, Ivan, 135 Ivan the Terrible (Groznyj) (tsar of Muscovy), 18, 18 n. 23 Ižakevyč, H., 142 Jabur, Vasil, 449, 449 n. 7-8, 453 Jakymovyč, Avskentij, 123 Jalovyj, Myxajlo (Špol', Julijan), 498, 525, 532 n. 167 Janovs'kyj, Petro, 145-47 Janukovyč, Viktor, 590, 601, 605, 605 n. 3, 606-7, 610, 615, 619 Jaroslav Osmomysl (Rus' prince), 371-72 Jaroslav the Wise (Rus' prince), 192, 192 n. 79 Javors'kyj, Ivan, 136, 529 Javors'kyj, Matvij, 509-10, 534 Javors'kyj, Stefan, 18 Jaxymovyč, Hryhorij, 232, 384 Jedlins'ka, Ul'jana, 446 Jefimenko, Hennadij, 526 Jefremov, Oleskandr, 615 Jefremov, Serhij, 30, 30 n. 50, 31 n. 51, 143, 143 n. 4, 437, 503 n. 64, 507, 507 n. 84, 509-10, 522, 535, 566, 570-71, 576 Jireček, Alois, 27 Johansen, Myxajlo, 496, 496 n. 46, 545-46, 546 n. 218, 547-53, 557, 559-61, 561 n. 286, 565 Jordan, Petr, 234 Joseph (archduke of Austria), 277 n. 27 Joseph II (emperor of Austria), 192, 192 n. 79, 371-73 Jugashvili, Ioseb Besarionis dze. See Stalin, Joseph Juhas, Myxajlo, 442-43 Julianovič, Ivan. See Kulik, Izrail' Judelevič Jurčenko, 589, 594, 597, 598 n. 37 Jurij Dolgorukij (Rus' prince), 11 n. 7, 370-72 Juščenko (Yushchenko), Viktor, 34 n. 54, 602, 604, 606-7, 609, 611, 613-15

Juzefovyč, Myxajlo, 329 n. 18

660

565-66, 568

Kapral', Mixail, 481

193 n. 84, 195

- Kahanovyč, Lazar (Mojseevič, Lazar), 31, 34, 491 n. 29, 497-98, 503-5, 504 n. 67-68, 505 n. 73, 507-9, 507 n. 82, 529, 529 n. 153, 531, 531 n. 162, 546, 548-56, 559, 561-63, Kahanovyč, Naum, 519, 542 n. 210 Kaljannikov (Kaljannyk), Ivan, 582 Kamiński, Jan Nepomucen, 235 Kamusella, Tomasz, 337 Kapnist, Vasyl', 172 n. 4 Kapral', Myron, 64-65, 476 Karadžić, Vuk Stefanović, 179 Karamzin, Nikolaj, 188, 189 n. 63, 190 n. 67, Karevin, Aleksandr, 4-5, 12, 14-15, 22-23, 25, 28, 30, 30 n. 50, 31, 35, 587, 590 Karpluk, Maria, 113-14, 113 n. 6, 114 n. 7 Katrenko, Oleksander, 433 Keipert, Helmut, 70 n. 4, 77-78, 80, 82, 89-90 Keppen, Petr, 175, 200 n. 123 Kerča, Ihor, 449, 453, 480 Kiparsky, Valentin, 149 n. 7 Kirill (patriarch of Moscow), 607 Kistjakivs'kyj, Oleksander, 329 n. 17
- Kivalov, Serhij, 618 Ključevskij, Vasilij, 11 n. 7 Kloss, Heinz, 76 Klymončuk, Oksana, 616 Kočubej, Vasyl', 135, 136 n. 17 Kočyš, Mykola, 478 Kohut, Zenon, 105, 120, 158 n. 13 Kolesničenko, Vadym, 608 n. 4, 610-15, 612 n. 6,617-18 Kolesnikov, A., 589, 595 Kollár, Ján, 230, 236, 242 Kolodij, M. 432 Kommodova, Natalija, 609 Konaševyč-Sahajdačnyj, Petro (Ukrainian hetman), 192, 192 n. 79, 192–93 n. 82, 373
- Konečný, Stanislav, 477 Konstankevyč, Ivan, 412-13 Konys'kyj, Oleksander, 314, 322, 328
- Kopczyński, Onufry, 231
- Kopitar, Jernej (Bartholomäus), 231, 233
- Kopitar, V., 172 n. 5
- Kopylenko, Oleksandr, 525
- Kopyns'kyj, Isaja, 18, 18 n. 23
- Korjak (Blumštejn), V., 31, 31 n. 51
- Kornienko, Mixail, 613
- Kornilov, D., 589, 594
- Korol'ov, Pylyp, 300

Kosior, Stanislav, 509, 511 n. 93, 514-17, 524, 526, 533, 533 n. 175, 543, 545-50, 552-53, 555-68, 556 n. 226, 580 Kostel'nyk, Havrylo, 473, 473 n. 5, 474 Kostiuk, Hryhory, 525 Kostomarov (Kostomariv), Mykola (Halka, Ieremija), 25, 196, 196 n. 96, 198, 198 n. 114, 235, 306, 311, 324 n. 16 Kostusjev, Oleksij, 619 Kotljarevs'kyj, Ivan, 21–22, 21 n. 24–26, 22 n. 28, 32, 141-42, 172 n. 4, 177, 190-91, 198-99, 198 n. 114, 199 n. 115, 305-8, 339, 339 n. 2, 345, 375 Kutuzov, Mixail, 192 n. 82, 193 n. 82 Koval's'kyj, Vasyl', 351, 358 Krajňak, František, 477 Kravčenjuk, Osyp, 413–4, 413 n. 10, 413 n. 12 Kravciv, Bohdan, 411, 412 n. 6, 414, 417–18 Krawchenko, Bohdan, 482–83 Krylovskij, Amfrosij, 65-66, 69 Kryms'kyj, Ahatanhel, 494, 507–8, 507 n. 84, 517, 517 n. 122, 522 Kubajčuk, Viktor, 518 Kudrjavcev, Sergej, 543 Kul'abka, Ivan, 158 Kuliš, Mykola, 509 Kuliš, Pantelejmon, xii, 25, 27–28, 28 n. 42, 33-34, 235, 305-6, 307 n. 4, 309-30, 310 n. 6, 311 n. 7, 312 n. 9, 314 n. 10-11, 315 n. 12, 321 n. 13, 322 n. 14, 324 n. 15, 325 n. 16, 329 n. 17–18, 332–36, 333 n. 10–21, 334 n. 22, 335 n. 24, 344-46, 345 n. 14, 352, 372 n. 48, 374-75, 585, 587, 597, 599 Kulyk (Kulik), Izrail' Judelevič (Julianovič, Ivan), 30–31, 31 n. 51 Kulyk, Volodymyr, 603 Kun, Béla, 475 n. 7 Kuncevyč, Ivan, 432 Kurbas, Les, 524 Kurbskij, Andrej, 18, 18 n. 23 Kuropas, Myron, 412–13, 413 n. 9–10, 416 n. 13, 417-18, 418 n. 14 Kurylo, Olena, 34, 438, 521 Kuz'mič, Volodymyr, 525 Kuzelja, Zenon, 265, 353 n. 4, 356, 356 n. 12, 359 n. 17, 360 n. 20, 360 n. 22-23, 362 n. 25, 363 n. 27, 363 n. 29, 363 n. 34, 364 n. 35, 367 n. 38–40, 368 n. 41, 368 n. 43–44, 372 n. 50, 373 n. 52, 452, 455 n. 20, 459 n. 25–29, 460 n. 30-37, 461 n. 38-47, 462 n. 48-52, 462 n. 54-55, 463 n. 59, 463 n. 62-63, 463 n.

65-66, 464 n. 67

Kuzio, Taras, 479, 607 Kviring, Émmanuil, 489–90, 490 n. 23, 497, 545-58, 560-61, 563-65 Kvitka-Osnov'ianenko, Hryhorij, 22, 22 n. 28, 32, 196, 196 n. 94, 196 n. 96, 198, 198 n. 114, 306-8, 326, 339, 339 n. 2, 595, 595 n. 28 Kyj (legendary prince of Kyiv), 106, 108, 112, 116 Kyrylenko, Ivan, 525 Laborec' (prince of the White Croats), 469 Larin, Jurij (Lur'e, Mixail), 497, 508 Lavrivs'kyj, Ivan, 175-76, 200 n. 123 Ławrowski, Julian, 390 Lazarevs'kyj, Fedir, 301 Lazarevs'kyj, Myxajlo, 301 Lebed', Dmitrij, 490-91, 490 n. 27, 497 Lenec, K., 139 Lenin, Vladimir (Il'ič), 482 n. 2, 483-85, 483 n. 5, 486 n. 13, 488, 488 n. 17, 490, 490 n. 25, 515, 515 n. 111, 531, 531 n. 161, 531 n. 165, 535, 538–39, 540 n. 204, 544, 579, 581, 613 Leontovyč, Teodor, 236, 238 Lesiv, Mykhailo (Łesiów, Michał), 90, 265 Lev Danylovyč (Rus' prince), 191, 356-57 Levkovyč, L., 579 Levyc'kyj, Ivan, 246, 276 n. 26, 279 n. 29, 381 Levyc'kyj, Josyf, 26, 172 n. 4-5, 176-79, 176 n. 17, 177 n. 19, 190-91, 198, 198 n. 114, 200-201, 200 n. 124-25, 201 n. 128, 221-24, 221 n. 3, 222 n. 4, 231-33, 244, 296 n. 36 Levyc'yj, Kost', 249, 414 Levyc'kyj, Myxajlo, 173, 220-21, 231 Levyc'kyj, Orest, 133 Levyc'kyj, Ostap, 351, 366, 368, 373-76 Lisovs'ka, Nastja. See Roksoljana Lixinin, Dinis, 127-28 Ljapunov, Boris, 5, 18, 591 Ljubčenko, Panas, 491, 491 n. 30, 507, 513-14, 526, 546–62, 547 n. 219, 555 n. 224, 562 n. 287, 564-68 Lomonosov, Mixail, 18, 21, 21 n. 25, 190, 190 n. 68, 231, 330-31, 333, 333 n. 20 Losiv, Ihor, 598, 598 n. 41, 599 n. 42-44 Lotoc'kyj, Volodymyr, 413 Lozyns'kyj, Josyf, 172 n. 5, 180-82, 182 n. 35-36, 184-85, 193-96, 193 n. 84, 204-5, 205 n. 136, 225, 231, 233-34, 340 Lozyns'kyj, Myxajlo, 520 Lučkaj, Myxajlo, 172 n. 4, 176 n. 17, 201, 201 n. 126, 204 Luckyj, George, 306, 309, 309 n. 5, 310 n. 6, 311-12, 311 n. 7, 312 n. 9, 315 n. 12, 318,

322-24, 322 n. 14, 324 n. 15, 329 n. 17-18, 333 n. 21, 334 n. 22, 335 n. 24 Luc'kyj, Maksym, 610 Ludolf, Heinrich Wilhelm, 149 n. 7 Lukaševyč, Platon, 180 Lur'e, Mixail. See Larin, Jurij Lyashka, Ivan, 123 Lybid (Libeda) (legendary princess of Kyiv), 108, 115 Lysjak, Teodor (Bohdan), 235, 281 Lytvyn, Volodymyr, 611, 615 Machek, Václav, 50 Macuka, A., 589, 594 Macyns'kyj, Ivan, 477 Magocsi, Paul Robert, 377 n. 1, 391, 411, 449, 471 n. 1-2, 472-73, 476-81, 480 n. 9 Majs'kyj, Myxajlo, 525 Makar, Stefan, 413 Maksim Grek, 18, 18 n. 23 Maksymovyč (Savryč), Karol', 505 n. 73, 529 n. 153 Maksymovyč, Myxajlo, 32, 195-96, 196 n. 94, 196 n. 96, 282-83, 306-8, 307 n. 4, 310, 310 n. 6, 313, 324, 334-35, 344, 448 n. 6 Makuch, Andrij, xiii Malynovs'kyj, Myxajlo, 344 Marčuk, N., 222 Maria Theresa (empress of Austria), 192, 192 n. 79, 192-93 n. 82, 371-72 Martin, Terry, 484, 486 n. 13, 488, 488 n. 17, 491, 495, 524-25, 525 n. 135, 538, 542, 542 n. 211, 543 n. 213 Masaryk, Tomáš, 468 Masenko, Larysa, 141, 143, 603 Matejko, Lubor, 601 n. 1 Mazepa, Ivan (Ukrainian hetman), xii, 121-24, 121 n. 2, 126-30, 133-37, 133 n. 14, 136 n. 18 Mazuka, Ljudmyla, 604 Medvedev, Dmitrij, 612 Medvedev, Sil'vestr, 18, 18n. 23 Meek, F.J., 434 n. 25 Meller, Vadym, 525 Men'šikov, Aleksandr, 133, 135 Metelko, Fran Serafin, 231 Methodius, Saint, 194, 194 n. 88, 424 Metlyns'kyj (Mohyla), Amvrosij, 196, 196 n. 96, 198, 198 n. 114 Michael I Cerularius (patriarch of Constantinople), 194, 194 n. 88 Michalewicz, Mikołaj, 233 Mickiewicz, Adam, 321-22

Miechowita, Maciej, 111 n. 4, 119 n. 10 Miklosich, Franz, 246, 318 Miller, Aleksej, 311 Misiak, Małgorzata, 474, 474 n. 6 Mohyl'nyc'kyj, Antin, 222-23, 452 Mohyl'nyc'kyj, Ivan, 173-76, 174 n. 10, 176 n. 16-17, 178, 182, 186-91, 189 n. 63, 190 n. 67, 197, 199-200, 230-31, 340, 447 Mohyla, Petro (metropolitan of Kyiv), 18, 18 n. 23, 320 Mojseevič, Lazar. See Kahanovyč, Lazar Molotov, Vjačeslav, 523 Monastyrs'kyj, Arkadij, 617 Mončalovs'kyj, Osyp (Josyp), 377-79, 378 n. 2, 382-85, 384 n. 11, 390 n. 14, 391, 393-94, 405 - 6Moračevs'kyj, Pylyp, 343 Morlovyč M., 433 Moser, Michael, xiv, 3, 6–9, 12n. 10, 17, 19, 22, 24-25, 29, 32-35, 40 n. 2, 44, 66, 66 n. 2, 68-69, 70 n. 4, 77, 90, 105, 111, 122, 123 n. 3, 130 n. 10, 141–43, 141 n. 1, 142 n. 3, 153, 156, 160, 219-20, 221 n. 3, 225-26, 229-32, 229 n. 2, 243, 245, 247-48, 252 n. 10, 252 n. 12, 253, 269, 272-73, 291, 299, 301 n. 2, 304-5, 305 n. 1, 306 n. 2, 311, 311 n. 7, 316, 321, 321 n. 13, 333, 341-43, 350, 350 n. 1-2, 351 n. 3, 352, 354, 356, 365-66, 365 n. 36, 368, 373 n. 54, 374 n. 55, 377 n. 1, 378, 378 n. 1, 379 n. 4, 381 n. 6, 391 n. 15, 395, 398, 406-7, 412, 422-23, 426, 434, 435 n. 26, 446, 450 n. 10, 454, 459 n. 25, 471-73, 476-77, 587, 597, 599, 601 n. 1 Mox, Rudolf, 198, 198 n. 114 Mrazović, Avram, 233 Mstyslav Izjaslavyč (Rus' prince), 356-57 Murav'ev, Mixail, 482, 482 n. 2 Mušynka (Mušinka), Mykola, 445, 445 n. 3 Myhalyč, Mykola, 252, 278, 296 Myrnyj, Panas, 346 Myshuha, Luka (Luke), 414 Myxel'son, Oleksandr, 611 Nakonečnyj, Jevhen, 370 n. 46 Naumovyč family, 380 Naumovyč, Grigorii, 378-79 Naumovyč, Ivan, xii, 342, 350 n. 2, 377-89, 378 n. 1-3, 391-95, 391 n. 16, 392 n. 17-18, 396 n. 22, 398, 398 n. 24, 399 n. 25, 400-406, 586 Naumovyč, Maria, 378-79 Naxlik, Jevhen, 190n. 71 Nebeská, Iva, 347 n. 17

Nečuj-Levyc'kyj, Ivan, 25, 34, 336, 345–346, 429-30, 591, 591 n. 12, 596, 596 n. 35 Nedil's'kyj, Sofron, 345 Nekvapil, Jiří, 348 Nestor the Chronicler, 18, 18 n. 23, 190, 195 Netreba, Natalja, 41-43, 41 n. 4-6, 42 n. 7, 60 Nevyc'ka, Iryna, 475 Nicholas I (emperor of Russia), 382 Nikovs'kyj, Andrij, 503 n. 64, 522, 566 Nimčuk, Vasyl', 13, 39-46, 48-61, 40 n. 3, 318 Nod' (Nagy), Mykola, 252, 274-77, 276 n. 26, 292, 296 Novák, Stefan, 473 Ohijenko, Ivan, 143, 310, 318, 537, 537 n. 194 Ohloblyn, Oleksander, 122, 143, 312 Ohonovs'kyj, Omeljan, 14, 174 n. 10, 317-18, 447-48, 448 n. 6 Oleh (Rus' prince), 106, 116, 118 Ol'ha (Rus' princess), 106-7, 109-11, 114-19, 356-57 Oleska, Wacława, 172 n. 4, 195, 196 n. 94 Olinter, Andrij. See Xvylja, Andrij Olynyk, Marta, xiii Orlyk, Pylyp, 122, 135-36, 136 n. 18 Orwell, George, 590 n. 11 Osinčuk, Jurij, 13 Osypov, Mykola, 537 Padjak (Padiak), Valerij, 476, 481 Padura, Tomasz, 172 n. 4, 235 Palacký, František, 242 Pan'kevyč, Ivan, xiii, 445-50, 448 n. 6, 450 n. 11-12, 452, 455 n. 21, 457-61, 460 n. 35, 464-66, 468, 469-70, 472 Panašenko, V., 144 Panč, Petro, 525 Partyc'kyj, Omeljan, 312, 314, 317, 319-20, 324, 345, 366, 374 Pašaeva, Nina, 29, 378 n. 2, 586 Pauly, Matthew, 492–94, 493 n. 34, 493 n. 36-38, 498, 510, 520, 520 n. 126 Pavlenko, Parxom, 145, 148 Pavlenko, Serhij, 135 Pavlovs'kyj, Oleksander, 306, 340 Pavlovs'kyj, Oleksij, 190 Pavlyk, Myxajlo, 391 n. 16 Peredrijenko, Vitalij, 121, 142 Pešek, Josef, 445 Peštič, Sergej, 105 Peter I (emperor of Russia), 18-19, 105, 122, 133–35, 133 n. 14, 136 n. 18, 143, 143 n. 4, 156, 192 n. 80, 192-93 n. 82

- Petljura, Symon, 482 n. 2, 487 n. 14, 497 Petőfi, Sándor, 430 Petrenko, P., 312 Petrovs'kyj, Hryhorij, 548 Petrovyč, H., 172 n. 5 Piłsudski, Józef, 504, 512-13, 514 n, 106, 529, 577 Pisoc'kyj, Anatolij. See Ričyc'kyj, Andrij Pjatakov, Georgij, 488, 488 n. 17 Pliškova, Anna, 449, 449 n. 7-8. 453, 475-77 Plokhy, Serhii, 105, 471 Podolyns'kyj, Vasyl', 238-41 Pogodin, Mixail, 179, 230 Polacki, Simjaon, 18, 18 n. 23 Polians'kyj, Tomaš, 221 Poliščuk, V., 589-90 Polons'kyj (Ukrainian teacher), 534, 534 n. 183 Poltava, 133 Pop, Ivan, 448 n. 6, 450 n. 11, 475 n. 7, 476 Popov, Nikolaj, 482, 485, 491 n. 28, 524, 525 n. 137, 526-32, 527 n. 142, 542, 579 Popovyč, Stepan, 480 Popovyč, Vasylij, 222 Postyšev, Pavel, 523-24, 526, 531, 531 n. 161, 532 n. 171, 533-34, 533 n. 175, 540, 540 n. 206, 542-43, 581 Potij, Ipatij (Uniate metropolitan of Kviv), 59 Potocki, Andrzej, 384, 391 Potoc'kyj', Teodor, 411 n. 2 Poznans'kyj (Soviet official), 517, 518 n. 123 Procko, Bohdan, 411-12, 412 n. 5-7, 413 n. 10 Procyk, Roman, xiv Prokopovyč, Teofan (Feofan), 18, 111 Prylypko, N., 221 Prystajko, Volodymyr, 35 Puljuj, Ivan, 314 n. 10, 318, 321, 345 n. 14 Puškin, Aleksandr, 321-22, 327, 330, 339 Putin, Vladimir, 606-8 Putina, Ljudmila, 606 Pylypenko, Serhij, 495–96, 496 n. 45, 545–50, 552-56, 558, 560, 563, 567 Pylypovyč, Volodymyr, 219, 230 n. 3, 381 Rabus, Achim, 66 n. 2 Radomysl'skij-Apfel'baum, Ovsej-Gershon. See Zinov'ev, Grigorij Radziejowski, Janusz, 505 n. 73 Rákóczi princes, 194, 194 n. 88 Rakovs'kyj, Ivan, 252, 276-77, 276 n. 26, 277 n. 27, 285, 285 n. 32, 287-88, 292, 295, 296
- Rakovs'kyj, Xrystyjan, 483 n. 4, 488, 488 n. 18–19, 545–68, 555 n. 224, 558 n. 249

Ramač, Julijan, 481 Ranke, Leopold von, 3 Razumovskij, Kirill Grigor'evič, 156, 158 Rej, Mikolaj, 55 Revyuk, Omeljan (Emil), 414 Richardt, Rosemarie, 90 Ričyc'kyj, Andrij (Pisoc'kyj, Anatolij), 509 Rjuryk (legendary Rus' prince), 111, 115, 119, 356-57, 369-70 Roksoljana (Lisovs'ka, Nastja), 356–57 Rogov, Aleksandr, 106 Roman Mstyslavyč (Rus' prince), 15, 356–57 Romaniv, O., 309, 374 Rossolinski-Liebe, Grzegorz, 4 n. 2, 31 n. 53 Rostovs'kyj, Dmytrij. See Tuptalo, Dmytrij Rothe, Hans, 105 Rudnyc'kyj, Jaroslav, 265, 353 n. 4, 356, 356 n. 12, 359 n. 17, 360 n. 20, 360 n. 22-23, 362 n. 25, 363 n. 27, 363 n. 29, 363 n. 34, 364 n. 35, 367 n. 38-40, 368 n. 41, 368 n. 43-44, 372 n. 50, 373 n. 52, 452, 455 n. 20, 459 n. 25–29, 461 n. 38-47, 462 n. 48-52, 462 n. 54-55, 463 n. 59, 463 n. 62–63, 463 n. 65–66, 464 n. 67 Rudnyc'kyj, Stepan, 520 Rumjancev, Petr, 192–93 n. 82 Rusanivs'kyj, Vitalij, 121, 310, 338-39, 341, 344 - 46Šafařík, Pavel Jozef, 172, 181–82, 181 n. 33–34, 194, 230, 236, 242 Samojlovyč, Ivan (Ukrainian hetman), 122 Šapoval, Jurij, 35 Šarovol's'kyj, Ivan, 522 Šaškevyč, Markijan, 172, 198, 198 n. 114, 224-25, 230, 309, 340 n. 5 Šaškevyč, Volodymyr, 309 Satanovs'kyj, Arsenij, 18 Savčenko, Klym, 146, 150 Savryč, Karol'. See Maksymovyč, Karol' Savyč, Semen, 136 n. 17 Šček (legendary prince of Kyiv), 106–7, 112, 116 Schiller, Friedrich, 221, 221 n. 3, 232, 321–22 Schmidt, Johann Adam, 386-87 Ščupak, Samijlo, 30, 31 n. 51 Šechovyč, Severyn, 270 Senkus, Roman, xiii Šeptyc'kyj, Andrej, 473 n. 5 Serbens'ka, Oleksandra, 139

Serdjuk, Marija, 611

Sereda, Ostap, 308-9, 373 n. 53, 378 n. 3

664

Index

Šesták, Miroslav, 229 Ševčenko, Taras, xii, 21–23, 21 n. 24–26, 23 n. 29-30, 28, 32, 34, 198, 198 n. 114, 235, 297, 299-305, 300 n. 1, 301 n. 2, 308-12, 314-17, 321-29, 321 n. 13, 336, 342-45, 346 n. 15, 352, 369, 374-75, 406-7, 423, 425-26, 454, 469, 506 n. 78, 585, 594-95, 595 n. 28, 597 Ševel'ov, Jurij (Shevelov, George), 7, 9, 32–34, 40-42, 42 n. 8, 44, 44 n. 10, 47-50, 53-54, 56, 58, 60-61, 63, 92, 121 n. 1, 131 n. 11, 221-23, 310-11, 314, 314 n. 10, 316-17, 333 n. 19, 336, 336 n. 25, 338 n. 1, 353 n. 4, 357 n. 13, 363 n. 31, 374, 377, 408, 448-49, 482 n. 1, 484-85, 484 n. 8, 485 n. 11-12, 487, 487 n. 14, 488 n. 18–19, 490–91, 490 n. 26, 492 n. 32–33, 493–95, 495 n. 40, 497, 498 n. 47, 505 n. 71, 508–10, 509 n. 87, 517 n. 122, 519, 520-27, 521 n. 128-30, 526 n. 140, 531 n. 163, 541 n. 210, 542, 542 n. 211–212, 543 n. 214, 544, 544 n. 215, 545 n. 216, 561, 571 n. 306, 582-83, 582 n. 314, 583 n. 315, 584 n. 316, 599 Šexovyč, Severyn, 270, 382–83 Shkandrij, Myroslav, 494 Shklar, Gene, 411 n. 1 Sieniawski, Adam, 121.2 Sijak, Ivan, 520 Simovyč, Vasyl', 522 Sineus (legendary Rus' prince), 111, 119 Sinkevyč, Ivan Xryzostom, 235 Sirka, Ann, 352 Šiškov, Aleksandr, 190 n. 67 Skaryna, Francysk, 191 Skljar, Volodymyr, 601 Skovoroda, Hryhorij, 18, 315-16 Skrypnyk, Mykola, 436, 482 n. 2, 484 n. 7, 493, 493 n. 35, 501, 505, 505 n. 73, 505 n. 75, 507-13, 507 n. 82, 508 n. 85, 517-18, 520-22, 520 n. 127, 521 n. 129, 524-25, 527, 530-32, 530 n. 156-59, 531 n. 160-62, 531 n. 165, 532 n. 170, 534-35, 534 n. 183-83, 538-41, 539 n. 202-3, 540 n. 205, 541 n. 209, 545-53, 555-68, 556 n. 225, 557 n. 227, 558 n. 246-47, 559 n. 260, 569 n. 301, 569 n. 303, 570, 570 n. 304, 573 n. 308, 577, 580 Skvorcov, Dmitrij, 16, 589, 594-95 Slavynec'kyj, Jepyfanij, 18, 18 n. 23 Slisarenko, Oleksa, 525 Šlixter, Oleksander, 510, 541, 581 Smal'-Stoc'kyj, Roman, 368 n. 44, 435 n. 27, 463 n. 58-60, 584 n. 316 Smerečyns'kyj, Serhij, 537, 537 n. 195-96

Smolin, Mixail, 21, 23, 26, 30, 591

Smotryc'kyj, Herasym, 45, 57-58 Smotryc'kyj, Meletij, 18, 18 n. 23, 330-31, 333 Snihurs'kyj, Ivan, 220-22, 231 Snylyk, Zenon, 414 Sokolov, Leonid, 21, 25, 595 Solchanyk, Roman, 482-85, 482 n. 2, 483 n. 4, 484 n. 7, 487-88, 487 n. 16, 490, 491 n. 28, 492-93, 497, 544 Solodub, Petro, 529 n. 153 Sorokin, Viktor, 607 Špol', Julian. See Jalovyj, Myxajlo Špyhovs'kyj (Špyhoc'kyj), Opanas, 196, 196 n. 96 Sreznevskij, Izmail, 50, 127 n. 7, 134 n. 16, 183, 195-96, 196 n. 94, 196 n. 96, 206, 282-83, 322 n. 14 Stadion, Franz, 25, 385-86 Stalin, Joseph (Jugashvili, Ioseb Besarionis dze), 35, 476, 484, 486–88, 488 n. 19, 490, 491 n. 29, 498-99, 506, 508-10, 511 n. 93, 523, 528, 530-31, 530 n. 158, 531 n. 161, 531 n. 165–66, 533 n. 173, 535, 539, 540 n. 204, 541-42, 541 n. 208, 544, 581, 588, 599, 607-8,613 Stanica, Marko, 232, 233 n. 4 Stanislavs'kyj, V'jačeslav, 122, 128 Staryc'kyj, Myxajlo, 346 Steblij, Feodosij, 172, 172 n. 5, 229 Štec', Mykola, 475, 477 Stech, Marko R., xiii Stepnjak, M., 578 Šternberg, Vasilij, 301 Stetkevyč, Osyp, 413, 413 n. 12 Štohrin, Iryna, 608 n. 4 Stökl, Günther, 11 n. 7 Storoženko, Oleksa, 346 Stryjkowski, Maciej, 59, 105-6, 106 n. 3, 109, 111-14, 111 n. 4, 113 n. 6, 115 n. 8, 116-17, 119 n. 10-11, 120 Stryps'kyj, Hijador, 446, 473 Studyns'kyj, Kyrylo, 39, 227, 245, 248 n. 4, 249-50, 253 n. 15, 258, 272, 276 n. 26, 277 n. 27, 279, 281, 305, 308, 381-82, 522 Stukenbrock, Anja, 337 Subtelny, Orest, 121 n. 2 Šums'kyj, Oleksandr, 437, 485 n. 10, 491, 491 n. 29, 493 n. 35, 497–98, 498 n. 48, 500– 501, 501 n. 62-63, 504-7, 504 n. 68, 505 n. 72-73, 505 n. 76, 506 n. 78-79, 507 n. 83, 522, 529, 529 n. 152-53, 531 n. 165, 532 n. 167, 535, 545-55, 551 n. 222, 555 n. 224, 557-67, 560 n. 280, 562 n. 289 Šust, Roman, 66 n. 1

Suvorov, A., 29 Suvorov, Aleksandr, 192-93 n. 82 Svjatoslav Ihorevyč (Rus' prince), 110, 117, 119,469 Svjencic'kyj, Ilarion, 180, 191, 192 n. 76, 193, 522 Švorc, Peter, 475 Svydnyc'kyj, Anatolij, 346 Sydor, Dmytro, 480 Sylyma, Myxajlo, 521 Symonenko, Petro, 615 Synjavs'kyj, Oleksa, 521–22 Sysyn, Frank, xiii, 66 n. 1, 105 Szczepanowski, Stanisław, 368 Tabačnyk, Dmytro, 607–11 Tairova-Jakovleva, Tat'jana, 121-22, 133, 136 n. 18 Taranenko, Oleksandr, 138-40 Tauchmann, Michael, xiii Tefft, Jon, 607 Teodor Korijatovyč (Rus' prince), 469 Terlec'kyj, I., 172 n. 5 Teršakovec', Vasyl', 414 Tichý, František, 475 Tkač, Ljudmyla, 33 Tkačenko, Borys, 518-19 Točenyj, Ivan, 123 Toločko, Petro, 4 n. 1-2, 5, 596-7, 596 n. 35, 597 n. 36 Tolstoj, F., 301 Tolstoj, Petr, 145-46 Topolyns'kyj, Kyrylo, 198, 198 n. 114 Trankvilion-Stavrovec'kyj, Kyrylo, 90, 92, 103 Trockij, Lev, 490, 490 n. 25 Troxanovs'kyj, Meletij, 474 Troxymenko, Mykola, 438 Trunte, Nikolaos (Harmut), 90-91, 102 Truvor (legendary Rus' prince), 108, 111, 119 Tuptalo (Rostovs'kyj), Dmytrij, 18, 18 n. 23 Tyčyna, Pavlo, 525 Tymčenko, Jevhen, 44-57, 59-61, 73, 83-84, 86, 88, 91, 93 n. 5, 94 n. 6-7, 95 n. 8, 95 n. 10, 96.11-12,98 n.16,99 n.17,100 n.19-21, 101 n. 22, 101 n. 24-25, 102 n. 26-27, 126, 131 Tymofijiv, V., 548 Tymošenko, Petro, 299, 303, 309 Tyščenko, Julija, 604 Udvari, István, 473 Ul'janov, Nikolaj, 4, 12, 14-15, 18-19, 22-25,

24 n. 32, 28-30, 587

Uspenskij, Boris, 19 Ustyjanovyč, Mykola, 198, 198 n. 114, 447, 452 Uvarov, Sergej, 339 Uževyč, Ivan, 53, 57, 77–89, 77 n. 3, 78 n. 4, 80 n. 6 Vadžra, Andrej, 5–6, 21–24, 26–27, 28 n. 42, 589, 594-95, 604 Vaganjan, Vagaršak, 508, 518 Vahylevyč, Ivan, 179–80, 191–92, 192 n. 80, 192 n. 82, 195, 201-3, 217-18, 224, 230-31, 340 n. 5 Vakulenko, Serhij, 526, 578, 585, 597, 599 Valuev, Petr, xi, 21, 28-29, 29 n. 46, 311-12, 323, 335, 343, 375, 599 Van'ko, D., 432, 453, 481 Vasmer, Max, 60, 94, 147, 152, 370 n. 45 Vaxnjanyn, Anatol', 317, 319–20 Veresaj, Ostap, 312, 322 Vernads'kyj, Volodymyr, 435 Verxrac'kyj, Ivan, 329, 344, 376 Vojcexovyč, Ivan, 172.4 Vojtkovskij, Vasilij, 277 n. 27 Voljan, Vasyl', 333 Voljans'kyj, Ivan, 433 Volobuev, Mixail, 508-9, 509 n. 86 Volodymyr Monomax (Rus' prince), 18, 18 n. 23 Volodymyr the Great (Rus' prince), 106, 186, 187 n. 51, 190, 192, 192 n. 79, 192-93 n. 82, 260-63, 356-57, 368-72, 469 Vološyn, Avgustyn, 447–48, 476–77 Vorobkevyč (Horobkevyč), Sydir, 366 Vostokov, Aleksandr, 180 Vovčok, Marko, 22, 346 Voznjak, Myxajlo, 40-41, 44, 48, 173 n. 6, 174–76, 174 n. 10, 176 n. 17, 179–80, 181 n. 32, 182 n. 35, 182 n. 42, 183 n. 43, 190 n. 68, 192, 192 n. 76, 192 n. 82, 200, 200 n. 123-25, 201 n. 126, 247–48, 247 n. 1, 249 n. 5 Vynnyčenko, S., 578 Vynnyčenko, Volodymyr, 567 Vyšens'kyj, Ivan, 18, 18 n. 23, 52, 57 Vysloboc'kyj, Julijan, 245–47, 248 n. 5, 252, 255, 260, 264, 267, 270–73, 280, 296 297 Vyšnja, Ostap, 525 Wendland, Anna Veronika, 248 n. 4, 350 n. 2, 371 n. 47, 378 n. 3, 383 n. 10, 391 n. 16, 392 n. 17-18, 393, 393 n. 21 Witkowski, Wiesław, 110–11, 134 n. 16, 148, 152-53, 159-60, 162

Worth, Dean S., 90

666

Index

Wytrzens, Günther, 274, 276 n. 26 Xmel'nyc'kyj, Bohdan (Ukrainian hetman), 177, 192, 192 n. 79, 192-93 n. 82, 194, 357 Xolodnyj, Hryhorij, 510 n. 89, 513 n. 101 Xoryv (legendary prince of Kyiv), 106, 108, 112, 116 Xruščev, Nikita, 543 Xudaš, Myxajlo, 225-26 Xvyl'ovyj (Fitilëv), Mykola, 498, 500, 504-5, 504 n. 68, 505 n. 73, 506 n. 80-81, 524, 529, 529 n. 152, 532 n. 167, 535, 553 Xvylja (Olinter), Andrij, 30, 31 n. 51, 506-7, 506 n. 80-81, 517, 525-26, 535-41, 537 n. 195-97, 542 n. 210, 546, 549, 551-53, 558, 562, 565, 578 Yarosevych, Irena, 414 Yurkevich, Myroslav, xiii Yushchenko, Viktor. See Juščenko, Viktor Zabila, Viktor, 196, 196 n. 96, 198, 198 n. 114 Żáček, Václav, 242 Zajec', V., 578 Zaleski, Bronisław, 301 Zaleski, Wacław, 235 Zales'kyj, A., 223 Zaliznjak, Andrej, 4n. 2, 6-11 Zap, Karel František, 172 n. 5, 241 Žatkovyč, Jurij, 447, 450–52 Zatons'kyj, Volodymyr, 482 n. 2, 484, 484 n. 6, 498-99, 510, 526, 542, 542 n. 210, 546-50, 552, 554-57, 555 n. 224, 559-61, 564-67 Zavadka, B., 245 Zborovs'kyj, Vasyl', 270, 297-98 Žeguc, Ivan, 249 Želexivs'kyj, Jevhen, 344–45, 354 n. 8–10, 367 n. 40, 372 n. 49, 372 n. 51, 416, 454, 455 n. 19, 459 n. 25-29, 460 n. 30-37, 461 n. 38-47, 462 n. 48-52, 462 n. 54-55, 463 n. 59, 463 n. 62–66, 464 n. 67, 547, 552, 585 Želexivs'kyj, Justyn, 232–33 Želizo, Jov, 325 Zerov, Mykola, 503 n. 64, 566 Zinov'ev, Grigorij (Radomysl'skij-Apfel'baum, Ovsej-Gershon), 490, 508 Żółkiewski, Stanisław, 357 Žolkovs'kyj family, 356–57 Zolotar'ov, Vadym, 35 Żovtobrjux, Myxajlo, 219, 253-54, 343 n. 8 Zubryc'kyj, Denys, 32, 307, 307. 4, 310 n. 6, 324, 334 Žulyns'kyj, Mykola, 594 n. 24 Žylko, Fedot, 219, 221–25, 227, 354, 359

Zyzanij, Lavrentij, 39–50, 41 n. 6, 53, 55, 57–63, 103, 103 n. 28 Zyzanij, Stefan, 52